Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641 Janusz Kacprzyk Eulalia Szmidt Sławomir Zadrożny Krassimir T. Atanassov Maciej Krawczak *Editors* 

# Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017

Proceedings of: EUSFLAT-2017 — The 10th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, September 11—15, 2017, Warsaw, Poland IWIFSGN'2017 — The Sixteenth International Workshop on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized Nets, September 13—15, 2017, Warsaw, Poland, Volume 1



# Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing

Volume 641

# Series editor

Janusz Kacprzyk, Polish Academy of Sciences, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: kacprzyk@ibspan.waw.pl

#### About this Series

The series "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" contains publications on theory, applications, and design methods of Intelligent Systems and Intelligent Computing. Virtually all disciplines such as engineering, natural sciences, computer and information science, ICT, economics, business, e-commerce, environment, healthcare, life science are covered. The list of topics spans all the areas of modern intelligent systems and computing.

The publications within "Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing" are primarily textbooks and proceedings of important conferences, symposia and congresses. They cover significant recent developments in the field, both of a foundational and applicable character. An important characteristic feature of the series is the short publication time and world-wide distribution. This permits a rapid and broad dissemination of research results.

#### Advisory Board

Chairman

Nikhil R. Pal, Indian Statistical Institute, Kolkata, India e-mail: nikhil@isical.ac.in

#### Members

Rafael Bello Perez, Universidad Central "Marta Abreu" de Las Villas, Santa Clara, Cuba e-mail: rbellop@uclv.edu.cu

Emilio S. Corchado, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain e-mail: escorchado@usal.es

Hani Hagras, University of Essex, Colchester, UK e-mail: hani@essex.ac.uk

László T. Kóczy, Széchenyi István University, Győr, Hungary e-mail: koczy@sze.hu

Vladik Kreinovich, University of Texas at El Paso, El Paso, USA e-mail: vladik@utep.edu

Chin-Teng Lin, National Chiao Tung University, Hsinchu, Taiwan e-mail: ctlin@mail.nctu.edu.tw

Jie Lu, University of Technology, Sydney, Australia

e-mail: Jie.Lu@uts.edu.au

Patricia Melin, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico e-mail: epmelin@hafsamx.org

Nadia Nedjah, State University of Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil e-mail: nadia@eng.uerj.br

Ngoc Thanh Nguyen, Wroclaw University of Technology, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: Ngoc-Thanh.Nguyen@pwr.edu.pl

Jun Wang, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong e-mail: jwang@mae.cuhk.edu.hk

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11156

Janusz Kacprzyk · Eulalia Szmidt Sławomir Zadrożny · Krassimir T. Atanassov Maciej Krawczak Editors

# Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017

Proceedings of: EUSFLAT-2017 – The 10th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, September 11–15, 2017, Warsaw, Poland IWIFSGN'2017 – The Sixteenth International Workshop on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized Nets, September 13–15, 2017, Warsaw, Poland, Volume 1



*Editors* Janusz Kacprzyk Systems Research Institute Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw Poland

Eulalia Szmidt Systems Research Institute Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw Poland

Slawomir Zadrożny Systems Research Institute Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw Poland Krassimir T. Atanassov Department of Bioinformatics and Mathematical Modelling, Institute of Biophysics and Biomedical Engineering Bulgarian Academy of Sciences Sofia Bulgaria

Maciej Krawczak WIT - Warsaw School of Information Technology Warsaw Poland

and

Systems Research Institute Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw Poland

 ISSN 2194-5357
 ISSN 2194-5365 (electronic)

 Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing
 ISBN 978-3-319-66820-1 (ISBN 978-3-319-66830-7 (eBook))

 DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7
 ISBN 978-3-319-66830-7 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017951306

#### © Springer International Publishing AG 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

# Foreword

This volume constitutes the proceedings of the two collocated international conferences. The main part includes the papers accepted, after a strict peer review process, for the presentation at, and for the inclusion in the proceedings of the 10th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology (EUSFLAT-2017) held in Warsaw, Poland, on September 11–15, 2017. It is combined with the papers accepted, also after a strict peer review process, for the presentation at, and for the inclusion in the proceedings of the Sixteenth International Workshop on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized Nets (IWIFSGN'2017) held in Warsaw, Poland, on September 13–15, 2017.

The EUSFLAT-2017 Conference was organized by the Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Science, Department IV of Engineering Sciences, Polish Academy of Sciences, and the Polish Operational and Systems Research Society. It is the 10th jubilee edition of the flagship conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology (EUSFLAT). The aim of the conference, in line with the mission of the EUSFLAT Society, is to bring together theoreticians and practitioners working on fuzzy logic, fuzzy systems, soft computing, and related areas and to provide for them a platform for the exchange of ideas, discussing newest trends and networking.

The papers included in the proceedings volume have been subject to a thorough review process by highly qualified peer reviewers. Comments and suggestion from them have considerably helped improve the quality of the papers but also the assignment of the papers to best suited sessions in the conference program. In the proceedings volume, the papers have been ordered alphabetically with respect to the name of the first author, and a convenient author's index is included at the end of the volume.

Thanks are due to many people and parties involved. First, in the early stage of the preparation of the conference general perspective, scope, topics, and coverage, we have received an invaluable help from the members of the International Committees of both conferences, notably the chairs responsible for various aspects of the conferences, as well as many people from the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology (EUSFLAT). That help during the initial planning stage had resulted in a very attractive and up-to-date proposal of the scope and coverage that had clearly implied a considerable interest of the international research communities active in the areas covered who submitted a large number of very interesting and high-level papers. An extremely relevant role of the organizers of special sessions, competition, and other events should also be greatly appreciated. Thanks to their vision and hard work, we had been able to collect many papers on focused topics which had then resulted, during the conferences, in very interesting presentations and stimulating discussions at the sessions.

Though EUSFLAT-2017 is a subsequent edition of the main European conference on the broadly perceived fuzzy logic and technology, and an overwhelming majority of participants come from Europe, many people from other continents have also decided to submit their contributions. This has clearly resulted in a "globalization" of the EUSFLAT conferences which we have been able to increasingly notice since its founding. Of a particular importance in this respect is that among the plenary and keynote speakers, there are top researchers and scholars, as well as practitioners, not only from Europe but also from other continents.

The members of the Program Committee, together with the session organizers, and a group of other anonymous peer reviewers have undertaken a very difficult task of selecting the best papers, and they have done it excellently. They deserve many thanks for their great job for the entire community who is always concerned with quality and integrity. We also wish to thank the members of the EUSFLAT Board for their support throughout the organization process.

At the stage of the running of the conference, many thanks are due to the members of the Organizing Committee, chaired by Ms. Krystyna Warzywoda and Ms. Agnieszka Jóźwiak, and supported by their numerous collaborators.

And last but not least, we wish to thank Dr. Tom Ditzinger, Dr. Leontina di Cecco, and Mr. Holger Schaepe for their dedication and help to implement and finish this large publication project on time maintaining the highest publication standards.

June 2017

The Editors

# Contents

Optimal Control of a Ball and Beam Nonlinear Model Based on Takagi-Sugeno Fuzzy Model	1
José Miguel Adánez, Basil Mohammed Al-Hadithi, Agustín Jiménez, and Fernando Matía	1
The Classification of All the Subvarieties of DNMG Stefano Aguzzoli, Matteo Bianchi, and Diego Valota	12
Fuzzy Heyting Algebra         Comparison           Berhanu Assaye Alaba and Derebew Nigussie Derso         Comparison	25
A New Distance on Generalized Fuzzy Numbers and a Glimpse on Their Properties M. Amirfakhrian and S. Yeganehmanesh	34
Fuzzy Logic Load Balancing for Cloud Architecture         Network - A Simulation Test         Lukasz Apiecionek, Jacek M. Czerniak, Wojciech Dobrosielski,         and Dawid Ewald	43
Dynamical Control of Computations Using the Iterative Methods to Solve Fully Fuzzy Linear Systems Mohammad Ali Fariborzi Araghi and Eisa Zarei	55
Some Remarks on an Order Induced by Uninorms	69
Some Notes on the F-partial Order	78
Two Intuitionistic Fuzzy Modal-Level Operators	85

Generalized Net Model of Multicriteria Decision Making Procedure Using Intercriteria Analysis	99
Krassimir Atanassov, Evdokia Sotirova, and Velin Andonov	
From Semi-fuzzy to Fuzzy Quantifiers via Łukasiewicz Logic and Games.	112
Paolo Baldi and Christian G. Fermüller	
About Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko Theorem for Intuitionistic	125
Renáta Bartková and Katarína Čunderlíková	123
Fuzzy Approaches in Forecasting Mortality Rates	136
Non-denoting Terms in Fuzzy Logic: An Initial Exploration Libor Běhounek and Antonín Dvořák	148
On the Preservation of an Equivalence Relation	
Between Fuzzy Subgroups Carlos Bejines, María Jesús Chasco, Jorge Elorza, and Susana Montes	159
Decision-Making on Flow Control Under Fuzzy Conditions	1.00
Stanislav Belyakov, Marina Savelyeva, Dmitry Kiyashko, and Anna Lashchenkova	168
Reducing Concept Lattices from Rough Set Theory M. José Benítez-Caballero, Jesús Medina, and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa	177
An Equivalence Relation and Admissible Linear Orders	
in Decision Making Urszula Bentkowska and Barbara Pękala	187
A Fuzzy Linguistics Supported Model to Measure the Contextual	
Bias in Sentiment Polarity         Juan Bernabé-Moreno, Alvaro Tejeda-Lorente, Carlos Porcel,         and Enrique Herrera-Viedma	199
Generating Load Profiles Using Smart Metering Time Series	211
Uninorms on Bounded Lattices – Recent Development Slavka Bodjanova and Martin Kalina	224
Kleene Algebras as Sequences of Orthopairs Stefania Boffa and Brunella Gerla	235
Method of Maximum Two-Commodity Flow Search in a Fuzzy	
Temporal Graph         Second Sec	249

### Contents

Allocation Method for Fuzzy Interval Graph Centers Based           on Strong Connectivity	261	
Measuring Uncertainty for Interval Belief Structures and its Application for Analyzing Weather Forecasts Andrey G. Bronevich and Natalia S. Spiridenkova		
Generalized Net Model of Fingerprint Recognition with Intuitionistic Fuzzy Evaluations Veselina Bureva, Plamena Yovcheva, and Sotir Sotirov	286	
A New Extension of Monotonicity: Ordered Directional Monotonicity Humberto Bustince, Radko Mesiar, Anna Kolesárová, Mikel Sesma-Sara, Javier Fernandez, Mikel Galar, and Mikel Elkano	295	
Smart Medical Device Selection Based on Interval Valued Intuitionistic Fuzzy VIKOR Gülçin Büyüközkan and Fethullah Göçer	306	
Cloud Computing Technology Selection Based on Interval Valued Intuitionistic Fuzzy COPRAS	318	
A Hesitant Fuzzy Based TOPSIS Approach for Smart Glass Evaluation	330	
On Topological Entropy of Zadeh's Extension Defined on Piecewise Convex Fuzzy Sets Jose Cánovas and Jiří Kupka	342	
Fuzzy Relation Equations with Fuzzy Quantifiers           Nhung Cao and Martin Štěpnička	354	
Incorporation of Excluding Features in Fuzzy Relational Compositions Based on Generalized Quantifiers Nhung Cao and Martin Štěpnička	368	
A New Optimization Metaheuristic Based on the Self-defense Techniques of Natural Plants Applied to the CEC 2015 Benchmark Functions Camilo Caraveo, Fevrier Valdez, and Oscar Castillo	380	
A Multi-objective Evolutionary Algorithm for Tuning Type-2 Fuzzy Sets with Rule and Condition Selection on Fuzzy Rule-Based Classification System Edward Hinojosa Cárdenas and Heloisa A. Camargo	389	

Sugeno Integral on Property-Based Preference Domains Marta Cardin	400
Integrating a Tourism Service Quality Evaluation Linguistic Multi-criteria Decision Making Model into a Relational Database Management System	408
Jesús García-Madariaga, and Enrique Herrera-Viedma	
Fuzzy Fingerprints for Item-Based Collaborative FilteringAndré Carvalho, Pável Calado, and Joao Paulo Carvalho	419
A Survey on Nullnorms on Bounded Lattices	431
Characterizing Ordinal Sum for t-norms and t-conorms on Bounded Lattices	443
Crisp vs. Fuzzy Data in Multicriteria Decision Making: The Case of the VIKOR Method Blanca Ceballos, María T. Lamata, David A. Pelta, and Ronald R. Yager	455
Facility Location Selection Employing Fuzzy DEA and Fuzzy Goal           Programming Techniques.           Michele Cedolin, Nazlı Göker, Elif Dogu, and Y. Esra Albayrak	466
Finding the Optimal Number of Features Basedon Mutual InformationPeipei Chen, Anna Wilbik, Saskia van Loon, Arjen-Kars Boer,and Uzay Kaymak	477
Selection Among Solar Power Plants Using Fuzzy Economics	487
Co-words Analysis of the Last Ten Years of the Fuzzy Decision Making Research Area Manuel Jesus Cobo, Ignacio Javier Pérez, Francisco Javier Cabrerizo, Sergio Alonso, and Enrique Herrera-Viedma	497
Real Option Analysis with Interval-Valued Fuzzy Numbers and the Fuzzy Pay-Off Method József Mezei, Mikael Collan, and Pasi Luukka	509
Measuring the Incoherent Information in Multi-adjoint Normal Logic Programs M. Eugenia Cornejo, David Lobo, and Jesús Medina	521

### Contents

Enhancing the Expressive Power of Sugeno Integrals for Qualitative Data Analysis	534
The Novel Shape Normalization Operator for Fuzzy Numbers         in OFN Notation         Jacek M. Czerniak, Iwona Filipowicz, and Dawid Ewald	548
<b>Fuzzy Relations and Fuzzy Functions in Partial Fuzzy Set Theory</b> Martina Daňková	563
Medical Fuzzy Control Systems with Fuzzy Arden Syntax Jeroen S. de Bruin, Christian Schuh, Andrea Rappelsberger, and Klaus-Peter Adlassnig	574
Convolution on Bounded Lattices Laura De Miguel, Humberto Bustince, and Bernard De Baets	585
Representing Uncertainty Regarding Satisfaction DegreesUsing Possibility DistributionsRobin De Mol and Guy De Tré	597
Triangular Expanding, A New Defuzzification Method on OrderedFuzzy NumbersWojciech T. Dobrosielski, Jacek M. Czerniak, Janusz Szczepański,and Hubert Zarzycki	605
Construction of Intuitionistic Fuzzy Cognitive Maps for Target Marketing Strategy Decisions Elif Dogu, Tuncay Gurbuz, and Y. Esra Albayrak	620
Intercriteria Analysis of EU Competitiveness Using the Level Operator $N_{\gamma}$ Lyubka Doukovska, Vassia Atanassova, Deyan Mavrov, and Irina Radeva	631
Some Remarks About Idempotent Uninorms on Complete Lattice Paweł Drygaś	648
Ordinal Sum of Fuzzy Implications Fulfilling Left Ordering Property Paweł Drygaś and Anna Król	658
Relativization of Fuzzy Quantifiers: Initial Investigations	670
Some Remarks About Crucial and Unsolved Problems on Atanassov's Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Piotr Dworniczak	684

Estimating Fuzzy Life Time with a Fuzzy Reliability Function	
in the Appliance Sector	689
Nihal Erginel, Hande Saraçoğlu, Gülay Yıldız, and Sevil Şentürk	
Monitoring Fraction Nonconforming in Process with Interval	
Type-2 Fuzzy Control Chart	701
Nihal Erginel, Sevil Şentürk, and Gülay Yıldız	
Author Index	711

# Optimal Control of a Ball and Beam Nonlinear Model Based on Takagi-Sugeno Fuzzy Model

José Miguel Adánez $^{1(\boxtimes)},$ Basil Mohammed Al-Hadithi $^{1,2},$  Agustín Jiménez $^1,$  and Fernando Matía $^1$ 

<sup>1</sup> Intelligent Control Group, Centre for Automation and Robotics UPM - CSIC, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, C/ J. Gutiérrez Abascal, 2., 28006 Madrid, Spain jm.adanez@alumnos.upm.es

<sup>2</sup> Department of Electrical, Electronics, Control Engineering and Applied Physics, Higher Technical School of Industrial Design and Engineering,

Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, C/ Ronda de Valencia, 3., 28012 Madrid, Spain

**Abstract.** In this work, an improved approach for Takagi-Sugeno system identification is used. Linear Quadratic Regulator is applied for an optimal state feedback. Duality theorem and Linear Quadratic Regulator is applied for an optimal state estimation. Simulation results over the ball and beam nonlinear model show a stable closed loop in the full range and good transient response.

**Keywords:** Ball and beam  $\cdot$  Takagi-Sugeno model  $\cdot$  State model  $\cdot$  Linear Quadratic Regulator  $\cdot$  Duality theorem

# 1 Introduction

The ball and beam system [1] is a classical mechanical system with two degrees of freedom. The beam rotates, driven by a torque at the center of rotation. The ball rolls freely along the beam and in contact with the beam. Despite its mechanical simplicity, the ball and beam system presents significant challenges from the point of view of automation; the system is nonlinear and unstable.

The ball and beam is a common didactical plant in many control laboratories around the world [2], as it is very nonlinear, unstable, which means that it is difficult to control, and can be a benchmark for testing several advanced control techniques [3].

Takagi-Sugeno (T-S) fuzzy model [4] has been an important tool for the modelling and control of nonlinear systems, since it builds the full nonlinear model by a linear model at each fuzzy rule and the fuzzy interpolation among them. Moreover, the T-S fuzzy identification allows the identification of all the fuzzy parameters of the full nonlinear system minimizing a global error index.

Optimal control has been a significant method for the controllers design. Linear Quadratic Regulator [5], is an optimal control design method for state space linear models which allows the minimization of a cost function in which state dynamics and control action are weighted.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_1

One of the most important problems in state space feedback is that usually the states are not directly accessible, since not all the state variables are measurable. For this propose, state observers [6], can create a surrogate state vector, which tends asymptotically to the real state vector and can be used for state feedback.

The duality theorem [6] allows the design of an state observer matrix with the same techniques for an state feedback controller, including the LQR method [5]. For that propose a dual system can be built from the state space model, and the duality theorem says that a controller designed in the dual system is equivalent to an observer designed for the state space model.

The rest of the work is organized as follows. Section 2 describes ball and beam nonlinear model. The fuzzy T-S model and the fuzzy identification method are described in Sect. 3. Optimal state controller and optimal state observer designs are described in Sect. 4. In Sect. 5, the proposed fuzzy optimal controller is applied to the ball and beam nonlinear model and the results are obtained and discussed.

# 2 Ball and Beam Nonlinear Model

In this work, we use the AMIRA BW500 ball and beam model (Fig. 1) [1]. The ball position p, considered as system output, is supposed to be measured by a camera, therefore the discrete sample time is supposed to be large. The beam angle  $\alpha$ , considered as measurable internal variable, is supposed to be measured by an incremental encoder. The system input F is supposed to be a force produced by a DC motor, which causes the beam to rotate around its center.

The nonlinear differential equations of the ball and beam model [1], used for the simulation model, are:

$$\left(m + \frac{I_b}{r^2}\right)\ddot{p} + \left(mr^2 + I_b\right)\frac{1}{r}\ddot{\alpha} - mp\dot{\alpha}^2 = mg\sin(\alpha) \tag{1}$$

$$\left(mp^2 + I_b + I_W\right)\ddot{\alpha} + \left(2mp\dot{p} + bl^2\right)\dot{\alpha} + Kl^2\alpha + (mr^2 + I_b)\frac{1}{r}\ddot{p} - mgp\cos(\alpha) = Fl\cos(\alpha)$$

$$(2)$$

where p is the position of the ball,  $\alpha$  is the angle of the beam and F is the force of the drive mechanics. Table 1 summarizes the parameters of the model and its values.

In this model, some restrictions from the real AMIRA BW500 ball and beam model [1] have to be added. The ball position p has to be contained in [-0.4, 0.4] m, the beam angle  $\alpha$  has to be contained in [-0.69, 0.69] rad and the input force F has to be contained in [-5, 5] N.

Since we consider  $\alpha$  just as a measurable internal variable, the system is single-input-single-output (SISO), and the relation between p as output and F as input is described by two second order differential equations, so the global system is fourth order.



Fig. 1. Ball and beam system.

Table 1. Ball and beam parameters

Parameter	Meaning	Value
$\overline{m}$	Mass of the ball	$0.025\mathrm{Kg}$
g	Gravity	$9.81\mathrm{m/s}^2$
r	Roll radius of the ball	$0.0167\mathrm{m}$
$I_b$	Inertia moment of the ball	$3.516 \cdot 10^{-6}  \mathrm{Kgm^2}$
$I_W$	Inertia moment of the beam	$0.09{ m Kgm^2}$
b	Friction coefficient of the drive mechanics	$1.0\mathrm{Ns/m}$
K	Stiffness of the drive mechanics	$0.001\mathrm{N/m}$
l	Radius of force application	0.49 m

# 3 Fuzzy Takagi-Sugeno Model and System Identification

# 3.1 Fuzzy T-S Model

Nonlinear systems can be modelled by T-S model, supposing known a set of measurable nonlinear variables  $[z_1(k), z_2(k), \ldots, z_m(k)]$  of the system. By choosing  $[r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_m]$  number of fuzzy sets for these variables, a monovariable fuzzy system can be defined as follows:

$$S^{(i_1...i_m)}: \text{ If } z_1(k) \text{ is } M_1^{i_1} \text{ and } \dots \text{ and } z_m(k) \text{ is } M_m^{i_m} \text{ then:}$$
$$y(k) = a_0^{(i_1...i_m)} + a_1^{(i_1...i_m)} y(k-1) + \dots + a_n^{(i_1...i_m)} y(k-n) \qquad (3)$$
$$+ b_1^{(i_1...i_m)} u(k-1) + \dots + b_n^{(i_1...i_m)} u(k-n)$$

In each rule, we can transform the difference Eq. (3) to state model with affine term as follows:

$$S^{(i_{1}...i_{m})}: \text{ If } z_{1}(k) \text{ is } M_{1}^{i_{1}} \text{ and } \dots \text{ and } z_{m}(k) \text{ is } M_{m}^{i_{m}} \text{ then:}$$

$$x(k) \in \mathfrak{R}^{n}$$

$$x(k+1) = \begin{bmatrix} a_{0}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \cdot a_{1}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \\ a_{0}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \cdot a_{2}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \\ \vdots \\ a_{0}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \cdot a_{n}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \end{bmatrix} +$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} 1 \cdots 0 \\ a_{2}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} 0 \cdots 0 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & 1 \\ a_{n}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} 0 \cdots 0 \end{bmatrix} x(k) + \begin{bmatrix} b_{1}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \\ b_{2}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \\ \vdots \\ b_{n}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} \end{bmatrix} u(k)$$

$$y(k) = a_{0}^{(i_{1}...i_{m})} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 \ 0 \cdots 0 \end{bmatrix} x(k)$$

$$(4)$$

This means

$$S^{(i_1...i_m)}: \text{ If } z_1(k) \text{ is } M_1^{i_1} \text{ and } \dots \text{ and } z_m(k) \text{ is } M_m^{i_m} \text{ then:}$$

$$x(k+1) = a_x^{(i_1...i_m)} + A^{(i_1...i_m)}x(k) + B^{(i_1...i_m)}u(k) \tag{5}$$

$$y(k) = a_y^{(i_1...i_m)} + Cx(k)$$

### 3.2 Estimation of T-S Model Parameters

The identification method of T-S fuzzy models [4] is based on the estimation of the fuzzy system parameters minimizing a quadratic performance index. The traditional T-S identification method [4] fails if the membership functions of the fuzzy rules are overlapped triangular in shape, since the T-S matrix is not of full rank and then it is not invertible [7]. Thus, in [7] was proposed a generalized T-S identification, using a parameters weighting method.

The fuzzy estimation of the output becomes:

$$\hat{y} = \sum_{i_1=1}^{r_1} \cdots \sum_{i_m=1}^{r_m} \beta^{(i_1\dots i_m)} \left( z_{(i_1\dots i_m)}(k) \right) \left[ a_0^{(i_1\dots i_m)} + a_1^{(i_1\dots i_m)} y(k-1) + \cdots + a_n^{(i_1\dots i_m)} y(k-n) + b_1^{(i_1\dots i_m)} u(k-1) + \cdots + b_n^{(i_1\dots i_m)} u(k-n) \right]$$
(6)

where

$$\beta^{(i_1\dots i_m)}\left(z_{(i_1\dots i_m)}(k)\right) = \frac{\mu_{1i_1}(z_1)\dots\mu_{mi_m}(z_m)}{\sum_{i_1=1}^{r_1}\dots\sum_{i_m=1}^{r_m}\left(\mu_{1i_1}(z_1)\dots\mu_{mi_m}(z_m)\right)}$$
(7)

with  $\mu_{ji_j}(z_j)$  being the membership function corresponding to the fuzzy set  $M_j^{i_j}$ .

We have supposed to have a set of input/output system samples and a first affine linear parameters estimation:

$$p^{0} = \left[ a_{0}^{0} a_{1}^{0} \dots a_{n}^{0} b_{1}^{0} \dots b_{n}^{0} \right]$$
(8)

These parameters could be obtained by a classical input/output identification of the data, for example with least squares method. This first approximation can be utilized as reference parameters for all the subsystems. Then, the fuzzy model parameters can be obtained minimizing:

$$J = \sum_{k=1}^{s} (y(k) - \hat{y}(k))^{2} + \gamma^{2} \sum_{i_{1}=1}^{r_{1}} \cdots \sum_{i_{m}=1}^{r_{m}} \sum_{j=0}^{n} \left( p_{j}^{0} - p_{j}^{(i_{1}\dots i_{m})} \right)^{2}$$

$$= \|Y - XP\|^{2} + \gamma^{2} \|P_{0} - P\|^{2} = \left\| \begin{bmatrix} Y \\ \gamma P_{0} \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} X \\ \gamma I \end{bmatrix} P \right\|^{2} = \|Y_{a} - X_{a}P\|^{2}$$
(9)

where Y are the output data, X are the input/output fuzzy data,  $P_0$  are the linear estimated parameters repeated as many times as the number of fuzzy rules  $(P_0 = [p_0, p_0, \ldots, p_0])$ , and P are the fuzzy T-S model parameters. The  $\gamma$  factor represents the degree of confidence of the linear estimated parameters, and it must be tuned by try and error. It should be noted that the matrix  $X_a$  is of full rank, which solves the problem where the traditional T-S identification method fails. Thus, the vector P can be computed as:

$$P = \left(X_a^t X_a\right)^{-1} X_a^t Y_a \tag{10}$$

# 4 Fuzzy Controller and Observer Design

In order to calculate the coefficients of the state feedback controller, discrete LQR [5] method is chosen, which allows optimal control weighting the dynamic response and the control action.

In LQR method, the goal is to minimize the cost index J:

$$J = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[ (x(k) - x_r)^t Q (x(k) - x_r) + (u(k) - u_r)^t R (u(k) - u_r) \right]$$
(11)

LQR method is completely optimal for linear systems, however, in the case of nonlinear systems, it is complex to propose the minimization of any objective function for the global system. In order to solve this problem, we suggest minimizing the cost of each fuzzy rule instead of the global cost. The solution will be a suboptimal one but with the great advantage of being easy to calculate. With this method, the global stability is not guaranteed, which needs to be analyzed a posteriori, although gaining in return a balance between static and dynamic behavior of the system with admissible control actions.

The state observer [6] is a parallel dynamic system with a correction term that approximates the estimated state to the real one:

$$x_e(k+1) = a_x + Ax_e(k) + Bu(k) + H(y(k) - y_e(k))$$
  

$$y_e(k) = a_y + Cx_e(k)$$
(12)

The estimation error is:

$$\varepsilon(k+1) = x(k+1) - x_e(k+1) = (a_x + Ax(k) + Bu(k)) - (a_x + Ax_e(k) + Bu(k) + H(y(k) - (a_y + Cx_e(k))))$$
(13)

which can be rewritten as follows:

$$\varepsilon(k+1) = (A - HC)\varepsilon(k) \tag{14}$$

The duality theorem [6] states that the design of a state observer is equivalent to designing a state feedback controller using some transformations in the state matrices. Based on the linear discrete system described as:

$$\begin{aligned} x(k+1) &= Ax(k) + Bu(k) \\ y(k) &= Cx(k) \end{aligned} \tag{15}$$

The corresponding dual system becomes:

$$x_d(k+1) = A_d x_d(k) + B_d u(k)$$
  

$$y_d(k) = C_d x_d(k)$$
(16)

where:

$$A_d = A^t$$

$$B_d = C^t$$

$$C_d = B^t$$
(17)

Therefore, it is possible to calculate a control matrix for the dual system  $K_d$  equivalent to the observation matrix for the original system H:

$$H = K_d^t \tag{18}$$

In this way, is possible calculate the observation matrix H, obtaining the controller matrix for the dual system  $K_d$  by any state controller design method in the dual system. In this case, a discrete LQR [5] is proposed, obtaining the H observer matrix from the dual system matrices  $A_d = A^t$  and  $B_d = C^t$ , and the weighing matrices  $Q_d$  and  $R_d$ , minimizing the following index cost:

$$J = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \left[ x_d(k)^t Q_d x_d(k) + u(k)^t R_d u(k) \right]$$
(19)

# 5 Results

In this section, we apply the proposed fuzzy optimal controller to the ball and beam nonlinear model described in Sect. 2. The ball and beam model works in continuous time, but the controller has been developed in discrete time, so a sampler and zero order holding device have been added to the model, supposing the proposed sampling time is T = 0.05 s. All system variables are supposed to be ideally measured.

As first step, a linear identification of the system has been made by least squares method, obtaining a first affine linear parameters estimation:

$$p(k) = 0 + 3.92p(k-1) - 5.75p(k-2) + 3.75p(k-3) - 0.92p(k-4) - 0.0001F(k-1) + 0.0001F(k-2) + 0.0001F(k-3) - 0.0001F(k-4)$$

For a T-S model identification of the system, an iterative adjustment of the membership functions of the fuzzy rules and the weighting factor  $\gamma$  have been made, adjusting by try and error the fuzzy membership functions defined in Fig. 2 and the weighting factor  $\gamma = 3.7 \cdot 10^{-6}$ , obtaining an identification error of  $1.616910^{-11}$ .

With the generalized T-S identification method and Eq. (4), a fuzzy T-S state matrices of the system has been obtained:

$$\begin{split} S^{(1,1,1,1)} &: \text{ If } p(k) \text{ is } M_1^1 \text{ and } \dot{p}(k) \text{ is } M_2^1 \text{ and } \alpha(k) \text{ is } M_3^1 \text{ and } \dot{\alpha}(k) \text{ is } M_4^1 \text{ then:} \\ a_x^{(1,1,1,1)} &= 10^{-5} \begin{bmatrix} 0.3146 & -0.4620 & 0.3014 & -0.0737 \end{bmatrix}^t \\ A^{(1,1,1,1)} &= \begin{bmatrix} 3.9181 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -5.7542 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -5.7542 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -0.9181 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \\ B^{(1,1,1,1)} &= 10^{-3} \begin{bmatrix} -0.0578 & 0.1418 & 0.1160 & -0.0544 \end{bmatrix}^t \\ a_x^{(1,1,1,1)} &= 8.0285 \cdot 10^{-7} \\ C^{(1,1,1,1)} &= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \\ \vdots \end{split}$$

Thus, the controller matrix K is designed in each rule by discrete LQR [5] algorithm, using the system matrices A and B, and the positive definite weighting matrices Q = I and R = 1. Obtaining the fuzzy controller matrix:

$$S^{(1,1,1,1)}: \text{ If } p(k) \text{ is } M_1^1 \text{ and } \dot{p}(k) \text{ is } M_2^1 \text{ and } \alpha(k) \text{ is } M_3^1 \text{ and } \dot{\alpha}(k) \text{ is } M_4^1 \text{ then:}$$
$$K^{(1,1,1,1)} = 10^3 \left[ 2.9586 \ 2.5483 \ 2.1733 \ 1.8322 \right]$$
$$\vdots$$

The observer algorithm is designed in each rule by duality theorem [6] and discrete LQR algorithm [5], using the dual system matrices  $A_d = A^t$  and  $B_d = C^t$ , and the positive definite weighting matrices  $Q_d = I$  and  $R_d = 1$ . Obtaining the fuzzy observer matrix by the Eq. (18):

$$S^{(1,1,1,1)}: \text{ If } p(k) \text{ is } M_1^1 \text{ and } \dot{p}(k) \text{ is } M_2^1 \text{ and } \alpha(k) \text{ is } M_3^1 \text{ and } \dot{\alpha}(k) \text{ is } M_4^1 \text{ then:}$$
$$H^{(1,1,1,1)} = \begin{bmatrix} 2.7955 - 4.9873 \ 3.4842 - 0.8789 \end{bmatrix}^t$$
$$\vdots$$

With this controller and observer design method, the global stability cannot be proved theoretically, so it has to be analyzed a posteriori with the simulation results.



Fig. 3. Ball position.

Figures 3, 4, 5 and 6 show each one the position of the ball, the angle of the beam, the input force and the observation error of the ball position, when the controlled system is subjected to changes in the ball position reference.



Fig. 4. Beam angle.



Fig. 5. Input force.



Fig. 6. Observation error of ball and beam position.

In Figs. 3, 4 and 5 it can be seen that, the system variables are in the physical range of the ball and beam, and all these variables present smooth and stable transient responses. In Fig. 6 it is shown that the observation error is small and tends to zero. Thus, the controlled ball and beam model has a stable response in the full range of the system and presents a good transient response.

# 6 Conclusion

In this work, we have shown the obtained results that a generalized T-S identification method and an optimal state controller and observer designed in each fuzzy rule, applied in a ball and beam nonlinear model. The fuzzy generalized T-S identification method is based on a weighting parameter of the previously estimated linear model. The optimal controller and observer has been designed in each fuzzy rule, so a suboptimal solution have been found, but easy of calculate and compute. The results show that the ball and beam controlled nonlinear model has a stable behavior and good transient response on the full range of the ball and beam system.

**Aknowledgement.** This work is funded by Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (Assisted Navigation through Natural Language (NAVEGASE) project 265 (DPI 2014-53525-C3-1-R)).

# References

- AMIRA GmbH: BW500 Laboratory Setup Ball and Beam. Deutschland, Germany (1999)
- Ballesteros, J., Rodriguez, D., Sanchez, L., Castillo, F., Payo, I.: Teaching-learning model based on the design of didactic equipment for laboratory practices in engineering schools. In: Proceedings of EDULEARN16 Conference, Barcelona, Spain, 4–6 July 2016
- Marton, A., Hodel, S., Lantos, B., Hung, J.Y.: Underactuated robot control: comparing LQR, subspace stabilization, and combined error metric approaches. IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. 55(10), 3724–3730 (2008)
- 4. Takagi, T., Sugeno, S.: Fuzzy identification of systems and its applications to modelling and control. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. **15**(1), 116–132 (1985)
- Lewis, F.L., Xie, L., Popa, D.: Optimal and Robust Estimation: With an Introduction to Stochastic Control Theory, vol. 29. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2007)
- Ogata, K.: Modern Control Engineering, 5th edn. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey (2009)
- Al-Hadithi, B.M., Jiménez, A., Matía, F.: A new approach to fuzzy estimation of Takagi-Sugeno model and its applications to optimal control for nonlinear systems. Appl. Soft Comput. 12(1), 280–290 (2012)

# The Classification of All the Subvarieties of $\mathbb{DNMG}$

Stefano Aguzzoli<sup>1</sup>, Matteo Bianchi<sup>2(⊠)</sup>, and Diego Valota<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Computer Science, Università degli Studi di Milano, via Comelico 39/41, 20135 Milano, Italy {aguzzoli,valota}@di.unimi.it Dipartimento di Scienze Teoriche e Applicate, Università degli Studi dell'Insubria, via Mazzini 5, 21100 Varese, Italy

matteo.bianchi@uninsubria.it

Abstract. MTL is the logic of all left-continuous *t*-norms and their residua. The equivalent algebraic semantics of MTL is constituted by the variety of MTL-algebras, MTL. The variety WNM of *weak nilpotent minimum* algebras is a major subvariety of MTL, containing several subvarieties of MTL which have been subjects of study in the literature, such as Gödel algebras, Nilpotent Minimum algebras, Drastic Product algebras, NMG-algebras, as well as Boolean algebras. In this paper we introduce and axiomatise DNMG, a proper subvariety of WNM which contains all the aforementioned varieties. We show that DNMG is singly generated by a standard algebra. Further, we determine the structure of the lattice of subvarieties of DNMG, and we provide the axiomatisation of every subvariety.

Keywords: WNM-algebras  $\cdot$  DNMG-algebras  $\cdot$  NM-algebras  $\cdot$  Gödel-algebras  $\cdot$  DP-algebras  $\cdot$  Axiomatisations of subvarieties  $\cdot$  Single chain completeness

# 1 Introduction

Nilpotent minimum t-norm  $*_{\rm NM}$  [14] was one of the first examples of a leftcontinuous but not continuous t-norm. The logic related to  $*_{\rm NM}$ , NM, was introduced by Esteva and Godo in [12]. In the same paper they presented a generalisation of NM, the logic of Weak Nilpotent Minimum, WNM, and the related algebraic semantics, the variety of WNM-algebras WNM. WNM is an extension of MTL, the logic of all left continuous t-norms and their residua [12,20]. Several extensions of WNM have been extensively studied in the literature. In particular, Gödel logic G, Drastic Product DP ([4], firstly introduced as S<sub>3</sub>MTL in [23]), Revised Drastic product RDP ([9,25], based on the *t*-norm introduced in [19]), NMG [26], NM [12], and classical Boolean logic B. During the years a number of topics concerning WNM and its algebraic semantics has been investigated: the papers [5, 13, 16, 21, 24] are only few examples. WNM has been extensively studied in [23], where the problem of axiomatising its extensions has been partially

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_2

solved. The task of characterising and axiomatising the lattice of extensions of a given extension of WNM has been accomplished in some cases. Gispert [17], solved the case for NM. The lattice of extensions of G is well known. The extensions of EMTL, which is the largest common fragment of G and DP, have been axiomatised in [6].

In this article we introduce the variety DNMG, the algebraic semantics of DNMG, which is an extension of WNM which is a particularly tame single-chain complete common fragment of G, NM and DP (and hence, of all the aforementioned extensions of WNM). We prove standard completeness for DNMG. Generalising Gispert's result, we describe the structure of the lattice of subvarieties of DNMG, showing that each one of them is generated by finitely many chains. We further provide a uniform way to axiomatise each one of these subvarieties.

## 2 Preliminaries

We assume that the reader is acquainted with many-valued logics in Hájek's sense, and with their algebraic semantics. We refer to [11, 18] for any unexplained notion. We recall that MTL is the logic, on the language  $\{\&, \land, \lor, \rightarrow, \neg, \bot, \top\}$ , of all left-continuous *t*-norms and their residua, and that its associated algebraic semantics in the sense of Blok and Pigozzi [7] is the variety MTL of *MTL-algebras*, that is, prelinear, commutative, bounded, integral, residuated lattices [11]. In an MTL-algebra  $\mathcal{A} = (A, *, \Rightarrow, \sqcap, \sqcup, \sim, 0, 1)$  the connectives  $\&, \rightarrow, \land, \lor, \neg, \bot, \top$  are interpreted, respectively, by  $*, \Rightarrow, \sqcap, \sqcup, \sim, 0, 1$ . Totally ordered MTL-algebras are called MTL-chains. In every chain  $\sqcap = \min$  and  $\sqcup = \max$ . An MTL-algebra is called standard whenever its lattice reduct is ([0, 1],  $\leq$ ), with the usual order.

Given an MTL-algebra  $\mathcal{A}$ , with  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A})$  we mean the variety generated by  $\mathcal{A}$ , which is said to be *generic* for  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A})$ . A logic L is the extension of MTL via a set of axioms  $\{\varphi_i\}_{i\in I}$  if and only if  $\mathbb{L}$  is the subvariety of MTL-algebras satisfying  $\{\bar{\varphi}_i = 1\}_{i\in I}$ , where  $\bar{\varphi}_i$  is obtained from  $\varphi_i$  by replacing the connectives with the corresponding operations, and every propositional variable in  $\varphi$  with an individual variable. With  $\mathcal{A} \models \bar{\varphi} = 1$  we mean that  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfies  $\bar{\varphi} = 1$ .

The logic WNM [12] is axiomatised as MTL plus:

$$\neg(\varphi \& \psi) \lor ((\varphi \land \psi) \to (\varphi \& \psi)). \tag{wnm}$$

The logics G, DP, EMTL, RDP, NM, NMG [1,4,6,12,25,26] are axiomatised as WNM plus, respectively:

$$\varphi \to (\varphi \& \varphi).$$
 (id)

$$\varphi \vee \neg(\varphi \& \varphi). \tag{dp}$$

$$(\varphi \to (\varphi \& \varphi)) \lor (\psi \lor \neg (\psi \& \psi)).$$
 (emtl)

$$(\varphi \to \neg \varphi) \lor \neg \neg \varphi. \tag{rdp}$$

$$\varphi \to \varphi.$$
 (inv)

$$\neg\neg\varphi \lor (\neg\neg\varphi \to \varphi). \tag{nmg}$$

NM<sup>-</sup> [17] is axiomatised as NM plus  $\neg((\neg(\varphi^2))^2) \leftrightarrow (\neg((\neg\varphi)^2))^2$ , where  $\varphi^2$  stands for  $\varphi \& \varphi$ . B is classical logic, axiomatised as MTL plus  $\varphi \lor \neg \varphi$ .

As shown in [17], the operations  $*, \Rightarrow$  of a WNM-chain  $\mathcal{A}$ , are:

$$x * y = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \le \neg y \\ \min(x, y) & \text{Otherwise.} \end{cases} \qquad x \Rightarrow y = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \le y \\ \max(\neg x, y) & \text{Otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1)

Where  $\sim$ , the negation of  $\mathcal{A}$ , is a *(generalised) weak negation*, that is a map  $\sim : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$  such that  $\sim 1 = 0$ ,  $\sim \sim a \geq a$ , and if  $a \leq b$ , then  $\sim a \geq \sim b$ . Each weak negation is the negation of a uniquely determined WNM-chain. WNM is locally finite, i.e. for every WNM-algebra each one of its finitely generated subalgebras is finite. For each integer  $n \geq 2$ , with  $\mathbb{G}_n$ ,  $\mathbb{DP}_n$ ,  $\mathbb{NM}_{2n}^-$  we will denote the variety generated, respectively, by the Gödel chain with n elements, the DP-chain with n elements, and the NM<sup>-</sup>-chain with 2n elements.

# 3 DNMG-algebras

DNMG is the variety of WNM-algebras satisfying the following identity.

$$\sim \sim x \sqcup (\sim \sim x \Rightarrow x) \sqcup (\sim \sim x \Leftrightarrow \sim x) = 1.$$
 (DNMG)

Since each variety of MTL-algebras is generated by its chains, we immediately have that two subvarieties of MTL-algebras coincide iff they have the same class of chains. We are then going to analyse the structure of DNMG-chains.

**Definition 1.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a WNM-chain. Let us define the following sets.

$$\begin{aligned} - & A^+ = \{a \in A : a > \sim a\}, \text{ and } A^- = \{a \in A : a < \sim a\}. \\ - & S(A) = \{a \in A \mid \sim \sim a = 1, a \neq 1\}. \\ - & F(A) = \{a \in A \mid \sim a = \sim \sim a\}. \\ - & I^-(A) = \{a \in A \mid \sim \sim a = a, 0 < a < \sim a\}. \\ - & I^+(A) = \{a \in A \mid \sim \sim a = a, 1 > a > \sim a\}. \\ - & I(A) = I^-(A) \cup I^+(A). \end{aligned}$$

Clearly,  $I^-(A) \cap I^+(A) = \emptyset$ . Further,  $\sim$  is a bijection of  $I(A)^+$  onto  $I(A)^-$ . Notice that S(A) is disjunct from I(A) and F(A). Given  $B, C \subseteq A$ , we write  $B \prec C$  whenever  $b <_A c$ , for every  $b \in B$  and  $c \in C$ . The following is immediate.

**Proposition 1.** For every WNM-chain  $\mathcal{A}$  it holds that  $I^-(A) \prec F(A) \prec I^+(A) \prec S(A)$ . In particular,  $I(A)^- \cup F(A) \cup \{0\} = A \setminus A^+$ , and  $I(A)^+ \cup S(A) \cup \{1\} = A^+$ .

By Proposition 1, the sets  $S(A), F(A), I^{-}(A), I^{+}(A)$  are pairwise disjoint. For any subset  $S \subseteq A$ , let  $\langle S \rangle$  be the subalgebra of  $\mathcal{A}$  generated by S. **Proposition 2.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a WNM-chain and pick  $S \subseteq A$ .

1. If  $S \subseteq I(A)$ , then  $\langle S \rangle = S \cup \{\sim a \mid a \in S\} \cup \{0, 1\}$  is an NM<sup>-</sup> algebra. 2. If  $S \subseteq F(A)$ , then  $\langle S \rangle = S \cup \{\sim a \mid a \in S\} \cup \{0, 1\}$  is a DP-algebra. 3. If  $S \subseteq S(A)$  then  $\langle S \rangle = S \cup \{0, 1\}$  is a Gödel algebra.

*Proof.* Using (1) an easy check shows that the sets  $(S \cap I(A)) \cup \{\sim a \mid a \in S \cap (I(A))\} \cup \{0,1\}, (S \cap F(A)) \cup \{\sim a \mid a \in S \cap (F(A))\} \cup \{0,1\} \text{ and } (S \cap S(A)) \cup \{0,1\}$  are subuniverses of A. The rest follows by Definition 1.

**Theorem 1.** A WNM-chain  $\mathcal{A}$  is a DNMG-chain iff  $A = S(A) \cup F(A) \cup I(A) \cup \{0,1\}.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a WNM-chain such that  $A = S(A) \cup F(A) \cup I(A) \cup \{0, 1\}$ . Then, each element in  $a \in S(A)$  satisfies  $\sim \sim a = 1$ , each element  $a \in F(A)$  satisfies  $\sim \sim a = \sim a$ , and each element  $a \in I(A)$  satisfies  $\sim \sim a = a$ . The elements 0 and 1 both satisfy  $\sim \sim a = a$ . Whence  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfies the identity (DNMG). Conversely, let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a WNM-chain such that there is  $a \in A \setminus (S(A) \cup F(A) \cup I(A) \cup \{0, 1\})$ . Then  $\sim \sim a \neq 1$ ,  $\sim \sim a \neq \sim a$  and  $\sim \sim a \neq a$ . Whence  $\mathcal{A}$  is not a DNMG-chain.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 1.** Let  $\mathbb{V} \in \{\mathbb{DP}, \mathbb{NM}^-, \mathbb{G}\}$ . For each subvariety  $\mathbb{W}$  of  $\mathbb{V}$ , a chain  $\mathcal{A}$  is generic for  $\mathbb{W}$  iff each finite chain in  $\mathbb{W}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{A}$ . Moreover,  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{V}$  iff  $\mathcal{A}$  is infinite.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathbb{V} \in \{\mathbb{DP}, \mathbb{NM}^-, \mathbb{G}\}$ , and pick two chains  $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} \in \mathbb{V}$ . By the results of [6,17] we have two consequences. First,  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{V}$  iff  $\mathcal{A}$  is infinite. Next, if  $|\mathcal{A}| < |\mathcal{B}|$  then  $\mathcal{A}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{B}$ . The claim follows immediately.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 2.** Let  $C \subseteq \{F, I, S\}$ , and let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a WNM-chain. We say that  $\mathcal{A}$  is C-semigeneric iff for any  $X \in C$  and for any finite chain  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathbb{WNM}$ , it holds that  $\langle X(B) \rangle$  embeds into  $\langle X(A) \rangle$ .

In the following, for any  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$ , by L(X)-chain we mean: DP-chain if X = F, NM<sup>-</sup>-chain if X = I, and G-chain if X = S.

**Lemma 2.** For each  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$ , a WNM-chain  $\mathcal{A}$  is X-semigeneric iff  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  is generic for the variety generated by L(X)-chains.

*Proof.* By Lemma 1 and Proposition 2.

**Definition 3.** For each n > 0, we let  $e_n(F)$ ,  $e_n(I)$  and  $e_n(S)$  denote the following terms

$$e_n(F) = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^n ((\sim x_i) \sqcup ((\sim x_i \Rightarrow x_i) \sqcap (\sim ((\sim (x_i^2))^2) \Leftrightarrow (\sim ((\sim x_i)^2)))^2),$$
$$e_n(I) = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^n ((\sim x_i) \sqcup (\sim x_i) \sqcup (\sim x_i \Leftrightarrow \sim x_i)),$$
$$e_n(S) = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^n ((\sim x_i \Leftrightarrow \sim x_i) \sqcup (\sim x_i \Rightarrow x_i)).$$

**Lemma 3.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a DNMG-chain,  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$  and, for each n > 0, let  $(a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_n) \in \mathcal{A}^n$ . Then,  $(e_n(X))(a_1, \ldots, a_n) < 1$  iff  $(a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in X(\mathcal{A})$ .

*Proof.* By Definition 1, it is sufficient to note that the *i*th disjunct of  $e_n(X)$  evaluates to 1 iff  $a_i \in A \setminus X(A)$ .

**Lemma 4.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a non-trivial DNMG-chain, and  $t(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = 1$  be an equation. Then, for every  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$ , the equation t = 1 holds in  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  iff  $t \sqcup e_n(X) = 1$  holds in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

*Proof.* If  $X(A) = \emptyset$ , then  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  is isomorphic with the two-element Boolean algebra  $\{0, 1\}$ , and by Lemma 3  $\mathcal{A} \models e_n(X) = 1$ . The claim follows immediately. We then assume  $X(A) \neq \emptyset$ : by Lemma 3 we have that  $\langle X(A) \rangle \not\models e_n(X) = 1$ . Assume first that  $\mathcal{A} \models t \sqcup e_n(X) = 1$ : we must have  $\langle X(A) \rangle \models t = 1$ . Conversely, suppose  $\mathcal{A} \not\models t \sqcup e_n(X) = 1$ : by Lemma 3 we have that for some  $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in \langle X(A) \rangle$ ,  $e_n(X)(a_1, \ldots, a_n) < 1$  and  $t(a_1, \ldots, a_n) < 1$ . We conclude that  $\mathcal{A} \not\models t = 1$ .

**Lemma 5.** A DNMG-chain  $\mathcal{A}$  embeds into a DNMG-chain  $\mathcal{B}$  iff  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  embeds into  $\langle X(B) \rangle$  for each  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$ .

*Proof.* One direction is trivial. Assume then that there is  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$  such that  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  does not embed into  $\langle X(B) \rangle$ , and assume further, by contradiction, that  $f: A \to B$  is an embedding of  $\mathcal{A}$  into  $\mathcal{B}$ . Then there is  $a \in \langle X(A) \rangle$  such that  $f(a) \notin \langle X(B) \rangle$ , for otherwise f would embed  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  into  $\langle X(B) \rangle$ . Assume X = F and  $f(a) \in B \setminus \langle F(B) \rangle$ . Then  $\sim a = \sim a$ , while  $\sim f(a) \neq \sim f(a)$ , contradicting the fact that f is an homomorphism. The other cases X = I or X = S, are dealt with analogously.

**Lemma 6.** Let  $\mathbb{V}$  be a subvariety of  $\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$ . Then a DNMG-chain  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathbb{V}$  is generic for  $\mathbb{V}$  iff each finite chain  $\mathcal{B}$  in  $\mathbb{V}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{A}$ .

Proof. Assume that each finite chain  $\mathcal{B}$  in  $\mathbb{V}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{A}$ . Since  $\mathbb{V}$  has the finite model property, being locally finite, then it is generated by the class of its finite chains. This implies that  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbb{V}$ . On the other hand, assume that  $\mathcal{B}$  does not embed into  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then, by Lemma 5, there is  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$  such that  $\langle X(B) \rangle$  does not embed into  $\langle X(A) \rangle$ . By Lemma 1,  $\langle X(B) \rangle$  is an L(X)-chain which does not belong to the variety generated by the L(X)-chain  $\langle X(A) \rangle$ . Whence there is an equation  $t(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = 1$  holding in  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  and failing in  $\langle X(B) \rangle$ . Then, by Lemma 4, the equation  $t \sqcup e_n(X) = 1$  holds in  $\mathcal{A}$  and fails in  $\mathcal{B}$ , proving that  $\mathcal{A}$  is not generic for  $\mathbb{V}$ .

**Lemma 7.** Let  $\mathbb{V} \subseteq \mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$  be a single chain generated variety. Then there is a chain  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathbb{V}$  such that every countable chain in  $\mathbb{V}$  embeds into it, and  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B}) = \mathbb{V}$ .

Proof. Immediate by Lemma 6, [10, Theorem 3.8] and [22, Theorems 3 and 5].

**Lemma 8.** A DNMG-chain is  $\{F, I, S\}$ -semigeneric iff it is generic for  $\mathbb{DNMG}$ .

*Proof.* Immediate, from Lemmas 2, 5 and 6.

**Theorem 2.** A chain  $\mathcal{A}$  is generic for  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  iff the sets F(A), I(A) and S(A) are infinite.

*Proof.* By Lemmas 1 and 8.

We are ready to prove standard completeness for the logic DNMG whose associated algebraic semantics is given by DNMG.

**Definition 4.** Let  $*: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  be defined by:

$$x * y = \begin{cases} 0 & if \ x + y \le 3/4 \ or \ \max\{x, y\} \le 1/2\\ \min\{x, y\} \ otherwise. \end{cases}$$

It is immediate to check that \* is a left-continuous *t*-norm. Moreover \* is the monoidal operation of the standard WNM-chain  $[0,1]_*$  determined by the following negation:  $\sim 0 = 1$ ,  $\sim x = 3/4 - x$  for all  $x \in (0,1/4) \cup (1/2,3/4]$ ,  $\sim x = 1/2$  for all  $x \in [1/4, 1/2]$ ,  $\sim x = 0$  for all  $x \in [3/4, 1]$ .

**Lemma 9.** The WNM-chain  $[0,1]_*$  determined by the t-norm in Definition 4 is a DNMG-chain.

*Proof.* We just check that any element  $a \in [0, 1/4) \cup (1/2, 3/4)$  is such that  $\sim a = a$ , while any element  $a \in [1/4, 1/2]$  is such that  $\sim a = a = 1/2$ , and finally any element  $a \in [3/4, 1]$  is such that  $\sim a = 1$ .

**Theorem 3.** The logic DNMG is standard complete, since the variety  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  is generated by  $[0,1]_*$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 9,  $[0, 1]_* \in \mathbb{DNMG}$ . Now,  $F([0, 1]_*) = [1/4, 1/2]$ ,  $I([0, 1]_*) = (0, 1/4) \cup (1/2, 3/4)$ , and  $S([0, 1]_*) = [3/4, 1)$ . By Lemma 8 and Theorem 2, the standard chain  $[0, 1]_*$  is generic for  $\mathbb{DNMG}$ . □

# 4 The Lattice of Subvarieties of DNMG

Let  $\omega$  denote the ordinal  $\{0, 1, 2, \ldots\}$  of the natural numbers, and let  $\omega + 1$  be the ordinal  $\omega \cup \{\omega\}$ . For any integer n > 0 and any sequence  $\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots, \kappa_n$  of ordinals, the *direct product*  $\kappa_1 \times \kappa_2 \times \cdots \times \kappa_n$  is the poset obtained equipping the cartesian product with the pointwise order:  $(a_1, \ldots, a_n) \leq (b_1, \ldots, b_n)$  iff  $a_i \leq b_i$ for all  $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ . We write  $\kappa^{(n)}$  to mean the *n*th *direct power* of the ordinal  $\kappa$ , that is, the direct product of *n* copies of  $\kappa$ .<sup>1</sup> A subset  $S \subseteq \kappa_1 \times \cdots \times \kappa_n$  is an *antichain* if for each  $a, b \in S$ , neither  $a \leq b$  nor  $b \leq a$ . The set of all antichains of a poset *P* is denoted  $\mathcal{AC}(P)$ .

**Lemma 10.** For n > 0, every antichain of  $P = \kappa_1 \times \kappa_2 \times \cdots \times \kappa_n$  is finite.

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  We use this notation to distinguish direct powers from ordinal exponentiation.

*Proof.* By [8, Exercise 2.3.4] a poset is a well-quasi-order (wqo) iff (1) it has no infinite strictly decreasing sequences, i.e.  $x_0 > x_1 > \ldots$ , and (2) it has no infinite antichains. As every ordinal  $\kappa_i$  is well-ordered, then it satisfies (1) and (2): whence it is a wqo. By [8, Lemma 2.3.9] P is also a wqo, whence each one of its antichains is finite.

**Corollary 1.** For each integer n > 0, the set  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(n)})$  has cardinality  $\aleph_0$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 10, every antichain of  $(\omega + 1)^{(n)}$  is a finite set of *n*-tuples of  $\omega \cup \{\omega\}$ . Hence it can be coded in the natural numbers, i.e. there is an injective map  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(n)}) \to \omega$ . Whence,  $|\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(n)})| \leq \aleph_0$ . To conclude, note that  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(1)}) = \omega + 1$ , whence,  $|\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(n)})| \geq |\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(1)})| = \aleph_0$ .  $\Box$ 

The set  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega + 1)^{(n)})$  can be equipped with a lattice structure by putting  $X \leq Y$  if for each *n*-tuple  $x \in X$  there is  $y \in Y$  such that  $x \leq y$ , for all  $X, Y \in \mathcal{AC}((\omega + 1)^{(n)})$ . In this section we shall prove that the lattice of subvarieties of DNMG is isomorphic with  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega + 1)^{(3)})$ .

**Definition 5.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a DNMG-chain. Then the triplet  $T(\mathcal{A})$  associated with  $\mathcal{A}$  is an element  $(a, b, c) \in (\omega + 1)^{(3)}$  defined as follows.

1. If S(A) is infinite then  $a = \omega$ , otherwise a = |S(A)|.

2. If  $I^{-}(A)$  is infinite then  $b = \omega$ , otherwise  $b = |I^{-}(A)|$ .

3. If F(A) is infinite then  $c = \omega$ , otherwise c = |F(A)|.

**Lemma 11.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  be two DNMG-chains with  $\mathcal{A}$  of finite cardinality. Then  $\mathcal{A}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{B}$  iff  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$  in the pointwise order.

*Proof.*  $\mathcal{A}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{B}$  iff, by Lemma 5,  $\langle S(A) \rangle$  embeds into  $\langle S(B) \rangle$ ,  $\langle I(A) \rangle$  embeds into  $\langle I(B) \rangle$  and  $\langle F(A) \rangle$  embeds into  $\langle F(B) \rangle$ , iff  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ .

**Lemma 12.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  be two DNMG-chains. Then  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$  iff  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ . As a consequence,  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) = \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$  iff  $T(\mathcal{A}) = T(\mathcal{B})$ .

*Proof.* Assume first that  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$ . Then each chain in  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A})$  belongs to  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$ , too. By Lemma 6, each finite chain  $\mathcal{C} \in \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A})$  embeds into both  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ . By Lemma 11 this occurs only if  $T(\mathcal{C}) \leq T(\mathcal{A})$  and  $T(\mathcal{C}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ . But then  $\langle X(\mathcal{A}) \rangle$  embeds into  $\langle X(\mathcal{B}) \rangle$  for each  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$ , or they are both of infinite cardinality. In both cases  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ .

For the other way round, assume  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ . Take now any finite chain  $\mathcal{C} \in \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A})$ . Then by Lemma 6,  $\mathcal{C}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{A}$ , and by Lemma 11,  $T(\mathcal{C}) \leq T(\mathcal{A})$ . By our standing assumption,  $T(\mathcal{C}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ , too. Whence, again by Lemma 11,  $\mathcal{C}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{B}$ , which implies that each finite chain in  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A})$  belongs to  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$ , too. We conclude  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$ .

Notice that by Lemmas 2 and 8 and Theorem 2, if C is a set of DNMG-chains containing an infinite chain  $\mathcal{A}$  of any cardinality, then  $\mathbf{V}(C) = \mathbf{V}(C')$  for  $C' = (C \cup \{\mathcal{A}'\}) \setminus \{\mathcal{A}\}$ , for a suitable  $\mathcal{A}'$ . More precisely,  $\mathcal{A}'$  is obtained from  $\mathcal{A}$  by replacing, for every  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$  such that  $X(\mathcal{A})$  is infinite, the subalgebra  $\langle X(A) \rangle$  with a fresh copy of a fixed denumerable L(X)-chain  $\mathcal{B}$ , where we safely identify the extremes of  $\mathcal{B}$  with those of  $\mathcal{A}$ . We call  $\mathcal{A}'$  a *regular* chain.

Then we may assume that each subvariety of  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  is generated by a set of regular chains. Two regular DNMG-chains  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  are isomorphic iff  $T(\mathcal{A}) = T(\mathcal{B})$ . We now fix, once and for all, one *representative* regular chain  $\mathcal{A}_T$ , for each triple  $T \in (\omega + 1)^{(3)}$ . Notice that given two regular representative DNMGchains  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ , we have that  $\mathcal{A}$  embeds into  $\mathcal{B}$  iff  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ . A set Cof DNMG-chains is *irredundant* if each  $\mathcal{A} \in C$  is representative regular and  $\mathbf{V}(C \setminus {\mathcal{A}}) \subsetneq \mathbf{V}(C)$  for all  $\mathcal{A} \in C$ . Otherwise C is *redundant*.

**Lemma 13.** Every irredundant set C of DNMG-chains is finite. Moreover, the map  $\mathcal{A} \mapsto T(\mathcal{A})$  is a bijection between C and  $C_T = \{T(\mathcal{A}) : \mathcal{A} \in C\}$ , which is the underlying set of a finite antichain of  $(\omega + 1)^{(3)}$ .

Proof. Let C be an irredundant set of DNMG-chains. Then, for every  $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} \in C$ , with  $\mathcal{A} \neq \mathcal{B}$  we have that  $T(\mathcal{A})$  is incomparable with  $T(\mathcal{B})$ . Indeed, if not, by Lemma 12 either  $\mathbf{V}(C \setminus \{\mathcal{A}\}) = \mathbf{V}(C)$  or  $\mathbf{V}(C \setminus \{\mathcal{B}\}) = \mathbf{V}(C)$ . In both cases we have a contradiction. By the previous observations we have that  $C_T$  must be the underlying set of an antichain of  $(\omega + 1)^{(3)}$ , and by Lemma 10  $C_T$  is finite. The proof is settled by noticing that the map  $\mathcal{A} \mapsto T(\mathcal{A})$  is a bijection between Cand  $C_T$ .

**Lemma 14.** The lattice  $\Lambda(\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG})$  of all subvarieties of  $\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$ , ordered by inclusion, is isomorphic with the lattice  $\Gamma(\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG})$  of all irredundant sets of DNMG-chains, ordered by inclusion.

*Proof.* Clearly, each irredundant set of DNMG-chains generates a subvariety of  $\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$ , and each subvariety is generated by some irredundant set of DNMG-chains. We prove than no subvariety can be generated by two distinct irredundant sets C, D of DNMG-chains, with  $C \neq D$ : by Lemma 13 we can assume  $C = \{\mathcal{A}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{A}_h\}$  and  $D = \{\mathcal{B}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{B}_k\}$ . By contradiction, suppose  $\mathbf{V}(C) = \mathbf{V}(D)$ .

Then, without loss of generality, there is a chain  $\mathcal{A}_r \in C \setminus D$ . By [6, Theorem 7], we have that the class of chains in  $\mathbf{V}(C) = \mathbf{V}(D)$  coincides with the one in  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{h} \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}_i)$  and with the one in  $\bigcup_{i=1}^{k} \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B}_i)$ . This means that there is  $\mathcal{B}_s \in D$ such that  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}_r) \subseteq \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B}_s)$ , and clearly  $\mathcal{B}_s \notin C$  (otherwise C would be redundant). This implies  $T(\mathcal{A}_r) \leq T(\mathcal{B}_s)$  and hence  $\mathcal{A}_r$  embeds into  $\mathcal{B}_s$ , being both chains regular representative. On the other hand, for the same reasons, this in turns implies that  $\mathcal{B}_s$  embeds into some chain  $\mathcal{A}_t \in C$ . Note that  $t \neq r$ , as otherwise  $\mathcal{A}_r \simeq \mathcal{B}_s$ , and since both chains are regular representative we would conclude  $\mathcal{A}_r = \mathcal{B}_s$ , in contrast with the fact that  $\mathcal{A}_r \notin D$ . But then also  $\mathcal{A}_r$  embeds into  $\mathcal{A}_t$ , contradicting the fact that C is irredundant. It is obvious that both the bijective correspondence  $C \mapsto \mathbf{V}(C)$  and its inverse are order-preserving.

**Theorem 4.** The lattice  $\Lambda(\mathbb{DNMG})$  is isomorphic with  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(3)})$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 14, we prove that  $\Gamma(\mathbb{DNMG})$  is isomorphic with  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(3)})$ . Consider a set C of pairwise non-isomorphic representative chains in  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  such that the set  $C_T = \{T(\mathcal{A}) \mid \mathcal{A} \in C\}$  is not an antichain. Then there are chains  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B} \in C$  such that  $T(\mathcal{A}) \leq T(\mathcal{B})$ . By Lemma 12,  $\mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}) \subseteq \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{B})$ . Whence,  $\mathbf{V}(C) = \mathbf{V}(C \setminus \{\mathcal{A}\})$ . That is C is redundant. Whence, each element of  $\Gamma(\mathbb{D}\mathbb{N}\mathbb{M}\mathbb{G})$  is a set C of chains such that  $C_T$  is an antichain, that is T maps  $\Gamma(\mathbb{D}\mathbb{N}\mathbb{M}\mathbb{G})$  to  $\mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(3)})$ . T is injective by construction. For surjectivity, let  $A \in \mathcal{AC}((\omega+1)^{(3)})$ . With each triple  $(a, b, c) \in A$  we associate the representative regular DNMG-chain  $\mathcal{A}_{(a,b,c)}$  such that  $T(\mathcal{A}_{(a,b,c)}) = (a, b, c)$ . Call  $C(\mathcal{A})$  the set of chains so obtained. Clearly,  $T(C(\mathcal{A})) = \mathcal{A}$  and all chains in  $C(\mathcal{A})$  are representative and regular. Finally, for any triple  $(a, b, c) \in \mathcal{A}$  we have that  $\mathbf{V}(C(\mathcal{A}) \setminus \{\mathcal{A}_{(a,b,c)}\}) \subsetneq \mathbf{V}(C(\mathcal{A}))$ , for otherwise there is a triple  $(d, e, f) \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $(a, b, c) \leq (d, e, f)$ , contradicting the fact that  $\mathcal{A}$  is an antichain. Whence  $C(\mathcal{A})$  is irredundant, that is, it belongs to  $\Gamma(\mathbb{D}\mathbb{N}\mathbb{M}\mathbb{G})$ . Surjectivity is proved.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 2.** There are countably many subvarieties of  $\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$ . Every subvariety of  $\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$  is generated by a finite number of DNMG-chains.

*Proof.* By Theorem 4, Lemma 10 and Corollary 1.

# 5 Uniform Axiomatisations

In this section we axiomatise all the subvarieties of DNMG in a uniform way.

**Definition 6.** For each integer n > 0 let  $Q_n$  be the term:

$$Q_n = \bigsqcup_{1 \le i \ne j \le n+1} (x_i \Leftrightarrow x_j) \,.$$

Furthermore let  $Q_0 = 0$  and  $Q_{\omega} = 1$ , and  $e_{\omega+1}(X) = 1$  for each  $X \in \{F, I, S\}$ .

Given  $(a, b, c) \in (\omega + 1)^{(3)}$ , we write  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, c)$  to mean the variety generated by a DNMG-chain  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $T(\mathcal{A}) = (a, b, c)$ .

**Theorem 5.** For each  $(a, b, c) \in (\omega + 1)^{(3)}$ , the variety  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, c)$  is the subvariety of DNMG satisfying the following equation.

$$(Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S)) \sqcap (Q_b \sqcup e_{b+1}(I)) \sqcap (Q_c \sqcup e_{c+1}(F)) = 1.$$

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a DNMG-chain such that  $T(\mathcal{D}) = (a, b, c)$ . We show that  $\mathcal{D} \models Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S) = 1$ . As a matter of fact, if a = 0 then by Lemma 3  $1 = e_{a+1}(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) = (Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S))(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1})$ , since  $d_i \in D \setminus S(D)$  for all  $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, a+1\}$ . If  $a = \omega$  then  $(Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S))(d_1, \ldots, d_{m+1}) = 1$  for  $Q_a = 1$ . If a is a positive integer, then  $(Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S))(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) = 1$ . Indeed, if  $d_i \in S(D)$  for all  $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, a+1\}$  then there are distinct indices i, j such that  $d_i \Leftrightarrow d_j = 1$ , for |S(A)| = a, whence  $(Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S))(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) = Q_a(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) = 1$ . If on the other hand there is some  $d_i \in D \setminus S(D)$ , then, by Lemma 3,  $e_{a+1}(S)(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) = 1 = (Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S))(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1})$ . We proceed similarly, to show that  $\mathcal{D} \models Q_b \sqcup e_{b+1}(I) = 1$  and  $\mathcal{D} \models Q_c \sqcup e_{c+1}(F) = 1$ , mutatis mutandis. Let now  $\mathcal{D}$  be a DNMG-chain not in  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, c)$ , whence  $T(\mathcal{D}) = (a', b', c')$ 

with  $(a',b',c') \not\leq (a,b,c)$ . If a' > a then picking pairwise distinct elements  $a_1, \ldots, a_{a+1} \in S(D)$  we have that  $Q_a(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) < 1$ . Further, by Lemma 3,  $e_{a+1}(S)(d_1, \ldots, d_{a+1}) < 1$ , too. We conclude that  $\mathcal{D} \not\models Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S) = 1$ . The cases b' > b and c' > c are dealt with in the same manner, *mutatis mutandis*.  $\Box$ 

Clearly, if some index a, b, c is zero, the associated conjunct in the axiomatising equation can be simplified:  $Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S)$  to  $e_{a+1}(S)$  and so forth. Analogously, if some index a, b, c is  $\omega$ , the associated conjunct can be totally disregarded. For instance  $\mathbf{V}(\omega, \omega, \omega) = \mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$ , and as a matter of fact the axiomatising equation in this case is identically 1 = 1. As  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  contains all major subvarieties of  $\mathbb{WNM}$ , several varieties of the form  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, c)$  have already been studied and axiomatised in the literature. The following theorems report on this aspect.

**Theorem 6.**  $\mathbf{V}(0,0,0) = \mathbb{B}$ . For each integer n > 0,  $\mathbf{V}(n,0,0) = \mathbb{G}_{n+2}$ ,  $\mathbf{V}(0,n,0) = \mathbb{NM}_{2n+2}$ ,  $\mathbf{V}(0,0,n) = \mathbb{DP}_{n+2}$ . Also,  $\mathbf{V}(\omega,0,0) = \mathbb{G}$ ,  $\mathbf{V}(0,\omega,0) = \mathbb{NM}^-$  and  $\mathbf{V}(0,0,\omega) = \mathbb{DP}$ .

*Proof.* Immediate by [6, 17], and Definition 5.

We now show how the axiomatisation provided in Theorem 5 can be simplified, when exactly one element in the triplet (a, b, c) is zero. In this case  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, c)$  is either a subvariety of  $\mathbb{RDP} = \mathbf{V}(\omega, 0, \omega)$ , or of one of the following two subvarieties. The variety  $\mathbb{DNM} = \mathbf{V}(0, \omega, \omega)$ , axiomatised as  $\mathbb{WNM}$  plus:

$$(\sim \sim x \Rightarrow x) \sqcup (\sim \sim x \Leftrightarrow \sim x) = 1.$$
 (IF)

The variety  $\mathbb{NMG}^- = \mathbf{V}(\omega, \omega, 0)$ , axiomatised as  $\mathbb{NMG}$  plus:

$$\sim ((\sim (x^2))^2) \Leftrightarrow (\sim ((\sim x)^2))^2 = 1.$$
 (NF)

**Theorem 7.** 1. For all  $b, c \in (\omega + 1)^{(2)}$  with  $b \neq 0 \neq c$ , the variety  $\mathbf{V}(0, b, c)$  is axiomatised as DNM plus

$$(Q_b \sqcup e_{b+1}(I)) \sqcap (Q_c \sqcup e_{c+1}(F)) = 1.$$

2. For all  $a, c \in (\omega + 1)^{(2)}$  with  $a \neq 0 \neq c$ , the variety  $\mathbf{V}(a, 0, c)$  is axiomatised as  $\mathbb{RDP}$  plus

$$(Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S)) \sqcap (Q_c \sqcup e_{c+1}(F)) = 1.$$

3. For all  $a, b \in (\omega + 1)^{(2)}$  with  $b \neq 0 \neq a$ , the variety  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, 0)$  is axiomatised as  $\mathbb{NMG}^-$  plus

$$(Q_a \sqcup e_{a+1}(S)) \sqcap (Q_b \sqcup e_{b+1}(I)) = 1.$$

*Proof.* Immediate by Theorem 5.

We now provide the general criterion to axiomatise the subvarieties of DNMG.

**Theorem 8.** Let  $C = \{A_i\}_{i \in I}$  be an irredundant set of DNMG-chains. Let further  $t_i(x_1, \ldots, x_{n_i}) = 1$  be the equation axiomatising  $\mathbf{V}(A_i)$  for each  $i \in I$ , as given by Theorem 5. Then  $\mathbf{V}(C)$  contains exactly the DNMG-algebras satisfying the equation

$$\bigsqcup_{i\in I} t_i(y_{i,1},\ldots,y_{i,n_i}) = 1\,,$$

where all the variables  $y_{i,j}$ , for  $i \in I$ , and  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n_i\}$ , are pairwise distinct.

*Proof.* First notice that by Corollary 2,  $\bigsqcup_{i \in I} t_i = 1$  is indeed an equation, as I is a finite index set. The proof is settled by noting that  $\mathbf{V}(C) = \bigsqcup_{i \in I} \mathbf{V}(\mathcal{A}_i)$ , and by using [15, Lemma 5.25].

**Corollary 3.** Every element of  $\Lambda(\mathbb{DNMG})$  is the join of a finite set of join irreducible elements.

*Proof.* By [2, Theorem 5.1] a variety of MTL-algebras is join irreducible, in the lattice of the subvarieties of  $\mathbb{MTL}$ , if and only if it is generated by a single chain. The claim follows by Theorem 8.

**Theorem 9.** DNMG is the smallest subvariety in  $\Lambda(DNMG)$  which contains DP, NM<sup>-</sup>, G and it is generated by a single chain.

*Proof.* Immediate by Theorem 6 and Lemma 12, since  $\mathbb{DNMG} = \mathbf{V}(\omega, \omega, \omega)$ .  $\Box$ 

**Remark 1.** Notice that  $\mathbb{NM} = \mathbf{V}(0, \omega, 1)$ , and its lattice of subvarieties is given by all antichains  $C \in \mathcal{AC}((\omega + 1)^{(3)})$  such that all  $T \in C$  have either the form T = (0, b, 1) or T = (0, b, 0) for some integer  $b \ge 0$ , or  $T = (0, \omega, 0)$ , whose corresponding variety is  $\mathbb{NM}^-$ .

The almost minimal subvarieties of  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  are exactly  $\mathbb{G}_3 = \mathbf{V}(1,0,0)$ ,  $\mathbb{NM}_4 = \mathbf{V}(0,1,0)$ , and  $\mathbb{NM}_3 = \mathbb{DP}_3 = \mathbf{V}(0,0,1)$ . Whence they coincide with the almost minimal subvarieties of  $\mathbb{WNM}$  (see [3]).

By Lemma 7 and [10, Theorem 3.5], every variety of DNMG-algebras of the form  $\mathbf{V}(a, b, c)$  is such that the corresponding logic has the strong single chain completeness (see [2, 22]).

The subvarieties of  $\mathbb{D}\mathbb{NMG}$  generated by a standard algebra are exactly  $\mathbb{G} = \mathbf{V}(\omega, 0, 0)$ ,  $\mathbb{NM} = \mathbf{V}(0, \omega, 1)$ ,  $\mathbb{NMG} = \mathbf{V}(\omega, \omega, 1)$ ,  $\mathbb{RDP} = \mathbf{V}(\omega, 0, \omega)$ ,  $\mathbb{DNM} = \mathbf{V}(0, \omega, \omega)$ , and, clearly,  $\mathbb{DNMG} = \mathbf{V}(\omega, \omega, \omega)$ .

Finally,  $\mathbb{EMTL} = \mathbf{V}(\{(\omega, 0, 0), (0, 0, \omega)\})$  is an example of a subvariety of  $\mathbb{DNMG}$  which cannot be generated by a single chain [6].

# References

- Aguzzoli, S., Bianchi, M.: On some questions concerning the axiomatisation of WNM-algebras and their subvarieties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 292, 5–31 (2016)
- Aguzzoli, S., Bianchi, M.: Single chain completeness and some related properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 301, 51–63 (2016)
- Aguzzoli, S., Bianchi, M.: Minimally many-valued extensions of the monoidal tnorm based logic MTL. In: Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 10147, pp. 106–115. Springer (2017)
- Aguzzoli, S., Bianchi, M., Valota, D.: A note on drastic product logic. In: Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty, Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 443, pp. 365–374. Springer (2014)
- Aguzzoli, S., Bova, S., Valota, D.: Free weak nilpotent minimum algebras. Soft. Comput. 21(1), 79–95 (2017)
- Bianchi, M.: The logic of the strongest and the weakest t-norms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 276, 31–42 (2015)
- Blok, W., Pigozzi, D.: Algebraizable logics, Memoirs of The American Mathematical Society, vol. 77. American Mathematical Society (1989)
- 8. Börger, E., Grädel, E., Gurevich, Y.: The Classical Decision Problem. Universitext, Springer, Heidelberg (2001). Reprint of 1997 edn
- Bova, S., Valota, D.: Finite RDP-algebras: duality. Coproducts Log. J. Log. Comput. 22(3), 417 (2012)
- Cintula, P., Esteva, F., Gispert, J., Godo, L., Montagna, F., Noguera, C.: Distinguished algebraic semantics for t-norm based fuzzy logics: methods and algebraic equivalencies. Ann. Pure Appl. Log. 160(1), 53–81 (2009)
- Cintula, P., Hájek, P., Noguera, C. (eds.): Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic, vol. 1, 2, 3. College Publications (2011)
- Esteva, F., Godo, L.: Monoidal t-norm based logic: towards a logic for leftcontinuous t-norms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 124(3), 271–288 (2001)
- Esteva, F., Godo, L., Noguera, C.: On expansions of WNM t-norm based logics with truth-constants. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 161(3), 347–368 (2010)
- Fodor, J.: Nilpotent minimum and related connectives for fuzzy logic. In: Proceedings of 1995 IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, pp. 2077–2082. IEEE (1995)
- Galatos, N., Jipsen, P., Kowalski, T., Ono, H.: Residuated lattices: an algebraic glimpse at substructural logics. In: Studies in Logic and The Foundations of Mathematics, vol. 151. Elsevier (2007)
- García-Cerdaña, À., Noguera, C., Esteva, F.: On the scope of some formulas defining additive connectives in fuzzy logics. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 154(1), 56–75 (2005)
- Gispert, J.: Axiomatic extensions of the nilpotent minimum logic. Rep. Math. Log. 37, 113–123 (2003)
- Hájek, P.: Metamathematics of Fuzzy Logic, Trends in Logic, vol. 4. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1998)
- Jenei, S.: A note on the ordinal sum theorem and its consequence for the construction of triangular norms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 126(2), 199–205 (2002)
- Jenei, S., Montagna, F.: A proof of standard completeness for Esteva and Godo's logic MTL. Stud. Log. 70(2), 183–192 (2002)
- Marchioni, E.: On deductive interpolation for the weak nilpotent minimum logic. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 292, 318–332 (2016)
- 22. Montagna, F.: Completeness with respect to a chain and universal models in fuzzy logic. Arch. Math. Log. **50**(1–2), 161–183 (2011)
- 23. Noguera, C.: Algebraic study of axiomatic extensions of triangular norm based fuzzy logics. Ph.D. thesis, IIIA-CSIC (2006)
- 24. Noguera, C., Esteva, F., Gispert, J.: On triangular norm based axiomatic extensions of the weak nilpotent minimum logic. Math. Log. Q. **54**(4), 387–409 (2008)
- Wang, S.: A fuzzy logic for the revised drastic product t-norm. Soft. Comput. 11(6), 585–590 (2007)
- Wang, S.M., Wang, B.S., Pei, D.W.: A fuzzy logic for an ordinal sum t-norm. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 149(2), 297–307 (2005)

# Fuzzy Heyting Algebra

Berhanu Assaye Alaba<sup>1</sup> and Derebew Nigussie  $Derso^{2(\boxtimes)}$ 

<sup>1</sup> Departement of Mathematics, Bahir Dar University, Bahir Dar, Ethiopia berhanu\_assaye@yahoo.com

<sup>2</sup> Departement of Mathematics, Woldia University, Woldia, Ethiopia nderebew@gmail.com

**Abstract.** In this paper, we introduce the concept of fuzzy Heyting algebra (FHA) as an extension of Heyting algebra. We also characterize fuzzy Heyting algebra using the properties of Heyting algebra(HA) and distributive fuzzy lattices. We, finally, state and prove some results on fuzzy Heyting algebra.

Keywords: Heyting algebra  $\cdot$  Fuzzy Heyting algebra  $\cdot$  Fuzzy relation  $\cdot$  Fuzzy poset  $\cdot$  Distributive fuzzy lattices

MSC Code:  $06D20 \cdot 06D72 \cdot 06D75$ 

## 1 Introduction and Preliminaries

The concept of fuzzy set was first itroduced by Zadeh [8] and this concept was adapted by Goguen [11] to define and study fuzzy relations. G. Birkhoff [10] introduced the concept of Brouwerian lattice as a distributive lattice or Heyting algebra as a bounded distributive lattice in which for any two elements a, b there exists a largest element  $a \to b$  such that  $a \land (a \to b) \leq b$ . Heyting Algebra is a relatively pseudo complemented distributive lattice. It arises from non classical logic and was first investigated by Skolem T [2]. It is named as Heyting Algebra after the Dutch Mathematician Arend Heyting [1]. In this paper we introduced the concept of Fuzzy Heyting Algebra (FHA) and studied some important properties of Fuzzy Heyting Algebra using fuzzy relation and fuzzy poset defined by Chon [4]. We also characterized fuzzy Heyting algebra using the directed above fuzzy poset and proved that any distributive fuzzy lattice is fuzzy Heyting algebra iff there exists a largest element c of H(Heyting Algebra) such that  $A(a \land c, b) > 0$ , for all a,  $b \in H$ .

**Definition 1.1.** An algebra  $(H, \lor, \land \rightarrow, 0, 1)$  is called a Heyting algebra if it satisfies the following

(1)  $(H, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is a bounded distributive lattice

(2)  $a \rightarrow a = 1$ 

(3)  $b \leq a \rightarrow b$ 

(4)  $a \wedge (a \rightarrow b) = a \wedge b$ 

(5)  $a \to (b \land c) = (a \to b) \land (a \to c)$ 

(6)  $(a \lor b) \to c = (a \to c) \land (b \to c)$ , for all a, b, c  $\in$  H

**Definition 1.2.** A bounded distributive  $lattice(H, \lor, \land, 0, 1)$  is said to be a Heyting Algebra if there exist a binary operation  $\rightarrow$  on H such that, for any x, y,  $z \in H$ ,  $x \land z \leq y \Leftrightarrow z \leq x \rightarrow y$ 

**Theorem 1.3.** Let H be a Heyting algebra, then for any  $a, b, c \in H$ , the following hold:

(i)  $a \wedge c \leq b \Leftrightarrow c \leq a \to b$ (ii)  $a \leq b \Leftrightarrow a \to b = 1$ 

Lemma 1.4. In any Heyting algebra H, the following hold:

 $\begin{array}{ll} (a) & a \to (b \wedge a) = a \to b \\ (b) & a \leq b \Rightarrow x \to a \leq x \to b \\ (c) & a \leq b \Rightarrow b \to x \leq a \to x, \ for \ all \ a, b, c, x \in H \end{array}$ 

**Theorem 1.5.** If  $(H, \lor, \land, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$  is a Heyting Algebra and  $a, b \in H$ , then  $a \rightarrow b$  is the largest element c of H such that  $a \land c \leq b$ 

**Theorem 1.6.** The following are equivalent:

(1) *H* is Heyting algebra (2) For any *a*, *b*,  $c \in H$ ,  $a \wedge c \leq b \Leftrightarrow c \leq a \rightarrow b$ (3)  $b \leq a \rightarrow b$ , forall  $a, b \in H$ 

**Definition 1.7.** Let X be a set. A function  $A:X \times X \to [0,1]$  is called a fuzzy relation in X. The fuzzy relation A in X is reflexive iff A(x,x) = 1, for all  $x \in X$ . The fuzzy relation A in X is anti symmetric iff A(x,y) > 0 and  $A(y,x) > 0 \Rightarrow x = y$ . The fuzzy relation A in X is transitive iff  $A(x,z) \ge Sup_{y \in X}(min(A(x,y),A(y,z)))$ . A fuzzy relation A is fuzzy partial order relation if A is reflexive, symmetric and transitive. A fuzzy partial order relation A is fuzzy partial order relation on a set X, then (X,A) is called a fuzzy poset. If A is a fuzzy total order relation in a set X, then (X,A) is called a fuzzy totally ordered set or a fuzzy total order relation.

**Definition 1.8.** Let (X,A) be a fuzzy poset and  $B \subseteq X$ . An element  $u \in X$  is said to be an upper bound for a subset B iff  $A(b, u) > 0, \forall b \in B$ . An upper bound  $u_0$  for a subset B is least upper bound of B iff  $A(u_0, u) > 0$  for every upper bound u for B. An element  $v \in X$  is said to be an lower bound for a subset B iff  $A(v, b) > 0, \forall b \in B$ . A lower bound  $v_0$  for a subset B is the greatest lower bound of B iff  $A(v, v_0) > 0$  for every lower bound v for B. We denote the lub of the set  $\{x, y\} = x \lor y$  and glb of the set  $\{x, y\} = x \land y$ 

**Definition 1.9.** Let (X,A) be a fuzzy poset. (X,A) is a fuzzy lattice iff  $x \lor y$  and  $x \land y$  exists for all  $x, y \in X$ .

**Proposition 1.10.** Let (X,A) be a fuzzy lattice and  $x, y, z \in X$ . Then

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ A(x,x\vee y)>0, A(y,x\vee y)>0, A(x\wedge y,x)>0, A(x\wedge y,y)>0\\ (ii) \ A(x,z)>0 \ and \ A(y,z)>0 \Rightarrow A(x\vee y,z)>0\\ (iii) \ A(z,x)>0 \ and \ A(z,y)>0 \Rightarrow A(z,x\wedge y)>0\\ (iv) \ A(x,y)>0 \ iff \ x\vee y=y\\ (v) \ A(x,y)>0 \ iff \ x\wedge y=x\\ (vi) \ If \ A(y,z)>0, \ then \ A(x\wedge y,x\wedge z)>0 \ and \ A(x\vee y,x\vee z)>0 \end{array}$ 

**Proposition 1.11.** Let (X,A) be a fuzzy lattice and  $x, y, z \in X$ . Then

(1)  $x \lor x = x, x \land x = x$ (2)  $x \lor y = y \lor x, y \land x = x \land y$ (3)  $(x \lor y) \lor z = x \lor (y \lor z), (x \land y) \land z = x \land (y \land z)$ (4)  $(x \lor y) \land x = x, (x \land y) \lor x = x$ 

**Definition 1.12.** Let (H,A) be a fuzzy lattice. (H,A) is distributive iff  $x \land (y \lor z) = (x \land y) \lor (x \land z)$  and  $(x \lor y) \land (x \lor z) = x \lor (y \land z)$ , for all x, y, z  $\in$  H.

From distributive inequalities (H,A) is distributive iff  $A(x \land (y \lor z), (x \land y) \lor (x \land z)) > 0$  and  $A((x \lor y) \land (x \lor z), x \lor (y \lor z)) > 0$  From now onwards by H, we mean Heyting algebra unless otherwise specified.

# 2 Fuzzy Heyting Algebra

In this section, we introduced the concept of fuzzy heyting algebra (FHA) and studied some important properties.

**Definition 2.1.** Let (H,A) be a fuzzy lattice. Then (H,A) is said to be a bounded fuzzy lattice iff

(1)  $A(x \land 0, 0) = A(0, x \land 0) = 1$ (2)  $A(x \lor 1, 1) = A(1, x \lor 1) = 1$ , for all  $x \in H$ 

**Definition 2.2.** A bounded distributive fuzzy lattice(H,A) is said to be a Fuzzy Heyting Algebra if there exists a binary operation  $\rightarrow$  such that, for any x, y, z  $\in H, A(x \wedge z, y) > 0 \Leftrightarrow A(z, x \rightarrow y) > 0$ 

**Theorem 2.3.** Let (H,A) be a bounded distributive fuzzy lattice, then (H,A) is called a fuzzy Heyting algebra if it satisfies the following axioms:

- (1)  $A(a \to a, 1) = A(1, a \to a) = 1$
- (2)  $A(b, a \to b) > 0$
- (3)  $A(a \land (a \rightarrow b), a \land b) = A(a \land b, a \land (a \rightarrow b)) = 1$
- (4)  $A(a \to (b \land c), (a \to b) \land (a \to c)) = A((a \to b) \land (a \to c), a \to (b \land c)) = 1$
- (5)  $A((a \lor b) \to c), (a \to c) \land (b \to c)) = A((a \to c) \land (b \to c), (a \lor b) \to c)) = 1$ for all  $a, b, c \in H$

**Example 2.4.** Let  $(B, \lor, \land, ', 0, 1)$  be a Boolean algebra and a, b  $\in$  B and A: $B \times B \rightarrow [0,1]$  is a fuzzy relation. Define  $a \rightarrow b = a' \lor b$ . Then (B,A) is a Fuzzy Heyting algebra

*Proof:* Clearly,  $(B, \lor, \land, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$  is a Heyting algebra and (B,A) is a bounded distributive fuzzy lattice.

(1)  $A(a \rightarrow a, a' \lor a) = A(a' \lor a, a \rightarrow a) = 1$ 

- (2)  $A((a \rightarrow b) \land b, (a' \lor b) \land b) = A((a' \lor b) \land b, (a \rightarrow b) \land b) = 1$
- (3)  $A(a \land (a \to b), a \land b) = A(a \land b, a \land (a \to b)) = 1$
- (4)  $A(a \to (b \land c), a' \lor (b \land c)) = A(a \to b) \land (a \to c), a \to (b \land c)) = 1$
- (5)  $A((a \lor b) \to c, (a \to c) \land (b \to c)) = A((a \to c) \land (b \to c, (a \lor b) \to c))$ , for all a, b, c  $\in$  B. Thus,(B,A) is a fuzzy Heyting algebra

**Lemma 2.5.** Let (H,A) be a bounded distributive fuzzy lattice. Then  $(H, \lor, \land, \rightarrow, 0, 1)$  is a Heyting Algebra iff (H,A) is a fuzzy heyting algebra.

From the definition of Heyting Algebra and fuzzy lattice property, we have the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.6.**  $A(b, a \rightarrow b) > 0$  iff  $b \land (a \rightarrow b) = b$  or equivalently  $b \lor (a \rightarrow b) = a \rightarrow b$ ,  $\forall a, b \in H$ 

Lemma 2.7. In any Fuzzy Heyting Algebra the following holds:

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ A(a \rightarrow (b \wedge a), a \rightarrow b) = 1 \\ (ii) \ A(a,b) > 0 \Rightarrow A(x \rightarrow a, x \rightarrow b) > 0 \\ (iii) \ A(a,b) > 0 \Rightarrow A(b \rightarrow x, a \rightarrow x) > 0 \end{array}$ 

## Proof:

- (i)  $A(a \to (b \land a), a \to b) = A((a \to b) \land (a \to a), a \to b) = A((a \to b) \land 1, a \to b) = A(a \to b, a \to b) = 1$
- (ii) A(a,b) > 0 iff  $a \land b = a$  or  $a \lor b = b$  [By proposition 1.10]  $A(x \to a, x \to b) = A(x \to (a \land b), x \to b)$ [since  $a \land b = a$ ]  $=A((x \to a) \land (x \to b), x \to b) > 0$ [since  $(x \to a) \land (x \to b) \le x \to b$ ]
- (iii) A(a,b) > 0 iff  $a \lor b = b$  [Proposition 1.10]. Now,  $A(b \to x, a \to x) = A((a \lor b) \to x, a \to x) = A((a \to x) \land (b \to x), a \to x) > 0$

**Theorem 2.8.** If (H,A) is a FHA and  $a, b \in H$ , then  $a \to b$  is the largest element of the set  $S = \{c \in H : A(a \land c, b) > 0\}$ 

Proof: Let H be a FHA

We shall show that  $a \to b \in S$ . Let  $a, b \in H$ . Then  $A(a \land (a \to b), a \land b) > 0$ clearly,  $A(a \land b, b) > 0$ . This implies,  $A(a \land (a \to b), b) \ge sup_{a \land b}(minA(a \land (a \to b), a \land b), A(a \land b, b)) > 0$ .  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \to b), b) > 0$ .  $\Rightarrow a \to b \in S$ . Let d be such that  $a \land d \le b$ . Then  $A(a \land d, b) > 0$   $\begin{array}{l} \Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow (a \wedge b), a \rightarrow b) > 0 \\ \Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow d, a \rightarrow b) > 0 \\ \Rightarrow (d, a \rightarrow b) > 0 \\ \Rightarrow A(d, a \rightarrow b) \geq Sup_{a \rightarrow d \in H}(min(A(d, a \rightarrow d), A(a \rightarrow d, a \rightarrow b))) > 0 \\ \Rightarrow A(d, a \rightarrow b) \geq 0 \\ \Rightarrow a \rightarrow b \text{ is an upper bound of d.} \\ Thus, a \rightarrow b \text{ is the largest element of S.} \end{array}$ 

**Lemma 2.9.** Let (H,A) be a fuzzy Heyting algebra, then for any  $a, b, c \in H$ , we have  $A(a,b) > 0 \Leftrightarrow A(a \rightarrow b,1) = 1 = A(1, a \rightarrow b)$ 

 $\begin{array}{l} \textit{Proof. Suppose } A(a,b) > 0. \text{ Then } A(a \rightarrow a, a \rightarrow b) > 0. \\ \Rightarrow A(1,a \rightarrow b) > 0. \text{ But } a \rightarrow b \leq 1, \text{ as } 1 \text{ is the largest element.} \\ \Rightarrow (a \rightarrow b,1) > 0 \Rightarrow a \rightarrow b = 1. \text{ Hence the result. Conversely, assume } \\ A(a \rightarrow b,1) = A(1,a \rightarrow b). \text{ Then, } a \wedge (a \rightarrow b) = a \wedge 1 \\ \Rightarrow a \wedge (a \rightarrow b) = a \\ \Rightarrow a \wedge b = a \\ \Rightarrow a \leq b. \text{ Hence, } A(a,b) > 0. \end{array}$ 

**Theorem 2.10.** let (H,A) be a fuzzy Heyting algebra, then the following are equivalent.

 $\begin{array}{ll} (1) \ A(a \wedge c, b) > 0 \\ (2) \ A(a \to c, a \to b) > 0 \\ (3) \ A(c, a \to b) > 0, \ for \ a, b, c \in H \end{array}$ 

Proof: straightforward

Theorem 2.11. Every Fuzzy Heyting algebra is a distributive Fuzzy lattice

 $\begin{array}{l} \textit{Proof: Since } A(x,x\vee y)>0, \mbox{ we have } A(y\wedge x,(y\wedge x)\vee(z\wedge x))>0. \mbox{ Hence } A(y,x\rightarrow(y\wedge x)\vee(z\vee x))>0. \mbox{ Similarly, } A(z,x\rightarrow(y\wedge x)\vee(z\wedge x))>0. \mbox{ timplies } A(y\vee z,x\rightarrow(y\wedge x)\vee(z\wedge x))>0. \mbox{ } \Rightarrow A(x\wedge(y\vee z),x\wedge(x\rightarrow(y\wedge x)\vee(z\wedge x)))>0. \mbox{ } \Rightarrow A(x\wedge(y\vee z),x\wedge(y\wedge x)\vee(z\wedge x))>0. \mbox{ } \Rightarrow A(x\wedge(y\vee z),(y\wedge x)\vee(z\wedge x))>0. \mbox{ } \\ \textit{From } A(y,y\vee z)>0 \mbox{ and } A(y\wedge x,y)>0 \mbox{ and } A(y\wedge x,x)>0, \mbox{ We have } \\ A(y\wedge x,(y\vee z)\wedge x)>0. \mbox{ } \\ \textit{From } * \mbox{ and } ** \mbox{ we have the result. Hence the theorem follows.} \end{array}$ 

**Definition 2.12.** The fuzzy poset (H,A) is said to be directed above if  $\forall a, b, c \in H, A(a, c) > 0$  and A(b, c) > 0, then  $\exists x \in H$  such that A(x, c) > 0.

**Theorem 2.13.** The following are equivalent:

- (1) (H,A) is a fuzzy Heyting algebra
- (2) The fuzzy poset (H,A) is directed above

(3) (H,A) is a distributive fuzzy lattice

*Proof:* (1)  $\Rightarrow$  (2) Let a, b  $\in$  H. Then  $\exists c \in H$  such that A(a, c) > 0 and A(b, c) > 0 $\Rightarrow A(a \lor b, c) > 0$ . Take  $x = a \lor b \in H$ . Hence A(x, c) > 0 (2)  $\Rightarrow$  (3) Suppose (2) holds.

Then,  $A(a \lor b, c) > 0$ .  $\Rightarrow A(c \land (a \lor b), c \land c) > 0$ Claim:  $A(a \land (b \lor c), (a \land b) \lor (a \land c)) > 0$  and  $A(a \lor (b \land c), (a \lor b) \land (a \lor c)) > 0$ . We know  $A(a \lor b, c) > 0, A(a, c) > 0, A(b, c) > 0, A(c, c) > 0.$  $\Rightarrow A(b \lor c, c) > 0.$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (b \lor c), a \land c) > 0$ . It is clear that  $A((a \lor b) \land (a \lor c), a \lor c) > 0$  and  $A((a \land b), (a \land b) \lor (a \land c)) > 0$ . Also  $A((a \land c), (a \land b) \lor (a \land c)) > 0$  Thus, we have  $A(a \land (b \lor c), (a \land b) \lor (a \lor c)) \ge Sup_{a \land c \in H}(min(A(a \land (b \lor c), a \land c), a \land c)))$  $A((a \land c), (a \land c) \lor (a \land b)) > 0$ . Thus,  $A(a \land (b \lor c), (a \land b) \lor (a \lor c)) > 0$ . similarly  $A(a \lor (b \land c), (a \lor b) \land (a \lor c)) > 0$ . Therefore, (H,A) is a distributive fuzzy lattice (3)  $\Rightarrow$  (1) Suppose (H,A) is a distributive fuzzy lattice such that  $A(a \land c, b) > 0$ Claim:  $A(c, a \rightarrow b) > 0$ . Clearly,  $A(a \land c, a \land b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow (a \land c), a \rightarrow (a \land b)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow c, a \rightarrow b) > 0$ , but  $A(c, a \rightarrow c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(c, a \rightarrow b) \geq sup_{a \rightarrow c \in H}(min(A(c, a \rightarrow c), A(a \rightarrow c, a \rightarrow b))) > 0$  Hence, (H,A) is a fuzzy Heyting Algebra

**Lemma 2.14.** If A(a,c) > 0 and A(b,c) > 0, then we have the following.

 $\begin{array}{ll} (1) \ A(a \wedge b, b \wedge a) > 0 \\ (2) \ A(a \vee b, b \vee a) > 0 \\ (3) \ A((a \to c) \wedge (b \to c, 1) > 0 \\ (4) \ A((c \to a) \wedge (c \to b), 1) > 0 \\ (5) \ A(((a \to c) \wedge (b \to c)) \vee ((c \to a) \wedge (c \to b)), 1) > 0 \end{array}$ 

**Theorem 2.15.** Let (H,A) be a distributive fuzzy lattice. Then (H,A) is a fuzzy Heyting algebra iff for any  $a, b \in H$ , there exists a largest element  $c \in H$  such that  $A(a \land c, b) > 0$ .

*Proof:*  $(\Rightarrow)$ .*Clearly*,  $A(a \land (a \rightarrow b), a \land b) > 0$  and  $A(a \land b, b) > 0$ . This implies  $A(a \land c, b) > 0$  Let  $d \in H$  such that  $A(a \land d, b) > 0$ . We shall prove that A(d, c) > 0.  $A(a \land d, b) > 0$ .

 $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow d, a \rightarrow b) > 0$ , but  $A(d, a \rightarrow d) > 0$ 

 $\Rightarrow A(d, a \to b) > 0$ . Taking  $c = a \to b$ , we have A(d, c) > 0. Therefore, there is a largest element  $c \in H$  such that  $A(a \land c, b) > 0$ .

Conversely, suppose the given condition holds. Define a binary operation  $\rightarrow$  on H such that  $a \rightarrow b$  is the largest element of the set{ $c \in H : A(a \land c, b) > 0$ }. we prove that (H,A) is a fuzzy Heyting algebra

(1) Clearly  $A(b, a \to b) > 0$ . For  $b \in \mathcal{H}$ , since  $A(a \wedge b, a) > 0$ , we have  $A(a \to (a \wedge b), a \to a) > 0$   $\Rightarrow A(b, a \to a) > 0$  $\Rightarrow a \to a$  is an upper bound of b.

But  $a \to a=1$  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow a, 1) = A(1, a \rightarrow a) = 1$ (2) since  $A(a \land b, b) > 0$ . Then  $A(a \to b, a \to b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(b, a \rightarrow b) > 0$ (3) Since  $A(a \land (a \to b), b) > 0$ , we have  $A(a \land (a \land (a \to b)), a \land b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \rightarrow b), a \land b) > 0$ , on the other hand,  $A(a \land b, b) > 0$ .  $\Rightarrow A(b, a \rightarrow b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land b, a \land (a \to b)) > 0$  from anti symmetry we have  $a \land (a \to b) = a \land b$ Thus, we have  $A(a \land (a \to b), a \land b) = A(a \land b, a \land (a \to b) = 1$ (4) From Heyting algebra, we have  $a \wedge (a \rightarrow (b \wedge c)) = a \wedge a \wedge (b \wedge c) \leq b$ , we have  $A(a \land (a \to (b \land c), b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (b \land c), b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow (b \land c), a \rightarrow b) > 0$ . Similarly,  $A(a \rightarrow (b \land c), a \rightarrow c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow a \rightarrow (b \land c)$  is a lower bound of  $\{a \rightarrow b, a \rightarrow c\}$  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow (b \land c), (a \rightarrow b) \land (a \rightarrow c)) > 0.$  On the other hand  $A(a \land (a \rightarrow c)) > 0.$  $b) \wedge (a \rightarrow c), a \wedge b \wedge (a \rightarrow c)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \to b) \land (a \to c), b \land a \land (a \to c)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land b \land c, b \land a \land c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \to b) \land (a \to c), (a \to b) \land (a \to c)) > 0 \Rightarrow A((a \to b) \land (a \to c), a \to c) \land a \to b) \land (a \to c) \land (a \to c) \land b) \land (a \to c) \land (a \to c$  $(b \wedge c)) > 0$ Therefore,  $A((a \to b) \land (a \to c), a \to (b \land c)) = A(a \to (b \land c), (a \to b) \land (a \to c))$ (c)) = 1(5) Consider  $A((a \lor b) \land (a \to c) \land (b \to c), (a \land (a \to c) \land (b \to c)) \lor (b \land (a \to c)) \land (b \to c))$  $(c) \wedge (b \rightarrow c)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \land (a \to c) \land (b \to c), (a \land c) \lor (b \land c)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \land (a \to c) \land (b \to c), (a \lor b) \land c) > 0 \text{ but } A((a \lor b) \land c, c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \land (a \to c) \land (b \to c), c) > 0$  By Theorem 1.3 we have  $A((a \to c) \land (b \to c), (a \lor b) \to c) > 0$ . On the other hand  $A(a, a \lor b) > 0 \Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \to c, a \to c) > 0$ . Similarly,  $A((a \lor b) \to c) \Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \to c)$  $(c, b \rightarrow c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \to c, (a \to c) \land (b \to c)) > 0$ Hence,  $A((a \lor b) \to c, (a \to c) \land (b \to c)) = A((a \to c) \land (b \to c), (a \lor b) \to c)$ Therefore (H,A) is a fuzzy Heyting Algebra

**Definition 2.16.** Let (H,A) be a distributive fuzzy lattice. Then the fuzzy Heyting algebra (H,A) satisfies the infinite meet distributive fuzzy law if  $A(a \land (\lor_{i \in I} s_i), \lor_{i \in I} (a \land s_i))) = A(\lor_{i \in I} (a \land s_i), a \land (\lor_{i \in I} s_i)) = 1$  where

 $\{s_i : i \in I\} \subseteq H$ 

**Theorem 2.17.** Let (H,A) be a distributive fuzzy lattice. Then (H,A) is a fuzzy heyting algebra iff it satisfies the infinite meet distributive fuzzy law. That is for any family

$$\{s_i : i \in I\} \subseteq H$$

if  $\forall_{i \in I} s_i$  exists, then  $\forall_{i \in I} (a \land s_i)$  exists for any  $a \in H$  and it is equal to

$$a \wedge (\vee_{i \in I} s_i).$$

*Proof:* Let (H,A) be a distributive fuzzy lattice and  $a, b \in H$ . Define

$$a \to b = \bigvee_{s \in S_{ab}} s$$
, where  $S_{ab} = \{s \in H : A(a \land s, b) > 0\}$ 

Now, let a, b,  $c \in H$ , Then

(1)  $S_{aa} = \{s \in H : A(a \land s, a) > 0\} = (H, A)$  $\Rightarrow a \rightarrow a = \lor H = 1$ Thus,  $A(a \rightarrow a, 1) = A(1, a \rightarrow a) = 1$ (2) since  $A(a \wedge b, b) > 0$ , we have  $b \in S_{ab}$ . This implies  $A(b, a \to b) > 0$ . Thus,  $A((a \to b) \land b, b) = A(b, (a \to b) \land b) = 1$ (3)  $A(a \land (a \to b), a) > 0$  and  $A(a \land (a \to b), a \land (\lor_{s \in S_{ab}} s)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(\vee_{s\in S_{ab}}(a\wedge s),b)>0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \to b), \lor_{s \in S_{ab}}(a \land s)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \to b), b) > 0.$ Hence  $a \wedge (a \rightarrow b)$  is a lower bound of  $\{a, b\}$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \rightarrow b), a \land b) > 0$ . On the other hand, we have  $A(a \land (a \land b), b) > 0.$  $\Rightarrow a \land b \in S_{ab}$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land b, a \to b) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \land b), a \land (a \to b)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land b, a \land (a \to b)) > 0$  Thus,  $A(a \land b, a \land (a \to b)) = A(a \land (a \to b))$ b,  $a \wedge b$  = 1 (4) Since  $A(a \land (a \rightarrow (b \land c)), b) > 0$ .  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow (b \land c), a \rightarrow b) > 0$ Similarly,  $A(a \to (b \land c), a \to c) > 0$ .  $\Rightarrow a \rightarrow (b \land c)$  is a lower bound of  $\{a \rightarrow b, a \rightarrow c\}$  $\Rightarrow A(a \rightarrow (b \land c), (a \rightarrow b) \land (a \rightarrow c)) > 0$ . On the other hand,  $A(a \land (a \rightarrow c)) > 0$ .  $b) \land (a \to c), a \land b \land (a \to c)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \to b) \land (a \to c), a \land b \land c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (a \to b) \land (a \to c), b \land c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \rightarrow b) \land (a \rightarrow c), a \rightarrow (b \land c)) > 0$ . Hence,  $A((a \rightarrow b) \land (a \rightarrow c), a \rightarrow c)$  $(b \wedge c)) = A(a \to (b \wedge c), (a \to b) \wedge (a \to c)) = 1$  $(c) \wedge (b \wedge c) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A((a \rightarrow) \land (b \rightarrow c), (a \lor b) \rightarrow c) > 0$ . Since  $A(a, a \lor b) > 0, A(b, a \lor b) > 0$ . This implies  $A((a \lor b) \to c, a \to c) > 0$  and  $A((a \lor b) \to c, b \to c) > 0$  $(a \lor b) \to c$  is a lower bound of  $\{a \to c, b \to c\}$ .  $\Rightarrow A((a \lor b) \to c, (a \to c) \land (b \to c)) > 0.$  Hence,  $A((a \lor b) \to c, (a \to c)) > 0.$  $(c) \wedge (b \to c)) = A((a \to) \wedge (b \to c), (a \lor b) \to c) = 1$ . Therefore, (H,A) is Fuzzy Heyting algebra. Conversely, Suppose (H,A) be a fuzzy Heyting algebra. Let  $a \in H, \{s_i : i \in I\} \subseteq H$ . Then  $a \wedge s_i \in H$ . Since  $A(s_i, \forall s_i) > 0$  we have  $A(\bigvee_{i \in I}(a \land s_i), a \land (\bigvee_{i \in I} s_i)) > 0.$  On the other hand  $A(a \land s_i, \bigvee_{i \in I}(a \land s_i)) > 0.$  $\Rightarrow A(s_i, a \to \bigvee_{i \in I} (a \land s_i)) > 0, \forall i \in I$  $\Rightarrow A(\vee_{i \in I} s_i, a \to \vee_{i \in I} (a \land s_i)) > 0$  $\Rightarrow A(a \land (\lor_{i \in I} s_i), a \land (a \to \lor_{i \in I} (a \land s_i))) > 0$ but,  $A(a \land \bigvee_{i \in I} (a \land s_i), \bigvee_{i \in I} (a \land s_i)) > 0$ 

$$\Rightarrow A(a \land (\lor_{i \in I} s_i), \lor_{i \in I} (a \land s_i))) > 0 A(a \land (\lor_{i \in I} s_i), \lor_{i \in I} (a \land s_i))) = A(\lor_{i \in I} (a \land s_i), a \land (\lor_{i \in I} s_i)) = 1$$

Future Work and Plan:

From now on wards, we will try to introduce fuzzy Heyting ideals and filters using the concept of fuzzy ideals and filters of fuzzy lattices.

# References

- 1. Heyting, A.: An Introduction to Intuitionism. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam (1956)
- 2. Skolem, T.: Logico-combinatorial investigations in the satisability or provability of mathematical propositions. Harvard University Press, Cam- bridge (1920)
- 3. Ajmal, N., Thomas, K.V.: Fuzzy lattices. Inf. Sci. 79, 271–291 (1994)
- Chon, I.: Fuzzy partial order relations and fuzzy lattices. Korean J. Math. 17, 361–374 (2009)
- 5. Zwaneveld, D.: Subdirectly irreducible algebras in varieties of universal algebra. University of Amsterdam (2014)
- Burries, S., Sankappanavar, H.P.: A Course in Universal algebra. Springer, Heidelberg (1981)
- Rao, G.C., Assaye, B., Mani, M.V.R.: Heyting almost distributive lattices (HADL). Int. J. Comput. Cogn. (to appear)
- 8. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-353 (1965)
- 9. Palmgren, E.: Semantics of intuitionistic propositional logic. Lecture Notes for Applied Logic, Fall 2009, Department of Mathematics, Uppsala University
- Birkho, G.: Lattice Theory, vol. XXV. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, Providence (1967)
- 11. Goguen, J.A.: L-fuzzy sets. J. Math Anal. Appl. 18, 145–174 (1967)

# A New Distance on Generalized Fuzzy Numbers and a Glimpse on Their Properties

M. Amirfakhrian $^{(\boxtimes)}$  and S. Yeganehmanesh

Department of Mathematics, Central Tehran Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran amirfakhrian@iauctb.ac.ir

Abstract. Normalization is the dominant but inexact method to handle any nonnormal fuzzy sets data. This stems from the fact that normalization ignores some parts of such data in order to prepare them for being used in computational operations. A subset of such data which satisfies the property of convexity is called Generalized Fuzzy Numbers (GFN). In this paper, a new distance is presented on the set of GFNs. In the special case, when GFNs are normal (i.e. Fuzzy Numbers), the proposed distance is converted to a well-known distance which in the fuzzy literature has already been proved to be a metric. Also, some of the features of the proposed distance are studied through several examples.

## 1 Introduction

Till now, a plenty of fuzzy logic distances have been proposed for fuzzy normal and convex fuzzy sets named fuzzy numbers. For instance: Amirfakhrian and Abbasbandy [1,2] introduced source distance between fuzzy numbers, Gerzgorzewski [10,11] proposed P- distance and Allahviranloo, et al. [3] presented TRD distance. However, in reality, a large portion of fuzzy data is non-normal which meet the condition of convexity. A special case of such data called Generalized Fuzzy Numbers (GFNs) has been studied by Chen in 1985 [5]. The principal trend till now for treating any non-normal fuzzy sets is converting them into fuzzy numbers via normalization. However, such an approach notoriously suffers from data loss. To mitigate this, in this paper we present a distance independent of height on GFNs. We also investigate some of the important properties of this distance.

## 2 Basic Concepts

In this section, the essential basic concepts used throughout the paper are given. Let  $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{R})$  be the set of all fuzzy numbers (the set of all normal and convex fuzzy sets [14, 16]) on the real line.

**Definition 1.** A generalized LR fuzzy number  $\tilde{u}$  with the membership function  $\mu_{\tilde{u}}(x), x \in \mathbb{R}$  can be defined as [1, 7, 8]:

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_4

$$\mu_{\tilde{u}}(x) = \begin{cases} L_{\tilde{u}}(x), & a \le x \le b, \\ 1, & b \le x \le c, \\ R_{\tilde{u}}(x), & c \le x \le d, \\ 0, & otherwise, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where  $L_{\tilde{u}}$  is the left membership function and  $R_{\tilde{u}}$  is the right membership function. It is assumed that  $L_{\tilde{u}}$  is increasing in [a, b] and  $R_{\tilde{u}}$  is decreasing in [a, b], and that  $L_{\tilde{u}}(a) = R_{\tilde{u}}(d) = 0$  and  $L_{\tilde{u}}(b) = R_{\tilde{u}}(c) = 1$ . In addition, if  $L_{\tilde{u}}$ and  $R_{\tilde{u}}$  are linear, then  $\tilde{u}$  is a trapezoidal fuzzy number, which is denoted by  $\tilde{u} = (a, b, c, d)$ . If b = c, we denoted it by  $\tilde{u} = (a, c, d)$ , which is a triangular fuzzy number.

**Definition 2.** A fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  is convex if  $\forall x, y \in \tilde{A}$  and  $\forall \lambda \in [0, 1]$  we have [16]:

 $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(\lambda x + (1 - \lambda)y) \ge \min\{\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x), \mu_{\tilde{A}}(y)\}$ (2)

Accordingly, if all  $\alpha$ -cuts of  $\tilde{A}$  are convex, then  $\tilde{A}$  is a convex fuzzy set.

**Definition 3.** The least upper bound of  $\mu_{\tilde{u}}(x)$  is height of fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  [6, 15], *i.e.* 

$$hgt(\tilde{A}) = \sup_{x \in X} \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) \tag{3}$$

 $\tilde{A}$  is normal if and only if  $\exists x \in X, \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) = 1$ .

The parametric form of a fuzzy number is given by  $\tilde{u} = (\underline{u}, \overline{u})$ , where  $\underline{u}$  and  $\overline{u}$  are functions defined over [0, 1] and satisfy the following requirements [12, 13]:

- (1)  $\underline{u}$  is a monotonically increasing left continuous function.
- (2)  $\overline{u}$  is a monotonically decreasing left continuous function.
- (3)  $\underline{u} \leq \overline{u}$ , in [0,1].

We name  $\underline{u}$  and  $\overline{u}$ , left and right spread functions, respectively. If a is a crisp number, then  $\underline{u}(r) = \overline{u}(r) = a$ , for  $\forall r \in [0, 1]$ .

**Definition 4.** We say that a fuzzy number  $\tilde{v}$  has an m-degree polynomial form, if there exist two polynomials p and q of degree at most m such that  $\tilde{v} = (p, q)$  [4].

Let  $\tilde{v} \in \mathcal{F}_m(\mathbb{R})$  be the set of all *m*-degree polynomial form fuzzy numbers. For  $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ ,  $\alpha$ -cut of a fuzzy number  $\tilde{u}$  is defined by [7] as follows:

$$[\tilde{u}]^{\alpha} = \{ t \in \mathbb{R} \mid \mu_{\tilde{u}}(t) \ge \alpha \}.$$

$$\tag{4}$$

The core of a fuzzy number is defined by [8] as follows:

$$core(\tilde{u}) = \{t \in \mathbb{R} \mid \mu_{\tilde{u}}(t) = 1\}.$$
(5)

Let  $\mathcal{F}_c(\mathbb{R})$  be the set of all fuzzy numbers with continuous left and right spread functions and let  $\mathcal{F}_m(\mathbb{R})$  be the set of all *m*-degree polynomial form fuzzy numbers [4]. We also consider  $\Pi_m$  as the set of all polynomials of degree at most *m*.

We can write a fuzzy number  $\tilde{u} \in \mathcal{F}_m(\mathbb{R})$  as follows:

$$\tilde{u} = (\underline{u}, \overline{u}),\tag{6}$$

where  $\underline{u}, \overline{u} \in \Pi_m$ .

**Definition 5.** A fuzzy set whose its membership function  $\mu$  is defined with the following conditions is called a Generalized Fuzzy Number, GFN,[5]:

(i)  $\mu$  is a continuous mapping from  $\mathbb{R}$  to the closed interval [0, h],  $0 < h \le 1$ ; (ii)  $\mu(x) = 0$  for  $x \in [\infty, a]$ ; (iii)  $\mu$  is strictly increasing on [a, b]; (iv)  $\mu(x) = h$  for  $x \in [b, c]$ ; (v)  $\mu$  is strictly decreasing on [b, c]; (vi)  $\mu(x) = 0$  for  $x \in [\infty, a]$ .

On the other word, GFN is a fuzzy set with following membership function:

$$\mu_{\tilde{u}}(x) = \begin{cases} L_{\tilde{u}}(x), & a \le x \le b, \\ h, & b \le x \le c, \\ R_{\tilde{u}}(x), & c \le x \le d, \\ 0, & otherwise, \end{cases}$$
(7)

where  $0 < h \leq 1$ ,  $L_{\tilde{u}}$  is strictly increasing function on [a, b] and  $R_{\tilde{u}}$  is strictly decreasing function on [b, c]. If  $L_{\tilde{u}}$  and  $R_{\tilde{u}}$  corresponds to straight lines we have a Trapezoidal Generalized Fuzzy Number which shows by (a, b, c, d; h), and when b = c we have Triangular Generalized Fuzzy Number that shows by (a, b, d; h). Moreover, when a = b = c = d = we have crisp-value and denote that with  $\{a; h\}$ .

## 3 A Parametric Distance

To quantify the separation between two fuzzy numbers, we start with presenting a new distance.

**Definition 6.** For  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v} \in GFN$ , with heights  $h_u$  and  $h_v$ , respectively, let  $h_{\max} = \max\{h_u, h_v\}$  and  $h_{\min} = \min\{h_u, h_v\}$ . We define a new distance D as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} D_{p,q}(\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) = & \left\{ \frac{1}{h_{\min}} \int_{0}^{h_{\min}} q \left| \underline{u}(r) - \underline{v}(r) \right|^{p} \right. \\ & \left. + \left( 1 - q \right) \left| \overline{u}(r) - \overline{v}(r) \right|^{p} dr \right\}^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ & \left. + \left| \int_{h_{\min}}^{h_{\max}} r(R(r) - L(r)) dr \right|. \end{aligned}$$

where R(r) and L(r) are defined as follows:

$$R(r) = \begin{cases} \overline{u}, & h_{\max} = h_u, \\ \overline{v}, & h_{\max} = h_v, \end{cases}$$
$$L(r) = \begin{cases} \underline{u}, & h_{\max} = h_u, \\ \underline{v}, & h_{\max} = h_v, \end{cases}$$

and p > 0 is a real positive number and  $q \in [0, 1]$ .

**Theorem 1.** For two pair crisp-values  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$  with arbitrary heights with following membership functions:

 $\mu_{\tilde{u}}(x) = \begin{cases} h , & x = a, \\ 0 , otherwise, \\ \mu_{\tilde{v}}(x) = \begin{cases} h , & x = b, \\ 0 , otherwise. \\ we have: \end{cases}$ 

$$D_{p,q}(\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) = |a-b|,$$

where  $p \in \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $q \in [0, 1]$ .

**Theorem 2.** For  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}, \tilde{w} \in GFN(\mathbb{R})$  the distance,  $D_{p,q}$ , satisfies the following properties:

(1) 
$$D_{p,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{u}) = 0,$$
  
(2)  $D_{p,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) = D_{p,q}(\tilde{v}, \tilde{u}),$   
(3)  $D_{p,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{w}) \le D_{p,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) + D_{p,q}(\tilde{v}, \tilde{w}),$ 

where  $p \in \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $q \in [0, 1]$ .

For the set of all fuzzy semi-numbers with the same height, we prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.** For  $\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}, \tilde{u}', \tilde{v}'$  in Trapezoidal Generalized Fuzzy Number and nonnegative real number k, the distance  $D_{p,q}$  satisfies the following properties:

(1)  $D_{p,q}(k\tilde{u}, k\tilde{v}) = kD_{p,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}),$ (2)  $D_{p,q}(\tilde{u} + \tilde{v}, \tilde{u}' + \tilde{v}') \leq D_{p,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{u}') + D_{p,q}(\tilde{v}, \tilde{v}'),$ where  $p \in \mathbb{R}^+$  and  $q \in [0, 1].$ 

If h = 1,  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$  are fuzzy numbers and the distance we defined became as follows:

$$D_{p,q}(\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) = \left(\int_0^1 q |\underline{u}(r) - \underline{v}(r)|^p \mathrm{d}r + \int_0^1 (1-q) |\overline{u}(r) - \overline{v}(r)|^p \mathrm{d}r\right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$
(8)

 $\square$ 

that presented by Grzegorzewski [9].

**Theorem 4.**  $D_{p,q}$  is a metric on the set of fuzzy numbers [9].

*Proof.* It can be found in [9].

**Theorem 5.**  $D_{p,q}$  is a metric on the set of all equiheigh generalized fuzzy numbers.

*Proof.* For the set of all equiheigh generalized fuzzy numbers we have  $h_{\min} = h_{\max}$ , therefore the proof is completed.

we follow our paper with investigating our distance in some examples.

# 4 Numerical Examples

In this section we present some examples which have been solved by Mathematica software using 11 decimal digits.

**Example 1.** Distance between two GFN's  $\tilde{u} = (0, 1, 2, 4; \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\tilde{v} = (1, 3, 4, 5; \frac{1}{3})$  which shows in Fig. 1, with p = 2 and  $q = \frac{1}{2}$  is:

$$D_{2,0.5}(\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) = 1.5675$$



**Fig. 1.** Two Trapezoidal Generalized Fuzzy Numbers  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$ .

Moreover, Distances between  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$  when  $p = \{1, 1.1, 1.2, ..., 2\}$  and  $q = \{0, 0.2, 0.4, ..., 1\}$  were calculated and showed in the Table 1.

р	$\mathbf{q} = 0$	q = 0.2	q = 0.4	q = 0.6	q = 0.8	q = 1
1	1.26852	1.36852	1.46852	1.56852	1.66852	1.76852
1.1	1.26892	1.37124	1.47275	1.57351	1.67358	1.77303
1.2	1.26931	1.37403	1.47704	1.57854	1.67865	1.77751
1.3	1.26971	1.37687	1.48139	1.58359	1.68371	1.78197
1.4	1.27011	1.37978	1.48581	1.58868	1.68877	1.7864
1.5	1.2705	1.38275	1.49028	1.59379	1.69382	1.7908
1.6	1.2709	1.38579	1.4948	1.59892	1.69886	1.79518
1.7	1.2713	1.38888	1.49938	1.60408	1.70389	1.79953
1.8	1.27169	1.39205	1.50402	1.60925	1.70891	1.80385
1.9	1.27209	1.39528	1.50871	1.61444	1.71391	1.80813
2	1.27248	1.39857	1.51344	1.61965	1.71889	1.81239

**Table 1.**  $D_{2,0.5}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v})$  with different p and q

As it seems, increasing both values of p and q will increase the value of distance between these two generalized fuzzy numbers. The minimum and maximum values for distance between these two generalized fuzzy numbers for various values of p = 1 : 0.1 : 2 and q = 0 : 0.1 : 1 are  $D_{1,0}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) = 1.26852$  and  $D_{2,1}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) = 1.81239$ , respectively.

**Example 2.** Let  $\tilde{u} = ((x - 1.3)^2, -(x - 2.8)^3)$  and  $\tilde{v} = (\sqrt{x - 2}, \sqrt{3 - x})$  be the parametric forms with left and right spreads of two Generalized Fuzzy Numbers (Fig. 2).



**Fig. 2.** Two Generalized Fuzzy Numbers  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$ .

As seen in Fig. 2, we have  $hgt(\tilde{u}) = 0.4993$  and  $hgt(\tilde{u}) = 0.7071$ . The distance between these two GFNs is as follows:

$$D_{2,0.5}(\tilde{u},\tilde{v}) = 0.933807$$

**Example 3.** For two Generalized Fuzzy Numbers  $\tilde{u} = (0, 2, 3, 4; \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\tilde{v} = (1, 2, 4, 5; h)$  the distance with p = 2 and  $q = \frac{1}{2}$  is plotted when  $h \in [0, 1]$  (Fig. 3):



**Fig. 3.**  $D_{2,0.5}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v})$  when  $h \in [0, 1]$ .

The Figure shows that the minimum distance occurs when  $h = \frac{1}{2}$ .

**Example 4.** Suppose  $\tilde{u} = (0, 2, 3, 4; \frac{1}{2})$  and  $\tilde{v} = (1, 2, 4, 5; h)$  are Generalized Fuzzy Numbers, for minimum distance with p = 2 between  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$  the height h is approximated when  $q \in \{0, \frac{1}{20}, \frac{1}{10}, ..., \frac{19}{20}, 1\}$  (as shown in Table 2).

**Table 2.** Approximating of height while  $D_{2,q}$  is minimum.

q	h	q	h	q	h
0	0.001	0.35	0.5	0.7	0.5
0.05	0.001	0.4	0.5	0.75	0.5
0.1	0.001	0.45	0.5	0.8	0.516337
0.15	0.35817	0.5	0.5	0.85	0.532521
0.2	0.444457	0.55	0.5	0.9	0.548632
0.25	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.95	0.564758
0.3	0.5	0.65	0.5	1	0.580994

Moreover, distance with p = 2 between  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$  is calculated while the height h = 0.0001, 0.1, 0.2, ..., 1 and q = 0: 0.2: 1 (as shown in Table 3).

As it seems, for q = 0, the values of distances are increasing when h increases, whereas for other fixed values of q, the values of h decrease and after reaching the minimum value, again they increase. From Table 2, for q = 0, the nearest Generalized Fuzzy Number has the height h = 0.0001 (the minimum distance which occurs at the first row of the first column is 0.82741). For q = 0.2, the

41

h	$\mathbf{q}=0$	$q{=}0.2$	$q\!=\!0.4$	$q{=}0.6$	$q{=}0.8$	$\mathbf{q} = 1$
0.0001	0.82741	1.1063	1.31447	1.48813	1.64026	1.77731
0.1	0.87491	1.05338	1.19947	1.32623	1.43975	1.54349
0.2	0.90711	0.99758	1.07894	1.15347	1.22266	1.28751
0.3	0.93229	0.95185	0.97096	0.98964	1.00793	1.02585
0.4	0.95985	0.92672	0.89227	0.85633	0.81870	0.77911
0.5	1	0.93095	0.85635	0.77460	0.68313	0.57735
0.6	1.20329	1.11796	1.02463	0.92051	0.80066	0.65465
0.7	1.41821	1.32281	1.21783	1.09964	0.96146	0.78746
0.8	1.64992	1.5477	1.43485	1.30713	1.15646	0.96268
0.9	1.90153	1.79439	1.67588	1.54135	1.38173	1.17362
1	2.17497	2.06413	1.94136	1.80173	1.63546	1.41667

**Table 3.**  $D_{2,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v})$  with different q and h.

nearest Generalized Fuzzy Number has the height h = 0.4 (the minimum distance which occurs at the fifth row of the second column is 0.92672). For all q = 0.4: 0.2 : 1, the nearest Generalized Fuzzy Numbers have the height h = 0.5 (the minimum values occur at the sixth row of the respective column).

This example shows that the optimum value of h (with respect to the minimum value of distance) is related to q!

Therewith, the figure is plotted the distance with p = 2 between  $\tilde{u}$  and  $\tilde{v}$  when  $h \in [0, 1]$  and  $q \in [0, 1]$  (Fig. 4):



**Fig. 4.**  $D_{2,q}(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v})$  when  $h \in [0, 1]$  and  $q \in [0, 1]$ .

# 5 Conclusion

In this paper, a new distance was presented on the set of Generalized Fuzzy Numbers, with continuous left and right spread functions. Also, for fuzzy numbers, we showed this distance is the same as the one proposed by Gerzgorzewski [9] which proved that this distance is metric.

In the following, through some examples, the paper explored some of the capabilities of the proposed distance. One of these examples approximated the height of a given Generalized Fuzzy Number (GFN) while it had the minimum distance to any arbitrary GFN. Till now, distances presented on GFNs are applied only on trapezoidal forms but the second example showed the way the distance proposed in this paper is utilized on GFNs generally. Also, with some examples we show that this distance related with its parameter.

# References

- 1. Abbasbandy, S., Amirfakhrian, M.: The nearest approximation of a fuzzy quantity in parametric form. J. Appl. Math. Comput. **172**, 624–632 (2006)
- Abbasbandy, S., Amirfakhrian, M.: The nearest trapezoidal form of a generalized left right fuzzy number. J. Approx. Reason. 43, 166–178 (2006)
- Allahviranloo, T., Abbasbandy, S., Sanaeifard, R.: A method for ranking fuzzy numbers using new weighted ditance. Math. Comput. Appl. 16(2), 359–369 (2011)
- Amirfakhrian, M.: Numerical solution of a system of polynomial parametric form fuzzy linear equations. In: Indrani Coondoo, I. (ed.) Ferroelectrics. INTECH Publisher, Austria (2010)
- Chen, S.H.: Ranking fuzzy numbers with maximizing set and minimizing set. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 17(2), 113–129 (1985)
- Delgado, M., Vila, M.A., Voxman, W.: On a canonical representation of fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 93, 125–135 (1998)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Operations on fuzzy numbers. Int. J. Syst. Sci. 9, 613–626 (1978)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Fuzzy Sets Syst. Theory Appl. Academic Press, New York (1980)
- Grzegorzewski, P.: Metrics and orders in space of fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 97, 83–94 (1998)
- Grzegorzewski, P.: Nearest interval approximation of a fuzzy number. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 130, 321–330 (2002)
- Grzegorzewski, P., Mrówka, E.: Trapezoidal approximations of fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 153, 115–135 (2005)
- Ma, M., Friedman, M., Kandel, A.: A new fuzzy arithmetic. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 108, 83–90 (1999)
- Ma, M., Kandel, A., Friedman, M.: Correction to "a new approach for defuzzification". Fuzzy Sets Syst. 128, 133–134 (2002)
- Voxman, W.: Some remarks on distance between fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 100, 353–365 (1998)
- 15. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338–353 (1965)
- Zimmermann, H.J.: Fuzzy Set Theory and Its Applications, 2nd edn. Kluwer Academic, Boston (1991)

# Fuzzy Logic Load Balancing for Cloud Architecture Network - A Simulation Test

Lukasz Apiecionek $^{(\boxtimes)},$  Jacek M. Czerniak, Wojciech Dobrosielski, and Dawid Ewald

Institute of Technology, Casimir the Great University in Bydgoszcz, ul. Chodkiewicza 30, 85-064 Bydgoszcz, Poland {lapiecionek,jczerniak,wdobrosielski,dawidewald}@ukw.edu.pl

**Abstract.** This article presents the algorithm of resource usage optimization for highly complex computer system architectures, such as Cloud Computing solutions. The main problem of such solutions is predicting the resources usage for allocating and dismissal. The proposed algorithm, based on OFN, allows to recognize the trend in the processed requests by the servers. In effect, the CC solutions allow to add resources dynamically, according to the amount of connections, and manage them in real time. This article proposes a fuzzy logic load balancing method for highly complex system architecture, which makes possible to use the resources in more efficient way. Description of the proposed algorithm is followed by simulation test results.

Keywords: Cloud Computing  $\cdot$  Complex architecture  $\cdot$  Fuzzy logic

## 1 Introduction

Cloud Computing (CC) is currently a widely applied technology, but still represents a fresh approach towards utilizing resources. From the market's point of view CC offers a significant operating cost reduction. The users who take advantage of this data storage capability and access to applications on demand, may use the resources easily, on various devices, for a long time [1,21]. However, such solutions as CC require considering the issues related to highly complex computer system architectures. The main problems include the security of the data and managing the system resources in most optimal way. Usually big companies use CC for providing big amount of data and process a large number of server requests. It is impossible to meet such demands basing on single server solutions, thus a method of load balancing, resources virtualization and a special way of their management was developed. This results in creating a highly complex system the architecture of which provides the means to handle the users' demands. It is not an uncommon case that both private and commercial users seek abundant resources under as low price as possible. CC solutions allow to add resources dynamically, depending on the amount of connections, and manage them in real time. For example, if one server is not able to handle the connections, another server instance is launched. Inability of the second

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_5

server to handle the connections leads to starting a third instance of it, which provides more resources. However, such method of allocation of resources is not optimal. This article proposes a fuzzy logic load balancing method for highly complex system architecture, which allows to improve the efficiency of resources usage. This article is organized as follows: In Sect. 2 a general idea of the system architecture for cloud computing is provided. Section 3 proposes the method for optimal usage of the resources. The quoted definitions were originally introduced by Czerniak et al. for network security purposes. Section 4 presents the results of simulations. The final Sect. 5 covers the conclusions.

# 2 Cloud Computing Solution Architecture

As it was already mentioned, the main problem of CC is security and the optimal allocation of the resources. The issue of assuring the safety of data which is stored in the cloud, in different sites, is a significant challenge. The lack of security standards until recently and a difficulty with their determination and application, along with a limited confidence in this technology, are the main obstacles to broader implementation of CC [25, 30, 31]. Thereby, in the Authors' opinion, the elaboration of standards and mechanisms for assuring the stored data's security and integrity is an indispensable condition for future popularization of CC. It has been already pointed out that the cloud is a perfect solution for business, since it offers cost reduction, as after a little investment in the infrastructure, it provides a quick access to multiple services. However, the strategy of ensuring the security and trust should be considered at the initial level of designing the system. It is a widely acknowledged fact that it is difficult - if not impossible - to develop a single common solution dedicated to every possible system architecture [29]. The emphasis on security issues escalates continuously. The security should be treated globally, on all layers of communications, starting from hardware protection, through the end point restrictions, to the application level.

The second problem brought out at the beginning of this section - the optimal allocation of the resources - seems also a complicated matter. The users tend to choose the solutions which offer more at lower cost. Nowadays the model of providing the resources and software employs the time of usage as a main evaluator. As the resources' requirement grow, subsequent cloud resources are allocated and dedicated to processing the user's requests. Figure 1 presents the possible architecture of the cloud.

The presented architecture consists of four layers:

- servers layer,
- router connections layer,
- switching layer,
- load balancing layer.

The servers layer is responsible for providing the servers - or, to be exact - the CPU and data storage for the users. The servers resources are the main source of the cost borne by the users - since they generate the main cost for the cloud



Fig. 1. Possible cloud architecture

provider, who has to pay for the material resources, while he is selling the virtual ones, for the specified time of usage.

The router connections layer is accountable for connecting the servers in a proper way. It provides the routing protocols and transfers the data to an appropriate server.

The switching layer is responsible for fast switching the packets between the load balancing layer and the router.

The load balancing layer is the first point of contact between the cloud and the outside network, which usually is the Internet network. This layer is in charge of providing one representative point of contact, which during the operation is multiplied. This allows to provide more resources than a single server is capable to offer. The main algorithm used for this process is described in the following steps:

- step 1: oobtaining a connection request from the user,
- step 2: allocating the server resources,
- step 3: transfer connection from the user to the server,
- step 4: in the case when the connections to the server exceed the servers limit, another server is allocated.

## 3 Fuzzy Logic Method for Load Balancing

The algorithm for load balancing mentioned in the previous section is not an optimal method for the resources' utilization. The number of user connections is not a constant value. In normal conditions the users shut down their connections after finishing their tasks, which results in a decrease in the total number of connections. This could allow to release some server resources, but in most cases it does not happen. It is because the connections are not divided between the servers instances in most optimal way. For this purpose, some predictions concerning the connections would be required and in this matter the solutions based on fuzzy logic can be applied, especially the Ordered Fuzzy Numbers [10,22,27]. The implementation of OFN may accelerate the decision to release the server instances because they allow to predict an upcoming decrease in the number of connections.

In this Section the algorithm which uses OFN for detecting a decrease in the total number of connections is described. The algorithm measures the active connections in all servers in use during the data processing. This measurement is performed continuously in a given period of time referred to as a timeslot. Four subsequent timeslots are described as:

$$t_i, t_{(i-1)}, t_{(i-2)}, t_{(i-3)} \tag{1}$$

where  $t_i$  is represent the current timeslot.

These four results together provide a fuzzy number in OFN notation, presented in Fig. 2, where

- $f_A(0)$  respond to  $t_{(i-3)}$ ,
- $-f_A(1)$  respond to  $t_{(i-2)}$ ,
- $g_A(1)$  respond to  $t_{(i-1)}$ ,
- $-g_A(0)$  respond to  $t_i$ .



Fig. 2. Fuzzy number in OFN notation

As it couldcan be noticed, oin Fig. 2, the OFN has gotpresent a trapezoid form, their shape deriving from the and the value of function  $f_A$  and  $g_A$ .

The definition of fuzzy observance of the connection used is as follows:

**Definition 1.** Fuzzy observance of C connection in time  $t_i$  is a set

$$C/t_i = \{ f_C(0)/t_{i-3}, f_C(1)/t_{i-2}, g_C(1)/t_{i-1}, g_C(0))/t_i \}$$
(2)

where

$$t_i > t_{i-1} > t_{i-2} > t_{3-1} |t_i - t_{i-1}| = |t_{i-1} - t_{i-2}| = |t_{i-2} - t_{i-3}| = t_n,$$
  
timeslot of the measurement  
 $f_C(0) \le f_C(1) \le g_C(1) \le g_C(0)$ 

This provide the Lemma 1.

#### Lemma 1.

$$C_{positive} = \begin{cases} f_C(0) < f_C(1) < g_C(1) \\ or \\ f_C(1) < g_C(1) < g_C(0) \end{cases}$$
(3)

In other situation  $C_{negative}$ .

According to this definition, the counters of active connections to the servers should give:

- positive order of OFN when the number of connections increases,
- negative order of OFN when the number of connections decreases.

The four measurements performed during the cloud operations allow to prepare fuzzy numbers in OFN notation. This gives a fuzzy observance of the whole cloud  $CC_m$ , defined as follows:

**Definition 2.** Fuzzy observance of the cloud connections is described by following formula:

$$CC_m = \sum_{i=1}^n \left\{ \begin{array}{c} C_{positive} | C_{negative} \\ C_i * w_i | - C_i * w_i \end{array} \right\}.$$
(4)

Where  $w_i \in \{w_i, ..., w_n\}$  describes the impact of the server on whole cloud architecture. This value should be considered by the network administrator, jointly with the server resources and the impact on whole network.  $CC_m$  will provide the information for the network administrator that according to the network trend some servers can be released or that they should still process the user's request.

As it is known, the CC solutions base on a highly complicated architecture, so the number of servers they use may be very high. The result can be visualized by means of pipe of samples [9], presented in Fig. 3. Each time a connection is established, a number of measurements take place, the amount of which corresponds to the number of servers in use. The results are collected into a pipe, where a single slice of it contains the measurements from a single timeslot. Over

47



Fig. 3. The pipe of samples for data storing

the time a pipe is formed, being an accumulation of n slices. The original solutions [10] where prepared for 360 servers. Figure 4 presents the results with only server 1 taken into account. As it was mentioned, four measurements give an OFN number. Two of possible notations of such numbers' order are presented in Fig. 4. According to definition 2, it is possible to make a decision on:



Fig. 4. The pipe of samples for data storing

- not allocating another server when a new request appears,
- passing the connections to a different server and releasing one of the instances.

The first mentioned situation will occur when the load balance layer registers that the incoming connections are not increasing the total amount of connections on the servers. This is achieved by recognizing the trend showing that the servers are processing less requests in general. In consequence, the solution allows to avoid creating new, unnecessary instances of the server.

The second mentioned situation will take place when a global trend of decreasing number of processed connections is recognized. This leads to moving the processed requests to other servers and releasing some of the instances. The above-described mechanism allows to use the CC resources in most optimal way.

# 4 Simulation

The simulation was performed for the proposed CC architecture and the measurement was simulated on the servers as presented in Fig. 5. There were 4 servers (C1, C2, C3, C4) responsible for processing the users' requests. Each server was processing 1000 user requests as a maximum value. When the number of requests exceeded 1000, another server was switched in. The process of arriving of the users' requests and the connections is presented in Table 1. The column "time" presents the current timeslot. The columns "incoming connections" and "released connections" present, respectively, the number of connections established basing on incoming requests and the ones released during the timeslots. The columns C1-C4 present the total number of requests processed by the servers. As it can be noticed, the server C2 was launched in the timeslot 2, while the server C3 in timeslot 8 and the server C4 in timeslot 12. It can also be observed that the server C1 was released in timeslot 20, as it had finished processing the requests. The same situation was with server C2, but it took place in timeslot 25. Using the definition 2, the  $CC_m$  for timeslot 16 can be calculated. According to the Table 1, the Cs for each server are as follows:



Fig. 5. Simulation test architecture

Time	Incomming	Relased	Sum of connections	Servers			
	connections	connections	Sum	C1	C2	C3	C4
0	500	0	500	500			
1	300	0	800	800			
2	300	0	1100	1000	100		
3	200	0	1300	1000	300		
4	100	0	1400	1000	400		
5	200	0	1600	1000	600		
6	300	0	1900	1000	900		
7	100	0	2000	1000	1000		
8	200	0	2200	1000	1000	200	
9	100	0	2300	1000	1000	300	
10	300	0	2600	1000	1000	600	
11	250	0	2850	1000	1000	850	
12	450	0	3300	1000	1000	1000	300
13	50	50	3300	940	990	1000	350
14	50	100	3250	900	950	1000	400
15	50	300	3000	720	830	1000	450
16	50	300	2750	680	820	1000	500
17	50	200	2600	380	720	950	550
18	50	300	2350	190	700	860	600
19	50	200	2200	20	680	850	650
20	50	100	2150	0	610	840	700
21	100	100	2150	0	560	790	800
22	100	200	2050	0	480	670	900
23	100	300	1850	0	280	570	1000
24	100	200	1750	0	180	570	1000
25	100	300	1550	0	0	550	1000

Table 1. User request processing during simulation

 $\begin{array}{l} C_1 = [940, 900, 720, 680], \, \text{with negative order}, \\ C_2 = [990, 950, 830, 820], \, \text{with negative order}, \\ C_3 = [1000, 1000, 1000, 1000], \, \text{with positive order}, \\ C_4 = [350, 400, 450, 500], \, \text{with positive order}, \end{array}$ 

Calculating the  $CC_m$  according to Definition 2 is presented below:

$$CC_m = -C_1 - C_2 + C_3 + C_4$$

So finally fuzzy observance of the cloud servers give as a OFN number in timeslots 16 as

$$CC_m = [-580, -450, -100, 0],$$

with a negative order is obtained. It means that a prediction for the servers' usage is as follows: the number of the process requests is decreasing and the server C1 can be released in timeslot 17. It also means that it can be released 3 timeslots earlier than in the original algorithm. When the same fuzzy observance is performed for the timeslot 22, the Cs for each server are as follows:

 $C_1 = [20, 0, 0, 0]$ , with negative order,  $C_2 = [680, 610, 560, 480]$ , with negative order,  $C_3 = [850, 840, 790, 670]$ , with negative order,  $C_4 = [650, 700, 800, 900]$ , with positive order.

The calculation of the  $CC_m$  according to Definition 2 gives:

$$CC_m = -C_1 - C_2 - C_3 + C_4$$

So finally:

$$CC_m = [-900, -750, -550, -250]$$

with a negative order is obtained. It means that a prediction for the servers' usage is as follows: the number of the process request is decreasing and the server C2 can be released in timeslot 22. This shows that it can be released 3 timeslots earlier than in the original algorithm.

The servers' usage during each timeslot is presented in Fig. 6. It is noteworthy that during the simulation the proposed algorithm was using fewer servers than the original one.



Fig. 6. Server usage simulation

# 5 Summary

This article presented the algorithm for the optimization of the resources' usage for highly complex computer system architectures, such as Cloud Computing solutions. Their main problem is predicting the resources' usage for the purpose od allocation and dismissal. The proposed algorithm based on OFN usage allows to recognize the trend in the processed handled by the servers and trace the signs of a decrease in the number of requests. It also allows to avoid creating new, redundant instances of the servers, The presented solution helps to move the processed requests to other servers and release some of the instances faster, which contributes to more optimal utilization of the CC resources. By means of the presented algorithm, the CC solutions may add the resources dynamically, according to the amount of connections, and manage them in real time. This article proposes a fuzzy logic load balancing method for highly complex system architectures, which allows to use the resources in a more efficient way and load balancing, aside from the security issues [23,24,28] remain one of the main problems the CC solutions have to deal with [7].

# References

- 1. Alliance, C.S.: Top threats to cloud computing v1. 0 (2010). http://www.cloudsecurityalliance.org/topthreats
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J., Dobrosielski, W.: Quality of services method as a DDoS protection tool. In: Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pp. 225–234. Springer, New York (2015)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M.: QoS solution for network resource protection. In: Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Informatics, Informatics 2013, pp. 73–76 (2013)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W.T.: Quality of services method as a DDoS protection tool. In: Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol. 2: Tools, Architectures, Systems, Applications, vol. 323, 225–234 (2015)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D.: New QoS Concept for Protecting Network Resources, pp. 234–239. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2017)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Protection tool for distributed denial of services attack. Beyond Databases, Archit. Struct., BDAS 424, 405–414 (2014)
- Apiecionek, L., Sobczak, M., Makowski, W., Vince, T.: Multi path transmission control protocols as a security solution. In: 2015 IEEE 13th International Scientific Conference on Informatics, pp. 27–31. IEEE (2015)
- Apiecionek, M., et al.: Biblioteka przy parafii pw. świętych polskich braci męczenników w bydgoszczy. Fides. Biuletyn Bibliotek Kościelnych 21(41(2)), 73– 80 (2015)
- Czerniak, J., Ewald, D., Macko, M., Smigielski, G., Tyszczuk, K.: Approach to the monitoring of energy consumption in Eco-grinder based on ABC optimization. Beyond Databases Archit. Struct. BDAS 521, 516–529 (2015)
- Czerniak, J.: Evolutionary approach to data discretization for rough sets theory. Fundamenta Informaticae 92(1–2), 43–61 (2009)

53

- Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W., Zarzycki, H., Apiecionek, L.: A proposal of the new owlANT method for determining the distance between terms in ontology. Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol. 2: Tools, Architectures, Systems, Applications, vol. 323, 235–246 (2015)
- Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W.T., Apiecionek, L., Ewald, D., Paprzycki, M.: Practical application of OFN arithmetics in a crisis control center monitoring, pp. 51–64. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D., Śmigielski, G., Dobrosielski, W.T., Apiecionek, L.: Optimization of fuel consumption in firefighting water capsule Flights of a Helicopter, pp. 39–49. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Artificial acari optimization as a new strategy for global optimization of multimodal functions. J. Comput. Sci. 348, 1–22 (2017)
- Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H., Ewald, D.: AAO as a new strategy in modeling and simulation of constructional problems optimization. In: Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory (2017). http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S1569190X17300709
- Czerniak, J., Apiecionek, L., Zarzycki, H., Ewald, D.: Proposed CAEva simulation method for evacuation of people from a buildings on fire. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 401, 315–326 (2016)
- Czerniak, J., Dobrosielski, W., Apiecionek, L.: Representation of a trend in OFN during fuzzy observance of the water level from the crisis control center. In: Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, IEEE Digital Library, ACSIS, vol. 5, pp. 443-447 (2015)
- Czerniak, J., Macko, M., Ewald, D.: The cutmag as a new hybrid method for multi-edge grinder design optimization. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 401, 327–337 (2016)
- Czerniak, J., Smigielski, G., Ewald, D., Paprzycki, M.: New proposed implementation of ABC method to optimization of water capsule flight. In: Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, IEEE Digital Library, ACSIS, vol. 5, pp. 489-493 (2015)
- Ewald, D., Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Approach to solve a criteria problem of the ABC algorithm used to the WBDP multicriteria optimization. In: Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol. 1: Mathematical Foundations, Theory, Analyses, vol. 322, pp. 129–137 (2015)
- 21. Horrigan, J.B.: Cloud computing gains in currency (2008). http://pewresearch. org/pubs/948/cloud-computing-gains-in-currency
- Kosinski, W., Prokopowicz, P., Rosa, A.: Defuzzification functionals of ordered fuzzy numbers. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 21(6), 1163–1169 (2013)
- Kozik, R., Choraś, M., Hołubowicz, W.: Packets tokenization methods for web layer cyber security. Logic J. IGPL 25(1), 103–113 (2017)
- Kozik, R., Choraś, M., Renk, R., Hołubowicz, W.: Cyber security of the application layer of mission critical industrial systems. In: IFIP International Conference on Computer Information Systems and Industrial Management, pp. 342–351. Springer, New York (2016)
- Mace, J.C., Van Moorsel, A., Watson, P.: The case for dynamic security solutions in public cloud workflow deployments. In: 2011 IEEE/IFIP 41st International Conference on Dependable Systems and Networks Workshops, pp. 111–116. IEEE (2011)
- Macko, M., Flizikowski, J.: The method of the selection of comminution design for non-brittle materials. In: AIChE Annual Meeting, Conference Proceedings (2010)

- Macko, M., Flizikowski, J., Szczepański, Z., Tyszczuk, K., Śmigielski, G., Mroziński, A., Czerniak, J., Tomporowski, A.: CAD/CAE Applications in Mill's Design and Investigation, pp. 343–351. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2017)
- Palka, R., Makowski, W., Wozniak, M., Brazkiewicz, P., Wosinski, K., Baturo, P., Terlecki, M., Gromacki, T.: QoS mechanism for low speed radio networks-case study. In: International Conference on Image Processing and Communications, pp. 240–246. Springer, New York (2016)
- Pearson, S.: Toward accountability in the cloud. IEEE Internet Comput. 15(4), 64–69 (2011)
- Sharma, P.D.: A classification of distinct vulnerabilities in cloud computing. World J. Sci. Technol. 2, 103 (2012)
- Subashini, S., Kavitha, V.: A survey on security issues in service delivery models of cloud computing. J. Netw. Comput. Appl. 34(1), 1–11 (2011)

# Dynamical Control of Computations Using the Iterative Methods to Solve Fully Fuzzy Linear Systems

Mohammad Ali Fariborzi Araghi<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Eisa Zarei

Department of Mathematics, Central Tehran Branch, Islamic Azad University, 14676-86831 Tehran, Iran m\_fariborzi@iauctb.ac.ir, fariborzi.araghi@gmail.com

Abstract. A linear system with fuzzy coefficients matrix, unknown and right hand side fuzzy vectors is called a fully fuzzy linear system (FFLS). Solving these kinds of systems via iterative methods to find the optimal number of iterations and optimal solution is important computationally. In this study, a FFLS is solved in the stochastic arithmetic to find this optimal solution. To this end, the CESTAC (Controle et Estimation Stochastique des Arrondis de Calculs) method and the CADNA (Control of Accuracy and Debugging for Numerical Application) library are considered to evaluate the round-off error effect on computed results. The Gauss-Seidel, Jacobi, Richardson and SOR iterative methods are used to solve FFLS. Also, an efficient algorithm is presented based on the proposed approach to compute the optimal results. Finally, two numerical examples are solved to validate the results and show the importance of using the stochastic arithmetic in comparison with the common floating-point arithmetic.

**Keywords:** Iterative methods  $\cdot$  Fully fuzzy linear systems (FFLS)  $\cdot$  Stochastic arithmetic  $\cdot$  CESTAC method  $\cdot$  CADNA library  $\cdot$  Hausdorff distance

## 1 Introduction

The fuzzy system of linear equations as  $A\tilde{x} = \tilde{b}$  studied by Friedman et al. [16] where A is a crisp matrix and  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{b}$  are fuzzy vectors. They replaced a  $2n \times 2n$  crisp linear system to solve the original  $n \times n$  fuzzy linear system. They derived conditions for the existence and uniqueness of the solution and presented a numerical algorithm for estimation the solution. Recently, some authors have proposed some works to solve the FFLS. In [6,12,18] a linear programming method proposed to calculate the solution of FFLS. A FFLS can be solved by interval systems, however, the classical solution often fails to exist because the solution of linear interval equations is not necessarily intervals. The direct method, LU decomposition method, iterative method and Adomian decomposition method are applied to find the solutions of fully fuzzy linear systems [12].

When an iterative scheme is chosen to solve a FFLS, the solution is calculated in the floating-point arithmetic via a package like Matlab or Mathematica

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_6

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

that the termination criterion depends on a positive number like  $\epsilon$ . Also, the exact solution of the system must be accessible. In this case, the number of iteration in results may be increased without increasing the accuracy or results may not be accurate. Because of the round-off error propagation, the computer may not able to improve the accuracy of the results. Therefore, to validate the results and to improve the accuracy, we apply the iterative methods in the stochastic arithmetic. In recent years, the CESTAC method, which is based on the discrete stochastic arithmetic, is used to validate many problems in mathematics and physics such as interpolation polynomials [2], ill-condition functions [3], numerical integration [1,4,17] and others [8,9,24].

In [13], the authors solved fuzzy linear system with crisp coefficient matrix, based on the Gauss-Seidel and Jacobi iterative methods in the stochastic arithmetic. This paper is a development of this work on the FFLS.

This paper is organized as follows. We give the definition of fuzzy number, and fully fuzzy linear systems in Sect. 2. Iterative methods are presented in Sect. 3. In Sect. 4, we recall the stochastic round-off analysis, the fuzzy CESTAC method in the stochastic arithmetic. Section 5 describes datasets and experiments by using the proposed algorithm which is performed by the CADNA library based on the discrete stochastic arithmetic and the CESTAC method.

# 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Fuzzy Numbers and Fully Fuzzy Linear Systems

Here, we give some basic definitions on fuzzy numbers and brief description of FFLS.

**Definition 2.1.1.** A fuzzy number  $\tilde{A}$  is called to be an LR fuzzy number, if there exist shape function L (for left), R (for right) and scalars  $\alpha, \beta$  with

$$\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) = \begin{cases} L(\frac{a-x}{\alpha}) & x \le a, \ \alpha > 0\\ 1 & x = a\\ R(\frac{x-a}{\beta}) & x \ge a, \ \beta > 0 \end{cases}$$

where a is the mean value of  $\tilde{A}$ ,  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}$  its membership function,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are the left and right spreads, respectively. An *LR* fuzzy number  $\tilde{A}$  is shown as  $\tilde{A} = (a, \alpha, \beta)_{LR}$ . If  $a - \alpha > 0$  then  $\tilde{A}$  is said positive [11].

**Definition 2.1.2** [11]. An arbitrary fuzzy number is presented by an ordered pair of functions ( $\underline{u}(r), \overline{u}(r)$ ),  $0 \leq r \leq 1$  which satisfy the following conditions:

- 1.  $\underline{u}(r)$  is a bounded left continuous non-decreasing function over [0,1].
- 2.  $\bar{u}(r)$  is a bounded left continuous non-increasing function over [0,1].
- 3.  $\underline{u}(r) \leq \overline{u}(r), 0 \leq r \leq 1.$

The set of the fuzzy numbers is denoted by  $E^1$ .

**Definition 2.1.3 [13].** Let  $\tilde{u} = (\underline{u}(r), \overline{u}(r))$  and  $\tilde{v} = (\underline{v}(r), \overline{v}(r))$  are two arbitrary fuzzy numbers, the Hausdorff distance between them is defined by:  $H.D(\tilde{u}, \tilde{v}) = \sup_{0 \leq r \leq 1} \max \{ | \underline{u}(r) - \underline{v}(r) |, | \overline{u}(r) - \overline{v}(r) | \}.$ 

**Definition 2.1.4.** A matrix  $\tilde{A} = (\tilde{a}_{ij})$  is called a fuzzy matrix if each element in A is a fuzzy number [11].

In the fuzzy matrix  $\tilde{A} = (A, M, N)$ , the crisp matrix  $A = (a_{ij})$  called the main matrix and  $M = (\alpha_{ij})$  and  $N = (\beta_{ij})$  are the right and left spread matrices, respectively.

Consider the  $n \times n$  linear system of equations:

$$\begin{cases} (\tilde{a_{11}} \otimes \tilde{x}_1) \oplus (\tilde{a}_{12} \otimes \tilde{x}_2) \oplus \ldots \oplus (\tilde{a}_{1n} \otimes \tilde{x}_n) = b_1, \\ (\tilde{a}_{21} \otimes \tilde{x}_1) \oplus (\tilde{a}_{22} \otimes \tilde{x}_2) \oplus \ldots \oplus (\tilde{a}_{2n} \otimes \tilde{x}_n) = \tilde{b}_2, \\ \vdots \\ (\tilde{a}_{n1} \otimes \tilde{x}_1) \oplus (\tilde{a}_{n2} \otimes \tilde{x}_2) \oplus \ldots \oplus (\tilde{a}_{nn} \otimes \tilde{x}_n) = \tilde{b}_n. \end{cases}$$
(1)

The matrix form of this system is

$$\tilde{A} \otimes \tilde{X} = \tilde{b}.$$
 (2)

Here, the matrix  $\tilde{A}_{n \times n} = (\tilde{a}_{ij}), 1 \leq i, j \leq n$  is a fuzzy matrix and  $\tilde{X}_i, \tilde{b}_i (1 \leq i \leq n)$  are two fuzzy vectors in  $E^1$ . The system (2) is called a fully fuzzy linear system (FFLS). In Eq. (2), if each element of matrix coefficients  $\tilde{A}$  and constant vector  $\tilde{b}$  is a positive LR fuzzy number, then fuzzy system is called a positive FFLS.

**Definition 2.2.1** [10]. A fuzzy matrix  $\tilde{A}_{n \times n} = (\tilde{a}_{ij})$  is called an lower (upper) triangular fuzzy matrix, if  $\tilde{a}_{ij} = \tilde{0} = (0, 0, 0), \quad \forall i < j \ (i > j).$ 

**Definition 2.2.2** [10]. Let  $\tilde{A}_{m \times n} = (\tilde{a}_{ij})$  and  $\tilde{B}_{n \times p} = (\tilde{b}_{ij})$  be two fuzzy matrices. Operation multiplication is defined as  $\tilde{A} \otimes \tilde{B} = \tilde{C}$ , which  $\tilde{C}$  is the  $m \times p$  fuzzy matrix where  $\tilde{c}_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \tilde{a}_{ik} \otimes \tilde{b}_{kj}$ .

## 3 Iterative methods

In this section, we introduce the iterative methods which are applied for solving the FFLS.

**Definition 3.1.** Suppose Eq. (2) be the positive FFLS, after operating the multiplication and summarizing,  $\tilde{X}$  is a solution of Eq. (2), if and only if

$$\begin{cases}
AX = b, \\
MX + AY = g, \\
NX + AZ = h.
\end{cases}$$
(3)

With conditions  $Y \ge 0, Z \ge 0$  and  $X - Y \ge 0$ , the solution  $\tilde{X} = (X, Y, Z)$  is called a consistent solution of positive FFLS or for abbreviation consistent solution [10]. Otherwise, it will be called dummy solution. In this study, to determine the consistent solution of the FFLS is the final target. But unfortunately, the iterative methods may converge to the dummy solutions.

**Theorem 3.1.** Suppose  $\tilde{A} = (A, M, N)$  and  $\tilde{b} = (b, g, h)$  be a non-negative fuzzy matrix and a non-negative fuzzy vector, and let A be the product of a permutation matrix by a diagonal matrix with positive diagonal entries. The system  $\tilde{A}\tilde{x} = \tilde{b}$  has a positive fuzzy solution, if  $h \ge MA^{-1}b, g \ge NA^{-1}b$  and  $(MA^{-1} + I)b \ge h$  [10].

For matrix A, the following decomposition is used.

$$A = D + L + U, \tag{4}$$

where D is the diagonal, L its strict lower part and U its strict upper part of matrix A. We can assume that the diagonal entries of the matrix A are all non-zero.

The Jacobi iterative method to find the solution of the Eq. (2) is as follows:

$$\begin{cases} X^{(k+1)} = -D^{-1}(L+U)X^{(k)} + D^{-1}b, \\ Y^{(k+1)} = -D^{-1}(L+U)Y^{(k)} - D^{-1}MX^k + D^{-1}g, \\ Z^{(k+1)} = -D^{-1}(L+U)Z^{(k)} - D^{-1}NX^k + D^{-1}h. \end{cases}$$
(5)

Also, an other iterative method for solving Eq. (2) is the Gauss-Seidel method, which is defined as follows:

$$\begin{cases} X^{(k+1)} = -(D+L)^{-1}UX^{(k)} + (D+L)^{-1}b, \\ Y^{(k+1)} = -(D+L)^{-1}UY^{(k)} - (D+L)^{-1}MX^k + (D+L)^{-1}g, \\ Z^{(k+1)} = -(D+L)^{-1}UZ^{(k)} - (D+L)^{-1}NX^k + (D+L)^{-1}h. \end{cases}$$
(6)

The Richardson extrapolation method is the other iterative method to solve Eq. (2), which is as follows:

$$\begin{cases} X^{(k+1)} = (I - \gamma A) X^{(k)} + \gamma b, \\ Y^{(k+1)} = (I - \gamma A) Y^{(k)} - \gamma M X^k + \gamma g, \\ Z^{(k+1)} = (I - \gamma A) Z^{(k)} - \gamma N X^k + \gamma h, \end{cases}$$
(7)

where  $\gamma$  is called the extrapolation parameter. If the matrix A is symmetric positive definite, then the optimum parameter would be  $\gamma_{opt} = \frac{2}{m(A) + M(A)}$ .

The following SOR method is the fourth iterative method, that we apply it for solving FFLS in the stochastic arithmetic:

$$\begin{cases} X^{(k+1)} = -(D+\omega L)^{-1}[(\omega-1)D+\omega U]X^{(k)} + \omega(D+\omega L)^{-1}b, \\ Y^{(k+1)} = -(D+\omega L)^{-1}[(\omega-1)D+\omega U]Y^{(k)} - \omega(D+\omega L)^{-1}MX^{k} + (D+\omega L)^{-1}g, \\ Z^{(k+1)} = -(D+\omega L)^{-1}[(\omega-1)D+\omega U]Z^{(k)} - \omega(D+\omega L)^{-1}NX^{k} + (D+\omega L)^{-1}h. \end{cases}$$
(8)

**Theorem 3.2.** The iterative method for solving the FFLS  $\tilde{A}\tilde{x} = \tilde{b}$ , converges if and only the classical iterative method converges for solving the crisp linear system Ax = b [10].

**Theorem 3.3.** If the SOR method be convergent then  $0 < \omega < 2$  [20].

**Theorem 3.4.** Let  $A \in L(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be symmetric positive definite and assume that  $0 < \omega < 2$ . Then the SOR method converges for any choice of initial vector  $X^0$  [20].

#### 4 Fuzzy CESTAC Method

In this section, a theorem is proved to show the accuracy of the iterative methods to solve a FFLS based on the concept of the common significant digits between two vectors. The results of this theorem is applied to designate the termination criterion in the proposed algorithm in next section. At first, we introduce the fuzzy CESTAC method.

Let  $\tilde{x} = (x, y, z)$  be a fuzzy number in  $E^1$ . Then,  $\tilde{x}$  in the computer is represented by  $\tilde{X} = (X, Y, Z)$  as follows:

$$X = x - \epsilon_1 2^{E_1 - P} \alpha_1, \tag{9}$$

$$Y = y - \epsilon_2 2^{E_2 - P} \alpha_2, \tag{10}$$

$$Z = z - \epsilon_3 2^{E_3 - P} \alpha_3, \tag{11}$$

where,  $\epsilon_1$ ,  $\epsilon_2$  and  $\epsilon_3$  are the signs of x, y and z respectively and  $2^{-P}\alpha_1, 2^{-P}\alpha_2$ and  $2^{-P}\alpha_3$  are the lost part of the mantissa due to round-off error and  $E_1, E_2$  and  $E_3$  are the binary exponents of the results. In the floating-point arithmetic and double precision case, P = 53 and usually  $-1 \leq \alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3 \leq 1$ . The CESTAC method is applied in order to implement an algorithm, any result is a random variable with mean  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma^2$ . Hence, a stochastic arithmetic should be used. The last mantissa bit is perturbed N times, to estimate  $\mu$  and  $\sigma^2$ . Then, the mean of samples is considered as estimation of the result and the variance of them is used to determine the accuracy of the result. The main idea of the CESTAC method is to evaluate the number of significant digits of the result effectively [24]. The algorithm of the fuzzy CESTAC method is as follows:

#### Algorithm 1.

- 1. Let  $X_1, X_2, \ldots, X_N$ ,  $Y_1, Y_2, \ldots, Y_N$ ,  $Z_1, Z_2, \ldots, Z_N$  be N samples for X, Y and Z by perturbation the last mantissa bit.
- 2. Calculate the mean of samples as

$$X_{ave} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} X_i}{N}, Y_{ave} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Y_i}{N}, Z_{ave} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} Z_i}{N}$$

3. Calculate the variance of samples as

$$S_X^2 = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^N (X_i - X_{ave})^2, \ S_Y^2 = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^N (Y_i - Y_{ave})^2, \ S_Z^2 = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^N (Z_i - Z_{ave})^2.$$
4. Calculate

$$C_{X_{ave},X} = \log_{10} \frac{\sqrt{N} |X_{ave}|}{\tau_{\beta} S_X}, \quad C_{Y_{ave},Y} = \log_{10} \frac{\sqrt{N} |Y_{ave}|}{\tau_{\beta} S_Y}, \quad C_{Z_{ave},Z} = \log_{10} \frac{\sqrt{N} |Z_{ave}|}{\tau_{\beta} S_Z},$$

as the common significant digits of each corresponding components of the exact solution and the approximate value, where  $\tau_{\beta}$  is the value of T distribution with N-1 degree of freedom and confidence interval  $1-\beta$  (If N=3 and  $\beta = 0.05$  then  $\tau_{\beta} = 4.303$ ).

5. if  $C_{X_{ave},X} \leq 0$  or  $X_{ave} = 0, C_{Y_{ave},Y} \leq 0$  or  $Y_{ave} = 0, C_{Z_{ave},Z} \leq 0$  or  $Z_{ave} = 0$ . then write  $\tilde{X} = @.0$ 

**Definition 4.1.** In the CESTAC method X = @.0 is an "informatical zero", if and only if,  $X_{ave} = 0$  or  $C_{X_{ave},X} \leq 0$  [15].

For solving the crisp linear system AX = b by the iterative methods, this system converts into an equivalent system of the form X = QX + C for some fixed matrix Q and vector C. With the initial vector  $X^{(0)}$ , the iterative equation to approximate the solution vectors is as follows:

$$X^{(k+1)} = QX^{(k)} + C, \qquad k = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$
(12)

**Corollary 4.1.** For any  $X^{(0)} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the iterative method  $X^{(k+1)} = QX^{(k)} + C$ , for each  $k \ge 1$ , converges to the unique solution of X = QX + C if and only if  $\rho(Q) < 1$  [20].

**Corollary 4.2.** If || Q || < 1 for any natural matrix norm, and C is a given vector, then the iterative method  $X^{(k+1)} = QX^{(k)} + C$  converges, for any  $X^{(0)} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  [20].

**Definition 4.2** [13,19]. For two distinct vectors  $X, Y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , the number of common significant digits is defined as:

$$C_{X,Y} = \log_{10} \frac{||X+Y||_2}{2\sqrt{n}||X-Y||_2}.$$
(13)

for  $X = Y : C_{X,Y} = +\infty$ .

Now, we can prove the following theorem for computing of the common significant digits of each corresponding components of the approximated solution and exact solution for a linear system using an iterative method.

**Theorem 4.1.** Let  $X^{(k+1)} = P_1 X^{(k)} + Q_1$ ,  $Y^{(k+1)} = P_2 Y^{(k)} + Q_2$  and  $Z^{(k+1)} = P_3 Z^{(k)} + Q_3$ ,  $k \ge 0$  be convergent iterexact solution (X, Y, Z) of the system (3) with  $Q_1, Q_2, Q_3 \ne 0$ . Then, for sufficiently large value of k,

$$log_{10}(1 - || P_1 ||_2) \leqslant C_{X^{(k)}, X} - C_{X^{(k)}, X^{(k+1)}} \leqslant log_{10}(1 + || P_1 ||_2), \quad (14)$$

$$log_{10}(1 - \parallel P_2 \parallel_2) \leqslant C_{Y^{(k)},Y} - C_{Y^{(k)},Y^{(k+1)}} \leqslant log_{10}(1 + \parallel P_2 \parallel_2), \qquad (15)$$

$$log_{10}(1 - \parallel P_3 \parallel_2) \leqslant C_{Z^{(k)},Z} - C_{Z^{(k)},Z^{(k+1)}} \leqslant log_{10}(1 + \parallel P_3 \parallel_2).$$
(16)

**Proof.** First we prove (14), then (15) and (16) can be proved similarly. According to Eq. (13)

$$C_{X^{(k)},X} - C_{X^{(k)},X^{(k+1)}} = \log \frac{\|X^{(k)} + X\|_2}{2\sqrt{n}\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} - \log \frac{\|X^{(k)} + X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{2\sqrt{n}\|X^{(k)} - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}$$

$$= \log \frac{\|X^{(k)} + X\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} + X^{(k+1)}\|_2} + \log \frac{\|X^{(k)} - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2}.$$
 (17)

Since by increasing  $k, X^{(k)} \simeq X$  and  $X^{(k+1)} \simeq X$ , then first term of this equation is almost equal to zero. Let  $X^{(k)} - X = E^{(k)}$ , then one can see

$$X^{(k)} - X = P_1^{(k)}(X_0 - X) = P_1^{(k)}E^{(0)}.$$
 (18)

For the second term of Eq. (17) we can write

$$\frac{\|X^{(k)} - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} = \frac{\|X^{(k)} - X + X - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} \le \frac{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2 + \|X^{(k+1)} - X\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} = 1 + \frac{\|P_1^{(k+1)} E^{(0)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} = 1 + \|P_1\|_2.$$
(19)

According to Eq. (18),

$$X^{(k+1)} - X^{(k)} = P_1^k (I - P_1) E^{(0)}.$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{\|X^{(k)} - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} = \frac{\|P_1^k(I - P_1)E^{(0)}\|_2}{\|P_1^k E^{(0)}\|_2} \ge \frac{\|P_1^k E^{(0)}\|_2 - \|P_1\|_2 \|P_1^k E^{(0)}\|}{\|P_1^k E^{(0)}\|_2} = 1 - \|P_1\|_2.$$
(20)

According to (19) and (20),

$$1 - \|P_1\|_2 \le \frac{\|X^{(k)} - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} \le 1 + \|P_1\|_2.$$

And finally,

$$\log(1 - \|P_1\|_2) \le \log \frac{\|X^{(k)} - X^{(k+1)}\|_2}{\|X^{(k)} - X\|_2} \le \log(1 + \|P_1\|_2).$$
(21)

When  $|| P_1 ||_2 \ll 1$ , then terms of Eq. (21) are almost zero and according to Eq. (14), we prove that the common significant digits of each corresponding components of the solution in two successive iterations and the common significant digits of the computed solution and the exact solution are almost equal.

$$C_{X^{(k)},X} \simeq C_{X^{(k)},X^{(k+1)}}$$

61

#### Numerical Examples $\mathbf{5}$

For solving full fuzzy linear systems in the stochastic arithmetic, we present two sample examples by using the following algorithm and mentioned iterative methods with the initial vector  $(X^{(0)}, Y^{(0)}, Z^{(0)})$ . The programs have been written by C++ code and implemented on a PC in double precision and executed by using CADNA library on a Linux machine. CADNA is a library which is able to perform the CESTAC method on a code written in C++ or Fortran [8,24]. For the termination criterion, we consider the Hausdorff distance to be an informatical zero (@.0). The successive values  $X^{(k)}, Y^{(k)}$  and  $Z^{(k)}$  are computed and at each iteration. The computations in the stochastic arithmetic of the sequence  $X^{(k)}, Y^{(k)}, Z^{(k)}$  are stopped when for an index like  $k_{opt}$ , the number of common significant digits in corresponding components in the norm of difference between  $X^{(k_{opt})}, Y^{(k_{opt})}, Z^{(k_{opt})}$  and  $X^{(k)}, Y^{(k)}, Z^{(k)}$  respectively become zero.

#### Algorithm 2.

- 1. Type  $(double_st)$  The list of the real variables.
- 2. Call cadna-init(-1)
- 3. k = 0
- 4.  $cin >> X_0, Y_0, Z_0$
- 5. Do {
- 6.  $X^{(k+1)} = P_1 X^{(k)} + Q_1, Y^{(k+1)} = P_2 X^{(k)} + Q_2, X^{(k+1)} = P_3 X^{(k)} + Q_3,$  $k = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$
- 7. cout << "X = ", strp $(X^{k+1})$ , "Y = ", strp $(Y^{k+1})$ , "Z = ", strp $(Z^{k+1})$
- 8. k = k + 1 }
- 9. While  $Max\{Max\|(X^{(k+1)} X^{(k)})\|_2, Max\|(Y^{(k+1)} Y^{(k)})\|_2, Max\|(Y^{(k+1)} Y^{(k)})\|_2, Max\|(Z^{(k+1)} Z^{(k)})\|_2\} \neq @.0.$
- 10. cadna-end().

The function "Strp" in the output instruction shows only the significant digits of the value.

**Example 1.** Consider the following FFLS with triangular fuzzy numbers as follows:

$$\begin{cases} (3, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_1 + (0, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_2 + (1, 0.1, 0.1)\tilde{x}_3 = (2, 1, 3), \\ (1, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_1 + (2, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_2 + (0, 0.1, 0.1)\tilde{x}_3 = (1, 1, 2), \\ (0, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_1 + (2, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_2 + (5, 0.1, 0.1)\tilde{x}_3 = (3, 2, 2). \end{cases}$$
(22)

By applying Algorithm 2 with  $X^{(0)} = [0,0,0]^T$ ,  $Y^{(0)} = [0,0,0]^T$ , and  $Z^{(0)} = [0,0,0]^T$ , as the initial values and using the iterative methods in stochastic arithmetic, the optimal number of iterations for Jacobi method 42, for the Gauss-seidel method is 16 iterations, Richardson method with  $\gamma = 0.26$ , is 41 and for the SOR iterative method with  $\omega = 0.96196384$  is 11. The optimal solution in the stochastic arithmetic for this system listed in Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4 for each method.

k	Ĩ	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.66666666666666666667, 0.333333333333333333333333333333333333$	1
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.5, 0.5, 1)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.6, 0.4, 0.4)$	
÷		:
41	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.1875, 0.875)$	0.1E-014
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.30625, 0.4625)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.2375, 0.175)$	
42	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.187499999999999, 0.874999999999999999999999999999999999999$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.306249999999999, 0.462499999999999999999999999999999999999$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.237499999999999, 0.174999999999999999999999999999999999999$	

Table 1. Jacobi method

k	$ ilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.666666666666666666666666666666666666$	1
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.1666666666666666667, 0.333333333333333333333333333333333333$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.533333333333333333, 0.2666666666666666667, 0.2)$	
÷		:
15	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.1875, 0.875)$	0.8E-015
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.306249999999999, 0.4625)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.2375, 0.175)$	
16	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.1874999999999999, 0.875)$	0.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.30625, 0.4625)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.2374999999999999, 0.175)$	

**Table 3.** Richardson method with  $\gamma = 0.26$ 

k	$ ilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.666666666666666667, 0.3333333333333333333333333333, 0.8)$	1
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.6, 0.5, 1)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.63333333333333333, 0.4100000000000, 0.35000000000000)$	
÷		:
40	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.187499999999999, 0.875)$	0.1E-013
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.306249999999999, 0.462499999999999)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.237499999999999, 0.174999999999999999999999999999999999999$	
41	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.1875, 0.875)$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.30625, 0.4625)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.2375, 0.175)$	

k	$\tilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.6413092266666666, 0.320654613333333, 0.961963839999999)$	0.961963840000000
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.172523776844151, 0.326752848422075, 0.499276625266227)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.510793650054278, 0.259055766080384, 0.192671112134663)$	
2	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.501913826670359, 0.181212961559680, 0.868201674123549)$	0.139441651773652
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.246132585953391, 0.303394142272884, 0.460509054265435)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.501898673987306, 0.236754927645707, 0.173774364702036)$	
÷		· ·
10	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.4999999999999999, 0.18749999999999, 0.8750000000000)$	0.1E-014
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.2500000000000, 0.306249999999999, 0.4625000000000)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.4999999999999999, 0.23750000000000, 0.1750000000000)$	
11	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.5, 0.1875, 0.875)$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.25, 0.30625, 0.4625)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.5, 0.2375, 0.175)$	
-		

### **Table 4.** SOR Method with $\omega = 0.96196384$

Table 5. Jacobi method

k	$ ilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (3.0555555555555555, 1.0333333333333333, 2.12500000000000)$	3.0555555555555555555555555555555555555
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (2.53571428571428, 1.28928571428571, 1.21785714285714)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (2.208333333333333, 1.1500000000000, 2.12083333333333)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (2.450000000000000, 1.00250000000000, 1.84750000000000)$	
2	$\tilde{x}_1 = (0.948809523809523, -0.247464726631393, 0.183831569664902)$	2.15687830687830
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (0.681746031746031, 0.148316326530612, -0.574909297052154)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.051455026455026, 0.294523809523809, 0.294259259259259)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (0.382936507936508, 0.4048888888888888, -0.308015873015870)$	
:	•	
176	$\tilde{x}_1 = (1.9999999999999999, 0.4999999999999999999999999999999999999$	0.4E-014
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5000000000000, 0.7499999999999999999, 0.24999999999999999999999999999999999999$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.999999999999999999, 0.50000000000000, 1.199999999999999999)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.2499999999999999, 0.250000000000000, 1.0000000000000000)$	
177	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2, 0.5, 1.1)$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5, 0.75, 0.25)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1, 0.5, 1.2)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.25, 0.25, 1)$	

k	$\tilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (3.65688229194444, 1.23669110236666, 2.54319541212499)$	3.65688229194444
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.78429485916707, 1.12013743320461, 0.587902862511484)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1.55759705438353, 0.906209633320182, 1.911366014528020)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (0.829843091661695, 0.15063481614000, 0.862852638868634)$	
2	$\tilde{x}_1 = (1.63716638626097, 0.12634625980984, 0.479817449745303)$	2.06337796237969
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.44928823554314, 0.566704774529940, 0.12988711292676)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1.22417591323634, 0.446504994724428, 1.22586612797774)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.39015171184824, 0.338259054668160, 1.05579900971072)$	
÷		
37	$\tilde{x}_1 = (1.9999999999999999, 0.499999999999999999, 1.099999999999999)$	0.4E-014
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5000000000000, 0.74999999999999999, 0.24999999999999999999999999999999999999$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.999999999999999999, 0.500000000000000, 1.19999999999999999)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.2499999999999999, 0.250000000000000, 1.00000000000000)$	
38	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2, 0.5, 1.1)$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5, 0.75, 0.25)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1, 0.5, 1.2)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.25, 0.25, 1)$	

Table 6. Gauss-Seidel method

Table 7. Richardson method with  $\gamma = 0.097$ 

k	$\tilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2.6675000000000, 0.90210000000000, 1.85512500000000)$	2.66750000000000
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.7217500000000, 0.87542500000000, 0.82692500000000)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1.2852500000000, 0.6693000000000, 1.23432500000000)$	-
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (2.3765000000000, 0.972424999999999, 1.792074999999999)$	
2	$\tilde{x}_1 = (1.15431730000000, 0.157624999999999, 0.781228299999999)$	1.36357750000000
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.277077749999999, 0.564845549999999, 0.153349725000000)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.705165750000000, 0.249037800000000, 0.801845649999999)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.01292249999999, 0.026119674999999, 0.54410210000000)$	
÷		•
48	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2.0000000000000, 0.50000000000000, 1.09999999999999999)$	0.5E-014
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5000000000000, 0.74999999999999999, 0.24999999999999999999999999999999999999$	•
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.999999999999999999, 0.49999999999999999, 1.199999999999999)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.2500000000000, 0.249999999999999999, 0.99999999999999999999$	
49	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2, 0.5, 1.1)$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5, 0.75, 0.25)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1, 0.5, 1.2)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.25, 0.25, 1)$	

**Example 2.** Consider the FFLS with triangular fuzzy numbers as follows:

 $\begin{cases} (9, 0.2, 0.2)\tilde{x}_1 + (1, 0.4, 0.3)\tilde{x}_2 + (3, 0.3, 0.4)\tilde{x}_3 + (4, 0.2, 0.1)\tilde{x}_4 = (27.5, 9.3, 19.125), \\ (2, 0.3, 0.1)\tilde{x}_1 + (7, 0.4, 0.2)\tilde{x}_2 + (2, 0.2, 0.3)\tilde{x}_3 + (1, 0.1, 0.3)\tilde{x}_3 = (17.75, 9.025, 8.525), \\ (1, 0.3, 0.2)\tilde{x}_1 + (1, 0.5, 0.2)\tilde{x}_2 + (6, 0.3, 0.1)\tilde{x}_3 + (3, 0.2, 0.3)\tilde{x}_3 = (13.25, 6.9, 12.725), \\ (2, 0.4, 0.5)\tilde{x}_1 + (4, 0.5, 0.2)\tilde{x}_2 + (2, 0.6, 1.2)\tilde{x}_3 + (10, 0.3, 0.3)\tilde{x}_3 = (24.5, 10.025, 18.475). \end{cases}$ (23)

By assumption  $X^{(0)} = [0, 0, 0, 0]^T$ ,  $Y^{(0)} = [0, 0, 0, 0]^T$ , and  $Z^{(0)} = [0, 0, 0, 0]^T$ , as the initial values and using Algorithm 2 in stochastic arithmetic, the Jacobi iterative method is converged after 177 iterations and the Gauss-seidel method is converged after 38 iterations. Also, in Richardson method with  $\gamma = 0.097$ , the number of iterations is optimized after 49 iterations and for the SOR iterative method with  $\omega = 1.196797841$  after 29 iterations. The optimal solution in the stochastic arithmetic for this system listed in Tables 5, 6, 7 and 8 for each method.

k	$ ilde{x}$	Distance
1	$\tilde{x}_1 = 3.0555555555555555555555555555555555555$	3.0555555555555555
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.66269841269841, 0.994047619047618, 0.610714285714285)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1.42195767195767, 0.812103174603174, 1.66488095238095)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (0.889417989417989, 0.235793650793650, 0.845238095238095)$	
2	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2.00152851263962, 0.338422986478542, 0.930116108171663)$	1.19488389182833
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.43051566305534, 0.647582094566221, 0.16546569244981)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1.19161697600851, 0.475687865681251, 1.29017199266537)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.23916463704823, 0.263287848884409, 0.953906896503457)$	
:		
28	$\tilde{x}_1 = (1.9999999999999999, 0.49999999999999999, 1.09999999999999999)$	0.4E-014
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5000000000000, 0.749999999999999, 0.24999999999999999999999999999999999999$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (0.9999999999999999999999, 0.500000000000000, 1.199999999999999999999999999999999999$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.2499999999999999, 0.25000000000000, 1.00000000000000)$	
29	$\tilde{x}_1 = (2, 0.5, 1.1)$	@.0
	$\tilde{x}_2 = (1.5, 0.75, 0.25)$	
	$\tilde{x}_3 = (1, 0.5, 1.2)$	
	$\tilde{x}_4 = (1.25, 0.25, 1)$	

Table 8. SOR method with  $\omega = 1.196797841$ 

#### 6 Conclusion

In this paper, we proposed an algorithm in order to approximate the solution of a FFLS in the stochastic arithmetic. By applying the CESTAC method based on the stochastic arithmetic, and use the iterative method as Jacobi, Gaussseidel, Richardson and SOR to approximate the solution of FFLS, the results are validated step by step. We determined the solution of FFLS with the least number of iterations on the stochastic arithmetic. Also, the useless iteration are omitted. By using the computational zero as the optimal termination criterion, the iterative process is stopped correctly and computation time is saved, because many useless operations and iterations are not performed. Finally, we show that by using the stochastic arithmetic is possible to increase the accuracy of the computed solution of FFLS, and the stochastic arithmetic can play an important role to rely the numerical algorithms.

#### References

- Abbasbandy, S., Fariborzi, M.A., Araghi, F.: A stochastic scheme for solving definite integrals. Appl. Numer. Math. 55, 125–136 (2005)
- Abbasbandy, S., Fariborzi, M.A., Araghi, F.: The use of the stochastic arithmetic to estimate the value of interpolation polynomial with optimal degree. Appl. Numer. Math. 50, 279–290 (2004)
- Abbasbandy, S., Fariborzi, M.A., Araghi, F.: A reliable method to determine the ill-condition functions using stochastic arithmetic. Southwest J. Pure Appl. Math. 1, 33–38 (2002)
- Abbasbandy, S., Fariborzi, M.A., Araghi, F.: The valid implementation of numerical integration methods. Far East J. Appl. Math. 8, 89–101 (2002)
- Abbsabandy, S., Jafarian, A., Ezzati, R.: Conjugate gradient method for fuzzy systematic positive definite system of linear equations. Appl. Math. Comput. 171, 1184–1191 (2005)
- Allahviranloo, T., Salahshour, S.: Bounded and symmetric solutions of fully fuzzy linear systems in dual form. Procedia Comput. Sci. 3, 1494–1498 (2011)
- Buckley, J.J., Qu, Y.: Solving systems of linear fuzzy equations. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 43, 33–43 (1991)
- Chesneaux, J.M.: CADNA, An ADA tool for round-off error analysis and for numerical debugging. In: Proceeding Congress on ADA in Aerospace, Barcelona (1990)
- Chesneaux, J.M., Vignes, J.: Sur la robustesse de la methode CESTAC. C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. I Math. 307, 855–860 (1988)
- Dehghan, M., Hashemi, B., Ghatee, R.: Solution of the fully fuzzy linear systems using iterative techniques. Chaos Solutions Fractals 34, 316–336 (2007)
- 11. Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Fuzzy Sets and Systems: Theory and Applications. Academic Press, New York (1980)
- Ezzati, R., Khzerloo, S., Mahdavi, N., Valizadeh, Z.: New models and algorithms for solutions of single-signed fully fuzzy LR linear systems. Fuzzy Syst. 9, 1–26 (2012)
- Araghi, M.A.F., Fattahi, H.: Solving fuzzy linear systems in the stochastic arithmetic by applying CADNA library. In: The International Conference on Evolutionary Computation Theory and Applications, pp. 446–450 (2011)
- Araghi, M.A.F., Barzegar, H.: Dynamical control of accuracy in the fuzzy Runge-Kutta methods to estimate the solution of a fuzzy differential equation. In: Fuzzy Set Valued Analysis, pp. 71–84 (2016)
- Araghi, M.A.F.: The methods of valid implementation of the numerical algorithms. Ph.d. dissertation thesis, science and research branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran (2002)

- Friedman, M., Ma, M., Kandel, A.: Fuzzy linear systems. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 96, 201–209 (1998)
- Noeiaghdam, S., Araghi, M.A.F.: Dynamical control of computations using the Gauss-Laguerre integration rule by applying the CADNA library. Adv. Appl. Math. Sci. 16, 1–18 (2016)
- Ghanbari, R.: Solutions of fuzzy LR algebraic linear systems using linear programs. Appl. Math. Model. 39, 5164–5173 (2015)
- Salkuyeh, D.K., Toutounian, F.: Numerical accuracy of a certain class of iterative methods for solving linear system. Appl. Math. Comp. 176, 727–738 (2006)
- 20. Ortega, J.M.: Numerical Analysis: A Second Course. SIAM, Philadelphia (1990)
- Otadi, M., Mosleh, M.: Iterative method for approximate solution of fuzzy integrodifferential equations. Beni-Suef Univ. J. Basic Appl. Sci. 5, 369–376 (2016)
- Saberi Najafi, H., Edalatpanah, S.A., Dutta, H.: A nonlinear model for fully fuzzy linear programming with fully unrestricted variables and parameters. Alexandria Eng. J. 55, 2589–2595 (2016)
- Siminski, K.: Interval type-2 neuro-fuzzy system with implication-based inference. Expert Syst. Appl. 79, 140–152 (2017)
- Vignes, J.: A stochastic arithmetic for reliable scientific computation. Math. Comput. Simul. 35, 233–261 (1993)

## Some Remarks on an Order Induced by Uninorms

Emel Aşıcı<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Software Engineering, Faculty of Technology, Karadeniz Technical University, 61830 Trabzon, Turkey emelkalin@hotmail.com

Abstract. Recently an order induced by t-norms, uninorms and nullnorms have been investigated. This paper is mainly devoted to defining and investigating the set of incomparable elements with respect to the order induced by a uninorm. Also, by defining such an order, an equivalence relation on the class of uninorms is defined and this equivalence is deeply investigated.

#### 1 Introduction

Uninorms are introduced by Yager and Rybalov [29]. Uninorms are special aggregation operators which have proven to be useful in many applications like fuzzy logic, expert systems, neural networks, fuzzy system modeling [14, 16, 30].

Uninorms on the real unit interval as generalizations of t-norms and t-conorms admit a neutral element e to be an arbitrary point from [0, 1].

In [27], a natural order for semigroups was defined. Similarly, in [20], a partial order defined by means of t-norms on a bounded lattice was introduced

$$x \preceq_T y :\Leftrightarrow T(\ell, y) = x \text{ for some } \ell \in L,$$

where L is a bounded lattice, x, y of a bounded lattice L and T is a t-norm on L. This partial order  $\preceq_T$  is called a T-partial order on L.

In [2], with the help of any t-norm T on [0, 1], it was obtained that the family  $(T_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in (0,1)}$  of t-norms on [0, 1]. If T was a divisible t-norm, then it was obtained that  $([0, 1], \leq_{T_{\lambda}})$  was a lattice. The uninorms, t-norms and t-conorms were also studied by many other authors [1-3, 7, 9-13, 17-19, 23-26, 28, 31].

In the present paper, we introduce the set of incomparable elements with respect to the *U*-partial order for any uninorm on [0, 1]. The main aim is to investigate some properties of this set. The paper is organized as follows. We shortly recall some basic notions in Sect. 2 In Sect. 3, we define the set of incomparable elements with respect to the *U*-partial order for any uninorm on [0, 1]. Also, we determine the set of incomparable elements w.r.t. *U*-partial order for some special uninorms. Then, we define an equivalence on the class of uninorms on [0, 1]. In Sect. 4, we define that the set  $\mathscr{I}_U^{(x)}$ , consisting all incomparable elements with any  $x \in (0, 1)$  according to  $\leq_U$ . Finally we show that even if the uninorms are equivalent under this relation, it need not be the case that their partial orders coincide.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_7

#### 2 Preliminaries

Let us now recall all necessary basic notions.

**Definition 1.** [22] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. A triangular norm T (briefly t-norm) is a binary operation on L which is commutative, associative, monotone and has neutral element 1.

**Definition 2.** [22] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. A triangular conorm S (briefly t-conorm) is a binary operation on L which is commutative, associative, monotone and has neutral element 0.

*Example 1.* [22] Well-known triangular norms and triangular conorms on [0, 1] are:

$$T_{M}(x,y) = min(x,y)$$

$$T_{P}(x,y) = x.y$$

$$T_{L}(x,y) = max(x+y-1,0)$$

$$T_{D}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0 & , (x,y) \in [0,1)^{2} \\ min(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$S_{M}(x,y) = max(x,y)$$

$$S_{P}(x,y) = x+y-x.y$$

$$S_{L}(x,y) = min(x+y,1)$$

$$S_{D}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & , (x,y) \in (0,1]^{2} \\ max(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Also, t-norms on a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  are defined in similar way, and then extremal t-norms  $T_{\wedge}$  and  $T_W$  on L is defined as follows, respectively:

$$T_{\wedge}(x,y) = x \wedge y$$
$$T_{W}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x & , if \ y = 1\\ y & , if \ x = 1\\ 0 & , \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Similarly it can be defined the t-conorms  $S_{\vee}$  and  $S_W$ . Especially we obtained that  $T_W = T_D$  and  $T_{\wedge} = T_M$  for L = [0, 1].

**Definition 3.** [6] A t-norm T on L is *divisible* if the following condition holds:

 $\forall x,y \in L \quad \text{with} \quad x \leqslant y \quad \text{there is a} \quad z \in L \quad \text{such that} \quad x = T(y,z).$ 

A basic example of a non-divisible t-norm on an arbitrary lattice L (i.e.,  $\operatorname{card} L > 3$ ) is the weakest t-norm  $T_W$ . Trivially, the infimum  $T_{\wedge}$  is divisible:  $x \leq y$  is equivalent to  $x \wedge y = x$ .

**Definition 4.** [4] Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ , if a and b are incomparable, in this case we use the notation  $a \parallel b$ .

**Definition 5.** [4] Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ ,  $a \leq b$ , a subinterval [a, b] of L is defined as

$$[a,b] = \{x \in L \mid a \leqslant x \leqslant b\}$$

Similarly,  $[a,b) = \{x \in L \mid a \leq x < b\}$ ,  $(a,b] = \{x \in L \mid a < x \leq b\}$  and  $(a,b) = \{x \in L \mid a < x < b\}$ .

**Definition 6.** [5] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. An operation  $U : L^2 \to L$  is called a uninorm on L, if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to the both variables and has a neutral element  $e \in L$ .

We denote by  $\mathscr{U}(e)$  the set of all uninorms on L with the neutral element  $e \in L$ .  $A(e) = (0, e] \times [e, 1) \cup [e, 1) \times (0, e]$  for  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ .

**Definition 7.** [9] Let U be a uninorm on a bounded lattice L with a neutral element  $e \in L$ . An element  $x \in L$  is called an idempotent element of U if U(x, x) = x.

**Proposition 1.** [21] Let  $(L, \leq 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $e \in L$  and U be a uninorm with the neutral element e on L. Then,

 $\begin{array}{ll} (i) \ T^* = U \ |_{[0,e]^2} \colon [0,e]^2 \to [0,e] \ is \ a \ t\text{-norm} \ on \ [0,e]. \\ (ii) \ S^* = U \ |_{[e,1]^2} \colon [e,1]^2 \to [e,1] \ is \ a \ t\text{-conorm} \ on \ [e,1]. \end{array}$ 

**Definition 8.** [20] Let L be a bounded lattice, T be a t-norm on L. The order defined as following is called a  $T-partial \ order$  (triangular order) for t-norm T:

$$x \preceq_T y :\Leftrightarrow T(\ell, y) = x$$
 for some  $\ell \in L$ .

**Definition 9.** [15] Let L be a bounded lattice, S be a t-conorm on L. The order defined as following is called a  $S - partial \ order$  for t-conorm S:

$$x \preceq_S y :\Leftrightarrow S(\ell, x) = y$$
 for some  $\ell \in L$ .

**Definition 10.** [15] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and U be a uninorm with neutral element e on L. Define the following relation, for  $x, y \in L$ , as

 $x \preceq_U y :\Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} \text{if } x, y \in [0, e] \text{ and there exist } k \in [0, a] \text{ such that } U(k, y) = x \text{ or,} \\ \text{if } x, y \in [e, 1] \text{ and there exist } \ell \in [e, 1] \text{ such that } U(x, \ell) = y \text{ or,} \\ \text{if } (x, y) \in L^* \text{ and } x \leqslant y. \end{cases}$ (1)

where  $I_e = \{x \in L \mid x \parallel e\}$  and  $L^* = [0, e] \times [e, 1] \cup [0, e] \times I_e \cup [e, 1] \times I_e \cup [e, 1] \times [0, e] \cup I_e \times [0, e] \cup I_e \times [e, 1] \cup I_e \times I_e.$ 

**Proposition 2.** [15] The relation  $\preceq_U$  defined in (1) is a partial order on L.

**Proposition 3.** [15] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $U \in \mathscr{U}(e)$ . If  $x \preceq_U y$  for any  $x, y \in L$ , then  $x \leq y$ .

**Proposition 4.** [15] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $U \in \mathscr{U}(e)$ . Then,  $(L, \leq_U)$  is a bounded partially ordered set.

**Lemma 1.** [15] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and U be a uninorm with neutral element e on L. The order  $\leq_U$  coincides with the order  $\leq_T (\leq_S)$ , when e = 1 (e = 0).

**Proposition 5.** [8] Let T be a t-norm on [0,1]. T is divisible if and only if T is continuous.

#### 3 The Set $K_U \subset [0,1]$ Consisting of Incomparable Elements with Respect to $\preceq_U$ on [0,1]

**Definition 11.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  be two uninorms on L. If for all  $x, y \in L$ ,  $x \leq_{U_1} y \Rightarrow x \leq_{U_2} y$ , then we say that  $U_2$  is order-stronger than  $U_1$ , or equivalently, that  $U_1$  is order-weaker than  $U_2$ .

In [2], it was shown that for the t-norms  $T_W$  and  $T_{\wedge}$  on L,  $T_W$  is the orderweakest and  $T_{\wedge}$  is the order-strongest t-norm, i.e.,  $\preceq_{T_W} \subseteq \preceq_T \subseteq \preceq_{T_{\wedge}}$ . But for the uninorms, it need not be that case. Now, let us investigate the following example.

*Example 2.* Consider the uninorms  $\underline{U}_e : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  and  $\overline{U}_e : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  with neutral element  $e \neq 0, 1$  defined by

$$\underline{U_e}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0 & , (x,y) \in [0,e)^2 \\ max(x,y) & , (x,y) \in [e,1]^2 \\ min(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\overline{U_e}(x,y) = \begin{cases} \min(x,y) & , (x,y) \in [0,e]^2\\ 1 & , (x,y) \in (e,1]^2\\ \max(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

We know that  $\underline{U_e}$  is the smallest uninorm and  $\overline{U_e}$  is the greatest uninorm on [0,1]. We showed that  $\underline{U_e}$  is not order-weakest and  $\overline{U_e}$  is not order-strongest uninorm.

Now, we study the set of elements being incomparable with some other element with respect to the U-partial order  $\leq_U$  with U some uninorm on [0,1].

**Definition 12.** Let U be a uninorm on [0, 1] and let  $K_U$  be defined by

$$K_U = \{ x \in (0,1) \mid for \ some \ y \in (0,1), \ [x < y \ and \ x \not\leq_U y] \ or \ [y < x \ and \ y \not\leq_U x] \}$$

Note that an element  $x \in K_U$  is not necessarily incomparable with all elements  $y \in [0,1] \setminus \{0,1,x\}$ .

**Theorem 1.** [16] Let  $U : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be a uninorm with neutral element  $e \in [0,1[$ . Then the sections  $x \mapsto U(x,1)$  and  $x \mapsto U(x,0)$  are continuous in each point except perhaps for e if and only if U is given by one of the following formulas.

(a) If U(0,1) = 0, then

$$U(x,y) = \begin{cases} eT(\frac{x}{e}, \frac{y}{e}) & , (x,y) \in [0,e]^2\\ e + (1-e)S(\frac{x-e}{1-e}, \frac{y-e}{1-e}) & , (x,y) \in [e,1]^2\\ min(x,y) & , (x,y) \in A(e). \end{cases}$$
(2)

where T is a t-norm and S is a t-conorm.

(b) If U(0,1) = 1, then the same structure holds, changing minimum by maximum in A(e).

The set of uninorms as in case (a) will be denoted by  $\mathscr{U}_{min}$  and the set of uninorms as in case (b) by  $\mathscr{U}_{max}$ . We will denote a uninorm U in  $\mathscr{U}_{min}$  with underlying t-norm T, underlying t-conorm S and neutral element e by  $U \equiv \langle T, e, S \rangle_{min}$  and in a similar way, a uninorm in  $\mathscr{U}_{max}$  by  $U \equiv \langle T, e, S \rangle_{max}$ .

**Proposition 6.** Let U be a uninorm such that  $U \equiv \langle T, e, S \rangle_{min}$  or  $U \equiv \langle T, e, S \rangle_{max}$ . Then,

$$K_U = eK_T \cup (e + (1 - e)K_S).$$

**Lemma 2.** Consider the smallest uninorm  $\underline{U}_e$  on [0,1] with neutral element  $e \neq 0, 1$  of Example 2. Then, we have that  $K_{\underline{U}_e} = (0, e)$ .

**Corollary 1.** For the drastic product t-norm  $T_D$ ,  $K_{T_D} = (0, 1)$ .

**Corollary 2.** For the t-conorm  $S_M$ ,  $K_{S_M} = \emptyset$ .

**Lemma 3.** Consider the greatest uninorm  $\overline{U}_e$  on [0,1] with neutral element  $e \neq 0, 1$  of Example 2. Then, we have that  $K_{\overline{U}_e} = (e,1)$ .

**Corollary 3.** For the minimum t-norm  $T_M$ ,  $K_{T_M} = \emptyset$ .

**Corollary 4.** For the t-conorm  $S_D$ ,  $K_{S_D} = (0, 1)$ .

**Lemma 4.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. For all uninorms U and all  $x \in L$  it holds that  $0 \leq_U x$ ,  $x \leq_U x$  and  $x \leq_U 1$ .

**Definition 13.** Define a relation  $\beta_U$  on the class of all uninorms on [0, 1] by  $U_1\beta_U U_2$ ,

$$U_1\beta_U U_2 :\Leftrightarrow K_{U_1} = K_{U_2}.$$

**Lemma 5.** The relation  $\beta_U$  given in Definition 13 is an equivalence relation.

**Definition 14.** For a given uninorm U on [0, 1], we denote by  $\overline{U}$  the  $\beta_U$  equivalence class linked to U, i.e.,

$$\overline{U} = \{ U' | \quad U' \beta_U U \}.$$

**Proposition 7.** The set  $[0,1]/\beta_U$ , is uncountably infinite.

**Theorem 2.** [16] Let  $e \in [0, 1]$ .  $U \in \mathscr{U}(e)$  if and only if

$$U(x,y) = \begin{cases} T_U & , (x,y) \in [0,e]^2 \\ S_U & , (x,y) \in [e,1]^2 \\ C & , (x,y) \in A(e) \end{cases}$$

where  $T_U$  and  $S_U$  are operations respectively isomorphic with some triangular norm and triangular conorm and increasing operation  $C : A(e) \rightarrow [0,1]$  fulfills

$$\min(x,y)\leqslant C(x,y)\leqslant \max(x,y)\ for\ (x,y)\in A(e).$$

**Proposition 8.** Let U be a uninorm on [0,1] with neutral element e of Theorem 2. If  $T_U$  and  $S_U$  are continuous, then  $K_U = \emptyset$ .

**Corollary 5.** Let  $e \in [0,1]$ . Consider the uninorms  $U^{min}$  and  $U^{max}$  are unique idempotent uninorm  $U_e^{min}$  and  $U_e^{max}$ , respectively:

$$U(x,y) = \begin{cases} max(x,y) & , (x,y) \in [e,1]^2\\ min(x,y) & , otherwise \end{cases}$$

$$U(x,y) = \begin{cases} \min(x,y) & , (x,y) \in [0,e]^2 \\ \max(x,y) & , otherwise \end{cases}$$

Then, it is obtained that  $K_U = \emptyset$ .

## 4 About the Set $\mathscr{I}_U^{(x)}$ Consisting all Incomparable Elements with Any $x \in (0, 1)$ According to $\preceq_U$

**Definition 15.** Let U be a uninorm on [0,1] and let  $\mathscr{I}_U^{(x)}$  for  $x \in (0,1)$  be defined by

$$\mathscr{I}_{U}^{(x)} = \{ y \in (0,1) \mid [x < y \text{ and } x \not\preceq_{U} y] \text{ or } [y < x \text{ and } y \not\preceq_{U} x] \}$$

After that we will use the notation  $\mathscr{I}_U^{(x)}$  to denote the set of all incomparable elements with  $x \in (0, 1)$  according to  $\preceq_U$ .

*Example 3.* The uninorm  $U := U_{min(T^{nM}, S_M, \frac{1}{2})} : [0, 1]^2 \to [0, 1]$  with neutral element  $e = \frac{1}{2}$  defined as follows:

$$U_{\min(T^{nM},S_{M},\frac{1}{2})}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0 & , (x,y) \in \left[0,\frac{1}{2}\right]^{2} \text{ and } x+y \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \\ \max(x,y) & , (x,y) \in \left[\frac{1}{2},1\right]^{2} \\ \min(x,y) & , \text{Otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Then,

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{(a)} & \mathscr{I}_U^{(x)} = \{y \in (0, \frac{1}{2} - x] & | & x \neq y\} \text{ for } x \in (0, \frac{1}{2}) \\ \text{(b)} & \mathscr{I}_U^{(x)} = \varnothing \text{ for } x \geqslant \frac{1}{2}. \end{array}$$

Example 4. Consider the smallest uninorm  $\underline{U}_e$  with neutral element e of Example 2. Then,

(a) 
$$\mathscr{I}_{\underline{U_e}}^{(x)} = \{y \in (0, e) \mid x \neq y\}$$
 for  $x \in (0, e)$  and  
(b)  $\mathscr{I}_{\underline{U_e}}^{(x)} = \varnothing$  for  $x \ge e$ .

*Example 5.* Consider the greatest uninorm  $\overline{U_e}$  with neutral element e of Example 2. Then,

(a) 
$$\mathscr{I}_{\overline{U_e}}^{(x)} = \{y \in (e, 1) \mid x \neq y\}$$
 for  $x \in (e, 1)$  and  
(b)  $\mathscr{I}_{\overline{U_e}}^{(x)} = \varnothing$  for  $x \leqslant e$ .

**Lemma 6.** Let U be a uninorm on [0,1]. Then  $K_U = \bigcup_{x \in [0,1]} \mathscr{I}_U^{(x)}$ .

**Proposition 9.** Let  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  be two uninorms on [0,1]. If for all  $x \in [0,1]$ ,  $\mathscr{I}_{U_1}^{(x)} = \mathscr{I}_{U_2}^{(x)}$ , then the uninorms  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  are equivalent under the relation  $\beta_U$ .

Remark 1. The converse of Proposition 9 may not be true.

Example 6. Consider the uninorms U on [0,1] with neutral element  $e = \frac{1}{2}$  of Example 3 and  $\underline{U}_e$  on [0,1] with neutral element  $e = \frac{1}{2}$  of Example 2. We showed that the uninorms U and  $\underline{U}_e$  are equivalent under the relation  $\beta_U$ . But,  $\mathscr{I}_U^{(\frac{2}{5})} \neq \mathscr{I}_{U_e}^{(\frac{2}{5})}$ .

**Corollary 6.** Although the uninorms  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  are equivalent under the relation  $\beta_U$ , it need not be the case that the  $U_1$ -partial order coincides with the  $U_2$ -partial order.

#### 5 Conclusion

We have defined the set of incomparable elements with respect to the U-partial order for any uninorm on [0, 1]. Also we have introduced and studied an equivalence relation  $\beta_U$  defined on the class of all uninorms on [0, 1]. We have defined that the set  $\mathscr{I}_U^{(x)}$ , consisting all incomparable elements with any  $x \in (0, 1)$  according to  $\leq_U$ . Finally we have shown that even if the uninorms are equivalent under the this relation, it need not be the case that their partial orders coincide.

## References

- 1. Aşıcı, E.: An order induced by nullnorms and its properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (in press). doi:10.1016/j.fss.2016.12.004
- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: On the *T*-partial order and properties. Inf. Sci. 267, 323–333 (2014)
- 3. Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: Incomparability with respect to the triangular order. Kybernetika **52**, 15–27 (2016)
- Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory, 3rd edn. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1967)
- Calvo, T., De Baets, B., Fodor, J.: The functional equations of Frank and Alsina for uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 120, 385–394 (2001)
- Casasnovas, J., Mayor, G.: Discrete t-norms and operations on extended multisets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1165–1177 (2008)
- De Baets, B., Mesiar, R.: Triangular norms on product lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 104, 61–75 (1999)
- De Baets, B., Mesiar, R.: Triangular norms on the real unit square. In: Proceedings of the 1999 EUSFLAT-ESTYLF Joint Conference, Palma de Mallorca, Spain, pp. 351–354 (1999)
- Çaylı, G.D., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: On a new class of uninorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 367–368, 221–231 (2016)
- Çaylı, G.D., KaraÇal, F.: Construction of uninorms on bounded lattices. Kybernetika 53, 394–417 (2017)
- 11. Çaylı, G.D.: On a new class of t-norms and t-conorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (in press) doi:10.1016/j.fss.2017.07.015
- Drewniak, J., Drygaś, P., Rak, E.: Distributivity between uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1646–1657 (2008)
- Drygaś, P., Rak, E.: Distributivity equation in the class of 2-uninorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 291, 82–97 (2016)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Fundamentals of Fuzzy Sets. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Boston (2000)
- Ertuğrul, U., Kesicioğlu, M.N., Karaçal, F.: Ordering based on uninorms. Inf. Sci. 330, 315–327 (2016)
- Fodor, J.C., Yager, R.R., Rybalov, A.: Structure of uninorms. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 5, 411–427 (1997)
- 17. Gottwald, S.: A Treatise on Many-Valued Logic. Studies in Logic and Computation. Research Studies Press, Baldock (2001)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J.L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation Functions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Karaçal, F., Aşıcı, E.: Some notes on T-partial order. J. Inequal. Appl. 2013, 219 (2013)
- Karaçal, F., Kesicioğlu, M.N.: A T-partial order obtained from t-norms. Kybernetika 47, 300–314 (2011)
- Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: Uninorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 261, 33–43 (2015)
- Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (2000)
- Liang, X., Pedrycz, W.: Logic-based fuzzy networks: a study in system modeling with triangular norms and uninorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 160, 3475–3502 (2009)

- 24. Maes, K.C., Mesiarova-Zemankova, A.: Cancellativity properties for t-norms and t-subnorms. Inf. Sci. **179**, 135–150 (2009)
- Martin, J., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: On locally internal monotonic operations. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 137, 27–42 (2003)
- Mas, M., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: The distributivity condition for uninorms and t-operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 128, 209–225 (2002)
- Mitsch, H.: A natural partial order for semigroups. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 97, 384–388 (1986)
- Saminger, S.: On ordinal sums of triangular norms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 157, 1403–1413 (2006)
- Yager, R.R., Rybalov, A.: Uninorm aggregation operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 80, 111–120 (1996)
- Yager, R.R.: Uninorms in fuzzy system modeling. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 122, 167–175 (2001)
- Yager, R.R.: Aggregation operators and fuzzy systems modelling. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 67, 129–145 (1994)

## Some Notes on the F-partial Order

Emel Aşıcı<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Software Engineering, Faculty of Technology, Karadeniz Technical University, 61830 Trabzon, Turkey emelkalin@hotmail.com

**Abstract.** Nullnorms have been produced from triangular norms and triangular conorms and they have several applications in fuzzy logic. The main purpose of this paper is to study the order induced by nullnorms on bounded lattices. We discuss the relationship between the natural order and the order induced by a nullnorm on bounded lattice.

#### 1 Introduction

Menger, in [19], introduced triangular norms and triangular conorms. They have a lot of fields of mathematics, for instance in fuzzy logic and their applications.

Firstly t-operators were defined by Mas et al. in [17], and then in [5] Calvo et al. introduced a nullnorm. Also, in [5], they showed that nullnorms were equivalent to t-operators.

In [20], a natural order for semigroups was defined. Similarly, in [14], a partial order defined by means of t-norms on a bounded lattice was introduced.

In [2], with the help of any t-norm T on [0, 1], a family of t-norms on [0, 1],  $(T_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in (0,1)}$  was constructed. If T was a divisible t-norm, then it was obtained that  $([0, 1], \leq_{T_{\lambda}})$  was a lattice. In [1], an order induced by nullnorms on bounded lattices was defined and discussed. The nullnorms and t-norms were also studied by many other authors [3, 6, 8-12, 16, 18, 21, 22].

In the present paper, we investigate some properties an order induced by nullnorms on bounded lattices. The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we will first recall all important notions and results. We will discuss the relationship between the order induced by a nullnorm and the natural order on the lattice in Sect. 3. Even if L is a chain, we will show that L need not be a chain with respect to the F-partial order. Similar arguments will be done for lattices. Finally, we will show that the set of all idempotent elements of F is a chain with respect to the F-partial order. We will give our concluding remarks in Sect. 4.

#### 2 Basic Notions and Results

Let us now recall all necessary basic notions.

Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. A triangular norm is a binary function  $T: L^2 \to L$  which is commutative, associative, non-decreasing in both variables and 1 is its neutral element.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_8

Dual functions to t-norms are t-conorms. A triangular conorms is a binary function  $S: L^2 \to L$  which is commutative, associative, non-decreasing in both variables and 0 is its neutral element.

*Example 1.* [15] Well-known triangular norms and triangular conorms on [0, 1] are:

$$T_{M}(x,y) = min(x,y)$$

$$T_{P}(x,y) = x.y$$

$$T_{L}(x,y) = max(x+y-1,0)$$

$$T_{D}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0 & , (x,y) \in [0,1)^{2} \\ min(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$S_{M}(x,y) = max(x,y)$$

$$S_{P}(x,y) = x+y-x.y$$

$$S_{L}(x,y) = min(x+y,1)$$

$$S_{D}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1 & , (x,y) \in (0,1]^{2} \\ max(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Also, t-norms on a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  are defined in similar way, and then extremal t-norms  $T_{\wedge}$  and  $T_W$  on L is defined as follows, respectively:

$$T_{\wedge}(x,y) = x \wedge y$$
$$T_{W}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x & , if y = 1\\ y & , if x = 1\\ 0 & , otherwise \end{cases}$$

Similarly it can be defined the t-conorms  $S_{\vee}$  and  $S_W$ .

Especially we obtained that  $T_W = T_D$  and  $T_{\wedge} = T_M$  for L = [0, 1].

**Definition 1.** [6] A t-norm T on L is *divisible* if the following condition holds:

 $\forall x, y \in L$  with  $x \leq y$  there is a  $z \in L$  such that x = T(y, z).

A basic example of a non-divisible t-norm on an arbitrary lattice L (i.e., card L > 3) is the weakest t-norm  $T_W$ . Trivially, the infimum  $T_{\wedge}$  is divisible:  $x \leq y$  is equivalent to  $x \wedge y = x$ .

**Proposition 1.** [7] Let T be a t-norm on [0,1]. T is divisible if and only if T is continuous.

**Definition 2.** [4] Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ , if a and b are incomparable, in this case we use the notation  $a \parallel b$ .

**Definition 3.** [4] Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ ,  $a \leq b$ , a subinterval [a, b] of L is defined as

$$[a,b] = \{x \in L \mid a \leqslant x \leqslant b\}$$

Similarly,  $[a,b) = \{x \in L \mid a \leq x < b\}$ ,  $(a,b] = \{x \in L \mid a < x \leq b\}$  and  $(a,b) = \{x \in L \mid a < x < b\}$ .

**Definition 4.** [5] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. A commutative, associative, non-decreasing in each variable function  $F: L^2 \to L$  is called a nullnorm if there is an element  $a \in L$  such that F(x, 0) = x for all  $x \leq a, F(x, 1) = x$  for all  $x \geq a$ .

It can be easily obtained that F(x, a) = a for all  $x \in L$ . So  $a \in L$  is the zero (absorbing) element for F.

Consider the set  $\mathscr{F}$  of all nullnorms on L with the following order: For  $F_1, F_2 \in \mathscr{F}$ ,

$$F_1 \leqslant F_2 \Leftrightarrow F_1(x,y) \leqslant F_2(x,y) \text{ for all } (x,y) \in L^2.$$
  
$$D_a = [0,a) \times (a,1] \cup (a,1] \times [0,a) \text{ for } a \in L \setminus \{0,1\}.$$

**Definition 5.** [13] An element  $x \in L$  is called an idempotent element of a function  $F: L^2 \to L$  if F(x, x) = x. The function F is called idempotent if all elements of L are idempotent.

**Definition 6.** [14] Let L be a bounded lattice, T be a t-norm on L. The order defined as following is called a T- partial order (triangular order) for t-norm T:

$$x \preceq_T y :\Leftrightarrow T(\ell, y) = x \text{ for some } \ell \in L.$$

The duality between t-norms and t-conorms is expressed by the fact that from T-partial order for any t-norm T we can obtain its dual S-partial order for any t-conorm S by the follows

$$x \preceq_S y :\Leftrightarrow S(\ell, x) = y$$
 for some  $\ell \in L$ .

**Definition 7.** [1] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L. Define the following relation, for  $x, y \in L$ , as

$$x \preceq_F y :\Leftrightarrow \begin{cases} \text{if } x, y \in [0, a] \text{ and there exist } k \in [0, a] \text{ such that } F(x, k) = y \text{ or} \\ \text{if } x, y \in [a, 1] \text{ and there exist } \ell \in [a, 1] \text{ such that } F(y, \ell) = x \text{ or,} \end{cases}$$
(1)  
if  $(x, y) \in L^*$  and  $x \leqslant y$ .

where  $I_a = \{x \in L \mid x \parallel a\}$  and  $L^* = [0, a] \times [a, 1] \cup [0, a] \times I_a \cup [a, 1] \times I_a \cup [a, 1] \times [0, a] \cup I_a \times [0, a] \cup I_a \times [a, 1] \cup I_a \times I_a$ .

**Proposition 2.** [1] The relation  $\leq_F$  defined in (1) is a partial order on L.

Note: The partial order  $\preceq_F$  in (1) is called *F*-partial order on *L*.

**Proposition 3.** [1] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm on L. If  $x \leq_F y$  for any  $x, y \in L$ , then  $x \leq y$ .

**Proposition 4.** [1] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm with zero element a. Then,  $(L, \leq_F)$  is a bounded partially ordered set.

#### 3 On the *F*-partial Order

**Lemma 1.** [1] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L. The order  $\leq_F$  coincides with the order  $\leq_T$   $(\leq_S)$ , when a = 0 (a = 1).

Remark 1. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L. Even if  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  is a chain, the partially ordered set  $(L, \leq_F)$  may not be a chain. To illustrate this claim we shall give the following example.

*Example 2.* Consider L = [0, 1] and take the nullnorm  $\overline{F_a} : [0, 1]^2 \to [0, 1]$  with the zero element  $a \in (0, 1)$  defined as follows:

$$\overline{F_a}(x,y) = \begin{cases} \min(x,y) & , (x,y) \in [a,1]^2 \\ a & , (x,y) \in (0,a]^2 \cup D_a \\ \max(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

 $\overline{F_a}$  is the greatest nullnorm on [0, 1] by [12]. But L is not a chain with respect to the  $\preceq_{\overline{F_a}}$ .

In the paper, for any subset X of L,  $\overline{X}_{\preceq F}$  ( $\underline{X}_{\preceq F}$ ) denotes the set of the upper (lower) bounds of X with respect to  $\preceq_F$ . Also, for any  $x, y \in L, x \wedge_F y$  ( $x \vee_F y$ ) denotes the greatest (least) element of the lower (upper) bounds with respect to  $\preceq_F$ , if there exists.

Remark 2. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L. Even if  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  is a lattice, the partially ordered set  $(L, \leq_F)$  may not be a lattice. To illustrate this claim we shall give the following example.

*Example 3.* Consider the function  $F := F_{(T^{nM},S,\frac{1}{5})} : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  defined as follows:

$$F_{(T^{nM},S,\frac{1}{5})}(x,y) = \begin{cases} max(x,y) & , (x,y) \in [0,\frac{1}{5}]^2\\ \frac{1}{5} & , ((x,y) \in [\frac{1}{5},1]^2 \text{ and } x+y \leqslant 1) \text{ or } (x,y) \in D_{\frac{1}{5}}\\ min(x,y) & , \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

The function F is a nullnorm with  $\frac{1}{5}$  zero element by [1]. Then,  $([0,1], \preceq_F)$  is not join-semilattice. Because, we showed that  $\overline{\{\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2}\}}_{\preceq_F} = (\frac{3}{4}, 1]$ . Since there does not exist the least element of  $(\frac{3}{4}, 1]$  with respect to the  $\preceq_F$ ,  $([0,1], \preceq_F)$  is not a join-semilattice. So,  $([0,1], \preceq_F)$  is not lattice.

Remark 3. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L. If  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  is a lattice, the partially ordered set  $(L, \leq_F)$  may be a lattice.

*Example 4.* Let  $(L = \{0, x, y, a, z, t, 1\}, \leq 0, 1)$  be a chain with 0 < x < y < a < z < t < 1. Consider the function on L defined as follows:

$$F(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \land y &, (x,y) \in [a,1]^2 \\ y &, x = 0 \text{ and } y \leqslant a \\ x &, y = 0 \text{ and } x \leqslant a \\ a &, \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

By [13], it can be easily seen that F is a nullnorm. The order  $\leq_F$  on L has its diagram as follows (see Fig. 1).



**Fig. 1.** The order  $\leq_F$  on L

**Proposition 5.** [13] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L. Then,

 $\begin{array}{ll} (i) \ S^* = F \mid_{[0,a]^2} : [0,a]^2 \to [0,a] \ is \ a \ t\ conorm \ on \ [0,a]. \\ (ii) \ T^* = F \mid_{[a,1]^2} : [a,1]^2 \to [a,1] \ is \ a \ t\ n\ orm \ on \ [a,1]. \end{array}$ 

**Proposition 6.** [1] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice, F be a nullnorm with zero element a on L and  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . Then,  $S^*$  and  $T^*$  are divisible if and only if  $\leq_F = \leq$ .

**Corollary 1.** Let  $F : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be a nullnorm with zero element  $a \in (0,1)$ . Then,  $S^*$  and  $T^*$  are continuous if and only if  $\leq_F = \leq$ . Moreover, if F is an idempotent nullnorm on a bounded lattice L, then we have that  $S^* = S_M$  and  $T^* = T_M$ . Thus, the order  $\leq_F$  coincides with the order  $\leq$ .

**Proposition 7.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and F be a nullnorm on L with zero element  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that a is comparable with all elements of L. Then,  $([0, a], \leq_{S^*})$  and  $([a, 1], \leq_{T^*})$  are lattices if and only if  $(L, \leq_F)$  is a lattice. **Proposition 8.** [5, 17] Let  $F : [0, 1]^2 \to [0, 1]$  be a nullnorm with zero element  $F(1, 0) = k \notin \{0, 1\}$ . Then,

$$F(x,y) = \begin{cases} kS(\frac{x}{k}, \frac{y}{k}) & , x, y \in [0, k] \\ k + (1-k)T(\frac{x-k}{1-k}, \frac{y-k}{1-k}) & , x, y \in [k, 1] \\ k & , otherwise \end{cases}$$

where S is a t-conorm and T is a t-norm.

A nullnorm F with zero element k, underlying t-conorm S and underlying t-norm T will be denoted by  $F = \langle S, k, T \rangle$ .

**Proposition 9.** Let  $F = \langle S, k, T \rangle$  be a nullnorm with zero element  $k \in (0, 1)$ . Then,

(i)  $x \leq_F y$  for  $x, y \in [0, k]$  if and only if  $\frac{x}{k} \leq_S \frac{y}{k}$  for  $x, y \in [0, k]$ . (ii)  $x \leq_F y$  for  $x, y \in [k, 1]$  if and only if  $\frac{x-k}{1-k} \leq_T \frac{y-k}{1-k}$  for  $x, y \in [k, 1]$ .

**Proposition 10.** Let *L* be a chain, *F* be a nullnorm with zero element  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and  $H_F$  be the set of all idempotent elements of *F*. Then,  $(H_F, \preceq_F)$  is a chain.

#### 4 Concluding Remarks

We have obtained some important results about F-partial order. We have determined the relationship between the order induced by a nullnorm and the order on the lattice. If L is a chain, we have shown that L need not be a chain with respect to the F-partial order. We have shown that the set of all idempotent elements of F is a chain with respect to the an order induced by nullnorms, denoted by  $\leq_F$ .

#### References

- 1. Aşıcı, E.: An order induced by nullnorms and its properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (in press). doi:10.1016/j.fss.2016.12.004
- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: On the *T*-partial order and properties. Inf. Sci. 267, 323–333 (2014)
- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: Incomparability with respect to the triangular order. Kybernetika 52, 15–27 (2016)
- 4. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory, 3rd edn. American Mathematical Society, Providence (1967)
- Calvo, T., De Baets, B., Fodor, J.: The functional equations of Frank and Alsina for uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 120, 385–394 (2001)
- Casasnovas, J., Mayor, G.: Discrete t-norms and operations on extended multisets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1165–1177 (2008)

- De Baets, B., Mesiar, R.: Triangular norms on the real unit square. In: Proceedings of the 1999 EUSFLAT-ESTYLF Joint Conference, Palma de Mallorca, Spain, pp. 351–354 (1999)
- Çaylı, G.D., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: On a new class of uninorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 367–368, 221–231 (2016)
- Çaylı, G.D., KaraÇal, F.: Construction of uninorms on bounded lattices. Kybernetika 53, 394–417 (2017)
- Çaylı, G.D.: On a new class of t-norms and t-conorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (in press) doi:10.1016/j.fss.2017.07.015
- Drewniak, J., Drygaś, P., Rak, E.: Distributivity between uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1646–1657 (2008)
- Drygaś, P.: A characterization of idempotent nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 145, 455–461 (2004)
- Karaçal, F., Ince, M.A., Mesiar, R.: Nullnorms on bounded lattice. Inf. Sci. 325, 227–236 (2015)
- Karaçal, F., Kesicioğlu, M.N.: A T-partial order obtained from t-norms. Kybernetika 47, 300–314 (2011)
- Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (2000)
- Liang, X., Pedrycz, W.: Logic-based fuzzy networks: a study in system modeling with triangular norms and uninorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 160, 3475–3502 (2009)
- Mas, M., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: t-operators. Int. J. Uncertain. Fuzz Knowl.-Based Syst. 7, 31–50 (1999)
- Mas, M., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: The distributivity condition for uninorms and t-operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 128, 209–225 (2002)
- 19. Menger, K.: Statistical metrics. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 8, 535-537 (1942)
- Mitsch, H.: A natural partial order for semigroups. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 97, 384–388 (1986)
- Saminger, S.: On ordinal sums of triangular norms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 157, 1403–1416 (2006)
- Xie, A., Liu, H.: On the distributivity of uninorms over nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 211, 62–72 (2013)

## Two Intuitionistic Fuzzy Modal-Level Operators

Krassimir T. Atanassov<sup>1,2</sup>( $\boxtimes$ )

<sup>1</sup> Department of Bioinformatics and Mathematical Modelling, Institute of Biophysics and Biomedical Engineering, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Acad. G. Bonchev Str., Bl. 105, 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria krat@bas.bg
<sup>2</sup> Intelligent Systems Laboratory, Prof. Asen Zlatarov University, 8010 Bourgas, Bulgaria

**Abstract.** Two new intuitionistic fuzzy operators are introduced. For them it is shown that they have a behaviour similar both to the modal, as well as to the level operators, defined over intuitionistic fuzzy sets and for this reason, they are called intuitionistic fuzzy modal-level operators. Their basic properties are discussed.

Keywords: Intuitionistic fuzzy set · Intuitionistic fuzzy operator

#### 1 Introduction

The Intuitionistic Fuzzy sets (IFSs) were introduced 34 years ago in [1] and during this time, their theory was enriched with a lot of operators that do not have analogous in the standard fuzzy sets theory and in the rest of the fuzzy sets extensions. In the present paper, we introduce two operators that have behaviour similar to the modal, as well as to the level operators.

#### 2 Preliminary Definitions

Following [3,4], we give the definitions of the basic concepts and the basic operations, relations and operators over IFSs.

Let us have a fixed universe E and its subset A. The set

$$A^* = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) \rangle \mid x \in E \},\$$

where

$$0 \le \mu_A(x) + \nu_A(x) \le 1$$

is called IFS and functions  $\mu_A : E \to [0,1]$  and  $\nu_A : E \to [0,1]$  represent the degree of membership (validity, etc.) and non-membership (non-validity, etc.). Now, we can define also function  $\pi_A : E \to [0,1]$  by means of

$$\pi(x) = 1 - \mu(x) - \nu(x)$$

and it corresponds to degree of indeterminacy (uncertainty, etc.).

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_9

For brevity, we shall write below A instead of  $A^*$ , whenever this is possible. Obviously, for every ordinary fuzzy set A:  $\pi_A(x) = 0$  for each  $x \in E$  and these sets have the form  $\{\langle x, \mu_A(x), 1 - \mu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\}$ .

For every two IFSs A and B we can define (see [3,4]):

In [4], 34 different operations intuitionistic fuzzy negation and 138 different operations intuitionistic fuzzy implications are described. They are analogous to the two classical operations, while the remaining operations have non-classical behaviour. In [6] their numbers have increased, respectively, to 53 and 185, while,



Fig. 2.

now there are already 189 intuitionistic fuzzy implications and probably, this number will continue to increase.

In IFS theory there are some other operations that we do not discuss here because (at least at the moment) they are not related to the operators introduced here.

The IFSs have different (more than 10) geometrical interpretations. The first of them (see Fig. 1) is a trivial modification of the fuzzy set geometrical interpretation and it was constructed in the beginning of the research of IFSs. Its analogue is given in Fig. 2. It is interesting to mention that some authors of papers over vague sets asserted that the vague sets are better than the IFSs because the geometrical interpretation of the IFSs is the first interpretation and of the vague sets – the second one. The truth is that both interpretations have existed already for 30 years (see [3,4]) in IFSs theory.

Another geometrical interpretation is shown on Fig. 3. It is worth mentioning that it played very important role in the development of the IFS theory.



#### 3 The New Operators

Now, we introduce the two new operators, defined over a given IFS A. They have the forms:

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \{ \langle x, \alpha \mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \},$$
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha \mu_A(x), \beta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \},$$

where  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  and  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ .

First, we check that

$$\alpha \mu_A(x) + \nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_A(x) = \alpha \mu_A(x) + (1 - \beta)\nu_A(x) + \beta$$
$$\leq (1 - \beta)(\mu_A(x) + \nu_A(x)) + \beta \leq 1 - \beta + \beta = 1,$$

i.e., the first definition is correct. Analogously, we check that the second definition is also correct.

After this, we see that for each IFS A and for every  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$  and  $\gamma + \delta \leq 1$ :

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \subseteq A \subseteq \overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(A),$$

where  $\subseteq$  is transformed to equality if  $\alpha = \delta = 1$  and  $\beta = \gamma = 0$ .

**Theorem 1.** For each IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$\begin{split} \neg \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\neg A) &= \overline{J}_{\beta,\alpha}(A), \\ \neg \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\neg A) &= \overline{H}_{\beta,\alpha}(A). \end{split}$$

Two analogues of the topological operators have been defined over the IFSs (see, e.g., [3,4]): operator "closure" C and operator "intersection" I:

$$C(A) = \{ \langle x, \sup_{y \in E} \mu_A(y), \inf_{y \in E} \nu_A(y) \rangle | x \in E \},$$
$$I(A) = \{ \langle x, \inf_{y \in E} \mu_A(y), \sup_{y \in E} \nu_A(y) \rangle | x \in E \}.$$

In [4] a lot of other topological operators are introduced but here we will mention only one of them called a weight operator W:

$$W(A) = \{ \langle x, \frac{\sum\limits_{y \in E} \mu_A(y)}{card(E)}, \frac{\sum\limits_{y \in E} \nu_A(y)}{card(E)} \rangle | x \in E \},\$$

where card(E) is the number of the elements of the (finite) set E.

**Theorem 2.** For every two IFSs A and B, and for every  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$C(H_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = H_{\alpha,\beta}(C(A)),$$
  

$$I(\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(I(A)),$$
  

$$W(\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(W(A)),$$
  

$$C(\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(C(A)),$$
  

$$I(\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(I(A)),$$
  

$$W(\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(W(A)).$$

*Proof.* Let A be a given IFS and let  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ . Then

$$C(\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)) = C(\{\langle x, \alpha \mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\})$$
  
=  $\{\langle x, \sup_{y \in E} \alpha \mu_A(x), \inf_{y \in E} (\nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E\})$   
=  $\{\langle x, \alpha \sup_{y \in E} \mu_A(x), (1 - \beta) \inf_{y \in E} \nu_A(x) + \beta \rangle | x \in E\})$   
=  $\{\langle x, \alpha \sup_{y \in E} \mu_A(x), \inf_{y \in E} \nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \inf_{y \in E} \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\})$   
=  $\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(C(A)).$ 

The other assertions are proved in the same way.

**Theorem 3.** For every two IFSs A and B, and for every  $\alpha, \beta \in [0,1]$  so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$H_{\alpha,\beta}(A \to B) = J_{\beta,\alpha}(A) \to H_{\alpha,\beta}(B),$$
  
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A \to B) = \overline{H}_{\beta,\alpha}(A) \to \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(B).$$

*Proof.* Let the IFSs A and B and the real numbers  $\alpha, \beta$  are given. Then

$$\begin{split} \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A \to B) \\ &= \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\{\langle x, \max(\nu_A(x), \mu_B(x)), \min(\mu_A(x), \nu_B(x))\rangle | x \in E\}) \\ &= \{\langle x, \alpha \max(\nu_A(x), \mu_B(x)), \min(\mu_A(x), \nu_B(x))\rangle + \beta \\ &-\beta \min(\mu_A(x), \nu_B(x))\rangle | x \in E\}) \\ &= \{\langle x, \alpha \max(\nu_A(x), \mu_B(x)), (1 - \beta) \min(\mu_A(x), \nu_B(x)) + \beta \rangle | x \in E\}) \\ &= \{\langle x, \max(\alpha \nu_A(x), \alpha \mu_B(x)), \min(\mu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \mu_A(x), \nu_B(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_B(x))\rangle | x \in E\}) \\ &= \{\langle x, \mu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \mu_A(x), \alpha \nu_A(x)\rangle | x \in E\} \\ &\to \{\langle x, \alpha \mu_B(x), \nu_B(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_B(x)\rangle | x \in E\}) \\ &= \overline{J}_{\beta,\alpha}(A) \to \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(B). \end{split}$$

The second equality is proved in the same way.

# 3.1 First Type of Intuitionistic Fuzzy Modal Operator's Point of View

The simplest intuitionistic fuzzy modal operators are

$$\Box A = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x), 1 - \mu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}; \\ \Diamond A = \{ \langle x, 1 - \nu_A(x), \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}.$$

They are analogous to the modal logic operators "necessity" and "possibility".

In the framework of the IFSs theory these operators are extended and modified in "a step by step" manner. The first group of extended modal operators are the following (see [4]):

$$\begin{aligned} D_{\alpha}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha.\pi_A(x), \nu_A(x) + (1 - \alpha).\pi_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ F_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha.\pi_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta.\pi_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ \text{where } \alpha + \beta \leq 1, \\ G_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x), \beta.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ H_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta.\pi_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ H^*_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta.(1 - \alpha.\mu_A(x) - \nu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ J_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha.\pi_A(x), \beta.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ J^*_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha.\pi_A(x), \beta.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ J^*_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha.(1 - \mu_A(x) - \beta.\nu_A(x)), \beta.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}. \end{aligned}$$

where  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  are fixed numbers.

Comparing the two new operators with operator  $F_{\alpha,\beta}$ , we see that their parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  satisfy the same conditions. Moreover, for the *F*- and *G*-operators are valid for each IFS *A* and for every  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in [0, 1]$  the equalities:

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}(F_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) = F_{\alpha+\gamma-\alpha\gamma-\alpha\delta,\beta+\delta-\beta\delta-\beta\gamma}(A),$$

where  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$  and  $\gamma + \delta \leq 1$  and

$$G_{\alpha,\beta}(G_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) = G_{\alpha\gamma,\beta\delta}(A),$$

i.e., each one of these operators when applied to itself is represented by the same operator with parameters, being functions of the parameters of both identical operators.

This property is not valid for operators  $H_{\alpha,\beta}, H^*_{\alpha,\beta}, J_{\alpha,\beta}, J^*_{\alpha,\beta}$ , but now, we see that the following assertion is valid.

**Theorem 4.** For each IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$  and  $\gamma + \delta \leq 1$ :

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{H}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) = \overline{H}_{\alpha\gamma,\beta+\delta-\beta\delta}(A),$$
  
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) = \overline{J}_{\alpha+\gamma-\alpha\gamma,\beta\delta}(A).$$

*Proof.* We check sequentially:

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{H}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) = \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\{\langle x, \gamma\mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \delta - \delta\nu_A(x)\rangle | x \in E\})$$
$$= \{\langle x, \alpha\gamma\mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \delta - \delta\nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta(\nu_A(x) + \delta - \delta\nu_A(x))\rangle | x \in E\}$$
$$= \{\langle x, \alpha\gamma\mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + (\delta + \beta - \beta\delta) - (\delta + \beta - \beta\delta)\nu_A(x)\rangle | x \in E\}$$
$$= \overline{H}_{\alpha\gamma,\beta+\delta-\beta\delta}(A)$$

and

$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) = \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\{\langle x, \mu_A(x) + \gamma - \gamma \mu_A(x), \delta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\}$$

$$= \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \gamma - \gamma \mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha(\mu_A(x) + \gamma - \gamma \mu_A(x)), \beta \delta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}$$
  
=  $\{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + (\alpha + \gamma - \alpha \gamma) - (\alpha + \gamma - \alpha \gamma) \mu_A(x), \beta \delta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}$   
=  $\overline{J}_{\alpha + \gamma - \alpha \gamma, \beta \delta}(A).$ 

Therefore, these two operators satisfy the property of F- and G-operators. Moreover, for each IFS A:

$$\overline{H}_{0,1}(A) = \{ \langle x, 0, 1 \rangle | x \in E \},\$$
$$\overline{J}_{1,0}(A) = \{ \langle x, 1, 0 \rangle | x \in E \},\$$

similarly to operators  $H_{0,1}^*$  and  $J_{1,0}^*$ , respectively.

**Theorem 5.** For every two IFSs A and B, and for every  $\alpha, \beta \in [0,1]$  so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$\begin{split} H_{\alpha,\beta}(A \cap B) &= H_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \cap H_{\alpha,\beta}(B), \\ \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A \cup B) &= \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \cup \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(B), \\ \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A \cap B) &= \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \cap \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(B), \\ \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A \cup B) &= \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \cup \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(B). \end{split}$$

*Proof.* Let the IFSs A and B and real numbers  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  so that  $\alpha + \beta \le 1$  be given. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A \cap B) &= \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\{\langle x, \min(\mu_A(x), \mu_B(x)), \max(\nu_A(x), \nu_B(x))\rangle | x \in E\}) \\ &= \{\langle x, \alpha \min(\mu_A(x), \mu_B(x)), \\ \max(\nu_A(x), \nu_B(x)) + \beta - \beta \max(\nu_A(x), \nu_B(x))\rangle | x \in E\} \\ &= \{\langle x, \min(\alpha\mu_A(x), \alpha\mu_B(x)), (1 - \beta) \max(\nu_A(x), \nu_B(x)) + \beta\rangle | x \in E\} \\ &= \{\langle x, \min(\alpha\mu_A(x), \alpha\mu_B(x)), \\ \max((1 - \beta)\nu_A(x) + \beta, (1 - \beta)\nu_B(x)) + \beta\rangle | x \in E\} \\ &= \{\langle x, \alpha\mu_A(x), (1 - \beta)\nu_A(x) + \beta\rangle | x \in E\} \\ &= \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \cap \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(B). \end{aligned}$$

The other three equalities can be checked analogously.

It is interesting to mention that similar equalities satisfies only operator  $G_{\alpha,\beta}$ , while for all other from the discussed operators, the equalities become inequalities.

The geometrical interpretations of the new operators are similar to these of operators  $H^*_{\alpha,\beta}$  and  $J^*_{\alpha,\beta}$  - see Figs. 4 and 5. Here, function  $f_X$  juxtaposes to each element x of IFS X in universe E, a point in the interpretation triangle.



**Theorem 6.** For every IFS A and for every  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  so that  $al + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$\Box \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \subseteq \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\Box A),$$
$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\diamondsuit A) \subseteq \diamondsuit \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A),$$
$$\Box \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \subseteq \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\Box A),$$
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\diamondsuit A) \subseteq \diamondsuit \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A).$$

*Proof.* For the IFS A and its parameters, mentioned above, the equalities

$$\Box \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \Box \{ \langle x, \alpha \mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}$$
  
=  $\{ \langle x, \alpha \mu_A(x), 1 - a l \mu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}$ 

and

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\Box A) = \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(\{\langle x, \mu_A(x), 1 - \mu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\})$$
$$= \{\langle x, \alpha \mu_A(x), 1 - \mu_A(x) + \beta - \beta(1 - \mu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E\}$$
$$= \{\langle x, \alpha \mu_A(x), 1 - \mu_A(x) + \beta \mu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E\}$$

hold. From

$$1 - \alpha \mu_A(x) - (1 - \mu_A(x) + \beta \mu_A(x)) = (1 - \alpha - \beta)\mu_A(x) \ge 0$$

it follows the validity of the first inequality. The others can be proved in the same manner.

Similarly to the research, presented in [4], we prove

**Theorem 7.** For each IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$  and  $\gamma + \delta \leq 1$ :  $H_{\alpha} \circ (\overline{H}_{\alpha} \circ (A)) \subset \overline{H}_{\alpha} \circ (H_{\alpha} \circ (A))$ 

$$H_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{H}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) \subseteq \overline{H}_{\gamma,\delta}(H_{\alpha,\beta}(A)),$$

93

$$\begin{aligned} H^*_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{H}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq \overline{H}_{\gamma,\delta}(H^*_{\alpha,\beta}(A)), \\ \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(J_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq J_{\gamma,\delta}(\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)), \\ \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(J^*_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq J^*_{\gamma,\delta}(\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)). \end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* The validity of the fourth inequality is checked as follows:

$$= \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(\{\langle x,\mu_A(x) + \gamma(1-\mu_A(x) - \delta.\nu_A(x)), \delta\nu_A(x)\rangle | x \in E\})$$
  
=  $\{\langle x,\mu_A(x) + \gamma(1-\mu_A(x) - \delta\nu_A(x)) + \alpha - \alpha\mu_A(x) - \alpha\gamma(1-\mu_A(x) - \delta\nu_A(x)), \beta\delta\nu_A(x)\rangle | x \in E\})$ 

 $\overline{J}_{\alpha\beta}(J^*(A))$ 

(from

$$\mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha \mu_A(x) + \gamma (1 - \mu_A(x) - \alpha + \alpha \mu_A(x) - \beta \delta \nu_A(x))$$
$$-\mu_A(x) - \gamma (1 - \mu_A(x) - \delta \nu_A(x)) - \alpha + \alpha \mu_A(x) + \alpha \gamma (1 - \mu_A(x) - \delta \nu_A(x))$$
$$= \gamma \delta \nu_A(x) - \alpha \gamma \delta \nu_A(x) - \gamma \beta \delta \nu_A(x)$$
$$= \gamma \delta (1 - \alpha - \beta) \nu_A(x) \ge 0$$

it follows)

$$\subseteq \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha \mu_A(x) + \gamma (1 - \mu_A(x) - \alpha + \alpha \mu_A(x) - \beta \delta \nu_A(x)) \\ \beta \delta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \} \}$$
$$= J^*_{\gamma,\delta}(\{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha \mu_A(x), \beta \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \})$$
$$= J^*_{\gamma,\delta}(\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)).$$

The remaining inequalities can be proved similarly.

As it is written in [4], In 1991, during a lecture given by the author, a question was asked, whether the so far constructed operators (operators  $D_{\alpha}, F_{\alpha,\beta}, G_{\alpha,\beta}, H_{\alpha,\beta}, J_{\alpha,\beta}, H_{\alpha,\beta}^*, J_{\alpha,\beta}^*$ ) can be derived as particular cases of one general operator? In the next lecture, the author gave a positive answer, preparing the following text, which was published in [2]. In [5] an addition to the definition is given. Now, the final form of this operator has the form:

$$X_{a,b,c,d,e,f}(A) = \{ \langle x, a.\mu_A(x) + b.(1 - \mu_A(x) - c.\nu_A(x)), \\ d.\nu_A(x) + e.(1 - f.\mu_A(x) - \nu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E \},$$

where  $a, b, c, d, e, f \in [0, 1]$  and

$$a + e - e \cdot f \le 1,$$
  

$$b + d - b \cdot c \le 1,$$
  

$$b + e \le 1.$$

Now, we see directly that

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = X_{\alpha,0,r,1,\beta,0}(A),$$
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = X_{1,\alpha,0,\beta,0,s}(A),$$

where  $r, s \in [0, 1]$  are arbitrary numbers.

Therefore, the new operators have similar X-representation as the rest of the extended modal-type operators.

#### 3.2 Second Type of Intuitionistic Fuzzy Modal Operator's Point of View

Following [4], we start with the first two simplest operators of the second type:

$$\begin{split} &\boxplus A = \{ \langle x, \frac{\mu_A(x)}{2}, \frac{\nu_A(x)+1}{2} \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ &\boxtimes A = \{ \langle x, \frac{\mu_A(x)+1}{2}, \frac{\nu_A(x)}{2} \rangle | x \in E \}. \end{split}$$

Let  $\alpha \in [0,1]$  and let A be an IFS. Then we can define the first extension:

$$\begin{split} & \boxplus_{\alpha} A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x), \alpha.\nu_A(x) + 1 - \alpha \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ & \boxtimes_{\alpha} A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x) + 1 - \alpha, \alpha.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}. \end{split}$$

The second extension of operators  $\boxplus$  and  $\boxtimes$  is introduced in [8] by Katerina Dencheva. She extended the last two operators to the forms:

$$\begin{split} & \boxplus_{\alpha,\beta} A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x), \alpha.\nu_A(x) + \beta \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ & \boxtimes_{\alpha,\beta} A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x) + \beta, \alpha.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \end{split}$$

where  $\alpha, \beta, \alpha + \beta \in [0, 1]$ .

The third extension of the above operators has the forms:

$$\begin{aligned} &\boxplus_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x), \beta.\nu_A(x) + \gamma \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ &\boxtimes_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma}A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x) + \gamma, \beta.\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in [0, 1]$  and  $\max(\alpha, \beta) + \gamma \leq 1$ .

In [7] Gökhan Cuvalcioĝlu introduced operator  $E_{\alpha,\beta}$  by

$$E_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \{ \langle x, \beta(\alpha,\mu_A(x) + 1 - \alpha), \alpha(\beta,\nu_A(x) + 1 - \beta) \rangle | x \in E \},\$$

where  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  and studied some of its properties.

A natural extension of the three later operators is the operator

where  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in [0, 1]$  and

$$\max(\alpha, \beta) + \gamma + \delta \le 1.$$

A new (final?) extension of the above operators is the operator

$$\label{eq:alpha} \boxed{\begin{subarray}{l} \begin{subarray}{l} \hline \end{subarray}}_{\alpha,\beta,\gamma,\delta,\varepsilon,\zeta} A = \{ \langle x, \alpha.\mu_A(x) - \varepsilon.\nu_A(x) + \gamma, \beta.\nu_A(x) - \zeta.\mu_A(x) + \delta \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ \end{subarray} \text{where } \alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta, \varepsilon, \zeta \in [0,1] \text{ and} \end{cases}$$

$$\max(\alpha - \zeta, \beta - \varepsilon) + \gamma + \delta \le 1,$$
  
$$\min(\alpha - \zeta, \beta - \varepsilon) + \gamma + \delta \ge 0.$$

Now, we can check the validity of the following equalities (for fixed  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$\begin{split} & \boxplus A = \overline{H}_{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(A), \\ & \boxtimes A = \overline{J}_{\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}}(A), \\ & \boxplus_{\alpha}A = \overline{H}_{\alpha,1-\alpha}(A), \\ & \boxtimes_{\alpha}A = \overline{J}_{1-\alpha,\alpha}(A), \end{split}$$

i.e., the new operators can represent the first two second type of intuitionistic fuzzy modal operators.

The relation between operators  $\boxplus_{\alpha,\beta}$  and  $\boxtimes_{\alpha,\beta}$ , and  $\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}$  and  $\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}$ , respectively, is valid only in the following special cases:

$$\begin{array}{l} \boxplus_{\alpha,1-\alpha}A = \overline{H}_{\alpha,1-\alpha}(A), \\ [mm] \boxtimes_{\alpha,1-\alpha}A = \overline{J}_{1-\alpha,\alpha}(A). \end{array}$$

Similar is the situation with Guvalcioglu's operator:

$$E_{1,\beta}(A) = \overline{H}_{\beta,1-\beta}(A),$$
$$E_{\alpha,1}(A) = \overline{J}_{1-\alpha,\alpha}(A).$$

The other three second type of intuitionistic fuzzy modal operators can represent the new two operators as follows:

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \bigoplus_{\alpha,1-\beta,\beta}A,$$
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \boxtimes_{1-\alpha,\beta,\alpha}A,$$
$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \textcircled{\bullet}_{\alpha,1-\beta,0,\beta}A,$$
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \textcircled{\bullet}_{1-\alpha,\beta,\alpha,0}A,$$
$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \boxdot_{\alpha,1-\beta,0,\beta,0,0}A,$$
$$\overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \boxdot_{1-\alpha,\beta,\alpha,0,0,0}A.$$
#### 3.3 Intuitionistic Fuzzy Level Operator's Point of View

The basic intuitionistic fuzzy level operators are (see, e.g., [4]:

$$P_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \{ \langle x, \max(\alpha, \mu_A(x)), \min(\beta, \nu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E \}, Q_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \{ \langle x, \min(\alpha, \mu_A(x)), \max(\beta, \nu_A(x)) \rangle | x \in E \},$$

for  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  and  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ .

The degrees of membership and non-membership of the elements of a given universe to its subset can be directly changed by these operators.

Obviously, for every IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  and  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$\begin{aligned} P_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= A \cup \{ \langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ Q_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &= A \cap \{ \langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E \}, \\ Q_{\alpha,\beta}(A) &\subset A \subset P_{\alpha,\beta}(A). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, it will be suitable to denote both operators as follows:

$$O_{\alpha,\beta}^{\cup}(A) = A \cup \{ \langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E \},\$$
$$O_{\alpha,\beta}^{\cap}(A) = A \cap \{ \langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E \}.$$

Now, we can define two new intuitionistic fuzzy level operators on the basis of operations "+" and " $\times$ ", defined in Sect. 2:

$$O^{+}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = A + \{ \langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E \},\$$
$$O^{\times}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = A \times \{ \langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E \}.$$

We see immediately that:

$$O^{+}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A),$$
$$O^{\times}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A).$$

Therefore, the two new operators have level operator's behaviour.

**Theorem 8.** For each IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta, \gamma, \delta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$  and  $\gamma + \delta \leq 1$ :

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\alpha,\beta}(P_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq P_{\gamma,\delta}(H_{\alpha,\beta}(A)),\\ \overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(Q_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq Q_{\gamma,\delta}(\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)),\\ P_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq \overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(P_{\alpha,\beta}(A)),\\ Q_{\alpha,\beta}(\overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(A)) &\subseteq \overline{J}_{\gamma,\delta}(Q_{\alpha,\beta}(A)). \end{aligned}$$

It can be directly seen that for each IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$ , so that  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \subseteq Q_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \subseteq A \subseteq P_{\alpha,\beta}(A) \subseteq \overline{J}_{\alpha,\beta}(A)$$

Now, we can calculate for every IFS A and for  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1]$  and  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ :

$$H_{\alpha,\beta}(A)@J_{\alpha,\beta}(A)$$

$$= \{\langle x, \alpha\mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\}$$

$$@\{\langle x, \mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha\mu_A(x), \beta\nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E\}$$

$$= \{\langle x, \frac{\alpha\mu_A(x) + \mu_A(x) + \alpha - \alpha\mu_A(x)}{2}, \frac{\nu_A(x) + \beta - \beta\nu_A(x) + \beta\nu_A(x)}{2} \rangle | x \in E\}$$

$$= \{\langle x, \frac{\mu_A(x) + \alpha}{2}, \frac{\nu_A(x) + \beta}{2} \rangle | x \in E\}$$

$$A@\{\langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E\}.$$

From the above discussion we see that the two new operators are simultaneously modal as well as level operators. By this reason, we really can call them modal-level operators.

Finally, following the above notation, we can denote:

$$A@\{\langle x, \alpha, \beta \rangle | x \in E\} = O^{@}_{\alpha, \beta}(A).$$

### 4 Conclusion

In future, we will introduce other intuitionistic fuzzy modal-level operators. Each one of these new operators will be extended in the ways the standard modal and level operators are extended. For example, for each IFS A, defined over some universe E, their parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  will be changed with the degrees of membership and of non-membership of the elements of another IFS B, defined over the same universe E.

Acknowledgement. The present research has been supported by the Bulgarian National Science Fund under Grant Ref. No. DFNI-I-02-5 "InterCriteria Analysis: A New Approach to Decision Making".

#### References

- Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. In: VII ITKR's Session, Sofia, June 1983. (Deposed in Central Sci. - Techn. Library of Bulg. Acad. of Sci., 1697/84) (in Bulg.), Reprinted: Int. J. Bioautom. 20(S1), S1–S6 (2016)
- Atanassov, K.: A universal operator over intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Comput. Rend. Acad. Bulg. Sci. Tome 46(1), 13–15 (1993)

- 3. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets. Springer, Heidelberg (1999)
- 4. Atanassov, K.: On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Theory. Springer, Berlin (2012)
- 5. Atanassov, K.: A short remark on intuitionistic fuzzy operators  $X_{a,b,c,d,e,f}$  and  $x_{a,b,c,d,e,f}$ . Notes Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets **19**(1), 54–56 (2013)
- 6. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Logics. Springer, Cham (2017)
- 7. Çuvalcioglu, G.: Some properties of  $E_{\alpha,\beta}$  operator. Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math. 14(2), 305–310 (2007)
- 8. Dencheva, K.: Extension of intuitionistic fuzzy modal operators ⊞ and ⊠. In: Proceedings of the Second International IEEE Symposium: Intelligent Systems, Varna, 22–24 June 2004, vol. 3, pp. 21–22 (2004)

# Generalized Net Model of Multicriteria Decision Making Procedure Using Intercriteria Analysis

Krassimir Atanassov<sup>1,2(⊠)</sup>, Evdokia Sotirova<sup>2</sup>, and Velin Andonov<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Bioinformatics and Mathematical Modelling, Institute of Biophysics and Biomedical Engineering, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, 105 Acad. G. Bonchev Str., 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria krat@bas.bg

<sup>2</sup> Intelligent Systems Laboratory, Asen Zlatarov University, 8010 Bourgas, Bulgaria esotirova@btu.bg

<sup>3</sup> Information Modeling Department, Institute of Mathematics and Informatics, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Acad. G. Bonchev Str., bl. 8, 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria velin\_andonov@yahoo.com

**Abstract.** The Generalized Nets (GNs) are extensions of the ordinary Petri nets and the other Petri net modifications. A GN-model of a multiexpert multi-criteria decision making process is described. It is extended with an intercriteria analysis of the criteria used by experts – an addition to the standard decision making procedure that changes in the end of a concrete procedure the criteria used by experts during it, so, in the next procedure they work with the modified set of criteria.

Keywords: Decision making  $\cdot$  Generalized net  $\cdot$  Intercriteria analysis

## 1 Introduction

In a series of papers of G. Pasi, R. Yager and the author, different multi-criteria decision making procedures are described, that contains essentially new ideas in this area. Here, we describe the process of functioning and the results of the work of such procedures. They are described by one of Petri Net extensions, called Generalized Net (GN; see [1–3]). Each GN has transitions, but now, they contain not only input and output places, but also, moments of activation, duration of the active state, predicates determining which token from input place to which output places can be transfered, capacities of transition arcs and a condition for activation of the transition, when the activation moment arises. Each token has initial and current characteristics, that it can keep and use during the GN functioning.

Below, we use the following three types of sets:

- $-E = \{E_1, E_2, ..., E_m\}$  is the set of the measurement tools employed in the decision process;
- $A = \{A_1, A_2, ..., A_p\}$  is the set of the alternatives considered;

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_10

 $-C = \{C_1, C_2, ..., C_q\}$  is the set of the criteria used for evaluating the alternatives, which are ordered before their use.

The experts use as standard or given to them criteria, as well as new criteria suggested by the experts, participating in the current procedure. Each expert can use only those of the criteria, that he/she prefers. Each expert has own score in the form of Intuitionistic Fuzzy Pairs (IFPs; see [4,7])  $\langle a, b \rangle$ , where  $a, b \in [0,1]$ , so that  $a+b \leq 1$  and a, b are respectively degree of validity, correctness, etc. and degree of non-validity, non-correctness, etc.

To illustrate the expert's reliability score we give the following example: a sports commentator made 10 prognoses for the results of 10 football matches. In 5 of the cases he predicted correctly the winner, in 3 of the cases he failed and in the remaining 2 cases he did not engage with final opinion about the result. That is why we determine his reliability score as  $\langle 0.5, 0.3 \rangle$ .

When the *i*-th expert determines the criteria, which he/she likes to use, he orders them on the vertices of an oriented graph. As it is shown, e.g., in [5], each graph can be represent by an Index Matrix (IM, see [5]) in the form

$$[K, L, \{a_{k_i, l_j}\}] \equiv \frac{\begin{vmatrix} l_1 & l_2 & \dots & l_n \end{vmatrix}}{k_1} \frac{a_{k_1, l_1} & a_{k_1, l_2} & \dots & a_{k_1, l_n}}{a_{k_2, l_1} & a_{k_2, l_2} & \dots & a_{k_2, l_n}},$$
$$\vdots \\ k_m \begin{vmatrix} a_{k_m, l_1} & a_{k_m, l_2} & \dots & a_{k_m, l_n} \end{vmatrix}$$

where for a fixed set of indices I and for set  $\mathcal{R}$  of numbers (0 and 1; natural, real, etc.), propositions, variables, predicates, IFPs, etc.,  $K = \{k_1, k_2, ..., k_m\} \subset I$ ,  $L = \{l_1, l_2, ..., l_n\} \subset I$ ; for  $1 \leq i \leq m$ , and for  $1 \leq j \leq n : a_{k_i, l_j} \in \mathcal{R}$ .

For two IMs different operations are defined, such as "addition", some types of "multiplication", "subtraction", "projection", "restriction", "substitution" and others; and some operators are defined, e.g., hierarchical operators.

When the elements of R are IFPs, the IM is Intuitionistic Fuzzy IM (IFIM). When some IFPs are associated to the arcs and/or vertices of a given graph, the graph becomes an Intuitionistic Fuzzy Graph (IFG).

#### 2 Generalized Net Model

The present GN model (see Fig. 1) is an extension and modification of the model from [10], that is an extension of the GN-model from [9]. Since some of the places and transitions in the new model coincide in both models, we use the same notation. By this reason we use notation for transitions and places:  $Y_1, Y_2, Y_3, Y_4, k_1, \dots, k_8$  from the second model,  $Z_1, Z_2, Z_3, l_1, \dots, l_{14}$  from the first model and now for the new model:  $X_1, X_2, X_3, X_4, m_1, \dots, m_7$ .

The GN that we describe below has seven types of tokens –  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ -,  $\gamma$ -,  $\delta$ -,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\zeta$ - and  $\eta$ -tokens. The third, fourth, ..., and seventh tokens are unique, while  $\alpha$ -tokens are m in number and they generate m in number  $\beta$ -tokens, that in place  $k_7$  are united in one token  $\beta$ .

The  $\alpha$ -tokens are ordered by some criterion (e.g., alphabetically following experts' names) and their order is not important. Each of the  $\alpha$ -tokens has an initial characteristic: "expert's name, his/her own (current) reliability score  $\langle \delta_i, \varepsilon_i \rangle \in [0, 1]^2$  such that  $\delta_i + \varepsilon_i \leq 1$ , and his/her own (current) number of participations in experts' investigations  $\gamma_i$ "  $(1 \leq i \leq m)$ .

In the initial time-moment of the GN functioning, the first  $\alpha$ -token,  $\alpha_1$  (let  $\alpha_i$  denote the *i*-th  $\alpha$ -token) and the  $\gamma$ -token enter places  $k_1$  and  $l_3$ , respectively. The later token has initial characteristics "list of the alternatives, *i.e.*  $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_p$ ".

The first GN-transition (as we noted above, it is not met in the GN from [10]) has the form:

$$Y_1 = \langle \{k_1\}, \{k_2, k_3\}, \frac{k_2 k_3}{k_1 | true \ true} \rangle.$$

The current token  $\alpha_i$  splits into two tokens - the same token  $\alpha_i$  that enters place  $k_2$  without a new characteristic and the token  $\beta_i$  that enters place  $k_3$  with a characteristic "list of the estimation criteria that the *i*-th expert likes to use for his/her estimation, i.e.,  $C_{i,1}, C_{i,2}, \ldots, C_{i,q_i}$ ".  $(1 \le i \le m \text{ and } 1 \le q_i \le q_{cu})$ , where  $q_{cu}$  is the current number of criteria that the experts can use.

$$Y_{2} = \langle \{k_{2}, k_{4}\}, \{k_{4}, k_{5}\}, \overline{k_{2} \ true \ false} \rangle, \\ k_{4} \ V_{4,4} \ V_{4,5} \rangle$$

where

 $V_{4,4} =$  "in the current step no token enters place  $k_1$  and the current token has stayed the longest time in place  $k_4$  in respect to all other tokens currently staying in the same place",

 $V_{4,5} = \neg V_{4,4}.$ 

The  $\alpha$ -tokens enter place  $k_4$  without a new characteristic. They are collected there, waiting for the beginning of the process of experts' estimation. When predicate  $V_{4,5}$  is valid,  $\alpha$ -tokens enter place  $k_5$  with the characteristic "IFG  $G_i$ of the expert's opinion for the order among the criteria". The vertices of the IFG  $G_i$  represent all or a part of the criteria from the last  $\beta$ -token characteristic. The arcs of this IFG are labeled by the *i*-th expert's scores.

Token  $\varepsilon$  permanently stays in place  $k_7$ , with an initial and current characteristic "list of actual criteria ( $q_{cu}$  in number) that can be used for the current expertise".

$$Y_{3} = \langle \{k_{3}, k_{7}, k_{15}\}, \{k_{6}, k_{7}\}, \frac{k_{6} \quad k_{7}}{k_{3} \quad false \ true}_{k_{7} \quad V_{7,6} \quad V_{7,7}} \rangle,$$

$$k_{15} \quad false \ true$$

where

 $V_{7,6} =$  "in the current step no token enters place  $k_1$ ",  $V_{7,7} = \neg V_{7,6}$ .



Fig. 1. GN-model

The *i*-th  $\beta$ -token (let us call it  $\beta_i$ ) enters place  $k_7$ . It unites with the  $\varepsilon$ -token, that stays in place  $k_7$ . Let us call it  $\beta$ . It waits for the beginning of the process of experts' estimation and it obtains as a current characteristic

$$x_{cu}^{\beta} = x_{cu-1}^{\varepsilon} \cup x_{cu-1}^{\beta_i},$$

i.e., the list of all criteria that are formulated by the first i experts.

Token  $\beta$  from place  $k_{15}$  enters place  $k_7$ , where it is united with token  $\varepsilon$ , that obtain as a new (current) characteristic

$$x_{cu}^{\varepsilon} = x_{cu-1}^{\varepsilon} \cup x_{cu}^{\beta}.$$

When predicate  $V_{7,6} = true$ , then token  $\varepsilon$  splits into token  $\varepsilon$  that continues to stay in place  $k_7$  and token  $\beta$  that enters place  $k_6$  with the characteristic  $x_{cu-1}^{\beta_i} \cup \lambda_i$ , where  $\lambda_i \subseteq x_{cu}^{\varepsilon}$  is the list of the criteria, different from these in the set  $x_{cu-1}^{\beta_i}$  that the *i*-th expert likes and will use, too.

$$Y_4 = \langle \{k_5, k_6, k_8\}, \{k_8, l_1, l_2\}, \frac{k_8}{k_5} \frac{l_1}{true} \frac{l_2}{false} \frac{l_1}{false} \rangle, \frac{k_8}{k_8} \frac{l_1}{V_{8,8}} \frac{l_2}{V_{8,8}} \langle k_{8,1} \frac{l_2}{false} \rangle, \frac{k_8}{V_{8,1}} \frac{l_2}{false} \rangle$$

where

 $V_{6,2}=V_{8,1}=$  "in the current step no token enters place  $k_5$  ",  $V_{8,8}=\neg V_{8,1}.$ 

The  $\alpha$ -tokens enter place  $l_1$  without any new characteristic, while token  $\beta$  enters place  $l_2$  with a characteristic "IFG G, obtained by the procedure described below".

The new IFG G is obtained by operation "+ $_{\circ}$ " over the IFGs  $G_i$ , which for two IMs  $A = [K, L, \{a_{k_i, l_i}\}]$  and  $B = [P, Q, \{b_{p_r, q_s}\}]$  has the form

$$A +_{\circ} B = [K \cup P, L \cup Q, \{c_{t_u, v_w}\}]$$

where

$$c_{t_{u},v_{w}} = \begin{cases} a_{k_{i},l_{j}}, & \text{if } t_{u} = k_{i} \in K \text{ and } v_{w} = l_{j} \in L - Q \\ & \text{or } t_{u} = k_{i} \in K - P \text{ and } v_{w} = l_{j} \in L; \\ b_{p_{r},q_{s}}, & \text{if } t_{u} = p_{r} \in P \text{ and } v_{w} = q_{s} \in Q - L \\ & \text{or } t_{u} = p_{r} \in P - K \text{ and } v_{w} = q_{s} \in Q; \\ a_{k_{i},l_{j}} \circ b_{p_{r},q_{s}}, \text{ if } t_{u} = k_{i} = p_{r} \in K \cap P \\ & \text{and } v_{w} = l_{j} = q_{s} \in L \cap Q \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and for two IFPs  $\langle a, b \rangle$  and  $\langle c, d \rangle$ , operation  $\circ$  can be, e.g.

$$\langle a,b\rangle \circ \langle c,d\rangle = \begin{cases} \langle \max(a,c),\min(b,d)\rangle, & \text{if } \circ \text{ is } \lor \\ \langle \min(a,c),\max(b,d)\rangle, & \text{if } \circ \text{ is } \land \\ \langle \frac{a+c}{2}, \frac{b+d}{2}\rangle, & \text{if } \circ \text{ is } @ \end{cases}$$

or others.

With this operation, we obtain an IM corresponding to the IFG G of all experts' opinions about the criteria ordering. Now, its arcs have intuitionistic fuzzy weights being the disjunctions of the weights, of the same arcs in the separate IFGs. Of course, the new graph may not be well ordered, while the expert graphs are well ordered. Now, we reconfigure IFG G as follows. If there is a cycle between two vertices  $V_1$  and  $V_2$ , i.e., there are vertices  $U_1, U_2, ..., U_u$  and vertices  $W_1, W_2, ..., W_w$ , such that  $V_1, U_1, U_2, ..., U_u, V_2$  and  $V_2, W_1, W_2, ..., W_w, V_1$  are simple paths in the graph, then we calculate the weights of both paths as conjunctions of the weights of the arcs which take part in the respective paths. The path that has smaller weight must be cut in two, removing its arc with smallest weight. If both arcs have equal weights, these arcs will be removed. Therefore, the new graph is already cycle-free. Now, we can determine the priorities of the vertices of the IFG, i.e., the priorities of the criteria. Let them be  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, ..., \varphi_{q_{cu}}$ . For example, they can have values  $\frac{s-1}{t}$  for the vertices from the s-th level bottom-up of the IFG with t+1 levels. We shall use these values below.

The first transition of the GN from [9] that now is in the subnet of the present GN, has the form:

$$Z_{1} = \langle \{l_{1}, l_{2}, l_{3}, l_{7}\}, \{l_{4}, l_{5}, l_{6}, l_{7}\}, \\ \frac{|l_{4} \ l_{5} \ l_{6} \ l_{7}}{|l_{1} \ true \ false \ false \ false \ false} \\ l_{2} \ false \ false \ false \ W_{2,6} \ false \rangle, \\ l_{3} \ false \ false \ false \ false \ true \\ l_{7} \ false \ W_{7,5} \ false \ W_{7,7} \\ \end{cases}$$

where

 $W_{7,7}$  = "there is a token in place  $l_1$ ",  $W_{2,6} = W_{7,5} = \neg W_{7,7}$ .

If predicate  $W_{7,7} = true$ , then token  $\gamma$  stays in place  $l_7$  without a new characteristic. Only when predicate  $W_{7,7} = false$ , i.e., when predicates  $W_{2,6} = W_{7,6} = true$ , token  $\gamma$  enter place  $l_5$  without any characteristic, too. Token  $\alpha_i$  enters place  $l_4$  and obtains as a next characteristic an IM that we shall describe in more details. Having in mind that the *i*-th expert can use only a part of the criteria and can estimate only a part of the alternatives, we can construct the IM of his/her estimations in the form

$$S_{i} = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} A_{l_{1}} & A_{l_{2}} & \dots & A_{l_{p_{i}}} \\ \hline C_{i_{1}} & & \langle \alpha_{j,k}^{i} \beta_{j,k}^{i} \rangle \\ C_{i_{2}} & & \\ C_{i_{2}} & & \\ (1 \leq j \leq q_{i} \leq q_{cu}, \\ \vdots & & \\ C_{i_{q_{i}}} & & 1 \leq k \leq p_{i} \leq p) \end{vmatrix}$$

where:  $\alpha_{j,k}^{i}, \beta_{j,k}^{i} \in [0,1], \quad \alpha_{j,k}^{i} + \beta_{j,k}^{i} \leq 1 \text{ and } \langle \alpha_{j,k}^{i}, \beta_{j,k}^{i} \rangle$  is the *i*-th expert estimation for the *k*-th alternative about the *j*-th criterion;  $C_{i_1}, \dots, C_{i_{q_i}}$  and  $A_{l_1}, \dots, A_{l_{p_i}}$  are only those of the criteria and alternatives which the *i*-th expert prefers. In the cases when pair  $\langle \alpha_{j,k}^{i}, \beta_{j,k}^{i} \rangle$  does not exist, we will work with pair  $\langle 0, 1 \rangle$ .

On the other hand, when all  $\alpha$ -tokens transferred to place  $l_4$ , token  $\beta$  enters place  $l_6$  with a characteristic, the set of all  $\alpha$ -token's characteristic, i.e., " $\{S_1, S_2, ..., S_m\}$ ".

The GN-transition  $Z_2$  has the form:

$$Z_{2} = \langle \{l_{4}, l_{5}, l_{8}\}, \{l_{8}, l_{9}, l_{10}\}, \frac{\begin{vmatrix} l_{8} & l_{9} & l_{10} \\ \hline l_{4} & true & false & false \\ l_{5} & false & false & true \\ l_{8} & false & W_{8,9} & false \end{vmatrix} \rangle,$$

where

 $W_{8.9} =$  "there is a token in place  $l_{11}$ ".

The  $\alpha$ -tokens are collected without any characteristic in place  $l_8$ . They will continue their path to place  $l_9$ , without a characteristic, too, when there is an objective estimation of the alternatives (token  $\delta$  in place  $l_{11}$ ). Token  $\gamma$  obtains as a characteristic the following IM

$$S = \begin{array}{c|c} A_1 & A_2 & \dots & A_p \\ \hline C_1 & & & \\ \hline C_1 & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ C_2 & & & \\ C_2 & & & \\ & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & &$$

where  $\alpha_{j,k}$  and  $\beta_{j,k}$  can be calculated by different formulas, with respect to some specific aims. For example, such formulas are the following:

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_{j,k} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \delta_i . \alpha_{j,k}^i}{m} \\ \beta_{j,k} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon_i . \beta_{j,k}^i}{m} \end{cases}$$

(here the average degrees of experts' reliability are taken into account),

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_{j,k} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \delta_{i,j} \cdot \alpha_{j,k}^{i}}{m} \\ \beta_{j,k} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} \varepsilon_{i,j} \cdot \beta_{j,k}^{i}}{m} \end{cases}$$

(here only the experts' degrees of reliability estimated by the corresponding criteria are taken into account).

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_{j,k} = \frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{m} \overline{\alpha}_{j,k}^{i}}{m} \\ \\ \beta_{j,k} = \frac{\sum\limits_{i=1}^{m} \overline{\beta}_{j,k}^{i}}{m} \end{cases},$$

where  $\overline{\alpha}_{j,k}^{i}$  and  $\overline{\beta}_{j,k}^{i}$  can also be calculated by various formulas, according to particular goals and experts' knowledge. For example, such formulas can be:

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\alpha}_{j,k}^{i} = \gamma_{i}.\frac{\alpha_{j,k}^{i}.\delta_{i,j} + \beta_{j,k}^{i}.\varepsilon_{i,j}}{\gamma_{i} + 1}\\ \overline{\beta}_{j,k}^{i} = \gamma_{i}.\frac{\alpha_{j,k}^{i}.\varepsilon_{i,j} + \beta_{j,k}^{i}.\delta_{i,j}}{\gamma_{i} + 1} \end{cases}$$

or

$$\begin{cases} \overline{\alpha}_{j,k}^{i} = \alpha_{j,k}^{i} \cdot \frac{\delta_{i,j} + 1 - \varepsilon_{i,j}}{2} \\ \overline{\beta}_{j,k}^{i} = \beta_{j,k}^{i} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{i,j} + 1 - \delta_{i,j}}{2} \end{cases}$$

The first formula takes into account not only the rating of each expert by the different criteria, but also the number of times he has given an opinion (the first time is neglected, since he does not have a rating then). Obviously, the so constructed elements of the IM satisfy the inequality:  $\alpha_{j,k} + \beta_{j,k} \leq 1$ . This IM contains the average experts estimations taking into account experts ratings. Let each one of the criteria  $C_j(1 \leq j \leq q_{cu})$  have a priority  $\varphi_j \in [0, 1]$ . This information will be put in the initial characteristic of token  $\beta$ . We can determine for every alternative  $A_k$  the global estimation  $\langle \alpha_k, \beta_k \rangle$ , where

$$\begin{cases} \alpha_k = \frac{\sum\limits_{j=1}^{q_{cu}} \varphi_j . \alpha_{j,k}}{q_{cu}} \\ \beta_k = \frac{\sum\limits_{j=1}^{q_{cu}} \varphi_j . \beta_{j,k}}{q_{cu}} \end{cases}$$

Transition  $Z_3$  can be activated only when token  $\delta$  enters place  $l_{11}$  with an initial (unique) characteristic in the form of an IM with elements (objective) values about the different criteria:

$$T = \frac{ \begin{array}{c|c} A_1 & A_2 & \dots & A_p \\ \hline C_1 & & \\ \hline & & \\ \vdots & & \\ C_{q_{cu}} & (1 \le j \le q_{cu}, \\ 1 \le k \le p) \end{array}$$

where:  $a_{j,k}, b_{j,k} \in [0, 1]$  and  $a_{j,k} + b_{j,k} \le 1$ .

Here we mention a significant difference between the four examples. It constitutes in the time needed for the experts to understand how well they have made their evaluations and prognoses. In the case of election prognoses, the experts obtain their own score at the moment of the final announcement of the results of the vote. On the other hand, when a job candidate is evaluated, the experts can estimate his/her work in the company in a longer period of time, including periods of adaptation and training, and first finished projects. Moreover, in such case the expert's appraisal may be subjective and liable to refutation.

The transitions  $Z_2$  and  $Z_3$  will be active until all  $\alpha$ -tokens from place  $l_8$  go to place  $l_{12}$  through place  $l_9$ . Its form is

$$Z_3 = <\{l_9, l_{10}, l_{11}\}, \{l_{12}, l_{13}, l_{14}\},\$$

$$\begin{array}{c|cccc} & l_{12} & l_{13} & l_{14} \\ \hline l_9 & true & false & false \\ l_{10} & false & false & true \\ l_{11} & false & true & false \\ \end{array}$$

In the present model, token  $\delta$  leaves the GN via place  $l_{13}$  without a final characteristic, but in the future GN-models they will obtain characteristics related, e.g. to the behaviour of the process flow and GN functioning, to the alternatives and criteria, etc.

Token  $\alpha_i$  enters place  $l_{12}$  with final characteristic "expert's new rating,  $\langle \delta_i, \varepsilon_i \rangle$ , and new number of participances in expert investigations,  $\gamma'_i$ ". The values of this characteristic are estimated by formulas

$$\gamma_i' = \gamma_i + 1,$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \delta'_i = \frac{\gamma_i . \delta_i + \frac{c_M - c_i}{2}}{\gamma'_i}, \\ \varepsilon'_i = \frac{\gamma_i . \varepsilon_i - \frac{c_M - c_i}{2}}{\gamma'_i}, \end{cases}, \end{cases}$$

where

$$c_i = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{q_{cu}} \sum_{k=1}^{p} \left( (\alpha_{j,k} - a_{j,k})^2 + (\beta_{j,k} - b_{j,k})^2 \right)^{1/2}}{pq_{cu}},$$

and

 $c_M = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n c_i}{n}.$ 

Token  $\gamma$  enters place  $l_{14}$  with a characteristic "IM T". We remind that its previous characteristic is IM S.

The GN-transition  $X_1$  (the first of the new transitions) has the form:

$$X_1 = \langle \{l_6, l_{14}\}, \{k_9, k_{10}\}, \overline{\begin{array}{c|c} k_9 & k_{10} \\ \hline l_6 & true & false \\ l_{14} & false & true \end{array}} \rangle.$$

Token  $\gamma$  from  $l_{14}$  enters place  $k_{10}$  with a characteristic "list of all used criteria in the process of decision making". Therefore, it contains the criteria, given to the experts, as well as the new criteria, introduced by the separate experts and used in the time of the process. Token  $\beta$  from  $l_6$  enters place  $k_9$  with a characteristic "IM U", where

$$U = \frac{\begin{vmatrix} A_{1,1} \dots A_{1,m} A_{1,m+1} A_{1,m+2} \dots A_{p,1} \dots A_{p,m} A_{p,m+1} A_{p,m+2} \\ \hline C_1 \\ & \\ \vdots \\ & \\ C_{k,i,j}, \beta_{k,i,j} \rangle \\ \vdots \\ & \\ C_{q_{cu}} \end{vmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} (1 \le i \le m, \\ 1 \le j \le q_{cu}, \\ 1 \le k \le p) \end{vmatrix},$$

where  $\langle \alpha_{k,i,j}, \beta_{k,i,j} \rangle$ ,  $\langle \alpha_{k,m+1,j}, \beta_{k,m+1,j} \rangle$  and  $\langle \alpha_{k,m+2,j}, \beta_{k,m+2,j} \rangle$  are, respectively, the evaluations of the *i*-th expert  $(1 \leq i \leq m)$ , aggregated evaluation of all experts (with index i = m + 1) and objective result (with index i = m + 2) for the *k*-th alternative about *j*-th criterion. Alternatives  $A_{k,i}$  for each *i* coincide, but their evaluations are different and by this reason we can interpret them as different objects. IM *U* can have simpler form, if we include in it only experts evaluations, i.e., without the aggregated evaluations and objective results.

Token  $\zeta$  enters place  $k_{11}$  with initial characteristic "(meta)criterion for a choice for near criteria". We discuss its meaning below.

$$X_2 = \langle \{k_9, k_{11}\}, \{k_{12}\}, \frac{k_{12}}{k_9}, \frac{k_{12}}{k_{14}} \rangle.$$

In place  $k_{12}$ , tokens  $\beta$  and  $\zeta$  unite in token  $\beta$  with a characteristic "IM V, list of near pair of criteria". The first component of this characteristic is obtained by the procedure, that we describe following [5,6,8]. It is the basic component of the so called intercriteria analysis. Here, it is described from intuitionistic fuzzy point of view (see, [8]).

Let us have the set of objects  $O = \{O_1, O_2, ..., O_n\}$  that must be evaluated by criteria from the set  $C = \{C_1, C_2, ..., C_m\}$ .

Let us have an IM

where for every p, q  $(1 \le p \le m, 1 \le q \le n)$ :

- (1)  $C_p$  is a criterion, taking part in the evaluation,
- (2)  $O_q$  is an object, being evaluated.

(3)  $a_{C_p,O_q}$  is a variable, formula or  $a_{C_p,O_q} = \langle \alpha_{C_p,O_q}, \beta_{C_p,O_q} \rangle$  is an intuitionistic fuzzy pair, that is comparable about relation R with the other *a*-objects, so that for each i, j, k:  $R(a_{C_k,O_i}, a_{C_k,O_j})$  is defined. Let  $\overline{R}$  be the dual relation of R in the sense that if R is satisfied, then  $\overline{R}$  is not satisfied and vice versa. For example, if "R" is the relation "<", then  $\overline{R}$  is the relation ">", and vice versa.

Let  $S_{k,l}^{\mu}$  be the number of cases in which

$$\langle \alpha_{C_k,O_i}, \beta_{C_k,O_i} \rangle \leq \langle \alpha_{C_k,O_j}, \beta_{C_k,O_j} \rangle$$

and

$$\langle \alpha_{C_l,O_i}, \beta_{C_l,O_i} \rangle \leq \langle \alpha_{C_l,O_j}, \beta_{C_l,O_j} \rangle$$

or

$$\langle \alpha_{C_k,O_i}, \beta_{C_k,O_i} \rangle \ge \langle \alpha_{C_k,O_j}, \beta_{C_k,O_j} \rangle$$

and

$$\langle \alpha_{C_l,O_i}, \beta_{C_l,O_i} \rangle \geq \langle \alpha_{C_l,O_j}, \beta_{C_l,O_j} \rangle$$

are simultaneously satisfied.

Let  $S_{k,l}^{\nu}$  be the number of cases in which

 $\left< \alpha_{C_k,O_i}, \beta_{C_k,O_i} \right> \geq \left< \alpha_{C_k,O_j}, \beta_{C_k,O_j} \right>$ 

and

$$\langle \alpha_{C_l,O_i}, \beta_{C_l,O_i} \rangle \leq \langle \alpha_{C_l,O_j}, \beta_{C_l,O_j} \rangle,$$

or

$$\langle \alpha_{C_k,O_i}, \beta_{C_k,O_i} \rangle \leq \langle \alpha_{C_k,O_j}, \beta_{C_k,O_j} \rangle$$

and

$$\langle \alpha_{C_l,O_i}, \beta_{C_l,O_i} \rangle \ge \langle \alpha_{C_l,O_j}, \beta_{C_l,O_j} \rangle$$

are simultaneously satisfied.

Obviously,

$$S_{k,l}^{\mu} + S_{k,l}^{\nu} \le \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$$

Now, for every k, l, such that  $1 \le k < l \le m$  and for  $n \ge 2$ , we define

$$\mu_{C_k,C_l} = 2 \frac{S_{k,l}^{\mu}}{n(n-1)}, \quad \nu_{C_k,C_l} = 2 \frac{S_{k,l}^{\nu}}{n(n-1)}.$$

Hence,

$$\mu_{C_k,C_l} + \nu_{C_k,C_l} = 2\frac{S_{k,l}^{\mu}}{n(n-1)} + 2\frac{S_{k,l}^{\nu}}{n(n-1)} \le 1.$$

Therefore,  $\langle \mu_{C_k,C_l}, \nu_{C_k,C_l} \rangle$  is an IFP.

Now, we can construct the IM

$$\frac{C_1 \cdots C_m}{C_1 \langle \mu_{C_1,C_1}, \nu_{C_1,C_1} \rangle \cdots \langle \mu_{C_1,C_m}, \nu_{C_1,C_m} \rangle} \\
\vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\
C_m \langle \mu_{C_m,C_1}, \nu_{C_m,C_1} \rangle \cdots \langle \mu_{C_m,C_m}, \nu_{C_m,C_m} \rangle$$

that determines the degrees of correspondence between criteria  $C_1, \ldots, C_m$ .

When objects  $O_1, ..., O_n$  and criteria  $C_1, ..., C_m$  from the above procedure coincide with our alternatives and criteria, respectively, we obtain the IM V that is the first component of the token  $\beta$  characteristic. The second component of this characteristic is obtained on the basis of the token  $\zeta$  characteristic. Using it, we obtain the list of the near criteria.

Token  $\eta$  enters place  $k_{13}$  with initial characteristic "(meta)criterion for a choice of a better criterion between two given ones". This (meta)criterion can determine the better criterion because it is easier for checking, chipper, requires less time for checking. etc.

$$X_3 = \langle \{k_{12}, k_{13}\}, \{k_{14}\}, \frac{k_{14}}{k_{12}}, \frac{k_{14}}{k_{13}} \rangle.$$

In place  $k_{14}$ , tokens  $\beta$  and  $\eta$  unite in token  $\beta$  with a characteristic "list of bad criteria".

$$X_4 = \langle \{k_{10}, k_{14}\}, \{k_{15}\}, \overline{k_{10} | true} \rangle.$$
  
$$k_{14} | true$$

In place  $k_{15}$ , tokens  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  unite in token  $\beta$  with a characteristic "list of good criteria", i.e.,  $x_{cu}^{\beta} = x_{cu}^{\gamma} - x_{cu-1}^{\beta}$ , where operation "-" between both characteristics is in set-theoretical sense.

#### 3 Conclusion

The paper is a first attempt to unite two mathematical objects - the GNs and intercriteria analysis, that is used for increasing the effectiveness of decision making processes.

In a next research we shall discuss a possible extensions of the so constructed GN-model including other decision making activities and other applications of the intercriteria analysis.

The authors work on two projects, provided by the Bulgarian National Science Fund. The present paper is the joint point of both ones.

Acknowledgements. The authors are thankful for the support provided by the Bulgarian National Science Fund under Grant Ref. No. DFNI-I-02-5 "InterCriteria Analysis: A New Approach to Decision Making" and DN-02/10 "New Instruments for Knowledge Discovery from Data, and their Modelling".

## References

- Alexieva, J., Choy, E., Koycheva, E.: Review and bibliography on generalized nets theory and applications. In: Choy, E., Krawczak, M., Shannon, A., Szmidt, E. (eds.) A Survey of Generalized Nets, Raffles KvB Monograph No. 10, pp. 207–301 (2007)
- 2. Atanassov, K.: Generalized Nets. World Scientific, Singapore, London (1991)
- Atanassov, K.: On Generalized Nets Theory. Prof. M. Drinov Academic Publ. House, Sofia (2007)
- 4. Atanassov, K.: On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Theory. Springer, Berlin (2012)
- Atanassov, K.: Index Matrices: Towards an Augmented Matrix Calculus. Springer, Cham (2014)
- Atanassov, K., Mavrov, D., Atanassova, V.: Intercriteria decision making: a new approach for multicriteria decision making, based on index matrices and intuitionistic fuzzy sets. In: Issues in Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized Nets, vol. 11, pp. 1–8 (2014)
- Atanassov, K., Szmidt, E., Kacprzyk, J.: On intuitionistic fuzzy pairs. Notes Intuit. Fuzzy Sets 19(3), 1–13 (2013)
- Bureva, V., Sotirova, E., Atanassova, V., Angelova, N., Atanassov, K.: Intercriteria analysis over intuitionistic fuzzy data. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Large-Scale Scientific Computations, 5–9 June 2017, Sozopol, Bulgaria (in press)
- Pasi G., Atanassov, K., Pinto, P.M., Yager, R., Atanassova, V.: Multi-person multicriteria decision making: intuitionistic fuzzy approach and generalized net model. In: Proceedings of the 10th ISPE International Conference on Concurrent Engineering, Advanced Design, Production and Management Systems, 26–30 July 2003, Madeira, pp. 1073–1078
- Pasi, G., Yager, R., Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy graph interpretations of multi-person multi-criteria decision making: generalized net approach. In: Proceedings of Second International IEEE Conference Intelligent Systems, Varna, 22–24 June 2004, vol. 2, pp. 434–439

# From Semi-fuzzy to Fuzzy Quantifiers via Łukasiewicz Logic and Games

Paolo Baldi $^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Christian G. Fermüller

TU Wien, Vienna, Austria {baldi,chris}@logic.at

**Abstract.** Various challenges for lifting semi-fuzzy quantifier models to fully fuzzy ones are discussed. The aim is to embed such models into Lukasiewicz logic in a systematic manner. Corresponding extensions of Giles' game with random choices of constants as well as precisifications of fuzzy models are introduced for this purpose.

### 1 Introduction

Fuzzy logic provides formal models of vague quantifier expressions like many, few, almost all, about half, etc. Following Zadeh [14], the literature on corresponding fuzzy quantifiers is huge: we refer to the monograph [12] and to the more recent survey article [2] for an verview of relevant literature. Following a useful and well argued suggestion by Glöckner [12], a truth function for a fuzzy quantifier should be determined in two separate steps: (1) define a suitable *semi-fuzzy* quantifier, where the (scope and range) predicates are crisp (i.e. classical 0/1valued) and (2) lift the semi-fuzzy quantifier to a (fully) fuzzy quantifier in some systematic and uniform manner. Regarding step (1) we will refer to an approach based on extensions of Giles's game for Łukasiewicz logic [10] that involve random choices of witness elements. But in this paper we will focus on step (2). After reviewing various shortcomings of existing approaches, Glöckner proposed an axiomatic approach for this second step, arriving at a corresponding quantifier fuzzification mechanism (QFM). However, Glöckner's QFM is still unsatisfying in some respects. In particular it is incompatible with the paradigm of mathematical fuzzy logic [1], where implication is understood as the residuum of (strong) conjunction.

After reviewing some basic notions regarding quantifiers, Łukasiewicz logic Ł, and Giles's game for Ł, we will explain some problems that may arise for lifting semi-fuzzy quantifier models to fully fuzzy ones. We then discuss in a systematic manner various quantifier fuzzification methods that arise from considering *precisifications* of fuzzy interpretations. A central aim in this endeavor is to embed the quantifier models into (suitable extensions of) Lukasiewicz logic. Moreover, we want to avoid *ad hoc* definitions of truth functions. For this reason, our main tools are certain extensions of Giles game, where one considers random

Work supported by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) project FWF I1897-N25.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_11

choices of domain elements (constants) as well as choices of precisifications, in addition to moves by the two strategic players of the game. We conclude with a brief summary and some hints on further topics for related research.

### 2 Types of Quantification

We are interested in models of vague quantifier expressions like almost all, about half, at least about a quarter. We focus on unary (also known as monadic or type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ ) quantification, where the scope of the quantified statement consists of a single formula and where the quantifier binds a single object variable. Vagueness will be modeled by fuzziness. A fuzzy set  $\tilde{S}_D$  is a function of type  $D \to [0, 1]$ , where the (crisp) set D is the underlying domain or universe. Similarly, an n-ary fuzzy relation is a function of type  $D^n \to [0, 1]$ . Every interpretation  $\mathcal{M}$  with domain D assigns an n-ary fuzzy relation over D to each n-ary predicate symbol. Any unary fuzzy quantifier  $\tilde{Q}$  is interpreted by a truth function which assigns a truth degree (truth value) in [0, 1] to each fuzzy set over the domain. As a special case of fuzzy quantification, we obtain semi-fuzzy quantifiers by restricting the scope to classical predicates (corresponding to crisp sets).

Throughout this paper we will assume that the domain D is *finite*; an assumption that is justified by the intended application of modeling natural language expressions. We will focus on a specific, but very common type of quantifiers, namely *proportionality quantifiers*, where, in the (unary) semi-fuzzy case, the degree of truth of the quantified sentence depends only on the fraction of domain elements that satisfy the scope predicate. Given an interpretation  $\mathcal{M}$  with domain D and a formula F we define<sup>1</sup>

$$Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F) = \sum_{d \in D} \frac{v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(d))}{|D|}.$$

When F is a classical formula, then  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$  is  $|\{d \in D : v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(d)) = 1\}|/|D|$  and denotes the proportion of elements of the domain satisfying F under  $\mathcal{M}$ . Hence, if  $\mathbb{Q}$  is a semi-fuzzy proportionality quantifier,  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathbb{Q}xF(x))$  is uniquely determined by  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$ . In the general fuzzy case, we can read  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$  as the average truth value of F under  $\mathcal{M}$ . It is much more straightforward to judge the linguistic adequateness of semi-fuzzy quantifiers as models of vague (proportional) quantification, than to deal directly with the general case, where the scope predicate may be vague as well. For this reason, as already mentioned in the introduction, Glöckner [12] suggested to split the design of adequate fuzzy models of vague quantifiers into two separate steps:

- (1) specify the truth function for a semi-fuzzy quantifier,
- (2) lift the function obtained in (1) to the fully fuzzy case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For convenience, we identify constant symbols with domain elements.

For step (2) Glöckner introduced the notion of a quantifier fuzzification mechanism (QFM) and presented a range of axioms that should be satisfied by a QFM that lifts a wide class of semi-fuzzy to fuzzy quantifiers in a uniform manner. While we definitely agree with the usefulness of splitting the task of designing fuzzy logic based quantifier models as indicated, there remains a number of challenges. In particular it is left unclear how task (1) can be accomplished without resorting to *ad hoc* decisions for selecting appropriate truth functions.

Of particular importance for the current paper, we moreover argue that the corresponding quantifiers should be embeddable into (full) Lukasiewicz logic or at least into some other t-norm based fuzzy logic, as suggested by the paradigm of Hájek [13], which provides the basis for contemporary Mathematical Fuzzy Logic [1]. The approach of Glöckner [12] as well as that of many others (see [2]) leaves much to be desired in this respect. Here, we will not deal directly with step (1), but rather rely on a framework for the systematic design of semi-fuzzy proportionality quantifiers, based on Giles's game for Lukasiewicz logic (see Sect. 4).

## 3 Lukasiewicz Logic

As already indicated, we do not want to consider fuzzy quantifiers in isolation, but rather suggest that such quantifiers should lead to natural generalizations of well understood deductive fuzzy logics, as investigated under the heading of contemporary Mathematical Fuzzy Logic [1]. Among the corresponding t-norm based logics, Lukasiewicz logic  $\pounds$  can be singled out as particularly important, since it has the unique property that the truth functions of *all* logical connectives are continuous<sup>2</sup> functions [1]. The semantics of the propositional connectives of (full) Lukasiewicz logic is given by the following truth functions:

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(F \land G) = \min(v_{\mathcal{M}}(F), v_{\mathcal{M}}(G)) \ v_{\mathcal{M}}(F \odot G) = \max(0, v_{\mathcal{M}}(F) + v_{\mathcal{M}}(G) - 1)$$
$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(F \lor G) = \max(v_{\mathcal{M}}(F), v_{\mathcal{M}}(G)) \ v_{\mathcal{M}}(F \oplus G) = \min(1, v_{\mathcal{M}}(F) + v_{\mathcal{M}}(G))$$
$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(F \to G) = \min(1, 1 - v_{\mathcal{M}}(F) + v_{\mathcal{M}}(G))$$
$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(\bot) = 0 \qquad v_{\mathcal{M}}(\top) = 1 \qquad v_{\mathcal{M}}(\neg F) = 1 - v_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$$

Universal and existential quantification is specified as follows:

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(\forall xF(x)) = \inf_{c \in D}(v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(c))) \qquad v_{\mathcal{M}}(\exists xF(x)) = \sup_{c \in D}(v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(c)))$$

There is a further reason for choosing Lukasiewicz logic as a frame for designing formal models of vague language: already in the 1970s Robin Giles [10,11] provided a game based semantics for  $\pounds$ , that allows one to justify the particular choice of truth functions with respect to first principles about approximate reasoning. As we will see in the next section, Giles's game provides a suitable base for extending  $\pounds$  with further quantifiers in a principled manner.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  In rival candidates, like Gödel logic or Product logic the truth function for implication is not continuous.

#### 4 Giles's Game and Semi-fuzzy Quantifiers

In Giles's game for L, two players (You and Myself) stepwise reduce logically complex assertions (formulas) to their atomic components via systematic attack and corresponding defense moves. A state of the game is given by two multisets (*tenets*) of formulas, written as

$$[F_1,\ldots,F_m\mid G_1,\ldots,G_n],$$

where  $F_1, \ldots, F_m$  denotes the multiset of formulas currently asserted by You (your tenet), whereas  $G_1, \ldots, G_n$  denotes the multiset of formulas currently asserted by Myself (my tenet). The rules of the game specify how the player in role **P** ('proponent') may react to an attack by the player in role **O** ('opponent') on an occurrence of one the formulas asserted by **P**. For example, an attack (by **O**) on  $\forall xF(x)$  has to be answered by **P** with the assertion of F(c), where the constant c is chosen by **O**. Whereas in replying to an attack on  $\exists xF(x), \mathbf{P}$  chooses the instance F(c) that replaces the attacked formula occurrence in the multiset of formulas currently asserted by her. Similar rules apply to propositional connectives: if a disjunctive formula  $A \lor B$  is attacked, then it is replaced by either A or B, according to a choice by **P**, etc. In particular, implication and strong conjunction are specified by the following rules:

- $(R_{\rightarrow})$  If **P** asserts  $F \rightarrow G$  then, if **O** chooses to attack this formula occurrence, it is replaced by G in **P**'s tenet and F is added to **O**'s tenet; otherwise, if **O** chooses not to attack this occurrence of  $F \rightarrow G$ , it is removed from **P**'s tenet.  $(R_{\odot})$  If **P** asserts  $F \odot G$  then **P** has to reply to **O**'s attack by either asserting F
  - as well as G or else  $\perp$  instead of  $F \odot G$ .

In any case, the successor state of the game is obtained by removing the attacked formula occurrence and adding zero or more immediate subformulas, or the logical constant  $\perp$  to my or your tenet. This is repeated until a state is reached, where all asserted formulas are atomic. At such a final state the payoff for Myself is given by

$$m-n+1+\sum_{1\leq i\leq n}v_{\mathcal{M}}(G_i)-\sum_{1\leq i\leq m}v_{\mathcal{M}}(F_i),$$

where  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(A)$  denotes the truth value<sup>3</sup> assigned to the atomic formula A by the given interpretation  $\mathcal{M}$ . Giles [10] (essentially) proved that for every formula F of Łukasiewicz logic, there is a strategy for Myself that guarantees a final payoff of  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$  if both players play rationally according to the rules of the outlined

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The payoff scheme may look arbitrary at a first glimpse. However it results from Giles's interpretation of the truth value of a given atom A in terms of the expected loss for a player, who has to pay a fixed amount of money (say 1 Euro) to the opposing player, if a certain experiment  $E_A$  associated with A fails. Such (binary) experiments may show dispersion, i.e. repeated executions of the same experiment  $E_A$  may show different results. However for each A a fixed *failure probability* (risk) is associated to  $E_A$ .

(finite, two person, perfect information) game. When this is the case, we say that the truth functions used in  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$  for interpreting the connectives and quantifiers match the corresponding game rules. Here we are interested in game rules—and the resulting truth functions—for proportional semi-fuzzy quantifiers. To obtain such rules Fermüller and Roschger [7,8] considered uniformly random choices of witnessing constants, in addition to the choices made by the two strategic players in roles **P** and **O**, as indicated above for the classical quantifiers  $\forall$  and  $\exists$ . The most basic of such rules introduces a new random choice quantifier  $\Pi$  as follows.

 $(R_{\Pi})$  If **P** asserts  $\Pi x F(x)$  then this formula occurrence is replaced by F(c), where c is a (uniformly) randomly chosen constant.

We will call  $\pounds$  ( $\Pi$ ) the expansion of  $\pounds$  with the random choice quantifier  $\Pi$ . More generally, rules for a quantified formula QxF(x) feature bets for and bets against instances F(c) of its scope formula, where c is a randomly chosen constant. A bet for F(c) is simply an assertion of F(c) by the corresponding player, whereas a bet against F(c) means that  $\bot$  has to be asserted, while the opposing player asserts F(c). Following [7,8], these notions allow us to formulate, e.g., the following families of rules for so-called *blind choice quantifiers*.

- $(R_{\mathsf{L}_m^k})$  If **P** asserts  $\mathsf{L}_m^k x F(x)$  then **O** may attack by betting for k random instances of F(x), while **P** bets against m random instances of F(x).
- $(R_{\mathbf{G}_m^k})$  If  $\mathbf{P}$  assert  $\mathbf{G}_m^k x F(x)$  then  $\mathbf{O}$  may attack by betting against m random instances of F(x), while  $\mathbf{P}$  bets for k random instances of F(x).

Some clarifications are needed to render these rules intelligible:

- 1. 'Blind choice' signifies that the identity of the randomly picked constants  $c_1, \ldots, c_n$  used for the relevant random instances  $F(c_1), \ldots, F(c_n)$  is revealed to the players only after they have placed their bets.
- 2. The choices of constants are *uniformly random* and *independent* of each other. In particular, the same constant may be picked more than once. Therefore the random instances form multisets, rather than sets of formulas.
- 3. Attacks are always optional in a Giles style game, which means that (the player in role) **O** can always decide that the attacked formula is simply removed from the current state. Giles speaks of a 'principle of limited liability' for attack (LLA) in such a situation.
- 4. A 'principle of limited liability' for defense (LLD) is also in place: if attacked by O then P may always decide to replace the attacked formula occurrence by ⊥, rather than to continue the game as indicated in the above rules.

As shown in [8] the above rules, together with the just mentioned principles of limited liability, allow one to extract the following corresponding truth functions:

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathsf{L}_m^k x F(x)) = \min\{1, \max\{0, 1+k - (m+k) \operatorname{Prop}_{\mathcal{M}}(F)\}\}$$
(1)

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathsf{G}_{m}^{k}xF(x)) = \min\{1, \max\{0, 1-k+(m+k)Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)\}\}.$$
 (2)

These quantifiers are definable in  $L(\Pi)$  using additional truth constants [5].

## 5 Problems with Lifting

It is tempting to extend the above framework for semi-fuzzy quantifiers to fully fuzzy quantifiers by just applying the same functions and game rules to fuzzy predicates. From a purely mathematical point of view, no problem arises: for any formula F in the scope of a quantifier we can just compute  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$  and plug the obtained value into the corresponding truth functions. However, this leads to results that run counter to expectations on the behavior of vague quantifiers in natural language, as illustrated by the following example.

*Example 1.* Let F a predicate standing for "is tall". We want to evaluate the sentence About half (of the elements of the domain) are tall. For modeling About half we use the quantifier  $H_0^1x$ , introduced in [8] and shown there to be equivalent to  $G_1^1x \wedge L_1^1x$ . It is straightforward to see that

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(\mathsf{H}_{0}^{1}x(F(x))) = \max\{0, \min\{2Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F), 2 - 2Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)\}\}$$

We now consider the following two interpretations  $\mathcal{M}_1$  and  $\mathcal{M}_2$  under the same domain  $D = \{d_1, d_2, d_3, d_4\}$ . Under the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_1$  we let  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_1)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_2)) = 0.1$  and  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_3)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_4)) = 0.9$ . Under the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_2$  we let instead  $v_{\mathcal{M}_2}(F(d)) = 0.5$  for any  $d \in D$ . Note that  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F) = Prop_{\mathcal{M}_2}(F) = 0.5$ , hence  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_2}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x)) = 1$ .

In the first interpretation we have two almost clear cases of tall people and two almost clear cases of not tall people, and we correctly obtain a high value for  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x))$ . In the second interpretation instead, all individuals of the domain are meant to be of perfectly average height. Of course there is no clear fact in this situation which would determine the "correct" truth value, but we would expect it to be smaller than in the first interpretation. As we saw above, however,  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_2}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x))$ . Informally, the approach is not sensitive to the difference between About half (of the people) are tall and All (of the people) are about half tall. Note that using any other truth function for the quantifier About half defined only in terms of the average truth value  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)$ would not help. The example shows that, when evaluating a fuzzy quantifier over fuzzy predicates, one should also keep track of how the truth values are distributed over the elements of the domain.

### 6 Fuzzification via Random Precisification

Assume that we have a sentence QxF(x), where Q is a fuzzy quantifier corresponding to a semi-fuzzy quantifier Q, and let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an interpretation evaluating F over [0, 1]. As we saw before, we cannot interpret  $\tilde{Q}$  just in the same way as Q. To obtain more satisfactory models, we first need to associate to the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}$  a set of interpretations evaluating F as a classical formula, so that the corresponding semi-fuzzy quantifier Q can be evaluated properly. Following the terminology used in supervaluationist accounts of vagueness [6,9], we call such a set of interpretations the *admissible precisifications*<sup>4</sup> of  $\mathcal{M}$  and denote it by  $C_{\mathcal{M}}$ . Informally  $C_{\mathcal{M}}$  collects the "reasonable" ways of making  $\mathcal{M}$  precise (i.e. classical) over atomic formulas. A simple idea for the evaluation of fuzzy quantifiers via reduction to precisifications has been introduced in [4]. It can be formulated via the following *random-precisification* based rule, which extends Giles' game for  $\mathfrak{t}(Q)$ , where Q is a semi-fuzzy quantifier, to a corresponding fuzzy quantifier  $\tilde{Q}$ :

 $(R_{\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}}^{RP})$  If **P** asserts  $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}xF(x)$  and **O** attacks the formula, a precisification  $\mathcal{M}'$  is chosen randomly from  $C_{\mathcal{M}}$  and **P** has to assert  $\mathbf{Q}x(F(x))$ , where this formula occurrence is evaluated over  $\mathcal{M}'$ .

A truth function for  $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}$  matching this rule is obtained as the *expected value* of  $v_{\mathcal{M}'}(\mathbf{Q}xF(x))$ , where  $\mathcal{M}'$  ranges over the set of admissible precisifications  $C_{\mathcal{M}}$ . Even though not explicitly required by the general framework, we can assume that the random choice of a precisification from  $C_{\mathcal{M}}$  follows a uniform distribution. A natural way to instantiate  $(R_{\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}}^{RP})$  is by letting

$$C_{\mathcal{M}} = \{ \mathcal{M}^{\geq \alpha} \mid \alpha \in [0, 1] \},\$$

where  $\mathcal{M}^{\geq \alpha}$  denotes the interpretation such that, for any atomic formula A,  $v_{\mathcal{M}^{\geq \alpha}}(A) = 1$  if  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(A) \geq \alpha$  and  $v_{\mathcal{M}^{\geq \alpha}}(A) = 0$  otherwise. Hence we can think of the random choice of a precisification as coinciding with the random choice of a value  $\alpha$  acting as a threshold. The truth function matching  $(R_{\tilde{Q}}^{RP})$  is then obtained as:

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(\widetilde{\mathsf{Q}}xF(x)) = \int_0^1 v_{\mathcal{M}^{\geq \alpha}}(\mathsf{Q}xF(x))d\alpha.$$

The same evaluation function and corresponding lifting mechanism for fuzzy quantifier is also obtained in [3], though motivated by a different semantics, based on voting models. In [3] it is also shown that the model satisfies many, though not all of Glöckner's desiderata for a quantifier fuzzification mechanism. Let us look now how this approach deals with the Example 1.

Example 1 (continued). Let  $b_0 = 0, b_1 = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_1)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_2)) = 0.1$ ,  $b_2 = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_3)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d_4)) = 0.9, b_3 = 1$ . Clearly, for any  $b_{i-1} < \alpha \le b_i$  we have  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1^{\geq \alpha}}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_1^{\geq b_i}}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x))$ . As the domain D is finite, we get

$$v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{\mathsf{H}_0^1} x F(x)) = \sum_{i=1}^3 (b_i - b_{i-1}) \cdot v_{\mathcal{M}_1^{\geq b_i}}(\mathsf{H}_0^1 x F(x))$$

 $= 0.1 \cdot v_{\mathcal{M}_{1}^{\geq 0.1}}(\mathsf{H}_{0}^{1}xF(x)) + 0.8 \cdot v_{\mathcal{M}_{1}^{\geq 0.9}}(\mathsf{H}_{0}^{1}xF(x)) + 0.1 \cdot v_{\mathcal{M}_{1}^{\geq 1}}(\mathsf{H}_{0}^{1}xF(x)) = 0.8.$ For the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_{2}$  we instead obtain

$$v_{\mathcal{M}_2}(\widetilde{\mathsf{H}_0^1}xF(x)) = 0.5 \cdot v_{\mathcal{M}_2^{\ge 0.5}}(\mathsf{H}_0^1xF(x)) + 0.5 \cdot v_{\mathcal{M}_1^{\ge 1}}(\mathsf{H}_0^1xF(x)) = 0.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Note that, despite the fact that a precisification evaluates atomic formulas classically, the valuation under a precisification of a formula involving a semi-fuzzy quantifier might be an intermediate value in [0, 1].

This computation of the expected value of  $H_0^1 x F(x)$  over the admissible precisifications delivers more adequate results than the naive application of the function for  $H_0^1$ . From our perspective though, the fuzzification mechanism recalled here still poses a problem: we lose the possibility of expressing fuzzy quantifiers in the language of the logic  $L(\Pi)$  – in contrast to the case for the semi-fuzzy quantifiers introduced in [8]. To embed fuzzy quantifiers in a Łukasiewicz logic based framework, we have to consider appropriate expansions of  $L(\Pi)$ . One way of doing so consists in introducing a random choice quantifier  $\Pi p$  operating over propositional variables rather than over elements of the domain. Game semantically, given a formula F containing occurrences of a propositional variable p, we can interpret  $\Pi pF(p)$  via the following rule.

 $(R_{\Pi_p})$  If **O** attacks  $\Pi pF(p)$ , a ropositional variable p' is randomly chosen and **P** has to assert F(p').

The random choice of a propositional variable can be seen as a syntactic counterpart of the random choice of a threshold truth value. In addition, we need to expand  $\mathcal{L}(\Pi)$  with the well-known unary connective  $\Delta$  (see e.g. [1]), given by  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(\Delta F) = 1$  if  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F) = 1$  and 0 otherwise. In what follows,  $\mathcal{L}^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ denotes the corresponding expansion of  $\mathcal{L}(\Pi)$ . It is easy to see that, if  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(p) = \alpha$ , then  $v_{\mathcal{M}^{\geq\alpha}}(F(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}}(\Delta(p \to F(x)))$ . Hence in  $\mathcal{L}^{\Delta}(\Pi)$  extended with  $\Pi p$  we can express  $\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}$  by  $\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}xF(x) \equiv \Pi p \mathcal{Q}x(\Delta(p \to F(x)))$  for any fuzzy quantifier  $\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}$ .

### 7 A Closeness-Based Approach to Fuzzy Quantifiers

We will now introduce a different approach to lift semi-fuzzy to fuzzy quantifiers. As in the previous case the idea is rooted in Giles' game semantics setting, but has an important advantage: the resulting fuzzy quantifiers are already definable over the logic  $L^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ . We start by presenting a more abstract framework.

Assume that, at a certain stage of a Giles' game, the player acting as **P** has in its tenet a fuzzy quantified sentence, say  $\tilde{Q}xF(x)$ . If this assertion is attacked by **O**, the following two-step defense ensues:

- (i) **P** adds Qx(F(x)) to his tenet and evaluates this formula occurrence under a precisification  $\mathcal{M}'$  of  $\mathcal{M}$  of his choice.
- (ii) **P** has to state that  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(x))$  is "close" to  $v_{\mathcal{M}'}(F(x))$ .

Playing rationally, the proponent **P** will choose a precisification which maximizes the truth value of the semi-fuzzy quantified sentence, while staying as close as possible to the original truth values of the (fuzzy) predicate (a "reasonable" precisification). Let us consider some possible ways to instantiate the above abstract scheme in Giles' game in such a way as to obtain the expressibility of fuzzy quantifiers in  $L^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ .

First, in addressing step (i) above, we may reduce the choice of a precisification to the choice of a certain element of the domain, say c, acting as a threshold. In other words, we take precisifications  $\mathcal{M}^c$  of  $\mathcal{M}$  such that  $v_{\mathcal{M}^c}(F(d)) = 1$  if  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(d)) \geq v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(c))$ , and  $v_{\mathcal{M}^c}(F(d)) = 0$  otherwise. In this setting, we could actually even remove any explicit reference to  $\mathcal{M}^c$ : letting  $F^c(x) \equiv \Delta(F(c) \to F(x))$ , we easily see that  $v_{\mathcal{M}^c}(F(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}}(F^c(x))$ . For ease of reference, in the following we also let  $F^{\top}(x) \equiv \Delta F(x)$ , where  $F^{\top}$  stands for the choice of  $\top$  as a threshold, instead of an element of the domain.

Let us turn now to step (ii). Given two formulas A and B in Lukasiewicz logic, the most obvious way of measuring the closeness of their truth values under a given interpretation is by evaluating  $A \leftrightarrow B$ , i.e.  $(A \to B) \land (B \to A)$ . Thus, a natural way to evaluate how close the formulas  $F^c(x)$  and F(x) are under the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}$  is by computing  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F^c \leftrightarrow F)$ . In the setting of Giles' game, the above ideas for (i) and (ii) result in the following *closeness-based* game rule for  $\tilde{Q}$ .

 $(R_{\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}}^{Cl})$  If **P** asserts  $\tilde{\mathbf{Q}}xF(x)$  and **O** attacks the formula, **P** can either invoke LLD (i.e. dismiss this formula occurrence) or add  $\mathbf{Q}xF^{c}(x)$  to his tenet, where c is either an element of the domain of his choice or  $\top$ . An element d is then randomly chosen and **O** can then choose between the following:

1. **O** adds  $F^{c}(d)$  to his tenet, thereby forcing **P** to add F(d) to his tenet.

2. **O** adds F(d) to his tenet, thereby forcing **P** to add  $F^{c}(d)$  to his tenet.

The states of the game corresponding to **O**'s choices when **P** does not invoke LLD can be depicted as follows ( $\Gamma$  and  $\Sigma$  stand for arbitrary multisets of formulas):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \Gamma \mid \Sigma, \tilde{\mathsf{Q}}xF(x) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$[\Gamma, F^c(d) \mid \Sigma, \mathsf{Q}xF^c(x), F(d)] \qquad [\Gamma, F(d) \mid \Sigma, \mathsf{Q}xF^c(x), F^c(d)]$$

**Proposition 1.** Let us define the formula Cl(QxF(x)) as

$$\exists z (QxF^{z}(x) \odot \Pi y (F^{z}(y) \leftrightarrow F(y))) \lor (Qx(\Delta F(x)) \odot \Pi y (F(y) \leftrightarrow \Delta F(y))).$$

The game rules for Cl(QxF(x)) in Giles' game for Lukasiewicz logic are essentially reducible to  $(R_{\tilde{Q}}^{Cl})$ , modulo some irrelevant change of order: letting  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(\tilde{Q}xF(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}}(Cl(QxF(x)))$ , where

$$v_{\mathcal{M}}(Cl(QxF(x))) = \sup_{c \in D \cup \{\top\}} (\max\{0, Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F^c \leftrightarrow F) + v_{\mathcal{M}}(QxF^c(x)) - 1\}),$$

we obtain an evaluation of  $\tilde{Q}xF(x)$  matching the game rule  $(R^{Cl}_{\tilde{Q}})$ .

Note that the occurrence of  $\Pi y(F^z(y) \leftrightarrow F(y))$  in Cl(QxF(x)) corresponds to asserting that  $F^z(y)$  is "close" to F(y), whereas the subformula  $Qx(\Delta F(x)) \odot \Pi y(F(y) \leftrightarrow \Delta F(y))$  reflects the choice of  $\top$  as a threshold instead of an element of the domain.

Motivated by game semantics, we have thus obtained an abstract characterization of fuzzy quantifiers in terms of semi-fuzzy ones. We remark that simple changes in the choice of connectives and quantifiers in Cl(QxF(x)), lead to different fuzzification mechanisms, still expressible in  $L^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ . Let us check how the approach sketched here fares with respect to Example 1 of Sect. 5.

Example 1 (continued). Under the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_1$ , the supremum in  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(Cl(H_0^1 x F(x)))$  is obtained equivalently by choosing  $d_3$  or  $d_4$  as a threshold element. Hence  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{H}_0^1 x F(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(H_0^1 x F^{d_4}(x) \odot \Pi y(F^{d_4}(y) \leftrightarrow F(y)))$ . We have  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F^{d_4}) = 0.5$  and  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F^{d_4} \leftrightarrow F) = \frac{0.9+0.9+0.9+0.9}{4} = 0.9$ . Hence  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{H}_0^1 x F(x)) = 1 \odot 0.9 = 0.9$ .

For the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_2$  it does not matter which element of the domain is taken as a threshold (the choice of  $\top$  can only make the value of  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(Cl(H_0^1x))$ smaller). In any case  $v_{\mathcal{M}_2}(\mathsf{H}_0^1xF^{d_i}(x)) = 0$ , hence  $v_{\mathcal{M}_2}(\widetilde{\mathsf{H}}_0^1xF(x)) = 0$ .

The method correctly determines two different truth values for  $H_0^1 x F(x)$  for the two interpretations  $\mathcal{M}_1$  and  $\mathcal{M}_2$ . Note that a different value was obtained for  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{H}_0^1 x F(x))$  under the random precisification mechanism in Sect. 6. The value 0.8 obtained for  $\mathcal{M}_1$  in that approach points to a probabilistic interpretation of the truth values of  $F(d_i)$ . Indeed 0.8 stands for the probability that one picks the precisifications accepting half of the elements of the domain  $(d_3, d_4)$  but not  $d_1, d_2$  as instances of F. What we present in this section instead follows a "metric" intuition: it determines how close the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_1$  is from one where exactly half of the elements of the domain fully satisfy F(x); hence the value 0.9. We contend that both results are plausible and justifiable under the respective (different) underlying intuitions.

Some problems persist, due to our choice of the closeness measure: evaluating how close the truth values of all the elements of the domain are to a precisification can lead indeed to counterintuitive results, as illustrated in the following.

Example 2. Let us consider the quantifier  $G_1^1$ , which can be thought of as modeling At least about half. Recall that  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(G_1^1xF(x)) = \min\{1, 2Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F)\}$ . We compare the truth values of  $G_1^1xF(x)$  under the interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_1$  in Example 1 and under a new interpretation  $\mathcal{M}_3$  over the same domain  $D = \{d_1, \ldots, d_4\}$ . As for the case of  $\widetilde{H}_0^1xF(x)$ , we obtain  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{G}_1^1xF(x)) = 0.9$ . Now let  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(F(d_1)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(F(d_2)) = 0.4$  and  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(F(d_3)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(F(d_4)) = 0.9$ . For  $\mathcal{M}_3$ , the supremum of  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(Cl(G_1^1xF(x)))$  is obtained by choosing the precisification determined by  $F^{d_4}$ . Again, we have  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(G_1^1xF^{d_4}(x)) = 1$ , but  $F^{d_4}$  is less close to F than in  $\mathcal{M}_1$ . Indeed, we have  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(\Pi y(F^{d_4}(y) \leftrightarrow F(y))) = \frac{0.6+0.6+0.9+0.9}{4} = 0.75$  hence  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(\widetilde{G}_1^1xF(x)) = 1 \odot 0.75 = 0.75$ .

Note that the semi-fuzzy quantifier  $G_1^1$  is monotone increasing, which means that  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(F(d)) \leq v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(F(d))$  for any  $d \in D$ , implies that  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(G_1^1xF(x)) \leq v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(G_1^1xF(x))$ . One would expect the same to happen also for the corresponding fuzzy quantifier, i.e. to have  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{G}_1^1xF(x)) \leq v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(\widetilde{G}_1^1xF(x))$ . But this is not the case, as shown above. The problem is that, when evaluating in  $\mathcal{M}_3$  how close F is to the precisification  $F^{d_4}$ , we take into account also those elements  $(d_1 \text{ and } d_2)$  for which  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(F^{d_4}(d)) = 0$ . These values should be indifferent for an increasing quantifier. A simple solution to address this problem is to replace in the subformula  $\Pi y(F^z(y) \leftrightarrow F(y))$  of Cl(QxF(x)) (see Proposition 1) the quantifier occurrence  $\Pi y$  by  $\forall y$  or  $\exists y$ , thus obtaining a stricter or looser measure of closeness, respectively. A more general – and hence more satisfactory – solution consists in replacing the rule  $(R_{\tilde{Q}}^{Cl})$  above by a simplified version, which reduces the choices available to **O**. In case we consider a monotone increasing semi-fuzzy quantifier, we allow the opponent **O** only the first choice, which is matched by the truth function  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F^c \to F)$ . Similarly, for decreasing quantifiers we allow only the second option, corresponding to  $Prop_{\mathcal{M}}(F \to F^c)$ , while for other quantifiers we leave both options available to **O**. Let Cl'(QxF(x)) stand for

$$\exists z (\mathsf{Q} x F^z(x) \odot \Pi y (\circ (F^z(y), F(y))) \lor (\mathsf{Q} x (\Delta F(x) \odot \Pi y (\circ (\Delta F(y), F(y))))$$

where  $\circ(F^z(y), F(y)) \equiv F^z(y) \to F(y)$  if Q is increasing,  $F(y) \to F^z(y)$  if Q is decreasing, and  $F(y) \leftrightarrow F^z(y)$  otherwise. The game rules for Cl'(QxF(x)) correspond to the refinement of  $(R_{\tilde{Q}}^{Cl})$  just discussed; i.e., we obtain the analogue of Proposition 1 for  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(\tilde{Q}xF(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}}(Cl'(QxF(x)))$ . We can now solve the problems with monotonicity in Example 2, while still retaining the important property of allowing to define fuzzy quantifiers over  $L^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ .

Example 2 (continued). For  $\mathcal{M}_1$  the supremum in  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(Cl'(\mathbb{Q}xF(x)))$  is obtained considering  $F^{d_4}$ . Since  $\mathsf{G}_1^1$  is a monotone increasing quantifier, the closeness of F to  $F^{d_4}$  is measured by  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\Pi y(F^{d_4}(y) \to F(y))) = \frac{1+1+0.9+0.9}{4} = 0.95$  and consequently we obtain  $v_{\mathcal{M}_1}(\widetilde{\mathsf{G}}_1^1 xF(x)) = 0.95$ . The same value is obtained for  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(\Pi y(F^{d_4}(y) \to F(y)))$ , hence  $v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(\widetilde{\mathsf{G}}_1^1 xF(x)) = v_{\mathcal{M}_3}(\widetilde{\mathsf{G}}_1^1 xF(x)) = 0.95$ .

More generally, we obtain the following restricted preservation of monotonicity.

**Proposition 2.** For any semi-fuzzy quantifier Q, let us interpret  $\tilde{Q}xF(x)$  as Cl'(QxF(x)); and let  $\mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{M}'$  be two interpretations such that  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(d_i)) \triangleleft v_{\mathcal{M}'}(F(d_j))$  iff  $v_{\mathcal{M}'}(F(d_i)) \triangleleft v_{\mathcal{M}'}(F(d_j))$  for arbitrary elements  $d_i, d_j$  of a finite domain D, where  $\triangleleft$  is either = or <. If Q is a monotone increasing quantifier and  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(F(d)) \leq v_{\mathcal{M}'}(F(d))$  for any  $d \in D$ , then  $v_{\mathcal{M}}(\tilde{Q}xF(x)) \leq v_{\mathcal{M}'}(\tilde{Q}xF(x))$ . Analogously, for decreasing quantifiers.

## 8 Conclusion

We have investigated different ways of lifting semi-fuzzy to fuzzy quantifiers. The two main approaches presented in Sects. 6 and 7 have the following advantages: (1) they have a clear semantic foundation, based on Giles' game and (2) they provide models of fuzzy quantifiers compatible with Łukasiewicz logic. The closeness-based method introduced in Sect. 7 fulfills (2) in an even stronger sense, by allowing for the definition of fuzzy quantifiers over  $L^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ . We partially departed from Glöckner's [12], as the set of axioms presented there for fuzzification mechanisms forces an interpretation of the connectives different from that of Lukasiewicz logic. Nevertheless we maintain that some of the properties listed by Glöckner are relevant for our purposes as well. Among them, we stress the preservation of monotonicity. In the closeness based approach we obtained only a restricted form of this property. Full preservation of monotonicity can be easily achieved if we drop the requirement that a precisification should be identified with the choice of a threshold element. This, however, results in losing the immediate expressibility of quantifiers in  $L^{\Delta}(\Pi)$ . Further refinements of the method yet to be explored can be obtained by changes to the closeness measure.

Another natural research direction is to extend the closeness based approach to binary, or more generally to *n*-ary vague quantifiers: linguistically adequate models of such quantifiers should also take into account general concerns regarding truth functionality, as already suggested in [4] for the random precisificationbased approach.

Finally, we suggest to further explore the advantages of embedding fuzzy quantifiers models into logical calculi, in particular for t-norm based logics. An axiomatization and a proof-theoretic study of semi-fuzzy and fuzzy quantifiers is still lacking, even for the "basic" logic  $L(\Pi)$ . Promising steps in this direction consider modal counterparts of quantifiers, e.g. along the lines suggested in Chap. 8 of Hajek's ground breaking monograph [13].

#### References

- 1. Cintula, P., Fermüller, C.G., Hájek, P., Noguera, C. (eds.): Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic, vol. 3. College Publications, London (2011 and 2015)
- Delgado, M., Ruiz, M., Sánchez, D., Vila, M.: Fuzzy quantification: a state of the art. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 242, 1–30 (2014)
- Díaz-Hermida, F., Bugarín, A., Cariñena, P., Barro, S.: Voting-model based evaluation of fuzzy quantified sentences: a general framework. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 146(1), 97–120 (2004). doi:10.1016/j.fss.2004.03.012
- Fermüller, C.G.: Combining fuzziness and context sensitivity in game based models of vague quantification. In: Proceedings of Integrated Uncertainty in Knowledge Modelling and Decision Making - 4th International Symposium, IUKM 2015, Nha Trang, Vietnam, 15–17 October 2015, pp. 19–31. Springer (2015)
- Fermüller, C.G.: Semantic games for fuzzy logics. In: Cintula, P., Fermüller, C.G., Noguera C. (eds.) Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic, vol. 3, pp. 969– 1028. College Publications, London (2015)
- Fermüller, C.G., Kosik, R.: Combining supervaluation and degree based reasoning under vagueness. In: Logic for Programming, Artificial Intelligence, and Reasoning, pp. 212–226. Springer, Heidelberg (2006)
- Fermüller, C.G., Roschger, C.: Randomized game semantics for semi-fuzzy quantifiers. In: Greco, S. (ed.) Advances in Computational Intelligence, Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 300, pp. 632–641. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)
- Fermüller, C.G., Roschger, C.: Randomized game semantics for semi-fuzzy quantifiers. Logic J. IGPL 22(3), 413–439 (2014)

- 9. Fine, K.: Vagueness, truth and logic. Synthese **30**(3), 265–300 (1975)
- 10. Giles, R.: A non-classical logic for physics. Stud. Logica **33**(4), 397–415 (1974)
- Giles, R.: Semantics for fuzzy reasoning. Int. J. Man Mach. Stud. 17(4), 401–415 (1982)
- 12. Glöckner, I.: Fuzzy quantifiers: a computational theory. In: Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 193. Springer, Heidelberg (2006)
- 13. Hájek, P.: Metamathematics of Fuzzy Logic. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1998)
- Zadeh, L.: A computational approach to fuzzy quantifiers in natural languages. Comput. Math. Appl. 9(1), 149–184 (1983)

# About Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko Theorem for Intuitionistic Fuzzy Events

Renáta Bartková and Katarína Čunderlíková<sup> $(\boxtimes)$ </sup>

Mathematical Institute, Slovak Academy of Sciences, Štefánikova 49, 814 73 Bratislava, Slovakia renata.hanesova@gmail.com, cunderlikova.lendelova@gmail.com

**Abstract.** In the paper the space of observables with respect to a family of the intuitionistic fuzzy events is considered. We proved the modification of the Fisher-Tippet-Gnedenko theorem for sequence of independent intuitionistic fuzzy observables. It is the theorem of part of statistic, which is called the extreme value theory.

**Keywords:** Intuitionistic fuzzy set  $\cdot$  Intuitionistic fuzzy state  $\cdot$  The sequence of intuitionistic fuzzy observables  $\cdot$  Independence  $\cdot$  Joint intuitionistic fuzzy observable  $\cdot$  Convergence in distribution  $\cdot$  Fisher-Tippet-Gnedenko theorem  $\cdot$  The extreme value theory

#### 1 Introduction

The extreme value theory is a part of statistics, which deals with examination of probability of extreme and rare events with a large impact. The extreme value theory search endpoints of the distributions. The Fisher-Tippet-Gnedenko theorem says about convergence in probability distribution of maximums of independent, equally distributed random variables. In the paper we proved the modification of the Fisher-Tippet-Gnedenko theorem for sequence of independent intuitionistic fuzzy observables.

One of the preferences of the Kolmogorov concept of probability is the agreement of replacement the notion event with notion of a set. Therefore it seems to be important also in the intuitionistic fuzzy probability theory to work with the notion of an intuitionistic fuzzy event as an intuitionistic fuzzy set.

Recall that in the Kolmogorov theory a random variable is a measurable function  $\xi : \Omega \to R$  defined on a space  $(\Omega, S)$ , i.e. such a function that the preimage  $\xi^{-1}(I)$  of any interval  $I \subset R$  belongs to the given  $\sigma$ -algebra S of subsets of  $\Omega$ . It induces a mapping  $I \to \xi^{-1}(I) \in S$  from the family  $\mathcal{J}$  of all intervals to a  $\sigma$ -algebra S.

In the intuitionistic fuzzy probability theory instead of the probability P:  $\mathcal{S} \to [0, 1]$  an intuitionistic fuzzy state  $\mathbf{m} : \mathcal{F} \to [0, 1]$  is considered, where  $\mathcal{F}$  is a family of intuitionistic fuzzy subsets of  $\Omega$ . And instead of a random variable  $\xi : \Omega \to R$  an intuitionistic fuzzy observable  $x : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  is considered.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_12

Our main idea is in a representation of a given sequence  $(y_n)_n$  of intuitionistic fuzzy observables  $y_n : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  by a probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{S}, P)$  and a sequence  $(\eta_n)_n$  of random variables  $\eta_n : \Omega \to R$ . Then from the convergence of  $(\eta_n)_n$  in distribution the convergence in distribution of  $(y_n)_n$  follows. Of course to different sequences  $(y_n)_n$  different probability spaces can be obtained. Anyway the transformation can be used for obtaining some new results about intuitionistic fuzzy states on  $\mathcal{F}$ .

Mention that the used Atanassov concept of intuitionistic fuzzy sets [1,2] is more general as the Zadeh notion of fuzzy sets [14,15]. Therefore in Sect. 2 some basic information about intuitionistic fuzzy states and intuitionistic fuzzy observables on families of intuitionistic fuzzy sets are presented [12]. Further in Sect. 3 the independence of intuitionistic fuzzy observables is studied. In Sect. 4 the convergence in **m** is studied and the Fisher-Tippet-Gnedenko theorem is proved.

Remark that in a whole text we use a notation "IF" for short a phrase "intuitionistic fuzzy".

#### 2 IF-events, IF-states and IF-observables

Our main notion in the paper will be the notion of an *IF*-event, what is a pair of fuzzy events.

**Definition 1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a nonempty set. An IF-set **A** on  $\Omega$  is a pair  $(\mu_A, \nu_A)$  of mappings  $\mu_A, \nu_A : \Omega \to [0, 1]$  such that  $\mu_A + \nu_A \leq 1_{\Omega}$ .

**Definition 2.** Start with a measurable space  $(\Omega, S)$ . Hence S is a  $\sigma$ -algebra of subsets of  $\Omega$ . An IF-event is called an IF-set  $\mathbf{A} = (\mu_A, \nu_A)$  such that  $\mu_A, \nu_A : \Omega \to [0, 1]$  are S-measurable.

The family of all IF-events on  $(\Omega, S)$  will be denoted by  $\mathcal{F}, \mu_A : \Omega \longrightarrow [0, 1]$ will be called the membership function,  $\nu_A : \Omega \longrightarrow [0, 1]$  be called the nonmembership function.

If  $\mathbf{A} = (\mu_A, \nu_A) \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $\mathbf{B} = (\mu_B, \nu_B) \in \mathcal{F}$ , then we define the Lukasiewicz binary operations  $\oplus, \odot$  on  $\mathcal{F}$  by

$$\mathbf{A} \oplus \mathbf{B} = ((\mu_A + \mu_B) \land 1, (\nu_A + \nu_B - 1) \lor 0)),$$
  
$$\mathbf{A} \odot \mathbf{B} = ((\mu_A + \mu_B - 1) \lor 0, (\nu_A + \nu_B) \land 1))$$

and partial ordering is given by

$$\mathbf{A} \leq \mathbf{B} \Longleftrightarrow \mu_A \leq \mu_B, \nu_A \geq \nu_B$$

and a unary operation  $\neg$  by

$$\neg \mathbf{A} = (\nu_A, \mu_A).$$

*Example 1.* Fuzzy event  $f: \Omega \longrightarrow [0,1]$  can be regarded as IF-event, if we put

$$\mathbf{A} = (f, 1 - f).$$

If  $f = \chi_A$ , then the corresponding IF-event has the form

$$\mathbf{A} = (\chi_A, 1 - \chi_A) = (\chi_A, \chi_{A'})$$

In this case  $\mathbf{A} \oplus \mathbf{B}$  corresponds to the union of sets,  $\mathbf{A} \odot \mathbf{B}$  to the product of sets,  $\neg \mathbf{A}$  to the complement, and  $\leq$  to the set inclusion.

In the IF-probability theory [12] instead of the notion of probability we use the notion of state.

**Definition 3.** Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be the family of all IF-events in  $\Omega$ . A mapping  $\mathbf{m} : \mathcal{F} \to [0,1]$  is called an IF-state, if the following conditions are satisfied:

(i)  $\mathbf{m}((1_{\Omega}, 0_{\Omega})) = 1$ ,  $\mathbf{m}((0_{\Omega}, 1_{\Omega})) = 0$ ; (ii) if  $\mathbf{A} \odot \mathbf{B} = (0_{\Omega}, 1_{\Omega})$  and  $\mathbf{A}, \mathbf{B} \in \mathcal{F}$ , then  $\mathbf{m}(\mathbf{A} \oplus \mathbf{B}) = \mathbf{m}(\mathbf{A}) + \mathbf{m}(\mathbf{B})$ ; (iii) if  $\mathbf{A}_n \nearrow \mathbf{A}$  (i.e.  $\mu_{A_n} \nearrow \mu_A, \nu_{A_n} \searrow \nu_A$ ), then  $\mathbf{m}(\mathbf{A}_n) \nearrow \mathbf{m}(\mathbf{A})$ .

Probably the most useful result in the IF-state theory is the following representation theorem [10]:

**Theorem 1.** To each IF-state  $\mathbf{m} : \mathcal{F} \to [0,1]$  there exists exactly one probability measure  $P : \mathcal{S} \to [0,1]$  and exactly one  $\alpha \in [0,1]$  such that

$$\mathbf{m}(\mathbf{A}) = (1 - \alpha) \int_{\Omega} \mu_A dP + \alpha \left( 1 - \int_{\Omega} \nu_A dP \right)$$

for each  $\mathbf{A} = (\mu_A, \nu_A) \in \mathcal{F}$ .

The third basic notion in the probability theory is the notion of an observable. Let  $\mathcal{J}$  be the family of all intervals in R of the form

$$[a,b) = \{ x \in R : a \le x < b \}.$$

Then the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\sigma(\mathcal{J})$  is denoted  $\mathcal{B}(R)$  and it is called the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel sets, its elements are called Borel sets.

**Definition 4.** By an IF-observable on  $\mathcal{F}$  we understand each mapping  $x : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  satisfying the following conditions:

(i)  $x(R) = (1,0), x(\emptyset) = (0,1);$ (ii) if  $A \cap B = \emptyset$ , then  $x(A) \odot x(B) = (0,1)$  and  $x(A \cup B) = x(A) \oplus x(B);$ (...) if  $A \cap B = \emptyset$ , then  $x(A) \odot x(B) = (0,1)$  and  $x(A \cup B) = x(A) \oplus x(B);$ 

(iii) if  $A_n \nearrow A$ , then  $x(A_n) \nearrow x(A)$ .

If we denote  $x(A) = (x^{\flat}(A), 1 - x^{\sharp}(A))$  for each  $A \in \mathcal{B}(R)$ , then  $x^{\flat}, x^{\sharp} : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{T}$  are observables, where  $\mathcal{T} = \{f : \Omega \to [0, 1]; f \text{ is } \mathcal{S} - measurable\}.$ 

If  $x : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$  is an *IF*-observable, and  $\mathbf{m} : \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow [0, 1]$  is an *IF*-state, then the *IF*-distribution function of x is the function  $\mathbf{F} : R \longrightarrow [0, 1]$  defined by the formula

$$\mathbf{F}(t) = \mathbf{m}\big(x((-\infty, t))\big)$$

for each  $t \in R$ .

Similarly as in the classical case the following two theorems can be proved [12].

**Theorem 2.** Let  $\mathbf{F} : R \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be the IF-distribution function of an IFobservable  $x : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$ . Then  $\mathbf{F}$  is non-decreasing on R, left continuous in each point  $t \in R$  and

$$\lim_{n \to -\infty} \mathbf{F}(t) = 0, \ \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{F}(t) = 1.$$

**Theorem 3.** Let  $x : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$  be an *IF*-observable,  $\mathbf{m} : \mathcal{F} \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be an *IF*-state. Define the mapping  $\mathbf{m}_x : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow [0,1]$  by the formula

$$\mathbf{m}_x(C) = \mathbf{m}(x(C)).$$

Then  $\mathbf{m}_x : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow [0,1]$  is a probability measure.

Theorem 2 enables us to define *IF*-expectation and *IF*-dispersion of an *IF*-observable.

**Definition 5.** Let  $\mathbf{F} : R \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be the IF-distribution function of an IFobservable  $x : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$ . If there exists  $\int_R t \, d\mathbf{F}(t)$ , then we define the IFexpectation of x by the formula

$$\mathbf{E}(x) = \int_R t \ d\mathbf{F}(t).$$

Moreover if there exists  $\int_R t^2 d\mathbf{F}(t)$ , then we define the IF-dispersion  $\mathbf{D}^2(x)$  by the formula

$$\mathbf{D}^{2}(x) = \int_{R} t^{2} d\mathbf{F}(t) - \left(\mathbf{E}(x)\right)^{2} = \int_{R} (t - \mathbf{E}(x))^{2} d\mathbf{F}(t).$$

#### 3 Independence

In the paper we shall work only with independent IF-observables. Of course first we must need the existence of the joint IF-observable. For this reason we shall define the product of IF-events [9].

**Definition 6.** If  $\mathbf{A} = (\mu_A, \nu_A) \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $\mathbf{B} = (\mu_B, \nu_B) \in \mathcal{F}$ , then their product  $\mathbf{A}.\mathbf{B}$  is defined by the formula

$$\mathbf{A}.\mathbf{B} = (\mu_A.\mu_B, 1 - (1 - \nu_A).(1 - \nu_B)) = (\mu_A.\mu_B, \nu_A + \nu_B - \nu_A.\nu_B).$$

The next important notion is a notion of a joint IF-observable and its existence (see [11]).

**Definition 7.** Let  $x, y : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  be two IF-observables. The joint IF-observable of the IF-observables x, y is a mapping  $h : \mathcal{B}(R^2) \to \mathcal{F}$  satisfying the following conditions:

- (i)  $h(R^2) = (1,0), h(\emptyset) = (0,1);$
- (*ii*) if  $A, B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  and  $A \cap B = \emptyset$ , then  $h(A \cup B) = h(A) \oplus h(B)$ and  $h(A) \odot h(B) = (0, 1)$ ;
- (iii) if  $A, A_1, \ldots \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2)$  and  $A_n \nearrow A$ , then  $h(A_n) \nearrow h(A)$ ;
- (iv)  $h(C \times D) = x(C) \cdot y(D)$  for each  $C, D \in \mathcal{B}(R)$ .

**Theorem 4.** For each two IF-observables  $x, y : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  there exists their joint IF-observable.

*Proof.* Put  $x(A) = (x^{\flat}(A), 1 - x^{\sharp}(A)), y(B) = (y^{\flat}(B), 1 - y^{\sharp}(B))$ . We want to construct  $h(K) = (h^{\flat}(K), 1 - h^{\sharp}(K))$ . Fix  $\omega \in \Omega$  and put

$$\mu(A) = x^{\flat}(A)(\omega),$$
  
$$\nu(B) = y^{\flat}(B)(\omega).$$

It is not difficult to prove that  $\mu, \nu : \mathcal{B}(R) \to [0, 1]$  are probability measures. Let  $\mu \times \nu : \mathcal{B}(R^2) \to [0, 1]$  be the product of measures and define

$$h^{\flat}(K)(\omega) = \mu \times \nu(K).$$

Then  $h^{\flat} : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathcal{T}$ , where  $\mathcal{T}$  is the family of all  $\mathcal{S}$ -measurable functions from  $\Omega$  to [0,1]. If  $C, D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ , then

$$h^{\flat}(C \times D)(\omega) = \mu \times \nu(C \times D) = \mu(C) \cdot \nu(D) = x^{\flat}(C)(\omega) \cdot y^{\flat}(D)(\omega),$$

hence

$$h^{\flat}(C \times D) = x^{\flat}(C) \cdot y^{\flat}(D)$$

Similarly  $h^{\sharp}: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathcal{T}$  can be constructed such that

$$h^{\sharp}(C \times D) = x^{\sharp}(C) \cdot y^{\sharp}(D).$$

Put

$$h(A) = (h^{\flat}(A), 1 - h^{\sharp}(A)),$$

for  $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ .

Then we have for  $C, D \in \mathcal{B}(R)$ 

$$\begin{split} x(C) \cdot y(D) &= (x^{\flat}(C), 1 - x^{\sharp}(C)) \cdot (y^{\flat}(D), 1 - y^{\sharp}(D)) \\ &= \left( x^{\flat}(C) \cdot y^{\flat}(D), 1 - \left( 1 - (1 - x^{\sharp}(C)) \right) \cdot \left( 1 - (1 - y^{\sharp}(D)) \right) \right) \\ &= (x^{\flat}(C) \cdot y^{\flat}(D), 1 - x^{\sharp}(C) \cdot y^{\sharp}(D)) \\ &= (h^{\flat}(C \times D), 1 - h^{\sharp}(C \times D)) = h(C \times D). \end{split}$$

**Definition 8.** Let **m** be an IF-state. IF-observables  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$ are independent if for n-dimensional IF-observable  $h_n : \mathcal{B}(R^n) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$  there holds

$$\mathbf{m}(h_n(A_1 \times A_2 \times \ldots \times A_n)) = \mathbf{m}(x_1(A_1)) \cdot \mathbf{m}(x_2(A_2)) \cdot \ldots \cdot \mathbf{m}(x_n(A_n))$$

for each  $A_1, A_2, ..., A_n \in \mathcal{B}(R)$ .

**Theorem 5.** Let  $\mathbb{R}^N$  be the set of all sequences  $(t_i)_i$  of real numbers. Let  $(x_n)_n$  be a sequence of independent IF-observables in  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathbf{m})$  with the same IFdistribution function. Define for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the mapping  $\xi_n : \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  by the formula

$$\xi_n((t_i)_i) = t_n$$

Then  $(\xi_n)_n$  is a sequence of independent random variables in a space  $(\mathbb{R}^N, \sigma(\mathcal{C}), P)$ . If there exists  $\mathbf{E}(x_n)$  then  $E(\xi_n) = \mathbf{E}(x_n)$ . If there exists  $\mathbf{D}^2(x_n)$  then  $D^2(\xi_n) = \mathbf{D}^2(x_n)$ .

*Proof.* Notation: A set  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  is called a cylinder, if there exists  $n \in N$ , and  $D \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$C = \{(t_i)_i : (t_1, ..., t_n) \in D\}.$$

By  $\mathcal{C}$  we shall denote the family of all cylinders in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , by  $\sigma(\mathcal{C})$  the  $\sigma$ -algebra generated by  $\mathcal{C}$ .

**Construction:** Consider the measurable space  $(\mathbb{R}^N, \sigma(\mathcal{C}))$  a sequence  $(x_n)_n$  of independent IF-observables  $x_n : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$  (i.e.  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$  are independent for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ), and the states  $\mathbf{m}_n : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n) \longrightarrow [0, 1]$  defined by

$$\mathbf{m}_n(B) = \mathbf{m}(h_n(B))$$

for each  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The states  $\mathbf{m}_n$  are consisting, i.e.

$$\mathbf{m}_{n+1}(B \times R) = \mathbf{m} (h_{n+1}(B \times R)) = (\mathbf{m} \circ h_{n+1})(B \times R)$$
$$= (\mathbf{m}_{x_1} \times \ldots \times \mathbf{m}_{x_n} \times \mathbf{m}_{x_{n+1}})(B \times R)$$
$$= \mathbf{m} (h_n(B)) \cdot \mathbf{m} (x(R)) = \mathbf{m} (h_n(B)) \cdot 1 = \mathbf{m}_n(B)$$

for each  $B \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Therefore by the Kolmogorov consistency theorem [13] there exists the probability measure  $P: \sigma(\mathcal{C}) \longrightarrow [0, 1]$  such that

$$P(\pi_n^{-1}(B)) = \mathbf{m}_n(B) = \mathbf{m}(h_n(B))$$

for each  $B \in \mathcal{C}$ , where  $\mathcal{C}$  is the family of all cylinders in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\pi_n : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a projection defined by  $\pi_n((t_i)_1^\infty) = (t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ . Let  $n \in N, A_1, ..., A_n \in \mathcal{B}(R)$ . Then

$$P(\xi_1^{-1}(A_1) \cap \dots \cap \xi_n^{-1}(A_n)) = P(\{(t_i)_1^{\infty} : t_i \in A_i, i = 1, 2, \dots, n\})$$
  
=  $P(\pi_n^{-1}(A_1 \times \dots \times A_n))$   
=  $\mathbf{m}(h_n(A_1 \times \dots \times A_n))$   
=  $\mathbf{m}(x_1(A_1)) \cdot \dots \cdot \mathbf{m}(x_n(A_n))$   
=  $P(\pi_{\{1\}}^{-1}(A_1)) \cdot \dots \cdot P(\pi_{\{n\}}^{-1}(A_n))$   
=  $P(\xi_1^{-1}(A_1)) \cdot \dots \cdot P(\xi_n^{-1}(A_n)).$ 

Let  $\mathbf{F} : R \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be the *IF*-distribution function of *IF*-observables  $x_n$ ,  $G : R \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be the distribution function of random variables  $\xi_n$ . Then

$$G(t) = P(\xi_n^{-1}((-\infty, t))) = P(\pi_n^{-1}(R \times \ldots \times R \times (-\infty, t)))$$
  
=  $\mathbf{m}(h_n(R \times \ldots \times R \times (-\infty, t))) = \mathbf{m}(x_n((-\infty, t))) = \mathbf{F}(t).$ 

If there exists IF-mean value  $\mathbf{E}(x_n)$ , then

$$\mathbf{E}(x_n) = \int_R t \ d\mathbf{F}(t) = \int_R t \ dG(t) = E(\xi_n).$$

Similarly the equality  $D^2(\xi_n) = \mathbf{D}^2(x_n)$  can be proved.

We need the notion of convergence IF-observables yet (see [8]).

**Definition 9.** Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_n : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  be independent IF-observables and  $g_n : R^n \to R$  be a Borel measurable function. Then the IF-observable  $y_n = g_n(x_1, \ldots, x_n) : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  is defined by the equality

$$y_n = h_n \circ g_n^{-1}$$

where  $h_n : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \mathcal{F}$  is the n-dimensional IF-observable (joint IF-observable of  $x_1, \ldots, x_n$ ).

*Example 2.* Let  $x_1, \ldots, x_n : \mathcal{B}(R) \to \mathcal{F}$  be independent IF-observables and  $h_n : \mathcal{B}(R^n) \to \mathcal{F}$  be their joint IF-observable. Then

1. the IF-observable  $y_n = \frac{\sqrt{n}}{\sigma} \left( \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n x_i - a \right)$  is defined by the equality  $y_n = h_n \circ q_n^{-1}$ ,

where  $g_n(u_1,\ldots,u_n) = \frac{\sqrt{n}}{\sigma} \Big( \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n u_i - a \Big);$ 

2. the IF-observable  $y_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n x_i$  is defined by the equality

$$y_n = h_n \circ g_n^{-1},$$

where  $g_n(u_1, ..., u_n) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n u_i;$
3. the IF-observable  $y_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (x_i - \mathbf{E}(x_i))$  is defined by the equality  $y_n = h_n \circ g_n^{-1},$ 

where  $g_n(u_1, \ldots, u_n) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n (u_i - \mathbf{E}(x_i));$ 4. the IF-observable  $y_n = \frac{1}{a_n} (\max(x_1, \ldots, x_n) - b_n)$  is defined by the equality

$$y_n = h_n \circ g_n^{-1}$$

where  $g_n(u_1, ..., u_n) = \frac{1}{a_n} (\max(u_1, ..., u_n) - b_n).$ 

**Definition 10.** Let  $(y_n)_n$  be a sequence of IF-observables in the IF-space  $(\mathcal{F}, \mathbf{m})$ . We say that  $(y_n)_n$  converges in distribution to a function  $\Psi : R \longrightarrow [0, 1]$ , if for each  $t \in R$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{m} \big( y_n((-\infty, t)) \big) = \Psi(t).$$

### 4 Basic Theorem from the Extreme Value Theory

The next notions of the extreme value theory on real numbers we can find in works [3-7].

Let  $X_1, X_2, \dots$  be independent, equally distributed random variables of real numbers with a distribution function  $F: R \to R$  defined by

$$F(x) = P(X_i < x), \ (i = 1, 2, ...),$$

where  $x \in R$ . Denote  $M_n$  maximum of n random variables

$$M_1 = X_1, \ M_n = \max(X_1, ..., X_n),$$

for  $n \geq 2$ .

**Theorem 6 (Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko).** Let  $X_1, X_2, ...$  be a sequence of independent, equally distributed random variables. If there exists the sequences of real constant  $a_n > 0$ ,  $b_n$  and a non-degenerate distribution function H, such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} P\left(\frac{M_n - b_n}{a_n} < x\right) = H(x),$$

then H is the distribution function one of the following three types of distributions:

1. Gumbel

$$H_{\mu,\sigma}(x) = \exp\left(-e^{-\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right)}\right), \ x \in \mathbb{R},$$

#### 2. Fréchet

$$H_{\mu,\sigma}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } x \le \mu, \\ \exp\left(-\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right)^{-\alpha}\right), & \text{for } x > \mu, \alpha > 0, \end{cases}$$

3. Weibull

$$H_{\mu,\sigma}(x) = \begin{cases} \exp\left(-\left(-\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right)\right)^{-\alpha}\right), & \text{for } x < \mu, \alpha < 0, \\ 1, & \text{for } x \ge \mu. \end{cases}$$

A parameter  $\mu \in R$  is the location parameter and a parameter  $\sigma > 0$  is the scale parameter. A parameter  $\alpha$  is called the shape parameter.

Gumbel, Fréchet and Weiboll distribution from Theorem 6 we can write with using a generalized distribution of extreme values

$$H_{\mu,\sigma,\varepsilon}\left(x\right) = \begin{cases} \exp\left[-\left(1+\varepsilon\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right)\right)^{-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}\right], 1+\varepsilon\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right) > 0, \varepsilon \neq 0,\\ \exp\left(-\exp\left(-\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right)\right), \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}, \varepsilon = 0. \end{cases}$$

Now we return to the IF-case. Let  $x_1, x_2, ...$  be an independent, equally distributed IF-observables on  $\mathcal{F}$ . Denote  $\mathbf{M}_n$  maximum of *n* IF-observables

$$\mathbf{M}_1 = x_1, \ \mathbf{M}_n = \max(x_1, ..., x_n),$$

for  $n \geq 2$ .

**Theorem 7 (Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko).** Let  $x_1, x_2, ...$  be a sequence of independent, equally distributed IF-observables such that  $\mathbf{D}^2(x_n) = \sigma^2$ ,  $\mathbf{E}(x_n) = a, (n = 1, 2, ...)$ . If there exists the sequences of real constant  $a_n > 0$ ,  $b_n$  and a non-degenerate distribution function H, such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{m} \left( \frac{1}{a_n} \left( \mathbf{M}_n - b_n \right) \left( (-\infty, t) \right) \right) = H(t)$$

then H is the distribution function one of the following three types of distributions:

1. Gumbel

$$H_{\mu,\sigma}(t) = \exp\left(-e^{-\left(\frac{t-\mu}{\sigma}\right)}\right), \ t \in \mathbb{R},$$

2. Fréchet

$$H_{\mu,\sigma}(t) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{for } t \le \mu, \\ \exp\left(-\left(\frac{t-\mu}{\sigma}\right)^{-\alpha}\right), & \text{for } t > \mu, \alpha > 0, \end{cases}$$

3. Weibull

$$H_{\mu,\sigma}(t) = \begin{cases} \exp\left(-\left(-\left(\frac{t-\mu}{\sigma}\right)\right)^{-\alpha}\right), & \text{for } t < \mu, \alpha < 0, \\ 1, & \text{for } t \ge \mu. \end{cases}$$

*Proof.* For each n = 1, 2, 3, ... let the Borel function  $g_n : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be given by

$$g_n(u_1,\ldots,u_n) = \frac{1}{a_n} \big( \max(u_1,\ldots,u_n) - b_n \big).$$

Let further the IF-observable  $y_n : \mathcal{B}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}$  be given by stipulation

$$y_n = h_n \circ g_n^{-1} = g_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \frac{1}{a_n} (\max(x_1, \dots, x_n) - b_n).$$

Consider the measure space  $(\mathbb{R}^N, \sigma(\mathcal{C}), \mathbb{P})$  and random variables

$$\xi_n((t_i)_i) = t_n, (n = 1, 2, ...).$$

Then by Theorem 5 the random variables  $\xi_n$  are independent. Moreover,

$$E(\xi_n) = \mathbf{E}(x_n) = a, \ D^2(\xi_n) = \mathbf{D}^2(x_n) = \sigma^2.$$

Therefore by the classical Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko Theorem 6 we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} P\Big(\Big\{(u_i)_1^{\infty}; \frac{1}{a_n} \bigg( \max\left(\xi_1((u_i)_1^{\infty}), \dots, \xi_n((u_i)_1^{\infty})\right) - b_n \bigg) < t \Big\} \Big) = H(t).$$

Hence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{m} \left( \frac{1}{a_n} (\mathbf{M}_n - b_n) ((-\infty, t)) \right) = \mathbf{m} \left( y_n((-\infty, t)) \right)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{m} \left( h_n \left( g_n^{-1}((-\infty, t)) \right) \right) = \lim_{n \to \infty} P \left( \pi_n^{-1} \left( g_n^{-1}((-\infty, t)) \right) \right)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} P \left( \left\{ (u_i)_1^{\infty}; g_n \left( \xi_1((u_i)_1^{\infty}), \dots, \xi_n((u_i)_1^{\infty}) \right) \in (-\infty, t) \right\} \right)$$
$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} P \left( \left\{ (u_i)_1^{\infty}; \frac{1}{a_n} \left( \max \left( \xi_1((u_i)_1^{\infty}), \dots, \xi_n((u_i)_1^{\infty}) \right) - b_n \right) < t \right\} \right)$$
$$= H(t).$$

## 5 Conclusion

We have proved a very important assertion of mathematical statistics for IFobservables in IF-theory. Evidently the results can be applied also to fuzzy sets theory. On the other hand families of IF-events may be embedded to suitable MV-algebras. Therefore it would be useful to try to extend the Fisher-Tippett-Gnedenko theorem to probability MV-algebras.

### References

- Atanassov, K.T.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets: Theory and Applications. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg (1999)
- 2. Atanassov, K.T.: On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)

- 3. Coles, S.: An Introduction to Statistical Modeling of Extreme Values. Springer, New York (2001)
- Embrechts, P., Kluppelberg, C., Mikosch, T.: Modelling Extremal Events: For Insurance and Finance, pp. 152–180. Springer (1997). ISSN 0172–4568
- Gumbel, E.J.: Statistics of Extremes. Columbia University Press, New York (1958). ISBN 0-486-43604-7
- Haan, L., Ferreira, A.: Extreme Value Theory: An Introduction. Springer, New York (2006)
- Juhás, M.: Statistical models of extreme values. Ph.D. thesis, Faculty of Natural Sciences, P. J. Šafárika University, Košice, 72 pages (2013)
- Lendelová, K.: Convergence of IF-observables. In: Issues in the Representation and Processing of Uncertain and Imprecise Information - Fuzzy Sets, Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets, Generalized nets, and Related Topics, pp. 232–240 (2005)
- Lendelová, K.: Conditional IF-probability. In: Advances in Soft Computing: Soft Methods for Integrated Uncertainty Modelling, pp. 275–283 (2006)
- Riečan, B.: On a problem of Radko Mesiar: general form of IF-probabilities. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 152, 1485–1490 (2006)
- Riečan, B.: On the probability and random variables on IF events. In: Ruan, D., et al. (eds.) Proceedings of 7th FLINS Conference on Applied Artifical Intelligence, Genova, pp. 138–145 (2006)
- Riečan, B.: Analysis of fuzzy logic models. In: Koleshko, V. (ed.) Intelligent Systems, INTECH, pp. 219–244 (2012)
- Riečan, B., Neubrunn, T.: Integral, Measure and Ordering. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1997)
- 14. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-358 (1965)
- Zadeh, L.A.: Probability measures on fuzzy sets. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 23, 421–427 (1968)

# Fuzzy Approaches in Forecasting Mortality Rates

Marcin Bartkowiak and Aleksandra Rutkowska $^{(\boxtimes)}$ 

Poznan University of Economics and Business, Poznan, Poland {marcin.bartkowiak,aleksandra.rutkowska}@ue.poznan.pl

Abstract. Fundamental issues in the study of mortality rate modelling are goodness of fit and the quality of forecasts. These are still open questions despite the fact that dozens of mortality models have been formulated. Capturing all mortality patterns remains elusive for the proposed models. Nevertheless, there are models with better and worse abilities to explain historical mortality rates and to project accurate forecasts. This paper considers two fuzzy approaches for forecasting future mortality rates. First, the fuzzy autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) method allows the making of fuzzy forecasts based on crisp estimates of mortality model parameters. Second, the fuzzy Lee-Carter method models past mortality rates as fuzzy numbers, and then allows the prediction of future fuzzy mortality rates. Numerical findings show that both methods may be useful tools for forecasting.

Keywords: Mortality rate  $\cdot$  Lee-Carter model  $\cdot$  Fuzzy ARIMA  $\cdot$  Mortality forecasting

## 1 The Problem of Mortality Forecasting

#### 1.1 Introduction

During the last two centuries developed countries have experienced a persistent increase in life expectancy. This increase, though a sign of social progress, poses a challenge for governments, private pension plans and life insurers because of its impact on pension and health costs. For example, in Poland life expectancy at birth for men has risen from 63 years in 1958 to 73.5 years in 2014. The increase for women was even more impressive during this period, from 68.5 years to 81.5 years.

Actuaries and demographers have recognised the problems caused by an ageing population and rising longevity and have thus devoted significant attention to the development of statistical techniques for the modeling and projection of mortality rates. The basic modeled variable is the central death rate. For a given population or cohort, the central death rate at age x during a given period of one year, is found by dividing the number of people, who died after they had reached the exact age x but before they reached the exact age x+1, by the average number who were living in that age group during the period. Data are at the

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_13

heart of mortality modelling, which is why it is important to understanding the real nature of the data used. Raw population data require various adjustments before being used as inputs for the demographic database. The most common adjustments are:

- to distribute persons of unknown age across the age range in proportion to the number of observed individuals, in each age group,
- to split data into finer or to aggregate into wider age categories,
- to smooth the observed values in order to obtain an improved representation of the given demographic ratio.

All of the above make data imprecise and so modelling using fuzzy methods is justified.

#### 1.2 The Lee-Carter Method

One of the most influential approaches to the stochastic modeling of mortality rates is the mortality model proposed by Lee and Carter [9]. This model uses principal component analysis to decompose the age-time matrix of mortality rates into a bilinear combination of age and period parameters, with the latter being treated as time series to produce mortality projections. The mortality model for the central death rate  $m_{x,t}$  is:

$$\ln(m_{x,t}) = \alpha_x + \beta_x \kappa_t + \varepsilon_{x,t},\tag{1}$$

where:  $m_{x,t}$  represents the matrix of the central death rates at age x in year t,  $\alpha_x$  is a static age function capturing the general shape of mortality by age,  $\kappa_t$  is a time dependent parameter, an index of the level of mortality at time t,  $\beta_x$  age dependent parameter, is the relative speed of change at each age,  $\varepsilon_{x,t}$  is an error term. The error term is expected to be Gaussian,  $\varepsilon_{x,t} \sim N(0, \sigma_{\varepsilon})$ . Many empirical studies show that this requirement is often violated. To obtain a unique solution to (1) the following constraints are imposed:

$$\alpha_x = \frac{1}{T} \sum_{t=1}^T \ln(m_{x,t}),\tag{2}$$

$$\sum_{t=1}^{T} \kappa_t = 0, \tag{3}$$

$$\sum_{x=x_1}^{x_N} \beta_x = 1,\tag{4}$$

For forecasting mortality, the  $\kappa_t$  is projected into the future using ARIMA (autoregressive integrated moving average) time series methods. Lee and Carter assume that  $\alpha_x$  and  $\beta_x$  remains constant over time. Because of the linearity of  $\kappa_t$ , it is generally modeled as a random walk with trend. However several ARIMA

specification can be used. The Lee-Carter model has inspired numerous variants and extensions (see: [2,3]). Koissi and Shapiro [8] proposed a fuzzy approach for the Lee-Carter model. The advantage of the fuzzy approach is that the errors are viewed as fuzziness of the model structure. However, one of the disadvantages is the computational complexity. In particular, when we use standard fuzzy algebra we get non-differential functions to optimize.

#### 1.3 Contribution

An imprecise forecast is better than a precise false forecast. Thus we test two approaches for fuzzy forecasting of mortality rates. First we apply the extended fuzzy ARIMA method for forecast the  $\kappa$  parameter model and then we make predictions using it with the standard age specific coefficient of the Lee-Carter model. The second forecasting methods is the extended version of the fuzzy Lee-Carter model by Koissi and Shapiro proposed in [10]. The modification involves replacing the fuzzy numbers with oriented fuzzy numbers to obtain differentiated objective functions during looking for parameters. Thus the aim of this study is to investigate two different fuzzy approaches to morality rates' projections: the fuzzy Lee-Carter model [8] extended by [10] and the fuzzy ARIMA model [11] extended by adding the fuzzy constant coefficient applied for forecasting in the Lee-Carter model. We test the efficiency of these two approaches efficiency in terms of the quality of forecasts.

The structure of the paper is as follows. In the next section, the fuzzy ARIMA and fuzzy Lee-Carter models are described. Two ways of incorporating fuzziness in the Lee-Carter model are presented. In Sect. 3 an application for mortality data forecasting in Poland is made. The last section is a summary of the study.

## 2 Mortality Rate Projection Methods

#### 2.1 Fuzzy ARIMA Method

The ARIMA method presented by Box and Jenkins [1] is a class of statistical model for analyzing and forecasting time series data. ARIMA generalizes the simpler autoregressive moving average and adds the notion of integration. A time series  $Z_t$  can be presented by the ARIMA(p, d, q) process [4], if

$$\phi(B)(1-B)^d Z_t = c + \theta(B)a_t,\tag{5}$$

where

- $-t = 1, 2, \ldots, k,$
- $-\phi(B) = 1 \phi_1 B \phi_2 B^2 \ldots \phi_P B^P \text{ and } \theta(B) = 1 \theta_1 B \theta_2 B^2 \ldots \theta_q B^q$ are polynomials in *B* of degree *p* and *q*,
- -c is a constant,
- B is the backward shift operator,

- -p of AR(p) is the integer derived by PACF (the partial autocorrelation function),
- -q of MA(q) is the integer derived by ACF (the autocorrelation function).

It is assumed that  $a_t$  are independent and identically distributed as normal random variables with mean 0 and variance  $\sigma^2$ , and the roots of  $\phi(Z) = 0$  and  $\theta(Z) = 0$  all lie outside the unit circle.

In [11] instead of using crisp fuzzy parameters  $\tilde{\phi}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\phi}_p$  and  $\tilde{\theta}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\theta}_q$  in the form of symmetric triangular fuzzy numbers are used. The algorithm can be described by following three steps:

- 1. Fitting the ARIMA(p, d, q) with nonfuzzy input data to find crisp coefficients  $c, \phi = \phi_1, \phi_2, \ldots, \phi_p$  and  $\theta = \theta_1, \theta_2, \ldots, \theta_q$ .
- 2. Determining the spreads  $s = s_0, s_1, s_2, \ldots, s_{p+q}$  by the minimal fuzziness criterion (6).

$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \sum_{t=1}^{k} s_{i} |\xi_{i}| |W_{t-i}| + \sum_{i=p+1}^{p+q} \sum_{t=1}^{k} s_{i} |\rho_{i-p}| |a_{t+p-i}| + s_{0} \to minimize$$

$$s.t. : \sum_{i=1}^{p} \phi_{i} W_{t-i} + a_{t} - \sum_{i=1}^{q} \theta_{i} a_{t-i} + (1-h) (\sum_{i=1}^{p} s_{i} |W_{t-i}| + \sum_{i=p+1}^{p+q} s_{i} |a_{t+p-i}| + s_{0}) \ge W_{t},$$

$$\sum_{i=1}^{p} \phi_{i} W_{t-i} + a_{t} - \sum_{i=1}^{q} \theta_{i} a_{t-i} - (1-h) (\sum_{i=1}^{p} s_{i} |W_{t-i}| + \sum_{i=p+1}^{p+q} s_{i} |a_{t+p-i}| + s_{0}) \le W_{t},$$

$$t = 1, 2, \dots, k,$$

$$s_{i} \ge 0 \text{ for all } i = 0, 1, 2, \dots, p + q,$$

$$(6)$$

where:

 $-W_t = (1-B)^d Z_t,$ 

- $-\xi_i$  is the partial autocorrelation coefficient of time lag *i*,
- $-\rho_i$  is the autocorrelation coefficient of time lag *i*.
- 3. Optional phase 3: deleting the data around the model's upper boundary and lower boundary when the fuzzy ARIMA model has outliers with a wide spread and back to step 1. In this case, this step can not be applied because unobservable variable  $\kappa_t$  is forecasted and the removal of outliers would be based on a forecast of mortality rate which is also affected by  $\alpha_x$  and  $\beta_x$ .

#### 2.2 Fuzzy Lee-Carter Model

The fuzzy formulation of the LC model [8] is:

$$\tilde{Y}_{x,t} = \tilde{A}_x \oplus \tilde{B}_x \odot \tilde{K}_t \tag{7}$$

for  $x = x_1, x_2, \dots, x_N, t = t_1, t_1 + 1, \dots, T$ , where

- $-\tilde{Y}_{x,t} = (y_{x,t}, e_{x,t})$  are known fuzzy log-mortality rate of age group x at time t, presented by a symmetrical triangular fuzzy number,<sup>1</sup>
- $\tilde{A}_x = (\alpha_{x,t}, s_{\alpha_x})$  and  $\tilde{B}_x = (\beta_x, s_{\beta_x})$  are the unknown fuzzy age-specific parameters,
- $-\tilde{K}_t = (\kappa_t, s_{\kappa_t})$  is the unknown fuzzy time-variant mortality index.

**Fuzzyfication.** Koissi and Shapiro [8] used a fuzzy least-squares regression based on the minimum fuzziness criterion to fuzzify the crisp log-central death rates. It was emphasized that for simplicity, they used symmetric fuzzy numbers. Fuzzification of the given log-central death rates  $y_{x,t}$  for age x in year t, comes down to finding the symmetric triangular fuzzy number (STFN):  $Y_{x,t} = (y_{x,t}, e_{x,t})$ , where  $y_{x,t}$  is the central value and  $e_{x,t}$  is the unknown spread. To find  $e_{x,t}$  Koissi and Shapiro introduced STFN  $C_0 = (c_{0x}, s_{0x}), C_1 = (c_{1x}, s_{1x})$ , such that:

$$(y_{x,t}, e_{x,t}) = (c_{0x}, s_{0x}) \oplus (c_{1x}, s_{1x}) \odot t$$
(8)

for each age-group x. Based on fuzzy arithmetic operations  $^{2}$  it is equivalent to:

$$y_{x,t} = c_0 x + c_1 xt, \ e_{x,t} = \max(s_{0x}, s_{1x}t).$$
 (9)

In the following part, according to [10], the STFN are replaced by the Ordered Fuzzy Numbers. The Ordered Fuzzy Number (OFN), introduced by [7], is an ordered pair of two continuous functions  $\vec{A} = (f_A, g_A)$ , where  $f_A$  and  $g_A$  are called the up-part and the down-part, respectively, both defined on the closed interval [0, 1] with values in R. Thus STFN  $(y_{x,t}, e_{x,t}), (c_{0x}, s_{0x}), (c_{1x}, s_{1x})$  are replaced by their counterparts:  $\vec{y}_{x,t} = (f_{Y_{x,t}}, g_{Y_{x,t}}), \vec{C}_{0x} = (f_{C_{0x}}, g_{C_{0x}}), \vec{C}_{1x} = (f_{C_{1x}}, g_{C_{1x}}),$  where:

 $\begin{array}{l} - f_{Y_{x,t}}(z) = y_{x,t} - e_{x,t}(1-z), \\ - g_{Y_{x,t}}(z) = y_{x,t} + e_{x,t}(1-z), \\ - f_{C_{0x}}(z) = c_{0x} - s_{0x}(1-z), \\ - g_{C_{0x}}(z) = c_{0x} + s_{0x}(1-z), \\ - f_{C_{1x}}(z) = c_{1x} - s_{1x}(1-z), \\ - g_{C_{1x}}(z) = c_{1x} + s_{1x}(1-z), \\ - z \in [0, 1]. \end{array}$ 

Therefore condition (9) can be expressed as follows:

$$(f_{Y_{x,t}}, g_{Y_{x,t}}) = (f_{C_{0x}}, g_{C_{0x}}) \oplus (f_{C_{1x}}, g_{C_{1x}}) \odot t,$$

$$(10)$$

for each age-group x. By definition of addition and multiplication of OFN it results that the following equations should be satisfied:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> we use notation  $\tilde{A} = (\alpha, a)$ , where  $\alpha$  is the center and a is the spread of fuzzy number.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Koissi and Shapiro used definition of multiplication and addition proposed by Hong
[5] and Kolesarova [6] respectively.

$$(y_{x,t} - e_{x,t}(1-z), y_{x,t} + e_{x,t}(1-z))) = (f_{C_{0x}}(z) + tf_{C_{1x}}(z), g_{C_{0x}}(z) + tg_{C_{1x}}(z))$$
(11)  
=  $(c_{0x} + c_{1x}t - (s_{0x} + s_{1x}t)(1-z), c_{0x} + c_{1x}t + (s_{0x} + s_{1x}t)(1-z))$ 

for each age-group x, and  $z \in [0, 1]$ . It means that:

$$y_{x,t} = c_{0x} + c_{1x}t, (12)$$

$$e_{x,t} = s_{0x} + s_{1x}t, (13)$$

 $t=1,2,\ldots,T.$ 

With respect to (12) ordinary least-squares regression is used to find the centre values  $c_{0x}$  and  $c_{1x}$ . For each age-group x in the year t the estimates:

$$\hat{c}_{1x} = \frac{\bar{t}\bar{y}_{x,t} - \bar{t}\;\bar{y}_{x,t}}{\bar{t}^2 - \bar{t}^2} \tag{14}$$

$$\hat{c}_{0x} = \bar{y}_{x,t} - \hat{c}_{1x}\bar{t}$$
 (15)

where  $t\bar{y}_{x,t}, \bar{y}_{x,t}, t^2, t^2$  denotes the arithmetic mean of appropriate expressions.

Next, the spreads  $s_{0x}$  and  $s_{1x}$  are obtained by using the minimum fuzziness criterion (it is impossible to use least-squares regression, because the left side of Eq. (13) is unknown). Lets note that from the assumption  $e_{x,t}$  are non-negative numbers. The smallest value is 0. Therefore, the minimum fuzziness criterion leads to  $\hat{s}_{0x}$ ,  $\hat{s}_{1x}$  which minimize the sum:

$$\sum_{t=1}^{T} e_{x,t} = Ts_{0x} + s_{1x} \sum_{t=1}^{T} t,$$
(16)

subject to the constraints:

- $\begin{array}{l} s_{0x}, s_{1x} \ge 0, \\ \hat{c}_{0x} + \hat{c}_{1x}t + (s_{0x} + s_{1x}t)(1-z) \ge y_{x,t}, \\ \hat{a} + \hat{a} + (a + a + t)(1-z) \le \alpha \end{array}$
- $-\hat{c}_{0x} + \hat{c}_{1x}t (s_{0x} + s_{1x}t)(1-z) \le y_{x,t}$

for each age x and for a fixed  $z \in [0, 1)$ . Because the greater values of z lead to greater spreads, it is assumed in the sequel that z = 0. The criterion above is analogous to the criterion of Koissi and Shapiro. The difference concerns the manner of calculating spreads.

**Estimating Fuzzy-LC.** The search for the parameters is to minimize the Diamond distance between  $\tilde{Y}_{x,t} = \tilde{A}_{x,t} \oplus \tilde{B}_{x,t} \odot \tilde{K}_{x,t}$  and  $Y_{x,t}$ . Thus for OFN, we have:

$$\sum_{x=0}^{x_N} \sum_{t_1}^{I} D^2(\vec{A}_x \oplus \vec{B}_x \odot \vec{K}_t, \vec{Y}_{x,t}) \to minimize \tag{17}$$

where

$$\sum_{x=0}^{XN} \sum_{t_1}^T D^2(\overrightarrow{A}_x \oplus \overrightarrow{B}_x \odot \overrightarrow{K}_t, \overrightarrow{Y}_{x,t})$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} (f_{A_x}(z) + f_{B_x \odot K_t}(z) - f_{Y_{x,t}}(z))^2 dz \qquad (18)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{1} (g_{A_x}(z) + g_{B_x \odot K_t}(z) - g_{Y_{x,t}}(z))^2 dz$$

One way of solution (17) is deriving the partial derivatives of (18) with respect to  $\alpha_x$ ,  $\beta_x$ ,  $\kappa(t)$ ,  $s_{\alpha_x}$ ,  $s_{\beta_x}$ ,  $s_{\kappa(t)}$ , and next equaling them to 0.

#### 2.3 Forecasting

In the first approach the algorithm for forecasting the morality rate for M years is the following:

- 1. calculate crisp Lee-Carter model coefficients
- 2. find the fuzzy ARIMA coefficient for parameter  $\kappa$
- 3. calculate  $\kappa$  for periods t = T + 1, T + 2, ..., T + M
- 4. calculate the fuzzy morality rate using the Lee-Carter formula with forecasted  $\kappa$  and coefficients  $\alpha_x$  and  $\beta_x$  form step 1.

Despite the large number of parameters, this approach has low computational complexity. In step 1, by fitting the Lee-Carter model, the maximum likelihood estimation or SVD method can be used. Step 2 is reduced to a linear optimization problem.

The second forecasting approach consists of the following steps:

- 1. calculate crisp Lee-Carter model coefficients
- 2. fuzzification of log-central death rates
- 3. minimize the Diamond distance to obtain the fuzzy Lee-Carter model parameters
- 4. forecast  $(\kappa_t, s_{\kappa_t})$  for periods t = T + 1, T + 2, ..., T + M by linear trend
- 5. calculate the fuzzy morality rate using the Lee-Carter formula with forecasted  $(\kappa_t, s_{\kappa_t})$  and coefficients  $(\alpha_x, s_{\alpha_x})$  and  $(\beta_x, s_{\beta_x})$  form step 3.

The second approach is associated with a large increase in computational complexity, since we have twice as many parameters to set.

### 3 The Empirical Study

The empirical example is conducted on data about central death rates for Poland<sup>3</sup> covering the years 1958–2014 and ages 0–100 (see Fig. 1). The sample is divided in training sub-sample - years 1958–2004 and test sub-sample - years 2005–2014. All calculations were performed separately for women and men.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Source: Human Mortality Database http://www.mortality.org/.



Fig. 1. Logarithms of central death rates for Poland in 1958–2014 and ages 0–100

The calculations were made in the R environment using packages forecast for ARIMA fitting and pracma for solving equations. Using the revised fuzzy ARIMA model (case fARIMA) and parameters from the fuzzy Lee-Carter method (case fLC), we forecast the future value of the  $\kappa_t$  (see Table 1) and then forecast mortality for the next 10 years. Results for 0, 20, 40 and 60-year-olds are presented in Figs. 2 and 3. A black vertical line on each chart separates fitted models from forecasts. As we can see, most problems with models fitting and forecasting are generated by subpopulations between the ages of 40 and 60. This is especially evident for men, for the above-mentioned ages are significantly different from the actual values of the mortality rates. The considered models do not cope with the change in mortality patterns that occurred in Poland in

	crisp LC		fARIMA		fLC				
Year	Females	Males	Females	Males	Females	Males			
2005	-49.51	-22.58	(-51.14, -47.88)	(-23.94, -21.23)	(-31.98, -31.41)	(-13.71, -13.11)			
2006	-49.74	-22.91	(-51.37, -48.11)	(-24.27, -21.56)	(-33.31, -32.73)	(-14.27, -13.67)			
2007	-49.79	-23.03	(-51.42, -48.16)	(-24.39, -21.67)	(-34.63, -34.05)	(-14.83, -14.22)			
2008	-49.80	-23.07	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.43, -21.71)	(-35.95, -35.37)	(-15.40, -14.78)			
2009	-49.80	-23.09	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.45, -21.73)	(-37.28, -36.68)	(-15.96, -15.33)			
2010	-49.80	-23.09	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.45, -21.73)	(-38.60, -38.00)	(-16.52, -15.89)			
2011	-49.80	-23.09	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.45, -21.74)	(-39.93, -39.32)	(-17.09, -16.44)			
2012	-49.80	-23.10	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.45, -21.74)	(-41.25, -40.64)	(-17.65, -17.00)			
2013	-49.80	-23.10	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.45, -21.74)	(-42.57, -41.95)	(-18.21, -17.55)			
2014	-49.80	-23.10	(-51.43, -48.17)	(-24.45, -21.74)	(-43.90, -43.27)	(-18.77, -18.12)			

**Table 1.** Projections of  $\tilde{\kappa}$ 



Fig. 2. Results of estimation and prediction for males



Fig. 3. Results of estimation and prediction for females

	MAE	MSE	RMSE	MAPE			
Males							
fLC	0.239856	0.07623	0.276098	6.294489			
fARIMA <b>0.200425</b>		0.055833	0.2316	5.035917			
Females							
fLC	0.161778	0.036453	0.190927	4.34994			
fARIMA	0.147042	0.037737	0.2419	3.205806			

 Table 2. Forecast errors

the 1990s. Let's have a look at the forecasts for a 20-year-old females (Fig. 3, second panel). Because our forecasts are in the sample there are real values of the mortality rate (grey dots). The forecast obtained from crisp ARIMA is a dashed line drawn. As STFN is used, central values got from fuzzy ARIMA overlap crisp ARIMA. Finally, the forecast obtained from fuzzy Lee-Carter (as a linear trend) is a solid line. In this case, the real values are in the fuzziness area. For example, the forecast for year 2014 from crisp ARIMA equals -8.46, and from fuzzy Lee-Carter we have an interval (-8.64, -8.19), while the real value is equal to -8.23. For practical reasons, the logarithms of central mortality rates are modeled, but on this basis one can calculate the annual probability of dying or the annual probability of living, which can be used to calculate other demographic ratios.

The prediction errors, calculated for centre values of the fuzzy forecast, are presented in Table 2. All actual values fall within the fuzzy ARIMA predictive support, and 26.34% of fLC forecasts for men and for women 52.67%. However, the average forecast's spread for fLC is 0.1837 for females and 0.1638 for males. For fARIMA it is 1.6291 and 1.3582, respectively, so more than eight times bigger.

As we mentioned in the introduction, demographic data, of their nature, are imprecise, which in our opinion requires a fuzzy approach in modelling and forecasting. A comparison of crisp and two fuzzy methods for forecasting is shown in Table 3.

LC + ARIMA	LC + fARIMA	fuzzy LC
Lack of vague	Crisp LC parameters and vague forecast	Vague parameters and forecast
Crisp numbers	Crisp and fuzzy numbers	OFN
Provide a confidence interval of at least 50 and preferably 100 observations or more	Provide a possibility interval less than ARIMA	Provide a possibility interval less than ARIMA
Homoscedasticity assumption	Homoscedasticity assumption	Lack of assumption

Table 3. Comparison of standard and fuzzy forcasting of mortality rates

## 4 Conclusions

In the paper we test the prediction value of two fuzzy approaches for modelling mortality rates. The next natural step is checking models' performance for other data sets - different countries with different lengths of time series. The results for Poland have shown the fuzzy *ARIMA* model to perform usually better than the fuzzy Lee-Carter model regarding the forecast accuracy. However, too wide support of fuzzy forecasting means there is no practical business use. Moreover, when using the fuzzy *ARIMA* model, we do not avoid the difficult-to-meet assumption of the Lee-Carter model. The reason for the weaker results of the fuzzy Lee Carter model may be the linearity of the model, which we have already introduced by fuzzification steps. Therefore, in further investigations we plan to propose a new way of fuzzification for this model.

## References

- 1. Box, G.E., Jenkins G.M.: Time Series Analysis: Forecasting and Control, revised edn. Holden-Day (1976)
- Cairns, A.J.G., et al.: A quantitative comparison of stochastic mortality models using data from England and Wales and the United States. North Am. Actuarial J. 13(1), 1–35 (2009)
- Haberman, S., Renshaw, A.: A comparative study of parametric mortality projection models. Insur.: Math. Econ. 48(1), 35–55 (2011)
- Hyndman, R.J., Athanasopoulos, G.: Forecasting: Principles and Practice. OTexts (2014)
- Hong, D.H., Hae, Y.D.: Fuzzy system reliability analysis by the use of T (the weakest t-norm) on fuzzy number arithmetic operations. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 90(3), 307–316 (1997)
- Kolesárová, A.: Triangular norm-based addition preserving linearity of T-sums of linear fuzzy intervals. Mathware Soft Comput. 5(1), 1998 (1998)
- Kosiński, W., Prokopowicz, P., Ślęzak, D.: Ordered fuzzy numbers. Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci., Ser. Sci. Math 51(3), 327–338 (2003)
- Koissi, M.-C., Shapiro, A.F.: Fuzzy formulation of the Lee Carter model for mortality forecasting. Insur.: Math. Econ. 39(3), 287–309 (2006)
- Lee, R.D., Carter, L.R.: Modeling and forecasting US mortality. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 87(419), 659–671 (1992)
- Szymański, A., Rossa, A.: Fuzzy mortality model based on Banach algebra. Int. J. Intell. Technol. Appl. Stat. 7(3), 241–265 (2014)
- Tseng, F.-M., et al.: Fuzzy ARIMA model for forecasting the foreign exchange market. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 118(1), 9–19 (2001)

# Non-denoting Terms in Fuzzy Logic: An Initial Exploration

Libor Běhounek and Antonín Dvořák<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Institute for Research and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling, University of Ostrava, NSC IT4Innovations, 30. dubna 22, 701 03 Ostrava, Czech Republic {libor.behounek,antonin.dvorak}@osu.cz http://irafm.osu.cz

Abstract. We introduce two variants of first-order fuzzy logic that can deal with non-denoting terms, or terms that lack existing referents, e.g., Pegasus, the current king of France, the largest number, or 0/0. Logics designed for this purpose in the classical setting are known as free logics. In this paper we discuss the features of free logics and select the options best suited for fuzzification, deciding on the so-called dualdomain semantics for positive free logic with truth-value gaps and outer quantifiers. We fuzzify the latter semantics in two levels of generality, first with a crisp and subsequently with a fuzzy predicate of existence. To accommodate truth-valueless statements about nonexistent objects, we employ a recently proposed first-order partial fuzzy logic with a single undefined truth value. Combining the dual-domain semantics with partial fuzzy logic, we define several kinds of 'inner-domain' quantifiers, relativized by the predicate of existence. Finally, we make a few observations on some of the resulting rules of free fuzzy quantification that illustrate the differences between the two proposed systems of free fuzzy logic and their well known non-free or non-fuzzy variants.

Keywords: Quantifier  $\cdot$  Free logic  $\cdot$  Existence  $\cdot$  Referent  $\cdot$  Partial fuzzy logic

### 1 Introduction

In both formal and natural languages there are terms with no existing referents. Classical examples include 1/0,  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n$ , the largest natural number, Pegasus, or the current king of France. In the classical setting, dealing with such non-denoting terms falls under the domain of *free logics*, or 'logics free of existential assumptions' [4–7]. Free logics differ from classical logic mainly in the conditional validity of certain inference rules for quantifiers. These differences ensue from the modifications free logics make to the classical first-order semantics in order to accommodate terms that either have no referents at all, or have referents that fall outside the domain of existential and universal quantification. Free logics find numerous applications in the logical analysis of natural language, esp. the theory of definite descriptions, temporal and fictional

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_14

discourse, modal logics with non-constant domains (where possible worlds can differ in existent objects), computer science (for dealing with null objects and unassigned variables), or some areas of mathematics (algebra, foundations) and philosophy [5–7].

Non-denoting terms or terms denoting nonexistent objects can, obviously, be encountered in fuzzy contexts just like in crisp contexts, e.g., when a fuzzy property is predicated of a nonexistent object or in fuzzy definite or indefinite descriptions. However, like classical logic, known systems of predicate fuzzy logic all assume that each term in the language is evaluated within the domain of quantification, and so has an existent referent. To our knowledge, no attempt at developing free fuzzy logic has yet been undertaken.

This paper aims neither at providing a definite solution to the problem of handling non-denoting terms or nonexistent objects in fuzzy contexts, nor at deriving deep mathematical results on free quantification in fuzzy logic. Rather we make the first exploration into the landscape of viable variants of free fuzzy logic, pointing out some possible desiderata and design choices, and hint at a few features in which free fuzzy logic may differ from its non-free or non-fuzzy variants.

Possible applications of free quantification in fuzzy logic are envisaged wherever non-denoting terms might be encountered in fuzzy contexts, which includes fuzzy descriptions, fuzzy temporal, fictional, or modal discourse, as well as various fuzzy methods of computer science and engineering where variables may happen to lack referents. Naturally, these applications can only be developed after the sketched systems of free fuzzy logic are elaborated in more detail. Such an elaboration is a topic for future work.

## 2 Non-denoting Terms in the Classical Setting

As mentioned in Sect. 1, the treatment of non-denoting terms and nonexistent objects in the crisp setting is the domain of free logics. There are several variants of free logics known from the literature, which differ in various design choices for their semantics [5–7]. In this section, we review the main available options for the semantics of crisp free logics and justify the choice of one of them as our starting point for generalization to the fuzzy setting.

In free logics, singular terms may lack referents in the domain of quantification. Most variants of free logic contain the (primitive or defined) unary *existence predicate*, traditionally denoted by E!, where the atomic formula E!t expresses the fact that the singular term t has a referent in the domain of quantification. Besides other things, E! enables an explicit expression of existential presuppositions in inferences.

There are three main families of free logics, which differ in the way they assign truth values to empty-termed atomic formulae (i.e., atomic formulae containing terms that lack referents in the domain of quantification):

- Negative: All empty-termed atomic formulae are considered false.

- Positive: Some empty-termed atomic formulae can be true.
- Neutral: All empty-termed atomic formulae not of the form E!t are considered truth-valueless.

A further distinction regards how non-denoting terms themselves are handled in the semantics. One option is to use a single domain D of referents; the Tarski conditions then need be modified to allow singular terms to have no value in D. Another option is the so-called *dual-domain semantics*. Here, models have two domains: the outer domain  $D_0 \neq \emptyset$  and the inner domain  $D_1 \subseteq D_0$ . In  $D_1$ , which is the range of quantification, existent objects are collected. Singular terms with non-existing referents are assigned the elements of  $D_0 \setminus D_1$ . In the positive dual-domain semantics, the extensions of predicates can include objects from  $D_0 \sim D_1$ ; this makes it possible to assign truth values to claims about nonexistent objects (e.g., that Zeus  $\neq$  Pegasus or that unicorns are animals). The appeal of the dual-domain semantics lies in its closeness to the classical semantics: since every singular term has a referent in  $D_0$ , there is no need to use some nonstandard way of evaluation of empty-termed atomic formulae. The dual-domain semantics is also convenient for accommodating objects that exist in possible worlds other than the actual world: in modal logics with non-constant domains, each world w comes with its own inner domain (of objects existing in w), which is a subset of a common outer domain.

An attractive option in the positive dual-domain framework is to take the so-called *outer quantifiers*, which range over the outer domain  $D_0$ , as primitive. Since all terms have referents in  $D_0$ , these quantifiers behave as the standard quantifiers of classical first-order logic. The *inner quantifiers* (ranging over  $D_1$ ) are then simply restrictions of the outer quantifiers to the inner domain (delimited by the existence predicate). In particular, if we denote the outer quantifiers by  $\exists^0, \forall^0$ , then the inner quantifiers  $\exists^1, \forall^1$  are defined as

$$(\exists^1 x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists^0 x)(E!x \& \varphi) \tag{1}$$

$$(\forall^1 x)\varphi \equiv_{\rm df} (\forall^0 x)(E!x \to \varphi). \tag{2}$$

The ordinary meaning of the expressions "some" and "all" corresponds to *inner* quantification (over existing objects). The outer quantifiers, apart from their technical role in the semantics, are nevertheless useful in certain specific contexts: for instance, the statement "Some things do not exist", which is not straightforwardly formalizable by means of classical or inner quantification, can be expressed by the formula  $(\exists^0 x) \neg E! x$ . Since  $D_1, \exists^1, \forall^1$  are definable from the (classically behaving)  $D_0, \exists^0, \forall^0$  and E!, free logic with outer quantifiers is essentially the classical logic of restricted quantification.

More details on free logics can be found in [4–7]. It remains to decide which variant(s) from the rich landscape of free logics are best suited for generalization to fuzzy contexts.

As has been observed in the literature [6,7], each of the main variants (positive, negative, and neutral) comes with some problems. Neutral free logics tend

to be rather weak; also, intuitively it seems strange for statements like "Zeus = Zeus" to lack a truth value (or be false, as in negative free logics). In negative free logics, the truth values of empty-termed formulae depend on the choice of primitive predicates. In bivalent positive free logics, we are often forced to assign truth values to empty-termed formulae without any clear reason.

Therefore, for our enterprise we favor a non-bivalent variant of positive free logic, which has also been studied in the literature (see [7]) and seems most flexible compared to alternatives. In non-bivalent positive free logics, some emptytermed propositions (such as "1/0 is prime") may lack truth values, while others (such as "Zeus = Zeus") can be true and yet others (such as "Zeus = Pegasus") false. The truth-value gaps, needed in non-bivalent positive semantics, can conveniently be handled within the framework of partial fuzzy logic, recently proposed in [2,3]. Since single-domain semantics require a non-standard evaluation of singular terms (and can anyway be emulated by a dual-domain semantics with a single element in  $D_0 \setminus D_1$ ), our choice for fuzzification is that of dual-domain non-bivalent positive free logic.

## 3 Partial Fuzzy Logic

Partial fuzzy logic, suitable for dealing with truth-valueless propositions occurring in positive free fuzzy logic, has been proposed in a propositional form in [3] and extended to a first-order variant in [2]. It represents truth value gaps by an additional truth value \*, added to the real unit interval [0, 1] or another algebra  $\boldsymbol{L}$  of truth degrees of an underlying fuzzy logic L. The underlying fuzzy logic L can be any implicative expansion of the logic MTL<sub> $\triangle$ </sub> (i.e., an expansion of MTL<sub> $\triangle$ </sub> where every connective is congruent w.r.t. fully true bi-implication), for instance,  $L_{\triangle}$ , BL<sub> $\triangle$ </sub>, LII, etc. For more information on these logics see, e.g., [1]; we assume the reader's familiarity with at least one such fuzzy logic, both propositional and first-order.

The semantics of the propositional partial fuzzy logic  $L^*$  based on the fuzzy logic L is defined as follows (for additional details see [3]):

- The primitive propositional language of  $L^*$  contains:
  - For each propositional connective c of L, the ('Bochvar-style') connective  $c_{\rm B}$  of the same arity
  - The truth constant \* (representing an undefined truth degree)
  - The unary connective ! (for the crisp indicator of definedness)
  - The binary connective  $\wedge_{\mathbf{K}}$  (for 'Kleene-style' min-conjunction).
- The *intended algebras* of truth values for L\* are defined as expansions of the algebras for L by a dummy element \* (to be assigned to propositions with undefined truth). In the intended L\*-algebra  $L_* = L \cup \{*\}$ , for L an L-algebra, the connectives of L\* are interpreted by the following truth tables for each unary connective  $u_{\rm B}$ , binary connective  $c_{\rm B}$  (and similarly for higher arities),  $\alpha, \beta \in L$  and  $\gamma, \delta \in L \setminus \{0\}$ :

- The *tautologies* of L<sup>\*</sup> are defined as those L<sup>\*</sup>-formulae that are evaluated to 1 under all evaluations in all intended L<sup>\*</sup>-algebras. *Entailment* in L<sup>\*</sup> is defined as the transmission of the value 1 under all evaluations in all intended L<sup>\*</sup>algebras. As usual, we write  $\models \varphi$  if  $\varphi$  is a tautology of L<sup>\*</sup>, and  $\Gamma \models \varphi$  if the set  $\Gamma$  of L<sup>\*</sup>-formulae entails the L<sup>\*</sup>-formula  $\varphi$  in L<sup>\*</sup>.

The primitive connectives of  $L^*$  make a broad class of derived connectives available in  $L^*$ . Besides the primitive *Bochvar-style* connectives  $c_B$ , which treat \*as the absorbing element, the following two important families of connectives are definable in  $L^*$ :

- The Sobociński-style connectives  $c_{\rm S} \in \{\wedge_{\rm S}, \vee_{\rm S}, \&_{\rm S}\}$ , which treat \* as the neutral element; and the Sobociński-style implication  $\rightarrow_{\rm S}$ , associated with  $\&_{\rm S}$  via the residuation axiom  $x \rightarrow_{\rm S} (y \rightarrow_{\rm S} z) = (x \&_{\rm S} y) \rightarrow_{\rm S} z$ :

- The *Kleene-style* connectives  $c_{\rm K} \in \{\wedge_{\rm K}, \vee_{\rm K}, \&_{\rm K}, \rightarrow_{\rm K}\}$ , which preserve the neutral and absorbing elements of the corresponding connectives of L, and otherwise are evaluated Bochvar-style. For the primitive connective  $\wedge_{\rm K}$  see (3) above; the others are defined by the following truth tables:

$\&_{\rm K}$	0	$\beta$	*	$\vee_{\mathrm{K}}$	δ	1	*	 $\rightarrow_{\mathrm{K}}$	δ	1	*	
0	0	0	0	$\gamma$	$\gamma \vee \delta$	1	*	0	1	1	1	(4)
$\alpha$	0	$\alpha \ \& \ \beta$	*	1	1	1	1	$\alpha$	$\alpha \to \delta$	1	*	(4)
*	0	*	*	*	*	1	*	*	*	1	*	

Moreover, several useful auxiliary connectives are definable in L<sup>\*</sup>, including those with the following truth tables (for  $\alpha \in L$  and  $\gamma \in L \setminus \{1\}$ ):

For examples of the logical laws governing the connectives of  $L^*$  see [3]. The semantics of the first-order extension of  $L^*$  introduced in [2] is defined as follows:

Let  $\mathcal{L} = (\operatorname{Pred}_{\mathcal{L}}, \operatorname{Func}_{\mathcal{L}})$  be a first-order language with a non-empty set  $\operatorname{Pred}_{\mathcal{L}}$  of predicate symbols and a set  $\operatorname{Func}_{\mathcal{L}}$  of function symbols, each with an arity  $n \ge 0$  (where predicate symbols of arity 0 are propositional constants and function symbols of arity 0 are object constants). Let Var be a set of object variables.

A model for a language  $\mathcal{L}$  over an intended L\*-algebra  $L_*$  is given as  $\mathbf{M} =$  $(D^{\mathbf{M}}, (P^{\mathbf{M}})_{P \in \operatorname{Pred}_{\mathcal{L}}}, (F^{\mathbf{M}})_{F \in \operatorname{Func}_{\mathcal{L}}})$ , where:

- $-D^{\mathbf{M}}$  is a crisp non-empty set.
- $-P^{\mathbf{M}}: (D^{\mathbf{M}})^{n} \to \boldsymbol{L}_{*} \text{ for each } n\text{-ary } P \in \operatorname{Pred}_{\mathcal{L}}.$  $-F^{\mathbf{M}}: (D^{\mathbf{M}})^{n} \to D^{\mathbf{M}} \text{ for each } n\text{-ary } F \in \operatorname{Func}_{\mathcal{L}}.$

The semantic values of a formula  $\varphi$  and a term t in a model **M** under an evaluation  $e \colon \text{Var} \to D^{\mathbf{M}}$  of object variables will be denoted by  $\|\varphi\|_e^{\mathbf{M}}$  and  $\|t\|_e^{\mathbf{M}}$ , respectively. The evaluation that assigns  $a \in D^{\mathbf{M}}$  to x and coincides with e on all other object variables will be denoted by  $e[x \mapsto a]$ .

The Tarski conditions for terms and atomic formulae are defined as in the first-order fuzzy logic L, and for propositional connectives by the truth tables (3)above. The primitive quantifiers  $\exists_B, \forall_B \text{ of } L^*$  are interpreted *Bochvar-style*, i.e., yielding the 'undefined' value \* whenever an instance of the quantified formula is undefined:

$$\begin{split} \|(\exists_{\mathbf{B}}x)\varphi\|_{e}^{\mathbf{M}} &= \begin{cases} * & \text{if } \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} = * \text{ for some } a \in D^{\mathbf{M}} \\ \sup_{a \in D^{\mathbf{M}}} \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} & \text{ otherwise} \end{cases} \\ \|(\forall_{\mathbf{B}}x)\varphi\|_{e}^{\mathbf{M}} &= \begin{cases} * & \text{if } \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} = * \text{ for some } a \in D^{\mathbf{M}} \\ \inf_{a \in D^{\mathbf{M}}} \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} & \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Like in the case of propositional connectives, further variants of universal and existential quantifiers are definable in L\*, including the following important ones:

- The Sobociński-style quantifiers  $\exists_{\rm S}, \forall_{\rm S}$ , which ignore the undefined instances of the quantified formula:

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\exists_{\mathbf{S}}x)\varphi\|_{e}^{\mathbf{M}} &= \begin{cases} * & \text{if } \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} = * \text{ for all } a \in D^{\mathbf{M}} \\ \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} \neq *} \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} & \text{ otherwise} \end{cases} \\ \|(\forall_{\mathbf{S}}x)\varphi\|_{e}^{\mathbf{M}} &= \begin{cases} * & \text{if } \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} = * \text{ for all } a \in D^{\mathbf{M}} \\ \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} \neq *} \|\varphi\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} & \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

They can be defined from  $\exists_B, \forall_B$  by the L\*-connectives (3)–(5) as follows:

$$(\exists_{\mathbf{S}} x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}} x) \downarrow \varphi \lor_{\mathbf{B}} \mathbb{K}(\forall_{\mathbf{B}} x)?\varphi$$
(6)

$$(\forall_{\mathbf{S}} x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathbf{B}} x) \uparrow \varphi \lor_{\mathbf{B}} \circledast (\forall_{\mathbf{B}} x)?\varphi .$$

$$(7)$$

– The *Kleene-style* quantifiers  $\exists_{K}, \forall_{K}$ , respectively analogous to  $\vee_{K}$  and  $\wedge_{K}$ , can be defined as:

$$(\exists_{\mathbf{K}} x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}} x)\varphi \vee_{\mathbf{K}} (\exists_{\mathbf{S}} x)\varphi \tag{8}$$

$$(\forall_{\mathbf{K}} x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathbf{B}} x)\varphi \wedge_{\mathbf{K}} (\forall_{\mathbf{S}} x)\varphi .$$
(9)

As usual, validity in a model is defined as truth to degree 1 under all evaluations of object variables in the model; tautologicity as validity in all models for the given language; and entailment as validity in all models validating all premises. We use the usual notation  $\mathbf{M} \models \varphi$  for validity,  $\models \varphi$  for tautologicity, and  $\Gamma \models \varphi$  for entailment.

Observation 1. It can be easily verified that, e.g., the rule of generalization is sound for all the aforementioned quantifiers:  $\varphi \models (Qx)\varphi$  for  $Q \in \{\forall_B, \forall_S, \forall_K, \exists_B, \exists_S, \exists_K\}$ . The rule of specification, on the other hand, only holds for Bochvar and Kleene universal quantifiers:  $(Qx)\varphi \models \varphi$  for  $Q \in \{\forall_B, \forall_K\}$ . Sobociński-style universally quantified formulae may only be instantiated with terms that do not make them undefined:  $(\forall_S x)\varphi, !\varphi(t/x) \models \varphi(t/x)$ .

### 4 Free Fuzzy Logic with a Crisp Existence Predicate

We have now collected all requisite ingredients to brew the first system of free fuzzy logic. By a design choice justified in Sect. 2, it is going to be a fuzzy variant of positive free logic with a dual-domain semantics admitting undefined truth degrees (represented by the dummy value \* of a partial fuzzy logic L<sup>\*</sup>). We shall start with the simpler case when the existence predicate E! is *bivalent* (i.e., total and crisp). The more general case of a *fuzzy* existence predicate will be discussed later in Sect. 5.

Let  $L^*$  be a partial fuzzy logic based on a fuzzy logic L. The semantics for a free variant of  $L^*$  will only require a minor modification to the semantics of first-order  $L^*$  described in Sect. 3:

Let  $L_*$  be an intended L\*-algebra and  $\mathcal{L}$  a first-order language as in Sect. 3. A *dual-domain model* for  $\mathcal{L}$  over  $L_*$  is given as  $\mathbf{M} = (D_0^{\mathbf{M}}, D_1^{\mathbf{M}}, (P^{\mathbf{M}})_{P \in \operatorname{Pred}_{\mathcal{L}}}, (F^{\mathbf{M}})_{F \in \operatorname{Func}_{\mathcal{L}}})$ , where:

 $-D_0^{\mathbf{M}}, D_1^{\mathbf{M}}$  are crisp sets such that  $D_1^{\mathbf{M}} \subseteq D_0^{\mathbf{M}} \neq \emptyset$ , respectively called the *outer* and *inner domain* of  $\mathbf{M}$ .

Predicate and function symbols are interpreted over the *outer* domain:

- $-P^{\mathbf{M}}: (D_0^{\mathbf{M}})^n \to \boldsymbol{L}_* \text{ for each } n\text{-ary } P \in \operatorname{Pred}_{\mathcal{L}}.$
- $-F^{\mathbf{M}}: (D_0^{\mathbf{M}})^n \to D_0^{\mathbf{M}}$  for each *n*-ary  $F \in \operatorname{Func}_{\mathcal{L}}$ .

The Tarski conditions for terms, atomic formulae, and propositional connectives in **M** under an evaluation  $e: \text{Var} \to D_0^{\mathbf{M}}$  are as in Sect. 3. The additional logical predicate symbols = (identity) and E! (existence) are interpreted in **M** as follows: -  $E!^{\mathbf{M}}$  indicates membership in the inner domain  $D_1^{\mathbf{M}}$ :

$$||E!t||_e^{\mathbf{M}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } ||t||_e^{\mathbf{M}} \in D_1^{\mathbf{M}} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

 $- =^{\mathbf{M}}$  indicates the identity across the outer domain  $D_0^{\mathbf{M}}$ :

$$\|t = u\|_e^{\mathbf{M}} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \|t\|_e^{\mathbf{M}} = \|u\|_e^{\mathbf{M}} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Opting for free logic with outer quantifiers (see Sect. 2), we define the primitive Bochvar-style quantifiers  $\forall_{\rm B}^0, \exists_{\rm B}^0$  as ranging over the *outer* domain  $D_0^{\rm M}$ :

$$\begin{split} \left\| (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{0} x) \varphi \right\|_{e}^{\mathbf{M}} &= \begin{cases} * & \text{if } \|\varphi\|_{e[x \mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} = * \text{ for some } a \in D_{0}^{\mathbf{M}} \\ \sup_{a \in D_{0}^{\mathbf{M}}} \|\varphi\|_{e[x \mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \\ \left\| (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0} x) \varphi \right\|_{e}^{\mathbf{M}} &= \begin{cases} * & \text{if } \|\varphi\|_{e[x \mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} = * \text{ for some } a \in D_{0}^{\mathbf{M}} \\ \inf_{a \in D_{0}^{\mathbf{M}}} \|\varphi\|_{e[x \mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{split}$$

The outer Sobociński and Kleene quantifiers can be defined from  $\exists_B^0, \forall_B^0$  as in (6)–(9) of Sect. 3:

$$\begin{aligned} (\exists_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)\downarrow\varphi \lor_{\mathbf{B}} \boxtimes (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)?\varphi & (\exists_{\mathbf{K}}^{0}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)\varphi \lor_{\mathbf{K}} (\exists_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}x)\varphi \\ (\forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)\uparrow\varphi \lor_{\mathbf{B}} \boxtimes (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)?\varphi & (\forall_{\mathbf{K}}^{0}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)\varphi \land_{\mathbf{K}} (\forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}x)\varphi \end{aligned}$$

Analogously to (1) and (2) in Sect. 2, we would like to introduce *inner* (Bochvar-style) quantifiers  $\exists_{\rm B}^1, \forall_{\rm B}^1$  by restricting the outer quantifiers  $\exists_{\rm B}^0, \forall_{\rm B}^0$  to the inner domain  $D_1^{\rm M}$  (delimited by  $E!^{\rm M}$ ). In the partial fuzzy setting, there arises the question as to which of the available conjunctions and implications should be used in (1) and (2) for the relativization of quantifiers. The desired behavior of the inner quantifiers is such that they are only affected by the elements of the inner domain  $D_1^{\rm M}$ , i.e., iff E!x evaluates to 1. In (1) and (2) we thus need to use a conjunction & and an implication  $\rightarrow$  such that  $0 \& \alpha = 0$  and  $0 \rightarrow \alpha = 1$  (to screen off the elements outside  $D_1^{\rm M}$ ), while  $1 \& \alpha = \alpha$  and  $1 \rightarrow \alpha = \alpha$  (not to affect the values for elements in  $D_1^{\rm M}$ ), for all  $\alpha \in \mathbf{L}_*$ . This suggests the *Kleene* connectives  $\&_{\rm K}$  and  $\rightarrow_{\rm K}$  (cf. their truth tables (4) in Sect. 3) as the adequate choice for relativization.

$$(\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}x)(E!x \&_{\mathbf{K}} \varphi)$$
(10)

$$(\forall^{1}_{\mathrm{B}}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall^{0}_{\mathrm{B}}x)(E!x \to_{\mathrm{K}} \varphi) .$$

$$(11)$$

The inner Sobociński and Kleene quantifiers can again be defined from  $\exists_B^1, \forall_B^1$  just like in (6)–(9) of Sect. 3:

$$(\exists_{\mathbf{S}}^{1}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x) \downarrow \varphi \vee_{\mathbf{B}} \circledast (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)?\varphi \qquad (\exists_{\mathbf{K}}^{1}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)\varphi \vee_{\mathbf{K}} (\exists_{\mathbf{S}}^{1}x)\varphi \\ (\forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{1}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x) \uparrow \varphi \vee_{\mathbf{B}} \circledast (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)?\varphi \qquad (\forall_{\mathbf{K}}^{1}x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)\varphi \wedge_{\mathbf{K}} (\forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{1}x)\varphi$$

Finally, the notions of validity, tautologicity, and entailment are defined as in Sect. 3. Let us now give some observations on this version of free fuzzy logic. Observation 2. First, it can be observed that the definition of  $=^{\mathbf{M}}$  makes all self-identity statements true to degree 1, thus  $\models t = t$  for all terms t.

Secondly, since all terms denote in  $D_0^{\mathbf{M}}$ , the outer quantifiers behave just like the non-free quantifiers of Sect. 3. Thus, for instance (cf. Sect. 3, Observation 1):

$$\varphi \models (\mathbf{Q}x)\varphi \qquad \text{for } \mathbf{Q} \in \{\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}, \forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}, \forall_{\mathbf{K}}^{0}, \exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}, \exists_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}, \exists_{\mathbf{K}}^{0}\} (\mathbf{Q}x)\varphi \models \varphi \qquad \text{for } \mathbf{Q} \in \{\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{0}, \forall_{\mathbf{K}}^{0}\}$$
(12)  
$$(\forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{0}x)\varphi, !\varphi(t/x) \models \varphi(t/x) .$$

However, the behavior of inner quantifiers, which only range over  $D_1^{\mathbf{M}}$ , differs. For example, unlike (12), in general  $(\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^1 x) \varphi \not\models \varphi$ , since x can be evaluated outside the inner domain  $D_1^{\mathbf{M}}$ . The predicate E! makes it possible to indicate the existence assumptions of inner quantification explicitly; for instance, the following rules are sound:

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t/x), E!t &\models (\mathbf{Q}x)\varphi \qquad \text{for } \mathbf{Q} \in \{\exists_{\mathbf{S}}^1, \exists_{\mathbf{K}}^1\} \\ (\mathbf{Q}x)\varphi, E!t &\models \varphi(t/x) \qquad \text{for } \mathbf{Q} \in \{\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^1, \forall_{\mathbf{K}}^1\} \;. \end{split}$$

For  $\exists_{B}^{1}, \forall_{S}^{1}$ , on the other hand, additional definedness assumptions are needed:

$$\begin{split} \varphi(t/x), E!t, (\forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)!\varphi &\models (\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{1}x)\varphi \\ (\forall_{\mathbf{S}}^{1}x)\varphi, E!t, !\varphi(t/x) &\models \varphi(t/x) \;. \end{split}$$

### 5 Free Fuzzy Logic with a Fuzzy Existence Predicate

In this section, we outline a variant of free fuzzy logic in which the existence predicate E! need not be bivalent as in Sect. 4, but can be fuzzy. In this more general setting, the existence of the referent of a singular term can be a matter of degree. This may be useful, e.g., for modeling definite or indefinite descriptions determined by a fuzzy condition: for instance, the referent of the term *the golden* mountain can be considered to exist in a possible world w to the degree to which the greatest lump of gold in w can be considered a mountain; or the degree of purity of gold in the mountain with the most content of gold in w; or a combination thereof.

The semantics described in Sect. 4 requires just a very minor adjustment in order to admit fuzzy existence. In fact, the only change required is to assume that the inner domain  $D_1^{\mathbf{M}}$  is a fuzzy (rather than crisp) subset of the outer domain  $D_0^{\mathbf{M}}$ . As was already the case in Sect. 4, the existence predicate E! is interpreted by the membership function of  $D_1^{\mathbf{M}}$ . Thus the only difference to the semantics of Sect. 4 consists in the following clauses:

 $\begin{array}{l} - \ D_1^{\mathbf{M}} \colon D_0^{\mathbf{M}} \to \boldsymbol{L}. \\ - \ E!^{\mathbf{M}} = D_1^{\mathbf{M}}. \end{array}$ 

The Tarski condition for E! thus reads:  $||E!t||_e^{\mathbf{M}} = D_1^{\mathbf{M}}(||t||_e^{\mathbf{M}})$ . All the rest of the definitions of Sect. 4, including those of the inner and outer quantifiers, remain in place.

The bivalence of E! (and so the setting of Sect. 4) can easily be enforced by adding the axiom  $E!x \vee_B \neg_B E!x$ , or equivalently,  $(\forall_B^0 x)(E!x \vee_B \neg_B E!x)$ . Note that using instead the axiom  $(\forall_S^0 x)(E!x \vee_B \neg_B E!x)$  would enforce a crisp, but possibly not totally defined predicate of existence. The question whether a partial E! is meaningful, i.e., whether we may want to admit referents whose existence has no truth value (i.e., is objectively undefined, rather than just unknown), is left aside here for space reasons.

Observation 3. Obviously, the fuzziness of E! does not affect the behavior of the outer quantifiers, which remains the same as in Sects. 3 and 4. What differs is the behavior of the inner quantifiers, due to the relativization to a fuzzy rather than crisp inner domain in their definition; cf. (10) and (11) in Sect. 4. For example, the following rule is sound if E! is crisp, but fails in general for fuzzy E!:

$$!\varphi, !\psi \models (\forall^{1}_{B}x)(\varphi \to_{B} \psi) \to_{B} ((\forall^{1}_{B}x)\varphi \to_{B} (\forall^{1}_{B}x)\psi) .$$

$$(13)$$

In our present setting of Sect. 5, the rule (13) only holds if E! is contractive, i.e., with the additional premise  $E!x \rightarrow_{\rm B} (E!x \&_{\rm B} E!x)$ . (So in particular, it does hold if the underlying fuzzy logic L is Gödel or if E! is crisp.)

As seen in Observation 3, the main culprit of the failure of (13), as well as many other rules for inner quantifiers, is the non-contractivity of fuzzy existence claims; i.e., the fact that E!t is in general weaker than  $E!t \&_B E!t$ . Taking the non-contractivity of conjunction into account, we can obtain a more fine-grained analysis of the valid rules for inner quantifiers. Let us introduce the following notation:

$$\begin{split} \varphi^0 &= 1 \\ \varphi^{n+1} &= \varphi^n \,\&_{\mathrm{B}} \,\varphi \\ \varphi^{\bigtriangleup} &= \bigtriangleup_{\mathrm{B}} \varphi \;. \end{split}$$

Then we can define the *inner quantifiers of grade* n, for  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\Delta\}$ , as follows:

$$(\exists_{\mathrm{B}}^{n} x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\exists_{\mathrm{B}}^{0} x) \big( (E!x)^{n} \&_{\mathrm{K}} \varphi \big) (\forall_{\mathrm{B}}^{n} x)\varphi \equiv_{\mathrm{df}} (\forall_{\mathrm{B}}^{0} x) \big( (E!x)^{n} \to_{\mathrm{K}} \varphi \big)$$

For  $n \leq 1$ , the definition yields the usual outer and inner quantifiers, or the quantifiers respectively relativized to the outer and inner domain. The *n*-grade inner quantifiers can be viewed as relativized to the *n*-grade inner domain  $D_n^{\mathbf{M}}$ , defined as the fuzzy extension of the *n*-times iterated existence predicate:

$$D_n^{\mathbf{M}}(a) = \|(E!x)^n\|_{e[x\mapsto a]}^{\mathbf{M}}$$

for each  $a \in D_0^{\mathbf{M}}$ . Higher-grade inner domains are more restrictive for the existence degrees of referents: in terms of inclusion of fuzzy sets,

$$D^{\mathbf{M}}_{\Delta} \subseteq \cdots \subseteq D^{\mathbf{M}}_{2} \subseteq D^{\mathbf{M}}_{1} \subseteq D^{\mathbf{M}}_{0}$$
.

Consequently, higher-grade existential quantifiers are stronger and higher-grade universal quantifiers weaker than lesser-grade ones. Since the strictest inner domain  $D^{\mathbf{M}}_{\Delta}$  is bivalent, the  $\Delta$ -grade inner quantifiers  $\exists_{\mathbf{B}}^{\Delta}, \forall_{\mathbf{B}}^{\Delta}$  behave like the inner quantifiers of Sect. 4.

The stratified hierarchy of inner quantifiers makes it possible to formulate sound versions of the rule (13) of Observation 3, as well as many other contraction-sensitive rules, even for a fuzzy (non-contractive) predicate of existence:

Observation 4. In the present setting, the following modifications of the rule (13) are sound for any  $m, n \ge 0$ :

$$\begin{split} & !\varphi, !\psi \models (\forall^m_{\mathrm{B}} x)(\varphi \to_{\mathrm{B}} \psi) \to_{\mathrm{B}} \left( (\forall^n_{\mathrm{B}} x)\varphi \to_{\mathrm{B}} (\forall^{m+n}_{\mathrm{B}} x)\psi \right) \\ & !\varphi, !\psi \models (\forall^{\triangle}_{\mathrm{B}} x)(\varphi \to_{\mathrm{B}} \psi) \to_{\mathrm{B}} \left( (\forall^{\triangle}_{\mathrm{B}} x)\varphi \to_{\mathrm{B}} (\forall^{\triangle}_{\mathrm{B}} x)\psi \right). \end{split}$$

A detailed investigation of the two variants of free fuzzy logic outlined in Sects. 4 and 5, including an axiomatic treatment, is left for future work.

Acknowledgement. The work was supported by grant No. 16–19170S "Fuzzy partial logic" of the Czech Science Foundation.

## References

- Běhounek, L., Cintula, P., Hájek, P.: Introduction to mathematical fuzzy logic. In: Cintula, P., Hájek, P., Noguera, C. (eds.) Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic, Chap. 1, vol. I, pp. 1–101. College Publications (2011)
- Běhounek, L., Daňková, M.: Towards fuzzy partial set theory. In: Carvalho, J., et al. (eds.) Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems (IPMU 2016), Part II. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 611, pp. 482–494. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Běhounek, L., Novák, V.: Towards fuzzy partial logic. In: Proceedings of the IEEE 45th International Symposium on Multiple-Valued Logics (ISMVL 2015), pp. 139– 144 (2015)
- Bencivenga, E.: Free logics. In: Gabbay, D.M., Guenthner, F. (eds.) Handbook of Philosophical Logic, vol. 5, 2nd edn., pp. 147–196. Kluwer, Dordrecht (2002)
- Lehmann, S.: More free logic. In: Gabbay, D.M., Guenthner, F. (eds.) Handbook of Philosophical Logic, vol. 5, 2nd edn., pp. 197–259. Kluwer, Dordrecht (2002)
- Nolt, J.: Free logics. In: Jacquette, D. (ed.) Philosophy of Logic, Handbook of the Philosophy of Science, pp. 1023–1060. North-Holland, Amsterdam (2007)
- 7. Nolt, J.: Free logic. In: Zalta, E.N. (ed.) The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy, Winter 2014 edn. (2014). URL (https://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2014/ entries/logic-free/)

## On the Preservation of an Equivalence Relation Between Fuzzy Subgroups

Carlos Bejines<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, María Jesús Chasco<sup>1</sup>, Jorge Elorza<sup>1</sup>, and Susana Montes<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Dto de Física y Matemática Aplicada, Universidad de Navarra, Pamplona, Spain cbejines@alumni.unav.es, {mjchasco,jelorza}@unav.es

<sup>2</sup> Dto de Estadística e Investigación Operativa, Universidad de Oviedo, Oviedo, Spain montes@uniovi.es

Abstract. Two fuzzy subgroups  $\mu, \eta$  of a group G are said to be equivalent if they have the same family of level set subgroups. Although it is well known that given two fuzzy subgroups  $\mu, \eta$  of a group G their maximum is not always a fuzzy subgroup, it is clear that the maximum of two equivalent fuzzy subgroups is a fuzzy subgroup. We prove that the composition of two equivalent fuzzy subgroup. Moreover, we prove that if two equivalent subgroups have the *sup* property their corresponding compositions by any aggregation function also have the *sup* property. Finally, we characterize the aggregation functions such that when applied to two equivalent fuzzy subgroups, the obtained fuzzy subgroup is equivalent to both of them. These results extend the particular results given by Jain for the maximum and the minimum of two fuzzy subgroups.

**Keywords:** t-norm  $\cdot$  t-conorm  $\cdot$  Aggregation function  $\cdot$  Fuzzy subgroup  $\cdot$  Level fuzzy subset  $\cdot$  Strong level fuzzy subset  $\cdot$  Sup property  $\cdot$  Equivalent fuzzy subgroups

## 1 Introduction

In the early eighties, Das [3] defined the level subgroup of a fuzzy subgroup  $\mu$ of a group G as the classical subset  $\mu_t = \{x \in G \mid \mu(x) \geq t\}$  for each  $t \in [0, 1]$ . This notion was a useful tool to develop and formulate many results in fuzzy set theory and their applications. Murali and Makamba [9] worked on fuzzy subgroups with finite images and on the equivalence of two fuzzy subgroups of a finite group G. Jain [6] worked with a weaker equivalence relation and obtained results under the condition of sup property, which is a generalization of the finite range property. The equivalence relation defined by Jain is the following: Let Gbe a group and  $\mu$ ,  $\eta$  fuzzy subgroups, we say  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  are equivalent ( $\mu \approx \eta$ ) if

$$\{\mu_t\}_{t\in\operatorname{Im}\mu}=\{\eta_s\}_{s\in\operatorname{Im}\eta}$$

where  $\operatorname{Im} \mu$  is the range of  $\mu$ .

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing  $641,\,\mathrm{DOI}$  10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7-15

The purpose of aggregation functions is to combine inputs that are typically interpreted as degrees of membership in fuzzy sets, degrees of preference, strength of evidence, or support of a hypothesis, and so on [1]. A map  $F: [0,1]^n \longrightarrow [0,1]$  is an aggregation function if satisfies:

1. If  $x_i \leq y_i$  for all  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , then  $F(x_1, ..., x_n) \leq f(y_1, ..., y_n)$ . (Monotony) 2. F(0, ..., 0) = 0 and F(1, ..., 1) = 1 (Boundary conditions)

We extend some results which involve minimum and maximum operations to other results obtained for an aggregation function (hence, also for t-norms and t-conorm). Given a binary aggregation function F and two fuzzy equivalent subgroups  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  of a group G, we define  $F(\mu, \eta)$  as the fuzzy set given by  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) = F(\mu(x), \eta(x))$ . Our main purpose is to prove the following results.

- 1.  $F(\mu, \eta)$  is again a fuzzy subgroup.
- 2. If  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  have the sup property, then  $F(\mu, \eta)$  also has the sup property.
- 3.  $F(\mu, \eta)$  is in the same equivalence class of  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  if and only if F is jointly strictly monotone.

Section 2 is devoted to recall the definitions and preliminary results that we need along this paper. Section 3 is devoted to the three main results detailed above. We end with some conclusions in Sect. 4.

## 2 Preliminaries

We give in this section a brief review of notions and results which are necessary in the following sections.

A n-ary operation  $F : [0, 1]^n \longrightarrow [0, 1]$  is called a *aggregation function* [2, 4] if it fulfills the following conditions:

1. If  $x_i \leq y_i$  for all  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , then  $F(x_1, ..., x_n) \leq f(y_1, ..., y_n)$ . (Monotony) 2. F(0, ..., 0) = 0 and F(1, ..., 1) = 1 (Boundary conditions)

In the sequel, our aggregation functions will be binary operations, that is, n = 2.

Fuzzy set theory was formulated in terms of Zadeh's standard operations of intersection, union and complement. The axiomatic skeleton used for characterizing fuzzy intersection and fuzzy union are known as triangular norms (t-norms) and triangular conorms (t-conorms), respectively. Both notions are particular cases of aggregation function.

A binary operation  $*: [0,1] \times [0,1] \longrightarrow [0,1]$  is called a *t-norm* [5,7,8] if it is an aggregation function and fulfills the following conditions:

- 1. (a \* b) \* c = a \* (b \* c) for all  $a, b, c \in [0, 1]$ . (Associativity)
- 2. a \* b = b \* a for all  $a, b \in [0, 1]$ . (Commutativity)
- 3. 1 \* a = a for all  $a \in [0, 1]$ . (1 is the neutral element)

A binary operation  $\perp: [0,1] \times [0,1] \longrightarrow [0,1]$  is called a *t-conorm* [5,7] if it is an aggregation function and fulfills the following conditions:

- 1.  $(a \perp b) \perp c = a \perp (b \perp c)$  for all  $a, b, c \in [0, 1]$ . (Associativity)
- 2.  $a \perp b = b \perp a$  for all  $a, b \in [0, 1]$ . (Commutativity)
- 3.  $0 \perp a = a$  for all  $a \in [0, 1]$ . (0 is the neutral element)

Given a t-norm  $*, \perp_*$  is called the *dual t-conorm* of \* if it verifies that for all  $x, y \in [0, 1], x \perp_* y = 1 - (1 - x) * (1 - y)$ . T-norms and t-conorms are related in the following way.

**Proposition 1** ([11]). A binary operation  $\perp$ :  $[0,1] \times [0,1] \longrightarrow [0,1]$  is a t-conorm if and only if there exists a t-norm \* such that for all  $x, y \in [0,1]$ 

$$x \perp y = 1 - (1 - x) * (1 - y)$$

Reciprocally, a binary operation  $*: [0,1] \times [0,1] \longrightarrow [0,1]$  is a t-norm if and only if there exists a t-conorm  $\perp$  such that for all  $x, y \in [0,1]$ 

$$x * y = 1 - (1 - x) \perp (1 - y)$$

Given an universal set X, the inclusion of fuzzy subsets is given by the pointwise order, that is,  $\mu_1 \subset \mu_2$  if  $\mu_1(x) \leq \mu_2(x)$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $\underline{k}$  denotes the constant fuzzy set  $\underline{k}(x) = k$  for all  $x \in X$ . We denote by  $supp\mu$  the set defined by  $supp\mu = \{x \in X \mid \mu(x) > 0\}$  and  $\varphi_a$  denotes the singleton a, that is,

$$\varphi_a(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & if \ x = a \\ 0 & if \ x \neq a \end{cases}$$

We recall the definition of fuzzy subgroup given by Rosenfeld.

**Definition 1** ([10]). Let G be a group and  $\mu$  a fuzzy subset of G. We say that  $\mu$  is a fuzzy subgroup of G if:

- $(G1) \ \mu(xy) \ge \min\{\mu(x), \mu(y)\}$  for all  $x, y \in G$ , where xy represents the value of the group law of G applied to x and y.
- $(G2) \ \mu(x) \ge \mu(x^{-1})$  for all  $x \in G$ , where  $x^{-1}$  denotes the inverse element of any x.

Moreover, we have the following facts if  $\mu$  is a fuzzy subgroup.

1. 
$$\mu(x) = \mu(x^{-1})$$
  
2.  $\mu(e) \ge \mu(x)$ , where *e* denotes the identity or neutral element of *G*.

In the sequel, L(G) will denote the class of all fuzzy subgroup of G. For a fuzzy subset  $\mu$  of X and  $t \in [0, 1]$ , it is defined the level subset  $\mu_t$  and the strong level subset  $\mu_t^>$  as:

$$\mu_t = \{x \in X \mid \mu(x) \ge t\} \text{ and } \mu_t^> = \{x \in X \mid \mu(x) > t\}$$

The use of level sets is widely used in the context of fuzzy subgroups. If  $\mu \in L(G)$ , its non-empty level subsets are subgroups of G named level subgroups of  $\mu$ . A particular case is  $\sup \mu = \mu_0^>$ . Moreover, we have the following result.

**Proposition 2** ([3]). Let G be a group and  $\mu$  a fuzzy subset of G, then  $\mu$  is a fuzzy subgroup of G if and only if its non-empty level subsets (strong level subsets) are subgroups of G.

**Definition 2.** Let G be a group and  $\mu$  a fuzzy subgroup of G. We say that  $\mu$  has the sup property if, for each non-empty subset A of G, there exists  $a \in A$  such that

$$\sup_{x \in A} \{\mu(x)\} = \mu(a)$$

**Definition 3.** Let G be a group and  $\mu, \eta \in L(G)$ , then  $\mu$  is said to be equivalent to  $\eta$  ( $\mu \approx \eta$ ) if the following condition holds

$$\mu(x) > \mu(y)$$
 if and only if  $\eta(x) > \eta(y)$ 

for any  $x, y \in G$ .

It is easy to check that this defines an equivalence relation and the class of an element  $\mu \in L(G)$  is denoted by  $[\mu]$ . The next characterization of  $\approx$  will be used later on.

**Proposition 3** ([6]). Let G be a group and  $\mu, \eta \in L(G)$ . The following assertions are equivalents:

- 1.  $\mu(x) > \mu(y)$  if and only if  $\eta(x) > \eta(y)$ . 2.  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(y)$  if and only if  $\eta(x) \ge \eta(y)$ . 3.  $\{\mu_t\}_{t\in Im \ \mu} = \{\eta_s\}_{s\in Im \ \eta}$ .
- 4.  $\{\mu_t^{>}\}_{t\in Im \ \mu} = \{\eta_s^{>}\}_{s\in Im \ \eta}.$

# 3 The Preservation of the Equivalence Relation $\approx$ Between Fuzzy Subgroups

In the sequel, given a group G, an aggregation function F and  $\mu, \eta \in L(G)$ ,  $F(\mu, \eta)$  is defined by  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) = F(\mu(x), \eta(x))$  for all  $x \in G$ . As particular cases, for a t-norm \* and a t-conorm  $\perp, \mu * \eta$  and  $\mu \perp \eta$  we have the operators:

 $(\mu * \eta)(x) = \mu(x) * \eta(x) \text{ for all } x \in G.$  $(\mu \perp \eta)(x) = \mu(x) \perp \eta(x) \text{ for all } x \in G.$ 

From above definition, F defines a binary operation between fuzzy sets such that

- If  $\mu \subset \eta$ , then  $F(\mu, \nu) \subset F(\eta, \nu)$  for all  $\mu, \eta, \nu$  fuzzy subgroups.

When the aggregation function is a t-norm \*, we obtain new properties:

- $\mu * \eta = \eta * \mu$  for all  $\mu, \eta$  fuzzy subgroups.
- $-\underline{1}*\eta = \eta$  for all  $\eta$  fuzzy subgroup.
- $(\mu * \eta) * \nu = \mu * (\eta * \nu)$  for all  $\mu, \eta, \nu$  fuzzy subgroups.

Analogous, when the aggregation function is a t-conorm  $\perp$ , we obtain new properties:

- $-\mu \perp \eta = \eta \perp \mu$  for all  $\mu, \eta$  fuzzy subgroups.
- $\underline{0} \perp \eta = \eta$  for all  $\eta$  fuzzy subgroup.
- $(\mu \perp \eta) \perp \nu = \mu \perp (\eta \perp \nu)$  for all  $\mu, \eta, \nu$  fuzzy subgroups.

**Proposition 4.** Let G be a group,  $F : [0,1]^2 \longrightarrow [0,1]$  an aggregation function and  $\mu, \eta \in L(G)$  with  $\mu \approx \eta$ , then  $F(\mu, \eta)$  is a fuzzy subgroup.

*Proof.* It is clear that  $F(\mu, \eta)$  is a fuzzy subset of G. Now, using the monotony of F and the definition of fuzzy subgroup we obtain:

- (G1)  $F(\mu,\eta)(xy) = F(\mu(xy),\eta(xy)) \ge F(\min\{\mu(x),\mu(y)\},\min\{\eta(x),\eta(y)\}).$ We can consider two cases:

$$\mu(x) \le \mu(y)$$
 (1) or  $\mu(x) > \mu(y)$  (2)

(1) Since  $\mu \approx \eta$ ,  $\eta(x) \leq \eta(y)$ , hence

$$F(\min\{\mu(x), \mu(y)\}, \min\{\eta(x), \eta(y)\}) = F(\mu(x), \eta(x)) = F(\mu, \eta)(x)$$

Therefore,  $F(\mu, \eta)(xy) \ge F(\mu, \eta)(x) \ge \min\{F(\mu, \eta)(x), F(\mu, \eta)(y)\}.$ (2) Since  $\mu \approx \eta, \eta(x) > \eta(y)$ , hence

$$F(\min\{\mu(x),\mu(y)\},\min\{\eta(x),\eta(y)\}) = F(\mu(y),\eta(y)) = F(\mu,\eta)(y)$$

Therefore,  $F(\mu, \eta)(xy) \ge F(\mu, \eta)(y) \ge \min\{F(\mu, \eta)(x), F(\mu, \eta)(y)\}.$ - (G2)  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) = F(\mu(x), \eta(x)) = F(\mu(x^{-1}), \eta(x^{-1})) = F(\mu, \eta)(x^{-1})$ 

**Corollary 1.** Let G be a group, \* a t-norm,  $\perp$  a t-conorm and  $\mu, \eta$  fuzzy subgroup such that  $\mu \approx \eta$ , then  $\mu * \eta$  and  $\mu \perp \eta$  are fuzzy subgroups.

**Proposition 5.** Let G be a group and  $F : [0,1]^2 \longrightarrow [0,1]$  an aggregation function. If  $\mu, \eta \in L(G)$  are such that  $\mu \approx \eta$  and both of them have the sup property, then the fuzzy subgroup  $F(\mu, \eta)$  has the sup property.

*Proof.* By Proposition 4, we know that  $F(\mu, \eta) \in L(G)$ . Now, we consider a nonempty subset A of the group G and  $r, s \in A$  such that  $\mu(r) = \sup_{x \in A} \{\mu(x)\}$  and

 $\eta(s) = \sup_{x \in A} \{\eta(x)\}$  (this is possible because  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  have the sup property).

By the monotony of F, we have for each  $x \in A$ 

$$F(\mu(x),\eta(x)) \leq F(\sup_{x \in A} \{\mu(x)\}, \sup_{x \in A} \{\eta(x)\}) = F(\mu(r),\eta(s))$$

Thus,

$$\sup_{x \in A} \{F(\mu(x), \eta(x))\} \le F(\mu(r), \eta(s))$$

Now, we prove  $\eta(r) = \eta(s)$ . Since r verifies  $\mu(r) \ge \mu(x)$  for all  $x \in A$ , we obtain  $\mu(r) \ge \mu(s)$  and from  $\mu \approx \eta$ ,  $\eta(r) \ge \eta(s)$ . In addition,  $\eta(s)$  satisfies  $\eta(s) \ge \eta(x)$  for all  $x \in A$ . Hence,  $\eta(r) = \eta(s)$ . We have

$$\sup_{x \in A} \{F(\mu(x), \eta(x))\} \le F(\mu(r), \eta(r))$$

Since  $F(\mu(r), \eta(r)) \in \{F(\mu(x), \eta(x)) \mid x \in A\}$  we conclude

$$\sup_{x\in A}\{F(\mu(x),\eta(x))\}=F(\mu(r),\eta(r))$$

Hence,  $F(\mu, \eta)$  has the sup property.

**Corollary 2.** Let G be a group, \* a t-norm and  $\perp$  a t-conorm. If  $\mu, \eta$  are elements of L(G) such that  $\mu \approx \eta$  and both of them have the sup property, then the fuzzy subgroups  $\mu * \eta$  and  $\mu \perp \eta$  have the sup property.

The following example shows that the hypothesis  $\mu \approx \eta$  in Proposition 4 can not be deleted.

*Example 1.* Let  $G = \{a, b, ab, e\}$  be the group with four elements such that  $a^2 = b^2 = e$  and ab = ba, let \* be the product t-norm t \* s = ts for all  $t, s \in [0, 1]$  and let  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  be the following fuzzy subsets:

$\mu: G \longrightarrow [0,1]$	$\eta: G \longrightarrow [0,1]$
$e \mapsto 1$	$e \mapsto 1$
$a \mapsto 0.5$	$a \mapsto 0.9$
$b \mapsto 0.8$	$b \mapsto 0.2$
$ab \mapsto 0.5$	$ab \mapsto 0.2$

We know by Proposition 2, that  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  are fuzzy subgroup of G. Moreover, we have

$$(\mu * \eta)(ab) = \mu(ab) * \eta(ab) = \mu(ab)\eta(ab) = 0.5 \cdot 0.2 = 0.1$$

and,

$$\min\{(\mu * \eta)(a), (\mu * \eta)(b)\} = \min\{0.45, 0.4\} = 0.4$$

Hence  $(\mu * \eta)(ab) < \min\{(\mu * \eta)(a), (\mu * \eta)(b)\}$ . Therefore  $\mu * \eta$  is not fuzzy subgroup.

**Definition 4** ([2]). Let  $F : [0,1]^n \longrightarrow [0,1]$  an aggregation function. F is called jointly strictly monotone if  $x_i < y_i$  for all  $i \in \{1,...,n\}$ , then

$$F(x_1, ..., x_n) < F(y_1, ..., y_n)$$

**Proposition 6.** Let \* be a t-norm, then \* is jointly strictly monotone if and only if its dual t-conorm  $\perp_*$  is jointly strictly monotone.

*Proof.* Suppose that the t-norm \* is jointly strictly monotone. Consider  $a_1 < a_2$  and  $b_1 < b_2$  with  $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2 \in [0, 1]$ . This implies that  $(1 - a_1) > (1 - a_2)$  and  $(1 - b_1) > (1 - b_2)$ . Since \* is jointly strictly monotone, we have

$$(1-a_1)*(1-b_1) > (1-a_2)*(1-b_2)$$

Therefore,

$$1 - (1 - a_1) * (1 - b_1) < 1 - (1 - a_2) * (1 - b_2)$$

This is,  $\perp_*$  is jointly strictly monotone.

The converse is analogous.

**Theorem 1.** Let G be a non-trivial group and  $F : [0,1]^2 \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be an aggregation function, then F is a binary operation on  $[\mu]$  for every  $\mu \in L(G)$ , if and only if F is jointly strictly monotone.

*Proof.* At first, we suppose F is jointly strictly monotone and we are going to prove that F is a binary operation on  $[\mu]$  for every  $\mu \in L(G)$ . From Proposition 4, we obtain that given two elements  $\mu, \eta$  in  $[\mu], F(\mu, \eta)$  is a fuzzy subgroup of G. Given  $\mu, \eta \in [\mu]$ , we need to prove the following assertion:

 $F(\mu,\eta) \approx \mu$ 

We begin by proving that if  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(y)$ , then  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) \ge F(\mu, \eta)(y)$ . Given  $x, y \in G$  such that  $\mu(x) \ge \mu(y)$ , since  $\mu \approx \eta$ ,  $\eta(x) \ge \eta(y)$ . By the monotony of F, we have

$$F(\mu, \eta)(x) = F(\mu(x), \eta(x)) \ge F(\mu(y), \eta(y)) = F(\mu, \eta)(y)$$

For the other implication, given  $x, y \in G$  with  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) \geq F(\mu, \eta)(y)$ , we need to prove  $\mu(x) \geq \mu(y)$ . For contradiction, there exists  $x, y \in G$  such that  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) \geq F(\mu, \eta)(y)$  and  $\mu(x) < \mu(y)$ . From  $\mu \approx \eta$ ,  $\eta(x) < \eta(y)$ . Since F is jointly strictly monotone, we conclude

$$F(\mu(x), \eta(x)) < F(\mu(y), \eta(y))$$

Conversely, if F is not jointly strictly monotone, then there exists  $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2$ in the interval [0, 1] with  $a_1 < a_2$  and  $b_1 < b_2$  such that  $F(a_1, b_1) \ge F(a_2, b_2)$ (by the monotony, we obtain  $F(a_1, b_1) = F(a_2, b_2)$ ). We consider the following fuzzy subset of G:

$$\mu(x) = \begin{cases} a_2 & if \ x = e \\ a_1 & if \ x \neq e \end{cases} \qquad \eta(x) = \begin{cases} b_2 & if \ x = e \\ b_1 & if \ x \neq e \end{cases}$$

We know by Proposition 2 that  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  are fuzzy subgroup of G. Since  $\mu(x) > \mu(y)$  if and only if  $\eta(x) > \eta(y)$ , we have  $\mu \approx \eta$ . Finally, we prove that  $F(\mu, \eta) \notin [\mu]$ . Fix  $x \in G$  with  $x \neq e$  and suppose  $F(\mu, \eta) \in [\mu]$ . Since  $\mu(e) > \mu(x)$ , we have  $F(\mu, \eta)(e) > F(\mu, \eta)(x)$ , but

$$F(\mu,\eta)(e) = F(\mu(e),\eta(e)) = F(a_2,b_2) = F(a_1,b_1) = F(\mu(x),\eta(x)) = F(\mu,\eta)(x)$$
  
Therefore  $F(\mu,\eta) \notin [\mu]$ .

**Corollary 3.** Let G be a non-trivial group, \* be a t-norm and  $\perp_*$  its dual tconorm, then \* and  $\perp_*$  are binary operations on  $[\mu]$  for every  $\mu \in L(G)$  if and only if \* is jointly strictly monotone.

Notice that there are t-norms (t-conorms) that do not fulfill jointly strictly monotone property as, for instance, the drastic t-norm and the Lukasiewicz tnorm.

**Corollary 4.** Let G be a non-trivial group and  $F : [0,1]^2 \longrightarrow [0,1]$  be an aggregation function. If F verifies that for every  $a_1, a_2, b \in [0,1]$  with  $a_1 < a_2$  and  $b \neq 0$  we have that  $F(a_1,b) < F(a_2,b)$ , then F is a binary operation on  $[\mu]$  for every  $\mu \in L(G)$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $x_1, x_2, y_1, y_2$  in the interval [0, 1] with  $x_1 < x_2$  and  $y_1 < y_2$ . Since  $y_1 < y_2$  implies  $y_2 \neq 0$ , we have  $F(x_1, y_2) < F(x_2, y_2)$ , and by the monotony of F, we conclude:

$$F(x_1, y_1) \le F(x_1, y_2) < F(x_2, y_2)$$

Hence F is jointly strictly monotone. By Theorem 1, F is a binary operation on  $[\mu]$  for each  $\mu \in L(G)$ .

Notice that the product t-norm is an example of aggregation function which satisfies Corollary 4. Moreover, we obtain the following result due to Jain.

**Corollary 5** ([6]). Let G be a non-trivial group, then the minimum t-norm and the maximum t-conorm are two binary operation on  $[\mu]$  for every  $\mu \in L(G)$ .

## 4 Concluding Remarks

It is well-known that the maximum of two fuzzy subgroups of a group G is not in general a fuzzy subgroup of G. However, if the fuzzy subgroups are equivalent then the maximum of two fuzzy subgroups so is it.

In this work we have proved that, for an arbitrary aggregation function F and two fuzzy subgroups  $\mu, \eta$  of a group G,  $F(\mu, \eta)$  given by  $F(\mu, \eta)(x) = F(\mu(x), \eta(x))$  is again a fuzzy subgroup if  $\mu$  is equivalent to  $\eta$ . Moreover we have proved that if two equivalent fuzzy subgroups  $\mu$  and  $\eta$  have the sup property, then  $F(\mu, \eta)$  also has the sup property.

Finally, for two equivalent fuzzy subgroup  $\mu$  and  $\eta$ , we have characterized when  $F(\mu, \eta)$  is in the same equivalence class of  $\mu$  and  $\eta$ .

Acknowledgement. The authors acknowledge to the referee for your successful suggestions and advices.

The authors acknowledge the financial support of the Spanish Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad (Grant TIN2014-59543-P and Grant MTM 2016-79422-P) and Carlos Bejines also thanks the support of the Asociación de Amigos of the University of Navarra.

## References

- Beliakov, G., Pradera, A., Calvo, T.: Aggregation Functions: A Guide for Practitioners. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 221. Springer, Heidelberg (2007)
- 2. Calvo, T., Mayor, G., Mesiar, R.: Aggregation Operation. Aggregation operation. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg (2002)
- Das, P.S.: Fuzzy groups and level subgroups. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 84, 264–269 (1981)
- 4. Fodor, J., Kacprzyk, J.: Aspect of Soft Computing, Intelligent robotics and Control. Studies in Computational Intelligence, vol. 241. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Gupta, M.M., Qi, J.: Theory of T-norms and fuzzy inference methods. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 40, 431–450 (1991)
- Jain, A.: Fuzzy subgroup and certain equivalence relations. Iran. J. Fuzzy Syst. 3, 75–91 (2006)
- 7. Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer, Dordrecht (2000)
- Menger, K.: Statistical metrics. In: Proceedings of N.A.S.H, vol. 28, pp. 535-537 (1942)
- Murali, V., Makamba, B.: On an equivalence of fuzzy subgroups I. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 123, 259–264 (2001)
- 10. Rosenfeld, A.: Fuzzy groups. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 35, 512–517 (1971)
- Schweizer, B., Sklar, A.: Associative functions and statistical triangle inequalities. Math. Debrecen 8, 169–186 (1961)
# Decision-Making on Flow Control Under Fuzzy Conditions in the Mechanical Transport System

Stanislav Belyakov, Marina Savelyeva<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Dmitry Kiyashko, and Anna Lashchenkova

Southern Federal University, Taganrog, Russia beliacov@yandex.ru, marina.n.savelyeva@gmail.com, {meus\_porta,anna-d-d-d}@mail.ru

**Abstract.** The article deals with the problem of moving flows in mechanical transport systems suitable for prevention or greatly decreasing the probability of emergency situations. The solution is based on minimizing costs during transportation. Routing methods considering the specifics of the MTS are analyzed. It's developed routing algorithm with protective correction of flows with fuzzy temporal variability of adaptation. The algorithm consists in definition and establishment of high value of transportation cost on the particular segment of network on a fuzzy time interval. Methods for determining the parameters of protective correction of flows are studied. A structural diagram of the MTS, considering the protective correction, is presented. The diagram is implemented by introduction an intelligent module into the structure. Module operation feature is the use of case-based reasoning. The example of the implementation of protective correction of flows is given.

**Keywords:** Mechanical transport system (MTS)  $\cdot$  Dynamic routing  $\cdot$  Adaptive routing  $\cdot$  Protective correction  $\cdot$  Case-based reasoning (CBR)

## 1 Introduction

The mechanical transport system (MTS) represents a network built of elements of two types: conveyors and switches. Conveyors move the load placed on the belt. The switches play the role of network nodes in which the units of cargo are redirected from one conveyor to another. An example of MTS is the baggage handling system at airports. The control system for conveyors and switches is implemented as a local network of industrial PLC controllers (Programmable Logic Controllers) [1]. The controllers are assigned the switch control task of the load direction and the electric drive of the conveyor.

Each unit is provided with a cargo label. This label stores addresses initial and final nodes. These data permit in the intermediate network nodes to determine the direction of the cargo unit transfer, solving the routing problem [2–6]. Due to the fact, how is constructed routing algorithm, depend such important factors as the cost of transportation, the risk of damage or loss of cargo, delivery efficiency [1, 7].

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_16

The problem of transportation management in the MTS can be formulated as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \sum_{i} (l_i + w_{f_i}) \to \min, \\ t < t^*, \\ f_i \subseteq F, \end{cases}$$
(1)

where  $l_i$  is the transportation cost of each several cargo unit;

 $w_{f_i}$  are loss in the event of defect  $f_i \subseteq F$ ;

F is set of possible defects that lead to emergency;

 $t^*$  is transportation time limit. The main means of solving the problem (1) is the routing. This is explained by the fact that:

- the transmission path of the cargo unit is not uniquely determined, and the route cost are different in MTS;
- the intensity of the cargo flow on an individual segment determines the possibility of defect occurrence.

Modern MTSs use dynamic routing [8, 9]. It helps to minimize the total cost of transportation. However, emergencies arising from overload segments are the result of an unacceptable increase flow intensity in some parts of the network. In this work, we propose a modification of the method of adaptive routing, allowing to solve this problem.

#### 2 Routing Methods and Flow Control in MTS

The solution of the problem (1), using a fixed routing [10], is possible in the case of complete certainty the behavior of the MTS and outdoor environment. It means high reliability and stability of operational performance of MTS, strict conformance to the schedule of appearance and the completion of cargo flows, the stability properties of the cargo units. MTS in this case is described by a static model network [11], often used for calculations. The practical application of fixed routing is limited to the above conditions.

The fixed routing can be based on the dynamic network model [12]. Routing tables in the nodes are updated on a predetermined schedule. This approach is more adequate to the real situation, when the cargo is unstable and MTS parameters change over time. In this case, the complexity of the synthesis and analysis of dynamic models is much higher [5]. This creates difficulties in solving the problem (1) in real time scale.

Dynamic routing [13] solves problem (1) by adjusting of the routing tables in real time when changing the transport costs on individual segments. Cost is determined by the measured parameters network: direction selection speed, electric drive rod, elapsed time of device, etc. The disadvantage of dynamic routing is the inability to consider the transportation cost of the temporal parameters of traffic flows and properties of cargo units that are not available for the measurement. Because of that, it's possible overload. In addition, the significant role is playing by the lag of the mechanical part of the MTS. Routing table modification is completed much faster than the change in cargo flow

value. And output stream may be unacceptably high in nodes, summing streams. The problem should be solved in advance decrease the flow value in dangerous situations.

The closest method of solution to the problem is to attract intelligent control mechanisms [14]. The incompleteness of the data, the time history of cargo flow sources make motivation for the use of intelligent observation over the MTS and predict of the cargo flow behavior. Attraction of expert-observer knowledge allows to generate dynamic routing strategy based on a holistic perception of the outdoor environment and MTS. The disadvantage of this approach is the lack of a protective mechanism of the flow correction to prevent accidents.

#### **3** Protective Mechanism of the Flow Correction

Dynamic routing is implemented by changing the transfer value of individual segments of the MTS and warning about it neighboring nodes. Controller of each node corrects routing tables and send cargo units with the switch in the direction that minimizes the total cost of transportation. It will be observed, that dynamic routing does not control the flows, even though indirectly, affect their value. For instance, the low cost of transportation through the subnet stimulates the growth of the flow. Accordingly, a high value may lead to lower flow value. Since the danger an emergency is directly related to the flow value, we have an idea to use the cost of transportation as security facilities from accidents.

Protective flow correction is an artificial increase the transportation cost through the network segment to reduce the flow value. The parameters of the protective correction element are a pair  $(C_{s_i}, T_{s_i})$ , where  $C_{s_i}$  is cargo unit cost of transportation by the segment  $s_i$ ;  $T_{s_i}$  is time window, during which the value of the cost is kept. Parameter determination of the protective correction is a non-trivial task, at the decision which found a few uncertainties:

- $C_{s_i}$  should be chosen so as, don't to completely block flow through the segment and at the same time providing real decrease its rate. It requires an analysis of the number of cargo elements, that are in the MTS, the ways of their movement and changes in the rates of the input flows at the time of deciding upon the protective correction;
- $T_{s_i}$  is determined in such a way so as don't to provoke an overload of other segments of the MTS. Figure 1 illustrates the general pattern of selection of value  $T_{s_i}$ . The greater its value is, the lower the probability  $P_{s_i}$  of occurrence of overload in the segment  $s_i$ . However, inevitably increases probability  $P_{N^-}$  of occurrence of overload on a subnet  $N^-$ , not consisting segment  $s_i$ . As follows from the qualitative analysis (Fig. 1), there is a compromise value  $T_{s_i}^*$ , deviation from which increases the probability of occurrence of accidents. As with the analysis of the parameters it need information about the network load, the response time to changes in the routing tables, variations of the rates of the input flows.

The need to consider the whole situation makes it unlikely the effective use of protective correction as the decentralized management tool of MTS. Means the following: the node controller of the MTS measures the flow rate  $v_{s_i}$ . If the threshold is



Fig. 1. Illustration of changes in the probability of overload

exceeded a predetermined value  $\bar{v}_{s_i}$ , then the controller sets protective correction with given parameters  $(C_{s_i}, T_{s_i})$ . In this case, there is dangers:

- accidents within the segment *s<sub>i</sub>* due to the fact that the input flow is not reduced immediately, and flow may increase for some time inertia system;
- occurrence of deadlock, when the segment  $s_i$  may remove the protective correction, if the input flow rate  $v_{s_i}$  decrease. But the input flow rate  $v_{s_i}$  cannot be reduced as long as it will not remove the protective correction and the segment does not restore previous capacity.

Thus, we can conclude about the necessity of central determining the parameters of protective correction. Management is implemented in a lack of information about the behavior of the outdoor environment and this MTS, that indicate necessity of application of intelligent principles of management system. Figure 2 shows the structure of the system. Intelligent control module (ICM) is included in the control network PLC. PLC is associated with control devices of MTS. PLC implement dynamic routing algorithm, and can perform the ICM commands on the flow protective correction. The command contains the following fields:

- 1. timestamp start of protective correction;
- 2. timestamp end of protective correction;
- 3. address of output of directional switch;
- 4. value of the transportation cost to the specified output.



Fig. 2. Illustration of the structure of MTS with an intelligent control module.

The controller, receiving the command, implements the dynamic routing algorithm with fixed transmission cost by the output network segment.

ICM operates based on using the experience of observation of MTS [14]. Experience is represented by describing previously observed dangerous situations and decisions in these situations. The logical inference is based on the case-based reasoning [15]. Every new problem situation is compared with the known to find the nearest in meaning. The solution found situation is applied in the new situation. It should be highlighted that each of the known situations in the ICM knowledge base indicates a potential risk of accidents, i.e. it is forecast. The forecast is not absolutely reliable, so the "intelligence" of the system is manifested in the effort to prevent the occurrence of an abnormal situation and loss recovery.

## 4 Example of Implementation of Protective Correction Principle

This section examines a schematic application of the principle of flow protective correction. In fact, the consideration of this issue is accompanied by fuzzy values of network parameters. Therefore, actual use of fuzzy logic. The most illustrative way of presenting, in our opinion, is a fuzzy graph.

There is a mechanical transport network (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Initial fuzzy graph illustrating the mechanical transport network

For ease of illustration we transform fuzzy graph (Fig. 3) to accurate form. Need to move cargo from point 2 to point 10. Based on the known routing algorithm finds the shortest route of transportation. This route is shown in Fig. 4.

$$(2,10) = \{2,6,5,8,10\} = 36 \tag{2}$$



Fig. 4. Illustration of the route of minimum cost from 2 to point 10

At the time of cargo movement from point 2 to point 10 there is a need to move other cargo from point 1 to point 11. Excluding the first movement, the calculated route as follows (Fig. 5):

$$(1,11) = \{1,5,8,9,11\} = 33 \tag{3}$$



Fig. 5. Illustration of the route of minimum cost from 1 to point 11

Further there is the analysis of flow rate. After determining that the flow rate value  $v_{s_i}$  exceeds the threshold value  $\bar{v}_{s_i}$ , it triggers the principle of flow protective correction. Namely, there is an increase in the value segment  $s_{58} = 15$ . The new segment of the value does not lead to exclusion from the list of possible ways to move, and, accordingly, will not lead to network congestion.

Recalculates route.

$$(2,10) = \{2, 6, 5, 8, 10\} = 42 \tag{4}$$

$$(1,11) = \{1,4,8,9,11\} = 38 \tag{5}$$

Route from point 2 to point 10 is not changed, but there was an increase in the cost of transportation. But the route from point 1 to point 11 changed. The resulting routes are illustrated in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6. Cargo moving considering flow protective correction

The time is determined by an expert or is taken from the base of precedent on the condition of this occurring. Time use of protective correction is always defined fuzzy, since it depends on network analysis, transportation time of cargo, the time of decision-making, and others.

## 5 Conclusion

The efficiency of flow protective correction is determined by the ratio of the loss on crash recovery and increased transportation costs. It follows from (1), protection from accidents makes sense if

$$\sum_{i} l_i \ll \sum_{i} w_{f_i} \tag{6}$$

Since protective correction leads to an increase transportation cost of the formula (2) can become the requirement to forecast reliability. Let P be the probability that the accident forecast is realized. Then the average loss from a wrong the forecast is

$$\bar{W} = (1 - P) \triangle L \tag{7}$$

where  $\Delta L$  is the increase in the transportation cost during runtime of protective correction. Transform the formula (3) in (2) we find that

$$P \gg 1 - \frac{\sum_{i} w_{f_i}}{\Delta L} \tag{8}$$

The resulting expression reflects the requirement to knowledge of the intelligent system in the problem of flow protective correction.

Further research, in our view, should be in the direction of improving the presentation and use of knowledge just as inside one of MTS, so when moving knowledge between different systems.

Acknowledgments. This work has been supported by supported by the Council for Grants (under RF President) and State Aid of Leading Scientific Schools (Grant MK-521.2017.8).

## References

- Yan, J., Vyatkin, V.: Distributed execution and cyber-physical design of baggage handling automation with IEC 61499. In: 9th International IEEE Conference on Industrial Informatics, INDIN 2011, Lisbon, Portugal, pp. 573–578 (2011)
- 2. Bellman, R.: On a routing problem. Q. Appl. Math. 16, 87-90 (1958)
- 3. Laporte, G.: The vehicle routing problem: an overview of exact and approximate algorithms. Eur. J. Oper. Res. **59**(3), 345–358 (1992)
- 4. Golden, B.L., Raghavan, S., Wasil, E.A. (eds.): The Vehicle Routing Problem: Latest Advances and New Challenges, vol. 43. Springer, Berlin (2008)
- Cormen, T.H., Leiserson, C.E., Rivest, R.L., Stein, C.: Introduction to Algorithms, 3rd edn, p. 1312. MIT Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Toth, P., Vigo, D. (eds.): Vehicle Routing: Problems, Methods, and Applications, vol. 18. Siam, Philadelphia (2014)
- Pang, C., Yan, J., Vyatkin, V., Jennings S.: Distributed IEC 61499 material handling control based on time synchronization with IEEE 1588. In: IEEE International Symposium on Precision Clock Synchronization for Measurement, Control, and Communication, Munich, pp. 126–131 (2011)
- Ash, G.R.: Dynamic Routing in Telecommunications Networks, p. 746. McGraw-Hill, New York (1997)
- Kodialam, M., Lakshman, T. V.: Dynamic routing of bandwidth guaranteed tunnels with restoration. In: Nineteenth Annual Joint Conference of the IEEE Computer and Communications Societies, Proceedings, INFOCOM 2000, vol. 2, pp. 902–911. IEEE (2000)
- Kleinrock, L., Gail, R.: Queueing Systems: Problems and Solutions, p. 240. Wiley, New York (1996)
- 11. Guizani, M., Rayes, A., Khan, B., Al-Fuqaha, A.: Network Modeling and Simulation: A Practical Perspective, p. 304. Wiley, Hoboken (2010)
- Mak, T., Cheung, P.Y.K., Lam, K.-P., Luk, W.: Adaptive routing in network-on-chips using a dynamic-programming network. IEEE Trans. Ind. Electron. 58(8), 3701–3716 (2011)
- Aksaray, D., Vasile, C.I., Belta C.: Dynamic routing of energy-aware vehicles with temporal logic constraints. In: IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation (ICRA), pp. 3141–3146 (2016)

- Belyakov, S., Savelyeva, M., Yan, J., Vyatkin, V.: Adaptation of material flows in mechanical transportation systems based on observation experience. In: 2015 IEEE Trustcom/BigDataSE/ISPA, vol. 3, pp. 269–274 (2015)
- Savelyeva, M.: The construction of the fuzzy route based on case-based reasoning. In: Belyakov, S., Rozenberg, I., Savelyeva. M. (eds.) Proceedings of 19th International Conference on Soft Computing MENDEL 2013, pp. 273–276 (2013)

# Reducing Concept Lattices from Rough Set Theory

M. José Benítez-Caballero, Jesús Medina, and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain {mariajose.benitez,jesus.medina,eloisa.ramirez}@uca.es

**Abstract.** Due to real databases usually contain redundant information, reducing them preserving the main information is one of the most important branches of study within the theory of Formal Concept Analysis (FCA). Taking advantage of the close relationship between Rough Set Theory (RST) and FCA, in this work, we address the problem of attribute reduction in FCA using the reduction mechanism given in RST. We analyze the properties obtained from this kind of reduction and show an illustrative example.

**Keywords:** Attribute reduction  $\cdot$  Formal concept analysis  $\cdot$  Rough set theory

### 1 Introduction

Formal Concept Analysis (FCA) is a mathematical tool whose objective is to extract information collected in databases. With a similar goal, but considering a different philosophy, we find another interesting mathematical theory, Rough Sets Theory (RSC). Indeed, both theories are closely related and there are several papers which study the existing links between these two frameworks.

Both mathematical tools work with databases composed of a set of objects and a set of attributes related between them, but real databases usually contain redundant information. Therefore, knowledge reduction is one of the most important issues in both theories. Specifically, attribute reduction have been studied in some papers in these two frameworks [2,3,6-10]. However, the connections between the two theories from the point of view of the knowledge reduction have not yet been widely studied.

In this work, we will present a new mechanism to reduce formal contexts in FCA, based on the philosophy of attribute reduction in RST. In particular, we will propose to reduce a context in FCA considering the reducts of the associated context information system. We will show that this kind of reduction satisfies interesting properties and we will illustrate them by means of an example. Hence, in this paper we deal with the problem of attribute reduction in FCA considering the point of view of RST.

Partially supported by the State Research Agency (AEI) and the European Regional Development Fund (FEDER) project TIN2016-76653-P.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing  $641,\,\mathrm{DOI}$  10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7-17

We first recall in Sect. 2 the basic definitions and results of FCA and RST, in particular those notions related to the attribute reduction in both frameworks. Section 3 includes the reduction mechanism and some interesting results together with an example. The paper finishes with some conclusions and prospect for future work in Sect. 4.

### 2 Preliminary Notions in FCA and RST

In this section, we will recall the basic notions of FCA and RST needed to understand this work.

In FCA framework, the information is given by means of *contexts*, which are triples (A, B, R) composed of two non empty sets and a crisp relationship between them. That is, a set of attributes A, a set of objects B and the relation  $R: A \times B \to \{0, 1\}$  defined, for each  $a \in A$  and  $b \in B$ , as R(a, b) = 1, if a and b are related (we also write aRb) and R(a, b) = 0, otherwise. Fixed a context, we can define two concept-forming operators<sup>1</sup>  $\uparrow: 2^B \to 2^A, \downarrow: 2^A \to 2^B$ , for each  $X \subseteq B$  and  $Y \subseteq A$ , as follows:

$$X^{\uparrow} = \{a \in A \mid \text{for all } b \in X, aRb\} = \{a \in A \mid \text{if } b \in X, \text{then } aRb\}$$
(1)

$$Y^{\downarrow} = \{b \in B \mid \text{for all } a \in Y, aRb\} = \{b \in B \mid \text{if } a \in Y, \text{then } aRb\}$$
(2)

Given  $X \subseteq B$  and  $Y \subseteq A$ , we say that the pair (X, Y) is a *concept* in the context (A, B, R), if the equilities  $X^{\uparrow} = Y$  and  $Y^{\downarrow} = X$  hold. The *extent* of the concept (X, Y) is the subset of objects X and the *intent* is the subset of attributes Y.

 $\mathcal{B}(A, B, R)$  denotes the set of all the concepts, which has the structure of a complete lattice [4,7], when the inclusion ordering on the left argument is considered (equivalently, we can consider the opposite of the inclusion ordering on the right argument). For all  $(X_1, Y_1), (X_2, Y_2) \in \mathcal{B}(A, B, R)$ , the meet  $(\wedge)$ and join  $(\vee)$  operators are defined by:

$$(X_1, Y_1) \land (X_2, Y_2) = (X_1 \land X_2, (Y_1 \lor Y_2)^{\downarrow \uparrow}) (X_1, Y_1) \lor (X_2, Y_2) = ((X_1 \lor X_2)^{\uparrow \downarrow}, Y_1 \land Y_2)$$

In addition, given an attribute  $a \in A$ , the concept generated by a, that is  $(a^{\downarrow}, a^{\downarrow\uparrow})$ , is called *attribute-concept*. Due to the pair  $(\uparrow, \downarrow)$  is a Galois connection [4,5], we can assure that this pair is really a concept. Analogously, given any object  $b \in B$ , the concept generated by  $b, (b^{\uparrow\downarrow}, b^{\uparrow})$ , is called *object-concept*.

Other necessary notions in this work are related to attribute reduction theory in formal concept analysis. Attribute reduction tries to reduce the set of attributes in a context, preserving the main information. That means, obtaining a new concept lattice isomorphic to the original one. Firstly, we need to recall the notion of isomorphism between concept lattices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Originally, Ganter and Wille denoted these operators as ' and they were called derivation operators. We have modified this notation to distinguish between the mapping defined on objects and on attributes.

**Definition 1.** Given two concept lattices  $\mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$ . If for any  $(X, Y) \in \mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$  there exists  $(X', Y') \in \mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1)$  such that X = X', then we say that  $\mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1)$  is finer than  $\mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$  and we will write:

$$\mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1) \le \mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$$

We said two concept lattices  $\mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1), \mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$  are *isomorphic* if  $\mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1) \leq \mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$  and  $\mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2) \leq \mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1)$  hold; and we will write

$$\mathcal{B}(A_1, B, R_1) \cong \mathcal{B}(A_2, B, R_2)$$

Given a context (A, B, R), the triple  $(Y, B, R_{|Y})$ , where  $Y \subseteq A$  and  $R_{|Y}$  denotes the restricted relation  $R_{|Y} = R \cap (Y \times B)$ , is a formal context that can be seen as a *subcontext* of the original one. Obviously, for any  $Y \subseteq A$ , such that  $Y \neq \emptyset$ ,  $\mathcal{B}(A, B, R) \leq \mathcal{B}(Y, B, R_{|Y})$  holds.

The concept-forming operators in this subcontext are defined in a similar way to Eqs. (1) and (2) and are denoted as  $\downarrow^Y$  and  $\uparrow_Y$ . In addition, the equality  $X^{\uparrow_Y} = X^{\uparrow} \cap Y$  holds, for each  $X \subseteq B$ . In particular, if  $Y_1 \subseteq Y$ , then  $Y_1^{\downarrow_Y} = Y_1^{\downarrow}$ .

**Definition 2.** Let (A, B, R) be a context, if there exists a set of attributes  $Y \subseteq A$  such that  $\mathcal{B}(A, B, R) \cong \mathcal{B}(Y, B, R_{|Y})$ , then Y is called a consistent set of (A, B, R). Moreover, if  $\mathcal{B}(Y \setminus \{y\}, B, R_{|Y \setminus \{y\}}) \ncong \mathcal{B}(A, B, R)$ , for all  $y \in Y$ , then Y is called reduct of (A, B, R).

The core of (A, B, R) is the intersection of all the reducts of (A, B, R).

The last notion we need to recall is the definition of irreducible element of a lattice, which will be considered later.

**Definition 3.** Given a lattice  $(L, \preceq)$ , such that  $\land, \lor$  are the meet and the join operators, and an element  $x \in L$  verifying

If L has a top element ⊤, then x ≠ ⊤.
 If x = y ∧ z, then x = y or x = z, for all y, z ∈ L.

we call x meet-irreducible ( $\wedge$ -irreducible) element of L. Condition (2) is equivalent to

2'. If x < y and x < z, then  $x < y \land z$ , for all  $y, z \in L$ .

A join-irreducible ( $\lor$ -irreducible) element of L is defined dually.

Due to our goal is to apply the attribute reduction mechanism given in RST to FCA, we also need to recall several notions corresponding to the framework of RST. In this framework, relational databases are seen as decision systems or as information systems, depending on the problem we want to solve. Here, we only consider the notion of information systems since they are the natural systems used when RST and FCA are related.

**Definition 4.** An information system  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  is a tuple, satisfying that  $U = \{x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n\}$  and  $\mathcal{A} = \{a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_m\}$  are finite, non-empty sets of objects and attributes, respectively, in which, each  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  corresponds to a mapping  $\bar{a}: U \to V_a$ , where  $V_a$  is the value set of a over U. For every subset D of  $\mathcal{A}$ , the D-indiscernibility relation, Ind(D), is defined as the equivalence relation

$$Ind(D) = \{(x_i, x_j) \in U \times U \mid for all \ a \in D, \overline{a}(x_i) = \overline{a}(x_j)\}$$

where each class given by this relation can be written as  $[x]_D = \{x_i \mid (x, x_i) \in Ind(D)\}$ . Ind(D) produces a partition on U denoted as  $U/Ind(D) = \{[x]_D \mid x \in U\}$ .

If we have that the value set of a is  $V_a = \{0, 1\}$ , for all  $a \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  is called a boolean information system.

The notions of consistent set and reduct are considered in the reduction mechanism, so we recall them in the following definition.

**Definition 5.** Let  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  be an information system and a subset of attributes  $D \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ . D is a consistent set of  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  if

$$Ind(D) = Ind(\mathcal{A})$$

Moreover, if for each  $a \in D$  we have that  $Ind(D \setminus \{a\}) \neq Ind(\mathcal{A})$ , then D is called reduct of  $(U, \mathcal{A})$ .

In the next definition, we present the notions of discernibility matrix and discernibility function [11]. We will use them in order to characterize the reducts in RST.

**Definition 6.** Given an information system  $(U, \mathcal{A})$ , its discernibility matrix is a matrix with order  $|U| \times |U|$ , denoted as  $M_{\mathcal{A}}$ , in which the element  $M_{\mathcal{A}}(i, j)$  for each pair of objects (i, j) is defined by:

$$M_{\mathcal{A}}(i,j) = \{ a \in \mathcal{A} \mid \bar{a}(i) \neq \bar{a}(j) \}$$

and the discernibility function of  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  is defined by:

$$\tau_{\mathcal{A}} = \bigwedge \left\{ \bigvee (M_{\mathcal{A}}(i,j)) \mid i, j \in U \text{ and } M_{\mathcal{A}}(i,j) \neq \varnothing \right\}$$

The following result states a procedure to get reducts of an information system, using the discernibility function.

**Theorem 1.** Given a boolean information system  $(U, \mathcal{A})$ . An arbitrary set D, where  $D \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ , is a reduct of the information system if and only if the cube  $\bigwedge_{a \in D} a$  is a cube in the restricted disjunctive normal form (RDNF) of  $\tau_{\mathcal{A}}$ .

Now, we can present the new mechanism to reduce a context in FCA based on RST.

#### 3 Reducing a Context in FCA Based on RST

In this paper, we will use the reduction given in RST to reduce the set of attributes of a context in the FCA framework. Therefore, we are introducing a novel reduction mechanism in FCA, since we are considering the philosophy of RST. There exist some papers that study the relationship between FCA and RST, but only a small number of them analyze this relationship from the perspective of attribute reduction [1,12]. For example, in [12] was proven that the reduction in FCA in a certain way implies the reduction in RST. Specifically, they demonstrated that any consistent set in FCA is a consistent set in RST. However, the opposite statement does not hold, in general. Therefore, the reductions in both frameworks are not equivalent. For that reason, in this paper we are interested in studying the properties that we obtain when we reduce contexts in FCA from reducts of RST.

Hereafter, the set of attributes and the set of objects will be considered finite. In addition, consistent sets of a context (A, B, R) will be called *CL-consistent* sets and consistent sets of an information system  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  as *RS-consistent* sets. Analogously, reducts of a context (A, B, R) will be called *CL-reducts* and reducts of an information system  $(U, \mathcal{A})$  as *RS-reducts*.

Firstly, given a context we show how to define an information system.

**Definition 7.** Let (A, B, R) be a context, a context information system is defined as the pair (B, A) where the mappings  $\bar{a} : B \to V_a$ , with  $V_a = \{0, 1\}$ , are defined as  $\bar{a}(b) = R(a, b)$ , for all  $a \in A, b \in B$ .

The proposed mechanism will be explained in the following. Given a context (A, B, R), we consider the corresponding context information system and we compute the RS-reducts of this information system. We reduce the original context according to the obtained RS-reducts and analyze the properties satisfied by such reduction. The first one establishes the relationship between the operators in both frameworks.

**Lemma 1.** Given a context (A, B, R) and the corresponding context information system (B, A), the following equality holds, for each  $a \in A$ :

$$a^{\downarrow} = \bar{a}$$

On the other hand, the next proposition states that if two different objects generate two different concepts in the original context, then these objects also generate different concepts in the reduced one. Therefore, the number of different object-concepts is preserved.

**Proposition 1.** Let (A, B, R) be a context and (B, A) the corresponding context information system. Considering  $D \subseteq A$  a RS-consistent set of (B, A) and the objects  $k, j \in B$ , if  $k^{\uparrow} \neq j^{\uparrow}$ , then  $k^{\uparrow_D} \neq j^{\uparrow_D}$ .

In addition, the consideration of RS-consistent set preserves the (strict) inequality between object-concepts.

**Proposition 2.** Given a context (A, B, R) and its corresponding context information system (B, A). If  $D \subseteq A$  is a RS-consistent set of (B, A) and we consider two objects  $k, j \in B$  satisfying that  $k^{\uparrow} < j^{\uparrow}$ , then the inequality  $k^{\uparrow D} < j^{\uparrow D}$  holds.

Therefore, when this reduction is carried out, the ordering among the objectconcepts is practically preserved.

Another interesting property states that if an object does not generate a join-irreducible concept in the original context, then it cannot generate a join-irreducible concept in the reduced one. Consequently, no new join-irreducible elements appear after the reduction using an RS-consistent set.

**Theorem 2.** Given a context (A, B, R), the corresponding context information system (B, A) and  $D \subseteq A$  a RS-consistent set. If an object  $j \in B$  generates a join-irreducible concept in the concept lattice associated with the context (D, B, R), then it also generates a join-irreducible concept of the concept lattice associated with (A, B, R).

Thus, from all the results previously presented this reduction mechanism has interesting properties to be considered in the FCA framework.

Now, we will explain how the proposed reduction can be applied in FCA, by means of the following example. Specifically, we will reduce a formal context, from the RS-reducts of the associated context information system.

Example 1. We fix a formal context (A, B, R), where the set of objects is formed by a group of cultived fields and the set A represents attributes as high temperature, high humidity, windy area or the use of, fertilizer and pesticide, corresponding to these seven different cultived fields. The relation R is given by Table 1. The concept lattice associated with this context is displayed in Fig. 1.

R	High temperature (ht)	High humidity (hh)	Windy area (wa)	Fertilizer (f)	Pesticide (p)
1	1	0	1	1	1
2	0	0	1	0	1
3	0	1	0	1	0
4	0	1	1	1	1
5	0	0	1	1	1
6	1	0	1	0	0
7	1	1	1	1	0

 Table 1. Relation of example 1.

We want to reduce the context considering the RS-reducts that we obtain from the corresponding context information system. We will see that when this kind of reduction is applied, the structure of the original concept lattice cannot



Fig. 1. Concept lattice of the context of Example 1

be necessarily preserved but, as we mentioned above, the obtained reduction satisfies interesting properties. In order to analyze these properties, it is important to observe in Fig. 1 that the set of join-irreducible elements of the concept lattice are composed of the following concepts, generated by objects 1, 2, 3, 4, 6 and 7:

$$\begin{aligned} (1^{\uparrow\downarrow}, 1^{\uparrow}) &= (\{1\}, \{\text{ht, wa, f, p}\}) \\ (2^{\uparrow\downarrow}, 2^{\uparrow}) &= (\{1, 2, 4, 5\}, \{\text{wa, p}\}) \\ (3^{\uparrow\downarrow}, 3^{\uparrow}) &= (\{3, 4, 7\}, \{\text{hh, f}\}) \\ (4^{\uparrow\downarrow}, 4^{\uparrow}) &= (\{4\}, \{\text{hh, wa, f, p}\}) \\ (6^{\uparrow\downarrow}, 6^{\uparrow}) &= (\{1, 6, 7\}, \{\text{ht, wa}\}) \\ (7^{\uparrow\downarrow}, 7^{\uparrow}) &= (\{7\}, \{\text{ht, hh, wa, f}\}) \end{aligned}$$

Now, we will take into account the associated context information system (B, A) and, applying Definition 6, we obtain the discernibility matrix and the corresponding discernibility function.

In this example, the discernibility matrix is the following<sup>2</sup>:

Ø  $\{ht, f\}$ Ø Ø  $\{wa,p\}$ Ø  $\{f\}$  $\{hh\}$  $\{ht\}$ {hh,wa,p} Ø  ${\rm ht,hh,wa,f} {\rm ht,hh,f,p} {\rm ht,f,p}$  ${ht,p}$ {f,p} Ø  ${ht,hh,p} {hh,f}$ {ht,hh,f,p}  $\{ht,wa\}$   $\{ht,p\}$  $\{hh,p\}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Observe that the discernibility matrix is symmetric matrix since the discernibility relation is reflexive.

Therefore, the discernibility function is shown below:

$$\tau_{A} = \{ht \lor f\} \land \{ht \lor hh \lor wa \lor p\} \land \{hh \lor wa \lor f \lor p\} \land \{ht \lor hh\}$$
$$\land \{hh \lor f\} \land \{wa \lor p\} \land \{ht\} \land \{f\} \land \{hh \lor wa \lor p\} \land \{hh\}$$
$$\land \{f \lor p\} \land \{ht \lor p\} \land \{ht \lor hh \lor wa \lor f\} \land \{ht \lor hh \lor f \lor p\}$$
$$\land \{ht \lor f \lor p\} \land \{hh \lor p\} \land \{ht \lor hh \lor f \lor p\} \land \{ht \lor wa\} \land \{ht \lor p\}$$
$$\land \{ht \lor hh \lor p\} \land \{hh \lor f\}$$
$$= \{ht \land hh \land wa \land f\} \lor \{ht \land hh \land f \land p\}$$

According to Theorem 1, two RS-reducts are obtained:

$$D_1 = \{\text{ht}, \text{hh}, \text{wa}, f\}$$
$$D_2 = \{\text{ht}, \text{hh}, f, p\}$$

Hence,  $D_1$  and  $D_2$  are the RS-reducts from which we are going to reduce the original context. The corresponding concept lattices obtained from these reductions are shown in Fig. 2. Observe that, the original structure has been modified in both cases.



**Fig. 2.** Concept lattices built from the RS-reducts  $D_1$  (left) and  $D_2$  (right).

First of all, the reduction obtained from the second reduct will be analyzed. For that purpose, we list below the object-concepts generated after the reduction of the context from  $D_2^3$ :

$$\begin{aligned} (1^{\uparrow_2\downarrow^2}, 1^{\uparrow_2}) &= (\{1\}, \{\text{ht, f, p}\})\\ (2^{\uparrow_2\downarrow^2}, 2^{\uparrow_2}) &= (\{1, 2, 4, 5\}, \{p\})\\ (4^{\uparrow_2\downarrow^2}, 4^{\uparrow_2}) &= (\{4\}, \{\text{hh, f, p}\})\\ (6^{\uparrow_2\downarrow^2}, 6^{\uparrow_2}) &= (\{1, 6, 7\}, \{\text{ht}\})\\ (7^{\uparrow_2\downarrow^2}, 7^{\uparrow_2}) &= (\{7\}, \{\text{ht, hh, f}\}) \end{aligned}$$

In this case, we can observe that 3 concepts have disappeared, hence the size of the original concept lattice have been reduced. However, according to Theorem 2, we have that all objects generating join-irreducible elements in the reducing concept lattice, that is, objects 1, 2, 4, 6 and 7 also generate join-irreducible concepts in the original one. Moreover, the object-concepts after the reduction preserve the same extensions as in the original concept lattice, which implies that Propositions 1 and 2 trivially hold. But this fact does not necessarily have to be satisfied, as we can see if we consider the reduct  $D_1$ .

The concept lattice obtained from the RS-reduct  $D_1$  is displayed in left side of Fig. 2. Now, the set of join-irreducible concepts are obtained from the objects 1, 3, 4 and 6, and they are listened below:

$$\begin{aligned} &(1^{\uparrow_1\downarrow^1}, 1^{\uparrow_1}) = (\{1, 7\}, \{\text{ht, wa, f}\}) \\ &(3^{\uparrow_1\downarrow^1}, 3^{\uparrow_1}) = (\{3, 4, 7\}, \{\text{hh, f}\}) \\ &(4^{\uparrow_1\downarrow^1}, 4^{\uparrow_1}) = (\{4, 7\}, \{\text{hh, wa, f}\}) \\ &(6^{\uparrow_1\downarrow^1}, 6^{\uparrow_1}) = (\{1, 6, 7\}, \{\text{ht, wa}\}) \end{aligned}$$

. . 1

From them, it is easy to see that Propositions 1, 2 and Theorem 2 also hold. In addition, observe that after the reduction, from the objects 3 and 6 we obtain join-irreducible concepts with the same extensions that in the initial context. Whereas, the extensions of the object-concepts from 1 and 4 have been modified. Specifically, the concepts whose extensions are  $\{1,7\}$  and  $\{4,7\}$  were not join-irreducible in the original context but they are irreducible concepts after the reduction.

The most interesting property that we obtain considering this mechanism to reduce the context, is that different object-concepts in the original concept lattice continue being different after the reduction. That is, given two objects if we have a concept in the original lattice which does not contain both objects, after the reduction, we also have a concept that does not contain these two objects. Therefore, we preserve the necessary information to distinguish the objects after using this reduction mechanism.

As a consequence, in this work an interesting way to reduce contexts in FCA have been presented, since useful properties are satisfied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For the sake of simplicity, we will write  $({}^{\uparrow_1}, {}^{\downarrow_1})$  and  $({}^{\uparrow_2}, {}^{\downarrow_2})$ , instead of  $({}^{\uparrow_{D_1}}, {}^{\downarrow_{D_1}})$  and  $({}^{\uparrow_{D_2}}, {}^{\downarrow_{D_2}})$  to denote the concept-forming operators in the reduced contexts by  $D_1$  and  $D_2$ , respectively.

## 4 Conclusions and Future Work

In this paper, we have considered the philosophy of attribute reduction in RST in order to introduce a new mechanism for reducing context in FCA. We have shown that when we reduce the number of attributes of a context from an RSreduct of the corresponding context information system, the obtained reduction satisfies interesting properties with respect to the object-concepts of the concept lattice. The most relevant characteristics of this new reduction procedure is that the number of different object-concepts is preserved and no new join-irreducible element is introduced after the reduction. We have illustrated the presented mechanism by an example.

As prospects for future work, we want to carry out a greater reduction of contexts in FCA, decreasing the number of objects. For this purpose, we will consider the notion of bireduct given in RST within the FCA framework.

## References

- Chen, J., Li, J., Lin, Y., Lin, G., Ma, Z.: Relations of reduction between covering generalized rough sets and concept lattices. Inf. Sci. 304, 16–27 (2015)
- Cornejo, M.E., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Irreducible elements in multiadjoint concept lattices. Int. Conf. Fuzzy Log. Technol. EUSFLAT 2013, 125–131 (2013)
- Cornejo, M.E., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Attribute reduction in multiadjoint concept lattices. Inf. Sci. 294, 41–56 (2015)
- Davey, B., Priestley, H.: Introduction to Lattices and Order, 2nd edn. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2002)
- Denecke, K., Erné, M., Wismath, S.L. (eds.): Galois Connections and Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (2004)
- Dias, S., Vieira, N.: Reducing the size of concept lattices: the JBOS approach. In: 7th International Conference on Concept Lattices and Their Applications (CLA 2010), vol. 672, pp. 80–91 (2010)
- Ganter, B., Wille, R.: Formal Concept Analysis: Mathematical Foundation. Springer, Heidelberg (1999)
- 8. Medina, J.: Relating attribute reduction in formal, object-oriented and propertyoriented concept lattices. Comput. Math. Appl. **64**(6), 1992–2002 (2012)
- Medina, J., Ojeda-Aciego, M., Ruiz-Calviño, J.: On multi-adjoint concept lattices: definition and representation theorem. Technical report, University of Málaga (2006). http://www.satd.uma.es/matap/jmedina/MACL.zip
- 10. Pawlak, Z.: Rough sets. Int. J. Comput. Inf. Sci. 11, 341-356 (1982)
- Skowron, A., Rauszer, C.: The discernibility matrices and functions in information systems, pp. 331–362. Springer, Netherlands (1992)
- Wei, L., Qi, J.-J.: Relation between concept lattice reduction and rough set reduction. Knowl.-Based Syst. 23(8), 934–938 (2010)

# An Equivalence Relation and Admissible Linear Orders in Decision Making

Urszula Bentkowska<br/>  $^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Barbara Pękala

Interdisciplinary Centre for Computational Modelling Pigonia 1, University of Rzeszów, 35-310 Rzeszów, Poland {ududziak,bpekala}@ur.edu.pl

Abstract. In this paper interval-valued fuzzy relations in the context of decision making problems are studied. A new version of transitivity with admissible linear order involved in its notion is introduced. It is examined the connection of this new property and some equivalence relation for interval-valued fuzzy relations. There are also studied admissible linear orders generated by aggregation functions and their connection with the considered equivalence relation. Possible applications of the presented results in decision making are indicated.

Keywords: Interval-valued fuzzy relations  $\cdot$  Admissible orders  $\cdot$  Transitivity

#### 1 Introduction

Interval-Valued Fuzzy Relations (IVFRs), which are extensions of fuzzy relations, are applied in databases, pattern recognition, neural networks, fuzzy modelling, economy, medicine or multicriteria decision making [13,18]. In recent applications to image processing [1] or classification [20] it has been proven that, under some circumstances, the use of IVFSs together with the total order defined by Xu and Yager [24] provide results that are better than their fuzzy counterparts.

In this paper we deal with an equivalence relation between aggregation functions and interval-valued fuzzy relations. Applying this equivalence relation is a method of comparison of diverse types of values. There are different methods of comparison of fuzzy quantities (cf. [21]). Some of them can generate equivalence relations between fuzzy sets (incomparable elements are similar). The first concept of a similarity between fuzzy sets was proposed by Warren [22]. It was connected with the normalization of fuzzy sets (cf. e.g. [25]). Two fuzzy sets were considered equivalent, if they produced the same normalized fuzzy set after the normalization. This relation can be considered to be the case of proportional membership functions. A more general relation was introduced by Bhattacharya [2] in the case of fuzzy groups. Two fuzzy groups were considered equivalent if they had a common family of level sets. Murali and Makamba [15] examined this relation in order to describe numerical dependence between membership functions of equivalent fuzzy groups. Murali [16] has generalized this

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_18

equivalence for arbitrary fuzzy sets. The classification of fuzzy relations was introduced by Zadeh [25] and popularized by Kaufmann [12].

In this contribution we also discuss transitivity property and introduce a new type of this concept with respect to admissible linear orders. Transitivity is an important property of relations, since it may guarantee consistency of choices of decision makers. Diverse properties of IVFRs (also for the case of interval-valued fuzzy reciprocal relations IVFRRs), including transitivity, have been studied by a range of authors (cf. [1,9,14,23]).

This work is composed of the following parts. Firstly, some concepts and results useful in further considerations are recalled and new version of transitivity with an admissible linear order is introduced (Sect. 2). Next, an equivalence relation for aggregation functions and interval-valued fuzzy relations is considered (Sect. 3). Finally, (Sect. 4) it is provided information how obtained in the paper results may be applied in decision making problems.

## 2 Transitivity of Interval-Valued Fuzzy Relations with Respect to Admissible Linear Order

Firstly, we give the definition of an aggregation function on [0, 1].

**Definition 1 ([8], p. 6).** An increasing function  $A : [0,1]^n \to [0,1], n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $n \ge 2$ , is called an aggregation function if  $A(0,\ldots,0) = 0$ ,  $A(1,\ldots,1) = 1$ .

We recall the notion of the lattice operations and the order in the family of interval-valued fuzzy sets

$$L^{I} = \{ [x_{1}, x_{2}] : x_{1}, x_{2} \in [0, 1], x_{1} \leq x_{2} \}.$$

Note that  $L^I$  endowed with the partial order  $[x_1, x_2] \leq [y_1, y_2]$  if and only if  $x_1 \leq y_1$  and  $x_2 \leq y_2$  is a complete, bounded lattice with the top element given by  $\mathbf{1} = [1, 1]$  and the bottom element given by  $\mathbf{0} = [0, 0]$ . In this lattice, the supremum of any two elements is defined by  $[x_1, x_2] \vee [y_1, y_2] =$  $[\max(x_1, y_1), \max(x_2, y_2)]$ , and the infimum is defined by  $[x_1, x_2] \wedge [y_1, y_2] =$  $[\min(x_1, y_1), \min(x_2, y_2)]$ , respectively.

Note that, if we consider the partial order defined on  $L^{I}$ , we see that the family  $(\mathcal{IVFR}(X \times Y), \lor, \land)$  is a complete and distributive lattice (see [7] for a study on the concept of lattices). The order  $\leq$  is not linear. To overcome this problem the methods to obtain linear orders on  $L^{I}$  were introduced in [5].

**Definition 2** ([5]). An order  $\leq_{L^{I}}$  on  $L^{I}$  is called admissible if it is linear and satisfies that, for all  $x, y \in L^{I}$ , such that if  $x \leq y$ , then  $x \leq_{L^{I}} y$ .

In [6], this class of linear orders on  $L^{I}$  is used to extend the definition of OWA operators to interval-valued fuzzy setting.

**Definition 3 ([6]).** Let  $\leq_{L^I}$  be an admissible order on  $L^I$ ,  $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) \in [0, 1]^n$  with  $w_1 + \cdots + w_n = 1$ . The Interval-Valued OWA operator (IVOWA) associated with  $\leq_{L^I}$  and w is a mapping  $IVOWA_{\leq_{L^I}, w} : (L^I)^n \to L^I$ , given by

$$IVOWA_{\leq_{L^{I}},w}([a_{1},b_{1}],\ldots,[a_{n},b_{n}]) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_{i} \cdot [a_{(i)},b_{(i)}],$$

where  $[a_{(i)}, b_{(i)}]$ , i = 1, ..., n, denotes the *i*-th greatest of the inputs with respect to the order  $\leq_{L^{I}}$  and  $w \cdot [a, b] = [wa, wb]$ ,  $[a_{1}, b_{1}] + [a_{2}, b_{2}] = [a_{1} + a_{2}, b_{1} + b_{2}]$ .

Similarly, we may consider ordered weighted geometric mean (cf. [11]) on  $L^{I}$ .

**Definition 4.** Let  $\leq_{L^{I}}$  be an admissible order on  $L^{I}$ , and let  $w = (w_{1}, \ldots, w_{n}) \in [0, 1]^{n}$ , with  $w_{1} + \cdots + w_{n} = 1$ . The Interval-Valued OWG operator (IVOWG) associated with  $\leq_{L^{I}}$  and w is a mapping  $IVOWG_{\leq_{L^{I}}, w} : (L^{I})^{n} \to L^{I}$ , given by

$$IVOWG_{\leq_{L^{I}},w}([a_{1},b_{1}],\ldots,[a_{n},b_{n}]) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} [a_{(i)},b_{(i)}]^{w_{i}},$$

where  $[a_{(i)}, b_{(i)}]$ , i = 1, ..., n, denotes the *i*-th greatest of the inputs with respect to the order  $\leq_{L^{I}}$  and  $[a_{1}, b_{1}] \cdot [a_{2}, b_{2}] = [a_{1} \cdot a_{2}, b_{1} \cdot b_{2}]$ ,  $[a, b]^{w} = [a^{w}, b^{w}]$ .

There exist a construction of admissible orders with the use of aggregation functions.

**Proposition 1** ([5]). Let  $B_1, B_2 : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be two continuous aggregation functions, such that, for all  $x = [\underline{x}, \overline{x}], y = [\underline{y}, \overline{y}] \in L^I$ , the equalities  $B_1(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) = B_1(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$  and  $B_2(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) = B_2(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$  hold if and only if x = y. If the order  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$  on  $L^I$  is defined by  $x \leq_{B_{1,2}} y$  if and only if

$$B_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) < B_1(y,\overline{y}) \text{ or } (B_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) = B_1(y,\overline{y}) \text{ and } B_2(\underline{x},\overline{x}) \leqslant B_2(y,\overline{y}))$$

then  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$  is an admissible order on  $L^I$ .

*Example 1* ([5]). Let  $x = [\underline{x}, \overline{x}], y = [\underline{y}, \overline{y}] \in L^I$ . Admissible orders on  $L^I$  are: • the Xu and Yager order

 $[\underline{x}, \overline{x}] \leq_{XY} [\underline{y}, \overline{y}]$  if and only if  $\underline{x} + \overline{x} < \underline{y} + \overline{y}$  or  $(\overline{x} + \underline{x} = \overline{y} + \underline{y} \text{ and } \overline{x} - \underline{x} \leq \overline{y} - \underline{y})$ , • the lexicographical order with respect to the first variable

 $[\underline{x}, \overline{x}] \leq_{Lex1} [y, \overline{y}]$  if and only if  $\underline{x} < y$  or  $(\underline{x} = y \text{ and } \overline{x} \leq \overline{y})$ ,

• the lexicographical order with respect to the second variable

 $[\underline{x}, \overline{x}] \leq_{Lex2} [\underline{y}, \overline{y}]$  if and only if  $\overline{x} < \overline{y}$  or  $(\overline{x} = \overline{y} \text{ and } \underline{x} \leq \underline{y})$ ,

• let  $K_{\alpha} : [0, \overline{1}]^2 \to [0, 1]$  be the function defined as  $K_{\alpha}(x, y) = \alpha x + (1 - \alpha)y$  for some  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ , the order defined as

 $[\underline{x}, \overline{x}] \leq_{\alpha, \beta} [\underline{y}, \overline{y}]$  if and only if  $K_{\alpha}(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) < K_{\alpha}(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$  or  $(K_{\alpha}(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) = K_{\alpha}(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$  and  $K_{\beta}(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) \leq \overline{K}_{\beta}(y, \overline{y}))$  is an admissible order for  $\alpha, \beta \in [0, 1], \alpha \neq \beta$ .

The orders  $\leq_{XY}$ ,  $\leq_{Lex1}$  and  $\leq_{Lex2}$  are special cases of the order  $\leq_{\alpha,\beta}$  with  $\leq_{0.5,\beta}$  (for  $\beta > 0.5$ ),  $\leq_{1,0}$ ,  $\leq_{0,1}$ , respectively. The orders  $\leq_{XY}$ ,  $\leq_{Lex1}$ ,  $\leq_{Lex2}$ , and  $\leq_{\alpha,\beta}$  are admissible linear orders defined by pairs of aggregation functions (cf. Proposition 1), namely weighted means. In the case of the orders  $\leq_{Lex1}$  and  $\leq_{Lex2}$  these means are reduced to the pairs of projections:  $P_1$ ,  $P_2$  and  $P_2$ ,  $P_1$ , respectively.

**Definition 5 (cf. [19,25]).** An IVFR R between universes X, Y is a mapping  $R: X \times Y \to L^I$  such that

$$R(x,y) = [\underline{R}(x,y), \overline{R}(x,y)] \text{ for all } pairs(x,y) \in X \times Y.$$

The class of all IVFRs between universes X, Y is denoted by  $\mathcal{IVFR}(X \times Y)$ , or  $\mathcal{IVFR}(X)$  for X = Y.

We recall the notion of transitivity (in its basic form for operation  $\wedge$ ) which is an important measure of consistency of decision makers.

**Definition 6 (cf. [3]).**  $R \in IVFR(X)$  is said to be transitive, if

$$\forall_{x,y,z \in X} R(x,y) \land R(y,z) \le R(x,z).$$
(1)

Remark 1. Transitivity of  $R \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$  described by (1) may be characterized by the property involving max-min-composition, namely  $R^2 \leq R$  (cf. [4]). In the context of preference relations, for  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ , transitivity captures the fact that, if the alternative  $x_i$  is preferred to  $x_k$  and  $x_k$  is preferred to  $x_j$ , then  $x_i$  should be preferred to  $x_j$ .

**Definition 7.** Let  $\leq_{L^I}$  be an admissible order.  $R \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$  is said to be transitive with respect to  $\leq_{L^I}$ , if

$$\forall_{x,y,z \in X} R(x,y) \land R(y,z) \leq_{L^{I}} R(x,z).$$
(2)

*Example 2.* Relation  $R \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$  is not transitive but it is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$ , where

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} [0.1, 0.2] & [0.3, 0.4] \\ [0, 0.3] & [0.1, 0.3] \end{bmatrix}.$$

Remark 2. Transitivity with respect to  $\leq_{L^I}$  may not be characterized by composition in a similar way to the one presented for transitivity in Remark 1. Relation R from Example 2 is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$  but it is not true that  $R^2 \leq_{Lex1} R$ , where

$$R^{2} = \begin{bmatrix} [0.1, 0.3] & [0.1, 0.3] \\ [0, 0.3] & [0.1, 0.3] \end{bmatrix}.$$

In the next section we will consider this new concept of transitivity in connection with some equivalence relation.

### 3 Equivalence Relation

We will consider an equivalence relation which was originally introduced for fuzzy groups [2] and then generalized to fuzzy sets [16]. We will use this notion for aggregation functions (similarly to [10]), but apply it for interval-valued fuzzy relations. Since the considered relation is an equivalence it can be useful in the classification of fuzzy information.

**Definition 8.** Let  $A, B : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be aggregation functions. Aggregation functions A and B are equivalent  $(A \sim B)$  if

$$\forall _{x,y,z,t \in [0,1]} A(x,y) \leqslant A(z,t) \Leftrightarrow B(x,y) \leqslant B(z,t).$$

*Example 3.* If we take two aggregation functions  $K_{0.3}$  and  $K_{0.2}$  we observe that,  $K_{0.3} \sim K_{0.2}$ . For example we calculate:

x	У	z	t	$K_{0.3}(x,y)$	$K_{0.3}(z,t)$	$K_{0.2}(x, y)$	$K_{0.2}(z,t)$
0,466079512	0,695313702	0,199977086	0,82690187	0,626543445	0,638824437	0,649466864	0,701516916
0,699377369	0,081830674	0,51141676	0,437083250	0,267094683	0,459383303	0,205340013	0,451949952
0,858878619	0,106145726	0,400104100	0,150400847	0,331965594	0,225311823	0,256692305	0,200341498
0,652742085	0,352831954	0,941989642	0,41648294	0,442804994	0,574134954	0,41281398	0,521584284
0,473595392	0,927195804	0,026486991	0,81285943	0,791115680	0,576947703	0,836475721	0,655584947
0,099923048	0,304847811	0,16435941	0,58175802	0,243370381	0,456538443	0,263862857	0,498278304
0,612547796	0,942061811	0,896368801	0,19422334	0,84320760	0,404866982	0,876159008	0,334652436
0,597453753	0,783110941	0,305027938	0,843501889	0,727413789	0,681959704	0,745979509	0,735807099
0,895580406	0,969919426	0,687527348	0,037429380	0,947617720	0,23245877	0,955051622	0,167448974
0,497693834	0,519135501	0,672966809	0,497403272	0,512703001	0,550072333	0,514847167	0,532515980
0,596747066	0,130312935	0,292547222	0,940475743	0,270243175	0,746097187	0,223599762	0,810890039

It is clear that relation  $\sim$  from Definition 8 is an equivalence relation. Now, we will recall definition and some results for this equivalence relation used for interval-valued fuzzy relations. We also introduce the notion of equivalence relation with respect to an admissible order.

**Definition 9 (cf.** [4]). Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . We say that relations R and S are equivalent  $(R \sim S)$ , if for all  $x, y, u, v \in X$ 

$$R(x,y) \le R(u,v) \iff S(x,y) \le S(u,v).$$

By definition of the partial order  $\leq$  we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 1.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . Relations R and S are equivalent  $(R \sim S)$  if and only if for all  $x, y, u, v \in X$ 

$$\underline{R}(x,y) \leqslant \underline{R}(u,v) \iff \underline{S}(x,y) \leqslant \underline{S}(u,v)$$

and

$$\overline{R}(x,y) \leqslant \overline{R}(u,v) \iff \overline{S}(x,y) \leqslant \overline{S}(u,v)$$

**Definition 10.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . We say that relations R and S are equivalent with respect to  $\leq_{L^{I}} (R \sim_{L^{I}} S)$ , if for all  $x, y, u, v \in X$ 

$$R(x,y) \leq_{L^{I}} R(u,v) \iff S(x,y) \leq_{L^{I}} S(u,v).$$

In this paper we will apply the concept defined in Definition 10 to admissible orders described in Proposition 1. This is why we will specify what we mean by such equivalence in this case.

**Definition 11.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . We say that relations R and S are equivalent with respect to  $\leq_{B_{1,2}} (R \sim_{B_{1,2}} S)$ , if for all  $x, y, u, v \in X$  one of the following equivalences is fulfilled

$$B_1(\underline{R}(x,y),\overline{R}(x,y)) < B_1(\underline{R}(u,v),\overline{R}(u,v)) \Leftrightarrow B_1(\underline{S}(x,y),\overline{S}(x,y)) < B_1(\underline{S}(u,v),\overline{S}(u,v))$$
(3)

or

$$B_1(\underline{R}(x,y),\overline{R}(x,y)) = B_1(\underline{R}(u,v),\overline{R}(u,v)) \text{ and } B_2(\underline{R}(x,y),\overline{R}(x,y)) \leqslant B_2(\underline{R}(u,v),\overline{R}(u,v))$$

 $\Leftrightarrow$ 

$$B_1(\underline{S}(x,y),\overline{S}(x,y)) = B_1(\underline{S}(u,v),\overline{S}(u,v)) \text{ and } B_2(\underline{S}(x,y),\overline{S}(x,y)) \leqslant B_2(\underline{S}(u,v),\overline{S}(u,v)).$$
(4)

The approach proposed in Definition 11 gives us more precise information about the behaviour of elements in both compared interval-valued fuzzy relations than just straight applying Definition 10 to the order  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$ .

Example 4. Let us consider relations  $R, S \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ , where

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} [0.2, 0.4] & [0.3, 0.6] \\ [0, 0] & [0, 0] \end{bmatrix}, \qquad S = \begin{bmatrix} [0.3, 0.5] & [0.4, 0.4] \\ [0.1, 0.1] & [0.1, 0.1] \end{bmatrix}.$$

We see that it is not true that  $R \sim S$  but it is true that  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$ . Moreover, it is neither true that  $R \sim_{Lex2} S$  nor that  $R \sim_{XY} S$  (cf. Definition 11).

Example 5. Let us consider relations  $R, S \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ , where

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} [0.2, 0.4] & [0.3, 0.6] \\ [0, 0] & [0, 0] \end{bmatrix}, \qquad S = \begin{bmatrix} [0.2, 0.5] & [0.4, 0.4] \\ [0, 0] & [0, 0] \end{bmatrix}.$$

It holds that  $R \sim_{XY} S$  and  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$  but it neither holds that  $R \sim_{Lex2} S$  nor  $R \sim S$  (cf. Definition 11).

*Example 6.* Let us now consider the following relations  $R, S \in IVFR(X)$ :

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} [0.3, 0.4] & [0.2, 0.6] \\ [0, 0] & [0, 0] \end{bmatrix}, \qquad S = \begin{bmatrix} [0.1, 0.5] & [0.4, 0.6] \\ [0, 0] & [0, 0] \end{bmatrix}$$

It holds both  $R \sim_{XY} S$  and  $R \sim_{Lex2} S$  but it neither holds that  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$  nor  $R \sim S$  (cf. Definition 11).

Some results related to the operations supremum and infimum may be applied in verifying the equivalence between two given IVFRs. Firstly, we present them for relation  $\sim$  and then for  $\sim_{L^{I}}$ . **Proposition 2** ([4]). Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . If  $R \sim S$ , then for every non-empty subset P of  $X \times X$  and each  $x, y, z, t \in P$ , the following conditions are fulfilled

$$\begin{cases} \underline{R}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \underline{S}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{S}(u,v) \\ \overline{R}(z,t) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \overline{S}(z,t) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \underline{S}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{S}(u,v) \\ \overline{R}(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \overline{S}(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \underline{S}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \overline{S}(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \underline{S}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \underline{S}(z,t) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(z,t) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \overline{S}(z,t) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \\ \hline R(z,t) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \overline{S}(z,t) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v) \end{cases}$$
(8)

The converse statement to Proposition 2 is true, and it is enough to assume that only one of the conditions in Eqs. (5)–(8) is fulfilled and that set P is finite. Equivalent relations have connection with the transitivity property. We can obtain for IVFRs and the partial order  $\leq$  the following property.

**Proposition 3 ([4]).** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . If  $R \sim S$ , then R is transitive if and only if S is transitive.

Now we will present the analogous results to the ones from Proposition 2 and Proposition 3 but for admissible orders  $\leq_{L^I}$ . We will analyze concrete orders, namely  $\leq_{Lex1}, \leq_{Lex2}, \leq_{XY}$ .

**Proposition 4.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . If  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$ , then for every non-empty subset P of  $X \times X$  and each  $x, y \in P$ , the following conditions are fulfilled:

$$\underline{R}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{R}(u,v) \iff \underline{S}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{S}(u,v), \tag{9}$$

$$\underline{R}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{R}(u,v) \iff \underline{S}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{S}(u,v).$$
(10)

*Proof.* We will prove condition (9). Let  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$ ,  $x, y \in X$ ,  $P \subset X \times X$  and  $\underline{R}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{R}(u,v)$ . It means that for every  $u, v \in P$  we have  $\underline{R}(x,y) \leq \underline{R}(u,v)$ . It means that for every  $u, v \in P$  we have  $\underline{R}(x,y) < \underline{R}(u,v)$  or  $\underline{R}(x,y) = \underline{R}(u,v)$ .

<u>R(u, v)</u>. By Definition 11 applied to  $\leq_{Lex1}$  and assumption  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$  we have for every  $u, v \in P$  the following cases:

 $\begin{array}{l} (1) \ \underline{R}(x,y) < \underline{R}(u,v) \Leftrightarrow \underline{S}(x,y) < \underline{S}(u,v), \\ (2) \ (\underline{R}(x,y) = \underline{R}(u,v), \ \overline{R}(x,y) \leqslant \overline{R}(u,v)) \Leftrightarrow (\underline{S}(x,y) = \underline{S}(u,v), \ \overline{S}(x,y) \leqslant \overline{S}(u,v)), \\ (3) \ (\underline{R}(x,y) = \underline{R}(u,v), \ \overline{R}(x,y) > \overline{R}(u,v)) \Leftrightarrow (\underline{S}(x,y) = \underline{S}(u,v), \ \overline{S}(x,y) > \overline{S}(u,v)). \end{array}$ 

In each case we have:  $\underline{S}(x,y) < \underline{S}(u,v)$  or  $\underline{S}(x,y) = \underline{S}(u,v)$  for every  $u, v \in P$ . As a result for every  $u, v \in P$  we have  $\underline{S}(x,y) \leq \underline{S}(u,v)$  which proves that  $\underline{S}(x,y)$  is a lower bound of values  $\underline{S}(u,v)$  for  $u, v \in P$ . Using analogous methods we may prove that  $\underline{S}(x,y)$  is the greatest lower bound of values  $\underline{S}(u,v)$  for  $u, v \in P$ , i.e.  $\underline{S}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \underline{S}(u,v).$ 

Condition (10) may be proven analogously.

By Example 4 we see that supremum and infimum for the remaining ends of intervals are not 'preserved' by the equivalence  $\sim_{Lex1}$ . Similarly to Proposition 4 we may prove the following result

**Proposition 5.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . If  $R \sim_{Lex2} S$ , then for every non-empty subset P of  $X \times X$  and each  $x, y \in P$ , the following conditions are fulfilled:

$$\overline{R}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \iff \overline{S}(x,y) = \inf_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v), \tag{11}$$

$$\overline{R}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{R}(u,v) \iff \overline{S}(x,y) = \sup_{(u,v)\in P} \overline{S}(u,v).$$
(12)

By Example 6 we see that supremum and infimum for the remaining ends of intervals are not 'preserved' by  $\sim_{Lex2}$ .

Remark 3. Analyzing interval-valued fuzzy relations from Examples 5 and 6 we see that for the admissible order  $\leq_{XY}$  we do not have similar results to the ones presented in Propositions 4 and 5.

Now we will consider 'preservation' of transitivity with respect to  $\leq_{L^I}$  by the equivalence relation  $\sim_{L^I}$  for the orders  $\leq_{Lex1}$  and  $\leq_{Lex2}$ .

**Proposition 6.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . If  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$ , then R is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$  if and only if S is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $R \sim_{Lex1} S$  and R be transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$ . Transitivity of R with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$  means that for  $x, y, z \in X$  we have one of the following conditions fulfilled:

(a)  $\min(\underline{R}(x,y),\underline{R}(y,z)) < \underline{R}(x,z)$  or

(b)  $\min(\underline{R}(x,y),\underline{R}(y,z)) = \underline{R}(x,z)$  and  $\min(\overline{R}(x,y),\overline{R}(y,z)) \leq \overline{R}(x,z)$ .

As a result, by Proposition 4 and the fact that ends of intervals are just real numbers linearly ordered by  $\leq$ , we have the following cases for (a): (1) If  $\underline{R}(x,y) < \underline{R}(y,z)$ , then with  $P = \{(x,y), (y,z)\}$  we get

$$\underline{R}(x,y) = \min(\underline{R}(x,y), \underline{R}(y,z)) \iff \underline{S}(x,y) = \min(\underline{S}(x,y), \underline{S}(y,z)),$$
$$\underline{R}(x,y) < \underline{R}(x,z) \iff \underline{S}(x,y) < \underline{S}(x,z),$$

which proves that

$$\min(\underline{R}(x,y),\underline{R}(y,z)) < \underline{R}(x,z) \iff \min(\underline{S}(x,y),\underline{S}(y,z)) < \underline{S}(x,z).$$

(2) If  $\underline{R}(x, y) > \underline{R}(y, z)$ , then similarly

$$\underline{R}(y,z) = \min(\underline{R}(x,y),\underline{R}(y,z)) \iff \underline{S}(y,z) = \min(\underline{S}(x,y),\underline{S}(y,z)),$$
$$\underline{R}(y,z) < \underline{R}(x,z) \iff \underline{S}(y,z) < \underline{S}(x,z),$$

(3) If  $\underline{R}(x, y) = \underline{R}(y, z)$ , then we may prove it analogously to the cases (1) or (2). For the case b) and condition  $\min(\underline{R}(x, y), \underline{R}(y, z)) = \underline{R}(x, z)$ , by Definition 11, we obtain the formula

$$\min(\underline{R}(x,y),\underline{R}(y,z)) = \underline{R}(x,z) \Leftrightarrow \min(\underline{S}(x,y),\underline{S}(y,z)) = \underline{S}(x,z).$$

For the case b) and condition  $\min(\overline{R}(x,y), \overline{R}(y,z)) \leq \overline{R}(x,z)$  we also consider three cases and by Definition 11 we conclude: (1)  $\overline{R}(x,y) < \overline{R}(y,z)$ , then  $\min(\overline{R}(x,y), \overline{R}(y,z)) = \overline{R}(x,y)$  and since

$$\overline{R}(x,y) < \overline{R}(y,z) \Leftrightarrow \overline{S}(x,y) < \overline{S}(y,z),$$

as a consequence  $\min(\overline{S}(x,y),\overline{S}(y,z)) = \overline{S}(x,y)$ , so by the second part of Definition 11 we have  $\min(\overline{S}(x,y),\overline{S}(y,z)) \leq \overline{S}(x,z)$ . Similar considerations we may obtain for the remaining cases:

(2)  $\overline{R}(x,y) > \overline{R}(y,z)$ (3)  $\overline{R}(x,y) = \overline{R}(y,z)$ .

As a result S is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex1}$ , which finishes the proof.

Similarly to Proposition 6 we may prove the analogous statement for the order  $\leq_{Lex2}$ .

**Proposition 7.** Let  $R = [\underline{R}, \overline{R}]$ ,  $S = [\underline{S}, \overline{S}] \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . If  $R \sim_{Lex2} S$ , then R is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex2}$  if and only if S is transitive with respect to  $\leq_{Lex2}$ .

We will now apply the results considered in this paper which are related to the equivalence relation of admissible orders described in Proposition 1. **Definition 12.** Admissible orders  $\leq_{A_{1,2}}$  and  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$  are equivalent  $(\leq_{A_{1,2}} \sim \leq_{B_{1,2}})$ , if

$$x \leq_{A_{1,2}} y \Leftrightarrow x \leq_{B_{1,2}} y, \text{ where } x, y \in L^{I}.$$
 (13)

Equivalent pairs of aggregation functions, which generate admissible orders (cf. Proposition 1), generate equivalent admissible orders.

**Proposition 8.** Let  $A_i$ ,  $B_i$  be aggregation functions for  $i = \{1,2\}$  and  $A_1 \sim B_1$ ,  $A_2 \sim B_2$ . If  $\leq_{A_{1,2}}$  (respectively  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$ ) is an admissible order, then  $\leq_{A_{1,2}} \sim \leq_{B_{1,2}}$  and  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$  (respectively  $\leq_{A_{1,2}}$ ) is an admissible order.

*Proof.* Let  $\leq_{A_{1,2}}$  be an admissible order,  $x \leq_{A_{1,2}} y$  and  $x = [\underline{x}, \overline{x}], y = [\underline{y}, \overline{y}]$ . By condition (13), interpreted similarly to the way presented in Definition 11, we obtain: if  $A_1(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) < A_1(y, \overline{y})$ , then

$$A_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) < A_1(y,\overline{y}) \iff \neg(A_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) \ge A_1(y,\overline{y}))$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \neg (B_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) \ge B_1(y,\overline{y})) \iff B_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) < B_1(y,\overline{y}).$$

If  $A_1(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) = A_1(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$ , then  $B_1(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) = B_1(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$  since

$$A_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) = A_1(y,\overline{y}) \Leftrightarrow (A_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}) \leqslant A_1(y,\overline{y}) \text{ and } A_1(y,\overline{y}) \leqslant A_1(\underline{x},\overline{x}))$$

and it is enough to use twice definition of ~ relation for  $B_1$ ,  $B_2$ . If  $A_2(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) \leq A_2(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$ , then by definition of ~ we get  $B_2(\underline{x}, \overline{x}) \leq B_2(\underline{y}, \overline{y})$ , so  $x \leq_{A_{1,2}} y \Leftrightarrow x \leq_{B_{1,2}} y$  and  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$  is an admissible order.

In the next section we will indicate the application of Proposition 8 in decision making algorithms.

#### 4 Decision Making Algorithm

We consider interval-valued fuzzy relations on  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  (set of alternatives). The preferences over these alternatives will be represented with respect to a finite number of criteria, by relations  $R_1, \ldots, R_n \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ . We will apply IVOWA (or IVOWG) to aggregate these relations in order to obtain the final result. In definition of IVOWA (IVOWG) we use linear order  $\leq_{A_{1,2}}$  generated by aggregation functions (cf. Proposition 1). The set of weights w represents the importance of criteria. IVOWA (IVOWG) are widely used in computational intelligence because of their ability to model linguistically expressed aggregation instructions. To find the solution alternative we may apply diverse methods, for example nondominance method or voting methods (cf. [4,17]) but here we will not focus on this issue in detail. To find the selection alternative, in the final step linear orders generated by aggregation functions  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$ , but not necessarily with the same pair of aggregation functions which are used in IVOWA (IVOWG), may be applied. The following algorithm (general steps) gives a solution alternative.

#### Algorithm

**Inputs** :  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  set of alternatives;  $R_1, \ldots, R_n \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$ ; linear orders  $\leq_{A_{1,2}}, \leq_{B_{1,2}}$  generated by  $A_1, A_2, B_1, B_2 : [0, 1]^2 \to [0, 1]$ ; aggregation operator  $IVOWA_{\leq_{A_{1,2}}, w}$  (respectively  $IVOWG_{\leq_{A_{1,2}}, w}$ ).

**Output** : Solution alternative:  $x_{selection}$  the best alternative with respect to given criteria.

(Step 1) Aggregation of given  $R_1, \ldots, R_n \in \mathcal{IVFR}(X)$  by the use of  $IVOWA_{\leq_{A_1,2},w}$  ( $IVOWG_{\leq_{A_1,2},w}$ ) obtaining aggregated fuzzy relation  $R_A$ 

(Step 2) Applying the nondominance or voting methods to  $R_A$ 

(Step 3) Ordering the alternatives in a non-increasing way using a linear order  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$ 

In (Step 3) of the given algorithm we may apply diverse linear orders of the type  $\leq_{B_{1,2}}$ . If we compare the orders of alternatives obtained with the use of two different but equivalent admissible orders  $\leq_{A_{1,2}} \sim \leq_{B_{1,2}}$ , then we obtain for both of them the same orders of alternatives (cf. Proposition 8).

## 5 Conclusion

We introduced the notion of transitivity with respect to an admissible order for interval-valued fuzzy relations. We also discussed its connection with some equivalence relation and consequences of applying both the equivalence relation and the new type of transitivity. For future work it would be interesting to find another (stronger) sufficient condition for equivalence of admissible orders (cf. Proposition 8).

Acknowledgements. This contribution was supported by the Centre for Innovation and Transfer of Natural Sciences and Engineering Knowledge of University of Rzeszów, Poland, the project RPPK.01.03.00-18-001/10.

## References

- Barrenechea, E., Fernandez, J., Pagola, M., Chiclana, F., Bustince, H.: Construction of interval-valued fuzzy preference relations from ignorance functions and fuzzy preference relations: application to decision making. Knowl. Based Syst. 58, 33–44 (2014)
- Bhattacharya, P.: Fuzzy subgroups: some characterizations. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 128, 241–252 (1987)
- Burillo, P., Bustince, H.: Intuitionistic fuzzy relations (I-II). Mathware Soft Comput. 2(5–38), 117–148 (1995)

- Bentkowska, U., Bustince, H., Jurio, A., Pagola, M., Pękala, B.: Decision making with an interval-valued fuzzy preference relation and admissible orders. Appl. Soft Comput. 35, 792–801 (2015)
- Bustince, H., Fernandez, J., Kolesárová, A., Mesiar, R.: Generation of linear orders for intervals by means of aggregation functions. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 220, 69–77 (2013)
- Bustince, H., Galar, M., Bedregal, B., Kolesárová, A., Mesiar, R.: A new approach to interval-valued Choquet integrals and the problem of ordering in interval-valued fuzzy sets applications. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 21(6), 1150–1162 (2013)
- Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory, vol. 25. AMS Colloquium Publications, Providence (1967)
- Calvo, T., Kolesárová, A., Komorniková, M., Mesiar, R.: Aggregation operators: properties, classes and construction methods. In: Calvo, T., et al. (eds.) Aggregation Operators, pp. 3–104. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg (2002)
- Freson, S., De Baets, B., De Meyer, H.: Closing reciprocal relations w.r.t. stochastic transitivity. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 241, 2–26 (2014)
- Grabisch, M.: On equivalence classes of fuzzy connectives: the case of fuzzy integrals. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 3(1), 96–109 (1995)
- Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E., Chiclana, F.: A study of the origin and uses of the ordered weighted geometric operator in multicriteria decision making. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 18, 689–707 (2003)
- Kaufmann, A.: Introduction to the Theory of Fuzzy Subsets. Academic Press, New York (1975)
- Liu, F., Zhang, W.-G., Zhang, L.-H.: A group decision making model based on a generalized ordered weighted geometric average operator with interval preference matrices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 246, 1–18 (2014)
- Llamazares, B., De Baets, B.: Fuzzy strict preference relations compatible with fuzzy orderings. Int. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 18(1), 13–24 (2010)
- Murali, V., Makamba, B.B.: On an equivalence of fuzzy subgroups I. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 123, 259–264 (2001)
- 16. Murali, V.: Fuzzy points of equivalent fuzzy subsets. Inf. Sci. 158, 277-288 (2004)
- Orlovsky, S.A.: Decision-making with a fuzzy preference relation. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 1(3), 155–167 (1978)
- Paternain, D., Jurio, A., Barrenechea, E., Bustince, H., Bedregal, B., Szmidt, E.: An alternative to fuzzy methods in decision-making problems. Expert Syst. Appl. 39(9), 7729–7735 (2012)
- 19. Sambuc, R.: Fonctions  $\phi$ -floues: Application á l'aide au diagnostic en pathologie thyroidienne. Ph.D. thesis, Université de Marseille, France (1975). (in French)
- Sanz, J., Fernandez, A., Bustince, H., Herrera, F.: A genetic tuning to improve the performance of fuzzy rule-based classification systems with intervalvalued fuzzy sets: degree of ignorance and lateral position. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 52(6), 751–766 (2011)
- Wang, X., Kerre, E.E.: Reasonable properties for the ordering of fuzzy quantities I, II. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 118(375–385), 387–405 (2001)
- 22. Warren, R.H.: Equivalent fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 6, 309-312 (1981)
- Xu, Y., Wanga, H., Yu, D.: Cover image weak transitivity of interval-valued fuzzy relations. Knowl. Based Syst. 63, 24–32 (2014)
- Xu, Z.S., Yager, R.R.: Some geometric aggregation operators based on intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Int. J. Gen. Syst. 35, 417–433 (2006)
- Zadeh, L.A.: The concept of a linguistic variable and its application to approximate reasoning-I. Inf. Sci. 8, 199–249 (1975)

# A Fuzzy Linguistics Supported Model to Measure the Contextual Bias in Sentiment Polarity

Juan Bernabé-Moreno<sup>1</sup>, Alvaro Tejeda-Lorente<sup>1</sup>, Carlos Porcel<sup>2</sup>, and Enrique Herrera-Viedma<sup> $1(\boxtimes)$ </sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence, University of Granada, Granada, Spain viedma@decasai.ugr.es

<sup>2</sup> Department of Computer Science, University of Jaén, Jaén, Spain

**Abstract.** The polarity detection problem typically relies on experimental dictionaries, where terms are assigned polarity scores lacking contextual information. As a matter of fact, the polarity is highly dependant on the domain or community it is analysed, so we can speak of a contextual bias. We propose a method supported by fuzzy linguistic modelling to quantify this contextual bias and to enable the bias-aware sentiment analysis. To show how our approach work, we measure the bias of common concepts in two different domains and discuss the results.

Keywords: Sentiment analysis  $\cdot$  Polarity  $\cdot$  Linguistic modelling  $\cdot$  Fuzzy logic  $\cdot$  Contextual bias

## 1 Introduction

The identification of positive and negative opinions, emotions and evaluations summarises the scope of the sentiment analysis task. The use of sentiment analysis is widely spread in many industries to support use cases such as understanding how customers react to product offerings and campaigns based on their social media interactions [3], to make the patient experience after a treatment measurable [9], to predict the outcome of political elections [24].

The analysis of sentiments involves determining whether the sentiment expressed in a phrase or a document is positive or negative. This task, also known as *Polarity detection*, has become more and more relevant with the advent of the web 2.0 and the new technologies supporting user generated content (Forums, Blogosphere, Microblogging, Rating and Reviews, etc.). Thus, sentiment analysis is widely applied to obtain the unfiltered voice of the customer about products, services, companies, politicians, etc. [3, 26].

Polarity detection usually relies on polarity values that are defined according to a lookup procedure at term or lemma level. A lexicon of positive and negative words and phrases consists of entries that have been tagged with their prior

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_19

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

polarity, which means without any context, to which degree the word seems to evoke something positive or something negative. When we for example talk about something like "football", it might have a neutral polarity, but if we are in a domain (e.g.: "sport press" or "sport bets") where we consistently use the word "football" with other words such as "thrilling", "exciting", "miracle" or "fascinating", individuals who are part of this domain tend to associate these positive feelings to the world "football". Bias intuitively refers to this positive "load". Thus, in this domain, when we compute the sentiment of a sentence where the term "football" is present, we should have a mechanism to include this bias in the computation. The value of the bias itself depends on the neighbouring terms' polarity (the near context).

The novelty of the method we propose in this paper tackles following aspects:

- We aim at extracting the bias of a particular term at domain level, unlike other polarity bias studies that focus on the atomic bias modelling (e.g.: in [27]). It requires a high number of occurrences of the particular term within the domain corpus to guarantee certain stability and introduces the need for (a) a threshold and (b) a second indicator to assess how stable (or how volatile) the bias is.
- We express the bias and stability bias using a multi-granular fuzzy linguistic approach, to make sure our indicators remain as generic and human-readable as possible. On the other hand, our linguistic modelling approach allows for the usage of different linguistic hierarchies to incorporate the bias modelling into the different methods of sentiment evaluation without incurring in information loss, which is one of the most useful advantages of our proposal.

This paper is structured as follows: after having introduced the problem and explained at high-level our motivation to solve it, we provide the background references our work builds upon. Then we present our model and the supporting techniques, for example fuzzy linguistic modelling. After discussing the results obtained for bias modelling in 2 different domains, we share our concluding remarks and point to further research directions based on our work.

## 2 Background

In this section we provide the background information required to describe our model. It is divided in three parts: an introduction to polarity detection, a discussion about the bias modelling applied to polarity and the description of the fuzzy linguistic approach we followed.

## 2.1 On Polarity Detection

Polarity detection for a sentence or a document can be performed by a variety of techniques, but almost each of them relies on the existence of a pre-trained or manually labelled polarity lexicon or dictionary. In [14], the authors created a dictionary of 6779 terms (4776 being tagged with -1 and 2003 being tagged with 1)

to support the task of opinion mining in customer reviews- The well-known Lexicoder [6] aimed at a similar purpose and is even offered in a commercial way. The more recent *Syuzhet* dictionary [17] provides over 10K entries, with scoring ranging from -1 to 1. The Positive Affect Negative Affect Scale technique (PANAS) [25] consists of a psychometric scale for detecting mood fluctuations. In [1], the authors suggest a mapping to negative and positive polarities.

SentiWordNet [2] implements a dictionary based approach to sentiment extraction. Similar to our approach, Part of Speech labelling is used to apply the lexical dictionary to *synsets* or synonym set groups (adjectives, nouns, verbs, and other grammatical classes). The polarity computation of a given text is an aggregation operation across all the existing synsets, each one contributing with their own positive or negative affect score.

In [7], the authors present a dictionary based method to compute the Happiness Index, for which they use the Affective Norms for English Words (ANEW). The values of the happiness index can be mapped to positive or negative polarity values, as shown in [1]. ANEW has been used for many applications, such as extraction of emotional profiles for locations [4]. SentiStrength [22] relies on the existing Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count dictionary [18] to implement supervised and unsupervised classification methods and extract the strength of the sentiments, including polarity. SenticNet [5] applies classification techniques to Natural Language Processing structures to infer the polarity for nearly 14K concepts.

#### 2.2 On Bias Modelling

Bias modelling has been also extensively researched. In our research, bias manifests as a polarity shift. There are plenty of factors that might influence a polarity shift given a particular context, as thoroughly explained in [19]. In [8] the authors demonstrated the presence of a positive bias using an annotated ground truth for 6 different polarity detection methods. In [15], the authors discussed the so called domain search bias, which states that a user's propensity to believe that a page is more relevant might be influenced by the fact that the page is hosted in a particular domain.

In [23], the authors recognized the bias introduced by each user in the product reviews and suggested a method to measure it at user level. Aligned with this research, a machine learning supported classifying approach was taken in [20] to solve the problem of the bias introduced by manual annotations created by non-experts.

In [16] the authors suggests a Bias-Aware Thresholding approach that turns any lexicon-based method into bias-aware by minimizing the so called Polarity Bias Rate  $(PBR = \frac{FP+FN}{N})$  by changing the prediction and therefore changing the cost associated with making one type of error over the other.

#### 2.3 On Fuzzy Linguistic Modelling

The fuzzy linguistic approach is a tool based on the concept of linguistic variable proposed by Zadeh [28]. This theory has given very good results to model qualitative information and it has been proven to be useful in many problems.

The 2-Tuple Fuzzy Linguistic Approach. The 2-Tuple Fuzzy Linguistic Approach [11] is a continuous model of information representation that allows reduction in the loss of information that typically arises when using other fuzzy linguistic approaches, both classical and ordinal [10,13,28]. To define it both the 2-tuple representation model and the 2-tuple computational model to represent and aggregate the linguistic information have to be established.

Let  $S = \{s_0, ..., s_g\}$  be a linguistic term set with odd cardinality. We assume that the semantics of labels is given by means of triangular membership functions and consider all terms distributed on a scale on which a total order is defined. In this fuzzy linguistic context, if a symbolic method aggregating linguistic information obtains a value  $\beta \in [0, g]$ , and  $\beta \notin \{0, ..., g\}$ , we can represent  $\beta$  as a 2-tuple  $(s_i, \alpha_i)$ , where  $s_i$  represents the linguistic label, and  $\alpha_i$  is a numerical value expressing the value of the translation between numerical values and 2-tuple:  $\Delta(\beta) = (s_i, \alpha) \ge \Delta^{-1}(s_i, \alpha) = \beta \in [0, g]$  [11].

In order to establish the computational model negation, comparison and aggregation operators are defined. Using functions  $\Delta$  and  $\Delta^{-1}$ , any of the existing aggregation operators can be easily be extended for dealing with linguistic 2-tuples without loss of information [11]. Some examples are:

**Definition 1.** Arithmetic mean. Let  $x = \{(r_1, \alpha_1), \ldots, (r_n, \alpha_n)\}$  be a set of linguistic 2-tuples, the 2-tuple arithmetic mean  $\overline{x}^e$  is computed as:

$$\overline{x}^{e}[(r_{1},\alpha_{1}),\ldots,(r_{n},\alpha_{n})] = \Delta(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{n} \Delta^{-1}(r_{i},\alpha_{i}))$$
$$= \Delta(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta_{i}).$$

**Definition 2.** Weighted Average Operator. Let  $x = \{(r_1, \alpha_1), \ldots, (r_n, \alpha_n)\}$  be a set of linguistic 2-tuples and  $W = \{(w_1, \alpha_1^w), \ldots, (w_n, \alpha_n^w)\}$  be their associated weights. The 2-tuple weighted average  $\overline{x}_l^w$  is:

$$\overline{x}_l^w[((r_1,\alpha_1),(w_1,\alpha_1^w))...((r_n,\alpha_n),(w_n,\alpha_n^w))] = \Delta(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_i \cdot \beta_{W_i}}{\sum_{i=1}^n \beta_{W_i}}),$$

with  $\beta_i = \Delta^{-1}(r_i, \alpha_i)$  and  $\beta_{W_i} = \Delta^{-1}(w_i, \alpha_i^w)$ .

Multi-granular Linguistic Information Approach. To accommodate the requirements of the different sentiment analysis methods, it's important to support different "granularity levels". Certain methods could for example only deal with yes/no values and direction only (e.g.: "Negative Bias", "No Bias", "Positive Bias"). Other methods might be able to incorporate higher granularity values in the aggregation operation for the sentiment computation (e.g.: "Low-est", "Low", "Normal", "High", "Highest").

To enable the compatibility of sentiment analysis methods, we need to support the different granularities and provide tools to manage the multi-granular linguistic information. In [12] a multi-granular 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic modelling based on the concept of linguistic hierarchy is proposed.

A Linguistic Hierarchy, LH, is a set of levels l(t, n(t)), where each level t is a linguistic term set with different granularity n(t). The levels are ordered according to their granularity, so that we can distinguish a level from the previous one, i.e., a level t + 1 provides a linguistic refinement of the previous level t. We can define a level from its predecessor level as:  $l(t, n(t)) \rightarrow l(t+1, 2 \cdot n(t) - 1)$ . In [12] a family of transformation functions between labels from different levels was introduced. To establish the computational model we select a level that we use to make the information uniform and thereby we can use the defined operator in the 2-tuple model. This result guarantees that the transformations between levels of a linguistic hierarchy are carried out without loss of information. Using this LH, the linguistic terms in each level are the following:

- $-S^{3} = \{b_{0} = None = N, b_{1} = Medium = M, b_{2} = Total = T\}$
- $S^5 = \{c_0 = Lowest = LE, c_1 = Low = L, c_2 = Normal = N, c_3 = High = H, c_4 = Highest = HE \}$
- $-S^{9} = \{c_{0} = None = N, c_{1} = Very\_Low = VL, c_{2} = Low = L, c_{3} = More\_Less\_Low = MLL, c_{4} = Medium = M, c_{5} = More\_Less\_High = MLH, c_{6} = High = H, c_{7} = Very\_High = VH, c_{8} = Total = T\}$

A graphical example of a linguistic hierarchy is shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Linguistic Hierarchy of 1, 3, 5 and 9 labels
# 3 Modelling the Polarity Bias for a Particular Domain

In this section we describe how our bias model is built up. First we provide the definitions required to explain our model, then we show how to apply fuzzy linguistic modelling to express the bias itself and its stability or volatility.

## 3.1 Domain Specific Bias and Volatility

We start introducing some preliminary definitions our model builds upon.

**Definition 3.** Atomic Polarity Bias. Let N be the set of terms in the semantic neighbourhood of  $t_i$ . For the definition of semantic neighbourhood, we recommend using standard natural language processing scopes, such as sentence, paragraph or even document. Let  $PS(t_i, D)$  is the polarity score of the term  $t_i$  according to the dictionary D.

We define Atomic Polarity Bias as follows:

$$APB(t_i, D, N) = \sum_{j=1}^{\#N} PS(t_j, D) * \omega(t_j), t_i \neq t_j$$

where  $\omega(t_j)$  is a function to provide the a specific weight to the polarity score of the term  $(t_j)$ . This function can defined depending on different criteria (e.g.: based on the part of speech tag of the term  $t_j$  to for example give more importance to the polarity of adjectives or adverbs, based on some quantification of the distance between  $t_j$  and  $t_i$  to for example assign more weight to closer terms, or just equally distributed for all terms having a polarity score in the dictionary D).

**Definition 4.** Bias Computing Threshold. This is the minimum number of documents with occurrences of any term  $t_i$  in a Domain Corpus, so that the bias quantification makes sense. It is established for a particular Domain Corpus C and is a constant value BCT(C) = K.

**Definition 5.** Polarity Bias. Based on the Atomic Polarity Bias, the Polarity Bias is defined as an aggregation over all documents in the Domain Corpus of the Atomic Polarity Bias

$$PB(t_i, D) = \frac{1}{\#M} \sum_{j=1}^{\#M} APB(t_j, D, N_j)$$
(1)

where M represents the set of documents in the domain corpus, where the term  $t_i$  is present. As we are trying to quantify the contextual bias introduced by the repeatedly use of the term in the domain, we impose the condition that  $\#M \ge K$ , being K the established value for the *BiasComputingThreshold* in the Domain under analysis.

**Definition 6.** Bias Stability. This is an indicator for how stable the Bias computation for a particular term is. The minimum value can be the imposed BCT(C)and the maximum of #C. To standardize this value, we define a normalizing function  $\epsilon$ , defined as  $\epsilon : [BCT(C), \#C] \longrightarrow [0, 1]$ , which makes the Bias Stability value range between 0 and 1:

$$BS(t_i, C) = \epsilon(\frac{\#M}{\#C}) \tag{2}$$

where M represents the set of documents in the domain corpus, where the term  $t_i$  is present and C the set of all documents in the Corpus.

#### 3.2 Fuzzy Language Bias Modelling

After establishing the fundamentals of fuzzy linguistic modelling and defining the 2-tuple based supporting arithmetic operations to enable the bias-aware computing of sentiment analysis tasks, we define the label sets for concepts of *polarity bias* (Definition 5) and *bias stability* (Definition 6).

For both cases, we are going to use different label sets  $(S_1, S_2)$  selected from a *LH* [12]:

- Polarity Bias indicator of a term in a particular domain, which is assessed in  $S_1$ .
- **Bias Stability indicator** applied to the previous indicator, which is assessed in  $S_2$ .

Although this framework guarantees the flexibility in the choice of the LH, we suggest using a 2 level LH with 3 and 5 labels each one for the *Bias Model* stability indicator and a 2 level LH with 5 and 9 labels for the *Polarity Bias* indicator itself. Our suggestion is motivated by the intent of making it more tangible for the reader, but the choice of  $(S_1, S_2)$  remains generic and shall be taken depending on the nature of the problem or convenience for further operations.

The *Polarity Bias indicator* allows for example in combination with the *Bias Stability indicator* the correction of the sentiment for a particular sentiment extraction based on the presence of highly-biased terms, as we are going to show in the next section.

### 4 Experimentation

For our experimentation, we gather up to 460 transcripts from the website TED Talks.<sup>1</sup> The reason why we used this data source is many folded: (a) easy and clean "spoken English" (b) appropriate length of the transcripts (unlike for example micro blogs) and (c) the talks are quite actual.

In addition, each talk has different topic labels assigned, which makes the separation in domains feasible (in fact, it is possible filtering talks that belong to an specific domain). For our experiment, we focused on two domains: *environment* (with topics such as *sustainability, energy, climate change, environment itself, green*) and *education*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> http://www.ted.org.

For the design of our experiment, we just focused on nouns (which required a previous Part of Speech tagger [21]), set the Bias Computing Threshold to 20 (at least a minimum of 20 documents with one or more occurrences of the term) and used a linguistic granularity level of 5 labels in both polarity senses (positive and negative) for the *Bias* and just positive for the *Volatility*.

**Discussing the Results.** From the terms that satisfied the aforementioned conditions (Bias Computing Threshold = 20) we took the subset of nouns that were present in both domains, resulting in a final number of 744 terms. In the Table 1 we show the distribution of Bias and Volatility for this experiments; this table allows for observing general trends in the bias for the studied domains, for example, we observed as general trend a rather positive bias and quite volatile results -which might point us to increasing the corpus size to have more evidence about the bias quantification-. In Tables 2 and 3 we provide the top 20 most positive and negative biased terms respectively, each one with both indicators (Bias and Volatility) computed for both domains (Education and Environment).

Figure 2 (a) shows the computed crisp value for the top most and least positive terms per domain. Having a look at Fig. 2 (b), we see how the same term can be assigned different bias labels depending on the domain (e.g.: *dead*, or *disease*)... It can be possible, that the same term is assigned a positive bias in a domain but a negative one in the other, which we can observe in terms such as *kill* and *societies*.



Fig. 2. (a) Top negative and positive biased terms by domain and (b) fuzzy bias quantification labels

For the sake of showing how the polarity bias is computed, we provide in the Fig. 3 a histogram of all atomic polarity bias values for the term *difference* in both domains.

Our approach is to our knowledge, the first attempt to quantify the polarity bias in a domain specific manner. In the Subsect. 3.2 we explained why we

Environment						Education			
Bias\Volatility	Medium	Slightly	Strong	Very strong	Medium	Slightly	Strong	Very strong	
Slightly	56	3	243	23	109	7	316	19	
Almost inexistent	96	3	262	22	28	0	197	16	
Medium	7	0	25	3	10	0	37	2	
Strong	0	0	0	1	0	0	2	1	

 Table 1. Bias-volatility indicators distribution for environment and education domakins



Fig. 3. Histogram of the domain bias for (a) Environment and (b) Education for the term "difference"

	term	domain	occurences	bias.val	fuzzy.label	fuzzy.label.complete	docs	volatility.label
1	people	Environment	1664	0.16	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
2	people	Education	1428	0.20	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Slightly
3	world	Environment	1366	0.18	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
4	world	Education	896	0.24	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
5	think	Environment	1371	0.20	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Medium
6	think	Education	1187	0.21	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
7	time	Environment	1389	0.15	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
8	time	Education	1198	0.20	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
9	years	Environment	1134	0.16	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
10	years	Education	681	0.18	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	26886	Medium
11	things	Environment	877	0.22	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Medium
12	things	Education	775	0.28	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
13	laughter	Environment	754	0.52	Medium	Medium positive	33655	Medium
14	laughter	Education	906	0.53	Medium	Medium positive	26886	Medium
15	way	Environment	1654	0.18	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
16	way	Education	1271	0.25	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
17	right	Environment	810	0.51	Medium	Medium positive	33655	Medium
18	right	Education	762	0.51	Medium	Medium positive	26886	Medium
19	need	Environment	1023	0.23	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Medium
20	need	Education	720	0.23	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
21	look	Environment	1225	0.21	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Medium
22	look	Education	849	0.24	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
$^{23}$	say	Environment	735	0.18	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
$^{24}$	say	Education	893	0.23	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
$^{25}$	thing	Environment	2576	0.21	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Slightly
$^{26}$	thing	Education	2309	0.22	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Slightly
27	school	Environment	221	0.24	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Strong
$^{28}$	school	Education	1046	0.22	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
$^{29}$	water	Environment	974	0.14	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
30	water	Education	118	0.12	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	26886	Strong
31	good	Environment	563	0.49	Medium	Medium positive	33655	Medium
32	good	Education	491	0.50	Medium	Medium positive	26886	Medium
33	percent	Environment	573	0.14	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
34	percent	Education	357	0.15	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	26886	Medium
35	year	Environment	1662	0.14	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	33655	Medium
36	year	Education	1074	0.19	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent positive	26886	Medium
37	work	Environment	1058	0.27	Slightly	Slightly positive	33655	Medium
38	work	Education	1034	0.28	Slightly	Slightly positive	26886	Medium
39	applause	Environment	501	0.47	Medium	Medium positive	33655	Medium
40	applause	Education	512	0.45	Medium	Medium positive	26886	Medium

Table 2. Top 20 positive biased concepts by domain

termdomainoccurencesbias.valfuzzy.labelfuzzy.label.completedocsvolatility.label1deadEnvironment102 $-0.43$ MediumMedium negative33655Strong3diseaseEducation52 $-0.41$ MediumMedium negative26886Strong4worryEducation54 $-0.40$ MediumMedium negative26886Strong5wrongEducation163 $-0.33$ SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong6worryEnvironment64 $-0.33$ SlightlySlightly negative33655Strong9conflictEnvironment44 $-0.30$ SlightlySlightly negative33655Strong10wrongEnvironment44 $-0.29$ SlightlySlightly negative33655Strong11povertyEnvironment44 $-0.29$ SlightlySlightly negative33655Strong11povertyEnvironment44 $-0.29$ SlightlySlightly negative33655Strong12povertyEnvironment107 $-0.26$ SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong13aarkEducation23 $-0.26$ SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong14diseaseEnvironment107 $-0.24$ SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong14diseaseEnvironment<									
1deadEnvironment102-0.43MediumMedium negative26886Strong3diseaseEducation52-0.41MediumMedium negative26886Strong3diseaseEducation54-0.40MediumMedium negative26886Strong5worryEducation13-0.33SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong5worryEnvironment37-0.33SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong6worryEnvironment64-0.31SlightlySlightly negative3665Strong9conflictEnvironment44-0.30SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong10wrongEnvironment44-0.29SlightlySlightly negative3665Strong12povertyEnvironment49-0.29SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong12povertyEducation52-0.29SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong13darkEducation23-0.26SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong14diseaseEnvironment106-0.24SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong14diseaseEnvironment27-0.24SlightlySlightly negative26886Strong13darkEducation27-0.24Slightly <t< td=""><td></td><td>term</td><td>domain</td><td>occurences</td><td>bias.val</td><td>fuzzy.label</td><td>fuzzy.label.complete</td><td>e docs</td><td>volatility.label</td></t<>		term	domain	occurences	bias.val	fuzzy.label	fuzzy.label.complete	e docs	volatility.label
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1	dead	Environment	102	-0.43	Medium	Medium negative	33655	Strong
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	2	death	Education	52	-0.41	Medium	Medium negative	26886	Strong
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3	disease	Education	54	-0.40	Medium	Medium negative	26886	Strong
$      5 \      wrong Education 163 -0.33 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        6 worry Environment 37 -0.33 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        7 fear Environment 64 -0.31 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        8 dead Education 31 -0.30 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        9 conflict Environment 44 -0.29 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        10 wrong Environment 84 -0.29 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        11 poverty Environment 44 -0.29 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        12 poverty Environment 49 -0.29 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        12 poverty Environment 107 -0.28 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        13 dark Education 23 -0.26 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        15 fighting Education 23 -0.26 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        16 waste Education 23 -0.26 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        16 waste Education 47 -0.24 Slightly Slightly negative 26886 Strong        18 death Environment 106 -0.24 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        18 death Environment 106 -0.24 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        19 fear Education 47 -0.24 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        19 fear Education 47 -0.24 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        19 fear Education 33 -0.23 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        20 waste Environment 239 -0.23 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        21 trouble Environment 33 -0.23 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        23 crisis Environment 33 -0.23 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        24 argument Education 33 -0.23 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        24 argument Environment 33 -0.23 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        26 crisis Education 34 -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 3655 Strong        26 crisis Education 34 -0.20 Slightly Slightly negative 33655 Strong        26 crisis Education 34 -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negati$	4	worry	Education	32	-0.38	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	5	wrong	Education	163	-0.33	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	6	worry	Environment	37	-0.33	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
$      8 \ dead \\      Education \\      31 \ -0.30 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      32685 \ Strong \\      10 \ wrong \\      Environment \\      44 \ -0.29 \ Slightly \\ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      11 \ poverty \\      Environment \\      49 \ -0.29 \ Slightly \\ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      33655 \ Strong \\      11 \ poverty \\      Education \\      52 \ -0.29 \ Slightly \\ Slightly negative \\      26886 \ Strong \\      33655 \ Strong \\      15 \ fighting \ Education \\      23 \ -0.26 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      26886 \ Strong \\      15 \ fighting \ Education \\      23 \ -0.26 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      26886 \ Strong \\      16 \ waste \ Education \\      27 \ -0.24 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      26886 \ Strong \\      18 \ death \ Environment \ 106 \ -0.24 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      18 \ death \ Environment \ 239 \ -0.23 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      20 \ waste \ Environment \ 239 \ -0.23 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      21 \ touble \ Environment \ 33 \ -0.23 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      23 \ crisis \ Environment \ 33 \ -0.23 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      23 \ crisis \ Environment \ 33 \ -0.23 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      33655 \ Strong \\      23 \ crisis \ Environment \ 33 \ -0.23 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      3665 \ Strong \\      24 \ argument \ Education \ 35 \ -0.22 \ Slightly \ Slightly negative \\      3665 \ Strong \\      33655 \ Strong \\       33655 \ Strong \\       33655 \ Strong \\       $	7	fear	Environment	64	-0.31	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
99 conflictEnvironment44-0.30 SlightlySlightly negative33655 Strong10wrongEnvironment84-0.29 SlightlySlightly negative33655 Strong11povertyEnvironment49-0.29 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong12povertyEducation52-0.29 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong13darkEducation80-0.28 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong14diseaseEnvironment107-0.26 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Very Strong15fightingEducation23-0.26 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Very Strong16wasteEducation27-0.24 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong17darkEnvironment106-0.24 SlightlySlightly negative33655 Strong18deathEnvironment67-0.24 SlightlySlightly negative33655 Strong20wasteEnvironment33-0.23 SlightlySlightly negative33655 Strong21troubleEnvironment33-0.23 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong23crisisEnvironment33-0.23 SlightlySlightly negative33655 Strong24argumentEducation33-0.22 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong25argumentEducation35-0.22 SlightlySlightly negative26886 Strong </td <td>8</td> <td>dead</td> <td>Education</td> <td>31</td> <td>-0.30</td> <td>Slightly</td> <td>Slightly negative</td> <td>26886</td> <td>Strong</td>	8	dead	Education	31	-0.30	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	9	conflict	Environment	44	-0.30	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	10	wrong	Environment	84	-0.29	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	11	poverty	Environment	49	-0.29	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	12	poverty	Education	52	-0.29	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$^{13}$	dark	Education	80	-0.28	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	14	disease	Environment	107	-0.26	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
16 waste     Education     27     -0.24 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       17 dark     Environment     106     -0.24 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       18 death     Environment     67     -0.24 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       19 fear     Education     47     -0.24 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       20 waste     Environment     23     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       21 trouble     Environment     33     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       22 conflict     Education     33     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       23 crisis     Environment     100     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       24 argument     Education     35     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26866 Strong       25 argument     Environment     34     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     26866 Strong       25 argument     Environment     34     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     26866 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     26866 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.19	15	fighting	Education	23	-0.26	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Very Strong
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	16	waste	Education	27	-0.24	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
18 death       Environment       67       -0.24 Slightly       Slightly negative       33655 Strong         19 fear       Education       47       -0.24 Slightly       Slightly negative       26886 Strong         20 waste       Environment       239       -0.23 Slightly       Slightly negative       33655 Medium         21 trouble       Environment       33       -0.23 Slightly       Slightly negative       33655 Strong         22 conflict       Education       33       -0.23 Slightly       Slightly negative       26886 Strong         23 crisis       Environment       100       -0.22 Slightly       Slightly negative       33655 Strong         24 argument       Education       35       -0.22 Slightly       Slightly negative       26886 Strong         25 argument       Environment       33       -0.20 Slightly       Slightly negative       26886 Strong         26 crisis       Education       34       -0.19 Almost inexistent       Almost inexistent negative       26886 Strong         27 problem       Environment       638       -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative       33655 Very Strong         28 fighting       Environment       20       -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative       33655 Very Strong	17	dark	Environment	106	-0.24	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
19 fear     Education     47     -0.24 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       20 waste     Environment     23     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Medium       21 trouble     Environment     33     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       22 conflict     Education     33     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       23 crisis     Environment     100     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26866 Strong       24 argument     Education     35     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       25 argument     Environment     33     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       25 crisis     Education     34     -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 26886 Strong       26 crisis     Environment     68     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium       27 problem     Environment     62     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	$^{18}$	death	Environment	67	-0.24	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
20 waste     Environment     239     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Medium       21 trouble     Environment     33     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       22 conflict     Education     33     -0.23 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       23 crisis     Environment     100     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       24 argument     Education     35     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       25 argument     Environment     33     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.120 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative     26886 Strong       27 problem     Environment     28     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative     3655 Medium       28 fighting     Environment     22     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative     3655 Very Strong	19	fear	Education	47	-0.24	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
21 trouble         Environment         33         -0.23 Slightly         Slightly negative         33655 Strong           22 conflict         Education         33         -0.23 Slightly         Slightly negative         26886 Strong           23 crisis         Environment         100         -0.22 Slightly         Slightly negative         33655 Strong           24 argument         Education         35         -0.22 Slightly         Slightly negative         26886 Strong           25 argument         Environment         33         -0.20 Slightly         Slightly negative         26886 Strong           26 crisis         Education         34         -0.20 Slightly         Slightly negative         26886 Strong           27 problem         Environment         638         -0.19 Almost inexistent         Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium           28 fighting         Environment         638         -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	$^{20}$	waste	Environment	239	-0.23	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Medium
22 conflict         Education         33         -0.23 Slightly         Slightly negative         26866         Strong           23 crisis         Environment         100         -0.22         Slightly negative         33655         Strong           24 argument         Education         35         -0.22         Slightly         Slightly negative         26886         Strong           25 argument         Environment         33         -0.20         Slightly         Slightly negative         3665         Strong           26 crisis         Education         34         -0.19         Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative         26886         Strong           27 problem         Environment         638         -0.18         Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative         33655         Medium           28 fighting         Environment         628         -0.18         Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative         33655         Very Strong	$^{21}$	trouble	Environment	33	-0.23	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
23 crisis     Environment     100     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       24 argument Education     35     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       25 argument Environment     33     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 26886 Strong       27 problem     Environment     638     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium       28 fighting     Environment     22     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	$^{22}$	conflict	Education	33	-0.23	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
24 argument Education     35     -0.22 Slightly     Slightly negative     26886 Strong       25 argument Environment     33     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium       27 problem     Environment     638     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium       28 fighting     Environment     22     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	23	crisis	Environment	100	-0.22	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
25 argument Environment     33     -0.20 Slightly     Slightly negative     33655 Strong       26 crisis     Education     34     -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 26886 Strong       27 problem     Environment     638     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium       28 fighting     Environment     22     -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	$^{24}$	argument	Education	35	-0.22	Slightly	Slightly negative	26886	Strong
26 crisis         Education         34         -0.19 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 26886 Strong           27 problem         Environment         638         -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium           28 fighting         Environment         22         -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	$^{25}$	argument	Environment	33	-0.20	Slightly	Slightly negative	33655	Strong
27 problemEnvironment638-0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Medium28 fightingEnvironment22-0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	26	crisis	Education	34	-0.19	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent n	negative 26886	Strong
28 fighting Environment 22 -0.18 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Very Strong	$^{27}$	problem	Environment	638	-0.18	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent n	egative 33655	Medium
	$^{28}$	fighting	Environment	22	-0.18	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent n	egative 33655	Very Strong
29 problem Education 422 -0.17 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 26886 Medium	$^{29}$	problem	Education	422	-0.17	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent n	egative 26886	Medium
30 risk Environment 95 -0.16 Almost inexistent Almost inexistent negative 33655 Strong	30	risk	Environment	95	-0.16	Almost inexistent	Almost inexistent n	egative 33655	Strong

Table 3. Top 15 negative biased concepts by domain

employed Fuzzy Language Modelling to guarantee the interoperability across well-established sentiment computation methods using different polarity dictionaries.

#### 4.1 Bias-Aware Sentiment Analysis

After understanding the results, we show a possible way of incorporating the bias modelling might impact/improve the computation of the sentiment for a phrase using well-known schemas. Using the Syuzhet [17] dictionary, we compute for examples the sentiment for the sentence S, "Unfortunately it is going to end up in a big crisis". With the standard implementation, the quantified sentiment is -1.5 Unfortunately contributes with -1.00, big with 0.25 and crisis with -0.75. In the Education domain, crisis presents an Almost inexistent negative bias, while in the Environment domain the bias is a bit higher Slightly negative. Both values are quite volatile, but a bias correction might make sense for the later domain. It would mean that for the sentence S, sentiment<sub>Environment</sub>(S) < sentiment<sub>Education</sub>(S), being the correction the 2-tuple representation of the level "Slightly negative", as explained in the Subsect. 2.3.

# 5 Concluding Remarks

In this article we propose a method to quantify the polarity bias inherent to a particular domain within the context of sentiment analysis. For a given domain specific corpus, our approach extracts first the terms that are eligible for bias modelling. The eligibility is given by an occurrences number above a given threshold -as semantic bias requires repetitiveness-. These terms are then filtered by Part of Speech label (usually only verbs and nouns are taken, as the polarity of adverbs, adjectives, etc. doesn't make much sense).

Following on that, each remaining topic inherits a polarity scores from neighbouring terms for each occurrence of the term in the domain corpus. These values are then aggregated and normalized and assigned a fuzzy level for a particular granularity level. An additional indicator, stability (or volatility) is also compute for each term to express how "reliable" is the fuzzy indicator of the bias for the term.

Our linguistic modelling approach allows for the usage of different linguistic hierarchies to incorporate the bias modelling in the different methods of sentiment evaluation without incurring in information loss, which is one of the most useful advantage of our proposal. To show the performance of our approach, we modelled the bias of the top 100 nouns in the *Environment* and *Education* domains based on over 400 recent Ted Talks transcripts.

Further research lines might focus on the development of lexical distance specific weighting for the computation of the polarity inheritance at document level. A corpus length and document length dependent modelling might also bring some improvements to our idea, in particular in combination with the analysis of optimal values for the Bias Computing Threshold.

Acknowledgments. This paper has been developed with the FEDER financing under Projects TIN2013-40658-P and TIN2016-75850-R.

# References

- Araújo, M., Gonçalves, P., Cha, M., Benevenuto, F.: iFeel: a system that compares and combines sentiment analysis methods. In: Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference on World Wide Web, pp. 75–78. ACM (2014)
- Baccianella, S., Esuli, A., Sebastiani, F.: Sentiwordnet 3.0: an enhanced lexical resource for sentiment analysis and opinion mining. In: LREC, vol. 10, pp. 2200– 2204 (2010)
- Bernabé-Moreno, J., Tejeda-Lorente, A., Porcel, C., Fujita, H., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Caresome: a system to enrich marketing customers acquisition and retention campaigns using social media information. Knowl. Based Syst. 80, 163–179 (2015)
- Bernabé-Moreno, J., Tejeda-Lorente, A., Porcel, C., Fujita, H., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Emotional profiling of locations based on social media. Procedia Comput. Sci. 55, 960–969 (2015)
- Cambria, E., Poria, S., Bajpai, R., Schuller, B.: Senticnet 4: a semantic resource for sentiment analysis based on conceptual primitives. In: the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics (COLING), Osaka (2016)
- Daku, M., Soroka, S., Young, L.: Lexicoder, version 2.0 (software). McGill University, Montreal (2011)
- Dodds, P.S., Danforth, C.M.: Measuring the happiness of large-scale written expression: songs, blogs, and presidents. J. Happiness Stud. 11(4), 441–456 (2010)
- Gonçalves, P., Araújo, M., Benevenuto, F., Cha, M.: Comparing and combining sentiment analysis methods. In: Proceedings of the First ACM Conference on Online Social Networks, pp. 27–38. ACM (2013)

- Greaves, F., Ramirez-Cano, D., Millett, C., Darzi, A., Donaldson, L.: Use of sentiment analysis for capturing patient experience from free-text comments posted online. J. Med. Internet Res. 15(11), e239 (2013)
- Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Aggregation operators for linguistic weighted information. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Part A Syst. 27, 646–656 (1997)
- Herrera, F., Martínez, L.: A 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic representation model for computing with words. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 8(6), 746–752 (2000)
- Herrera, F., Martínez, L.: A model based on linguistic 2-tuples for dealing with multigranularity hierarchical linguistic contexts in multiexpert decision-making. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Part B Cybern. **31**(2), 227–234 (2001)
- Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E., Alonso, S., Chiclana, F.: Computing with words and decision making. Fuzzy Optim. Decis. Mak. 8(4), 323–324 (2009)
- Hu, M., Liu, B.: Mining opinion features in customer reviews. AAAI 4, 755–760 (2004)
- Ieong, S., Mishra, N., Sadikov, E., Zhang, L.: Domain bias in web search. In: Proceedings of the Fifth ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining, pp. 413–422. ACM (2012)
- Iqbal, M., Karim, A., Kamiran, F.: Bias-aware lexicon-based sentiment analysis. In: Proceedings of the 30th Annual ACM Symposium on Applied Computing, pp. 845–850. ACM (2015)
- Jockers, M.L.: Revealing Sentiment and Plot Arcs with the Syuzhet Package, February 2015
- Pennebaker, J.W., Francis, M.E., Booth, R.J.: Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count: LIWC 2001, vol. 71. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahway (2001)
- Polanyi, L., Zaenen, A.: Contextual valence shifters. In: Computing Attitude and Affect in Text: Theory and Applications, pp. 1–10. Springer, Dordrecht (2006)
- Salter-Townshend, M., Murphy, T.B.: Mixtures of biased sentiment analysers. Adv. Data Anal. Classif. 8(1), 85–103 (2014)
- 21. Schmid, H.: Improvements in part-of-speech tagging with an application to German. In: Proceedings of the ACL SIGDAT-Workshop. Citeseer (1995)
- Thelwall, M.: Heart and soul: sentiment strength detection in the social web with sentistrength. In: Proceedings of the CyberEmotions, pp. 1–14 (2013)
- Wadbude, R., Gupta, V., Mekala, D., Jindal, J., Karnick, H.: User bias removal in fine grained sentiment analysis. arXiv preprint arXiv:1612.06821 (2016)
- Wang, H., Can, D., Kazemzadeh, A., Bar, F., Narayanan, S.: A system for real-time twitter sentiment analysis of 2012 US presidential election cycle. In: Proceedings of the ACL 2012 System Demonstrations, pp. 115–120. Association for Computational Linguistics (2012)
- Watson, D., Clark, L.A., Tellegen, A.: Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the panas scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54(6), 1063 (1988)
- West, R., Paskov, H.S., Leskovec, J., Potts, C.: Exploiting social network structure for person-to-person sentiment analysis. arXiv preprint arXiv:1409.2450 (2014)
- Wilson, T., Wiebe, J., Hoffmann, P.: Recognizing contextual polarity: an exploration of features for phrase-level sentiment analysis. Comput. Linguist. 35(3), 399–433 (2009)
- Zadeh, L.: The concept of a linguistic variable and its applications to approximate reasoning. Part I Inf. Sci. 8, 199–249 (1975). Part II Inf. Sci. 8, 301–357 (1975), Part III Inf. Sci. 9, 43–80 (1975)

# Generating Load Profiles Using Smart Metering Time Series

Christian Bock<sup> $1,2(\boxtimes)$ </sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Institute of Computer Science, Heinrich-Heine-University, 40225 Düsseldorf, Germany bock@cs.uni-duesseldorf.de
 <sup>2</sup> BTU EVU Beratung GmbH, 40545 Düsseldorf, Germany

Abstract. In this work we present a practice-oriented approach for generating *load profiles* as a means to forecast energy demand by using *smart metering time series*. The general idea is to apply *fuzzy clustering* on historic consumption time series. The segmentation yielded helps electricity companies to identify customers with similar consumption behavior. This knowledge can be used to plan available energy capacities in advance. What makes this approach special is that this approach segments consumption time series by time in addition to identifying customer groups. This is done not only to accommodate for customers potentially behaving completely different on working days than on local holidays for example, but also to build the resulting load profiles in a way the electricity companies can adapt with minimal adjustments. We also evaluate our approach using two real world smart metering datasets and discuss potential improvements.

**Keywords:** Big data  $\cdot$  Data mining  $\cdot$  Knowledge discovery  $\cdot$  Clustering  $\cdot$  Time series  $\cdot$  Smart metering  $\cdot$  Load profiles

### 1 Introduction

When electricity companies are confronted with the task to ensure the availability of energy for every customer, they are faced with the important obligation to announce the demand to the energy producers in advance. This is due to the fact that energy producers require lead time to ensure the availability of necessary capacities. Thus, in order to be able to announce the demand in advance, electricity companies require a means to forecast the total energy demand of their customers.

In general however, the electricity demand is not known in advance. Among other things, this is because not every customer behaves the same on every day; for example, it seems reasonable that during working days energy consumption is different from weekends. In addition, customers like families, singles, agricultural organizations and businesses typically each have different daily routines and thus might genuinely differ in their consumer behavior. To forecast the energy demand

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_20

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

for all customers, electricity companies use so called *load profiles*. In the case of Germany, the specific profiles used are usually the *standard load profiles* released by the "Bundesverband der Energie- und Wasserwirtschaft" (Federal association of the energy and water economy). These profiles, having been created during the 1990s, have not been adjusted to the technological advances and are thus deemed as an increasingly bad model to forecast the energy demand [28]. Due to the growing competition and legal obligations like the liberalization of the energy market and the policies towards green energy usage, there is an increasingly high interest and necessity to convert the information available thanks to modern technologies into valuable knowledge [15]. In this paper we focus on applying fuzzy clustering [5] on smart metering time series to generate load profiles as a means to provide such knowledge. We also assess our approach in the way electricity companies in Germany implement load profiles; we do think however that assessments in other regions might be comparable.

# 2 Related Work

Along with the increasing amount of data electricity companies and regulators can measure, process and analyze during the past decades, research towards understanding and making use of this kind of data gained significant attention [10,19,24]. These fields of research include, but are not limited to, outlier detection [29], marketing and tariff optimizations [9,21]. [2,22] present methods to predict long-term changes of the aggregated energy load. Publications that rely on clustering often choose *K-Means* to analyze the data [4,11,16,23,25] or approaches based on it [20]. Newer publications also increasingly use *fuzzy clustering* [19,27,29] and include newer technologies like *Smart Metering* [3,12].

In this paper, we continue our previous work [6] and present an approach based on *fuzzy clustering* [5] for electricity companies to generate load profiles using smart metering time series. We focus on not only identifying *customer groups* to aggregate customers with similar consumption behavior, but also to dynamically find *day types*, which help to model long- and short-term periodic changes in consumer behavior. We also assess our approach using two real-world smart metering datasets and grade the quality of the energy forecast in a way closely related to how electricity companies would evaluate the generated load profile in a production environment.

## 3 Structure of Load Profiles

When electricity companies forecast the energy demand and negotiate corresponding capacities with producers, they typically assign one *load profile* and a *year consumption forecast (YCF)* to each customer. Load profiles work by segmenting all calendar days into groups of so called *day types* and by segmenting all customers into *customer groups*. The idea behind the usage of day types is that customers tend to have a finite set of genuinely different daily routines. Examples for this type of behavior are that office employees typically consume less energy at home on working days and more on weekends, while seasonal events like funfairs orientate themselves by local holidays. Load profiles allow for different day types to accommodate for these trends. However, each customer group gets assigned exactly one consumption pattern on a given day type, which is why this model expects a customer to behave the same for all calendar days belonging to the same day type. This is a rather strong simplification as customers rarely behave exactly the same, even on days with the same daily routine. Thus, load profiles expect a consumption pattern assigned to a set of customers to be representative and to even out deviations between individual consumer behaviors and their associated consumption pattern. This characteristic makes load profiles bad at forecasting the energy demand of a single user, but useful at the use case relevant for electricity companies, which is predicting the aggregated total demand. Thus, a good day type segmentation groups calendar days in a way such that the total demand over the course of a day on calendar days belonging to the same day type are as similar as possible while aiming to make the total demand on calendar days belonging to different day types as dissimilar as possible. This task description closely matches the goal of generic clustering algorithms which is why we opted to rely on *fuzzy clustering* for our approach.

Another important aspect of load profiles is the aforementioned year consumption forecast (YCF) assigned to each customer. This YCF is needed because the consumption patterns used by load profiles are represented by one normalized time series. The normalization is done to ensure that the consumption patterns describe only the shape of the consumer behavior, rather than the total amount used. When used in practice, the model will first determine what day type the calendar day for which a prognosis shall be generated belongs to. Depending on the regularity and complexity of day type patterns, this can be done via rule sets or using the help of an analyst. The appropriate consumption pattern of each load profile is then chosen depending on the day type. The aforementioned YCF of each customer is then used to scale the applicable consumption pattern to match the estimated demand. Specifically, scaling is done so that the estimated total energy demand from the beginning to the end of a given year equals the YCF, which in turn requires the model to be able to forecast the day type segmentation for an entire year. Including the YCF as part of the model accommodates for customers with similar daily routines but different total consumption. In the next section, we describe an approach to generate such load profiles.

# 4 Generating Load Profiles

Due to the way load profiles are structured when used in practice, our approach for building them consists of three stages:

1. Determine the optimal number of day types as well as their segmentation onto the individual calendar days. In addition, compose rules to classify future calendar days.

- 2. For each day type, determine the optimal number of consumption patterns and their characteristics.
- 3. Compile load profiles by combining former results and assign a profile to each customer.

#### 4.1 Day Type Segmentation

The most important criteria for the day type segmentation is finding calendar days where the total energy consumption is sufficiently dissimilar. In addition, the quality of the process of building the partitions must satisfy the properties of being independent of the number of measurements available and focussing on the shape of the consumption time series rather than on the *amount* of energy consumed. Requiring these properties is based on multiple reasons. First and foremost, independence from the number of customers is desirable because it enables electricity companies with both small and big customer bases to use the approach. It also helps to diminish the impact of missing values introduced by temporary malfunctions in the way measurements are gathered, transmitted and processed. As we demonstrate in Sect. 5.1, management of missing values in the available time series is a non-negligible task in real-world datasets. In addition, focusing on the *shape* of the consumption time series is required because the daily routine that will be predicted by the load profiles is scaled using the year consumption forecast (YCF) as mentioned in Sect. 3. Thus, we want customers whose consumption behaviors differ almost only by a scalar to be assigned to the same load profile. The YCF of a given customer for the current year itself is usually known in advance; common ways electricity companies calculate the YCF include setting it equal to the total energy consumed in the previous year by said customer, or using a moving average of the total consumption over the last periods. Because of this, even though the YCF is used in combination with the load profiles when forecasting the energy demand, it is not part of the process of building the load profiles themselves. As a result, for the purpose of this paper, we assume the YCF to be known when evaluating our approach.

To construct the day type segmentation, we first build a new time series  $X = \{x_1, x_2, ..., x_T\}$  for each point in time  $t_j, 1 \leq j \leq T$  using the smart metering time series  $S_i, 1 \leq i \leq N$  as follows:

$$x_j := \frac{1}{N_j} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{s_{i,j}}{Y C F_{i,j}}$$
(1)

Here, N stands for the number of distinct customers and  $N_j$  represents the total number of measurements available for  $t_j$ . The term  $YCF_{i,j}$  is a time series specific scalar we use to normalize each customer; it represents the aforementioned year consumption forecast for the customer associated with  $S_i$  for the year that  $t_j$  belongs to. This enables us to solely concentrate on the shape of the consumption time series during clustering. The time series X can be vividly

descriped as an average time series of all normalized smart metering time series. Using X we subsequently construct dataset D with elements  $d_l$  as follows:

$$D := \left\{ d_l := (x_j, ..., x_{j+m}) \middle| \begin{array}{l} \forall a \text{ with } 1 \le j \le a \le j+m \le T : \\ t_a \text{ belongs to the } l\text{-th calendar day} \end{array} \right\}$$
(2)

The term (m+1) describes the number of measurements per day. Since smart metering time series are typically measured at fixed points in time, e.g. every 15, 30 or 60 min, each  $d_l$  corresponds to a 96-, 48- or 24-tuple, respectively. Afterwards we apply clustering on the dataset to retrieve a good day type segmentation. In principle, an arbitrary clustering algorithm can be used for this task. For our purposes, we have opted to use Fuzzy-C-Means [5] as the clustering algorithm and repeat the clustering process with different values for the number of clusters c; the optimal value for c is then determined using a variety of *Cluster* Validity Indices [7]. The reason we chose Fuzzy-C-Means is its tendency to build spherical clusters [7] as this better conforms to the way load profiles are expected to even out derivations between the individual consumption time series belonging to the same customer group by using a representative consumption pattern as outlined in Sect. 3. The optimal clustering yielded by this procedure is the desired day type segmentation. By knowing which  $d_l$  got assigned to the same cluster and which calendar days they represent, it is possible to determine which calendar days belong to the same day type. For categorizing future calendar days we rely on the expertise of an analyst to review the day type segmentation and derive rulesets based upon observed regularities.

#### 4.2 Identifying Typical Consumption Patterns

To determine the optimal number and characteristics of customer groups and their corresponding consumption patterns, we look at the smart metering data available for each day type separately. For this purpose, let  $K_n, 1 \le n \le L$  be the sets of day types built in Sect. 4.1 where each  $K_n$  contains its matching  $t_j$ . We then construct the disjoint sets  $P_n, 1 \le n \le L$  with elements  $p_{e,n}$  as follows:

$$P_n := \left\{ (y_{i,j}, ..., y_{i,j+m}) \middle| \begin{array}{l} \forall a, b \text{ with } 1 \le j \le a, b \le j + m \le T : \\ t_a, t_b \in K_n \text{ and } y_{i,a}, y_{i,b} \text{ belong to} \\ \text{ the same calendar day} \end{array} \right\}$$
(3)  
with  $y_{i,j} := \frac{s_{i,j}}{YCF_{i,j}}$ 

Each  $P_n$  is, similar to D, a dataset where smart metering measurements have been aggregated to (m+1)-tuples.  $P_n$  however does only contain data belonging to the day type  $K_n$  and contains the individual normalized measurements  $y_{i,j}$ rather than the average of the normalized measurements. Each  $P_n$  is then individually segmented using clustering. Contrary to identifying the day type segmentation however, this time we are restricted to centroid-based clustering algorithms. The reason for this is that the cluster prototypes  $C_{q,n}$ ,  $1 \le q \le c_{n,optimal}$  for a given  $P_n$  that have been deemed optimal by the algorithm directly correspond to the desired typical consumption patterns for the day type  $K_n$ . For our experiments, similar to the day type segmentation, we have opted to use *Fuzzy-C-Means*, try different values for the number of clusters c and evaluate each segmentation using *Cluster Validity Indices*.

## 4.3 Compiling Load Profiles

Load profiles as outlined in Sect. 3 can be represented as a set of L-tuples where the n-th entry contains the consumption pattern to use for calendar days assigned to  $K_n$ . In order for a set of load profiles to be usable however, we also require a way to assign each customer exactly one load profile; ideally the one that best suits him. Thus we propose to individually build the optimal load profile for a given customer based on the available consumption patterns and assign the constructed load profile to the customer in the process. For this purpose, let each customer be represented by its smart metering time series  $S_i$ . We then propose that for the day type  $K_n$  a given customer gets assigned to the consumption pattern  $C_{q,n}$  if the highest membership degrees of  $S_i$ -based elements of  $P_n$  most commonly point to  $C_{q,n}$ .

Algorithm 1. Compiling load profiles **Input:**  $S_i, P_n, K_n, C_{q,n}, U_n$ **Output:** set of all load profiles G, set of profile assignments Z1:  $G \leftarrow \emptyset$ 2:  $Z \leftarrow \emptyset$ 3: for i = 1 to N do 4: for n = 1 to L do  $H[n] \leftarrow C_{q,n} \text{ with } q := \arg \max_{q'} \left| \left\{ p_{e,n} \middle| \begin{array}{l} \exists j : (y_{i,j}, ..., y_{i,j+m}) = p_{e,n} \\ \land \ \nexists q'' : u_{q'',e,n} > u_{q',e,n} \end{array} \right\} \right|$ 5: 6: end for 7:  $G \leftarrow G \cup H$  $Z \leftarrow Z \cup (S_i, H)$ 8: 9: end for 10: return G, Z

This procedure is illustrated in Algorithm 1. Here, the profile assignments Z are described by a set of 2-tuples where the first entry contains the customer  $S_i$  and the second entry the load profile H constructed for him. H itself is a L-dimensional array with H[n] containing the consumption pattern for the day type  $K_n$ . The  $u_{q,e,n} \in U_n$  used in Algorithm 1 correspond to the final membership degree of the dataset-tuple  $p_{e,n}$  towards the consumption pattern  $C_{q,n}$  we determined in Sect. 4.2 via Fuzzy-C-Means.

## 5 Evaluation

#### 5.1 Description of Datasets

To evaluate the performance of our approach we have used two real world smart metering datasets which are both visualized in Fig. 1.

The first one, which we will call the BTU-Dataset, contains a total of 7668 distinct customers with a resolution of 1 measurement every hour over the course of 26 months. Because this dataset is provided in cooperation with a German electricity company who had a complete rollout of smart meters, we are able to test our approach under realistic conditions. The dataset is maintained and made available by the  $BTU \ EVU \ Beratung \ GmbH \ [1].$ 

The second dataset, which we will refer to as the *CER-Dataset*, consists of 6445 distinct Irish customers with 1 measurement every 30 min over the course of 18 months. It is provided by the *Irish CER (Commission for Energy Regulation)* and accessed via the *Irish Social Science Data Archive (ISSDA)* [8].

Since both datasets contain real world data they are also subject to temporary technical failures, e.g. by any of the smart metering devices installed in the homes of the consumers or by network transmission errors. In either of these cases, a *missing value* is introduced into the respective dataset.



**Fig. 1.** Overview of (a) the *BTU-Dataset* and (b) the *CER-Dataset*. The black colored graphs show the sum of the energy consumption of all customers (applied on the primary axis); the grey colored graphs show the number of non-missing values from distinct customers available for a given point in time (applied on the secondary axis).

#### 5.2 Results

To derive the optimal segmentation of the day types and consumption patterns for both datasets, we have preprocessed each dataset according to Eqs. 2 and 3. As for the *year consumption forecast* required to normalize each time series, we used the total energy consumed per customer per year:

$$YCF_{i,j} := \sum_{j' \in \mathbb{Z}_j} s_{i,j'} \quad \text{with} \quad \mathbb{Z}_j := \left\{ j' \, \big| \, t_{j'} \text{ belongs to the same year as } t_j \right\}$$

$$\tag{4}$$



Fig. 2. Comparison of the actual consumption (black graph) and the consumption predicted using the load profiles based on 2 day types and 2 consumption patterns per day type (light gray graph) for (a) the BTU-Dataset and (b) the CER-Dataset. The dark gray graph shows the absolute difference of the actual consumption and the forecast. The apparent outlier on march 29 is due to a switch from standard time to daylight saving time.

To handle the missing values present in both datasets, we have incorporated the Partial Distance Strategy [14] adaptation of Fuzzy-C-Means, which has shown a solid performance in experimental evaluations [17], using different values for  $c \ (2 \le c \le 25)$ . Since Fuzzy-C-Means uses random coordinates as the starting configuration of the cluster prototypes, we have opted to improve the statistical significance of our results by independently repeating the clustering process for every value of c a total of 100 times each. We have then used the Cluster-Validity-Indices Partition Coefficient [7], Normalized Partition Coefficient [17], Compactness & Separation by Xie and Beni [7], Compactness & Separation by Xie and Beni [7], Compactness & Separation by III] to evaluate each clustering and choose the best day type segmentation as the basis for the following consumption pattern analysis, as well as choose the best consumption pattern segmentation as the basis for the following load profile compilation.

Some of these day type segmentations are visualized in Fig. 4 and are further discussed in Sect. 5.3. In order to test the accuracy of the profiles, we have excluded the last month of smart metering data from both the *BTU-Dataset* and the *CER-Dataset* while building the load profiles; we have then used the formerly excluded month to compare the actual consumption in that month with the one predicted by the profiles. Some of our results are exemplary shown in Fig. 2. If an electricity company were to use these load profiles, they would plan their buy-in of energy according to the *forecast*-graph. Because the forecast is known and necessary capacities can be planned for in advance, they are relatively cheap from a business standpoint. Deviations from the actual total consumption however, both by overestimating and underestimating the actual demand, require extremely short-term adjustments in



Fig. 3. Ratio of the deviations and the actual consumption in percent yielded by the load profiles generated using different values for the number of day types and the number of consumption patterns. The graphs visualize the results for (a) the BTU-Dataset and (b) the CER-Dataset.



**Fig. 4.** Overview of the segmentations of day types for the (a) (b) *BTU-Dataset* and (c) (d) *CER-Dataset* yielded by using different values for the numbers of day types. The graphs have been colorized depending on which cluster the total consumption time series has been assigned to on a given day.

the amount of energy circulating in the energy grid. Because of the ad hoc nature, their limited availability and the importance of these adjustments in terms of preventing electricity outages, the cost of these reserves are generally much higher than long-term agreements with producers. Thus, electricity companies typically aim

to keep deviations to a minimum and assess load profiles by the amount of energy they are required to trade using the aforementioned short-term reserves to meet the actual demand. This performance can be made comparable between electricity companies of different sizes by looking at the ratio of the deviations and the actual consumption [18]. The results of our approach are shown in Fig. 3. These results pose a significant improvement over the standard load profiles that are in use by most electricity companies today. Electricity companies using standard load profiles typically achieve ratios of roughly 14% [18]. In the next section, we will present and discuss ideas to further improve the accuracy of load profiles generated by our approach.

#### 5.3 Improvements

The idea behind the segmentation of the total energy consumption is to identify periods of time in which consumption patterns genuinely differ from one another. Since we are only interested in accurately forecasting the total energy demand rather than focussing on predicting the consumption of individual customers, it is reasonable to use the same consumption patterns for each customer on days where the total consumption is not expected to be significantly dissimilar. Figure 4 shows a subset of the segmentation we got for the day types for the BTU-Dataset and the CER-Dataset. One striking property of the clustering using four or less day types is that it roughly resembles the seasonal segmentation manually chosen in other publications, e.g. in [26, 27]. Increasing the number of day types further however, it becomes progressively clear that, for both datasets, the identification of day types has approximately resulted in segmenting the data according to a threshold filter. This fact by itself does not necessarily mean the segmentation is flawed; however, while the load profiles based on these day type segmentations have resulted in a significant performance improvement compared to the standard load profiles as pointed out in Sect. 5.2, the repeating sine-shaped pattern visible in the graphs has prevented our approach to compare the daily consumption tuples based on their shape.

This yearly periodic pattern with its peak near the end of december is something we also see in a similar fashion in many other (non smart metering based) total consumption time series. Because of this, we propose to apply a *high-pass filter* on the dataset to create the load profiles based only on the daily consumption behavior of the individual customers. We propose this high-pass filter to be used during both the day type segmentation as well as the identification of typical consumption patterns. The yearly periodic pattern is then reapplied onto the time series when the load profiles have been later used to forecast the energy demand. A candidate to fulfill these requirements is the *Fourier transformation*, where the lowest-frequency terms from the total consumption time series can be used to describe and filter the yearly periodic patterns from the dataset.

Another optimization we propose is to change the function for computing the dissimilarity between tuples. For our experimental results presented in Sect. 5.2 we have used the *partial distance*, an adaptation of the *euclidean distance* for

missing values originally introduced in [14]. However, to make the process of generating load profiles more sensitive to minimize these costly deviations between the total energy consumption and its forecast, we propose to adapt the *manhattan distance* to handle missing values. Using this distance function and the high-pass filter derived by using the *Fourier transformation* more closely complies to our original vision to compare consumer behavior based on their shape and optimize for low deviations between forecast and the actual total consumption.

# 6 Conclusion and Future Work

In this paper we have introduced a clustering method for generating load profiles using smart metering time series. In order to tailor our approach to the specific needs of electricity companies we have incorporated the use of consumption patterns and day types the same way they are treated by the industry. Furthermore, our method does predetermine neither the number nor the shape of the consumption patterns or day types. Our findings show that using the presented approach results in a significant improvement regarding the deviations between the forecasted total demand and the actual energy consumption compared to the standard load profiles typically in use. This helps electricity companies to better plan the buy-in of energy ahead of time, which lowers costs and improves the security of the energy supply. In addition, we have presented and discussed possible enhancements for our method which we plan to further investigate in future publications.

As of now, our approach requires the load profiles to be generated from scratch each time new smart metering data is available. While this is not a major concern for typical use cases since load profiles are usually changed at most once per year, there is an interest to reduce the required computation time, e.g. by looking into ways incrementally add new smart metering data as it becomes available. This might be one potential area for future research.

# References

- 1. BTU EVU Beratung GmbH. http://www.btu-evu.de
- Andersen, F., Larsen, H., Boomsma, T.: Long-term forecasting of hourly electricity load: identification of consumption profiles and segmentation of customers. Energ. Convers. Manag. 68, 244–252 (2013)
- Beckel, C., Sadamori, L., et al.: Revealing household characteristics from smart meter data. Energy 78, 397–410 (2014)
- Benítez, I., Quijano, A., et al.: Dynamic clustering segmentation applied to load profiles of energy consumption from Spanish customers. Int. J. Electr. Power Energ. Syst. 55, 437–448 (2014)
- 5. Bezdek, J.C.: Pattern Recognition with Fuzzy Objective Function Algorithms. Springer, New York (1981)
- Bock, C.: Clustering-Ansatz zur Erstellung von Lastprofilen zur Vorhersage des Stromverbrauchs. In: Proceedings of the 28th GI-Workshop Grundlagen von Datenbanken (GvDB 2016), pp. 21–26 (2016)

- Bouguessa, M., Wang, S., Sun, H.: An objective approach to cluster validation. Pattern Recogn. Lett. 27(13), 1419–1430 (2006)
- 8. CER The Commission for Energy Regulation. Accessed via the Irish social science data archive. http://www.ucd.ie/issda
- Chicco, G., Ilie, I.S.: Support vector clustering of electrical load pattern data. IEEE Trans. Power Syst. 24(3), 1619–1628 (2009)
- Diamantoulakis, P.D., Kapinas, V.M., Karagiannidis, G.K.: Big data analytics for dynamic energy management in smart grids (2015). CoRR, abs/1504.02424
- Figueiredo, V., Rodrigues, F., et al.: An electric energy consumer characterization framework based on data mining techniques. IEEE Trans. Power Syst. 20(2), 596– 602 (2005)
- Fusco, F., Wurst, M., Yoon, J.: Mining residential household information from lowresolution smart meter data. In: 2012 21st International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), pp. 3545–3548, November 2012
- Gath, I., Geva, A.: Unsupervised optimal fuzzy clustering. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 11, 773–780 (1989)
- Hathaway, R.J., Bezdek, J.C.: Fuzzy c-means clustering of incomplete data. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. Part B Cybern. 31–35, 735–744 (2001). IEEE
- Hayn, M., et al.: Electricity load profiles in Europe: the importance of household segmentation. Energ. Res. Soc. Sci. 3, 30–45 (2014)
- Hernández, L., Baladrón, C., et al.: Classification and clustering of electricity demand patterns in industrial parks. Energies 5(12), 5215 (2012)
- 17. Himmelspach, L.: Fuzzy clustering of incomplete data. Ph.D. thesis, Heinrich-Heine-University, Institute of Computer Science (2016)
- Kolo, A., Kretschmann, C.: Hebung finanzieller Potentiale in der Strombilanzierung. et – Energiewirtschaftliche Tagesfragen 7, 43–45 (2015)
- Yang, S.L., Shen, C., et al.: A review of electric load classification in smart grid environment. Renew. Sustain. Energ. Rev. 24, 103–110 (2013)
- López, J.J., Aguado, J.A., et al.: Hopfield-k-means clustering algorithm: a proposal for the segmentation of electricity customers. Electr. Power Syst. Res. 81(2), 716– 724 (2011)
- Mahmoudi-Kohan, N., Moghaddam, M.P., Sheikh-El-Eslami, M.: An annual framework for clustering-based pricing for an electricity retailer. Electr. Power Syst. Res. 80(9), 1042–1048 (2010)
- Misiti, M., Misiti, Y., et al.: Optimized clusters for disaggregated electricity load forecasting. Revstat 8(2), 105–124 (2010)
- Rodrigues, F., Duarte, J., et al.: Proceedings of Machine Learning and Data Mining in Pattern Recognition: Third International Conference, MLDM 2003, Leipzig, Germany, 5–7 July 2003, pp. 73–85. Springer (2003)
- Rudin, C., Waltz, D., et al.: Machine learning for the New York city power grid. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 34(2), 328–345 (2012)
- Räsänen, T., Voukantsis, D., et al.: Data-based method for creating electricity use load profiles using large amount of customer-specific hourly measured electricity use data. Appl. Energ. 87(11), 3538–3545 (2010)
- Schäfer, H., et al.: Analysing the segmentation of energy consumers using mixed fuzzy clustering. In: Fuzzy Systems (FUZZ-IEEE), pp. 1–7, August 2015
- Viegas, J.P.L., Vieira, S.M., Sousa, J.M.C.: Fuzzy clustering and prediction of electricity demand based on household characteristics. In: 2015 Conference on International Fuzzy Systems Association and European Society Fuzzy Logic and Technolgy (IFSA-EUSFLAT-15)

- 28. von Roon, D.-I.S., et al.: Statusbericht zum Standardlastprofilverfahren Gas, 11 2014. https://www.ffegmbh.de/kompetenzen/system-markt-analysen/508-status bericht-standardlastprofile-gas
- Zhang, X., Sun, C.: Dynamic intelligent cleaning model of dirty electric load data. Energ. Conver. Manag. 49(4), 564–569 (2008)

# Uninorms on Bounded Lattices – Recent Development

Slavka Bodjanova<sup>1</sup> and Martin Kalina<sup>2( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, Texas A&M University-Kingsville, MSC 172, Kingsville, TX 78363, USA kfsb000@tamuk.edu
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Radlinského 11, 810 05 Bratislava, Slovakia

kalina@math.sk

Abstract. The main goal of this paper is to explore whether on every bonded lattice L, possessing incomparable elements, one can choose incomparable elements  $\mathbf{e}$  and  $\mathbf{a}$  and then to construct a uninorm on Lhaving  $\mathbf{e}$  and  $\mathbf{a}$  as its neutral and absorbing elements, respectively. Some necessary and some sufficient conditions for construction of uninorms on L which are neither conjunctive nor disjunctive, are given. Example of an infinite bounded lattice on which only conjunctive and disjunctive uninorms exist is presented.

**Keywords:** Bounded lattice  $\cdot$  Conjunctive uninorm  $\cdot$  Disjunctive uninorm  $\cdot$  Uninorm on bounded lattice  $\cdot$  Uninorm which is neither conjunctive nor disjunctive

## 1 Introduction

Uninorms on the unit interval are special types of aggregation functions since, due to their associativity they can be straightforwardly extended to *n*-ary operations for arbitrary  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . They are important in various fields of applications, e.g., neuron nets, fuzzy decision making and fuzzy modelling. They are interesting also from a theoretical point of view. Recently they have been studied on bounded lattices (see, e.g., [2,6,7,14,15]).

Uninorms were introduced by Yager and Rybalov [18]. Special types of associative, commutative and monotone operations with neutral elements had been already studied in [5,8,9]. Deschrijver [6,7] has shown that on the lattice  $L^{[0,1]}$ of closed subintervals of the unit interval there exist uninorms which are neither conjunctive nor disjunctive (i.e., whose absorbing element is different from both, **0** and **1**). Particularly, he constructed uninorms having the neutral element  $\mathbf{e} = [e, e]$ , where  $e \in [0, 1[$ . In [15] the authors have shown that on arbitrary bounded lattice L it is possible to construct a uninorm regardless which element of L is chosen to be the neutral one. A different type of construction of uninorms on bounded lattices was presented in [2].

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_21

In [13] construction of a uninorm for arbitrary pair  $(\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{a})$  of incomparable elements such that  $\mathbf{e}$  is the neutral element and  $\mathbf{a}$  the absorbing one, was presented. In [12] the author showed that on some special bounded lattices, one can construct operations which are both, proper uninorms and nullnorms, meaning that their neutral, as well as absorbing elements are different from both,  $\mathbf{0}$  and  $\mathbf{1}$ .

At the International Symposium on Aggregation and Structures ISAS 2016, Ince et al. [11] presented a finite lattice where it is not possible to construct a uninorm whose pair of neutral and absorbing element is chosen arbitrarily. On Fig. 1 a lattice  $L_1$  is depicted which is a slightly modified version of that one, presented by Ince et al. [11]. It is not possible to choose, say, element  $\alpha_3$  as the neutral one and  $\beta_3$  as the absorbing one. However, one can choose, e.g.,  $\alpha_4$  to be the neutral element, and  $\alpha_5$  to be the absorbing element.



**Fig. 1.** Lattice  $L_1$ 

The aim of this contribution is to answer the question whether, on arbitrary bounded lattice L possessing incomparable elements, it is possible to find incomparable elements  $\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{e} \in L$  and then to construct a uninorm on L such that  $\mathbf{e}$  would be its neutral element and  $\mathbf{a}$  its absorbing element.

## 2 A Short Review of Known Notions and Properties

This paragraph consists of two parts. In the first part operations on [0, 1] are reviewed. The other part is devoted to operations on bonded lattices.

#### 2.1 Uninorms on [0, 1]

Several types of associative, commutative and monotone (isotone) operations are known. An operation  $*: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  possesses:

**(NE)** neutral element  $e \in [0, 1]$ , if for every  $x \in [0, 1]$ 

 $x \ast e = e \ast x = x,$ 

(AE) absorbing element (called also annihilator)  $a \in [0, 1]$ , if for every  $x \in [0, 1]$ 

$$x \ast a = a \ast x = a,$$

(IE) idempotent element  $i \in [0, 1]$ , if i \* i = i,

(0D) zero-divisor  $z \in [0, 1[$ , if there exists  $x \in [0, 1[$  such that

z \* x = 0,

(1D) one-divisor  $z \in [0, 1]$ , if there exists  $x \in [0, 1]$  such that

$$z * x = 1.$$

**Lemma 1.** Let  $*: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  be an associative commutative and monotone operation. Then \* has an idempotent element i which is also absorbing element. If \* has a neutral element e then 0, 1 and e are idempotent elements. Further, a = 0 \* 1 is the absorbing element of \*.

Schweizer and Sklar [17] introduced the notion of a triangular norm (t-norm for brevity).

**Definition 1 ([17]).** An operation  $T: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  is a t-norm if it is associative, commutative, monotone, and 1 is its neutral element.

T-norms and t-conorms are dual to each other. If  $T : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  is a t-norm, then

$$S(x, y) = 1 - T(1 - x, 1 - y)$$

is the dual t-conorm to T. For details on t-norms and t-conorms see, e.g., [16].

As a generalization of both t-norms and t-conorms Yager and Rybalov [18] proposed the notion of uninorm.

**Definition 2** ([18]). An operation  $U: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  is a uninorm if it is associative, commutative, monotone, and if it possesses a neutral element  $e \in [0,1]$ .

A uninorm U is proper if its neutral element  $e \in [0, 1[$ .

Every uninorm has an absorbing element. A uninorm with the absorbing element 0 is conjunctive, and a uninorm with absorbing element 1 is disjunctive.

**Lemma 2** ([18]). Let  $U: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  be a uninorm whose neutral element is e. Then its dual operation

$$U^{d}(x, y) = 1 - U(1 - x, 1 - y)$$

is a uninorm whose neutral element is 1 - e. Moreover, U is conjunctive if and only if  $U^d$  is disjunctive.

Results in paper [18] imply the following assertion.

**Lemma 3.** Let  $U: [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be a uninorm whose neutral element is e. Then there exists a t-norm  $T_U: [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  and a t-conorm  $S_U: [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  such that

$$(\forall x, y \in [0, e]^2)(U(x, y) = T_U(\frac{x}{e}, \frac{y}{e})), (\forall x, y \in [e, 1]^2)(U(x, y) = S_U(\frac{x-e}{1-e}, \frac{y-e}{1-e})).$$

Lemma 4 ([18]). Assume U is a uninorm with neutral element e. Then:

1. for any x and all y > e we get  $U(x, y) \ge x$ , 2. for any x and all y < e we get U(x, y) < x.

Nullnorms as operations were proposed in the paper by Calvo et al. [3].

**Definition 3 ([3]).** An operation  $V: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  is a nullnorm if it is associative, commutative, monotone and with an absorbing element  $a \in [0,1]$  and moreover

$$(\forall x \le a) \ V(x,0) = x, \\ (\forall x \ge a) \ V(x,1) = x.$$

We say that a nullnorm V is proper if its absorbing element  $a \in [0, 1[$ .

For more details on associative monotone operations on [0, 1] see, e.g., monographs [4, 10].

#### 2.2 Uninorms on Bounded Lattices

Detailed information on bounded lattices can be found in the monograph [1]. Recall that on every lattice  $(L, \leq_L)$  there exists a partial order  $\leq_L$ . This order induces two binary operations *meet*,  $\wedge$ , and *join*,  $\vee$ . For every  $x, y \in L$ ,  $x \vee y$  is the greatest lower bound of x, y, and  $x \wedge y$  is the lowest upper bound of x, y.

For incomparable elements  $x, y \in L$  the notation will be  $x \parallel y$ .

On every bounded lattice  $(L, \wedge, \vee, 0, 1)$  one can define *t*-norms (*t*-conorms, proper uninorms) as associative commutative and monotone operations having **1** (**0**, an element  $\mathbf{e} \in L$ , respectively) as neutral element. Some examples of t-norms and t-conorms are

$$T_{\perp}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \wedge y & \text{if } x = \mathbf{1} \text{ or } y = \mathbf{1}, \\ \mathbf{0} & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
$$T_{M}(x,y) = x \wedge y,$$
$$S_{\top}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \vee y & \text{if } x = \mathbf{0} \text{ or } y = \mathbf{0}, \\ \mathbf{1} & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
$$S_{M}(x,y) = x \vee y.$$

 $T_M$  and  $T_{\perp}$  are the greatest and the least t-norm, respectively.  $S_M$  and  $S_{\perp}$  are the least and the greatest t-conorm, respectively.

Based on an arbitrary t-norm and a t-conorm defined on intervals [0, e] and [e, 1], respectively, two uninorms can be constructed [2]:

$$U_{c}(x,y) = \begin{cases} S(x,y) & \text{if } x > \mathbf{e}, y > \mathbf{e}, \\ x & \text{if } y \ge \mathbf{e}, x \neq \mathbf{e}, \\ y & \text{if } x \ge \mathbf{e}, y \neq \mathbf{e}, \\ T(x,y) & \text{if } x < \mathbf{e}, y < \mathbf{e}, \\ T(x,y) & \text{if } x < \mathbf{e}, y < \mathbf{e}, \\ T(x \land \mathbf{e}, y \land \mathbf{e}) & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
$$U_{d}(x,y) = \begin{cases} T(x,y) & \text{if } x < \mathbf{e}, y < \mathbf{e}, \\ x & \text{if } y \le \mathbf{e}, x \notin \mathbf{e}, \\ y & \text{if } x \le \mathbf{e}, y \notin \mathbf{e}, \\ S(x,y) & \text{if } x > \mathbf{e}, y > \mathbf{e}, \\ S(x \lor \mathbf{e}, y \lor \mathbf{e}) & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$

Then  $U_c$  is a conjunctive uninorms and  $U_d$  is a disjunctive uninorm, each of them with its neutral element **e**.

For arbitrary uninorm  $U: L \times L \to L$  on L with a neutral element  $\mathbf{e}$  the operation  $T_U = U \upharpoonright [\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{e}]^2$  is the underlying t-norm of U, and the operation  $S_U = U \upharpoonright [\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{1}]^2$  is the underlying t-conorm of U.

# 3 Uninorms Which Are Neither Conjunctive nor Disjunctive

In this section some conditions, under which it is possible to construct uninorms on a bounded lattice L which are neither conjunctive nor disjunctive, will be explored.

**Definition 4.** Let L be a bounded lattice and  $U: L \times L \to L$  be a uninorm whose absorbing element is  $\mathbf{a} \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . Then U is called the third type uninorm.

First, consider again the lattice  $L_1$  from Fig. 1.

**Lemma 5.** Let  $U: L_1 \times L_1 \to L_1$  be a uninorm whose neutral element is  $\alpha_3 \in L_1$ . Then U is either conjunctive or disjunctive.

*Proof.* First, observe that, regardless which uninorm U is constructed, elements  $\alpha_4, \alpha_5$  are one-divisors, and elements  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2$  are zero-divisors. Monotonicity of U implies that  $U(\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}) = \mathbf{a}$  where  $\mathbf{a} \in L_1$  is the absorbing element of U. Assume that U is neither conjunctive nor disjunctive. Then  $\mathbf{a} \notin \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$ , and

$$\mathbf{a} = U(\mathbf{0}, U(\alpha_4, \alpha_5)) = U(U(\mathbf{0}, \alpha_4), \alpha_5).$$

There are two possibilities. First, when  $U(\mathbf{0}, \alpha_4) = \alpha_4$ , then

$$U(U(\mathbf{0},\alpha_4),\alpha_5) = U(\alpha_4,\alpha_5) = \mathbf{1} \neq \mathbf{a}.$$
(1)

Second,  $U(\mathbf{0}, \alpha_4) < \alpha_4$ , then

$$U(U(\mathbf{0},\alpha_4),\alpha_5)\in [\mathbf{0},\alpha_5]$$

and hence

$$U(U(\mathbf{0}, \alpha_4), \alpha_5) \neq \mathbf{a}.$$
 (2)

Formulae (1) and (2) imply that associativity is violated, and therefore U is either conjunctive or disjunctive.

Now, a uninorm on  $L_1$  which is neither conjunctive nor disjunctive, will be presented.

*Example 1.* Observe that  $\alpha_3 = \alpha_4 \wedge \alpha_5$ , and for every element  $z \in L_1$ , if  $z \parallel \alpha_3$ , then  $z \parallel \alpha_4$  and  $z \parallel \alpha_5$ . Consider an operation U on  $L_1$  defined as follows:

$$U(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \land y & \text{if } x \le \alpha_4 \text{ and } y \le \alpha_4, \\ & \text{or if } \beta_1 \le x < \mathbf{1} \text{ and } \beta_1 \le y < \mathbf{1}, \\ \alpha_5 & \text{if } x \le \alpha_5 \text{ and } y \ge \alpha_5, \\ & \text{or if } x = \alpha_5 \text{ or } y = \alpha_5, \\ x & \text{if } y = \alpha_4, \\ y & \text{if } x = \mathbf{1} \text{ and } (y \ge \alpha_4 \text{ or } y \parallel \alpha_3) \\ & \text{or if } y = \mathbf{1} \text{ and } (x \ge \alpha_4 \text{ or } x \parallel \alpha_3), \\ \mathbf{0} & \text{if } x \le \alpha_3 \text{ and } (y = \mathbf{0} \text{ or } y \parallel \alpha_3) \\ & \text{or if } x = \beta_2 \text{ and } \beta_1 \le y < \mathbf{1}, \\ & \text{or if } y = \beta_2 \text{ and } \beta_1 \le x < \mathbf{1}. \end{cases}$$
(3)

Then U is a uninorm on  $L_1$  whose absorbing element is  $\alpha_5$  and neutral element is  $\alpha_4$ . Because of the lack of space, the detailed proof of the fact that U is a uninorm is omitted. The fact that  $\alpha_4$  and  $\alpha_5$  are the neutral and absorbing elements of U, respectively, follows directly from (3).

# 3.1 Conditions Under Which It Is Possible to Construct a Uninorm of the Third Type

Further in this paper the following assumption and notation are adopted:

Assumption (A). Let  $(L, \land, \lor, \mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1})$  be a bounded lattice with two distinguished elements,  $\mathbf{a}$ , and  $\mathbf{e}$ , such that  $\mathbf{a} \parallel \mathbf{e}$ .

Notation (P). Elements of  $L \setminus \{a, e\}$  are partitioned into 9 different subsets as follows:

- 1.  $P_1 = \{x \in L; x \leq \mathbf{a} \land \mathbf{e}\},\$
- 2.  $P_2 = \{x \in L \setminus P_1; x < \mathbf{e}\},\$

3.  $P_3 = \{x \in L \setminus P_1; x < \mathbf{a}\},\$ 4.  $P_4 = \{x \in L; x \ge \mathbf{a} \lor \mathbf{e}\},\$ 5.  $P_5 = \{x \in L \setminus P_4; x > \mathbf{e}\},\$ 6.  $P_6 = \{x \in L \setminus P_4; x > \mathbf{a}\},\$ 7.  $P_7 = \{x \in L; x \parallel \mathbf{e}, x \parallel \mathbf{a} \& (\mathbf{a} \land \mathbf{e}) < x < (\mathbf{a} \lor \mathbf{e})\},\$ 8.  $P_8 = \{x \in L \setminus P_7; x \parallel \mathbf{e}, x \parallel \mathbf{a} \& ((\exists z \in P_2)(z < x) \text{ or } (\exists z \in P_5)(z > x)))\},\$ 9.  $P_9 = L \setminus \{\mathbf{a}, \mathbf{e}\} \setminus (P_1 \cup P_2 \cup P_3 \cup P_4 \cup P_5 \cup P_6 \cup P_7 \cup P_8).\$ 

In what follows the Notation (P) will be used. The next proposition presents some necessary conditions to be fulfilled by a bounded lattice L, if there exists a uninorm of the third type on L.

**Proposition 1.** Let L be a lattice fulfilling Assumption (A), and let  $U: L \times L \rightarrow L$  be a uninorm of the third type with the neutral element **e** and absorbing element **a**. Then:

(i) for all  $x, y \in P_2$  we have  $U(x, y) \in P_2$ , (ii) for all  $x, y \in P_4$  we have  $U(x, y) \in P_5$ , (iii) if  $P_3 = \emptyset$ , then for all  $x, y \parallel \mathbf{a}$  we have  $U(x, y) \not\leq \mathbf{a}$ , (iv) if  $P_6 = \emptyset$ , then for all  $x, y \parallel \mathbf{a}$  we have  $U(x, y) \not\geq \mathbf{a}$ .

*Proof.* We present only the proofs of items (i) and (iii). The proofs of items (ii) and (iv) are just simple modifications of those of (i) and (iii).

(i) Assume  $x, y \in P_2$  such that  $U(x, y) = \xi \notin P_2$ . Then necessarily  $\xi \notin P_1$ . Let  $z \in P_4$  be arbitrarily chosen. By monotonicity, since  $\xi < \mathbf{a}$ , we get  $U(\xi, z) = \mathbf{a}$ . By Lemma 4 we get

$$U(x,z) = \zeta \in [x,z]$$
 and  $U(y,\zeta) \in [y,\zeta]$ .

Since  $y \leq \mathbf{a}$ ,  $U(y, \zeta) \neq \mathbf{a}$  which is a contradiction with  $U(\xi, z) = \mathbf{a}$ .

(iii) Assume there exist elements  $x, y \parallel \mathbf{a}$  such that  $U(x, y) \leq \mathbf{a}$ . Then for any  $z \in P_4$  we have  $U(z, U(x, y)) = \mathbf{a}$ . By associativity U(z, U(x, y)) =U(U(z, x), y) and by monotonicity  $U(z, x) \geq x$ , but also  $U(z, x) \geq \mathbf{a}$ , i.e.,  $U(z, x) \in P_4$ . Similarly we get  $U(U(z, x), y) \in P_4$ , and this contradicts the assumption  $U(z, U(x, y)) = \mathbf{a}$ . Similarly we could show a contradiction in the case  $U(x, y) \geq \mathbf{a}$ .

**Corollary 1.** Let L be a lattice fulfilling Assumption (A), and let U be a uninorm on L of the third type with the neutral and absorbing elements  $\mathbf{e}$  and  $\mathbf{a}$ , respectively. Then:

(i) for all  $x, y \in P_2$  we have  $U(x, y) \neq \mathbf{0}$ , (ii) for all  $x, y \in P_4$  we have  $U(x, y) \neq \mathbf{1}$ .

Remark 1.

- (i) If  $P_3 \neq \emptyset$  as well as  $P_6 \neq \emptyset$ , we may have  $U(x, y) = \mathbf{a}$  for  $x, y \in P_7 \cup P_8 \cup P_9$ .
- (ii) Assertions (i) and (ii) of Corollary 1 do not imply that  $P_2$  and  $P_5$  contain no zero-divisors and one-divisors, respectively.

Some uninorms of the third type were already presented in papers [7, 12, 13]. Now, we show some other possibilities when, for suitably chosen **e** and **a**, we are able to construct a uninorm U on a lattice L, whose neutral and absorbing elements are **e** and **a**, respectively.

**Proposition 2.** Let *L* be a lattice fulfilling Assumption (*A*). Further, assume that there exists a t-norm  $T: [\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{e}]^2 \to [\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{e}]$  and a t-conorm  $S: [\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{1}]^2 \to [\mathbf{e}, \mathbf{1}]$  fulfilling properties (*i*) and (*ii*) from Proposition 1, respectively. Let at least one of the following three conditions be fulfilled:

(C1)  $P_7 \cup P_8 = \emptyset$  and for any  $x, y \in P_9$  either  $x \land y \in P_9$  or  $x \lor y \in P_9$ , (C2)  $P_7 \cup P_8 = \{\xi\}$  is a one element set such that

$$(\forall x \in P_2)(\forall y \in P_5)(x < \xi < y),$$

and for any  $x, y \in P_9$  either  $x \wedge y \in P_9$  or  $x \vee y \in P_9$ ,

(C3) the lattice L is the horizontal sum of lattices  $L_1$ ,  $L_2$ , and  $\mathbf{e} \in L_1$ ,  $\mathbf{a} \in L_2$ . Moreover, assume that for all  $x, y \in L_1 \setminus \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$  the following inequality holds

$$0 < x \land y \le x \lor y < 1.$$

Then there exists a uninorm U on L, whose neutral element is  $\mathbf{e}$  and absorbing element is  $\mathbf{a}$ .

*Proof.* A possible construction of uninorms for cases (C1), (C2) and (C3) is presented below.

(C1) We construct uninorm  $U_1$  for the case that  $x \wedge y \in P_9$  holds for all  $x, y \in P_9$ :

$$U_1(x,y) = \begin{cases} \mathbf{0} & \text{if } x \in P_1 \cup P_3, y \in P_1 \cup P_2 \cup P_3 \cup P_9, \\ & \text{or if } y \in P_1 \cup P_3, x \in P_1 \cup P_2 \cup P_3 \cup P_9, \\ \mathbf{1} & \text{if } x \in P_4 \cup P_6, y \in P_4 \cup P_5 \cup P_6 \cup P_9, \\ & \text{or if } y \in P_4 \cup P_6, x \in P_4 \cup P_5 \cup P_6 \cup P_9, \\ x & \text{if } x \in P_1 \cup P_2 \cup P_3, y \in P_5, \\ & \text{or if } x \in P_4 \cup P_6, y \in P_2, \\ & \text{or if } y = \mathbf{e}, \text{ or } x \in P_9 \text{ and } y \in P_2 \cup P_5, \\ y & \text{if } y \in P_1 \cup P_2 \cup P_3, x \in P_5, \\ & \text{or if } x = \mathbf{e}, \text{ or } y \in P_9 \text{ and } x \in P_2 \cup P_5, \\ \mathbf{a} & \text{if } x \in P_1 \cup P_3, y \in P_4 \cup P_6, \\ & \text{or if } y \in P_1 \cup P_3, x \in P_4 \cup P_6, \\ & \text{or if } x = \mathbf{a} \text{ or } y = \mathbf{a}, \\ w \wedge y & \text{if } x, y \in P_2 \text{ or if } x, y \in P_9, \\ x \vee y & x, y \in P_5, \end{cases}$$

- (C2) Also in this case we assume that  $x \wedge y \in P_9$  holds for all  $x, y \in P_9$ . Then the construction of a uninorm  $U_2$  is just a slight modification of the uninorm  $U_1$  when we define  $U_2(x, y) = \xi$  if  $x \in P_2 \cup \{\xi\}$  and  $y \in P_5 \cup \{\xi\}$ , or vice versa, and  $U_2(\xi, x) = x$  for  $x \in P_9$ ,  $U_2(\xi, x) = \mathbf{0}$  for  $x \in P_1 \cup P_3$ ,  $U_2(\xi, x) = \mathbf{1}$  for  $x \in P_4 \cup P_6$ .
- (C3) We choose some elements  $\mathbf{e} \in L_1 \setminus \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$  and  $\mathbf{a} \in L_2 \setminus \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$ . First, define a nullnorm V on  $L_2$  by

$$V(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \lor y & \text{ or if } x, y \leq \mathbf{a}, \\ x \land y & \text{ if } x, y \in L_2, x, y \geq \mathbf{a}, \\ \mathbf{a} & \text{ otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

if  $x, y \in L_2$ .

Further, define an 'almost uninorm'  $\tilde{U}_3$ . This means that  $\tilde{U}_3$  is an associative, commutative operation with the neutral element **e**. But values when one of the inputs is **0** or **1**, are not defined. Recall that L is the horizontal sum of  $L_1$  and  $L_2$ , i.e.,  $L_1 \cap L_2 = \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$ . Assume that  $x, y \in L_1 \setminus \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$ . Then

$$\tilde{U}_{3}(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \lor y & \text{if } x, y \ge \mathbf{e}, \\ x \land y \land \mathbf{e} & \text{if } x < \mathbf{e} \text{ or } y < \mathbf{e}, \\ x & \text{if } y \ge \mathbf{e} \text{ and } x \parallel \mathbf{e}, \\ y & \text{if } x \ge \mathbf{e} \text{ and } y \parallel \mathbf{e}. \end{cases}$$

Finally, the uninorm  $U_3: L \times L \to L$  is defined by

$$U_{3}(x,y) = \begin{cases} \tilde{U}_{3}(x,y) & \text{if } x, y \in L_{1} \setminus \{\mathbf{0},\mathbf{1}\}, \\ V(x,y) & \text{if } x, y \in L_{2}, \\ x & \text{if } x \in L_{2} \text{ and } y \in L_{1} \setminus \{\mathbf{0},\mathbf{1}\}, \\ y & \text{if } y \in L_{2} \text{ and } x \in L_{1} \setminus \{\mathbf{0},\mathbf{1}\}. \end{cases}$$
(4)

*Remark 2.* Note that the uninorm  $U_3$  given by formula (4), is also a (proper) nullnorm. This means that this is another example (besides those presented in paper [12]) of a proper nullnorm with neutral element.

# 3.2 Example of a Bounded Lattice with only Conjunctive and Disjunctive Uninorms

In this paragraph, we present an infinite lattice with incomparable elements on which only conjunctive or disjunctive uninorms can be constructed.

*Example 2.* Consider the lattice  $\tilde{L}$  depicted on Fig. 2, fulfilling assumption (A). Every element of  $\tilde{L}$ , up to **0**, has two immediate predecessors.



**Fig. 2.** Infinite lattice  $\tilde{L}$ 

Regardless how neutral element  $\mathbf{e} \in \tilde{L} \setminus \{\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{1}\}$  is chosen, all elements  $x \in ]\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{e}[$ are zero-divisors. On the other hand, if  $\mathbf{a} \parallel \mathbf{e}$  then  $x \parallel \mathbf{a}$  for all  $x \in [\mathbf{0}, \mathbf{e}[$ , i.e.,  $x \in P_2$ . This violates Proposition 1 and also Corollary 1. Therefore the lattice Lis an example of a lattice with incomparable elements, on which only conjunctive or disjunctive uninorms can be constructed.

## 4 Conclusion

Work presented in this paper is a contribution to theoretical aspects on construction of uninorms on bounded lattices. It was demonstrated that on a bounded lattice L with incomparable elements it is impossible to choose incomparable elements **e** and **a**, and then to construct a uninorm on L whose neutral and absorbing elements are **e** and **a**, respectively.

Acknowledgement. The work of Martin Kalina has been supported from the Science and Technology Assistance Agency under contract No. APVV-14-0013, and from the VEGA grant agency, grant No. 2/0069/16.

## References

- 1. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory, vol. 25, 3rd edn. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, Providence (1963)
- Bodjanova, S., Kalina, M.: Construction of uninorms on bounded lattices. In: IEEE 12th International Symposium on Intelligent Systems and Informatics, SISY 2014, Subotica, Serbia, pp. 61–66 (2014)
- Calvo, T., De Baets, B., Fodor, J.: The functional equations of Frank and Alsina for uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 120, 385–394 (2001)
- Calvo, T., Kolesárová, A., Komorníková, M., Mesiar, R.: Aggregation operators: properties, classes and construction methods. In: Aggregation Operators, pp. 3– 104. Physica-Verlag GMBH, Heidelberg (2002)
- Czogała, E., Drewniak, J.: Associative monotonic operations in fuzzy set theory. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 12, 249–269 (1984)

- Deschrijver, G.: A representation of t-norms in interval valued L-fuzzy set theory. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1597–1618 (2008)
- Deschrijver, G.: Uninorms which are neither conjunctive nor disjunctive in intervalvalued fuzzy set theory. Inf. Sci. 244, 48–59 (2013)
- Dombi, J.: Basic concepts for a theory of evaluation: the aggregative operator. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 10, 282–293 (1982)
- Dombi, J.: A general class of fuzzy operators, the DeMorgan class of fuzzy operators and fuzziness measures induced by fuzzy operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 8, 149–163 (1982)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J.-L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation functions. In: Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 127, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Ince, M.A., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: Some notes on nullnorms on bounded lattices. In: Kiss, G., Marichal, J.L., Teheux, B. (eds.) International Symposium on Aggregation and Structures, ISAS 2016, Book of Abstracts, p. 46 (2016)
- Kalina, M.: On uninorms and nullnorms on direct product of bounded lattices. Open Phys. 14(1), 321–327 (2016)
- Kalina, M., Král, P.: Uninorms on Interval-Valued Fuzzy Sets. In: Carvalho, J.P., Lesot, M.-J., Kaymak, U., Vieira, S., Bouchon-Meunier, B., Yager, R.R. (eds.) Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems, IPMU 2016. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 611, pp. 522–531. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Karaçal, F., Ince, M.A., Mesiar, R.: Nullnorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 325, 227–236 (2015)
- Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: Uninorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 261, 33–43 (2015)
- 16. Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Springer, Heidelberg (2000)
- Schweizer, B., Sklar, A.: Probabilistic Metric Spaces. North Holland, New York (1983)
- Yager, R.R., Rybalov, A.: Uninorm aggregation operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 80, 111–120 (1996)

# Kleene Algebras as Sequences of Orthopairs

Stefania Boffa<br/>  $^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Brunella Gerla

Università dell'Insubria, Varese, Italy sboffa@uninsubria.it

**Abstract.** We study sequences of approximations of sets given by refining tolerance relations on the universe, and we show that such sequences can be equipped with a structure of finite centered Kleene algebra satisfying the interpolation property. We further show that every such Kleene algebra is isomorphic to the algebra of sequences of approximations of subsets of a suitable universe.

### 1 Introduction

An equivalence relation R on a universe U (hence every partition of U) determines for every  $X \subseteq U$  the orthopair  $(\mathcal{L}(X), \mathcal{E}(X))$  consisting respectively of the union of all equivalence classes fully contained in X (lower approximation) and the union of all the equivalence classes disjoint with X (impossibility domain). On the set OP(U) of all orthopairs of U it is possible to defined operations  $\wedge$ ,  $\vee$  and  $\neg$  by the following stipulations: let  $X, Y \subseteq U$ 

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{L}(X), \mathcal{E}(X)) \wedge (\mathcal{L}(Y), \mathcal{E}(Y)) &= (\mathcal{L}(X) \cap \mathcal{L}(Y), \mathcal{E}(X) \cup \mathcal{E}(Y)) \\ (\mathcal{L}(X), \mathcal{E}(X)) \vee (\mathcal{L}(Y), \mathcal{E}(Y)) &= (\mathcal{L}(X) \cup \mathcal{L}(Y), \mathcal{E}(X) \cap \mathcal{E}(Y)) \\ \neg (\mathcal{L}(X), \mathcal{E}(X)) &= (\mathcal{E}(X), \mathcal{L}(X)) \end{aligned}$$

and it can be shown that  $\mathbb{OP}(U) = (OP(U), \land, \lor, \neg, (\emptyset, U), (U, \emptyset))$  is a Kleene algebra.

If R is not an equivalence relation, orthopairs can still be defined by adapting the notion of equivalence classes. In [14] it is proved that if R is a tolerance, i.e., R is a reflexive and symmetric binary relation, then  $\mathbb{OP}(U)$  in general is not a lattice [13], but if R is induced by an *irredundant covering* of U, then  $\mathbb{OP}(U)$  is a Kleene algebra that is also an algebraic and completely distributive lattice. By an irredundant covering C of U we mean a covering (set of subsets of U whose union is U) such that  $C \setminus \{b\}$  is not a covering of U for any  $b \in C$ .

In this paper we consider a sequence  $R_1, \ldots, R_n$  of tolerances induced by a refinement sequence of coverings. Namely, by refinement sequence we mean a sequence  $\mathcal{C} = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  of coverings of a universe U such that every block of  $C_i$  is contained in a block of  $C_{i-1}$  for each *i* from 2 to *n*.

*Example 1.* We consider the set  $X = \{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5, x_6\}$  of objects and the set  $Y = \{y_1, y_2, y_3, y_4\}$  of attributes that represent 6 athletes and 4 athletic disciplines in a race. The fuzzy formal context K = (X, Y, I) (see [4]), given by

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_22

the following table, reports the score of each athlete in each discipline in the interval [0, 1].

Ι	$y_1$	$y_2$	$y_3$	$y_4$
$x_1$	0.2	1	0	0.5
$ x_2 $	0.3	0.8	0	0.7
$ x_3 $	1	0.3	0.8	0.25
$ x_4 $	0.95	0.4	0.9	0
$ x_5 $	0.7	0	0.3	0.95
$ x_6 $	0.7	0.1	0.4	1

For each  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ , we define the relation  $R_{\alpha}$  on X as follow: let  $x_i, x_j \in X$ ,

 $x_i \ R_\alpha \ x_j$  if and only if  $|I(x_i, y) - I(x_j, y)| \le \alpha$  for each  $y \in Y$ .

Note that  $R_{\alpha}$  is a tolerance and  $C_{\alpha} = \{\{x' \in X \mid xR_{\alpha}x'\} \mid x \in X\}$  is a covering of X. Moreover, if  $0 \leq \alpha_1 \leq \alpha_2 \leq 1$ , then each block of  $C_{\alpha_1}$  is included in a block of  $C_{\alpha_2}$ . For example if  $\alpha_1 = 0.3$  and  $\alpha_2 = 0.7$ , we obtain

 $\begin{array}{rcl} C_{0.7} &=& \{\{x_1, x_2\}, \{x_1, x_2, x_6\}, \{x_3, x_4, x_5\}, \{x_3, x_4\}, \{x_3, x_5, x_6\}, \{x_2, x_5, x_6\}\} \\ \text{and} \ C_{0.3} &=& \{\{x_1, x_2\}, \{x_3, x_4\}, \{x_5, x_6\}\}. \end{array}$ 

We shall consider *partial coverings* of the universe U meaning that the union of all blocks of each covering is not always equal to U. We generalize the definition of irredundant covering in the case of partial covering: a partial covering C is irredundant if and only if each block of C is not included in the union of other blocks of C that are different to it.

Therefore, let  $\mathcal{C} = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  be a refinement sequence of U, we assign a sequence of orthopairs to  $\mathcal{C}$  for each  $X \subseteq U$ , since we consider the orthopair  $(\mathcal{L}_i(X), \mathcal{E}_i(X))$  for each covering  $C_i$  of  $\mathcal{C}$ . We call  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$  the set of all sequences of orthopairs of  $\mathcal{C}$ . In [1] sequences of orthopairs given by refinement of partitions have been put in correspondence with finite IUML-algebras. In this paper we show how to equip  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$  with a structure of finite centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property, starting by hypothesis that  $\mathcal{C}$  is made by irredundant partial coverings of a given universe. Further, any finite centered Kleene algebra A with interpolation property is associated with an universe U and a refinement sequence  $\mathcal{C}$  of irredundant coverings such that A is isomorphic to the algebraic structure on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ . Some of the proofs in this paper are adapted from the ones in [1] and will be omitted here.

## 2 Preliminaries

We summarize here some notion and results on De Morgan and Kleene algebras (see [9] for further references).

**Definition 1.** A De Morgan algebra is a bounded distributive lattice  $(A, \land, \lor, \neg, 0, 1)$  such that for each  $x, y \in A$ ,  $\neg(x \lor y) = \neg x \land \neg y$  and  $\neg \neg x = x$ .

A Kleene algebra ([7, 15])  $(A, \land, \lor, \neg, 0, 1)$  is a De Morgan algebra such that for each  $x, y \in A$  the Kleene property holds:  $x \land \neg x \leq y \lor \neg y$ .

**Definition 2.** An element c of a Kleene algebra A is called a center of A in case  $c = \neg c$ . We say that A is a centered Kleene algebra if A has a center.

Note that the Kleene property implies that if a center c of A exists then it is unique. As in [9], for each Kleene algebra A, we set

$$A^+ = \{ x \in A \mid \neg x \le x \} \quad \text{and} \quad A^- = \{ x \in A \mid x \le \neg x \}.$$

We have that  $A^+$  is a sublattice of A containing 1.

The following costruction is due to Kalman [15]: let  $(L, \land, \lor, 0, 1)$  be a bounded distributive lattice and let  $K(L) = \{(x, y) \in L \times L \mid x \land y = 0\}$  with the operations  $\sqcap, \sqcup$  and  $\neg$  defined as follow:

$$(x,y) \sqcap (u,v) = (x \land u, y \lor v) \tag{1}$$

$$(x,y) \sqcup (u,v) = (x \lor u, y \land v) \tag{2}$$

$$\neg(x,y) = (y,x) \tag{3}$$

for each  $(x, y), (u, v) \in K(L)$ . Then,  $(K(L), \Box, \sqcup, \neg, (0, 1), (1, 0))$  is a centered Kleene algebra, with center (0, 0). Moreover,  $K(L)^+ = \{(x, 0) \mid x \in L\}$ .

**Definition 3.** Let  $(A, \land, \lor, \neg, 0, 1)$  be a centered Kleene algebra. Let c be the center of A. We say that A has the interpolation property if and only if for every  $x, y \ge c$  such that  $x \land y \le c$  there exists z such that  $z \lor c = x$  and  $\neg z \lor c = y$ .

In [8] the above definition is called (CK) property, but it is also noted that it coincides with the interpolation property described in [9], so we will use this last name. Not every centered Kleene algebra has the interpolation property, see Example 5 in [8].

**Theorem 1.** [9] A Kleene algebra A is isomorphic to K(L) for some bounded distributive lattice L if and only if A is centered and satisfies the interpolation property. In this case L is isomorphic to the lattice  $A^+$ .

Birkhoff representation theorem states that given a partially ordered set P, the structure  $(U(P), \cap, \cup, \emptyset, P)$  where U(P) is the set of upsets of  $P, \cap$  and  $\cup$ are respectively the set intersection and union, is a bounded distributive lattice. Vice-versa, if L is a bounded distributive lattice, then there is a partially ordered set P such that  $L \cong U(P)$ .

In this paper, we focus on  $K(U(P)) = \{(A, B) \in U(P) \times U(P) \mid A \cap B = \emptyset\}$ , with  $\sqcap$ ,  $\sqcup$  and  $\neg$  defined respectively as (1), (2) and (3).

## 3 Refinement Sequences and Orthopairs

We call partial covering of U any subset of  $2^U$ , i.e. any set of subsets of U.

**Definition 4.** A sequence  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  of partial coverings of U is a refinement sequence if each element of  $C_i$  is contained in an element of  $C_{i-1}$ , for  $i = 2, \ldots, n$ .

From now on, by refinement sequence of U, we mean a refinement sequence of partial coverings of U.

*Example 2.* If  $U = \{a, b, c, d, e, f, g\}$ , then  $(C_1, C_2)$ , where  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{d, e, f, g\}\}$  and  $C_2 = \{\{a, b, c\}, \{c, d\}, \{d, e\}, \{f, g\}\}$ , is a refinement sequence of U.

In order to prove our results, we do not consider coverings containing singletons.

**Definition 5.** Given a refinement sequence  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  of U, the set of all blocks of C equipped with the reverse inclusion is a partially ordered set. In particular, we associate with C the partially ordered set  $(P_C, \leq_C)$  where

- $P_{\mathcal{C}} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} C_i$  (the set of nodes is the set of all subsets of U belonging to the coverings  $C_1, \ldots, C_n$ ), and
- for  $N, M \in P_{\mathcal{C}}$ ,  $N \leq_{\mathcal{C}} M$  if and only if  $M \subseteq N$ .

*Example 3.* Let  $(C_1, C_2, C_3)$  be a refinement sequence of  $\{a, b, c, d, e, f, g, h\}$ , where  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e, f, g\}\}, C_2 = \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{c, d, e, f\}\}$  and  $C_3 = \{\{c, d\}, \{d, e, f\}\}$ . Then the poset assigned to  $(C_1, C_2, C_3)$  is shown in the following figure:



If  $\mathcal{C}$  is a refinement sequence and  $X \subseteq P_{\mathcal{C}}$ , we denote by  $X^*$  the union of all nodes belonging to X.

**Definition 6.** A refinement sequence C is complete if  $A^* \cap B^* = \emptyset$  for each  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_C))$ .

*Example 4.* Let us consider the refinement sequence C given by  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e, f\}\}, C_2 = \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{d, e, f\}\}$  and  $C_3 = \{\{a, b\}\}$ . Then set  $A = \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{a, b\}\}$  and  $B = \{\{d, e, f\}\}$ . Then  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_C))$  but  $A^* = \{a, b, c, d\}$  and  $B^* = \{d, e, f\}$  hence  $A^* \cap B^* = \{d\}$  and C is not complete.

On the other side, the following refinement sequence  $\mathcal{C}$  is complete:



**Definition 7.** A refinement sequence  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  is safe if for each  $N \in P_C$ , if  $N \in C_i$  with  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and  $N \subseteq N_1 \cup \ldots \cup N_r$  with  $N_1, \ldots, N_r \in P_C$ , then there exists  $j \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$  such that  $N \subseteq N_j$  and  $N \in C_k$  with j < k.

*Example 5.* Let  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e\}, \{a, f, g, h\}\}$  and  $C_2 = \{\{a, b, c\}, \{c, d\}, \{f, g\}\}$ , then  $(C_1, C_2)$  is safe. Instead, the refinement sequence  $(\tilde{C}_1, \tilde{C}_2)$  with  $\tilde{C}_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e\}, \{c, d, e, f, g, h\}\}$  and  $\tilde{C}_2 = \{\{a, b, c\}, \{c, d\}, \{e, f, g\}\}$ , is not safe, since  $\{a, b, c, d, e\} \subseteq \{a, b, c\} \cup \{c, d\} \cup \{e, f, g\}$ .

**Definition 8.** A refinement sequence  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  is pairwisely overlapping if there are no disjoint blocks in  $C_i$ , for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

*Example 6.* The refinement sequence  $(C_1, C_2)$  of Example 3 is pairwisely overlapping, since d belongs to each block of  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$  and  $C_3$ . Trivially, all other refinement sequences define in the above examples are not pairwisely overlapping.

**Definition 9.** A refinement sequence C is irredundant if each its coverings is irredundant.

**Proposition 1.** Let  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  be a refinement sequence of U. If C is safe, then C is irredundant.

*Proof.* The proof follows by Definition 7: let us fix  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and  $N \in C_i$ , then there are not  $N_1, \ldots, N_r \in P_{\mathcal{C}}$  such that  $N \subseteq N_1 \cup \ldots \cup N_r$  and  $N \notin N_i$  for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, r\}$ . Then, there are not nodes of  $C_i$  such that their union includes N, hence  $C_i$  is irredundant.

Remark 1. On the contrary, a refinement sequence C made by all irredundant coverings is not always safe.

*Example 7.* Suppose that  $C_1 = \{a, b, c, d, e, f, g, h\}$ ,  $C_2 = \{\{a, b, c\}, \{d, e, f, g\}\}$  and  $C_3 = \{\{a, b\}, \{d, e\}, \{f, g\}\}$ . Then,  $(C_1, C_2, C_3)$  is not safe, but  $C_1, C_2$  and  $C_3$  are irredundant.

Given a covering C of U and  $X \subseteq U$  we consider  $\mathcal{L}(X) = \{N \in C \mid N \subseteq X\}$ and  $\mathcal{E}(X) = \{N \in C \mid N \cap X = \emptyset\}$ . Given a refinement sequence  $\mathcal{C} = C_1, \ldots, C_n$ of U, for any  $X \subseteq U$  and for every  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ , we consider the *orthopair*  $(\mathcal{L}_i(X), \mathcal{E}_i(X))$  determined by  $C_i$ . Then we let

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) = ((\mathcal{L}_1(X), \mathcal{E}_1(X)), \dots, (\mathcal{L}_n(X), \mathcal{E}_n(X))),$$

and  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}} = \{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) \mid X \subseteq U\}.$
*Example 8.* Let  $U = \{a, b, c, d, e, f, g, h, i, j\}$  and  $X = \{a, b, c, d, e\}$ . If C is the refinement sequence of U made by  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e, f, g, h, i, j\}\}$ ,  $C_2 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e\}, \{e, f, g, h, i\}\}$ ,  $C_3 = \{\{a, b, c\}, \{c, d\}, \{e, f, g\}, \{g, h\}\}$ , then

 $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) = ((\emptyset, \emptyset), (\{\{a, b, c, d, e\}\}, \emptyset), (\{\{a, b, c\}, \{c, d\}\}, \{\{g, h\}\})).$ 

## 4 Sequences of Orthopairs as Pairs of Upsets

Let  $C = (C_1, \ldots, C_n)$  be a refinement sequence of a universe U. For any  $X \subseteq U$  the sequence  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X)$  of orthopairs with respect to C determines two subsets of the poset  $P_{\mathcal{C}}$ , obtained by considering for every  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ , the blocks contained in  $\mathcal{L}_i(X)$  and the blocks contained in  $\mathcal{E}_i(X)$ . This observation leads to the following definition (see [1]).

**Definition 10.** For every refinement sequence  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  of U and any  $X \subseteq U$ , we let  $(X_{\mathcal{C}}^1, X_{\mathcal{C}}^2)$  be such that

$$X^{1}_{\mathcal{C}} = \{ N \in P_{\mathcal{C}} \mid N \subseteq X \} \quad and \quad X^{2}_{\mathcal{C}} = \{ N \in P_{\mathcal{C}} \mid N \cap X = \emptyset \}.$$

Moreover, we let  $SO(\mathcal{C}) = \{(X^1_{\mathcal{C}}, X^2_{\mathcal{C}}) \mid X \subseteq U\}.$ 

*Example 9.* Given U and C of Example 3, if  $X = \{b, c, d\}$  then  $X_{\mathcal{C}}^1 = \{\{c, d\}\}$  and  $X_{\mathcal{C}}^2 = \emptyset$ .

Following [1] we can prove that given a set U and a refinement sequence C of U, the map

$$h: \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}} \mapsto (X^1, X^2) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$$

is a bijection. We write  $(X^1, X^2)$  instead of  $(X^1_{\mathcal{C}}, X^2_{\mathcal{C}})$ , when  $\mathcal{C}$  is clear from the context. The following proposition shows that, given a refinement sequence  $\mathcal{C}$ , the set  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  is made by pairs of disjoint upsets of  $P_{\mathcal{C}}$ .

**Proposition 2.** Let C be a refinement sequence, then  $SO(C) \subseteq K(U(P_C))$ .

On the contrary, given a refinement sequence C, a pair of disjoint upsets of  $P_C$  is not always an element of SO(C).

*Example 10.* Given the refinement sequence C of Example 3, the pair ({{c, d}, {d, e, f}},  $\emptyset$ ) of disjoint upsets of  $P_C$  does not belong to SO(C), since if a set contains {c, d} and {d, e, f}, then it contains also the block {c, d, e, f}.

In this section, we want to investigate the set  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  equipped with operations defined on  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ .

First we note that, as shown in the following example,  $(SO(\mathcal{C}), \sqcap, \sqcup, \neg, (\emptyset, P_{\mathcal{C}}), (P_{\mathcal{C}}, \emptyset))$  is not necessarily even a lattice.

*Example 11.* Let us consider the refinement sequence C, where  $P_C$  is depicted in the following figure:



If we consider  $(\emptyset, \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{a, d\}\}), (\emptyset, \{\{a, d, e, f\}, \{a, d\}\}) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$ , then  $(\emptyset, \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{a, d\}\}) \sqcap (\emptyset, \{\{a, d, e, f\}, \{a, d\}\})$  is equal to the pair

 $(\emptyset, \{\{a, b, c, d\}, \{a, d, e, f\}, \{a, d\}\}\})$ 

that does not belong to  $SO(\mathcal{C})$ , since it would mean that there is a set X that is disjoint with  $\{a, b, c, d\}$ ,  $\{a, d, e, f\}$  and  $\{a, d\}$  but it is not disjoint with  $\{a, b, c, d, e, f\}$ , which is clearly impossible.

Proofs of next propositions are similar to the analogous in [1].

**Proposition 3.** Let C be a safe refinement sequence of U. Suppose that A is an upset of  $P_{\mathcal{C}}$ . Then,  $N \in A$  if and only if  $N \subseteq A$ .

**Proposition 4.** Let C be a safe refinement sequence of U and  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ . If  $A^* \cap B^* = \emptyset$ , then  $(A, B) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$ .

**Theorem 2.** Let C be a safe refinement sequence of U. Then, SO(C) contains  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))^+$  and  $\mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}} = (SO(\mathcal{C}), \sqcap, \sqcup, \backsim, (\emptyset, P_{\mathcal{C}}), (P_{\mathcal{C}}, \emptyset))$  is a centered Kleene subalgebra of  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ .

Proof. Let  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))^+$ , then  $B = \emptyset$ . By Proposition 4,  $(A, B) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$ since  $A^* \cap \emptyset = \emptyset$ .  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  is closed under all operations of  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ , since, for any  $X, Y \subseteq U$ ,  $(X^1 \cap Y^1, X^2 \cap Y^2)$  and  $(X^1 \cup Y^1, X^2 \cap Y^2)$  are pairs of disjoint upsets of  $P_{\mathcal{C}}$  satisfying the condition of Proposition 4.

Moreover, by Proposition 4  $(\emptyset, \emptyset) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$ , hence  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  is a centered Kleene algebra.

Remark 2. It is easy to observe that, when  $\mathcal{C}$  is a safe refinement sequence of U, also  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))^{-}$  is included in  $SO(\mathcal{C})$ .

**Theorem 3.** Let C be a complete and safe refinement sequence of U. Then,  $SO(C) = K(U(P_C))$ . Hence,  $SO_C = (SO(C), \sqcap, \sqcup, \neg, (\emptyset, P_C), (P_C, \emptyset))$  is a finite centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property.

*Proof.* By Proposition 2,  $SO(\mathcal{C}) \subseteq K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ . By hypothesis  $\mathcal{C}$  is complete, hence  $A^* \cap B^* = \emptyset$  for each  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ . Then,  $(A, B) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$  since  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe by hypothesis.

**Theorem 4.** Let C be a safe and pairwisely overlapping refinement sequence of U, then  $SO(C) = K(U(P_C))^- \cup K(U(P_C))^+$ .

Proof. By Theorem 2,  $SO(\mathcal{C}) \supseteq K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))^- \cup K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))^+$ . Vice versa, let  $(X^1, X^2) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$ . If  $X^1 \neq \emptyset$  and  $X^2 \neq \emptyset$ , then there exist  $N, M \in P_{\mathcal{C}}$  such that  $N \in X^1$  and  $M \in X^2$ . Therefore,  $N \cap M = \emptyset$ . Suppose that  $N \in C_i$  and  $M \in C_j$  with  $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and  $i \leq j$ . By Definition 4, there exists  $N' \in C_j$  such that  $N' \subseteq N$ . Then, N' and M are two disjoint blocks of  $C_j$ . This is an absurd, since, by hypothesis  $\mathcal{C}$  is pairwisely overlapping.

Example 12. We consider the refinement sequences  $C = (C_1, C_2)$  and  $\tilde{C} = (\tilde{C}_1, \tilde{C}_2)$  of  $\{a, b, c, d, e, f\}$ , where  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e\}, \{c, d, f\}\}, C_2 = \{\{a, b\}, \{c, d\}\}, \tilde{C}_1 = \{\{a, b, d, e, f\}, \{c, d, e\}\}$  and  $\tilde{C}_2 = \{\{b, d\}, \{d, e\}\}$ . As shown in the following two figures,  $P_C$  and  $P_{\tilde{C}}$  have the same Hasse diagram. Then,  $K(U(P_C)) \cong K(U(P_{\tilde{C}}))$ .



We set  $b_1 = \{a, b, c, d, e\}$ ,  $b_2 = \{c, d, f\}$ ,  $b_3 = \{a, b\}$ ,  $b_4 = \{c, d\}$ ,  $b'_1 = \{a, b, d, e, f\}$ ,  $b'_2 = \{c, d, e\}$ ,  $b'_3 = \{b, d\}$  and  $b'_4 = \{d, e\}$ . Then,  $\mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}$  and  $\mathbb{SO}_{\tilde{\mathcal{C}}}$  have the following Hasse diagrams.



Note that  $\mathcal{SO}(\mathcal{C}) = K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ , since  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe and complete. Instead, since  $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}$  is safe and pairwisely overlapping,  $\mathcal{SO}_{\tilde{\mathcal{C}}} \subset K(U(P_{\tilde{\mathcal{C}}}))$  and  $(\{b'_3\}, \{b'_4\}), (\{b'_4\}, \{b'_3\}), (\{b'_3\}, \{b'_2, b'_4\}), (\{b'_2, b'_4\}) \notin SO(\tilde{\mathcal{C}}).$ 

Remark 3. When  $\mathcal{C}$  is a safe refinement sequence, it is not always true that  $\mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}$  has the interpolation property: if  $\mathcal{C}$  is not complete, then there exists  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$  such that  $A^* \cap B^* \neq \emptyset$ , hence  $(A, B) \notin SO(\mathcal{C})$ ; on the other hand  $(A, \emptyset), (B, \emptyset) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$  and trivially  $(X, Y) \sqcup (\emptyset, \emptyset) = (A, \emptyset)$  and  $\neg (X, Y) \sqcup (\emptyset, \emptyset) = (B, \emptyset)$  if and only if (X, Y) = (A, B).

**Corollary 1.** Let C be a safe refinement sequence. Then,  $U(P_C)$  is isomorphic to the lattice  $SO(C)^+$ .

The following proposition shows that we can equip  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  with a structure of finite Kleene algebra also when each covering of  $\mathcal{C}$  is irredundant.

**Theorem 5.** Let  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  be an irredundant refinement sequence of U. Then, there exists a safe refinement sequence C' of universe U such that the function  $g: SO(\mathcal{C}) \mapsto SO(\mathcal{C}')$  where  $g((X^1_{\mathcal{C}}, X^2_{\mathcal{C}})) = (X^1_{\mathcal{C}'}, X^2_{\mathcal{C}'})$  for each  $X \subseteq U$  is bijective. Hence,

$$\mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}' = (SO(\mathcal{C}), \sqcap_{\mathcal{C}}, \sqcup_{\mathcal{C}}, \neg, (\emptyset, P_{\mathcal{C}}), (P_{\mathcal{C}}, \emptyset))$$

where

$$\begin{array}{l} - (X_{\mathcal{C}}^1, X_{\mathcal{C}}^2) \sqcap_{\mathcal{C}} (Y_{\mathcal{C}}^1, Y_{\mathcal{C}}^2) = g^{-1}((X_{\mathcal{C}'}^1, X_{\mathcal{C}'}^2) \sqcap (Y_{\mathcal{C}'}^1, Y_{\mathcal{C}'}^2)) \ and \\ - (X_{\mathcal{C}}^1, X_{\mathcal{C}}^2) \sqcup_{\mathcal{C}} (Y_{\mathcal{C}}^1, Y_{\mathcal{C}}^2) = g^{-1}((X_{\mathcal{C}'}^1, X_{\mathcal{C}'}^2) \sqcup (Y_{\mathcal{C}'}^1, Y_{\mathcal{C}'}^2)) \ for \ each \ X, Y \subseteq U \end{array}$$

is a centered Kleene algebra. Moreover,

- if  $\mathcal{C}$  is complete, then  $\mathbb{SO}'_{\mathcal{C}}$  satisfies the interpolation property, and - if  $\mathcal{C}$  is pairwisely overlapping, then  $SO(\mathcal{C}) \cong K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}'}))^+ \cup K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}'}))^-$ .

*Proof.* We obtain C' by C with same construction made in Sect. 4 of [1] in the case of partial partitions of a given universe.

Remark 4. If  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe, then  $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{C}'$  and  $\mathbb{SO}'_{\mathcal{C}} = \mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}$ .

Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a refinement sequence of U, through function h given in this section, we define on  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$  the following operations:

1.  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) \wedge_{SO} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(Y) = h^{-1}(h(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X)) \sqcap h(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(Y))),$ 2.  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) \lor_{SO} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(Y) = h^{-1}(h(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X)) \sqcup h(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(Y))),$ 3.  $\neg_{SO}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) = h^{-1}(h(\neg \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X))).$ 

Therefore, each result obtain for  $\mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}^{\prime}$  holds also for the structure

$$(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}, \wedge_{SO}, \vee_{SO}, \neg_{SO}, (M_{\mathcal{C}}, \emptyset), (\emptyset, M_{\mathcal{C}}))$$

where  $M_{\mathcal{C}} = \{x \in N \mid N \in P_{\mathcal{C}}\}.$ 

Remark 5. If  $\mathcal{C} = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  is a safe refinement sequence of U and  $X, Y \subseteq U$ , then  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(X) \wedge_{SO} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(Y)$  is obtained by applying  $\wedge$  between  $(\mathcal{L}_i(X), \mathcal{E}_i(X))$  and  $(\mathcal{L}_i(Y), \mathcal{E}_i(Y))$  for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . In the same way we obtain  $\vee_{SO}$  and  $\neg_{SO}$ from  $\vee$  and  $\neg$  on single orthopairs of the same level.

Example 13. We consider the safe refinement sequence  $C = (C_1, C_2)$  of  $\{a, b, c, d, e\}$ , where  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d, e\}\}$  and  $C_2 = \{\{a, b\}, \{c, d\}\}$ . Then,  $\mathcal{O}_C(\{a, b\}) \land SO \mathcal{O}_C(\{a, b, c\}) = h^{-1}(h(\mathcal{O}_C(\{a, b\})) \sqcap h(\mathcal{O}_C(\{a, b, c\}))) = h^{-1}((\{\{a, b\}\}, \{\{c, d\}\}) \sqcap (\{\{a, b\}\}, \emptyset)) = h^{-1}(\{\{a, b\}\}, \{\{c, d\}\}) = ((\emptyset, \emptyset), (\{a, b\}, \{c, d\})).$ 

Moreover,  $(\mathcal{L}_1(\{a,b\}), \mathcal{E}_1(\{a,b\})) \land (\mathcal{L}_1(\{a,b,c\}), \mathcal{E}_1(\{a,b,c\})) = (\emptyset, \emptyset) \land (\emptyset, \emptyset) = (\emptyset, \emptyset) \text{ and } (\mathcal{L}_2(\{a,b\}), \mathcal{E}_2(\{a,b\})) \land (\mathcal{L}_2(\{a,b,c\}), \mathcal{E}_2(\{a,b,c\})) = (\{a,b\}, \{c,d\}) \land (\{a,b\}, \emptyset) = (\{a,b\}, \{c,d\})).$ 

*Example 14.* Let  $C = (C_1, C_2)$  be a refinement sequence, where  $C_1 = \{\{a, b, c, d\}\}$  and  $C_2 = \{\{a, b\}, \{c, d\}\}$ . C is not safe and C' is only made by covering  $\{\{a, b\}, \{c, d\}\}$  (see the construction of C' in [1]).

We have that  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(\{a,b\}) \wedge_{SO} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(\{c,d\}) = h^{-1}(h(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(\{a,b\})) \sqcap_{\mathcal{C}} h(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(\{c,d\}))) = h^{-1}(\{\{a,b\}\},\{\{c,d\}\}) \sqcap_{\mathcal{C}} (\{\{c,d\}\},\{\{a,b\}\}) = h^{-1}(g^{-1}(\emptyset,\{\{a,b\},\{c,d\}\})) = h^{-1}((\emptyset,\{\{a,b\},\{c,d\},\{a,b,c,d\}\})) = ((\emptyset,\{a,b,c,d\}),(\emptyset,\{a,b,c,d\})).$ 

On the other hand,  $(\mathcal{L}_1(\{a,b\}), \mathcal{E}_1(\{a,b\})) \land (\mathcal{L}_1(\{c,d\}), \mathcal{E}_1(\{c,d\})) = (\emptyset, \emptyset)$ and  $(\mathcal{L}_2(\{a,b\}), \mathcal{E}_2(\{a,b\})) \land (\mathcal{L}_2(\{c,d\}), \mathcal{E}_2(\{c,d\})) = (\emptyset, \{a,b,c,d\}).$ 

### 5 Representation Theorem

In this section we associate a sequence of orthopairs with any finite poset.

Let  $(P, \leq)$  be a finite partially ordered set and let n be the maximum number of elements of a chain in P. For each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  we define the *i*-th level of P as

$$P^{i} = \{ N \in P \mid i = max\{ |h| \mid h \text{ is a chain of } \downarrow N \} \}.$$

$$(4)$$

We denote by  $\mathcal{M}(P)$  the set of maximal element of P and we set  $U_P = \{x_1, \ldots, x_m\}$ , where  $m = |P| + |\mathcal{M}(P)|$ . We call maximal sequence of P the sequence  $\mathcal{C} = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  built as follows. Suppose  $\mathcal{M}(P)$  consists of nodes  $N_1, \ldots, N_u$ , where  $u = |\mathcal{M}(P)| \leq \lfloor m/2 \rfloor$  since  $u < 2u \leq |\mathcal{M}(P)| + |P| = m$ . We set

$$b_{N_i} = \{x_{2i-1}, x_{2i}\}\tag{5}$$

for every  $i = 1, \ldots, u$  and

$$C_n = \{ b_{N_i} \mid N_i \in \mathcal{M}(P) \}.$$
(6)

Since  $|P \setminus \mathcal{M}(P)| = m - 2u$ , we denote by  $N_{u+1}, \ldots, N_{m-u}$  the nodes of  $P \setminus \mathcal{M}(P)$ and we set  $\alpha_P(N_i) = x_{i+u}$  for any  $i \in \{u+1, \ldots, m-u\}$ .

For each  $N \notin \mathcal{M}(P)$ , let

$$b_N = \bigcup_{M > N} b_M \cup \{\alpha_P(N)\}\tag{7}$$

and, for each  $j \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ ,

$$C_j = \{b_N \mid N \in P^j\} \cup \{b_M \mid M \in \mathcal{M}(P) \text{ and } \downarrow M \cap P^j = \emptyset\}.$$
 (8)

It is trivial to see that for each  $N, M \in P$ 

$$b_N \cap b_M = \bigcup \{ b_L \mid L \in \uparrow N \cap \uparrow M \}.$$
(9)

*Example 15.* Let P be the partially ordered set with the following Hasse diagram:



 $U_P = \{x_1, \ldots, x_6\}, \text{ since } 6 = 4 + 2, \text{ where } |P| = 4 \text{ and } |\mathcal{M}(P)| = 2. \text{ We have } \alpha_P(N_3) = x_5 \text{ and } \alpha_P(N_4) = x_6. \text{ Then, we have } b_{N_1} = \{x_1, x_2\}, b_{N_2} = \{x_3, x_4\}, b_{N_3} = \{x_1, x_2\} \cup \{x_3, x_4\} \cup \{\alpha_P(N_3)\} = \{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5\} \text{ and } b_{N_4} = \{x_3, x_4\} \cup \{\alpha_P(N_4)\} = \{x_3, x_4, x_6\}. \text{ Moreover, } n = 2, \text{ then the maximal sequence is made by two partial coverings of } \{x_1, \ldots, x_6\} \text{ that are } C_1 = \{\{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5\}, \{x_3, x_4, x_6\}\} \text{ and } C_2 = \{\{x_1, x_2\}, \{x_3, x_4\}\}.$ 

**Proposition 5.** Let P be a finite partially ordered set. Then, the maximal sequence C of P is a complete and safe refinement sequence of  $U_P$  and  $SO(C) \cong K(U(P))$ .

Proof. Firstly, we prove that  $\mathcal{C}$  is a refinement sequence of  $U_P$ . Then, suppose that  $b \in C^i$  with i > 1, we have  $b = b_N$  where  $N \in P$ . Since  $b_N \in C^i$ , two cases are possible: if  $N \in P^i$ , then there exists at least a node M of  $P^{i-1}$  such that M < N (see (4)), hence  $b_M \in C^{i-1}$  (see (8)) and  $b_N \subset b_M$  (see (7)); if  $N \notin P^i$ , then  $N \in \mathcal{M}(P)$  and  $\downarrow N \cap P^i = \emptyset$ . In this latter case, we have two subcases to consider:  $\downarrow N \cap P^{i-1} = \emptyset$  which implies  $b_N \in C^{i-1}$  and  $\downarrow N \cap P^{i-1} \neq \emptyset$ which implies that there exists  $M \in P^{i-1}$  with  $M \leq N$ , hence  $b_N \subseteq b_M$  where  $b_M \in C^{i-1}$ .

 $\mathcal{C}$  is complete, since if  $b_N \cap b_M \neq \emptyset$  with  $b_N, b_M \in P_{\mathcal{C}}$ , then  $b_N \cap b_M \supseteq b_L$  with  $L \in \uparrow N \cap \uparrow M$  (see (9)), hence  $b_N$  and  $b_M$  can not belong to two upsets that are disjoint.

To prove that  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe, we consider the blocks  $b_N, b_{N_1}, \ldots, b_{N_k}$  of coverings of  $\mathcal{C}$  with  $b_N \subseteq b_{N_1} \cup \ldots \cup b_{N_k}$ . Then, we pick a subset  $\{b_{N'_1}, \ldots, b_{N'_k}\}$  of  $\{b_{N_1}, \ldots, b_{N_k}\}$  such that  $b_N \subseteq b_{N'_1} \cup \ldots \cup b_{N'_k}$  and  $b_N \cap b_{N'_i} \neq \emptyset$  for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, h\}$ . Trivially,  $b_N \cap b \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $b_N \subseteq b$ , when  $N \in \mathcal{M}(P)$ . Otherwise, if  $N \notin \mathcal{M}(P)$ , by (7) we have that  $\alpha_P(N) \in b_N$ , hence  $\alpha_P(N)$  belongs to  $b'_{N_i}$  for some  $i \in \{1, \ldots, h\}$ , then  $b_N \subseteq b_{N'_i}$  since  $N'_i \leq N$  (see (7)).

Trivially, the poset  $P_{\mathcal{C}}$  associate with  $\mathcal{C}$  is  $\{b_N \mid N \in P\}$  (see Definition 5) and it is isomorphic to P. Then, it is sufficient to show that  $SO(\mathcal{C}) = K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ .

By Theorem 2,  $SO(\mathcal{C}) \subseteq K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ . Viceversa, let  $(A, B) \in K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ , then  $A^* \cap B^* = \emptyset$ , since otherwise, by (9), there exist  $N, M, L \in P$  such that  $b_L \subseteq b_N \cap b_M$ , then  $b_L \in A \cap B$  that is an absurd. By Theorem 3,  $(A, B) \in SO(\mathcal{C})$ . Therefore,  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}})) \subseteq SO(\mathcal{C})$ .

Furthermore, note that if  $C = C_1, \ldots, C_n$  is the maximal sequence of the poset P, then  $C_n$  is a partial partition of the respective universe  $U_P$ .

By Theorem 1 and Proposition 5, the following Theorem holds:

**Theorem 6.** Let P be a partially ordered set and C its maximal sequence. Then, SO(C) is a centered Kleene algebra that satisfies the interpolation property.

**Theorem 7.** Let S be a Kleene algebra. S is a finite centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property if and only if  $S \cong SO'_{\mathcal{C}}$ , where  $\mathcal{C}$  is a complete and irridundant refinement sequence of a finite universe U.

*Proof.* ( $\Rightarrow$ ). If  $\mathcal{T}$  is a centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property, then there exists a bounded distributive lattice  $L_{\mathcal{T}}$  such that  $\mathcal{T} \cong K(L_{\mathcal{T}})$ , by Theorem 1. By Birkhoff representation theorem, there exists a poset  $P_{L_{\mathcal{T}}}$  such that  $L_{\mathcal{T}} \cong U(P_{L_{\mathcal{T}}})$ . Consequently,  $\mathcal{T} \cong K(U(P))$ , where P is a partially ordered set. By Proposition 5,  $\mathcal{S} \cong SO(P_{\mathcal{C}})$  where  $\mathcal{C}$  is the maximal sequence of P.

 $(\Leftarrow)$ . By Theorem 5,  $\mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}'$  is a finite centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property.

**Proposition 6.** Let S be a Kleene algebra.  $S \cong T^+ \cup T^-$  where T is a finite centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property if and only if  $S \cong SO'_{\mathcal{C}}$ , where C is a safe and pairwisely overlapping refinement sequence of a finite universe U.

*Proof.*  $(\Rightarrow)$ . Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a finite centered Kleene algebra with interpolation property, then  $\mathcal{T} \cong K(U(P))$ , where P is a partially ordered set. We consider the maximal sequence  $\mathcal{C}$  of P. We call  $\mathcal{C}_x$  the sequence obtained by adding x to each block of  $\mathcal{C}$ . Trivially  $\mathcal{C}_x$  is a safe and pairwisely overlapping refinement sequence of the universe  $U \cup \{x\}$  and  $\mathcal{S} \cong \mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}^{\prime}$ .

( $\Leftarrow$ ). By Theorem 5, if  $\mathcal{C}$  is irridundant and pairwisely overlapping, then  $SO(\mathcal{C}) \cong K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}'}))^+ \cup K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}'}))^-$ .

# 6 Conclusions and Further Works

In this paper we have shown that sequences of orthopairs  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  determined by refinement of coverings  $\mathcal{C}$  of a universe U can be equipped with a structure of Kleene algebra  $SO_{\mathcal{C}}$ . In particular, if the refinement sequence  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe, then  $SO_{\mathcal{C}}$ is a subalgebra of a Kalman rotation  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ ; if  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe and pairwisely overlapping, then  $SO_{\mathcal{C}}$  coincides with the union of positive and negative elements of  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ ; if  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe and complete then it is isomorphic with  $K(U(P_{\mathcal{C}}))$ . Generalizing the assumption that  $\mathcal{C}$  is safe, we have the weaker condition of irredundancy: if  $\mathcal{C}$  is irredundant then we can find a safe and complete  $\mathcal{C}'$  and define over  $SO(\mathcal{C})$  a structure of Kleene algebra in such a way that it is isomorphic with  $SO_{\mathcal{C}'}$ . While both for safe and pairwisely overlapping and for safe and complete refinement sequence we have a characterization of the associated Kleene algebras, a characterization of Kleene algebras given by safe refinement sequence is not presented in this paper and this problem will be faced in the future. On the other side, we shown that for any finite centered Kleene algebra K with interpolation property, that is, for every  $K \cong K(L)$ , there is a safe and complete refinement sequence  $\mathcal{C}$  such that  $K \cong \mathbb{SO}_{\mathcal{C}}$ .

This work can be framed in the context of generalization of operations on orthopairs to sequences of orthopairs, as done for example in [1,6]. This gives a way to interpret the operations in the considered algebraic structures (centered Kleene algebras here and IUML algebras in [1]) in terms of approximation of sets. Refinement of orthopairs can be also interpreted by a temporal semantics, as done for example in [5] for NM-algebras and this will be the topic of future works.

### References

- Aguzzoli, S., Boffa, S., Ciucci, D., Gerla, B.: Refinements of orthopairs and IUMLalgebras. In: Proceedings of IJCRS 2016, Santiago, Chile. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 9920, pp. 87–96 (2016)
- Aguzzoli, S., Flaminio, T., Marchioni, E.: Finite Forests. Their Algebras and Logics (Submitted)
- Banerjee, M., Chakraborty, K.: Algebras from rough sets. In: Pal, S., Skowron, A., Polkowski, L. (eds.) Rough-Neural Computing, pp. 157–188. Springer, Heidelberg (2004)
- Belohlavek, R.: What is a fuzzy concept lattice? II. In: International Workshop on Rough Sets, Fuzzy Sets, Data Mining, and Granular-Soft Computing, pp. 19–26. Springer, Heidelberg, June 2011
- Bianchi, M.: A temporal semantics for nilpotent minimum logic. Int. J. Approx. Reason. 55(1, part 4), 391–401 (2014)
- Boffa, S., Gerla, B.: Sequences of orthopairs given by refinements of coverings. In: International Workshop on Fuzzy Logic and Applications, pp. 95–105. Springer (2016)
- Brignole, D., Monteiro, A.: Caractérisation des algébres de Nelson par des égalités. In: I, II. Proceedings of Japan Academy, vol. 43, pp. 279–283, 284–285 (1967)
- 8. Castiglioni, J.L., Celani, S.A., San Martn, H.J.: Kleene algebras with implication. Algebra universalis, 1–19
- Cignoli, R.: The class of Kleene algebras satisfying an interpolation property and Nelson algebras. Algebra Universalis 23, 262–292 (1986)
- Ciucci, D.: Orthopairs: a simple and widely used way to model uncertainty. Fundamenta Informaticae 108(3–4), 287–304 (2011)
- Ciucci, D., Dubois, D.: Three-valued logics, uncertainty management and rough sets. In: Peters, J.F., Skowron, A. (eds.) Transactions on Rough Sets XVII. LNCS, vol. 8375, pp. 1–32. Springer, Heidelberg (2014)
- Csajbók, Z.E.: Approximation of sets based on partial covering. In: Peters, J.F., Skowron, A., Ramanna, S., Suraj, Z., Wang, X. (eds.) Transactions on Rough Sets XVI. LNCS, vol. 7736, pp. 144–220. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Järvinen, J.: Knowledge representation and rough sets, Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Mathematics, University of Tuku, Finland, TUCS Dissertations 14 (1999)

- Järvinen, J., Radeleczki, S.: Rough sets determined by tolerances. Int. J. Approx. Reason. 55, 1419–1438 (2014)
- 15. Kalman, J.: Lattices with involution. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 87, 485–491 (1958)
- Pagliani, P.: Rough set theory and logic-algebraic structures. In: Incomplete Information: Rough Set Analysis, pp. 109–190. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg (1998)

# Method of Maximum Two-Commodity Flow Search in a Fuzzy Temporal Graph

Alexander Bozhenyuk<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Evgeniya Gerasimenko<sup>1</sup>, and Igor Rozenberg<sup>2</sup>

 Southern Federal University, Taganrog, Russia AVB002@yandex.ru, egerasimenko@sfedu.ru
 Public Corporation "Research and Development, Institute of Railway Engineers", Moscow, Russia

 yarosh@vniias.ru

**Abstract.** This paper is devoted to the task of the two-commodity maximum flow finding in a fuzzy temporal graph. Arcs of the network are assigned by the fuzzy arc capacities and crisp transit times. All network's parameters can vary over time, therefore, it allows to consider network as dynamic one. The task is to maximize total flow passing through the network, considering temporal nature of the network. Such methods can be applied in the real railways, roads, when it is necessary to take into account the commodities of two types solving the task of the optimal cargo transportation, for example, passenger and cargo trains or motor cars and lorries Method of operating fuzzy numbers for flow tasks is proposed that doesn't lead to the blurring of the resulting number.

Keywords: Fuzzy dynamic graph · Two-commodity fuzzy flow

### 1 Introduction

Considering transportation networks, the situation of two commodities, simultaneously passing along the network is often occurs. It is valid for passenger and cargo trains simultaneously moving along the railways, or motor cars and lorries etc. Therefore, we turn to the two-commodity flow network. This task is a variety of the multi-commodity flow problem, when different commodities travel along the network and have their own sources and sinks [1, 2]. The main difficulty of the multi-commodity flow problems (3 or more simultaneously passing commodities) is that the min-cut theorem does not hold for these tasks [3]. However, the mentioned theorem is valid for the two-commodity flow problems in undirected graphs [4, 5].

The relevant task while analyzing these networks is the maximum two-commodity flow-finding task, that consists in finding the maximum value of the flow of two types in the network. Its peculiarity is in possibility of the first flow to block the second one in such a way, that we do not obtain the optimal value. Hu [4] devised algorithm for such a problem and obtained optimal results.

Solving flow tasks in networks it is important to take into account either that the flow needs time to pass among adjacent nodes or that different departure time can influence the travel and arrival time. Literature analysis showed that dynamic networks

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_23

[6] considered in the literature took into account no instant flow departure, while network's parameters hold constant. Multi-commodity flow tasks analysis is presented in [7, 8]. Therefore, such networks can not be treated as fully temporal. Temporal networks should be examined as networks with no instant flow transitions and time-varying parameters depend on flow departure time.

Transportation networks are usually connected with uncertainty of any kind. There are errors in measurements, changes in environment, road, weather conditions, the lack of information about road parameters and so on. Thus, it is necessary to consider uncertainty peculiar to network's parameters and represent edges of the network as fuzzy triangular numbers, therefore, we turn problem statements of flow tasks in fuzzy networks [9, 10]. The task of the maximum flow finding with fuzzy arc capacities was presented in [11, 12] and didn't consider the dynamic nature of the graph and the possibility of multiple flow passing.

Summarizing, we obtain the problem of the maximum two-commodity flow finding in the fuzzy temporal network, that was not described in the literature and propose algorithm for its solution.

The paper is organized as follows. In the Sect. 2 we give basic definitions and rules, underlying the proposed method. Section 3 presents the method of the maximum two-commodity dynamic flow finding in fuzzy temporal graph. Section 4 provides numerical example illustrating the main steps of the proposed method. Section 5 is conclusion and future work.

### 2 Definitions and Rules

Peculiarity of the two-commodity dynamic maximum flow finding method is that calculated maximum flow can block the flow of the second commodity. It is necessary to find the double path and redistribute the flow, if it is possible to avoid blocking. If the path doesn't exist, the corresponding maximum flow is found. The proposed method is based on following rules.

Rule 1. Transition to the fuzzy static two-commodity graph from the dynamic one.

Fuzzy time-expanded static two-commodity graph  $\tilde{G}_p = (X_p, \tilde{A}_p)$  is constructed from the original fuzzy two-commodity dynamic graph  $\tilde{G}$  creating a copy of each node  $x_i \in X$  at each time period  $\theta \in T$ . The set of nodes  $X_p$  of the graph  $\tilde{G}_p$  is defined as  $X_p = \{(x_i, \theta) : (x_i, \theta) \in X \times T\}$ . Expand node-sources and sinks for each commodity at each time period. Add artificial sources and sinks for each commodity and connect them by edges of infinite capacity with true sources and sinks. The set of edges  $\tilde{A}_p$ includes edges from each node-time pair  $(x_i, \theta) \in X_p$  to every node-time pair  $(x_j, \theta = \theta + \tau_{ij}(\theta))$ , where  $x_j \in (x_i)$  and  $\theta + \tau_{ij}(\theta) \le p$ . Fuzzy arc capacities  $\tilde{u}(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta)$  are equal to  $\tilde{u}_{ij}(\theta)$ . Transit times  $\tau(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta)$  are equal to  $\tau_{ij}(\theta)$ .

Rule 2. of transmission flow along the double path [3].

Define flows of the backward and forward paths depending on the flow values:  $\tilde{\xi}_{f}^{1} = \min \tilde{\xi}^{1} (x_{i}, x_{j}, \theta, \vartheta), \quad \tilde{\xi}^{1} (x_{i}, x_{j}, \theta, \vartheta) > \tilde{0},$  $\tilde{\xi}_{h}^{1} = \min \tilde{\xi}^{1} (x_{j}, x_{i}, \vartheta, \theta), \quad \tilde{\xi}^{1} (x_{i}, x_{i}, \vartheta, \theta) > \tilde{0}.$  Thus, the flow along the double path is defined as the minimum flow value from the backward and forward paths:  $\tilde{\xi}_{bf} = \min(\tilde{\xi}_f^1, \tilde{\xi}_b^1)$ .

Edge capacity of the double path is determined as minimum from the residual capacities of the backward and forward paths:  $\tilde{u}_{bf} = \min(\tilde{u}_b, \tilde{u}_f)$ .

As the double path consists of two paths we pass  $\tilde{r} = \min(\tilde{\xi}_{bf}^1, 0.5\tilde{u}_{bf})$  flow units of each commodity along the double path as follows: push  $\tilde{r}$  units of the first commodity from the source to the sink along the backward path, then pass  $\tilde{r}$  units of the first commodity from the sink to the source along the forward path.

After that push  $\tilde{r}$  flow units of the second commodity along the double path as follows: transit  $\tilde{r}$  units of the second commodity from the source to the sink along the backward path, then pass  $\tilde{r}$  units of the second commodity from the source to the sink along the forward path.

# **3** Presented Method of the Maximum Two-Commodity Flow Finding Task in the Fuzzy Dynamic Graph

#### 3.1 Problem Statement

Let us consider the proposed method for the maximum two-commodity flow finding in dynamic undirected graph in fuzzy terms, presented as a model (1)–(5):

$$Maximize \sum_{\theta=0}^{p} \sum_{s=1}^{2} \tilde{v}(s, s'), \qquad (1)$$

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{\theta=0}^{p} \left( \sum_{x_j \in \Gamma(x_i)} \tilde{\xi}_{ij}^s(\theta) - \sum_{x_j \in \Gamma^{-1}(x_i)} \tilde{\xi}_{ji}^s(\theta - \tau_{ji}(\theta)) \right) = \tilde{\nu}(s, s')(p), x_i = s, \quad (2)$$

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{\theta=0}^{p} \left( \sum_{x_{j} \in \Gamma(x_{i})} \tilde{\xi}_{ij}^{s}(\theta) - \sum_{x_{j} \in \Gamma^{-1}(x_{i})} \tilde{\xi}_{ji}^{s}(\theta - \tau_{ji}(\theta)) \right) = \tilde{0}, x_{i} \neq s, s'; \theta \in T, \quad (3)$$

$$\sum_{i} \sum_{\theta=0}^{p} \left( \sum_{x_j \in \Gamma(x_i)} \tilde{\xi}_{ij}^s(\theta) - \sum_{x_j \in \Gamma^{-1}(x_i)} \tilde{\xi}_{ji}^s(\theta - \tau_{ji}(\theta)) \right) = -\tilde{\nu}(s, s')(p), \, x_i = t, \quad (4)$$

$$\sum_{s=1}^{2} \left| \tilde{\xi}_{ij}^{s}(\theta) \right| \leq \tilde{u}_{ij}(\theta), \, \forall \, (x_i, \, x_j) \in \tilde{A}, \, \theta \in T.$$
(5)

In the model (1)–(5)  $\tilde{\xi}_{ij}^s(\theta)$  – the *s*-th flow along the arc  $(x_i, x_j)$  at time period  $\theta$ ,  $\tilde{v}(s, s')$  – the value *s*-th flow from the source *s* to the sink s',  $\tilde{u}_{ij}(\theta)$  – capacity of the arc  $(x_i, x_j)$  at time period  $\theta$ .

#### 3.2 Problem Statement

**Step 1.** Turn to the time-expanded two-commodity fuzzy static graph  $\tilde{G}_p = (X_p, \tilde{A}_p)$  from the original fuzzy two-commodity dynamic graph  $\tilde{G}$  according to the rule 1.

**Step 2.** Search the maximum flow of the first commodity, considering the second commodity as zero by selecting the augmenting shortest path (in terms of the number of arcs)  $\tilde{P}_{p}^{*\mu}$  from the artificial source 1<sup>s</sup> to the artificial sink 1<sup>t</sup> in the time-expanded graph according to the breadth-first-search.

**Step 3.** Find the maximum flow of the second commodity considering edge capacities as  $\tilde{u}^1(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) = \tilde{u}(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) - |\xi^1(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta)| \pm \xi^2(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta)$ . Search the augmenting shortest path (in terms of the number of arcs)  $\tilde{P}_p^{*\mu}$  from the artificial source *s*<sup>\*</sup> to the artificial sink *t*<sup>\*</sup> in the constructed fuzzy residual network according to the breadth-first-search.

**Step 4.** Find the double path from  $2^s$  to  $2^t$ . There are two paths in the double path: backward and forward. Backward path consists of edges with first commodity passing in the opposite direction (negative value) and unsaturated edges. Residual edge capacity of the backward path is  $\tilde{u}_b = \tilde{u}(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) + \tilde{\xi}^1(x_j, x_i, \vartheta, \theta) - \tilde{\xi}^2(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) > \tilde{0}$ . Forward path is the path with nonzero positive value of the first commodity or negative value of the second commodity. Residual edge capacity of the forward path is  $\tilde{u}_f = \tilde{u}(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) - \tilde{\xi}^2(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) > \tilde{0}$ .

**4.1.** If the whole double path or one of the constituent paths doesn't exist, the obtained flow  $\tilde{r} = (\max[\tilde{\xi}^1(1^s, 1^t, \theta, \theta + \tau_{1^{s_{1t}}}(\theta)) + \tilde{\xi}^2(2^s, 2^t, \theta, \theta + \tau_{2^{s_{2t}}}(\theta))]$  is the maximum flow in the time-expanded graph, turn to the step 6.

**4.2.** If the path is found, pass the value  $\tilde{r} = \min(\tilde{\xi}_{bf}^1, 0.5\tilde{u}_{bf})$  of each commodity along the double paths, where  $\tilde{\xi}_{bf}^1$  and  $\tilde{u}_{bf}$  are calculated due to the rule 2.

**Step 5.** Update the flow values in the graph  $\tilde{G}_p(\tilde{\xi})$  and turn to the step 3.

**Step 6.** Turn to the initial dynamic graph  $\tilde{G}$  as follows: reject the artificial nodes s', t' and arcs, connecting them with other nodes.

Two-commodity flow task is NP-hard and polynomial in the case of even arc capacities. The time-complexity is based on the time-complexity of the shortest path finding algorithm.

### 4 Numerical Example

Consider numerical example, illustrating fuzzy maximum two-commodity dynamic flow problem. The task is to find the maximum flow of the total commodity of two types from the source to the sink in the graph, shown in the Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Initial dynamic graph  $\tilde{G}$ 

The values of fuzzy arc capacities depending on the flow departure time are given in the Table 1. Table 2 illustrates the values of transit times, depending on the flow departure time.

Edges of the	Fuzzy edge capacities $\tilde{u}_{ij}$ at time periods $\theta$ , time units					
graph	0	1	2	3	4	
$(1^{s}, 3)$	6Õ	3 <b>5</b>	3 <b>5</b>	4Õ	2Ĩ	
$(1^{s}, 5)$	2Õ	2Õ	2Ĩ	1Ĩ	1Ĩ	
$(2^s, 3)$	3 <b>8</b>	1Õ	3Õ	1 <b>8</b>	2Ĩ	
$(2^{s}, 4)$	5 <b>.</b> 5	4Ĩ	5 <b>2</b>	6Õ	6Õ	
(3, 4)	1Ĩ	4Õ	2Ã	2Ã	2Õ	
(3, 5)	5 <b>5</b>	5 <b>5</b>	1Õ	3Õ	3Õ	
$(4, 1^t)$	2Õ	2Õ	3Õ	4Õ	5Ĩ	
$(4, 2^t)$	4Õ	4Õ	3Õ	3Ĩ	5 <b>2</b>	
$(5, 1^t)$	4Õ	4 <b>5</b>	1 <b>5</b>	3Õ	3Õ	
$(5, 2^t)$	1Õ	2Õ	1 <b>8</b>	2Õ	4Õ	

**Table 1.** Fuzzy arc capacities  $\tilde{u}_{ij}$ , depending on the flow departure time  $\theta$ 

Edges of the	Time parameters $\tau_{ij}$ at time periods $\theta$ , time units				
graph	0	1	2	3	4
$(1^s, 3)$	1	1	3	2	2
$(1^{s}, 5)$	1	4	4	3	3
$(2^s, 3)$	1	1	3	1	2
$(2^{s}, 4)$	5	5	1	4	3
(3, 4)	1	1	1	4	4
(3, 5)	5	1	1	2	3
$(4, 1^t)$	5	5	1	1	1
$(4, 2^t)$	6	6	1	1	4
$(5, 1^t)$	5	2	1	2	2
$(5, 2^t)$	5	4	1	1	2

**Table 2.** Time parameters  $\tau_{ij}$  depending on the flow departure time  $\theta$ 

**Step 1.** Turn to the time-expanded static version of the initial dynamic graph, as shown in the Fig. 2.

**Step 2.** Find the augmenting paths, considering the flow of the second commodity as zero, therefore, the maximum flow of the first commodity is obtained, as presented in the Fig. 3. Maximum flow includes paths  $1^s \rightarrow 1_s^0 \rightarrow 5^1 \rightarrow 1_t^3 \rightarrow 1_t$  with 20 flow inits,  $1^s \rightarrow 1_s^0 \rightarrow 3^1 \rightarrow 4^2 \rightarrow 1_t^3 \rightarrow 1_t$  with 30 flow inits,  $1^s \rightarrow 1_s^0 \rightarrow 3^1 \rightarrow 5^2 \rightarrow 1_t^3 \rightarrow 1_t$  with 15 flow inits,  $1^s \rightarrow 1_s^1 \rightarrow 3^2 \rightarrow 4^3 \rightarrow 1_t^4 \rightarrow 1_t$  with 24 flow inits and it is equal to 89 units.

**Step 3.** Search the maximum flow of the second commodity, considering already found flow of the first commodity  $\tilde{u}^1(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) = \tilde{u}(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta) - |\xi^1(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta)| \pm \xi^2(x_i, x_j, \theta, \vartheta)$  in such a way that the total edge capacity constraint will be valid. Thus, we receive the following paths:  $2^s \rightarrow 2_s^2 \rightarrow 4^3 \rightarrow 2_t^4 \rightarrow 2_t$  and pass 35 units along it,  $2^s \rightarrow 2_s^1 \rightarrow 3^2 \rightarrow 5^3 \rightarrow 2_t^4 \rightarrow 2_t$  and pass 10 units along it,  $2^s \rightarrow 2_s^0 \rightarrow 3^1 \rightarrow 4^2 \rightarrow 2_t^3 \rightarrow 2_t$  with 10 units, as  $(3^1, 4^2)$  is a joint edge with the maximum residual capacity 10 units and  $2^s \rightarrow 2_s^0 \rightarrow 3^1 \rightarrow 5^2 \rightarrow 2_t^3 \rightarrow 2_t$  with 18 units along it. This flow distribution is presented in the Fig. 4.

**Step 4.1.** Find the double path from  $2^s$  to  $2^t$ . Backward path is  $2^s \rightarrow 2_s^2 \rightarrow 4^3 \rightarrow 3^2 \rightarrow 5^3 \rightarrow 2_t^4 \rightarrow 2_t$ . It includes edge  $(4^3, 3^2)$  with the flow of the first commodity, passing in the opposite direction and other edges that are unsaturated. The flow of this path is defined according to the rule 2 and it is equal to  $\tilde{\xi}_b^1 = \min \tilde{\xi}_{3^2 4^3}^1 = 2\tilde{4}$  units. Edge capacity of the residual path is determined as minimum of the residual capacities of the backward path, i.e.  $\tilde{u}_b = \min(\infty, 1\tilde{7}, 4\tilde{8}, \tilde{6}, 1\tilde{0}, \infty) = \tilde{6}$ .



**Fig. 2.** Time-expanded static graph  $\tilde{G}_p$ 

Forward path is  $2^s \to 2_s^0 \to 3^1 \to 4^2 \to 2_t^3 \to 2_t$  and it consists of unsaturated edges and the edge  $(3^2, 4^3)$  with positive flow passing in the forward direction. The flow of this path is defined according to the rule 2 and it is equal to  $\tilde{\xi}_f^1 = \min \tilde{\xi}_{3^1 4^2}^1 = 3\tilde{0}$  units. Edge capacity of the residual path is determined as minimum of the residual capacities of the forward path, i.e.  $\tilde{u}_f = \min(\infty, 1\tilde{0}, 6\tilde{0}, 2\tilde{0}, \infty) = 1\tilde{0}$ .

Therefore,  $\tilde{\xi}_{bf}^1 = \min(2\tilde{4}, 3\tilde{0}) = 2\tilde{4}$  units,  $\tilde{u}_{bf} = \min(\tilde{6}, 1\tilde{0}) = \tilde{6}$  units,  $\tilde{r} = \min(2\tilde{4}, \tilde{3}) = \tilde{3}$  units.



**Fig. 3.**  $\tilde{G}_p$  with the maximum flow of the first commodity

**Step 4.2.** Pass  $\tilde{3}$  flow units of the first commodity and second commodity along the double path, as presented in the Fig. 5.

**Step 5.** The flow of the second commodity cannot be increased and there are no augmenting paths. Therefore, the obtained maximum flow is  $8\tilde{9} + 7\tilde{9} = 16\tilde{8}$  units.

The fuzzy maximum flow is obtained and it is necessary to present it as fuzzy triangular number, determining its deviation borders.



Fig. 4.  $\tilde{G}_p$  with the maximum flow of the first commodity and corresponding maximum flow of the second commodity

We can utilize the approach, described in [9, 10]. Its main idea is that it is no need to operate deviations of fuzzy numbers at the first step of calculations: it is sufficiently to operate centers of fuzzy numbers, blurring them at the final step. Advantages of such a method is that final fuzzy number preserves its value, avoiding strong blurring of borders.

Thus, Fig. 6 shows deviation borders of the fuzzy basic capacities, set by experts.



Fig. 5.  $\tilde{G}_p$  with  $\tilde{\xi} = 3$  of each commodity sent along the double path



Fig. 6. Membership functions of the basic values of edge capacities of the network  $\tilde{G}$ 

The result is between two adjacent basic values of the arc capacities:  $12\tilde{1}$  with the left deviation  $l_1^L = 21$ , right deviation  $-l_1^R = 24$  and  $24\tilde{0}$  with the left deviation  $l_2^L = 40$ , right deviation  $-l_2^R = 45$ . We obtain deviations:  $l_1^L \approx 28$ ,  $l_1^R \approx 32$ .

Finally, the maximum flow in the fuzzy two-commodity dynamic graph can be represented by fuzzy triangular number (140, 168, 200) units.

### 5 Conclusion and Future Work

Present paper illustrates the approach to the maximum flow determining in the fuzzy two-commodity dynamic flow graph. Underlying undirected graph has fuzzy values of arc capacities and two distinguished sources and sinks for each commodity. The parameters of the graph are transit and depend on the flow departure time. The considered approach is based on the formulated rules of the time-expanded graph and transmission the flow along the double path. The proposed approach has important practical value in transportation planning and optimization the flows on the real types of roads in the tasks, where it is important to take into account the commodities of two types, for example, passenger and cargo trains or motor cars and lorries. In the future methods of the minimum cost multi-commodity flow determining will be solved in the fuzzy dynamic networks.

Acknowledgments. This work has been supported by the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, Project №. 16-01-00090 a, and the Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation under Project No. 213.01-11/2014-48 (Base part, State task 2014/174).

### References

- 1. McBride, R.D., Carrizosa, E., Conde, E., Munoz-Marquez, M.: Advances in solving the multi-commodity flow problem. Interfaces 28(2), 32–41 (1998)
- Ahuja, R., Magnanti, T., Orlin, J.B.: Network Flows: Theory, Algorithms, and Applications. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New York (1993)
- Sedeño-Noda, A., González-Martín, C., Alonso-Rodríguez, S.: A new strategy for the undirected two-commodity maximum flow problem. Comput. Optim. Appl. 47(2), 289–305 (2010)
- 4. Hu, T.C.: Multi-commodity network flows. Oper. Res. 11, 344–360 (1963)
- 5. Rajagopalan, S.: Two-commodity flow. Oper. Res. Lett. 15, 151–156 (1994)
- 6. Aronson, J.E.: A survey of dynamic network flows. Ann. Oper. Res. 20, 1-66 (1989)
- Fonoberova, M.: Algorithms for finding optimal flows in dynamic networks. In: Rebennack, S., et al. (eds.) Handbook of Power Systems II, Energy Systems, pp. 31–54. Springer, Heidelberg (2010). doi:10.1007/978-3-642-12686-4
- Glockner, G., Nemhauser, G.: A dynamic network flow problem with uncertain arc capacities: formulation and problem structure. Oper. Res. 48(2), 233–242 (2002)
- Bozhenyuk, A., Gerasimenko, E., Kacprzyk, J., Rozenberg, I.: Flows in Networks Under Fuzzy Conditions. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 346. Springer, Heidelberg (2017)

- Bozhenyuk, A., Gerasimenko, E., Rozenberg, I., Perfilieva, I.: Method for the minimum cost maximum flow determining in fuzzy dynamic network with nonzero flow. In: Alonso, J.M., Bustince, H., Reformat, M. (eds.) Proceedings of the 2015 Conference of the International Fuzzy Systems Association and the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, 30th June–3rd July, Gijón, Asturias (Spain), vol. 89, pp. 385–392. Atlantic Press (2016). doi:10. 2991/ifsa-eusflat-15.2015.56
- 11. Chanas, S., Kolodziejczyk, W.: Integer flows in network with fuzzy capacity constraints. Networks 16, 17–31 (1986)
- Chanas, S.: Fuzzy optimization in networks. In: Kacprzyk, J., Orlovski, S.A. (eds.) Optimization Models Using Fuzzy Sets and Possibility Theory, pp. 303–327. D. Reidel Publishing Company, Dordrecht (1987)

# Allocation Method for Fuzzy Interval Graph Centers Based on Strong Connectivity

Alexander Bozhenyuk<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Margarita Knyazeva<sup>1</sup>, and Igor Rozenberg<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Southern Federal University, Nekrasovskiy Str., 44, 347928 Taganrog, Russia avb002@yandex.ru, margarita.knyazeva@gmail.com

<sup>2</sup> Public Corporation "Research and Development Institute of Railway Engineers", Nizhegorodskaya Str., 27/1, 109029 Moscow, Russia
 i. yarosh@vniias.ru

**Abstract.** In this paper the problem of defining service centres optimum allocation in transportation network is observed. It is supposed that transportation network is described by a fuzzy interval graph. The notion of fuzzy set of strong connectivity is introduced. It is shown that the problem of service centers location can be reduced to a problem of finding fuzzy set of strong connectivity. The method and algorithm of finding fuzzy set of strong connectivity is considered in this paper. The example of finding optimum allocation of centers in fuzzy interval graph is considered.

Keywords: Fuzzy interval  $\cdot$  Fuzzy interval graph  $\cdot$  Service centers  $\cdot$  Strong connectivity fuzzy set

### 1 Introduction

The worldwide expansion and diversified implementation of geographic information systems (GIS) are largely appearing due to the need to improve information systems that support decision-making. Application spheres of GIS are huge, thus geoinformation technologies become leaders in information retrieval, display, analytical tools and decision support [1, 2].

However, geographic data are often associated with significant uncertainty. Errors in data that are often used without considering their inherent uncertainties lead to a high probability of obtaining information of doubtful value. Uncertainty presents throughout the process of geographical abstraction: from acquiring data to using them [3].

Data modeling [4] is the process of abstraction and generation of real forms of geographic data. This process provides a conceptual model of the real world. It is doubtful that the geographical complexity can be reduced in models of perfect accuracy. So, the imminent contradiction between the real world and the model is the inaccuracy and uncertainty that can lead to the wrong decision making.

Allocation of centers [5] is the optimization problem that is effectively solved by GIS. This problem includes the tasks of optimum allocation of extremely important services, such as hospitals, police stations, fire brigades etc. In some tasks, the optimality criterion can considered as distance minimization (travel time) from the service

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_24

center to the most remote service point, therefore, the problem is in optimization of the "worst case" [6]. At the same time, the information, presented in GIS, can be approximate or insufficiently reliable [7]. Therefore, utilization of subjunctive estimates dealing with the distances between the parts of the considered area or travel time, based on the expert's experience using linguistic variables, can be a convenient way for the formalization task of the centers allocation.

Thus, the linguistic variable "distance" can take arbitrary values of the type «about 50 km», «near 20–25 min», that can be considered as fuzzy number  $\tilde{a}$  and fuzzy interval  $[\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}]$  with triangular and trapezoidal membership functions, respectively [8, 9].

In the present work, the approach to service centers allocation is proposed. The peculiarity of the problem is that distance between the parts of the area or travel time is fuzzy interval, thus, the model of the territory is a fuzzy interval graph.

### 2 Basic Concepts and Definitions

We consider some territory which is divided into n areas (set X). There are k service centres, which may be placed into these areas (set V, k < n). It is supposed that service centre may be placed into some stationary place of each area. It is necessary for the given number of the service centers to define the places of their best allocation. In other words, it is necessary to define the places of k service centers into n areas such that the service of all territory was carried out on is minimum possible time or distance at least to one service center.

The task of the best allocation of centers on the fuzzy graph can be limited to the problem of finding a subset of vertices V, which all the other vertices X/V of the fuzzy graph are attained in the best way according to a given criterion. Three strategies of the selection of vertices V can be proposed [10]:

- We "go" from each vertex of subset X/V, and arrive at a vertex of V;
- We "come out" of any of the vertices of V, and reach all vertices of subset X/V;
- We "come out" of any of the vertices of V, reach all vertices of subset X/V and come back.

In this paper, the third strategy is considered, and the criterion of optimality is the minimization of the total fuzzy interval (distance or time) from the service center to the most remote vertex and back.

Let's consider that the information received from GIS is presented in the form of the fuzzy interval graph  $\tilde{G} = (X, \tilde{U})$  [11]. A set  $X = \{x_i\}$ ,  $i \in I = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  is the set of vertices. The vertices represent areas of some territory. A set  $\tilde{U} = \{\langle \tilde{l}_{ij}/(x_i, x_j)\rangle\}$  is the set of the fuzzy directed edges. A value  $\tilde{l}_{ij} = [\tilde{a}_{ij}, \tilde{b}_{ij}]$  is fuzzy interval «approximately  $[a_{ij}, b_{ij}]$ ». It is a meaning of linguistic variable «time of journey from vertex  $x_i$  to vertex  $x_j$ ». Here  $a_{ij}, b_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}^1$ , and  $a_{ij} \leq b_{ij}$ . Let's believe, that the interval  $\tilde{l}_{ii} = [0, 0], \forall i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ .

For the decision of this problem we will consider the concept of strong connectivity fuzzy set of the fuzzy interval graph.

Let  $\tilde{l}_1 = [\tilde{a}_1, \tilde{b}_1]$  and  $\tilde{l}_2 = [\tilde{a}_2, \tilde{b}_2]$  are any fuzzy intervals. If  $a_1 > a_2$  and  $b_1 < b_2$ , then we set that  $\tilde{l}_1 < \tilde{l}_2$ . Otherwise, we can set naturally relations >, <,  $\leq$ , and  $\geq$  between fuzzy intervals [11].

The sum of fuzzy intervals  $\tilde{l}_1$  and  $\tilde{l}_2$  we call an interval  $\tilde{l} = [\tilde{a}, \tilde{b}]$ , in which borders  $\tilde{a} = \tilde{a}_1 + \tilde{a}_2$  and  $\tilde{b} = \tilde{b}_1 + \tilde{b}_2$  [12].

Let  $\tilde{L}_1 = \{[\tilde{a}_{1i}, \tilde{b}_{1i}]\}$  and  $\tilde{L}_2 = \{[\tilde{a}_{2j}, \tilde{b}_{2j}]\}$ ,  $i = \overline{1, p_1}$ ,  $j = \overline{1, p_2}$  are two sets of fuzzy intervals. We denote by  $\tilde{L}_1 + \tilde{L}_2$  the sum defined as  $\tilde{L}_1 + \tilde{L}_2 = \{[\tilde{a}_k, \tilde{b}_k]\}$ ,  $\tilde{a}_k = \tilde{a}_{1i} + \tilde{a}_{2j}$ ,  $\tilde{b}_k = \tilde{b}_{1i} + \tilde{b}_{2j}$ ,  $k = p_1 \times p_2$ .

**Example 1.** Let sets of intervals  $\tilde{L}_1 = \{[1\tilde{0}, 1\tilde{5}], [1\tilde{2}, 1\tilde{4}]\}$  and  $\tilde{L}_2 = \{[\tilde{7}, \tilde{9}], [\tilde{8}, 1\tilde{0}]\}$ , then  $\tilde{L}_1 + \tilde{L}_2 = \{[1\tilde{7}, 2\tilde{4}], [1\tilde{8}, 2\tilde{5}], [1\tilde{9}, 2\tilde{3}], [2\tilde{0}, 2\tilde{4}]\}$ . Here  $p_1 = p_2 = 2$ , k = 4.

We consider two operations  $MIN(\tilde{L})$  and  $MAX(\tilde{L})$  on set of intervals  $\tilde{L}$  [11]. These operations are an estimation of subsets of the least and the greatest intervals from set of intervals  $\tilde{L}$ .

**Example 2.** Let set of intervals  $\tilde{L} = \{[10, 15], [12, 14], [12, 17], [15, 18]\}$ , then  $MIN(\tilde{L}) = \{[12, 14]\}$ , and  $MAX(\tilde{L}) = \{[15, 18]\}$ .

#### Property 1.

$$MIN(\tilde{L}_1 + \tilde{L}_2) = MIN(\tilde{L}_1) + MIN(\tilde{L}_2),$$
  
$$MAX(\tilde{L}_1 + \tilde{L}_2) = MAX(\tilde{L}_1) + MAX(\tilde{L}_2).$$

Let x and y are any vertices of fuzzy interval graph  $\tilde{G} = (X, \tilde{U})$ . We will define through  $\tilde{L}_{xy}$  a set of fuzzy intervals by means of which the vertex y is achievable from the vertex x. Then for each pair of vertices (x, y) we can put a fuzzy interval  $MIN(\tilde{L}_{xy} + \tilde{L}_{yx})$  in conformity.

**Definition 1.** A strong connectivity subset is called subset vertices  $V_{\tilde{\Lambda}} \subseteq X$  with interval  $\tilde{\Lambda} = \underset{\forall y \in X \setminus V}{MAX} (\underset{\forall x \in V}{MIN}(\tilde{L}_{xy} + \tilde{L}_{yx}))$  from which any vertex of fuzzy graph is accessible with an interval not more  $\tilde{\Lambda}$  and which is minimal in the sense that there is no subset  $V'_{\tilde{\lambda}} \subseteq V_{\tilde{\lambda}}$ , having the same accessible property.

Among all strong connectivity subsets consisting of 1 vertex, we select such subset in which fuzzy interval is the least. We designate them as  $\tilde{\Lambda}_1$ . Among all strong connectivity subsets consisting of two vertices we select such subset in which fuzzy interval also is the least among themselves and we will designate them as  $\tilde{\Lambda}_2$ , and etc.

Definition 2. A fuzzy set

$$\tilde{V} = \{ \langle \tilde{\Lambda}_1/1 \rangle, \langle \tilde{\Lambda}_2/2 \rangle, \dots, \langle \tilde{\Lambda}_n/n \rangle \}$$

is called a strong connectivity fuzzy set of fuzzy interval graph  $\tilde{G}$ .

Fuzzy interval  $\tilde{\Lambda}_k$  ( $k \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ ) signify that we can place *k*-centers in graph  $\tilde{G}$  so that there is a route from at least one center to any vertex of graph  $\tilde{G}$  and back. The length of this cyclic route will be not more than interval  $\tilde{\Lambda}_k$ .

**Example 3.** Consider the fuzzy interval graph presented in Fig. 1:



**Fig. 1.** Fuzzy interval graph (n = 3)

For the strong connectivity subsets, consisting of 1, 2, and 3 vertices fuzzy intervals families have view:

if  $V = \{x_1\}$  or  $V = \{x_3\}$  then  $\tilde{\Lambda} = [5\tilde{4}, 6\tilde{2}]$ ; if  $V = \{x_2\}$  then  $\tilde{\Lambda} = [2\tilde{8}, 3\tilde{1}]$ ; if  $V = \{x_1, x_3\}$  or  $V = \{x_1, x_2\}$  then  $\tilde{\Lambda} = [2\tilde{6}, 3\tilde{1}]$ ; if  $V = \{x_2, x_3\}$  then  $\tilde{\Lambda} = \{[2\tilde{8}, 3\tilde{1}]\}$ ; if  $V = \{x_1, x_2, x_3\}$  then  $\tilde{\Lambda} = \{[0, 0]\}$ .

Hence, the strong connectivity fuzzy set is defined as:

$$\tilde{V} = \{ \langle [2\tilde{8}, 3\tilde{1}]/1 \rangle, \langle [2\tilde{6}, 3\tilde{1}]/2 \rangle, \langle [0, 0]/3 \rangle \}.$$

# 3 Method and Algorithm for Finding Strong Connectivity Fuzzy Set

We will consider the method of finding a strong connectivity fuzzy set in the fuzzy interval graph. The given method is an analogue Maghout's method for definition of all fuzzy interval base sets [11], and Maghout's method for the definition of fuzzy vitality sets for fuzzy no interval graphs [13].

Let's consider some strong connectivity fuzzy set  $V_{\tilde{\Lambda}} \subseteq X$  with fuzzy interval  $\tilde{\Lambda}$ . Then for an arbitrary vertex  $x_i \in X$ , one of the following conditions must be true: (a)  $x_i \in V_{\tilde{\Lambda}}$ ;

(b) if x<sub>i</sub> ∉ V<sub>Λ̄</sub>, then there is a vertex x<sub>j</sub> ∈ V<sub>Λ̄</sub> such that fuzzy interval l̃<sub>ji</sub> = l̃(x<sub>j</sub>, x<sub>i</sub>) is no more Λ̄.

In other words, the following statement is true:

$$(\forall x_i \in X)[x_i \in V_{\tilde{\Lambda}} \lor (\exists x_j \in V_{\tilde{\Lambda}} | \tilde{l}_{ji} \le \tilde{\Lambda})].$$
(1)

To each vertex  $x_i \in X$  we assign Boolean variable  $p_i$  that takes the value 1, if  $x_i \in V_{\tilde{\Lambda}}$  and 0 otherwise. Let's enter the predicate form  $Q(\tilde{l}_{ji})$  that takes the value 1, if  $\tilde{l}_{ji} \leq \tilde{\Lambda}$  and 0 otherwise. Using analogy between generality and existence quantifiers on the one hand, both operations conjunction and disjunction with another, we obtain a true logical proposition:

$$\Phi_V = \underbrace{\&}_{i=\overline{1,n}} (p_i \lor \bigvee_{j=\overline{1,n}} (p_j \& Q(\tilde{l}_{ji})) = 1.$$

$$\tag{2}$$

Believing, that  $Q(\tilde{l}_{ii}) = Q([0,0]) = 1$ , an expression (2) may be rewrite as:

$$\Phi_V = \underbrace{\&}_{i=\overline{1,n}} \left( \underbrace{\lor}_{j=\overline{1,n}} (p_j \& Q(\tilde{l}_{ji})) \right) = 1.$$
(3)

We open the parentheses in the expression (3) and reduce the similar terms the following rules:

$$\begin{cases}
Q(\tilde{l}_{1})\&Q(\tilde{l}_{2}) = Q(\tilde{l}_{1}), & \text{if } \tilde{l}_{1} \ge \tilde{l}_{2}; \\
p_{1}\&p_{2}\&Q(\tilde{l}_{1})\&Q(\tilde{l}_{2}) \lor p_{1}\&p_{2}\&Q(\tilde{l}_{3}) \\
= p_{1}\&p_{2}\&Q(\tilde{l}_{1})\&Q(\tilde{l}_{2}) & \text{if } \tilde{l}_{1} < \tilde{l}_{3}\&\tilde{l}_{2} < \tilde{l}_{3}; \\
p_{1}\&p_{2}\&Q(\tilde{l}_{1}) \lor p_{1}\&Q(\tilde{l}_{2}) = p_{1}\&Q(\tilde{l}_{2}), & \text{if } \tilde{l}_{1} \ge \tilde{l}_{2}.
\end{cases}$$
(4)

As a result expression (3) will become:

$$\Phi_V = \bigvee_{i=\overline{1,i}} (p_{1i} \& p_{2i} \& \dots \& p_{ki} \& Q(\tilde{l}_{1i}) \& Q(\tilde{l}_{2i}) \& \dots \& Q(\tilde{l}_{ri})) = 1.$$
(5)

**Property 2.** If in expression (5) further simplification on the basis of rules (4) is impossible, then everyone disjunctive member i defines strong connectivity fuzzy set with the least interval.

The following method of foundation of a fuzzy set of strong connectivity fuzzy set may be propose on the base of property:

- write proposition (3) for given fuzzy interval graph  $\hat{G}$ ;
- simplify proposition (3) by proposition (4) and present it as proposition (5);
- define fuzzy set of strong connectivity, which correspond to the disjunctive members of proposition (5).

To construct the expression (5) we rewrite expression (3) as follows:

$$\Phi_V = \underset{i=\overline{1,n}}{\&} (a_{i1}p_1 \lor a_{i2}p_2 \lor \ldots \lor a_{in}p_n).$$
(6)

To perform absorption, and as a result reduction the number of elements in target formula, we have to transform expression (6) to another form.

An element  $a_{ij}p$  can be converted to a vector with coefficient:

$$a_{ij}\bar{P}_j$$
, where  $\bar{P}_j = ||p_i^{(j)}||$  and  $p_i^{(j)} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } i = j \\ 0, & \text{if } i \neq j \end{cases}$ .

Using this notation, let's show the conjunction rule:

$$a_1\bar{P}_1\&a_2\bar{P}_2 = a\bar{P}$$
, where  $a = \min\{a_1, a_2\}, \bar{P} = ||p_i||p_i = \max\{p_i^{(1)}, p_i^{(2)}\}, i = \overline{1, n}$ 

Also, we need an auxiliary operation of comparing two vectors:

$$(\bar{P}_1 \leq \bar{P}_2) \leftrightarrow (\forall i = \overline{1, n})[p_i^{(1)} \leq p_i^{(2)}].$$

Considering the operations described above, the rule of absorption would be as follows:

$$a_1\bar{P}_1 \lor a_2\bar{P}_2 = a_1\bar{P}_1, \text{ if } a_1 \ge a_2 \text{ and } \bar{P}_1 \le \bar{P}_2.$$
 (7)

The correspondent pseudo algorithm below is used to reduce the number of operands and can be presented as follows:

- 1. Each element of the first (j = 1) multiplication operand  $(a_{11}p_1 \lor a_{12}p_2 \lor \ldots \lor a_{1n}p_n)$  of expression (6) is converted to the vector. The result is to be written in the first *n* elements of the buffer vector  $\overline{V}_1 = ||v_i^{(1)}||, i = \overline{1, n^2}$ .
- 2. Increase j: = j + 1.
- 3. Convert each element of the operand  $(a_{j1}p_1 \vee a_{j2}p_2 \vee ... \vee a_{jn}p_n)$  to the vector. The result is to be written in the first *n* elements of the buffer vector  $\overline{V}_2 = ||v_i^{(2)}||, i = \overline{1, n}$ .
- 4. The next stage consists of the conjunction of two vectors  $\bar{V}_1$  and  $\bar{V}_2$ . The result is placed into  $\bar{V}_3 = ||v_i^{(3)}||$ ,  $i = \overline{1, n^2}$ . While placing elements into  $\bar{V}_3$ , absorption is made using rule (7).
- 5. Copy all the elements of vector  $\overline{V}_3$  to vector  $\overline{V}_1$   $(v_i^{(1)} := v_i^{(3)}, i = \overline{1, n^2})$ .
- 6. Increase j := j+1.
- 7. If  $j \leq n$  then go to step 3, otherwise go to step 8.
- 8. Expression (5) is built from the elements in  $\bar{V}_1$ . This way we have strong connectivity fuzzy set  $\tilde{V}$  of graph  $\tilde{G} = (X, \tilde{U})$ .

# 4 Numerical Example

Let's consider the given method on an example of the fuzzy interval graph presented in Fig. 2:



**Fig. 2.** Fuzzy interval graph (n = 5)

The adjacency matrix for this graph has the following form:

	$x_1$	$x_2$	$x_3$	$x_4$	$x_5$
$x_1$	000	$[1\widetilde{1}, 1\widetilde{2}]$	$\infty$	[13,16]	[30,35]
<i>x</i> <sub>2</sub>	[13,14]	$\infty$	$[1\widetilde{1},\!1\widetilde{3}]$	$[2\tilde{8}, 2\tilde{9}]$	$\infty$
$R_X = x_3$	œ	[11,13]	$\infty$	$[1\widetilde{1},\!1\widetilde{2}]$	[12,13]
$x_4$	[15,16]	[23,26]	$[1\widetilde{1}, 1\widetilde{2}]$	$\infty$	[14,15]
$x_5$	[32,38]	$\infty$	[12,13]	[14,15]	∞ )

For a finding of a reachability matrix of the graph, we will define operation of adjacency matrix exponentiation as:

- zero degree -

$$R_{X}^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} x_{1} & x_{2} & x_{3} & x_{4} & x_{5} \\ x_{1} & \begin{pmatrix} [0,0] & \infty & \infty & \infty & \infty \\ \infty & [0,0] & \infty & \infty & \infty \\ \infty & \infty & [0,0] & \infty & \infty \\ \infty & \infty & \infty & [0,0] & \infty \\ \infty & \infty & \infty & \infty & [0,0] \end{pmatrix}$$

- second degree -  $R_X^2 = R_X \times R_X = ||\tilde{l}_{ik}^{(2)}||$ , where matrix elements are defined as

$$\tilde{l}_{ik}^{(2)} = M_{j=1,n}^{IIN} (\tilde{l}_{ij}^{(1)} + \tilde{l}_{jk}^{(1)})$$

- degree  $t - R_X^t = R_X^{t-1} \times R_X$ .

We define matrices  $R_X^0, R_X^1, R_X^2, R_X^3, R_X^4$ . Then we find their crossing. As a result we receive a reachability matrix  $N_X = R_X^0 \cap R_X^1 \cap R_X^2 \cap R_X^3 \cap R_X^4$ :

	$x_1$	$x_2$	$x_3$	$x_4$	$x_5$
$x_1$	[0,0]	[11,12]	[22,25]	$[1\tilde{5}, 1\tilde{6}]$	[29̃,31̃]
<i>x</i> <sub>2</sub>	$[1\tilde{3}, 1\tilde{4}]$	[0,0]	$[1\widetilde{1}, 1\widetilde{3}]$	$[2\widetilde{2}, 2\widetilde{5}]$	$[2\tilde{3}, 2\tilde{6}]$
$N_x = x_3$	$[2\tilde{4}, 2\tilde{7}]$	[11,13]	[0,0]	$[1\widetilde{1}, 1\widetilde{2}]$	[12,13]
$x_4$	[15,16]	[22,25]	[11,12]	[0,0]	[14,15]
<i>x</i> <sub>5</sub>	$\left[2\widetilde{9},3\widetilde{1}\right]$	$[2\tilde{3}, 2\tilde{6}]$	[12,13]	[14,15]	[0,0]

Let's make an expression (2) on the received reachability matrix:

 $\begin{array}{l} \{Q(0,0)p_1 \lor Q(24,26)p_2 \lor Q(46,52)p_3 \lor Q(30,32)p_4 \lor Q(58,62)p_5\}\&\\ \& \{Q(24,26)p_1 \lor Q(0,0)p_2 \lor Q(22,26)p_3 \lor Q(44,50)p_4 \lor Q(46,52)p_5\}\&\\ \Phi_V = \& \{Q(46,52)p_1 \lor Q(22,26)p_2 \lor Q(0,0)p_3 \lor Q(22,24)p_4 \lor Q(24,26)p_5\}\&\\ \& \{Q(30,32)p_1 \lor Q(44,50)p_2 \lor Q(22,24)p_3 \lor Q(0,0)p_4 \lor Q(28,30)p_5\}\&\\ \& \{Q(58,62)p_1 \lor Q(46,52)p_2 \lor Q(24,26)p_3 \lor Q(28,30)p_4 \lor Q(0,0)p_5\}. \end{array}$ 

Before the first iteration of algorithm vectors  $\bar{V}_1$ ,  $\bar{V}_2$ ,  $\bar{V}_3$ ,  $\bar{V}_4$  and  $\bar{V}_5$  have forms:

$$\bar{V}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} [0,0](10000)\\ [24,26](01000)\\ [46,52](00100)\\ [30,32](00010)\\ [58,62](00010)\\ [58,62](00001) \end{pmatrix}, \ \bar{V}_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} [24,26](10000)\\ [0,0](01000)\\ [22,26](00100)\\ [44,50](00010)\\ [44,50](00001) \end{pmatrix}, \ \bar{V}_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} [46,52](10000)\\ [22,26](01000)\\ [22,24](00010)\\ [22,24](00010)\\ [24,26](00001) \end{pmatrix}, \ \bar{V}_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} [30,32](10000)\\ [44,50](01000)\\ [22,24](00100)\\ [22,24](00100)\\ [22,24](00100)\\ [24,26](0100)\\ [24,26](00100)\\ [24,26](00100)\\ [24,26](00100)\\ [28,30](00010)\\ [0,0](00001) \end{pmatrix}.$$

After the first iteration of the algorithm vector  $\bar{V}_1 := \bar{V}_3 = \bar{V}_1 \& \bar{V}_2$  has the following form:

$$\bar{V}_1^T = ([24, 26](10000), [0, 0](11000), [22, 26](10100), [24, 26](01000), [46, 52](00100), \\ [30, 32](00110), [44, 50](00010), [58, 62](00001))$$

After completing the iterations, finally we have:

 $\begin{array}{l} ([58,62](10000),\, [46,52](01000),\, [46,52](00100),\, [44,50](00010), \\ [58,62](00001),\, [24,26](10100),\, [24,26](01100),\, [30,32](00110),\, [28,30](10010), \\ \bar{V}_1^T = \ [46,52](10001),\, [28,30](01001),\, [46,52](00101),\, [44,50](00011),\, [22,26](11001), . \\ [22,26](10101),\, [24,26](01011),\, [30,32](00111),\, [22,24](11101),\, [22,24](11011), \\ [0,0](11111)) \end{array}$ 

So, the formula (6) for this graph has the form:

$$\begin{split} & \varPhi_{\mathrm{B}} = Q(58,62) p_1 \lor Q(46,52) p_2 \lor Q(46,52) p_3 \lor \underline{Q}(44,50) p_4 \lor Q(58,62) p_5 \lor \\ & Q(24,26) p_1 p_3 \lor \underline{Q}(24,26) p_2 p_3 \lor Q(30,32) p_3 p_4 \lor Q(28,30) p_1 p_4 \lor Q(46,52) p_1 p_5 \lor \\ & Q(28,30) p_2 p_5 \lor \underline{Q}(46,52) p_3 p_5 \lor Q(44,50) p_4 p_5 \lor \underline{Q}(22,26) p_1 p_2 p_5 \lor Q(22,26) p_1 p_3 p_5 \lor \\ & Q(24,26) p_2 p_4 p_5 \lor Q(30,32) p_3 p_4 p_5 \lor \underline{Q}(22,24) p_1 p_2 p_3 p_5 \lor Q(22,24) p_1 p_2 p_4 p_5 \lor \\ & Q(0;0) p_1 p_2 p_3 p_4 p_5. \end{split}$$

From this equation follows, that the strong connectivity fuzzy set is:

$$\tilde{V} = \{ \langle [4\tilde{4}, 5\tilde{0}]/1 \rangle, \langle [2\tilde{4}, 2\tilde{6}]/2 \rangle, \langle [2\tilde{2}, 2\tilde{6}/3] \rangle, \langle [2\tilde{2}, 2\tilde{4}]/4 \rangle, \langle [0; 0]/5 \rangle \}.$$

The strong connectivity fuzzy set defines following optimum allocation of the centers: If we have 5 centers we place them in each vertex. In this case any expenses for achievement of other areas do not required (time equally 0). If we have 4 centers they should be placed in the vertices 1, 2, 3, and 5. In this case the least time is placed into fuzzy interval  $[2\tilde{2}, 2\tilde{4}]$ . If we have 3 centers they should be placed in the vertices 1, 2, and 5. In this case the least time is placed into fuzzy interval  $[2\tilde{2}, 2\tilde{4}]$ . If we have 3 centers they should be placed in the vertices 1, 2, and 5. In this case the least time is placed into fuzzy interval  $[2\tilde{2}, 2\tilde{6}]$ . If we have 2 centers they should be placed in the vertices 2 and 3. In this case the least time is placed into fuzzy interval  $[2\tilde{4}, 2\tilde{6}]$ . And at last if we have only 1 center it should be placed in the vertex 4. In this case the least time is placed in fuzzy interval  $[4\tilde{4}, 5\tilde{0}]$ .

A fuzzy set of strong connectivity also gives some information about the possible selection of number centers. Since the allocation of centers is associated with material costs, for the given fuzzy graph we can conclude that there is not much point in placing three or four centers in comparison with the two centers.

Let us introduce the approach to obtaining of membership functions of found fuzzy intervals according to the method, presented in [11, 14]. Present the parameter of fuzzy time "near  $\tilde{x}'$ ", which is among the neighboring basic values "near  $\tilde{x}_1$ " and "near  $\tilde{x}_2$ " with triangular membership functions  $\mu_{\tilde{x}_1}(x)$  and  $\mu_{\tilde{x}_2}(x)$ . Therefore, the borders of

membership function  $\mu_{\tilde{x}}(x)$  of fuzzy number «near  $\tilde{x}'$ » can be presented as linear combination of the left and right basic values' parameters:

$$\begin{cases} l^{L} = \frac{(x_{2} - x')}{(x_{2} - x_{1})} \times l_{1}^{L} + (1 - \frac{(x_{2} - x')}{(x_{2} - x_{1})}) \times l_{2}^{L}, \\ l^{R} = \frac{(x_{2} - x')}{(x_{2} - x_{1})} \times l_{1}^{R} + (1 - \frac{(x_{2} - x')}{(x_{2} - x_{1})}) \times l_{2}^{R}. \end{cases}$$
(8)

Neighboring membership functions are represented in Fig. 3:



Fig. 3. Definition of the triangular membership function

Let Fig. 4 shows the membership functions of basic values of linguistic variable «travel time» in the form of fuzzy number «near 9», «near 12», «near 18», «near 23», «near 25» and «near 30».



Fig. 4. Linguistic variable «travel time», its basic values' membership function

Let us found deviation borders for the number  $2\tilde{4}$ :  $l^L = 3$ ,  $l^R = 3$ , and for number  $2\tilde{6}$ :  $l^L = 4$ ,  $l^R = 4$ , according to expressions (8).

The proposed method can calculate membership function parameters  $\mu_{[\tilde{x}_l,\tilde{x}_r]}(x)$  of arbitrary fuzzy interval  $[\tilde{x}_l, \tilde{x}_r]$  in the form of trapezium:

$$\mu_{[\tilde{x}_{l},\tilde{x}_{r}]}(x) = \begin{cases} \mu_{\tilde{x}_{l}}(x), & \text{if } x \leq x_{l}; \\ 1, & \text{if } x_{l} \leq x \leq x_{r}; \\ \mu_{\tilde{x}_{r}}(x), & \text{if } x \geq x_{r}. \end{cases}$$

Figure 4 shows trapezoidal membership function, corresponding to the fuzzy interval  $[2\tilde{4}, 2\tilde{6}]$ .

We can conclude, that interval metrics between objects with the assigned values of membership function (time or distance) is obtained. Thus, if the membership function value is more than 0.8, the service time is within the interval [23.4, 26.8] with two service centers location, as shown in Fig. 4.

### 5 Conclusion and Future Work

The task of defining of optimal allocation of centres as the task of definition fuzzy set of strong connectivity of fuzzy interval graphs was considered. The definition method of strong connectivity fuzzy set is the generalization of Maghout's method for fuzzy no interval graphs. This method is effective for the graphs which have no homogeneous structure and no large dimensionality. The results of this method were used to solve the problem of choosing the location of centers on railway networks. The implementation of this method was carried out on the railway map of the Russian Federation. The data are taken from GIS «Object Land» [15]. It is necessary to notice, that the considered method allows define the best places of allocations of the service centers in case of their placing only into vertices of the graph (instead of on edges with generation of new vertices). In our future work, we are going to investigate the problem of placing absolute centers, that is, the problem of finding service centers in the case where it is possible to place centers on the edges of a fuzzy graph.

Acknowledgments. This work has been supported by the Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation under Project "Methods and means of decision making on base of dynamic geographic information models" (Project part, State task 2.918.2017), and the Russian Foundation for Basic Research, Project №. 15-07-00185a.

### References

- 1. Slocum, T., McMaster, R., Kessler, F., Howard, H.: Thematic Cartography and Geovisualization, 3rd edn. Pearson Education Limited, Harlow (2014)
- Fang, Y., Dhandas, V., Arriaga, E.: Spatial Thinking in Planning Practice. Portland State University, Portland (2014)
- Zhang, J., Goodchild, M.: Uncertainty in Geographical Information. Taylor & Francis Inc., New York (2002)
- Goodchild, M.: Modelling error in objects and fields. In: Goodchild, M., Gopal, S. (eds.) Accuracy of Spatial Databases, pp. 107–113. Taylor & Francis, Inc., Basingstoke (1989)

- 5. Rozenberg, I., Starostina, T.: Solving of Location Problems under Fuzzy Data with Using GIS. Nauchniy Mir, Moscow (2006)
- 6. Christofides, N.: Graph Theory: An Algorithmic Approach. Academic Press, London (1976)
- 7. Malczewski, J.: GIS and Multicriteria Decision Analysis. John Willey and Sons, New York (1999)
- 8. Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Operations on fuzzy numbers. Int. J. Syst. Sci. 6, 613-626 (1978)
- 9. Zimmermann, H.-J.: Fuzzy Set Theory and Its Applications. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston/Dordrecht/London (1991)
- Bozhenyuk, A., Belyakov, S., Gerasimenko, E., Savelyeva, M.: Fuzzy optimal allocation of service centers for sustainable transportation networks service. Intell. Syst. Ref. Libr. 113, 415–437 (2017)
- Bershtein, L., Bozhenyuk, A., Belyakov, S., Rozenberg, I.: Modeling optimal allocation centers in GIS by fuzzy base set of fuzzy interval graph. In: Proceedings of 28th European Conference on Modelling and Simulation, ECMS 2014, pp. 633–638. Brescia (2014)
- 12. Hansen, E.: Global Optimization Using Interval Analysis. Dekker, New York (1992)
- Bozheniuk, V., Bozhenyuk, A., Belyakov, S.: Optimum allocation of centers in fuzzy transportation networks with the largest vitality degree. In: Proceedings of 2015 Conference of the International Fuzzy System Association and the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, pp. 1006–1011. Atlantis Press (2015)
- 14. Bozhenyuk, A., Gerasimenko, E., Kacprzyk, J., Rozenberg, I.: Flows in Networks Under Fuzzy Conditions. Springer, Heidelberg (2017)
- 15. Rozenberg, I., Gittis, C., Svyatov, D.: Geoinformation system object land. In: Proceedings IPI RAN "Systems and Means of Informatics". Science, Moscow (2010)

# Measuring Uncertainty for Interval Belief Structures and its Application for Analyzing Weather Forecasts

Andrey G. Bronevich<sup> $(\boxtimes)$ </sup> and Natalia S. Spiridenkova

National Research University Higher School of Economics, Myasnitskaya 20, 101000 Moscow, Russia brone@mail.ru, nspiridenkova@mail.ru

**Abstract.** While analyzing statistical data we face with a problem of modeling uncertainty. One among well justified models is based on belief structures that allow us to describe imprecision and conflict in information. We use this model for analyzing contradiction in weather forecasts. For this aim we build several measures of contradiction based on the introduced imprecision index and the disjunctive aggregation rule for interval belief structures. We use these characteristics for analyzing weather forecasts.

Keywords: Interval belief structures  $\cdot$  Inclusion indices  $\cdot$  Wasserstein metric  $\cdot$  Measures of contradiction

### 1 Introduction

Weather forecast is an interval of possible temperature changes during a day (or more exactly during night, morning, midday, or evening). These forecasts are made several days before the target day. This information can be easily aggregated using belief structures: forecasts are focal elements and the value of the mass function gives us the degree of our beliefs that a given forecast is true.

Because belief functions can describe information with different nature, the methods of evaluating uncertainty can be also different. Thus, we should adopt them for a solving problem. In our investigation we evaluate the amount of contradiction among information sources based on the introduced imprecision index and the disjunctive rule for interval belief structures, and on related to them inclusion indices and the introduced distances between interval belief structures.

The paper has the following structure. We remind at first the basic definitions from the theory of belief structures, and then we discuss types of uncertainty and their evaluation for interval belief structures. The remained part of the paper is devoted to analyzing weather forecasts and our conclusions.

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_25

## 2 Interval Belief Structures for Describing Weather Forecasts

Let X be the universal set and let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a system of its subsets. By definition [15], a tuple  $BS = (\mathcal{A}, m)$ , where  $m : \mathcal{A} \to [0, 1]$ , is called a *finitely defined belief* structure, if m(A) > 0 for a finite number of elements A in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\sum_{A \in \mathcal{A}} m(A) = 1$ .

The function m is called the *basic belief assignment* (bba) or *mass function*. If m(A) > 0 for  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , then the set A is called a *focal element*. Because in this paper only finitely defined belief structures are considered, the term "finitely defined" will be often omitted in the sequel. The set of all focal elements for a belief structure is called the *body of evidence*. We usually associate with any belief structure set functions

$$Bel(B) = \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A} | A \subseteq B} m(A), Pl(B) = \sum_{A \in \mathcal{A} | A \cap B = \emptyset} m(A),$$

where B can be an arbitrary subset of X, called the *belief function* and the *plausibility function* respectively.

In the next we will consider interval finitely defined belief structures. In this case  $X = \mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  consists of segments, i.e. every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  is of the type A = [a, b], where  $a \leq b$ .<sup>1</sup> In the paper the set of all possible finitely defined interval belief structures is denoted by  $\mathcal{BS}$ . Assume that every focal element in a  $BS = (\mathcal{A}, m)$  is of the type [a, b], where a = b, then BS is called *Bayesian*, and the set of all such belief structures is denoted by  $\mathcal{BBS}$ .

Assume that  $BS_1 = (\mathcal{A}, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathcal{A}, m_2)$  in  $\mathcal{BS}$ , then their convex sum  $aBS_1 + (1-a)BS_2$  for  $a \in [0, 1]$  is the belief structure  $BS = (\mathcal{A}, m)$  with bba  $m(A) = am_1(A) + (1-a)m_2(A)$  for all  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .

Assume that we have the forecast of temperature for the next midday, and it certifies that the temperature will be between 12 °C and 16 °C. Then we can describe this information by the segment [12, 16]. In the next we will have forecasts for a target day made during a week. For example, assume that we should analyze forecasts of the weather in Moscow on the 1st of December, 2016, made during seven days before the target date, which are shown in Table 1.

Table 1.	Temperature	forecasts

$A_7$	$A_6$	$A_5$	$A_4$	$A_3$	$A_2$	$A_1$	Actual
							temperature
[-10, -9]	[-11, -6]	[-11, -4]	[-8, -3]	[-9, -3]	[-10, -5]	[-9, -4]	[-7, -6]

Obviously, forecast  $A_7$  made seven days before the target day should be less precise than  $A_1$  made one day before the target day. We can aggregate this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Smets considers also in [17] interval belief structures, but they are not finitely defined.

information using the belief structure assigning values  $m(A_i)$ , i = 1, ..., 7. The simplest way is to define  $m(A_i) = 1/7$ , i = 1, ..., 7. If we try to take in account our beliefs in forecasts, then obviously  $m(A_1) > m(A_2) > ... > m(A_7)$ . For example, let  $m(A_{i+1}) = qm(A_i)$ , i = 1, ..., 6, where  $q \in [0, 1)$  is a discount of our beliefs, then  $\sum_{i=1}^{7} m(A_i) = m(A_1) \sum_{i=0}^{6} q^i = 1$  and  $m(A_i) = (1-q)q^i/(1-q^7)$ .

# 3 Types of Uncertainty Described by Interval Belief Structures

It is well known [1,11] that belief structures model two types of uncertainty: conflict and imprecision (non-specificity). In our problem we observe conflict if we can find contradictory forecasts in the body of evidence. For example, forecasts  $A_7 = [-10, -9]$  and  $A_4 = [-8, -3]$  are contradictory because they give us absolutely different intervals of temperature. Thus, one can decide that a belief structure  $(\mathcal{A}, m)$  with a body of evidence  $\mathfrak{M}$  does not contain conflict iff  $\bigcap_{A_i \in \mathfrak{M}} A_i \neq \emptyset$ . This definition seems to be not good for weather forecasts, because intuitively forecasts  $A_3 = [-9, -3]$  and  $A_2 = [-10, -5]$  are also contradictory,

Intuitively forecasts  $A_3 = [-9, -3]$  and  $A_2 = [-10, -3]$  are also contradictory, because  $A_2$  predicts lower temperature than  $A_3$ . Thus, it seems that we don't observe conflict in the body of evidence  $\mathfrak{M}$  iff  $A_i \subseteq A_j$  or  $A_j \subseteq A_i$  for every  $A_i, A_j \in \mathfrak{M}$ , i.e. the set  $\mathfrak{M}$  is a linear ordered w.r.t. inclusion relation  $\subseteq$ . The third possible interpretation is that each forecast  $A_i$  gives us the exact interval of temperatures during the whole day (24 h). In this case predictions  $A_1, ..., A_7$  are not contradictory iff  $A_1 = ... = A_7$ . We will see later how these three interpretations of conflict can be implemented for defining different conflict measures.

In our problem imprecision is explained by the fact that forecasts usually do not give us the exact value of temperature, but the interval of its possible values. The simplest idea for measuring imprecision of forecasts is to use the Lebesgue measure V for measurable subsets of  $\mathbb{R}$ . It gives us for a segment [a, b] the value V([a, b]) = b - a. Following the idea for constructing linear imprecision indices [2] or the generalized Hartley measure [5], we can define the imprecision index  $\nu_I$ for a interval belief structure  $BS = (\mathcal{A}, m)$  as

$$\nu_I(BS) = \sum_{A_i \in \mathcal{A}} m(A_i) V(A_i).$$

Let us consider the problem of measuring contradiction between belief structures. Obviously, we can define any belief structure  $BS = (\mathcal{A}, m)$  describing its body of evidence  $\mathfrak{M}$  and giving values  $m(A), A \in \mathfrak{M}$ . Thus, any  $BS \in \mathcal{BS}$ can be defined by  $BS = (\mathfrak{M}, m)$ . Assume that we have two belief structures  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$ . For example, these belief structures can aggregate forecasts for the same target day but obtained from different research organizations or these structures may describe forecasts for the same day but made in different intervals of time. For example,  $BS_1$  may be the aggregation of forecasts  $A_7$ ,  $A_6$ ,  $A_5$ , and  $BS_2$  may be the aggregation of next ones. Let us
answer the question, when there is no contradiction between  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$ ? Consider first the simplest case, when  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_2$  are singletons, i.e.  $\mathfrak{M}_1 = \{A\}$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_2 = \{B\}$ . Following the same arguments, as we discuss conflict within belief structures, we can come to the following possibilities: there is no contradiction iff (a) A = B; (b)  $A \subseteq B$  or  $B \subseteq A$ ; (c)  $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ . Let us recognize that any among given definitions can be appropriate for a solving problem. To generalize given definitions for any pair  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$ , we should extend the relation  $\subseteq$  to the set  $\mathcal{BS}$ . Let us remind that such relation was introduced in [6] and called specialization.

**Definition 1.** Let  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  be belief structures then we say that  $BS_1$  is the specialization of  $BS_2$  and write  $BS_1 \subseteq BS_2$  if there is a mapping  $m : \mathfrak{M}_1 \times \mathfrak{M}_2 \to [0, 1]$  such that

(1)  $\sum_{\substack{A \in \mathfrak{M}_1 \\ B \in \mathfrak{M}_2}} m(A, B) = m_2(B) \text{ for every } B \in \mathfrak{M}_2;$ (2)  $\sum_{\substack{B \in \mathfrak{M}_2 \\ M(A, B) = 0}} m(A, B) = m_1(A) \text{ for every } A \in \mathfrak{M}_1;$ (3)  $m(A, B) = 0 \text{ if } A \not\subseteq B.$ 

Using Definition 1, we can give the following possible descriptions, when there is no contradiction between  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$ : (a)  $BS_1 \subseteq BS_2$  and  $BS_2 \subseteq BS_1$ ; (b)  $BS_1 \subseteq BS_2$  or  $BS_2 \subseteq BS_1$ ; (c) there is a belief structure  $BS_3 = (\mathfrak{M}_3, m_3)$  such that  $BS_3 \subseteq BS_1$  and  $BS_3 \subseteq BS_2$ .

We will describe and analize some known measures of contradiction in the next section.

## 4 Basic Contradiction Measures in the Theory of Belief Functions

There are many approaches for evaluating contradiction between belief functions, but, in our opinion, since most of them are defined for a finite universal set X, they are not well suited for interval belief structures. In this case the set  $\mathcal{A}$ consists of all possible subsets of X also denoted by  $2^X$ . In the next we will consider belief structures  $BS_i = (2^X, m_i)$  with their corresponding belief  $Bel_i$ and plausibility functions  $Pl_i$ , i = 1, 2.

**Aggregation based approaches** use some aggregation rules for belief structures. The firstly introduced contradiction measure is derived from the classical conjunctive rule [16]:  $BS_3 = (2^X, m_3)$  is the conjunction of  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$  if  $m_3(C) = \sum_{A \cap B = C} m(A)m(B), C \in 2^X$ , and we evaluate the contradiction using the value  $m_3(\emptyset)$ . This conjunction is used in the theory of belief functions if sources of information are independent. If we cannot use this assumption, then it is justifiable to use conjunctive rules of the type  $m_3(C) = \sum_{A \cap B = C} m(A, B)$ , where the joint belief assignment  $m : 2^X \times 2^X \to [0, 1]$  obeys the conditions:  $(1) \sum_{A \in 2^X} m(A, B) = m_2(B)$  for every  $B \in 2^X$ ;  $(2) \sum_{B \in 2^X} m(A, B) = m_1(A)$  for every  $A \in 2^X$ , and if we don't know the interaction between information sources, we take the smallest possible value  $m_3(\emptyset)$  as the amount of contradiction.

It is also possible to evaluate contradiction using the disjunctive rule [8]. Let  $BS_3 = (2^X, m_3)$  be the belief structure generated by the classical disjunctive rule, then  $m_3(C) = \sum_{A \cup B = C} m(A)m(B)$ ,  $C \in 2^X$ . Assume that contradiction between belief structures is transformed to non-specificity in  $BS_i$ , and we evaluate the amount of non-specificity in  $BS_i$  by an imprecision index  $\nu_I(BS_i) = \sum_{A \in 2^X} m(A) |A|$ . Then the amount of contradiction between  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$  is not higher than  $\max_{i=1,2} (\nu_I(BS_3) - \nu_I(BS_i))$ . Analogously, the classical disjunctive rule is used, when sources of information are independent. In general case we use the disjunctive rule based on joint belief assignment m of  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$ . In this case we define  $m_3(C) = \sum_{A \cup B = C} m(A, B)$ . In case of unknown interaction between belief structures the disjunction  $BS_3$  can be chosen with the smallest non-specificity.

Metric based approaches evaluate contradiction using some metric on belief structures [9]. One among popular metrics is

$$d_J(BS_1, BS_2) = \sqrt{0.5 \sum_{A, B \in 2^X} d_{A,B} \left( m_1(A) - m_2(A) \right) \left( m_1(B) - m_2(B) \right)},$$

where  $d_{A,B}$  are called Jaccard indices and defined by  $d_{A,B} = |A \cap B|/|A \cup B|$ for  $A, B \neq \emptyset$ , and  $d_{\emptyset,\emptyset} = 0$ . Another metric is based on plausibility functions

$$d_{Pl}(BS_1, BS_2) = 1 - \frac{1}{r_1 r_2} \sum_{A \in 2^X} Pl_1(A) Pl_2(A),$$

$$\overline{\sum Pl_2^2(A)} \quad i = 1, 2$$

where  $r_i = \sqrt{\sum_{A \in 2^x} Pl_i^2(A)}, i = 1, 2.$ 

Lui [13] proposes a contradiction measure, in which the distance between pignistic probabilities is used. For belief structures  $BS_i$ , i = 1, 2, pignistic probabilities are defined by  $P_i(\{x\}) = \sum_{x \in B} m(B)/|B|$ , where  $x \in X$ . Then for evaluating contradiction we use the distance  $d(P_1, P_2) = 0.5 \sum_{x \in X} |P_1(\{x\}) - P_2(\{x\})|$ . Analogously, we can evaluate contradiction [4] using values of plausibility functions on singletones:  $Con_{cf}(BS_1, BS_2) = \sum_{x \in X} |Pl_1(\{x\}) - Pl_2(\{x\})|$ .

Let us analyze when according to above contradiction measures belief structures  $BS_i = (\mathfrak{M}_i, m_i)$  are assumed to be non-contradictory. If we use the contradiction measure based on the classical conjunctive rule, then the amount of contradiction is equal to zero iff  $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$  for every  $A \in \mathfrak{M}_1$  and  $B \in \mathfrak{M}_2$ , thus, in this case the amount of contradiction is not necessarily equal to zero if  $BS_1 = BS_2$ . If we measure contradiction based on all possible conjunctive rules, then sources of information are non-contradictory iff there is a belief structure BS with  $BS \subseteq BS_1$  and  $BS \subseteq BS_2$ . If we measure contradiction using disjunctive rules by  $\max_{i=1,2} (\nu_I(BS_3) - \nu_I(BS_i))$ , then we have non-contradictory sources of information iff  $BS_1 = BS_2$ . Obviously, we have the same property if we measure contradiction by some metric on the set of all belief structures. Of course, the choice of a contradiction measure should be justified by an application. Some of above measures can be generalized for interval belief structures, but they do not look as good measures of contradiction. For example, if we use the contradiction measure based on the classical conjunctive rule for intervals, then this measure is equal to zero if intervals have empty intersection, and it is equal to one otherwise. This means that this measure is not stable to small changes in processing data (see [12] how to handle this problem for finite case).

## 5 The Disjunction and Inclusion Indices of Interval Belief Structures

The disjunction of interval belief structures looks like their union. The formal definition of this concept is given in [8]. We will give the definition of disjunction of belief structures assuming that the resulting disjunction should have the smallest imprecision. Because the disjunction of interval belief structures has to be also an interval belief structure, we define the disjunction of intervals  $[a_i, b_i]$ , where  $a_i \leq b_i$ , i = 1, 2, as  $[a_1, b_1] \cup_I [a_2, b_2] = [\min\{a_1, a_2\}, \max\{b_1, b_2\}]$ .

**Definition 2.** Let  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  be in  $\mathcal{BS}$ , then the disjunction  $BS_3 = BS_1 \cup BS_2$  of  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$  is an interval belief structure  $BS_3 = (\mathfrak{M}_3, m_3)$  with the body of evidence  $\mathfrak{M}_3 = \{A \cup_I B | A \in \mathfrak{M}_1, B \in \mathfrak{M}_2\}$  and  $m_3$  is defined as a solution of the linear programming problem:

$$\nu_I(BS_3) \to \min,$$
 (1)

where  $m_3(C) = \sum_{A \cup_I B = C} m(A, B), C \in \mathfrak{M}_3$ , and the set function m obeys conditions (1), (2), and (3) from Definition 1.

Remark 1. The interval belief structure  $BS_3$  from Definition 2 is not uniquely defined in general. But this does not influence on our conclusions, because we will use in the next only the value  $\nu_I(BS_3)$ .

**Lemma 1.** Let  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  be in  $\mathcal{BS}$ , and let  $BS_3 = BS_1 \cup BS_2$ . Then (1)  $BS_i \subseteq BS_3$ , i = 1, 2; (2)  $\nu_I(BS_i) \leq \nu_I(BS_3)$ , i = 1, 2; (3)  $\nu_I(BS_2) = \nu_I(BS_3)$  iff  $BS_1 \subseteq BS_2$ .

**Definition 3.** Let  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  be in  $\mathcal{BS}$ . Then the inclusion index  $\nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2)$  is defined by

$$\nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2) = \nu_I(BS_1 \cup BS_2) - \nu_I(BS_2).$$

Let us analyze first the properties of the introduced inclusion index, when bodies of evidence of  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  are singletons, i.e.  $\mathfrak{M}_i = \{[a_i, b_i]\}, i = 1, 2$ . Then we identify  $BS_1$  and  $BS_2$  with segments  $[a_1, b_1]$  and  $[a_2, b_2]$ . Thus, we can write

$$\nu([a_1, b_1] \subseteq [a_2, b_2]) = \max\{b_1, b_2\} - \min\{a_1, a_2\} - (b_2 - a_2).$$
(2)

Because

$$\max\{b_1, b_2\} = 0.5 \left( |b_1 - b_2| + b_1 + b_2 \right), \quad \min\{a_1, a_2\} = 0.5 \left( a_1 + a_2 - |a_1 - a_2| \right),$$

the formula (2) can be rewritten as

$$\nu([a_1, b_1] \subseteq [a_2, b_2]) = 0.5 (|b_1 - b_2| + |a_1 - a_2| + (b_1 - b_2) - (a_1 - a_2)).$$

**Lemma 2.** Let  $d_I : \mathcal{A} \times \mathcal{A} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$d_I([a_1, b_1], [a_2, b_2]) = \nu([a_1, b_1] \subseteq [a_2, b_2]) + \nu([a_2, b_2] \subseteq [a_1, b_1]).$$

Then  $d_I$  is a metric on  $\mathcal{A}$ , and

$$d_I([a_1, b_1], [a_2, b_2]) = |b_1 - b_2| + |a_1 - a_2|.$$

**Proposition 1.** Let  $d : \mathcal{BS} \times \mathcal{BS} \to \mathbb{R}$  be defined by

$$d(BS_1, BS_2) = \nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2) + \nu(BS_2 \subseteq BS_1),$$

Then d is a metric on  $\mathcal{BS}$ , and its values for any  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  can be found as a solution of the linear programming problem:

$$d(BS_1, BS_2) = \sum_{A \in \mathfrak{M}_1} \sum_{B \in \mathfrak{M}_2} m(A, B) d_I(A, B) \to \min,$$
(3)

where the set function m obeys conditions (1), (2), and (3) from Definition 1.

#### 6 Measuring Uncertainty Based on the Inclusion Index

In this section we propose functionals for measuring contradiction between interval belief structures based on the considered inclusion index. These functionals reflect three types of possible interpretations of contradiction in decision problems. We will introduce these functionals and illustrate their properties for the case when the considered belief structures can be identified with segments. These functionals are

(1) 
$$Con^{(1)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0.5 (\nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2) + \nu(BS_2 \subseteq BS_1));$$

(2) 
$$Con^{(2)}(BS_1, BS_2) = \max \{ \nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2), \nu(BS_2 \subseteq BS_1) \};$$

(3)  $Con^{(3)}(BS_1, BS_2) = \min \{\nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2), \nu(BS_2 \subseteq BS_1)\};$ 

(4) 
$$Con^{(4)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 2 \inf_{BS \in \mathcal{BS}} \max \{\nu(BS \subseteq BS_1), \nu(BS \subseteq BS_2)\}.$$

Noticing that  $\nu(BS_1 \subseteq BS_2) = 0.5d(BS_1, BS_2) - 0.5(\nu_I(BS_2) - \nu_I(BS_1))$ we can express  $Con^{(k)}(BS_1, BS_2)$ , k = 1, 2, 3 through the metric d on  $\mathcal{BS}$  as

$$Con^{(1)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0.5d(BS_1, BS_2),$$
  

$$Con^{(2)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0.5d(BS_1, BS_2) + 0.5 |\nu_I(BS_1) - \nu_I(BS_2)|,$$
  

$$Con^{(3)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0.5d(BS_1, BS_2) - 0.5 |\nu_I(BS_1) - \nu_I(BS_2)|.$$

The computation of  $Con^{(4)}(BS_1, BS_2)$  can be simplified by using the following lemma.

Lemma 3.  $Con^{(4)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 2 \inf_{BS \in \mathcal{BBS}} \max \{\nu(BS \subseteq BS_1), \nu(BS \subseteq BS_2)\}.$ 

The next result shows how introduced functionals recognize types of contradiction.

Proposition 2. The following statements are true:

- (1)  $Con^{(1)}$  and  $Con^{(2)}$  are metrics on  $\mathcal{BS}$ , in particular,  $Con^{(i)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0$ for  $BS_1, BS_2 \in \mathcal{BS}$ , i = 1, 2, iff  $BS_1 = BS_2$ ;
- (2)  $Con^{(3)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0$  for  $BS_1, BS_2 \in \mathcal{BS}$  iff  $BS_1 \subseteq BS_2$  or  $BS_2 \subseteq BS_1$ ;
- (3)  $Con^{(4)}(BS_1, BS_2) = 0$  for  $BS_1, BS_2 \in \mathcal{BS}$  iff there is a  $BS \in \mathcal{BS}$  such that  $BS \subseteq BS_1$  and  $BS \subseteq BS_2$ .

Remark 2. Notice that bbas  $m_1$  and  $m_2$  in (1) can be viewed as probability distributions on  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  and  $\mathfrak{M}_2$ , respectively. Therefore, d is the Wasserstein metric [14] on  $\mathcal{BS}$ . The metric (1) has many names in the literature [9] like Kantorovich-Rubinshtein metric, Wasserstein metric, Mallows metric, Earth Mover's Distance, but it has been firstly introduced in [10]. Metrics or distances play an important role in the theory of belief functions (see the detail review in [2]).

## 7 Measuring Conflict Within an Interval Belief Structure

We will propose here the general approach for defining conflict measures based on contradiction measures. We should define first the set of all possible interval belief structures without conflict. For example, assume that we have the following possible choices for sets of interval belief structures without conflict:

- (a)  $\mathcal{BS}^{(1)}$  consists of all possible belief structures  $BS = (\mathfrak{M}, m)$  in  $\mathcal{BS}$  whose  $\mathfrak{M} = \{[a, b]\};$
- (b) BS<sup>(2)</sup> consists of all possible belief structures BS = (M, m) in BS whose M is such that [a<sub>1</sub>, b<sub>1</sub>] ⊆ [a<sub>2</sub>, b<sub>2</sub>] or [a<sub>2</sub>, b<sub>2</sub>] ⊆ [a<sub>1</sub>, b<sub>1</sub>] for every [a<sub>1</sub>, b<sub>1</sub>], [a<sub>2</sub>, b<sub>2</sub>] ∈ M;
- (c)  $\mathcal{BS}^{(3)}$  consists of all possible belief structures  $B = (\mathfrak{M}, m)$  in  $\mathcal{BS}$  whose  $\mathfrak{M}$  is such that  $\bigcap_{[a_i, b_i] \in \mathfrak{M}} [a_i, b_i] \neq \emptyset$ .

Then we can use the metric  $d^*$  on  $\mathcal{BS}$   $(Con^{(1)} \text{ or } Con^{(2)})$  to find the closest interval belief structure in  $\mathcal{BS}^{(k)}$ , k = 1, 2, 3, to a chosen  $BS \in \mathcal{BS}$ , and the distance gives us the evaluation of conflict in BS. Thus, it is possible to define indices of conflict by

$$\nu_C^{(k)}(BS) = \inf\left\{d^*(BS, BS')|BS' \in \mathcal{BS}^{(k)}\right\}.$$
(4)

Obviously, the optimization problem (4) depends on the choice of the set  $\mathcal{BS}^{(k)}$  and the metric  $d^*$ . This explains that there are many possible ways to solve it. In this paper we don't try to analyze it in detail, but give some hints how these problems can be solved.

- (a) if we compute  $\nu_C^{(1)}(BS)$  and  $BS = (\mathfrak{M}, m)$ , then a good approximation for  $BS' \in \mathcal{BS}^{(1)}$  that gives the infinum in (4) is  $[a^*, b^*]$ , in which  $a^* = \sum_{[a_i, b_i] \in \mathfrak{M}} a_i m([a_i, b_i])$  and  $b^* = \sum_{[a_i, b_i] \in \mathfrak{M}} b_i m([a_i, b_i])$ . Then it is possible to apply any search method for finding two optimal parameters.
- (b) if we compute  $\nu_C^{(2)}(BS)$ , then the set  $\mathcal{BS}^{(k)}$  consists of so called consonant belief structures. In this case the corresponding belief (plausibility) function is called the necessity (possibility) measure. The problem of finding the optimal approximation of belief structures by consonant belief structures has been intensively analyzed in the literature, so we can try to use known approaches [3,7] for solving (4).
- (c) In this case the optimization problem can be simplified as follows:

$$Q(BS) = \inf \left\{ \nu(BS^* \subseteq BS) | BS^* \in \mathcal{BS}^{(4)} \right\},\$$

where  $\mathcal{BS}^{(4)}$  consists of all possible belief structures  $BS^* = (\{[x, x]\}, m^*)$ , and  $\nu_C^{(3)}(BS) = 0.5 Q(BS)$  for  $d^* = Con^{(1)}$ , and  $\nu_C^{(3)}(BS) = Q(BS)$  if we take  $d^* = Con^{(2)}$ .

### 8 Testing Contradictory Measures on Actual Weather Forecasts

Let us notice first that every weather forecast in our data set is precise, i.e. the left point  $a_i$  of the segment  $A_i = [a_i, b_i]$  should give us the lowest night temperature, and the point  $b_i$  should give us the highest day temperature. This implies that in computations we can use contradiction measures  $Con^{(1)}$  and  $Con^{(2)}$ , i.e. forecasts  $A_i$  and  $A_j$  are not contradictory iff  $A_i = A_j$ . Synopticians say that the forecast  $A_i = [a_i, b_i]$  for the target day  $A_0 = [a_0, b_0]$  is accurate if predicted temperatures differ from actual temperatures not greater than three degrees. Thus, the forecast  $A_i$  is accurate if  $Con^{(1)}(A_i, A_0) \leq 3$ , i.e. we can evaluate the accuracy of forecasts by contradiction measures  $Con^{(1)}$  and  $Con^{(2)}$ . Additionally, we have prior information that the forecast  $A_1$  is accurate approximately in 95% of observations, forecasts  $A_2$  and  $A_3$  are accurate approximately in 90% of observations,

and forecasts  $A_4, ..., A_7$  are accurate approximately in 80% of observations. This information should be also taken into consideration for aggregating forecasts in belief structures. One way consists in the following. At first consider the case when we measure contradiction between the actual temperature described by  $A_0$ and forecasts  $A_1, ..., A_7$ , assume in addition that our confidence in each forecast is the same, i.e. each forecast is accurate with the same probability. Then we can aggregate them to a belief structure  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$ , where  $\mathfrak{M}_1 = \{A_1, ..., A_7\}$ and  $m_1(A_i) = 1/7$ , i = 1, ..., 7, and we can measure the contradiction between  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  and  $BS_0 = (\mathfrak{M}_0, m_0)$ , where  $\mathfrak{M}_0 = \{A_0\}$  and  $m_0(A_0) = 1$ , using

$$Con^{(1)}(BS_0, BS_1) = 0.5 \sum_{i=1}^{7} m_1(A_i) d_I(A_0, A_1).$$

Consider the general case, when our confidence in forecasts  $A_i$  are described by probabilities  $p_i$ , i = 1, ..., 7, and assume that  $1 > p_1 \ge p_2 \ge ... \ge p_7$ . In this case consider auxiliary forecasts  $A'_i$  consisting of two segments  $A_i$  and  $A_0$ in which the forecasts  $A_i$  and  $A_0$  are chosen randomly:  $A_i$  with probability  $\alpha_i$ and  $A_0$  with probability  $(1 - \alpha_i)$ . Such a forecast can be modeled by a belief structure ( $\{A_i, A_0\}, m^{(i)}$ ), where  $m^{(i)}(A_i) = \alpha_i$  and  $m^{(i)}(A_0) = 1 - \alpha_i$ . Then the probability of accuracy for this forecast is  $\alpha_i p_i + (1 - \alpha_i)$ . It is possible to choose  $\alpha_i$ such that  $\alpha_i p_i + (1 - \alpha_i) = q$ , for example, if  $q = p_1$ , then  $\alpha_i = (1 - p_1)/(1 - p_i)$ , i = 1, ..., 7. We can aggregate such auxiliary forecasts by a belief structure BS = $(\mathfrak{M}, m)$ , where  $\mathfrak{M} = \{A_0, A_1, ..., A_7\}$  and  $m(A) = \frac{1}{7} \sum_{i=1}^{7} m^{(i)}(A)$ , in which each forecast  $A'_i$  has the same confidence. Let us observe that BS can be represented as a convex sum

$$BS = \alpha BS_1 + (1 - \alpha)BS_0,$$

in which  $\alpha = \frac{1}{7} \sum_{i=1}^{7} \alpha_i$ ,  $BS_0$  is the belief structure described above, and  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$  is the belief structure with the body of evidence  $\mathfrak{M}_1 = \{A_1, ..., A_7\}$  and

$$m_1(A_i) = \frac{1}{1-p_i} \bigg/ \sum_{k=1}^7 \frac{1}{1-p_i}.$$

Obviously,  $BS_1$  can be considered as the aggregation of forecasts  $A_1, ..., A_7$  for general case, when probabilities  $p_i$  can be different. Assume that  $p_1 = 0.95$ ,  $p_2 = p_3 = 0.9$ , and  $p_i = 0.8$ , i = 4, ..., 7. Then the obtained formula for  $m_1$  gives us values:

$$m_1(A_1) = 1/3, \ m_1(A_2) = m_1(A_3) = 1/6, \ m_1(A_i) = 1/12, \ i = 4, ..., 7.$$
 (5)

When we analyze our statistical data, we observe the following regularity. If we have the high conflict between forecasts made during the week before the target day, then the last forecast was very often not accurate. We have checked this hypothesis using the following functionals: 1. Contradiction between the last forecast and previous forecasts. In this case we compute contradiction measures  $\xi_{2,3}^{(k)} = Con^{(k)}(BS_2, BS_3)$ , where k = 1, 2, and the belief structure  $BS_2 = (\mathfrak{M}_2, m_2)$  aggregates forecasts  $A_2, ..., A_7$ , and the belief structure  $BS_3$  describes the last forecast. Then  $\mathfrak{M}_2 = \{A_2, ..., A_7\}$  and

$$m_2(A_2) = m_2(A_3) = 1/4, m_2(A_i) = 1/8, i = 4, ..., 7.$$

- 2. Contradiction among forecasts  $A_1, \ldots, A_7$ . In this case we describe these forecasts by the belief structure  $BS_1 = (\mathfrak{M}_1, m_1)$ , where  $\mathfrak{M}_1 = \{A_1, ..., A_7\}$  and  $m_1$  is defined by (4). After that we compute the functional  $\xi_1^{(k)} = \nu_C^{(1)}(BS_1)$ , where k shows the choice of  $d^* = Con^{(k)}$ , k = 1, 2. 3. We measure the contradiction  $\xi_{0,3}^{(k)} = Con^{(k)}(BS_0, BS_3)$ , k = 1, 2, between
- the actual temperature and the forecast made one day before the target day.
- 4. We estimate correlation coefficients between characteristics, described in items 1–2, and accuracy of the last forecast defined by measures  $Con^{(k)}(BS_0, BS_2), k = 1, 2$ . These correlation coefficients are given in Table 2. We see that all estimated correlation coefficients are positive; this means that higher contradiction among forecasts implies lower probability of accuracy for the last forecast. This dependence is detected more explicitly by the functional  $\xi_1^{(2)}$ , that gives the greatest correlation coefficient.

 Table 2. Correlation coefficients

	$\xi_{2,3}^{(1)}$	$\xi_{2,3}^{(2)}$	$\xi_1^{(1)}$	$\xi_1^{(2)}$
$\xi_{0,3}^{(1)}$	0,462	0,506	0,526	$0,\!613$
$\xi_{0,3}^{(2)}$	0,373	0,443	0,464	0,700



**Fig. 1.** The joint distribution of  $\xi_{0,3}^{(1)}$  and  $\xi_{2,3}^{(1)}$ 

Let us notice that it is possible to use these functionals in order to detect if the probability that the forecasts will be accurate is high. As shown in Fig. 1, even the plot built not on the optimal functional  $\xi_{2,3}^{(1)}$  represents evidentially the dependence of contradiction between the last forecast and the actual weather on the contradiction between the last forecast and previous forecasts.

## 9 Conclusion

Finitely defined interval belief structures potentially have many applications for interval data processing. We have shown how they can be used for analyzing weather forecasts. For this purpose, it can be very helpful to apply these functionals for measuring conflict, contradiction with the underlying inclusion indices and metrics introduced in the paper.

## References

- Bronevich, A.G., Klir, G.J.: Measures of uncertainty for imprecise probabilities: an axiomatic approach. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 51, 365–390 (2010)
- Bronevich, A.G., Lepskiy, A.E.: Imprecision indices: axiomatic, properties and applications. Int. J. Gen. Syst. 44(7–8), 812–832 (2015)
- Cuzzolin, F.: L<sub>p</sub>-consonant approximations of belief functions. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 22, 420–436 (2014)
- Daniel, M.: Belief functions: a revision of plausibility conflict and pignistic conflict. In: Liu, W., Subrahmanian, V.S., Wijsen, J. (eds.) SUM 2013. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 8078, pp. 190–203. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: A note on measures of specificity for fuzzy sets. Int. J. Gen. Syst. 10(4), 279–283 (1985)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: A set-theoretic view of belief functions: logical operations and approximations by fuzzy sets. Int. J. Gen. Syst. 12(3), 193–226 (1986)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Consonant approximations of belief functions. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 4, 419–449 (1990)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: On the combination of evidence in various mathematical frameworks. In: Flamm, J., Luisi, T. (eds.) Reliability Data Collection and Analysis, pp. 213–241. ECSC, EEC, EAFC, Brussels (1992)
- Jousselme, A.-L., Maupin, P.: Distances in evidence theory: comprehensive survey and generalizations. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 5, 118–145 (2012)
- Kantorovich, L.V.: On mass moving. Dokl. Akad. Nauk USSR 37(7–8), 227–229 (1942)
- 11. Klir, G.J.: Uncertainty and Information: Foundations of Generalized Information Theory. Wiley-Interscience, Hoboken (2006)
- Lepskiy, A.E.: About relation between the measure of conflict and decreasing of ignorance in theory of evidence. In: Proceedings of 8th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology (EUSFLAT 2013), pp. 355–362. Atlantis Press, Amsterdam, Beijing, Paris (2013)
- Liu, W.: Analysing the degree of conflict among belief functions. Artif. Intell. 170, 909–924 (2006)
- Rubner, Y., Tomasi, C., Guibas, L.J.: The Earth mover's distance as a metric for image retrieval. Int. J. Comput. Vis. 40(2), 99–121 (2000)

- 15. Shafer, G.: A Mathematical Theory of Evidence. Princeton University Press, Princeton (1976)
- Smets, P.: The combination of evidence in the transferable belief model. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 12, 447–458 (1990)
- Smets, P.: Belief functions on real numbers. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 40(3), 181–223 (2005)

# Generalized Net Model of Fingerprint Recognition with Intuitionistic Fuzzy Evaluations

Veselina Bureva, Plamena Yovcheva, and Sotir Sotirov<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Intelligent Systems Laboratory, University "Prof. Dr. Assen Zlatarov", Burgas, Bulgaria {vbureva, ssotirov}@btu.bg, plamena.iovcheva@abv.bg

**Abstract.** In the paper, a method for evaluation of fingerprint equivalence obtained in a fingerprint recognition system is proposed. For the assessment of the equivalence of the respective assessment units, the theory of intuitionistic fuzzy sets is used. The obtained intuitionistic fuzzy estimations reflect on the recognition of the system. We also consider a degree of uncertainty when the information is not enough. In this case we use threshold values for the minimum and maximum of the degree of membership and non-membership. For the description of the entire process, we use generalized nets model.

Keywords: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets  $\cdot$  Fingerprints  $\cdot$  Fingerprint system  $\cdot$  Generalized nets

#### 1 Introduction

The most popular biometric method is based on comparing fingerprints, using two wide spread techniques. The first takes and compares the details of lines crests, where they diverge and interrupt. The second technique measures and compares the directions of the lines of the fingerprint, e.g. changes, crests and arches, their width and depth and the gnarls also [13, 18]. Some difficulties are possible to occur in automatic recognition, when the fingers are dirty, wet or oil covered. Besides, the fingerprint depends on the specific usage of the hand in some professions, such as building, where wounding, abrasion or some other similar changes of the hand's skin are frequently occurred. Also when the skin is getting older some changes are possible in the lines of the fingerprint. However, this is fixable if periodically the data base is updated, which is important for comparing identification. For the recognition to be sure, the necessary data base, which the comparison will be made with, needs to be of very high quality.

**Intuitionistic fuzzy sets** defined by Atanassov [2, 4] represent an extension of the concept of fuzzy sets, exhibiting function  $\mu_A(x)$  defining the membership of an element x to set A, evaluated in the interval [0; 1]. The difference between fuzzy sets and intuitionistic fuzzy sets (IFSs) is in the presence of a second function  $v_A(x)$  defining the non-membership of element x to set A, where  $\mu_A(x) \in [0; 1]$ ,  $v_A(x) \in [0; 1]$ , under the condition of  $\mu_A(x) + v_A(x) \in [0; 1]$ . The IFS itself is formally denoted by:

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_26

$$A = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x), v_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \}.$$

Comparison between elements of any two IFSs, say A and B, involves pairwise comparisons between their respective elements' degrees of membership and non-membership to both sets.

**Generalized nets** (GNs) [1, 3, 5] are defined in a way that is principally different from the ways of defining the other types of Petri nets. The first basic difference between GNs and ordinary Petri nets is the "place – transition" relation. Here the transitions are objects of a more complex nature. A transition may contain m input places and n output places where  $m, n \ge 1$ .

Formally, every transition is described by a seven-tuple:

$$z = \langle L', L'', t_1, t_2, r, M, \Box \rangle$$



Fig. 1. A GN-transition

where

(a) L' and L'' are finite, non-empty sets of places (the transition's input and output places, respectively). For the transition in Fig. 1 these are

$$L' = \{l'_1, l'_2, ..., l'_m\}$$

and

$$L'' = \{l''_1, l''_2, \dots, l''_n\};$$

- (b)  $t_1$  is the current time-moment of the transition's firing;
- (c)  $t_2$  is the current value of the duration of its active state;
- (d) r is the *condition* of the transition to determine which tokens will pass (or *transfer*) from the inputs to the outputs of the transition; it has the form of an Index Matrix:

$$r = \begin{array}{c|cccc} & l_1'' & \cdots & l_j'' & \cdots & l_n'' \\ \hline l_1' & & & & \\ \vdots & & & & \\ l_i' & & & & (r_{i,j} - \text{predicate}) \\ \vdots & & & & (1 \le i \le m, \ 1 \le j \le n) \\ \vdots & & & & \\ l_m' & & & & \end{array}$$

 $r_{i,j}$  is the predicate that corresponds to the *i*-th input and *j*-th output place. When its truth value is "*true*", a token from the *i*-th input place transfers to the *j*-th output place; otherwise, this is not possible;

(e) *M* is an IM of the capacities of transition's arcs:

$$M = \begin{array}{ccccc} & l_1'' & \cdots & l_j'' & \cdots & l_n'' \\ \hline l_1' & & & & \\ \vdots & & & & \\ l_i' & & & & \\ \vdots & & & \\ l_m' & & & \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} m_{i,j} \\ (m_{i,j} \ge 0 - \text{natural number}) \\ (1 \le i \le m, \ 1 \le j \le n) \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ l_m' \end{array}$$

(f)  $\Box$  is an object of a form similar to a Boolean expression. It may contain as variables the symbols that serve as labels for a transition's input places, and  $\Box$  is an expression built up from variables and the Boolean connectives  $\land$  and  $\lor$  and the semantics of which is defined as follows:

 $\wedge(l_{i_1}, l_{i_2}, \dots, l_{i_u})$  - every place  $(l_{i_1}, l_{i_2}, \dots, l_{i_u})$  must contain at least one token,  $\vee(l_{i_1}, l_{i_2}, \dots, l_{i_u})$  - there must be at least one token in all places  $(l_{i_1}, l_{i_2}, \dots, l_{i_u})$ , where  $\{l_{i_1}, l_{i_2}, \dots, l_{i_u}\} \subset L'$ .

When the value of a type (calculated as a Boolean expression) is "*true*", the transition can become active, otherwise it cannot.

In this paper we propose a method for evaluation of the fingerprint equivalence of two fingerprints – one saved in the system and one scanned from a fingerprint recognition system. For the assessment of the equivalence of the respective assessment units we use the theory of intuitionistic fuzzy sets. The obtained intuitionistic fuzzy estimations can affect or not the recognition in the system. We also consider a degree of uncertainty when the information is not enough. In this case we use threshold values



Fig. 2. Generalized net of fingerprints recognition with intuitionistic fuzzy estimations

for the minimum and maximum of the degree of membership and non-membership. For the describtion of the entire process we use generalized nets model (Fig. 2).

### 2 Generalized Nets Model

Many data mining, decision making and pattern recognition tools are modeled with generalized nets [6–12, 14–17, 19, 20]. There are many papers describing models of different kinds of data mining process.

A Generalized Net includes the set of transitions:

$$A = \{Z_1, Z_2, Z_3, Z_4, Z_5\},\$$

where the transitions describe the following processes:

 $Z_1$  – Check if the finger is in right position;

 $Z_2$  – Check if the finger has right rotation;

 $Z_3$  – Correction of intensity;

 $Z_4$  – Fingerprint intuitionistic fuzzy estimation.

A token enters the net from place  $L_1$  with initial characteristic: "new scanned fingerprint".

Transition  $Z_1$  has the following form:

$$Z_1 = \langle \{L_1, L_3, L_4, L_{12}\}, \{L_2, L_3, L_4\}, R_1, \lor (L_1, L_3, L_4, L_{12}) \rangle,$$

where

$$\begin{split} R_{1} = & \begin{array}{cccc} L_{2} & L_{3} & L_{4} \\ \hline L_{1} & false & false & true \\ L_{3} & W_{3,2} & W_{3,3} & false \\ \hline L_{4} & false & W_{4,3} & W_{4,4} \\ \hline L_{12} & false & false & true \\ \end{array}$$

 $W_{3,2}$  = "The fingerprint has a correct vertical positioning";  $W_{3,3} = \neg W_{3,2}$ ;  $W_{4,3}$  = "The fingerprint has a correct horizontal positioning";  $W_{4,4} = \neg W_{4,3}$ .

The tokens that enters the place  $L_4$  from place  $L_1$  do not obtain new characteristics. They generate a new tokens that enter in place  $L_3$  with characteristics:

"fingerprint with a correct vertical positioning".

At the second activation of the transition the tokens from place  $L_3$  generate new tokens that enter in place  $L_2$ 

"fingerprint with a correct horizontal positioning".

Transition  $Z_2$  has the following form:

$$Z_2 = \langle \{L_2, L_6, L_7\}, \{L_5, L_6, L_7\}, R_2, \lor (L_2, L_6, L_7) \rangle,$$

where

$$\begin{array}{c|ccccc} R_{2} = & \begin{array}{cccccccc} L_{5} & L_{6} & L_{7} \\ \hline L_{2} & false & false & true \\ L_{6} & W_{6,5} & W_{6,6} & false \\ L_{7} & false & W_{7,6} & W_{7,7} \end{array}$$

and:

 $W_{6,5}$  = "The fingerprint is not turned counter clockwise";  $W_{6,6} = \neg W_{6,5}$ ;  $W_{7,6}$  = "The fingerprint is not turned clockwise";  $W_{7,7} = \neg W_{7,6}$ .

The tokens that enter places  $L_7$  from place  $L_2$  do not obtain new characteristics. They generate a new tokens that enter in place  $L_6$  with the characteristics:

"fingerprint not turned counter clockwise".

At the second activation of the transition the tokens from place  $L_6$  generate new tokens that enter in place  $L_5$ 

"fingerprint not turned clockwise".

Transition  $Z_3$  has the following form:

$$Z_3 = \langle \{L_5, L_9\}, \{L_8, L_9\}, R_3, \lor (L_5, L_9) \rangle$$

where

$$R_3 = \frac{L_8 \quad L_9}{L_5 \quad false \quad true}$$
$$L_9 \quad W_{9,8} \quad W_{9,9}$$

and:

 $W_{9,8}$  = "The intensity of the images is standardized";  $W_{9,9} = \neg W_{9,8}$ .

The tokens that enter the places  $L_9$  (from place  $L_5$ ) do not obtain new characteristic. The tokens that enter in places  $L_8$  obtain the characteristic:

"Standardized intensity of the images".

Tokens enters the net from place  $L_{10}$  with initial characteristics:

" fingerprints from the database and minimal threshold of equivalence".

Transition  $Z_4$  has the following form:

 $Z_4 = \langle \{L_8, L_{10}, L_{13}\}, \{L_{11}, L_{12}, L_{13}\}, R_4, \lor (\land (L_8, L_{10}), L_{13}) \rangle,$ 

where

and:

 $W_{13,11}$  = "Recognized fingerprint".  $W_{13,12}$  = "Not enough fingerprint matches"  $W_{13,13}$  =  $\neg W_{13,11}$ 

The tokens that enter place  $L_{13}$  (from places  $L_8$ ,  $L_{10}$ ) do not obtain new characteristics. They generate a new tokens that enter in places  $L_{11}$  and  $L_{12}$ , with the characteristics:

"Recognized fingerprint" in place  $L_{11}$ 

and "Not enough fingerprint matches" in place  $L_{12}$ .

Let us examine a monochrome image. This image has size mxn. The pixels have values from 0 to 255. The evaluation is of several images by calculating their intuitionistic fuzzy estimations. Let us have the following sets for an image:

- total number of the pixels e;
- number of assigned values for all pixels in the image *s*;
- number of common values of the pixels for the images n;
- number of pixels having the value greater than the average value for the image m;
- number of pixels having the value smaller than the average value for the image f.

Initially we calculate average value for an image dividing the sum of all the pixels in the image to the number of the pixels in the image.

$$S_{avg} = \frac{s}{e}.$$

Then, we can find the degree of membership of the image dividing the sum of the common pixels for the two images to the sum of all the pixels in the image.

$$\mu_{image} = \frac{n}{e}.$$

In the next step we compare the last pixels in the image with the average value for the image.

In the case when  $s - n > S_{avg}$ , we obtain the degree of non-membership having the following form:

$$v_{image} = \frac{m}{e}$$

and in the case when  $s - n < S_{avg}$ , we obtain the uncertainty:

$$\pi_{image} = \frac{f}{e}$$

The calculated final part based on all assessment units for fingerprints has to satisfy the necessary "minimal threshold of equivalence". To check this, we introduce threshold values:  $M_{max}$ ,  $M_{min}$ ,  $N_{max}$ ,  $N_{min}$ .

If

$$\mu_{\rm image} > M_{\rm max} \& V_{\rm image} < N_{\rm min},$$

then the fingerprints satisfy the "minimal threshold of equivalence" for the current estimation and  $W_{13,11}$  = "Recognized fingerprint".

If

$$\mu_{\rm image} > M_{\rm min} \& V_{\rm image} < N_{\rm max},$$

then the fingerprints do not satisfy the "minimal threshold of equivalence" for the current estimation and it has to be evaluated for all assessment units again and  $W_{13,13} = \neg W_{13,11}$ .

In the rest of the cases the "minimal threshold of equivalence" is undefined and fingerprints have to be evaluated again for the assessment units for which:  $\mu_{\text{image}} \leq M_{\text{max}} \& V_{\text{image}} \geq N_{\text{min}}$ , is valid and  $W_{13,12}$  = "Not enough fingerprint matches".

## 3 Conclusion

This article elaborates on the main stages of fingerprint recognition. Solving the problems of such a system requires a total analysis to be done. The model gives the opportunity to consider the different stages of fingerprint identification. The fingerprint is one of the most unique parts of the human body and that is why it is used in devices for identification. For the purpose, we use assessment with intuitionistic fuzzy sets. The obtained intuitionistic fuzzy estimations reflect on the recognition of the system. The obtained intuitionistic fuzzy estimations can affect or not the recognition in the system. We also consider a degree of uncertainty when the information is not enough. In this case we use threshold values for the minimum and maximum of the degree of membership and non-membership. For the description of the entire process, we use generalized nets model.

**Acknowledgements.** The authors are grateful for the support provided by the project DN-02/10 - "New Instruments for Knowledge Discovery from Data, and their Modelling", funded by the National Science Fund, Bulgarian Ministry of Education, and Science.

## References

- Atanassov, K.: Generalized nets as a tool for the modelling of data mining processes. In: Innovative Issues in Intelligent Systems, Studies in Computational Intelligence, vol. 623, pp. 161–215
- 2. Atanassov, K.T.: On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Theory. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2012)
- 3. Atanassov, K.: Generalized nets. World Scientific, Singapore (1991)
- 4. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets. Springer, Heidelberg (1999)
- 5. Atanassov, K.: On Generalized Nets Theory. "Prof. Marin Drinov" Academic Publishing House, Sofia (2007)
- Atanassov, K., Gluhchev, G., Hadjitodorov, S., Shannon, A., Vassilev, V.: Generalized Nets and Pattern Recognition. KvB Visual Concepts Pty Ltd., Monograph No. 6, Sydney (2003)
- Atanassov, K., Gluhchev, G., Hadjitodorov, S., Kacprzyk, J., Shannon, A., Szmidt, E., Vassilev, V.: Generalized Nets Decision Making and Pattern Recognition. Warsaw School of Information Technology, Warszawa (2006)
- 8. Atanassov, K., Sotirov, S., Antonov, A.: Generalized net model for parallel optimization of feed-forward neural network. Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math. **15**(1), 109–119 (2007)
- 9. Atanassov, K., Sotirov, S.: Optimization of a neural network of self-organizing maps type with time-limits by a generalized net. Adv. Stud. Contemp. Math. **13**(2), 213–220 (2006)

- Bureva, V., Sotirova, E., Atanassov, K.: Hierarchical generalized net model of the process of clustering. Issues in Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized Nets, vol. 1, pp. 73–80. Warsaw School of Information Technology, Warsaw (2014)
- 11. Bureva, V.: Intuitionistic fuzzy histograms in grid-based clustering. Notes Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets **20**(1), 55–62 (2014)
- Bureva, V., Sotirova, E., Chountas, P.: Generalized net of the process of sequential pattern mining by Generalized Sequential Pattern Algorithm (GSP). In: Intelligent Systems 2014, pp. 831–838. Springer, Cham (2015)
- 13. Chandrasekaran, A., Thuraisingham, B.: Fingerprint matching algorithm based on tree comparison using ratios of relational distances
- 14. Pencheva, T., Roeva, O., Shannon, A.: Generalized net models of basic genetic algorithm operators. Stud. Fuzziness Soft Comput. **332**, 305–325 (2016)
- 15. Ribagin, S., Chakarov, V., Atanassov, K.: Generalized net model of the scapulohumeral rhythm. Stud. Comput. Intell. 657(1), 229–247 (2017)
- Ribagin, S., Roeva, O., Pencheva, T.: Generalized Net model of asymptomatic osteoporosis diagnosing. In: 2016 IEEE 8th International Conference on Intelligent Systems, IS 2016 – Proceedings, pp. 604–608. 7 November 2016
- Roeva, O., Atanassova, V.: Generalized net model of Cuckoo search algorithm. In: 2016 IEEE 8th International Conference on Intelligent Systems, IS 2016 – Proceedings, pp. 589– 592 (2016)
- Chikkerur, S., Cartwright, A.N., Govindaraju, V.: Fingerprint image enhancement using STFT analysis. In: ICAPR 2005, UK
- Sotirov, S.: Generalized net model of the time delay neural network. Issues in Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized nets, vol. 1, pp. 125–131. Warsaw School of Information Technology, Warsaw (2010)
- Sotirov, S., Krawczak, M.: Modeling the algorithm Backpropagation for learning of neural networks with generalized nets – part 2. Issues in Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized nets, vol. 1, pp. 65–70. Warsaw School of Information Technology, Warsaw (2014)

# A New Extension of Monotonicity: Ordered Directional Monotonicity

Humberto Bustince<sup>1,2( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>, Radko Mesiar<sup>3</sup>, Anna Kolesárová<sup>4</sup>, Mikel Sesma-Sara<sup>1,2</sup>, Javier Fernandez<sup>1,2</sup>, Mikel Galar<sup>1,2</sup>, and Mikel Elkano<sup>1,2</sup>

 $^1$  Department of Automation and Computing, Public University of Navarra, 31006 Pamplona, Spain

{bustince,mikel.sesma,fcojavier.fernandez,mikel.galar, mikel.elkano}@unavarra.es

<sup>2</sup> Institute of Smart Cities, Public University of Navarra, 31006 Pamplona, Spain
 <sup>3</sup> Slovak University of Technology, Radlinskeho 11, Bratislava, Slovakia
 mesiar@math.sk

<sup>4</sup> Institute of Information Engineering, Automation and Mathematics, Slovak University of Technology, 810 05 Bratislava, Slovakia anna.kolesarova@stuba.sk

**Abstract.** In this work, we discuss a recent generalization of the classical notion of monotonicity, with a special focus on the idea of directional monotonicity. This idea leads to the concepts of pre-aggregation functions and of ordered directional monotonicity. For the former, the direction along which monotonicity is considered is the same for all the points of the domain and the same boundary conditions as for aggregation functions are imposed. For the latter, different directions of monotonicity may be considered at different points.

Keywords: Aggregation function  $\cdot$  Pre-aggregation function  $\cdot$  Directional monotonicity  $\cdot$  Ordered-directional monotonicity

### 1 Introduction

Aggregation functions [1,13] are increasingly relevant nowadays to deal with a type of problems where some kind of information fusion is required [4-7,10,14]. But some operators which are used for this type of problems do not fall into the scope of aggregation function due to the lack of monotonicity. This is specially the case of the mode. These operators have caused a growing interest on defining generalized forms of monotonicity which, while covering the usual case, may provide a general framework to include other functions. A first step in this sense was given in [16], where the notion of weak monotonicity was discussed. Weak monotonicity requires increasingness (or decreasingness) only along the fixed ray defined by the first quadrant diagonal. The consideration of increasingness (decreasingness) along general rays was proposed by Bustince et al. [3] and corresponds to the idea of directional monotonicity. Note that monotone functions in the usual sense are both weakly monotone and directionally monotone.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_27

However, these extensions may not be sufficient for some applications. In some cases, the problem lays on the fact that the direction along which monotonicity is needed may vary from point to point, depending on the specific inputs to be fused. This is specially the case in some edge detection problems in image processing [2,11]. But it is also the situation in those problems where extensions of operators such as the OWA should be considered in order to deal with generalized forms of monotonicity.

For this reason, and following the developments in [2], in this work we present the concept of ordered directionally monotone functions, as functions such that the direction along which monotinicity is considered at each point depends on the relative size of the inputs at that point. In this way, at different points monotonicity along a different direction may be considered. Such a possibility has led to interesting applications in image processing problems [2], which we not discuss here due to the lack of space.

The structure of this work is the following: in Sect. 2 we present some preliminary definitions and concepts. Section 3 is devoted to the notion of ordered directionally monotone functions. In Sect. 4 we present some construction methods of such functions. We finish with some conclusions and references.

### 2 Preliminaries

Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}, n > 1$ . Bold letters will be used for points in  $[0,1]^n$ , that is,  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in [0,1]^n$ . By abuse of notation, we denote  $\mathbf{0} = (0, \ldots, 0)$  and  $\mathbf{1} = (1, \ldots, 1)$ . We also consider the partial order on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , defined as: given  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in [0,1]^n$ , we write  $\mathbf{x} \leq \mathbf{y}$  if  $x_i \leq y_i$  for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

The symbol (·) denotes *n*-dimensional vectors in the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We denote by  $S_n$  the set of permutations of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

Let  $S_n$  be the set of all permutations of the set  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  (i.e., bijective functions from  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  to  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$ ). Given  $\sigma \in S_n$ ,  $\mathbf{x} \in [0, 1]^n$  and  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , we use the notation:

$$\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} = (x_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, x_{\sigma(n)})$$

and

$$\mathbf{r}_{\sigma} = (r_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, r_{\sigma(n)}).$$

**Definition 1** ([3]). A (*n*-dimensional) fusion function is any function  $F: [0,1]^n \to [0,1].$ 

An outstanding class of fusion functions is that of aggregation functions [1,9,13].

**Definition 2.** An aggregation function is a fusion function  $A: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  such that

(i) A is increasing; that is, A(**x**) ≤ A(**y**) for every **x**, **y** ∈ [0,1]<sup>n</sup> such that **x** ≤ **y**;
(ii) A(**0**) = 0;
(iii) A(**1**) = 1.

Choquet integrals [12] will be of special interest for us. As a first step to present them, we recall here the definition of fuzzy measure.

**Definition 3.** Let  $N = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ . A function  $\mathfrak{m} : 2^N \to [0, 1]$  is a fuzzy measure if it satisfies the following properties:

(m1) Increasingness: for all  $X, Y \subseteq N$ , if  $X \subseteq Y$ , then  $\mathfrak{m}(X) \leq \mathfrak{m}(Y)$ ; (m2) Boundary conditions:  $\mathfrak{m}(\emptyset) = 0$  and  $\mathfrak{m}(N) = 1$ .

The Choquet integral is a generalization of the Lebesgue integral, where additive measures are replaced by fuzzy measures.

**Definition 4** ([1,13]). Let  $\mathfrak{m}: 2^N \to [0,1]$  be a fuzzy measure. The discrete Choquet integral with respect to  $\mathfrak{m}$  is defined as the function  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$ , given, for all  $\mathbf{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in [0,1]^n$ , by

$$C_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( x_{(i)} - x_{(i-1)} \right) \cdot \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i)} \right), \tag{1}$$

where  $(x_{(1)}, \ldots, x_{(n)})$  is an increasing permutation of the input n-tuple **x**, that is,  $x_{(1)} \leq \ldots \leq x_{(n)}$ , with the convention that  $x_{(0)} = 0$ , and  $A_{(i)} = \{(i), \ldots, (n)\}$ is the subset of indices of n - i + 1 largest components of **x**.

Finally we also recall here several weaker forms of monotonicity, which are at the origin of the present work.

**Definition 5** ([16]). A function  $F: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  is said to be weakly monotone increasing if the inequality

$$F(x_1 + h, \dots, x_n + h) \ge F(x_1, \dots, x_n) \tag{2}$$

holds for every  $x_1, \ldots, x_n, h \in [0, 1]$  such that  $x_i + h \le 1, i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Analogously, weakly monotone decreasing functions can be defined.

The concept of weak monotonicity can be further extended if we consider monotonicity along general rays. This idea has led to the notion of directional monotonicity introduced in [3].

**Definition 6** ([3]). Let  $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_n)$  be a real n-dimensional vector,  $\mathbf{r} \neq \mathbf{0}$ . A fusion function  $F: [0, 1]^n \to [0, 1]$  is  $\mathbf{r}$ -increasing if for all points  $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in [0, 1]^n$  and for all c > 0 such that  $(x_1 + cr_1, \ldots, x_n + cr_n) \in [0, 1]^n$  we have

$$F(x_1 + cr_1, \dots, x_n + cr_n) \ge F(x_1, \dots, x_n)$$

The notion of  $\mathbf{r}$ -decreasing fusion function is defined analogously, reversing the previous inequality.

Directional monotonicity has lead to considering the idea of pre-aggregation function as a generalization of usual aggregation functions [15].

**Definition 7.** A function  $F : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  is said to be an n-ary preaggregation function if the following conditions hold:

(PA1) There exists a real vector  $\mathbf{r} \in [0, 1]^n$  ( $\mathbf{r} \neq \mathbf{0}$ ) such that F is  $\mathbf{r}$ - increasing. (PA2) F satisfies the boundary conditions:  $F(0, \ldots, 0) = 0$  and  $F(1, \ldots, 1) = 1$ .

Example 1. Some examples of pre-aggregation functions are the following.

- (i) Consider the mode,  $Mod(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ , defined as the function that gives back the value which appears most times in the considered n-tuple, or the smallest of the values that appears most times, in case there are more than one. Then, the mode is  $(1, \ldots, 1)$ -increasing, and it is a particular case of preaggregation function. Note that if **r** is not a constant vector then the mode is not **r**-monotone.
- (ii)  $F(x, y) = x (\max\{0, x y\})^2$  is, for instance, (0, 1)-increasing, and then it is an example of pre-aggregation function. It is also (1, 1)-increasing but not (1, 0)-monotone and thus not an aggregation function.

Pre-aggregation function can be built in different ways. In particular, we recall here the following two methods [3].

**Proposition 1.** Let  $A : [0,1]^m \to [0,1]$  be an aggregation function. Let  $F_i : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  ( $i \in \{1,\ldots,m\}$ ) be a family of m **r**-pre-aggregation functions for the same vector  $\mathbf{r} \in [0,1]^n$ . Then, the function  $A(F_1,\ldots,F_m) : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$ , defined as

$$A(F_1, \ldots, F_m)(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = A(F_1(x_1, \ldots, x_n), \ldots, F_m(x_1, \ldots, x_n))$$

is also an **r**-pre-aggregation function.

In order to present the second construction method, let  $\mathfrak{m} : 2^N \to [0,1]$  be a fuzzy measure and  $M : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be a function such that M(0,x) = 0for every  $x \in [0,1]$ . Taking as basis the Choquet integral, we define the function  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}^M : [0,1]^n \to [0,n]$  by

$$C_{\mathfrak{m}}^{M}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M\left(x_{(i)} - x_{(i-1)}, \mathfrak{m}\left(A_{(i)}\right)\right), \qquad (3)$$

where  $N = \{1, \ldots, n\}, (x_{(1)}, \ldots, x_{(n)})$  is an increasing permutation on the input **x**, that is,  $0 \leq x_{(1)} \leq \ldots \leq x_{(n)}$ , with the convention that  $x_{(0)} = 0$ , and  $A_{(i)} = \{(i), \ldots, (n)\}$  is the subset of indices of n - i + 1 largest components of **x**. Note that  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}^{\mathfrak{m}}$  is well defined by (3) even if the permutation is not unique.

We have the following result.

**Theorem 1.** Let  $M : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  be a function such that for all  $x, y \in [0,1]$  it satisfies  $M(x,y) \leq x$ , M(x,1) = x, M(0,y) = 0 and M is (1,0)-increasing. Then, for any fuzzy measure  $\mathfrak{m}$ ,  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}^M$  is a pre-aggregation function which is idempotent and averaging, i.e.,  $\min(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \leq C_{\mathfrak{m}}^M(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \leq \max(x_1,\ldots,x_n)$ .

*Example 2.* Taking into account that a semi-copula is an aggregation function M such that M(1,x) = M(x,1) = x for every  $x \in [0,1]$ , we have that, if  $M : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  is a semi-copula, then, for any measure  $\mathfrak{m}$ ,  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}^M$  is a pre-aggregation function which is idempotent and averaging.

#### **3** Ordered Directional Monotonicity

In this section, following the developments in [2], we discuss the main notion of this paper: ordered directional monotonicity.

To motivate the introduction of this concept, note that by means of directional monotonicity, usual monotonicity may be relaxed, in order to require increasingness along some fixed ray. However, the direction along which monotonicity is demanded is the same for every point in the domain  $[0, 1]^n$ , and it is independent of which particular point is considered. This can be a problem for some applications such as image processing [2].

For ordered directionally monotone functions, on the contrary, the direction along which monotonicity is required varies depending on the ordinal size of the coordinates of the considered input. The formal definition reads as follows.

**Definition 8.** Let  $F: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be a fusion function and let  $\mathbf{r} \neq \mathbf{0}$  be an *n*-dimensional real vector. F is said to be ordered directionally (OD)  $\mathbf{r}$ -increasing if for each  $\mathbf{x} \in [0,1]^n$ , and any permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \cdots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$  and any c > 0 such that

$$1 \ge x_{\sigma(1)} + cr_1 \ge \dots \ge x_{\sigma(n)} + cr_n \ge 0$$

it holds that

$$F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) \ge F(\mathbf{x}),\tag{4}$$

where  $\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}} = (r_{\sigma^{-1}(1)}, \dots, r_{\sigma^{-1}(n)}).$ 

Analogously, F is said to be ordered directionally **r**-decreasing if for each  $\mathbf{x} \in [0,1]^n$ , and any permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \cdots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$  and any c > 0 such that

 $1 \ge x_{\sigma(1)} + cr_1 \ge \cdots \ge x_{\sigma(n)} + cr_n \ge 0$ 

it holds that

$$F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) \le F(\mathbf{x}). \tag{5}$$

Observe that, in general, the **r**-directional increasingness (decreasingness) is equivalent to the OD **r**-increasingness (decreasingness) if and only if  $\mathbf{r}_{\sigma} = \mathbf{r}$ for any permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$ , i.e., if **r** is a constant vector. Obviously, if the considered function F is symmetric, then directional and OD **r**-increasingness (decreasingness) are equivalent for any vector **r**.

**Proposition 2.** Let  $F: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be an OD **r**-monotone function. Then for any increasing (decreasing) function  $\varphi: [0,1] \to [0,1]$ , the function  $\varphi \circ F$  is a fusion function and has the same (reversed) type of OD **r**-monotonicity as F. **Proof.** The claim is a trivial consequence of the definition of the OD **r**-monotonicity of F and the standard monotonicity of  $\varphi$ .

#### Example 3.

- (i) Let  $F : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be a constant fusion function, i.e.,  $F(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = c$  for some  $c \in [0,1]$  and for every  $(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \in [0,1]^n$ . Then, for every vector  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\mathbf{r} \neq \mathbf{0}$ , F is OD **r**-increasing and also OD **r**-decreasing.
- (ii) Let p > 0. Then the function  $G(x, y) = |x y|^p$  is OD **r**-increasing if and only if  $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, r_2), r_1 \ge r_2$ .
- (iii) Let  $F_{\mathbf{w}} : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be an OWA operator [17] related to the normed weighting vector  $\mathbf{w} = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) \in [0,1]^n$ . Then  $F_w$  is OD **r**-increasing if and only if  $\mathbf{w} \cdot \mathbf{r} = \sum w_i r_i \ge 0$ .

Example 4. Let p > 0. Consider the function  $F : [0, 1]^n \to [0, 1]$  given by

$$F(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{j=2}^{n} |x_1 - x_j|^p.$$

Then F is OD **r**-increasing for every **r** of the type  $\mathbf{r} = (t, \ldots, t, s)$  with  $t \ge s$ .

Note that as a consequence of the previous example, it follows that penalty functions [8] of the type

$$P(x_1,\ldots,x_n,y) = \frac{1}{n}\sum |x_i - y|^p$$

are OD **r**-increasing for every **r** of the type  $\mathbf{r} = (t, \ldots, t, s)$  with  $t \ge s$ .

Let us introduce some properties of OD monotone functions. First of all, it comes out that OD-increasingness and OD-decreasingness are closely related, as the following result shows.

**Proposition 3.** A function  $F: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  is OD **r**-increasing if and only if F is OD  $-\mathbf{r}$ -decreasing.

**Proof.** It follows from a straightforward calculation.

The following result is also straightforward.

**Proposition 4.** Let  $F: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be an OD **r**-increasing function. Then,

(i) for every  $\alpha > 0$ , F is OD  $\alpha \mathbf{r}$ -increasing; (ii) for every  $\alpha < 0$ , F is OD  $\alpha \mathbf{r}$ -decreasing.

That is, vectors determining the direction for OD-increasingness or decreasingness can be normalized.

Now we consider what happens if a fusion function F is OD increasing with respect to two different vectors  $\mathbf{r}$  and  $\mathbf{s}$ . We show that OD increasingness of F with respect to a non-negative linear combination of both vectors can be considered under appropriate conditions.

**Theorem 2.** Let  $\mathbf{r}$  and  $\mathbf{s}$  be n-dimensional non-null vectors. Consider any  $a, b \geq 0$  with a + b > 0, such that for each point  $\mathbf{x} \in [0, 1]^n$ , and for any permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma(1)} \geq \cdots \geq \mathbf{x}_{\sigma(n)}$  and c > 0 such that  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{u}$  is in  $[0, 1]^n$  and comonotone with  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$ , where  $\mathbf{u} = a\mathbf{r} + b\mathbf{s}$ , it holds that the points  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + ca\mathbf{r}$  or  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + cb\mathbf{s}$  are also in  $[0, 1]^n$  and comonotone with  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$ . Then, if a function  $F : [0, 1]^n \to [0, 1]$  is both OD  $\mathbf{r}$ - and OD  $\mathbf{s}$ -increasing, it is also OD  $\mathbf{u}$ -increasing.

**Proof.** Note that for each  $\sigma \in S_n$ , if  $\mathbf{u} = a\mathbf{r} + b\mathbf{s}$ , then  $\mathbf{u}_{\sigma^{-1}} = a\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}} + b\mathbf{s}_{\sigma^{-1}}$ , and thus, for each  $\mathbf{x} \in [0, 1]^n$ , (under the given assumptions), using the OD s-and **r**-increasingness of F, we can write

$$F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{u}_{\sigma^{-1}}) = F(\mathbf{x} + ca\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}} + cb\mathbf{s}_{\sigma^{-1}})$$
$$\geq F(\mathbf{x} + ca\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) \geq F(\mathbf{x})$$

and, hence, the statement holds.

The different types of monotonicity are related as follows.

**Proposition 5.** Let  $F : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be a fusion function and let  $\{\mathbf{e}_1, \ldots, \mathbf{e}_n\}$  be the canonical basis in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) F is increasing.
- (ii) F is  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasing for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .
- (iii) F is OD  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasing for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ .

**Proof.** (i)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ii): Let F be an increasing function. Fix any element  $i \in \{1...,n\}$ . Consider any  $\mathbf{x} \in [0,1]^n$  and any c > 0 such that  $\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i \in [0,1]^n$ . As  $\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i \geq \mathbf{x}$ , due to the increasing monotonicity of F, we obtain  $F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i) \geq F(\mathbf{x})$ , i.e., F is  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasing. On the other hand, the  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasingness of F for each i implies that F is increasing in each coordinate, which means that F is increasing.

(ii)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (iii): Suppose that F is  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasing for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Fix any  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and put  $\mathbf{r} = \mathbf{e}_i$ . Let  $\mathbf{x}$  be any element in  $[0, 1]^n$ . Consider any  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(i)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$ , and any c > 0 such that also  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(i)} + c \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$ . Suppose that  $\sigma(i) = j$ . Then  $r_{\sigma^{-1}(j)} = r_i = 1$  and  $\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}} = \mathbf{e}_j$ , so, due to the  $\mathbf{e}_j$ -increasingness of F, we have

$$F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) = F(\mathbf{x} + c(\mathbf{e}_i)_{\sigma^{-1}})$$
$$= F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i) \ge F(\mathbf{x}),$$

which proves the OD  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasingness of F.

On the other hand, suppose that F is OD  $\mathbf{e}_i$ -increasing for each i. Fix  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ . Consider any  $\mathbf{x} \in [0, 1]^n$  and any c > 0 such that  $\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i \in [0, 1]^n$ .

If  $x_i = \max\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ , then there is a permutation  $\sigma$  such that  $\sigma(1) = i$  and  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$ . We have  $\mathbf{e}_i = (\mathbf{e}_1)_{\sigma^{-1}}$  and due to the OD  $\mathbf{e}_1$ -increasingness of F, as  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{e}_1$  are compositon, we can write

$$F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i) = F(\mathbf{x} + c(\mathbf{e}_1)_{\sigma^{-1}}) \ge F(\mathbf{x}).$$

Now, suppose that  $x_i \neq \max\{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ . Let  $\sigma$  be a permutation such that  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$ . Let  $i = \sigma(j)$  which implies  $\mathbf{e}_i = (\mathbf{e}_j)_{\sigma^{-1}}$ . Clearly, j > 1. If  $x_i + c = x_{\sigma(j)} + c \leq x_{\sigma(j-1)}$  then  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{e}_j$  are comonotone, and thus the OD  $\mathbf{e}_j$ -increasingness of F implies  $F(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i) \geq F(\mathbf{x})$ .

If  $x_i + c > x_{\sigma(j-1)}$ , the mentioned points are not more comonotone. However, the point  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$  is comonotone with  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + (x_{\sigma(j-1)} - x_i) \mathbf{e}_j$ , and due to the OD  $\mathbf{e}_j$ increasingness of F we can deduce

$$F(\mathbf{x} + (x_{\sigma(j-1)} - x_i)\mathbf{e}_i) \ge F(\mathbf{x}).$$

Clearly, then

$$\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{e}_i = \mathbf{y} + d\mathbf{e}_i,$$

where  $\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{x} + (x_{\sigma(j-1)} - x_i) \mathbf{e}_i$  and  $d = c + x_i - x_{\sigma(j-1)} > 0$ , and we can continue by (finite) induction. This follows from the fact that there is permutation  $\tau$  such  $y_{\tau(1)} \ge \ldots \ge y_{\tau(n)}$  and  $\tau^{-1}(i) = j - 1$ . Thus, in at most j steps we obtain our result.

The equivalence of (i) and (iii) already follows.

#### 4 Construction Methods for OD Monotone Functions

In this section we discuss different methods for construction of OD **r**-increasing functions from other types of fusion functions.

The first method is based on composition. We first provide a sufficient condition for OD **r**-increasingness of composition of OD **r**-increasing fusion functions.

**Proposition 6.** Let  $\mathbf{r} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be a non-null vector and let  $F_i : [0,1]^n \to [0,1], i \in \{1,\ldots,m\}$ , be OD  $\mathbf{r}$ -increasing functions. If  $A : [0,1]^m \to [0,1]$  is an increasing function then the function  $A(F_1,\ldots,F_m): [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  defined by

$$A(F_1, ..., F_m)(x_1, ..., x_n) = A(F_1(x_1, ..., x_n), ..., F_m(x_1, ..., x_n)),$$

is also OD **r**-increasing.

**Proof.** Let  $\mathbf{x}$  be any element in  $[0,1]^n$ . Consider any permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$  and c > 0 such that  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{r}$  is in  $[0,1]^n$  and comonotone with  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$ . From the definition of OD **r**-monotonicity, we have that

$$F_i(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) \ge F_i(\mathbf{x}), \quad i \in \{1, \dots, m\}.$$

Moreover, from the increasing monotonicity of A, it follows that

$$A(F_1,\ldots,F_m)(\mathbf{x}+c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) \ge A(F_1,\ldots,F_m)(\mathbf{x})$$

and, hence, the result holds.

Ordered directionally increasing functions can also be built from directionally increasing functions by ordering the inputs in a decreasing way.

**Proposition 7.** Let  $F : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  be an **r**-increasing function. Then the function  $G : [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$ , given by

$$G(x_1,\ldots,x_n)=F(x_{\sigma(1)},\ldots,x_{\sigma(n)}),$$

where a permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  satisfies the property  $x_{\sigma(1)} \ge \cdots \ge x_{\sigma(n)}$ , is OD **r**-increasing.

**Proof.** Let **x** be any element in  $[0, 1]^n$ . Consider any permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$  and any c > 0 such that  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{r}$  is in  $[0, 1]^n$  and comonotone with  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$ . Then, from the **r**-increasingness of F, we have

$$G(\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) = F\left((\mathbf{x} + c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}})_{\sigma}\right)$$
  
=  $F(\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{r}) \ge F(\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}) = G(\mathbf{x}),$ 

which proves the claim.

*Example 5.* Consider the weighted Lehmer mean  $L_{\lambda} : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$ , given by

$$L_{\lambda}(x,y) = \frac{\lambda x^2 + (1-\lambda)y^2}{\lambda x + (1-\lambda)y}$$

(with the convention 0/0 = 0), which is  $(1-\lambda, \lambda)$ -increasing (but not **r**-increasing if  $\mathbf{r} \neq k(1-\lambda, \lambda), k > 0$ ) [3]. By Proposition 7, the function

$$G_{\lambda}(x,y) = \frac{\lambda(\max(x,y))^2 + (1-\lambda)(\min(x,y))^2}{\lambda\max(x,y) + (1-\lambda)\min(x,y)}$$

is OD  $(1 - \lambda, \lambda)$ -increasing. In fact,  $G_{\lambda}$  is not OD **r**-increasing with respect to any vector  $\mathbf{r} \neq k(1 - \lambda, \lambda), k > 0$ .

Note that  $L_{\lambda}$  is symmetric only if  $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}$ . Then  $L_{\lambda} = G_{\lambda}$  is  $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ -increasing and thus, also OD  $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$ -increasing, and also weakly increasing.

Finally, we analyze the construction of OD-monotone functions using the discrete Choquet integral.

**Theorem 3.** Let  $\mathfrak{m}: 2^N \to [0,1]$  be a fuzzy measure and let  $\mathbf{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_n)$  be a non-null real vector. Then the Choquet integral  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}: [0,1]^n \to [0,1]$  is an OD  $\mathbf{r}$ -increasing fusion function if and only if for each permutation  $\tau \in S_n$  it holds that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i \mathfrak{m}_{\tau}(i) \ge 0,$$

where  $\mathfrak{m}_{\tau}(1) = \mathfrak{m}(\{\tau(n)\})$ , and for each  $i \in \{2, ..., n\}$ ,  $\mathfrak{m}_{\tau}(i) = \mathfrak{m}(\{\tau(n-i+1), ..., \tau(n)\}) - \mathfrak{m}(\{\tau(n-i+2), ..., \tau(n)\})$ .

**Proof.** Recall that for any  $\mathbf{x} \in [0, 1]^n$  the Choquet integral introduced in Definition 4 can be written equivalently as

$$C_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{(i)} \left( \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i)} \right) - \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i+1)} \right) \right),$$

where (·) is a permutation in  $S_n$ , such that  $x_{(1)} \leq \ldots \leq x_{(n)}$ , and for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}, A_{(i)} = \{(i), \ldots, (n)\}$ , with the convention  $A_{(n+1)} = \emptyset$ . If  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{r} \in [0, 1]^n$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma}$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{\sigma} + c\mathbf{r}$  are comonotone for some permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  with  $x_{\sigma(1)} \geq \ldots \geq x_{\sigma(n)}$  and c > 0, then if  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}$  is OD **r**-increasing, necessarily  $C_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{x}+c\mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}}) \geq C_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{x})$ . Clearly, one can assume that  $\sigma(1) = (n), \ldots, \sigma(n) = (1)$ , i.e.,  $\sigma(i) = (n-i+1)$ . Thus

$$C_{\mathfrak{m}} \left( \mathbf{x} + c \mathbf{r}_{\sigma^{-1}} \right)$$
  
=  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \left( x_{(i)} + c r_{n-i+1} \right) \left( \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i)} \right) - \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i+1)} \right) \right)$   
 $\geq C_{\mathfrak{m}}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{(i)} \left( \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i)} \right) - \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(i+1)} \right) \right),$ 

which implies that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i \left( \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(n-i+1)} \right) - \mathfrak{m} \left( A_{(n-i+2)} \right) \right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} r_i \mathfrak{m}_{(\cdot)}(i) \ge 0.$$

As any permutation  $\tau$  can be obtained from a permutation (·) related to some input  $\mathbf{x} \in [0, 1]^n$ , the necessity of our result is proved.

The sufficiency can be shown similarly.

### 5 Conclusions

In this paper we have discussed the notion of ordered directionally monotonicity, presenting some properties and construction methods. Ordered directionally monotone functions allow for considering different directions for monotonicity for different inputs, according to the relative size of the latter. This is specially of interest in image processing problems or in those settings where extensions of operators such as the OWA must be considered.

In future work, we will carry on an analysis of the possible applications of this new concept, specially in the fields of image processing and edge detection. In particular, we intend to discuss how edge detectors may be built making use of this new notion.

Acknowledgment. The authors would like to thank research projects TIN2016-77356-P(AEI/FEDER, UE) and APVV-14-0013.

## References

- 1. Beliakov, G., Bustince, H., Calvo, T.: A Practical Guide to Averaging Functions. Springer, Heidelberg (2016)
- Bustince, H., Barrenechea, E., Lafuente, J., Mesiar, R., Kolesárová, A.: Ordered directionally monotone functions. Justification and application. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst.
- Bustince, H., Fernandez, J., Kolesárová, A., Mesiar, R.: Directional monotonicity of fusion functions. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 244(1), 300–308 (2015)
- Bustince, H., Pagola, M., Mesiar, R., Hüllermeier, E., Herrera, F.: Grouping, overlap, and generalized bientropic functions for fuzzy modeling of pairwise comparisons. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 20, 405–415 (2012)
- Bustince, H., Barrenechea, E., Calvo, T., James, S., Beliakov, G.: Consensus in multi-expert decision making problems using penalty functions defined over a Cartesian product of lattices. Inf. Fusion 17, 56–64 (2014)
- Bustince, H., Montero, J., Mesiar, R.: Migrativity of aggregation operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 160(6), 766–777 (2008)
- Bustince, H., Fernandez, J., Mesiar, R., Montero, J., Orduna, R.: Overlap functions. Nonlinear Anal. Theory Meth. Appl. 72, 1488–1499 (2010)
- Calvo, T., Beliakov, G.: Aggregation functions based on penalties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 161(10), 1420–1436 (2010)
- Calvo, T., Kolesárová, A., Komorníková, M., Mesiar, R.: Aggregation operators: properties, classes and construction methods. In: Calvo, T., Mayor, G., Mesiar, R. (eds.) Aggregation Operators. New Trends and Applications, pp. 3–104. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg (2002)
- Calvo, T., Mesiar, R., Yager, R.R.: Quantitative weights and aggregation. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 12, 62–69 (2004)
- 11. Canny, J.: Finding edges and lines in images. Technical report, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA (1983)
- 12. Choquet, G.: Theory of capacities. Ann. Inst. Fourier 5, 131-295 (1953)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J.-L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation Functions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Jurio, A., Bustince, H., Pagola, M., Pradera, A., Yager, R.R.: Some properties of overlap and grouping functions and their application to image thresholding. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 229, 69–90 (2013)
- Lucca, G., Sanz, J., Dimuro, G.P., Bedregal, B., Mesiar, R., Kolesárová, A., Bustince, H.: Pre-aggregation functions: construction and an application. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 23(2), 260–272 (2016)
- Wilkin, T., Beliakov, G.: Weakly monotonic averaging functions. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 30(2), 144–169 (2015)
- 17. Yager, R.: On ordered weighted averaging aggregation operators in multi-criteria decision making. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 18, 183–190 (1988)

# Smart Medical Device Selection Based on Interval Valued Intuitionistic Fuzzy VIKOR

Gülçin Büyüközkan<sup>(<sup>CO)</sup></sup> and Fethullah Göçer

Industrial Engineering Department, Galatasaray University, Ortaköy, Istanbul, Turkey gulcin. buyukozkan@gmail.com, gocer.fethullah@gmail.com

Abstract. Advances in wireless communication technologies and the internet of things are leading to new developments in the domain of wearable, smart medical devices (SMDs) as a major disruptive trend for the medical industry. Wearable smart sensor technology with non-invasive or invasive implantable materials has a great potential for interfacing with the human body, thanks to low-power silicon-based electronics that are very efficient in data processing and transmission. Novel SMDs are designed for monitoring living being's vital signs, such as blood pressure, cardiac monitoring, respiration rate, body temperature, etc. in either medical diagnostic or health monitoring. Considering various smart devices in the medical industry, a key decision is which device to choose and apply on the patient. The decision on the evaluation of SMDs is a complicated problem that needs to be assessed from different perspectives. This study guides decision makers on the selection of SMDs of wearable vital sign sensors under different evaluation criteria. A multi criteria decision making approach is proposed to support the SMD selection process under group decision making (GDM) in an uncertain environment. A significant feature of this analysis is the complexity of the selected decision criteria for the SMD evaluation. To simulate these processes, a methodology that combines interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy (IVIF) with Višekriterijumsko kompromisno rangiranje (VIKOR) under GDM is proposed. This methodology is then used to measure the assessment of four SMDs using five evaluation criteria. To validate the proposed approach, the selection methodology for wearable vital sign monitoring devices is applied on a case study.

**Keywords:** Smart medical devices (SMDs) · Multi criteria decision making (MCDM) · Group decision making (GDM) · Interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy (IVIF) · Višekriterijumsko kompromisno rangiranje (VIKOR)

### 1 Introduction

The healthcare industry is revolutionizing how patients are treated by using technological tools and devices helping medical staff as well as patients. These innovative ways of treatment support handling health situations outside of a healthcare facility. This growth

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_28

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

in the number of novel medical devices is closely associated with digital technologies and their applications in medical systems. The first driving factor in this progress is due to the developments in the sensors and actuators technology. Interface of electronic devices with chemical elements is improving, and micro and nano-technological substances make it easier to detect and inject more and more substances directly into the human body. These minimally-invasive or non-invasive small-scale medical tools present important opportunities for developing dexterous, smart, and robust devices. There are novel portable or wearable devices to monitor and measure the vital sign of living beings. These wearable vital sign measurement devices use biometric information from human body to continuously measure real-time heart rate, body temperature, speed, cadence and distance data. Several types of SMD are created to perform different medical tasks. Digital evolution in current era revolutionizes the delivery of healthcare in homes and as well as at hospitals by introducing either surgical robots to assist complex procedures or to simply support routine tasks, e.g. increasing medical staff's efficiency and administration of medicine to patients. As the use of SMDs at homes increase, people find it less necessary to physically visit health facilities. New smartphone apps and wireless connection among different devices with locally available processing power permit communication of remote units, i.e. hospitals, homes, staff, etc.

New SMDs can be fixed on the human body as skin patches or smart woven textiles or they could also be implanted in smaller SMDs to make the process simpler. Current trend in the medical industry is to keep tabs on patients' vital information to aid medical staff. Thanks to the wearable monitoring technology, the dreaded traditional ward rounds can soon become a thing of the past. Instead of any medical staff going from patient to patient taking note of their vital information, SMDs can collect and report on these data uniformly and surreptitiously on their behalf. For instance, an SMD can be a biosensor embedded in a wearable patch band with electrocardiography electrodes with axis accelerometer to detect and record the breathing rate, temperature, and heart rate, etc. There has been an increase in the demand for wearable devices. Further, these smart, wearable and connected devices can also be linked to external smartphones or tablets for the analysis of the results collected by their biosensors. The SMDs' literature review presents that there is big gap between the practice in industry and scientific theory with a limited number of studies. As far as the authors are aware of, there are few studies that discuss SMD technologies or their applications but no academic study that explicitly deals with the concept of SMDs. Assenting this assumption. Stoppa and Chiolerio [1] review the recent advances in the field of smart textiles and their manufacturing process. Vashist et al. [2] review the widely used personalized smartphone based healthcare monitoring and management devices. Walsh et al. [3] review the novel wireless cardiac monitoring devices. Khan et al. [4] review the latest development in flexible and wearable human vitals sensors.

Decision making processes are usually linked with the selection of the best among the pre-defined set of alternatives by considering the impact of multiple criteria. Since the early emergence of multi criteria decision making (MCDM), this methodology has been evolving and has been one of the key research areas in solving complex decision problems in the presence of multiple objectives or criteria [5]. As a result of this revolution, many types of MCDM methodologies are proposed which are being successfully used in solving numerous types of scientific and industrial decision making problems. MCDM methodology can be used in evaluation and ranking problems that integrate several conflicting criteria. For decision makers (DMs), this powerful theory often entails quantitative and qualitative data which are used in the measurement of available alternatives performance in terms of relevant decision criteria. Many decision problems faced with in real life also necessitate the contribution of more than one DM in decision-making processes. Thus, most of the MCDM approaches are applied with a group decision making (GDM) structure.

Many real problems are mostly characterized by conflicting and noncommensurable criteria with no solution that simultaneously satisfies all criteria. An MCDM technique, Višekriterijumsko kompromisno rangiranje (VIKOR) [6], is first proposed by Opricovic as an efficient methodology to solve these kind of problems. Most of the ordinary MCDM approaches, however, run on crisp values. Therefore, it is mostly inefficient to solve these problems using one of these ordinary methods. The so-called fuzzy logic can address these challenges, which can be combined with many MCDM approaches. Zadeh [7] generalized the concept of the fuzzy set theory in which a membership value is linked to every element in a set. Nevertheless, gathered information might not always be adequate to define exact values, and there can sometimes be lack of precision due to conventional fuzzy or crisp sets. To address such problems, Atanassov [8] developed a substitute approach, called the intuitionistic fuzzy (IF) set. Intuitionistic fuzzy sets can also be extended to IVIF sets [9]. This method is widely studied in the last decades by numerous researchers. Many different types of MCDM approaches are integrated by IVIF sets. Characterized by a membership degree, non-membership degree and hesitancy degree parameters, the IVIF sets are very strong and successful in handling the situations under vagueness, uncertainty, and imprecision. Thus, IVIF sets present an appropriate tool to express DMs' preferences and defining its membership function properly that are subject to hesitation or lack of expertise. There are some studies with IVIF VIKOR in literature [10, 11]. The proposed method is different than others as it is easily comprehensible and computationally simple.

To the best of authors' knowledge, the methodology in this study has not yet been proposed in any literature at this extent. The originality of this methodology comes from its ability to present a new methodology which applies VIKOR with GDM under IVIF set theory for selecting SMDs. This research contributes to literature by providing a framework on the selection of SMDs with IVIF VIKOR under GDM.

Organization of this paper is summarized as follows. Section 2 provides a detailed explanation of problem definition and evaluation criteria for SMDs. In Sect. 3, a simple introduction to IVIF set and the detailed steps of the proposed methodology structure is given. Section 4 presents a sample case with numerical results in which a suitable alternative of wearable SMD is selected to present the performance of the applied methodology. Finally, the last section discusses the results and limitations of this study.

#### 2 Problem Definition of SMD Selection

The way people live is being altered by the digital revolution and the rapid development of social networking, mobile connectivity and smart phones. Any average person in a developed country is constantly connected to a vast amount of information. This revolutionary era on digitalization has conspicuously transformed every industry as well as every facet of people's personal lives. The reflections of this revolution are also evident in the medical industry by quickly adopting smart, digital devices. Many different types of wearable SMDs emerge to monitor patients' vitals. The authors believe that the evolution of these SMDS marks a new era in the healthcare industry. Currently, there are numerous companies developing new wearable vital sign monitoring SMDs, with different strengths and objectives. This differentiation in SMDs make it necessary to view them in the light of different criteria. Table 1 presents the evaluation criteria for SMDs, its description and related weights.

	1	1
Criteria	Wj	Description
Safety (C <sub>1</sub> )	0.2170	Helping the implementation of safety principles and requirements
		should be a priority for any SMDs [1-3]
Cost (C <sub>2</sub> )	0.2393	Economic, cost-effective SMDs should be in the center [1–3]
Ease of use (C <sub>3</sub> )	0.1580	The SMDs themselves and their user interfaces should be
		user-friendly [3]
Service life (C <sub>4</sub> )	0.2148	Prolonged duration of SMDs should be the priority for any SMD
		[1, 3]
Quality (C <sub>5</sub> )	0.1709	Quality should be the top priority for any SMD. While operating,
		every stage should be ensuring highest reliability [1-3]

Table 1. Evaluation criteria

## **3** Proposed Methodology

The aim of this proposed methodology is to develop a framework to be used in the evaluation of prioritization of wearable vital sign monitoring SMDs for achieving various objectives. The next subsection gives the preliminary explanations about IVIF values and then, the proposed methodology will be introduced.

#### 3.1 Preliminaries

Here, X is a given fixed set. An IVIF set in x in  $\tilde{A}$  is defined in Eq. (1) as the basic component of an IVIF set that is an ordered pair, characterized by an interval valued membership value and an interval valued non membership value  $\tilde{A}$  is called IVIF set, where  $\tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \subset [0, 1]$  and  $\tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \subset [0, 1], x \in X$  with the condition of  $\sup \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) + \sup \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \leq 1$ .

$$\tilde{A} = \left\{ \left\langle x, \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}(x), \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \right\rangle | x \in X \right\}$$
(1)

For convenience, the IVIF set lower and upper end points are denoted by  $\tilde{A} = \left[\mu_{\tilde{A}}^L, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^U\right], \left[v_{\tilde{A}}^L, v_{\tilde{A}}^U\right]$  or  $\tilde{B} = \left[\mu_{\tilde{B}}^L, \mu_{\tilde{B}}^U\right], \left[v_{\tilde{B}}^L, v_{\tilde{B}}^U\right]$ . Using these two IVIF numbers, the following expressions are defined [12]:

$$\tilde{A} \le \tilde{B} \Leftrightarrow \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \le \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \le \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}, v_{\tilde{B}}^{L} \le v_{\tilde{A}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{B}}^{L} \le v_{\tilde{A}}^{U}$$

$$\tag{2}$$

$$\tilde{A} + \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} + \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L} - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L} \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} + \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U} - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right], \left[ v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right] \right)$$
(3)

$$\tilde{A} * \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right], \left[ v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} + v_{\tilde{B}}^{L} - v_{\tilde{B}}^{L} - v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} + v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} - v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right] \right)$$
(4)

$$\lambda \tilde{A} = \left( \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \left[ \left( v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \left[ \left( v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda} \right] \right)$$
(5)

$$\tilde{A}^{\lambda} = \left( \left( \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda}, \left( \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda}, \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda} \right] \right)$$
(6)

$$\tilde{A} - \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \frac{\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}{1 - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}, \frac{\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}}{1 - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right], \left[ \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{L}}{v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}, \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{U}}{v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}} \right] \right), \\ \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \frac{\mu_{A}^{L}}{\mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}, \frac{\mu_{A}^{U}}{\mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right], \left[ \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} - v_{B}^{L}}{1 - v_{B}^{L}}, \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} - v_{B}^{U}}{1 - v_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right] \right)$$
(7)

#### 3.2 IVIF VIKOR Methodology

The steps of the IVIF VIKOR methodology is as follow:

Step 1. Get the judgments of DMs

DMs are asked to express their opinions on the alternative  $A_i$  over criterion  $C_j$  from the viewpoint of the k<sup>th</sup> DM based on their prior knowledge and their field of experience.

Step 2. Transform the linguistic variables into IVIF values

The DMs apply linguistic variables listed in Table 2 for voicing their judgments about the alternatives for each of the criteria.

Linguistic terms	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[v^L, v^U]$	
Extremely good	EG	0.00, 0.20	0.50, 0.80
Very good	VG	0.10, 0.30	0.40, 0.70
Medium good	MG	0.20, 0.40	0.30, 0.60
Good	G	0.30, 0.50	0.20, 0.50
Approximately equal	AE	0.40, 0.60	0.20, 0.40
Bad	В	0.50, 0.70	0.10, 0.30
Medium bad	MB	0.60, 0.80	0.00, 0.20
Very bad	VB	0.70, 0.90	0.00, 0.10
Extremely bad	EB	0.80, 1.00	0.00, 0.00

Table 2. Linguistic variables for rating alternatives [14].

Step 3. Determine DMs Weights

Equation (8) is used to determine *K* DMs' weights [13]. Linguistic importance scale in Table 2 is used to assess the importance of DMs. Where  $[\pi^L, \pi^U]$  represents the hesitancy degree (unknown degree) of an IVIF sets and  $\pi^L = 1 - v^U - \mu^U$ ,  $\pi^U = 1 - v^L - \mu^L$ .

$$\lambda^{k} = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{L^{k}} \right)^{2} + \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{U^{k}} \right)^{2} \right]}}{\sum_{l=1}^{K} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{L^{l}} \right)^{2} + \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{U^{l}} \right)^{2} \right]}}$$
(8)

Step 4. Calculate the criteria weights

The weight vectors  $w_1, w_2, ..., w_n$  with  $w_j \ge 0, j = 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n$  and  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} w_j = 1$  are determined that give the relative significance of different criterion by using Eq. (9).

$$W_{j} = \frac{1 - \breve{w}_{j}}{n - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \breve{w}_{j}}, \\ \breve{w}_{j} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{W_{j} \left(\mu_{\breve{\lambda}ij}^{L} + \mu_{\breve{\lambda}ij}^{U}\right)}{2}}{\sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{W_{j} \left(\mu_{\breve{\lambda}ij}^{L^{2}} + \mu_{\breve{\lambda}ij}^{U^{2}} + V_{\breve{\lambda}ij}^{U^{2}}\right)}{2}}}$$
(9)

Step 5. Construct the aggregated matrix

Using DMs' weights  $\{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_n\}$  calculated in step 3, individual opinions of DMs are aggregated to evaluate alternatives by using the IVIF weighted averaging (IIFWA) operator [15], as shown in Eq. (10).

Let  $X_{(k)} = (x_{ij}^{(k)})_{m \times n}$  be an IVIF decision matrix of the k<sup>th</sup> DM for the alternatives.

$$IIFWA = \left( \left[ 1 - \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( 1 - \mu_{A}^{L} \right)^{\lambda^{k}}, 1 - \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( 1 - \mu_{A}^{U} \right)^{\lambda^{k}} \right], \left[ \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( \nu_{A}^{L} \right)^{\lambda^{k}}, \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( \nu_{A}^{U} \right)^{\lambda^{k}} \right] \right)$$
(10)  
$$\tilde{X} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{x}_{11} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{21} & \tilde{x}_{i1} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{m1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{12} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{22} & \tilde{x}_{i2} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{m2} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{1j} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{2j} & \tilde{x}_{ij} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{mj} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{1n} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{2n} & \tilde{x}_{in} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{mn} \end{bmatrix}$$
(11)

Here,  $\tilde{x}_{ij} = \left[\tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}(\tilde{x}_{ij}), \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}(\tilde{x}_{ij})\right], \left[\tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}(\tilde{x}_{ij}), \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}(\tilde{x}_{ij})\right]$  denotes an IVIF value.
$\tilde{f}_i^-$ 

Step 6. Calculate the positive and negative ideal solutions

The positive and negative ideal solutions are found by Eqs. (12 and 13) [10, 11].

$$\begin{split} \tilde{f}_{j}^{*} &= \left\langle \left[ \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right), \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right) \right], \left[ \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right), \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right) \right] \right\rangle \\ & \left[ \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right) = \max_{i} \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij} \right), \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right) = \max_{i} \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij} \right) \right], \\ & \left[ \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right) = \min_{i} \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij} \right), \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{*} \right) = \min_{i} \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij} \right) \right] \\ & = \left\langle \left[ \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{-} \right), \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{-} \right) \right], \left[ \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{-} \right), \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{j}^{-} \right) \right] \right\rangle \\ & \left[ \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{i}^{-} \right) = \min \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij} \right), \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij}^{-} \right) = \min \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \left( \tilde{x}_{ij} \right) \right], \end{split}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{2}\left(x_{j}^{-}\right) = \min_{i} \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{2}\left(x_{ij}\right), \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{2}\left(x_{j}^{-}\right) = \min_{i} \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{2}\left(x_{ij}\right) \end{bmatrix}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) = \max_{i} \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right), \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) = \max_{i} \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(13)

Step 7. Calculate the group utility value and the individual regret value

The group utility value  $S(A_i)$  and individual regret value  $R(A_i)$  for alternative  $A_i$  are found by the Eq. (14) [10, 11].

$$\mathbf{S}(A_i) = \sum_{j=1}^n \left[ w_j \frac{d\left(\tilde{f}_j^*, \tilde{x}_{ij}\right)}{d\left(\tilde{f}_j^*, \tilde{f}_j^-\right)} \right], \mathbf{R}(A_i) = \max_j \left[ w_j \frac{d\left(\tilde{f}_j^*, \tilde{x}_{ij}\right)}{d\left(\tilde{f}_j^*, \tilde{f}_j^-\right)} \right].$$
(14)

$$d\left(\tilde{f}_{j}^{*},\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} \left| \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \right| + \left| \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \right| + \left| \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \right| + \left| \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{ij}\right) \right| \end{pmatrix}$$
(15)

$$d\left(\tilde{f}_{j}^{*},\tilde{f}_{j}^{-}\right) = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} \left| \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) \right| + \left| \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) \right| + \left| \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) \right| \\ + \left| \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) \right| + \left| \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{*}\right) - \tilde{\pi}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\left(\tilde{x}_{j}^{-}\right) \right| \end{pmatrix}.$$
(16)

Step 8. Compute the values  $Q(A_i)$  using the  $S^*(A_i)$ ,  $S^-(A_i)$  and  $R^*(A_i)$ ,  $R^-(A_i)$  values.

$$\mathbf{S}^*(\mathbf{A}_i) = \min_i S(A_i), \ \mathbf{S}^-(\mathbf{A}_i) = \max_i S(A_i)$$
(17)

$$\mathbf{R}^*(\mathbf{A}_i) = \min_i \mathbf{R}(\mathbf{A}_i), \ \mathbf{R}^-(\mathbf{A}_i) = \max_i \mathbf{R}(\mathbf{A}_i)$$
(18)

$$Q(A_i) = \upsilon \left( \frac{S(A_i) - S^*(A_i)}{S^-(A_i) - S^*(A_i)} \right) + (1 - \upsilon) \left( \frac{R(A_i) - R^*(A_i)}{R^-(A_i) - R^*(A_i)} \right)$$
(19)

where, "v" is presented as a weight of that defines "the majority of criteria". Usually v value is taken as 0.5.

Step 9. The ranking order of alternatives is determined

Alternatives are ranked by sorting each of the  $S(A_i)$ ,  $R(A_i)$ , and  $Q(A_i)$  index values. These values are sorted in ascending order as in the original VIKOR method [6]. The outcome is a set of ranking lists denoted as  $S_{[i]}$ ,  $R_{[i]}$  and  $Q_{[i]}$ .

**Step 10.** The alternative  $A_i$  related to  $Q_{[1]}$ , that is the smallest in ranking of  $Q(A_i)$  values, is proposed as a compromise solution if:

- 1. The alternative  $A_i$  has an acceptable advantage, in other words  $Q_{[2]} Q_{[1]} \ge DQ$ where DQ = 1/(z - 1) and z is the number of the alternatives.
- 2. The alternative  $A_i$  is constant within the decision-making process, that is, it is also the best ranked among  $S_{[i]}$  and  $R_{[i]}$  lists. If none of the above state is satisfied, then it is a set of compromise solutions, which consists of:
  - a. The alternatives  $A_i$  and  $A_{i+2}$  where  $Q(A_{i+2}) = Q_{[2]}$  if only the condition 2 is not satisfied, or
  - b. The alternatives  $A_1, A_2, ..., A_z$  if 1. state is not satisfied; and  $A_z$  is determined by the relation  $Q_{[z]} Q_{[1]} < DQ$  for the maximum z where  $Q(A_z) = Q_{[z]}$  (the ranking of these alternatives are in closeness).

## 4 Practical Case

This section presents a practical case to select wearable vital sign monitoring SMDs. There are three DMs; DM<sub>1</sub>, DM<sub>2</sub>, and DM<sub>3</sub> and four candidate SMD vendors; A<sub>1</sub>, A<sub>2</sub>, A<sub>3</sub>, and A<sub>4</sub> for the final evaluation. In order to evaluate candidate SMD vendors, five criteria are considered as evaluation factors; Safety (C<sub>1</sub>), Cost (C<sub>2</sub>), Ease of Use (C<sub>3</sub>), Service Life (C<sub>4</sub>), and Quality (C<sub>5</sub>), as presented in Sect. 2.

Step 1: DMs opinions are displayed in Table 3. DMs give their judgment on each factor as linguistic terms.

	DM <sub>1</sub>				DM <sub>2</sub>					DM <sub>3</sub>					
	C1	C <sub>2</sub>	C <sub>3</sub>	$C_4$	C <sub>5</sub>	$C_1$	C <sub>2</sub>	C <sub>3</sub>	C <sub>4</sub>	C <sub>5</sub>	C1	C <sub>2</sub>	C <sub>3</sub>	C <sub>4</sub>	C <sub>5</sub>
$A_1$	MB	EG	VG	VG	MG	В	EG	VG	G	VG	MB	VG	G	MB	VB
$A_2$	VG	G	MB	VG	VG	VG	EG	EG	EG	G	VG	G	EG	В	EG
$A_3$	G	G	В	VG	В	VG	G	VB	VG	G	VG	G	VG	G	G
$A_4$	VG	VG	G	VG	VG	VG	В	VG	G	MG	VG	MG	G	MB	MG
$C_j$	MG	VG	В	G	G	MG	VG	MB	G	VB	G	VG	MG	В	В

Table 3. Ratings of alternatives and criteria by DMs

Step 2: DMs opinions are transformed into IVIF values using the linguistic variables in Table 2. Due to space limitation, the following Table 4 only displays the transformed IVIF values of  $A_1$  and  $A_2$ .

Step 3: DMs' weights are determined by the Eq. (8), as shown in Table 6. Nine-point IVIF preference scale in Table 2 is used to weight DMs and the highest importance is given to the first DM and the least importance to the third DM.

		DM1		DM2		DM3		
		$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[v^L, v^U]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[v^L, v^U]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[v^L, v^U]$	
$A_1$	$C_1$	0.600, 0.800	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.700	0.100, 0.300	0.600, 0.800	0.000, 0.200	
	$C_2$	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	
	C <sub>3</sub>	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.300, 0.500	0.200, 0.500	
	$C_4$	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.300, 0.500	0.200, 0.500	0.600, 0.800	0.000, 0.200	
	C <sub>5</sub>	0.200, 0.400	0.300, 0.600	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.700, 0.900	0.000, 0.100	
$A_2$	$C_1$	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	
	C <sub>2</sub>	0.300, 0.500	0.200, 0.500	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	0.300, 0.500	0.200, 0.500	
	C <sub>3</sub>	0.600, 0.800	0.000, 0.200	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	
	$C_4$	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	0.500, 0.700	0.100, 0.300	
	C <sub>5</sub>	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.300, 0.500	0.200, 0.500	0.000, 0.200	0.500, 0.800	

Table 4. Transformed IVIF values

Step 4: Criteria weights are calculated using Eq. (9) and the results are displayed in Table 1. Nine-point IVIF preference scale in Table 2 is used to assess the alternatives. The highest importance is given to  $C_2$  and the least importance is given to  $C_3$ .

	A <sub>1</sub>		A <sub>2</sub>			
	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[v^L, v^U]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[v^L, v^U]$		
$C_1$	0.568, 0.770	0.000, 0.230	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700		
$C_2$	0.030, 0.230	0.469, 0.770	0.209, 0.413	0.274, 0.587		
C <sub>3</sub>	0.162, 0.364	0.328, 0.636	0.288, 0.522	0.000, 0.478		
$C_4$	0.345, 0.564	0.000, 0.436	0.211, 0.425	0.290, 0.575		
C <sub>5</sub>	0.371, 0.621	0.000, 0.379	0.149, 0.352	0.336, 0.648		

Table 5. Aggregated decision matrix

Table 6. Weights of each DMs

DM	DM <sub>1</sub>	DM <sub>2</sub>	DM <sub>3</sub>
Weights	0.3711	0.3429	0.2860

Step 5: Aggregation for GDM is done in this step with Eq. (10). Due to space limitations, the aggregated decision matrix is displayed in Table 5 only for  $A_1$  and  $A_2$ . Step 6: The positive and negative ideal solutions are determined by Eqs. (12 and 13), as shown in Table 7.

	A <sub>1</sub>		A <sub>2</sub>		A <sub>3</sub>		A <sub>4</sub>	
	$[\mu^L,\mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[v^L, v^Y]$
$\tilde{f}_j^*$	0.568, 0.770	0.000, 0.230	0.288, 0.522	0.000, 0.478	0.504, 0.738	0.000, 0.262	0.345, 0.564	0.000, 0.436
$\tilde{f}_j^-$	0.030, 0.230	0.469, 0.770	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700	0.162, 0.364	0.328, 0.636	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700

Table 7. The positive and negative ideal solutions

Step 7: The distances from the ideal and the negative ideal solution for each alternative are computed using Eqs. (15 and 16), as given in Table 8. By the help of these distances, the group utility value and the individual regret value are determined with the Eq. (14). The results are listed in Table 9.

Table 8. The distances from the ideal and negative ideal solutions

	$d\left(\tilde{f}_{j}^{*},\tilde{x}_{i}\right)$	i)			$d\left(\tilde{f}_{j}^{*},\tilde{f}_{j}^{-}\right)$
	A <sub>1</sub>	A <sub>2</sub>	A <sub>3</sub>	A <sub>4</sub>	
$C_1$	0.0000	0.4692	0.388	0.4692	0.4692
$C_2$	0.0000	0.1889	0.2702	0.2641	0.2702
C <sub>3</sub>	0.3573	0.2157	0.0000	0.2827	0.3573
$C_4$	0.0000	0.2148	0.264	0.0000	0.264
$C_5$	0.1602	0.4055	0.1718	0.3916	0.2768

Step 8:  $Q(A_i)$  values are determined by the Eq. (19) using the  $S^*(A_i)$ ,  $S^-(A_i)$  and  $R^*(A_i)$ ,  $R^-(A_i)$  values determined by the Eqs. (17 and 18). Table 9 show these results.

Step 9: The ranking order of alternatives is determined with the procedure presented in the step. Alternatives are ranked by sorting each  $S(A_i)$ ,  $R(A_i)$ , and  $Q(A_i)$  index values in increasing order as in the original VIKOR method. The result is a set of three ranking lists denoted as  $S_{[i]}$ ,  $R_{[i]}$  and  $Q_{[i]}$  and displayed in Table 9.

	$S(A_i)$	Rank	R(A <sub>i</sub> )	Rank	$Q(A_i)$	Rank
$A_1$	0.409	4	0.256	3	0.096	4
$A_2$	0.952	1	0.388	1	1.000	1
A <sub>3</sub>	0.615	3	0.225	4	0.190	3
$A_4$	0.830	2	0.375	2	0.846	2

Table 9. Ranking results and relevant parameters

Step 10: The alternative  $A_1$  corresponds to the smallest value  $Q_{[1]}$  among  $Q(A_i)$  values. Therefore,  $A_1$  is proposed as a compromise solution since it is also best among the ranking lists of  $S_{[i]}$  and  $R_{[i]}$ .

The result according to the performance index indicates that  $A_2$  is the best one,  $A_4$  is the second,  $A_3$  is the third and  $A_1$  is the last one in ranking;

$$\mathbf{A}_2 > \mathbf{A}_4 > \mathbf{A}_3 > \mathbf{A}_1.$$

### 5 Concluding Remarks

SMD vendors notice that patients desire to measure their activity themselves. Medical devices are not just for healthcare specialists anymore. Every day SMDs are becoming smarter and more incorporated, such as smart watches, wearable monitoring sensors, smartphones and even contact lenses. The authors introduce a combined IVIF VIKOR methodology for an MCDM problem for evaluating and selecting the best wearable vital sign monitoring SMD. Their evaluation criteria are compiled through an extensive literature review and experts' views. Since VIKOR contemplates the complexity of decision criteria, the ranking outcome of the proposed methodology is more accurate and realistic than other MCDM techniques. The partiality and bias of individual opinions are reduced by a group of DMs, which is preferable over a single DM. The evaluation process is enriched by the use of IVIF values. The IVIF theory is able to prevent data loss and to assist with the integration of linguistic non-numerical statements into analytic numerical models. The information gathered this way are then evaluated by means of the IVIF VIKOR methodology, which is a powerful combined technique for complete or partial rankings. Even though the introduced methodology is applied for the sake of wearable vital sign monitoring evaluation, it can also be utilized for other SMD evaluations.

As a further research direction, the proposed methodology can be extended for other types of SMDs selection processes. Another area to be the examined could be the further comparison of the proposed methodology with different MCDM problems based on classical fuzzy, IF or IVIF sets.

Acknowledgments. The authors are grateful to the industrial experts who shared their evaluations for the case study. This research is financially supported by Galatasaray University Research Fund (Projects No: 16.402.004 and 17.402.009).

# References

- Stoppa, M., Chiolerio, A.: Wearable electronics and smart textiles: a critical review. Sensors 14, 11957–11992 (2014)
- Vashist, S., Schneider, E., Luong, J.: Commercial smartphone-based devices and smart applications for personalized healthcare monitoring and management. Diagnostics 4, 104– 128 (2014)

- Walsh, J.A., Topol, E.J., Steinhubl, S.R.: Novel wireless devices for cardiac monitoring. Circulation 130, 573–581 (2014)
- 4. Khan, Y., Ostfeld, A.E., Lochner, C.M., Pierre, A., Arias, A.C.: Monitoring of vital signs with flexible and wearable medical devices. Adv. Mater. 28, 4373–4395 (2016)
- Lertprapai, S.: Review: multiple criteria decision making method with applications. Int. Math. Forum. 8, 347–355 (2013)
- 6. Opricovic, S.: Multicriteria Optimization of Civil Engineering Systems. Faculty of Civil Engineering, Belgrade (1998)
- 7. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-353 (1965)
- 8. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 20, 87-96 (1986)
- 9. Atanassov, K., Gargov, G.: Interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 31, 343–349 (1989)
- Li, C., Jiang, H.: Extension of VIKOR method with interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Int. Conf. Manag. Serv. Sci. 47, 1–4 (2011)
- Tan, C., Chen, X.: Interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy multicriteria group decision making based on VIKOR and choquet integral. J. Appl. Math. 2013, 1–16 (2013)
- Zhao, H., Xu, Z., Yao, Z.: Interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy derivative and differential operations. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 9, 36–56 (2016)
- Zhang, F., Xu, S.: Multiple attribute group decision making method based on utility theory under interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy environment. Gr. Decis. Negot. 25, 1261–1275 (2016)
- 14. Onar, S.C., Oztaysi, B., Otay, I., Kahraman, C.: Multi-expert wind energy technology selection using interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Energy **90**, 274–285 (2015)
- 15. Xu, Z., Cai, X.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Information Aggregation (2012)

# Cloud Computing Technology Selection Based on Interval Valued Intuitionistic Fuzzy COPRAS

Gülçin Büyüközkan<sup>(IZI)</sup>, Fethullah Göçer, and Orhan Feyzioğlu

Industrial Engineering Department, Galatasaray University, Ortaköy, Istanbul, Turkey gulcin. buyukozkan@gmail.com, gocer.fethullah@gmail.com, orhanfeyzioglu@gmail.com

Abstract. Cloud computing technology provides virtual services based on subscriptions with an associated cost that is accessible to its users from anywhere, wherever they are. Technology brings many different benefits to companies as well as to the public by reducing the time and resources for them which would be needed for establishing and operating their own Information Technology infrastructure. The main aim in this study is to identify significant decision criteria that are relevant to the cloud computing technology selection problem among 'Infrastructure as a Service' cloud providers, to provide an effective framework to evaluate and select the most appropriate 'Infrastructure as a Service' providers and also to apply the proposed approach through an empirical study. Technology selection essentially is a difficult multi-criteria problem that deals with both quantitative and qualitative parameters, which are usually conflicting and uncertain. Interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy set is a powerful method to cope with uncertainty by taking both degree of membership and non-membership function in an interval. A multi-criteria approach based on the combination of interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy set theory and complex proportional assessment is proposed to deal with cloud computing technology selection problem in uncertain and ambiguous environment. Finally, in order to illustrate the procedure thoroughly, an application of the proposed approach is considered.

Keywords: Cloud computing technology  $\cdot$  Infrastructure as a service provider selection  $\cdot$  Interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy  $\cdot$  Multi-criteria  $\cdot$  Complex proportional assessment

# 1 Introduction

In recent years, cloud computing technology (CCT) is gaining high attention by bringing next-generation access to infrastructure and application services for the Information Technology (IT) industry. Following the emergence of this evolution in technological development, several companies have initiated their own CCT services to serve their customers. This offering of cloud services online over the internet has generated many decision-making problems from the view point of customers. Not every CCT service provider is the same and considering a multitude of criteria concurrently makes it crucial

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_29

to have a CCT service provider selection framework so that customers are best able to decide on the desired service that fits their expectations. CCT has numerous advantages over conventional technologies [1], since CCT enables companies to develop and transfer their applications easily in a flexible manner. In order to extract the full potential, a key issue for customers is to ensure the fulfillment of their requirements and to fully utilize the features of the applications from CCT providers. In parallel to these recent developments in CCT. Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) is one of the CCT models that allow companies to outsource resources and computing equipment. Several service providers, such as Microsoft, IBM, and Google, have started offering similar services with different features and prices, leading to a differentiation in the quality and the level of services. IaaS cloud providers own and maintain the equipment while their clients rent out the specific services they desire, usually on a subscription basis with a fee. Nowadays, the question is less about whether or not to use IaaS cloud services, but rather which IaaS providers to choose. This diversity in the CCT makes it a challenge for customers to discover the "right" technology that satisfies the desires and needs. Acknowledging this CCT selection problem, an effective decision support framework can benefit CCT users and create value for them.

Decision-making is quite often associated with the process of selecting the best among the set of available alternatives. In many cases when selecting the best available alternative, it is essential to consider the impact of many criteria at the same time. Since the early 1970s, multiple-criteria decision-making (MCDM) methods are being developed. MCDM today has become the main area of research in dealing with complex problems in case of multiple objectives or criteria. As a result, many different types of MCDM methodologies have been proposed, such as AHP [2], TOPSIS [3] and VIKOR [4], among others. These approaches are being successfully applied in solving many types of decision-making problems. However, most of these so-called ordinary MCDM methods are run with crisp numbers, which prove inadequate in many real-life problems. Therefore, most of MCDM methods are extended so that they can be used with fuzzy numbers. Even fuzzy numbers can be insufficient in certain environments. Given information can be limited leading to inexactness and lack of precision. To address these weaknesses of the conventional fuzzy or crisp sets, the intuitionistic fuzzy or interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy (IVIF) concept is developed. In addition, most of the decision-making problems also require the participation of more than one decision maker (DM) in decision-making processes. Hence, many MCDM methods are also extended to a group decision making (GDM) environment. The major advantage of IVIF sets over the crisp or classical fuzzy sets is that IVIF sets differentiate the positive and the negative indication for an element's interval membership and non-membership in the set.

The Multi-Attribute Complex Proportional Assessment (COPRAS) approach was first introduced by Zavadskas et al. [5]. When it is compared to other methods, it has slightly more complex aggregation procedure which does not require transformation of benefit to cost type criteria [6]. IVIF COPRAS methodology is an MDCM method to optimize complicated systems with inconsistent criteria and focuses on the ranking of distinctive alternatives among a set of other options. IVIF numbers provide an opportunity for a much more adequate modelling and solving complex problems. The originality of the paper comes from its strength in presenting an extension of COPRAS methodology, an IVIF MCDM technique based on GDM, where the ratings of alternatives are voiced in IVIF values. There are several studies in the literature considering COPRAS methodology under intuitionistic fuzzy environment [7–9]. The proposed method has advantage over others as it is easily comprehensible and computationally simple. Even though the combination of IVIF and COPRAS has been studied already, this method differs from those approaches in a way that utilizes GDM approach. It seems that the proposed framework can be satisfactorily implemented in MCDM problems under vague and imprecise conditions. GDM is also involved in the proposed extension, in which multiple DMs can express individual ratings using IVIF values. Group performance ratings provided in this approach have more adequate determination strength and greater flexibility. This new methodology is then applied on a practical case. Doing so, this study contributes to the state of research by providing a methodology for the first time by developing an evaluation model to assess applicable CCT providers in order to handle the inexact and vague information that is fundamental in criteria.

This paper is structured as follows. The next section discusses the role of MCDM methodologies on the CCT provider selection problem. The following section present the CCT selection framework to guide customers in decision processes for the most suitable IaaS service provider among a set of available alternatives by applying the IVIF COPRAS methodology. A practical case is presented in Sect. 4 to validate the proposed methodology. The last section concludes the paper.

# 2 Problem Definition of CCT Selection in MCDM

MCDM techniques are used for ranking, comparing, and selecting alternatives using multiple criteria. When assessing the decision-making problems, MCDM techniques are used extensively. When there is more than one alternative available, MCDM approach is used and a decision needs to favored over others. In case of real world conditions, this type of problems frequently occur when a decision needs to be taken in the presence of multiple criteria. Deciding on a proper alternative requires available alternatives to be judged, whereby compromise or trade-offs shall also be considered. There exist numerous different types of MCDM methodologies in literature. A variety of different approaches to CCT selection have been proposed by scholars and practitioners using different factors and techniques. This study proposes an IVIF COPRAS methodology for CCT IaaS provider selection in which the criteria are determined with the help of an expert team and extensive survey of literature. Accordingly, these criteria affecting the provider selection are determined to be Agility, Accountability, Cost, Reliability of Service, Response Speed, Performance, Latency, Usability, Security and Privacy. Agility of an organization is one of the most important advantages of CCT. The organization can adapt and change quickly without excessive costs. A flexible and portable CCT service is considered agile [10]. Accountability measures various CCT providers' specific characteristics. This factor is important as it translates into establishing trust with the customer for any CCT provider [10]. Cost criterion arises as a first question in mind before switching to CCT. Therefore, cost is clearly the vital attribute for CCT selection [10]. Reliability stands for the likelihood of a CCT service performing as expected [11]. Response Speed is a criterion that measures the efficiency of service availability. The response time depends on various factors and sub-factors [11]. Performance is needed to understand how successfully their applications will perform and whether it will meet their expectations [12]. Latency criterion is described as the time it takes for any requests to reach and get back to the user from the virtual machine in the cloud [13]. Usability plays an important role for the rapid adoption of CCT services [10]. Security and Privacy is one of the most important criteria that every organization is concerned with about data protection and privacy [10].

### **3** Proposed Methodology

The IVIF COPRAS methodology employs a stepwise ordering and assessing procedure of the alternatives with respect to evaluation criteria.

#### 3.1 Preliminaries

Zadeh [14] proposed ordinary fuzzy sets in which a membership value is given to each element of a set. Later, Atanassov [15] introduced the concept of intuitionistic fuzzy sets, where a non-membership value is assigned to each element of the set alongside its membership value. IVIF sets the extended versions of intuitionistic fuzzy sets [16]. Here, X is a given fixed set. An IVIF set in x in  $\tilde{A}$  defined in (Eq. 1) as the basic component of an IVIF set that is an ordered pair, characterized by an interval valued membership value and an interval valued non-membership value.  $\tilde{A}$  is called IVIF set, where  $\tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \subset [0, 1]$  and  $\tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \subset [0, 1]$ ,  $x \in X$  with the condition of sup  $\tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) + \sup \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \leq 1$ .

$$\tilde{A} = \left\{ \left\langle x, \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}(x), \tilde{\nu}_{\tilde{A}}(x) \right\rangle | x \in X \right\}$$
(1)

For convenience, the IVIF set lower and upper end points are denoted by  $\tilde{A} = \left[\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\right], \left[v_{\tilde{A}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\right]$  or  $\tilde{B} = \left[\mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}\right], \left[v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{B}}^{U}\right]$ . Using these two IVIF numbers, the following expressions are defined [17]:

$$\tilde{A} \leq \tilde{B} \Leftrightarrow \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \leq \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \leq \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}, v_{\tilde{B}}^{L} \leq v_{\tilde{A}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \leq v_{\tilde{A}}^{U}$$
(2)

$$\tilde{A} + \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} + \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L} - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} + \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U} - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right], \left[ v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right] \right)$$
(3)

$$\tilde{A} * \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right], \left[ v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} + v_{\tilde{B}}^{L} - v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}, v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} + v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} - v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} v_{\tilde{B}}^{U} \right] \right)$$
(4)

$$\lambda \tilde{A} = \left( \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda} \right], \left[ v_{\tilde{A}}^{L^{\lambda}} \right], \left[ v_{\tilde{A}}^{U^{\lambda}} \right] \right)$$
(5)

$$\tilde{A}^{\lambda} = \left( \left( \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda}, \left( \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda}, \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda}, \left[ 1 - \left( 1 - v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} \right) \right]^{\lambda} \right] \right)$$
(6)

$$\tilde{A} - \tilde{B} = \left( \left[ \frac{\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}{1 - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}, \frac{\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}}{1 - \mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right], \left[ \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{L}}{v_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}, \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{U}}{v_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right] \right), \frac{\tilde{A}}{\tilde{B}} = \left( \left[ \frac{\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L}}{\mu_{\tilde{B}}^{L}}, \frac{\mu_{A}^{U}}{\mu_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right], \left[ \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{L} - v_{B}^{L}}{1 - v_{B}^{L}}, \frac{v_{\tilde{A}}^{U} - v_{\tilde{B}}^{U}}{1 - v_{\tilde{B}}^{U}} \right] \right)$$
(7)

#### 3.2 IVIF COPRAS Methodology

The steps of the IVIF COPRAS methodology is as follow:

Step 1: Get Judgments of DMs.

DMs are asked to express their opinions on the alternative  $A_i$  over criterion  $C_j$  from the viewpoint of the k<sup>th</sup> DM, based on their prior knowledge and expertise on the topics.

Step 2: Transform linguistic variables into IVIF numbers.

Since linguistic variables are not mathematically operable, DMs apply these linguistic variables that are listed in Table 1 for voicing their judgments about the alternatives for each of the criteria, as well as about the weights of each criterion in the overall decision.

Linguistic terms		$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^U]$
Extremely good	EG	0.00, 0.20	0.50, 0.80
Very good	VG	0.10, 0.30	0.40, 0.70
Medium good	MG	0.20, 0.40	0.30, 0.60
Good	G	0.30, 0.50	0.20, 0.50
Approximately equal	AE	0.40, 0.60	0.20, 0.40
Bad	В	0.50, 0.70	0.10, 0.30
Medium bad	MB	0.60, 0.80	0.00, 0.20
Very bad	VB	0.70, 0.90	0.00, 0.10
Extremely bad	EB	0.80, 1.00	0.00, 0.00

Table 1. Linguistic variables for rating alternatives [19].

#### Step 3: Determine DMs' weights.

Equation (8) is used to determine *K* DMs' weights [18]. Linguistic importance scale in Table 1 is used to assess the importance of DMs,  $\lambda^k (1 < k < K)$  Where  $[\pi^L, \pi^U]$  represents the hesitancy degree (unknown degree) of an IVIF sets and  $\pi^L = 1 - \nu^U - \mu^U$ ,  $\pi^U = 1 - \nu^L - \mu^L$ .

$$\lambda^{k} = \frac{\sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{L^{k}} \right)^{2} + \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{U^{k}} \right)^{2} \right]}}{\sum_{l=1}^{K} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \left[ \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{L^{l}} \right)^{2} + \left( 1 - \pi_{\tilde{A}}^{U^{l}} \right)^{2} \right]}}$$
(8)

Step 4: Calculate the criteria weights.

The weight vectors  $w_1, w_2, ..., w_n$  with  $w_j \ge 0, j = 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n$  and  $\sum_{j=1}^n w_j = 1$  are determined to capture the relative significance of different criteria by using Eq. (9).

$$w_{j} = \frac{1 - \breve{w}_{j}}{n - \sum_{i=1}^{n} \breve{w}_{j}}, \quad \breve{w}_{j} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{W_{j} \left(\mu_{\breve{A}_{ij}}^{L} + \mu_{\breve{A}_{ij}}^{U}\right)}{2}}{\sqrt{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \frac{W_{j} \left(\mu_{\breve{A}_{ij}}^{L^{2}} + \mu_{\breve{A}_{ij}}^{U^{2}} + \nu_{\breve{A}_{ij}}^{U^{2}} + \nu_{\breve{A}_{ij}}^{U^{2}}\right)}}}$$
(9)

Step 5: Construct the aggregated matrix.

Aggregate IVIF numbers into group TIFNs to evaluate alternatives  $A_1, A_2, ..., A_m$  based on criteria  $C_1, C_2, ..., C_n$  IVIF weighted averaging (IIFWA) operator [20] is used for aggregation as shown in Eq. (10). The merged IVIF decision matrix is formed for each alternative based on opinions collected from all experts. Let  $X_{(k)} = (x_{ij}^{(k)})_{m \times n}$  be an IVIF decision matrix of the k<sup>th</sup> DM for the alternatives. Using DMs' weights  $\{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, ..., \lambda_n\}$  calculated in step 3, individual opinions of DMs are merged into the IVIF decision matrix.

$$IIFWA = \left( \left[ 1 - \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( 1 - \mu_{\bar{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda^{k}}, 1 - \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( 1 - \mu_{\bar{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda^{k}} \right], \left[ \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( \nu_{\bar{A}}^{L} \right)^{\lambda^{k}}, \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left( \nu_{\bar{A}}^{U} \right)^{\lambda^{k}} \right] \right)$$
(10)  
$$\tilde{X} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{x}_{11} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{21} & \tilde{x}_{i1} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{m1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{12} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{22} & \tilde{x}_{i2} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{m2} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{1j} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{2j} & \tilde{x}_{ij} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{mj} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \tilde{x}_{1n} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{2n} & \tilde{x}_{in} & \cdots & \tilde{x}_{mn} \end{pmatrix}$$
(11)

where,  $\tilde{x}_{ij} = \left[\tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}(\tilde{x}_{ij}), \tilde{\mu}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}(\tilde{x}_{ij})\right], \left[\tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{L}(\tilde{x}_{ij}), \tilde{v}_{\tilde{A}}^{U}(\tilde{x}_{ij})\right]$  denote IVIF values representing the aggregated performance value of the i alternative in terms of the j criterion.

Step 6: Establish the normalized decision matrix.

Normalize the IVIF decision matrix using the Eqs. (12 and 13). Establish normalized matrix  $\tilde{R} = [\tilde{r}_{ij}]_{m \times n}$  with  $\tilde{r}_{ij} = [a^L_{ij}, a^U_{ij}], [b^L_{ij}, b^U_{ij}]$ .

$$a_{ij}^{L} = \frac{\mu_{ij}^{L}}{\left(\sum_{l=1}^{m} \left(\left(\mu_{lj}^{L}\right)^{2} + \left(\mu_{lj}^{U}\right)^{2}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \quad \text{and} \quad a_{ij}^{U} = \frac{\mu_{ij}^{U}}{\left(\sum_{l=1}^{m} \left(\left(\mu_{lj}^{L}\right)^{2} + \left(\mu_{lj}^{U}\right)^{2}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \quad (12)$$

$$b_{ij}^{L} = \frac{v_{ij}^{L}}{\left(\sum_{l=1}^{m} \left(\left(v_{lj}^{L}\right)^{2} + \left(v_{lj}^{U}\right)^{2}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}} \quad \text{and} \quad b_{ij}^{U} = \frac{v_{ij}^{U}}{\left(\sum_{l=1}^{m} \left(\left(v_{lj}^{L}\right)^{2} + \left(v_{lj}^{U}\right)^{2}\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}}$$
(13)

Step 7: Establish the weighted-normalized decision matrix.

Use the criteria weights calculated in step 4, and construct the normalized weighted values of the criteria with Eq. (14). The weighted normalized decision matrix  $\dot{\tilde{R}} = [\dot{\tilde{r}}_{ij}]_{m \times n}$  is formed.

$$\dot{\tilde{R}} = \tilde{r}_{ii} * w_i. \tag{14}$$

**Step 8:** Calculate the sum of all criteria for each alternative where larger values are more preferable.

$$\tilde{Z}_i = \sum_{j=1}^{g} \tilde{\check{r}}_{ij}.$$
(15)

where j = 1, 2, ..., g.

**Step 9:** Calculate the sums of all criteria for each alternative where smaller values are more preferable.

$$\tilde{T}_i = \sum_{j=g+1}^n \tilde{\dot{r}}_{ij} \tag{16}$$

where g = g + 1, g + 2, ..., n.

**Step 10:** Defuzzify  $\tilde{Z}_i$  and  $\tilde{T}_i$  values [21] using the Eq. (17).

$$1 - \frac{\mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} + \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} + \left(1 - \nu_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\right) + \left(1 - \nu_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\right) + \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{L} * \mu_{\tilde{A}}^{U} - \sqrt{\left(1 - \nu_{\tilde{A}}^{L}\right) + \left(1 - \nu_{\tilde{A}}^{U}\right)}}{4}$$
(17)

Step 11: Calculate the relative importance of each alternative.

$$Q_{i} = Z_{i} + \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} T_{i}}{T_{i} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \frac{1}{T_{i}}}$$
(18)

Step 12: Find the maximum relative importance.

$$Q_{max} = max(Q_i) \forall i = 1, 2, \dots m$$
(19)

Step 13: Rank alternatives based on the performance index for each alternative.

The alternative with a value of 100 in the performance index " $I_i = 100$ " is the best one. The ranking is completed in descending order of the performance index for each alternative.

$$I_i = \frac{Q_i}{Q_{max}}.100\%$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

# 4 Practical Case

This section presents a practical case for a company, hereafter called ABC, which plans to select IaaS cloud service provider for supporting its operations. There are three DMs; DM<sub>1</sub>, DM<sub>2</sub>, and DM<sub>3</sub> and four candidate CCT service providers; A<sub>1</sub>, A<sub>2</sub>, A<sub>3</sub>, and A<sub>4</sub> for the final evaluation. In order to evaluate candidate CCTs, the following nine criteria are considered as evaluation factors, Agility (C<sub>1</sub>), Accountability (C<sub>2</sub>), Cost (C<sub>3</sub>), Reliability of Service (C<sub>4</sub>), Response Speed (C<sub>5</sub>), Performance (C<sub>6</sub>), Latency (C<sub>7</sub>), Usability (C<sub>8</sub>), Security and Privacy (C<sub>9</sub>) as presented in Sect. 3.

Step 1: DMs' opinions are displayed in Table 2. DMs give their judgment on each factor in linguistic terms.

Step 2: DMs opinions are transformed into IVIF values using the linguistic variables in Table 1. Due to space limitations, the following Table 3 displays the transformed IVIF values of  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  only.

	$C_1$	C <sub>2</sub>	C <sub>3</sub>	$C_4$	C <sub>5</sub>	C <sub>6</sub>	C <sub>7</sub>	C <sub>8</sub>	C <sub>9</sub>
$A_1$	MB	VG	G	VG	G	В	VG	VG	VG
$A_2$	MB	VG	MB	VG	MB	В	G	MB	VG
$A_3$	EG	G	G	VG	VG	EG	EG	G	В
$A_4$	G	VG	VG	MG	VG	VB	VG	G	VB
Cj	VG	MB	В	G	MG	VG	EG	VB	VG
$A_1$	VG	EG	MB	VG	EG	G	G	В	VG
$A_2$	VG	VG	VG	VG	В	G	EG	VG	G
$A_3$	MB	VG	VG	VG	VB	G	G	MB	VG
$A_4$	MG	VG	В	VG	EG	VG	G	G	MG
Cj	MB	VG	G	VG	G	В	VG	VG	VG
$A_1$	MB	VG	MB	VG	MB	В	G	MB	VG
$A_2$	EG	G	G	VG	VG	EG	EG	G	В
$A_3$	G	VG	VG	MG	VG	VB	VG	G	VB
$A_4$	VG	MB	В	G	MG	VG	EG	VB	VG
Ci	VG	EG	MB	VG	EG	G	G	В	VG

Table 2. Ratings of alternatives and criteria by DMs

		DM1		DM2		DM3	
		$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^U]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^U]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^U]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^U]$
$A_1$	$C_1$	0.35, 0.44	0.45, 0.60	0.25, 0.34	0.55, 0.70	0.35, 0.44	0.45, 0.60
	$C_2$	0.35, 0.44	0.45, 0.60	0.25, 0.34	0.55, 0.70	0.55, 0.64	0.25, 0.40
	C <sub>3</sub>	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50	0.85, 0.95	0.04, 0.15
	$C_4$	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.15, 0.24	0.65, 0.80	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20
	$C_5$	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30
	$C_6$	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30
	C <sub>7</sub>	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.35, 0.44	0.45, 0.60
	$C_8$	0.35, 0.44	0.45, 0.60	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.25, 0.34	0.55, 0.70
	C <sub>9</sub>	0.55, 0.64	0.25, 0.40	0.85, 0.95	0.04, 0.15	0.15, 0.24	0.65, 0.80
$A_2$	$C_1$	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.85, 0.95	0.04, 0.15	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20
	$C_2$	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.85, 0.95	0.04, 0.15
	C <sub>3</sub>	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30
	$C_4$	0.85, 0.95	0.04, 0.15	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20
	$C_5$	0.35, 0.44	0.45, 0.60	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50
	$C_6$	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30
	C <sub>7</sub>	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50	0.25, 0.34	0.55, 0.70
	C <sub>8</sub>	0.75, 0.84	0.05, 0.20	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.15, 0.24	0.65, 0.80
	C <sub>9</sub>	0.85, 0.95	0.04, 0.15	0.65, 0.74	0.15, 0.30	0.45, 0.54	0.35, 0.50

 Table 3.
 Transformed IVIF values

Step 3: DMs' weights are determined by the Eq. (8), as displayed in Table 4. The highest importance is given to the first DM and the least importance is assigned to the third DM.

Step 4: Criteria weights are calculated using Eq. (9) and the results are displayed in Table 4. The highest importance is given to  $C_9$  and the least importance is given to  $C_2$ .

Weigl	nts	Weigl	nts	Weights		
$DM_1$	0.3711	$DM_2$	0.3429	$DM_3$	0.2860	
C1	0.0997	C <sub>2</sub>	0.0643	C <sub>3</sub>	0.1264	
$C_4$	0.1362	C <sub>5</sub>	0.1302	C <sub>6</sub>	0.1085	
C <sub>7</sub>	0.0874	C <sub>8</sub>	0.1109	C <sub>9</sub>	0.1364	

Table 4. DMs and criteria weights

Step 5: The GDM-aggregation is done in this step with Eq. (10). Due to space limitations, only the aggregated decision matrix for  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  is displayed in Table 5.

Step 6: Normalization of the aggregated IVIF values is done based on Eqs. (12 and 13). Table 6 displays the normalized decision matrix.

Step 7: Weighted-Normalized decision matrix is done by the Eq. (14) using the criteria weights calculated in Step 4. The result is shown in Table 6.

	A <sub>1</sub>		A <sub>2</sub>	
	$[\mu^L,\mu^U]$	$[\nu^L,\nu^U]$	$[\mu^L,\mu^U]$	$[\nu^L,\nu^U]$
$C_1$	0.568, 0.770	0.000, 0.230	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700
$C_2$	0.474, 0.685	0.000, 0.315	0.174, 0.376	0.315, 0.624
C <sub>3</sub>	0.030, 0.230	0.469, 0.770	0.209, 0.413	0.274, 0.587
$C_4$	0.438, 0.683	0.000, 0.317	0.100, 0.300	0.400, 0.700
$C_5$	0.162, 0.364	0.328, 0.636	0.288, 0.522	0.000, 0.478
C <sub>6</sub>	0.232, 0.434	0.259, 0.566	0.201, 0.405	0.281, 0.595
C <sub>7</sub>	0.345, 0.564	0.000, 0.436	0.211, 0.425	0.290, 0.575
C <sub>8</sub>	0.483, 0.692	0.000, 0.308	0.397, 0.642	0.000, 0.358
C <sub>9</sub>	0.371, 0.621	0.000, 0.379	0.149, 0.352	0.336, 0.648

Table 5. Aggregated decision matrix

Table 6. The decision matrix

	Normalized				Weighted-Normalized			
	A <sub>1</sub>		A <sub>2</sub>		A <sub>1</sub>		A <sub>2</sub>	
	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$
$C_1$	0.27, 0.37	0.00, 0.15	0.07, 0.21	0.20, 0.35	0.00, 0.03	0.81, 0.85	0.04, 0.07	0.65, 0.78
$C_2$	0.23, 0.33	0.00, 0.20	0.12, 0.26	0.16, 0.31	0.00, 0.04	0.79, 0.84	0.03, 0.06	0.71, 0.81
$C_3$	0.01, 0.11	0.30, 0.50	0.14, 0.29	0.14, 0.30	0.05, 0.10	0.53, 0.72	0.02, 0.05	0.75, 0.83
$C_4$	0.21, 0.33	0.00, 0.20	0.07, 0.21	0.20, 0.35	0.00, 0.01	0.92, 0.94	0.01, 0.02	0.80, 0.92
$C_5$	0.08, 0.17	0.21, 0.41	0.20, 0.36	0.00, 0.24	0.02, 0.05	0.80, 0.86	0.00, 0.02	0.87, 0.91
$C_6$	0.11, 0.21	0.17, 0.37	0.14, 0.28	0.14, 0.30	0.01, 0.02	0.90, 0.93	0.01, 0.02	0.91, 0.94
$C_7$	0.16, 0.27	0.00, 0.28	0.15, 0.29	0.15, 0.29	0.00, 0.05	0.76, 0.82	0.02, 0.05	0.74, 0.83
$C_8$	0.23, 0.33	0.00, 0.20	0.27, 0.44	0.00, 0.18	0.00, 0.03	0.81, 0.85	0.00, 0.03	0.83, 0.89
C <sub>9</sub>	0.18, 0.30	0.00, 0.24	0.10, 0.24	0.17, 0.33	0.00, 0.01	0.93, 0.95	0.01, 0.02	0.91, 0.94

Table 7. The decision matrix

	$[\mu^L, \mu^Y]$	$[\nu^L, \nu^Y]$						
$\tilde{Z}_i$	06, 0.20	0.23, 0.39	0.03, 0.07	0.69, 0.78	0.02, 0.07	0.70, 0.77	0.03, 0.06	0.69, 0.79
$\tilde{T}_i$	02, 0.10	0.56, 0.66	0.04, 0.10	0.56, 0.70	0.05, 0.12	0.52, 0.63	0.01, 0.07	0.63, 0.74

Step 8: The sums of all criteria for each alternative are calculated by the Eq. (15), where the larger values are preferable. Table 7 displays the calculated values. Step 9: The sums of all criteria for each alternative are calculated by the Eq. (16), where the smaller values are preferable. Table 7 displays the calculated values. Step 10: The  $\tilde{Z}_i$  and  $\tilde{T}_i$  values are defuzzified with Eq. (17).

Step 11: The relative importance of each alternative is calculated with Eq. (18).  $\sum_{i=1}^{4} T_i = 3.487$ , related values are given in Table 8.

Step 12: The maximum relative importance is calculated with Eq. (19) as 14.978. Step 13: The performance index for each alternative is calculated with Eq. (20) as shown in Table 8.

	Zi	Ti	Qi	Ii	Rank
A <sub>1</sub>	0.757	0.869	14.748	96.620	3
$A_2$	0.908	0.871	14.866	97.388	2
A <sub>3</sub>	0.911	0.847	15.264	100.000	1
$A_4$	0.912	0.899	14.432	94.548	4

Table 8. Ranking results and relevant parameters

The result according to the performance index indicates that  $A_3$  is the best one,  $A_2$  is the second,  $A_1$  is the third and  $A_4$  is the last one in ranking;

$$A_3 > A_2 > A_1 > A_4.$$

## 5 Concluding Remarks

This study applies the IVIF COPRAS methodology. The main aim of this study is to use an MCDM method which combines COPRAS technique with IVIF sets to evaluate a set of qualified alternatives for the sake of deciding on a best IaaS service provider in the context of CCT. In the evaluation process, each distinctive alternative is voiced using linguistic terms which were represented as IVIF values. The success of the provider selection depends on taking the precise strategic decisions. In this IaaS cloud service selection problem case, taking decisions can be difficult and costly if the activity would have to be reversed afterwards. This suggests that the method used for assessment of the most suitable IaaS cloud service provider under CCT is quite useful. An extensive literature review and a committee of DMs are used to identify the decision criteria that need to be taken into account when selecting the most appropriate CCT. In the light of these attributes, all candidate providers are evaluated with the IVIF COPRAS method. To derive the significance of the selection, the method has been applied in the IVIF environment for assessment and ranking of alternatives. Noting that IVIF MCDM is quite successful in dealing with vague and imprecise information, the method proposed in this paper can also be used for handling uncertainty in complex decision problems. A practical case is also illustrated to validate the proposed approach. This method is capable of dealing with similar types of uncertain situations in MCDM problems. For future research, other MCDM methods such as VIKOR, TOPSIS, etc. can be combined with IVIF preference relation to solve CCT selection problems. The paper presents a MCDM methodology for solving the problem considered, which is a usual practice in the cloud computing area. However, it might be interesting to include strict methodologies (e.g., optimization).

Acknowledgements. The authors are grateful to the industrial experts who shared their evaluations for the case study. This research is financially supported by Galatasaray University Research Fund (Projects No: 16.402.004 and 17.402.009).

# References

- Marston, S., Li, Z., Bandyopadhyay, S., Zhang, J., Ghalsasi, A.: Cloud computing the business perspective. Decis. Support Syst. 51, 176–189 (2011)
- Saaty, T.: The Analytic Hierarchy Process: Planning, Priority Setting, Resource Allocation. University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh (1980)
- 3. Hwang, C.L., Yoon, K.: Multiple Attribute Decision Making-Methods and Application. Springer, New York (1981)
- 4. Opricovic, S.: Multicriteria Optimization of Civil Engineering Systems. Faculty of Civil Engineering, Belgrade (1998)
- 5. Zavadskas, E.K., Kaklauskas, A., Sarka, V.: The new method of multi-criteria complex proportional assessment of projects. Technol. Econ. Dev. Econ. 1, 131–139 (1994)
- Turanoglu Bekar, E., Cakmakci, M., Kahraman, C.: Fuzzy COPRAS method for performance measurement in total productive maintenance: a comparative analysis. J. Bus. Econ. Manag. 17, 663–684 (2016)
- Wang, L.-E., Liu, H.-C., Quan, M.-Y.: Evaluating the risk of failure modes with a hybrid MCDM model under interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy environments. Comput. Ind. Eng. 102, 175–185 (2016)
- Gitinavard, H., Mousavi, S.M., Vahdani, B.: Soft computing-based new interval-valued hesitant fuzzy multi-criteria group assessment method with last aggregation to industrial decision problems. Soft Comput. 21, 3247–3265 (2017)
- Razavi Hajiagha, S.H., Hashemi, S.S., Zavadskas, E.K.: A complex proportional assessment method for group decision making in an interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy environment. Technol. Econ. Dev. Econ. 19, 22–37 (2013)
- Garg, S.K., Versteeg, S., Buyya, R.: A framework for ranking of cloud computing services. Futur. Gener. Comput. Syst. 29, 1012–1023 (2012)
- Sun, L., Dong, H., Hussain, F.K., Hussain, O.K., Ma, J., Zhang, Y.: A hybrid fuzzy framework for cloud service selection. In: 2014 IEEE International Conference Web Service, pp. 313–320 (2014)
- Rehman, Z.U., Hussain, O.K., Hussain, F.K.: Parallel cloud service selection and ranking based on QoS history. Int. J. Parallel Program. 42, 820–852 (2014)
- Bathla, P., Vashist, S.: SLA aware cost based service ranking in cloud computing. Int. J. Appl. 3, 257–268 (2014)
- 14. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-353 (1965)
- 15. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 20, 87-96 (1986)
- Atanassov, K., Gargov, G.: Interval valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 31, 343–349 (1989)
- 17. Zhao, H., Xu, Z., Yao, Z.: Interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy derivative and differential operations. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 9, 36–56 (2016)
- Zhang, F., Xu, S.: Multiple attribute group decision making method based on utility theory under interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy environment. Gr. Decis. Negot. 25, 1261–1275 (2016)
- Onar, S.C., Oztaysi, B., Otay, I., Kahraman, C.: Multi-expert wind energy technology selection using interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Energy 90, 274–285 (2015)
- Xu, Z., Cai, X.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Information Aggregation. Intuitionistic Fuzzy Information Aggregation, pp. 1–102. Springer, Heidelberg (2012)
- Oztaysi, B., Onar, S.C., Goztepe, K., Kahraman, C.: Evaluation of research proposals for grant funding using interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Soft Comput. 21, 1203–1218 (2017)

# A Hesitant Fuzzy Based TOPSIS Approach for Smart Glass Evaluation

Gülçin Büyüközkan<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Merve Güler

Industrial Engineering Department, Galatasaray University, 34357 Ortaköy, Istanbul, Turkey gulcin. buyukozkan@gmail.com, gulermerve93@gmail.com

**Abstract.** Hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets (HFLTS) are applied to better represent decision maker's (DMs') preferences in complex situations such as uncertainty in DMs' opinions and the difficulty about expressing thoughts by numbers. As an important tool, HFLTS presents a novel and strong approach for processing qualitative judgments of DMs. Therefore, this paper develops an approach based on HFLTS, ordered weighted averaging (OWA) operator and hesitant fuzzy technique for order performance by similarity to ideal solution (TOPSIS). A case study about smart glass (SG) evaluation is given to demonstrate the potential of the approach. The originality of the work comes from its evaluation methodology and its use on a case study for a logistics company. The study contributes the smart glass (SG) evaluation literature by introducing the integrated OWA Operator-Hesitant TOPSIS methodology. Since technology selection is an important subject for managers, the proposed methodology can be guided managers for an effective SG evaluation process.

Keywords: Hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets  $\cdot$  Multi criteria decision making  $\cdot$  Smart glasses  $\cdot$  TOPSIS  $\cdot$  OWA

# 1 Introduction

The selection of a most suitable technology is not a simple judgment. Multiple influencing factors should be considered in an evaluation process. These factors positively affect the evaluation process. If there are a lot of factors, however, then the problem and its solution become more complex. Multi-criteria Decision Making (MCDM) techniques provide researchers with effective tools for considering these factors. In order to begin the process, evaluation criteria and alternatives should be constructed and evaluated by decision makers (DMs).

In general, DMs are inclined to voice their preferences quantitatively in wordings. Sometimes these quantitative measurements may result in misconceptions or biased results that do not completely overlap with the actual reality of events. Since it is hard to evaluate thoughts by numbers, the hesitancy concept is developed. By using hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets, DMs have a chance to express their opinions by quantitative measurements which are closer to the truth. Answering the question of the degree of a relationship between criteria or alternatives may be "absolutely high importance" or "weakly high importance", for example. The term "high importance" is classified and

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_30

expressed by hesitant terms. As a result, in order to obtain reliable results, the consistent hesitant fuzzy MCDM technique is generated. This study proposes a hesitant fuzzy MCDM approach.

Decision making activities in general aim to select the best available option from two or more of alternatives. There may be many factors that affect the final decision. MCDM problems deal with a certain number of alternatives that are clearly known and available to the DMs. There may be a better choice which was not considered or additional information that was not available at that time. The Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS) is an MCDM technique. The basic idea behind TOPSIS is that the best option is the one that is closest to the positive ideal solution (PIS) and farthest from the negative ideal solution (NIS). Hesitant fuzzy TOPSIS is a useful approach that works fine with limited subjective information from DMs [1].

This article aims to seek the most feasible option for smart glasses (SGs) selection process under hesitant fuzzy environment. SGs are expected to be a daily used item in the future, also providing efficiency gains to workspace, for instance through hands-free working, real time work-data and augmented reality [2]. In related literature, there are a number of studies integrating wearable technology and MCDM tools. In contrast to literature, this paper introduces a TOPSIS approach based on hesitant fuzzy concept. To the best of the authors' knowledge, no study so far has applied the Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS approach on the SG selection problem. This study aims to address this research gap by using hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets (HFLTS) to handle the hesitancy and difficulty of expressing thoughts by numbers on the SG selection problem. Briefly, the study proposes a hesitant fuzzy MCDM approach for an effective SG evaluation problem where the main objective is to decide on the most suitable SG alternative. The methodology intends to function as a decision support system for business managers who seek to identify the best SG for their needs. This integrated selection method will also be tested on a case study.

The structure of this paper is designed as follows. The next section summarizes precedent research. In Sect. 3, the proposed methods are explained in detail. In Sect. 4, an application is given to demonstrate the potential of the approach. Finally, in Sect. 5, the consequences of this research and guidance for future work will be given.

#### 2 Literature Survey

#### 2.1 Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS

In recent years, several studies have contemplated with the concept of Hesitant TOPSIS. Boltürk et al. [9] applied Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS to select the best hospital site. Beg and Rashid [10] proposed Hesitant Fuzzy Linguistic TOPSIS for aggregating the opinions of experts and DMs on various criteria by group decision making. Liao et al. [11] integrated Hesitant Fuzzy Sets and VIKOR to propose a combined approach to solve complex problems with HFLTS in the presence of conflicting criteria.

Zhang et al. [12] utilized Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS and linear programming for selecting the best supplier. Büyüközkan et al. [13] proposed Hesitant Fuzzy Linguistic AHP, Hesitant Fuzzy Linguistic TOPSIS and QFD methods and explored the

applicability and effectiveness of their approach by a case study. Kahraman et al. [14] developed a Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS model that considers the complexity and imprecision of strategic decisions and presented a case study for an electronics company.

Zhou et al. [15] proposed Hesitant TOPSIS and Hesitant TODIM and combined it with linguistic hesitant fuzzy sets (LHFS) with the evidential reasoning (ER) method. Zhang and Wei [16] applied Hesitant Fuzzy VIKOR and Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS methods to select the best project alternative. Xu and Zhang [17] applied Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS with max deviation methods for selecting the energy policy. Rodriguez and Liu [18] combined HFLTS, OWA and Fuzzy TOPSIS in the material supplier selection problem. Liao et al. [19] applied Hesitant VIKOR to develop HFL cosine distance measure for dealing with HFL MCDM problems and applied HFL-VIKOR method on a ERP system selection case. Joshi and Kumar [20] proposed Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS and Hesitant Fuzzy Choquet Integral methodology. Although there are many studies and applications, Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS methodology integrated with the OWA operator is still the missing link in literature.

The wearable technology selection process is usually defined by different factors and brings complexity to the subject. Therefore, the proposed Hesitant MCDM methodology provides distinct benefits in evaluating different alternatives by linguistic expressions with regard to different criteria.

#### 2.2 Evaluation Criteria for Smart Glasses

Evaluation criteria for this problem are identified with the help of a detailed literature survey about existing models and consultation with experts in the industry.

Three main criteria are identified, which are technology (C1), ergonomics (C2) and privacy (C3). Since the technological components of a SG are the key factors for its information processing capability, technology is an indispensable parameter for a SG to determine if it is good or sufficient. Practicality is also important for SG users; therefore, ergonomics is another key factor. In the modern world, technology causes several problems concerning the personal life. Therefore, the security of information and privacy is the other main decision criterion.

There are nine sub-criteria below these main criteria. They are summarized as follows:

- High performance on ubiquitous computing (C11): Personal computers and ubiquitous computing have become a part of our daily life. This can be linked with the rapid growth and development of virtual reality applications and their associated hardware [3].
- Information provision (C12) and communication network (C13): The literature search concluded that smart 3C products should be equipped with information provision, intuitive interaction, communication network, and automation [3].
- Mobility and lightness (C21): More opportunities arise through smart clothing and miniaturization of electronic devices for better mobility and higher comfort thanks to continuously improving technical functions [3].

- Aesthetic appearance (C22): The growth of the wearables market depends on its ability to balance the aesthetics of existing consumer tastes and preferences through proper styling and by overcoming design hurdles [4].
- Facility of use (user-friendly) (C23): Unless the device interface and apps are intuitive and user friendly, only eager adopters will likely use them, while the mainstream market will remain untapped [5].
- Protection and security of information (C31): Personal health information is more sensitive for human beings for a number of reasons. Therefore, privacy and consumers' acceptance for healthcare wearable devices are essential [6].
- Defense against malware (C32): Digital security is a major concern for technology users. However, mobile devices are more susceptible to changing circumstances, such as different networks, internet connection, new applications etc. in addition to being connected over the air [7].
- Seamless life integration (C33): Consumers do not wish to change their lifestyle; they instead want access to more particular information and customized outputs that enhance their activities [8].

# **3** Research Methodology

MCDM methods can provide alternative approaches to perceive problems in a distinct and systematic way. Experts have the option to investigate the problem and adapt the methods to their own needs [21].

The proposed approach is based on HFLTS, OWA operator and hesitant fuzzy TOPSIS as indicated in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. The methodology of proposed approach

The approach is described in following sub-sections.

#### 3.1 The Technique Hesitant Fuzzy Set

Hesitant Fuzzy Sets (HFS) are first presented in 2009 by Torra and Narukawa [22]. HFS describe the degree of adhesion of an element in terms of a set of possible values between 0 and 1. They are generally helpful for decision problems for processing DMs' existing hesitation during the evaluation exercise. HFS have attracted great scientific interest [22], the functioning of which is explained below with definitions.

*Definition 1:* X is defined as a universal set. HFS over X are defined as a function that will render a subset between 0 and 1. When applied to X, it can be presented as [23]:

$$\mathbf{E} = \{ \langle \mathbf{x}, \ \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{E}}(\mathbf{x}) \rangle \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbf{X} \}$$
(1)

Here,  $h_E(x)$  is called a hesitant fuzzy element (HFE) and is defined as a set with values between [0, 1]. Possible degrees of adhesion of the element  $x \in X$  to the set E are specified. H is the set of all HFE.

Rodriguez et al. [24] presents an MCDM model where DMs express their evaluations with linguistic expressions. This model presents these expressions by representing a set of hesitant fuzzy linguistic terms (HFLTS) [24].

*Definition 2:* X is defined as a reference set. Let HFS over X be a function h which returns values between [0, 1]:

$$\mathbf{h}: \mathbf{X} \to \{[0,1]\} \tag{2}$$

Subsequently, an HFS is described as the union of their membership functions.

*Definition 3:* M = { $\mu_1$ ,  $\mu_2$ ,...,  $\mu_n$ } is defined as a set of membership functions n. HFS are linked to M. Here,  $h_M$  is defined as:

$$h_M: M \to \{[0,1]\} \tag{3}$$

$$\mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{M}}(\mathbf{x}) = \bigcup_{\mu \in \mathbf{M}} \left\{ \mu(\mathbf{x}) \right\} \tag{4}$$

Definition 4: The lower and upper boundaries of h, an HFS, are [25]:

$$h^{-}(x) = \min h(x) \tag{5}$$

$$\mathbf{h}^{+}(\mathbf{x}) = \max \mathbf{h}(\mathbf{x}) \tag{6}$$

Definition 5: When h s defined as an HFS, the envelope of h,  $A_{env(h)}$ , is defined as:

$$A_{env(h)} = \{x, \, \mu_A(x), \, \nu_A(x)\}$$
(7)

Here,  $A_{env(h)}$  is an intuitionistic fuzzy set of h. The factors  $\mu$  and v can be formulated as:

$$\mu_A(x) = h^-(x)$$
 (8)

$$v_A(x) = 1 - h^+(x)$$
 (9)

*Definition 6:* S is defined as a set of linguistic terms,  $S = \{s_0, \dots, S_g\}$ . An HFLTS, *Hs*, is an ordered finite subset of the consecutive linguistic terms of S.

*Definition 7:* The upper and lower bounds of HFLTS *Hs*, *Hs*+ and *Hs*- respectively, are defined as:

$$H_{s+} = \max(s_i) = s_j, \ s_i \in H_S \text{ et } s_i \le s_j \forall i$$
(10)

$$H_{s-} = \min(s_i) = s_j, \ s_i \in H_S \text{ et } s_i \le s_j \forall i$$
(11)

*Definition 8:* Suppose that  $E_{GH}$  is a function that transforms linguistic phrases into HFLTS,  $H_S$  Let  $G_H$  be an out-of-context grammar that makes use of the linguistic term set in S. Let  $S_{ll}$  be the expression domain generated by  $G_H$ . This relationship is expressed as:

$$E_{GH}: S_{ll} \rightarrow H_s$$
 (12)

The following conversions are applied to convert comparative linguistic phrases into HFLTS;

$$E_{GH}(s_i) = \{s_i | s_i \in S\}$$
(13)

$$E_{GH}(at most s_i) = \left\{ s_j | s_j \in S \text{ et } s_j \leq s_i \right\}$$
(14)

$$E_{GH}(\text{lower than } s_i) = \left\{ s_j | s_j \in S \text{ et } s_j < s_i \right\} \tag{15}$$

$$E_{GH}(\text{at least } s_i) \ = \ \left\{ s_j | s_j \in S \text{ et } s_j \ge \ s_i \right\} \tag{16}$$

$$E_{GH}(\text{greater than } s_i) = \left\{ s_j | s_j \in S \text{ et } s_j > s_i \right\}$$
(17)

$$E_{GH}(\text{between } s_i \text{ and } s_j) = \left\{ s_k | s_k \in S \text{ et } s_i \leq s_k \leq s_j \right\}$$
(18)

*Definition 9:* An HFLTS's envelope  $env(H_S)$  is a linguistic with the following upper and lower values:

$$env(H_S) = [H_{s-}, H_{s+}], H_{s-} \le H_{s+}$$
 (19)

#### 3.2 OWA Operator

This operator is used for aggregating purposes. It is between the two of 'AND' which requires compliance for all the criteria, and 'OR' which requires compliance of at least one of the criteria [26].

In order to obtain a fuzzy membership function, the fuzzy membership functions of the HFLTS are merged with this OWA operator [27].

*Definition 10:*  $A = \{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n\}$  is defined as a value set for aggregation. The OWA operator F can be presented as:

$$F(a_1, a_2, ..., a_n) = wb^{T} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i b_i$$
(20)

where  $w = (w_1, w_2, ..., w_n)^T$  is the weighting vector such that  $w_i \in [0, 1]$  *et*  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i = 1$ . Also, *b* is defined as the corporate ordered value vector, where  $b_i$  represents the  $n^{th}$  highest value in *A*.

We compute the weight of the OWA operator with the help of fuzzy linguistic quantifiers. For a non-decreasing quantifier with respect to Q, they are formulated as:

$$w_i = Q(i/m) - Q((i-1)/m), \quad i = 1,...,m$$
 (21)

The non-decreasing relative quantifier Q can be found as [27]:

$$Q(y) = \begin{cases} 0, & y < a, \\ \frac{y-a}{b-a}, & a \le y \le b, \\ 1, & y > b, \end{cases}$$
(22)

Here, a, b and y are values between 0 and 1. Q(y) indicates the extent to which the proportion y is compatible with the direction of the quantifier it represents.

Some non-decreasing relative quantifiers are identified by the terms "most", "at least half" and "as far as possible", with parameters (a, b) as (0.3, 0.8) (0.5, 1), respectively [28].

#### 3.3 Hesitant Fuzzy TOPSIS Method

DMs first used hesitant fuzzy set values to evaluate the scenarios of the alternatives. Then, the matrix of the results is multiplied with the criteria weights vector and then added for the global criteria. Consequently, an order of estimation is obtained for scenarios [1].

Definition 11:

$$\tilde{X}_{ij} = \frac{1}{N} \left[ \widetilde{z_{ij}^{(1)}} + \widetilde{z_{ij}^{(2)}} + \ldots + \widetilde{z_{ij}^{(N)}} \right]$$
(23)

where  $\tilde{X}ij$  are hesitant fuzzy values assigned by the  $k^{th}$  DM.  $(\tilde{z}_{ij})_{m \times n}$  is a decision matrix qualified by hesitant fuzzy numerical values.

*Definition 12:* The standardized decision matrix is defined as  $\tilde{R}_{ij}$  presented in (24) and (25) for alternatives on the criteria.

$$\tilde{R}_{ij} = [\tilde{r}_{ij}]_{m \times n}, i = 1, 2, \dots m; \ j = 1, 2, \dots n$$
(24)

where

$$\widetilde{r_{ij}} = \left(r_{ij}^{l}, r_{ij}^{m}, r_{ij}^{u}\right) = \left(\frac{z_{ij}^{l}}{c_{j}^{*}}, \frac{z_{ij}^{m}}{c_{j}^{*}}, \frac{z_{ij}^{n}}{c_{j}^{*}}\right), \quad i = 1, 2, 3, \dots, m, j \in B$$
(25)

$$c_j^* = max_t \left[ z_{ij}^u \right], \ j = 1, 2, 3, ..., n$$
 (26)

$$c_j^- = min_t \left[ z_{ij}^u \right], \ j = 1, 2, 3, ..., n$$
 (27)

*Definition 13:* The weighted standardized decision matrix  $(\tilde{V})$  can then be computed as (28).

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{v}_{ij}} = (\widetilde{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{l}}, \widetilde{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{m}}, \mathbf{v}_{ij}^{u}) = \widetilde{\mathbf{w}_{j}} \otimes \widetilde{\mathbf{r}_{ij}} = (\mathbf{w}_{j}^{l} \mathbf{r}_{ij}^{l}, \mathbf{w}_{j}^{m} \mathbf{r}_{ij}^{m}, \mathbf{w}_{j}^{u} \mathbf{r}_{ij}^{u})$$
(28)

*Definition 14:* The ideal ideal solution (PIS) and the ideal negative solution (NIS) are denoted by  $A^*$  and  $A^-$  which can be presented in (29) and (30), respectively.

$$A^* = (v_1^*, v_2^*, \dots v_n^*)$$
(29)

$$A^{-} = (v_{1}^{-}, v_{2}^{-}, \dots v_{n}^{-})$$
(30)

$$\mathbf{v}_{j}^{*} = \left(\max\left\{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{l}\right\}, \max\left\{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{m}\right\}\max\left\{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{u}\right\}\right) \mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \dots, \mathbf{n}$$
(31)

$$\mathbf{v}_{j}^{-} = \left(\min\left\{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{l}\right\}, \min\left\{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{m}\right\}\min\left\{\mathbf{v}_{ij}^{u}\right\}\right) \mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
(32)

*Definition 15:* The vertex approach is used to calculate the distance between the two fuzzy hesitant numbers. The PIS and NIS values of the alternatives are calculated in (33) and (34), respectively.

$$d_{i}^{*} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} d(\widetilde{v_{ij}}, \widetilde{v_{j}^{*}}), \quad i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
(33)

$$d_i^- = \sum\nolimits_{j=1}^n d(\widetilde{v_{ij}}, \widetilde{v_j^-}), \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m \tag{34}$$

Alternative scenario<sup>\*</sup><sub>(1,...,6)</sub> = [(1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1), (1, 1, 1)] (35)

Alternative scenario $_{(1,...,6)}^{-} = [(0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0,0), (0,0,0)]$ (36)

Definition 16:  $d(d_i^*, d_i^-)$  is defined as the distance between two hesitant numbers which help to compute the proximity coefficient (*CC<sub>i</sub>*).

$$CC_i = \frac{d_i^-}{d_i^* + d_i^-}$$
  $i = 1, 2, ..., m$  (37)

# 4 Implementation of the Proposed Model to Smart Glass Selection

The model's applicability will be tested on a logistics company, called hereafter as ABC, that intends to find the best technologic wearable product. Sometimes, operations in the warehouse decelerate the work flow. The warehouse manager decides to solve this problem and start a new project with the main objective to augment the efficiency of warehouse operations. After a series of meetings, the team decides to implement a smart glass technology for warehouse operations. In order to select the best SG in the market, the Research & Development department analyses different types of smart glasses in the market and decides to evaluate them by using scientific methods. Evaluation criteria are identified based on academic research and thoughts of industrial experts. The criteria and sub-criteria are determined. Accordingly, C1 is technology (sub-criteria: high performance on ubiquitous computing (C11), information provision (C12) and communication network (C13)); C2 is ergonomics (sub-criteria: mobility and lightness (C21), esthetic appearance (C22), facility of using (user-friendly) (C23)) and C3 is privacy (sub-criteria: protection & security of information (C31), defense against malware (C32), seamless life integration (to fit into user's life) (C33)). After a long market research, the company finds four possible alternatives: A1 is Google Glass, A2 is KiSoft Vision, A3 is Vuzix M100 Smart Glasses and A4 is Epson Moverio BT200. There are three DMs; the warehouse manager, IT manager and technology & innovation department manager of the company. Computational steps are as follows:

**Step 1.** In the first stage, three DMs evaluated the criteria by using linguistic expressions. The evaluations the first DM with linguistic expressions are shown in Table 1.

**Step 2.** Tables with linguistic hesitant expressions are transformed to fuzzy values on a scale as given in Fig. 2.

**Step 3.** OWA operator is used to form the decision matrix. Using (21) and (22), the matrix is obtained as a function of aggregation. In addition, quantifiers are identified by the terms "most" with parameters (a, b): (0.3, 0.8). Then, this matrix is normalized with the multiplication of weights.

**Step 4.** The normalized matrix is constructed using (22) so that TOPSIS can be implemented. Then, standardized decision matrix  $(\tilde{R}_{ij})$  that defined as presented in (24) is created using (25–27).

**Step 5.** The PIS and the NIS values of the scenarios are computed by (33-36), respectively. The point (1, 1, 1, 1) is used for calculating the ideal distances, and the point (0, 0, 0, 0) is used for calculating the ideal negative distances.

	U		
Alternatives	C11	C12	C13
Google Glass (A1)	At least G	Between M and VG	At least VG
KiSoft Vision (A2)	At least VG	At least G	At least VG
Vuzix M100 (A3)	At least VG	At least G	At least G
Epson Moverio BT200 (A4)	At least G	At least VG	At least G
Alternatives	C21	C22	C23
Google Glass (A1)	Between M and VG	Between VB and M	Between M and VG
KiSoft Vision (A2)	Between M and VG	Between B and G	Between B and G
Vuzix M100 (A3)	Between M and VG	Between B and G	Between B and G
Epson Moverio BT200 (A4)	Between B and G	At most VB	Between Vb and M
Alternatives	C31	C32	C33
Google Glass (A1)	At least VG	At least G	At least VG
KiSoft Vision (A2)	At least VG	At least G	At least VG
Vuzix M100 (A3)	At least VG	Between M and VG	Between M and VG
Epson Moverio BT200 (A4)	At least G	At least VG	Between M and VG

Table 1. The linguistic decision matrix of DM1



Fig. 2. Table of seven boundaries with its semantics [10]

**Step 6.** The proximity coefficient (CCi) for each alternative is computed as a function of (37). (CCi) measures the effectiveness of each alternative. The best alternative and the order of the alternatives are obtained according to this measure.

The results about the alternatives give an idea about the best technologic wearable product. As a result, Google Glass (A1) (CC<sub>1</sub>:0.802) is the most desirable product among these alternatives, slightly ahead of its nearest competitor, Kisoft Vision (A2) (CC<sub>2</sub>:0.788). Vuzix M100 Smart Glasses (A3) (CC<sub>3</sub>:0.746) ranks the third, and the last one is Epson Moverio BT200 (A4) (CC<sub>4</sub>:0.692).

### 5 Conclusion

This article presents a novel integrated hesitant fuzzy MCDM approach that is based on HFLTS, OWA operator, hesitant fuzzy TOPSIS. A case study is used to demonstrate the applicability of the method for selecting the most suitable SG alternative.

There is a lack of SG selection applications in the literature. Evaluating the influencing factors for the SG selection is difficult when comparing different alternatives. This is because expressing human thoughts in the form of numbers can introduce complexity and hesitancy for DMs. Complexity and hesitancy of this type of problems makes decision making even more difficult. As an advantage, HFLTS allow us to express DMs' opinions with the help of linguistic term sets. The use of HFLTS facilitates such expressions that include hesitancy and provides the possibility of giving preference information by words. The main contribution of this study to literature is its application of hesitant fuzzy TOPSIS methodology with OWA operator and its application on SG selection area for the first time. Therefore, this study fills the gap by using hesitant fuzzy MCDM methodology in this specific SG field.

This problem is illustrated by a case study in the logistics sector and its results are presented. The evaluation criteria and SG alternatives are identified with a literature and product review. This study can be useful to researchers to better understand the hesitant fuzzy MCDM problem practically. Companies can also benefit from this study for their decision problems about wearable devices. The number of criteria or alternatives can differ for different purposes. In the future, research can be directed to the use of other MCDM methods such as Hesitant Fuzzy AHP and Hesitant Fuzzy VIKOR for solving this problem and comparing the results with the presented approach.

Acknowledgments. The authors kindly express their appreciation for the support of industrial experts. This research has received financial support of Galatasaray University Research Fund (Project No: 17.402.004).

# References

- Demirbaş, A., Durmuş, K., Taylan, O.: An integrated multi attribute decision model for energy efficiency processes in petrochemical industry applying fuzzy set theory. Energy Convers. Manag. 117, 501–512 (2016)
- Kim, S., Nussbaum, M.A., Gabbard, J.L.: Augmented reality "smart glasses" in the workplace: industry perspectives and challenges for worker safety and health. IIE Trans. Occup. Ergon. Hum. Fact. 4, 253–258 (2016)
- Kao, C.H., Yang, C.M., Hsieh, C.H., Hung, Y.S.: Decision making in the design process of wearable IT products. In: 5th International Congress of International Association of Societies of Design Research (IASDR), Tokyo, vol. 8, 26–35 (2013)
- 4. Patent landscape analysis, Wearable Technology, Lexinnova
- 5. Wearable technology in healthcare: the key to wellness at work. https://insights.samsung. com/2015/09/21/wearable-technology-in-healthcare-the-key-to-wellness-at-work/
- Yiwen, G.: An empirical study of wearable technology acceptance in healthcare. Ind. Manag. Data Syst. 115(9), 1704–1723 (2015)
- Threat intelligence report: one in five doctors' mobile device may be at high risk (2016). http://searchhealthit.techtarget.com/blog/Health-IT-Pulse/Threat-intelligence-report-One-infive-doctors-mobile-device-may-be-at-high-risk
- 9 ways wearables could change health and fitness (2015). http://thenextweb.com/ entrepreneur/2015/08/11/9-ways-wearables-change-health-fitness-startups/

- Boltürk, E., Otay, İ., Senvar, O.: Hospital site selection via hesitant fuzzy TOPSIS. IFAC 49 (12), 1140–1145 (2016)
- Beg, I., Rashid, R.: TOPSIS for hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 28, 1162–1171 (2013)
- 11. Liao, H., Xu, Z.: Hesitant fuzzy linguistic VIKOR method and its application in qualitative multiple criteria decision making. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 23, 1343–1355 (2015)
- 12. Zhang, Y., Xie, A., Wu, Y.: A hesitant fuzzy multiple attribute decision making method based on linear programming and TOPSIS. IFAC **48–28**, 427–431 (2015)
- Büyüközkan, G., Kahraman, C., Onar, S.Ç., Öztayşi, B.: A new hesitant fuzzy QFD approach: an application to computer workstation selection. Appl. Soft Comput. 46, 1–16 (2016)
- Kahraman, C., Onar, S.Ç., Öztayşi, B.: Strategic decision selection using hesitant fuzzy TOPSIS and interval type-2 fuzzy AHP: a case study. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 7, 1002– 1021 (2014)
- Zhou, H., Jian-Qiang, W., Hong-Yu, Z., Xiao-Hong, C.: Linguistic hesitant fuzzy multi-criteria decision-making method based on evidential reasoning. Int. J. Syst. Sci. 47, 314–327 (2015)
- Zhang, N., Guiwu, W.: Extension of VIKOR method for decision making problem based on hesitant fuzzy set. Appl. Math. Model. 37, 4938–4947 (2013)
- 17. Xu, Z., Zhang, X.: Hesitant fuzzy multi-attribute decision making based on TOPSIS with incomplete weight information. Knowl. Based Syst. **52**, 53–64 (2013)
- Rodriguez, R., Liu, H.: A fuzzy envelope for hesitant fuzzy linguistic term set and its application to multi-criteria decision making. Inf. Sci. 258, 220–238 (2014)
- Liao, H., Xu, Z., Zeng, X.J.: Distance and similarity measures for hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets and their application in multi-criteria decision making. Inf. Sci. 271, 125–142 (2014)
- Joshi, D., Kumar, S.: Interval-valued intuitionistic hesitant fuzzy Choquet integral based TOPSIS method for multi-criteria group decision making. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 248, 183–191 (2016)
- 21. Büyüközkan, G., Işıklar, G.: Using a multi-criteria decision making approach to evaluate mobile phone alternatives. Comput. Stand. Interfaces **29**, 265–274 (2007)
- 22. Torra, V., Narukawa, Y.: On hesitant fuzzy sets and decision. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, pp. 1378–1382 (2009)
- 23. Torra, V.: Hesitant fuzzy sets. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 25, 529-539 (2010)
- 24. Rodriguez, R.M., Martinez, L., Herrera, F.: Hesitant fuzzy linguistic term sets for decision making. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. **20**(1), 109–119 (2012)
- Szidarovszky, F., Zarghami, M.: Fuzzy quantifiers in sensitivity analysis of OWA operator. Comput. Ind. Eng. 54(4), 1006–1018 (2008)
- Yager, R.R.: On ordered weighted averaging aggregation operators in multi-criteria decision making. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 18(1), 183–190 (1988)
- Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E., Martinez, L.: A fusion approach for managing multi-granularity linguistic term sets in decision making. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 114, 43–58 (2000)
- Dursun, M., Karsak, E.E.: A fuzzy MCDM approach for personnel selection. Expert Syst. Appl. 37, 4324–4330 (2010)

# On Topological Entropy of Zadeh's Extension Defined on Piecewise Convex Fuzzy Sets

Jose Cánovas<sup>1</sup> and Jiří Kupka<sup>2( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Applied Mathematics and Statistics, Technical University of Cartagena, C/ Doctor Flemming sn, 30202 Cartagena, Spain Jose.Canovas@upct.es
<sup>2</sup> Institute for Reasearch and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling, NSC IT4Innovations, University of Ostrava, 30. dubna 22, Ostrava, Czech Republic Jiri.Kupka@osu.cz

Abstract. As the main result of this article we prove that a given continuous interval map and its Zadeh's extension (fuzzification) to the space of fuzzy sets with the property that  $\alpha$ -cuts have at most m convex (topologically connected) components, for m being an arbitrary natural number, have both positive (resp. zero) topological entropy. Presented topics are studied also for set-valued (induced) discrete dynamical systems. The main results are proved due to variational principle describing relations between topological and measure-theoretical entropy, respectively.

## 1 Introduction

Recently, many authors have been interested in analyzing dynamics of extensions of discrete dynamical systems (see e.g. [1,6,7,15,18]). The motivation for this interest comes from several facts. On one hand, numerical simulations that sometimes are used to describe the dynamics can be affected by various round off effects or estimates of initial states or parameters. On the other hand, the behavior of discrete dynamical systems can exhibit several "sensitive dependencies to initial conditions", that is, close initial conditions may lead to different dynamical behaviors. Hence, it is interesting to analyze the dynamics not on single points, but on suitable subsets or other objects generated over the phase space. For instance, nowadays there are many objects (soft sets, fuzzy sets, raw sets etc.) which allows to work with different kinds of uncertainty on the state space.

To fix these ideas, let  $f: X \to X$  be a continuous map on a compact metric space X. The idea is to consider a suitable family  $\mathcal{K}$  of subsets of X and then to extend the map f naturally to  $\mathcal{K}$  (we will give more precise definitions in the next section). Then, it is quite interesting and natural to ask what are dynamical properties of this extension, e.g. topological entropy, chaoticity, rigidity,..., related to the same property or similar dynamical properties of the original crisp map f. Analogous question is natural for other systems, e.g., of soft, fuzzy, raw sets, generated over the space X. In principle, other natural families to be considered are compact or connected subsets, convex subsets (if the space X is

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_31

convex) and, in general, any topologically relevant family of subsets of X. Some papers in this direction are for instance [6,7,15,16,19,20]. Many relevant papers are mentioned therein as well.

The question above was stated for a compact metric space. Although properties of general dynamical systems are studied since H. Poincaré's work from early 19th century [2]. Approximately in the last 30 years interest in dynamics of lowdimensional spaces and their extensions increased rapidly. There is a natural need to study these systems. Low-dimensional systems (like intervals, graphs, circles etc.) often allow to study phenomena which appear in high-dimensional systems - for instance, transitive one-dimensional maps are models of attractors of arbitrary maps of positive topological entropy [4]. Low-dimensional systems are often used to create more complicated dynamical systems on spaces of higher dimensions - probably the most simple example are skew-product (triangular) maps intensively studied since Kolyada's paper [14]. Although we mention some general facts, main results are stated for the simplest one-dimensional maps, namely for interval maps, which is the first step of understanding dynamics of fuzzy dynamical systems generated by them.

This topic (studying topological entropy of fuzzy dynamical systems) is authors' long-time project. Topological entropy is a classical property in topological dynamics (e.g. [3,5]). There are several attempts how to study this concept in fuzzy setting (see e.g. [12, 13]). It is worth mentioning that our papers are the first in which the size of topological entropy of various fuzzy dynamical systems is studied. For example, we found a difference in chaotic behavior of induced and fuzzy dynamical systems [6]. In the same paper we showed that, on general compact metric spaces, topological entropy can easily reach its maximal value. In contrast to this, we also studied the simplest fuzzy dynamical systems with nontrivial fuzzy numbers, i.e. fuzzy dynamical systems on the space of fuzzy numbers generated by interval maps, and showed that their size of topological entropy is reasonable [7]. Moreover, we studied influence of degree of fuzziness on the size of topological entropy [8] which lead to better understanding of behavior of such systems. This contribution is a natural continuation of this work. The main aim of this paper is to extend this study to more general family of fuzzy sets on a compact interval, i.e. we study fuzzy sets for which their level sets ( $\alpha$ cuts) have at most m connected (convex) components, for some positive integer m. We will study the topological entropy of the Zadeh's extension induced by the crisp interval map, finding that it is positive if and only if the topological entropy of the crisp map it is positive. However, we will show that both entropies are not the same when they are positive, providing a formula for computing the topological entropy of the Zadeh's extension from that of the crisp map.

The paper is organized as follows. The next section is devoted to introduce the basic definitions and notation which are necessary to understand the paper. The main results can be found in Sect. 3. Finally, we finish this paper by obtaining some conclusions on variation of topological entropy called dynamical fuzzy entropy.

#### 2 Basic Notions

Let (X, d) be a compact metric space and  $f : X \to X$  be a continuous map. We note  $f \in C(X)$ . As usually, a pair (X, f) forms a *discrete dynamical system*. In the case of need we emphasize the dependence on X by the notation  $d_X$  for the metric on X. Further, we define systems  $\mathcal{K}(X) = \{K \subseteq X | K \text{ is compact and} nonempty}\}$  endowed with the Hausdorff metric  $D_X$  given by

$$D_X(A,B) = \max\{d(A,B), d(B,A)\},\$$

where

$$d(A,B) = \max\{d(a,B) : a \in A\},\$$

and

$$d(a, B) = \min\{d(a, b) : b \in B\}$$

for any  $A, B \in \mathcal{K}(X)$ . It is well known that the space  $(\mathcal{K}(X), D_X)$  equipped with the metric (Vietoris) topology induced by  $D_X$  is compact, complete and separable if the original space X has the same three properties.

In this paper we distinguish several maps induced by f. First, we deal with a set-valued extension - a continuous map  $\overline{f} : \mathcal{K}(X) \to \mathcal{K}(X)$  defined in a very natural way by  $\overline{f}(K) = f(K)$  for any  $K \in \mathcal{K}(X)$ .

For a discrete dynamical system (X, f) and a given point  $x \in X$ , an *n*-th *iteration* of the point x is defined inductively by

$$f^{0}(x) = x$$
 and  $f^{n+1}(x) = f(f^{n}(x))$ 

for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then, the sequence  $\{f^n(x)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of all iterations of x is called a *trajectory* and points of this trajectory form an *orbit* of the point x. Limit points of  $\{\varphi^n(x)\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  are  $\omega$ -limit points of the point x, and their union  $\omega_f(x)$ (resp.  $\omega(x, f)$ ) of all  $\omega$ -limit points of the point x is the  $\omega$ -limit set of the point x with respect to the map f. Finally, an  $\omega$ -limit set  $\omega(f)$  of the map f we mean  $\omega(f) = \bigcup_{x \in X} \omega_f(x)$ . We say that  $A \subseteq X$  is *invariant* if  $f(A) \subseteq A$  It is well known that every  $\omega$ -limit set is nonempty and invariant (even  $f(\omega_f(x)) = \omega_f(x)$ ).

Below we distinguish several types of  $\omega$ -limit points - we say that the point  $x \in X$  is fixed if f(x) = x or periodic if  $f^k(x) = x$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then the minimal integer k satisfying this condition is a period of x. Moreover, P(f) denotes the set of all periodic points of f, respectively. Finally, we say that two discrete dynamical systems (X, f), (Y, g) are conjugate if there exists a continuous bijection  $h: X \to Y$  (called a conjugacy) for which  $h \circ f = g \circ h$ . If h is a continuous surjection only then we speak about a semiconjugacy. It is well known that the topological entropy defined below is a conjugacy invariant, i.e. two conjugate dynamical systems have the same topological entropy.

#### 2.1 Topological and Measure-Theoretical Entropy

Let (X, f) be a discrete dynamical system. In this subsection we introduce the Bowen's definition of topological entropy (see [5]). Let  $K \subseteq X$ ,  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ be fixed. We say that a set  $E \subseteq K$  is  $(n, \varepsilon, K, f)$ -separated (by the map f) if for any  $x, y \in E$ ,  $x \neq y$ , there exists  $k \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$  such that  $d(f^k(x), f^k(y)) > \varepsilon$ . We denote by  $s_n(\varepsilon, K, f)$  the cardinality of the maximal  $(n, \varepsilon, K, f)$ -separated set in K and define

$$s(\varepsilon, K, f) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log s_n(\varepsilon, K, f).$$

The topological entropy of f is

$$h_d(f) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} s(\varepsilon, X, f)$$

If the space X is not compact, we consider the following definition [9] of topological entropy

$$\operatorname{ent}(f) = \sup\{h(f|_K) : K \in \mathcal{K}_f(X)\},\tag{1}$$

where  $\mathcal{K}_f(X)$  denotes the set of all *f*-invariant compact subsets of X. It is easy to see that the size of the topological entropy depends on the choice of a metric d. It is also easy to see that, e.g., the topological entropy of an isometry is necessarily equal to zero, and topological entropy is monotonous, i.e.  $h(f|_A) \leq h(f)$  for any *f*-invariant  $A \subseteq X$ .

Further,  $\mathcal{B}(X)$  denotes the  $\sigma$ -algebra of Borel subsets of X. A probability measure  $\mu : \beta(X) \to [0,1]$  is *invariant* by f (shortly f-invariant) if  $\mu(A) = \mu(f^{-1}(A))$  for any  $A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$ . It is well-known that when X is compact the set of all f-invariant measures is non-empty, convex and compact. Moreover, its extremal points are called *ergodic* measures of f. Ergodic measures are those satisfying  $\mu(A) \in \{0, 1\}$  for each A with  $\mu(A) = \mu(f^{-1}A)$ .

Now we are ready to recall the definition of a measure theoretic entropy (also known as Kolmogorov-Sinai entropy) of f with respect to a probability measure  $\mu$  on X. For a given finite partition  $A := \{A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_k\}$  put

$$f^{-1}(A) = \{f^{-1}(A_1), f^{-1}(A_2), \dots, f^{-1}(A_k)\}.$$

Further, for two partitions A and  $B := \{B_1, B_2, \dots, B_m\}$  we define a *refinement* by

$$A \lor B := \{A_i \cap B_j \mid i = 1, 2, \dots, k, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, m\},\$$

and analogously  $\bigvee_{i=0}^{N} f^{-i}(A)$  is defined. Then an *entropy of a partition* A is defined as

$$H(A) = -\sum_{i=1}^{k} \mu(A_i) \log \mu(A_i).$$

Then, a measure theoretic entropy of a dynamical system (X, f) with respect to a partition A is defined by the following expression

$$h_{\mu}(f,A) = \lim_{N \to \infty} H\left(\bigvee_{i=0}^{N} f^{-i}(A)\right).$$

Finally, a measure theoretic entropy of a map f (resp. of a dynamical system (X, f)) is

$$h_{\mu}(f) = \sup_{A} h_{\mu}(f, A)$$

where the supremum is taken over all finite measurable partitions in X.

The following relationship (so-called *variational principle*) between measuretheoretical and topological entropy can be seen in many books, e.g. in [10]. The variational principle for topological entropy states that, in the case of X being a compact metric space, we have the following expression

$$h(f) = \sup_{\mu \in \mathcal{E}(X,f)} h_{\mu}(f).$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

where  $\mathcal{E}(X, f)$  denotes the set of ergodic measures of f. If there is no risk of confusion we put  $\mathcal{E}(X) := \mathcal{E}(X, f)$ .

#### 2.2 Zadeh's Extension, Spaces of Fuzzy Sets

In this subsection we introduce some spaces of fuzzy sets and their topological structures. Formally, a fuzzy set A on the space X is a function  $A: X \to I$ . The  $\alpha$ -cuts (or the  $\alpha$ -level sets),  $[A]_{\alpha}$ , and the support, supp(A), of a given fuzzy set A are defined as

$$[A]_{\alpha} = \{ x \in X | A(x) \ge \alpha \}, \text{ for } \alpha \in [0, 1],$$

and

$$supp(A) = \overline{\{x \in X | A(x) > 0\}}.$$

In this contribution we consider the system  $\mathcal{F}(X)$  of all upper semi-continuous fuzzy sets A on X. Moreover, let

$$\mathcal{F}^1(X) = \left\{ A \in \mathcal{F}(X) | \max_{x \in X} \{ A(x) \} = 1 \right\}$$

denote the system of normal fuzzy sets on X. In this contribution we mainly consider a system  $\mathcal{F}_m^1(X) \subseteq \mathcal{F}^1(X)$  consisting of fuzzy sets whose each  $\alpha$  cut consists of at most m (topologically) connected components. Then for m = 1we obtain a special class  $\mathcal{F}_1(X)$  of so-called *fuzzy numbers*. Finally, by an *empty* fuzzy set  $\emptyset_X$  we call a map  $\emptyset_X(x) = 0$  for each  $x \in X$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_0(X)$  denotes the system of all nonempty fuzzy sets. The following metrics are usually taken on the space of nonempty fuzzy sets. A *levelwise* metric  $d_{\infty}$  on  $\mathcal{F}_0(X)$  is given by

$$d_{\infty}(A,B) = \sup_{\alpha \in (0,1]} D_X([A]_{\alpha}, [B]_{\alpha}).$$
(3)

It is known that considered spaces of fuzzy sets  $(\mathcal{F}(X), \mathcal{F}^1(X) \text{ and } \mathcal{F}^1_m(X))$  equipped with the levelwise topology, i.e. the metric topology induced by  $d_{\infty}$ , are complete but are not compact and are not separable (see [15] and references therein) in general.

For a fuzzy set  $A \in \mathcal{F}^1(X)$ , its endograph end(A) and sendograph send(A) of A are defined by

$$end(A) = \{(x, \alpha) \in X \times I | A(x) \ge \alpha\}, send(A) = end(A) \cap (supp(A) \times I),$$

respectively. Then

$$d_E(A,B) := H_{X \times I}(end(A), end(B))$$

and

$$d_S(A,B) := H_{X \times I}(send(A), send(B))$$

define the endograph and sendograph metrics on the relevant families of fuzzy sets. The metric topologies induced by  $d_E$  and  $d_S$  are denoted by  $\tau_E$  and  $\tau_S$ . It is worth noticing that the three metrics above are the most commonly used metrics in fuzzy topological dynamics and that the levelwise topology induced by  $d_{\infty}$  is stronger than the others. From this point of view it is natural to study various dynamical properties in the levelwise topology since many properties can be naturally shifted to the remaining topological structures. However, for more details and properties we again refer to [15] and references therein.

Now we are ready to define a self-map on spaces of fuzzy sets. Any map  $f \in C(X)$  can be naturally extended to the space of fuzzy sets on X. Namely, a *fuzzification* (or *Zadeh's extension*) of the dynamical system (X, f) is a map  $\tilde{f}: \mathcal{F}(X) \to \mathcal{F}(X)$  defined by the expression

$$(\hat{f}(A))(x) = \sup_{y \in f^{-1}(x)} \{A(y)\}$$

for arbitrary  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  and  $x \in X$ . It is known that  $\tilde{f} : \mathcal{F}(X) \to \mathcal{F}(X)$  is continuous if  $f : X \to X$  is continuous as well. Therefore, it is obvious that the continuity is preserved for any restriction of  $\tilde{f}$ , especially, for  $\tilde{f}_m := \tilde{f}|_{\mathcal{F}^1_m(X)}$ .

It is known [11] that the original map and its fuzzification are related via  $\alpha$ -cuts, i.e., for any  $\alpha \in (0, 1]$  and any  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$ ,

$$f([A]_{\alpha}) = [\tilde{f}(A)]_{\alpha}.$$
(4)

Similarly, the equality  $f(supp(A)) = supp(f\varphi(A))$  can be proven. Consequently, we often deal with a set-valued extension of  $f: X \to X$ . This set-valued (or induced) extension  $\bar{f}: \mathcal{K}(X) \to \mathcal{K}(X)$  is naturally defined by  $f(B) = \bar{f}(B)$  for any  $B \in \mathcal{K}(X)$ . By  $\mathcal{K}_m(X) \subseteq \mathcal{K}(X)$  we denote the subsystem of  $\mathcal{K}(X)$  consisting of at most m connected components and  $\bar{f}_m := \bar{f}|_{\mathcal{K}(X)}$ .
#### 3 On Topological Entropy

In this section we study the size of topological entropy on the space  $\mathcal{F}_m^1(X)$ . First, let us give some results on the set-valued case. Let  $X^{*k}$  a system of all nonempty subset of X consisting of at most k singleton sets. The following result was mentioned in the proof of Theorem 9 in [18].

**Lemma 1.** For any dynamical system (X, f),  $h(\bar{f}|_{X^{*k}}) = k \cdot h(f)$ .

Applying this result to the induced system  $(\mathcal{K}(X), \overline{f})$  we immediately obtain the following result.

**Proposition 1.** Let  $f \in C(X)$  and  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  be fixed. Then

$$h(\bar{f}|_{\mathcal{K}_m(X)}) = m \cdot h(f).$$

This statement has an interesting consequence, namely, the main theorem from [6] claiming that  $h(\bar{f}) > 0$  implies  $ent(\tilde{f}) = \infty$  for some dynamical systems.

Let us study the case of  $\mathcal{F}_m^1(X)$ . It is easy to see that, for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists a continuous injective map  $i: \mathcal{K}_m \to \mathcal{F}_m^1$  (regardless to any chosen metrics) such that  $\bar{f}_m \circ i = i \circ \tilde{f}_m$  and hence, by [9],

$$h(\bar{f}_m) \le ent(\tilde{f}_m). \tag{5}$$

Let us discuss the converse inequality for the case of continuous interval map, that is, for the space  $\mathcal{F}_m^1(I)$ . Note that  $L \in \mathcal{F}_m^1(I)$  can be written as a union of m fuzzy numbers, where  $\bigcup$  is represented by minimum t-norm. In addition, we have the following description of  $\omega$ -limit sets of  $\overline{f}$  (see [7]).

**Lemma 2.** Let  $f \in C(I)$  and  $B \subseteq \mathcal{K}_1(I)$ . Then,  $\omega_{\overline{f}}(B)$  is either equal to an  $\omega$ -limit set of the original map f, or a union of finitely many cyclically permuted intervals.

Then, we can prove the following converse inequality.

**Lemma 3.** Let (I, f) be a discrete dynamical system and  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$h(\bar{f}_m) \ge ent(\tilde{f}_m). \tag{6}$$

*Proof.* Since the set  $\mathcal{F}_m^1(I)$  is not compact, we must show that (6) holds on arbitrary compact  $\tilde{f}$ -invariant  $K \subseteq I$ . Due to the variational principle, which is valid on compact spaces, we have

$$h(\tilde{f}_m|_K) = \sup\{h_\mu(\tilde{f}_m)|\mu \in \mathcal{E}(K)\}.$$

Further, it is well known that the support of any ergodic measure is a subset of some  $\omega$ -limit set. Consequently, it is sufficient to prove that

$$h(\tilde{f}_m|_A) \le h(\bar{f}_m) \tag{7}$$

on an arbitrary  $\omega$ -limit set A.

Let  $A \in \omega(\tilde{f}_m) \cap K$  be fixed. Since A is invariant (see also (4)) any  $L \in A$  can be written as a union of at most m fuzzy numbers. Let us assume that L is expressed by just m fuzzy numbers. More precisely,

$$L = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m} L_i$$
, where  $L_i \in \mathcal{F}_1^1(I)$ .

We distinguish several cases according to different shapes of  $L_i$ 's. By Lemma 2 and (4),  $\alpha$ -cuts can be either singletons or nondegenerated periodic intervals. Two boundary cases are simple to describe. Really (Case I), if  $[L_i]_1$  is a nondegenerated and hence periodic interval, for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, m$ , then L is a periodic point in  $\tilde{f}_m$ . Then obviously  $h(\tilde{f}_m|_A) = 0$  and (7) is satisfied.

Further (Case II) we can assume that  $[L_i]_{\alpha}$  is a singleton for any  $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ and i = 1, 2, ..., m. In this case  $\tilde{f}_m|_A$  and  $\bar{f}_m|_{supp(A)}$  are conjugate and hence  $h(\tilde{f}_m|_A) = h(\bar{f}_m|_{supp(A)})$ , i.e. (7) is satisfied due to the monotonicity of topological entropy.

Now (Case III), to finish this proof, we may assume without loss of generality that supports of  $L_i$ 's are nondegenerated intervals and  $[L_i]_1$ 's are singletons. More precisely, for fixed  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there are  $\alpha_i$  for  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$  such that

$$diam([L_i]_{\alpha}) < \varepsilon \text{ for } \alpha > \alpha_i$$

and  $[L_i]_{\alpha}$  is a nondegenerated periodic interval for  $\alpha \leq \alpha_i$ .

It is easy to see that  $A = \bigcup_i A_i$  where  $L_i \in A_i \in \omega(\tilde{f}_1)$ . Then, for any  $B, C \in A_i, \beta \in (\alpha_i, 1]$  and  $j \ge 0$  we have

$$D_{I}(\bar{f}^{j}([B]_{\beta}), \bar{f}^{j}([C]_{\beta})) \leq D_{I}(\bar{f}^{j}([B]_{\beta}), \bar{f}^{j}([B]_{1}))$$

$$+ D_{I}(\bar{f}^{j}([B]_{1}), \bar{f}^{j}([C]_{1}))$$

$$+ D_{I}(\bar{f}^{j}([C]_{1}), \bar{f}^{j}([C]_{\beta}))$$

$$\leq 2\varepsilon + D_{I}(\bar{f}^{j}([B]_{1}), \bar{f}^{j}([C]_{1})),$$

$$(8)$$

and, consequently,

$$s_n(3\varepsilon, A_i, \bar{f}_1) \le s_n(\varepsilon, D(A_i), \bar{f}_1)$$

where  $D(A_i) := \{ [B]_1 \mid B \in A_i \}$ . Since (8) can be done for any  $A_i$  we immediately have

$$s_n(3\varepsilon, A, \bar{f}_n) \le s_n(\varepsilon, D(A), \bar{f}_n)$$

Thus, by the definition of topological entropy, we get (7).

Remark 1. In fact, the same result seems to be valid for all compact metric spaces X and maps f for which each  $\omega$ -limit set of  $\overline{f}$  is like in Lemma 2, that is, it is either an  $\omega$ -limit of the original map f or a periodic (and hence finite) orbit consisting of nondegerated intervals.

Now (5) together with Lemma 3 implies the following statement.

**Theorem 1.** Let us consider a discrete dynamical system (I, f) and its fuzzy extension  $(\mathcal{F}_m^1(I), \tau_\infty)$  for  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$h(f) = m \cdot ent(\tilde{f}_m).$$

Let us study what happens in other topological structures.

**Theorem 2.** Let us consider a discrete dynamical system (I, f) and its fuzzy extension  $(\mathcal{F}_m^1(I), \tau), \tau \in \{\tau_E, \tau_S\}$ , for  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then

$$ent(\tilde{f}_m) = m \cdot h(f).$$

*Proof.* Let us prove this statement for  $d = d_E$  first. Let us recall that  $m \cdot h(f) = h(\bar{f}_m)$  by Proposition 1. As  $h(\bar{f}_m) \leq ent(\tilde{f}_m)$  is clear, it remains to show

$$h(\bar{f}_m) \ge ent_d(\tilde{f}_m). \tag{9}$$

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$  be fixed and  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  be chosen such that  $1/n_0 < \varepsilon$ . According to the definition of  $d_E$ , if  $d_E(A, B) > \varepsilon$  for  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}_m^1(I)$  then there exists  $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n_0\}$  such that

$$D_I([A]_{\alpha}, [B]_{\alpha}) > \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$$
 for any  $\alpha \in J_i := [1 - (i+1)n_0, 1 - in_0].$  (10)

Thus, for fixed  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $n \geq n_0$ , let  $k_n := s_n(\varepsilon, \mathcal{F}_m^1(I), \tilde{f}_m)$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  denote  $(n, \varepsilon)$ -separated set of cardinality  $k_n$  with respect to  $f_m$ . According to (4) and (10), there exists  $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n_0\}$  such that, for any  $\alpha \in J_i$ , the set  $\{[A]_{\alpha} \mid A \in \mathcal{A}\}$  forms an  $(n, \varepsilon/2)$ -separated set of cardinality  $k_n/n_0$  with respect to  $\tilde{f}_m$ . Consequently,

$$s_n(\varepsilon/2, \mathcal{K}_m, \bar{f}_m) \ge \frac{k_n}{n_0}.$$

Thus

$$\log s_n(\varepsilon/2, \mathcal{K}_m, \bar{f}_m) \ge \log \frac{k_n}{n_0} = \log k_n - \log n_0 = \log s_n(\varepsilon, \mathcal{F}_m^1(I), \tilde{f}_m).$$

Consequently, by the definitions of relevant entropies, (9) is proved.

The proof for  $\tau_S$  is analogous. It is true that  $(\mathcal{F}_m^1(I), \tau_S)$  is not compact and some fuzzy points need not have  $\omega$ -limit sets [7,15]. But we have dealt neither with compactness of  $(\mathcal{F}_m^1(I), \tau_E)$  nor with  $\omega$ -limit points of fuzzy sets with mconnected components. It is true that  $d_E(\tilde{f}_m^k(A), \tilde{f}_m^k(B)) \geq d_S(\tilde{f}_m^k(A), \tilde{f}_m^k(B))$ for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $A, B \in \mathcal{F}_m^1(I)$  in general, but (10) is still valid.

### 4 Relations to Dynamical Fuzzy Entropy

We have proved that for continuous interval maps the equality  $ent(\tilde{f}_m) = m \cdot h(f)$ holds. A natural question can be stated, namely, what is the influence of fuzzy and non-fuzzy sets in the dynamics of  $\tilde{f}_m$ . For that end, we consider the notion of degree of fuzziness of a fuzzy set  $A \in \mathcal{F}_m$  (see [8] and the references therein).

According to [17], in order to define a degree of fuzziness on X, we need a measure space  $(X, \beta(X), \mu)$ , where  $\beta(X)$  is the Borel  $\sigma$ -algebra,  $\mu$  is a nonzero finite measure, and  $\mathbb{F}(X)$  consists of  $\mu$ -measurable functions. Then, for any real-valued function  $g: I \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

- g(0) = g(1) = 0,
- $-g(\alpha) = g(1-\alpha)$  for any  $\alpha \in I$ ,
- g is strictly increasing on [0, 1/2],

the expression

$$e_{\mu}(A) = \frac{1}{\mu(X)} \int g(A(x)) d\mu(x)$$
 (11)

defines a *degree of fuzziness*  $e_{\mu}(A)$  (or e(A)) of a fuzzy set  $A \in \mathbb{F}(X)$ . As usually,  $\chi_B$  denotes the characteristic function of a set B. Then, if  $A = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i \chi_{B_i}$ , with  $a_i \in (0, 1]$  and  $B_i \in \beta(X)$ , i = 1, ..., k, then

$$e_{\mu}(A) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} g(a_i)\mu(X_i).$$

The following lemma describes basic properties of this notion. Let us recall that  $\overset{a.e.}{\circ}$  denotes that the relation  $\circ$  holds almost everywhere with respect to a given measure.

**Lemma 4** ([17]). The degree of fuzziness  $e : \mathbb{F}(X) \to \mathbb{R}$  given by (11) has the following properties:

- A1. e(A) = 0 if and only either  $A \stackrel{a.e.}{=} \chi_C$  for some  $C \subseteq X$  or  $A \stackrel{a.e.}{=} \emptyset_X$ , where  $\chi_C$  is the characteristic function on C,
- A2. e(A) is maximal if and only if  $A \stackrel{a.e.}{=} \frac{1}{2}\chi_X$ ,
- A3.  $e(A) \leq e(B)$  whenever A is less fuzzy than B, that is  $A(x) \leq B(x) \leq 1/2$ or  $A(x) \geq B(x) \geq 1/2$  for almost all  $x \in X$ ,
- $A4. \ e(A) = e(A^c),$
- A5. e is continuous with respect to the supremum metric on  $\mathbb{F}(X)$ .

We demonstrated in [8] that the degree of fuzziness need not be a continuous function when the metrics  $d_{\infty}$ ,  $d_E$  and  $d_S$  are considered. Given  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$ , we define

$$\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}(e_{\mu}) = \left\{ A \in \mathbb{F}(X) | \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} e_{\mu} \circ \tilde{f}_{m}^{i}(A) \right\}.$$

The set  $\mathcal{F}_0(e_\mu)$  contains all the fuzzy sets that are essentially non-fuzzy along its orbit, while the set  $\mathcal{F}(e_\mu) = \bigcup_{\alpha>0} \mathcal{F}_\alpha(e_\mu)$  contains all the fuzzy sets whose orbit is fuzzy with respect to degree of fuzziness. In [8] we have defined several concepts helping us to study relations between topological entropy and degree of fuzziness. For instance, we define the fuzzy entropy of  $\tilde{f}_m$  as

$$fuzzent(\tilde{f}_m) = ent(\tilde{f}_m|_{\mathcal{F}(e_\mu)})$$

It is clear from the definition that  $fuzzent(\tilde{f}_m) \leq ent(\tilde{f}_m)$ . However for interval maps we can state the following result. The proof follows the arguments contained in [8], so we skip it.

**Theorem 3.** Let  $f \in C(I)$  and let  $e_{\mu}$  be a degree of fuzziness as above. Then, for any metric  $d_{\infty}$ ,  $d_E$  and  $d_S$  it holds that

$$fuzzent(\tilde{f}_m) = h(\bar{f}_m) = m \cdot h(f) = ent(\tilde{f}_m).$$

### 5 Conclusion and Open Questions

We have studied the topological entropy of the Zadeh's extension on the space of fuzzy sets with the property that every  $\alpha$ -cut has at most m convex (resp. topologically connected) components, for some fixed positive integer m. This is a natural continuation of our previous work (see [6–8]) In particular, we prove that for extensions of continuous interval maps the topological entropy is positive if and only if the topological entropy of the crisp map is positive. Moreover, for extensions of continuous interval maps, we showed that fuzzy sets which are essentially fuzzy, that is, with positive degree of fuzziness along the orbit, have full topological entropy. There are still some open questions which, under our point of view, are interesting.

First, it is an open problem for which compact metric spaces equations

$$m \cdot h(f) = h(\bar{f}_m) = fuzzent(\tilde{f}_m) = ent(\tilde{f}_m)$$

are satisfied. We have shown that it holds for dynamical systems on intervals. But it is also known that the formula  $m \cdot h(f) = h(\bar{f}_m)$  doesn't hold for some special dendrites [1]. Consequently, the above chain of equalities has to be analyzed individually.

On the other hand, it is also interesting to study in detail what the topological structure of sets  $\mathcal{F}_{\alpha}(e_{\mu})$  for  $\alpha \in [0, 1]$  is. This question can be stated not only for the set  $\mathcal{F}_{m}^{1}(X)$  but also for general normal fuzzy sets  $\mathcal{F}^{1}(X)$ .

Acknowledgements. The first author has been supported by the grant MTM2014-52920-P from Ministerio de Economía y Competitividad (Spain). J. Kupka was supported by the NPU II project LQ1602 IT4Innovations excellence in science.

### References

- Acosta, G., Illanes, A., Méndez-Lango, H.: The transitivity of induced maps. Topology Appl. 159, 1013–1033 (2009)
- Aubin, D., Dahan Dalmedico, A.: Writing the history of dynamical systems and chaos: longue durée and revolution, disciplines and cultures. Historia Math. 29, 273–339 (2002)
- Adler, R.L., Konheim, A.G., McAndrew, M.H.: Topological entropy. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 114, 309–319 (1965)
- Blokh, A.: On the connection between entropy and transitivity for one-dimensional mappings. Russ. Math. Surv. 42, 209–210 (1987)
- Bowen, R.: Entropy for group endomorphism and homogeneous spaces. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 153, 401–414 (1971)
- Cánovas, J.S., Kupka, J.: Topological entropy of fuzzified dynamical systems. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 165, 67–79 (2011)
- Cánovas, J.S., Kupka, J.: On the topological entropy on the space of fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 257, 132–145 (2014)
- Cánovas, J.S., Kupka, J.: On fuzzy entropy and topological entropy of fuzzy extensions of dynamical systems. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 309, 115–130 (2017)
- Cánovas, J., Rodríguez, J.M.: Topological entropy of maps on the real line. Topology Appl. 153, 735–746 (2005)
- Denker, M., Grillenberger, C., Sigmund, K.: Ergodic Theory on Compact Spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 527. Springer-Verlag, New York (1976)
- Diamond, P., Pokrovskii, A.: Chaos, entropy and a generalized extension principle. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 61, 277–283 (1994)
- Dumitrescu, D.: Fuzzy measures and the entropy of fuzzy partitions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 176, 359–373 (1993)
- Dumitrescu, D.: Entropy of fuzzy dynamical systems. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 70, 45–57 (1995)
- Kolyada, S.: On dynamics of triangular maps of the square. Erg. Theory Dynam. Syst. 12, 749–768 (1992)
- Kupka, J.: On fuzzifications of discrete dynamical systems. Inf. Sci. 181(13), 2858– 2872 (2011)
- Kupka, J.: On Devaney chaotic induced fuzzy and set-valued dynamical systems. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 177, 34–44 (2011)
- Knopfmacher, J.: On measures of fuzziness. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 49, 529–534 (1975)
- Kwietniak, D., Oprocha, P.: Topological entropy and chaos for maps induced on hyperspaces. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 33, 76–86 (2007)
- Román-Flores, H., Chalco-Cano, Y.: Some chaotic properties of Zadeh's extension. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 35, 452–459 (2008)
- Román-Flores, H., Chalco-Cano, Y., Silva, G.N., Kupka, G.J.: On turbulent, erratic and other dynamical properties of Zadehs extensions. Chaos, Solitons Fractals 44, 990–994 (2011)

## **Fuzzy Relation Equations with Fuzzy Quantifiers**

Nhung  $\operatorname{Cao}^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Martin Štěpnička

Institute for Research and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling, CE IT4Innovations, University of Ostrava, 30. dubna 22, 701 03 Ostrava, Czech Republic {nhung.cao,martin.stepnicka}@osu.cz

**Abstract.** In this paper, we follow the previous works on fuzzy relation compositions based on fuzzy quantifiers and we introduce systems of fuzzy relation equations stemming from compositions based on fuzzy quantifiers. We address the question, whether such systems under some specific conditions may become solvable, and we provide a positive answer. Based on the computational forms of the compositions using fuzzy quantifiers, we explain a way of getting solutions of the systems. In addition to showing some new properties and theoretical results, we provide readers with illustrative examples.

Keywords: Fuzzy relation equations  $\cdot$  Mamdani-Assilian model  $\cdot$  Implicative model  $\cdot$  Fuzzy (generalized) quantifiers

### 1 Introduction and Preliminaries

#### 1.1 Introduction

Systems of fuzzy relation equations have a very important role in many areas of fuzzy mathematics, especially in fuzzy control and approximate reasoning in general. The first work on this field was done by Sanchez [19]. Numerous authors have deeply studied and developed the topic, mainly the problems of finding solvability criterions of the systems of fuzzy relation equations was focused on. For the most valuable results, we refer readers to relevant literature [5,6,10,12, 15–17,21]. Furthermore, the interest of the scientific community in this filed does not seem to decrease, see e.g. [11,18,20,24].

Standardly, two types of compositions, namely the sup-T composition and the inf-R composition (also called Bandler-Kohout subproduct) are considered in the investigated systems of equations. These compositions model fuzzy inference mechanisms in the terminology of fuzzy rule based systems. In this paper, we follow this standard setting however, with a significant difference consisting in the employment of fuzzy quantifiers that replace the standard ones – the existential and the universal. So, the used compositions appearing in the systems of fuzzy relation equations will be based on generalized intermediate quantifiers [2–4].

Fuzzy relations solving the systems of fuzzy relation equations are considered as correct models of fuzzy rule bases [16]. In the standard systems, the Mamdani-Assilian model [14] and the implicative model do possess unique

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI  $10.1007/978\hbox{-}3\hbox{-}319\hbox{-}66830\hbox{-}7\_32$ 

positions among other solutions, in particular, if the sup-T system is solvable, the implicative model is among the solutions, and similarly, if the inf-R system is solvable, the Mamdani-Assilian model is among the solutions. Note, that the implicative model aggregates rules by the minimum, which represents the universal quantifier, and the Mamdani-Assilian model aggregates rules by the maximum, which represents the existential quantifier. The natural questions are as follows. If we replace the original compositions sup-T and inf-R by compositions based on generalized quantifiers, will we be still able to obtain solvable systems? And in the case of a positive answer, will the solutions remain in the Mamdani-Assilian-like and the implicative-like shape with the only difference: the quantifiers used for aggregation of rules will be replaced by the generalized ones? The answer will be positive and it will be provided in a constructive way, i.e., we will show how to modify the fuzzy sets in order to satisfy the equalities. Furthermore, we show some valid properties for the new systems with fuzzy quantifiers.

#### 1.2 Systems of Fuzzy Relation Equations

Let us fix a residuated lattice  $\mathcal{L} = \langle [0,1], \wedge, \vee, *, \rightarrow, 0, 1 \rangle^1$  as the background algebraic structure and by  $\mathcal{F}(U)$  let us denote the set of all fuzzy sets on a given universe U. Let  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}(X), B_i \in \mathcal{F}(Y)$  be the antecedent and consequent fuzzy sets, respectively. There are two standard systems of fuzzy relation equations considered with respect to an unknown fuzzy relation  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ :

$$A_i \circ R = B_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m \qquad \text{(sup-T system)},$$
 (1)

$$A_i \triangleleft R = B_i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, m \qquad (\text{inf-R system})$$
 (2)

where the used compositions (images)  $\circ$  and  $\triangleleft$  may be expanded as follows:

$$(A_i \circ R)(y) = \bigvee_{x \in X} (A_i(x) * R(x, y)) , \quad (A_i \lhd R)(y) = \bigwedge_{x \in X} (A_i(x) \to R(x, y)) .$$

There are two models with priority positions among other potential solutions, namely the *Mamdani-Assilian model* [14] and the *implicative model*:

$$R_{MA}(x,y) = \bigvee_{i=1}^{m} (A_i(x) * B_i(y)) , \quad R_{IMP}(x,y) = \bigwedge_{i=1}^{m} (A_i(x) \to B_i(y)) .$$

Let us recall fundamental solvability criterions demonstrating the priority positions for the above models of fuzzy rule bases [5, 12, 13, 15].

**Theorem 1.** The system (1) [(2)] is solvable if and only if fuzzy relation  $R_{IMP}$   $[R_{MA}]$  is its solution and then  $R_{IMP}$   $[R_{MA}]$  is its greatest [least] solution.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The operations  $\land, \lor, *, \rightarrow$  stand for meet (infimum), join (supremum), multiplication (left-continuous t-norm) and its residual implications, respectively.

**Theorem 2.** Let fuzzy sets  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  be normal (with non-zero support) and  $B_i \in \mathcal{F}(Y)$ , i = 1, 2, ..., m. Then fuzzy relation  $R_{IMP}$   $[R_{MA}]$  is a solution to (2) [(1)] if and only if for all i, j = 1, 2, ..., m the following inequality holds:

$$\bigvee_{x \in X} (A_i(x) * A_j(x)) \le \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (B_i(y) \leftrightarrow B_j(y)) .$$
(3)

**Definition 1** [16,23]. Fuzzy relation  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  is said to be a *continuous* model of fuzzy rules w.r.t.  $@ \in \{\circ, \triangleleft\}$  if for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  and for  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  the following inequality holds

$$\bigwedge_{y \in Y} \left( B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A@R)(y) \right) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in X} \left( A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x) \right) \ . \tag{4}$$

**Theorem 3** [16]. Let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  be a fuzzy relation. Then for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  and all i = 1, ..., m and  $y \in Y$  it is true that

$$B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A \circ R)(y) \ge \delta_{R,i}(y) * \bigwedge_{x \in X} \left( A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x) \right), \tag{5}$$

where  $\delta_{R,i}(y) = B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A_i \circ R)(y)$  is called degree of solvability of the system.

A similar result has been proven in [23] also for the inf-R system, in particular:

$$B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A \triangleleft R)(y) \ge \sigma_{R,i}(y) * \bigwedge_{x \in X} \left( A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x) \right), \tag{6}$$

where  $\sigma_{R,i}(y) = B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A_i \triangleleft R)(y).$ 

**Theorem 4** [16,23]. R is a solution of system (1) [(2)] if and only if R is continuous.

#### 1.3 Fuzzy Relational Compositions Based on Fuzzy Quantifiers

In this section, we recall some basic definitions of fuzzy (generalized) quantifiers determined by fuzzy measures [7-9] that were used e.g. in [2,3,22].

**Definition 2.** Let  $U = \{u_1, \ldots, u_n\}$  be a finite universe, let  $\mathcal{P}(U)$  denotes the power set of U. A mapping  $\mu : \mathcal{P}(U) \to [0,1]$  is called a fuzzy measure on U if:  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  and  $\mu(U) = 1$ , and if  $\forall C, D \in \mathcal{P}(U), C \subseteq D$  then  $\mu(C) \leq \mu(D)$ . Fuzzy measure  $\mu$  is called *invariant with respect to cardinality* if:  $\forall C, D \in \mathcal{P}(U) : |C| = |D| \Rightarrow \mu(C) = \mu(D)$  where  $|\cdot|$  denotes the cardinality of a set.

Unless specified differently, for the rest of the paper, we will consider only measures invariant w.r.t. cardinality, i.e., measure, that modify the relative cardinality, see Example 1.

Example 1. Fuzzy measure  $\mu_{rc}(C) = \frac{|C|}{|U|}$  is called *relative cardinality* and it is invariant w.r.t. cardinality. Let  $f : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  be a non-decreasing mapping with f(0) = 0 and f(1) = 1 then  $\mu^f$  defined as  $\mu^f(C) = f(\mu_{rc}(C))$  is again a fuzzy measure that is invariant w.r.t. cardinality.

*Example 2.* Consider the fuzzy measure  $\mu_{rc}^{50\%}$  on U defined as follows:

$$\mu_{rc}^{50\%}\left(A\right) = \begin{cases} 1 & if \quad \mu_{rc}\left(A\right) \ge \frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

for any  $A \in \mathcal{P}(U)$ . Such measure is used to construct a quantifier "at least half". Analogously, one can define a measure "at least x %" for any  $x \in [0, 100]$ .

**Definition 3.** A mapping  $Q : \mathcal{F}(U) \to [0, 1]$  defined by

$$Q(C) = \bigvee_{D \in \mathcal{P}(U) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} \left( \left( \bigwedge_{u \in D} C(u) \right) * \mu(D) \right) , \quad C \in \mathcal{F}(U)$$
(7)

is called fuzzy (generalized) quantifier determined by fuzzy measure  $\mu$  on U.

Example 3. Fuzzy measures  $\mu^{\forall}(D) = \begin{cases} 1 & D \equiv U \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$  and  $\mu^{\exists}(D) =$ 

 $\begin{cases} 0 \quad D \equiv \emptyset \\ 1 \quad \text{otherwise} \end{cases} \text{ construct the classical universal } (Q^{\forall}) \text{ and existential } (Q^{\exists}) \text{ quantifiers. It should be noted that } \mu^{\forall} \leq \mu \leq \mu^{\exists} \text{ for any fuzzy measure } \mu. \end{cases}$ 

Formula (7) can be rewritten into a computationally cheaper form:

$$Q(C) = \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} C(u_{\pi(i)}) * f(i/n) , \quad C \in \mathcal{F}(U)$$
(8)

where  $\pi$  is a permutation on  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that  $C(u_{\pi(1)}) \ge C(u_{\pi(2)}) \ge \cdots \ge C(u_{\pi(n)})$ .

**Definition 4.** Let X, Y, Z be non-empty finite universes, let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ ,  $S \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$ . Let Q be a fuzzy quantifier on Y determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$ . Then, the compositions  $R@^QS$  where  $@ \in \{\circ, \triangleleft\}$  is defined as follows:

$$(R@^{Q}S)(x,z) = \bigvee_{D \in \mathcal{P}(Y) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} \left( \left( \bigwedge_{y \in D} R(x,y) \circledast S(y,z) \right) * \mu(D) \right) , \quad (9)$$

where  $\circledast \in \{*, \rightarrow\}$  corresponds to the composition and  $x \in X$  and  $z \in Z$ .

By (8), these compositions can be rewritten into computationally cheap form:

$$(R@^{Q}S)(x,z) = \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} \left( \left( R(x,y_{\pi(i)}) \circledast S(y_{\pi(i)},z) \right) \ast f(i/n) \right) .$$
(10)

where  $\pi$  is a permutation on  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that  $R(x, y_{\pi(i)}) \circledast S(y_{\pi(i)}, z) \ge R(x, y_{\pi(i+1)}) \circledast S(y_{\pi(i+1)}, z)$  for any  $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$  where n denotes the cardinality of Y.

#### $\mathbf{2}$ **Fuzzy Relation Equations with Fuzzy Quantifiers**

This Section introduces new systems of fuzzy relation equations and presents some related theoretical results. Let us fix the index set  $I_m = \{1, \ldots, m\}$  and  $A_i \in \mathcal{F}(X), B_i \in \mathcal{F}(Y), i \in I_m$ . Let Q be a fuzzy quantifier on X determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$ . The considered systems solved w.r.t. an unknown  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ are given as follows:

$$A_i \circ^Q R = B_i , \quad i = 1, \dots, m , \qquad (11)$$

$$A_i \triangleleft^Q R = B_i , \quad i = 1, \dots, m .$$

$$(12)$$

First of all, let us present two results stemming from (and generalizing) the results provided by I. Perfilieva in [16] for the standard systems of fuzzy relation equations.

**Lemma 1.** Let Q be a fuzzy quantifier determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$  on X and let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  be a fuzzy relation. Then for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  and all  $i = 1, \ldots, m$  and  $y \in Y$  it is true that

$$B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A \circ^Q R)(y) \ge \varepsilon_{Q,R,i}(y) * \bigwedge_{x \in X} (A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x)), \qquad (13)$$

where  $\varepsilon_{Q,R,i}(y) = B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A_i \circ^Q R)(y).$ 

Sketch of the proof: The proof is similar to the proof of inequality (5) provided in [16], mainly the following basic properties are used:

$$\bigwedge_{i \in I} (a_i \leftrightarrow b_i) \le \left(\bigvee_{i \in I} a_i\right) \leftrightarrow \left(\bigvee_{i \in I} b_i\right),\tag{14}$$

$$\bigwedge_{i \in I} (a_i \leftrightarrow b_i) \le \left(\bigwedge_{i \in I} a_i\right) \leftrightarrow \left(\bigwedge_{i \in I} b_i\right),\tag{15}$$

$$(a \leftrightarrow b) * (c \leftrightarrow d) \le (a * c) \leftrightarrow (b * d).$$
(16)

**Lemma 2.** Let Q be a fuzzy quantifier determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$  on X and let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  be a fuzzy relation. Then for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  and all  $i = 1, \ldots, m$  and  $y \in Y$  it is true that

$$B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A \triangleleft^Q R)(y) \ge \xi_{Q,R,i}(y) * \bigwedge_{x \in X} (A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x)), \qquad (17)$$

where  $\xi_{Q,R,i}(y) = B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A_i \triangleleft^Q R)(y).$ 

Sketch of the proof: The proof is similar to the proof of inequality (6) provided in [23], mainly properties (14)–(16) jointly together with the facts that  $a \to (b \to a)$  $c) = (a * b) \to c = (b * a) \to c = b \to (a \to c), (a \to b) \to b \ge a \lor b \text{ are used.}$ Lemmas 1 and 2 lead to the following important results.

**Proposition 1.** A fuzzy relation  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  is a solution of system (11) if and only if the following inequality holds for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  and for all i = 1, ..., m and  $y \in Y$ .

$$\bigwedge_{y \in Y} \left( B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A \circ^Q R)(y) \right) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in X} \left( A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x) \right).$$
(18)

Sketch of the proof: The proof can be provided only by using inequality (13).  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 2.** A fuzzy relation  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  is a solution of system (12) if and only if the following inequality holds for any  $A \in \mathcal{F}(X)$  and for all i = 1, ..., m and  $y \in Y$ .

$$\bigwedge_{y \in Y} \left( B_i(y) \leftrightarrow (A \triangleleft^Q R)(y) \right) \ge \bigwedge_{x \in X} \left( A_i(x) \leftrightarrow A(x) \right).$$
(19)

Sketch of the proof: The proof can be provided only by using inequality (17) only.

Lemmata 1 and 2 and Propositions 1 and 2 actually show what was provided already in [16] for the standard type of fuzzy relation equations, in particular, that the solvability is identical to a sort of (Lipschitz-like) "continuity". In other words, the inferred outputs have to be at least as close<sup>2</sup> to the consequent fuzzy sets as are the input fuzzy sets close to the antecedent fuzzy sets. This consequently means, that we should have consequents at least as "close" to each other as the antecedents, having in mind again the construction of the closeness.

The above results did not employ the particular shape of the expected solutions, i.e., we have not consider the Mamdani-Assilian nor the implicative models of fuzzy rules bases with the modification in quantifiers aggregating the rules. So, let us consider such fuzzy relations possibly serving as solutions of given systems of fuzzy relation equations and then, let us introduce natural results.

Let Q be fuzzy quantifier on  $I_m$  determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$ . By formula (9), we define fuzzy relations  $R^Q_{IMP}$ ,  $R^Q_{MA}$  as follows:

$$\begin{split} R^Q_{IMP}(x,y) &= \bigvee_{D \in \mathcal{P}(I_m) \setminus \emptyset} \left( \left( \bigwedge_{i \in D} A_i(x) \to B_i(y) \right) * \mu(D) \right) \\ R^Q_{MA}(x,y) &= \bigvee_{D \in \mathcal{P}(I_m) \setminus \emptyset} \left( \left( \bigwedge_{i \in D} A_i(x) * B_i(y) \right) * \mu(D) \right). \end{split}$$

**Proposition 3.** Let  $Q_1, Q_2$  be fuzzy quantifiers on X determined by fuzzy measures  $\mu_1, \mu_2$ , respectively. Let  $Q_3, Q_4$  be fuzzy quantifiers on  $I_m$  determined by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The closeness is here given by the similarity measure using the fuzzy equivalence from the underlying algebraic structure. In the case of a continuous Archimedean t-norm, the similarity is a dual notion to the metric function induced by the additive generator, which justifies the continuity point of view as well as the terminology [16].

fuzzy measures  $\mu_3, \mu_4$ , respectively. Furthermore, let  $R_{IMP}^{Q_3}$  solves the system  $A_i \circ^{Q_1} R = B_i$  and let  $R_{IMP}^{Q_4}$  solves the system  $A_i \circ^{Q_2} R = B_i$ . If  $\mu_1 \leq \mu_2$  then  $\mu_4 \leq \mu_3$ .

Sketch of the proof: The proof is based on the monotonicity property preserved by the compositions based on fuzzy quantifiers [2, Lemma 1].  $\Box$ 

Proposition 3 actually confirms a natural monotonic behaviour w.r.t. change of the used quantifiers. The more the quantifiers replacing the existential one in the used composition "moves" to the right, i.e. requires more than a single point but rather a few points, the more the quantifiers replacing the universal one in the aggregation of implicative rules "moves" to the left, i.e. requiring to meet less then all rules, for example only most or many of them. An analogous result may by obtained also for the inf-R equations and the Mamdani-Assilian rules aggregated by a fuzzy quantifier.

**Proposition 4.** Let  $Q_1, Q_2$  be fuzzy quantifiers on X determined by fuzzy measures  $\mu_1, \mu_2$ , respectively. Let  $Q_3, Q_4$  be fuzzy quantifiers on  $I_m$  determined by fuzzy measures  $\mu_3, \mu_4$ , respectively. Furthermore, let  $R_{MA}^{Q_3}$  solves the system  $A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R = B_i$  and let  $R_{MA}^{Q_4}$  solves the system  $A_i \triangleleft^{Q_2} R = B_i$ . If  $\mu_1 \leq \mu_2$  then  $\mu_4 \leq \mu_3$ .

Sketch of the proof: The proof is based on the monotonicity property preserved by the compositions based on fuzzy quantifiers [2, Lemma 1].

#### 3 First Observations on Solvability

Assume that systems (1) and (2) are solvable and thus,  $R_{IMP}$  solves the first system and  $R_{MA}$ , solves the second system. The question addressed in this Section is, whether there exist fuzzy measures  $\mu_1$  on X and  $\mu$  on  $I_m$  such that the following equalities

$$A_i \circ^{Q_1} R^Q_{IMP} = B_i , \quad A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R^Q_{MA} = B_i ,$$
 (20)

where  $Q_1, Q$  are fuzzy quantifiers determined by  $\mu_1$  and  $\mu$ , respectively, hold? As we will show, under some assumptions, the answer will be positive.

#### 3.1 Sup-T System

For the sake of comprehension and the convenience of calculation, let us consider the computational form of the compositions (10) and finite universes  $I_m = \{1, \ldots, m\}, X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}, Y = \{y_1, \ldots, y_s\}$ . Then  $R^Q_{IMP}(x, y)$  and  $(A \circ^{Q_1} R)(y)$  are given by

$$R^Q_{IMP}(x,y) = \bigvee_{j=1}^m \left( \left( A_{\pi(j)}(x) \to B_{\pi(j)}(y) \right) * f\left(\frac{j}{m}\right) \right), \tag{21}$$

$$(A \circ^{Q_1} R)(y) = \bigvee_{k=1}^n \left( \left( A(x_{\pi_1(k)}) * R(x_{\pi_1(k)}, y) \right) * f_1\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) \right)$$
(22)

where  $\pi, \pi_1$  are permutations such that

$$A_{\pi(j)}(x) \to B_{\pi(j)}(y) \ge A_{\pi(j+1)}(x) \to B_{\pi(j+1)}(y), j = 1, 2, \dots, m-1, \text{ and}$$
$$A(x_{\pi_1(k)}) * R(x_{\pi_1(k)}, y) \ge A(x_{\pi_1(k+1)}) * R(x_{\pi_1(k+1)}, y), k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

Before showing some examples, we start with a simple but important observation. Assume that for each  $x \in X$ , there is only  $i \in I_m$  such that  $A_i(x) > 0$  and  $A_j(x) = 0$  for any  $j \neq i$ . Then, by formula (21), we have  $A_{\pi(j)}(x) \to B_{\pi(j)}(y) = 1$  for any  $j = 1, \ldots, m-1$ . Now, let us consider  $\mu$  to be strictly greater than  $\mu^{\forall}$  on  $I_m$ . We may consider, e.g., the measure  $\mu$  such that  $f(\frac{j}{m}) = 0$  for  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m-2\}$ ,  $f(\frac{m-1}{m}) = a_{m-1} > 0$  and f(1) = 1. Then  $R^Q_{IMP}(x, y) = a_{m-1} \lor (A_{\pi(m)}(x) \to B_{\pi(m)}(y))$ . The smaller the value  $a_{m-1}$ , the closer is the value  $R^Q_{IMP}(x, y)$  to the value  $R_{IMP}(x, y)$ , and vise-versa. In particular, if  $a_{m-1} = 1$  then  $R^Q_{IMP}(x, y) = 1$ , for all pairs (x, y). This implies that  $(A_i \circ R^Q_{IMP})(y) = 1$  for all  $y \in Y$  assuming normality of all  $A_i$ 's. If we define similarity degrees between membership degrees to  $A_i \circ R^Q_{IMP}$  and to  $B_i$  as

$$\varepsilon_{i,Q,Q^{\exists}}(y) = (A_i \circ R^Q_{IMP})(y) \leftrightarrow B_i(y), \ y \in Y$$

and the overall similarity degree as  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q^{\exists}} = \bigwedge_{i \in I_m} \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (\varepsilon_{i,Q,Q^{\exists}}(y))$ , then this similarity  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q^{\exists}}$  will be equal to 0 whenever there will be some  $y \in Y$  and some  $i \in I_m$  such that  $B_i(y) = 0$ .

What if we replace  $\mu^{\exists}$  used for the composition  $\circ$  to a measure  $\mu_1$  that is strictly lower than the  $\mu^{\exists}$  on X? This approach would be natural as it would decrease the values of  $A_i \circ^{Q_1} R^Q_{IMP}$  closer to the membership degrees of y's to  $B_i$ .

However, we have assumed that  $A_i(x) > 0$  just for one  $i \in I_m$  for each  $x \in X$ . Now if we consider  $\mu_1$  such that  $f(\frac{1}{n}) = b_1 < 1$  and  $f(\frac{k}{n}) = 1$  for  $k \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$  then, by formula (22) we get  $\left(A_i \circ^{Q_1} R^Q_{IMP}\right)(y) = b_1$  for any  $y \in Y$ . This implies that the similarity degree

$$\varepsilon_{i,Q,Q_1} = \bigwedge_{y \in Y} \left( \left( A_i \circ^{Q_1} R^Q_{IMP} \right)(y) \leftrightarrow B_i(y) \right)$$

is rather low. In particular, for the Łukasiewicz algebra and the consequent fuzzy sets  $B_i$  taking all values from the unit interval [0, 1], the similarity will be always lower or equal to 0.5, which derives the overall similarity degree  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q_1}$ ,

$$\varepsilon_{Q,Q_1} = \bigwedge_{i \in I_m} \bigwedge_{y \in Y} \left( (A_i \circ^{Q_1} R^Q_{IMP})(y) \leftrightarrow B_i(y) \right)$$
(23)

to be low too.

Analogously, if for each  $x \in X$  there will be only two indexes  $i, j \in I_m$  such that  $A_i(x) > 0, A_j(x) > 0$  and if we consider measure  $\mu$  determined by  $f(\frac{j}{m}) = 0$  for  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m-3\}$ , and by  $f(\frac{m-2}{m}) = a_{m-2} > 0$  then we would encounter the same situation.

Thus, we may formulate the following observation.

**Observation 5.** For a higher similarity degree, the antecedent fuzzy sets  $A_i$  have to be modified in order to overlap in a denser way. And, the higher and closer the membership degrees at each overlapping point, the higher similarity is obtained.

It should be noted that while adjusting  $A_i$ , we have to take into account condition (4) in order to ensure that the both standard systems are solvable. By Irina's and Lehmke's results [16] on the continuity of a model of fuzzy IF-THEN rules, the condition means that consequents  $B_i$  have to be "closer" than antecedents  $A_i$ . With such a modifying of fuzzy sets, we expect that, in a certain sense, the systems of equations with fuzzy quantifiers are also solvable.

Let us demonstrate the observation on examples. For the technical reasons, let us restrict our choice of  $Q_1, Q$  to fuzzy quantifiers of the type "at least x %" mentioned in Example 2. Let us consider the systems based on fuzzy rule bases with m rules. Then Q will be used to model expressions of the type "at least Jrules" and  $Q_1$  will be used to model expressions of the type "at least K elements" from X.

Example 4. Assume that  $I_m = \{1, \ldots, 10\}$ ,  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_{26}\}$ ,  $Y = \{y_1, \ldots, y_{18}\}$  and consider  $A_i, B_i, i = 1, \ldots, 10$  as depicted in Fig. 1. Let us run computations for the combinations of fuzzy quantifier Q "at least J rules" with J ranging form 1 to 9, and the fuzzy quantifier  $Q_1$  "at least K elements" with K ranging from 2 to 26. The goal is to find the combination with the maximal overall similarity degree,  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q_1}$ .



**Fig. 1.** Depiction of fuzzy sets in the case that the overall similarity degree reaches the maximum value  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q_1} = 0.6$  for the combinations of Q = "at least J rules" where J = 9 and  $Q_1 =$  "at least K elements from X" for K = 4.

As we can see from Fig. 1, the overlapping area of any two antecedent fuzzy sets is rather narrow. Therefore, only the standard sup-T system is solvable. For the system with fuzzy quantifiers, the calculations provided the maximum value of the similarity degree equal to 0.6, which occurred for J = 9 and for K = 4 representing  $Q_1$  = "at least 4 elements" from 26 elements of X.

*Example 5.* In Fig. 2, we expanded the areas covered by each  $A_i$ 's support as well as kernel and modified corresponding consequents fuzzy sets  $B_i$  accordingly. Then the highest overall similarity degree (0.75) is obtained for Q = "at least 9 rules" and for  $Q_1 =$  "at least 4 elements from X".



**Fig. 2.** Depiction of fuzzy sets in the case when the overall similarity degree reaches the maximum value  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q_1} = 0.75$  for the combinations of Q = "at least 9 rules" and  $Q_1 =$  "at least 4 elements from X".

*Example 6.* Finally, we will continue in the process in order to reach the overall similarity degree  $\varepsilon_{Q,Q_1} = 1$ . After a sufficient expansion of the antecedent fuzzy sets' supports and kernels and the corresponding modification of the consequent fuzzy sets in the same way, see Fig. 3, we obtain the desirable setting.



**Fig. 3.** Depiction of fuzzy sets in the case when the overall similarity degree equals to one for the combination of Q = "at least 9 rules" and  $Q_1 =$  "at least 3 elements".

#### 3.2 Inf-R System

Let us again consider the computational form of the compositions (10) and finite universes  $I_m = \{1, \ldots, m\}, X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}, Y = \{y_1, \ldots, y_s\}$ . Then  $R^Q_{MA}(x, y)$ and  $(A \triangleleft^{Q_1} R)(y)$  are given by

$$R_{MA}^Q(x,y) = \bigvee_{j=1}^m \left( \left( A_{\pi(j)}(x) * B_{\pi(j)}(y) \right) * f\left(\frac{j}{m}\right) \right),$$
(24)

$$(A \triangleleft^{Q_1} R)(y) = \bigvee_{k=1}^n \left( \left( A(x_{\pi_1(k)}) \to R(x_{\pi_1(k)}, y) \right) * f_1\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) \right)$$
(25)

where  $\pi, \pi_1$  are permutations such that

$$A_{\pi(j)}(x) * B_{\pi(j)}(y) \ge A_{\pi(j+1)}(x) * B_{\pi(j+1)}(y), j = 1, 2, \dots, m-1, \text{and}$$
  
$$A(x_{\pi_1(k)}) \to R(x_{\pi_1(k)}, y) \ge A(x_{\pi_1(k+1)}) \to R(x_{\pi_1(k+1)}, y), k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1.$$

Before showing some examples, we start with a simple but important observation. Assume that there is  $i \in I_m$  such that  $A_i(x) > 0$  for only one  $x \in X$ . Now, let us consider measure  $\mu_1$  to be strictly greater than  $\mu^{\forall}$  on X. We may consider, e.g., the measure  $\mu_1$  such that  $f(\frac{k}{n}) = 0$  for  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}, f(\frac{n-1}{n}) = a_{n-1} > 0$  and f(1) = 1. Then  $(A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R)(y) = a_{n-1} \lor (A_i(x_{\pi(m)}) \to R(x_{\pi(m)}, y))$ . The smaller the value  $a_{n-1}$ , the closer is the value  $(A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R)(y)$  to the value  $(A_i \triangleleft^{R})(y)$  and vice-versa. In particular, if  $a_{n-1} = 1$  then  $(A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R)(y) = 1$  for any  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  and for any  $y \in Y$ . If we define the similarity degree between membership degrees to  $A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R$  and to  $B_i$  as

$$\xi_{Q_1,i} = \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R)(y) \leftrightarrow B_i(y)$$

and the overall similarity degree  $\xi_{Q_1} = \bigwedge_{i \in I_m} \xi_{Q_1,i}$ , then  $\xi_{Q_1} = 0$  whenever there will be some  $y \in Y$  such that  $B_i(y) = 0$ .

Thus, consider more than only one  $x \in X$  such that  $A_i(x) > 0$  for all  $i \in I_m$ , however, still without any overlapping areas of the antecedent fuzzy sets  $A_i$ . In order to make an observation, let us consider a particular measure  $\mu < \mu^{\exists}$  such that  $f(\frac{1}{m}) = b_1 < 1$  and  $f(\frac{j}{m}) = 1$  for  $j \in \{2, \ldots, m\}$ . Then, by formula (24), we have  $R^Q_{MA}(x,y) = (A_{\pi(1)} * B_{\pi(1)}) * b_1$ . The higher the value  $b_1$ , the closer is the value  $R^Q_{MA}(x,y) = 0$  for all pairs (x,y). This implies that  $(A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R^Q_{MA})(y) = c$  for any  $i \in I_m$  and for any  $y \in Y$  which leads to the similarity degree at i

$$\xi_{Q,Q_1,i} = \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R^Q_{MA})(y) \leftrightarrow B_i(y)$$

that is rather low. In particular, for the Łukasiewicz algebra and the consequent fuzzy sets  $B_i$  taking all values from the unit interval [0, 1], the similarity will be always lower or equal to 0.5, which derives the overall similarity degree  $\xi_{Q,Q_1}$ ,

$$\xi_{Q,Q_1} = \bigwedge_{i \in I_m} \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (A_i \triangleleft^{Q_1} R^Q_{MA})(y) \leftrightarrow B_i(y).$$
<sup>(26)</sup>

to be low too.

Analogously, if there is  $i \in I_m$  such that  $A_i(x) > 0$ ,  $A_i(x') > 0$  for only two elements  $x, x' \in X$  and if we consider measure  $\mu_1$  determined by  $f(\frac{k}{n}) = 0$  for  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-3\}$ , and by  $f(\frac{n-2}{n}) = a_{n-2} > 0$  then we would encounter the same situation.

Thus, the analysis leads to the following observation which is the same as in the case of sup-T system:

**Observation 6.** For a higher similarity degree, the antecedent fuzzy sets  $A_i$  have to be modified in order to overlap in a denser way. And, the higher and closer the membership degrees at each overlapping point, the higher similarity is obtained.

Example 7. Let us consider fuzzy sets  $A_i, B_i, i = 1, ..., 10$  depicted in Fig. 1. Now let us run computations for the combinations of fuzzy quantifier Q "at least J rules" with J ranging form 2 to 10, and the fuzzy quantifier  $Q_1$  "at least K elements" with K ranging from 1 to 25. The goal is to find the combination with the maximal overall similarity degree,  $\xi_{Q,Q_1}$ .

As the overlapping area of any two antecedent fuzzy sets is rather narrow, only the standard inf-R system is solvable. For the system with fuzzy quantifiers, the calculations provided the maximum value of the similarity degree equal to **0.6**, which occurred for J = 2 and K = 23 representing  $Q_1$  = "at least 23 elements" from the 26 elements of X.

*Example 8.* Fuzzy sets constructed in Fig. 2 provided the maximum value of the overall similarity degree equal to **0.75** which is obtained for  $Q_1$  = "at least 24 elements" from the 26 elements of X and Q = "at least 2 rules".

*Example 9.* In Fig. 3, if we slightly modify fuzzy sets  $B_1, B_{10}$  so that  $B_1 \equiv B_2, B_9 \equiv B_{10}$ , then, the maximum of the overall similarity degree  $\xi_{Q,Q_1} = \mathbf{1}$ . This result is obtained for  $Q_1 =$  "at least 24 elements" from the 26 elements of X and Q = "at least 2 rules".

Let us mention that the experiment has been computed using the "Linguistic Fuzzy Logic" *lfl* v1.3 R-package [1] which contains all necessary functions for the fuzzy relational calculus.

### 4 Conclusion

The problem of solvability of fuzzy relation equations with fuzzy quantifiers has been firstly considered. Under the assumption that the two standard systems are solvable, we have shown that the two systems of fuzzy relation equations with fuzzy quantifiers are possibly also solvable. However, this holds only in the case of a "sufficient" overlap of antecedent fuzzy sets and, consequently, also of the consequent fuzzy sets. Only in that case we can find appropriate fuzzy quantifiers  $Q, Q_1$  determined by fuzzy measures  $\mu, \mu_1$  such that  $\mu > \mu^{\forall}$  on  $I_m$  and  $\mu_1 < \mu^{\exists}$  on X so that the equality of  $A_i \circ^{Q_1} R_{IMP}^Q = B_i$  is preserved.

These results may lead to a construction of generalized systems of fuzzy inference systems that closely represent reasoning in natural language. For example, the implicative rules are aggregated with the universal quantifier which means, that "all" rules have to be met at the same time. With help of fuzzy quantifiers, we may model situations when the reasoning is made, e.g., on "Majority" or "Most" of the rules in the given fuzzy rule base. This provide us with a wider choice of models that may better fit for particular problems incorporated human-like reasoning with natural language that often encompasses a sort of "tolerance".

Acknowledgement. This research was partially supported by the NPU II project LQ1602 "IT4Innovations excellence in science" provided by the MŠMT.

### References

- 1. Burda, M.: Linguistic fuzzy logic in R. In: Proceedigns of the IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, Istanbul, Turkey (2015)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: An extension of fuzzy relational compositions using generalized quantifiers. In: Proceedings of the 16th World Congress of the International Fuzzy Systems Association (IFSA) and 9th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy-Logic and Technology (EUSFLAT), Advances in Intelligent Systems Research, vol. 89, pp. 49–58. Atlantis press, Gijón (2015)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: Extensions of fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifer. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (in press). doi:10.1016/j.fss.2017. 04.009
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: Non-preservation of chosen properties of fuzzy relational compositions based on fuzzy quantifiers. In: 2017 IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems. (in press)
- De Baets, B.: Analytical solution methods for fuzzy relational equations. In: Dubois, D., Prade, H. (eds.) The Handbook of Fuzzy Set Series, vol. 1, pp. 291–340. Academic Kluwer Publishers, Boston (2000)
- Di Nola, A., Sessa, S., Pedrycz, W., Sanchez, E.: Fuzzy Relation Equations and Their Applications to Knowledge Engineering. Kluwer, Boston (1989)
- Dvořák, A., Holčapek, M.: L-fuzzy quantifiers of type (1) determined by fuzzy measures. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 160(23), 3425–3452 (2009)
- Dvořák, A., Holčapek, M.: Fuzzy measures and integrals defined on algebras of fuzzy subsets over complete residuated lattices. Inf. Sci. 185, 205–229 (2012)
- Dvořák, A., Holčapek, M.: Type (1,1) fuzzy quantifiers determined by fuzzy measures. Part I. Basic definitions and examples. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 242, 31–55 (2014)
- Gottwald, S., Pedrycz, W.: Solvability of fuzzy relational equations and manipulation of fuzzy data. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 18, 45–65 (1986)
- Ignjatović, J., Ćirić, M., Šešelja, B., Tepavčević, A.: Fuzzy relational inequalities and equations, fuzzy quasi-orders, closures and openings of fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 260, 1–24 (2015)
- Klawonn, F.: Fuzzy points, fuzzy relations and fuzzy functions. In: Novák, V., Perfilieva, I. (eds.) Discovering the World with Fuzzy Logic, pp. 431–453. Springer, Berlin (2000)
- 13. Klir, G., Yuan, B.: Fuzzy Sets and Fuzzy Logic. Prentice Hall, New Jersey (1995)
- Mamdani, E.H., Assilian, S.: An experiment in linguistic synthesis with a fuzzy logic controller. Int. J. Man Mach. Stud. 7, 1–13 (1975)
- 15. Nosková, L.: Systems of fuzzy relation equation with inf- $\rightarrow$  composition solvability and solutions. J. Electr. Eng. **12**(s), 69–72 (2005)
- Perfilieva, I., Lehmke, S.: Correct models of fuzzy if-then rules are continuous. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 157, 3188–3197 (2006)
- 17. Perfilieva, I., Nosková, L.: System of fuzzy relation equations with inf- $\rightarrow$  composition: complete set of solutions. Fuzzy Sets Syst. **159**, 2256–2271 (2008)
- Qu, X.B., Sun, F., Wang, T.F.: Matrix elementary transformations in solving systems of fuzzy relation equations. Appl. Soft Comput. 31, 25–29 (2015)
- Sanchez, E.: Resolution of composite fuzzy relation equations. Inf. Control 30, 38–48 (1976)
- Štěpnička, M., De Baets, B.: Interpolativity of at-least and at-most models of monotone single-input single-output fuzzy rule bases. Inf. Sci. 234, 16–28 (2013)

- Štěpnička, M., De Baets, B., Nosková, L.: Arithmetic fuzzy models. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 18, 1058–1069 (2010)
- 22. Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: Fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers. In: Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems, PT II (IPMU 2014). Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 443, pp. 224–233. Springer, Berlin (2014)
- Štěpnička, M., Jayaram, B.: On the suitability of the Bandler-Kohout subproduct as an inference mechanism. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 18(2), 285–298 (2010)
- Štěpnička, M., Jayaram, B.: Interpolativity of at-least and at-most models of monotone fuzzy rule bases with multiple antecedent variables. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 297, 26–45 (2016)

# Incorporation of Excluding Features in Fuzzy Relational Compositions Based on Generalized Quantifiers

Nhung  $\operatorname{Cao}^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Martin Štěpnička

Institute for Research and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling, CE IT4Innovations, University of Ostrava, 30. dubna 22, 701 03 Ostrava, Czech Republic {nhung.cao,martin.stepnicka}@osu.cz

Abstract. The concepts of incorporation of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions and the compositions based on generalized quantifiers are useful tools for improving relevance and precision of the suspicion provided by the standard fuzzy relational compositions initial studied by Willis Bandler and Ladislav Kohout. They are independently extended from the standard compositions. However, it may become a very effective tool if they are used together. Taking this natural motivation leads us to introduce the concept of incorporation of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers. Most of valid properties preserved for the two mentioned approaches will be proved for the new concept as well. Furthermore, an illustrative example will be presented for showing the usefulness of the approach.

**Keywords:** Fuzzy relational compositions  $\cdot$  Fuzzy relational products  $\cdot$  Bandler-Kohout products  $\cdot$  Fuzzy measures  $\cdot$  Generalized (fuzzy) quantifiers  $\cdot$  Medical diagnosis  $\cdot$  Classification

#### 1 Introduction

In the late 70's and the early 80's, fuzzy relational compositions (or fuzzy relational products) are firstly studied by Willis Bandler and Ladislav Kohout [1]. After that, they have been studied, extended and developed on various aspects by numerous authors, see e.g. [3,5,13]. They have an important role in many areas of fuzzy mathematics, including the formal constructions of fuzzy inference systems [19,25] and related systems of fuzzy relational equations [12,14,18,21], medical diagnosis [1], architectures of information processing [2] or in flexible queries to relational databases [15].

During such a long time and up to the present time, the development on this topic has been made. It is demonstrated by numerous recent works, for instance, on flexible query answering systems [20], inference systems [16,17,23] or modeling monotone fuzzy rule bases [22]. Other recently interesting directions of the research are the incorporation of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions [6–8] and the employment of generalized quantifiers on the compositions [9-11,24].

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_33

This paper provides an investigation stemming from the two previous directions on the incorporation of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions [6-8] and the compositions based on generalized quantifiers [9-11]. The first one is motivated by the existence of excluding symptoms for some particular diseases in the medical problem and it has been applied to the classification problems of animals in biology. The second one is motivated by the possibility to fill a big gap between the basic composition that uses existential quantifier and the Bandler-Kohout products that uses universal quantifier. These approaches both are helpful for improving relevance and precision of the suspicions provided by the standard compositions, i.e., they both help to reducing number of initial suspicions given by the basic "circlet" composition without losing the possibly correct suspicion that often happens when we use Bandler-Kohout products. Furthermore, the problems, that are motivated for forming the two approaches, simultaneously happen in the medical problem or classification problem. Because of this, we propose the concept of incorporation of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers. The contribution of this extension will be demonstrated on an illustrative example.

#### 2 Preliminaries

We recall some basic definitions of the incorporation of excluding features in fuzzy relational composition [6–8] and the compositions based on generalized quantifiers [9,11,24]. In the sequel, we fix a residuated lattice  $\mathcal{L} = \langle [0,1], \wedge, \vee, \otimes, \to 0, 1 \rangle$  as the underlying algebraic structure and we denote by  $\mathcal{F}(U)$  the set of all fuzzy sets on a given universe U.

#### 2.1 Excluding Features in Fuzzy Relational Compositions

**Definition 1.** Let X, Y, Z be non-empty finite universes, let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ ,  $S, E \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$ . Then the composition  $R \circ S'E \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Z)$  is defined:

$$(R \circ S'E)(x, z) = \bigvee_{y \in Y} \left( R(x, y) \otimes S(y, z) \right) \otimes \neg \bigvee_{y \in Y} \left( R(x, y) \otimes E(y, z) \right).$$

We recall that the semantic that E(x, y) means that y is an excluding feature for object (class) z. There are two other ways to define the composition:

$$(R \circ S^{`}E)^{\triangleleft}(x, z) = \bigvee_{y \in Y} (R(x, y) \otimes S(y, z)) \otimes \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (R(x, y) \to \neg E(y, z)) ,$$
$$(R \circ S^{`}E)^{\triangledown}(x, z) = \bigvee_{y \in Y} (R(x, y) \otimes S(y, z)) \otimes \bigwedge_{y \in Y} (\neg R(x, y) \oplus \neg E(y, z)) .$$

Simplified formulas may be given as follows:

$$(R \circ S'E)(x, z) = (R \circ S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z), \tag{1}$$

$$(R \circ S'E)^{\triangleleft}(x, z) = (R \circ S)(x, z) \otimes (R \triangleleft \neg E)(x, z),$$
(2)

$$(R \circ S'E)^{\nabla}(x, z) = (R \circ S)(x, z) \otimes (\neg R \nabla \neg E)(x, z), \tag{3}$$

where the so-called inf-S composition [18] is defined by

$$(R \triangledown S)(x,z) = \bigwedge_{y \in Y} \left( R(x,y) \oplus S(y,z) \right).$$

Regarding the conditions for which the three distinct definitions (1)-(3) are equivalent, we recall the following result:

**Lemma 1.** [8] Let the underlying algebraic structure  $\langle [0,1], \wedge, \vee, \rightarrow, \otimes, 0, 1 \rangle$  be a complete residuated lattice such that the negation  $\neg a = a \rightarrow 0$  is strict and  $\otimes$ has no zero divisors or it is an MV-algebra. Then

$$(R \circ S'E)(x, z) = (R \circ S'E)^{\triangleleft}(x, z) = (R \circ S'E)^{\nabla}(x, z).$$

#### 2.2 Fuzzy Relational Compositions Based on Generalized Quantifiers

**Definition 2.** [9,11,24] Let  $U = \{u_1, \ldots, u_n\}$  be a finite universe, let  $\mathcal{P}(U)$  denote the power set of U. A mapping  $\mu : \mathcal{P}(U) \to [0,1]$  is called a fuzzy measure on U if  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$  and  $\mu(U) = 1$  and if  $\forall C, D \in \mathcal{P}(U), C \subseteq D$  then  $\mu(C) \leq \mu(D)$ . Fuzzy measure  $\mu$  is called *invariant with respect to cardinality* (w.r.t) if  $\forall C, D \in \mathcal{P}(U) : |C| = |D| \Rightarrow \mu(C) = \mu(D)$  where  $|\cdot|$  denotes the cardinality of a set.

**Definition 3.** [9,11,24] A mapping  $Q: \mathcal{F}(U) \to [0,1]$  defined by

$$Q(C) = \bigvee_{D \in \mathcal{P}(U) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} \left( \left( \bigwedge_{u \in D} C(u) \right) \otimes \mu(D) \right) , C \in \mathcal{F}(U)$$

is called generalized (fuzzy) quantifier determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$  on U.

In case of fuzzy measure  $\mu$  is invariant w.r.t cardinality, for the simplicity of calculation, the quantifier can be rewritten into a simpler form:

$$Q(C) = \bigvee_{i=1}^{n} C(u_{\pi(i)}) \otimes \mu(\{u_1, \dots, u_i\}), C \in \mathcal{F}(U)$$

where  $\pi$  is a permutation on  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  such that  $C(u_{\pi(1)}) \ge C(u_{\pi(2)}) \ge \cdots \ge C(u_{\pi(n)})$ .

**Definition 4.** [9,11,24] Let X, Y, Z be non-empty finite universes, let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ ,  $S \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$ . Let Q be a quantifier on Y determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$ . Then, the compositions  $R@^QS$  where  $@ \in \{\circ, \triangleleft, \triangleright, \square\}$  are defined as follows:

$$(R@^QS)(x,z) = \bigvee_{D \in \mathcal{P}(Y) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} \left( \left( \bigwedge_{y \in D} R(x,y) \circledast S(y,z) \right) \otimes \mu(D) \right)$$

for all  $x \in X$ ,  $z \in Z$  and for  $\circledast \in \{\otimes, \rightarrow, \leftarrow, \leftrightarrow\}$  corresponding to the composition @.

### 3 Excluding Features in Fuzzy Relational Compositions Based on Generalized Quantifiers

In this section, we directly combine Definitions 1 and 4 to define the new concept of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers and to study its properties.

**Definition 5.** Let X, Y, Z be non-empty finite universes, let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ ,  $S, E \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$ . Let Q be a quantifier on Y determined by a fuzzy measure  $\mu$ . Then,  $(R \circ^Q S^{\prime}E), (R \triangleleft^Q S^{\prime}E), (R \rhd^Q S^{\prime}E), (R \square^Q S^{\prime}E)$  are fuzzy relations on  $X \times Z$  defined as follows:

$$(R \circ^Q S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x, z) = (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z), \tag{4}$$

$$(R \triangleleft^Q S^{\mathsf{c}}E)(x,z) = (R \triangleleft^Q S)(x,z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x,z),$$
(5)

$$(R \triangleright^Q S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x, z) = (R \triangleright^Q S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z), \tag{6}$$

$$(R \square^Q S^{`}E)(x,z) = (R \square^Q S)(x,z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x,z), \tag{7}$$

for all  $x \in X$  and  $z \in Z$ .

The proposed compositions provide desirable meanings as we use the generalized quantifiers such as 'Most'. For example, in the classification problem of animals in biology,  $(R \square^Q S'E)(x, z)$  means that animal x has 'Most' of the features of a given family and 'Most' of the features of x is related to a given family and at the same time there is no excluding features related to family z carried by the animal.

Note, that each expression in Definition 5 can be rewritten in two other ways. For examples, (7) can be rewritten as follows:

$$(R \square^Q S^{\mathsf{L}}E)(x,z) = (R \square^Q S)(x,z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x,z),$$
  

$$(R \square^Q S^{\mathsf{L}}E)^{\lhd}(x,z) = (R \square^Q S)(x,z) \otimes (R \lhd \neg E)(x,z),$$
  

$$(R \square^Q S^{\mathsf{L}}E)^{\bigtriangledown}(x,z) = (R \square^Q S)(x,z) \otimes (\neg R \bigtriangledown \neg E)(x,z).$$

And expressions (4)–(6) can be rewritten analogously.

Regarding the relationship of the three distinct definitions of each expression in Definition 5, we have the following results:

#### Lemma 2.

$$R \circ^Q S'E = (R \circ^Q S'E)^{\triangleleft}, \qquad \qquad R \circ^Q S'E \supseteq (R \circ^Q S'E)^{\triangledown}, \qquad (8)$$

$$R \triangleleft^Q S'E = (R \triangleleft^Q S'E)^{\triangleleft}, \qquad \qquad R \triangleleft^Q S'E \supseteq (R \triangleleft^Q S'E)^{\triangledown}, \qquad (9)$$

$$R \rhd^Q S'E = (R \rhd^Q S'E)^{\triangleleft}, \qquad \qquad R \rhd^Q S'E \supseteq (R \rhd^Q S'E)^{\vee} \tag{10}$$

$$R \square^Q S'E = (R \square^Q S'E)^{\triangleleft}, \qquad \qquad R \square^Q S'E \supseteq (R \triangleright^Q S'E)^{\triangledown}.$$
(11)

Sketch of the proof: The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 11 [8]. For example, the first equality of property (11) is proved based on the facts

that  $\neg \bigvee_{i \in I} a_i = \bigwedge_{i \in I} \neg a_i$  for an arbitrary index set I and  $(a \otimes b) \rightarrow c = a \rightarrow (b \rightarrow c)$ , and the second one is derived from  $\neg(a \otimes b) \ge \neg a \oplus \neg b$  in the residuated lattice.

Another raised question is, under which conditions, the inclusions shown above become the equalities. Similarly to the investigation of excluding features in standard fuzzy relational compositions, we obtain the following result.

**Lemma 3.** Let the underlying algebraic structure  $\langle [0,1], \wedge, \vee, \rightarrow, \otimes, 0, 1 \rangle$  be a complete residuated lattice such that the negation  $\neg a = a \rightarrow 0$  is strict and  $\otimes$  has no zero divisors or it is an MV-algebra. Then

$$R \circ^Q S'E = (R \circ^Q S'E)^{\nabla}, \qquad (12)$$

$$R \triangleleft^Q S'E = (R \triangleleft^Q S'E)^{\nabla}, \qquad (13)$$

$$R \rhd^Q S' E = (R \rhd^Q S' E)^{\nabla}, \qquad (14)$$

$$R \square^Q S'E = (R \square^Q S'E)^{\nabla}.$$
<sup>(15)</sup>

Sketch of the proof: The proof is similar to the proof of Lemma 12 [8].  $\Box$ 

#### 4 Properties

In this section, we present some valid properties of the proposed compositions which might be very useful. As will be shown, many properties of the fuzzy relational compositions using generalized quantifiers and the compositions incorporating excluding features are still preserved for the proposed compositions.

Let us fix the notation, let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$ , let  $S, S_1, S_2, E, E_1, E_2 \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$ and furthermore, let  $\cup, \cap$  denote the Gödel union and intersection, respectively.

**Proposition 1** (Containment).

$$R \circ^Q S'E \subseteq R \circ^Q S, \qquad \qquad R \circ^Q S'E \subseteq R \lhd \neg E \tag{16}$$

$$R \triangleleft^Q S E \subseteq R \triangleleft^Q S, \qquad \qquad R \triangleleft^Q S E \subseteq R \triangleleft \neg E \qquad (17)$$

$$R \rhd^Q S`E \subseteq R \rhd^Q S, \qquad \qquad R \rhd^Q S`E \subseteq R \lhd \neg E \tag{18}$$

$$R \square^Q S'E \subseteq R \square^Q S, \qquad \qquad R \square^Q S'E \subseteq R \lhd \neg E.$$
(19)

Sketch of the proof: Using the properties  $a \otimes b \leq a, a \otimes b \leq b$ , we get

$$(R \circ^Q S'E)(x, z) \le (R \circ^Q S)(x, z)$$

for all  $(x, z) \in X \times Z$ . Thus,  $R \circ^Q S E \subseteq R \circ^Q S$ . The other inclusions are proved analogously.

**Proposition 2** (Monotonicity).

$$S_1 \subseteq S_2 \Rightarrow R \circ^Q S_1' E \subseteq R \circ^Q S_2' E, \qquad (20)$$

$$E_1 \subseteq E_2 \Rightarrow R \circ^Q S' E_1 \supseteq R \circ^Q S' E_2, \qquad (21)$$

$$S_1 \subseteq S_2 \Rightarrow R \triangleleft^Q S_1' E \subseteq R \triangleleft^Q S_2' E , \qquad (22)$$

$$E_1 \subseteq E_2 \Rightarrow R \triangleleft^Q S' E_1 \supseteq R \triangleleft^Q S' E_2, \qquad (23)$$

$$R_1 \subseteq R_2 \Rightarrow R_1 \triangleleft^Q S'E \supseteq R_2 \triangleleft^Q S'E, \qquad (24)$$

$$S_1 \subseteq S_2 \Rightarrow R \rhd^Q S_1^* E \supseteq R \rhd^Q S_2^* E , \qquad (25)$$

$$E_1 \subseteq E_2 \Rightarrow R \rhd^Q S' E_1 \supseteq R \rhd^Q S' E_2, \qquad (26)$$

$$E_1 \subseteq E_2 \Rightarrow R \square^Q S' E_1 \supseteq R \square^Q S' E_2.$$

$$(27)$$

Sketch of the proof: The proof is based on properties  $a \to c \ge b \to c$  whenever  $a \le b$  and  $a \to b \le a \to c$  whenever  $b \le c$ . Indeed,

$$(R \circ^Q S_1 E)(x, z) = (R \circ^Q S_1)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
$$\leq (R \circ^Q S_2)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$

and

$$(R \circ^Q S^{\mathsf{L}}E_1)(x, z) = (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E_1)(x, z)$$
$$\geq (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E_2)(x, z)$$

prove (20)–(21). Properties (22)–(27) are proved similarly. **Proposition 3** (Interaction with union).

 $R \circ^Q (S_1 \cup S_2) E \supset (R \circ^Q S_1 E) \cup (R \circ^Q S_2 E).$  (28)

$$R \triangleleft^Q (S_1 \cup S_2)^* E \supseteq (R \triangleleft^Q S_1^* E) \cup (R \triangleleft^Q S_2^* E), \tag{29}$$

$$R \triangleright^Q (S_1 \cup S_2)'E \subseteq (R \triangleright^Q S_1'E) \cap (R \triangleright^Q S_2'E), \tag{30}$$

$$R \circ^Q S^{\mathsf{v}}(E_1 \cup E_2) = (R \circ^Q S^{\mathsf{v}}E_1) \cap (R \circ^Q S^{\mathsf{v}}E_2), \tag{31}$$

$$R \triangleleft^Q S^{\wedge}(E_1 \cup E_2) = (R \triangleleft^Q S^{\vee}E_1) \cap (R \triangleleft^Q S^{\vee}E_2). \tag{32}$$

$$R \triangleright^Q S'(E_1 \cup E_2) = (R \triangleright^Q S'E_1) \cap (R \triangleright^Q S'E_2), \tag{33}$$

$$R \square^Q S'(E_1 \cup E_2) = (R \square^Q S'E_1) \cap (R \square^Q S'E_2), \tag{34}$$

Sketch of the proof:

$$(R \circ^Q (S_1 \cup S_2)'E)(x, z) = (R \circ^Q (S_1 \cup S_2))(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
  
$$\geq ((R \circ^Q S_1) \cup (R \circ^Q S_2))(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
  
$$= ((R \circ^Q S_1^{`}E) \cup (R \circ^Q S_2^{`}E))(x, z)$$

for all  $(x, z) \in X \times Z$  which proves (28). Property (31) is due to  $(R \circ^Q S'(E_1 \cup E_2))(x, z) = (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ (E_1 \cup E_2))(x, z)$   $= (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes (\neg (R \circ E_1)(x, z) \land \neg (R \circ E_2)(x, z))$  $= ((R \circ^Q S'E_1) \cap (R \circ^Q S'E_2))(x, z).$ 

The other properties are proved analogously.

**Proposition 4.** (Interaction with intersection).

$$R \circ^Q (S_1 \cap S_2)' E \subseteq (R \circ^Q S_1' E) \cap (R \circ^Q S_2' E), \tag{35}$$

$$R \triangleleft^Q (S_1 \cap S_2)' E \subseteq (R \triangleleft^Q S_1' E) \cap (R \triangleleft^Q S_2' E), \tag{36}$$

$$R \triangleright^Q (S_1 \cap S_2) E \supseteq (R \triangleright^Q S_1 E) \cup (R \triangleright^Q S_2 E),$$
(37)

$$R \circ^Q S'(E_1 \cap E_2) = (R \circ^Q S'E_1) \cup (R \circ^Q S'E_2),$$
(38)

$$R \triangleleft^Q S'(E_1 \cap E_2) = (R \triangleleft^Q S'E_1) \cup (R \triangleleft^Q S'E_2), \tag{39}$$

$$R \rhd^Q S'(E_1 \cap E_2) = (R \rhd^Q S'E_1) \cup (R \rhd^Q S'E_2), \tag{40}$$

$$R \square^Q S'(E_1 \cap E_2) = (R \square^Q S'E_1) \cup (R \square^Q S'E_2), \tag{41}$$

Sketch of the proof:

$$(R \circ^Q (S_1 \cap S_2)'E)(x, z) = (R \circ^Q (S_1 \cap S_2))(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
  
$$\leq ((R \circ^Q S_1) \cap (R \circ^Q S_2))(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
  
$$= ((R \circ^Q S_1'E) \cap (R \circ S_2'E))(x, z).$$

which proves (35). And (38) is implied from

$$(R \circ^Q S'(E_1 \cap E_2))(x, z) = (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ (E_1 \cap E_2))(x, z)$$
$$= (R \circ^Q S)(x, z) \otimes (\neg (R \circ E_1)(x, z) \vee \neg (R \circ E_2)(x, z))$$
$$= ((R \circ^Q S'E_1) \cup (R \circ^Q S'E_2))(x, z).$$

The other properties are proved similarly.

**Proposition 5** (Interdefinability).

$$R \square^Q S'E \subseteq (R \triangleleft^Q S'E) \cap (R \triangleright^Q S'E).$$

$$\tag{42}$$

Sketch of the proof: The proof is derived from the property  $R \square^Q S \subseteq (R \triangleleft^Q S) \cap (R \triangleright^Q S)$ . Indeed,

$$(R \square^Q S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x,z) = (R \square^Q E)(x,z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x,z)$$
  
$$\leq \left( (R \triangleleft^Q S)(x,z) \land (R \rhd^Q S)(x,z) \right) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x,z)$$
  
$$= (R \triangleleft^Q S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x,z) \land (R \rhd^Q S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x,z).$$

**Proposition 6.** Let  $Q_1, Q_2$  be quantifiers determined by fuzzy measures  $\mu_1, \mu_2$ , respectively, such that  $\mu_1 \leq \mu_2$ . Then,

$$R \circ^{Q_1} S'E \subseteq R \circ^{Q_2} S'E, \tag{43}$$

$$R \triangleleft^{Q_1} S'E \subseteq R \triangleleft^{Q_2} S'E, \tag{44}$$

$$R \rhd^{Q_1} S' E \subseteq R \rhd^{Q_2} S' E \,, \tag{45}$$

$$R \square^{Q_1} S'E \subseteq R \square^{Q_2} S'E.$$

$$\tag{46}$$

Sketch of the proof: The proof is based on Lemma 1 in [9]. For example, property (43) is due to

$$(R \circ^{Q_1} S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x, z) = (R \circ^{Q_1} S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
$$\leq (R \circ^{Q_2} S)(x, z) \otimes \neg (R \circ E)(x, z)$$
$$= (R \circ^{Q_2} S^{\mathsf{c}} E)(x, z).$$

#### 5 Illustrative Example

Let us demonstrate the influence of the incorporation of the excluding features into the fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers on an illustrative example. All the calculations are computed using the "Linguistic Fuzzy Logic" *lfl* v1.3 R-package [4].

For the convenience of comparing with the former methods, let us consider the problem of classification of animals mentioned in [6] or in [8]. Let Z be a set of families of animals  $(z_1 - \text{Bird}, z_2 - \text{Fish}, z_3 - \text{Dog}, z_4 - \text{Equidae}, z_5 - \text{Mosquito}, z_6 -$ Monotreme,  $z_7$  - Reptile), Y be a set of animal features  $(y_1 - \text{flies}, y_2 - \text{feathers}, y_3 - \text{fins}, y_4 - \text{claws}, y_5 - \text{hair}, y_6 - \text{teeth}, y_7 - \text{beak}, y_8 - \text{scales}, y_9 - \text{swims})$  and let X be a set of particular animals  $(x_1 - \text{Platypus}, x_2 - \text{Emu}, x_3 - \text{Hairless dog}, x_4 - \text{Aligator}, x_5 - \text{Parrotfish}, x_6 - \text{Puffin})$ . Let  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y), S, E \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$ . Our task is to classify the animals to their families. Let  $S, E \in \mathcal{F}(Y \times Z)$  and  $R \in \mathcal{F}(X \times Y)$  be given as follows

S	$z_1$	$z_2$	$z_3$	$z_4$	$z_5$	$z_6$	$z_7$
$y_1$	0.8	0	0	0	1	0	0
$y_2$	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
$y_3$	0	1	0	0	0	0.5	0
$y_4$	0.9	0	1	0	0	0.8	0.3
$y_5$	0	0	0.8	1	0	0.9	0
$y_6$	0	0.6	1	1	0	0	0.7
$y_7$	1	0.1	0	0	0	0.5	0
$y_8$	0.7	0.9	0	0	0	0	1
$y_9$	0.5	1	0.8	0.6	0.1	0.7	0.8

E	$z_1$	$z_2$	$z_3$	$z_4$	$z_5$	$z_6$	$z_7$
$y_1$	0	1	1	1	0	1	1
$y_2$	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
$y_3$	1	0	1	1	1	0	1
$y_4$	0	1	0	1	1	0	0
$y_5$	0.8	1	0	0	1	0	1
$y_6$	1	0	0	0	1	1	0
$y_7$	0	0.1	1	1	1	0	1
$y_8$	0	0	1	0	1	1	0
$y_9$	0	0	0	0	0.8	0	0

R	$y_1$	$y_2$	$y_3$	$y_4$	$y_5$	$y_6$	$y_7$	$y_8$	$y_9$
$x_1$	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0.9
$x_2$	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0.5	0.4
$x_3$	0	0	0	1	0.2	1	0	0	0.7
$x_4$	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0.9
$x_5$	0	0	1	0	0	0.9	0.8	1	1
$x_6$	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	0.4	0.9

We use the Lukasiweicz algebra as the underlying algebraic structure. The basic compositions  $\circ$  gives us too much suspicions as we see below and if we calculate the square product  $R \square S$ , we get nearly no more suspicion.

$R\circ S$	$ z_1 $	$z_2$	$z_3$	$z_4$	$z_5$	$z_6$	$z_7$
$x_1$	1	0.9	1	1	0	0.9	0.7
$x_2$	1	0.4	1	0	0	0.8	0.5
$x_3$	0.9	0.7	1	1	0	0.8	0.7
$x_4$	0.9	0.9	1	1	0	0.8	1
$x_5$	0.8	1	0.9	0.9	0.1	0.7	1
$x_6$	1	0.9	1	0.5	1	0.8	0.7

$R \square S$	$z_1$	$z_2$	$z_3$	$z_4$	$z_5$	$z_6$	$z_7$
$x_1$	0	0	0	0	0	0.5	0
$x_2$	0.2	0	0	0	0	0	0
$x_3$	0	0	0.4	0	0	0	0
$x_4$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.3
$x_5$	0	0.3	0	0	0	0	0
$x_6$	0.6	0	0	0	0	0	0

There are two methods that help to eliminate false initial suspicions without lowering the membership degrees to the correct families. The first one is the use of excluding features and the second one is that the compositions based on generalized quantifiers. In this context, we consider fuzzy set modeling the meaning of the linguistic expression Roughly Big (abbr. RoBi) which enables us to construct a generalized quantifier Q ="Majority". In a standard context, this fuzzy set takes values RoBi(1/9) = 0, RoBi(2/9) = 0, RoBi(3/9) = 0, RoBi(4/9) = 0, RoBi(5/9) = 0, RoBi(6/9) = 0.178, RoBi(7/9) = 0.861 and RoBi(8/9) = 1, RoBi(1) = 1. We obtain the results:

$R\circ S`E$	$ z_1 $	$z_2$	$z_3$	$ z_4 $	$z_5$	$z_6$	$z_7$	$R\square^QS$	$z_1$	$z_2$	$z_3$	$z_4$	$ z_5 $	$z_6$	$z_7$
$x_1$	0.2	0	0	0	0	0.9	0	$x_1$	0	0	0.6	0	0	0.6	0
$x_2$	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	$x_2$	0.8	0	0	0	0	0.3	0.1
$x_3$	0	0	1	0	0	0	0.5	$x_3$	0	0	0.9	0.7	0	0.3	0.5
$x_4$	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	$x_4$	0	0.4	0.7	0	0	0	0.7
$x_5$	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	$x_5$	0	0.7	0	0	0	0.1	0.5
$x_6$	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	$x_6$	0.7	0	0	0	0	0	0

As we can see from the first result, each animal is classified to one correct family excepting  $x_3$  - Hairless dog, this animal is suspicious of belonging to two families,  $z_3$  (Dog) and  $z_7$  (Reptile). For the second one, there are still a number of suspicions of animals and the families. In some problems like medical diagnosis problems, it may happen that each patient has many diseases. However, for the problem of classification of animals in biology, we expect that each animal is classified to only one family. Thus, from the result of using  $R \circ S'E$ , it will be better if we can eliminate one of two families,  $z_3, z_7$  from the suspicion of belonging of  $x_3$  - Hairless dog.

Now let us apply the suggested fuzzy relational composition  $R \Box^Q S'E$ . As we can see below, the composition helped to eliminate the false suspicion provided by  $R \circ S'E$  and  $R \Box^Q S$  without endangering the correct classification. In particular, the membership degree of  $x_3$  (Hairless dog) into the family  $z_7$  (Reptile), that had been determined to 0.5 by the both above mentioned compositions, has been decreased to 0.3 by their combination.

$R \square^Q S`E$	$ z_1 $	$z_2$	$z_3$	$ z_4 $	$ z_5 $	$z_6$	$z_7$
$x_1$	0	0	0	0	0	0.6	0
$x_2$	0.8	0	0	0	0	0	0
$x_3$	0	0	0.9	0	0	0	0.3
$x_4$	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.7
$x_5$	0	0.7	0	0	0	0	0
$x_6$	0.7	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### 6 Discussion

Of course, the results are fully dependent on the choice of the fuzzy relation E with excluding features, which is a task based on expert knowledge that is at disposal. The practical example above may seem not enough convincing as the composition  $R \circ S'E$  already provided very good results. On the other hand, it has to be taken into account, that the example is only illustrative and very simple. In practice, the number of objects, features and classes is much higher and then, the determination of the fuzzy relation E is often a difficult step that does not lead to so idealistic results as in the case of the above introduced example.

We recall the application of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions into the expert system for classification of Odonata (dragonfly) [8]. That application dealt with 140 families of dragonflies, nearly 106 thousand objects and 60 features. In such case, the excluding features matrix E determined by an expert may significantly help to improve the results, as demonstrated in the recalled work [8], on the other hand, hardly may lead to a unique classification family. The expert system suggested a sort of set of "guessed classes" with 20 classes on average. In other words, the expert system with nearly perfect accuracy (98.9%) decreased the uncertainty of the correct class from 140 classes to only 20 classes. Although such results were not obtained by any other tested approach, one could hardly say that there would be no room for any improvement. Combination with generalized quantifiers provides a potential to obtain such an improvement but, has to be carefully tested first.

So, let the above introduced example is viewed only as for the sake of illustration of the behavior of such a combination, not as a real practical example to convince readers about superiority of the combination compared to the other approaches.

### 7 Conclusion

We have recalled the two methods extending the standard fuzzy relational compositions and we have proposed the new concept of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers that can be considered as a combination of the two methods. The strength of the proposed approach is that it can help to solve two problems which are existing in compositions: filling in a huge gap between existential and universal quantifiers and solving the problems of existence of excluding features for some particular objects. Apart from providing the definitions and showing the corresponding properties, we have presented that a list of valid properties holding for the two mentioned approaches are still preserved for the proposed compositions. Moreover, the use of excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers was considered on an illustrative example which was stemming from a purpose: to see how it can be more effective than the use of the single approach.

These results have significantly contributed for extending the standard fuzzy relational compositions that is widely used in many areas of application, such as inference systems, flexible query answering systems in database applications.

**Acknowledgement.** This research was partially supported by the NPU II project LQ1602 "IT4Innovations excellence in science" provided by the MŠMT.

### References

- Bandler, W., Kohout, L.J.: Semantics of implication operators and fuzzy relational products. Int. J. Man Mach. Stud. 12(1), 89–116 (1980)
- Bandler, W., Kohout, L.J.: Relational-product architectures for information processing. Inf. Sci. 37, 25–37 (1985)
- Belohlavek, R.: Sup-t-norm and inf-residuum are one type of relational product: unifying framework and consequences. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 197, 45–58 (2012)
- 4. Burda, M.: Linguistic fuzzy logic in R. In: Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, Istanbul, Turkey (2015)
- Běhounek, L., Daňková, M.: Relational compositions in fuzzy class theory. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 160(8), 1005–1036 (2009)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M.: How to incorporate excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions and what for. In: Proceedings of 16th International Conference on Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 611, pp. 470– 481. Springer, Heidelberg (2016)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M.: Properties of 'excluding symptoms' in fuzzy relational compositions. In: Proceedings of 12th Conference on Uncertainty Modelling in Knowledge Engineering and Decision Making (FLINS), vol. 10, pp. 555–560. World Scientific (2016)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Burda, M., Dolný, A.: Excluding features in fuzzy relational compositions. Expert Syst. Appl. 81, 1–11 (2017)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: An extension of fuzzy relational compositions using generalized quantifiers. In: Proceedings of 16th World Congress of the International Fuzzy Systems Association (IFSA) and 9th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy-Logic and Technology (EUSFLAT). Advances in Intelligent Systems Research, vol. 89, pp. 49–58. Atlantis press, Gijón (2015)
- Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: Non-preservation of chosen properties of fuzzy relational compositions based on fuzzy quantifiers. In: IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems (2017, in press)
- 11. Cao, N., Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: Extensions of fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifer. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (submitted)
- De Baets, B.: Analytical solution methods for fuzzy relational equations. In: Dubois, D., Prade, H. (eds.) The Handbook of Fuzzy Set Series, vol. 1, pp. 291–340. Academic Kluwer Publishers, Boston (2000)

- De Baets, B., Kerre, E.: Fuzzy relational compositions. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 60, 109– 120 (1993)
- 14. Di Nola, A., Sessa, S., Pedrycz, W., Sanchez, E.: Fuzzy Relation Equations and Their Applications to Knowledge Engineering. Kluwer, Boston (1989)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Semantics of quotient operators in fuzzy relational databases. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 78, 89–93 (1996)
- Lim, C.K., Chan, C.S.: A weighted inference engine based on interval-valued fuzzy relational theory. Exp. Syst. Appl. 42(7), 3410–3419 (2015)
- Mandal, S., Jayaram, B.: SISO fuzzy relational inference systems based on fuzzy implications are universal approximators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 277, 1–21 (2015)
- Pedrycz, W.: Fuzzy relational equations with generalized connectives and their applications. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 10, 185–201 (1983)
- Pedrycz, W.: Applications of fuzzy relational equations for methods of reasoning in presence of fuzzy data. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 16, 163–175 (1985)
- Pivert, O., Bosc, P.: Fuzzy Preference Queries to Relational Databases. Imperial College Press, London (2012)
- Sanchez, E.: Resolution of composite fuzzy relation equations. Inf. Control 30, 38–48 (1976)
- Štěpnička, M., De Baets, B.: Interpolativity of at-least and at-most models of monotone single-input single-output fuzzy rule bases. Inf. Sci. 234, 16–28 (2013)
- Štěpnička, M., De Baets, B., Nosková, L.: Arithmetic fuzzy models. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 18, 1058–1069 (2010)
- 24. Štěpnička, M., Holčapek, M.: Fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers. In: Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems, PT II, Communications in Computer and Information Science, IPMU 2014, vol. 443, pp. 224–233. Springer, Berlin (2014)
- Štěpnička, M., Jayaram, B.: On the suitability of the Bandler-Kohout subproduct as an inference mechanism. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 18(2), 285–298 (2010)

# A New Optimization Metaheuristic Based on the Self-defense Techniques of Natural Plants Applied to the CEC 2015 Benchmark Functions

Camilo Caraveo<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Fevrier Valdez, and Oscar Castillo

Division of Graduate Studies, Tijuana Institute of Technology, Tijuana, Mexico Camilo.caraveo@Gmail.com, {fevrier,Ocastillo}@tectijuana.mx

**Abstract.** A new optimization metaheuristic algorithm based on the mechanisms of self-defense of plants in nature in this work is presented. The proposed optimization algorithm is applied to optimize mathematical functions of CEC 2015, this suite of functions are proposed as a challenge for the area of algorithm bio-inspired, with the purpose of creating a competition of performance and stability between algorithms of search and optimization. We propose a new meta-heuristic inspired in the coping techniques of plants in nature, as there techniques are developed by plants as a defense from predators. The proposed algorithm is based on the Lotka and Volterra model better known as the prey predator model, this model consists of two non-linear equations and is used to model the growth of two populations that competing with each other.

Keywords: Aggressor  $\cdot$  Lotka and Volterra model  $\cdot$  Mechanism  $\cdot$  Plants  $\cdot$  Self-defense  $\cdot$  Lévy flights

### 1 Introduction

In the literature there are many optimization algorithms that have been applied to multiple problems and in some cases are successful and in others not. Each algorithm is selected depending on the problem to be solved. In the area of engineering sciences and computation there have been different meta-heuristics of optimization that have ben proposed, such as Particle swarm optimization (PSO) [15], Genetic algorithm (GA) [12], Flower pollination algorithm (FPA), Gravitational Search Algorithm (SGA), Ant colony optimization (ACO), Bee colony optimization (BCO) [1, 8].

The aforementioned algorithms have been applied to various problems such as optimization of neurons, in a neural network to improve the level of recognition of people's faces, others for optimizing fuzzy controllers, other authors apply it to optimize mathematical functions in some cases normal functions and also in hybrid or composite functions [14, 15, 17].

All over the planet, all living organisms are exposed to a large number of threats that inhabit the environment. Therefore they force us to be in constant fight and adaptation to be immune to this type of threats [3, 4, 6]. The meta-heuristic proposed in

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_34

this paper uses as a basis the Lotka and Volterra model predator-prey, which is a system formed by two nonlinear equations, are used to model the behavior of two interacting populations [7, 10].

#### 2 Self-defense Techniques of Plants in the Nature

In nature, all living organisms on the planet are constantly fighting against different predators (fungi, bacteria, for mention some), which cause extinction or death of species [8, 13, 14, 17, 18].

Self-defense techniques are natural or developed processes that protect every living organism against different threats. The Plants are also sensitive to different stimuli. In [3-5, 9] the authors define the mechanisms of defense of plants in nature.

In Fig. 1 we can observe a general scheme of the behavior of the plants when they detect the attack of a predatory organism [3, 4, 9].



Fig. 1. Illustration of self-defense techniques

All plants have different strategies for example, defense techniques against predators, also techniques for adaptation to different climates such as humid, cold, sunny areas, these strategies prevent the extension of the species. However at the same time the predatory species also develop other adaptation and coping techniques, therefore both species prey and predator are always in constant fight for the survival of the best. In this work we only consider the self-defense strategies of the plants in nature.

#### **3** Predator-Prey Model

The Lotka-Volterra equations are a biomathematical model that represents the growth of two populations interacting with each other, and the model is formed by the following Eqs. (1) and (2) [1, 3, 10–12]:

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = \alpha x - \beta x y \tag{1}$$

$$\frac{dy}{dt} = -\delta xy + \lambda y \tag{2}$$

The definition of the parameters are observed below. Where:

- *x*: Represent the number of prey
- y: Represent the number of predators
- $\frac{dx}{dt}$  Represent the growth of the population of prey time t
- $\frac{dy}{dt}$  Represent the growth of the population of predator at time t
- $\alpha$ : It represents the birth rate of prey in the absence of predator
- $\beta$ : It represents the death rate of predators in the absence of prey.
- $\delta$ : Measures the susceptibility of prey.
- $\lambda$ : Measures the ability of predation.

### 4 Case Study

In this work we propose a new application of the algorithm of plant defense, in the previous works the algorithm was used to optimize traditional mathematical benchmark functions with different methods of biological reproduction [5, 6].

In this work the proposed metaheuristic was used to optimize the functions of CEC 2015 competition, in this set of functions there are some that are composed and others that are hybrid [12, 15, 18]. Figure 2 shows a graphical representation of the proposed algorithm and the prey predator model.



Fig. 2. General representation of metaheuristics

In Fig. 2 we can observe both methods, the predatory prey and our proposal, where we can observe that we are applying evolutionary processes in the plant population, however the population of predators are also affected since its size is dependent on the size of the population of prey in time (t).

Plants and any other living thing in nature have different methods of biological reproduction, and in this work we are only considering the most common. For example: pollen, clone and graft. In [5, 6, 9], the authors define the different reproduction operators.

Prey and predator populations are created using the Lotka and Volterra equations, where equation one is used to generate the population of the plants and Eq. (2) is used to generate the population of the predators. In Fig. 3 shows a diagram that describes the steps of the optimization metaheuristics.



Fig. 3. Flowchart illustrating the proposed algorithm

Population sizes (prey, predators) and the values of the variables ( $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\lambda$ ) In [4, 6] we explain the recommended values for the variables used in the equations of the model in our proposal and also the values recommended by the creators of the prey and
predator model. In [3-5] the authors publish results with other variants of the algorithm and we can also consult the definition of the proposed biological operators for this algorithm.

## 5 Simulation Results

This section shows the results obtained from the experiments performed using the optimization algorithm bioinspired on the self-defense mechanisms of the plants to the set of eight functions of the CEC-2015 [15, 18]. Based on previous publications the authors recommend using the method of pollination as reproduction operator, because it has a higher performance. 30 experiments were performed for the following mathematical functions and the evaluation is for 10, 30 Variables, Some data of the functions used can be find in Table 1, for more information of the functions please review [15, 18].

Туре	No.	Function
Unimodal functions	1	Rotated high conditioned elliptic function
	2	Rotated cigar function
Simple multimodal functions 3		Shifted and rotated Ackley's function
	4	Shifted and rotated Rastrigin's function
	5	Shifted and rotated Schwefel's function
Hybrid functions 6		Hybrid function 1 ( $N = 3$ )
•		Hybrid function 2 (N = 4)
	8	Hybrid function 3 (N = $5$ )

Table 1. Mathematical functions

### 6 Parameters for the Algorithm

For this work the parameters for the variables of  $(\alpha, \beta, \delta, \lambda)$ , were moved in a specific range, as mentioned before some publicaciones of the algorithm where the authors recommend a range of optimum values to improve the performance of the meta-heuristic [5, 6]. And also the configuration of other parameters such as the size of populations of prey (plants), predators (herbivores).

For the CEC 2015 function problem, they recommend a range of values to be able to compete against the results found by other algorithms, in this work we only want to show that the proposed algorithm can also be used to optimize complex problems. The configuration parameters are defined below: we use plants = 400, Herbivores = 350, and the ranges for the iterations were 1000–900 to observe the behavior.

In Table 2 we can find the results obtained for the case study used in this paper. In the table we observed the results of 30 experiments for each function, using 10 and 30 dimensions, we consider important to the reader the following data the worse, best, average, and standard deviation [4, 6].

Function	Important results of the algorithm				
	Best	Worse	σ	Average	
F1	4.95E+04	4.38E+06	1.06E+06	1.03E+06	
F2	1.40E+05	2.87E+06	7.45E+05	1.15E+06	
F3	2.00E+01	2.04E+01	1.08E-01	2.03E+01	
F4	8.08E+00	6.67E+01	1.67E+01	2.69E+01	
F5	2.45E+02	1.08E+03	2.07E+02	6.24E+02	
F6	3.55E+02	4.75E+04	8.66E+03	5.93E+03	
F7	1.42E+00	1.23E+01	1.96E+00	2.89E+00	
F8	9.41E+02	6.75E+03	1.34E+03	2.30E+03	

Table 2. Results for 10 dimensions

 Table 3. Results for 30 dimensions

Function	Important results of the algorithm					
	Best	Worse	σ	Average		
F1	2.80E+06	2.94E+07	6.77E+06	1.199E+07		
F2	1.74E+07	7.07E+09	1.34E+09	4.275E+08		
F3	2.02E+01	2.10E+01	1.58E-01	2.09E+01		
F4	1.62E+02	2.99E+02	3.90E+01	2.132E+02		
F5	2.67E+03	5.54E+03	7.77E+02	3.91E+03		
F6	3.57E+02	4.86E+04	8.82E+03	5.14E+03		
F8	2.67E+04	1.18E+06	2.29E+05	2.22E+05		

In Tables 2 and 3, we show the results obtained from 30 experiments performed for 10 and 30 variables, we can observe that in the experiments it was very difficult to approximate the value of the function to zero. The mathematical functions used are very complex, some are hybrid, multimodal and composite, and this increases the complexity therefore the algorithms need to be more efficient or use the help of other intelligent techniques such as fuzzy logic or the hybridization with another optimization algorithm. It is important to mention that some of the functions do not have their objetive value as zero.

However, in some functions, for example: f2, f4, f7, the algorithm was able to find a very good near to zero, in comparison to the others, this was for 10 variables see Table 2. Also in Table 3 we can observe the performance of the algorithm for 30 variables, where we only succeeded in the following functions: f3, f4, f6.

To conclude this work it is necessary to make a statistical comparison against other published results, the test used is z-test, in Table 4 we can observe the parameters used in this test, the results obtained with the algorithm of the mechanisms of the plants (MSPA) are compared with the Dynamic Search Fireworks Algorithm (dynFWA) [20].

Parameters	Values
Level of significance	0.05%
На	$\mu_1 < \mu_2$
H0	$\mu_1 \geq \mu_2$
p value	1.6715

Table 4. Parameters for statistical comparison.

In applying the statistic Z-test, with a significance level of 0.05, and the alternative hypothesis says that the average of the proposed method is lower than the average of dynFWA [20], and of course the null hypothesis tells us that the average of the proposed method is greater than or equal to the average of dynFWA [20], with a rejection region for all values fall below of -1.6715. In the Table 5 we can observe the results of the statistical comparison.

Case study	Our method	DynFWA	Z-value	Evidence
F1	MSPA	dynFWA	4.7282	Not significant
F2	MSPA	dynFWA	8.3890	Not significant
F3	MSPA	dynFWA	15.2145	Not significant
F4	MSPA	dynFWA	3.1080	Not significant
F5	MSPA	dynFWA	1.8319	Not significant
F6	MSPA	dynFWA	2.5840	Not significant
F7	MSPA	dynFWA	3.9964	Not significant

Table 5. Results of applying the statistical z-test for 10D.

The authors of this work can observe that the comparison is not fair, the algorithm of fireworks uses fuzzy logic to adjust the parameters and our proposal is simple algorithm, however in some functions the results are very similar.

### 7 Conclusions

To conclude this work we consider important to mention that the main contribution of this work is to demonstrate that the proposed algorithm can also be applied to more complex problems and in this case we decided to use it for mathematical functions of the CEC-2015 benchmark, however we managed to find some values close to zero in some functions. We consider it important to mention that in this work we only use the method of reproduction by polinization, and this is recommended by the authors based on the previous experiments using this algorithm in other simpler problems for example using traditional benchmark functions. Based on the results obtained we can conclude that it is necessary to consider some improvements to the algorithm, we observe problems of local minima, and it is important to investigate other biological processes of the plants to apply them to the algorithm to solve the problem of local minima.

## References

- Amador-Angulo, L., Castillo, O.: A new algorithm based in the smart behavior of the bees for the design of Mamdani-style fuzzy controllers using complex non-linear plants. In: Design of Intelligent Systems Based on Fuzzy Logic, Neural Networks and Nature-Inspired Optimization, pp. 617–637. Springer (2015)
- Awad, N., Ali, M.Z., Reynolds, R.G.: A differential evolution algorithm with success-based parameter adaptation for CEC 2015 learning-based optimization. In: 2015 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), pp. 1098–1105. IEEE, May 2015
- Caraveo, C., Valdez, F., Castillo, O.: Bio-inspired optimization algorithm based on the self-defense mechanism in plants. In: Advances in Artificial Intelligence and Soft Computing, pp. 227–237. Springer (2015)
- 4. Caraveo, C., Valdez, F., Castillo, O.: Optimization mathematical functions for multiple variables using the algorithm of self-defense of the plants. In: Nature-Inspired Design of Hybrid Intelligent Systems, pp. 631–640. Springer (2017)
- Caraveo, C., Valdez, F., Castillo, O., Melin, P.: A new metaheuristic based on the self-defense techniques of the plants in nature. In: 2016 IEEE Symposium Series on Computational Intelligence (SSCI), pp. 1–5. IEEE (2016)
- Duffy, B., Schouten, A., Raaijmakers, J.M.: Pathogen self-defense: mechanisms to counteract microbial antagonism. Annu. Rev. Phytopathol. 41(1), 501–538 (2003)
- Jwa, N.S., Agrawal, G.K., Tamogami, S., Yonekura, M., Han, O., Iwahashi, H., Rakwal, R.: Role of defense/stress-related marker genes, proteins and secondary metabolites in defining rice self-defense mechanisms. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 44(5), 261–273 (2006)
- Karaboga, D., Basturk, B.: On the performance of Artificial Bee Colony (ABC) algorithm. Appl. Soft Comput. 8(1), 687–697 (2008)
- 9. Koornneef, A., Pieterse, C.M.: Cross talk in defense signaling. Plant Physiol. 146(3), 839– 844 (2008)
- Laumanns, M., Rudolph, G., Schwefel, H.P.: A spatial predator-prey approach to multi-objective optimization: a preliminary study. In: Parallel Problem Solving from Nature—PPSN V, pp. 241–249. Springer, Heidelberg (1998)
- 11. Lawson, L.M., Spitz, Y.H., Hofmann, E.E., Long, R.B.: A data assimilation technique applied to a predator-prey model. Bull. Math. Biol. **57**(4), 593–617 (1995)
- Li, X.: A real-coded predator-prey genetic algorithm for multiobjective optimization. In: International Conference on Evolutionary Multi-Criterion Optimization, pp. 207–221. Springer, Heidelberg, April 2003
- Liang, J.J., Qu, B.Y., Suganthan, P.N., Chen, Q.: Problem definitions and evaluation criteria for the CEC 2015 competition on learning-based real-parameter single objective optimization. Technical Report 201411A, Computational Intelligence Laboratory, Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou China and Technical Report, Nanyang Technological University, Singapore (2014)
- Ochoa, P., Castillo, O., Soria, J.: Fuzzy differential evolution method with dynamic parameter adaptation using type-2 fuzzy logic. In: 2016 IEEE 8th International Conference on Intelligent Systems (IS), pp. 113–118. IEEE (2016)
- Olivas, F., Valdez, F., Castillo, O., Melin, P.: Dynamic parameter adaptation in particle swarm optimization using interval type-2 fuzzy logic. Soft. Comput. 20(3), 1057–1070 (2016)
- Peraza, C., Valdez, F., Castillo, O.: A harmony search algorithm comparison with genetic algorithms. In: Fuzzy Logic Augmentation of Nature-Inspired Optimization Metaheuristics, pp. 105–123. Springer (2015)

- Pérez, J., Valdez, F., Castillo, O.: Modification of the bat algorithm using fuzzy logic for dynamical parameter adaptation. In: 2015 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), pp. 464–471. IEEE (2015)
- Rodríguez, L., Castillo, O., Soria, J.: Grey wolf optimizer with dynamic adaptation of parameters using fuzzy logic. In: 2016 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), pp. 3116–3123. IEEE (2016)
- Tanweer, M.R., Suresh, S., Sundararajan, N.: Improved SRPSO algorithm for solving CEC 2015 computationally expensive numerical optimization problems. In: 2015 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), pp. 1943–1949. IEEE (2015)
- Yu, C., Kelley, L.C., Tan, Y. Dynamic search fireworks algorithm with covariance mutation for solving the CEC 2015 learning based competition problems. In: 2015 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation (CEC), pp. 1106–1112. IEEE (2015)

# A Multi-objective Evolutionary Algorithm for Tuning Type-2 Fuzzy Sets with Rule and Condition Selection on Fuzzy Rule-Based Classification System

Edward Hinojosa Cárdenas<sup> $1(\boxtimes)$ </sup> and Heloisa A. Camargo<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> University of San Agustin, Arequipa, Peru ehinojosa@unsa.edu.pe
 <sup>2</sup> Federal University of São Carlos, São Carlos, SP, Brazil heloisa@dc.ufscar.br

Abstract. This paper presents a Multi-Objective Evolutionary Algorithm (MOEA) for tuning type-2 fuzzy sets and selecting rules and conditions on Fuzzy Rule-Based Classification Systems (FRBCS). Before the tuning and selection process, the Rule Base is learned by means of a modified Wang-Mendel algorithm that considers type-2 fuzzy sets in the rules antecedents and in the inference mechanism. The Multi-Objective Evolutionary Algorithm used in the tuning process has three objectives. The first objective reflects the accuracy where the correct classification rate of the FRBCS is optimized. The second objective reflects the interpretability of the system regarding complexity, by means of the quantity of rules and is to be minimized through selecting rules from the initial rule base. The third objective also reflects the interpretability as a matter of complexity and models the quantity of conditions in the Rule Base. Finally, we show how the FRBCS tuned by our proposed algorithm can achieve a considerably better classification accuracy and complexity, expressed by the quantity of fuzzy rules and conditions in the RB compared with the FRBCS before the tuning process.

**Keywords:** Fuzzy Rule-Based Classification System  $\cdot$  Type-2 fuzzy sets  $\cdot$  Multi-Objective Evolutionary Algorithm

## 1 Introduction

Type-2 fuzzy sets were introduced by Zadeh in 1975 [1] as a generalization of the type-1 fuzzy sets that offer a more powerful representation of imprecision by allowing the membership values to be represented as fuzzy sets. Following this concept, a new class of fuzzy systems was presented in 1999 [2] where the antecedent or consequent membership functions were type-2 fuzzy sets. Due to their representational power, type-2 fuzzy sets have been used in several applications [14]. Additional discussion on the advantages of using type-2 fuzzy sets can be found in [15, 16].

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_35

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

According to [3], the use of type-2 fuzzy sets is still an open problem in the context of Multi-Objective Evolutionary Fuzzy Systems (MOEFS). MOEFS aim at using the learning capabilities of Multi-Objective Evolutionary Algorithms (MOEA) to generate fuzzy systems favoring a balance among conflicting objectives that represent accuracy and interpretability. The problem can be approached from different modeling schemes that are dedicated to generate or optimize one or more components of a fuzzy system [3,17]. Those work that focus on tuning the fuzzy sets parameters, the use of type-2 fuzzy sets poses an increase in complexity.

In an attempt to investigate this open and promising research field, this work studies the tuning of type-2 fuzzy sets with simultaneous selection of rules and conditions, in the helm of Fuzzy Rule Based Classification Systems (FRBCS). Before the multi-objective evolutionary process, the type-2 fuzzy sets are generated and an initial Rule Base (RB) is learned using a modified version WM algorithm [4]. We use the well known, fast sorting and elite MOEA called Nondominated Sorting Genetic Algorithm-II (NSGA-II) [5], with three objectives. The first objective optimizes the accuracy of the classification system varying the parameters of type-2 fuzzy sets. The second objective optimizes the interpretability by means of the selection of fuzzy rules in the RB. The third objective optimizes the interpretability too by means of the selection of conditions in fuzzy rules selected in the second objective.

This paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we present the basic concepts of type-2 fuzzy sets. In Sect. 3, we explain the fuzzy rule learning process used in this paper. In Sect. 4, we introduce the multi-objective evolutionary algorithm for tuning type-2 fuzzy sets with rule and condition selection on FRBCS used. In Sect. 5, we report the experiments and result of our study. Finally, the conclusions and future works are presented in Sect. 6.

#### 2 Type-2 Fuzzy Sets

The type-2 fuzzy sets theory was proposed by Lotfi Zadeh in 1975 for modelling the uncertainties inherent to the definition of the membership functions of antecedents and consequents in a fuzzy inference system. The main concerns about the use of type-2 fuzzy sets were related to the cost of inference. To surpass this problem, the interval fuzzy sets were proposed, which are simpler type-2 fuzzy sets where the value of the secondary membership is always one.

An interval type-2 fuzzy set,  $\tilde{A}$  on X, is defined by a type-2 membership function,  $0 \le \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x, u) \le 1$ , where  $x \in X$  and  $J_x \subseteq [0, 1]$ , i.e. [16]:

$$\tilde{A} = \{((x, u), \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x, u)) | \forall x \in X, \forall u \in J_x \subseteq [0, 1]\}$$

$$\tag{1}$$

A type-2 fuzzy set can be represented by means a geometric figure, for example Fig. 1. This triangular geometric type-2 fuzzy set is used in our proposed algorithm.



Fig. 1. Interval type-2 fuzzy set

In Fig. 1 the value  $\underline{\mu}_{\tilde{A}(x)}$  for x is defined by LMF(Lower Membership Function) for x and the value  $\overline{\mu}_{\tilde{A}(x)}$  for x is defined by UMF (Upper membership function). The uncertainty of  $\tilde{A}$  is represented by the Footprint of Uncertainty (FOU( $\tilde{A}$ )).

#### 3 Fuzzy Rule Learning Process

The fuzzy rule learning process used to generate the initial RB based on the WM algorithm. First, we predefined the Data Base (DB) with type-2 membership functions uniformly distributed adopting a process similar to the one used in [6] and considering the minimum and maximum input values (*min* and *max*). Figure 2 shows an example of a linguistic variable with five type-2 fuzzy sets where each one have five parameters  $\{a_i, b_i, m_i c_i, d_i\}$  where  $b_i - a_i = m_i - b_i = c_i - m_i = d_i - c_i$ .

Second, for example pattern in  $E = \{e_1, e_2, ..., e_p\}$  labelled with a class from the set of classes  $C = \{C_1, C_2, ..., C_m\}$ , where each  $e_q \in E$  is defined by a set of k features  $e_q = \{a_{q_1}, a_{q_2}, ..., a_{q_k}\}$ , the values of  $\underline{\mu}_{\tilde{A}(a_{i_j})}$  and  $\overline{\mu}_{\tilde{A}(a_{i_j})}$  are calculated for each type-2 fuzzy set.

After that, the linguistic term with maximum value for  $\underline{\mu}_{\tilde{A}(a_{i_j})} + \overline{\mu}_{\tilde{A}(a_{i_j})}$  is included as a condition in the fuzzy rule. For each  $e_q \in E$  a fuzzy rule is learned in the form:

 $R_i$ : IF  $V_1$  IS  $T_{1l_1}$  and  $V_2$  IS  $T_{2l_2}$  and ... and  $T_k$  IS  $T_{kl_k}$  then Class  $C_j$ 

where:

 $\begin{array}{ll} R_i & : \mbox{ Index of the fuzzy rule } i. \\ V_1, V_2, ..., V_n & : \mbox{ Linguistic variables or features of each example } e_q. \\ T_{1l_1}, T_{2l_2}, ..., T_{nl_n} \mbox{: Linguistic terms or type-2 fuzzy sets for each } V_r. \\ C_j & : \mbox{ Class of the fuzzy rule } R_i. \end{array}$ 



Fig. 2. DB uniformly distributed using type-2 fuzzy sets

Third, for each fuzzy rule in the RB with the same antecedent (conflicting and redundant) the fuzzy rule with the highest degree is selected to remain in the RB and the other ones are eliminated. The degree of fuzzy rule i ( $D_{R_i}$ ) is defined by means of the fuzzification and inference illustrated in Fig. 3 for the particular case of rules with two antecedents. That output-processing blocks, fuzzification and inference, are similar to blocks used in [7].



Fig. 3. Fuzzification and inference using type-2 fuzzy sets

## 4 Multi-objective Evolutionary Algorithm for Tuning Type-2 Fuzzy Sets

In this section we present our proposed algorithm for tuning type-2 fuzzy sets in a FRBCS with selection of rules and conditions using NSGA-II algorithm. This algorithm follows the steps of NSGA-II algorithm shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. NSGA–II algorithm

First, we define the initial population  $P_t$  (t = 0) with size N. Each chromosome  $(CR_i)$ , similar to the structure proposed in [8], is represented as:

$$CR_i = CR_{M_i} + CR_{R_i} + CR_{Co_i} \tag{2}$$

The first part of the chromosome  $CR_{M_i}$  encodes the parameters of the type-2 fuzzy sets for each linguistic variable in the in DB. Each gene in the chromosome encodes a parameter of a linguistic term in a linguistic variable. Figure 5 shows an example of  $CR_{M_i}$  considering five linguistic terms for each linguistic variable, where v represents the quantity of linguistic variables.



Fig. 5. Chromosome encoding for the MF parameters

In order to preserve the semantics of fuzzy sets, we define the limits of each parameter as shown in Fig. 6 and defined according to the following equations:

$$Diff = (b-a)/2 = (m-b)/2 = (c-m)/2 = (d-c)/2$$
(3)

$$a_{lower} = a - Diff; \ a_{upper} = a + Diff$$
 (4)

$$b_{lower} = a_{upper}; \ b_{upper} = b + Diff$$
 (5)

$$m_{lower} = b_{upper}; \ m_{upper} = m + Diff$$
 (6)

$$c_{lower} = m_{upper}; \ c_{upper} = c + Diff$$
 (7)

$$d_{lower} = c_{upper}; \ d_{upper} = d + Diff \tag{8}$$



Fig. 6. Type-2 MF parameters

The fuzzy rules used in the fuzzy inference are encoded in the second part of the chromosome,  $CR_R$ . The upper and lower limit for each gene in  $CR_R$  are 1.0 and 0.0 respectively. A fuzzy rule is considered as part of the RB and used in the fuzzy inference if the gene value is greater than 0.5. Figure 7 shows an example of  $CR_R$  considering r fuzzy rules in the RB obtained by learning process described in the previous section.

$$|0.0 \le R_1 \le 1.0 | 0.0 \le R_2 \le 1.0 | 0.0 \le R_3 \le 1.0 | \dots | 0.0 \le R_r \le 1.0 |$$

#### **Fig. 7.** Chromosome encoding for $CR_R$

The conditions in the RB used in the fuzzy inference are encoded in the thrid part of the chromosome,  $CR_{Co}$ . As in  $CR_R$ , the upper and lower limit for each gene in  $CR_{Co}$  are 1.0 and 0.0 respectively. A condition is considered as part of the fuzzy rule and used in the fuzzy inference if the gene value is greater than 0.5. Obviously, the condition is considered if it is in a valid fuzzy rule. Figure 8 shows an example of  $CR_{Co}$  considering a linguistic term for v linguistic variables in r fuzzy rules in RB.

$$|0.0 \le Co_{1_1} \le 1.0| 0.0 \le Co_{2_1} \le 1.0| \dots |0.0 \le Co_{v_1} \le 1.0| \dots |0.0 \le Co_{v_r} \le 1.0|$$

Fig. 8. Chromosome encoding for  $CR_{Co}$ 

In the initial population  $P_t$ , the first chromosome encodes the uniformly distributed DB, all fuzzy rules and conditions obtained in the WM based learning process. The other chromosomes are encoded randomly considering the upper and lower limits of each gene.

Each chromosome is evaluated by means of the calculation of the three objectives, three objectives are calculated. The first objective is defined by the error rate of the FRBCS and it is based in single-winner inference. The winner fuzzy rule is the fuzzy rule *i* with gene value greater than or equal 0.5 in  $CR_M$  and  $D_{R_i}$  is the maximum value compared with the other fuzzy rules in RB.



Fig. 9. Tuned type-2 fuzzy sets in a linguistic variable

The value of the second objective is calculated by counting genes with values greater than 0.5 in  $CR_M$ . These genes represent the indexes of the fuzzy rules considered in the inference system.

Similar to the to second objective, the third objective is calculated by counting genes with values greater than 0.5 in  $CR_{Co}$  taking into consideration that this condition is in a fuzzy rule considered in the inference system.

New populations are generated using the genetic operators of selection, crossover and mutation. Tournament selection, based on the dominance of the solutions and crowding distances, is the method used for selecting a chromosome for crossover operator. Simulated Binary Crossover (SBX) [9] and polinomial mutation [9] are the crossover and mutation operator used in our proposal respectively.

An example of tuned type-2 fuzzy sets in a linguistic variable is shown in Fig. 9.

## 5 Experiments and Results

The multi-objective evolutionary algorithm for tuning type-2 fuzzy sets with rule and condition selection to optimized FRBCS described in the last section was applied on ten well-known data sets, extracted from KEEL repository [10] and UCI repository [11], as shown in Table 1.

Data set	Pattern number	Atributes	Class number
Appendicitis	106	7	2
Bloodtransfusion	748	5	2
Bupa	345	6	2
Haberman	306	3	2
Hayes-roth	160	4	3
Hepatitis	80	19	2
Iris	150	4	3
Newthyroid	215	5	3
Tae	151	5	3
Zoo	87	8	3

Table 1. Data sets used in the experiments

All experiments were run using 10-fold cross validation. Results of the initial learning process before the tuning of fuzzy sets and selection of rules and conditions are shown in Table 2. First and second columns show the mean error rate in training  $(Tr_{er})$  and test  $(Te_{er})$  dataset respectively. Third and fourth columns show the quantity of fuzzy rules and conditions in the RB respectively. Standard deviation is shown in parenthesis for each result.

Data set	Trer	Teer	Rules number	Conditions number
Appendicitis	$0.1384 \ (0.0551)$	0.3173(0.1506)	61.8000(1.4697)	432.6000 (10.2879)
Bloodtransfusion	$0.4923 \ (0.0197)$	0.4987 (0.0321)	29.4000 (0.4899)	117.6000 (1.9596)
Bupa	0.3317 (0.0176)	$0.4937 \ (0.0868)$	120.8000 (1.7205)	724.8000 (10.3228)
Haberman	0.4122(0.0325)	0.4514 (0.0608)	51.7000 (1.2689)	155.1000 (3.8066)
Hayes-roth	$0.1049 \ (0.0085)$	$0.3625 \ (0.0729)$	78.7000 (1.2689)	314.8000 (5.0754)
Hepatitis	0.0000 (0.0000)	$0.7826 \ (0.1653)$	71.2000 (2.1354)	1352.8000 (40.5729)
Iris	0.0674(0.0420)	$0.0467 \ (0.0427)$	40.8000 (1.5362)	163.2000 (6.1449)
Newthyroid	$0.0595 \ (0.0253)$	$0.0742 \ (0.0421)$	48.0000 (1.0000)	240.0000 (5.0000)
Tae	$0.2641 \ (0.0243)$	$0.4496 \ (0.1254)$	64.4000 (1.6852)	322.0000 (8.4261)
Zoo	0.0000 (0.0000)	$0.3528 \ (0.1260)$	54.2000 (1.4000)	867.2000 (22.4000)

Table 2. Results obtained by the initial learning process

 Table 3. Parameters of NSGA-II algorithm

Parameter	Value
Size of the population	100.0
Crossover probability	1.0
Mutation probability	0.1
Number of generations	2000.0

Table 4. Results after tuning process

Data set	$Tr_{er}$	$Te_{er}$	Rules number	Conditions number
Appendicitis	$0.0933 \ (0.0275)$	$0.0655 \ (0.0592)$	12.9000 (14.6318)	56.4000 (80.0165)
Bloodtransfusion	$0.2148\ (0.0094)$	$0.2033 \ (0.0291)$	5.3000 (1.9000)	10.7000 (5.1778)
Bupa	0.3317 (0.0243)	$0.2866 \ (0.0557)$	45.0000 (16.2358)	$158.3000 \ (89.5735)$
Haberman	0.2375(0.0084)	0.2649(0.0532)	4.7000 (1.6155)	7.5000 (3.4713)
Hayes-roth	$0.1090 \ (0.0250)$	$0.2938\ (0.0793)$	74.7000 (4.3370)	284.1000 (26.9757)
Hepatitis	$0.0948 \ (0.0911)$	$0.2568 \ (0.1603)$	30.8000 (18.5462)	322.4000 (298.7869)
Iris	$0.0385 \ (0.0162)$	$0.0200 \ (0.0306)$	4.0000 (0.8944)	5.6000 (1.9079)
Newthyroid	$0.0295 \ (0.0111)$	$0.0182 \ (0.0302)$	23.8000 (10.7219)	89.0000 (47.3793)
Tae	0.2583 (0.0262)	0.3508(0.0887)	56.5000(6.2330)	264.3000 (39.3066)
Zoo	0.0000 (0.0000)	$0.0650 \ (0.0554)$	31.8000 (5.7931)	326.6000 (68.9321)

Table 3 shows the parameters used in NSGA-II algorithm.

The results after the evolutionary process considering the a chromosome in the middle of first frontier  $F_1$  are shown in Table 4. The content of columns of Table 4 are the same as Table 2.

Finally, Table 5 shows the difference (diff) between results obtained after and before the evolutionary process for tuning the type-2 fuzzy sets and selecting rules and conditions in the RB. Based on Table 5, one can conclude that the

reduction in the compared values are considerable, mainly in the number of rules (R. number) and number of conditions (C. number).

Data set	$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{diff}(Tr_e r) \\ \operatorname{TP-LP} \end{array}$	$\frac{\operatorname{diff}(Te_e r)}{\operatorname{TP-LP}}$	diff(R. number) TP–LP	diff(C. number) TP–LP
Appendicitis	-0.0451	-0.2518	-48.9000	-376.2000
Bloodtransfusion	-0.2775	-0.2954	-24.1000	-106.9000
Bupa	0.0000	-0.2071	-75.8000	-566.5000
Haberman	-0.1747	-0.1865	-47.0000	-147.6000
Hayes-roth	0.0041	-0.0687	-4.0000	-30.7000
Hepatitis	0.0948	-0.5258	-40.4000	-1030.4000
Iris	-0.0289	-0.0267	-36.8000	-157.6000
Newthyroid	-0.0300	-0.0560	-24.2000	-151.0000
Tae	-0.0058	-0.0988	-7.9000	-57.7000
Zoo	0.0000	0.0000	-22.4000	-540.6000
Mean	-0.0463	-0.1717	-33.1500	-316.5200

**Table 5.** Reduction in accuracy, rules number and conditions number after the evolutionary process. Tuning process (TP). Learning process (LP)

## 6 Conclusions

This paper describes a multi-objective evolutionary algorithm with three objectives for tuning the parameters of type-2 fuzzy sets and selection of rules and conditions. The first objective is to minimize the error rate on FRBCS. The second and third objectives are to minimize the quantity of fuzzy rules and conditions in RB respectively. Before the tuning process we use a modified version of the WM algorithm considering type-2 fuzzy sets uniformly distributed for leaning the initial set of fuzzy rules. The results obtained show a considerable difference between the values before and after the optimization process with reduction in the error rate both for training and test datasets, number of rules and number of conditions.

As future work, we intend to explore in the following directions. 1) Apply the multi-objective evolutionary algorithm for tuning type-2 fuzzy sets after another fuzzy rule learning process for compare the proposed algorithm with the most recent similar works that include a tuning process. 2) Apply others multi-objective evolutionary algorithms in the tuning process, for example, MOEA/D [12] or SPEA2 [13], with others geometric type-2 fuzzy sets. 3) To increase the quantity of interpretability objectives in the tuning process, for example, the quantity of fuzzy rule throw in the inference system to evaluate the benefits of adopting type-2 fuzzy sets, comparing the algorithm described here with the ones using type-1 fuzzy sets.

## References

- Zadeh, L.A.: The concept of a linguistic variable and its application to approximate reasoning-I. Inf. Sci. 8(3), 199–249 (1975). doi:10.1016/0020-0255(75)90036-5
- Karnik, N.N., Mendel, J.M., Liang, Q.: Type-2 fuzzy logic systems. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 7(6), 643–658 (1999). doi:10.1109/91.811231
- Fazzolari, M., Alcala, R., Nojima, Y., Ishibuchi, H., Herrera, F.: A review of the application of multiobjective evolutionary fuzzy systems: current status and further directions. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 21(1), 45–65 (2013). doi:10.1109/TFUZZ.2012. 2201338
- Wang, L.X., Mendel, J.M.: Generating fuzzy rules by learning from examples. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 22(6), 1414–1427 (1992). doi:10.1109/21.199466
- Deb, K., Pratap, A., Agarwal, S., Meyarivan, T.: A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II. IEEE Trans. Evol. Comput. 6(2), 182–197 (2002). doi:10.1109/4235.996017
- Türk, S., John, R., Özcan, E.: Interval type-2 fuzzy sets in supplier selection. In: 14th UK Workshop on Computational Intelligence, pp. 1–7 (2014). doi:10.1109/ UKCI.2014.6930168
- Hamza, M.F., Yap, H.J., Choudhury, I.: Advances on the use of Meta-Heuristic algorithms to optimize type-2 fuzzy logic systems for prediction, classification, clustering and pattern recognition. J. Comput. Theor. Nanosci. 13(1), 96–109 (2016). doi:10.1166/jctn.2016.4774
- Shukla, P.K., Tripathi, S.P.: A new approach for tuning interval type-2 fuzzy knowledge bases using genetic algorithms. J. Uncertainty Anal. Appl. 2(1), 4 (2014). doi:10.1186/2195-5468-2-4
- 9. Deb, K.: Multi-Objective Optimization using Evolutionary Algorithms. Wiley, New York (2001)
- Alcalá-Fdez, J., Fernandez, A., Luengo, J., Derrac, J., García, S., Snchez, L., Herrera, F.: KEEL data-mining software tool: data set repository, integration of algorithms and experimental analysis framework. J. Multiple-Valued Logic Soft Comput. 17(2–3), 255–287 (2011)
- 11. Lichman, M.: UCI machine learning repository. School of Information and Computer Sciences, University of California, Irvine (2013). http://archive.ics.uci.edu/ml
- Zhang, Q., Li, H.: MOEA/D: a multi-objective evolutionary algorithm based on decomposition. IEEE Trans. Evol. Comput. 11(6), 712–731 (2007)
- 13. Zitzler, E., Laumanns, M., Thiele, L.: SPEA2: Improving the Strength Pareto Evolutionary Algorithm (2001)
- Melin, P., Castillo, O.: A review on type-2 fuzzy logic applications in clustering, classification and pattern recognition. Appl. Soft Comput. 21, 568–577 (2014)
- 15. Mendel, J.M.: On answering the question "Where do I start in order to solve a new problem involving type-2 fuzzy sets?" Inf. Sci. **179**(19), 3418–3431 (2009)
- Mendel, J.M.: General type-2 fuzzy logic systems made simple: a tutorial. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 22(5), 1162–1182 (2014)
- Fernandez, A., Lopez, V., del Jesus, M.J., Herrera, F.: Revisiting evolutionary fuzzy systems: taxonomy, applications, new trends and challenges. Knowl. Based Syst. 80, 109–121 (2015)

## Sugeno Integral on Property-Based Preference Domains

Marta Cardin<sup>( $\square$ )</sup>

Department of Economics, Università Ca' Foscari, Venezia, Italy mcardin@unive.it

**Abstract.** We consider decision problems in which we have to compare and rank a set of alternatives and each alternative is defined by its attributes or properties. We introduce and characterize property-based preference domains. This paper proposes also a characterization and a generalization of Sugeno integral in our framework.

Keywords: Poset  $\cdot$  Topological space  $\cdot$  Congruence  $\cdot$  Aggregation functional  $\cdot$  Sugeno integral

#### 1 Introduction

Decision problems are characterized by a plurality of points of view and there are different dimensions from which the alternatives can be viewed. In order to solve a decision problem we have to compare and rank a set of alternatives and each alternative is often defined by its attributes or properties.

We consider the model of abstract aggregation model introduced in [18] and more recently studied in [9], that represents a decision problem in terms of a set of Boolean properties specifying for every alternative a list of properties that are satisfied.

A property-based domains is a pair  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  where X is a non-empty set and  $\mathscr{H}$  is a collection of non-empty subsets of X that separates points (i.e. if  $x, y \in X$  and  $x \neq y$  there exists  $H \in \mathscr{H}$  such that  $x \in H$  and  $y \notin H$ ). The elements of  $\mathscr{H}$  are referred to as properties and if  $x \in H$  we say that x has property associated to the subset H. The "property space" model has received attention in the literature on judgement aggregation for studying the problem of aggregating sets of logically interconnected propositions. Moreover, it provides a general framework for representing preferences and then aggregation of preferences (see [18]).

Our principal goal is to introduce a general framework to study propertybased preference domains, in particular we do not consider only finite spaces as in [9, 18].

The paper is organized as follows. In the next section some basic information is given. In Sect. 3 property-based preference domains are introduced and then we study the categorical equivalence between the description of a partially ordered

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_36

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

set by means of objects and properties and the representation of the corresponding topological space. In Sect. 4 we consider congruence in property-based domains while in Sect. 5 we focus on aggregation operators over property-based domains and we introduce Sugeno integrals in our framework as aggregation operators that are compatible with congruences (see [12-14]).

#### 2 Basic Notions and Terminology

The aim of this section is to introduce some basic definitions, terminology and notation. More detailed introduction to the subject of order can be found in e.g., Caspard, Leclerc and Monjardet [2], Davey and Priestley or Grätzer [11].

A partially ordered set (poset as a shorthand)  $(P, \leq)$  is a set P with a reflexive, antisymmetric and transitive binary relation  $\leq$ . We will write  $(x, y) \in R$  as  $x \leq y$ (or equivalently,  $y \geq x$ ) and we will use x > y to mean that  $x \geq y$  and  $x \neq y$ .

If for a poset  $(P, \leq)$  we have that all elements can be compared to each other i.e. for all  $x, y \in P$ , at least one of  $x \leq y$  and  $x \geq y$  holds we call  $(P, \leq)$  a *chain*.

A relation that is reflexive and transitive is said to be a *preorder*. This is a rather general concept, as every partial order and every equivalence order is a preorder.

If P, Q are posets, the function  $f: P \to Q$  is called *order-preserving* if for all  $x, y \in P$  with  $x \leq y$  we have  $f(x) \leq f(y)$ .

Given a poset P and a set  $S \subseteq P$ , then  $y \in P$  is called an *upper bound* of S if  $x \leq y$  for all  $x \in P$ . A lower bound is defined dually. The set of all upper bound is denoted by  $U_P(S)$ , and the set of all lower bounds by  $L_P(S)$ . When the set  $U_P(S)$  has a least element p with respect to  $\leq$  we say that p is the *join* of S and write  $\bigvee S = \bigvee_{x \in S} x = p$ . Similarly when  $L_P(S)$  has a greatest element q with respect to  $\leq$  and we say q is the *meet* of S and write  $\bigwedge S = \bigwedge_{x \in S} x = q$ .

A lattice is a poset in which every pair of elements (and thus every finite subset) has both a meet and a join. Every lattice L constitutes a partially ordered set endowed with the partial order  $\leq$  such that for every  $x, y \in L$ , write  $x \leq y$  if  $x \wedge y = x$  or, equivalently, if  $x \vee y = y$ . A lattice L is said to be *bounded* if it has a least and a greatest element, denoted by 0 and 1, respectively.

A lattice L is said to be *distributive*, if for every  $x, y, z \in L$ ,

 $x \lor (y \land z) = (x \lor y) \land (x \lor z)$  or, equivalently,  $x \land (y \lor z) = (x \land y) \lor (x \land z)$ .

A lattice L is said to be *complete* if  $\bigwedge I = \bigwedge_{x \in I} x$  and  $\bigvee I = \bigvee_{x \in I} x$  exist for every  $I \subseteq L$ . Clearly, every complete lattice is also bounded.

If L, M are lattices, the function  $f: L \to M$  is called a *lattice homomorphism* if for all  $x, y \in P$  we have  $f(x \lor y) = f(x) \lor f(y)$  and  $f(x \land y) = f(x) \land f(y)$ .

A subset  $S \subseteq P$  of a poset P is said to be an *upper set* (down set) if when  $x \in S$  and  $x \leq y$  ( $x \geq y$ ) then  $y \in S$ .

A filter of a poset P is a subset F of P such that

- (i) if  $x \in F$  and  $x \leq y$  then  $y \in F$ ,
- (ii) if  $x, y \in F$  there is  $z \in F$  such that  $z \leq x$  and  $z \leq y$ .

The dual notation is that of an *ideal*. If  $a \in P$  we define the *principal filter* generated by x as  $\uparrow x = \{y \in L : y \geq x\}$ . It is easy to prove that  $\uparrow x$  is a filter for every  $x \in P$ . It can be proved that in a finite lattice each filter and each ideal are principal.

In a lattice L a filter F is an upset such that if  $x, y \in F$  then  $x \wedge y \in F$ .

A proper filter is a filter that is neither empty nor the whole lattice while a prime filter is a proper filter F such that whenever  $\bigvee_{i \in I} x_i$  is defined in P for a finite set I we have  $x_i \in F$  for some  $i \in I$ .

If  $(X, \mathscr{T})$  be a topological space where the members of  $\mathscr{T}$  are the *open* subsets of X then a family of open sets  $\mathscr{B}$  is a *base* (*subbase*) if every open set in  $\mathscr{T}$  is union of elements in  $\mathscr{B}$  (union of finite intersections of elements in  $\mathscr{B}$ ).

A topological space  $(X, \mathscr{T})$  satisfies property  $T_0$  if for all  $x, y \in X$  there exists an open set A such that  $x \in A$  and  $y \notin A$  or such that  $y \in A$  and  $x \notin A$ .

There is a natural order defined on the set of the points of every topological space  $(X, \mathscr{T})$  that is the *specialization preorder* defined by

 $x \leq y$  if and only if when  $A \in \mathscr{T}$  and  $x \in A$  then  $y \in A$ 

The open sets are upper sets while the closed sets are down sets with respect to the specialization preorder. we can also note that the specialization order is a partial order if the topological space satisfies property  $T_0$ .

## 3 Property-Based Domains

In this section, we consider the framework of abstract aggregation introduced in [9] and in [18] that represents a decision problem in terms of set of Boolean properties specifying for every alternative a list of properties that are satisfied.

A property-based domain is a pair  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  where X is a non-empty set and  $\mathscr{H}$  is a collection of non-empty subsets of X and if  $x, y \in X$  and  $x \neq y$  there exists  $H \in \mathscr{H}$  such that  $x \in H$  and  $y \notin H$ . The elements of  $\mathscr{H}$  are referred to as properties and if  $x \in H$  we say that x has property represented by the subset H. Our definition is slightly more general than that of [9] and of [18], in fact we do not assume that the set X is finite and we do not consider that the set  $H^c$  is a property if H is a property.

The "property space" model provides a very general framework for representing preferences and then aggregation of preferences. Here are some important examples.

*Example 1.* Any chain X is a property-based domain with respect to the family of subsets  $\{H_a\}$  where  $H_a = \{x \in X : x \ge a\}$ .

*Example 2.* It is well known that if x, y are two elements of a distributive lattice L and  $x \not\geq y$  there exists a prime filter F with  $y \in F$  and  $x \notin F$  and so if X is a lattice the family  $\mathscr{H}$  of prime filters of X defines a property-based domain.

*Example 3.* The problem of preference aggregation can be viewed as a propertybased domain. If we consider a finite set of alternatives A and a a set  $\mathscr{R}$  of binary relations in A. We can consider different requirements on the set  $\mathscr{R}$  and so  $\mathscr{R}$ can be the set of preorders or the set of linear orders in A.

If we define for each pair  $a, b \in A$  the set

$$H_{a,b} = \{R \in \mathscr{R} : aRb\}$$

the family  $\mathscr{H} = \{H_{a,b} : a, b \in A\}$  defines a property-based domain structure on the set  $\mathscr{R}$ . See [18] for more details on Arrowian framework.

We can define a natural preorder in any property-based domain. In fact if  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  is a property-based domain we can define the relation  $\leq$  by

 $x \leq y$  for every  $H \in \mathscr{H}$  if  $x \in H$  then  $y \in H$ .

We can also note that if  $(X, \mathscr{T})$  is a topological space that satisfies property  $T_0$ , X is a property-based domain with respect to the family  $\mathscr{T}$  and the preorder associated with the property-based domain is the specialization preorder of the topological structure.

We can also prove that there is a correspondence between topological spaces and property-based domains and that we can extend this correspondence to morphism of the two structures. If  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  is a property-based domain we consider the topological space  $(X, \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{H}))$  that is generated by the subbase  $\mathscr{H}$ . So  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  and  $(X, \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{H}))$  are two property-based domains on the same set of alternatives X but we can prove that the two structures are associated to the same preorder on the set X.

**Proposition 1.** The property-based domains  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  and  $(X, \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{H}))$  define the same preorder on the set X.

*Proof.* Let  $\leq_1$  and  $\leq_2$  the preorders associated respectively to  $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{H})$  and to  $\mathscr{H}$ .

It is straightforward to prove that if  $x, y \in X$  are such that  $x \leq_1 y$  then  $x \leq_2 y$ . Then we consider two elements  $x, y \in X$  with  $x \leq_2 y$ . If  $x \in \bigcup H_i$  where  $H_i \in \mathscr{H}$  for every *i* then there exists a set  $H_i$  such that  $x \in H_i$  and so we have that  $y \in H_i$  and then  $y \in \bigcup H_i$ . We can also prove that if  $x \in \bigcap H_i$  then  $y \in \bigcap H_i$  and so we can conclude that  $x \leq_1 y$ .

We introduce the definition of morphism between property-based domains as continuous functions between the associated topological spaces.

If  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  and  $(Y, \mathscr{H})$  are a property-based domains a function  $f: X \to Y$  is a *morphism* if for every  $K \in \mathscr{H}$ ,  $f^{-1}(K)$  is an element of  $\mathscr{T}(\mathscr{H})$ . It is important to note that a morphism between property-based domains is a continuous function between the topological spaces associated and an isotone function between the posets associated.

#### 4 Congruences on Property-Based Domains

Congruence relations are studied in lattices (see [1,8]) and there are various definitions of a congruence relation in a poset (for example in [12]).

In this section a definition of a congruence on a property-based domain is proposed. Congruence relations are equivalence relations that are compatible with the structure defined on the space and an equivalence relation in a set is a reflexive, symmetric and transitive relation. If  $(X, \mathcal{H})$  is a property-based domain for every  $\mathcal{H}' \subseteq \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{H})$  we define a *congruence*  $\sim$  in  $(X, \mathcal{H})$  by

 $x \sim y$  when  $x \in H$  if and only if  $y \in H$ , for every  $H \in \mathscr{H}'$ .

It is straightforward to prove that the relation  $\sim$  is an equivalence relation in X, and we are going to prove that there are nice characterizations of the proposed definition.

If  $x \in X$ , [x] is the equivalence class of the element x with respect to the equivalence relation  $\sim$ .

**Proposition 2.** If  $\sim$  is a congruence in the property-based domain  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  defined by the set  $\mathscr{H}' \subseteq \mathscr{H}$  then the family  $\mathscr{K}$  of subsets of  $X/\sim$  where  $K \in \mathscr{K}$  if  $K = \{[x] : x \in H\}$  for some  $H \in \mathscr{H}'$  defines a property-based structure on the set  $X/\sim$ .

*Proof.* It is almost evident that if x, y are elements of X such that  $x \sim y$  then  $x \in K$  if and only if  $y \in K$  for every  $K \in \mathscr{K}$  and the set  $K \in \mathscr{K}$  is well defined. Moreover if  $[x] \neq [y]$  there exists an element  $H \in \mathscr{H}'$  such that  $x \in H$  and  $x \notin H$  and we can prove by the definition of the set  $\mathscr{K}$  that for a set  $K \in \mathscr{K}$  we have that  $[x] \in K$  and  $[y] \notin K$ .

There is a natural morphism between a property-based domain  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  and the space  $(X/\sim, \mathscr{K})$  defined in the above proposition.

**Proposition 3.** If  $\sim$  is a congruence on the property-based domain  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  there is a surjective morphism  $f: X \to X/\sim$ .

If  $f: X \to X$  is a surjective morphism from  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  to itself then the relation defined in X by

 $x \sim y$  if and only if f(x) = f(y)

is a congruence in X.

*Proof.* It is not restrictive to suppose that  $\mathscr{H} = \mathscr{T}(\mathscr{H})$ . Then if we define a function  $i: X \to X/ \sim$  such that i(x) = [x] *i* is a surjective function. If  $K \in \mathscr{K}$  is such that  $K = \{[x] : x \in H\}$  for some  $H \in \mathscr{H}'$  we have that  $f^{-1}(K) = H \cup \{H' \in \mathscr{H} : H' \notin \mathscr{H}'\}$  hence the function *i* is a morphism between property-based spaces.

Conversely if  $f: X \to X$  is a surjective morphism from  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  to itself the relation  $\sim$  defined by  $x \sim y$  if and only if f(x) = f(y) is the congruence relation defined with respect to the family  $\mathscr{H}' = \{f^{-1}(H) : H\mathscr{H}\}$  that is a family of subset of  $\mathscr{H}$  since f is a morphism of  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  onto itself. An equivalence relation  $\sim$  defined on a lattice L is a *congruence* that is compatible with the two lattice operations i.e.

- (i) if  $x \sim y$  then  $x \wedge z \sim y \wedge z$  for each  $z \in L$ ;
- (ii) if  $x \sim y$  then  $x \lor z \sim y \lor z$  for each  $z \in L$ .

If  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  is a property-based domain and  $Y \subseteq X$  we consider the set

$$L_X(Y) = \{ x \in X : x \le y \text{ for every } y \in Y \},\$$
  
$$U_X(Y) = \{ x \in X : x \ge y \text{ for every } y \in Y \}$$

where  $\leq$  is the preorder relation associated with the property-based domain structure.

In a property-based domain we can prove the following proposition on the ordered structure of the space.

If  $Y = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  we write  $L_X(Y) = L_X(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  and  $U_X(Y) = U_X(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ .

**Proposition 4.** Let  $\sim$  is a congruence on the property-based domain  $(X, \mathcal{H})$ . If  $x, y \in X$  we have

$$\{[z]: z \in L_X(x, y)\} = L_{X/\sim}([x], [y]).$$

*Proof.* The proof follows directly if we note that if  $x, y \in X$  then  $x \leq y$  if and only if for every  $H \in \mathscr{H}$  if  $x \in H$  then  $y \in H$  and that  $[x] \leq [y]$  if and only if for every  $H \in \mathscr{H}'$  if  $x \in H$  then  $y \in H$ .

Then we can conclude that congruences are morphism preserving upper and lower bounds.

## 5 Compatible Aggregation Functional on Property-Based Domains

The process of merging or combining sets of values (numerical or qualitative) into a single one is usually achieved by the so-called aggregation functionals; see [10] for a comprehensive overview on aggregation theory. The importance of aggregation functionals is made apparent by their wide use in several fields such as decision sciences, computer and information sciences, economics, and social sciences. There are a large number of different aggregation operators that differ on the assumptions on the inputs and on the information that you want to consider in the model.

One of the most important aggregation functional making sense in a qualitative framework is Sugeno integral that is a very useful non-linear functional in several applications in mathematics, economics and decision making (see [3-5]). The definition of Sugeno integral primarily introduced on real intervals can be extended to bounded distributive lattices (see [3-5]). The aim of this section is to introduce a Sugeno-type integral representation for aggregation operators defined on property-based domains. We follow the approach of [13,14] where are characterized congruence preserving aggregation functionals acting on a bounded distributive lattice as discrete Sugeno integrals.

Let N be a non empty set which can be either finite or infinite and X a property-based poset. We define an *aggregation functional* as a map  $F: X^N \to \mathscr{P}(X)$ . Then we consider the case in which there are more than one equivalent solutions and also the case in which the only solution is the element with no properties.

We consider now some of the properties that an aggregation functional  $F: X^n \to \mathscr{P}(X)$  may or may not satisfy.

Let F be an aggregation functional  $F: X^N \to \mathscr{P}(X)$  acting on a propertybased domain  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  F is monotone if  $F(x_1, \ldots, x_i, \ldots, ) \in H$  for  $H \in \mathscr{H}$ and  $y_i \in H$  then  $F(x_1, \ldots, y_i, \ldots, ) \in H$ . F is said to be compatible with the congruence  $\sim$  if when  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in X^N$  and for every  $i, 1 \leq i \leq n, x_i \sim y_i$  then  $F(\mathbf{x}) \sim F(\mathbf{y})$ .

F is *idempotent* if and only if for every  $x \in X$  F(x, x, ..., x...) = x.

We want to characterize the class of multivariate functionals compatible with every congruence of a property-based domain. Thus we propose a definition of Sugeno integral which generalizes well known definitions to the more general setting of property-based domains.

**Proposition 5.** Let  $(X, \mathscr{H})$  be a property-based domain and  $F: X^n \to \mathscr{P}(X)$ an idempotent aggregation functional that is compatible with every congruence in X. Then F is monotone and there exists for every  $H \in \mathscr{H}$  a non empty family  $\mathscr{F}_H$  of subsets of N such that

$$F(\mathbf{x}) = \bigcap \{H : N(\mathbf{x}, H) \in \mathscr{F}_H\}$$

where  $N(\mathbf{x}, H) = \{i \in N : x_i \in H\}.$ 

*Proof.* If H is an element of  $\mathscr{H}$  we can consider the congruence  $\sim_H$  in X defined by

$$x \sim_H y$$
 when  $x, y \in H$  or  $x, y \notin H$ .

F is compatible with the congruence  $\sim_H$  so if we consider two elements  $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in X^N$  such that for every  $i \in N$ ,  $x_i \in H$  if and only if  $y_i \in H$  then  $F(\mathbf{x}) \in H$  if and only if  $F(\mathbf{y}) \in H$ .

We say that a set A is H-decisive if there exists  $\mathbf{x} \in X^N$  such that  $N(\mathbf{x}, a) = A$  and  $F(\mathbf{x}) \in H$ . Being F compatible with the congruence  $\sim_H a$  set is H-decisive if and only if for every  $\mathbf{x} \in X^n$  such that  $N(\mathbf{x}, H) = A$ ,  $F(\mathbf{x}) \in H$ .

For every  $H \in \mathscr{H}$  let  $\mathscr{F}_H$  the family of *H*-decisive subsets of *N*. Hence for every  $\mathbf{x} \in X^N$ ,  $F(\mathbf{x}) \in H$  if and only if  $N(\mathbf{x}, H) \in \mathscr{F}_H$ . Note that the family  $\mathscr{F}_H$  is non empty since *F* is idempotent. Moreover the characterization of the functional *F* implies that *F* is a monotone functional.

Note that our framework is very general, we do not assume neither that X or N are finite sets. Moreover, we consider the case in which there are more than one equivalent solutions and also the case in which there are no solutions.

### 6 Concluding Remarks

In this paper we have introduced a general framework for studying preferences representation. Our framework is abstract and the crucial operations are the joining and meet of two properties that are subsets of the considered space. It appears that there are many connections between the work presented here with the results of [9, 15, 17, 18]. Applications of these types of results can be found in [6, 18]. There are however many opportunities for much more detailed research in this area from the point of view of aggregation theory.

#### References

- Cardin, M.: Benchmarking over distributive lattices. Commun. Comput. Inf. Sci. 610, 117–125 (2016)
- Caspard, N., Leclerc, B., Monjardet, B.: Finite Ordered Sets. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2012)
- Couceiro, M., Marichal, J.-L.: Polynomial functions over bounded distributive lattices. J. Mult. Valued Log. Soft Comput. 18, 247–256 (2012)
- Couceiro M., Marichal J.L.: Characterizations of discrete Sugeno integrals as lattice polynomial functions. In: Proceedings of the 30th Linz Seminar on Fuzzy Set Theory, LINZ 2009, pp. 17–20 (2009)
- Couceiro, M., Marichal, J.L.: Characterizations of discrete Sugeno integrals as polynomial functions over distributive lattices. Fuzzy Set Syst. 161, 694–707 (2010)
- Daniëls, T., Pacuit, E.: A general approach to aggregation problems. J. Log. Comput. 19(3), 517–536 (2009)
- Davey, B.A., Priestley, H.A.: Introduction to Lattices and Order. Cambridge University Press, New York (2002)
- Giacobazzi, R., Ranzato, F.: Some properties of complete congruences lattices. Algebra Univ. 40, 189–200 (1998)
- Gordon, S.: Unanimity in attribute-based preference domains. Soc. Choice Welf. 44, 13–29 (2015)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J.L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation Functions. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- 11. Grätzer, G.: General Lattice Theory. Birkhäuser Verlag, Berlin (2003)
- Halaš, R.: Congruences on posets. Contrib. Gen. Algebra 12, 195–210 (2000). Verlag
- Halaš, R., Mesiar, R., Pócs, J.: A new characterization of the discrete Sugeno integral. Inform. Fusion 29, 84–86 (2016)
- Halaš, R., Mesiar, R., Pócs, J.: Congruences and the discrete Sugeno integrals on bounded distributive lattices. Inf. Sci. 367, 443–448 (2016)
- 15. Leclerc, B., Monjardet, B.: Aggregation and residuation. Order 30, 261-268 (2013)
- List, C., Polak, B.: Introduction to judgment aggregation. J. Econ. Theory 145, 441–446 (2010)
- Monjardet, B.: Arrowian characterization of latticial federation consensus functions. Math. Soc. Sci. 20, 51–71 (1990)
- Nehring, K., Puppe, C.: Abstract Arrowian aggregation. J. Econ. Theory 145, 467–494 (2010)

# Integrating a Tourism Service Quality Evaluation Linguistic Multi-criteria Decision Making Model into a Relational Database Management System

Ramón Alberto Carrasco<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, María Francisca Blasco<sup>1</sup>, Jesús García-Madariaga<sup>1</sup>, and Enrique Herrera-Viedma<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Marketing and Market Research, Complutense University, Madrid, Spain {ramoncar, jesgarci}@ucm.es, fblasco@emp.ucm.es <sup>2</sup> Department of Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence, University of Granada, Granada, Spain viedma@decsai.ugr.es

**Abstract.** In this paper we present an implementation, using a conventional relational database management system, of a linguistic *multi-criteria decision making* model to integrate the hotel guests' opinions included in the WWW and expressed on several dimensions (or attributes) in order to obtain a SERVQUAL scale evaluation value of service quality. SERVQUAL scale is commonly used in tourism to standardize the service quality evaluation and is a five-item scale consisting of: tangibles, reliability, responsiveness, assurance and empathy. As a particular case study, we show an application example of the implemented model using TripAdvisor website.

#### 1 Introduction

In [1, 2] we have presented a model to integrate the hotel guests' opinions included in several websites (and expressed in several dimension or attributes) in order to obtain a standard overall evaluation value of service quality by means of *linguistic multi-criteria decision making* (LMCDM) processes based on the 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic approach [3].

The fuzzy linguistic approach is a tool intended for modeling qualitative information in a problem. It is based on the concept of linguistic variable and has been satisfactorily used in *multi-criteria decision making* (MCDM) problems [4]. The 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic approach [3] is a model of information representation that carries out processes of "computing with words" without the loss of information.

The SERVQUAL scale [6] is the standard used in [1, 2] to obtain the evaluation value of tourism service quality. It is a survey instrument which claims to measure the service quality in any type of service organization.

In this paper we present a general implementation of this LMCDM model integrating it in a conventional relational database management system (RDBMS). Specifically, we have chosen the well-known Oracle© RDBMS and therefore in the

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_37

implementation we will use its corresponding PL/SQL language [7]. This makes able to be widely applied at a practical level and not only at a theoretical one.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 revises the preliminary concepts, i.e. the 2-tuple linguistic modeling and the SERVQUAL scale. Section 3 presents the implementation of the LMCDM model using an Oracle<sup>©</sup> environment. Section 4 shows an application example using the implemented model to integrate customers' opinions collected from TripAdvisor [8] website. Finally, we point out some concluding remarks and future work.

#### 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 The 2-Tuple Fuzzy Linguistic Approach

Let  $S = \{s_0, ..., s_T\}$  be a linguistic term set with odd cardinality, where the mid-term represents a indifference value and the rest of terms are symmetric with respect to it. We assume that the semantics of labels is given by means of triangular membership functions and consider all terms distributed on a scale on which a total order is defined, i.e.  $s_i \leq s_j \iff i < j$ . In this fuzzy linguistic context, if a symbolic method aggregating linguistic information obtains a value  $b \in [0, T]$ , and  $b \notin \{0, ..., T\}$ , then an approximation function is used to express the result in *S*.

**Definition 1 [3].** Let b be the result of an aggregation of the indexes of a set of labels assessed in a linguistic term set S, i.e. the result of a symbolic aggregation operation,  $b \in [0, T]$ . Let i = round(b) and  $\alpha = b - i$  be two values, such that  $i \in [0, T]$  and  $\alpha \in [-0.5, 0.5)$ , then  $\alpha$  is called a Symbolic Translation.

The 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic approach [3] is developed from the concept of symbolic translation by representing the linguistic information by means of 2-tuple  $(s_i, \alpha_i)$ ,  $s_i \in S$  and  $\alpha_i \in [-0.5, 0.5)$ , where  $s_i$  represents the information linguistic label, and  $\alpha_i$  is a numerical value expressing the value of the translation from the original result *b* to the closest index label, *i*, in the linguistic term set *S*. This model defines a set of transformation functions between numeric values and 2-tuple:

**Definition 2 [3].** Let  $S = \{s_1, ..., s_T\}$  be a linguistic term set and  $b \in [0, T]$  a value representing the result of a symbolic aggregation operation, then the 2-tuple that expresses the equivalent information to b is obtained with the following function:

$$\Delta : [0,T] \to S \times [-0.5, 0.5)$$
  

$$\Delta(b) = (s_i, \alpha), \text{ with } s_i, i = round(b) \text{ and } \alpha = b - i, \alpha \in [-0.5, 0.5)$$
(1)

where round(·) is the usual round operation,  $s_i$  has the closest index label to b and  $\alpha$  is the value of the symbolic translation.

For all 
$$\Delta$$
, there exists  $\Delta^{-1}$ , defined as  $\Delta^{-1}(s_i, \alpha) = i + \alpha$ . (2)

Below, we describe the aggregation operators which we use in our model:

**Definition 3 [5].** Let  $A = \{(l_1, \alpha_1), ..., (l_m, \alpha_n)\}$  be a set of linguistic 2-tuple and  $W = \{(w_1, \alpha_1^w), ..., (w_n, \alpha_n^w)\}$  be their linguistic 2-tuple associated weights. The 2-tuple linguistic weighted average  $\overline{A}^w$  is:

$$\bar{A}^{w}\left[\left((l_{1},\alpha_{1}),(w_{1},\alpha_{1}^{w})\right),\ldots,\left((l_{n},\alpha_{n}),(w_{n},\alpha_{n}^{w})\right)\right] = \Delta\left(\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\beta_{i}\cdot\beta_{wi}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n}\beta_{wi}}\right),\qquad(3)$$

with  $\beta_i = \Delta^{-1}(l_i, \alpha_i)$  and  $\beta_{wi} = \Delta^{-1}(w_i, \alpha_i^w)$ .

#### 2.2 The SERVQUAL Scale

Below, we will explain the five resultant scales proposed for SERVQUAL [6] and their adaptation to hotel guests' perceptions [1, 2]:

- *Tangibles*: It makes reference to the appearance of the physical facilities, equipment, personnel, and communication materials.
- *Reliability*: This is the ability to perform the promised service dependably and accurately. Customers generally place heavy emphasis on the image, sanitary condition, safety and privacy of the hotel.
- *Responsiveness*: Willingness to help customers and provide prompt service. A courteous and friendly attitude by the service personnel makes the consumer feel respected, and definitely enhances the customer's appraisal of the hotel.
- *Assurance*: Knowledge and courtesy of employees and their ability to inspire trust and confidence. The price level is usually one of the most important factors that will influence the evaluation result by customers.
- *Empathy*: Caring and individualized attention that the firm provides its customers. If the hotel is located in a remote district, whether the hotel provides a tourist route suggestion, convenient traffic routes, or a shuttle bus to pick up customers will influence customers' desire to go to the hotel.

## 3 Implementing a LMCDM into a RDBMS

In a LMCDM [4] process, the goal consists in searching the best alternatives of the set  $id\_alternative = \{id\_alternative_1,..., id\_alternative_n\}$  according to the linguistic assessments provided by a group of experts,  $id\_criterion = \{id\_criterion_1,..., id\_criterion_m\}$  with respect to a set of evaluation criteria. In our model, we assume that these assessments are weighted by the self-rated expertise level set  $weight = \{weight_1,..., weight_m\}$ . We also assume that we have p decision problems, one for each dimension (attribute or set of attributes of the problem domain) value. Therefore, we define the assessments set as  $assessments = \{assessments_{dii}\} \forall i, j, d, i \in \{1,...,n\}, j \in \{1,...,m\}, d \in \{1,...,p\}$ .

In order to obtain an easy linguistic interpretability and the high precision of the model results, we assume that all the information provided by the experts is in the 2-tuple form [3]. In our system we represent the 2-tuple values with a single attribute (string data type), we denote the pair  $(s_i, \alpha)$ ,  $s_i \in S$ , with " $s_i \operatorname{sign}(\alpha) \operatorname{abs}(\alpha)$ ", e.g.  $(s_0, -0.1)$  is denoted by the string " $s_0, -0.1$ " and  $(s_0, 0)$  by " $s_0$ ".



Fig. 1. Representation of the Table 1.

Our goal is to design some PL/SQL functions [7] that solve all the problems that are under the previous approach.

First, we need to store information about the symmetric and uniformly distributed domain  $S = \{s_0, ..., s_T\}$ , T = 4:  $s_0 = Strongly \ Disagree = SD$ ,  $s_1 = Disagree = D$ ,  $s_2 = Neutral = N$ ,  $s_3 = Agree = A$ , and  $s_4 = Strongly \ Agree = SA$ . For this purpose we use a database table called  $T_S$  (see Table 1 and Fig. 1).

Below we explain the function implementations made to solve this problem:

**AVG\_2T UDA Function.** In a conventional RDBMS to create a user-defined aggregate (UDA) functions the user must implement the following basic routines [9, 10]:

- (1) *Init*: This function is used to initialize any variables needed for the computation later on. Intuitively, it is similar to a constructor. In PL/SQL this function is called *ODCIAggregateInitialize*.
- (2) Terminate: This function is used to end the calculation and return the final value of the aggregate function. It may involve some calculations on variables which were defined to use them with the aggregate function. In PL/SQL this function is ODCIAggregateTerminate.
- (3) *Accumulate*: This function is called once for each aggregated value. Generally, this function will "add" the value to the running total computed so far. In PL/SQL this function is called *ODCIAggregateIterate*.

An UDA function called  $AVG_2T$  based on an Oracle<sup>®</sup> object type (class) has been used to implement the 2-tuple linguistic weighted average  $\overline{A}^w$ . In this function the inputs are the 2-tuples values  $(l_i, \alpha_i)$  and  $(w_i, \alpha_i^w)$ , i = 1, ..., n, showed in Definition 3. These two 2-tuple values (labels to be aggregated and their weights) have the string format mentioned above and are included in a single string variable separated with the "\*" character. This object is composed of:

- Three attributes related to the aggregator to be implemented:
  - n: number of rows that are added at a given time. In the end (ODCIAggregateTerminate) it will match the value n of Eq. 3.
  - sum\_num: it contains the expression  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta i \cdot \beta w i$  of mentioned equation.
  - *sum\_den*: it contains the expression  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \beta w_i$  of the same equation.
- The PL/SQL UDA routines shown in Fig. 2.

```
STATIC FUNCTION ODCIAggregateInitialize (
                       sctx IN OUT typ obj AVG 2T
                       ) RETURN NUMBER IS
       BEGIN
         sctx := typ obj AVG 2T(0,0,0);
         RETURN ODCIConst.Success;
        END :
PMEMBER FUNCTION ODCIAggregateIterate (
                    self IN OUT typ_obj_AVG_2T,
                     value IN VARCHAR2
                     ) RETURN NUMBER IS
      valueSI VARCHAR2(20);
      valueWI VARCHAR2(20);
      pos NUMBER(3);
      BEGIN
        pos := INSTR(value, '*');
        IF pos <> 0 THEN
            valueSI := TRIM(SUBSTR(value,1,pos-1));
            valueWI := TRIM(SUBSTR(value, pos+1,20));
            self.sum num := self.sum num + REVERSE 2T(valueSI)*REVERSE 2T(valueWI);
            self.sum den := self.sum den + REVERSE 2T(valueWI);
        ELSE
            self.sum num := self.sum num + REVERSE 2T(value);
            self.sum den := self.sum den + 1;
        END IF;
        self.n := self.n + 1;
        RETURN ODCIConst.Success:
      END:
MEMBER FUNCTION ODCIAggregateTerminate (
                       self IN typ obj AVG 2T,
                       returnValue OUT VARCHAR2,
                       flags IN NUMBER
                       ) RETURN NUMBER IS
              NUMBER :
      v avg
     BEGIN
       returnValue := NULL;
        IF self.n = 0 THEN
         returnValue := 'NULL':
        ELSE
           IF self.sum den = 0
           THEN v avg := 0;
           ELSE v_avg := self.sum_num/self.sum_den;
           END IF;
           returnValue := DIRECT_2T (v_avg);
         END IF;
         RETURN ODCIConst.Success;
       END:
```

**Fig. 2.** AVG\_2T PL/SQL UDA routines for  $\overline{A}^w$  calculation

The implementation of this function has used the functions  $REVERSE_2T$  and  $DIRECT_2T$  explained below:

**REVERSE\_2T Function.** This PL/SQL function implements the  $\Delta^{-1}$  function (Eq. 2). For this purpose the function uses the table *T\_S* showed in Table 1. The code is shown in Fig. 3.

```
FUNCTION REVERSE_2T (value_input IN VARCHAR2)
  RETURN NUMBER IS
  margen FLOAT; pos NUMBER; value_w1 VARCHAR2(30); value_label VARCHAR2(30);
  rec_T_S T_S%ROWTYPE;
BEGIN
         value w1 := TRIM(UPPER(value input));
         value w1 := REPLACE(value w1, ')', '');
         CASE
             WHEN INSTR(value w1, '-') <> 0 THEN -- left
               pos := INSTR(REPLACE(value_w1,'.',','),'-');
                value_label := TRIM(SUBSTR(value_w1,1,pos-1));
                margen := CAST(SUBSTR(REPLACE(value_w1,'.',','),pos+1,10) AS FLOAT)*-1;
             WHEN INSTR(value w1, '+') <> 0 THEN
                                                right
                pos := INSTR(REPLACE(value_w1,'.',','),'+');
                value_label := TRIM(SUBSTR(value_w1,1,pos-1));
                margen := CAST(SUBSTR(REPLACE(value_w1,'.',','),pos+1,10) AS FLCAT);
             ELSE
                value label := TRIM(value w1);
                margen := 0;
         END CASE:
         SELECT * into rec T S FROM T S WHERE S=value label;
         SELECT MAX(RANKING_LABEL) into T FROM T_S;
         RETURN rec T S.RANKING/T+margen;
END REVERSE 2T;
```



**DIRECT\_2T Function.** This PL/SQL function implements the  $\Delta$  function (Eq. 1) using the table  $T_S$  (see Table 1). The code is shown in Fig. 4.

```
FUNCTION DIRECT 2T (value input IN NUMBER)
  RETURN VARCHAR2 IS
  margen FLOAT;
  value label VARCHAR2(30);
  rec T S T S%ROWTYPE;
   s label VARCHAR2(30);
  ranking label NUMBER(1);
BEGIN
         SELECT * into rec T S FROM T S WHERE RANKING=ROUND (value input*4,0);
         SELECT MAX (RANKING LABEL) into T FROM T S;
         ranking label:=ROUND (value input*T,0);
         margen := value input-ranking label/T;
         CASE
            WHEN margen=0 THEN value label:=s label;
            ELSE value label:=s label||TO CHAR(ROUND(margen,3),'S0.000');
         END CASE:
         RETURN value label;
END DIRECT_2T;
```

Fig. 4. DIRECT\_2T PL/SQL function for  $\Delta$  calculation

Once the *AVG\_2T* UDA function is defined, we are already in a position to define the following function:

2T\_MCDM Function. This PL/SQL function implements the LMCDM process:

```
Inputs: \forall d \in \{1, \ldots, p\}
```

```
\begin{array}{cccc} id\_criterion_1 & \ldots & id\_criterion_m \\ weight_1 & \ldots & weight_m \\ id\_alternative_1 \begin{bmatrix} assessment_{d11} & \cdots & assessment_{dm1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ assessment_{d1n} & \cdots & assessment_{dmn} \end{bmatrix} \\ \\ Outputs: \forall d \in \{1, \ldots, p\} \\ id\_dimension_1 & \ldots & id\_dimension_p \\ id\_alternative_1 \begin{bmatrix} performance\_value\_2t_{11} & \cdots & performance\_value\_2t_{p1} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ performance\_value\_2t_{1n} & \cdots & performance\_value\_2t_{pn} \end{bmatrix} \\ \end{array}
```

In Fig. 5 a scheme of the implemented function is shown. Inputs are included in database table format:

- 2*T\_CRITERIA*: it stores the *id\_criterion<sub>j</sub>* their *weight<sub>j</sub>* and an additional description of each criterion *j* (*DES\_CRITERION*), *j* ∈ {1,..., *m*}.
- 2T\_ALTERNATIVES: it stores the *id\_alternative<sub>i</sub>* and an additional description of each alternative *i* (DES\_ALTERNATIVE), *i* ∈ {1,..., *n*}.
- 2T\_DIMENSIONS: it stores the *id\_dimension<sub>d</sub>* and an additional description of each dimension *d* (DES\_DIMENSION), *d* ∈ {1,..., *p*}.



Fig. 5. 2T\_MCDM PL/SQL function for LMCDM process implementation

 2T\_ASSESSMENTS: it stores the assessments<sub>dij</sub> for each id\_criterion<sub>j</sub>, id\_alternative<sub>i</sub> and id\_dimension<sub>d</sub>.

And also the corresponding output:

• 2T\_PERFORMANCE: it stores the *performance\_value<sub>di</sub>* for each *id\_alternative<sub>i</sub>* and *id\_dimension<sub>d</sub>* which allows to rank these alternatives.

Our function implements the two typical phases of the decision processes [4]:

- Aggregation that combines the expert preferences. The 2-tuple performance values are obtained using the AVG\_2T UDA function using the corresponding clause GROUP BY (Fig. 6).
- (2) Exploitation that obtains a solution set of alternatives for the decision problem sorted descending by the 2-tuple performance values. For which these values are previously converted to crisp numbers by the function REVERSE\_2T and used in the corresponding clause ORDER BY (Fig. 6).

```
SELECT *

(SELECT ID_DIMENSION, DES_DIMENSION,

ID_ALTERNATIVE, DES_ALTERNATIVE,

AVG_2T (ASSESSMENT||'*'||WEIGHT) PERFORMANCE_VALUE_2T

FROM 2T_ASSESSMENTS ASS

JOIN 2T_CRITERIA CR ON ASS.ID_CRITERION=CR.ID_CRITERION

JOIN 2T_ALTERNATIVE AL ON ASS.ID_ALTERNATIVE=AL.ID_ALTERNATIVE

JOIN 2T_DIMENSION DI ON ASS.ID_DIMENSION=DI.ID_DIMENSION

GROUP BY ID_DIMENSION, DES_DIMENSION, ID_ALTERNATIVE, DES_ALTERNATIVE) AGGREGATION_PHASE

ORDER BY REVERSE 2T (PERFORMANCE_VALUE_2T) DESC
```

Fig. 6. Extract of the 2T\_MCDM PL/SQL function to implement the LMCDM processes

#### 4 Application Example

In [1, 2] we have presented a LMCDM model to integrate the hotel guests' opinions included in several websites in order to get a SERVQUAL evaluation value of service quality. In this section, we present a RDBMS Oracle© implementation of this model, using the function  $2T\_MCDM$  presented in the previous section, with an application example using the TripAdvisor website [8]. In this website customers write reviews on the following dimensions: *sleep quality, location, rooms, service, value* and *cleanliness* (see Fig. 6) using a linguistic five scale which can be modeled with  $S = \{s_0, ..., s_T\}$ , T = 4:  $s_0 = Terrible = SD$ ,  $s_1 = Poor = D$ ,  $s_2 = Average = N$ ,  $s_3 = Very Good = A$ , and  $s_4 = Excellent = SA$  (see Table 1 and Fig. 1).

In the first step of this model the objective is to obtain the linguistic importance of the dimensions (Fig. 7) for each SERVQUAL scale. In this step, we have counted on the collaboration of five experts. Using the implementation explained in Sect. 3, the process to solve this phase is very simple: we collect the input information provided by experts (Table 2) and then we execute the function  $2T\_MCDM$  (Fig. 5) obtaining the output data (Table 3), i.e., the linguistic importance of each dimensions for each SERVQUAL scale.

**Table 2.** Input data: (a)  $2T_CRITERIA$ : Expert's criteria and self-rated weight. (b)  $2T_ALTERNATIVES$ : SERVQUAL scales. (c)  $2T_DIMENSIONS$ : Attributes on which the TripAdvisor users express their opinion. (d)  $2T_ASSESSMENTS$ : Provided by experts (we only show for the alternative PZB1 -Tangibles-).

ID	CRITERION DES	CRITERION	WEIGHT		ID.	_ALTERNATIVE	DES_ALTERN/	ATIVE
F1	EXPE	ERT 1	SA		PZE	31 1	FANGIBLES	
E2	EVPE	EPT 2	CA		PZE	B2 F	RELIABILITY	
E2			CA.		PZE	B3 F	RESPONSIVEN	ESS
E3	EAFE	ERT 3	8A		P76	DA A		200
E4	EXPE	ERT4	SA		0.70	D4 /	MDATLY	
E5	EXPE	ERT 5	A		FZI	50 E		
	(	(a)				(t	))	
				ID	DIMENSION	ID ALTERNATIVE	ID CRITERION	ASSESSMENT
				D1		PZB1	E1	SA 🔺
				D1		PZB1	E2	SA
				D1		PZB1	E3	SA
				D1		PZB1	E4	SA
1				D1		PZB1	E5	A
	ID_DIMENSION	DES_DIME	NSION	D2		PZB1	E1	SA
Ĩ	D1	Sleen quality	1	D2		PZB1	E2	SA
- 1	D2	Location		D2		PZB1	E3	SA
- 1	D2	Location		D2		PZB1	E4	SA
1	D3	Rooms		D2		PZB1	E5	A
	D4	Service		D3		PZB1	E1	SA
- î	D5	Value		D3		PZB1	E2	A
1	De	Oleenlineee		D3		PZB1	E3	SA
1	D6	cleaniness		D3		PZB1	E4	SA
	(	$\mathbf{C}$		D3		PZB1	E5	SA
	(	()		D6		PZB1	E1	SA
				D6		PZB1	E2	A
				D6		PZB1	E3	SA
				D6		PZB1	E4	SA
				<u>D6</u>		PZB1	E5	A
						(0	1)	

Rate this hotel:	Very Good
Cleanliness 💽 💽	Location Come Come Come Come Come Come Come Come

Fig. 7. Evaluation form of a hotel in TripAdvisor website

**Table 3.** Output data 2*T\_LMCDM\_1* (2*T\_PERFORMANCE*): Importance of the dimensions (Fig. 7) for each scale (alternative)

ID_ALTERNATIVE	DES_ALTERNATIVE	ID_DIMENSION	DES_DIMENSION	PERFORMANCE_VALUE_2t
PZB1	TANGIBLES	D2	Location	SA-0.039474
PZB1	TANGIBLES	D1	Sleep quality	SA-0.039474
PZB1	TANGIBLES	D3	Rooms	SA-0.052632
PZB2	RELIABILITY	D4	Service	SA-0.092105
PZB1	TANGIBLES	D6	Cleanliness	SA-0.092105
PZB4	ASSURANCE	D5	Value	SA-0.105263
PZB4	ASSURANCE	D4	Service	A+0.052632
PZB4	ASSURANCE	D1	Sleep quality	A+0.052632
PZB3	RESPONSIVENESS	D4	Service	A+0.052632
PZB2	RELIABILITY	D6	Cleanliness	A+0.052632
PZB5	EMPATHY	D4	Service	A+0.013158
PZB2	RELIABILITY	D3	Rooms	A-0.052632
PZB4	ASSURANCE	D6	Cleanliness	N+0.105263
PZB3	RESPONSIVENESS	D1	Sleep quality	N+0.052632

### 5 Concluding Remarks and Future Work

We have presented a RDBMS Oracle<sup>©</sup> implementation of a 2-tuple LMCDM model using UDA functions. Thus, we have implemented the model [1, 2] for integrating the opinions expressed by hotel guests in the TripAdvisor website [8] in order to obtain the overall value of service quality under the SERVQUAL instrument perspective. This makes able to be widely applied at a practical level on several types of problems. The implementation proposed here can also be applied to other types of problems solved with 2-tuple LMCDM [11–14]. Therefore, as future work we will implement these models with the proposed scheme

Acknowledgements. This paper has been developed with the FEDER financing of Projects TIN2013-40658-P and TIN2016-75850-R.

## References

- 1. Carrasco, R.A., Villar, P., Hornos, M., Herrera-Viedma, E.: A linguistic multi-criteria decision making model applied to hotel service quality evaluation from web data sources. Int. J. Intell. Syst. **27**(7), 704–731 (2012)
- Carrasco, R.A., Blasco, M.F., Herrera-Viedma, E.: An implementation of a linguistic multi-criteria decision making model: an application to tourism. In: International Conference on Rough Sets and Current Trends in Computing, pp. 232–239. Springer, Berlin (2014)
- Herrera, F., Martínez, L.: A 2-tuple fuzzy linguistic representation model for computing with words. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 8(6), 746–752 (2000)
- Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Linguistic decision analysis: steps for solving decision problems under linguistic information. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 115(10), 67–82 (2000)
- Herrera-Viedma, E., Herrera, F., Chiclana, F., Luque, M.: Some issues on consistency of fuzzy preference relations. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 154(1), 98–109 (2004)
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V.A., Berry, L.L.: SERVQUAL: a multiple-item scale for measuring consumer perceptions of service quality. J. Retail. 64, 12–40 (1988)
- 7. Feuerstein, S., Pribyl, B., Dawes, C.: Oracle PL/SQL Language Pocket Reference: A Guide to Oracle's PL/SQL Language Fundamentals. O'Reilly Media, Sebastopol (2015)
- 8. TripAdvisor: Branded sites alone make up the most popular and largest travel community in the world (consulted 2017). http://www.tripadvisor.es
- 9. Carrasco, R.A., Muñoz-Leiva, F., Hornos, M.J.: A multidimensional data model using the fuzzy model based on the semantic translation. Inf. Syst. Front. **15**(3), 351–370 (2013)
- Hassan, A., Ravat, F., Teste, O., Tournier, R., Zurfluh, G.: Differentiated multiple aggregations in multidimensional databases. In: Transactions on Large-Scale Data- and Knowledge-Centered Systems XXI, pp. 20–47. Springer, Berlin (2015)
- Carrasco, R.A., Villar, P., Hornos, M.J., Herrera-Viedma, E.: A linguistic multi-criteria decision making model applied to the integration of education questionnaires. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 4(5), 946–959 (2011)
- Cid-López, A., Hornos, M.J., Carrasco, R.A., Herrera-Viedma, E.: SICTQUAL: a fuzzy linguistic multi-criteria model to assess the quality of service in the ICT sector from the user perspective. Appl. Soft Comput. 37, 897–910 (2015)

- Cid-López, A., Hornos, M.J., Carrasco, R.A., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Applying a linguistic multi-criteria decision-making model to the analysis of ICT suppliers' offers. Expert Syst. Appl. 57, 127–138 (2016)
- Carrasco, R.A., Sánchez-Fernández, J., Muñoz-Leiva, F., Blasco, M.F., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Evaluation of the hotels e-services quality under the user's experience. Soft. Comput. 21(4), 995–1011 (2017)

## Fuzzy Fingerprints for Item-Based Collaborative Filtering

André Carvalho<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Pável Calado, and Joao Paulo Carvalho

Abstract. Memory-based Collaborative filtering solutions are dominant in the Recommender Systems domain, due to its low implementation effort and service maintenance when compared with Model-based approaches. Memory-based systems often rely on similarity metrics to compute similarities between items (or users). Such metrics can be improved either by improving comparison quality or minimizing computational complexity. There is, however, an important trade-off-in general, models with high complexity, which significantly improve recommendations, are computationally unfeasible for real-world applications. In this work, we approach this issue, by applying Fuzzy Fingerprints to create a novel similarity metric for Collaborative Filtering. Fuzzy Fingerprints provide a concise representation of items, by selecting a relatively small number of user ratings and using their order to describe them. This metric requires from 23% through 95% less iterations to compute the similarities required for a rating prediction, depending on the density of the dataset. Despite this reduction, experiments performed in three datasets show that our metric is still able to have comparable recommendation results, in relation to state-of-art similarity metrics.

#### 1 Introduction

Users of the digital world are overloaded with information [13]. Recommender Systems (RSs) allow us to cope with this, by cataloging a vast list of items, that later can be recommended. Due to their success, RSs can be found in a number of services, providing recommendations for movies, music, news, products, events, services, among others [1].

However, turning state of the art solutions into real-world scenarios is still challenging, mainly due to a large amount of data available and the scalability issues that ensue. For this reason, more traditional approaches, such as itembased Collaborative Filtering (CF) are still the most widely used [16]. Despite its simplicity, item-based CF can provide quite accurate results, thus yielding an advantageous trade-off between engineering effort and user satisfaction.

In CF systems, the issue of scalability is closely related to the need to compute similarities between a high number of items in the database. To solve this, two complementary types of solution are usually proposed. One is to provide scalability by distributing the storage and computational cost over several

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_38
machines [10, 15]. The other is to devise computationally efficient similarity metrics [3, 8, 14, 18]. Our work focuses on the latter.

Our main contribution is a novel similarity metric for RSs, using the concept of Fuzzy Fingerprints (FFPs) [7]. More specifically, we propose to represent items by their low-dimensional Fingerprints, which can then be directly used to determine similarities between them. A similar idea has been previously applied to text authorship identification [7] with success. Our goal is to apply the same principle to RSs. This solution has three major advantages: (1) it has a smaller computational cost than traditional similarity metrics; (2) it requires a minimal implementation effort; and (3) the proposed representation of the items is also easily maintainable.

To demonstrate our claims, experiments were performed on three datasets. Results show that FFPs are a promising route to be applied for recommendations, requiring from 23% through 95% less iterations to compute the similarities for a rating prediction, depending on the density of the dataset. This improvement is achieved while maintaining a comparable quality of results.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. Section 2 contains literature review on similarity metrics for CF. Section 3 presents how FFPs can be applied to RSs. Section 4 presents an experimental evaluation. Finally, in Sect. 5 some conclusions are drawn from the results and directions for future work are proposed.

### 2 Related Work

Even thought Fuzzy systems have been previously applied to RSs, they have never been specifically used to improve the RS similarity metric [12,17]. Our proposal applies concepts of Fuzzy Systems to the problem of item-based Collaborative Filtering. More specifically, we use the Fuzzy Fingerprints to represent items in a CF system.

CF systems usually rely on the ratings given to items by users to determine similarities between items (or users), through the use of a similarity metric. This allows the creation of neighborhoods of similar items, to predict new ratings. Traditionally, the similarity is measured using metrics such as Pearson Correlation (PC) or the Cosine similarity (COS) [2]. Nevertheless, many other ways of measuring similarity have been proposed, ranging from simple variations of PC and COS, through the design of more complex functions.

An example is the work of [5], where ratings are combined with a measure of *trust* between users, which is inferred from social information. The authors show that such combination does improve the overall rating prediction. On a different approach, in [4], the authors propose a combination of the mean squared difference between the user's ratings with the Jaccard coefficient. Through experiments, they demonstrate that results are improved, when compared to traditional CF.

Liu et al. [9] also propose a new similarity metric, which attributes penalties to *bad* similarities, while rewarding *good* similarities. Defining a similarity as good or bad depends on several factors, such as the popularity of the rated items or the similarity of the rating to the other user's ratings. Finally, in [18], authors propose an alternative called M-distance-based recommendation (MBR). They leverage the average rating of each item and use the difference of such averages as the distance between items. Authors also have shown that it is possible to pre-compute such averages and compute the similar items neighborhood in linear time. Since this is the most time-efficient work that we know of, we use it as a baseline in our experiments.

The above works show that improving the similarity measures has a beneficial impact on the overall RS results. Nevertheless, this is often done at the expense of an increase in the computational complexity. In this work, we introduce a similarity metric based on FFPs, adapted for item-based CF, that aims to improve time-efficiency while maintaining a low implementation effort and a comparable, or even better, recommendation accuracy.

### 3 Fuzzy Fingerprints for Collaborative Filtering

We now explain how the Fingerprint of a given item is created and, following, how a Fuzzifying Function can be applied to obtain the corresponding FFP.

Let  $r_i$  be the set of ratings that a given set of users  $u_1 \cdots , u_N$  has provided for item *i* be:  $r_i = \{(u_1, r_{1i}), (u_2, r_{2i}), \cdots, (u_N, r_{Ni})\}$ . To build the Fingerprint  $\phi_i$ , we start by choosing a subset of *k* ratings in  $r_i$ , where *k* is the parameter that controls the size of the Fingerprint. The idea is that the selected ratings should be those that best represent item *i*. To this effect, we select the *k* highest ratings.

However, since users usually provide ratings on a small discrete scale (e.g. 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 stars), we still need to give a different importance to the possibly many ratings with the same value. Thus, when two ratings are equal, we use what we call a sorting scheme (SS) to decide which one will have a higher rank. In our experiments, we evaluated three different SSs. Let  $\#u_j$  be the total number of items that user  $u_j$  has rated: (1) Random: equal ratings are ordered randomly (to be used as a baseline); (2) Higher to Lower (HL): equal ratings are sorted in descending order according to  $\#u_j$ ; (2) Lower to Higher (LH): equal ratings are sorted in ascending according to  $\#u_j$ .

To illustrate, let  $r_i = \{(a, 5), (b, 2), (d, 5), (e, 4), (f, 2), (h, 1), (i, 2)\}$ , assume that k = 4, and  $\#a > \#b > \cdots > \#i$ . The resulting Fingerprints  $\phi_i$ , using each of the above sorting schemes would be  $\phi_i^{(\text{random})} = \{(d, 5), (a, 5), (e, 4), (f, 2)\}, \phi_i^{(\text{HL})} = \{(a, 5), (d, 5), (e, 4), (b, 2)\}, \text{ and } \phi_i^{(\text{LH})} = \{(d, 5), (a, 5), (e, 4), (i, 2)\}.$ 

The Fingerprint  $\phi_i$  is, in fact, an *ordered set* of ratings. This order, determined by a SS and, reflects the importance of each rating to represent items. It is by leveraging on this importance that we determine the Fuzzy Fingerprint of item  $i, \Phi_i$ .

A Fuzzyfying Function (FF)  $\mu(idx)$  assigns a weight to each position in a Fingerprint. In this case, the FF is used to assign a weight to each user in  $\phi_i$ .

There are many alternatives to define the FF [6]. Here, we have tested three possibilities, shown in Eq. 1, where  $p_{u_i}$  is the position of user  $u_j$  within  $\phi_i$ .

$$\mu_{one}(\mathbf{p}_{u_j}) = 1 \qquad \mu_{linear}(\mathbf{p}_{u_j}) = \frac{k - \mathbf{p}_{u_j}}{k} \qquad \mu_{erfc}(\mathbf{p}_{u_j}) = 1 - \operatorname{erfc}(\frac{2 \times \mathbf{p}_{u_j}}{k}) \quad (1)$$

The function  $\mu_{one}$  assigns an equal weight to all users ratings. Using function  $\mu_{linear}$ , the weight of a user decreases linearly, according to its position  $p_{u_j}$ . Finally, function  $\mu_{erfc}$ , uses a variation of the *complementary error function* to yield a faster decrease in weights. It is important to note that these functions are not the only available options [7]. However, preliminary experiments have indicated that using other variations does not significantly improve the quality of the results. For this reason, we have not tested further alternatives.

Using one of the above fuzzifying functions, we can now define the FFP  $\Phi_i$ as:  $\Phi_i = \{(u_j, \mu(\mathbf{p}_{u_j})), \forall u_j \in \phi_i\}$ . The FFP is, therefore, the set of users in the original Fingerprint, each with an associated weight, given by the Fuzzyfying Function. It is, in effect, a *fuzzy set of users* that rated item *i*.

Once the FFP for each item is determined, it is possible to compute similarities between items.

Consider  $\Phi_i$  and  $\Phi_j$  the FFPs of items *i* and *j*, respectively. Let  $U_i$  be the set of users in  $\Phi_i$  and  $U_j$  be the set of users in  $\Phi_j$ . The FFP similarity between items *i* and *j* is defined as:

$$\sin(\Phi_i, \Phi_j) = \sum_{u_v \in U_i \cap U_j} \frac{\min(\Phi_i(u_v), \Phi_j(u_v))}{k}$$
(2)

where  $\Phi_x(u_v)$  denotes the value associated to user  $u_v$  in  $\Phi_x$ . This similarity, in fact, corresponds to a *minimum t-norm* between the two fuzzy sets represented by the FFPs.

Rating predictions can now be obtained in a process similar to traditional Collaborative Filtering. More specifically, let  $\hat{r}_{vi}$  be the *predicted* rating that a given user  $u_v$  would assign to item *i*. We start by computing the *neighborhood* of item *i*, i.e. the set of *n* items in the database that are more similar to *i*,  $N_i(v)$ , using the similarity function defined in Eq. (2). The value of  $\hat{r}_{vi}$  is defined as:

$$\widehat{r}_{vi} = \overline{r}_i + \frac{\sum_{j \in N_i(v)} \operatorname{sim}(\Phi_i, \Phi_j) \times (r_{vj} - \overline{r}_j)}{\sum_{j \in N_i(v)} \operatorname{sim}(\Phi_i, \Phi_j)}$$
(3)

where  $r_{vj}$  is the rating assigned by user u to item j,  $\bar{r}_x$  is the average of all ratings assigned to item x. A RS will usually perform these predictions for a large set of items and return those with the highest rating predictions, thus creating recommendations for a user.

#### 4 Evaluation

#### 4.1 Experimental Setup

To assert the effectiveness of FFPs, experiments were performed using four baseline similarity metrics and three distinct datasets. The similarity metrics used as a baseline for comparison are the traditional Pearson Correlation (PC) and Cosine similarity (COS). In addition, we also include the Jaccard Mean Squared Difference (JMSD) [4], an improvement on previous metrics that offers a high rating prediction accuracy, while using a lower number of neighbors. Finally, an alternative similarity metric, named MBR [18], is also compared since its authors have the exact same goal as ours.

The Pearson Correlation coefficient has been widely used since it is simple to implement, intuitive, and provides good quality results [4]. PC is defined in Eq. 4, where U is the set users that rated both items i and j.

$$sim_{PC}(i,j) = \frac{\sum_{u \in U} (r_{u,i} - \bar{r}_i) \times (r_{u,j} - \bar{r}_j)}{\sqrt{\sum_{u \in U} (r_{u,i} - \bar{r}_i)^2} \times \sqrt{\sum_{u \in U} (r_{u,j} - \bar{r}_j)^2}}$$
(4)

The resulting similarity will be in within the interval [-1, 1], where -1 corresponds to an inverse correlation, +1 to a positive correlation, and values near zero show that no linear correlation exists between the two items.

Another often used similarity measure is the Cosine similarity, as defined in Eq. 5. COS will yield a value between 0 and 1, where 0 corresponds to no similarity between i and j and 1 to exactly proportional ratings between both users.

$$sim_{COS}(i,j) = \frac{\sum_{u \in U} r_{u,i} \times r_{u,j}}{\sqrt{\sum_{u \in U} r_{u,i}^2} \times \sqrt{\sum_{u \in U} r_{u,j}^2}}$$
(5)

The idea behind Jaccard Mean Squared Difference (JMSD) it to combine the Jaccard coefficient, which captures the number of ratings in common between items, with the Mean Square Difference (MSD) of those ratings, resulting in Eq. 6:

$$sim_{JMSD}(i,j) = Jaccard(i,j) \times (1 - MSD(i,j));$$
(6)

where Jaccard and MSD are defined as:

$$Jaccard(i,j) = \frac{|U_i \cap U_j|}{|U_i \cup U_j|} \qquad MSD(i,j) = \frac{\sum_{u \in U} (r_{u,i} - r_{u,j})^2}{|U|}$$
(7)

where  $U_s$  is the set of items ranked by user s.

The MBR metric uses a different principle, as shown in Eq.8. It starts by computing the average rating  $\bar{r}_j$  of each item j. The absolute value of the difference between these average ratings (called MBR) determines the similarity between the items. The set of neighbors  $H_i$  of item i is defined as all items  $j \neq i$ such that  $MBR(i, j) \leq T$ , where T is a predefined threshold. Rating predictions  $\hat{r}_{u,i}$  can then be determined such that the rating predicted for user u and item i is the average of all ratings given by u to items in  $H_i$ .

$$MBR(i,j) = |\bar{r}_i - \bar{r}_j| \qquad \hat{r}_{u,i} = \frac{\sum_{j \in H_i \cap U_u} r_{u,j}}{|H_i \cap U_u|}$$
(8)

Evaluation was conducted using three standard datasets: (1) MovieLens-1M (ML-1M), a dataset from the movie domain; (2) Netflix, a large dataset, also from the movie domain with a very sparse user-items ratings matrix; and (3) Jester, a dataset for recommending jokes, with a high number of ratings per item. Table 1 shows some statistics regarding their contents.

**Table 1.** Statistics for the experimental datasets. Column *sparsity* shows the percentage of not rated items in the rating matrix and column  $\#\bar{r}_i$  shows the average number of ratings per item.

Dataset	Ratings	Users	Items	Sparsity	$\#\bar{r_i}$
ML-1M	1000209	6 0 4 0	3706	95.53%	217
Jester	1728785	79681	150	75.64%	12348
Netflix	100000000	480 189	17770	98.82%	5576

All experiments were conducted using the RIVAL framework [11]. All measurements result from a 5 fold cross-validation, where the ratings are split on a user basis. The exception is the Netflix dataset, where we used the provided *probe* test set, to make our results comparable to those found in most literature.

#### 4.2 Results

**Recommendation Effectiveness.** We start by evaluating the results yielded by different sorting schemes. Figure 1 presents the RMSE for the three proposed sorting schemes, while varying the value of k, using  $\mu_{linear}$  as the Fuzzyfying Function. We note that the different scale for the Jester dataset is required since its ratings vary between 1 and 10, whereas the ratings for the ML-1M and Netflix datasets vary between 1 and 5.

We can see that, in all datasets, the three sorting schemes show a similar behavior. The best results are achieved, in general, by the LH sorting scheme, while the worst are achieved by the HL sorting scheme. This indicates that ratings given by the least active users are better sources of information. A possible explanation for this phenomena is that very active users tend to give the same rating to a large number of items that, in practice, vary widely in quality (as perceived by the user). On the other hand, less active users are more discriminatory when evaluating the items.

We now evaluate the impact on RMSE for different Fuzzyfying Functions. Figure 2 presents the values obtained, while varying the value of k, using the LH sorting scheme.

As for the sorting schemes, all FFs show a similar behavior on all the datasets. In addition, all show a similar performance, with only very small differences in RMSE. The difference is slightly more evident in the ML-1M dataset, although still lower than 1% between the best ( $\mu_{erfc}$ ) and worst ( $\mu_{One}$ ) FFs. This small difference is, in fact, coherent with other results found in the literature [7].

It is also interesting to show a comparison between the results achieved by our proposed FFP similarity and the baselines described in Sect. 4.1. Figure 3 shows



Fig. 1. Impact on RMSE of different sorting schemes. We use 100 neighbors for ML-1M, 200 for Netflix and 50 for Jester. The scale on the left y axis is for the ML-1M and Netflix datasets. The scale on the right y axis is for the Jester dataset.



Fig. 2. Impact on RMSE of different Fuzzyfying Functions. We use 100 neighbors for ML-1M, 200 for Netflix and 50 for Jester. The scale on the left y axis is for the ML-1M and Netflix datasets. The scale on the right y axis is for the Jester dataset.

the results obtained, while varying the number of neighbors while computing rating predictions. We note that the number of neighbors is not applicable to the MBR similarity metric (see Sect. 4.1). Thus, results for MBR are shown as an horizontal line across the plot.

The Figure shows that results are clearly comparable, independently of the number of neighbors used. Furthermore, the lower RMSE was yielded, in general, by the FFP similarity metrics. We also note that FFP metrics seem to be more resilient to variations in the number of neighbors used, with results remaining almost constant as this number increases.

**Computational Efficiency.** To measure computational efficiency, we count the number of iterations required to make a single rating prediction. Since computing the actual prediction, using Eq. (3) is independent of the similarity metric used (i.e. in all cases, the same items will be compared to the item whose rating is being predicted) we are only interested in the iterations required to compute the similarity between any two items.

For the purpose of this work, when computing the similarity between any pair of items i and j, we define an iteration as: (1) a comparison between a value in the FFP of item i and a value in the FFP of item j, as in Eq. (2); (2) a multiplication of a rating of item i by a rating of item j, as required for the Pearson correlation or Cosine similarity; or (3) a subtraction of a rating of item j, as in Eq. (7). In practice, for the baselines, this will be the number of ratings in common between the two items being compared. For the FFP, this will be the highest value between k and the number of ratings in common between the two items being compared to come from the fact that k will be lower.

Figure 4 shows a plot of the average number of iterations performed per similarity computed, on each dataset. The number of operations for the FFP metric is shown as a function of k. A vertical line is drawn where the best results were achieved. It should be noted that MBR only requires one iteration, since it compares items by simply computing the difference between their ratings average.

In Fig. 4a, we observe that, for the ML-1M dataset, the FFP similarity requires on average 100 iterations when k = 200. This corresponds to a reduction of about 23% per similarity, since the baselines require 130 iterations. In the Netflix dataset (Fig. 4b), the gain is even more evident, with the FFP metric requiring about 1009 iterations, when k = 1500, whereas the baselines use 3791 iterations—a reduction of 73%. Finally, for the Jester dataset (Fig. 4c), the FFP similarity requires, on average, 281 iterations when k = 300, compared to the baseline, requiring 5822 iterations. The gain is, therefore, of 95%.

In conclusion, FFP has shown gains in all cases. This is, of course, dependent on the data. However, it is natural to expect that, the bigger the dataset, the most likely it is that items have a high number of ratings in common and, thus, the more gains can be achieved by our proposal.



Fig. 3. Comparison of FFPs with the baseline similarity metrics. Baseline metrics are represented in light grey, while the FFP metrics are represented in black. The scales on the left y axis and bottom x axis are for the ML-1M and Netflix datasets. The scales on the right y axis and top y axis are for the Jester dataset.



Fig. 4. Average number of iterations performed per similarity computed, on the three experimental datasets. Vertical lines show the value of k for which the best results were achieved.

Sim.	ML-11	М				Netflix				Jester					
	$\mathbf{SS}$	$\mu$	k	Ν	RMSE	$\mathbf{SS}$	$\mu$	k	Ν	RMSE	$\mathbf{SS}$	$\mu$	$_{k}$	Ν	RMSE
FFP	LH	$\mu_{linear}$	200	20	0.8565	LH	$\mu_{One}$	1500	35	0.9497	LH	$\mu_{linear}$	200	25	4.0664
	LH	$\mu_{erfc}$	200	25	0.8577	LH	$\mu_{One}$	1500	35	0.9497	LH	$\mu_{erfc}$	300	25	4.0660
	Rand	$\mu_{linear}$	200	20	0.8568	LH	$\mu_{erfc}$	3000	35	0.9486	LH	$\mu_{One}$	200	25	4.0685
$\cos$	-	-	-	50	0.8914	-	-	-	15	0.9616	-	-	-	15	4.0983
$\mathbf{PC}$	-	-	-	75	0.8847	-	-	-	30	0.9517	-	-	-	15	4.0419
JMSD	-	-	-	20	0.8670	-	-	-	20	0.9549	-	-	-	15	4.0842
MBR	-	-	-	-	0.9031	-	-	-	-	1.0016	-	-	-	-	4.4063

**Table 2.** Best results for FFPs and baselines, on ML-1M. Column N contains the number of nearest-neighbour items used to compute the predicted rating.

**Summary of Results.** To summarize our experiments, we now present the best results achieved by each tested similarity metric. Results for the ML-1M, Netflix, and Jester datasets are shown in Table 2. The lowest values for RMSE are highlighted using bold.

The best results for the ML-1M dataset were obtained with FFPs, which outperforms all four baselines. This was achieved using at most 200 ratings to describe the items and 20 neighbors to compute rating predictions. JMSD, the best performing baseline, uses the same number of neighbors, as the best FFP similarity, but still requires using all available ratings to compute the similarities.

Similarly, on the Netflix dataset, the best results were also achieved by the FFPs. However, the lowest value in RMSE was obtained using the  $\mu_{erfc}$  Fuzzy-fying Function and k = 3000.

On the Jester dataset, the best results were obtained using Pearson Correlation. Nevertheless, the results for our proposal are still highly relevant, for several reasons. First, Jester is a somewhat unusual dataset, with a highly number of ratings per item (see Table 1) thus, we could expect the similarity metrics to behave differently. Second, the difference in RMSE to the best FFP similarity is small (0.02). Finally, as shown in Fig. 4c, the gain in efficiency obtained by the FFP is clearly significant, since on average we need 95% less iterations to compute a similarity than PC.

In conclusion, the use of FFPs allows the reduction of the similarity computational complexity, while improving, or at least maintaining, the quality of recommendations, in comparison with the baselines COS, PC, JMSD, and MBR. The improvements become more noticeable in larger datasets, which translates to a better solution in real world RSs, where we can expect very sparse data and a higher number of users and items.

## 5 Conclusion

In this work, we have applied the concept of Fuzzy Fingerprints to item-based Collaborative Filtering. FFPs are used to create a new concise item representation and an efficient and effective similarity metric. They have a smaller computational cost than traditional similarity metrics while requiring a low engineering effort to implement.

We have experimentally compared our proposal to two traditional similarity measures, Pearson Correlation and Cosine similarity, and two state of the art similarity metrics, Jaccard Mean Squared Difference and MBR. Results show that FFPs are a promising approach since they can be applied with success in recommendation tasks. In fact, using FFPs we were able to obtain a reduction of the number of operations needed per similarity computation between 23% and 95%, depending on the density of the rating matrix. This was achieved with an overall improvement in RMSE.

Future work will be conducted with the goal of exploring further configuration options for the FFPs, such as new sorting schemes and Fuzzyfying Functions. Also, we will study the application of FFPs to content-based RS.

Acknowledgments. This work was supported by national funds through Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT) with reference UID/CEC/50021/2013, by project GoLocal (ref. CMUPERI/TIC/0046/2014) and co-financed by the University of Lisbon and INESC-ID.

### References

- Adomavicius, G., Tuzhilin, A.: Toward the next generation of recommender systems: a survey of the state-of-the-art and possible extensions. IEEE Trans. Knowl. Data Eng. 17(6), 734–749 (2005). doi:10.1109/TKDE.2005.99
- Bobadilla, J., Ortega, F., Hernando, A., Gutiérrez, A.: Recommender systems survey. Knowl. Based Syst. 46, 109–132 (2013). doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2013.03.012. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0950705113001044
- Bobadilla, J., Ortega, F., Hernando, A., de Rivera, G.G.: A similarity metric designed to speed up, using hardware, the recommender systems k-nearest neighbors algorithm. Knowl. Based Syst. 51, 27–34 (2013). doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2013. 06.010. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S095070511300186X
- Bobadilla, J., Serradilla, F., Bernal, J.: A new collaborative filtering metric that improves the behavior of recommender systems. Knowl. Based Syst. 23(6), 520–528 (2010). doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2010.03.009. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0950705110000444
- Chen, S., Luo, T., Liu, W., Xu, Y.: Incorporating similarity and trust for collaborative filtering. In: Sixth International Conference on Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery, FSKD 2009, vol. 2, pp. 487–493 (2009). doi:10.1109/FSKD.2009.720
- Dimiev, V.: Fuzzifying functions. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 33(1), 47–58 (1989). doi:10. 1016/0165-0114(89)90216-9. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ 0165011489902169
- Homem, N., Carvalho, J.P.: Authorship identification and author fuzzy "fingerprints". In: 2011 Annual Meeting of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society (NAFIPS), pp. 1–6 (2011). doi:10.1109/NAFIPS.2011.5751998
- Koenigstein, N., Koren, Y.: Towards scalable and accurate item-oriented recommendations. In: Proceedings of the 7th ACM Conference on Recommender Systems, RecSys 2013, pp. 419–422. ACM, New York (2013). doi:10.1145/2507157. 2507208

- Liu, H., Hu, Z., Mian, A., Tian, H., Zhu, X.: A new user similarity model to improve the accuracy of collaborative filtering. Knowl. Based Syst. 56, 156–166 (2014). doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2013.11.006. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0950705113003560
- Pereira, R., Lopes, H., Breitman, K., Mundim, V., Peixoto, W.: Cloud based real-time collaborative filtering for item-item recommendations. Comput. Ind. 65(2), 279–290 (2014). doi:10.1016/j.compind.2013.11.005. http://www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0166361513002352
- Said, A., Bellogín, A.: Rival: a toolkit to foster reproducibility in recommender system evaluation. In: Proceedings of the 8th ACM Conference on Recommender Systems, RecSys 2014, pp. 371–372. ACM Press (2014). doi:10.1145/2645710.2645712
- Son, L.H.: HU-FCF: a hybrid user-based fuzzy collaborative filtering method in recommender systems. Exp. Syst. Appl. 41(15), 6861–6870 (2014). doi:10.1016/j. eswa.2014.05.001
- Tsai, C.F., Hung, C.: Cluster ensembles in collaborative filtering recommendation. Appl. Soft Comput. 12(4), 1417–1425 (2012). doi:10.1016/j.asoc.2011.11.016
- Vijayakumar, V., Neelanarayanan, V., Bagchi, S.: Big data, cloud and computing challenges performance and quality assessment of similarity measures in collaborative filtering using mahout. Procedia Comput. Sci. 50, 229–234 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.procs.2015.04.055. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S1877050915005566
- Xu, R., Wang, S., Zheng, X., Chen, Y.: Distributed collaborative filtering with singular ratings for large scale recommendation. J. Syst. Softw. 95, 231– 241 (2014). doi:10.1016/j.jss.2014.04.045. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/ article/pii/S0164121214001150
- Ye, T., Bickson, D., Ampazis, N., Benczur, A.: LSRS'15: Workshop on large-scale recommender systems. In: Proceedings of the 9th ACM Conference on Recommender Systems, RecSys 2015, pp. 349–350. ACM, New York (2015). doi:10.1145/ 2792838.2798715
- Yera, R., Castro, J., Martínez, L.: A fuzzy model for managing natural noise in recommender systems. Appl. Soft Comput. 40, 187–198 (2016). doi:10.1016/j.asoc.2015.10.060. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S1568494615007048
- Zheng, M., Min, F., Zhang, H.R., Chen, W.B.: Fast recommendations with the mdistance. IEEE Access 4, 1464–1468 (2016). doi:10.1109/ACCESS.2016.2549182

# A Survey on Nullnorms on Bounded Lattices

Gül Deniz Çaylı<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Funda Karaçal

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Sciences, Karadeniz Technical University, 61080 Trabzon, Turkey guldeniz.cayli@ktu.edu.tr;fkaracal@yahoo.com

Abstract. Nullnorms are generalizations of triangular norms (t-norms) and triangular conorms (t-conorms) with a zero element to be an arbitrary point from an arbitrary bounded lattice. In this paper, we study nullnorms on bounded lattices. We examine some properties of nullnorms considering the concepts of idempotency, local internality, conjunctivity and disjunctivity on bounded lattices. We investigate relationships between such concepts for nullnorms on bounded lattices and some illustrative examples are added to clearly show connections between these. Moreover, we give two methods to obtain nullnorms on bounded lattices with a zero element by using the given nullnorm and t-norm (t-conorm) with some constraints.

#### 1 Introduction

Aggregation functions play an important role [15, 22] in the fuzzy set theory and its applications. Recently, nullnorms were introduced in [6], which are a generalization of triangular norms and triangular conorms with the zero element a anywhere in the unit interval and have to satisfy some additional conditions. In case of a = 1, we obtain t-conorms and in case of a = 0, we obtain t-norms. In addition that t-operators were introduced in [23], which are also the generalizations of the concepts of triangular norms and triangular conorms. And then in [24], it was demonstrated that nullnorms and t-operators are equivalent since they have the same block structures in  $[0, 1]^2$ . Namely, if a binary operation F is a nullnorm then it is also a t-operator and vice versa. A characterization of such binary operations is interesting not only from a theoretical point of view but also for their applications, since they have been proved to be useful in several fields like fuzzy logic frame-work, expert system, neural networks and fuzzy quantifiers [21,25]. Idempotent nullnorms were introduced [17] as the standard median. The certain characterization and various properties of nullnorms (particularly idempotent nullnorms) were also studied in the papers [5, 11, 12, 14, 18, 27].

Karaçal, Înce and Mesiar [20] have studied nullnorms on bounded lattices. They have showed the presence of nullnorms with the zero element  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  by using t-norms and t-conorms on an arbitrary bounded lattice L. And the existence of the smallest nullnorm and the greatest nullnorm on L has been observed. Furthermore, it has been proved the existence of idempotent nullnorms on a distributive bounded lattice L for any element  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  playing the role of a zero element in [19].

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_39

In this paper, we study nullnorms on bounded lattices and theirs properties by using especially the concepts of idempotency, local internality, conjunctivity and disjunctivity on bounded lattices. The paper is organized as follows. We shortly recall some basic notions in Sect. 2. In Sect. 3, it is proved that considering an arbitrary bounded lattice L, if the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, V is either conjunctive or disjunctive. But we exemplify that it may not true vice versa. And it is showed that if the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, it is idempotent. We give an example every idempotent nullnorm on bounded lattices need not be locally internal. Moreover, in Theorem 1 (Theorem 2), we show that the structure of the bounded lattice L such that every nullnorm on L with the zero element  $a \in L$  is idempotent (locally internal). In Sect. 4, we give two methods to obtain nullnorms on an arbitrary bounded lattice L with the zero element  $s \in L$  with underlying the given nullnorm on sublattice [0, a] of L (nullnorm on sublattice [a, 1] of L) and t-norm on [a, 1] (t-conorm on [0, a]) for arbitrary element  $a \in L$  under some additional assumptions. And some illustrative examples are added to clarity. Finally, some concluding remarks are given.

## 2 Preliminaries

In this section, some preliminaries concerning bounded lattices, t-norms, t-conorms and nullnorms on them are recalled.

**Definition 1** ([4]). A lattice  $(L, \leq)$  is bounded if L has top and bottom elements, which are denoted as 1 and 0, respectively, that is, there exist two elements  $1, 0 \in L$  such that  $0 \leq x \leq 1$ , for all  $x \in L$ .

Let *L* be a bounded lattice. An upper bound of the elements  $x, y \in L$  is an element  $a \in L$  containing the elements both *x* and *y*. The least upper bound of the elements  $x, y \in L$  is an upper bound contained by every other upper bound, it is denoted sup  $\{x, y\}$  or  $x \vee y$ . The notations of lower bound and the gratest lower (inf  $\{x, y\}$  or  $x \wedge y$ ) of the elements  $x, y \in L$  are defined dually.

**Definition 2** ([4]). Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ , if a and b are incomparable, in this case, we use the notation  $a \parallel b$ . We denote the set of elements which are incomparable with a by  $I_a$ . So,  $I_a = \{x \in L \mid x \parallel a\}$ .

If a and b are comparable, then we use the notation  $a \not\parallel b$ .

**Definition 3 ([4]).** Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ ,  $a \leq b$ , the subinterval [a, b] of L is defined as  $[a, b] = \{x \in L \mid a \leq x \leq b\}$ .

Similarly, we define  $(a, b] = \{x \in L \mid a < x \le b\}, [a, b) = \{x \in L \mid a \le x < b\}$ and  $(a, b) = \{x \in L \mid a < x < b\}.$ 

**Definition 4 ([1,2]).** An operation  $T : L^2 \to L$  is called a t-norm if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to both variables and has as neutral element 1.

**Definition 5** ([7,9,10]). An operation  $S: L^2 \to L$  is called a t-conorm if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to both variables and has as neutral element 0.

**Definition 6** ([3,20]). Let  $(L, \leq 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. A commutative, associative, non-decreasing in each variable function  $V : L^2 \to L$  is called a nullnorm if there is an element  $a \in L$  such that V(x,0) = x for all  $x \leq a$  and V(x,1) = x for all  $x \geq a$ .

It can be easily obtained that V(x, a) = a for all  $x \in L$ . So  $a \in L$  is the zero element for V.

Consider the set  $\mathscr{V}$  of all nullnorms on L with the following order: For  $V_1, V_2 \in \mathscr{V}$ ,

 $V_1 \leq V_2 \Leftrightarrow V_1(x,y) \leq V_2(x,y)$  for all  $(x,y) \in L^2$ .

It can be easily shown that  $\mathscr{V}$  is a partially ordered set. If we denote the set of all nullnorms on L with the zero element  $a \in L$  by  $\mathscr{V}(a)$ , then each  $\mathscr{V}(a)$  is also a partially ordered set.

We use  $D_a$  to represent the following set:

 $D_a = [0, a] \times [a, 1] \cup [a, 1] \times [0, a]$  for  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ .

**Definition 7 ([19]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. An element  $x \in L$  is called an idempotent element of a function  $V : L^2 \to L$  if V(x, x) = x. The function V is called idempotent on L if all elements of L are idempotent.

**Definition 8** ([26]). Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $F: L^2 \to L$  be a function on L. Then

(i) F is called conjunctive on L if  $F(x, y) \leq x \wedge y$  for all  $x, y \in L$ .

(ii) F is called disjunctive on L if  $F(x, y) \ge x \lor y$  for all  $x, y \in L$ .

**Proposition 1 ([13,20]).** Let  $(L, \leq 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. Then

(i)  $V|_{[0,a]^2} : [0,a]^2 \to [0,a]$  is a t-conorm on [0,a]. (ii)  $V|_{[a,1]^2} : [a,1]^2 \to [a,1]$  is a t-norm on [a,1].

The next results, characterizing general properties of nullnorms on a bounded lattice L, are immediate from the definition of nullnorms.

**Proposition 2** ([13,20]). Let  $(L, \leq 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. The following properties hold:

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ V(x,y) = a \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in D_a. \\ (ii) \ a \leq V(x,y) \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [a,1]^2 \cup [a,1] \times I_a \cup I_a \times [a,1] \,. \\ (iii) \ V(x,y) \leq a \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [0,a]^2 \cup [0,a] \times I_a \cup I_a \times [0,a] \,. \\ (iv) \ V(x,y) \leq y \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in L \times [a,1] \,. \\ (v) \ V(x,y) \leq x \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [a,1] \times L. \\ (vi) \ x \leq V(x,y) \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [0,a] \times L. \\ (vii) \ y \leq V(x,y) \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in L \times [0,a] \,. \end{array}$ 

 $\begin{array}{l} (viii) \ x \lor y \leq V(x,y) \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [0,a]^2 \\ (ix) \ V(x,y) \leq x \land y \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [a,1]^2 \\ (x) \ (x \land a) \lor (y \land a) \leq V(x,y) \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [0,a] \times I_a \cup I_a \times [0,a] \cup I_a \times I_a \\ (xi) \ V(x,y) \leq (x \lor a) \land (y \lor a) \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in [a,1] \times I_a \cup I_a \times [a,1] \cup I_a \times I_a. \end{array}$ 

# 3 Nullnorms on Bounded Lattices

**Proposition 3.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. In this case the nullnorm V is neither conjunctive nor disjunctive on L.

**Proposition 4.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a.

(i) a = 0 if and only if the nullnorm V is conjunctive on L. (ii) a = 1 if and only if the nullnorm V is disjunctive on L.

**Definition 9 ([8]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. The function  $F : L^2 \to L$  is called locally internal on L if it satisfies  $F(x, y) \in \{x, x \land y, x \lor y, y\}$  for all  $x, y \in L$ .

**Proposition 5.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. In this case the nullnorm V is not locally internal on L.

**Proposition 6.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. If the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, then a = 0 or a = 1.

**Corollary 1.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. If the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, then it is either conjunctive or disjunctive on L.

Remark 1. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. By Proposition 6, we know that if V is locally internal on L, then a = 0 or a = 1. It occurs a natural question: if a = 0 or a = 1, does the nullnorm V always need to be locally internal on L? The following example illustrates the fact that this hypothesis is false.

*Example 1.* Given the bounded lattice  $L = \{0, b, c, d, 1\}$  with the order given in Fig. 1 and define the mapping  $V : L^2 \to L$  by Table 1. However the mapping V is a nullnorm on L with the zero element 0, V is not locally internal on L since V(c, d) = 0 not  $V(c, d) \in \{c, d, c \land d = b, c \lor d = 1\}$ .



**Fig. 1.** The lattice L

Table 1. The nullnorm V on L

V	0	b	c	d	1
0	0	0	0	0	0
b	0	0	0	0	b
c	0	0	0	0	c
d	0	0	0	0	d
1	0	b	c	d	1

**Proposition 7.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. If the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, then it is idempotent on L.

Remark 2. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. If the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, we know that either a = 0 or a = 1 from Proposition 6. We obtain t-norm while a = 0 and we obtain t-conorm while a = 1. So, if the nullnorm V is locally internal on L, there are the only two idempotent nullnorms on L based on the fact that the only idempotent t-conorm (sup)  $S_{\vee}: L^2 \to L, S_{\vee}(x, y) = x \vee y$  and the only idempotent t-norm (inf)  $T^{\wedge}: L^2 \to L, T^{\wedge}(x, y) = x \wedge y$ .

Remark 3. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a. In that case, the natural question arises: if the nullnorm V is idempotent on L, is the nullnorm V locally internal on L? By Proposition 5, we know that the nullnorm V can not be locally internal on L while  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . The another natural question arises: if the nullnorm V is idempotent on L with the zero element a such that a = 0 or a = 1, is the nullnorm V locally internal on L? In the following proposition, we give positive answer to this question. **Proposition 8.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a \in L$  and V be a nullnorm on L with the zero element a such that a = 0 or a = 1. If the nullnorm V is idempotent on L, the nullnorm V is locally internal on L.

**Theorem 1.** The structure of the bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  such that every nullnorm defined on L with the zero element  $a \in L \mid \{0, 1\}$  is idempotent is as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. The lattice L

**Theorem 2.** The structure of the bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  such that every nullnorm defined on L with the zero element  $a \in L$  is locally internal is as shown in Figs. 3 or 4.



Fig. 3. The lattice L

Fig. 4. The lattice L

# 4 Some Methods to Obtain Nulnorms on Bounded Lattices

In this section, we introduce two construction methods to obtain nullnorms on a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$ , for the indicated element  $a \in L$ , by using the existence of the nullnorm given on sublattice [0, a] of L (the nullnorm given on sublattice [a, 1] of L) and the t-norm on [a, 1] (the t-conorm on [0, a]) with some constraints. The zero element  $s \in L$  of the nullnorms obtained by these construction methods allows the freedom to be an arbitrary element from the sublattice [0, a] of L, see Theorem 3 (the sublattice [a, 1] of L, see Theorem 4).

**Theorem 3.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $s, a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , [0, a] be a sublattice of L and  $s \in [0, a]$  such that  $x \not\parallel s$  for all  $x \in [0, a]$ . If  $x \geq a$  for all  $x \in L \setminus [0, a]$ ,  $V^*$  is a nullnorm on [0, a] with the zero element s and T is a t-norm on [a, 1], then the following operation  $V_1 : L^2 \to L$  is a nullnorm with the zero element s, where

$$V_{1}(x,y) = \begin{cases} V^{*}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [0,a]^{2}, \\ s & if \ (x,y) \in [0,s] \times [a,1] \cup [a,1] \times [0,s], \\ T(x,y) & if \ (x,y) \in [a,1]^{2}, \\ x \wedge y & otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(1)

Example 2. Given the bounded lattice  $L = \{0, k, s, a, p, q, 1\}$ , see Fig. 5. If the nullnorm  $V^*$  on [0, a] is defined by Table 2 and we take the t-norm T on [a, 1] as  $T(x, y) = \begin{cases} y \ if \ x = 1, \\ x \ if \ y = 1, \\ a \ otherwise. \end{cases}$  then the operation  $V : L^2 \to L$  defined in Table 3

using the formula (1) is a nullnorm on L with the zero element s from Theorem 3.



Fig. 5. The lattice L

**Table 2.** The nullnorm  $V^*$  on [0, a]

$V^*$	0	k	s	a
0	0	k	s	s
k	k	k	s	s
s	s	s	s	s
a	s	s	s	a

$\overline{V}$	0	k	s	a	p	q	1
0	0	k	s	s	s	s	s
k	k	k	s	s	s	s	s
s	s	s	s	s	s	s	s
a	s	s	s	a	a	a	a
p	s	s	s	a	a	a	p
q	s	s	s	a	a	a	q
1	s	s	s	a	p	q	1

**Table 3.** The nullnorm V on L

The following theorem is given as dual of Theorem 3.

**Theorem 4.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $s, a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , [a, 1] be a sublattice of L and  $s \in [a, 1]$  such that  $x \not\models s$  for all  $x \in [a, 1]$ . If  $x \leq a$  for all  $x \in L \setminus [a, 1]$ ,  $V_*$  is a nullnorm on [a, 1] with the zero element s and S is a t-conorm on [0, a], then the following operation  $V_2 : L^2 \to L$  is a nullnorm with the zero element s, where

$$V_{2}(x,y) = \begin{cases} V_{*}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [a,1]^{2}, \\ S(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [0,a]^{2}, \\ s \ if \ (x,y) \in [s,1] \times [0,a] \cup [0,a] \times [s,1], \\ x \lor y \ otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(2)

Example 3. Given the bounded lattice  $L = \{0, p, q, a, s, k, t, 1\}$ , see Fig. 6. If the nullnorm  $V_*$  on [a, 1] is defined by Table 4 and we take the t-conorm S on [0, a] $\begin{pmatrix} u & if \ x = 0, \end{pmatrix}$ 

as  $S(x,y) = \begin{cases} y \text{ if } x = 0, \\ x \text{ if } y = 0, \\ a \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$  then the operation  $V: L^2 \to L$  defined in Table 5

using the formula (2) is a nullnorm on L with the zero element s from Theorem 4.



**Fig. 6.** The lattice L

**Table 4.** The nullnorm  $V_*$  on [a, 1]

$V_*$	a	s	k	t	1
a	a	s	s	s	s
s	s	s	s	s	s
k	s	s	k	s	s
t	s	s	s	t	s
1	s	s	s	s	1

**Table 5.** The nullnorm V on L

V	0	p	q	a	s	k	t	1
0	0	p	q	a	s	s	s	s
p	p	a	a	a	s	s	s	s
q	q	a	a	a	s	s	s	s
a	a	a	a	a	s	s	s	s
s	s	s	s	s	s	s	s	s
k	s	s	s	s	s	k	s	s
t	s	s	s	s	s	s	t	s
1	s	s	s	s	s	s	s	1

Remark 4. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $s, a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , [0, a] be a sublattice of  $L, s \in [0, a]$  such that  $x \not\parallel s$  for all  $x \in [0, a]$  and  $x \geq a$  for all  $x \in L \setminus [0, a]$ . In Theorem 3, if we take t-norm T on [a, 1] as the only idempotent t-norm (inf)  $T^{\wedge}$ , then we obtain the following nullnorm on L, where

$$V_{1}(x,y) = \begin{cases} V^{*}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [0,a]^{2}, \\ s & if \ (x,y) \in [0,s] \times [a,1] \cup [a,1] \times [0,s], \\ x \wedge y & otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(3)

(i) If the nullnorm  $V^*$  is idempotent on [0, a] with the zero element s, then the nullnorm  $V_1$  given by the formula (3) is idempotent on L with the zero element s. (ii) If the nullnorm  $V^*$  is locally internal on [0, a] with the zero element s, then s = a since  $s \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . So, even if the nullnorm  $V^*$  is locally internal on [0, a] with the zero element s, then the nullnorm  $V_1$  given by the formula (3) can not be locally internal on L from Proposition 5.

Remark 5. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $s, a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , [a, 1] be a sublattice of  $L, s \in [a, 1]$  such that  $x \not\parallel s$  for all  $x \in [a, 1]$  and  $x \leq a$  for all  $x \in L \setminus [a, 1]$ . In Theorem 4, if we take t-conorm S on [0, a] as the only idempotent t-conorm (sup)  $S_{\vee}$ , then we obtain the following nullnorm on L, where 440 G.D. Çaylı and F. Karaçal

$$V_{2}(x,y) = \begin{cases} V_{*}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [a,1]^{2}, \\ s & if \ (x,y) \in [s,1] \times [0,a] \cup [0,a] \times [s,1], \\ x \lor y & otherwise. \end{cases}$$
(4)

(i) If the nullnorm  $V_*$  is idempotent on [a, 1] with the zero element s, then the nullnorm  $V_2$  given by the formula (4) is idempotent on L with the zero element  $s \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ .

(ii) If the nullnorm  $V_*$  is locally internal on [a, 1] with the zero element s, then s = a since  $s \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . So, even if the nullnorm  $V_*$  is locally internal on [a, 1] with the zero element s, then the nullnorm  $V_2$  given by the formula (4) can not be locally internal on L from Proposition 5.

Remark 6. Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $a, s \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , [0, a] be a sublattice of L and  $s \in [0, a]$  such that  $x \not\parallel s$  for all  $x \in [0, a]$ . Turning back to Theorem 3, observe that the constraint  $x \geq a$  for all  $x \in L \setminus [0, a]$  can not be omitted, in general. The next example illustrates the fact that the associativity of V can be violated.

*Example 4.* Given the bounded lattice  $L = \{0, s, a, n, m, 1\}$  by Fig. 7 and the nullnorm  $V^*$  on [0, a] by Table 6. And define the mapping  $V : L^2 \to L$  as Table 7 using the formula (1) in Theorem 3.

Since V(V(1,n),m) = V(n,m) = 0 and V(1,V(n,m)) = V(1,0) = s for the elements  $1, n, m \in L$ , the mapping V does not satisfy associativity. So, we obtain that the mapping V is not a nullnorm on L, however the mapping V is defined by using the formula (1) in Theorem 3.



Fig. 7. The lattice L

**Table 6.** The nullnorm  $V^*$  on [0, a]

$V^*$	0	s	a
0	0	s	s
s	s	s	s
a	s	s	a

V	0	s	a	n	m	1
0	0	s	s	0	0	s
s	s	s	s	s	s	s
a	s	s	a	0	0	a
n	0	s	0	n	0	n
m	0	s	0	0	m	m
1	s	s	a	n	m	1

**Table 7.** The mapping V on L

# 5 Conclusion Remarks

In this paper, some properties of nullnorms on an arbitrary bounded lattice L with a zero element are investigated considering the notations of idempotency, local internality, conjunctivity and disjunctivity. Some results on the relationship between such notions for nullnorms on L are given. In addition that the structure of the bounded lattice L such that every nullnorm on L with the given zero element is idempotent (locally internal) is researched. Moreover, we give two methods yielding nullnorms on bounded lattices with the indicated zero element under some constraints.

Acknowledgments. The authors are very grateful to the anonymous reviewers and editors for their helpful comments and valuable suggestions.

### References

- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: On the T-partial order and properties. Inf. Sci. 267, 323–333 (2014)
- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: Incomparability with respect to the triangular order. Kybernetika 52, 15–27 (2016)
- Aşıcı, E.: An order induced by nullnorms and its properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. doi:10. 1016/j.fss.2016.12.004
- 4. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publishers, Providence (1967)
- Calvo, T., Mesiar, R.: Distance operators. In: Proceedings of EUSFLAT 1999, Palma de Mallorca, pp. 363–366 (1999)
- Calvo, T., De Baets, B., Fodor, J.: The functional equations of Frank and Alsina for uninorms and nullnorm. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 120, 385–394 (2001)
- Çaylı, G.D., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: On a new class of uninorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 367–368, 221–231 (2016)
- Çaylı, G.D., Ertuğrul, Ü., Köroğlu, T., Karaçal, F.: Notes on locally internal uninorms on bounded lattices. Kybernetika (Submitted)
- Çaylı, G.D., KaraÇal, F.: Construction of uninorms on bounded lattices. Kybernetika 53, 394–417 (2017)
- Çaylı, G.D.: On a new class of t-norms and t-conorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. (in press) doi:10.1016/j.fss.2017.07.015

- Drewniak, J., Drygaś, P., Rak, E.: Distributivity between uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1646–1657 (2008)
- Drygaś, P.: A characterization of idempotent nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 145, 455–461 (2004)
- Drygaś, P.: Isotonic operations with zero element in bounded lattices. In: Atanassov, K., Hryniewicz, O., Kacprzyk, J. (eds.) Soft Computing Foundations and Theoretical Aspect, EXIT Warszawa, pp. 181–190 (2004)
- Drygaś, P.: Distributivity between semi t-operators and semi nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 264, 100–109 (2015)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Fundamentals of Fuzzy Sets. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Boston (2000)
- Ertuğrul, U., Kesicioğlu, M.N., Karaçal, F.: Ordering based on uninorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 330, 315–327 (2016)
- Fung, L.W., Fu, K.S.: An axiomatic approach to rational decision making in a fuzzy environment. In: Zadeh, L.A., Fu, K.S., Tanaka, K., Shimura, M. (eds.) Fuzzy Sets and their Applications to Cognitive and Decision Processes, pp. 227–256. Academic Press, New York (1975)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J.L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation functions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Ince, M.A., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: Medians and nullnorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 289, 74–81 (2016)
- Karaçal, F., İnce, M.A., Mesiar, R.: Nullnorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 325, 227–236 (2015)
- Klir, G.J., Yuan, B.: Fuzzy Sets and Fuzzy Logic. Theory and Application. Prentice Hall PTR, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey (1995)
- 22. Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (2000)
- Mas, M., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: t-Operators. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 7, 31–50 (1999)
- Mas, M., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: The distributivity condition for uninorms and t-operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 128, 209–225 (2002)
- Mas, M., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: The modularity condition for uninorms and t-operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 126, 207–218 (2002)
- Mesiar, R., Komorníková, M.: Classification of aggregation functions on bounded partially ordered sets. In: 2010 IEEE 8th International Symposium on Intelligent Systems and Informatics, SISY 2010, Subotica, Serbia, pp. 13–16 (2010)
- Silvert, W.: Symmetric summation: a class of operations on fuzzy sets. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 9, 657–659 (1979)

# Characterizing Ordinal Sum for t-norms and t-conorms on Bounded Lattices

Gül Deniz Çaylı<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Sciences, Karadeniz Technical University, 61080 Trabzon, Turkey guldeniz.cayli@ktu.edu.tr

**Abstract.** The ordinal sum of triangular norms on the unit interval has been proposed to construct new triangular norms. However, considering general bounded lattices, the ordinal sum of triangular norms and conorms may not generate triangular norms and conorms. In this paper, we study and propose some new construction methods yielding triangular norms and conorms on general bounded lattices. Moreover, we generalize these construction methods by induction to a ordinal sum construction for triangular norms and conorms, applicable on any bounded lattice. And some illustrative examples are added for clarity.

### 1 Introduction

The triangular norms (t-norms for short) and the triangular conorms (t-conorms for short) firstly appeared in mathematical literature in the study "Statistical Metrics" of Menger [19]. The main aim of introducing these concepts was that triangular inequalities were extended from classical metric spaces to probabilistic metric spaces using the theory of t-norm and t-conorm. The t-norms with 1 as neutral element and t-conorms with 0 as neutral element which are considered as special semigroup on unit interval and play a key role in the theory of fuzzy metric spaces were given as equivalent by Schweizer and Sklar [25,26]. T-norms and t-conorms also play an important role in decision making, statistics as well as in the theories of non-additive measures and cooperative games [5,16,22,23]. Therefore, the knowledge of the structure of the class of t-norms and t-conorms is very important. These operators originally were defined on the unit interval, although it is crucial and fundamental to work on general structure of them on bounded lattices. Additionally, the concepts of t-norms and t-conorms were also studied theoretically by many authors in other papers [1, 2, 7, 17, 20].

Constructions for t-norms and t-conorms on [0, 1] by using ordinal sums in the sense of lattices of Birkhoff [4] and ordinal sums of semigroups [9] are the ordinal sum construction. Although, the ordinal sum of t-norms on [0, 1] has been used to construct other t-norms, on a bounded lattice, an ordinal sum of t-norms may not be a t-norm. Considering an arbitrary bounded lattice L, in order to construct these operators on L as ordinal sums of t-norms and t-conorms, Goguen has proposed to study on fuzzy sets with membership values from L [15]. Saminger

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_40

has studied on ordinal sums of t-norms acting on some bounded lattice which is not necessarily a chain or an ordinal sum of posets [24]. Furthermore, Medina has given some methods that ordinal sum of arbitrary t-norms on a bounded lattice is a t-norm under some additional assumptions [18]. Drygaś has investigated some properties of uninorm-like operations generalizating of t-norms and t-conorms based on operations are given by ordinal sums [12]. For more details on uninorms, we refer to [6,11,13,21].

Ertuğrul, Karaçal and Mesiar have proposed a modification of ordinal sums of t-norms and t-conorms underlying with t-norms and t-conorms valid on general bounded lattices [14]. In this paper, we propose new construction ways to generate t-norms and t-conorms on an arbitrary bounded lattice different from given in [14]. If x or y are from [a, 1] in triangular norm case, then both constructions coincide and our new construction puts on the remainder 0. Similarly if x or y are from [0, a] in triangular conorm case, then both constructions coincide and our new construction puts on the remainder 1. As by-product, our constructions generate the smallest t-norm T on L such that on  $[a, 1]^2$  t-norm T coincides with an a priori fixed t-norm V on [a, 1] and the greatest t-conorm S on L such that on  $[0, a]^2$  t-conorm S coincides with an a priori fixed t-norm W on [0, a]. Furthermore, we generalize these construction ways by induction to a ordinal sum construction for t-norms and t-conorms, applicable on any bounded lattice. And we give some examples to clearly understand these construction ways for t-norms and t-conorms on general bounded lattices.

**Definition 1.** [4,10] A bounded lattice  $(L, \leq)$  is a lattice which has the top and bottom elements, which are written as 1 and 0, respectively, that is, there exist two elements  $1, 0 \in L$  such that  $0 \leq x \leq 1$ , for all  $x \in L$ .

**Definition 2.** [4] Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ , if a and b are incomparable, in this case, we use the notation  $a \parallel b$ . We denote the set of elements which are incomparable with a by  $I_a$ . So  $I_a = \{x \in L \mid x \parallel a\}$ .

**Definition 3.** [3,8] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. Operation  $T: L^2 \to L$  is called a triangular norm (t-norm) if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to both variables and it satisfies T(x, 1) = x for all  $x \in L$ .

**Definition 4.** [8] Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. Operation  $S : L^2 \to L$  is called a triangular conorm (t-conorm) if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to both variables and it satisfies S(x, 0) = x for all  $x \in L$ .

# 2 Construction of t-norms and t-conorms on Bounded Lattices

Consider a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq 0, 1)$ , an element  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ , a t-norm  $V : [a, 1]^2 \to [a, 1]$  and a t-conorm  $W : [0, a]^2 \to [0, a]$ . An ordinal sum extension T of V to L and S of W to L is given by (see [24])

$$T(x,y) = \begin{cases} V(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [a,1]^2, \\ x \wedge y \quad otherwise \end{cases}$$
(1)



Fig. 1. The lattice L

and

$$S(x,y) = \begin{cases} W(x,y) \text{ if } (x,y) \in [0,a]^2, \\ x \lor y \quad otherwise \end{cases}$$
(2)

However, the above-defined mapping T need not be a t-norm, in general. Similarly, S need not be a t-conorm, in general.

*Example 1.* Given the lattice  $L = \{0, p, q, s, a, r, 1\}$  with the order given in Fig. 1.

(i) Consider the t-norm  $V : [a, 1]^2 \to [a, 1], V(x, y) = \begin{cases} x \land y \text{ if } 1 \in \{x, y\}, \\ a & otherwise \end{cases}$  for all  $x, y \in [a, 1]$ . Then the operation T is constructed as Table 1 by using the formula (1), but T is not a t-norm on L.

Table	1.	The	operation	1	on	L

T	0	p	q	s	a	r	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
p	0	p	p	p	p	p	p
q	0	p	q	p	p	q	q
s	0	p	p	s	p	s	s
a	0	p	p	p	a	a	a
r	0	p	q	s	a	a	r
1	0	p	q	s	a	r	1

If we take the elements  $s, r \in L$ , then  $s \leq r$ . But we have that  $T(s, r) = s \parallel a = T(r, r)$ . Hence, T does not satisfy monotonicity. Moreover, T(T(r, r), q) = T(a, q) = p and T(r, T(r, q)) = T(r, q) = q for the elements  $r, q \in L$ . Hence, T does not satisfy associativity. So, we obtain that T is not a t-norm on L.

(ii) Consider the t-conorm  $W : [0, a]^2 \to [0, a], W(x, y) = \begin{cases} x \lor y \text{ if } 0 \in \{x, y\}, \\ a & otherwise \end{cases}$  for all  $x, y \in [0, a]$ . Then the operation S is constructed as Table 2 by using the formula (2), but S is not a t-conorm on L.

**Table 2.** The operation S on L

S	0	p	a	q	s	r	1
0	0	p	a	q	s	r	1
p	p	a	a	q	s	r	1
a	a	a	a	r	r	r	1
q	q	q	r	q	r	r	1
s	s	s	r	r	s	r	1
r	r	r	r	r	r	r	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

we take the elements  $p, q \in L$ , then  $p \leq q$ . But we have that S(p, p) = a || q = S(q, p). Hence, S does not satisfy monotonicity. Moreover, S(S(p, p), s) = S(a, s) = r and S(p, S(p, s)) = S(p, s) = s for the elements  $p, s \in L$ . Hence, S does not satisfy associativity. So, we obtain that S is not a t-conorm on L.

**Theorem 1.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . If V is a t-norm on [a, 1] and W is a t-conorm on [0, a], then the functions  $T : L^2 \to L$  and  $S : L^2 \to L$  are, respectively, a t-norm and a t-conorm on L, where

$$T(x,y) = \begin{cases} V(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [a,1[^2, x \land y & if \ 1 \in \{x,y\}, \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(3)

and

$$S(x,y) = \begin{cases} W(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in ]0,a]^2, \\ x \lor y & if \ 0 \in \{x,y\}, \\ 1 & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(4)

**Corollary 1.** Let  $a \in L \setminus \{0,1\}$ . If we put  $V(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \land y \text{ if } 1 \in \{x,y\}, \\ a \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$  on

[a,1] in the formula (3) in Theorem 1, the following t-norm T is the smallest t-norm on L that extends V.

$$T(x,y) = \begin{cases} a & if (x,y) \in [a,1]^2, \\ x \wedge y & if 1 \in \{x,y\}, \\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases}$$

**Corollary 2.** Let  $a \in L \setminus \{0,1\}$ . If we put  $W(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \lor y \text{ if } 0 \in \{x,y\}, \\ a \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$  on [0,a] in the formula (4) in Theorem 1, the following t-conorm S is the greatest t-conorm on L that extends W.

$$S(x,y) = \begin{cases} a & if \ (x,y) \in [0,a]^2 \,, \\ x \lor y \ if \ 0 \in \{x,y\} \,, \\ 1 & otherwise \end{cases}$$



Fig. 2. The lattice L in Example 2

*Example 2.* Given a bounded lattice  $L = \{0, p, q, s, a, n, r, 1\}$ , with the order given in Fig. 2. Consider t-norm  $V : [a, 1]^2 \to [a, 1], V(x, y) = x \land y$  for all  $x, y \in [a, 1]$ . By using Theorem 1, the corresponding t-norm  $T : L^2 \to L$  is given as Table 3.

**Table 3.** The t-norm T on L

T	0	p	q	s	n	a	r	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
p	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	p
q	0	0	0	0	0	a	0	q
s	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	s
n	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	n
a	0	0	a	0	0	a	r	a
r	0	0	0	0	0	r	r	r
1	0	p	q	s	n	a	r	1



Fig. 3. The lattice L in Example 3

*Example 3.* Given a bounded lattice  $L = \{0, s, n, a, q, r, p, 1\}$ , with order given in Fig. 3. Consider t-conorm  $W : [0, a]^2 \to [0, a], W(x, y) = x \lor y$  for all  $x, y \in [0, a]$ . By using Theorem 1, the corresponding t-conorm  $S : L^2 \to L$  is given as Table 4.

Table 4. The t-conorm S on L

S	0	s	n	a	q	r	р	1
0	0	s	n	a	q	r	р	1
s	s	s	a	a	1	1	1	1
n	n	a	n	a	1	1	1	1
a	a	a	a	a	1	1	1	1
q	q	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
r	r	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
р	р	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

## 3 Ordinal Sum Characterization for t-norms and t-conorms on Bounded Lattices

**Theorem 2.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $\{a_0, a_1, a_2, ..., a_n\}$  be a finite chain in L such that  $a_0 = 1 > a_1 > a_2 > ... > a_n = 0$ . Let  $V : [a_1, 1]^2 \rightarrow [a_1, 1]$  be a t-norm on the sublattice  $[a_1, 1]$ . Then the operation  $T = T_n : L^2 \rightarrow L$  defined recursively as follows is a t-norm, where  $V = T_1$  and for  $i \in \{2, 3, ..., n\}$  the operation  $T_i : [a_i, 1]^2 \rightarrow [a_i, 1]$  is given by

$$T_{i}(x,y) = \begin{cases} T_{i-1}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [a_{i-1},1[^{2}, x \land y & if \ 1 \in \{x,y\}, \\ a_{i} & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(5)

The proof follows easily from Theorem 1 by induction and therefore it is omitted. The construction described inductively by formula (5) can be considered as a ordinal sum construction for t-norms. Obviously, if L in Theorem 2 is a chain then the formula (5) reduces to

$$T_{i}(x,y) = \begin{cases} T_{i-1}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in [a_{i-1},1[^{2}, x \land y], \\ x \land y & if \ 1 \in \{x,y\}, \\ a_{i} & if \ (x,y) \in [a_{i},a_{i-1}]^{2} \cup [a_{i},a_{i-1}] \times [a_{i-1},1[ \cup [a_{i-1},1[ \times [a_{i},a_{i-1}], x]]) \\ x \land y & if \ (x,y) \in [a_{i},a_{i-1}] \\ x$$



Fig. 4. The lattice L in Example 4

*Example 4.* Consider the lattice  $L = \{0, p, q, k, t, m, 1\}$  with the order given in Fig. 4 and in L the finite chain  $\{0, k, t, m, 1\}$  such that  $V(x, y) = x \land y$ for all  $x, y \in [m, 1]$ . Let  $V : [m, 1]^2 \to [m, 1]$  be the t-norms on the sublattice [m, 1] such that  $\lor(x, y) = x \land y$  for all  $x, y \in [m, 1]$ . By using Theorem 2, where  $V = T_1$ , the t-norms  $T_2 : [t, 1]^2 \to [t, 1], T_3 : [k, 1]^2 \to [k, 1]$  and  $T = T_4 : L^2 \to L$ are defined as follows (Tables 5, 6 and 7)

By using the formula (3) in Theorem 1, on the bounded lattice L which is depicted by Fig. 4 the corresponding t-norm  $T: L^2 \to L$  is defined as Table 8 for the given t-norm  $V = T_1: [m, 1]^2 \to [m, 1]$  on the sublattice [m, 1].

**Table 5.** The t-norm  $T_2$  on L

$T_2$	t	m	1
t	t	t	t
m	t	m	m
1	t	m	1

**Table 6.** The t-norm  $T_3$  on L

$T_3$	k	q	t	m	1
k	k	k	k	k	k
q	k	k	k	k	q
t	k	k	t	t	t
m	k	k	t	m	m
1	k	q	t	m	1

Table 7. The t-norm T on L

$T = T_4$	0	p	k	q	t	m	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
p	0	0	0	0	0	0	p
k	0	0	k	k	k	k	k
q	0	0	k	k	k	k	q
t	0	0	k	k	t	t	t
m	0	0	k	k	t	m	m
1	0	p	k	q	t	m	1

Table 8. The t-norm T on L

T	0	p	k	q	t	m	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
p	0	0	0	0	0	0	p
k	0	0	0	0	0	0	k
q	0	0	0	0	0	0	q
t	0	0	0	0	0	0	t
m	0	0	0	0	0	m	m
1	0	p	k	q	t	m	1

**Theorem 3.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $\{b_0, b_1, b_2, ..., b_n\}$  be a finite chain in L such that  $b_0 = 0 < b_1 < b_2 < ... < b_n = 1$ . Let  $W : [0, b_1]^2 \rightarrow [0, b_1]$  be a t-conorm on the sublattice  $[0, b_1]$ . Then the operation  $S = S_n : L^2 \rightarrow L$  defined recursively as follows is a t-conorm, where  $W = S_1$  and for  $i \in \{2, 3, ..., n\}$  the operation  $S_i : [0, b_i]^2 \rightarrow [0, b_i]$  is given by

$$S_{i}(x,y) = \begin{cases} S_{i-1}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in ]0, b_{i-1}]^{2}, \\ x \lor y \qquad if \ 0 \in \{x,y\}, \\ b_{i} \qquad otherwise \end{cases}$$
(6)

The proof follows easily from Theorem 1 by induction and therefore it is omitted. The construction described inductively by formula (6) can be considered

as a ordinal sum construction for t-conorms. Obviously, if L in Theorem 3 is a chain then the formula (6) reduces to

$$S_{i}(x,y) = \begin{cases} S_{i-1}(x,y) \ if \ (x,y) \in \left]0, b_{i-1}\right]^{2}, \\ x \lor y \qquad if \ 0 \in \left\{x,y\right\}, \\ b_{i} \qquad if \ (x,y) \in \left]b_{i-1}, b_{i}\right]^{2} \cup \left]0, b_{i-1}\right] \times \left]b_{i-1}, b_{i}\right] \cup \left]b_{i-1}, b_{i}\right] \times \left]0, b_{i-1}\right]. \end{cases}$$



Fig. 5. The lattice L in Example 5

Example 5. Consider the lattice  $L = \{0, p, q, k, t, s, 1\}$  with the order given in Fig. 5 and in L the finite chain  $\{0, p, k, t, 1\}$  such that  $0 . Let <math>W : [0, p]^2 \to [0, p]$  be a t-conorm on the sublattice [0, p] such that  $W(x, y) = x \lor y$  for all  $x, y \in [0, p]$ . By using Theorem 3, where  $W = S_1$ , the t-conorms  $S_2 : [0, k]^2 \to [0, k], S_3 : [0, t]^2 \to [0, t]$  and  $S = S_4 : L^2 \to L$  are defined as follows (Tables 9, 10 and 11)

By using the formula (4) in Theorem 1, on the bounded lattice L which is depicted by Fig. 5, the corresponding  $P: L^2 \to L$  is defined as Table 12 for the given t-norm  $W = S_1: [0, p]^2 \to [0, p]$  on the sublattice [0, p].

**Table 9.** The t-conorm  $S_2$  on L

$S_2$	0	p	q	k
0	0	p	q	k
p	p	p	k	k
q	q	k	k	k
k	k	k	k	k

Table 10. The t-conorm  $S_3$  on L

$S_3$	0	p	q	k	t
0	0	p	q	k	t
p	p	p	k	k	t
q	q	k	k	k	t
k	k	k	k	k	t
t	t	t	t	t	t

Table 11. The t-conorm S on L

$S = S_4$	0	p	q	k	t	s	1
0	0	p	q	k	t	s	1
p	p	p	k	k	t	1	1
q	q	k	k	k	t	1	1
k	k	k	k	k	t	1	1
t	t	t	t	t	t	1	1
s	s	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

Table 12. The t-conorm S on L

S	0	p	q	k	t	s	1
0	0	p	q	k	t	s	1
p	p	p	1	1	1	1	1
q	q	1	1	1	1	1	1
k	k	1	k	1	1	1	1
t	t	1	1	1	1	1	1
s	s	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

## 4 Concluding Remarks

Considering an arbitrary bounded lattice L, we have researched and exemplified the new ways to characterization of t-norms and t-conorms on L by using the existence of t-norms on the sublattice [a, 1] and t-conorms on the sublattice [0, a] for the indicated element  $a \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$ . Furthermore, we have proposed that the construction methods considered as a ordinal sum of t-norms and tconorms on L. The construction methods as observed in [18, 24] be in need of several constraint conditions ensuring an ordinal sum on L of arbitrary t-norms and t-conorms. But our ordinal sum construction methods be valid on general bounded lattices without any additional assumption. And these methods can be applied to define connectives for fuzzy sets type 2, interval-valued fuzzy sets, intuitionistic fuzzy sets, etc.

Acknowledgments. The authors are very grateful to the anonymous reviewers and editors for their helpful comments and valuable suggestions.

## References

- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: On the T -partial order and properties. Inf. Sci. 267, 323–333 (2014)
- 2. Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: Incomparability with respect to the triangular order. Kybernetika **52**, 15–27 (2016)
- Aşıcı, E.: An order induced by nullnorms and its properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. doi:10. 1016/j.fss.2016.12.004
- 4. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publishers, Providence (1967)
- 5. Butnariu, D., Klement, E.P.: Triangular Norm-Based Measures and Games with Fuzzy Coalitions. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1993)
- Çaylı, G.D., Karaçal, F.: Construction of uninorms on bounded lattices. Kybernetika 53, 394–417 (2017)
- 7. Çaylı, G.D.: On a new class of t-norms and t-conorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. doi:10.1016/j.fss.2017.07.015
- Çaylı, G.D., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: On a new class of uninorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 367–368, 221–231 (2016)
- Clifford, A.: Naturally totally ordered commutative semigroups. Am. J. Math. 76, 631–646 (1954)
- Drygaś, P.: Isotonic operations with zero element in bounded lattices. In: Atanassov, K., Hryniewicz, O., Kacprzyk, J. (eds.) Soft Computing Foundations and Theoretical Aspect, EXIT Warszawa, pp. 181–190 (2004)
- Drewniak, J., Drygaś, P., Rak, E.: Distributivity between uninorms and nullnorms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159, 1646–1657 (2008)
- Drygaś, P.: On properties of uninorms with underlying t-norm and t-conorm given as ordinal sums. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 161, 149–157 (2010)
- Drygaś, P., Ruiz-Aguilera, D., Torrens, J.: A characterization of uninorms locally internal in A(e) with continuous underlying operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 287, 137– 153 (2016)
- 14. Ertuğrul, Ü., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: Modified ordinal sums of triangular norms and triangular conorms on bounded lattices. Int. J. Intell. Syst. **30**, 807–817 (2015)
- 15. Goguen, J.A.: L-fuzzy sets. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 18, 145–174 (1967)
- Grabisch, M., Nguyen, H.T., Walker, E.A.: Fundamentals of Uncertainty Calculi with Applications to Fuzzy Inference. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1995)
- 17. Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (2000)
- Medina, J.: Characterizing when an ordinal sum of t-norms is a t-norm on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 202, 75–88 (2012)
- 19. Menger, K.: Statistical metrics. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 8, 535-537 (1942)
- Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Different interpretations of triangular norms and related operations. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 96, 183–189 (1998)

- Mesiarová-Zemanková, A.: Multi-polar t-conorms and uninorms. Inf. Sci. 301, 227– 240 (2015)
- 22. Nelsen, R.B.: An Introduction to Copulas. Lecture Notes in Statistics, vol. 139. Springer, New York (1999)
- Pap, E.: Null-Additive Set Functions. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1995)
- Saminger, S.: On ordinal sums of triangular norms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 157(10), 1403–1416 (2006)
- Schweizer, B., Sklar, A.: Statistical metric spaces. Pacific J. Math. 10, 313–334 (1960)
- Schweizer, B., Sklar, A.: Probabilistic Metric Spaces. North-Holland, New York (1983)

# Crisp vs. Fuzzy Data in Multicriteria Decision Making: The Case of the VIKOR Method

Blanca Ceballos<sup>1</sup>, María T. Lamata<sup>1</sup>, David A. Pelta<sup>1( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>, and Ronald R. Yager<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> University of Granada, 18014 Granada, Spain {bceballos,mtl}@decsai.ugr.es, dpelta@ugr.es
 <sup>2</sup> Machine Intelligence Institute, Iona College, New Rochelle, NY 10801, USA yager@panix.com

Abstract. In this contribution we want to shed light onto the following research question: in the context of multicriteria decision making problem, does the nature of the information available (either crisp or fuzzy) has any impact in the ranking of the alternatives? We explore this situation using randomly generated decision problems and the VIKOR method as an example.

Keywords: MCDM  $\cdot$  VIKOR  $\cdot$  Fuzzy data  $\cdot$  Crisp data

#### 1 Introduction

A multicriteria (or multiattribute) decision making (MCDM) problem can be represented using a decision matrix as the one shown in Table 1. There are mrows, each one associated with an alternative  $\{A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_m\}$ . Every column (out of n) is associated with a set of criteria  $\{C_1, C_2, \ldots, C_n\}$ . Finally, it is assumed that a decision maker is able to reflect the importance of the criteria using a set of n weights  $\{w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_n\}$ . The value of the alternative  $A_i$  under criterion  $C_i$  is denoted as  $x_{ij}$ .

Then, a MCDM method takes as input a decision matrix and gives, as an output, a ranking of the alternatives. Usually, the ranking is derived from a rating or scoring of the alternatives.

There are many popular MCDM methods in the literature, as those based on pairwise comparison of alternatives, Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), methods that consider the distance to the ideal solution as the Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS) or methods that works with preferences, as the Preference Ranking Organisation Methods for Enrichment Evaluations (PROMETHEE). The interested reader can check recent books like [6] for further information.

It is well known that given the same MCDM problem, different methods may lead to different results, as it have been shown in [1,2], but here we focus on the *VIseKriterijumska Optimizacija I Kompromisno Resenje* (VIKOR) [9,11]. VIKOR has been consistently used in a wide range of areas in the last years.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_41
MCDM	$\begin{array}{c} w_1\\ C_1\end{array}$	$w_2$ $C_2$	 	$w_n$ $C_n$
$\begin{array}{c} A_1 \\ A_2 \end{array}$	$x_{11} \\ x_{21}$	$x_{12} \\ x_{22}$	 	$\begin{array}{c} x_{1n} \\ x_{2n} \end{array}$
$\dots A_m$	$\dots x_{m1}$	$\dots x_{m2}$	$x_{ij}$	$\dots x_{mn}$

 Table 1. Decision matrix of a MCDM problem.



Fig. 1. Distribution of VIKOR related publications (698 since 1990) by research areas.

A search with the query *TITLE-ABS-KEY* (vikor) in www.scopus.com, and considering the results since 1990, retrieved 698 documents. But what is more interesting is the research areas where these publications appeared, which reveals the wide range of potential applications of the method. This distribution is shown in Fig. 1.

In many real life situations, the values  $x_{ij}$  are not known precisely. In other words, the imprecision, vagueness, uncertainty, etc. of the data should be taken into account. In a situation where instead of saying the value of  $A_i$  under  $C_j$  is exactly  $x_{ij}$ , we are allowed to say around  $x_{ij}$ , then fuzzy numbers [4] are suitable tools to model such kind of imprecision leading to fuzzy multicriteria decision making problems [7,12]. In this way, we can obtain a proper modeling of the imprecision in the nature of the data.

The research question we pose here is: when using the VIKOR method, does it make any impact to consider or not this imprecision (crisp vs. fuzzy) in the problem from the point of view of the obtained rankings? In order to shed light into this topic, we design and perform a simulation based experiment to assess such impact.

This paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces the VIKOR method and its fuzzy version, Fuzzy VIKOR. In Sect. 4 we describe the computational experiments and the results obtained. Finally, Sect. 5 summarizes the conclusions of our research.

## 2 Description of the VIKOR Method

Here we outline the basic aspects of the VIKOR method following the description presented in [11].

#### VIKOR Method for Precise Information

Considering the notation of the Table 1, the method consists of the following steps:

Step 1: Normalization procedure:

$$n_{ij} = \frac{(f_j^+ - x_{ij})}{(f_j^+ - f_j^-)} \tag{1}$$

where  $f_i^+$  and  $f_i^-$  are defined as follow:

If 
$$C_j$$
 is a benefit criterion 
$$\begin{cases} f_j^+ = \max_i f_{ij} \\ f_j^- = \min_i f_{ij} \end{cases}$$
(2)

If 
$$C_j$$
 is a cost criterion 
$$\begin{cases} f_j^+ = \min_i f_{ij} \\ f_j^- = \max_i f_{ij} \end{cases}$$
 (3)

 $i = 1, 2, \dots, m$  and  $j = 1, 2, \dots, n$ . Step 2: Compute the values  $S_i$  and  $R_i$ 

$$S_i = \sum_{j=1}^m w_j * n_{ij} \tag{4}$$

$$R_i = \max_j \left[ w_j * n_{ij} \right] \tag{5}$$

where  $w_j$  is the weight associated to the criteria  $C_j$ , j = 1, 2, ..., n and i = 1, 2, ..., m.

Step 3: Compute the values  $Q_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., m as:

$$Q_i = v \frac{(S_i - S^+)}{(S^- - S^+)} + (1 - v) \frac{(R_i - R^+)}{(R^- - R^+)}$$
(6)

where

$$S^+ = \min_i \{S_i\}$$
  $S^- = \max_i \{S_i\}$   
 $R^- = \min_i \{R_i\}$   $R^- = \max_i \{R_i\}$ 

Parameter  $v \in [0, 1]$  plays the following role. When v > 0.5, this represents a decision-making process that could use the strategy of maximum group utility (i.e., if v is big, group utility is emphasized), or by consensus when  $v \approx 0.5$ , or with veto when v < 0.5.

Step 4: Rank the alternatives in terms of their  $Q_i$  values. The lower the  $Q_i$  value, the higher position in the ranking.

#### VIKOR Method for Imprecise Information

VIKOR was modified to deal with imprecise (fuzzy) information in the decision matrix. This modification led to Fuzzy VIKOR [10]. Now, the input information considers that the values  $x_{ij}$  and  $w_j$  are triangular fuzzy numbers denoted as  $\tilde{x}_{ij}$  and  $\tilde{w}_j$ , respectively. The fuzzy decision matrix is shown in Table 2.

MCDM	$\tilde{w}_1$ $C_1$	$ \tilde{w}_2 \\ C_2 $	 	$ \tilde{w}_n $ $ C_n $
$A_1$	$\tilde{x}_{11}$	$\tilde{x}_{12}$		$\tilde{x}_{1n}$
$A_2$	$\begin{array}{c} x_{21} \\ \dots \end{array}$	$x_{22}$	$\tilde{x}_{ij}$	$x_{2n}$
$A_m$	$\tilde{x}_{m1}$	$\tilde{x}_{m2}$		$\tilde{x}_{mn}$

Table 2. Fuzzy decision matrix of a MCDM problem.

From an algorithmic point of view, Fuzzy VIKOR replaces the "classic arithmetic" with the triangular fuzzy numbers' arithmetic. For the sake of completeness, the corresponding operations are described below. Being  $\tilde{A} = (a_1, a_2, a_3)$  and  $\tilde{B} = (b_1, b_2, b_3)$  two triangular fuzzy numbers, the required operations are:

$$\begin{aligned} Addition &: \hat{A} \oplus \hat{B} = (a_1 + b_1, a_2 + b_2, a_3 + b_3) \\ Subtraction &: \tilde{A} \ominus \tilde{B} = (a_1 - b_3, a_2 - b_2, a_3 - b_1) \\ Multiplication &: \tilde{A} \otimes \tilde{B} = (a_1 \times b_1, a_2 \times b_2, a_3 \times b_3) \\ Division &: \tilde{A} \oslash \tilde{B} = (a_1/b_3, a_2/b_2, a_3/b_1) \\ ScalarDivision &: \tilde{A}/k = (a_1/k, a_2/k, a_3/k) \\ Maximum &: MAX(\tilde{A}, \tilde{B}) = (\max(a_1, b_1), \max(a_2, b_2), \max(a_3, b_3)) \\ Minimum &: MIN(\tilde{A}, \tilde{B}) = (\min(a_1, b_1), \min(a_2, b_2), \min(a_3, b_3)) \end{aligned}$$

At the end of step 3, Fuzzy VIKOR has a fuzzy value  $\tilde{Q}_i = \{Q_{i1}, Q_{i2}, Q_{i3}\}$  for every alternative. Instead of sorting them, a defuzzification process is made as follows:

$$Q_i = \frac{Q_{i1} + 2Q_{i2} + Q_{i3}}{4}$$

where now, the best alternative is again the one with the lowest value of  $Q_i$ .

### 3 Illustrative Examples

In this section, we will show using three examples, that the nature of the data (fuzzy or crisp) may or may not have an impact in the ranking of the alternatives.

#### Example 1: the nature of the data has no impact.

Table 3 shows (on top) a fuzzy decision matrix. A corresponding crisp decision matrix (in the bottom) is derived from the fuzzy one, taking the central values of each fuzzy number.

The last two columns on each matrix show the scores  $(Q_i \text{ values})$  for the alternatives together with their corresponding rankings. Please note that the  $Q_i$  values in the 7<sup>th</sup> column of the fuzzy matrix correspond to the defuzzified value of  $\tilde{Q}_i$ .

For these matrices, the ranking of the alternatives is the same. As a consequence, we can say that in this example, the nature of data is irrelevant or has no impact.

**Table 3.** Example 1: fuzzy (top) and crisp (bottom) decision problems. The ranking of the alternatives is also shown.

Alt.	$C_1$		$C_2$	C	23		$C_4$	$C_{\xi}$	5	$Q_i$	Rank
$A_1$	(47, 51, 5)	4) (11,	11,12)	(50, 5)	(3,56)	(79,	88,93)	(43,43	,45)	0.38	3
$A_2$	(29, 31, 3)	3)(17,	19,20)	(9,	9,9)	(1	,1,1)	(79,86	,93)	0.55	5
$A_3$	(24, 26, 2)	7) (57,	60,63)	(83, 9)	(0,91)	(44,	49,51)	(72, 77)	,82)	0.00	1
$A_4$	(38, 40, 4)	2) (29,	31,34)	(54, 5)	6,60)	(85,	92,99)	(38, 41)	,45)	0.30	2
$A_5$	(8, 9, 10)	) (70,	72,78)	(15, 1)	6,17)	(29,	31,33)	(51, 52)	2,57)	0.50	4
		Alt.	$C_1$	$C_2$	$C_3$	$C_4$	$C_5$	$Q_i$	Rank		
		$A_1$	51	11	53	88	43	0.76	3		
		$A_2$	31	19	9	1	86	1.00	5		
		$A_3$	26	60	90	49	77	0.00	1		
		$A_4$	40	31	56	92	41	0.73	2		

#### Example 2: different rankings but the same top alternative.

16 31

52

0.99

4

 $A_5$ 

9 72

Table 4 shows the decision matrices and the corresponding results. For these matrices, the ranking of the alternatives are almost completely different, but the top alternative  $(A_2)$  is the same.

Two reversals occurred when going from the fuzzy to the crisp data:  $A_1$  with  $A_5$  and  $A_3$  with  $A_4$ . If we analyze the  $Q_i$  values of these pairs of alternatives, we can observe that they are very similar. Thus, a minor change in the decision matrix data, may lead to a change in their rank position. In other words, we can say that the alternatives  $(A_1, A_5)$  and  $(A_3, A_4)$  have the "same quality".

Alt.	$C_1$	$C_2$	С	3	$C_4$	C	, 5	$Q_i$	Rank
$A_1$	(32, 34, 37)	(83,92,9	(20,22)	2,24) (62)	2,67,70)	(52, 5)	5,58)	0.06	3
$A_2$	(89, 99, 105)	) (75,77,7)	(13,13)	3,14) (2-	4,24,25)	(42, 4)	7,51)	0.04	1
$A_3$	(73, 79, 84)	(4,4,4)	) (5,5	(5,5) (84)	,91,100	) (36,3	6,39)	0.33	5
$A_4$	(59, 62, 67)	(73, 76, 7)	(9) (22,22	2,24) (19	9,21,23)	(31,3	2,33)	0.22	4
$A_5$	(36, 38, 43)	(86,87,9	(43, 43)	(5,46) (86	,95,104	) (22,2	3,25)	0.05	2
	4	Alt. C	$C_1  C_2$	$C_3$ $C_4$	$C_5$	$Q_i$	Rank		
		$A_1$ 3	4 92	22 67	55	0.50	2		

24 47

95

36

32

23

0.10

0.95

1.00

0.51

1

4

5

3

**Table 4.** Example 2: fuzzy (top) and crisp (bottom) decision problems. The ranking of the alternatives is also shown.

#### Example 3: different rankings and the top alternatives changed.

13

5 91

22 21

45

Table 5 shows the problems information and the results.

99 77

79 4

62 76

38 87

 $A_2$ 

 $A_3$  $A_4$ 

 $A_5$ 

In this example we observe that the top 3 alternatives changed when the problem is considered as crisp. In the fuzzy problem, the top alternatives were  $A_1, A_5, A_2$ , while in the crisp case, the order was  $A_2, A_1, A_5$ .

Moreover, in the fuzzy case, the difference in the  $Q_i$  values is smaller between  $A_1$  (0.06) and  $A_5$  (0.07) than the one between  $A_5$  (0.07) and  $A_2$  (0.13), so a minor change in the data may alter which is the top alternative. However in the crisp

**Table 5.** Example 3: fuzzy (top) and crisp (bottom) decision problems. The ranking of the alternatives is also shown.

Alt.	$C_1$	(	$C_2$	(	$C_3$		$C_4$	С	5	$Q_i$	Rank
$A_1$	(80, 86, 9)	93) (81,8	88,92)	(3,	3,3)	(72	,76,83)	(50,5)	3,58)	0.06	1
$A_2$	(34, 37, 3)	39) (81,9	90,91)	(8,	9,9)	(68)	,73,80)	(33, 34)	4,35)	0.13	3
$A_3$	(27, 29, 3)	(16, 10)	17,17)	(75, 7)	78,85)	(18	,20,21)	(20,2)	0,20)	0.35	5
$A_4$	(58, 59, 6	(85, 9)	90,97)	(54, 5)	55,57)	(32	,34,35)	(9, 10)	,10)	0.22	4
$A_5$	(76, 84, 8)	85) (59, 6)	60, 61)	(91, 9)	9,108	) (4	$^{4,5,5)}$	(70,7)	4,78)	0.07	2
		Alt.	$C_1$	$C_2$	$C_3$	$C_4$	$C_5$	$Q_i$	$\operatorname{Rank}$		
		$A_1$	86	88	3	76	53	0.50	2		
		$A_2$	37	90	9	73	34	0.22	1		
		$A_3$	29	17	78	20	20	1.00	5		
		$A_4$	59	90	55	34	10	0.73	4		
		$A_5$	84	60	99	5	74	0.51	3		

case, the top alternative is clearly the best one:  $Q_2 = 0.22$  while the second one has  $Q_1 = 0.5$ . Here, a minor change in the data may cause a reversal between the second and third alternatives (as  $Q_5 = 0.51$ ).

#### 4 Experiments and Results

Using a simulation based approach, we want assess the nature of the data' impact. We will firstly solve a set of randomly generated fuzzy decision making problems and their derived crisp versions and secondly, we will compare the corresponding rankings.

More specifically we consider 100 decision matrices with n = 5 criteria and m = 5 alternatives. The data generation procedure is outlined below.

We first define a fuzzy decision making problems dataset (FDP), where each element  $d\tilde{p}_k \in FDP, k = 1, ..., 100$  is a decision matrix with fuzzy data. The corresponding values  $\tilde{x}_{ij}$  in the matrix are randomly generated as follows:

$$\tilde{x}_{ij} = (x_{ij1}, x_{ij2}, x_{ij3}) = \begin{cases} x_{ij1} \in x_{ij2} - \cup(1, 10) * x_{ij2}/100 \\ x_{ij2} \in \cup(1, 100) \\ x_{ij3} \in x_{ij2} + \cup(1, 10) * x_{ij2}/100 \end{cases}$$

Regarding the criteria, and for the sake of simplicity, we assumed that all of them are equally important and should be maximized (benefit criteria). They are defined as follows:

$$\tilde{w}_j = (w_{j1}, w_{j2}, w_{j3}) = \begin{cases} w_{j1} = 1/n - (0.1 * 1/n) \\ w_{j2} = 1/n \\ w_{j3} = 1/n + (0.1 * 1/n)) \end{cases}$$

Departing from the set FDP we construct a crisp dataset CDP, where each  $dp_k \in CDP, k = 1, ..., 100$ , is the defuzzified version of the corresponding  $d\tilde{p}_k$ . Recalling that  $\tilde{x}_{ij} = (x_{ij1}, x_{ij2}, x_{ij3})$ , we define the crisp value  $x_{ij} = x_{ij2}$ . In these crisp problems, the weights are defined as  $w_j = 1/n$ .

Then, for each pair  $(dp_k, dp_k), k = 1, ..., 100$  we apply Fuzzy VIKOR and VIKOR to obtain two rankings:  $r_k^f, r_k^c$ , respectively. Finally we count the number of times where  $r_k^f = r_k^c$  and those cases where  $r_k^f \neq r_k^c$ . In the later case, we count if the top alternative is the same or not in both rankings.

The whole process is repeated for three different values of the VIKOR's v parameter:  $v = \{0.0, 0.5, 1.0\}$ .

The computational experiments have been done in R-Project work environment [13], using the VIKOR and Fuzzy VIKOR implementation provided in the MCDM [8] and FuzzyMCMD [5] packages respectively. Both packages are available on the CRAN repository [3].

#### 4.1 Results

In this section we analyze the results obtained.

**Solved Problems.** It is well known that VIKOR may fail to solve a problem (unable to return a ranking), when v < 1.

The reason for the failure lies on the  $R_i$  values, which can be the same for all the alternatives in some problems. In such situation,  $\min_i \{R_i\} = \max_i \{R_i\}$ , thus  $R^- = R^+$  and then, in the following calculation

$$Q_i = v \frac{(S_i - S^+)}{(S^- - S^+)} + (1 - v) \frac{(R_i - R^+)}{(R^- - R^+)}$$

a division by zero occurs.

Table 6 shows an example from our experiment, where VIKOR failed to provide a solution when v = 0.5. As the  $R_i$ , i = 1, ..., m values are the same, then the  $Q_i$ , i = 1, ..., m can not be calculated.

Alt.	$C_1$	$C_2$	$C_3$	$C_4$	$C_5$	$S_i$	$R_i$	$Q_i$	Rank
$A_1$	24	38	100	38	66	0.55	0.20	-	-
$A_2$	85	7	41	39	86	0.57	0.20	-	-
$A_3$	5	69	59	88	95	0.35	0.20	-	-
$A_4$	19	91	21	47	70	0.59	0.20	-	-
$A_5$	12	20	69	88	23	0.63	0.20	-	-
$f^+$	85	91	100	88	95	$S^{+} = 0.35$	$R^+ = 0.20$		
$f^-$	5	7	21	38	23	$S^{-} = 0.63$	$R^{-} = 0.20$		

**Table 6.** Unsolved problems using VIKOR with v = 0.5.

This situation also happened in our experiments when considering crisp data and v = 0 and v = 0.5. However when the data have a fuzzy nature, Fuzzy VIKOR did not fail. The number of solved cases for both data sets are showed in Table 7.

The reason behind this "good" behaviour of Fuzzy VIKOR lies on the fact that it works with fuzzy numbers. Then the chance of obtaining "exactly" the same fuzzy numbers after the calculations is definitely low.

Of course, we can not ensure that Fuzzy VIKOR is free of the indeterminacies of its crisp counterpart, but in our experiments, all the problems have been solved.

**Comparison of the Rankings.** We compared if the ranking of the VIKOR method and the ranking of the Fuzzy VIKOR method are the same. In those cases where the rankings were different, we checked if the top alternative was

v	Solved Problems							
	$\operatorname{Crisp}$	Fuzzy						
0.0	95	100						
0.5	95	100						
1.0	100	100						

Table 7. Number of solved problems considering crisp and fuzzy data.

the same or not. The 5 unsolved problems when VIKOR was run with v = 0 and v = 0.5 in the crisp case were not taken into account in the following analysis.

The results are in Table 8, where for each v value we show the number of cases where both rankings were the same and, for those cases where the rankings were different, we also indicate the cases where the top alternative was the same or not.

**Table 8.** Number of cases where the rankings were equal. When the rankings were different, we show the number of cases where the top alternative is the same or not.

Value of $\boldsymbol{v}$	Different Rank							
	Same Rank		Same $1^{st}$		Different $1^{st}$			
0.0	9/95	(9%)	82/86	(95%)	4/86	(5%)		
0.5	59/95	(62%)	29/36	(80%)	7/36	(20%)		
1.0	86/100	(86%)	11/14	(78%)	3/14	(22%)		

Several aspects should be highlighted. The first one is the influence of the v parameter. As v increased, the number of cases with the same ranking also increased. The second one is that when the rankings are different, the top alternative is almost always the same. However, as v increased, the number of cases with the same top alternative decreased. In other words, as v increased, the cases where the top alternative changed also increased: 5% cases when v = 0, 20% when v = 0.5 and 22% when v = 1.0.

### 5 Conclusions

In this work we wanted to shed light into the following question: does the nature of the information available (either crisp or fuzzy) has any impact in the ranking of the alternatives produced by the VIKOR method?

Using three examples, with fuzzy and crisp data, we showed that three situations may occurr with the corresponding rankings: they could be equal, they could be different but the top alternative is maintained or the rankings could be different and the top alternative changed. Under this situation, we conducted a simulation based experiment where we randomly generated 100 fuzzy multicriteria decision making problems and their corresponding crisp variant that were then solved using VIKOR and Fuzzy VIKOR.

Two conclusions can be derived from the experiments. The first one is that when dealing with fuzzy data, VIKOR is able to solve all the problems in the dataset. This is not happened for the crisp dataset, where a reduced number of problems were not solved due to some indeterminacies occurring in the inner VIKOR calculations.

The second one regards with the question under study: our experiment revealed that considering fuzzy information of the model may lead to different results in terms of the rankings of the alternatives. Moreover these differences depended on the VIKOR's v parameter. When v = 0.0, in just 9% of the solved cases the rankings were equal. In most of the cases where the rankings were different, the top alternative remained unchanged (95% of the cases). As v increased, the cases with the same ranking also increased (up to 86%). The same occurred with the number of cases where the top alternative changed.

From this initial study, several lines of research emerge. The first one is to extend the datasets to consider different numbers of criteria and alternatives. The second one is related with the methods: the same kind of experiment should be reproduced using other MCMD methods. Both lines are under study.

Acknowledgements. This work is partially supported by projects TIN2014-55024-P from the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation and P11-TIC-8001 from Junta de Andaluca (both including FEDER funds, from the European Union).

## References

- Ceballos, B., Lamata, M.T., Pelta, D.A.: A comparative analysis of multi-criteria decision-making methods. Prog. Artif. Intell. 5(4), 315–322 (2016)
- Ceballos, B., Lamata, M.T., Pelta, D.A.: Fuzzy multicriteria decision-making methods: a comparative analysis. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 32(7), 663–753 (2017)
- 3. The comprehensive R archive network (2017). https://cran.r-project.org/
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Fuzzy numbers: an overview. In: Bezdek, J. (ed.) Analysis of Fuzzy Information, vol. 2, pp. 3–39. CRC Press, Boca Raton (1988)
- 5. FuzzyMCDM: Multi-criteria decision making methods for fuzzy data (2017). https://cran.r-project.org/package=FuzzyMCDM
- Greco, S., Ehrgott, M., Figueira, J.R. (eds.) Multiple Criteria Decision Analysis: State of the Art Surveys, International Series in Operations Research & Management Science, vol. 233. Springer, New York (2016)
- Kahraman, C., Onar, S.C., Oztaysi, B.: Fuzzy multicriteria decision-making: a literature review. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 8(4), 637–666 (2015)
- 8. MCDM: Multi-criteria decision making methods for crisp data (2017). https://cran.r-project.org/package=MCDM
- Opricovic, S.: Multicriteria Optimization of Civil Engineering Systems. Faculty of Civil Engineering, Belgrade (1998)
- Opricovic, S.: Fuzzy vikor with an application to water resources planning. Expert Syst. Appli. 38(10), 12983–12990 (2011)

- 11. Opricovic, S., Tzeng, G.-H.: Compromise solution by MCDM methods: a comparative analysis of VIKOR and TOPSIS. Eur. J. Oper. Res. **156**(2), 445–455 (2004)
- 12. Pedrycz, W., Ekel, P., Parreiras, R.: Fuzzy Multicriteria Decision-Making: Models, Methods and Applications. Wiley, New Jersey (2010)
- 13. The R project for statistical computing (2017). http://www.r-project.org

# Facility Location Selection Employing Fuzzy DEA and Fuzzy Goal Programming Techniques

Michele Cedolin, Nazlı Göker, Elif Dogu<sup>(⊠)</sup>, and Y. Esra Albayrak

Department of Industrial Engineering, Galatasaray University, Ciragan Cad. No: 36 Ortakoy, Besiktas, Istanbul, Turkey {mcedolin, nagoker, edogu, ealbayrak}@gsu.edu.tr

**Abstract.** Facility location selection have strategic importance for companies because it influences not only manufacturing and transportation costs but also productivity and lead times to a great extend. Additionally, it is considered as hard and complicated tasks with respect to its multi-objective nature and difficulties resulted from collecting necessary data. Therefore this problem has always been an important subject of engineering literature. The aim of this study is to solve a facility location selection problem in a manufacturing company that locates in Tekirdağ/Turkey. This company has six different factories in the same facility and is considering about establishing a plastic injection factory in the future for producing some of the important plastic components in order to gain cost advantage and also to increase know-how. For this purpose, facility location selection problem is aimed to be solved by applying fuzzy data envelopment analysis (Fuzzy DEA) and fuzzy goal programming (Fuzzy GP) methods.

Keywords: Facility location selection  $\cdot$  Fuzzy DEA  $\cdot$  Fuzzy goal programming  $\cdot$  MCDM

## 1 Introduction

The most common corporate growth strategies are mainly related with growing in global markets, like entrance to new markets or attempting start new businesses to get the benefit of economies of scale [1]. Many researchers emphasized the significance of facility location selection problem under the existence of unsteady and versatile environment of global economy [2]. This kind of location problems that consist of global development are mostly connected with social, economic, legal, cultural factors and moreover they require considerable capital investment which will affect the limitation of manufacturing and logistics in long term. Like any other real-life problems, facility location problems are mostly complicated in nature and their dependence to other processes change from situation to situation. The basic reasons of difficulty to solve these problems are determining necessary considerations that will have further direct effect on selection procedure and fulfilling necessary adjustments between these considerations [3].

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_42

For manufacturing companies, selecting the most optimal location has gained significance since minimizing costs and maximizing the use of resources is one of the most important objectives to achieve. While selecting a location, there are several criteria to pay attention like human resources, climate conditions, availability of raw material etc. Depending on this reason, plant selection can be considered as a multiple criteria decision making problem [4]. According to the literature review, facility location selection is a group decision making problem which is a non-repetitive process, requires the contribution of different departments of the organization and usually cleared up through a procedure that is not supported by a well-defined framework. Within the overall operation management, the methodology of facility location is too broad including product/service design, planning of the capacity and facility layout design issues. Depending on the fact that decisions related with the design of the facility location influence each part of the organization, they cannot be made by only operational managers [5]. Solely top managers can be responsible of these decisions or the company can also outsource necessary support to as well [6].

Over the last five years, scholars have contributed to facility location selection problem by applying a few number of multi-criteria decision making approaches. [7] ranked the nuclear power plant sites in Turkey by integrating fuzzy ENTROPY and fuzzy compromise programming. [8] solved the carbon dioxide geological storage location decision problem in Turkey using fuzzy TOPSIS, fuzzy ELECTRE, and fuzzy VIKOR methods. [9] identified the most appropriate location for a textile manufacturing facility in Istanbul by combining Geographic Information Systems and fuzzy AHP (analytic hierarchy process). [10] selected the most suitable location for the production of nuclear power by employing interval type-2 fuzzy TOPSIS methodology, and also conducted a case study in Turkey.

In this study, in order to find the best location for a new factory, four location alternatives are evaluated by fuzzy DEA ranking methodology, then a fuzzy goal programming approach is proposed, for selecting the most suitable alternative, according to the different achievement degrees of goals.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: Facility location selection problem is detailed in Sect. 2. Fuzzy DEA and Fuzzy GP methods are explained in Sect. 3. Numerical application is made in Sect. 4 for a manufacturing company that locates in Tekirdağ/Turkey and the paper is concluded in Sect. 5.

#### 2 Facility Location Selection Problem

Facility location selection problems are basically dealt with identifying the most suitable site for a firm for conducting operations. Not only locating but also relocating or expansion is considered as facility location decisions. Determination, examination, assessment and choosing between options are the steps of facility location decision processes [11]. As they are long term, high-investment required and irreversible decisions, location selection problems have strategic importance. Moreover selected facility has an observable influence on costs and revenues. A careless location decision might be the most important reason of excessive transportation costs, lack of raw

material or labor, loss of adequate logistics network or any other kind of problems those will badly affect operations [12].

Facility location selection can be considered not only as a decision making problem at the strategic management level but also a partly constructed process of supply chain management. Looking at the significance of facility location selection decisions, current situation and possible future trends have to be elaborately examined by decision-maker to determine all possible aspects before location selection process begins. Therefore it is so obvious that many factors have to be considered during the selection procedure. Although many criterions exist for facility site selection, some of them those may have a possible impact on decisions are more crucial. As an example of the possible facility location selection criterions, [13] conducted their study on five criteria which are: favorable labor climate, proximity to markets, community considerations, quality of life, proximity to suppliers and resources.

Facility location selection problem is a multi-criteria decision making problem by nature. In order to evaluate location alternatives, in the beginning managers must define the affecting criteria which are important for the company. Set of alternatives in the case of selecting probable alternatives of location are generally determined by top managers in connection with their business environment, published reports, individual processes and etc. Information which is necessary to select facility location is provided externally and based on the human judgments. It is a non-repetitive decision and therefore has to be examined from many aspects. [14] indicated that most of the criterions, weights and the rules of decisions are assessed by human perceptions which are impossible to express exactly with numerical values. This is also a natural result of ambiguity typically involved in location selection processes which is resulted from linguistic evaluation and multiple attribute decision making in these problems [15]. Fuzzy sets are valid instruments to deal with such ambiguities in the literature. Fuzzy numbers have a certain success in representing linguistic data in decision making models. Fuzzy based methods have been recently emerged in such fields that verbal statements can be used as translators between verbal statements and quantitative estimates when it is a necessity to deal with the ambiguity [16].

In this study, we consider the problem of selecting a location for a new facility of a manufacturing company that locates in Tekirdağ/Turkey. Decision makers are four managing engineers of the company. The problem is observed in two parts; in the first part Fuzzy DEA is applied in order to find the technical efficiency rankings of the alternatives and in the second part, as a further step, to meet the targets of the company given as intervals, we employed a fuzzy goal programming model.

## 3 Fuzzy MCDM Techniques

#### 3.1 Fuzzy Data Envelopment Analysis

Data envelopment analysis (DEA) model, pioneered by [17], calculates the relative efficiency of a decision making unit (DMU) by maximizing the ratio of its total weighted outputs to its total weighted inputs with a constraint that the output to input ratio of every decision making unit (DMU) is less than or equal to unity. The standard

CCR model is as follows; where  $E_{j_0}$  is the efficiency score of the evaluated DMU,  $u_r$  is the weight assigned to output r,  $v_i$  is the weight assigned to input i,  $y_{rj}$  is the quantity of output r generated and  $x_{rj}$  is the amount of input i consumed by DMU j, respectively, and  $\varepsilon$  is a small positive scalar.

$$Max E_{j_0} = \frac{\sum_{r=1}^{s} u_r y_{rj_0}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i x_{ij_0}}$$
(1)

subject to

$$\frac{\sum_{r=1}^{s} u_r y_{rj}}{\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i x_{ij}} \le 1, \quad \forall j$$
$$u_r, v_i \ge \varepsilon \quad \forall r, i$$

The classical model has several drawbacks, namely poor weight dispersion and poor discriminating power among the DMUs. In the literature, several approaches such as weight restriction and cross-efficiency analysis have been developed in order to handle the unrealistic weight distribution and improve the discriminating power of DEA [18, 19]. Moreover, some proposed models like minsum and minimax efficiency models restrict favorable consideration to the DMU under evaluation unlike the traditional DEA model. Minimax efficiency is to minimize maximum deviation from efficiency whereas minsum efficiency minimizes the total deviation from efficiency [19, 20].

The conventional DEA models are limited for dealing technology, supplier or health-care service systems evaluation and selection problems, where the observed data set may provide vague and imprecise knowledge about the generating process [21]. Then use of the fuzzy measures and fuzzy mathematical programs in the DEA models is unavoidable, which are obtained from the experts, generally by linguistic terms, and then denoted as fuzzy numbers [22, 23]. Fuzzy DEA, is an extension of DEA which incorporates imprecision in DEA. There are several approaches in fuzzy DEA literature, such as tolerance approach [21], the  $\alpha$ -cut approach [24, 25], fuzzy ranking approach [26, 27] and the possibility approach. [28]. In this study, the model proposed by [25] is employed to deal with the facility location selection problem. The selected framework, deal the problem for different  $\alpha$ -cuts in order to rank the alternatives.

$$Min \, z = \theta \tag{2}$$

subject to

$$\begin{aligned} \theta \Big( \alpha x_{ip}^m + (1 - \infty) x_{ip}^l \Big) &\geq \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j \Big( \propto x_{ij}^m + (1 - \infty) x_{ij}^u \Big) \quad \forall i, \\ &\propto y_{rp}^m + (1 - \infty) y_{rp}^u \leq \sum_{j=1}^n \lambda_j \Big( \propto y_{rj}^m + (1 - \infty) y_{rj}^l \Big) \quad \forall r, \\ &\lambda_j \geq 0 \quad \forall j, \end{aligned}$$

In this formulation;  $\propto \in (0, 1]$  is a parameter.  $\tilde{x}_{ij} = (x^l, x^m, x^u)$  and  $\tilde{y}_{ij} = (y^l, y^m, y^u)$  are fuzzy triangular numbers.

#### 3.2 Fuzzy Goal Programming

Fuzzy goal programming (FGP) is to determine imprecise aspiration levels of the goals in a fuzzy decision environment by using membership functions. In a FGP model, the goals are considered fuzzy and their priorities can be expressed by both using linguistic variables such as "important", "medium", "low", and ordinal numbers namely "first", "second", etc. A membership function of each goal can be provided by making interviews with the decision-makers for determining the achievement degrees that are to be satisfied for each objective function.

In this study, the linear membership function of Zimmerman [29] is adapted, the membership function is as follows:

$$\mu_{i} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } G_{i}(x) \ge g_{i} \\ \frac{G_{i}(x) - L_{i}}{g_{i} - L_{i}} & \text{if } L_{i} \le G_{i}(x) \le g_{i} \\ 0 & \text{if } G_{i}(x) \le L_{i} \end{cases}$$
(3)

or

$$\mu_{i} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } G_{i}(x) \leq g_{i} \\ \frac{U_{i}(x) - G_{i}(x)}{U_{i} - g_{i}}, & \text{if } g_{i} \leq G_{i}(x) \leq U_{i} \\ 0, & \text{if } G_{i}(x) \leq L_{i} \end{cases}$$
(4)

Where  $L_i$  is the lower tolerance limit,  $U_i$  is the upper tolerance limit for the ith fuzzy goal and  $g_i$  is the aspiration level. The simple additive fuzzy goal programming model [30] is as follows:

$$Maximizef(\mu) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \mu_k \tag{5}$$

subject to

$$\mu_i = \frac{G_i(x) - L_i}{g_i - L_i} \quad \text{for some i,}$$
  

$$\mu_j = \frac{U_i(x) - G_i(x)}{U_i - g_i} \quad \text{for some j, } j \neq i,$$
  

$$Ax \le b,$$
  

$$\mu_i, \mu_j \le 1,$$
  

$$x, \mu_i, \mu_j \ge 0; \quad i, j \in \{1, \dots, n\}$$

Where  $Ax \leq b$  are the crisp system constraints and  $\mu_i$ ,  $\mu_j$  are the goal's achievement degree.

## 4 Case Study: New Plastic Injection Factory

#### 4.1 Problem Definition

The company in which this study is conducted has five other factories in one facility. Production in all of these six factories basically only consists of assembly lines in which parts are supplied from selected vendors and assembled inside the factory. There is a possibility of establishing a new plastic injection factory to manufacture some of the selected plastic parts as in-house production especially the ones that are expensive and the others those have frequent quality problems. It has to be emphasized that various plastic parts with many different sizes are required to produce any kind of white goods. Establishing a plastic factory regarded as a necessary decision not only for financial point of view but also for increasing know-how and not to be behind competitors technically.

For the application, first of all a committee of four decision makers (D1, D2, D3, D4) are selected. These four decision makers are all managing engineers of the company from different departments. Objective is defined as finding optimal location for the new plastic factory among four alternatives which are Tekirdağ, Hadımköy, Gebze and Yalova (A1, A2, A3, A4). These alternatives are especially selected depending on the proximity to location of the facility that it is going to serve and closeness to related industries depending on the meeting of qualified labor force requirement. Evaluation criteria (C1, C2, C3, C4, C5) have been determined by the decision makers, as shown explicitly in Fig. 1, in the hierarchical structure of the problem.



Fig. 1. Hierarchical structure of facility location selection methodology

#### • Transportation costs (C1)

Transportation is a significant criteria to consider as it has a certain impact on costs and therefore on facility location selection decisions. With the logic of "Just In Time", in

the future the aim is to deliver materials to concerned factories as much frequent as possible. Therefore how close the selected location is, and how good transportation sources of selected location are, have a certain impact on costs and efficiency of production system. It is important to provide that the new established factory has to be located close to the facility of other six factories in order to assure the easiness of transport conditions.

## • Proximity to raw materials (C2)

Transportation costs of raw material supply to the factory also consist of a great portion among the expenditure item. New plastic factory will serve to 6 factories as much as its total capacity, it can be estimated how frequent raw materials will be transported to factory. Therefore, selected alternatives have to be analyzed with respect to the sources of raw materials and the existence of potential suppliers.

### • Energy and water sources (C3)

It is a fact that the facility requirement for energy and water will affect the costs in a large portion. Therefore it is important to establish related factory in a location that the energy and water sources are cheaper comparing to other alternatives.

## • Labor force (C4)

Plastic injection production requires not only experienced and qualified blue collar but also white collar employees. It has to be analyzed in details if the labor force is both quantitatively and qualitatively adequate. Selected location should also provide necessary conditions that employees and their families can live during their carrier.

### • Cost of land (C5)

The first and the most important cost item at the beginning of the establishment process is the investment on the land. Selected location also should not be a constriction for further expanding strategies of the factory.

## 4.2 Fuzzy DEA Application

In order to find the technical efficiency rankings of the alternatives, Fuzzy DEA is implemented. First, decision makers are asked to evaluate location alternatives with respect to the pre-defined criteria using linguistic terms set given below in Fig. 2. The data set of the problem is given in Table 1.

Then, evaluations of four decision makers are aggregated with equal weights for each decision maker. Using Eq. (2), the efficiency ranking results are obtained and given in Table 2.

As observed from the table given above, the first and second alternatives have the best results according to the different possibility levels (alfa-cuts). At  $\alpha = 1$ , which is the pessimistic scenario, alternative 4 is the only non-efficient alternative among the four alternatives.



Fig. 2. A linguistic term set where VL: (0, 1, 2), L: (2, 3, 4), M: (4, 5, 6), H: (6, 7, 8), VH: (8, 9, 10)

Criteria	Alternatives	Decision-makers				
		D1	D2	D3	D4	
C1	A1	VG	VG	VG	VG	
	A2	G	G	G	G	
	A3	MG	G	G	MG	
	A4	G	MG	MG	G	
C2	A1	VG	G	VG	VG	
	A2	VG	VG	G	VG	
	A3	F	MG	F	MG	
	A4	MG	F	MG	F	
C3	A1	VG	VG	G	VG	
	A2	G	G	VG	G	
	A3	G	MG	MG	G	
	A4	MG	G	MG	F	
C4	A1	VG	G	VG	VG	
	A2	VG	G	G	G	
	A3	MG	G	F	G	
	A4	F	MG	G	F	
C5	A1	F	MG	MP	F	
	Α	MG	F	Р	MG	
	A3	VG	G	MG	VG	
	A4	MG	F	G	G	

Table 1. Four DM's evaluation of four alternatives with respect to five criteria

	$\alpha = 0$	$\alpha = 0.2$	$\alpha = 0.4$	$\alpha = 0.6$	$\alpha = 0.8$	$\alpha = 1$
A1	2.097	1.796	1.545	1.333	1.154	1
A2	2.097	1.796	1.545	1.333	1.154	1
A3	1.771	1.571	1.399	1.248	1.116	1
A4	1.615	1.429	1.267	1.127	1.004	0.897

Table 2. Fuzzy DEA results

### 4.3 Fuzzy Goal Programming Model

Ranking of the alternatives is obtained at the first step with the Fuzzy DEA model, however, as a further step, a fuzzy goal programming model is constructed according to the company's goals, in order to find the best alternative which minimizes the total deviation from company's goals. The goals were pre-defined by the company in accordance with its financial resources, technical analyses, market research etc. In this study, interactions between goals are not observed because the company claimed that there is not any interaction between their goals.

The company has four major goals in this new factory project: Material (G1), labor force (G2), Capital Investment (G3) and Energy (G4).

Hence, the fuzzy goal programming model is obtained:

 $G1: 49000x_1 + 42000x_2 + 47000x_3 + 44000x_4 \cong 45000 \pm 5000$ 

 $G2: 130000x_1 + 170000x_2 + 120000x_3 + 180000x_4 \cong 150000 \pm 50000$ 

- $G3: 200000x_1 + 400000x_2 + 320000x_3 + 270000x_4 \cong 350000 \pm 150000$
- $G4: 75000x_1 + 120000x_2 + 110000x_3 + 90000x_4 \cong 100000 \pm 50000$

Max  $\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3 + \mu_4$ subject to

```
\begin{split} & \mu_1 \leq (-49000x_1 - 42000x_2 - 47000x_3 - 44000x_4 + 50000)/(50000 - 45000) \\ & \mu_1 \leq (49000x_1 + 42000x_2 + 47000x_3 + 44000x_4 - 40000)/(45000 - 40000) \\ & \mu_2 \leq (-130000x_1 - 170000x_2 - 120000x_3 - 180000x_4 + 200000)/(200000 - 150000) \\ & \mu_2 \leq (130000x_1 + 170000x_2 + 120000x_3 + 180000x_4 - 100000)/(150000 - 100000) \\ & \mu_3 \leq (-200000x_1 - 400000x_2 - 320000x_3 - 270000x_4 + 500000)/(500000 - 350000) \\ & \mu_3 \leq (200000x_1 + 400000x_2 + 320000x_3 - 270000x_4 - 200000)/(350000 - 200000) \\ & \mu_4 \leq (-75000x_1 - 120000x_2 - 110000x_3 - 90000x_4 + 150000)/(150000 - 100000) \\ & \mu_4 \leq (75000x_1 + 120000x_2 + 110000x_3 + 90000x_4 - 50000)/(100000 - 50000) \\ \end{split}
```

$$\mu_i \ge 0; i = 1, 2, 3, 4$$
  
 $x_j \in \{0, 1\}; j = 1, 2, 3, 4$ 

The problem is solved using GAMS program, and the solution is  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = (0, 0, 1, 0)$  with the respective achievement degree of  $(\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3, \mu_4) = (0.6, 0.4, 0.8, 0.8)$ . The best location alternative is the third alternative-Gebze. Therefore, the maximum achieved goals are capital investment and energy with 0.8. However, selecting the third alternative yields to a poor achievement degree of 0.4 for the second goal which is the labor force, and a moderate achievement degree of 0.6 for the first goal.

## 5 Conclusions

Facility location selection problem, being a strategic level decision, is highly examined problem in the literature. Due to its ambiguous nature where crisp data does not exist, fuzzy set theory and its extensions are often employed in this problem type. In this study, we employed a fuzzy DEA methodology for ranking the location alternatives, based on linguistic assessment of decision makers. Although, fuzzy DEA is a powerful tool to derive the technical efficiency score of alternatives, it does not reflect totally the goals of the company. Therefore, as a further step, a fuzzy goal programming methodology is used considering four goals of the company with respect to four location alternatives. As is mentioned in section before, while the first and second alternatives are the most efficient location alternatives, when the goals are incorporated problem, it is found that the third alternative is the selected alternative, for maximum achievement degree of the mentioned fuzzy goals. Further research, may focus on different scenario on the location selection problem, as differentiating the weights of the goals or prioritizing some of them.

**Acknowledgements.** The numerical application data of this study is gathered from the thesis written by Sevinç Koç under the surveillance of Prof. Dr. Y. Esra Albayrak. This study is supported by Galatasaray University Research Fund, Project 17.402.005.

## References

- Hoffman, J.J., Schniederjans, M.J.: A two-stage model for structuring global facility site selection decisions: the case of the brewing industry. Int. J. Oper. Prod. Manag. 14(4), 79–96 (1994)
- Badri, M.A., Davis, D.L., Davis, D.: Decision support models for the location of firms in industrial sites. Int. J. Oper. Prod. Manag. 15(1), 50–62 (1995)
- Badri, M.A.: Combining the analytic hierarchy process and goal programming for global facility location-allocation problem. Int. J. Prod. Econ. 62(3), 237–248 (1999)
- Liang, G.-S., Wang, M.-J.J.: A fuzzy multi-criteria decision-making method for facility site selection. Int. J. Prod. Res. 29(11), 2313–2330 (1991)
- 5. Shen, C.-Y., Yu, K.-T.: A generalized fuzzy approach for strategic problems: the empirical study on facility location selection of authors' management consultation client as an example. Expert Syst. Appl. **36**(3), 4709–4716 (2009)
- 6. Stevenson, W.J.: Operations Research. McGraw-Hill, New York (2005)
- Erol, I., Sencer, S., Ozmen, A., Searcy, C.: Fuzzy MCDM framework for locating a nuclear power plant in Turkey. Energy Policy 67, 186–197 (2014). doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2013.11.056

- Deveci, M., Demirel, N.C., John, R., Özcan, E.: Fuzzy multi-criteria decision making for carbon dioxide geological storage in Turkey. J. Nat. Gas Sci. Eng. 27, 692–705 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.jngse.2015.09.004
- Onden, I., Eldemir, F.: GIS and f-AHP integration for locating a new textile manufacturing facility. Fibres Text. East. Eur. 23(5), 18–22 (2015). doi:10.5604/12303666.1161751
- Erdogan, M., Kaya, I.: A combined fuzzy approach to determine the best region for a nuclear power plant in Turkey. Appl. Soft Comput. 39, 84–93 (2016). doi:10.1016/j.asoc.2015.11.013
- Yang, J., Lee, H.: An AHP decision model for facility location selection. Facilities 15(9/10), 241–254 (1997)
- 12. Stevenson, W.J.: Production/Operations Management, 4th edn. Irwin, Homewood (1993)
- Ertuğrul, İ., Karakaşoğlu, N.: Comparison of fuzzy AHP and fuzzy TOPSIS methods for facility location selection. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 39(7), 783–795 (2008)
- 14. DuBrin, A.J.: Fundamentals of Organizational Behavior, 2nd edn. South-Western, Mason (2002)
- Ou, C.-W., Chou, S.-Y.: International distribution center selection from a foreign market perspective using a weighted fuzzy factor rating system. Expert Syst. Appl. 36(2), 1773–1782 (2009)
- Kahraman, C., Ruan, D., Doğan, I.: Fuzzy group decision-making for facility location selection. Inf. Sci. 157, 135–153 (2003)
- Charnes, A., Cooper, W.W., Rhodes, E.: Measuring the efficiency of decision making units. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 2(6), 429–444 (1978)
- Doyle, J., Green, R.: Efficiency and cross-efficiency in DEA: derivations, meanings and uses. J. Oper. Res. Soc. 45(5), 567–578 (1994)
- Karsak, E., Ahiska, S.: Practical common weight multi-criteria decision-making approach with an improved discriminating power for technology selection. Int. J. Prod. Res. 43(8), 1537–1554 (2005)
- Li, X.-B., Reeves, G.R.: A multiple criteria approach to data envelopment analysis. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 115(3), 507–517 (1999)
- Sengupta, J.K.: A fuzzy systems approach in data envelopment analysis. Comput. Math Appl. 24(8–9), 259–266 (1992)
- 22. Zadeh, L.: Fuzzy Sets. Inf. Control 8(3), 338-353 (1965)
- Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets as a basis for a theory of possibility. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 1(1), 3–28 (1978)
- 24. Triantis, K., Girod, O.: A mathematical programming approach for measuring technical efficiency in a fuzzy environment. J. Prod. Anal. **10**(1), 85–102 (1998)
- 25. Saati, S.M., Memariani, A., Jahanshahloo, G.R.: Efficiency analysis and ranking of DMUs with fuzzy data. Fuzzy Optim. Decis. Mak. 1(3), 255–267 (2002)
- Guo, P., Tanaka, H.: Fuzzy DEA: a perceptual evaluation method. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 119(1), 149–160 (2001)
- 27. Adler, N., Friedman, L., Sinuany-Stern, Z.: Review of ranking methods in the data envelopment analysis context. Eur. J. Oper. Res. **140**(2), 249–265 (2002)
- Hatami-Marbini, A., Emrouznejad, A., Tavana, M.: A taxonomy and review of the fuzzy data envelopment analysis literature: two decades in the making. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 214(3), 457–472 (2011)
- 29. Zimmermann, H.-J.: Fuzzy mathematical programming. Comput. Oper. Res. **10**(4), 291–298 (1983)
- Chen, L.-H., Tsai, F.-C.: Fuzzy goal programming with different importance and priorities. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 133(3), 548–556 (2001)

# Finding the Optimal Number of Features Based on Mutual Information

Peipei Chen<sup>1,2( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>, Anna Wilbik<sup>2</sup>, Saskia van Loon<sup>3</sup>, Arjen-Kars Boer<sup>3</sup>, and Uzay Kaymak<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> College of Biomedical Engineering and Instrument Science, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China

p.chen@tue.nl

<sup>2</sup> Information Systems, School of Industrial Engineering, Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, The Netherlands a.m.wilbik@tue.nl, u.kaymak@ieee.org

<sup>3</sup> Clinical Chemistry, Catharina Hospital, Eindhoven, The Netherlands {arjen-kars.boer,saskia.s.v.loon}@catharinaziekenhuis.nl

Abstract. For high dimensional data analytics, feature selection is an indispensable preprocessing step to reduce dimensionality and keep the simplicity and interpretability of models. This is particularly important for fuzzy modeling since fuzzy models are widely recognized for their transparency and interpretability. Despite the substantial work on feature selection, there is little research on determining the optimal number of features for a task. In this paper, we propose a method to help find the optimal number of feature effectively based on mutual information.

Keywords: Feature selection  $\cdot$  Mutual information  $\cdot$  Number of features  $\cdot$  Fuzzy models

## 1 Introduction

In recent decades, fuzzy models have been widely recognized as valuable tools for data-driven modeling because of their interpretability and transparency (e.g. [21,22]). Fuzzy models are based on IF-THEN fuzzy rules, in which the partitions of variables are formed by fuzzy sets. Since these fuzzy sets can be used to represent linguistic concepts, fuzzy models describe the relationships between the input variables and output variables in a way similar to the natural language [1].

However, the number of fuzzy rules of a fuzzy model grows exponentially with the increasing number of input variables, which undermines the understandability of the model. With the increasing dimensionality of the data collected in various fields, this problem becomes more and more prominent. Therefore, to avoid "the curse of dimensionality" and to lay the foundation for the interpretability of fuzzy models, dimensionality reduction is an indispensable preprocessing step in fuzzy modeling applications.

Dimensionality reduction techniques have been extensively investigated by the machine learning and data mining community. Those techniques can be

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_43

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

divided into two categories: feature extraction and feature selection. In feature extraction, the input dimensionality can be reduced through linear or nonlinear combination of features, e.g. principle components analysis (PCA) [2,10]. Because of the combination of features, it is difficult to interpret the model when using feature extraction techniques. Different from feature extraction, in feature selection, only the most relevant feature subset is selected. Feature selection algorithms, therefore, are widely applied in fuzzy modeling applications.

The objective of feature selection is to select the smallest feature subset from the full feature space that yields the best performance. Various feature selection methods haven been developed in the literature [4,5,9]. In general, feature selection methods are grouped into three categories: filter methods, wrapper methods and embedded methods. There is not a "best method" and each type of feature selection methods presents advantages and disadvantages. Filters are independent of the classifier, have good generalization ability and are computationally cheaper than wrappers, but may fail to select the best feature subset for the classifier. Wrappers interact with the classifier and can capture the dependency among features, but are computationally expensive and may have the risk of overfitting. Embedded methods are computationally less expensive than wrappers but are limited to certain learning machines, e.g. SVM [11]. Therefore, new feature selection methods are constantly appearing [8,18,23].

Deciding the optimal number of features is still an open question, especially for filter feature selection methods. Typically, the number of features is selected in an heuristic fashion which may sometimes lead to suboptimal performance. In fact, in many situations, the chosen feature number maybe too large and a much smaller feature subset can achieve similar or even better performances. In other cases, the chosen feature number maybe a bit small and a small increase of feature number can create big increase of performance. In this paper, we propose a structured way to determine the optimal number of features based on filter feature selection, specially based on mutual information feature ranking. We apply the proposed method to cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) data set and the results are promising.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 introduces the background of filter feature selection methods and mutual information. In Sect. 3, the proposed method to find the optimal number of features is described. Section 4 describes the experiments and discusses the results. Finally, Sect. 5 concludes the paper.

## 2 Background

Filter feature selection methods are popular because of their simplicity and generality. Filters select feature subsets by ranking the features' relevance based on some criteria. The relevance of features can be viewed as a measurement of the ability of features to predict the target features. Various feature relevance ranking methods have been proposed by the researchers [7,12,13,19]. One of the simplest criteria to rank features is the correlation coefficient, e.g. Pearson correlation. However, Pearson correlation can only measure the linear relation between input features and targets.

Compared with the correlation coefficient, mutual information (MI) can measure any kind of relationship between random variables, including nonlinear relationships [3,6]. Therefore, mutual information attract more and more attention in the feature selection field. MI quantifies the "amount of information" (in units such as bits) obtained about one random variable, through an other random variable. Formally, given two random discrete variables X and Y, their mutual information is defined as follows in terms of their probabilistic density functions p(x), p(y) and p(x, y):

$$I(X;Y) = \sum_{x \in X} \sum_{y \in Y} p(x,y) log\left(\frac{p(x,y)}{p(x)p(y)}\right).$$
(1)

In the case of continuous random variables, the summation is replaced by a definite double integral:

$$I(X;Y) = \int_{Y} \int_{X} p(x,y) log\left(\frac{p(x,y)}{p(x)p(y)}\right) dxdy.$$
 (2)

Extensive work has been done on mutual information based feature selection. For example, the "minimum-redundancy-maximum-relevance" (mRMR) method proposed in [19] selects features that have the highest relevance with the target classes and are also minimally redundant. Both optimization criteria of maximum relevance and minimum redundancy are based on mutual information. Max-relevance is to search a feature subset S satisfying (3), which approximates D(S, c): the mean value of all mutual information values between individual feature  $f_i$  and class c.

$$\max D(S,c), \ D = \frac{1}{|S|} \sum_{f_i \in S} I(f_i;c).$$
(3)

The feature subset selected according to max-relevance could have rich redundancy because of the dependency among features. Therefore, min-redundancy criterion is added to exclude dependent features:

min 
$$R(S), R = \frac{1}{|S|^2} \sum_{f_i, f_j \in S} I(f_i; f_j).$$
 (4)

Finally, mRMR method combines the above two criterions to optimize D and R simultaneously:

$$\max \Phi(D, R), \ \Phi = D - R. \tag{5}$$

After getting the ranked feature list based on incremental mRMR selection, the author proposed to determine the optimal number of features through more sophisticated schemes (wrappers). However, the computational cost of wrappers is expensive.

While there is substantial research on filter feature selection, there is much less work on how to determine the optimal number of features. Usually, filters rank the features based on the score of relevance and a threshold is used to remove the variables below the threshold. However, the threshold is generally chosen heuristically. Sometimes, the number of features h is decided arbitrarily by users to select the top h features. In most of these situations, optimal performance will not be achieved.

Typically (not always), for a finite data set, the quality of a model increases at first with the number of features increasing. After a certain point, the quality becomes stable or even decreasing. This phenomenon was described for discrete classification in [15]. Exploiting this phenomenon, we propose a method to find the optimal number of features efficiently using mutual information.

## 3 Method

The method proposed in this paper aims to provide a structured way to decide the optimal number of features for filter feature selection. It is based on the observation that the performance of a model increases as more and more relevant features are added to the model. As more irrelevant features are added, the model performance will decrease. Then the optimal number of features for the model should be at the turning-point (peak). Our method to find the peak is described below.

To select a feature subset S from the full feature space F with N features, the optimal number h of S could be determined through the following steps using cross validation.

- 1. Rank the features in F using the mutual information between individual feature and target class according to Eq. (1). The sequenced feature list is denoted as  $F_1$ .
- 2. Build models with the first k features of  $F_1$  and test the quality (e.g. AUC, accuracy, AUK, see [14,17]) of models. k is from 1 to N.
- 3. Plot the figure of quality of models vs. number of features. According to the figure, the corresponding feature number of one of the peaks will be the optimal number of features h.

In the first step, note that except for ranking the features using mutual information, this method can be applied to feature rankings by any other methods, e.g. correlation based filters. We use mutual information based filters in this work because mutual information can be used to measure any kind of relationship between random variables [6]. In the second step, different classifiers can be used to build models, e.g. C4.5 decision tree, k-nearest neighbor classification, logistic regression and fuzzy models. In the third step, the peak need to be selected according to the real applications. For example, as is shown in Fig. 1, there are two obvious peaks, and the performance is similar. Therefore, the peak corresponding to the fewer number of features is preferred. However, if the performance of the other peak is much better than the first peak, then the second peak could be selected to get better performance.



Fig. 1. Example of performance vs. feature number.

#### 4 Experiments

We test our method on cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) data set from Catharina Hospital in Eindhoven, the Netherlands. The data set contains 187 patients who underwent CRT in the period between January 1, 2008 and July 1, 2015. Each patient has 137 input variables: gender, age, surgery type, 11 lab variables and 123 ultra sound variables. There are two output classes, which are responsive and non-responsive. The data set is imbalanced because 22 percent of patients are in responsive class and the remaining patients are non-responsive. Because accuracy can be misleading with imbalanced data sets, we use AUC to evaluate the performance of models. The features within this data set have different characteristics, being binary, discrete or continuous. The continuous features are discretized using a quantized feature space [20] to calculate the mutual information.

Two classifiers are used to evaluate the quality of the selected feature subsets: Multinomial Logistic Regression and first order Takagi-Sugeno fuzzy model (also known as TSK fuzzy model). We choose multinomial logistic regression in our experiments for its speed and simplicity. We choose TSK fuzzy model because it is one of the most commonly used fuzzy systems. We build multinomial logistic regression models with 1 to 137 features and fuzzy models with 1 to 30 features. We did not build fuzzy models with more than 30 features for keeping the computational cost small. Experiments are repeated 5 times using ten-fold cross validation. We calculate the average AUC to evaluate each model.

In the experiments, the features are ranked in three different ways:

- 1. Mutual information ranking according to the mutual information between individual variables and class labels.
- 2. Reverse ranking of mutual information ranking.
- 3. Random ranking.

The reverse ranking of mutual information ranking and random ranking are used to test whether the mutual information ranking provide added value, i.e. the reverse mutual information ranking and the random ranking are not expected to outperform the mutual information ranking. The experimental framework is shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Experimental framework.

## 4.1 Results of Multinomial Logistic Regression

Figure 3 shows the average AUC of the multinomial logistic regression model over the whole size of the input variables, from 1 feature up to 137 features. In this figure, one can clearly see that the highest average AUC (0.6535) is achieved by mutual information ranking with 22 features in the second peak. The model with 18 features achieve the first peak with average AUC 0.6517, which is similar to the second peak. Since the model with fewer features are more understandable,



Fig. 3. Average AUC vs. number of features using multinomial logistic regression.

the optimal number of features for multinomial logistic regression model on CRT data set will be 18.

In comparison, the reverse mutual information ranking and random ranking reach significantly lower AUC, i.e. the models based on random ranking keep relatively stable performance (around 0.60) from 4 to 40 features and the models based on reverse mutual information ranking are reaching stable AUC (around 0.61) from 23 to 44 features.

#### 4.2 Results of Fuzzy Inference Systems

The second experiment builds TSK fuzzy model using fuzzy c-means (FCM) clustering with 1 to 30 features [16]. Fuzzy models with clusters from two to 20 are built. As Fig. 4 shows, in general, fuzzy models with three clusters have better performance than other models and the best performance is achieved by fuzzy models with three clusters. Besides, with the number of clusters increasing, the performance fluctuates from 1 to 30 features. For visual convenience, Fig. 4 only displays the average performance of models with 7 to 20 clusters to prevent clutter.

In Fig. 5, the performance of fuzzy models with 3 clusters based on three feature rankings is shown. Similar to the results of multinomial logistic regression model, the fittest fuzzy model is obtained with mutual information ranking with 14 features. Besides, there is another peak point with 9 features. Compared with multinomial logistic regression, fuzzy models reach the peak with fewer features.

In addition, from the figure we can see that the performance of reverse mutual information ranking is also contrary to the performance of mutual information ranking. Therefore, mutual information provide import information regarding the importance of ranking criteria.



Fig. 4. Average AUC of fuzzy models with two to 20 clusters.



Fig. 5. Average AUC vs. number of features using fuzzy models with 3 clusters.

## 5 Conclusion

This paper presents a method to find the optimal number of features based on mutual information. This method is designed to resolve the issue of deciding the optimal number of features for the final model, particularly for filter feature selection.

The method has been evaluated on a clinical data set of CRT patients. The model performance using the ranking of feature based on mutual information has been compared with reverse ranking of mutual information ranking and random ranking. Two classifiers, multinomial logistic regression and fuzzy models, are used to evaluate the performance of the selected features. Overall, the performance of models using mutual information ranking is significantly better than the reverse mutual ranking and random ranking. Furthermore, from the figure of performance vs. number of features, one can easily find the optimal number of features. Comparing the optimal number of features for multinomial logistic regression and fuzzy model, we can conclude that, for different modeling methods, the optimal number of features could be different and fuzzy model reaches the peak with less features than multinomial logistic regression.

In the future, we will test our proposed method on more data sets and with more classifiers. We will also compare this method with other alternative approaches to decide the optimal number of features.

In this paper, the simplest feature ranking criterion for mutual information is used. Further improvements of the proposed method could be made by implementing better methods to rank features, e.g. mRMR. In addition, further work will be done to decide which features should be included.

Acknowledgement. This work is partially supported by Philips Research within the scope of the BrainBridge Program.

## References

- Alonso, J.M., Castiello, C., Mencar, C.: Interpretability of fuzzy systems: current research trends and prospects. In: Springer Handbook of Computational Intelligence, pp. 219–237. Springer, Berlin (2015)
- 2. Alpaydin, E.: Introduction to Machine Learning. MIT press, Cambridge (2014)
- Battiti, R.: Using mutual information for selecting features in supervised neural net learning. IEEE Trans. Neural Netw. 5(4), 537–550 (1994)
- Bolón-Canedo, V., Sánchez-Maroño, N., Alonso-Betanzos, A.: A review of feature selection methods on synthetic data. Knowl. Inf. Syst. 34(3), 483–519 (2013)
- Chandrashekar, G., Sahin, F.: A survey on feature selection methods. Comput. Electr. Eng. 40(1), 16–28 (2014)
- Cover, T.M., Thomas, J.A.: Elements of Information Theory. Wiley, New York (2012)
- Dash, M., Liu, H.: Consistency-based search in feature selection. Artif. Intell. 151(1-2), 155–176 (2003)
- Gaspar-Cunha, A., Recio, G., Costa, L., Estébanez, C.: Self-adaptive MOEA feature selection for classification of bankruptcy prediction data. Sci. World J. 2014, 20 (2014)
- Guyon, I., Elisseeff, A.: An introduction to variable and feature selection. J. Mach. Learn. Res. 3(Mar), 1157–1182 (2003)
- Guyon, I., Gunn, S., Nikravesh, M., Zadeh, L.A.: Feature Extraction: Foundations and Applications, vol. 207. Springer, Heidelberg (2008)
- Guyon, I., Weston, J., Barnhill, S., Vapnik, V.: Gene selection for cancer classification using support vector machines. Mach. Learn. 46(1), 389–422 (2002)
- 12. Hall, M.A.: Correlation-based feature selection for machine learning. Ph.D. thesis, The University of Waikato (1999)
- Hall, M.A., Smith, L.A.: Practical feature subset selection for machine learning (1998)
- 14. Huang, J., Ling, C.X.: Using AUC and accuracy in evaluating learning algorithms. IEEE Trans. Knowl. Data Eng. **17**(3), 299–310 (2005)
- Hughes, G.: On the mean accuracy of statistical pattern recognizers. IEEE Trans. Inf. Theor. 14(1), 55–63 (1968)
- Jang, J.S.R., Sun, C.T., Mizutani, E.: Neuro-Fuzzy and Soft Computing, a Computational Approach to Learning and Machine Intelligence. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River (1997)
- Kaymak, U., Ben-David, A., Potharst, R.: The AUK: a simple alternative to the AUC. Eng. Appl. Artif. Intell. 25(5), 1082–1089 (2012)
- Khan, A., Baig, A.R.: Multi-objective feature subset selection using non-dominated sorting genetic algorithm. J. Appl. Res. Technol. 13(1), 145–159 (2015)
- Peng, H., Long, F., Ding, C.: Feature selection based on mutual information criteria of max-dependency, max-relevance, and min-redundancy. IEEE Trans. Pattern Anal. Mach. Intell. 27(8), 1226–1238 (2005)
- Pohjalainen, J., Räsänen, O., Kadioglu, S.: Feature selection methods and their combinations in high-dimensional classification of speaker likability, intelligibility and personality traits. Comput. Speech Lang. 29(1), 145–171 (2015)
- Setnes, M., Kaymak, U.: Fuzzy modeling of client preference from large data sets: an application to target selection in direct marketing. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 9(1), 153–163 (2001)

486 P. Chen et al.

- Wilbik, A., van Loon, S., Boer, A.K., Kaymak, U., Scharnhorst, V.: Fuzzy modeling for vitamin b12 deficiency. In: International Conference on Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems, pp. 462–471. Springer (2016)
- Xue, B., Fu, W., Zhang, M.: Multi-objective feature selection in classification: a differential evolution approach. In: Asia-Pacific Conference on Simulated Evolution and Learning, pp. 516–528. Springer (2014)

# Selection Among Solar Power Plants Using Fuzzy Economics

Veysel Çoban<sup>(⊠)</sup> and Sezi Çevik Onar

Department of Industrial Engineering, Istanbul Technical University, Maçka, Istanbul, Turkey cobanv@itu.edu.tr

**Abstract.** Alternative energy sources are gaining popularity against the world's fossil energy sources. There is an increasing energy demand due to the growing population. Renewable energy sources are used as alter-natives for fulfilling this demand. Since these sources are non-exhaustible and can renew themselves, they are considered as primary energy sources for the future. Although solar energy has the highest capacity among renewable energy sources, currently it has the disadvantage of high equipment and installation costs. Therefore, the economic analysis of investments in solar energy systems should be accurate and realistic but the uncertainty and ambiguity inherit in the parameters make this analysis complex and inaccurate. In this work, the solar economic model containing economic and technical uncertainties has been evaluated by using fuzzy logic. Realistic solutions from the developed solar fuzzy economic model direct investors to more accurate solar power plant investments.

### 1 Introduction

The energy that is used at every stage of our life has an important role in sustaining life. With increasing population and industrialization, the demand for energy is increasing rapidly [1]. Fossil fuels are the most important sources of energy as a result of existing technologies and their price advantages. Despite these advantages, carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases are emitted when fossil fuels burn down, that is, when they enter the energy conversion process. These gases causing the ozone layer to be thinned cause harmful radiation that endangers the food chain and ecological order [2]. The ecological problems that have emerged at the end of this process have led the world to turn to alternative energy sources.

Non-fossil energy sources such as hydraulics, wind, solar, geothermal, and biomass are defined as renewable energy sources [3]. Renewable energy emerges as the most important alternative energy source for fossil fuels with their environmental and social benefits [4]. The sun which is the most important renewable energy source is the source of all renewable and conventional sources (except nuclear and tidal energies) [5]. In addition to its indirect use, solar energy is directly utilized with newly developed technologies. These special advantages distinguish the sun from the renewable energy sources and make the sun a promising resource.

Determining the most suitable locations and conditions to promote the use of solar energy systems, which require a high initial cost, provides price advantage against

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_44

competitors. The economic analyzes and evaluations to be made are of critical importance at this stage. Taking into account the uncertainties in the expenditure and earnings contributes to the development of realistic solutions. For this purpose, solar economics calculation models should be developed based on fuzzy logic. The following sections refer to solar energy, fuzzy logic, and fuzzy economic parameters. The developed models are tested with a sample application in Sect. 4. General evaluation and future studies are concluded in the conclusion section.

#### 2 Solar Energy and Economic Bases

The Sun is a star with a blackbody character with a surface temperature of 5777 K degrees. The mass that disappears in the fusion reaction is released as energy and is transferred to the solar surface and this energy spreads to the space [2, 6]. This energy spreading in space reaches as far as our Earth and is transformed into direct and indirect usable forms on earth. Solar energy can be used directly with simple (cooking, hot water) or modern technology (PV, CSP). These special advantages distinguish the sun between renewable energy sources and strengthen the belief that future use of solar energy systems will increase. It is seen that solar energy does not have enough interest, which meets only 1% (2016) of global electricity generation [4]. Nevertheless, the presence of the potential of solar energy is obvious and it is necessary to increase the efforts to help the decision makers to evaluate this potential [7].

The major disadvantage for the solar energy industry is the high initial costs required for installation. The costs of solar energy system components and the installation of these components are important factors for the solar economy. These factors include hardware equipment such as collectors, pumps, storage unit and connection equipment, and software infrastructure and their installations. It is of great importance to ensure the correct economic equilibrium between the high installation costs and the gain from the solar energy system. Therefore, it is crucial for investors to make accurate economic analyzes of solar energy systems operated with high installation costs and low operating costs. The economic analysis is based on the comparison between the present total cost of the solar energy system and the present value of fuel economy to be realized in the future [6]. The economic analyzes provide to determine the lowest cost method to meet the energy need by comparing solar energy and non-solar energy alternatives and determine the optimal solar energy system.

#### **3** Fuzzy Economic Analysis of Solar Energy Plants

Economic analyzes are influenced by many vague factors such as national and international social, political, economic and so on. Economic assessments based on long-term temporal calculations cannot be instantly measured and analyzed within these uncertainties. There are similar uncertainties in the economic analysis of solar energy systems as in all other economic analysis methods. The energy sector, which has a complex market on a global scale, has more complex economic and political uncertainties [8]. Fuzzy logic based calculations should be done to incorporate these uncertainties into economic evaluations and to produce realistic solutions.

#### 3.1 Fuzzy Logic

In 1965, L.A. Zadeh introduced fuzzy clusters [9] to the science literature in order to illuminate the classes of unexplained events and objects such as 0–1. Zadeh's proposal explains that objects and events have properties defined in a class between 0 and 1. The fact that real world situations and events are ambiguous, hesitant, vague and unknown in a complex and dynamic structure supports this proposition. Fuzzy logic generates more accurate solutions for real life by taking intermediate alternatives between events and situations. The fuzzy sets (X) and subsets (e.g.  $\tilde{A}$ ) defined in the range [0,1] are expressed by the membership function ( $\tilde{A}(x)$ ). For example,  $\overline{X}(0.5)$  represents that x has membership value 0.5 in  $\tilde{X}$ . Basic fuzzy set operations can be expressed as follows [10];

Union of fuzzy sets : 
$$\mu_{\bar{X} + \bar{Y}} = max[\mu_{\bar{X}}(x) \cdot \mu_{\bar{Y}}(x)]$$
 (1)

Intersection of fuzzy sets : 
$$\mu_{\tilde{X}} \bigcap_{\tilde{Y}} = min[\mu_{\tilde{X}}(x) \cdot \mu_{\tilde{Y}}(x)]$$
 (2)

Complement of a fuzzy set :  $\mu_{\tilde{Z}^c} = 1 - \mu_{\tilde{Z}}$  (3)

Addition: 
$$\tilde{X}(+)\tilde{Y} = [x_1, x_3](+)[y_1, y_3] = [x_1 + y_1, x_3 + y_3]$$
 (4)

Subtraction : 
$$\tilde{X}(-)\tilde{Y} = [x_1, x_3](-)[y_1, y_3] = [x_1 - y_3, x_3 - y_1]$$
 (5)

where  $\tilde{X}$  and  $\tilde{Y}$  are assumed as numbers in the interval as  $\tilde{X} = [x_1, x_3], \tilde{Y} = [y_1, y_3].$ 

In defining fuzzy membership functions, fuzzy sets are divided into discrete and continuous fuzzy sets. Fuzzy numbers have an important place in fuzzy operations, and triangular (Fig. 1), trapezoidal, and Gaussian numbers are commonly used in real world problems.



Fig. 1. Continuous triangular fuzzy sets.

Triangular fuzzy numbers are expressed by three points of the function they describe such as  $\tilde{Y} = (0, b, d)$  (Fig. 1). Fuzzy membership function of the triangular fuzzy set  $\tilde{Y}$  can be defined as;

$$\mu_{\tilde{Y}}(y) = \begin{cases} 0. & y < 0\\ \frac{y}{b}. & 0 \le y \le b\\ \frac{b-y}{d-b}. & b \le y \le d\\ 0. & y > d \end{cases}$$
(6)

Where  $\tilde{X} = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$  and  $\tilde{Y} = (y_1, y_2, y_3)$ , fuzzy arithmetic operations for triangular fuzzy numbers can be defined as:

$$\tilde{X}(+)\tilde{Y} = (x_1.x_2.\ x_3)(+)(y_1.y_2.y_3) = (x_1+y_1.x_2+y_2.x_3+y_3)$$
(7)

$$\tilde{X}(-)\tilde{Y} = (x_1.x_2.x_3)(-)(y_1.y_2.y_3) = (x_1 - y_3.x_2 - y_2.x_3 - y_1)$$
(8)

$$-(\tilde{X}) = (-x_3. - x_2. - x_1)$$
(9)

$$\tilde{X}(\cdot)\tilde{Y} \cong (x_1 * y_1 . x_2 * y_2 . x_3 * y_3)$$
 (10)

$$\tilde{X}(/)\tilde{Y} \cong \left(\frac{x_1}{y_3}, \frac{x_2}{y_2}, \frac{x_3}{y_1}\right)$$
(11)

Although triangular fuzzy numbers are obtained at the end of the addition and subtraction of two triangular fuzzy numbers, triangular fuzzy numbers cannot be obtained at the end of the multiplication and division of two triangular fuzzy numbers. However, multiplication and division operations are performed on three points to obtain approximate triangles.

In this study, the uncertainty parameters included in the installation and operation costs of the solar energy system are defined by the triangular fuzzy membership functions and the economic analysis calculations are made on a fuzzy logic basis. The inflation rate, the market discount rate, the discount rate, the effective income tax rate, the solar fraction, the fuel cost increase rate and the variable costs are the main uncertainties, and these headings are included in the economic analysis calculations by defining them with fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy numbers obtained at the end of fuzzy calculations are converted to crisp values by defuzzification method for use in comparative evaluations. In this study, it is appropriate to use the weighted average method in Eq. (12) [11] for defuzzification in accordance with our method of defining the uncertainties with fuzzy numbers.

$$z^* = \frac{\sum \mu_A(\overline{Z})\overline{Z}}{\sum \mu_A(\overline{Z})}$$
(12)

where z is the centroid of each membership function.

#### 3.2 Fuzzy Economic for Solar Systems

This part deals with methods of fuzzy economic analysis based on life-cycle saving method. In this method, the costs and benefits over the time value of the money are examined in detail [2, 6]. The process initiated by defining the installation and operating costs is followed by the incorporation of the periodical gains to be obtained into the life cycle analysis [12]. The installation cost of the solar energy system is calculated by summing the two costs, which are dependent and independent of the collector field in Eq. (13) [6].

$$C_S = C_A A_C + C_E \tag{13}$$

where  $C_S$  is the total installation cost of solar energy equipment,  $C_A$  is the sum of the costs dependent to collector area,  $A_C$  is the collector area and  $C_E$  is the total cost of equipment independent for collector area.

Operating costs associated with the operation of the solar system occur periodically. These costs consist of fuel cost, mortgage payment, maintenance and insurance costs, parasite energy cost and property tax. Revenue generating equipment may be subject to depreciation and income tax may also decrease. In the process of using the system, fuel is saved and fuel cost is reduced. The lifetime of the equipment can eventually be salvage or resale, which creates a return on capital. There may be income tax effects in the purchase of solar equipment. Revenue generating assets and equipment may be subject to depreciation, in which case the taxable income is reduced. The use of solar energy system reduces fuel costs by saving fuel. The annual costs of energy systems can be expressed as [6, 8, 13, 14]:

```
Annual cost = Fuel cost + mortgage payment + maintenance and insurance +
cost of interference energy + property taxes - income tax savings (14)
```

Income tax savings for a non-income system can be expressed as:

Income tax saving = effective tax rate \* (interest payment + property tax) (15)

Income tax savings for income generating systems are as follows;

Income tax saving = effective tax rate x (interest payment + property tax + fuel cost + maintenance and insurance + parasitic energy costs - depreciation) (16)

The concept of solar savings describes the system requirement and is expressed in terms of the difference between traditional system cost and solar system cost. Negative savings indicate value losses.

Solar energy savings 
$$=$$
 traditional energy costs  $-$  solar energy costs (17)

In this study, the life-cycle cost (LCC) economic criteria are used to evaluate and optimize solar energy systems. Life-cycle analysis, which adds the time value of money
to the account, is the sum of the current worth of all the costs associated with the system over the lifetime defined for the energy system or the selected analysis period. The life cycle cost method compares future costs with current costs. All expected costs are reduced to the present value and the best alternative investment rate is determined to cover all expected expenses. The best approach for a solar energy economy is to use a life cycle costing method that takes into account all future costs. Thus, it is determined that the best alternative investment rate must be invested in order to be able to use funds in the future to cover all expected expenses.

The reason for the reduction of the cash flow is the time value of money. In order to determine the present worth of a money amount, the discount rate (*d*) in the future market and *N* period (usually years) must be known. The discount rate implies uncertainty due to future vagueness and must be defined as a fuzzy number ( $\tilde{d}$ ) [6, 12, 13]. Periodic costs are assumed to be inflated or deflated in a given period of time. Inflation rate including future ambiguity as in the discount rate also includes uncertainty and is defined as fuzzy number ( $\tilde{i}$ ). The current value of the *N*. period is generated at the end of the first time period. These present fuzzy worth calculations can be shown as [6, 12, 13]:

$$\widetilde{PW} = \frac{F}{\left(1 + \widetilde{d}\right)^N} \tag{18}$$

The present worth factor (PWF) is used to determine the periodic and fixed payment amount of the loan used for system installation. The present value factor of a series of N periodic payments of a repetitive payment that is subjected to head inflation every period is defined as follows [6, 12, 13].

$$\widetilde{PWF}(N,\tilde{i},\tilde{d}) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \frac{\left(1+\tilde{i}\right)^{j-1}}{\left(1+\tilde{d}\right)^{j}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{d-\tilde{i}} \left[1-\left(\frac{1+\tilde{i}}{1+d}\right)^{N}\right], & \text{if } \tilde{i} \neq \tilde{d} \\ \frac{N}{\tilde{i}+1}, & \text{if } \tilde{i} = \tilde{d} \end{cases}$$
(19)

where equity between  $\tilde{i}$  and  $\tilde{d}$  is concluded according to user preferences. Because all mortgage payments are equal, a series of payments with an inflation rate of zero occurs. In this case, the discount rate in the  $\widetilde{PWF}$  equation becomes the mortgage interest rate, and the periodic loan payment (PLP) is defined as [12, 13];

$$\widetilde{PLP} = \frac{M}{\widetilde{PWF} \ (N_L, \ 0, \ \widetilde{m})}$$
(20)

where *M* is the mortgage principal,  $N_L$  is the mortage period, and *m* is the mortage interest rate. The savings achieved in the *jth* year of fossil fuels not used in the solar energy system are calculated as follows [12, 13]:

$$\widetilde{FS} = \widetilde{F} * L * C_{F1} \left( 1 + \widetilde{i_F} \right)^{j-1}$$
(21)

The fuel cost increase  $(\tilde{i}_F)$  is defined by the fuzzy number because it is uncertain depending on national and international economic indicators. The solar fraction  $(\tilde{F})$  that determines the amount of fuel savings is defined in the fuzzy logic because it is variable and uncertain depending on equipment and atmospheric conditions. The  $C_{F1}$  parameter in the equation represents the unit energy cost of the fuel saved in the first period.

Life cycle costs of insurance, maintenance, parasite energy, property taxes and mortgage payments and life cycle fuel saving can be determined using appropriate present worth factors  $(\widetilde{PWF})$ . The present fuzzy values of fuel saving  $(\widetilde{PW}_{FS})$ , mortgage payments series  $(\widetilde{PW}_M)$ , other expenses  $(\widetilde{PW}_O)$ , property tax  $(\widetilde{PW}_{PT})$ , income tax saving on payment of mortgage interest  $(\widetilde{PW}_{ITS})$ , mortgage interest payments  $(\widetilde{PW}_{int})$ and income tax savings  $(\widetilde{PW}_{ITS})$  are calculated as following methods [6, 12, 13]:

$$\widetilde{PW}_{FS} = \widetilde{F} * L * C_{F1} * \widetilde{PWF}\left(N_e, \ \widetilde{i_F}, \widetilde{d}\right)$$
(22)

$$\widetilde{PW}_M = -M * \widetilde{PWF}(N_L, 0, \tilde{d})$$
(23)

$$\widetilde{PW}_{O} = -MS_1 * \widetilde{PWF}(N_e, \tilde{i}, \tilde{d})$$
(24)

$$\widetilde{PW}_{PT} = -PT_1 * PWF(N_e, \ \tilde{i}, \ \tilde{d})$$
(25)

$$\widetilde{PW}_{ITS} = \tilde{t} * \widetilde{PW}_{int} \tag{26}$$

$$\widetilde{PW}_{int} = M[\frac{P\widetilde{WF}(N_{min}, 0, \widetilde{d})}{PWF(N_L, 0, \widetilde{m})} + \widetilde{PWF}(N_{min}, \widetilde{m}, \widetilde{d})(\widetilde{m} - \frac{1}{\widetilde{PWF}(N_L, 0, \widetilde{m})})]$$
(27)

The present value of income tax savings [6, 12, 13];

$$\widetilde{PW}_{ITS} = \widetilde{t} * PT_1 * \widetilde{PWF}(N_e, \ \widetilde{i}, \widetilde{d})$$
(28)

where  $\tilde{t}$  is the effective income tax,  $MS_1$  is the various expenses to be paid at the end of the first period (maintenance, insurance, parasitic power) and  $PT_1$  is the property tax to be paid at the end of the first period.

### 4 Application

The high initial equipment and installation costs are the most critical disadvantage of solar energy systems. Therefore, solar energy investment should be done carefully at the right time and in the right place. The energy sector, which is affected by many national and international factors, includes uncertainties due to political and economic dynamism and complexity. These uncertainties that are taken into account in the economic analysis phase of the solar energy system enable more realistic solutions. In this section, fuzzy-based solutions are introduced to the uncertainties in the solar economic analysis through the example application.

#### 4.1 Case Study

Managers of Turkey's largest white goods factory wants decrease energy costs in a long-term by using renewable energy. The company also has a sustainable environment policy. At the end of the feasibility studies made for this purpose, factory roofs were found to be the most suitable place with their wide use area. The factory splits have been found to be very suitable for photovoltaic solar energy panels and it has been decided that the solar energy system is the most suitable choice. The economic data obtained at the end of the market researches are explained below. In this study, we assess the suitability of the company's decision with the solar fuzzy economic analysis.

The energy system is supported by the solar energy system and it is planned to meet the energy demand with a hybrid system. The cost of the solar system, which is financed at  $\notin$ 97,000 and 80% with an interest rate of 7% over 20 years, is expected to reduce fuel consumption by 63%. The cost of energy consumption in the first year of a fuel-only (non-solar) energy system is  $\notin$ 12,000. The equipment is expected to have a resale value of 30% of its original cost after 20 years. The market discount rate is %8 per year and the fuel cost inflation rate is 9% per year. In the first year, insurance, maintenance and interference energy costs are estimated at \$500 and the property tax at  $\notin$ 720. These expenses are expected to increase by a general inflation rate of 5% per year. Property taxes and mortgage interest can be deducted from tax purposes. During the analysis period, the effective income tax rate is expected to be 40%.

As a results, fuzzy present values are obtained by fuzzy operations for each fuzzy calculation method. These fuzzy values are converted into crisp values by using the weighted average method as shown below (Table 1);

	Present value (€)
Fuel saving	153026,71
Mortgage payments	-71916,86
Other expenses	-7179,00
Property tax	-10337,75
Income saving on mortgage interest	15912,79
Income tax savings	4135,10
Resale value	6243,35
Advance payment	-19400,00
Total present value of solar savings	70484,35

Table 1. Defuzzified results of solar fuzzy economics.

Calculations made by using economic analysis methods for solar energy systems based on fuzzy logic refer to profit at the present value. The results show that the high initial investment made can be economically offset by solar savings in the long run. Incorporating economic and technical uncertainties into economic analysis with fuzzy logic enables more realistic results to be obtained.

## 5 Conclusion

The most important problem encountered in the selection of solar energy systems is high equipment and installation costs. High initial investment in solar energy systems must be planned accurately and realistically. Therefore, uncertainties involving economic analyzes must be included in the calculations. In this study, economic and technical uncertainty parameters in solar economic calculation methods are defined on the basis of fuzzy logic. In this way, the problems of deciding to install the solar energy plant are decided by more realistic solutions. The uncertainties in solar economic calculations have been attributed to economic and technical reasons such as interest rate, discount rate, fuel cost inflation rate, other expense increases by inflation, and solar fraction. These parameters are fuzzified by using triangular fuzzy numbers which are most suitable for economic analysis methods. At the end of calculations made with triangular fuzzy operators, fuzzy present worth value and present worth factors are obtained. The defuzzified method is used to convert these fuzzy values to crisp form and more meaningful values are obtained. The validity of the solar fuzzy economic calculation methods is verified by the case study in the last section.

The experience gained from this work carried out for a hybrid model can only develop fuzzy economic models for energy systems consisting solely of solar energy as a future study. Fuzzy economic models to be obtained from these studies can be combined with fuzzy technical calculation methods to develop more general models for the installation of solar energy systems.

## References

- Commission, E.: Energy statistical pocketbook (2016). http://ec.europa.eu/energy/sites/ener/ files/documents/2014\_pocketbook.pdf. Accessed 14 Feb 2017
- Kalogirou, S.A.: Solar Energy Engineering: Processes and Systems. Academic Press, Cambridge (2013)
- Resources, T.M.o.E.a.N.: Renewable energy resources support mechanism (YEKDEM) (2017). http://www.eie.gov.tr/yenilenebilir/YEKDEM.aspx. Accessed 28 Mar 2017
- (EIA), U.S.E.I.A.: Renewable and Alternative Fuels (2017). https://www.eia.gov/renewable/. Accessed 28 Mar 2017
- Çoban, V., Onar, S.Ç.: Modelling renewable energy usage with hesitant fuzzy cognitive map. In: Uncertainty Modelling in Knowledge Engineering and Decision Making. Proceedings of the 12th International FLINS Conference. World Scientific (2016)
- 6. Duffie, J.A., Beckman, W.A.: Solar Engineering of Thermal Processes. Wiley, Hoboken (2013)
- Çoban, V., Onar, S.Ç.: Modelling solar energy usage with fuzzy cognitive maps. In: Intelligence Systems in Environmental Management: Theory and Applications, pp. 159–187. Springer, New York (2017)
- Kahraman, C., et al.: Fuzzy economic analysis methods for environmental economics. In: Intelligence Systems in Environmental Management: Theory and Applications, pp. 315–346. Springer, New york (2017)
- 9. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8(3), 338-353 (1965)
- 10. Kosko, B.: Fuzzy cognitive maps. Int. J. Man Mach. Stud. 24(1), 65-75 (1986)

- 11. Ross, T.J.: Fuzzy Logic with Engineering Applications. Wiley, Hoboken (2009)
- Kahraman, C., Çevik Onar, S., Öztayşi, B.: Engineering economic analyses using intuitionistic and hesitant fuzzy sets. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst. 29(3), 1151–1168 (2015)
- 13. Blank, L., Tarquin, A.: Basics of Engineering Economy. McGraw-Hill Higher Education, Pennsylvania (2013)
- 14. Kahraman, C., Öztayşi, B., Çevik Onar, S.: A comprehensive literature review of 50 years of fuzzy set theory. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 9(Suppl. 1), 3–24 (2016)

# Co-words Analysis of the Last Ten Years of the Fuzzy Decision Making Research Area

Manuel Jesus Cobo<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Ignacio Javier Pérez<sup>1</sup>, Francisco Javier Cabrerizo<sup>2</sup>, Sergio Alonso<sup>3</sup>, and Enrique Herrera-Viedma<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Department of Computer Science and Engineering, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain {manueljesus.cobo,ignaciojavier.perez}@uca.es
 <sup>2</sup> Department of Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence, University of Granada, Granada, Spain {cabrerizo,viedma}@decsai.ugr.es
 <sup>3</sup> Department of Software Engineering, University of Granada, Granada, Spain zerjioi@ugr.es

**Abstract.** The main aim of this contribution is to develop a co-words analysis of the Fuzzy Decision Making research area in the last ten years (2007–2016). The software tool SciMAT is employed using an approach that allows us to uncover the main research themes and analyze them according to their performance measures (qualitative and quantitative). Using an advance query, an amount of 1,465 documents were retrieved from the ISI Web of Science. The corpus was divided into two consecutive periods (2007–2011 and 2012–2016). Our key findings are that the most important research themes in the first and second period was *Consensus* and *Aggregation-Operators*, respectively.

Keywords: Fuzzy group decision making  $\cdot$  Bibliometric analysis  $\cdot$  Science mapping analysis  $\cdot$  Co-Words analysis

### 1 Introduction

The Fuzzy Decision Making [3,14] research field born from the synergy of the Decision Making and Fuzzy Sets research fields. Decision Making is a common task carried out by humans each day. Its goal is to find a best decision from among some possible options [14]. A lot of real world decision making processes take place in an environment in which the aims, the constraints and the consequences of possible actions are not precisely known. Thus, Fuzzy Sets theory [22,23] is a common tool used to deal with imprecision and vagueness problem, and also to represent the concept in a natural way through linguistic terms. In this sense, to deal with imprecision in the Decision Making research field, Fuzzy Set theory is employed.

Fuzzy Decision making is a growing research area, publishing a high amount of research documents each years. Although an expert on the field can discover

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_45

and analyze the different subtopics of the research field, it is obvious that the high volume of research documents that are available makes this a difficult and daunting task to carry out. Therefore, scientific support tools to uncover the conceptual structure of a research area of interest are worth and necessary. In that sense, Science Mapping Analysis is a powerful bibliometric technique to study the conceptual structure of a particular research field [9,18].

So, the main aim of this contribution is to carry out a conceptual science mapping analysis [4, 6, 9] of the research conducted by the Fuzzy Decision Making research area from 2007 to 2016 (the last ten years). The analysis is developed using SciMAT [10] software tool and partially based in the approach presented in [8].

This article is organized as follows: Sect. 2 introduces the methodology employed in the analysis. In Sect. 3, the dataset is described. In Sect. 4, the science mapping analysis of the Fuzzy Decision Making research area is presented. Finally, some conclusions are drawn in Sect. 5.

# 2 Methodology

Science mapping or bibliometric mapping is a spatial representation of how disciplines, fields, specialities, and documents or authors are related to one another [21]. It has been widely used to show and uncover the hidden key elements (documents, authors, institutions, topics, etc.) in different research fields [7, 11, 16, 19, 20].

Science mapping analysis can be carried out with different software tools [9]. Particularly, SciMAT was presented in [10] as a powerful tool that integrates the majority of the advantages of available science mapping software tools [9]. SciMAT was designed according to the science mapping analysis approach presented in [8], combining both performance analysis tools and science mapping tools to analyze a research field and detect and visualize its conceptual subdomains (particular topics/themes or general thematic areas) and its thematic evolution.

Therefore, in this contribution, SciMAT was employed to develop a longitudinal conceptual science mapping analysis [4,9] based on co-words bibliographic networks [2,6]. Thus, the analysis was carried out in three stages:

- 1. Detection of the research themes. In each period of time studied the corresponding research themes are detected by applying a co-word analysis [6] to raw data for all the published documents in the research field, followed by a clustering of keywords to topics/themes [12], which locates keyword networks that are strongly linked to each other and that correspond to centres of interest or to research problems that are the subject of significant interest among researchers. The similarity between the keywords is assessed using the equivalence index [5].
- 2. Visualizing research themes and thematic network. In this phase, the detected themes are visualized by means of two different visualization instruments:

strategic diagram [13] and thematic network [8]. Each theme can be characterized by two measures [5]: *centrality* and *density*. Centrality measures the degree of interaction of a network with other networks. On the other hand, density measures the internal strength of the network. Given both measures, a research field can be visualized as a set of research themes, mapped in a two-dimensional strategic diagram (Fig. 1) and classified into four groups:

- (a) Themes in the upper-right quadrant are both well developed and important for the structure of the research field. They are known as the *motorthemes* of the specialty, given that they present strong centrality and high density.
- (b) Themes in the upper-left quadrant have well-developed internal ties but unimportant external ties and so, they are of only marginal importance for the field. These themes are very *specialized and peripheral*.
- (c) Themes in the lower-left quadrant are both weakly developed and marginal. The themes in this quadrant have low density and low centrality and mainly represent either *emerging or disappearing* themes.
- (d) Themes in the lower-right quadrant are important for a research field but are not developed. This quadrant contains *transversal and general*, basic themes.
- 3. *Performance analysis.* In this phase, the relative contribution of the research themes to the whole research field is measured (quantitatively and qualitatively) and used to establish the most prominent, most productive and highest-impact subfields. Some of the bibliometric indicators to use are: number of published documents, number of citations, and different types of h-index [1,15,17].



Fig. 1. The strategic diagram.

# 3 Dataset

In order to carry out the performance and science mapping analysis, the research documents published in the Fuzzy Decision Making research area during the last ten years must be collected and also, preprocessed.

Since ISI Web of Science (ISIWoS) is the most important bibliometric database, the research documents published by Fuzzy Decision Making research area were downloaded from it using the following advance query: SO = ("FUZZY)SETS AND SYSTEMS" OR "IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON FUZZY SYS-TEMS" OR "INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF UNCERTAINTY FUZZI-NESS AND KNOWLEDGE BASED SYSTEMS" OR "JOURNAL OF INTEL-LIGENT FUZZY SYSTEMS" OR "INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF FUZZY SYSTEMS" OR "IRANIAN JOURNAL OF FUZZY SYSTEMS" OR "FUZZY OPTIMIZATION AND DECISION MAKING" OR "FUZZY LOGIC AND APPLICATIONS" OR "ROUGH SETS FUZZY SETS DATA MINING AND GRANULAR COMPUTING" OR "INFORMATION FUSION" OR "INFOR-MATION SCIENCE" OR "INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF INFORMA-TION TECHNOLOGY & DECISION MAKING" OR "IEEE TRANSAC-TIONS ON SYSTEMS MAN AND CYBERNETICS PART A-SYSTEMS AND HUMANS" OR "IEEE TRANSACTIONS ON SYSTEMS MAN AND CYBERNETICS PART B-CYBERNETICS" OR "INTERNATIONAL JOUR-NAL OF GENERAL SYSTEMS" OR "APPLIED SOFT COMPUTING" OR "SOFT COMPUTING" OR "KNOWLEDGE-BASED SYSTEMS" OR "CONTROL AND CYBERNETICS" OR "COMPUTERS & MATHEMAT-ICS WITH APPLICATIONS" OR "EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF OPERA-TIONAL RESEARCH" OR "EXPERT SYSTEMS WITH APPLICATIONS" OR"INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF APPROXIMATE REASONING" OR "INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS") AND TS=("fuzzy decision making" OR "fuzzy group decision making" OR "fuzzy preference\*" OR "aggregation operator\*" OR "fuzzy AHP\*" OR "fuzzy analytic hierarchy process" OR "fuzzy majority" OR "fuzzy quantifier\*") AND PY=2007-2016 NOT TS="FUZZY QUERYING".

This query retrieved a total of 1,465 documents from 2007 to 2016 (Fig. 2). The corpus was further restricted to articles and reviews. Citations of these documents are also used in this study; they were counted up to 17th April 2017.

The raw data was downloaded from ISIWoS as plain text and entered into SciMAT to build the knowledge base for the science mapping analysis. Thus, it contains the bibliographic information stored by ISIWoS for each research document. To improve the data quality, a de-duplicating process was applied (the author's keywords and the ISI keywords plus were used as unit of analysis). Words representing the same concepts were grouped. Furthermore, some meaningless keywords in this context, such as stop-words or words with a very broad and general meaning, e.g. "SYSTEMS", were removed.

Next, using the SciMAT period manager, the corpus was divided in different slices in order to analyze the evolution. To avoid data smoothness, the best option would have been to choose one-year periods. However, it was found that



Fig. 2. Distribution of documents retrieved by years.

not enough data were generated in the span of a single year to obtain good results from science mapping analysis. For this reason, two consecutive periods of five years were established (Fig. 3): 2007–2011 and 2012–2016, with 1,606 and 2,898 keywords, respectively.



Fig. 3. Distribution of documents retrieved by years.

# 4 Conceptual Analysis

In order to analyze the most highlighted themes of the Fuzzy Decision Making research area, a strategic diagram is shown for each period. In addition, the spheres size is proportional to the number of published documents associated with each research theme.

First Period (2007–2011). According to the strategic diagram shown in Fig. 4, during this period the research area of Fuzzy Decision Making pivoted on nineteen themes, with the following ten major themes (motor themes plus basic themes): Consensus, Computing-with-Words, Fuzzy-Analytic-Hierarchy-Process, Intuitionistic-Fuzzy-Sets, Transitivity, Prioritize-Design-Requirements, T-Norm, Priority-Vector, Uncertainty and Fuzzy-Sets.



Fig. 4. Strategic diagram for the 2007–2011 period.

The performance measures of the themes are given in Table 1, showing the number of documents, numbers of citations and h-index per theme. According to this performance measures, the following six themes stand out: Consensus, Fuzzy-Analytic-Hierarchy-Process, Intuitionistic-Fuzzy-Sets, Fuzzy-Sets, Uncertainty and Computing-with-Words. These research themes get important impact rates, achieving more than one-thousand citations and getting higher h-index in comparison with the other themes.

The motor theme *Consensus* (Fig. 5a) gets the highest citation count and h-index in that period. It plays a central role in this period and it associated

Name	Number of	Number of	h-index	
	documents	citations		
CONSENSUS	268	13,346	67	
FUZZY-ANALYTIC-HIERARCHY-PROCESS	175	7,465	49	
INTUITIONISTIC-FUZZY-SETS	124	7,757	50	
FUZZY-SETS	116	4,727	40	
UNCERTAINTY	72	3,512	32	
COMPUTING-WITH-WORDS	71	4,382	33	
T-NORM	68	1,580	24	
TRANSITIVITY	31	835	16	
FUZZY-MEASURE	30	1,088	18	
PRIORITY-VECTOR	29	1,760	20	
SUPPLIER-SELECTION	29	1,861	19	
DECISION-SUPPORT-SYSTEM	28	1,709	20	
INTERVAL-VALUED-INTUITIONISTIC-FUZZY-SET	20	1,527	17	
FUZZY-NUMBERS	20	1,052	15	
FUSION	14	562	10	
CARDINALITY	12	412	8	
FUZZY-PREFERENCES	12	455	7	
PRIORITIZE-DESIGN-REQUIREMENTS	10	608	8	
ANALYTIC-NETWORK-PROCESS	9	263	9	

Table 1. Performance of the themes in the 2007–2011 period

with topics such as, fuzzy preference relations, linguistic variables, majority and operators.

The motor theme *Fuzzy-Analytic-Hierarchy-Process*, achieves important citations score (over seven-thousand citations). It is mainly focused on fuzzy TOP-SIS, multicriteria decision making, balanced scorecards, among others.

The motor theme *Intuitionistic-Fuzzy-Sets*, gets the second highest impact rate, both in citations and h-index. It specializes in aspect related with vague set theory, operators, distance measures, similarities measures, etc.

The motor theme *Computing-with-Words* (Fig. 5b) collects the research conducted on linguistic modeling, linguistic representation and information retrieval.

Second Period (2012–2016). The research conducted in this period pivots in twenty-two themes. According to the strategic diagram shown in Fig. 6, during this period eleven themes could be highlighted (motor themes plus basic themes): Uninorms, Priority-Weights, Aggregation-Operators, Analytic-Hierarchy-Process, Entropy, Multi-Attribute-Group-Decision-Making, T-Norm, Decision-Analysis, Ranking, Consensus-Model, Choquet-Integral.

According to the performance measures shown in Table 2 four themes stand out since they have the highest citations count (more than two-thousand): Aggregation-Operators, Analytic-Hierarchy-Process, Multi-Attribute-Group-Decision-Making and Hesitant-Fuzzy-Set. Moreover, Ranking, Priority-Weights,



Fig. 5. Thematic networks for the period 2007–2011.



Fig. 6. Strategic diagram for the 2012–2016 period.

Decision-Analysis, Fuzzy-Sets, Entropy, Consensus-Model, Incomplete-Weight-Information and Supplier-Selection are also remarkable since they get more than one-thousand citations.

Name	Number of documents	Number of citations	h-index
AGGREGATION-OPERATORS	831	9,747	46
ANALYTIC-HIERARCHY-PROCESS	303	4,163	32
CHOQUET-INTEGRAL	179	1,476	20
MULTI-ATTRIBUTE-GROUP-DECISION-MAKING	169	2,441	28
RANKING	151	1,821	25
HESITANT-FUZZY-SET	126	2,018	25
PRIORITY-WEIGHTS	122	1,962	26
DECISION-ANALYSIS	117	1,241	18
IMMEDIATE-PROBABILITIES	116	965	18
FUZZY-SETS	114	1,130	20
ENTROPY	112	1,515	20
CONSENSUS-MODEL	110	1,470	23
INCOMPLETE-WEIGHT-INFORMATION	108	1,155	16
SUPPLIER-SELECTION	92	1,644	21
VAGUE-SETS	53	946	16
T-NORM	52	341	10
FUZZY-PREFERENCES	42	316	11
UNINORMS	39	207	9
ANALYTIC-NETWORK-PROCESS	32	546	14
FUZZY-QUANTIFIERS	27	329	9
MISSING-VALUES	23	401	10
GENERALIZED-AGGREGATION-OPERATORS	17	183	6

Table 2. Performance of the themes in the 2012–2016 period

The motor theme Aggregation-Operators (Fig. 7a) is the theme with the highest impact rate. In fact, it doubles the citations achieved by the second ranked theme, Analytic-Hierarchy-Process. Aggregation-Operators could be seen as one of the central topics studies in the Fuzzy Decision Making Area. Particularly, it collects the research related with the different kind of operators (i.e. OWA), multi-criteria and multi attribute aspects. It could be seen as an evolution of the Consensus theme appeared in the previous period.

The motor theme *Analytic-Hierarchy-Process*, evolves from the previous period. It gets the second best impact score, doubling the third one. It encompasses topics related with TOPSIS, pairwise comparisons, preference relation among others.



Fig. 7. Thematic networks for the period 2012–2016.

The motor theme *Multi-Attribute-Group-Decision-Making* is related with topics such as, linguistic 2-tuple, power operators, etc.

# 5 Conclusions

In this contribution a conceptual science mapping analysis of the research conducted in the field of Fuzzy Decision Making in the last ten years (2007–2016) was carried out. The analysis, was performed using SciMAT.

An amount of 1,465 documents (articles and reviews) were retrieved. The whole corpus was divided in two consecutive period of five years length: 2007–2011 and 2012–2016.

In the first period, the themes Consensus, Fuzzy-Analytic-Hierarchy-Process, Intuitionistic-Fuzzy-Sets, Fuzzy-Sets, Uncertainty and Computing-with-Words stand out due to their highest impact rates. We should point out that Consensus doubles the citations achieved by the second one. Similarly, in the second period four themes must be highlighted according to their impact scores: Aggregation-Operators, Analytic-Hierarchy-Process, Multi-Attribute-Group- Decision-Making and Hesitant-Fuzzy-Set. Also, Aggregation- Operators gets two time more citations that the remaining themes.

Finally, we would like to address some future works. First, a global analysis could be carried out taking into account a wider time span. Second, the evolution of the research themes could be studied across the consecutive time periods.

Acknowledgments. The authors would like to acknowledge FEDER funds under grants TIN2013-40658-P and TIN2016-75850-R, and also the financial support from the University of Cádiz Project PR2016-067.

### References

- Alonso, S., Cabrerizo, F.J., Herrera-Viedma, E., Herrera, F.: h-Index: a review focused in its variants, computation and standardization for different scientific fields. J. Informetrics 3(4), 273–289 (2009). doi:10.1016/j.joi.2009.04.001
- Batagelj, V., Cerinšek, M.: On bibliographic networks. Scientometrics 96(3), 845– 864 (2013). doi:10.1007/s11192-012-0940-1
- Bellman, R.E., Zadeh, L.A.: Decision-making in a fuzzy environment. Manag. Sci. 17(4), 141–164 (1970)
- Börner, K., Chen, C., Boyack, K.W.: Visualizing knowledge domains. Ann. Rev. Inf. Sci. Technol. 37(1), 179–255 (2005). doi:10.1002/aris.1440370106
- Callon, M., Courtial, J.P., Laville, F.: Co-word analysis as a tool for describing the network of interactions between basic and technological research: the case of polymer chemistry (1991). doi:10.1007/BF02019280
- Callon, M., Courtial, J.P., Turner, W.A., Bauin, S.: From translations to problematic networks: an introduction to co-word analysis (1983). doi:10.1177/ 053901883022002003
- Cobo, M.J., López-Herrera, A.G., Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E.: A Note on the ITS topic evolution in the period 2000–2009 at T-ITS. IEEE Transactions on Intelligent Transportation Systems 13(1), 413–420 (2012). doi:10.1109/TITS.2011. 2167968
- Cobo, M.J., López-Herrera, A.G., Herrera-Viedma, E., Herrera, F.: An approach for detecting, quantifying, and visualizing the evolution of a research field: a practical application to the Fuzzy Sets Theory field. J. Inf. 5(1), 146–166 (2011). doi:10. 1016/j.joi.2010.10.002
- Cobo, M.J., López-Herrera, A.G., Herrera-Viedma, E., Herrera, F.: Science mapping software tools: review, analysis, and cooperative study among tools. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol. 62(7), 1382–1402 (2011). doi:10.1002/asi.21525
- Cobo, M.J., López-Herrera, A.G., Herrera-Viedma, E., Herrera, F.: SciMAT: a new science mapping analysis software tool. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol. 63(8), 1609–1630 (2012). doi:10.1002/asi.22688
- Cobo, M.J., Martínez, M.A., Gutiérrez-Salcedo, M., Fujita, H., Herrera-Viedma, E.: 25 years at knowledge-based systems: a bibliometric analysis. Knowl.-Based Syst. 80, 3–13 (2015). doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2014.12.035
- Coulter, N., Monarch, I., Konda, S.: Software engineering as seen through its research literature: a study in co-word analysis. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. 49(13), 1206– 1223 (1998). doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4571(1998)49:13(1206::AID-ASI7)3.3.CO;2-6
- He, Q.: Knowledge discovery through co-word analysis. Libr. Trends 48(1), 133– 159 (1999)
- Herrera, F., Herrera-Viedma, E., Verdegay, J.L.: A sequential selection process in group decision making with a linguistic assessment approach. Inf. Sci. 85(4), 223–239 (1995). doi:10.1016/0020-0255(95)00025-K
- Hirsch, J.E.: An index to quantify an individual's scientific research output. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. **102**(46), 16569–16572 (2005). doi:10.1073/pnas.0507655102
- Martínez, M.A., Cobo, M.J., Herrera, M., Herrera-Viedma, E.: Analyzing the scientific evolution of social work using science mapping. Res. Soc. Work Pract. 5(2), 257–277 (2015). doi:10.1177/1049731514522101
- Martínez, M.A., Herrera, M., López-Gijón, J., Herrera-Viedma, E.: H-Classics: characterizing the concept of citation classics through h-index. Scientometrics 98(3), 1971–1983 (2014). doi:10.1007/s11192-013-1155-9

- Morris, S.A., Van Der Veer Martens, B.: Mapping research specialties. Ann. Rev. Inf. Sci. Technol. 42(1), 213–295 (2008). doi:10.1002/aris.2008.1440420113
- Murgado-Armenteros, E.M., Gutiérrez-Salcedo, M., Torres-Ruiz, F.J., Cobo, M.J.: Analysing the conceptual evolution of qualitative marketing research through science mapping analysis. Scientometrics 102(1), 519–557 (2015). doi:10.1007/ s11192-014-1443-z
- Rodriguez-Ledesma, A., Cobo, M.J., Lopez-Pujalte, C., Herrera-Viedma, E.: An overview of animal science research 1945–2011 through science mapping analysis. J. Anim. Breed. Genet. 132(6), 475–497 (2015). doi:10.1111/jbg.12124
- Small, H.: Visualizing science by citation mapping. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. 50(9), 799– 813 (1999). doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-4571(1999)50:9(799::AID-ASI9)3.0.CO;2-G
- Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8(3), 338–353 (1965). doi:10.1016/ S0019-9958(65)90241-X
- Zadeh, L.A.: Is there a need for fuzzy logic? Inf. Sci. 178(13), 2751–2779 (2008). doi:10.1016/j.ins.2008.02.012

# Real Option Analysis with Interval-Valued Fuzzy Numbers and the Fuzzy Pay-Off Method

József Mezei<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Mikael Collan, and Pasi Luukka

School of Business and Management, Lappeenranta University of Technology, Lappeenranta, Finland {jozsef.mezei,mikael.collan,pasi.luukka}@lut.fi

**Abstract.** This paper presents an extension of the fuzzy pay-off method for real option valuation using interval-valued fuzzy numbers. To account for a higher level of imprecision that can be present in many applications, we propose to use triangular upper and lower membership functions as the basis of real option analysis. In the paper, analytical formulas are derived for the triangular case by calculating the possibilistic mean of truncated interval-valued triangular fuzzy numbers. A numerical example of a cash-flow analysis is presented to illustrate the use of the proposed approach.

Keywords: Real option valuation  $\cdot$  Fuzzy pay-off  $\cdot$  Interval-valued fuzzy numbers  $\cdot$  Possibilistic mean

## 1 Introduction

As one of the most prominent tools to model imprecise information, fuzzy set theory has been introduced in [15] as an approach to deal with uncertainty different from randomness. In many real life situations, the available data cannot be specified either precisely, or by relying on the tools of traditional probability theory. A typical example of this is, when one needs to construct models and then operate them based on estimates given by experts. This situation frequently occurs in the context of real option valuation, as in many situations there is no sufficient historical data available for constructing data-based estimates of the value of the underlying asset.

From a practical point of view, real options resemble financial options, but they give their holder the possibilities that are connected to tangible realworld investments. Due to this resemblance, until recently, the traditional financial option valuation tools were used almost exclusively in real option analysis (ROA), and still dominate the ROA literature. One of the most promising alternative approaches that utilizes methodological basis different from probability theory is the fuzzy pay-off method, introduced in [3]. In order to account for the imprecision and inaccuracy present in the real investment analysis context, the authors proposed to use fuzzy set and possibility theory as the basis for ROA, resulting in an easy-to-use and intuitively understandable model. There

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_46

are also other fuzzy ROA approaches that include binomial option valuation based methods in [6,9], and hybrid stochastic-fuzzy Black-Scholes pricing model based models [18].

In this article, we propose an extension to the fuzzy pay-off method that replaces the underlying fuzzy net present value estimations with interval-valued fuzzy numbers (IVFNs) to account for a higher level of uncertainty. IVFNs (and in general type-2 fuzzy sets) are extensively used in different problems of decisionmaking [10], particularly in financial modelling and option pricing [9]. In addition to the derivation of analytical formulas for the possibilistic mean of truncated IVFNs used in the extended fuzzy pay-off method, a numerical case is presented to illustrate the difference in results, when compared to the original method.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. In the following section, we will shortly present the necessary definitions and notations. In Sect. 3, the extension of the original fuzzy pay-off method with interval-valued fuzzy numbers is presented. An application of the approach to evaluating cash-flow estimations is discussed in Sect. 4. Finally, the conclusions are presented in Sect. 5.

# 2 Preliminaries

In this section we present the definitions and concepts used in the discussion of the model, including fuzzy sets, ordinary and interval-valued fuzzy numbers, and the definition and main properties of the possibilistic mean value.

#### 2.1 Fuzzy Numbers and Possibilistic Mean

A fuzzy subset A of a non-empty set X can be defined as a mapping,

$$\mu_A \colon X \to [0,1].$$

 $\mu_A$  is termed as the membership function specifying the degree to which elements from X belong to A. In the following, as it is a common tradition, we will write simply A(x) instead of  $\mu_A(x)$  to denote the membership function. A typical way to characterize fuzzy sets is through the  $\gamma$ -cuts denoted by  $[A]^{\gamma}$ defined as

$$[A]^{\gamma} = \{ x \in X | A(x) \ge \gamma \},\$$

if  $\gamma > 0$  and cl(suppA) if  $\gamma = 0$ , where cl(suppA) denotes the closure of the support of A. A fuzzy set A of X is called *convex* if  $[A]^{\gamma}$  is a convex subset of X for all  $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ . A fuzzy number A is a fuzzy set of the real line with a normal, (fuzzy) convex and continuous membership function of bounded support [1]. An important reason for utilizing fuzzy numbers in many applications is that they constitute a family of possibility distributions. Formally, possibility [17] can be defined as a maxitive normalized monotone measure (in contrast to probability, which is an additive measure). In case of fuzzy numbers, the possibility measure of a set B can be specified as follows:

$$\operatorname{Pos}(B \subset \mathbb{R}) = \sup_{x \in B} A(x),$$

where A(x) is the membership function of the fuzzy number A. This interpretation offers an important motivation in utilizing fuzzy numbers instead of probability distributions in (real) option analysis.

Fuzzy numbers can be uniquely characterized by their  $\gamma$ -cuts that constitute an interval for every  $\gamma$ .

**Definition 1.** Let A be a fuzzy number. Then  $[A]^{\gamma}$  is a closed convex (compact) subset of  $\mathbb{R}$  for all  $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ . Let us introduce the notations

$$a_1(\gamma) = \min[A]^{\gamma}, \quad a_2(\gamma) = \max[A]^{\gamma}$$

where  $a_1(\gamma)$  denotes the left-hand side and  $a_2(\gamma)$  denotes the right-hand side of the  $\gamma$ -cut,  $\gamma \in [0,1]$ .

In most applications, a special class of fuzzy numbers is utilized, namely the class of triangular fuzzy numbers [11].

**Definition 2.** A fuzzy set A is called a triangular fuzzy number with center a, left width  $\alpha > 0$  and right width  $\beta > 0$ , if its membership function has the following form

$$A(t) = \begin{cases} 1 - \frac{a-t}{\alpha} \text{ if } a - \alpha \leq t \leq a \\ 1 - \frac{t-a}{\beta} \text{ if } a \leq t \leq a + \beta \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and we use the notation  $A = (a, \alpha, \beta)$ .

A typical, non-trivial problem frequently occurring in various applications of fuzzy numbers is the process of ranking [13]. One often used approach is simply to map fuzzy numbers into the real line by using any one of the many applicable methods available, and then ranking the resulting values. One of the most widely used ranking approaches, the possibilistic mean, is studied in [1], and can be defined as follows.

**Definition 3.** The possibilistic mean value of fuzzy number A with  $[A]^{\gamma} = [a_1(\gamma), a_2(\gamma)]$  is defined as

$$E(A) = \int_0^1 (a_1(\gamma) + a_2(\gamma))\gamma \,\mathrm{d}\gamma.$$

#### 2.2 Interval-Valued Fuzzy Numbers

An important aspect of fuzzy set theory-based modelling in recent decades has been that of incorporating various types and levels of imprecision in the different approaches. In addition to the contributions relying on traditional fuzzy sets, the number of contributions that are based on, for example, interval-valued, intuitionistic, and hesitant fuzzy sets or vague sets, increases continuously. The extensions that aim to more completely model imprecision involved in defining the limits of fuzzy sets include the class of type-2 fuzzy sets and as their special case interval-valued fuzzy sets (IVFS) [16]. In the following, we will only consider IVFS's, and introduce the most important definitions used.

An IVFS is a mapping A from the universe X to the set of closed intervals of [0,1] [5]. By using the notations  $A(u) = [A^L(u), A^U(u)]$ , the traditional terminology is to call  $A^L$  and  $A^U$  as lower fuzzy set and upper fuzzy set of A, respectively. An interval-valued fuzzy set is said to be an interval-valued fuzzy number (IVFN), if  $A^U$  and  $A^L$  are fuzzy numbers [12]. IVFN's have been extensively used in different problems of decision-making [7,14].

The  $\gamma$ -cuts of  $A^L$  and  $A^U$  are denoted as

$$[A^L]^{\gamma} = [a_1(\gamma), a_2(\gamma)],$$
$$[A^U]^{\gamma} = [A_1(\gamma), A_2(\gamma)]$$

with

 $[A]^{\gamma} = ([A^L]^{\gamma}, [A^U]^{\gamma}).$ 

The extension of the possibilistic mean value for interval-valued fuzzy numbers can be defined as follows.

**Definition 4** [2]. The possibilistic mean value of  $A \in IVFN$  is defined as

$$E_I(A) = \int_0^1 \gamma(M(U_\gamma) + M(L_\gamma)) \mathrm{d}\gamma, \qquad (1)$$

where  $U_{\gamma}$  and  $L_{\gamma}$  are uniform probability distributions defined on  $[A^U]^{\gamma}$  and  $[A^L]^{\gamma}$ , respectively, and M stands for the probabilistic mean operator.

Intuitively, the possibilistic mean of an interval-valued fuzzy number is the arithmetic mean of the mean values of its upper and lower fuzzy numbers. If  $A = A^U = A^L$  is an ordinary fuzzy number, this definition collapses into the possibilistic mean value.

It is additionally proven in [2] that this definitions satisfies numerous reasonable properties required from a ranking method on fuzzy sets [13], and that the operator is linear in the sense of the max-min extended operations addition and multiplication by a scalar on IVFN.

**Lemma 1.** If  $A, B \in IVFN$  and  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ , then

1.  $E_I(cA) = cE_I(A),$ 2.  $E_I(A+B) = E_I(A) + E_I(B).$ 

As we will use this property extensively, it is important to highlight that the possibilistic mean of an IVFN can be calculated as the arithmetic mean of the possibilistic mean of the upper and lower fuzzy numbers:

$$E_I(A) = \frac{E(A^U) + E(A^L)}{2}.$$

### 3 Fuzzy Pay-Off with IVFNs

The fuzzy pay-off method introduced in [3] is based on the same option valuation logic underlying simulation-based real option methods see, e.g., [4,8], where the main idea is that of by simulation creating probability distributions for the net present value (NPV), from which a pay-off distribution for the real option is created. In the real option pay-off distribution the possible negative values are accounted for as zero and consequently the real option value can be calculated as the probability weighted average of the real option pay-off distribution. In the fuzzy pay-off method, fuzzy numbers (possibility distributions) are used to represent the NPV and the real option pay-off distributions. A single real option value is reached by calculating an area weighted possibilistic mean of the positive NPV outcomes.

Definition 5. We calculate the real option value from the fuzzy NPV as follows

$$ROV = \frac{\int_0^\infty A(x) dx}{\int_{-\infty}^\infty A(x) dx} \times E(A_+)$$
(2)

where A stands for the fuzzy NPV,  $E(A_+)$  denotes the possibilistic mean value of the positive side of the NPV.

#### 3.1 An Extension of the Pay-Off Method

As we pointed out above, interval-valued fuzzy sets extend the traditional fuzzy sets by introducing a second level of imprecision. In the traditional case, while the exact value of an object is not precisely identified, the membership function estimates the degree to which a specific values belong to the underlying object. In the interval-valued case, we assume that the membership function is imprecisely known, an assumption that is in line with the reality facing the context of this paper, real investments. Compared to using general type-2 fuzzy sets, IVFSs are more intuitive from a practical point of view as they only require the specification of an interval for membership values, and not second level fuzzy sets. Moreover, as we consider in connection with the application, triangular IVFN's can be specified by five unique real numbers, while allowing a more complete representation.

Motivated by these observations, we propose an extension of the fuzzy pay-off method that uses IVFN's as follows.

**Definition 6.** The real option value from an interval-valued fuzzy NPV is calculated as follows

$$IV - ROV = \frac{\int_0^\infty (A^U(x) + A^L(x)) dx}{\int_{-\infty}^\infty (A^U(x) + A^L(x)) dx} \times E_I(A_+)$$
(3)

where A stands for the interval-valued fuzzy NPV,  $E_I(A_+)$  denotes the possibilistic mean value of the positive side of the NPV.  $\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} 0.5(A^U(x) + A^L(x)) dx$ 

computes the average of the area below the upper and lower membership function of A, while  $\int_0^\infty 0.5(A^U(x) + A^L(x)) dx$  is the average of the area below the positive part of  $A^U$  and  $A^L$ .

In the following, we will calculate the possibilistic mean value for the positive part of a triangular interval-valued fuzzy number A, with upper triangular fuzzy number  $A^U = (a, \alpha_1, \beta_1)$  and lower triangular fuzzy number  $A^L = (a, \alpha_2, \beta_2)$ .

Specifically, if  $0 = a - \alpha_1 + z$ ,  $E_I(A|z)$  denotes the possibilistic mean of the truncated interval-valued fuzzy number A. In the following, we will look at the different cases depending on the location of the value of 0. It is important to mention that the possibilistic mean value of a triangular interval-valued fuzzy number can be calculated as

$$E_I(A) = a + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_2}{12} + \frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1}{12}.$$

This implies in our specific application that, if the fuzzy number A is greater than 0, then the possibilistic mean of the truncated fuzzy number is the same as the mean of the original fuzzy number specified in the above formula. In case  $a+\beta_1 < 0$ , the support of the fuzzy number does not contain any positive values; this situation implies that the possibilistic mean of the truncated interval-valued fuzzy number (and the real option value) is 0.

Additionally to these trivial cases, depending on the location of 0, there are four situations to be considered:

 $\begin{array}{l} - \ a - \alpha_1 < 0 < a - \alpha_2; \\ - \ a - \alpha_2 < 0 < a; \\ - \ a < 0 < a + \beta_2; \\ - \ a + \beta_2 < 0 < a + \beta_1. \end{array}$ 

In the first case, we need to consider the situation when

$$a - \alpha_1 < 0 < a - \alpha_2.$$

In this case, we only truncate the upper membership function, the lower will remain the same. Before presenting the calculations, we introduce the following notation for the upper membership value of 0:

$$z_1 = A^U(0) = A^U(a - \alpha_1 + z) = 1 - \frac{\alpha_1 - z}{\alpha_1} = \frac{z}{\alpha_1}.$$

According to this, for the lower membership function, the  $\gamma$ -cuts remain the same,

$$[A^L]^{\gamma} = [a_1(\gamma), a_2(\gamma)]$$

while for the upper membership function, they remain the same for  $\gamma > z_1$ , and for  $\gamma < z_1$ 

$$[A^U]^{\gamma} = [a - \alpha_1 + z, A_2(\gamma)].$$

We need to calculate the following possibilistic mean value:

$$E_{I}(A|z) = \frac{1}{2} (I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3})$$

$$= 0.5 \int_{0}^{z_{1}} \gamma(a - \alpha_{1} + z + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{1}) d\gamma$$

$$+ 0.5 \int_{z_{1}}^{1} \gamma(a - (1 - \gamma)\alpha_{1} + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{1}) d\gamma$$

$$+ 0.5 \int_{0}^{1} \gamma(a - (1 - \gamma)\alpha_{2} + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{2}) d\gamma$$
(4)

The integrals can be computed as follows.

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \int_0^{z_1} [(2a - \alpha_1 + z)\gamma + \gamma(1 - \gamma)\beta_1] \mathrm{d}\gamma \\ &= (2a - \alpha_1 + z + \beta_1) \frac{z^2}{2\alpha_1^2} - \beta_1 \frac{z^3}{3\alpha_1^3} \\ &= (2a - \alpha_1 + \beta_1) \frac{z^2}{2\alpha_1^2} - \beta_1 \frac{z^3}{3\alpha_1^3} + \frac{z^3}{2\alpha_1^2} \\ I_2 &= \int_{z_1}^1 [2a\gamma + \gamma(1 - \gamma)(\beta_1 - \alpha_1)] \mathrm{d}\gamma \\ &= a - \frac{az^2}{\alpha_1^2} + \frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1}{6} - (\beta_1 - \alpha_1) \frac{z^2}{\alpha_1^2} + (\beta_1 - \alpha_1) \frac{z^3}{3\alpha_1^3} \\ I_3 &= a + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_2}{6} \end{split}$$

Using these values, one can obtain that

$$E_I(A|z) = a + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_2}{12} + \frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1}{12} + \frac{z^3}{12\alpha_1^3}$$

In the second case, we need to calculate the truncated mean when

$$a - \alpha_2 < 0 < a.$$

In this case, additionally to  $z_1$ , we also need to calculate the membership value of 0 in the lower membership function:

$$z_2 = A^L(0) = A^L(a - \alpha_1 + z) = 1 - \frac{\alpha_1 - z}{\alpha_2} = \frac{\alpha_2 - \alpha_1 + z}{\alpha_2}.$$

The possibilistic mean of the positive part can be calculated as:

$$E_{I}(A|z) = \frac{1}{2} (I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3} + I_{4})$$

$$= 0.5 \int_{0}^{z_{1}} \gamma(a - \alpha_{1} + z + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{1}) d\gamma$$

$$+ 0.5 \int_{z_{1}}^{1} \gamma(a - (1 - \gamma)\alpha_{1} + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{1}) d\gamma$$

$$+ 0.5 \int_{0}^{z_{2}} \gamma(a - \alpha_{1} + z + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{2}) d\gamma$$

$$+ 0.5 \int_{z_{2}}^{1} \gamma(a - (1 - \gamma)\alpha_{2} + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{2}) d\gamma$$
(5)

The integrals can be computed as follows.

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= (2a - \alpha_1 + \beta_1) \frac{z^2}{2\alpha_1^2} - \beta_1 \frac{z^3}{3\alpha_1^3} + \frac{z^3}{2\alpha_1^2} \\ I_2 &= a - \frac{az^2}{\alpha_1^2} + \frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1}{6} - (\beta_1 - \alpha_1) \frac{az^2}{\alpha_1^2} + (\beta_1 - \alpha_1) \frac{z^3}{3\alpha_1^3} \\ I_3 &= \int_0^{z_2} [(2a - \alpha_1 + z)\gamma + \gamma(1 - \gamma)\beta_2] d\gamma \\ &= (2a - \alpha_1 + \beta_2 + z) \frac{z_2^2}{2} - \beta_2 \frac{z_2^2}{3} + \frac{z_2^3}{2} \\ I_4 &= \int_{z_2}^1 [2a\gamma + \gamma(1 - \gamma)(\beta_2 - \alpha_2)] d\gamma \\ &= a - az_2^2 + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_2}{6} - (\beta_2 - \alpha_2) \frac{z_2^2}{2} + (\beta_2 - \alpha_2) \frac{z_2^3}{3} \end{split}$$

Using these values, one can obtain that

$$E_I(A|z) = a + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_2}{12} + \frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1}{12} + \frac{z^3}{12\alpha_1^3} + \frac{(z - \alpha_1 + \alpha_2)^3}{12\alpha_2^2}$$

In the third case, we need to calculate the truncated mean when

$$a < 0 < a + \beta_2.$$

In this case, we have the following expression specifying the membership value of 0:

$$z_1 = A^U(0) = A^U(a - \alpha_1 + z) = 1 - \frac{z - \alpha_1}{\beta_1} = \frac{\beta_1 + z - \alpha_1}{\beta_1}$$

Additionally, we also need the membership in the lower membership function:

$$z_2 = A^L(0) = A^L(a - \alpha_1 + z) = 1 - \frac{z - \alpha_1}{\beta_2} = \frac{\beta_2 + z - \alpha_1}{\beta_2}.$$

The possibilistic mean of the positive part can be calculated as:

$$E_{I}(A|z) = \frac{1}{2} (I_{1} + I_{2})$$
  
=  $0.5 \int_{0}^{z_{1}} \gamma(a - \alpha_{1} + z + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{1}) d\gamma$  (6)  
 $+ 0.5 \int_{0}^{z_{2}} \gamma(a - \alpha_{1} + z + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_{2}) d\gamma$ 

The integrals can be computed as follows.

$$I_1 = (2a - \alpha_1 + \beta_1 + z)\frac{z_1^2}{2} - \beta_1\frac{z_1^3}{3}$$
$$I_2 = (2a - \alpha_1 + \beta_2 + z)\frac{z_2^2}{2} - \beta_2\frac{z_2^3}{3}$$

Using these values, one can obtain that

$$E_I(A|z) = a \left( \frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1 + z}{\beta_1^2} + \frac{(\beta_2 - \alpha_1 + z)^2}{\beta_2^2} \right) + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_1 + z^3}{6\beta_1^2} + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_1 + z^3}{6\beta_2^2}$$

Finally, in the last case, we need to calculate the truncated mean when

 $a + \beta_1 < 0 < a + \beta_2.$ 

In this case we only consider the upper membership, as the support of the lower triangular fuzzy number does not contain positive values.

The possibilistic mean of the positive part can be calculated as:

$$E_I(A|z) = 0.5I_1 = 0.5 \int_0^{z_1} \gamma(a - \alpha_1 + z + a + (1 - \gamma)\beta_1) d\gamma$$
(7)

The integral can be computed as

$$I_1 = (2a - \alpha_1 + \beta_1 + z)\frac{z_1^2}{2} - \beta_1 \frac{z_1^3}{3}$$

Finally,

$$E_I(A|z) = a\left(\frac{\beta_1 - \alpha_1 + z}{\beta_1^2}\right) + \frac{\beta_2 - \alpha_1 + z}{6\beta_1^2}$$

In all the four cases, to compute the real option value, according to the definition, the ratio between the average of the positive area of the upper and lower triangular fuzzy number and the mean of the total area under the upper and lower triangular fuzzy numbers has to be calculated as the weight for the above calculated possibilistic mean of the truncated interval-valued fuzzy number.

# 4 Numerical Example

In this section we present a numerical example to illustrate the application of the proposed approach. In particular, we will discuss how to assess uncertain cash-flows. The data was used in [3] to illustrate the benefits of the original fuzzy pay-off method. The original data is presented in the form of three points corresponding to triangular fuzzy numbers that in turn characterize future cashflow scenarios. In Fig. 1, the data presented in [3] and used in the following example is shown.

The scenario values can be specified by managers as crisp values, or generated from any preliminary analysis. Costs and revenues are specified separately, with the cost cash-flows discounted at the risk-free rate and the revenue discount rate is selected according to the risk adjusted discount rate. The final fuzzy NPV is the fuzzy pay-off distribution for the investment.

	Investment	/ cost cas	h-flows (P)	@"risk fre	e" level)		Rf= 0	0,05								
	0	0,5	1	1,5	2	2,5	3	3,5	4	4,5	5	6	7	8	9	10
CF Maximum	15,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	325,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
CF Base	15,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	325,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
CF Minimum	15,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	325,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
PV Maximum	15,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	294,78	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
PV Base	15,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	294,78	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
PV Minimum	15,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	294,78	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00
	0-0,5	0-1	0-1,5	0-2	0-2,5	0-3	0-3,5	0-4	0-4,5	0-5	0-6	0-7	0-8	0-9	0-10	0-11
ΣPV Maximum	15,00	15,00	15,00	15,00	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78
ΣPV Base	15,00	15,00	15,00	15,00	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78
ΣPV Minimum	15,00	15,00	15,00	15,00	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78	309,78
	Revenue ca	sh-flows (	PV @ "risk	adjusted"	level)		Ra = 0	0,15								
	0	0,5	1	1,5	2	2,5	3	3,5	4	4,5	5	6	7	8	9	10
CF Maximum	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	80,00	0,00	116,00	0,00	153,00	177,00	223,00	268,00	314,00	0,00
CF Base	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	52,00	0,00	62,00	0,00	74,00	77,00	89,00	104,00	122,00	0,00
CF Minimum	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	20,00	0,00	23,00	0,00	24,00	18,00	20,00	20,00	22,00	0,00
PV Maximum	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	52,60	0,00	66,32	0,00	76,07	76,52	83,83	87,61	89,26	0,00
PV Base	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	34,19	0,00	35,45	0,00	36,79	33,29	33,46	34,00	34,68	0,00
PV Minimum	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	13,15	0,00	13,15	0,00	11,93	7,78	7,52	6,54	6,25	0,00
	0-0,5	0-1	0-1,5	0-2	0-2,5	0-3	0-3,5	0-4	0-4,5	0-5	0-6	0-7	0-8	0-9	0-10	0-11
ΣPV Maximum	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	52,60	52,60	118,92	118,92	194,99	271,51	355,35	442,96	532,22	532,22
ΣPV Base	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	34,19	34,19	69,64	69,64	106,43	139,72	173,18	207,18	241,86	241,86
ΣPV Minimum	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	0,00	13,15	13,15	26,30	26,30	38,23	46,01	53,53	60,07	66,33	66,33
	0-0,5	0-1	0-1,5	0-2	0-2,5	0-3	0-3,5	0-4	0-4,5	0-5	0-6	0-7	0-8	0-9	0-10	0-11
FNPV Maximum	-15,00	-15,00	-15,00	-15,00	-309,78	-309,78	-257,18	-257,18	-190,86	-190,86	-114,79	-38,27	45,56	133,17	222,43	222,43
FNPV Base	-15,00	-15,00	-15,00	-15,00	-309,78	-309,78	-275,59	-275,59	-240,15	-240,15	-203,35	-170,06	-136,61	-102,61	-67,93	-67,93
FNPV Minimum	-15,00	-15,00	-15,00	-15,00	-309,78	-309,78	-296,63	-296,63	-283,48	-283,48	-271,55	-263,77	-256,25	-249,71	-243,46	-243,46

Fig. 1. Data for the numerical example

To extend this process of acquiring data in the form of interval-valued fuzzy costs and revenues, from a practical point of view, the experts specifying the values can be asked to specify, instead of three crisp values, the following:

- a crisp value corresponding to the most likely scenario: the center of both the upper and lower fuzzy numbers;
- a real interval that can potentially contain the minimum possible outcome: the interval  $[a - \alpha_1, a - \alpha_2]$
- a real interval that can potentially contain the maximum possible outcome: the interval  $[a + \beta_2, a + \beta_1]$

This description illustrates the main benefit of the proposed approach: we are not restricted any more to a crisp minimum and maximum possible scenarios, as they can be difficult to estimate precisely in many applications, but we can estimate two intervals that contain these two scenarios, respectively.

For illustrative purposes we have used the estimated values presented in Fig. 1 as a starting point and artificially generated intervals around. The interval-valued triangular fuzzy numbers use the base scenarios from Fig. 1 as the center, while the minimum and maximum possible intervals around the center are specified with endpoints plus and minus t% of the center value, for  $t \in \{1, 5, 10\}$ . The results from the original analysis presented in [3] and for the three considered t values can be seen in Table 1.

	Pay-off bad	Pay-off base	Pay-off good	ROV
Original model	-243.46	-67.93	222.43	13.56
t = 1%	[-247.22, -238.28]	-67.93	[218.74, 225.42]	13.69
t = 5%	[-255.66, -234.02]	-67.93	[215.63, 231.04]	13.89
t = 10%	[-270.45, -222.23]	-67.93	[205.02, 241.12]	14.11

Table 1. Results from the numerical example

# 5 Conclusions

In this paper, we have proposed a new extension that uses interval-valued fuzzy sets in the fuzzy pay-off method [3]. The proposed method allows for a more complete representation of the imprecision connected to cash-flow estimation underlying real option valuation. While the structure and the complexity of the method remains the same, with an extra effort one can potentially improve the quality of the final real option value prediction. We specifically considered the case of triangular interval-valued fuzzy numbers and an extension of the possibilistic mean in this paper, and derived analytical formulae for the possibilistic mean values of truncated numbers.

This paper is one of the first contributions in the literature on real options to account for higher level of imprecision in terms of the underlying mathematical representation by utilizing interval-valued fuzzy numbers. While the case of trapezoidal interval-valued fuzzy numbers is not presented, the derivation of the formulae can be done straight forward based on our results, while accounting for the presence of the central interval. From a practical point of view, the input data requires the experts to specify an interval for the outcome of some basic scenarios, which on one hand does not complicate their task excessively, but allows for a more complete picture as the basis of real option value to be obtained.

# References

- 1. Carlsson, C., Fullér, R.: On possibilistic mean value and variance of fuzzy numbers. Fuzzy Set. Syst. **122**, 315–326 (2001)
- Carlsson, C., Fullér, R., Mezei, J.: Project selection with interval-valued fuzzy numbers. In: Proceedings of the Twelfth IEEE International Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Informatics (CINTI 2011), Budapest, Hungary, pp. 23–26. IEEE (2011)
- Collan, M., Fullér, R., Mezei, J.: A fuzzy pay-off method for real option valuation. J. Appl. Math. Decis. Sci. 2009 (2009). Advances in Decision Sciences, Article ID 238196, 14 pages
- 4. Datar, V., Mathews, S.: A practical method for valuing real options: the boeing approach. J. Appl. Corp. Fin. **19**, 95–104 (2007)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Interval-valued fuzzy sets, possibility theory and imprecise probability. In: Proceedings of the International Conference in Fuzzy Logic and Technology, Barcelona, Spain, pp. 314–319 (2005)
- Ho, S.-H., Liao, S.H.: A fuzzy real option approach for investment project valuation. Exp. Syst. Appl. 38, 15296–15302 (2011)
- Liu, P.: Some Hamacher aggregation operators based on the interval-valued intuitionistic fuzzy numbers and their application to group decision making. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 22, 83–97 (2014)
- Mathews, S., Salmon, J.: Business engineering: a practical approach to valuing high-risk, high-return projects using real options. In: Gray, P. (ed.) Tutorials in Operations Research: Informs (2007)
- Muzzioli, S., De Baets, B.: Fuzzy approaches to option price modelling. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. doi:10.1109/TFUZZ.2016.2574906
- Ozen, T., Garibaldi, J.M.: Effect of type-2 fuzzy membership function shape on modelling variation in human decision making. In: Proceedings of Thee IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, Budapest, Hungary, pp. 971–976. IEEE (2004)
- Pedrycz, W.: Why triangular membership functions. Fuzzy Set. Syst. 64, 21–30 (1994)
- 12. Wang, G., Li, X.: The applications of interval-valued fuzzy numbers and intervaldistribution numbers. Fuzzy Set. Syst. **98**, 331–335 (1998)
- Wang, Z., Kerre, E.E.: Reasonable properties for the ordering of fuzzy quantities (I). Fuzzy Set. Syst. 118, 375–385 (2001)
- 14. Wu, J., Chiclana, F.: A social network analysis trustconsensus based approach to group decision-making problems with interval-valued fuzzy reciprocal preference relations. Knowl. Based Syst. **59**, 97–107 (2014)
- 15. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-353 (1965)
- Zadeh, L.A.: The concept of a linguistic variable and its application to approximate reasoning-I. Inf. Sci. 8, 199–249 (1975)
- Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets as a basis for a theory of possibility. Fuzzy Set. Syst. 1, 3–28 (1978)
- Zmeškal, Z.: Generalised soft binomial American real option pricing model (fuzzystochastic approach). Eur. J. Oper. Res. 207, 1096–1103 (2010)

# Measuring the Incoherent Information in Multi-adjoint Normal Logic Programs

M. Eugenia Cornejo<sup>(⊠)</sup>, David Lobo, and Jesús Medina

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain {mariaeugenia.cornejo,david.lobo,jesus.medina}@uca.es

**Abstract.** Databases usually contain incoherent information due to, for instance, the presence of noise in the data. The detection of the incoherent information is an important challenge in different topics. In this paper, we will consider a formal notion for this kind of information and we will study different measures in order to detect incoherent information in a general fuzzy logic programming framework. As a consequence, we can highlight some irregular data in a multi-adjoint normal logic program and so, in other useful and more particular frameworks.

Keywords: Multi-adjoint normal logic program  $\cdot$  Coherence interpretation  $\cdot$  Incoherence measure

### 1 Introduction

Fuzzy logic programming is the computational branch of fuzzy logic, which has widely been studied [1,10,15,16,29]. One of the most general frameworks is multi-adjoint logic programming (MALP) [13,14,25,27,30], which was introduced by Medina, Ojeda-Aciego and Vojtáš in [26] as a general framework in which the minimal mathematical requirements are only considered in order to ensure the main properties given in the diverse usual logic programming frameworks. For instance, this theory generalizes the annotated logic programming [17], possibilistic logic programming [7], monotonic and residuated logic programming [5,6], fuzzy logic programming [32], etc. All these frameworks are part of the set of "positive" logic frameworks which only consider monotonic operators.

The use of negation operators enriches the flexibility of the logic language considered in order to model a particular knowledge database. However, this consideration hinders the computational operability of the obtained framework. Recently, multi-adjoint normal logic programming (MANLP) arises as a generalization of MALP in which negation operators can be considered [3,4] and different studies on the syntax and semantics of this general framework have been presented.

Partially supported by the State Research Agency (AEI) and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) project TIN2016-76653-P.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing  $641,\,\mathrm{DOI}$  10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7-47

Recently, in [3], the suitable notion of coherence and incoherence in a MANLP has been studied and a final definition has been proposed. Based on this definition, we will study in this paper different measures in order to detect incoherent information in a general fuzzy logic programming framework. As a consequence, we can highlight some irregularity in the data in a multi-adjoint normal logic program and so, in other useful and more particular frameworks, previously enumerated. This fact will provide a procedure in order to assess the quality of the data of the considered knowledge system and so, of the obtained results from it.

The structure of the paper is the following. Section 2 recalls the basic definitions in multi-adjoint normal logic programming and graph theory needed throughout of the paper. Section 3 set the notion of coherent interpretation we will consider, introduce different properties and diverse incoherent measures. The paper finishes with the conclusions and several aims for future work.

# 2 Preliminaries

This section will provide an overview with some necessary definitions and results of the multi-adjoint normal logic programming framework and graph theory, which will contribute to a better understanding of the carried out study.

# 2.1 Multi-adjoint Normal Logic Programming

The first definitions we need to recall in this framework are the notions of multiadjoint normal lattice and multi-adjoint normal logic program.

**Definition 1.** The tuple  $(L, \leq, \leftarrow_1, \&_1, \ldots, \leftarrow_n, \&_n, \neg)$  is a multi-adjoint normal lattice if the following properties are verified:

- (1)  $(L, \preceq)$  is bounded lattice, i.e. it has a bottom  $(\bot)$  and a top  $(\top)$  element;
- (2)  $(\&_i, \leftarrow_i)$  is an adjoint pair in  $(L, \preceq)$ , for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ ;
- (3)  $\top \&_i \vartheta = \vartheta \&_i \top = \vartheta$ , for all  $\vartheta \in L$  and  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ ;
- (4)  $\neg$  is a negation operator on  $(L, \preceq)$ , that is,  $\neg$  is a decreasing mapping satisfying that  $\neg(\bot) = \top$  and  $\neg(\top) = \bot$ .

From a multi-adjoint normal lattice together with an additional (symbol of) negation  $\sim$ , we can define a multi-adjoint normal logic program  $\mathbb{P}$  as a set of weighted rules in which different implications are used. The elements appearing in the rules of  $\mathbb{P}$  can be either (positive) propositional symbols or negated propositional symbols by  $\sim$ . All these elements are called literals and they are collected in a set denoted by  $Lit_{\mathbb{P}}$ . The set composed only by (positive) propositional symbols appearing in  $\mathbb{P}$  is denoted by  $\Pi_{\mathbb{P}}$ .

**Definition 2.** Let  $(L, \leq, \leftarrow_1, \&_1, \ldots, \leftarrow_n, \&_n, \neg)$  be a multi-adjoint normal lattice and  $\sim$  be a strong negation. A multi-adjoint normal logic program (MANLP)  $\mathbb{P}$  is a finite set of weighted rules of the form:

$$\langle l \leftarrow_i @[l_1, \ldots, l_m, \neg l_{m+1}, \ldots, \neg l_n]; \vartheta \rangle$$

where  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , (a) is an aggregator operator,  $\vartheta$  is an element of L and  $l, l_1, ..., l_n$  literals such that  $l_j \neq l_k$ , for all  $j, k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , with  $j \neq k$ .

Notice that the negation operators  $\neg$  and  $\sim$  play different roles, that is, the truth value of  $\sim \phi$  can straightforwardly be inferred from the program whereas the value of  $\neg \phi$  is obtained from the truth value of  $\phi$ . As a consequence, we will call "default negation" to  $\neg$  and "strong negation" to  $\sim$ , as it is usual. It is important to recall that the strong negation operator should not be confused in this paper with the well-known notion of involutive operator.

With respect to the semantics of multi-adjoint logic programming framework, it is based on the notion of stable model [11] which is closely related to the notion of minimal model. For that reason, the existence of minimal models in multi-adjoint normal logic programs was studied in [4] following the philosophy considered in [23]. Now, we will introduce the definition of interpretation and an interesting property corresponding to the whole set of interpretations which will play a crucial role throughout the paper.

**Definition 3.** Given a complete lattice  $(L, \preceq)$ , a mapping  $I: Lit_{\mathbb{P}} \to L$ , which assigns to every literal appearing in  $Lit_{\mathbb{P}}$  an element of L, is called L-interpretation. The set of all L-interpretations is denoted by  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$ .

**Proposition 1.** If  $(L, \preceq)$  is a complete lattice, then  $(\mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}, \sqsubseteq)$  is a complete lattice where the ordering relation  $\sqsubseteq$  is given in the following way:

 $I_1 \sqsubseteq I_2$  if and only if  $I_1(l) \preceq I_2(l)$ , for all  $l \in Lit_{\mathbb{P}}$  and  $I_1, I_2 \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$ .

Satisfaction and model are other fundamental notions for multi-adjoint normal logic programming semantics. In order to present these definitions, we need to consider some previous notational conventions:

- (a) The interpretation of a operator symbol  $\omega$  under a multi-adjoint normal lattice will be denoted by  $\dot{\omega}$ .
- (b) The evaluation of a formula  $\mathcal{A}$  under an interpretation I will be denoted as  $\hat{I}(\mathcal{A})$ . It will be proceeded inductively as usual, until all propositional symbols in  $\mathcal{A}$  are reached and evaluated under I.

**Definition 4.** Given an interpretation  $I \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$ , we say that:

- (1) A weighted rule  $\langle l \leftarrow_i @[l_1, \ldots, l_m, \neg l_{m+1}, \ldots, \neg l_n]; \vartheta \rangle$  is satisfied by I if and only if  $\vartheta \preceq \hat{I}(\langle l \leftarrow_i @[l_1, \ldots, l_m, \neg l_{m+1}, \ldots, \neg l_n]).$
- (2) An L-interpretation  $I \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$  is a model of a MANLP  $\mathbb{P}$  if and only if all weighted rules in  $\mathbb{P}$  are satisfied by I.

The first two challenges in this research topic were: (1) obtaining an existence theorem for stable models in MANLPs, and (2) choosing a suitable notion in order to handle inconsistent information given by the stable models of a multi-adjoint normal logic program. Both goals were achieved in [4] and in [3], respectively. Now, we are focused on the fundamental problem of providing an incoherence measure for MANLPs defined on a finite lattice. To carry out this task, we will need some notions related to graph theory which will be recalled in the following section.

## 2.2 Some Useful Notions of Graph Theory

Graph theory has become an indispensable mathematical tool in diverse fields such as industrial engineering [8], medical diagnosis [12] and decision making [33], among others. In this paper, the next basic notions will lead us to obtain another application of graph theory helpful for our logic programming framework.

**Definition 5.** A graph G = (V, E) is an ordered pair composed by a non-empty set whose elements are called vertices, denoted as V, and a set whose elements are called edges, denoted as E, together with an incidence mapping  $\gamma_G \colon E \to$  $\{\{u, v\} \mid u, v \in V\}$  that associates each edge in E with two vertices in V.

**Definition 6.** Let G be a graph. A path of length n in G is a sequence of edges  $e_1e_2...e_n$  together with a sequence of vertices  $v_1v_2...v_{n+1}$  satisfying that  $\gamma_G(e_i) = \{v_i, v_{i+1}\}$ , for all  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . In this case, we say that the path  $e_1e_2...e_n$  is a path between the vertex  $v_1$  and the vertex  $v_{n+1}$ .

Considering the above definitions, we can interpret the Hasse diagram of a finite lattice  $(L, \preceq)$  as a graph G = (V, E) in which V = L and each edge in E correspond to an edge in the diagram. Taking into account this consideration, we can define the distance between two elements in a finite lattice  $(L, \preceq)$  as follows.

**Definition 7 ([2]).** Let G = (V, E) be the graph associated with the Hasse diagram of a finite lattice  $(L, \preceq)$ ,  $P_G$  be the set of all paths in G and  $l_G \colon P_G \to \mathbb{R}$  be a mapping which assigns to each path in G its length. The mapping  $d \colon V \times V \to \mathbb{R}$ defined as:

 $d(x, y) = \min\{l_G(p) \mid p \text{ is a path between the vertices } x \text{ and } y\}$ 

for all  $x, y \in V$ , is called the geodesic distance between the vertices x and y belonging to the graph G.

The relevance of the geodesic distance in this paper will be shown in Sect. 3.2, where it will be used to give original incoherence measures for multi-adjoint normal logic programs defined on a finite lattice. It can be straightforwardly proved that d is in fact a distance.

# 3 Coherence Interpretations and Incoherence Measures

According to the syntactic structure of MANLPs, we can ensure that the inconsistency causes - instability and incoherence - explained by Madrid and Ojeda-Aciego for residuated logic programs [18–22], can be also given in this framework. The instability is characterized by the absence of stable models in a MANLP, therefore it is easy to classify a MANLP in this case as unstable. By contrast, the incoherence is given by stable models in a MANLP which assign contradictory values to a propositional symbol p and to its corresponding negation  $\sim p$ . In this case, the determination of incoherent programs is not clear. From this fact, the necessity to establish definitions that allows us both to decide when a program is incoherent and what is a good measure in order to assess such incoherent information.

A detailed survey on different notions related to the concept of coherence was carried out in [3], in order to select an appropriate coherence notion capable of handling inconsistent information contained in MANLPs. In this section, we will include the coherence notion chosen for multi-adjoint normal logic programming theory [3], and we will introduce some interesting properties related to this coherence notion as well as different incoherence measures for MANLPs defined on a finite lattice.

#### 3.1 Coherence: Definition and Properties

The concept of coherence has been an interesting object of study in recent years [9,24,28,31]. In [3], we justified the selection of the coherence interpretation notion considered in [22,24] as the most suitable definition for dealing with the inconsistent information included in MANLPs. Madrid and Ojeda-Aciego provided more reasons in order to justify why the definition of coherent interpretation is a good generalization of the consistent interpretation in a fuzzy environment. The flexibility of the coherent interpretation definition comes from we can accept an interpretation contradicting the next inference rule: "If the truth value of a propositional symbol p is  $\vartheta$  then the truth value of  $\neg p$  is  $n(\vartheta)$ ", where n is a negation operator. Formally:

**Definition 8** ([22,24]). Let  $\mathcal{L} = (L, \preceq, \leftarrow_1, \&_1, \ldots, \leftarrow_n, \&_n, \neg)$  be a multiadjoint normal lattice,  $\sim$  be a strong negation and I an interpretation. We say that:

- (a)  $p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}$  is a coherent propositional symbol with respect to I if and only if the inequality  $I(\sim p) \preceq \sim I(p)$  holds. Otherwise the propositional symbol p is called incoherent.
- (b) I is a coherent interpretation if and only if the inequality  $I(\sim p) \preceq \sim I(p)$ holds, for every  $p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}$ .

Notice that the definition above allows a possible lack of information but not an excess of information. For instance, the interpretation  $I \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$  satisfying  $I(p) = I(\sim p) = 0$  for all  $p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}$ , which provides no information, is a coherent interpretation. The following definition is closely related to the coherence interpretation and model notions previously presented. Now, we will introduce what is a coherent multi-adjoint normal program.

**Definition 9.** Let  $\mathcal{L} = (L, \preceq, \leftarrow_1, \&_1, \ldots, \leftarrow_n, \&_n, \neg)$  be a multi-adjoint normal lattice,  $\sim$  be a strong negation and  $\mathbb{P}$  the multi-adjoint normal logic program defined on  $\mathcal{L}$ . We say that  $\mathbb{P}$  is a coherent program if there exists at least a coherent model.

An interesting property, corresponding to coherent interpretations, ensures that if there exists a coherente interpretation then all interpretations less or equal to it are also coherent. **Proposition 2** ([24]). Let I and J be two L-interpretations satisfying  $I \subseteq J$ . If J is coherent, then I is coherent as well.

Observe that, by Proposition 2, we can deduce that if a MANLP  $\mathbb{P}$  has a least model, then  $\mathbb{P}$  is coherent program if and only if its least model is coherent. This statement will be useful for defining incoherence measures in Sect. 3.2.

Moreover, from the proposition above, we obtain a clear idea of how coherent and incoherent interpretations are distributed in the lattice of interpretations. Before presenting the algebraic structure obtained from these interpretations, we need to define the following sets:

$$C_I = \{ I \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}} \mid I(\sim p) \preceq \sim I(p) \text{ for each } p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}} \}$$
  
$$\bar{C}_I = \{ I \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}} \mid \text{there exists } p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}} \text{ such that } I(\sim p) \preceq \sim I(p) \}$$

The previous sets  $C_I$  and  $\overline{C}_I$  denote the set of all coherent interpretations and the set of all incoherent interpretations belonging to  $\mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$ , respectively. The ordering relation  $\sqsubseteq$  introduced in Proposition 1 provides to  $C_I$  and  $\overline{C}_I$  with the structure of semilattice.

**Proposition 3.** The following statements are satisfied:

(1)  $(C_I, \sqsubseteq)$  is a lower semilattice. (2)  $(\overline{C}_I, \sqsubseteq)$  is an upper semilattice.

It is worth mentioning that, knowing the algebraic structure formed by the set of coherent interpretations and the set of incoherent interpretations is a great achievement, since it can reduce the computation time and improve the effectiveness of an incoherence measure. In the next section, we present incoherence measures for multi-adjoint normal logic programs defined on a finite lattice.

#### 3.2 Incoherence Measures for MANLPs defined on a Finite Lattice

An interesting survey on incoherence measures in multi-adjoint normal logic programs has been given by Madrid and Ojeda-Aciego in [24]. Specifically, the authors measure the degree of incoherence generated by one interpretation on each negated literal considering only its negation and for that, they make use of an information measure [24, Definition 7] in order to assign a positive real value to each element in the general lattice considered in the program. In this paper, we are interested in defining incoherence measures directly from the given lattice, without considering any extra mapping. From now on, we will consider a finite multi-adjoint normal lattice  $\mathcal{L} = (L, \leq, \leftarrow_1, \&_1, \ldots, \leftarrow_n, \&_n, \neg)$  together with a fixed strong negation  $\sim$ .

We will present our first proposal of incoherence measure taking into account the meaning of a coherent/incoherent propositional symbol. This proposal is a simple definition in which the ratio of incoherent propositional symbols under an *L*-interpretation is considered with respect to the number of propositional symbols appearing in a MANLP  $\mathbb{P}$ . The idea under the following definition consists in estimating the average number of incoherent propositional symbols [24]. **Definition 10.** Let I be an L-interpretation. We define the measure of incoherence as:

$$\mathcal{M}_1(I) = \frac{\mathcal{NI}(I)}{|\Pi_{\mathbb{P}}|}$$

where  $\mathcal{NI}(I)$  denotes the number of incoherent propositional symbols in  $\mathbb{P}$ .

This notion is similar to the one introduced by Madrid and Ojeda-Aciego in [24]. The main drawback of this definition is that it does not take into account how incoherent a propositional symbol is. For example, given two *L*interpretations  $I, J \in \mathcal{I}_{\mathfrak{L}}$  and a propositional symbol  $p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}$ , the definition above does not indicate if p is more incoherente with respect to I than with respect to J. In order to introduce incoherence measures capable of dealing with such degree of incoherence, we will define the set of coherent pairs with respect to  $\mathcal{L}$  as follows:

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{L}} = \{ (x, y) \in L \times L \mid y \preceq \dot{\sim} x \}$$

The set  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  contains all the values that a coherent interpretation can consider. Furthermore, we can characterize coherent interpretations by means of  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ , as follows:

**Proposition 4** ([24]). Let I be an L-interpretation. Then, I is coherent if and only if the pair  $(I(p), I(\sim p)) \in \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ , for all  $p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}$ .

Now, we are ready to present different alternatives to measure the distance from the elements in  $L \times L$  to the set of coherent pairs. Considering the geodesic distance d associated with the Hasse diagram of the multi-adjoint normal lattice  $\mathcal{L}$ , we introduce our first definition of incoherence measure in a multi-adjoint approach taking into account the degree of incoherence of a pair of elements  $(a, b) \in L \times L$  given by:

$$d_1((a,b), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) = d(b, \dot{\sim}(a)) \tag{1}$$

The definition of  $d_1$  makes sense since the pair  $(a, \dot{\sim}(a))$  belongs to  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ , for each  $a \in L$ . Notice that  $\dot{\sim}(a)$  is the greatest value for b satisfying that  $(a, b) \in \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ . Therefore, if there exists  $c \in L$  such that  $c \prec \dot{\sim}(a)$ , that is  $(a, c) \in \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ , we obtain  $d_1((a, c), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) > 0$  because d is a distance and  $c \neq \dot{\sim}(a)$ . Hence, this first measure must be improved in order to avoid this fact, since the distance from a pair (a, b)in  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  to the set  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  must be 0. Therefore, we can conclude that  $d_1$  is not the most suitable definition of incoherence measure in this framework.

A similar result is obtained if we define the degree of incoherence of a pair  $(a, b) \in L \times L$  as follows:

$$d_2((a,b), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) = d(z_b, a) \tag{2}$$

where  $z_b = \inf\{z \in L \mid \dot{\neg} z \leq b\}$  (see Fig. 1). The definition of  $z_b$  is needed because  $\dot{\neg}$  is not necessarily an involutive negation.


**Fig. 1.** Definition of  $z_b$  in distance  $d_2$ .

It is important to observe that somehow  $d_1$  measures how much one has to be removed from b to obtain that (a, b) is a coherent pair, while  $d_2$  measures how much one has to be removed from a to ensure that (a, b) is a coherent pair.

According to the previous considerations, we propose to consider a more general definition for the degree of incoherence of a pair  $(a, b) \in L \times L$  which combines  $d_1$  and  $d_2$ . We will consider the geodesic distance of the graph associated with the Hasse diagram of the lattice  $(L \times L, \preceq)$ , where  $(a_1, b_1) \preceq (a_2, b_2)$  if and only if  $a_1 \preceq a_2$  and  $b_1 \preceq b_2$ , for each  $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2 \in L$ . Formally, we define the degree of incoherence of a pair  $(a, b) \in L \times L$  as:

$$d_G((a,b), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) = \inf\{d((a,b), (c,d)) \mid z_b \leq c \leq a, d \leq \dot{\sim}c\}$$
(3)

It is easy to see that if  $(a, b) \in \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$  then  $d_G((a, b), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) = 0$ . As we noted above, this fact is not satisfied with the distances  $d_1$  and  $d_2$ .

From the previous notion corresponding to the degree of incoherence given by  $d_G$ , we have many different ways to define a measure of incoherence for an interpretation and a given propositional symbol. We have chosen the next two incoherence measures due to their simplicity and utility:

$$\mathcal{M}_2(I) = \max\{d_G((I(p), I(\sim p)), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) \mid p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}\}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_3(I) = \frac{\sum_{p \in \Pi_{\mathbb{P}}} d_G((I(p), I(\sim p)), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}})}{|\Pi_{\mathbb{P}}|}$$

Note that, given an interpretation I,  $\mathcal{M}_2(I)$  measures the maximum size of incoherence while  $\mathcal{M}_3(I)$  indicates the average size of incoherence. These previous incoherence measures will be helpful for reaching the main goal in this paper, that is, to decide how much incoherent a program is. Now, we want to extend the incoherence measures given above for an interpretation and a given propositional symbol to an arbitrary MANLP  $\mathbb{P}$ . In order to achieve this aim, we will define the incoherence measure, for all  $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ , as:

$$\mathbb{M}_i(\mathbb{P}) = \inf\{\mathcal{M}_i(I) \mid I \text{ is a model of } \mathbb{P}\}\$$

It is fundamental to observe that if  $\mathbb{P}$  has a least model, then Proposition 2 lead us to ensure that  $\mathbb{P}$  is coherent if and only if its least model is coherent. As a consequence, the previous incoherence measure can be written in the following way  $\mathbb{M}_i(\mathbb{P}) = \mathcal{M}_i(M_{\mathbb{P}})$ , for all  $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ , where  $M_{\mathbb{P}}$  represents the least model of the MANLP  $\mathbb{P}$ .

Below, we will include an illustrative example useful for clarifying the presented incoherence measures. First of all, we show a coherent program such that the incoherence measures with respect to it are equal to zero, as one can expect. After that, we complete the program adding one rule more and we prove that the obtained program is incoherent.

Example 1. Consider the multi-adjoint normal lattice  $\mathcal{L} = (L, \preceq, \leftarrow, \&, \neg)$  composed by the complete lattice  $(L, \preceq)$  displayed in Fig. 2, the adjoint pair  $(\&, \leftarrow)$  with respect to L defined as  $x \& y = \min\{x, y\}, z \leftarrow x = \top$  if  $x \preceq z$  and  $z \leftarrow x = z$  otherwise, for all  $x, y, z \in L$ , and the negation operator  $\neg: L \to L$  shown in Fig. 2. Moreover, we will consider a strong negation  $\sim$  associated with a mapping  $\dot{\sim}: L \to L$  which is also defined in Fig. 2.



**Fig. 2.** Definition of negation operators appearing in  $\mathbb{P}$  and the Hasse diagram of  $(L, \preceq)$ .

From this multi-adjoint normal lattice, the following MANLP  $\mathbb{P}$  is defined:

$$\begin{array}{l} r_1: \ \langle p \leftarrow q \And \neg (\sim r) \ ; b \rangle \\ r_2: \ \langle \sim p \leftarrow r \ ; & d \rangle \\ r_3: \ \langle q \leftarrow s \ ; & e \rangle \\ r_4: \ \langle r \leftarrow \top \ ; & f \rangle \\ r_5: \ \langle s \leftarrow \top \ ; & d \rangle \end{array}$$

whose least model is given by the interpretation  $M_{\mathbb{P}}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} M_{\mathbb{P}}(p) &= e & M_{\mathbb{P}}(\sim p) = f \\ M_{\mathbb{P}}(q) &= e & M_{\mathbb{P}}(\sim q) = \bot \\ M_{\mathbb{P}}(r) &= f & M_{\mathbb{P}}(\sim r) = \bot \\ M_{\mathbb{P}}(s) &= d & M_{\mathbb{P}}(\sim s) = \bot \end{aligned}$$

Clearly, the propositional symbols p, q, r and s are coherent since they satisfy the inequality  $M_{\mathbb{P}}(\sim x) \preceq \sim M_{\mathbb{P}}(x)$  for all  $x \in \{p, q, r, s\}$ . Therefore, we can conclude that  $M_{\mathbb{P}}$  is a coherent interpretation by Definition 8. Hence, the least model of the program  $\mathbb{P}$  is coherent which let us to ensure that  $\mathbb{P}$  is coherent. Indeed,  $\mathbb{M}_1(\mathbb{P}) = \mathbb{M}_2(\mathbb{P}) = \mathbb{M}_3(\mathbb{P}) = 0$ .

Now, we will consider a MANLP  $\mathbb{P}^*$  which is formed by the rules appearing in  $\mathbb{P}$  together with the following rule  $r_2^*$ :  $\langle p \leftarrow r; f \rangle$ . In this case, the least model  $M_{\mathbb{P}^*}$  of the program  $\mathbb{P}^*$  is defined as follows:

$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(p) = d$	$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim p) = f$
$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(q) = e$	$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim q) = \bot$
$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(r) = f$	$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim r) = \bot$
$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(s) = d$	$M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim s) = \bot$

which is not a coherent interpretation due to Definition 8 is not satisfied. In particular, we obtain that  $M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim p) = f \not\preceq g = \dot{\sim}(d) = \dot{\sim} M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(p)$ .

Note that,  $(M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(p), M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim p)) = (d, f)$  is the unique pair which does not belongs to  $\Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ . Therefore, to compute the incoherence measures  $\mathbb{M}_2(\mathbb{P}^*)$  and  $\mathbb{M}_3(\mathbb{P}^*)$ , we will only need to make the computation for the value  $d_G((d, f), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}})$ . Since  $z_{M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim p)} = z_f = \inf\{z \in L \mid \dot{\sim} z \preceq f\} = d$ , applying the definition of distance  $d_G$  given by Eq. (3), we obtain that

$$d_G((d, f), \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}) = \inf\{d((d, f), (d, x)) \mid x \leq \dot{\sim}(d)\} \\= \inf\{d((d, f), (d, g)), d((d, f), (d, \bot))\} = \inf\{1, 2\} = 1$$

Finally, considering the definitions for the incoherence measures with respect to a program, we can conclude that:

$$\mathbb{M}_{1}(\mathbb{P}^{*}) = \mathcal{M}_{1}(M_{\mathbb{P}^{*}}) = \frac{1}{4} = 0.25$$
$$\mathbb{M}_{2}(\mathbb{P}^{*}) = \mathcal{M}_{2}(M_{\mathbb{P}^{*}}) = \max\{1, 0, 0, 0\} = 1$$
$$\mathbb{M}_{3}(\mathbb{P}^{*}) = \mathcal{M}_{3}(M_{\mathbb{P}^{*}}) = \frac{1}{4} = 0.25$$

The first incoherence measure shows that the ratio of incoherent propositional symbols in the program  $\mathbb{P}^*$  is 25%. The second and third ones provide information on the degree of incoherence of the propositional symbols appearing in  $\mathbb{P}^*$ . Specifically, the equality  $\mathbb{M}_2(\mathbb{P}^*) = 1$  means that any propositional symbol  $p \in \mathbb{P}^*$  is either coherent or  $(M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(p), M_{\mathbb{P}^*}(\sim p))$  is neighbor of a pair of elements  $(x, y) \in L \times L$  satisfying  $(x, y) \in \Delta_{\mathcal{L}}$ .  $\mathbb{M}_3(\mathbb{P}^*) = 0.25$  shows that the average of incoherence in the program from all the propositional symbols.

# 4 Conclusions and Future Work

Our contribution has been focused on introducing incoherence measures in order to ensure how much coherent a multi-adjoint normal logic program is. First of all, we have presented different distances to measure the degree of incoherence of a pair of elements belonging to a finite multi-adjoint normal lattice. We have presented different ways to obtain an incoherence measure for an interpretation and a given propositional symbol. Finally, these measures have been extended to a multi-adjoint normal logic program whose computations are different depending on whether the program has a least model or does not have it.

In the future, we will apply these measure to real examples, we will compare them with other measures and we will study new measures, if we detect they are needed from the practical examples.

# References

- Besold, T.R., Garcez, A.D., Stenning, K., van der Torre, L., van Lambalgen, M.: Reasoning in non-probabilistic uncertainty: logic programming and neuralsymbolic computing as examples. Mind. Mach. 27(1), 37–77 (2017)
- Bouttier, J., Francesco, P.D., Guitter, E.: Geodesic distance in planar graphs. Nucl. Phys. B 663(3), 535–567 (2003)
- Cornejo, M.E., Lobo, D., Medina, J.: Selecting the coherence notion in multiadjoint normal logic programming. In: Rojas, I., Joya, G., Catala, A. (eds.) Advances in Computational Intelligence. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 10305, pp. 1–11. Springer, Cham (2017)
- Cornejo, M.E., Lobo, D., Medina, J.: Towards multi-adjoint logic programming with negations. In: Koczy, L., Medina, J. (eds.) 8th European Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Mathematics (ESCIM 2016), pp. 24–29 (2016)
- Damásio, C.V., Pereira, L.M.: Hybrid probabilistic logic programs as residuated logic programs. In: Logics in Artificial Intelligence, JELIA 2000. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 1919, pp. 57–73 (2000)
- Damásio, C.V., Pereira, L.M.: Monotonic and residuated logic programs. In: Symbolic and Quantitative Approaches to Reasoning with Uncertainty, ECSQARU 2001. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 2143, pp. 748–759 (2001)
- Dubois, D., Lang, J., Prade, H.: Automated reasoning using possibilistic logic: semantics, belief revision, and variable certainty weights. IEEE Trans. Knowl. Data Eng. 6(1), 64–71 (1994)
- 8. Farahani, R.Z., Miandoabchi, E.: Graph Theory for Operations Research and Management: Applications in Industrial Engineering. IGI Global, London (2013)
- Fitting, M.: Bilattices and the semantics of logic programming. J. Log. Program. 11(2), 91–116 (1991)
- Galanaki, C., Nomikos, C., Rondogiannis, P.: Game semantics for non-monotonic intensional logic programming. Ann. Pure Appl. Log. 168(2), 234–253 (2017). Eighth Games for Logic and Programming Languages Workshop (GaLoP)
- Gelfond, M., Lifschitz, V.: The stable model semantics for logic programming. In: ICLP/SLP, vol. 88, pp. 1070–1080 (1988)
- Jalili, M.: Graph theoretical analysis of Alzheimer's disease: discrimination of AD patients from healthy subjects. Inf. Sci. 384, 145–156 (2017)

- Julian, P., Moreno, G., Penabad, J.: On fuzzy unfolding: a multi-adjoint approach. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 154(1), 16–33 (2005)
- Julian, P., Moreno, G., Penabad, J.: An improved reductant calculus using fuzzy partial evaluation techniques. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 160, 162–181 (2009)
- Julián-Iranzo, P., Medina, J., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: On reductants in the framework of multi-adjoint logic programming. Fuzzy Sets Syst. **317**, 27–43 (2017). Theme: Logic and Computer Science
- Julián-Iranzo, P., Rubio-Manzano, C.: A sound and complete semantics for a similarity-based logic programming language. Fuzzy Sets Syst. **317**, 1–26 (2017). Theme: Logic and Computer Science
- Kifer, M., Subrahmanian, V.S.: Theory of generalized annotated logic programming and its applications. J. Log. Program. 12, 335–367 (1992)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: On coherence and consistence in fuzzy answer set semantics for residuated logic programs. In: Di Gesù, V., Pal, S.K., Petrosino, A. (eds.) Fuzzy Logic and Applications. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 5571, pp. 60–67. Springer, Heidelberg (2009)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: On the measure of incoherence in extended residuated logic programs. In: Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, FUZZ-IEEE 2009, Jeju Island, Korea, 20–24 August 2009, pp. 598–603 (2009)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: Measuring instability in normal residuated logic programs: adding information. In: Proceedings of IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, FUZZ-IEEE 2010, Barcelona, Spain, 18–23 July 2010, pp. 1–7 (2010)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: Measuring instability in normal residuated logic programs: discarding information. In: Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems. Theory and Methods - Precedings of 13th International Conference, IPMU 2010, Dortmund, Germany, 28 June–2 July 2010, Part I, pp. 128–137 (2010)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: Measuring inconsistency in fuzzy answer set semantics. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 19(4), 605–622 (2011)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: On the existence and unicity of stable models in normal residuated logic programs. Int. J. Comput. Math. 89(3), 310–324 (2012)
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: On the measure of incoherent information in extended multi-adjoint logic programs. In: 2013 IEEE Symposium on Foundations of Computational Intelligence (FOCI). Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE), April 2013
- Medina, J., Ojeda-Aciego, M.: Multi-adjoint t-concept lattices. Inf. Sci. 180(5), 712–725 (2010)
- Medina, J., Ojeda-Aciego, M., Vojtáš, P.: Multi-adjoint logic programming with continuous semantics. In: Logic Programming and Non-Monotonic Reasoning, LPNMR 2001, pp. 351–364. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, vol. 2173 (2001)
- Medina, J., Ojeda-Aciego, M., Vojtáš, P.: Similarity-based unification: a multiadjoint approach. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 146, 43–62 (2004)
- Nieuwenborgh, D.V., Cock, M.D., Vermeir, D.: An introduction to fuzzy answer set programming. Ann. Math. Artif. Intell. 50(3–4), 363–388 (2007)
- Riguzzi, F., Bellodi, E., Zese, R., Cota, G., Lamma, E.: A survey of lifted inference approaches for probabilistic logic programming under the distribution semantics. Int. J. Approx. Reason. 80, 313–333 (2017)
- Strass, H., Muñoz-Hernández, S., Pablos-Ceruelo, V.: Operational semantics for a fuzzy logic programming system with defaults and constructive answers (2009)

- Trillas, E., Alsina, C., Jacas, J.: On contradiction in fuzzy logic. Soft Comput. Fusion Found. Methodol. Appl. 3(4), 197–199 (1999)
- 32. Vojtáš, P.: Fuzzy logic programming. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 124(3), 361–370 (2001)
- Yu, X., Xu, Z.: Graph-based multi-agent decision making. Int. J. Approx. Reason. 53(4), 502–512 (2012)

# Enhancing the Expressive Power of Sugeno Integrals for Qualitative Data Analysis

Miguel Couceiro<sup> $1(\boxtimes)$ </sup>, Didier Dubois<sup>2</sup>, Henri Prade<sup>2</sup>, and Agnès Rico<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Université de Lorraine, LORIA, INRIA Nancy Grand-Est, CNRS, UMR 7503, Nancy, France miguel.couceiro@inria.fr <sup>2</sup> IRIT-CNRS, Toulouse, France {dubois,prade}@irit.fr <sup>3</sup> ERIC, Université de Lyon, Lyon, France agnes.rico@univ-lyon1.fr

**Abstract.** Sugeno integrals are useful for describing families of multiple criteria aggregation functions qualitatively. It is known that Sugeno integrals, as aggregation functions, can be represented by a set of rules. Each rule refers to the same threshold in the conditions about the values of the criteria and in the conclusion pertaining to the value of the integral. However, in the general case we expect rules where several thresholds appear. Some of these rules involving different thresholds can be represented by Sugeno utility functionals where criteria values are rescaled by means of utility functions associated with each criterion. But as shown in this paper, their representation power is quite restrictive. In contrast, we provide evidence to conjecture that the use of disjunctions or conjunctions of Sugeno integrals with utility functions drastically improves the expressive power and that they can capture any aggregation functions.

**Keywords:** Sugeno integrals  $\cdot$  Piecewise unary functions  $\cdot$  Rule-based representation

## 1 Introduction

Sugeno integrals are aggregation functions that return a global evaluation inbetween the minimum and the maximum of the combined partial evaluations. They are used in multiple criteria decision making and in decision under uncertainty [5, 8, 9, 15]. They are qualitative aggregation functions because they can be defined on any completely ordered scale. The idea is to use a lattice polynomial (using min and max operations) whereby the importance of each subset of criteria is assessed by means of a monotonic set-function called a capacity. Sugeno integrals include weighted minimum and weighted maximum as particular cases.

The problem of representing a function of several variables with a Sugeno integral is discussed in [15]. More precisely, for a given piece of data composed of a vector of partial evaluations and a global evaluation, the set of Sugeno

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_48

integrals that agree with this piece of data is determined. Moreover, necessary and sufficient conditions are presented.

The problem of eliciting Sugeno integrals agreeing with a set of data has received some attention both from a theoretical and a practical point of view [13,14]. The idea is to define a pair of best upper and lower capacities with importance weights bearing on the same subsets of criteria, corresponding to a pair of Sugeno integrals that enclose the dataset. For each piece of data, this approach computes tightest constraints from above and constraints from below on the capacity needed for representing the dataset. In [13], a general approach to the elicitation of several such families of Sugeno integrals is proposed in cases in which the data are not altogether compatible with a unique family of capacities.

In [7,10] a Sugeno integral S is shown to represent a set of single-threshold if-then rules of the form  $x \ge \alpha$  and  $y \ge \alpha$  and  $\dots z \ge \alpha \Rightarrow S \ge \alpha$ , or yet,  $x \le \alpha$  and  $y \le \alpha$  and  $\dots z \le \alpha \Rightarrow S \le \alpha$ . These representations are used to select or reject some alternatives, respectively.

Recently, Sugeno integral has been generalized into Sugeno utility functionals [2] that introduce a utility function for each criterion. In the domain of multiple criteria decision making, this aggregation function can be viewed as the combination of the Sugeno integral and order preserving one-argument maps on each criterion. In [3] the Sugeno utility functional is extended to distributive lattices with more general maps.

In this paper, we take a step beyond the above results by considering disjunctions or conjunctions of Sugeno utility functionals. We claim that this class covers all monotonic piecewise unary functions on finite scales, and can represent multi-threshold rules of the form

$$x \ge \alpha$$
 and  $y \ge \beta$  and  $\ldots z \ge \gamma \Rightarrow S \ge \delta$  (selection rules);

or yet

$$x \leq \alpha$$
 and  $y \leq \beta$  and  $\ldots z \leq \gamma \Rightarrow S \leq \delta$  (deletion rules);

The paper is organized as follows: The next section is devoted to the background on Sugeno integrals and the kind of if-then rules they can represent. Section 3 presents necessary and sufficient conditions for a set of rules to be represented with a Sugeno utility functional, that is Sugeno integral on utility functions that modify the value scale of each criterion. The main purpose of Sect. 4 is the extension of Sugeno utility functionals to conjunctive and disjunctive combinations thereof, that capture the class of non-decreasing piecewise unary functions. This class of functions is shown to be very expressive and can capture any aggregation function on a finite scale.

### 2 Sugeno Integrals and Qualitative Datasets

We use the terminology of multiple criteria decision-making where some objects are evaluated according to criteria. We denote by  $C = \{1, \dots, n\}$  the set of

criteria,  $2^C$  the power set and L a totally ordered scale with top 1, bottom 0, and the order-reversing operation denoted by  $\nu$  ( $\nu$  is involutive and such that  $\nu(1) = 0$  and  $\nu(0) = 1$ ). An object is represented by a vector  $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ where  $x_i$  is the evaluation of x according to criterion i.

**Sugeno integral.** In the definition of Sugeno integral the relative weights of the set of criteria are represented by a capacity (or fuzzy measure) which is a set function  $\mu : 2^C \to L$  that satisfies  $\mu(\emptyset) = 0$ ,  $\mu(C) = 1$  and  $A \subseteq B$  implies  $\mu(A) \leq \mu(B)$ . The conjugate capacity of  $\mu$  is defined by  $\mu^c(A) = \nu(\mu(A^c))$  where  $A^c$  is the complement of A. Sugeno integral was originally defined in [16,17]. The most common definition is as follows:

**Definition 1.** The Sugeno integral of a function  $x : i \in C \mapsto x_i \in L$  with respect to a capacity  $\mu : 2^C \to L$  is defined by:

$$S_{\mu}(x) = \max_{\alpha \in L} \min(\alpha, \mu(x \ge \alpha)), \text{ where } \mu(x \ge \alpha) = \mu(\{i \in C | x_i \ge \alpha\}).$$

It can be equivalently written under various forms [6, 11, 12, 16], especially:

$$S_{\mu}(x) = \max_{A \subseteq \mathcal{C}} \min(\mu(A), \min_{i \in A} x_i) = \min_{A \subseteq \mathcal{C}} \max(\mu(A^c), \max_{i \in A} x_i)$$
(1)

Sugeno integrals compatible with a dataset. Let us recall how to elicit a family of Sugeno integrals that are compatible with a given dataset that is a collection of pairs  $(x^k, \alpha_k), k = 1, ..., N$  where each  $x^k$  is a tuple  $(x_1^k, ..., x_n^k)$  of local evaluations of object k with respect to criteria  $i \in C$  and  $\alpha_k$  is the global evaluation of object k.

In [15] it is proved that for a given piece of data  $(x, \alpha)$  the set of capacities  $\mu$  such that  $S_{\mu}(x) = \alpha$  is such that  $\forall A \subseteq C, \check{\mu}_{x,\alpha}(A) \leq \mu(A) \leq \hat{\mu}_{x,\alpha}(A)$ , where  $\check{\mu}_{x,\alpha}$  and  $\hat{\mu}_{x,\alpha}$  are capacities defined by

$$\check{\mu}_{x,\alpha}(A) = \begin{cases} \alpha \text{ if } \{i|x_i \ge \alpha\} \subseteq A\\ 0 \text{ otherwise} \end{cases} \text{ and } \hat{\mu}_{x,\alpha}(A) = \begin{cases} \alpha \text{ if } A \subseteq \{i|x_i > \alpha\}\\ 1 \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that  $\check{\mu}_{x,\alpha}$  is a necessity measure with respect to the possibility distribution

$$\check{\pi}_{x,\alpha}(i) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } x_i \ge \alpha \\ \nu(\alpha) \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and  $\hat{\mu}_{x,\alpha}(A)$  is a possibility measure with respect to the possibility distribution

$$\hat{\pi}_{x,\alpha}(i) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } x_i \leq \alpha \\ \alpha \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}.$$

It is worth noticing that a capacity  $\mu$  is compatible with the piece of data  $(x, \alpha)$  in the above sense if and only if  $\mu(x > \alpha) \le \alpha$  and  $\mu(x \ge \alpha) \ge \alpha$ . Note that for the set of compatible  $\mu$ 's to be not empty we need that  $\min_{i=1}^{n} x_i \le \alpha \le \max_{i=1}^{n} x_i$ , due to idempotence.

The set of capacities compatible with the dataset  $(x^k, \alpha_k)_k$  is the set of capacities  $\mu$  satisfying  $\max_k \check{\mu}_{x^k,\alpha_k} \leq \mu \leq \min_k \hat{\mu}_{x^k,\alpha_k}$ . This set of solutions can be empty, even if the set of compatible  $\mu$ 's is not empty for each piece of data. In order to compare  $\max_k \check{\mu}_{x^k,\alpha_k}$  and  $\min_k \hat{\mu}_{x^k,\alpha_k}$  it is not necessary to calculate their values and to compare them on each subset of criteria. It is proved in [15] that the set of compatible capacities is not empty if and only if for all  $\alpha_k < \alpha_l$  we have  $\{i|x_i^l \geq \alpha_l\} \not\subseteq \{i|x_i^k > \alpha_k\}$ .

Sugeno integral as a set of if-then rules. In [6] it is described how to express if-then rules associated to Sugeno integrals. We have two sorts of rules: selection rules and deletion rules. Their construction is based on the inner qualitative Moebius transform of a capacity  $\mu$  which is a mapping  $\mu_{\#} : 2^C \to L$  defined by

$$\mu_{\#}(E) = \mu(E)$$
 if  $\mu(E) > \max_{B \subset E} \mu(B)$  and 0 otherwise.

A set *E* such that  $\mu_{\#}(E) > 0$  is called a focal set. The set of focal sets of  $\mu$  is denoted by  $\mathcal{F}(\mu)$ . Sugeno integral can be expressed in terms of  $\mu_{\#}$  using Eq. (1) as follows [7]:

$$S_{\mu}(x) = \max_{E \in \mathcal{F}(\mu)} \min(\mu_{\#}(E), \min_{i \in E} x_i) = \min_{T \in \mathcal{F}(\mu^c)} \max(\nu(\mu_{\#}^c(T)), \max_{i \in T} x_i).$$

A selection rule is a rule whose conclusion is of the form  $S \ge \alpha$ . A deletion rule is a rule whose conclusion is of the form  $S \le \alpha$ . A Sugeno integral corresponds to the following rules:

- Selection rules associated to  $S_{\mu}$ . Each focal set E of  $\mu$  corresponds to the selection rule:

$$R_E^s$$
: If  $x_i \ge \mu_{\#}(E)$  for all  $i \in E$  then  $S_{\mu}(x) \ge \mu_{\#}(E)$ .

- Deletion rules associated to  $S_{\mu}$ . Each focal set T of the conjugate  $\mu^c$  corresponds to the deletion rule:

$$R_T^e$$
: If  $x_i \le \nu(\mu_{\#}^c(T))$  for all  $i \in T$  then  $S_{\mu}(x) \le \nu(\mu_{\#}^c(T))$ .

Note that a Sugeno integral is equivalent to a set of single-thresholded rules. In the following, single-thresholded selection rules will be denoted by  $(\bigwedge_{i \in E_j} x_i \geq \delta_j) \Rightarrow S(x) \geq \delta_j$  and single-thresholded deletion rules will be denoted by  $(\bigwedge_{i \in T_i} x_i \leq \delta_j) \Rightarrow S(x) \geq \delta_j$ .

As Sugeno integrals are idempotent, the set of selection rules of the form  $(\bigwedge_{i \in C} x_i \geq \delta_j) \Rightarrow S(x) \geq \delta_j$  or deletion rules of the form  $(\bigwedge_{i \in C} x_i \leq \delta_j) \Rightarrow S(x) \leq \delta_j$ , is always valid.

Let us denote by  $r_i, i \in I$  the rules in a single-thresholded rule set R, and  $A^{r_i}$   $i \in I$  the set of criteria involved in the rule  $r_i$  and  $\delta_i$   $i \in I$  the associated threshold. In some cases, we can define a capacity  $\mu$  with focal sets  $A^{r_i}$  such that  $\mu_{\#}(A^{r_i}) = \delta_i$  such that the corresponding Sugeno integral induces R.

**Proposition 1.** Any set of single-thresholded selection rules R is representable by a Sugeno integral.

**Proof:** A single-thresholded rule set is equivalent to a set of pairs  $\{(A^{r_i}, \delta_i), i = 1, \ldots, N\}$ . Consider the set of rules  $R(A) = \{r_i : A^{r_i} \subseteq A\}$ . Then define a set-function  $\mu : 2^C \to L$ , by  $\mu(A) = \max\{\delta_i : r_i \in R(A)\}$  and  $\mu(C) = 1$ . This set-function induced by R is clearly a capacity. Consider a rule  $r_i$ , the minterm associated to it is  $\min(\mu(A^{r_i}), \min_{i \in A^{r_i}} x_i) \ge \delta_i$ . So  $\forall r_i \in R, S_\mu(x) \ge \delta_i$  whenever  $x \ge \delta_i, i \in A^{r_i}$ . Moreover  $\mu$  is the smallest capacity ensuring these inequalities.

Note that the set of rules associated to focal sets of  $\mu$  will provide a minimal representation of the set of selection rules R, deleting the redundant ones. For instance, if R consists of  $x_1 \ge \alpha \land x_2 \ge \alpha \Rightarrow S \ge \alpha$  and  $x_1 \ge \beta \land x_2 \ge \beta \Rightarrow S \ge \beta$ , where  $\{1,2\} \subset C$  (there are more than two criteria), and  $\alpha > \beta$ , the second rule is redundant, if we assume they are represented by a Sugeno integral with respect to  $\mu : \mu(\{1,2\}) = \alpha$  (and 0 otherwise), since if  $x_1 \ge \beta \land x_2 \ge \beta$  then  $S_{\mu}(x) = \min(\alpha, \beta)$ .

A similar proposition holds for deletion rules. However, in general rules are multi-thresholded. So, we need to go beyond pure Sugeno integrals to represent them.

# 3 Generalizing Sugeno Integrals with Utility Functions

In this paper we are going to consider multi-thresholded rules. It is then clear we need to go beyond the mere use of Sugeno integrals. A first generalization is the following:

**Definition 2:** The Sugeno utility functional with respect to a capacity  $\mu$  is  $S_{\mu,\varphi}(x) = S_{\mu}(\varphi(x))$  where  $\varphi(x) = (\varphi_1(x_1), \dots, \varphi_n(x_n))$  and each mapping  $\varphi_i : L \to L$  is an increasing function in the wide sense, with limit conditions  $\varphi_i(0) = 0$  and  $\varphi_i(1) = 1$ .

Note that  $S_{\mu,\varphi}(x) = \max_{E \in \mathcal{F}(\mu)} \min(\mu_{\#}(E), \min_{i \in E} \varphi_i(x_i))$ . It is also worth noticing that  $S_{\mu,\varphi}$  is not always an idempotent aggregation function. Note that when the value scale L is finite, the effect of function  $\varphi_i$  is essentially one of shrinking the value scale since when  $\varphi_i$  is not the identity,  $\varphi_i(L) \subset L$ . Despite this remark, Sugeno utility functionals are strictly more expressive than Sugeno integrals, as shown in [1], for instance.

It is easy to figure out that  $S_{\mu,\varphi}$  expresses the rules:

$$(\bigwedge\nolimits_{i \in E_j} \varphi_i(x_i) \geq \delta_j) \Rightarrow S_{\mu,\varphi}(x) \geq \delta_j \text{ and } (\bigwedge\nolimits_{i \in T_j} \varphi_i(x_i) \leq \delta_j) \Rightarrow S_{\mu,\varphi}(x) \leq \delta_j.$$

Let  $\alpha_i$  be such that  $\varphi_i(\alpha_i) = \delta_j$ . Then the above single-thresholded rules express multi-thresholded selection rules of the form  $(\bigwedge_{i \in E_j} x_i \geq \alpha_i) \Rightarrow$  $S_{\mu,\varphi}(x) \geq \delta_j$ . Let us show that any multi-thresholded selection rule can be represented by a Sugeno utility functional. Example 1: Consider the selection rule  $x_1 \geq \alpha$  and  $x_2 \geq \beta \Rightarrow S \geq \delta$  with  $1 \geq \alpha \geq \beta > \delta \geq 0$ , where C contains at least 3 criteria. Define utility functions  $\varphi_1, \varphi_2$  such that  $\varphi_1(x_1) \geq \delta$  if  $x_1 \geq \alpha$  and  $\varphi_1(x_1) < \delta$  otherwise;  $\varphi_2(x_2) \geq \delta$  if  $x_2 \geq \beta$  and  $\varphi_2(x_2) < \delta$  otherwise. Then we do have that the single-thresholded rule  $\varphi_1(x_1) \geq \delta$  and  $\varphi_2(x_2) \geq \delta \Rightarrow S \geq \delta$  is equivalent to the previous multi-thresholded rule. This is because, by construction,  $x_1 \geq \alpha$  is equivalent to  $\varphi_1(x_1) \geq \delta$ , and likewise for  $x_2$ . Then we can use a capacity with weight  $\delta$  assigned to focal set  $\{1, 2\}$  and weight 1 assigned to C; the Sugeno utility functional max(min( $\varphi_1(x_1), \varphi_2(x_2), \delta$ ), min\_{i \in C}  $\varphi_i(x_i)$ ) induces the original multi-thresholded selection rule, provided that, for i > 2 we let  $\varphi_i(1) = 1$  and  $\varphi_i(x_i) = 0$  otherwise.

More generally, consider the selection rule  $x_1 \ge \alpha_1$  and  $x_2 \ge \alpha_2$  and  $\ldots x_\ell \ge \alpha_\ell \Rightarrow S \ge \lambda_j$ , with weights on a finite scale  $L = \{0, \lambda_1 < \cdots < \lambda_k = 1\}$ . We can represent its effect by means of utility functions  $\varphi_i$  such that  $\varphi_i(x_i) \in [\lambda_j, 1]$  if  $x_i \ge \alpha_i$  and  $\varphi_i(x_i) \in [0, \lambda_{j-1}]$  otherwise. The weight  $\lambda_j$  assigned to focal set  $\{1, 2, \ldots, \ell\}$  and weight 1 assigned to C; the Sugeno utility functional representing the rule is  $\max(\min(\min_{i=1}^{\ell} \varphi_i(x_i), \lambda_j), \min_{i \in C} \varphi_i(x_i))$ , provided that, for  $i > \ell$  we let  $\varphi_i(1) = 1$  and  $\varphi_i(x_i) = 0$  otherwise.

Likewise, for the deletion rule,  $x_1 \leq \alpha_1$  and  $x_2 \leq \alpha_2$  and  $\ldots x_\ell \leq \alpha_\ell \Rightarrow S \leq \lambda_j$ , we can represent its effect by means of utility functions  $\psi_i$  such that  $\psi_i(x_i) \in [0, \lambda_j]$  if  $x_i \leq \alpha_i$  and  $\psi_i(x_i) \in [\lambda_{j+1}, 1]$  otherwise. The weight  $\lambda_j$  assigned to focal set  $\{1, 2, \ldots, \ell\}$  and weight 1 assigned to C; the Sugeno utility functional representing the rule is  $S_{\mu,\psi}(x) = \min(\max(\max_{i=1}^{\ell} \psi_i(x_i), \lambda_j), \max_{i \in C} \psi_i(x_i))$ , provided that, for  $i > \ell$  we let  $\psi_i(0) = 0$  and  $\psi_i(x_i) = 1$  otherwise.

However, it is sometimes impossible to represent the behavior of several rules by a single Sugeno utility functional, because the constraints on the utility functions induced by the rules may be in conflict.

**Proposition 2:** Consider two selection rules  $r^1$  and  $r^2$  sharing one criterion x, and of the form "if ... and  $x \ge \alpha_i$  and ... then  $S \ge \delta_i$  such that  $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2$  but  $\delta_1 \le \delta_2$ . There is no Sugeno integral with utility functions that can represent both of them.

**Proof:** Indeed the utility function  $\varphi$  for criterion x is submitted to the following constraints: for rule 1:  $\varphi(x) \geq \delta_1$  if  $x \geq \alpha_1$ , and  $\varphi(x) < \delta_1$  otherwise. For rule 2:  $\varphi(x) \geq \delta_2$  if  $x \geq \alpha_2$ , and  $\varphi(x) < \delta_2$  otherwise. But since  $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2$ , suppose  $\alpha_1 > x \geq \alpha_2$ . Then the conditions enforce  $\varphi(x) < \delta_1$  and  $\varphi(x) \geq \delta_2$ , which is impossible.

*Example 2.* Let us consider the rules:  $\begin{cases} \text{if } x_1 \geq \lambda_2 \text{ and } x_2 \geq \lambda_3 \text{ then } S \geq \lambda_3 \\ \text{if } x_2 \geq \lambda_2 \text{ and } x_3 \geq \lambda_2 \text{ then } S \geq \lambda_3 \end{cases}$ where  $\lambda_2 < \lambda_3$ . Variable  $x_2$  is common to both rules. Due to the first rule, we must add a utility function  $\varphi_2$  such that  $\varphi_2(\lambda_3) \geq \lambda_3$  and  $\varphi_2(x_2) < \lambda_3$  if  $x_2 < \lambda_3$  (for instance  $\varphi_2(x_2) = x_2$ ). In particular,  $\varphi_2(\lambda_2) < \lambda_3$ . But according to the other rule, one must have that  $\varphi_2(\lambda_2) \geq \lambda_3$ , which creates a contradiction.

Note that in the above proposition, if the two rules involve the same criteria  $(A^{r_1} = A^{r_2})$  and the thresholds in  $r^1$  for criteria other than x are not less than the thresholds in  $r^2$  for these criteria, then rule  $r^1$  is just a consequence of rule  $r^2$  and can be dropped.

A proposition similar to Proposition 2 would hold for deletion rules.

If the condition in the above proposition is not encountered in a set of selection rules R, that is,  $\forall r_1, r_2 \in R, \forall i \in A^{r_1} \cap A^{r_2}$ , if  $\alpha_i^{r_1} > \alpha_i^{r_2}$  implies  $\delta_1 > \delta_2$ , then the set of rules can be accounted for by a Sugeno integral based on a capacity  $\mu$  such that  $\mu(A^{r_j}) = \delta_j, r^j \in R$ , provided that we delete redundant rules from R.

Example 3. Let us consider the rules:  $\begin{cases} \text{if } x_1 \geq \lambda_3 \text{ and } x_2 \geq \lambda_5 \text{ then } S \geq \lambda_4 \\ \text{if } x_1 \geq \lambda_2 \text{ and } x_2 \geq \lambda_3 \text{ then } S \geq \lambda_3 \end{cases} \\ \text{where } \lambda_2 < \lambda_3 < \lambda_4 < \lambda_5. \text{ Both rules involve the same criteria. Observe that the impossibility condition of Proposition 2 is not met. Due to the first rule, we must add a utility function <math>\varphi_1$  such that  $\varphi_1(\lambda_3) \geq \lambda_4$  and  $\varphi_1(x_1) < \lambda_4$  if  $x_1 < \lambda_3$ . Due to the second rule,  $\varphi_1$  must also satisfy  $\varphi_1(\lambda_2) \geq \lambda_3$  and  $\varphi_1(x_1) < \lambda_3$  if  $x_1 < \lambda_2$ . For instance, one may choose  $\varphi_1(\lambda_1) = \lambda_2$ ;  $\varphi_1(\lambda_2) = \lambda_3$ ;  $\varphi_1(\lambda_3) = \lambda_4$ . Likewise for attribute 2,  $\varphi_2$  must also satisfy  $\varphi_2(\lambda_5) \geq \lambda_4$  and  $\varphi_2(x_2) < \lambda_4$  if  $x_2 < \lambda_5$ , and  $\varphi_2(\lambda_3) \geq \lambda_3$  and  $\varphi_2(x_2) < \lambda_3$  if  $x_1 < \lambda_3$ , for instance  $\varphi_2(\lambda_2) = \lambda_2$ ,  $\varphi_2(\lambda_3) = \lambda_3$ ,  $\varphi_2(\lambda_4) = \lambda_3$ ,  $\varphi_2(\lambda_5) = \lambda_4$ . Using utility functions we get single-thresholded rules

$$\begin{cases} \text{if } \varphi_1(x_1) \ge \lambda_4 \text{ and } \varphi_2(x_2) \ge \lambda_4 \text{ then } S \ge \lambda_4 \\ \text{if } \varphi_1(x_1) \ge \lambda_3 \text{ and } \varphi_2(x_2) \ge \lambda_3 \text{ then } S \ge \lambda_3. \end{cases}$$

which can be represented by the single expression  $S = \min(\varphi_1(x_1), \varphi_2(x_2), \lambda_4)$ .

Here a question arises: what sort of rule sets can be represented with a Sugeno utility functional  $S_{\mu,\varphi}$ ?

The above results suggest that the set of rules must have a locally strict monotonic behavior, in the following sense: Let R(j) be the set of rules where attribute  $x_j$  appears. Let  $\Theta_j$  be the set of thresholds  $\alpha_i$  appearing in the rules  $r^i$  of R(j) in the form  $x_j \ge \alpha_i$ , and let  $\Gamma(\alpha)$  be the set of conclusion thresholds  $\delta_i$  for rules  $r^i$  such that  $\alpha_i = \alpha \in \Theta_j$ . Then the multifunction  $\Gamma$  must be strictly monotonic in the sense that  $\forall \alpha, \alpha' \in \Theta_j, \alpha > \alpha'$  implies  $\min \Gamma(\alpha) > \max \Gamma(\alpha')$ . Indeed, note that if there are several conclusion thresholds  $\delta \in \Gamma(\alpha)$ , corresponding to several rules having the same condition threshold  $x_j \ge \alpha$ , the utility function for  $x_j$  will have to satisfy  $\varphi_j(\alpha) \ge \max \Gamma(\alpha)$  and  $\varphi_j(x_j) < \min \Gamma(\alpha)$  if  $x_j < \alpha$ .

# 4 Combination of Sugeno Utility Functionals

In order to find an aggregation operation that can represent any set of multithresholded selection rules, we consider non decreasing functions  $f: L^n \to L$  of the form

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \max_{i \in I} \min(\min_{j \in A_i} \varphi_{ij}(x_j), \delta_i)$$

where L is a finite chain and each mapping  $\varphi_{i,j} : L \to L$  is an increasing function such that  $\varphi_{i,j}(0) = 0$  and  $\varphi_{i,j}(1) = 1$ . We call such functions f piecewise unary functions in disjunctive form (df-PUF), in the sense that the domain  $L^n$ , can be partitioned into subsets where  $f(x_1, \ldots x_n) = \varphi_{ij}(x_j)$  or is a constant  $\delta_i$  for some  $i \in C$ .

The main purpose of this part is to study whether there exists a family of K Sugeno utility functionals  $S_k$  such that  $f = \bigvee_{i=1}^K S_k$ , and to show that any aggregation function g (non-decreasing and such that  $g(1, 1, \ldots, 1) = 1$  and  $g(0, 0, \ldots, 0) = 0$ ) can be expressed in this way. If this is so, we can then find a disjunction of Sugeno utility functionals that accounts for a set of selection rules, and more generally we can hope to learn such aggregation from qualitative data.

On the first issue we can prove the following result:

**Proposition 3.** Any df-PUF on a finite domain such that f(1, 1, ..., 1) = 1and f(0, 0, ..., 0) = 0 is a disjunction of Sugeno utility functionals.

**Proof:** First notice that as f(1, 1, ..., 1) = 1, there exists  $i \in I$  such that  $\delta_i = 1$ , and  $\forall j \in A_i, \varphi_{ij}(1) = 1$ ; moreover  $\forall j \in A_i, \varphi_{ij}(0) = 0$ . It is clear that we can rewrite f as  $f(x_1, ..., x_n) = \max_{i \in I} \max(\min(\min_{j \in A_i} \varphi_{ij}(x_j)), \delta_i), \min_{k \in C} \varphi_{ik}(x_k))$ , provided that  $\forall k \notin A_i, \varphi_{ik}(1) = 1$  and  $\varphi_{ik}(x_k) = 0$  if  $x_k < 1$ . The inner expression

$$\max(\min(\min_{j\in A_i}\varphi_{ij}(x_j)),\delta_i),\min_{k\in C}\varphi_{ik}(x_k))$$

is a Sugeno utility functional with respect to the capacity  $\mu_i$  such that  $A_i$  is a focal set with  $\mu_i(A_i) = \delta_i$  and  $\mu_i(C) = 1$  in the case  $A_i \neq C$ .

The decomposition of f as  $\bigvee_{i \in I} S_{\mu_i,\varphi_i}(x)$  in Proposition 3 is not parsimonious. Some terms inside  $\bigvee_{i \in I}$  can be grouped into a single Sugeno utility functional with respect to a more complex capacity by unifying the utility functions for each attribute into a single one. To do so, the idea is that we extract a maximal number of subsets  $A_i \subset C$ , such that

- whenever  $A_i \cap A_{i'} \neq \emptyset$ , the utility functions  $\varphi_{ij}$  and  $\varphi_{i'j}$  for all  $j \in A_i \cap A_{i'}$  must be equal.
- whenever  $A_i \subset A_{i'}$ , we have that  $\delta_i < \delta_{i'}$ .

Let  $I_1$  be the maximal subset of indices of terms that can form a Sugeno utility functional using the corresponding subsets of  $A_i$ 's as described above. The idea is then to apply the same procedure to the remaining  $\{A_i : i \in I \setminus I_1\}$ , until no index remains in I.

Likewise we can consider *piecewise unary functions in conjunctive form* (cf-PUF), namely expressions such as:

$$f(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \min_{i \in I} \max(\max_{j \in A_i} \psi_{ij}(x_j), \gamma_i).$$

**Proposition 4:** Any cf-PUF on a finite domain such that f(1, 1, ..., 1) = 1and f(0, 0, ..., 0) = 0 is a conjunction of Sugeno utility functionals.

**Proof:** First notice that as f(0, 0, ..., 0) = 0, there exists  $i \in I$  such that  $\gamma_i = 0$ , and  $\forall j \in A_i, \psi_{ij}(0) = 0$ ; moreover  $\forall j \in A_i, \psi_{ij}(1) = 1$ . It is clear that we can rewrite f as  $f(x_1, ..., x_n) = \min_{i \in I} \min(\max(\max_{j \in A_i} \psi_{ij}(x_j), \gamma_i), \max_{k \in C} \psi_{ik}(x_k))$ , provided that  $\forall k \notin A_i, \psi_{ik}(0) = 0$  and  $\psi_{ik}(x_k) = 1$  if  $x_k > 0$ . The inner expression

$$\min(\max(\max_{j \in A_i} \psi_{ij}(x_j), \gamma_i), \max_{k \in C} \psi_{ik}(x_k)))$$

is a Sugeno utility functional (in conjunctive form) with respect to the capacity  $\mu_i$  such that  $A_i^c$  is a focal set with  $\mu_i(A_i^c) = \gamma_i$  (and  $\mu_i(\emptyset) = 0$ ).

Based on these results, we can try to model any aggregation function g completely defined by a *n*-dimensional table, by means of a disjunction or a conjunction of Sugeno utility functionals. Indeed, we can represent such a table by means of a set of multi-thresholded selection or deletion rules.

*Example 4.* Let us consider the function  $f(x_1, x_2)$  in the table below where the scale is  $0 < \lambda < 1$ 

$x_2 \uparrow x_1 \rightarrow$	0	$\lambda$	1
1	1	1	1
$\lambda$	0	$\lambda$	1
0	0	0	$\lambda$

We can describe the positive values in position  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  in the table by means of selection rules of the form "if  $x_1 \ge \alpha_1$  and  $x_2 \ge \alpha_2$  alors  $S \ge \delta$ ". In our example the following rules are enough:

#### For output value 1

 $r^1 x_2 = 1 \Rightarrow S = 1$ ; (upper line)  $r^2 x_1 = 1$  and  $x_2 \ge \lambda \Rightarrow S = 1$  (value 1 in line 2).

#### For output value $\lambda$

 $r^3 x_1 \ge \lambda$  and  $x_2 \ge \lambda \Rightarrow S \ge \lambda$  ( $\lambda$  in line 2);  $r^4 x_1 = 1 \Rightarrow S \ge \lambda$  ( $\lambda$  in bottom line).

This set of rules can be expressed by means of a df-PUF formed by the maximum of the following terms

 $-r^{1}: \varphi_{12}(x_{2}), \text{ with } \varphi_{12}(1) = 1 \text{ and } \varphi_{12}(\lambda) < 1(\delta_{1} = 1).$   $-r^{2}: \min(\varphi_{21}(x_{1}), \varphi_{22}(x_{2})) \text{ with } \varphi_{21}(1) = 1 \text{ and } \varphi_{21}(\lambda) < 1; \varphi_{22}(\lambda) = 1 \text{ and } \varphi_{22}(0) = 0(\delta_{2} = 1).$   $-r^{3}: \min(\varphi_{31}(x_{1}), \varphi_{32}(x_{2}), \lambda) \text{ with } \varphi_{31}(\lambda) \geq \lambda; \varphi_{32}(\lambda) \geq \lambda(\delta_{3} = \lambda).$  $-r^{4}: \min(\varphi_{41}(x_{1}), \lambda), \text{ with } \varphi_{41}(1) = 1 \text{ and } \varphi_{41}(\lambda) = 0(\delta_{4} = \lambda).$  By construction, the df-PUF that corresponds to the superposition of tables in Fig. 1,

 $\max(\varphi_{12}(x_2), \min(\varphi_{21}(x_1), \varphi_{22}(x_2)), \min(\varphi_{31}(x_1), \varphi_{32}(x_2), \lambda), \min(\varphi_{41}(x_1), \lambda)) \le f(x_1, x_2),$ 

i.e., is a lower bound of function f.



**Fig. 1.**  $r^1$ :  $\varphi_{12}(x_2)$   $r^2$ :  $\min(\varphi_{21}(x_1), \varphi_{22}(x_2))$   $r^3$ :  $\min(\varphi_{31}(x_1), \varphi_{32}(x_2), \lambda)$   $r^4$ :  $\min(\varphi_{41}(x_1), \lambda)$ 

It can be checked that the df-PUF acting as a lower bound of f can be made equal to f provided that  $\varphi_{12}(\lambda) = 0$ .

Let us represent f by the maximum of Sugeno utility functionals. First, rules  $r^1$  and  $r^4$  together correspond to the Sugeno utility functional  $S_{\mu,\varphi}(x)$  where  $\mu_{\#}(1) = \lambda, \, \mu_{\#}(2) = 1$ , where  $\varphi_1(\lambda) = 0 = \varphi_2(\lambda)$ , i.e., we can choose  $S_{\mu,\varphi}(x) = (\lambda \land \varphi_1(x_1)) \lor \varphi_2(x_2)$ . Rule  $r^2$  alone corresponds to the Sugeno utility functional  $S_{\mu',\varphi'}(x)$  where  $\mu_{\#}(\{1,2\}) = 1$ , and  $\varphi'_2(\lambda) = 1$ , that is  $S_{\mu',\varphi'}(x) = x_1 \land \varphi'_2(x_2)$ . Note that the utility functions for rule  $r^3$  can be chosen as being the same as those for rule  $r^2$ , in which case the term  $\min(\varphi_{31}(x_1), \varphi_{32}(x_2), \lambda)$  is subsumed by  $S_{\mu',\varphi'}(x)$ . It yields the following expression of f:

$$f(x_1, x_2) = S_{\mu, \varphi}(x) \lor S_{\mu', \varphi'}(x) = (\lambda \land \varphi_1(x_1)) \lor \varphi_2(x_2) \lor (x_1 \land \varphi'_2(x_2)).$$

The values other than 1 in position  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2)$  in the table can also be represented by means of deletion rules of the form "if  $x_1 \leq \alpha_1$  and  $x_2 \leq \alpha_2$  then  $S \leq \delta$ ". In our example the following rules are enough:

#### For output value $\lambda$

 $r'^1 x_2 = 0 \Rightarrow S \leq \lambda$ ; (value  $\lambda$  in line 1)  $r'^2 x_1 \leq \lambda$  and  $x_2 \leq \lambda \Rightarrow S \leq \lambda$  (value in line 2).

### For output value 0

 $r'^3 x_1 = 0$  and  $x_2 \le \lambda \Rightarrow S = 0$  (value 0 in column 1);  $r'^4 x_1 \le \lambda$  and  $x_2 = 0 \Rightarrow S = 0$  (value 0 in line 1).

This set of rules can be expressed by means of a piecewise unary function formed by the minimum of the following max-terms

 $-r'^{1}: \max(\psi_{12}(x_{2}), \lambda);$  $-r'^{2}: \max(\psi_{21}(x_{1}), \psi_{22}(x_{2}), \lambda) \text{ with } \psi_{21}(\lambda) \leq \lambda; \psi_{22}(\lambda) \leq \lambda;$  $-r'^{3}: \max(\psi_{31}(x_{1}), \psi_{32}(x_{2})) \text{ with } \psi_{32}(\lambda) = 0;$  $-r'^{4}: \max(\psi_{41}(x_{1}), \psi_{42}(x_{2})) \text{ with } \psi_{41}(\lambda) = 0;$  The piecewise unary function that corresponds to the superposition of tables in Fig. 2 verifies

$$\min(\max(\psi_{12}(x_2), \lambda), \max(\psi_{21}(x_1), \psi_{22}(x_2), \lambda),$$
$$\max(\psi_{31}(x_1), \psi_{32}(x_2)), \max(\psi_{41}(x_1), \psi_{42}(x_2))) \ge f(x_1, x_2).$$

It can be checked that this piecewise unary function acting as an upper bound of f becomes equal to f, provided that  $\varphi_{12}(\lambda) = 1$ , which ensures value 1 on entry  $(1, \lambda)$ .



**Fig. 2.**  $r'^1 r'^2 r'^3 r'^4$ 

We can find utility functions in such a way that the upper bound coincides with the function f and can be expressed as a minimum of Sugeno integrals. Namely rules  $r'^1$  and  $r'^4$  can be put together and yield a capacity  $\mu$  such that  $\mu(2) = \lambda$  and  $\mu(\{1, 2\}) = 1$ . We can unify the utility functions appearing in the max-terms for these rules:  $\psi_1(\lambda) = 0$ ,  $\psi_2(\lambda) = 1$ ; rule  $r'^3$  yields a capacity  $\nu$ such that  $\nu(\{1, 2\}) = 1$ . We need utility function  $\psi'_2(\lambda) = 0$ , while  $\psi'_1$  can be the identity. Rule  $r'^2$  holds if we use the same utility functions as for rule  $r'^3$ . We get:

$$f(x_1, x_2) = \min(S_{\mu, \psi}(x), S_{\nu, \psi'}(x)) = \min(\max(\lambda, \psi_2(x_2)), \max(\psi_1(x_1), \psi_2(x_2)), \max(x_1, \psi'_2(x_2)))$$

To generalize the approach outlined in the above example we can consider the following steps.

- 1. Transforming the function into a set of selection (resp. deletion) rules.
- 2. Expressing each rule as a weighted min-term (resp. max-term) involving unary functions, and building the corresponding df-PUF (resp. cf-PUF).
- 3. Grouping min-terms (resp. max-terms) into Sugeno utility functionals, by unifying the utility functions for each involved variable.

In order to find the minimal set of selection rules that can represent (a lower bound of) an aggregation function f, we can proceed as follows. Consider  $\delta = f(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n)$  and the Cartesian products of the form  $\Lambda_{\delta} = \times_{i=1}^{n} [\lambda_i, 1]$ . We can restrict to the maximal sets of this form in the sense of inclusion, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{K}_{\delta} = \max_{\subset} \{ \Lambda_{\delta} : \delta = f(\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n), (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n) \in L^n \}$$

For each such maximal hypercube  $\Lambda_{\delta} \in \mathcal{K}_{\delta}$  and each  $\delta > 0$ , we can write the selection rule

$$\bigwedge_{i:\lambda_i>0} x_i \ge \lambda_i \Rightarrow f \ge \delta$$

and construct a max-term following the procedure described earlier in this paper.

For deletion rules, the procedure is similar, but we consider maximal sets of the form  $M_{\delta} = \times_{i=1}^{n} [0, \lambda_i], \delta < 1$  and for each of them, define the deletion rule

$$\bigwedge_{i:\lambda_i<1} x_i \le \lambda_i \Rightarrow f \le \delta,$$

and construct a min-term.

While Step 2 of the above procedure is obvious to get a df-PUF (resp. cf-PUF), we again get a non-parsimonious representation. Moreover in order to have an exact representation of the aggregation function f using selection rules only (or deletion rules only), we may need to enforce additional constraints on the utility functions as patent in Example 4. Finally, Step 3 should be more formally defined, as the choice of the groupings of max-terms (resp. min-terms) of the df-PUF (resp.cf-PUF), and the alignment of utility functions so as to form several Sugeno utility functionals to be combined does not seem to be unique. The question of finding a minimal representation of any aggregation function on a finite scale by means of conjunction or a disjunction of Sugeno utility functionals is a matter of further research.

It is interesting to measure the improved expressive power, when going from Sugeno integrals to monotonic aggregation functions on L. For instance in the case when |L| = 3 as in Example 4, it is easy to check from Fig. 3 that there are  $49 = 7 \times 7$  idempotent aggregation functions, only 9 of which are Sugeno integrals, all of the form  $\max(\min(x_1, \mu(1)), \min(x_2, \mu(2)), \min(x_1, x_2))$ , with  $\mu(1), \mu(2) \in L$ .

$x_2 \uparrow x_1 \rightarrow$	0	$\lambda$	1
1	$d \geq c$	$\geq \max(\lambda, c)$	1
$\lambda$	$c \leq \lambda$	$\lambda$	$\geq \max(\lambda, b)$
0	0	$a \leq \lambda$	$b \ge a$

Fig. 3. Aggregation functions on the three-valued scale

## 5 Conclusion

The main result of this paper is to show that any set of rules involving thresholds acting as lower bounds (resp. upper bounds) on attribute values or global evaluation can be represented by piecewise unary functions that in turn can be expressed in the form of fuzzy conjunctions or disjunctions of Sugeno integrals on suitable transformations of the common attribute scale. We have shown that this family of functions corresponds to monotonic aggregation functions on a finite scale. We have shown how to express such an aggregation function by means of a set of multi-thresholded rules, that in turn can be captured by combination of Sugeno utility functionals.

These results could be applied to learning aggregation operations (hence rules with thresholds) from qualitative data, viewing the latter as a partially defined aggregation table. There is another approach to this problem, based on Sugeno integrals and single-thresholded rules [4,6]. In these papers, the idea is to approach a set of data from above and from below by two standard Sugeno integrals with respect to an upper and a lower capacity, which is not always possible. In this method, there is no utility function. In contrast, an approach based on our result seems to lead to the conjunction or the disjunction of several Sugeno integrals (hence several capacities) and several unary functions acting as utility functions, which may require the tuning of many parameters. However, the latter drawback can be alleviated by searching for a minimal representation, which is a topic for further research.

Acknowledgements. This work is supported by ANR-11-LABX-0040-CIMI (Centre International de Mathématiques et d'Informatique) within the program ANR-11-IDEX-0002-02, project ISIPA.

# References

- Couceiro, M., Dubois, D., Prade, H., Waldhauser, T.: Decision making with Sugeno integrals. Bridging the gap between multicriteria evaluation and decision under uncertainty. Order 33(3), 517–535 (2016)
- Couceiro, M., Marichal, J.-L.: Axiomatizations of quasi-polynomial functions on bounded chains. Aequationes Math. 396(1), 195–213 (2009)
- Couceiro, M., Waldhauser, T.: Pseudo-polynomial functions over finite distributive lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 239, 21–34 (2014)
- Dubois, D., Durrieu, C., Prade, H., Rico, A., Ferro, Y.: Extracting decision rules from qualitative data using Sugeno integral: a case-study. In: Proceedings of the ECSQARU 2015, LNAI 9161, pp. 14–24. Springer, New York (2015)
- Dubois, D., Marichal, J.-L., Prade, H., Roubens, M., Sabbadin, R.: The use of the discrete Sugeno integral in decision making: a survey. Int. J. Uncertainty, Fuzziness Knowl.-Based Syst. 9, 539–561 (2001)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Qualitative possibility functions and integrals. In: Handbook of Measure Theory, (E. Pap, edn.), vol. 2, pp. 1469–1521. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2002)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H., Rico, A.: The logical encoding of Sugeno integrals. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 241, 61–75 (2014)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H., Sabbadin, R.: Decision-theoretic foundations of qualitative possibility theory. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 128, 459–478 (2001)
- Grabisch, M., Murofushi, T., Sugeno, M. (eds.): Fuzzy Measures and Integrals. Theory and Applications. Physica-verlag, Berlin (2000)

- Greco, S., Matarazzo, B., Slowinski, R.: Axiomatic characterization of a general utility function and its particular cases in terms of conjoint measurement and rough-set decision rules. Eur. J. Operarional Res. 158, 271–292 (2004)
- 11. Marichal, J.-L.: Aggregation operations for multicriteria decision aid. Ph.D. thesis, University of Liège, Belgium (1998)
- Marichal, J.-L.: On Sugeno integrals as an aggregation function. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 114(3), 347–365 (2000)
- Prade, H., Rico, A., Serrurier, M., Raufaste, E.: Elicitating Sugeno integrals: methodology and a case study. In: Proceedings of the ECSQARU 2009, LNAI 5590, pp. 712–723. Springer, New York (2009)
- Rico, A.: Modélisation des préférences pour l'aide à la décision par l'intégrale de Sugeno. Ph.D. thesis, Université Paris I-Panthéon-Sorbonne (2002)
- Rico, A., Labreuche, C., Grabisch, M., Chateauneuf, A.: Preference modeling on totally ordered sets by the Sugeno integral. Discrete Appl. Math. 147, pp. 113–124 (2005)
- Sugeno, M.: Theory of fuzzy integrals and its applications. Ph.D. thesis, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Tokyo (1974)
- Sugeno, M.: Fuzzy measures and fuzzy integrals: a survey. In: Gupta, M.M., Saridis, G.N., Gaines, B.R. (eds.) Fuzzy Automata and Decision Processes, pp. 89–102. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1977)

# The Novel Shape Normalization Operator for Fuzzy Numbers in OFN Notation

Jacek M. Czerniak<sup>(⊠)</sup>, Iwona Filipowicz, and Dawid Ewald

AIRlab Artificial Intelligence and Robotics Laboratory, Institute of Technology, Casimir the Great University in Bydgoszcz, ul. Chodkiewicza 30, 85-064 Bydgoszcz, Poland {jczerniak,iwofil,dawidewald}@ukw.edu.pl

Abstract. In the article, the authors undertook to resolve a burdensome problem in the OFN calculus concerning so-called improper shapes. Although the calculations are possible for all shapes of the numbers in the OFN notation but the interpretation of the numbers of improper shapes has been rather poor and little intuitive. Moreover, indeed, an effective fast calculus in OFN arithmetic has lost some of its reliability due to those shapes, which was indicated by the critics. First the authors presented the definition for the adoption of an order by the created OFN number, which has a significant impact on the results of the calculations. Then they defined a new, unprecedented normalization operator - ShapeNO. For given four coordinates of an OFN number the authors presented all 256 variants of its theoretically possible shapes and normalized all of them, which resulted in only a dozen or so repetitions. This article is another element of the series of related basic studies on the artificial intelligence inspired by nature, where new methods in the OFN area allow creation and development of new meta-heuristic methods of swarm intelligence. Thanks to that operator, arithmetic operations have been simplified, fuzzy input and output data do not cause consternation during the interpretation and the time needed to perform the calculation itself has been shortened.

Keywords: Fuzzy numbers · OFN · Normalization operator

# 1 Introduction

One of important areas of the computational intelligence is the fuzzy logic. It allows to define and to infer under conditions of naturally imprecise concepts (terms) and literals. The origins of that theory go back to 1960's. The professor of the Columbia University in New York and of Berkeley University in California Lotfii Askar Zadeh is regarded as the author of that theory. He published the paper entitled Fuzzy sets in the journal Information and Control in 1965. He defined the "fuzzy set" term. This allowed to record the uncertainty and perform the operations on imprecise terms [42].

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_49

By generalizing, one can say that fuzzy numbers enable presentation of possible data values as well as abstract values either fully or partially [10,35]. Diverse approaches to that issue can be noticed in the definition of the fuzzy number [21,22,28]. According to some authors, the definition includes both single kernel sets, which are referred to as actual fuzzy numbers, as well as sets with a kernel in form of an interval, which is called a fuzzy interval. In accordance with [3,7,22] the above definitions come down to the following Definition (1). Whereas J. Kacprzyk in his paper [24,40] defined a fuzzy number as a fuzzy set on R with a continuous membership function, and named such a number a normal number [28,30,39].

**Definition 1.** A fuzzy number is defined as a fuzzy set A specified on a set of real numbers,  $A \subseteq R$ , for which the membership function:

$$\mu_A : \mathbb{R} \to [0, 1] \tag{1}$$

 a fuzzy set A is normal when there is an argument for which it satisfies the following conditions:

$$supp \ \mu_A(X) = 1, x \in R \tag{2}$$

– a fuzzy set A is convex when its membership function is convex:

$$\forall_{x,y\in\mathbb{R}} \ \forall_{\lambda\in[0,1]} \ \mu_A[\lambda x + (1-\lambda)y] \ge \min \ \mu_A\{\mu_A(x),\mu_A(y)\}$$
(3)

- a membership function  $\mu_A(x)$  is constant at intervals, has a finite number of discontinuity numbers, i.e. such that the left-hand limit is different from the right-hand limit.

Figure 1 is an example of the interpretation of a fuzzy number. The number A is a negative number, while the numbers C and D are called positive fuzzy numbers, accordingly. The number B is neither positive nor negative, i.e. its support contains zero.



Fig. 1. The example of fuzzy numbers

**Definition 2.**  $\mu_A : R[0, 1]$  (1) a fuzzy set A is normal when there is an argument for which it satisfies the following conditions: The fuzzy number  $A \subseteq R$  is positive, if:  $\forall x < 0 \ \mu_A(x) = 0$ The fuzzy number  $A \subseteq R$  is negative, if:  $\forall x > 0 \ \mu_A(x) = 0$ 

As various shapes of the membership function are possible, as specified by the authors in their numerous papers [5, 12, 16, 17], the development of matching fuzzy logic arithmetic has become a non-trivial problem. a triangular membership function:



a Gaussian membership function:



a trapezoid membership function:





a sigmoidal membership function:

an S class membership function:



a Z class membership function:



Singleton (defuzzyfied value):



Many researchers took up the issue of building an Zadeh's arithmetic enabling to perform calculations for selected shapes of the membership function [41]. One of the most popular arithmetics was the LR one proposed by Dubois and Prade [42]. An interesting approach, i.e. constrained fuzzy arithmetic (CFA) can be found in articles of Klir [13,14] and in the article of Chang and Hung (see [6]). Another approach has been proposed by Piegat and Plucincki in RMD arithmetic [32,33]. However, for the needs of this article, the most important is the OFN arithmetic introduced by Kosinski, Slezak and Prokopowicz [7, 25, 36], which, in accordance with the intentions of the authors, enables calculations on fuzzy numbers of various membership function shapes [17-20].

# 2 The OFN Numbers Normalization Operator

However, an ordered fuzzy number is, in accordance with the intention of the creators [25, 36], the generalization of shapes and takes the trapezium form (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. An ordered fuzzy number with (a) positive order (b) negative order

**Definition 3.** A membership function of an ordered fuzzy number A is the function  $\mu_A: R \to [0, 1]$  if defined for  $x \in R$  as follows:

$$x \notin sup\rho_A \Rightarrow \mu_A(x) = 0$$
  

$$x \in (1^-_A, 1^+_A) \Rightarrow \mu_A(x) = 1$$
  

$$x \in sup\rho_A \land x \notin (1^-_A, 1^+_A) \Rightarrow \mu_A(x) = max(f_A^{-1}(x), g_A^{-1}(x))$$
(4)

The above membership function can be used in the control rules similarly to the way in which the membership of classic fuzzy numbers is used [1,2,4,8,11,15,16,29,34,37,38]. All quantities that can be found in fuzzy control describe a selected element of reality [26,27]. The process of determining this value is called a fuzzy observation. Unfortunately, as repeatedly mentioned by the authors [YXR) the arithmetic operations, although they are always possible in the OFN domain, encounter difficulties in interpretation among the representations of numbers which have traditionally been called improper numbers [9,10,23,31]. Improper numbers are for example numbers for which core(A) > sup(A). This means that the support of the number is smaller than the core of the number or sometimes equal to one. The interpretation of this type of numbers is dubious but a number of such shape may be the result of a calculation or an argument for the calculation. To solve problems of that type, the authors of this article proposed the Shape Normalization Operator (SNO).

## 3 Mathematical Grounds of SNO Operator

Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be the space of fuzzy numbers. A fuzzy number  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  is described by the four ordered real numbers: a, b, c, d, i.e. A = (a, b, c, d). These numbers are called coordinates of A. For any  $a \in R$  the fuzzy number A = (a, a, a, a) is called a singleton. The set of singletons is denoted by S. We distinguish the following subsets P, Q, T of  $\mathcal{A}$ , defined by

$$\begin{split} P &= \{A \in \mathcal{A} : \quad a \neq b\},\\ Q &= \{A \in \mathcal{A} : \quad a = b \quad \land \quad a \neq c\},\\ T &= \{A \in \mathcal{A} : \quad a = b = c \quad \land \quad a \neq d\} \end{split}$$

Of course, the sets P, Q, T and S are pairwise disjoint and moreover family  $\mathcal{F} = \{P, Q, T, S\}$  is a partition of  $\mathcal{A}$ , i.e.  $\mathcal{A} = P \cup Q \cup T \cup S$ . We define order of fuzzy number in the following way:

an arbitrary  $A \in P$  has positive order if a < b, otherwise order of A is negative,

an arbitrary  $A \in Q$  has positive order if a < c, otherwise order of A is negative,

an arbitrary  $A \in T$  has positive order if a < d, otherwise order of A is negative.

Now, we define the operator  $\Psi : \mathcal{A} \longrightarrow \mathcal{A}$  of the form

$$\Psi(A) = \Psi(a, b, c, d) = \begin{cases} (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_4) \text{ if order of A is positive,} \\ (\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4) \text{ if order of A is negative.} \end{cases}$$

where  $(\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_4)$  is a permutation of (a, b, c, d) such that  $\alpha_1 \leq \alpha_2 \leq \alpha_3 \leq \alpha_4$ , (in other words  $\alpha_1 = \min\{a, b, c, d\}, \alpha_2 = \min\{\{a, b, c, d\} \setminus \{\alpha_1\}\}, \alpha_3 = \min\{\{a, b, c, d\} \setminus \{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}\}, \alpha_4 = \max\{a, b, c, d\}.$ ) and  $(\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3, \beta_4)$  is a permutation of (a, b, c, d) such that  $\beta_1 \geq \beta_2 \geq \beta_3 \geq \beta_4$ , (in other words  $\beta_1 = \max\{a, b, c, d\}, \beta_2 = \max\{\{a, b, c, d\} \setminus \{\beta_1\}\}, \beta_3 = \max\{\{a, b, c, d\} \setminus \{\beta_1, \beta_2\}\}, \beta_4 = \min\{a, b, c, d\}.$ ) The operator  $\Psi$  on the set S is the identity i.e.  $\forall A \in S, \Psi(A) = A.$ 

## 4 The Catalog of OFN Shapes in Their Notation

Below is a catalog of all the 256 possible shapes which may be adopted by A(a, b, c, d) number in OFN notation. However, as stated in the paragraph concerning the mathematical background, each of a, b, c, d coordinates belongs to R set of real numbers and their sequence is relevant.

$A_1 = [1]$	[1, 1, 1, 1]	$A_2 = [1$	[, 1, 1, 2]	$A_3 = [$	1, 1, 1, 3]	$A_4 = [1, 1, 1, 4]$
$A_5 = [1]$	[1, 1, 2, 1]	$A_6 = [1$	[, 1, 2, 2]	$A_7 = [$	1, 1, 2, 3]	$A_8 = [1, 1, 2, 4]$
$A_9 = [1]$	[1, 1, 3, 1]	$A_{10} = [$	[1, 1, 3, 2]	$A_{11} =  $	[1, 1, 3, 3]	$A_{12} = [1, 1, 3, 4]$
$A_{13} = [$	1, 1, 4, 1]	$A_{14} = [$	[1, 1, 4, 2]	$A_{15} =  $	[1, 1, 4, 3]	$A_{16} = [1, 1, 4, 4]$
$A_{17} = [$	1, 2, 1, 1]	$A_{18} = [$	[1, 2, 1, 2]	$A_{19} =  $	[1, 2, 1, 3]	$A_{20} = [1, 2, 1, 4]$
$A_{21} = [$	1, 2, 2, 1]	$A_{22} = [1]$	[1, 2, 2, 2]	$A_{23} =  $	[1, 2, 2, 3]	$A_{24} = [1, 2, 2, 4]$
$A_{25} = [$	1, 2, 3, 1]	$A_{26} = [$	[1, 2, 3, 2]	$A_{27} =$	[1, 2, 3, 3]	$A_{28} = [1, 2, 3, 4]$
$A_{29} = [$	1, 2, 4, 1]	$A_{30} = [$	[1, 2, 4, 2]	$A_{31} =$	[1, 2, 4, 3]	$A_{32} = [1, 2, 4, 4]$
$A_{33} = [$	1, 3, 1, 1]	$A_{34} = [$	[1, 3, 1, 2]	$A_{35} =  $	[1, 3, 1, 3]	$A_{36} = [1, 3, 1, 4]$
$A_{37} = [$	1, 3, 2, 1]	$A_{38} = [$	[1, 3, 2, 2]	$A_{39} =  $	$\left[1,3,2,3 ight]$	$A_{40} = [1, 3, 2, 4]$
$A_{41} = [$	1, 3, 3, 1]	$A_{42} = [$	[1, 3, 3, 2]	$A_{43} =  $	$\left[1,3,3,3 ight]$	$A_{44} = [1, 3, 3, 4]$
$A_{45} = [$	1, 3, 4, 1]	$A_{46} = [1]$	[1, 3, 4, 2]	$A_{47} =  $	[1, 3, 4, 3]	$A_{48} = [1, 3, 4, 4]$
$A_{49} = [$	1, 4, 1, 1]	$A_{50} = [1]$	[1, 4, 1, 2]	$A_{51} =  $	[1, 4, 1, 3]	$A_{52} = [1, 4, 1, 4]$
$A_{53} = [$	1, 4, 2, 1]	$A_{54} = [$	[1, 4, 2, 2]	$A_{55} =  $	[1, 4, 2, 3]	$A_{56} = [1, 4, 2, 4]$
$A_{57} = [$	1, 4, 3, 1]	$A_{58} = [$	[1, 4, 3, 2]	$A_{59} =  $	[1, 4, 3, 3]	$A_{60} = [1, 4, 3, 4]$
$A_{61} = [$	1, 4, 4, 1]	$A_{62} = [$	[1, 4, 4, 2]	$A_{63} =  $	[1, 4, 4, 3]	$A_{64} = [1, 4, 4, 4]$
$A_{65} = [$	2, 1, 1, 1]	$A_{66} = [2]$	[2, 1, 1, 2]	$A_{67} =  $	[2, 1, 1, 3]	$A_{68} = [2, 1, 1, 4]$
$A_{69} = [$	2, 1, 2, 1]	$A_{70} = [2]$	[2, 1, 2, 2]	$A_{71} =  $	[2, 1, 2, 3]	$A_{72} = [2, 1, 2, 4]$
$A_{73} = [$	2, 1, 3, 1]	$A_{74} = [2]$	[2, 1, 3, 2]	$A_{75} =  $	[2, 1, 3, 3]	$A_{76} = [2, 1, 3, 4]$
$A_{77} = [$	2, 1, 4, 1]	$A_{78} = [2]$	[2, 1, 4, 2]	$A_{79} =  $	[2, 1, 4, 3]	$A_{80} = [2, 1, 4, 4]$
$A_{81} = [$	2, 2, 1, 1]	$A_{82} = [2]$	[2, 2, 1, 2]	$A_{83} =  $	[2, 2, 1, 3]	$A_{84} = [2, 2, 1, 4]$
$A_{85} = [$	2, 2, 2, 1]	$A_{86} = [2]$	[2, 2, 2, 2]	$A_{87} =  $	[2, 2, 2, 3]	$A_{88} = [2, 2, 2, 4]$
$A_{89} = [$	2, 2, 3, 1]	$A_{90} = [2]$	[2, 2, 3, 2]	$A_{91} =$	[2, 2, 3, 3]	$A_{92} = [2, 2, 3, 4]$
$A_{93} = [$	[2, 2, 4, 1]	$A_{94} = [2]$	[2, 2, 4, 2]	$A_{95} =$	[2, 2, 4, 3]	$A_{96} = [2, 2, 4, 4]$
$A_{97} = [$	[2, 3, 1, 1]	$A_{98} = [2]$	[2, 3, 1, 2]	$A_{99} =  $	[2, 3, 1, 3]	$A_{100} = [2, 3, 1, 4]$
$A_{101} =$	[2, 3, 2, 1]	$A_{102} = [$	[2, 3, 2, 2]	$A_{103} =$	[2, 3, 2, 3]	$A_{104} = [2, 3, 2, 4]$
$A_{105} =$	[2, 3, 3, 1]	$A_{106} = [$	[2, 3, 3, 2]	$A_{107} =$	[2, 3, 3, 3]	$A_{108} = [2, 3, 3, 4]$
$A_{109} =$	[2, 3, 4, 1]	$A_{110} = [$	[2, 3, 4, 2]	$A_{111} =$	[2, 3, 4, 3]	$A_{112} = [2, 3, 4, 4]$
$A_{113} =$	[2, 4, 1, 1]	$A_{114} = [$	[2, 4, 1, 2]	$A_{115} =$	[2, 4, 1, 3]	$A_{116} = [2, 4, 1, 4]$
$A_{117} =$	[2, 4, 2, 1]	$A_{118} = [$	[2, 4, 2, 2]	$A_{119} =$	[2, 4, 2, 3]	$A_{120} = [2, 4, 2, 4]$
$A_{121} =$	[2, 4, 3, 1]	$A_{122} = [$	[2, 4, 3, 2]	$A_{123} =$	[2, 4, 3, 3]	$A_{124} = [2, 4, 3, 4]$
$A_{125} =$	[2, 4, 4, 1]	$A_{126} = [$	[2, 4, 4, 2]	$A_{127} =$	[2, 4, 4, 3]	$A_{128} = [2, 4, 4, 4]$
$A_{129} =$	[3, 1, 1, 1]	$A_{130} = [$	[3, 1, 1, 2]	$A_{131} =$	[3, 1, 1, 3]	$A_{132} = [3, 1, 1, 4]$
$A_{133} =$	[3, 1, 2, 1]	$A_{134} = [$	[3, 1, 2, 2]	$A_{135} =$	[3, 1, 2, 3]	$A_{136} = [3, 1, 2, 4]$
$A_{137} =$	[3, 1, 3, 1]	$A_{138} = [$	[3, 1, 3, 2]	$A_{139} =$	[3, 1, 3, 3]	$A_{140} = [3, 1, 3, 4]$
$A_{141} =$	[3, 1, 4, 1]	$A_{142} = [$	[3, 1, 4, 2]	$A_{143} =$	[3, 1, 4, 3]	$A_{144} = [3, 1, 4, 4]$
$A_{145} =$	[3, 2, 1, 1]	$A_{146} = [$	[3, 2, 1, 2]	$A_{147} =$	[3, 2, 1, 3]	$A_{148} = [3, 2, 1, 4]$
$A_{149} =$	[3, 2, 2, 1]	$A_{150} = [$	[3, 2, 2, 2]	$A_{151} =$	[3, 2, 2, 3]	$A_{152} = [3, 2, 2, 4]$
$A_{153} =$	[3, 2, 3, 1]	$A_{154} = [$	[3, 2, 3, 2]	$A_{155} =$	[3, 2, 3, 3]	$A_{156} = [3, 2, 3, 4]$
$A_{157} =$	[3, 2, 4, 1]	$A_{158} = [$	[3, 2, 4, 2]	$A_{159} =$	[3, 2, 4, 3]	$A_{160} = [3, 2, 4, 4]$
$A_{161} =$	[3, 3, 1, 1]	$A_{162} = [$	[3, 3, 1, 2]	$A_{163} =$	[3, 3, 1, 3]	$A_{164} = [3, 3, 1, 4]$
$A_{165} =$	[3, 3, 2, 1]	$A_{166} = [$	[3, 3, 2, 2]	$A_{167} =$	[3, 3, 2, 3]	$A_{168} = [3, 3, 2, 4]$
$A_{169} =$	[3, 3, 3, 1]	$A_{170} = [$	[3, 3, 3, 2]	$A_{171} =$	[3, 3, 3, 3]	$A_{172} = [3, 3, 3, 4]$
$A_{172} =$	[3, 3, 4, 1]	$A_{174} =  $	[3, 3, 4, 2]	$A_{175} =$	[3, 3, 4, 3]	$A_{176} = [3, 3, 4, 4]$

$A_{177}$	=	[3, 4,	1,1]	$A_{178}$	=	[3, 4,	1, 2]	$A_{179}$	=	[3, 4, 1]	[,3]	$A_{180}$	=	[3, 4,	1, 4]
$A_{181}$	=	[3, 4,	2,1]	$A_{182}$	=	[3, 4,	2, 2]	$A_{183}$	=	[3, 4, 2]	2, 3]	$A_{184}$	=	[3, 4,	2, 4]
$A_{185}$	=	[3, 4,	3, 1]	$A_{186}$	=	[3, 4,	3, 2]	$A_{187}$	=	[3, 4, 3]	[3, 3]	$A_{188}$	=	[3, 4,	[3, 4]
$A_{189}$	=	[3, 4,	4, 1]	$A_{190}$	=	[3, 4,	4, 2]	$A_{191}$	=	[3, 4, 4]	[, 3]	$A_{192}$	=	[3, 4,	4, 4]
$A_{193}$	=	[4, 1,	1, 1]	$A_{194}$	=	[4, 1,	1, 2]	$A_{195}$	=	[4, 1, 1]	[, 3]	$A_{196}$	=	[4, 1,	[1, 4]
$A_{197}$	=	[4, 1,	2, 1]	$A_{198}$	=	[4, 1,	2, 2]	$A_{199}$	=	[4, 1, 2]	2, 3]	$A_{200}$	=	[4, 1,	2, 4]
$A_{201}$	=	[4, 1,	3, 1]	$A_{202}$	=	[4, 1,	3, 2]	$A_{203}$	=	[4, 1, 3]	[, 3]	$A_{204}$	=	[4, 1,	3, 4]
$A_{205}$	=	[4, 1,	4, 1]	$A_{206}$	=	[4, 1,	4, 2]	$A_{207}$	=	[4, 1, 4]	[, 3]	$A_{208}$	=	[4, 1,	[4, 4]
$A_{209}$	=	[4, 2,	1, 1]	$A_{210}$	=	[4, 2,	1, 2]	$A_{211}$	=	[4, 2, 1]	., 3]	$A_{212}$	=	[4, 2,	1, 4]
$A_{213}$	=	[4, 2,	2, 1]	$A_{214}$	=	[4, 2,	2, 2]	$A_{215}$	=	[4, 2, 2]	2, 3]	$A_{216}$	=	[4, 2,	2, 4]
$A_{217}$	=	[4, 2,	3, 1]	$A_{218}$	=	[4, 2,	[3, 2]	$A_{219}$	=	[4, 2, 3]	[, 3]	$A_{220}$	=	[4, 2,	[3, 4]
$A_{221}$	=	[4, 2,	4, 1]	$A_{222}$	=	[4, 2,	4, 2]	$A_{223}$	=	[4, 2, 4]	[,3]	$A_{224}$	=	[4, 2,	[4, 4]
$A_{225}$	=	[4, 3,	1, 1]	$A_{226}$	=	[4, 3,	1, 2]	$A_{227}$	=	[4, 3, 1]	., 3]	$A_{228}$	=	[4, 3,	[1, 4]
$A_{229}$	=	[4, 3,	2, 1]	$A_{230}$	=	[4, 3,	2, 2]	$A_{231}$	=	[4, 3, 2]	2, 3]	$A_{232}$	=	[4, 3,	[2, 4]
$A_{233}$	=	[4, 3,	[3, 1]	$A_{234}$	=	[4, 3,	[3, 2]	$A_{235}$	=	[4, 3, 3]	[3, 3]	$A_{236}$	=	[4, 3,	[3, 4]
$A_{237}$	=	[4, 3,	4, 1]	$A_{238}$	=	[4, 3,	4, 2]	$A_{239}$	=	[4, 3, 4]	[, 3]	$A_{240}$	=	[4, 3,	[4, 4]
$A_{241}$	=	[4, 4,	1, 1]	$A_{242}$	=	[4, 4,	1, 2]	$A_{243}$	=	[4, 4, 1]	., 3]	$A_{244}$	=	[4, 4,	[1, 4]
$A_{245}$	=	[4, 4,	2, 1]	$A_{246}$	=	[4, 4,	2, 2]	$A_{247}$	=	[4, 4, 2]	2, 3]	$A_{248}$	=	[4, 4,	2, 4]
$A_{249}$	=	[4, 4,	[3, 1]	$A_{250}$	=	[4, 4,	[3, 2]	$A_{251}$	=	[4, 4, 3]	[, 3]	$A_{252}$	=	[4, 4,	[3, 4]
$A_{253}$	=	[4, 4,	4, 1]	$A_{254}$	=	[4, 4,	4, 2]	$A_{255}$	=	[4, 4, 4]	[, 3]	$A_{256}$	=	[4, 4,	[4, 4]

# 5 The Set of Normalizations for OFN Numbers of Unique Shapes

Below is the list of unique shapes of OFN numbers. Each of them was subject to SNO(A) normalization. As a result, the set of fuzzy numbers in OFN notation was obtained which does not include any improper numbers. Each number is clear and its interpretation is unambiguous.









# 6 Conclusions

As can be seen in the previous paragraph, 256 possible shapes of the number in OFN notation have been analyzed. Such value of combinations of the coordinates is the result of variations with repetitions of a vector with four fields. Half of the shapes of the analyzed numbers were characterized by a positive orientation, while the other half by a negative one. Prior to normalization of the shape of the number, its current order is checked using the formula specified in paragraph 3. Then the normalization itself is performed. The normalization process must lead to achievement of so-called proper shapes from all the shapes of the numbers. As a result of this operation only shapes of numbers for which the core(A) value was not higher than the supp(A) value were obtained. Numbers of that type are suitable for interpretation in all conditions and their accompanying orders in OFN notation allow to carry more information than in other notations. The results of the conducted experiments show that the normalization has influence on 12, 7% of possible numbers. Proper numbers do not change, the same as the

singleton. As a rule, the observation of the normalization experiment indicates that numbers are normalized identically irrespective of the order. However, the original order is recorded and assigned to the number after normalization because it carries information on a trend which is desirable and critical for OFN.

# References

- Angryk, R.A., Czerniak, J.: Heuristic algorithm for interpretation of multi-valued attributes in similarity-based fuzzy relational databases. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 51(8), 895–911 (2010)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J., Dobrosielski, W.: Quality of services method as a DDoS protection tool. In: Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol. 2: Tools, Architectures, Systems, Applications, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 323, pp. 225–234. Springer, Heidelberg (2015)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M.: QoS solution for network resource protection. In: Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Informatics, INFORMAT-ICS 2013, pp. 73–76 (2013)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D.: NEW QoS CONCEPT for protecting network resources, pp. 234–239. Springer, Cham (2017)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Protection tool for distributed denial of services attack. In: Beyond Databases, Architectures and Structures, BDAS 2014, vol. 424, pp. 405–414 (2014)
- Chan, F.T., Au, K., Chan, L., Lau, T.: Using genetic algorithms to solve qualityrelated bin packing problem. Robot. Comput. Integr. Manufact. 23, 71–81 (2007)
- Czerniak, J., Ewald, D., Macko, M., Smigielski, G., Tyszczuk, K.: Approach to the monitoring of energy consumption in eco-grinder based on ABC optimization. In: Beyond Databases, Architectures and Structures, BDAS 2015, vol. 521, pp. 516–529 (2015)
- Czerniak, J., Zarzycki, H.: Application of rough sets in the presumptive diagnosis of urinary system diseases. In: Artificial Intelligence and Security in Computing Systems, vol. 752, pp. 41–51 (2003)
- Czerniak, J.: Evolutionary approach to data discretization for rough sets theory. Fundamenta Informaticae 92(1-2), 43-61 (2009)
- Czerniak, J.M., Apiecionek, L., Zarzycki, H.: Application of ordered fuzzy numbers in a new OFNAnt algorithm based on ant colony optimization. In: Beyond Databases, Architectures and Structures, BDAS 2014, vol. 424, pp. 259–270 (2014)
- Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W., Zarzycki, H., Apiecionek, L.: A proposal of the new owlANT method for determining the distance between terms in ontology. In: Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol 2: Tools, Architectures, Systems, Applications, vol. 323, pp. 235–246 (2015)
- Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W.T., Apiecionek, L., Ewald, D., Paprzycki, M.: Practical Application of OFN Arithmetics in a Crisis Control Center Monitoring, pp. 51–64. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D.: A New MGlaber Approach as an Example of Novel Artificial Acari Optimization, pp. 545–557. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D., Śmigielski, G., Dobrosielski, W.T., Apiecionek, L.: Optimization of Fuel Consumption in Firefighting Water Capsule Flights of a Helicopter, pp. 39–49. Springer, Cham (2016)

- Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Artificial Acari optimization as a new strategy for global optimization of multimodal functions. J. Comput. Sci. (2017)
- Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H., Ewald, D.: AAO as a new strategy in modeling and simulation of constructional problems optimization. In: Simulation Modelling Practice and Theory (2017). http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S1569190X17300709
- Czerniak, J., Apiecionek, L., Zarzycki, H., Ewald, D.: Proposed CAEva simulation method for evacuation of people from a buildings on fire. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 401, 315–326 (2016)
- Czerniak, J., Dobrosielski, W., Apiecionek, L.: Representation of a trend in OFN during fuzzy observance of the water level from the crisis control center. In: Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, IEEE Digital Library, ACSIS, vol. 5, pp. 443–447 (2015)
- Czerniak, J., Macko, M., Ewald, D.: The cutmag as a new hybrid method for multi-edge grinder design optimization. Adv. Intell. Syst. Comput. 401, 327–337 (2016)
- Czerniak, J., Smigielski, G., Ewald, D., Paprzycki, M.: New proposed implementation of ABC method to optimization of water capsule flight. In: Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, IEEE Digital Library, ACSIS, vol. 5, pp. 489–493 (2015)
- 21. Dyczkowski, K.: A less cumulative algorithm of mining linguistic browsing patterns in the world wide web (2007)
- Dyczkowski, K., Wygralak, M.: On triangular norm-based generalized cardinals and singular fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 133(2), 211–226 (2003)
- 23. Ewald, D., Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Approach to solve a criteria problem of the ABC algorithm used to the WBDP multicriteria optimization. In: Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol 1: Mathematical Foundations, Theory, Analyses, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 322, pp. 129–137. Springer, Cham (2015)
- Kacprzyk, J., Zadrożny, S.: Linguistic database summaries and their protoforms: towards natural language based knowledge discovery tools. Inf. Sci. 173(4), 281– 304 (2005)
- Kosiński, W., Prokopowicz, P., Ślezak, D.: On algebraic operations on fuzzy reals. In: Rutkowski, L., Kacprzyk, J. (eds.) Advances in Soft Computing, pp. 54–61. Poland, Zakopane (2002)
- Macko, M., Flizikowski, J.: The method of the selection of comminution design for non-brittle materials. In: AIChE Annual Meeting, Conference Proceedings (2010)
- Macko, M., Flizikowski, J., Szczepański, Z., Tyszczuk, K., Śmigielski, G., Mroziński, A., Czerniak, J., Tomporowski, A.: CAD/CAE Applications in Mill's Design and Investigation, pp. 343–351. Springer, Cham (2017)
- Mikolajewska, E., Mikolajewski, D.: E-learning in the education of people with disabilities. Adv. Clin. Exp. Med. 20(1), 103–109 (2011)
- Mikolajewska, E., Mikolajewski, D.: Exoskeletons in neurological diseases current and potential future applications. Adv. Clin. Exp. Med. 20(2), 227–233 (2011)
- Mikolajewska, E., Mikolajewski, D.: Non-invasive EEG-based brain-computer interfaces in patients with disorders of consciousness. Mil. Med. Res. 1, 14 (2014)
- Mrozek, D., Socha, B., Kozielski, S., Małysiak-Mrozek, B.: An efficient and flexible scanning of databases of protein secondary structures. J. Intell. Inf. Syst. 46(1), 213–233 (2016)
- Piegat, A.: A new definition of the fuzzy set. J. Appl. Math. Comput. Sci. 15(1), 125–140 (2005)

- Piegat, A., Plucinski, M.: Fuzzy number addition with the application of horizontal membership functions. Sci. World J. 16 (2015). doi:10.1155/2015/367214. Article ID 367214
- Poli, R., Kennedy, J., Blackwell, T.: Particle swarm optimization. Swarm Intell. 1(1), 33–57 (2007)
- Prokopowicz, P.: Methods based on the ordered fuzzy numbers used in fuzzy control. In: Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop on Robot Motion and Control, RoMoCo 2005, pp. 349–354 (2005)
- 36. Prokopowicz, P.: Flexible and simple methods of calculations on fuzzy numbers with the ordered fuzzy numbers model. In: Rutkowski, L., Korytkowski, M., Scherer, R., Tadeusiewicz, R., Zadeh, L.A., Zurada, J.M. (eds.) Proceedings of ICAISC 2013, Part I. LNCS (LNAI), vol. 7894, pp. 365–375 (2013)
- Sitnik, L., Wrobel, R., Magdziak-Toklowicz, M., Kardasz, P.: Vehicle vibration in human health. J. KONES 20(4), 411–418 (2013)
- Stachowiak, A., Dyczkowski, K.: A similarity measure with uncertainty for incompletely known fuzzy sets. In: Proceedings of the 2013 Joint IFSA World Congress and NAFIPS Annual Meeting (IFSA/NAFIPS), pp. 390–394 (2013)
- Stachowiak, A., Dyczkowski, K., Wojtowicz, A., Zywica, P., Wygralak, M.: A bipolar view on medical diagnosis in OvaExpert system (2016)
- Szmidt, E., Kacprzyk, J.: Distances between intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 114, 505–518 (2000)
- 41. Zadeh, L.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338–353 (1965)
- Zadeh, L.: Outline of new approach to the analysis of complex systems and decision process. IEEE Syst. Man Cybern. SMC-3, 28–44 (1973)

# Fuzzy Relations and Fuzzy Functions in Partial Fuzzy Set Theory

Martina Daňková<sup>( $\boxtimes$ )</sup>

Division of the University of Ostrava, Centre of Excellence IT4Innovations, Institute for Research and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling, 30. Dubna 22, 701 03 Ostrava 1, Czech Republic martina.dankova@osu.cz http://irafm.osu.cz

**Abstract.** In this paper, we will study partially-defined fuzzy relations i.e., fuzzy relations with membership functions that are not necessarily defined everywhere. We will handle them in a suitable framework that is a partial fuzzy set theory. It provides tools for dealing with undefined values of the membership by means of special operations based on the connectives and quantifiers of a background fuzzy logic. We analyze a suitability of operations of a partial fuzzy set theory for a meaningful definition of the functionality property. This property determines fuzzy functions and we will be concerned with their properties.

**Keywords:** Fuzzy function  $\cdot$  Partial function  $\cdot$  Undefined values  $\cdot$  Functional relation

## 1 Introduction

Partial fuzzy set theory (PFST) that has been introduced in [1], formalizes fuzzy sets that can have undefined membership degrees and offers basic fuzzy set operations and properties for their handling. Consequently, it provides tools for dealing with undefined values of the membership that may be useful in may practical applications, where the undefinedness is present. The background logic for PFST is the fuzzy partial propositional logic that has been proposed in [2], there, the motivations and explanations for the choice of a logical formalism can be found.

We will touch only a few aspects of the theory. Our purpose is to present first steps towards analysis of fuzzy functions in PFST. In our approach, fuzzy function is a fuzzy relation fulfilling the functionality property—a direct generalization of the classical property that specifies functions out of relations. In the fuzzy community the functionality property has been studied by many authors [3–6] and it is also known as the unique mapping [7]. We will propose the notion of functionality for fuzzy relations with variable domains in agreement with our intuitive expectations. Further, we will study properties of fuzzy functions w.r.t. fuzzy set operations and a relational composition.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7-50
We stem from [8] where the functionality has been explored in the framework of Fuzzy Class Theory [9]. We define the semantics of a simple first-order extension of fuzzy partial propositional logic and a simple theory of partial fuzzy sets of the first order. We next introduce a selection of basic partial fuzzy set theoretic notions and present a few results about these notions. Because of space limitation, we omit all proofs; they will be given in the upcoming full paper.

## 2 Partial Fuzzy Sets

We call fuzzy sets that can have undefined membership degrees—partial fuzzy sets. We identify partial fuzzy sets with pairs  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$ , where  $X_A \subseteq U$  is a crisp domain of A, U is a universe of discourse, and  $\mu_A \colon X_A \to L$  is a membership function from  $X_A$  to a suitable structure L of membership degrees. We denote this fact by  $A \subseteq X_A$ .

Whenever it is clear from the context, we refer to partial fuzzy sets simply as fuzzy sets. But a reader should keep in mind that from the point of view of the universe U a fuzzy set  $A \subseteq X_A$  is partial.

#### 2.1 The Representation of Partial Fuzzy Sets

The main idea of the representation of partial fuzzy sets is to replace undefined membership values by a dummy element  $\bullet$  that stands outside the scale for truth values L and is incomparable with any  $a \in L$ . Consequently, original partial membership functions to L of fuzzy sets (with undefined membership values) are replaced by total functions to the extended scale  $L \cup \{\bullet\}$  that represent partial fuzzy sets.

Let  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  be a fuzzy set, where  $X_A$  is a crisp domain and  $\mu_A \colon X_A \to L$  is a membership function from  $X_A$  to a suitable structure L of membership degrees. We introduce a new dummy index  $\bullet \notin L$  as a *new membership degree*, designed for undefined membership values. And we set  $\mu_A(x) = \bullet$  for all  $x \notin X_A$ .

**Definition 1.** Let  $L \neq \emptyset$  and  $L^{\bullet} = L \cup \{\bullet\}$ . We shall say that a fuzzy set  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  in a universe  $U \supseteq X_A$  is represented by a  $L^{\bullet}$ -valued membership function  $\dot{\mu}_A$  on X, defined for each  $x \in U$  as:

$$\dot{\mu}_A(x) = \begin{cases} \mu_A(x) & \text{if } x \in X_A \\ \bullet & \text{if } x \in U \setminus X_A. \end{cases}$$
(1)

This representation is clearly one to one correspondence between partial fuzzy sets on the universe U and  $L^{\bullet}$ -valued functions on U. Note that the original fuzzy set A (Fig. 1(a)) can be recovered from  $\dot{\mu}_A$  (Fig. 1(b)) by setting  $X_A = \{x \in U \mid \dot{\mu}_A(x) \neq \bullet\}$  and defining  $\mu_A$  as the restriction of  $\dot{\mu}_A$  to  $X_A$ . Therefore we may handle partial fuzzy sets by means of total  $L^{\bullet}$ -valued functions on a common universe U.



**Fig. 1.** The representation of the fuzzy set  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  on a universe  $U \supseteq X_A$ .

#### 2.2 Operations with Undefined Degrees

Then, a natural question arise: how do we define usual fuzzy set-theoretical operations such as the unions or intersections of fuzzy sets for fuzzy sets on different domains? There are several meaningful options that follows from suitable extensions of connectives used in definitions of the intended operations. In this paper, we will recall only two families of extended connectives descended from classical 3-valued connectives [10–12]. For more explanation and other extensions see [2].

In the sequel, let us assume  $\mathcal{L}$  be an MTL-algebra of the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \langle L, \lor, \land, *, \Rightarrow, 0, 1 \rangle.$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

We will call the operation \* product and  $\Rightarrow$  residuum.

Convention: To reduce the number of parenthesis used in mathematical expressions we set that \* has the highest priority and  $\Rightarrow$  the lowest priority out of all operations that are at the disposal.

**Definition 2.** Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be an MTL-algebra of the form (2).

- The Bochvar operation  $c_{\rm B} \in \{\wedge_{\rm B}, \vee_{\rm B}, *_{\rm B}, \Rightarrow_{\rm B}\}, c_{\rm B} : L^{\bullet} \times L^{\bullet} \to L^{\bullet}$  is interpreted by the following truth table for all binary operations of  $\mathcal{L}$  (and similarly for higher and lower arities):

$$\begin{array}{c|cccc}
c_{\rm B} & \beta & \bullet \\
\hline
\alpha & \alpha c \beta & \bullet \\
\bullet & \bullet & \bullet
\end{array}$$
(3)

The Sobociński operation c<sub>S</sub> ∈ {∧<sub>S</sub>, ∨<sub>S</sub>, \*<sub>S</sub>}, c<sub>S</sub> : L<sup>•</sup> × L<sup>•</sup> → L<sup>•</sup>, which treat
as the neutral element; and the Sobociński-style residuum ⇒<sub>S</sub> residuated with \*<sub>S</sub>:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} c_{\rm S} & \beta & \bullet \\ \hline \alpha & \alpha c \beta & \alpha \\ \bullet & \beta & \bullet \end{array} & \begin{array}{c|c} \Rightarrow_{\rm S} & \beta & \bullet \\ \hline \alpha & \alpha \Rightarrow \beta & \neg \alpha \\ \bullet & \beta & \bullet \end{array}$$
(4)

The names Bochvar and Sobociński in the above definitions of operations have been chosen according to the interpretation of three-valued connectives (namely, Bochvar and Sobociński conjunction and disjunction, see, e.g., [12]) with which they coincide on the three values  $\{0, 1, \bullet\}$ .

**Definition 3.** Let  $\alpha_i \in L^{\bullet}$  for each  $i \in I$  (where I is an arbitrary index set). Then we define:

$$- The Bochvar infimum \bigwedge_{i \in I} \alpha_i = \begin{cases} \inf_{i \in I} \alpha_i & \text{if } \alpha_i \neq \bullet \text{ for each } i \in I \\ \bullet & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$- The Bochvar supremum \bigvee_{i \in I} \alpha_i = \begin{cases} \sup_{i \in I} \alpha_i & \text{if } \alpha_i \neq \bullet \text{ for each } i \in I \\ \bullet & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$- The Sobociński infimum \bigwedge_{i \in I} \alpha_i = \begin{cases} \inf_{i \in I} \alpha_i & \text{if } \alpha_i \neq \bullet \text{ for some } i \in I \\ \alpha_i \neq \bullet & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$- The Sobociński supremum \bigvee_{i \in I} \alpha_i = \begin{cases} \sup_{i \in I} \alpha_i & \text{if } \alpha_i \neq \bullet \text{ for some } i \in I \\ \alpha_i \neq \bullet & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

$$- The Sobociński supremum \bigvee_{i \in I} \alpha_i = \begin{cases} \sup_{i \in I} \alpha_i & \text{if } \alpha_i \neq \bullet \text{ for some } i \in I \\ \alpha_i \neq \bullet & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Observe that all four operators coincide with the usual supremum and infimum on L if all of their operands are defined. Otherwise, the Bochvar operators  $\bigwedge_{B}, \bigvee_{B}$  yield the undefined value • as soon as any operands are undefined, while the Sobociński operators  $\bigwedge_{S}, \bigvee_{S}$  ignore the undefined values and only yield • if all of their operands are undefined.

*Remark 1.* The Bochvar (Sobociński) infimum and supremum correspond with the Bochvar (Sobociński) universal and existential quantifiers, respectively, see [1].

#### 2.3 Unions and Intersections of Fuzzy Partial Sets

**Definition 4.** Let us consider two fuzzy sets  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  and  $B = (X_B, \mu_B)$ :

- We define

$A \cup_{\mathcal{B}} B = (X_A \cap X_B, \mu_{A \cup B})$	$Bochvar\ union\ of\ A\ and\ B$
$A \cap_{\mathcal{B}} B = (X_A \cap X_B, \mu_{A \cap B})$	$Bochvar\ intersection\ of A\ and\ B$
$A \cap_{\mathcal{B}} B = (X_A \cap X_B, \mu_{A \cap B})$	$Bochvar\ strong\ intersection\ of\ A\ and\ B$

where

$$\mu_{A\cup_{B}B}(x) = \mu_{A}(x) \lor \mu_{B}(x), \text{ for all } x \in X_{A} \cap X_{B}$$
$$\mu_{A\cap_{B}B}(x) = \mu_{A}(x) \land \mu_{B}(x), \text{ for all } x \in X_{A} \cap X_{B}$$
$$\mu_{A\cap_{B}B}(x) = \mu_{A}(x) \ast \mu_{B}(x), \text{ for all } x \in X_{A} \cap X_{B}$$

Bochvar union is denoted by  $\cup_{\mathrm{B}}$ , Bochvar intersection is denoted by  $\cap_{\mathrm{B}}$  and Bochvar strong intersection is denoted by  $\bigcap_{\mathrm{B}}$ .

- We define Sobociński union of A and B is defined by

$A \cup_{\mathbf{S}} B = (X_A \cup X_B, \mu_{A \cup_{\mathbf{S}} B})$	Sobociński union $of A and B$
$A \cap_{\mathbf{S}} B = (X_A \cup X_B, \mu_{A \cap_{\mathbf{S}} B})$	Sobociński intersection of $A$ and $B$
$A \bigoplus_{\mathbf{S}} B = (X_A \cup X_B, \mu_{A \bigoplus_{\mathbf{S}} B})$	Sobociński strong intersection of $A$ and $B$

where

$$\begin{split} \mu_{A\cup_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) &= \mu_A(x) \lor \mu_B(x), \quad for \ x \in X_A \cap X_B, \\ \mu_{A\cap_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) &= \mu_A(x) \land \mu_B(x), \quad for \ x \in X_A \cap X_B, \\ \mu_{A\cap_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) &= \mu_A(x) \ast \mu_B(x), \quad for \ x \in X_A \cap X_B, \\ \mu_{A\cup_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) &= \mu_{A\cap_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) = \mu_{A(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})}, \quad for \ x \in X_A \setminus X_B, \\ \mu_{A\cup_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) &= \mu_{A\cap_{\mathbb{S}}B}(x) = \mu_{A(\mathbb{R},\mathbb{R})}(x), \quad for \ x \in X_A \setminus X_B, \\ \end{split}$$

That is, the membership degree of x in  $A \cup_B B$  is considered to be defined only if the membership degrees of x in both A and B are defined.

By means of operations given in Definition 2, the representation of Bochvar and Sobociński unions and intersections can be expressed in a uniform way:

 $\dot{\mu}_{A\cap_{\mathbf{B}}B}(x) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) \wedge_{\mathbf{B}} \dot{\mu}_B(x) \tag{5}$ 

$$\dot{\mu}_{A \cap B} B(x) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) *_B \dot{\mu}_B(x) \tag{6}$$

$$\dot{\mu}_{A\cup_{\mathrm{B}}B}(x) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) \vee_{\mathrm{B}} \dot{\mu}_B(x) \tag{7}$$

$$\dot{\mu}_{A\cap_{\mathcal{S}}B}(x) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) \wedge_{\mathcal{S}} \dot{\mu}_B(x) \tag{8}$$

$$\dot{\mu}_{A \cap S} B(x) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) *_S \dot{\mu}_B(x) \tag{9}$$

$$\dot{\mu}_{A\cup_{\mathcal{S}}B}(x) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) \vee_{\mathcal{S}} \dot{\mu}_B(x), \tag{10}$$

for  $x \in U$ .

Thus, Bochvar and Sobociński operations with fuzzy sets can be defined straightforwardly by means of Bochvar and Sobociński operations with their representations.

#### 2.4 Characteristics of Fuzzy Partial Sets

Characteristics that have been introduced for fixed-domain fuzzy sets can be modified for fuzzy partial sets in a straightforward manner. Since, we have two types of operations at a disposal, consequently, more than one meaningful modification is available. It appears, there are also several characteristics which are meaningful for fuzzy partial sets.

**Definition 5.** Let  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  be a fuzzy set,  $X_A \subseteq U$ , and  $\dot{\mu}_A$  the representation of A due to Definition 1.

- We say that A is total on U and write  $\operatorname{Tot}_X(A)$  (or simply  $\operatorname{Tot}(A)$  if the universe U is fixed) if dom A = U, i.e., if  $\dot{\mu}_A(x) \neq \bullet$  for all  $x \in U$ .
- We say that A is crisp and write  $\operatorname{Crisp}(A)$  if  $\mu_A(x) \in \{0, 1\}$  for all  $x \in X_A$ , *i.e.*, if  $\dot{\mu}_A(x) \in \{0, 1, \bullet\}$  for all  $x \in U$ .

Alongside, we will use binary relations between partial fuzzy sets, such as equality and inclusion.

**Definition 6.** Let  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  and  $B = (X_B, \mu_B)$  be fuzzy sets, where  $\mu_A \colon X_A \to L$  and  $\mu_B \colon X_B \to L$ , and let  $U \supseteq X_A \cup X_B$ . Then we say that:

- 1. A and B are strongly equal, written A = B, if  $X_A = X_B$  and  $\mu_A(x) = \mu_B(x)$ for all  $x \in X_A$ .
- 2. A is a subfunction of B, written  $A =_{sub} B$ , if  $X_A \subseteq X_B$  and  $\mu_A(x) = \mu_B(x)$ for all  $x \in X_A$ .
- 3. A is strongly included in B, written  $A \subseteq B$ , if  $X_A = X_B$  and  $\mu_A(x) \leq \mu_B(x)$ for all  $x \in X_A$ .
- 4. A is subincluded in B, written  $A \subseteq_{sub} B$ , if  $X_A \subseteq X_B$  and  $\mu_A(x) \leq \mu_B(x)$ for all  $x \in X_A$ .

Remark 2. The relations introduced in Definition 6 are bivalent (yes/no). Graded notions of inclusion and equality (cf. [13], [14, Sect. 18.2.2]) can be defined too, e.g., by means of the operators  $\bigwedge_{B}, \bigwedge_{S}$  and  $\Rightarrow_{B}, \Rightarrow_{S}$  of Sect. 2.2. For instance, the degree of Bochvar–Sobociński inclusion might be defined as:

$$(A \subseteq_{BS} B) = \bigwedge_{x \in U} (\dot{\mu}_A(x) \Rightarrow_S \dot{\mu}_B(x)).$$

In this paper, though, we shall leave graded relations between partial fuzzy sets aside.

## 3 Fuzzy Relations in PFST

Let us start with the Cartesian product of (two) fuzzy sets. In our apparatus, we set  $\dot{\mu}_{A\times B}(x, y) = \bullet$  for (x, y) outside the domain of  $A \times B$ . As can be easily observed, it is the *Bochvar* extension  $*_B$  of the product \*, which should then be used to make the domain of  $A \times B$  equal to  $X_A \times X_B$ . Therefore we define:

**Definition 7.** Let  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  and  $B = (Y_B, \mu_B)$  be fuzzy sets, where  $\mu_A \colon X_A \to L$  and  $\mu_B \colon Y_B \to L$ . Let  $U \supseteq X_A \cup Y_B$  and let  $\dot{\mu}_A, \dot{\mu}_B \colon U \to L^{\bullet}$  be the representations of A, B. The Bochvar Cartesian product  $A \times_B B$  is defined by the representation  $\dot{\mu}_{A \times_B B} \colon U \times U \to L^{\bullet}$  as follows:

$$\dot{\mu}_{A\times_{\mathbf{B}}B}(x,y) = \dot{\mu}_A(x) *_{\mathbf{B}} \dot{\mu}_B(y) \quad for each (x,y) \in U \times U.$$
(11)

*Remark 3.* Expanding the definition of  $*_{B}$ , we obtain:

$$\dot{\mu}_{A \times_{B} B}(x, y) = \begin{cases} \mu_{A}(x) * \mu_{B}(y) & \text{if } x \in X_{A} \text{ and } y \in Y_{B} \\ \bullet & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Thus, the Bochvar Cartesian product thus captures the usual definition of Cartesian product of fuzzy sets.

Besides the Bochvar product  $*_{\rm B}$ , we could also use another extension of \* to  $L^{\bullet}$  in (11), for instance the Sobociński product  $*_{\rm S}$ .

We can define the notion of binary fuzzy relation between two fuzzy sets as follows:

**Definition 8.** Let  $A = (X_A, \mu_A)$  and  $B = (Y_B, \mu_B)$  be fuzzy sets, and  $U \supseteq X_A, Y_B$  a common universe. Let  $R = (X_R, \mu_R)$ , where  $X_R \subseteq U \times U$  and  $\mu_R \colon X_R \to L$ .

We say that R is a fuzzy relation between A and B if  $R \subseteq_{sub} A \times_{B} B$ . If A = B, we speak of fuzzy relations on A.

The notion of binary fuzzy relations between two crisp sets is a special case of the one given in the above definition.

**Proposition 1.** Let  $R, R_1, R_2$  be fuzzy relations between fuzzy sets A and B.

- 1. If  $A \subseteq_{sub} A'$  and  $B \subseteq_{sub} B'$ , then R is also a fuzzy relation between A' and B'.
- 2. The fuzzy relations  $R_1 \cap_B R_2$ ,  $R_1 \cap_S R_2$ ,  $R_1 \cap_B R_2$ ,  $R_1 \cap_S R_2$ , are fuzzy relations between A and B as well.
- 3. If A and B are crisp, then analogous claims hold also for  $\cup_B, \cup_S$  and  $\bigcup_B, \bigcup_S$ .
- 4.  $\lambda = (\emptyset, \emptyset)$  is the smallest and  $A \times_B B$  the largest fuzzy relation between A and B with respect to subinclusion  $\subseteq_{sub}$ .

## 4 Relational Composition of Fuzzy Relations

Relational composition sup-T of fuzzy relations is intended to have the following values:

$$\dot{\mu}_{R\circ_{SB}S}(x,y) = \begin{cases} \mu_{R\circ S}(x,y) & \text{for } (x,y) \in A \times C \\ \bullet & \text{for } (x,y) \in (U \times U) \setminus (A \times C) \end{cases}$$
(12)

It leads to the following setting of operations: a domain of composition is obtained when using the *Bochvar* operation  $*_B$  for combining the degrees of both relations and the *Sobociński* supremum for aggregating them. Hence, we obtain the following generalization of sub-T composition of fuzzy relations:

**Definition 9.** Let  $R = (A \times B, \mu_R)$  and  $S = (B \times C, \mu_S)$ , where  $\mu_R : A \times B \to L$ and  $\mu_S : B \times C \to L$  be fuzzy relations and  $U \supseteq A \cup B \cup C$  a common universe. Let  $\dot{\mu}_R, \dot{\mu}_S : U \times U \to L^{\bullet}$  be the representation of R, S as in Definition 1. Then, we define the Sobociński–Bochvar sup-T composition  $R \circ_{SB} S$  as the fuzzy relation on U such that for all  $x, y \in U$ :

$$\dot{\mu}_{R\circ_{\mathrm{SB}}S}(x,y) = \bigvee_{z \in U} \left( \dot{\mu}_R(x,z) *_{\mathrm{B}} \dot{\mu}_S(z,y) \right).$$

## 5 Fuzzy Functions in PFST

In the sequel, let A and B be crisp sets,  $U \supseteq A, B$  be a common universe, and  $\approx_i = (X_{\approx_i}, \mu_{\approx_i})$ , for i = 1, 2, be fuzzy relations on A, B, respectively. Moreover, let  $R = (X_R, \mu_R)$  be a fuzzy relation between A and B.

We require from the definition of fuzzy function the following:

$$\mu_{\approx_1}(x, x') * \mu_R(x, y) * \mu_R(x', y') \le \mu_{\approx_2}(y, y'), \tag{13}$$

for all  $(x, x') \in X_{\approx_1}$ ,  $(y, y') \in X_{\approx_2}$  and  $(x, y), (x', y') \in X_R$ .

This specification leads to the definition using the representation of fuzzy sets which combines Sobociński infimum and Bochvar operations.

**Definition 10.** Let  $\dot{\mu}_R$ ,  $\dot{\mu}_{\approx_1}$ ,  $\dot{\mu}_{\approx_2}$ :  $U \times U \to L^{\bullet}$  be the representation of R,  $\approx_1$ ,  $\approx_2$  as in Definition 1.

- We say that R is a fuzzy function between A and B w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$  if

$$\bigwedge_{x,x',y,y'\in U} (\dot{\mu}_{\approx_1}(x,x') *_{\mathbf{B}} \dot{\mu}_R(x,y) *_{\mathbf{B}} \dot{\mu}_R(x',y') \Rightarrow_{\mathbf{B}} \dot{\mu}_{\approx_2}(y,y')) = 1.$$
(14)

- We say that R is a function between A and B if R is a fuzzy function between A and B w.r.t. =, =, and moreover, Crisp(R).

#### 5.1 Set Operations and the Relational Composition with Fuzzy Functions

Let us summarize properties of fuzzy functions.

**Theorem 1.** Let  $R = (X_R, \mu_R)$  and  $S = (X_S, \mu_S)$  be fuzzy functions between A and B, respectively, w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$ , moreover, let  $T = (X_T, \mu_T)$  be a fuzzy function between B and C w.r.t.  $\approx_2, \approx_3$  Then

- $R \cap_{B} S = (X_R \cap X_S, \mu_{R \cap_{B} S}), R \cap_{S} S = (X_R \cup X_S, \mu_{R \cap_{S} S})$  are fuzzy functions between A and B, respectively, w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$ ,
- $R \cap_{\mathcal{B}} S = (X_R \cap X_S, \mu_{R \cap_{\mathcal{B}} S})$  is a fuzzy function between A and B, respectively, w.r.t.  $\approx_1 \cap_{\mathcal{B}} \approx_1, \approx_2 \cap_{\mathcal{B}} \approx_2$ .

Figure 3 demonstrates Bochvar and Sobociński intersections of crisp functions. Note that  $R \bigoplus_S S = (X_R \cup X_S, \mu_{R \bigoplus_S S})$  is not a fuzzy function between A and B, respectively, w.r.t.  $\approx_1 \bigoplus_B \approx_1, \approx_2 \bigoplus_B \approx_2$ , because R and S are not fuzzy functions w.r.t.  $\approx_1 \bigoplus_B \approx_1, \approx_2 \bigoplus_B \approx_2$  on  $X_R \setminus X_S$  and  $X_S \setminus X_R$ , respectively.

We will demonstrate it on a simple example over the standard Lukasiewicz algebra. Put  $R = ([0, 0.5]^2, \mu_R)$ ,  $S = ([0, 1]^2, \mu_S)$  and  $\approx_1 = \approx_2 = S$ , where  $\mu_S(x, y) =_{df} (1 - |x - y|) \lor 0$  and  $\mu_R(x, y) = \mu_S(x, y)$  for  $x, y \in [0, 0.5]^2$  and  $\mu_{\approx_1} = \mu_{\approx_2} = \mu_S$ . Then,  $R \cap_B R$  is a fuzzy function between [0, 1] and [0, 1] w.r.t.



Fig. 2. Functions with different domains.

 $\approx_1 \bigoplus_{B} \approx_1, \approx_2 \bigoplus_{B} \approx_2$ . But  $R \bigoplus_{S} R$  is not a fuzzy function w.r.t.  $\approx_1 \bigoplus_{B} \approx_1, \approx_2 \bigoplus_{B} \approx_2$ , take e.g. x, x' = 0.6, y = 0.6, y' = 0.7 then

$$\dot{\mu}_{\approx_1}(x, x') *_{\mathcal{B}} \dot{\mu}_{R \cap_{\mathcal{S}} R}(x, y) *_{\mathcal{B}} \dot{\mu}_{R \cap_{\mathcal{S}} R}(x', y') \Rightarrow_{\mathcal{B}} \dot{\mu}_{\approx_2}(y, y')$$

$$= 1 *_{\mathcal{B}} 1 *_{\mathcal{B}} 0.9 *_{\mathcal{B}} \bullet \Rightarrow \underbrace{0.9 *_{\mathcal{B}} 0.9}_{0.8} < 1.$$

**Theorem 2.** Let the assumptions of Theorem 1 hold. Moreover, let  $(y, y') \in \approx_2$ for all x, x', z, z' such that  $(x, y), (x', y') \in R$  and  $(y, z), (y', z') \in T$ . Then  $R \circ_{SB} T$  is a fuzzy function between A and C w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_3$ ,



Fig. 3. Intersections of the functions from Fig. 2.

**Theorem 3.** Let  $R = (X_R, \mu_R)$  and  $S = (X_S, \mu_S)$  be fuzzy functions between A and B w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$ .

If  $R \cup_S S$  is a fuzzy function between A and B w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$  then R and S are fuzzy functions between A and B w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$ .

If  $R \cup_B S$  is a fuzzy function between A and B w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$  then R and S need not be fuzzy functions between A and B w.r.t.  $\approx_1, \approx_2$ . It is easy to find a crisp counterexample see Fig. 4, where the Bochvar-union  $R \cup_B S$  is crisp function but R is not.



Fig. 4. Bochvar-union of relations.

# 6 Conclusions

We have introduced basic notions of the fuzzy set and fuzzy relational calculus in PFST. The main focus was put to the section devoted to fuzzy functions for which we have provided some basic properties and illustrative examples. Let us emphasize the fact that results from the classical fuzzy set theory are not directly transferable to PFST. As an example we recall Theorem 2, where we have to add non-trivial requirements. Moreover, we have shown that there are properties of fuzzy functions that hold in the classical fuzzy set theory but not in PFST for all types of partial fuzzy set operations.

Acknowledgement. The work was supported by grant No. 16-19170S "Fuzzy partial logic" of the Czech Science Foundation.

# References

- Běhounek, L., Daňková, M.: Towards fuzzy partial set theory. In: Carvalho, J.P., et al. (eds.) Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems, IPMU 2016, Part II. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 611, pp. 482–494. Springer (2016)
- Běhounek, L., Novák, V.: Towards fuzzy partial logic. In: Proceedings of the IEEE 45th International Symposium on Multiple-Valued Logics (ISMVL 2015), pp. 139– 144. IEEE (2015)
- Demirci, M.: Fuzzy functions and their fundamental properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 106, 239–246 (1999)
- Hájek, P.: Function symbols in fuzzy logic. In: Proceedings of the East–West Fuzzy Colloquium, pp. 2–8. Zittau/Görlitz (2000). IPM
- 5. Perfilieva, I.: Fuzzy Function: Theoretical and Practical Point of View. Advances in Intelligent Systems Research. Atlantis Press, Paris (2011)
- Bělohlávek, R.: Fuzzy relational systems: foundations and principles. IFSR International Series on Systems Science and Engineering, vol. 20. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Press, New York (2002)
- 7. Gottwald, S.: Fuzzy uniqueness of fuzzy mappings. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 3, 49-74 (1980)
- Daňková, M.: Representation theorem for fuzzy functions graded form. In: Abstracts of International Conference on Fuzzy Computation, pp. 56–64, SciTePress - Science and Technology Publications (2010)
- 9. Běhounek, L., Cintula, P.: Fuzzy class theory. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 154(1), 34–55 (2005)

- Bochvar, D.A.: Ob odnom trekhznachnom ischislenii i ego primenenii k analizu paradoksov klassicheskogo rasshirennogo funktsional'nogo ischisleniya (Russian, On a three-valued logical calculus and its application to the analysis of contradictions). Matematicheskiy sbornik (Recueil Mathematique) 4, 287–308 (1938)
- 11. Sobociński, B.: Axiomatization of a partial system of three-value calculus of propositions. J. Comput. Syst. 1, 23–55 (1952)
- Ciucci, D., Dubois, D.: A map of dependencies among three-valued logics. Inf. Sci. 250, 162–177 (2013)
- Bandler, W., Kohout, L.J.: Fuzzy power sets and fuzzy implication operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 4, 183–190 (1980)
- 14. Gottwald, Siegfried: A Treatise on Many-Valued Logics. Studies in Logic and Computation, vol. 9. Research Studies Press, Baldock (2001)

# Medical Fuzzy Control Systems with Fuzzy Arden Syntax

Jeroen S. de Bruin<sup>1,2</sup>, Christian Schuh<sup>3</sup>, Andrea Rappelsberger<sup>2</sup>, and Klaus-Peter Adlassnig<sup>1,2</sup>(⊠)

<sup>1</sup> Medexter Healthcare GmbH, Borschkegasse 7/5, 1090 Vienna, Austria {jb, kpa}@medexter.com
<sup>2</sup> Section for Artificial Intelligence and Decision Support, Center for Medical Statistics, Informatics, and Intelligent Systems, Medical University of Vienna, Spitalgasse 23, 1090 Vienna, Austria {andrea.rappelsberger, klaus-peter.adlassnig}@meduniwien.ac.at
<sup>3</sup> IT4Science, IT Systems & Communications, Medical University of Vienna, Spitalgasse 23, 1090 Vienna, Austria christian, schuh@meduniwien, ac.at

**Abstract.** Arden Syntax is a formal language for representing and processing medical knowledge that is employed by knowledge-based medical systems. In HL7 International's Arden Syntax version 2.9 (Fuzzy Arden Syntax), the syntax was extended by formal constructs based on fuzzy set theory and fuzzy logic, including fuzzy control. These concepts are used to model linguistic and propositional uncertainty – which is inherent to medical knowledge – in a variety of clinical situations. Using these fuzzy methods, we can create medical fuzzy control systems (MFCSs), in which linguistic control rules are used and evaluated in parallel. Their results are aggregated so that gradual transitions between otherwise discrete control states are enabled. In this paper, we discuss the implementation of MFCSs in Fuzzy Arden Syntax. Through code examples from FuzzyArdenKBWean, an MFCS for weaning support in mechanically ventilated patients after cardiac surgery, we illustrate the implementation of fuzzy control.

Keywords: Arden Syntax  $\cdot$  Fuzzy logic  $\cdot$  Fuzzy control  $\cdot$  Clinical decision support systems  $\cdot$  Weaning from ventilation

## 1 Introduction

Arden Syntax is a widely known international standard for computerized knowledge representation and processing that supports the collection, description, and processing of medical knowledge in a machine-executable format. With Arden Syntax, medical rules and procedures can be expressed using algorithmic expressions and conditional statements. The rule sets are known as medical logic modules (MLMs) and usually contain sufficient logic to make at least a single medical decision [1]. Due to the fact that Arden Syntax MLMs can be interconnected and invoke each other, modularized packages for certain clinical decision support tasks can be established [2].

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_51

A drawback of earlier versions of Arden Syntax is that the modeling of fuzziness of linguistic clinical terms and uncertainty with respect to clinical conclusions were not intrinsically supported. Such linguistic and propositional uncertainties are, however, inherent to medical knowledge. For example, clinical guidelines are sometimes expressed using linguistic constructs such as "usually" or "often", which are subject to interpretation and lead to inter-rater variability. The same is true of clinical concepts such as "fever", "increased glucose levels", "leukopenia", and many others. As of version 2.9, Arden Syntax supports formal operators for fuzzy sets and fuzzy logic. Hence we will refer to this version as Fuzzy Arden Syntax [3]. Fuzzy sets can be employed to formally model the unsharpness of linguistic clinical concepts in relation to underlying medical data [4]; fuzzy logic can then be used to evaluate logical combinations of declared clinical concepts in order to draw conclusions about more abstract higher-level clinical concepts, and propagate the results through an inference network.

A number of medical applications have been based on fuzzy sets and fuzzy logic [5, 6]. *Fuzzy control* is of special interest in this paper. Medical fuzzy control systems (MFCSs) are based on linguistic control rules. The rules are evaluated in parallel, and their outcome is aggregated such that small transitions between "on" and "off" are possible. Examples of MFCSs include the control of drug dosages for human immunodeficiency virus and acquired immune deficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS)-infected patients [7], the control of limb prostheses [8], and the regulation of mechanical ventilators in intensive care units [9].

In the present report, we discuss how fuzzy control is intrinsically supported in Fuzzy Arden Syntax. Using examples from FuzzyArdenKBWean, a system for weaning support in mechanically ventilated patients after cardiac surgery [10], we show how fuzzy sets and fuzzy logic control rules can be implemented in Fuzzy Arden Syntax. These MLMs were implemented and executed using the ArdenSuite framework for medical knowledge representation and rule-based inference, which supports Arden Syntax to version 2.10 [11] (including Fuzzy Arden Syntax).

#### 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Arden Syntax

Arden Syntax is a medical knowledge representation and processing standard with properties that make it well suited for the computerized representation of medical knowledge [12]. In Arden Syntax, the program code resembles natural language, thus healthcare professionals can understand the code more easily. Furthermore, it supports data types tailored to the needs of medical documentation, such as data concerning time and duration. Finally, medical knowledge is separated from technical code, which improves code transparency. We will describe Arden Syntax version 2.9 to the extent that the reader will be able to understand the present report and the examples mentioned therein. For a complete description of the syntax we refer to the Arden Syntax version 2.9 specification [3].

In Arden Syntax, knowledge bases are segmented into MLMs. Each MLM is constructed hierarchically. At the top level, an MLM is divided into four categories:

maintenance, library, knowledge, and resources. These categories, in turn, are divided into slots. The maintenance category contains metadata on the MLM; it includes self-explanatory slots that describe various aspects of the MLM, such as title, author, or version. The library category is meant to provide contextual and background information about the MLM. Using slots such as purpose, explanation, keywords, citations, and links, the MLM author(s) can describe why the MLM was created, what it does, and refer to external sources. The actual implementation of algorithms and rules takes place in the knowledge category. MLM parameters can be declared in the data slot. Apart from input parameters, MLMs can also acquire data from external sources through curly braces expressions, which allow for dynamic interaction between an MLM and the data-providing host system. The MLM algorithms, rules, or program logic expressions are implemented in the logic slot. Other MLMs can also be invoked. Execution in the logic slot is finished with a concluding statement. If the statement proves to be true, the content of the action slot is executed, such as sending data to an external data source or returning a value. Finally, the conditional resources category allows for the construction of localized messages.

#### 2.2 Fuzzy Arden Syntax

In this section, we present a selection of fuzzy extensions implemented in Fuzzy Arden Syntax. This is not a complete overview; for an extended survey of fuzzy methods in Fuzzy Arden Syntax, we refer to previously published work on the subject [13].

An underlying principle of fuzzy methods in Fuzzy Arden Syntax is the extension of the syntax's truth value model. In Fuzzy Arden Syntax, a truth value is defined over a continuous spectrum in a range [0,1] rather than a dichotomous "true/false" model. In this range 0 stands for false, 1 for true, and an intermediate value indicates a degree of truth (or compatibility). Based on this extension, Fuzzy Arden Syntax intrinsically supports fuzziness with data types, built-in propositional fuzzy logic operators, and handling of fuzzy conditions in conditional branches.

With the fuzzy set data type, the unsharpness of boundaries in definitions of linguistic concepts can be conveniently modeled and explicitly calculated. A fuzzy set declaration requires that the boundaries of the fuzzy region be specified. Based on these boundaries, a linear membership function is associated to the variable, which is then able to calculate the truth value of measured data with respect to the clinical linguistic concept under consideration.

Three basic propositional fuzzy logic operations are implemented in Fuzzy Arden Syntax: conjunction, disjunction, and negation. These operations are equipped to handle all truth values in the specified range [0,1]. In Fuzzy Arden Syntax, these operators were implemented by the standard intersection, union, and complement operators *min*, *max*, and *1-x*, respectively [14].

Because of the extended truth value model, it is possible that conditions in conditional branches are neither true nor false. When this happens, the affected conditional branches are executed in parallel; they are also assigned a *degree of applicability* (DoA), which refers to the degree to which it is reasonable to use the value of a variable or set of variables modified or assigned in the respective branch [3]. By default, the DoA equals 1, and is reduced automatically to a weighted average when a program branches on a fuzzy condition; after all, since the condition enabling this program branch was neither true nor false, any values resulting from its execution are relativized accordingly.

In Fuzzy Arden Syntax, the DoA was implemented as follows: When n conditional statements are grouped in if-then-elseif statements with fuzzy values as conditions, the execution of the MLM is split into n branches, which are executed in parallel. In this process, each branch is provided with its own set of duplicated variables. Furthermore, each branch is assigned a DoA, which is the truth value of its condition divided by the sum of all truth values in the if-then-elseif block.

If, after execution of all conditional branches, the if-then-elseif block is not subsumed using the "*aggregate*" keyword, the different sets of duplicated variables will remain separate and the MLM will conclude with multiple return values, each with a DoA equal to the DoA of its respective program branch. However, if the branches are aggregated, the values of the variables are joined using a weighted average, and only one value for each variable is returned, here with a DoA equal to 1.

As a practical example of using fuzzy constructs in Fuzzy Arden Syntax, consider the MLM code below. Note that we have limited the example to the knowledge category.

```
knowledge:
 type: data driven;;
 data: (lcnt) := argument;; // Laboratory result
 priority: ;;
 evoke: ::
 logic:
  // Fuzzy set definitions
  fs leukopenia := fuzzy set (4000,1), (5000,0);
  fs leukocytosis := fuzzy set (11000,0), (12000,1);
  // Leukocyte count analysis
  if (lent is in fs leukopenia) or
   (lent is in fs leukocytosis) then
  msg := "Leukocyte count is in pathological range";
  else
   msg := "Leukocyte count is in normal range";
  endif:
  conclude true::
 action: return msg;;
 urgency: ;;
end:
```

The logic in this MLM is based on infection surveillance criteria defined by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control [15]. Surveillance definitions for leukopenia (4,000 white blood cells (WBC) per mm<sup>3</sup> blood or less) and leukocytosis (12,000 WBC/mm<sup>3</sup> blood or more) are included in these criteria. However, one might

argue that patients with measured values close to these thresholds are also of interest. As such, we created fuzzy sets for both clinical concepts that extend beyond the defined thresholds (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Graphical depiction of leukopenia and leukocytosis fuzzy sets. Note: WBC, white blood cells.

Truth values are determined during leukocyte count analysis with both fuzzy sets. The truth values are then combined using a logical fuzzy disjunction. In case the outcome is neither true nor false, both conditional branches are executed; as the branches are not aggregated, this would cause the MLM to return two copies of *msg*, each with its own DoA. For example, if the laboratory result were to be 4,400 *WBC/mm<sup>3</sup>*, the outcome of the conditional statement would be 0.6, due to the evaluation with *fs\_leukopenia*. Consequentially, the DoA of that conditional branch would be 0.6, and for the *else* branch it is automatically 0.4. As no *aggregate* keyword was provided at the *endif* branch closure, two copies of the *msg* variable are returned: one with a DoA of 0.6 that specifies that "*leukocyte count is in pathological range*", and another with a DoA of 0.4 that states that "*leukocyte count is in normal range*".

#### 2.3 Fuzzy Control and FuzzyArdenKBWean

In fuzzy control, the control strategy is written in "if-then-else" statements similar to natural language rather than using abstract mathematical equations. In these statements, the unsharpness of linguistic terms is represented by fuzzy sets. As a result, transition between control states in fuzzy control systems is more gradual than in traditional control systems.

In general, a fuzzy controller performs the following actions: First, (discrete) system inputs are acquired from the device to be controlled and possibly from additional data sources. The inputs are then interpreted with fuzzy sets (fuzzification) to produce truth values for linguistic concepts. Using the resulting truth values as conditions, all linguistic control rules in the knowledge base are evaluated in parallel, yielding a set of values for each output parameter. In the last processing step, values in each set are aggregated and made discrete again (defuzzification). These discrete results

are then either interpreted by the user to manually adjust the system (open-loop system), or fed back into the system itself (closed-loop system).

FuzzyArdenKBWean is an open-loop MFCS that works as described above. This system was developed to improve weaning support in mechanically ventilated patients after cardiac surgery in intensive care units. More specifically, the system optimizes the weaning process (i.e., the transition from full to no ventilation support) by trying to achieve optimal values for arterial oxygen partial pressure ( $P_aO_2$ ), arterial carbon dioxide partial pressure ( $P_aCO_2$ ), and the fraction of inspired oxygen ( $F_iO_2$ ). It is an open-loop, knowledge-based control system that proposes changes to peak inspiratory pressure (PIP), positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP), and  $F_iO_2$ , which patient caregivers then implement or, due to reasons unknown to the MFCS, deviate from these proposals.

On average, measured in our tests, FuzzyArdenKBWean reacted 131 min earlier than the attending physicians, with a standard error of mean (SEM) of 47 min. The mean delay in case of hyperventilation was 127 min, (SEM 34); the corresponding value for hypoventilation was 50 min (SEM 21).

#### 2.4 ArdenSuite

In order to obtain examples for the present report, MLMs in FuzzyArdenKBWean were created with the ArdenSuite software [11, 16]. ArdenSuite is a framework for medical knowledge representation, rule-based inference, and extended integration in health IT landscapes. It comprises an integrated development and test environment (ArdenSuite IDE) and the ArdenSuite Server, including software to interconnect with data sources (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. The ArdenSuite framework for medical knowledge representation, rule-based inference, and health IT integration.

The ArdenSuite IDE includes an authoring component, which allows users to write and compile MLMs. Given the appropriate data, the IDE also allows users to immediately test the written MLMs. After MLMs have been compiled, they are uploaded to the ArdenSuite server. The central element of the ArdenSuite server is the Arden Syntax engine, which executes the compiled MLMs. On top of the engine, an administration module is provided. Functionality reaches from being a repository for compiled Arden Syntax projects to allowing for the management of those projects (such as MLM version management, activation or deactivation of MLMs in an application, or implementing temporal restrictions). Furthermore, the server hosts a web service component that enables service-oriented access to the server by arbitrary clients.

To promote interoperability between the ArdenSuite server and host systems, such as electronic health records (EHRs), the system is provided with several forms of server and data access as well as multiple communication standards. For data exchange and MLM execution, the ArdenSuite server supports various web services. MLM and event calls are realized by Simple Object Access Protocol (SOAP) or Representational State Transfer (REST); the data required for MLM processing can also be provided in this call. Alternatively, data can also be acquired from external databases, Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR) resources, and through web services for EPIC using the ArdenSuite connector repository.

#### 3 Results

The first step in implementing FuzzyArdenKBWean was the construction of fuzzy sets for classifying the inputs in linguistic terms. Based on medical experience, as well as statistical data from prospective randomized trials and archived data, fuzzy sets were



Fig. 3. Graphical depiction of fuzzy sets defined in FuzzyArdenKBWean.

created for linguistic classifications (Very low, Low, Normal, High, and Very high, respectively) for both inputs (Fig. 3).

The fuzzy sets in Fig. 3 were used as conditions of fuzzy control rules in the knowledge base. The following rules were selected for this paper:

R1: IF  $O_2$  IS NORMAL AND  $CO_2$  IS VERY HIGH THEN PIP = +5;

R2: IF  $O_2$  IS LOW AND  $CO_2$  IS VERY HIGH THEN PIP = +5;

R3: IF  $O_2$  IS LOW AND  $CO_2$  IS HIGH THEN PIP = +0;

R4: IF  $O_2$  IS NORMAL AND  $CO_2$  IS HIGH THEN PIP = +0;

Note that despite rules R3 and R4 seem to have no impact, their presence is vital in the control mechanism, as they influence the final PIP increase, depending on the truth value of their condition.

Finally, for defuzzification we used the aggregate command. The resulting (partial) MLM code is shown below. Due to space constraints, we only defined a subset of the fuzzy sets used in the rule selection mentioned earlier, namely those that were used in conditions in this MLM.

```
knowledge:
 type: data-driven;;
 data: (O2, CO2) := argument;; // P<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and P<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>2</sub>
 priority: ;;
 evoke: ;;
 logic:
  // Fuzzy set definitions
  O2 low := FUZZY SET (70,0), (75,1), (85,1), (90,0);
  O2 normal := FUZZY SET (85,0), (90,1), (95,1), (100,0);
  CO2 high := FUZZY SET (45,0), (50,1), (55,0);
  CO2 very high := FUZZY SET (50,0), (55,1);
  // Rule analysis
  if (O2 is in O2 normal) and (CO2 is in CO2 very high) then
   PIP inc := 5; // R1
  elseif (O2 is in O2 low) and (CO2 is in CO2 very high) then
   PIP inc := 5; // R2
  elseif (O2 is in O2 low) and (CO2 is in CO2 high) then
   PIP inc := 0; // R3
  elseif (O2 is in O2 normal) and (CO2 is in CO2 high) then
   PIP inc := 0; // R4
  endif aggregate;
  conclude true;
 action:
  return PIP inc;;
 urgency: ;;
end:
```

To clarify the workings of this MLM, let us consider an example. Assume that PaO2 equals 89 and PaCO2 equals 52. This yields the following truth values for the defined fuzzy sets: (O2\_normal, 0.8), (O2\_low, 0.2), (CO2\_high, 0.6), and (CO2\_very\_high, 0.4). Using the standard intersection operator, the truth values for the rule conditions evaluate to: (R1, min(0.8, 0.4) = 0.4), (R2, min(0.2, 0.4) = 0.2), (R3, min(0.2, 0.6) = 0.2), and (R4, min(0.8, 0.6) = 0.6). Given that the total sum of truth values for these conditions equals (0.4 + 0.2 + 0.2 + 0.6 = 1.4), the weighted average of individual condition truth values, thus the DoA for the conditional branches, is: (R1, (0.4 / 1.4) = 0.285), (R2, (0.2 / 1.4) = 0.143), (R3, (0.2 / 1.4) = 0.143), (R4, (0.6 / 1.4) = 0.429).

Finally, the *aggregate* keyword causes a defuzzification of all the program branches and different *PIP\_inc* copies, resulting in a single *PIP\_inc* value:

$$PIP_{inc} = (0.285 * 5) + (0.143 * 5) + (0.143 * 0) + (0.429 * 0) = 2.14$$

Thus, the program will return the suggestion that the ventilator's PIP should be increased by 2.14 percentage points.

### 4 Discussion

In the present report, we showed how MFCSs can be implemented using fuzzy methods supported by Arden Syntax version 2.9, an international HL7 standard for computerized knowledge representation and processing that incorporates fuzzy methods. This is important because fuzzy control is used increasingly often in medical devices and systems and has yielded encouraging results [6]. As logical rules are implemented in natural language, clinical experts together with clinical knowledge engineers can implement their expertise quite easily without having to learn complex syntaxes of current programming languages. Uncertainty and incompleteness of knowledge can be modeled by introducing fuzzy sets for linguistic concepts that are part of these rules. Through the ArdenSuite server, with its standardized communication as well as information exchange capabilities, MFCSs can be more easily integrated into small and large healthcare institutions or single medical applications.

In our experience, the implementation of FuzzyArdenKBWean in Fuzzy Arden Syntax yields the MLMs to be clearer and easier to understand in comparison to implementations done with functional programming languages (Delphi or Java). Although clinicians indicated that they were not able to rapidly produce MLMs by themselves, they did find it straightforward and easy to validate written MLMs and identify logical flaws. As such, the cooperation between knowledge engineer and clinician becomes more productive, resulting in high quality medical software.

The limitations of the present report are worthy of note. The study is limited to a single application, FuzzyArdenKBWean. Other forms of fuzzy control in medicine, e.g., those mentioned in [5, 6], need to be studied to see whether those can be implemented in Fuzzy Arden Syntax as well. For example, for defuzzification we used a weighted average based on truth values and the DoA. Other ways, such as centroid methods or mean–max methods need to be studied too. Furthermore, we have not yet

fully tested how the program behaves in real time. Such performance is crucial, especially in intensive care units.

We performed the first steps in implementing fuzzy control with Fuzzy Arden Syntax. In the future, we plan to study and address aforementioned limitations, and also apply Fuzzy Arden Syntax for other medical areas and tasks, such as fuzzy automata for real-time monitoring purpose.

### References

- Hripcsak, G.: Writing Arden Syntax medical logic modules. Comput. Biol. Med. 24(5), 331– 363 (1994)
- Adlassnig, K.-P., Rappelsberger, A.: Medical knowledge packages and their integration into health-care information systems and the World Wide Web. Stud Health Technol Inform 136, 121–126 (2008)
- Health Level Seven International (2013) HL7 Arden V2.9-2013: The Arden Syntax for Medical Logic Systems Version 2.9. Available at: http://www.hl7.org/implement/standards/ product\_brief.cfm?product\_id=290. Accessed 27 Mar 2017
- Adlassnig, K.-P.: Uniform representation of vagueness and imprecision in patient's medical findings using fuzzy sets. In: Trappl, R. (ed.) Cybernetics and Systems'88, pp. 685–692. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht (1988)
- Abbod, M.F., von Keyserlingk, D.G., Linkens, D.A., Mahfouf, M.: Survey of utilisation of fuzzy technology in medicine and healthcare. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 120(2), 331–349 (2001)
- Mahfouf, M., Abbod, M.F., Linkens, D.A.: A survey of fuzzy logic monitoring and control utilisation in medicine. Artif. Intell. Med. 21(1–3), 27–42 (2001)
- Assawinchaichote, W.: Control of HIV/AIDS infection system with drug dosages design via robust H∞ fuzzy controller. Biomed Mater Eng 26(Suppl 1), S1945–S1951 (2015). doi:10. 3233/BME-151497
- Yang, P., Yue, H., Chen, L., Geng, Y.: Intelligent lower limb prosthesis following healthy leg gait based on fuzzy control. In: 2012 24th Chinese Control and Decision Conference (CCDC). IEEE, New York, pp. 3729–3731. (2012) doi:10.1109/CCDC.2012.6244597
- Schuh, C.: Managing uncertainty with fuzzy-automata and control in an intensive care environment. In: Castillo, O., Melin, P., Ross, O.M., Cruz, R.S., Pedrycz, W., Kacprzyk, J. (eds.) Theoretical Advances and Applications of Fuzzy Logic and Soft Computing, pp. 263–271. Springer, Berlin (2007)
- Schuh, C., Hiesmayr, M., Kaipel, M., Adlassnig, K-P.: Towards an intuitive expert system for weaning from artificial ventilation. In: Dick, S., Kurgan, L., Musilek, P., Pedrycz, W., Reformat, M. (eds.) NAFIPS 2004 – Annual Meeting of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society: Fuzzy Sets in the Heart of the Canadian Rockies, Vol. 2. IEEE, Piscataway, pp. 1008–1012 (2004). doi:10.1109/NAFIPS.2004.1337445
- Medexter Healthcare (2015) ArdenSuite Medical Knowledge Representation and Rule-Based Inference Software with Arden Syntax. Available at: http://www.medexter. com/component/jdownloads/send/3-public-articles/6-ardensuite-for-emrs. Accessed 27 Mar 2017
- Samwald, M., Fehre, K., de Bruin, J., Adlassnig, K.-P.: The Arden Syntax standard for clinical decision support: experiences and directions. J. Biomed. Inform. 45(4), 711–718 (2012). doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2012.02.001
- Vetterlein, T., Mandl, H., Adlassnig, K.-P.: Processing gradual information with Fuzzy Arden Syntax. Stud Health Technol Inform 160, 831–835 (2010)

- Michael, D.: A propositional calculus with denumerable matrix. J Symbol Logic 24(2), 97– 106 (1959)
- 15. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) (2015) European Surveillance of Healthcare-Associated Infections in Intensive Care Units, HAI-Net ICU Protocol, Protocol Version 1.02. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/Publications/ healthcare-associated-infections-HAI-ICU-protocol.pdf. Accessed 27 Mar 2017
- 16. Adlassnig, K.-P., Fehre, K.: Service-oriented Fuzzy-Arden-Syntax-based clinical decision support. Indian J Med Inform 8(2), 75–79 (2014)

# **Convolution on Bounded Lattices**

Laura De Miguel<sup> $1(\boxtimes)$ </sup>, Humberto Bustince<sup>1</sup>, and Bernard De Baets<sup>2</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Departamento de Automatica and Computacion and Institute of Smart Cities, Universidad Publica de Navarra, Pamplona, Spain {laura.demiguel,bustince}@unavarra.es
 <sup>2</sup> KERMIT, Department of Mathematical Modelling, Statistics and Bioinformatics, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium bernard.debaets@ugent.be

Abstract. The union and intersection of two membership degrees of type-2 fuzzy sets are defined using a generalization of the mathematical operation of convolution. In the literature, it has been deeply studied when these convolution operations constitute a bounded distributive lattice. In this paper, we generalize the union and intersection convolution operations by replacing the functions from [0, 1] to itself with functions from a bounded lattice  $\mathbb{L}_1$  to a frame  $\mathbb{L}_2$ , a particular type of bounded lattice. Similarly to some previous studies in the literature, we analyze when these new convolution operations constitute a bounded distributive lattice.

Keywords: Convolution operation · Bounded lattice · Fuzzy logic

### 1 Introduction

The mathematical operation of convolution is at the basis of mathematical morphology, both for binary [7] and gray-scale images [3]. Specifically, for gray-scale images the dilation and erosion of an image f by a structuring function b are defined as follows:

$$(f \oplus b)(x) = \bigvee_{y \in E} (f(y) + b(x - y))$$

and

$$(f \ominus b)(x) = \bigwedge_{y \in E} (f(y) - b(y - x)),$$

where  $\bigvee$  represents supremum and  $\bigwedge$  infimum, and E is the set of pixels of f.

Similar convolution operations are at the basis of Zadeh's extension principle. For a function on a composite universe  $X = X_1 \times X_2$ , the extension principle is defined as

$$f(A_1, A_2)(z) = \bigvee_{f(x_1, x_2) = z} \min(A_1(x_1), A_2(x_2)).$$

Zadeh's extension principle has been successfully used to define union and intersection operations on type-2 fuzzy sets that generalize Zadeh's definition of union and intersection on fuzzy sets [11].

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_52

Let X be the universe of discourse of a type-2 fuzzy set A. The membership degree A(x) (with  $x \in X$ ) is a function from [0, 1] to itself, i.e., a function f belonging to the set  $\mathcal{F}([0, 1], [0, 1])$ . Hence, the union and intersection convolution operations of two membership degrees are defined as:

$$(f \sqcup g)(x) = \bigvee_{u \lor v = x} f(u) \land g(v) := \sup\{f(u) \land g(v) \mid u \lor v = x\};$$

and

$$(f \sqcap g)(x) = \bigvee_{u \land v = x} f(u) \land g(v) := \sup\{f(u) \land g(v) \mid u \land v = x\},\$$

for any  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}([0, 1], [0, 1])$ .

Moreover, some relevant studies on the algebra  $(\mathcal{F}([0,1],[0,1]),\sqcup,\sqcap)$  show that by considering suitable restrictions on the functions, the union and intersection constitute a bounded distributive lattice [5,6,8]. Some other works study the algebraic/lattice-theoretical properties of similar convolution operations when the functions from [0,1] to itself are replaced by functions from a finite chain to another one [9,10]. However, as far as we know, there is no study about these convolution operations in more general lattice frameworks.

The main purpose of this paper is to study the algebraic laws of the union and intersection convolution operations when we replace the functions of  $\mathcal{F}([0,1],[0,1])$  with functions from a bounded lattice to a frame (a particular type of bounded lattice). Specifically, we focus on the algebraic laws of a bounded distributive lattice. We also analyze two different lines of research. On the one hand, the algebraic laws can be ensured by restricting to particular instances of bounded lattices. On the other hand, they can also be ensured by restricting to appropriate subsets of functions that satisfy additional properties.

The structure of the paper is as follows. In Sect. 2 we recall the notion of bounded distributive lattice and introduce the convolution operations. In Sect. 3, we analyze whether or not there exist particular classes of lattices where the union and intersection convolution operations constitute a bounded distributive lattice. Similarly, in Sect. 4 we study which additional properties should be imposed on the functions in order to constitute a bounded lattice. In Sect. 5 we study which subsets of functions are closed under the convolution operations in order to ensure that the operations are well-defined. We finish with some conclusions and future research.

## 2 Convolution on Bounded Lattices

Let L be a set equipped with two binary operations, in our context usually referred to as *join* ( $\lor$ ) and *meet*  $\land$ , and two elements  $0_L \in L$  and  $1_L \in L$ . Table 1 summarizes some potential algebraic properties of binary operations.

The universal algebra constituted by the set L equipped with join and meet operations that satisfy commutativity, associativity and absorptions laws is

The idempotency laws	$a \lor a = a$ for any $a \in L$
	$a \wedge a = a$ for any $a \in L$
The commutativity laws	$a \lor b = b \lor a$ for any $a, b \in L$
	$a \wedge b = b \wedge a$ for any $a \in L$
The associativity laws	$a \lor (b \lor c) = (a \lor b) \lor c$ for any $a, b, c \in L$
	$a \wedge (b \wedge c) = (a \wedge b) \wedge c$ for any $a, b, c \in L$
The absorption laws <sup>a</sup>	$a \lor (a \land b) = a$ for any $a, b \in L$
	$a \wedge (a \vee b) = a$ for any $a, b \in L$
The identity laws <sup>a</sup>	$a \vee 0_L = a$ for any $a \in L$
	$a \wedge 1_L = a$ for any $a \in L$
The distributivity laws <sup>a</sup>	$a \lor (b \land c) = (a \lor b) \land (a \lor c)$ for any $a, b, c \in L$
	$a \wedge (b \vee c) = (a \wedge b) \vee (a \wedge c)$ for any $a, b, c \in L$

Table 1. Some algebraic properties of binary operations.

<sup>a</sup>In order not to overload the notation we only define the algebraic properties for commutative operations.

called a lattice [1,2]. It worth mentioning that a lattice can be also defined as a partially ordered set where each pair of elements has a supremum and an infimum. If it is a linearly ordered set, the lattice is called a chain.

The join and meet operations of a lattice satisfy the idempotency laws as consequence of the two absorption laws. Additionally, if the identity laws are satisfied, the lattice is said to be bounded. Similarly, if the distributivity laws are satisfied the lattice is said to be distributive. A bounded lattice  $\mathbb{L} = (L, \lor, \land, 0_L, 1_L)$ is said to be complete, if the supremum and infimum of each subset of elements exist. A frame [4] is a complete lattice that satisfies the meet continuity property: for any  $a \in L$  and any  $\emptyset \subset B \subseteq L$ , it holds that

$$a \wedge \left(\bigvee_{b \in B} b\right) = \bigvee_{b \in B} (a \wedge b).$$
 (1)

It is important to mention that any frame is a distributive bounded lattice. In this paper, we consider a bounded lattice  $\mathbb{L}_1 = (L_1, \vee_1, \wedge_1, 0_1, 1_1)$  and a frame  $\mathbb{L}_2 = (L_2, \vee_2, \wedge_2, 0_2, 1_2)$ , and the corresponding set of functions between them  $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{L}_1, \mathbb{L}_2) = \{f \mid f : L_1 \to L_2\}$ , called lattice functions further on. Note that  $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{L}_1, \mathbb{L}_2)$  depends on lattices  $\mathbb{L}_1$  and  $\mathbb{L}_2$ , but we will refer to  $\mathcal{F}$  without explicitly indicating the lattices.

Let  $\mathbb{L}_1$  be a finite lattice. We visualize a function  $f: L_1 \to L_2$  by replacing the elements of  $L_1$  in the Hasse diagram of  $\mathbb{L}_1$  by their corresponding function values in  $L_2$ . For example, let  $\mathbb{L}_1 = \mathbb{M}_2$  be the lattice depicted in Fig. 1(a) and



**Fig. 1.** (a) Hasse diagram of the lattice  $\mathbb{L}_1 = \mathbb{M}_2$  and (b) graphical representation of the function  $f_1$ .

let  $f_1$  from  $\mathbb{L}_1$  to  $\mathbb{L}_2 = ([0, 1], \max, \min, 0_2, 1_2)$  be defined as

$$f_1(x) = \begin{cases} 0.2, & \text{if } x = 0_1, \\ 0_2, & \text{if } x = x_1, \\ 0.5, & \text{if } x = y_1, \\ 0.7, & \text{if } x = 1_1. \end{cases}$$

The function  $f_1$  is depicted in Fig. 1(b).

The following operations are of major importance in our work.

**Definition 1.** The join- and meet-convolution on  $\mathcal{F}$  are defined, for any  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$ , as:

$$(f \sqcup g)(x) = \bigvee_{u \lor_1 v = x} f(u) \land_2 g(v) := \sup\{f(u) \land_2 g(v) \mid u \lor_1 v = x\};$$

and

$$(f \sqcap g)(x) = \bigvee_{u \land v = x} f(u) \land_2 g(v) := \sup\{f(u) \land_2 g(v) \mid u \land_1 v = x\}.$$

Note the we are studying the union and intersection convolution operations of two membership degrees of type-2 fuzzy sets [6,8] when the functions from [0,1] to itself are replaced by functions belonging to  $\mathcal{F}$ . The purpose of this paper is to study when these operations constitute a bounded distributive lattice. In order not to overload the notations and since no confusion can occur, we will drop the subindices 1 and 2 from here on.

**Theorem 1.** Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be the set of lattice functions. The convolution operations  $\sqcup$  and  $\sqcap$  satisfy the commutativity and associativity laws.

In general, the convolution operations on the set of functions  $\mathcal{F}([0, 1], [0, 1])$  satisfy the idempotency laws. However, this no longer holds when  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a bounded lattice.



**Fig. 2.** Graphical representations of the functions in Example 1: (a) the function f, (b) the join-convolution  $f \sqcup f$ , and (c) the meet-convolution  $f \sqcap f$ .

*Example 1.* Let  $\mathbb{L}_1 = \mathbb{M}_2$  and  $\mathbb{L}_2 = (\{0, 1\}, \max, \min, 0, 1)$ . Consider the function  $f \in \mathcal{F}$  depicted in Fig. 2(a). The join- and meet-convolution  $f \sqcup f$  and  $f \sqcap f$  are depicted in Figs. 2(b)–(c). One easily verifies that  $f \neq f \sqcup f$  and  $f \neq f \sqcap f$ .

Remark 1. To study the remaining of the algebraic laws of a lattice, there are two different lines of research. On the one hand, we can restrict the classes of lattices  $\mathbb{L}_1$  and  $\mathbb{L}_2$ . In this manner, the more restrictive the lattices are, the more algebraic properties the convolution operations satisfy. On the other hand, we can restrict the set of functions  $\mathcal{G} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ , only considering functions  $g \in \mathcal{G}$  that satisfy some additional properties. These two lines of research are analyzed in Sects. 3 and 4, respectively.

## 3 Restricting the Lattices

As a first step, we study in which classes of lattices the idempotency laws are satisfied.

**Theorem 2.** The following statements hold:

- (i) the operation  $\sqcup$  satisfies the idempotency law on  $\mathcal{F}$  if and only if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is chain;
- (ii) the operation  $\sqcap$  satisfies the idempotency law on  $\mathcal{F}$  if and only if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is chain.

Chains are a very special class of lattices, i.e., the restriction in the preceding theorem is a very restrictive condition. Moreover, even if we restrict to chains, the absorption laws are not satisfied as we show in the following example.

*Example 2.* Let  $\mathbb{L}_1 = (\{0, \frac{1}{2}, 1\}, \max, \min, 0, 1)$  and  $\mathbb{L}_2 = (\{0, 1\}, \max, \min, 0, 1)$ . Consider the functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$  depicted in Figs. 3(a)–(b). The corresponding functions  $f \sqcup (f \sqcap g)$  and  $f \sqcap (f \sqcup g)$  are depicted in Figs. 3(c)–(d). One easily verifies that  $f \neq f \sqcup (f \sqcap g)$  and  $f \neq f \sqcap (f \sqcup g)$ .

Note that the preceding counterexample shows that when  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a chain with at least three elements ( $\mathbb{L}_1 = \{0, \frac{1}{2}, 1\}$ ) and  $\mathbb{L}_2$  has at least two elements ( $\mathbb{L}_2 = \{0, 1\}$ ) the absorption laws fail. Hence, the possibility of restricting the lattice such that the absorption laws hold does not seem a suitable option. From now on, we will study appropriate restrictions on the set of functions. 590 L. De Miguel et al.



(a) Function f (b) Function g (c) Function  $f \sqcup (f \sqcap g)$  (d) Function  $f \sqcap (f \sqcup g)$ 

**Fig. 3.** Graphical representation of the functions in Example 2: (a) the function f, (b) the function g, (c) the corresponding function  $f \sqcup (f \sqcap g)$ , and (d) the corresponding function  $f \sqcap (f \sqcup g)$ .

### 4 Restricting the Set of Functions

Let  $s_f \in L_2$  denote supremum of the function f, defined as  $s_f := \bigvee_{x \in L_1} f(x)$  and let  $\mathbf{0}_a$  and  $\mathbf{1}_a$  (with  $a \in L_2$ ) denote the functions

$$\mathbf{0}_a(x) = \begin{cases} a, \text{ if } x = 0, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise}; \end{cases} \qquad \mathbf{1}_a(x) = \begin{cases} a & , \text{ if } x = 1, \\ 0 & , \text{ otherwise}. \end{cases}$$

In order to study all the algebraic laws of a lattice, we consider the following sets of functions:

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{N}_{a} &= \left\{ f \in \mathcal{F} \mid s_{f} = a \right\} \text{ for some } a \in L_{2} \,, \\ \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} &= \left\{ f \in \mathcal{F} \mid (\forall (x,y) \in L_{1}^{2})(f(x) \wedge f(y) \leq f(x \vee y)) \right\} \,, \\ \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} &= \left\{ f \in \mathcal{F} \mid (\forall (x,y) \in L_{1}^{2})(f(x) \wedge f(y) \leq f(x \wedge y)) \right\} \,, \\ \mathcal{C} &= \left\{ f \in \mathcal{F} \mid (\forall (x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}) \in L_{1}^{3})(x_{1} \leq x_{2} \leq x_{3} \Rightarrow f(x_{1}) \wedge f(x_{3}) \leq f(x_{2})) \right\} . \end{split}$$

**Theorem 3.** Let  $f, g, h \in \mathcal{F}$ . The following statements hold:

(i)  $f \sqcup \mathbf{0}_a = f$  if and only if  $s_f \leq a$ ; (ii)  $f \sqcap \mathbf{1}_a = f$  if and only if  $s_f \leq a$ ; (iii)  $f \sqcup f = f$  if and only if  $f \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup}$ ; (iv)  $f \sqcap f = f$  if and only if  $f \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap}$ ; (v)  $f \sqcup (f \sqcap g) = f$ , for any  $g \in \mathcal{N}_{s_f}$ , if and only if  $f \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{C}$ ; (vi)  $f \sqcap (f \sqcup g) = f$ , for any  $g \in \mathcal{N}_{s_f}$ , if and only  $f \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ ;

The only algebraic properties we have not studied yet are the distributivity laws. For their fulfillment we impose  $\mathbb{L}_1$  to be distributive.

**Theorem 4.** Let  $\mathbb{L}_1$  be a distributive lattice and  $f, g, h \in \mathcal{F}$ . The following statements hold:

(i) If  $f \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ , then  $f \sqcup (g \sqcap h) = (f \sqcup g) \sqcap (f \sqcup h)$  holds, for any  $g, h \in \mathcal{F}$ ; (ii) If  $f \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ , then  $f \sqcap (g \sqcup h) = (f \sqcap g) \sqcup (f \sqcap h)$  holds, for any  $g, h \in \mathcal{F}$ . **Corollary 1.** Let  $\mathbb{L}_1$  be a distributive lattice. The convolution operations satisfy all the algebraic laws of a bounded distributive lattice if we restrict to the set  $\mathcal{N}_a \cap \mathcal{I}_{\square} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\square} \cap \mathcal{C}$ , for some  $a \in L_2$ .

Remark 2. Note that all the algebraic laws of a bounded distributive lattice are satisfied on  $\mathcal{N}_a \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ , for some  $a \in L_2$ . Moreover, if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is distributive, then the distributivity laws are also satisfied. However, we have not studied whether or not the convolution operations are internal on these subsets, i.e., we have not studied if the convolution operations are well-defined on these subsets.

### 5 Closedness

We devote this section to study whether or not the subsets of functions that have appeared in Sect. 4 are closed under the convolution operations. Specifically, for any subset of functions  $\mathcal{G}$ , and for any  $f, g \in \mathcal{G}$ , we should study if  $f \sqcup g$  and  $f \sqcap g$  belong to  $\mathcal{G}$ .

**Theorem 5.** The following statements hold:

- (i) The sets  $\mathcal{N}_a$  (with  $a \in L_2$ ) are closed under join- and meet-convolution.
- (ii) The set  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcup}$  is closed under join-convolution.
- (iii) The set  $\mathcal{I}_{\Box}$  is closed under meet-convolution.

In the following example we show that neither  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcap}$  nor  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under join-convolution. Similarly, neither  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcup}$  nor  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under meet-convolution.

*Example 3.* Let  $\mathbb{L}_1$  be the distributive lattice with Hasse diagram depicted in Fig. 4(a) and  $\mathbb{L}_2 = (\{0, 1\}, \max, \min, 0, 1)$ .

- (i) Consider the functions  $f_1, g_1 \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap}$  depicted in Figs. 4(b)–(c). The joinconvolution  $f_1 \sqcup g_1$  is depicted in Fig. 4(d). One easily verifies that  $x_2 \land x_4 = x_3$ , while  $(f_1 \sqcup g_1)(x_2) \land (f_1 \sqcup g_1)(x_4) = 1 > (f_1 \sqcup g_1)(x_3) = 0$ . Hence,  $f_1 \sqcup g_1 \notin \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap}$ .
- (ii) Consider the functions f<sub>2</sub>, g<sub>2</sub> ∈ C depicted in Figs. 4(e)–(f). The join-convolution f<sub>2</sub> ⊔ g<sub>2</sub> is depicted in Fig. 4(g). One easily verifies x<sub>1</sub> ≤ x<sub>2</sub> ≤ 1, while (f<sub>2</sub> ⊔ g<sub>2</sub>)(x<sub>1</sub>) ∧ (f<sub>2</sub> ⊔ g<sub>2</sub>)(1) = 1 > 0 = (f<sub>2</sub> ⊔ g<sub>2</sub>)(x<sub>2</sub>). Hence, f<sub>2</sub> ⊔ g<sub>2</sub> ∉ C.

Due to Theorem 3, in order to constitute a bounded lattice the restriction to the set  $\mathcal{N}_a \cap \mathcal{I}_{\Box} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\Box} \cap \mathcal{C}$ , for some  $a \in L_2$ , must be considered. Hence, the non-closedness of the sets  $\mathcal{I}_{\Box}, \mathcal{I}_{\Box}$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  is of major importance. Fortunately, the intersection of the sets  $\mathcal{I}_{\Box}, \mathcal{I}_{\Box}$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  is closed under the convolution operations with the additional assumption of  $\mathbb{L}_1$  being distributive. Moreover, the latter will turn out to be a necessary and sufficient condition.



(e) Function  $f_2$  (f) Function  $g_2$  (g) Function  $f_2 \sqcup g_2$ 

**Fig. 4.** Graphical representation of the functions in Example 3: (a) the Hasse diagram of the lattice  $\mathbb{N}_5$ , (b) the function  $f_1$ , (c) the function  $g_1$ , (d) the join-convolution  $f_1 \sqcup g_1$ , (e) Hasse diagram of the lattice  $\mathbb{L}_1$ , (f) the function  $f_2$ , (g) the function  $g_2$ , and (h) the join-convolution  $f_2 \sqcup g_2$ .

#### Theorem 6.

- (i) The set  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$  is closed under join-convolution if and only if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a distributive lattice.
- (ii) The set  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$  is closed under meet-convolution if and only if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a distributive lattice.

*Proof.* Note that we have omitted all the preceding proofs due to space constraints. Since we want to illustrate the general idea of the proofs, we include here the proof of statement (i).



**Fig. 5.** Hasse diagram of: (a) the sublattice  $\mathbb{M}_3$ , and (b) the sublattice  $\mathbb{N}_5$ .

,

⇒ Suppose that  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$  is closed under join-convolution, while  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is not distributive. Due to the well-known  $\mathbb{M}_3$ - $\mathbb{N}_5$  theorem (see [1] or [2]),  $\mathbb{L}_1$  has a sublattice that is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{M}_3$  or to  $\mathbb{N}_5$  (depicted in Fig. 5(a)–(b)). We distinguish two cases.

(a) The case that  $\mathbb{L}_1$  has a sublattice isomorphic to  $\mathbb{M}_3$ . We refer to the elements of this sublattice as in Fig. 5(a). We consider the functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$  defined as:

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 1, \text{ if } x \in \{x_1, x_2\}, \\ 0, \text{ otherwise}; \end{cases} \qquad g(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , \text{ if } x \in \{x_1, x_3\} \\ 0 & , \text{ otherwise}. \end{cases}$$

It holds that  $(f \sqcup g)(x) = 0$  for any  $x \in L_1$  unless  $x \in \{x_1, x_2, x_3, x_5\}$ , where  $f \sqcup g$  takes the value 1. Since  $x_1 \leq x_4 \leq x_5$  and  $(f \sqcup g)(x_4) = 0 < 1 = (f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_5)$ , we conclude that  $f \sqcup g \notin \mathcal{C}$ , a contradiction.

(b) The case that  $\mathbb{L}_1$  has a sublattice isomorphic to  $\mathbb{N}_5$ . We refer to the elements of this sublattice as in Fig. 5(b). We consider the functions  $f, g \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$  defined as:

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x = x_2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases} \qquad g(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \in \{x_1, x_4\}, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$

It holds that  $(f \sqcup g)(x) = 0$  for any  $x \in L_1$  unless  $x \in \{x_2, x_5\}$ , where  $f \sqcup g$  takes the value 1. Since  $x_2 \leq x_3 \leq x_5$  and  $(f \sqcup g)(x_3) = 0 < 1 = (f \sqcup g)(x_2) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_5)$ , we conclude that  $f \sqcup g \notin \mathcal{C}$ , a contradiction.

 $\leftarrow$  Let  $\mathbb{L}_1$  be a distributive lattice and  $f, g \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\sqcup}$  is closed under join-convolution, it holds that  $f \sqcup g \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup}$  and we only need to show that  $f \sqcup g \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ .

Firstly, we prove that  $f \sqcup g \in \mathcal{I}_{\Box}$ . For any  $x_1, x_2 \in L_1$ , it holds that

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_2) = \left(\bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2}} f(u_1) \land g(v_1)\right) \land \left(\bigvee_{\substack{u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2 \\ u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2}} f(u_2) \land g(v_2)\right)$$
$$= \bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2}} f(u_1) \land f(u_2) \land g(v_1) \land g(v_2) \,.$$

Since  $f \in \mathcal{I}$ , it holds that  $f(u_1) \wedge f(u_2) \leq f(u_1 \vee u_2)$  and  $f(u_1) \wedge f(u_2) \leq f(u_1 \wedge u_2)$ , and, hence,  $f(u_1) \wedge f(u_2) \leq f(u_1 \wedge u_2) \wedge f(u_1 \vee u_2)$ . Similarly, since  $g \in \mathcal{I}$ , it holds that  $g(v_1) \wedge g(v_2) \leq g(v_1 \wedge v_2) \wedge g(v_1 \vee v_2)$ . This leads to

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_2)$$

$$\leq \bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2}} f(u_1 \land u_2) \land f(u_1 \lor u_2) \land g(v_1 \land v_2) \land g(v_1 \lor v_2).$$

Taking into account that  $u_1 \leq u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1$  and  $u_2 \leq u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2$ , it holds that  $u_1 \land u_2 \leq x_1 \land x_2$ . Moreover, since  $u_1 \land u_2 \leq u_1 \lor u_2$ , we find that

$$u_1 \wedge u_2 \le (x_1 \wedge x_2) \wedge (u_1 \vee u_2) \le (u_1 \vee u_2)$$

Analogously, it follows that

$$v_1 \wedge v_2 \leq (x_1 \wedge x_2) \wedge (v_1 \vee v_2) \leq (v_1 \vee v_2).$$

Since  $f, g \in \mathcal{C}$ , it holds that

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_2)$$

$$\leq \bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2}} f((x_1 \land x_2) \land (u_1 \lor u_2)) \land g((x_1 \land x_2) \land (v_1 \lor v_2)).$$

Finally, since  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a distributive lattice, it holds that

$$((x_1 \land x_2) \land (u_1 \lor u_2)) \lor ((x_1 \land x_2) \land (v_1 \lor v_2)) = (x_1 \land x_2) \land ((u_1 \lor u_2) \lor (v_1 \lor v_2)) = (x_1 \land x_2) \land ((u_1 \lor v_1) \lor (u_2 \lor v_2)) = (x_1 \land x_2) \land (x_1 \lor x_2) = x_1 \land x_2 .$$

By denoting  $u = (x_1 \wedge x_2) \wedge (u_1 \vee u_2)$  and  $v = (x_1 \wedge x_2) \wedge (v_1 \vee v_2)$ , it holds that

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_2) \le \bigvee_{u \lor v = x_1 \land x_2} f(u) \land g(v) = (f \sqcup g)(x_1 \land x_2).$$

Consequently,  $f \sqcup g \in \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap}$ .

Secondly, we prove that  $f \sqcup g \in C$ . For any  $x_1, x_2, x_3 \in L_1$  such that  $x_1 \leq x_2 \leq x_3$ , it holds that

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_3) = \left(\bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_3 \lor v_3 = x_3}} f(u_1) \land g(v_1)\right) \land \left(\bigvee_{\substack{u_3 \lor v_3 = x_3 \\ u_3 \lor v_3 = x_3}} f(u_1) \land f(u_3) \land g(v_1) \land g(v_3) \right)$$

Analogously to the case  $\mathcal{I}_{\Box}$ , since  $f, g \in \mathcal{I}$ , it holds that

 $f(u_1) \wedge f(u_3) \le f(u_1 \wedge u_3) \wedge f(u_1 \vee u_3)$ 

and

$$g(v_1) \wedge g(v_3) \leq g(v_1 \wedge v_3) \wedge g(v_1 \vee v_3).$$

This leads to

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_3)$$

$$\leq \bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_3 \lor v_3 = x_3}} (f(u_1 \land u_3) \land f(u_1 \lor u_3)) \land (g(v_1 \land v_3) \land g(v_1 \lor v_3)).$$

Taking into account that  $u_1 \wedge u_3 \leq u_1 \leq u_1 \vee v_1 = x_1 \leq x_2$  and  $u_1 \wedge u_3 \leq u_1 \vee u_3$ , it holds that

$$u_1 \wedge u_3 \leq x_2 \wedge (u_1 \vee u_3) \leq u_1 \vee u_3.$$

Analogously, it follows that

$$v_1 \wedge v_3 \le x_2 \wedge (v_1 \vee v_3) \le v_1 \vee v_3$$

Since  $f, g \in \mathcal{C}$ , it holds that

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_3)$$

$$\leq \bigvee_{\substack{u_1 \lor v_1 = x_1 \\ u_3 \lor v_3 = x_3}} (f(x_2 \land (u_1 \lor u_3))) \land (g(x_2 \land (v_1 \lor v_3))).$$

Finally, since  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a distributive lattice, it holds that

$$(x_2 \land (u_1 \lor u_3)) \lor (x_2 \land (v_1 \lor v_3)) = x_2 \land ((u_1 \lor u_3) \lor (v_1 \lor v_3))$$
  
=  $x_2 \land ((u_1 \lor v_1) \lor (u_3 \lor v_3))$   
=  $x_2 \land (x_1 \lor x_3) = x_2 \land x_3 = x_2 .$ 

By denoting  $u_2 = x_2 \wedge (u_1 \vee u_3)$  and  $v_2 = x_2 \wedge (v_1 \vee v_3)$ , it holds that

$$(f \sqcup g)(x_1) \land (f \sqcup g)(x_3) \le \bigvee_{u_2 \lor v_2 = x_2} f(u_2) \land g(v_2) = (f \sqcup g)(x_2)$$

Consequently,  $f \sqcup g \in \mathcal{C}$ .

Taking into account all the preceding results, we can conclude the following.

**Theorem 7.** The algebraic structure  $\mathbb{F} = (\mathcal{N}_a \cap \mathcal{I} \cap \mathcal{C}, \sqcup, \sqcap, \mathbf{0}_a, \mathbf{1}_a)$  (with  $a \in L_2$ ) is a bounded distributive lattice if and only if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a distributive lattice.

## 6 Conclusions

This paper studies some convolution operations generated by replacing the functions of the set  $\mathcal{F}([0,1],[0,1])$  with functions of the set  $\mathcal{F}(\mathbb{L}_1,\mathbb{L}_2)$ . Firstly, it is shown that the idempotency laws do not hold unless  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a chain. But even in this case, the absorption laws fail. The second part of the paper focuses on the restriction to a suitable subset of functions where the convolution operations fulfill the algebraic properties of a bounded distributive lattice. Moreover, the question which of these subset are closed under the convolution operations is also answered. The most important result of the paper is that the convolution operations constitute a bounded distributive lattice on the set  $\mathcal{N}_a \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcup} \cap \mathcal{I}_{\sqcap} \cap \mathcal{C}$ (with  $a \in L_2$ ) if and only if  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is a distributive lattice.

We expect to expand the present work in the future studying the subsets on which the convolution operations constitute a bounded lattice when  $\mathbb{L}_1$  is not distributive.

Acknowledgment. This work has been supported by the Research Services of the Universidad Publica de Navarra as well as by the project TIN2016-77356-P (MINECO, AEI/FEDER, UE).

# References

- 1. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory, American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publications, vol. 25, 3rd edn. American Mathematical Society, New York (1967)
- Davey, B.A., Priestley, H.A.: Introduction to Lattices and Order. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990)
- De Baets, B., Kerre, E., Gupta, M.: The fundamentals of fuzzy mathematical morphology. Part 1: basic concepts. Int. J. Gen Syst 23(2), 155–171 (1995)
- 4. Grätzer, G.: Lattice Theory: Foundation. Birkhäuser, Basel (2011)
- Harding, J., Walker, C., Walker, E.: Lattices of convex normal functions. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159(9), 1061–1071 (2008)
- Mizumoto, M., Tanaka, K.: Some properties of fuzzy sets of type 2. Inf. Control 31(4), 312–340 (1976)
- Serra, J.: Image Analysis and Mathematical Morphology. Academic Press Inc., Orlando (1983)
- Walker, C.L., Walker, E.A.: The algebra of fuzzy truth values. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 149(2), 309–347 (2005)
- Walker, C.L., Walker, E.A.: A family of finite de Morgan and Kleene algebras. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 20, 631–654 (2012)
- Walker, C.L., Walker, E.A.: Type-2 operations on finite chains. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 236, 33–49 (2014)
- 11. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8(3), 338-353 (1965)

# Representing Uncertainty Regarding Satisfaction Degrees Using Possibility Distributions

Robin De  $Mol^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Guy De Tré

Department of Telecommunications and Information Processing, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium robin.demol@ugent.be, Guy.DeTre@UGent.be

**Abstract.** Evaluating flexible criteria on data leads to degrees of satisfaction. If a datum is uncertain, it can be uncertain to which degree it satisfies the criterion. This uncertainty can be modelled using a possibility distribution over the domain of possible degrees of satisfaction. In this work, we discuss the meaningfulness thereof by looking at the semantics of such a representation of the uncertainty. More specifically, it is shown that defuzzification of such a representation, towards usability in (multi-criteria) decision support systems, corresponds to expressing a clear attitude towards uncertainty (optimistic, pessimistic, cautious, etc.)

## 1 Introduction

Consider for the remainder of this paper that a data set consists of *objects* which represent real-world entities as collections of *attribute* values. An example data set might store information on people by tracking attributes such as "age", "name", "sex", "weight", "height", and so on. As such, each actual person corresponds to a collection of values for these attributes taken from their respective domains.

Often, our knowledge of entities is limited to information stored in a database. In the best case scenario, *all* attributes of an entity are *precisely* known. In practice however, attribute values are often missing (not yet measured or inapplicable), outdated, incorrect or vague. In all cases where the real, exactly correct value of an attribute is not known, it is said that (the value of) each such an attribute is *uncertain*. This lack of knowledge can be represented by a possibility distribution over the domain of the attribute, whereby each value in the domain is associated with a degrees of possibility that it is the real value of the attribute. To deal with inapplicability, the domain of each attribute might have to be extended with a special symbol to denote this [6].

Data are commonly subjected to criteria in order to test their suitability for a specific purpose. Examples hereof are querying systems, (multi-criteria) decision support systems, recommender tools, and so on. Mathematically, criteria can be seen as functions which are used to test attribute values. Evaluating a criterion on an attribute then corresponds to testing the function in the attribute value. The resulting score can be interpreted as a score indicating how acceptable the value is.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7-53

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Evaluating an uncertain attribute is not straightforward because if the exact value is not known and it can not be tested. It follows that the resulting degree to which an uncertain attribute satisfies a criterion is also uncertain. As such, it can be treated as an uncertain 'attribute' and the uncertainty thus modelled by a possibility distribution. This has already been suggested by Dubois and Prade in [10] but was not investigated further. Instead, they proposed using possibility and necessity degrees to represent respectively the possibility and the necessity that the uncertain attribute satisfies the criterion. To that end, the formulae to compute them are generalized. The advantage hereof is that these degrees are well known and compatible with (and comparable to) the case when evaluating non-flexible criteria on uncertain data. However, as mentioned by Dubois and Prade themselves, the result of the generalization comes at the cost of some properties which have a non-negligable impact on their interpretability, which can lead to counter-intuitive results. Indeed, when evaluating different entities in order to compare them using their approach, it can occur that an entity which certainly satisfies a criterion to a certain degree (and possibly fully satisfies it) is ranked worse than an entity which is not in the least guaranteed to satisfy the criterion.

In this work, we further explore the feasability of using possibility distributions to model the uncertainty over the degree to which an uncertain attribute satisfies a criterion. Towards multi-criteria decision support, we discuss how defuzzification can be applied to reduce these distributions to numbers so they may be used for further calculations. We will show that different ways of performing defuzzification correspond to different attitudes a decision maker can have towards uncertainty.

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows. In Sect. 2 some preliminaries and relevant research are mentioned. Afterwards, mathematical notations used throughout the remainder of the paper are given in Sect. 3 to define possibility distributions over degrees of satisfaction. Then, the usefulness of such distributions is discussed in Sect. 4. Towards usability in existing tools, defuzzification is carefully studied. The findings are illustrated in Sect. 5 by means of an example. To conclude, Sect. 6 summarizes the feasibility and usefulness of using possibility distributions.

## 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Flexible Criteria

Traditional criteria evaluation is Boolean: either the criteria are satisfied or they are not. Flexible criteria, in contrast, compute a degree (typically from the unit interval) for each entity denoting how well it satisfies the criterion. This has many advantages, the most obvious one being the fact that flexible criteria do not filter but rather sort the objects in a data set. It also allows agents to model *vague* preferences. For example, one may be interested in identifying which people are "old". Flexible criteria are typically modelled by fuzzy sets [21]. A fuzzy set F over a domain X is a generalization of a regular set, characterized by a membership function  $\mu_F$  which associates each element from X with a real number in a partially ordered set (usually the unit interval), with the value  $\mu_F(x)$  of element x representing the "grade of membership" of x in F. It can easily be seen that a regular set is a special case of a fuzzy set where the membership can only take values 0 and 1, respectively denoting non-membership and membership.

Treating a criterion as a function that is used to test attribute values, it can easily be seen that, mathematically, the relation between fuzzy sets and regular sets is identical to the relation between regular (crisp) criteria and flexible criteria. In a sense, a regular criterion can be seen as a function which partitions the data set in regular sets (satisfied and not satisfied). In contrast, a flexible criterion can be seen as a function which describes the membership of all objects in the data set in the fuzzy set of satisfaction.

Fuzzy sets are at the base of many flexible systems [4,5,12,15,22,23]. Note that flexible criteria are in no way related to uncertainty [9]. To reflect uncertainty in criteria, extended fuzzy sets such as type-2 fuzzy sets, interval-valued fuzzy sets, Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets [2] and, more recently, hesitant fuzzy sets [17] have been proposed.

#### 2.2 Representation of Uncertainty

There has been a lot of research towards representing uncertain data. For a singular attribute (i.e. it can only take one value), the underlying idea is that we are incapable of storing the correct value because it is not known. Instead, in accordance to the information that we do have, we must store each possible value that the property might take, associated with a degree of belief that it is the correct value. Mathematically, this can be represented by a function u, associating each value x from the attribute's domain X with a real number in a partially ordered set (usually the unit interval), where u(x) denotes the "degree of belief" that x is the correct value of the attribute.

A classical example of modeling stochastic uncertainty is by means of a probability distribution. Alternatively, uncertainty due to a lack of knowledge is generally modelled using a possibility distribution [10,14,18,20].

#### 3 Uncertainty Regarding Satisfaction Degrees

In this section we introduce a formal notation of the representation of uncertainty regarding the extent to which an uncertain attribute satisfies a criterion. Considering the precise value of an uncertain attribute is not known, it is not possible to say to which degree it satisfies a given criterion. As such, the degree of satisfaction of the uncertain attribute is inherently uncertain and can be modelled using a possibility distribution.

With the understanding that A is an attribute with domain X, and that E is an entity for which the value of A is not exactly known, let  $\pi_A : X \to [0,1]$ :
$x \mapsto \pi_A(x)$  be a possibility distribution over X where  $\pi_A(x)$  denotes the possibility that E takes value x for A. Let further E[A] denote the value that E takes for A, whatever it may be. Let then  $\pi_{\sigma} : [0,1] \to [0,1]$  be a possibility distribution expressing the uncertainty regarding the degree  $\sigma$  to which E[A] satisfies a flexible criterion defined on A.

Using a possibility distribution to represent the uncertainty over the degree of satisfaction of an uncertain attribute regarding a preference brings all the advantages of working with possibility distributions. As such, it is immediately apparent that such distributions can represent full certainty, full uncertainty and any degree in between. Further more, factoring in the semantics of the domain of these possibility distribution as being a degree of satisfaction, such a model can be used to represent statements like "possibly fully satisfied", "certainly at least x satisfied", "at most x satisfied", "certainly not satisfied", "could be anything" and many more, which are semantically rich and intuitive.

### 4 Attitudes Towards Uncertainty

Assume there is a way to construct such possibility distributions. Given that the evaluation of a flexible criterion on a data set containing uncertain data yields, for each object, a possibility distribution regarding the degree of satisfaction, we can immediately ask ourselves the question how the results may be ranked. After all, this is one of the key advantages of flexible criteria evaluation which is no longer straightforward. Indeed, ranking objects by a degree of satisfaction comes down to sorting a list of numbers in descending (or ascending) order, but how should possibility distributions be compared?

There have been many studies devoted to the comparison of fuzzy sets (also known as comparing fuzzy numbers) [1,3,7]. There is no real consensus in this area of research, which testifies to the flexibility of fuzzy sets. It also proves that there is no one-size-fits-all approach because the semantics of fuzzy sets play a fundamental role when it comes to how they should be compared [8].

We can ask ourselves the question: how would *we* compare two uncertain attributes? We argue the only correct answer is *it depends*. It depends on the application in which we are considering the uncertainty and on the impact of making a mistake. For example, when it comes to comparing travel options we might be inclined to choose for a suboptimal route which will certainly get us there in time rather than a different route that might get us there faster at the risk of running late, especially if arriving on time is of critical importance.

Another field of application which is built on flexible criteria evaluation is multi-criteria decision support. After evaluating all the criteria, a multi-criteria decision support system aggregates all elementary satisfaction degrees into a single, global score. There exist techniques for aggregating membership functions [19,20]. However, these techniques are tightly coupled to the context in which they are used. As such, the conjunction of two such functions is different for possibility distributions on one hand and characteristic functions on the other. Furthermore, these functions are mostly limited to either simple aggregators or force the user to use a specific technique. To be able to tap into the power of any proven aggregation technique (including but not limited to: OWA, WOWA, LSP, Choquet, Sugeno) it is logical to reduce uncertain satisfaction degrees represented by possibility distributions to numerical values. This comes down to the defuzzification of a possibility distribution. There are different ways of performing defuzzification. We will discuss and compare three defuzzification strategies, considering especially the semantics of each. If a decision maker purposefully chooses for a specific defuzzification strategy, aware of the semantics, this can be viewed as explicitly expressing an attitude towards uncertainty.

### 4.1 Maximal Possible Satisfaction

Let us first look at defuzzification by taking the maximal possible degree of satisfaction that is associated with a degree of belief larger than 0. In this case, however unlikely, the result of the defuzzification corresponds to the event that the attribute takes the best possible value regarding the preferences of the decision maker. Obviously, this might not be the reality, but assuming this degree of satisfaction clearly indicates an optimistic attitude by believing in the best possible case. Alternatively, it could be seen as a greedy attitude, aggressively assuming the best possible case, neglecting the fact that reality might be less optimal. This kind of attitude is typical for prediction systems such as GPSbased routing software, which assume you can drive at the highest speed for each road and that no sudden accidents happen which could influence travel time.

One could also choose for the maximal fully possible value, e.g. the maximal value which has a degree of belief equal to 1. Such cases can be seen as a greedy attitude assuming "normal circumstances", yielding a natural trade off between what is desired and what can be expected if nothing unforseeable happens.

### 4.2 Minimal Possible Satisfaction

Let us now look at defuzzification by taking the minimal possible value that is associated with a degree of belief larger than 0. Instead of the best possible case, the worst possible case is assumed. Consequently, this defuzzification strategy denotes a pessimistic attitude. This might be valuable when the outcome of the decision is of critical importance and there is no room for error. As such, it can be seen as an attitude of safeness, avoiding risk.

However, one might also choose a slightly less pessimistic attitude by choosing the minimal fully possible value, e.g. the worst value with degree of belief equal to 1. As such, possibly disastrous but very unlikely outcomes are purposefully ignored, again assuming "normal circumstances".

### 4.3 Center of Mass

A common approach for defuzzification is to compute the abscissa of the center of mass of the area under the possibility distribution [16]. This can be viewed as a

sort of weighted average of all possible outcomes, where the degrees of belief are used as weights. Semantically, the center of mass can be viewed as an indicator of the "expected" degree of satisfaction, taking into account all possible outcomes. As such, it portrays an intermediary attitude which is generally more robust to outliers with low possibility. However, it might produce unexpected results in case of a non-convex possibility distribution by producing an average degree of satisfaction that corresponds to a value that the uncertain attribute might not even be able to take. Consider for example that we know a certain bottle is either completely empty or completely full. Defuzzification through center of mass might lead to an "expected" satisfaction of 0.5, though it is not possible the bottle is half-full. However, if interpreted as a real average, the center of mass strategy can still be useful. One can see that aggregated degrees of satisfaction near 0.5 indicate uncertainty or otherwise mediocre objects, values near 1 denote rather certainly good objects and values near 0 denote rather certainly poor objects. Then one can use the center of mass approach to represent a cautious attitude to reliably identify the good and bad objects, leaving the uncertain and mediocre objects in the middle. For attributes with a defuzzified satisfaction degree below 0.5 it can be said that there is more reason to believe that it will take an unsatisfactory value than that it will take a satisfactory value. However, it should be kept in mind that this degree should not be reverse engineered to an attribute value to guesstimate which value the uncertain attribute might take.

## 5 Example

Suppose we are trying to evaluate if an area of the subsurface is suitable for extracting a specific lithological resource. To that end, a model of the subsurface is queried. This model is a collection of discrete 3D cuboids (voxels) representing minimal extractable volumes. For each voxel, the lithological classification of the extractable resource (medium sand, fine sand, clay...) and a degree of impurities (percentage rocks, shells...) are stored. In practice, such subsurface models are largely generated through statistical interpolations from only a very small amount of soil samples that typically cover less than 1% of the actual model area. As a result, practically all voxels denote interpolated data and are as such inherently uncertain.

Let us say we are looking for fine sand without impurities for some industrial purpose. Because we can not say with certainty whether or not a voxel contains fine sand nor if it is pure (both are possibly uncertain), we must express an attitude towards the possibility that the voxel contains a different resource or is impure. Assume our application absolutely requires fine sand. Any other resource is unusable. Assuming our preference reflects that only fine sand results in the maximal satisfaction degree and that other lithological classes result in a low(er) degree of satisfaction, we use the minimal possible satisfaction strategy to ensure that only voxels that only contain fine sand (i.e. have a high satisfaction degree) are defuzzified to a high satisfaction degree. Voxels that possibly contain other resources (i.e. have a low possible satisfaction degree) will be defuzzified to a low satisfaction degree. Towards impurities we are more forgiving, as we can filter these out after extraction. However, purer is still better, and we want to exclude voxels that are so impure that the remaining usable volume after extraction would be too low to make the extraction cost worthwhile. Here we choose the center of mass strategy for defuzzification of uncertainty regarding impurities to reliably reject those voxels that contain many impurities but including the voxels that are both likely and possibly pure.

## 6 Conclusions

In this work, we have briefly examined the feasibility of using possibility distributions to represent uncertainty regarding the degree to which an uncertain attribute satisfies a flexible preference. Further, we have discussed how different strategies for defuzzifying these distributions correspond to specific attitudes regarding uncertainty. When dealing with uncertainty in decision support, we argue the decision maker must necessarily express his or her attitude towards uncertainty. A small example illustrates the intuitiveness of the approach and highlights how a decision maker may express different attitudes towards different properties in multi-criteria decision problems. There is still a lot to be done, such as defining how possibility distributions representing uncertainty regarding the satisfaction degree of a flexible criterion on uncertain data should be derived, and how such a representation can be further expanded to be capable of dealing with bipolar queries [11,13,24], interval-valued fuzzy sets, hesitant fuzzy sets [17], two-fold fuzzy sets, Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets [2] and type-2 fuzzy sets.

## References

- Bronselaer, A., Pons, J.E., De Tré, G., Pons, O.: Possibilistic evaluation of sets. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 21(3), 325–346 (2013)
- 2. Atanassov, K.T.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 20(1), 87-96 (1986)
- Billiet, C., Bronselaer, A., De Tré, G.: A comparison technique for ill-known time intervals. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, pp. 1963–1969, Vancouver, Canada (2016)
- Bosc, P., Galibourg, M., Hamon, G.: Fuzzy querying with SQL: extensions and implementation aspects. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 28(3), 333–349 (1988)
- Bosc, P., Pivert, O.: SQLf: a relational database language for fuzzy querying. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 3(1), 1–17 (1995)
- De Tré, G.: Extended possibilistic truth values. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 17(4), 427–446 (2002)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Ranking fuzzy numbers in the setting of possibility theory. Inf. Sci. 30(3), 183–224 (1983)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: The three semantics of fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 90(2), 141–150 (1997)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Using fuzzy sets in flexible querying: why and how? In: Flexible Query Answering Systems, pp. 45–60. Springer, Heidelberg (1997)

- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Possibility theory, probability theory and multiple-valued logics: a clarification. Ann. Math. Artif. Intell. 32, 35–66 (2001)
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Bipolarity in flexible querying. In: Flexible Query Answering Systems, pp. 174–182 (2002)
- Kacprzyk, J., Ziołkowski, A.: Database queries with fuzzy linguistic quantifiers. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 3(16), 474–479 (1986)
- Matthé, T., De Tré, G.: Bipolar query satisfaction using satisfaction and dissatisfaction degrees: bipolar satisfaction degrees. In: Proceedings of the 2009 ACM Symposium on Applied Computing, pp. 1699–1703. ACM (2009)
- Prade, H., Testemale, C.: Generalizing database relational algebra for the treatment of incomplete or uncertain information and vague queries. Inf. Sci. 143, 115–143 (1984)
- Tahani, V.: A conceptual framework for fuzzy query processing a step toward very intelligent database systems. Inf. Process. Manage. 13(5), 289–303 (1977)
- Takagi, T., Sugeno, M.: Fuzzy identification of systems and its applications to modeling and control. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 1, 116–132 (1985)
- 17. Torra, V.: Hesitant fuzzy sets. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 25(6), 529-539 (2010)
- Umano, M.: Freedom-0: a fuzzy database system. In: Fuzzy Information and Decision Processes, pp. 339–347 (1982)
- Zadeh, L.A.: Outline of a new approach to the analysis of complex systems and decision processes. IEEE Trans. Syst. Man Cybern. 3(1), 28–44 (1973)
- 20. Zadeh, L.: Fuzzy sets as a basis for possibility. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 1, 3-28 (1978)
- 21. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8(3), 338–353 (1965)
- Zadeh, L.A.: The concept of a linguistic variable and its application to approximate reasoning-I. Inf. Sci. 8(3), 199–249 (1975)
- Zadrożny, S., De Tré, G., De Caluwe, R., Kacprzyk, J.: An overview of fuzzy approaches to flexible database querying. In: Database Technologies: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications, vol. 1 (2009)
- Zadrozny, S., Kacprzyk, J.: Bipolar queries and queries with preferences. In: 17th International Workshop on Database and Expert Systems Applications, 2006. DEXA 2006, pp. 415–419. IEEE (2006)

# Triangular Expanding, A New Defuzzification Method on Ordered Fuzzy Numbers

Wojciech T. Dobrosielski $^{1(\boxtimes)},$  Jacek M. Czerniak<sup>1</sup>, Janusz Szczepański<sup>2</sup>, and Hubert Zarzycki<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Technology, Casimir the Great University in Bydgoszcz, ul. Chodkiewicza 30, 85-064 Bydgoszcz, Poland {wdobrosielski,\_jczerniak}@ukw.edu.pl
<sup>2</sup> Institute of Fundamental Technological Research, Polish Academy of Sciences Warsaw, ul. Pawinskiego 5B, 02-106 Warsaw, Poland jszczepa@ippt.gov.pl
<sup>3</sup> Wrocław School of Information Technology, ul. Wejherowska 28, 54-239 Wrocław, Poland hzarzycki@horyzont.eu

Abstract. At the beginning of the article the authors describe a new trend in the artificial intelligence, associated with fuzzy sets and the accompanying derivative solutions which may include L-R numbers by Dubois and Prade. On their basis the redefined theory has started a new trend in the form of ordered fuzzy numbers (OFN). Main features of ordered fuzzy numbers further in this article. Due to the nature of this article, which is related to the proposed defuzzyfication method, the authors mentions a fuzzy controller model and in particular the defuzzyfication process. Criteria used for conventional solutions of fuzzy numbers and ordered fuzzy numbers were also presented. In the further part of the article the defuzzyfication method called Triangular Expanding was presented. The author compared it to the Geometrical Mean method introduced earlier, which inspired his solution. Results of comparison with other methods such as FOM, LOM, COG were presented in the paper as well. The summary including conclusions and directions of further research were provided at the end.

Keywords: Fuzzy logic · Ordered fuzzy numbers

## 1 Introduction

Although fuzzy control and fuzzy logic control were introduced over 50 years ago, no doubt they can still be regarded as modern technology. That statement is confirmed by three items of the references [6], describing new concepts in the field of research or applications. One of those novelties are undoubtedly Ordered Fuzzy Numbers introduced by professor Witold Kosiński and his research team including P. Prokopowicz and D. Ślęzak, which, since 2016, should be called Kosiński Fuzzy Numbers. It can easily be noticed that the introduction of the

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_54

fuzzy logic theory was a turning point in the manner of perceiving the traditional logic, which assumes only 0 or 1 value. The same turning point was the appearance of the ordered fuzzy numbers theory. One of the main reasons for which the classic theory of fuzzy sets has been redefined is its inconsistency in the execution of arithmetic operations on fuzzy sets that is observed in the case of operations on real numbers.

## 2 Reasons Behind Development of OFN

The theory of ordered fuzzy numbers is not an isolated being, but it is a postulate that extends previous achievements of the fuzzy logic. Contrary to some opinions, OFN is rather an abstraction or a generalization of fuzzy numbers rather than just their notation. To explain this position, one has to refer to the Zadeh's definition of a fuzzy set. However, this definition provides too narrow concept of a fuzzy set. In his paper [50] the author on the one hand treats a fuzzy set as classes of a membership function and on the other hand the definition has a specific form, i.e. it applies to the membership function. In their considerations on the ordered fuzzy numbers, their precursors perceived the possibility of introducing novelties in the formulation of the function class. The current form of the ordered fuzzy number results from a transitory, which is related to the use of the so-called quasi-convex membership functions.

A comprehensive polemic on quasi convexity of functions and related concepts can be found in the articles [22, 27, 35].

The basic form of a fuzzy number according to the definition together with the individual conditions has become the foundation for new insights on fuzzy numbers. Since the support of the fuzzy number is an interval then the convexity condition, can be replaced by quasi-convexity condition of the membership function, as is the case in the paper [23]. The authors of the ordered fuzzy number solution, [29,31], take things step further by thus modifying the convexity condition of the fuzzy set A into strictly quasi-convexity condition of a function over its support. Since the membership function takes the above form, then on the basis of the theory of convex functions [35] the representations are reversible intervals. One can state that, respectively:

**Theorem 1.** The scalar function  $\varphi(x)$  is strictly quasi-convex in the convex set X only and exclusively when any segment  $[x^1, x^2] \subset X$  can be divided into three such sections (each cutting point belongs at least to one of the sections and closes it) that  $\varphi(x)$  is decreasing in the first, constant in the second and growing in the third section. Any one or two of these sections may be empty or degenerated to points  $x^1$  and (or)  $x^2$ .

On the contrary, while observing strictly quasi-concave relationships one can notice the change in the order of individual sections i.e. monotonicity properties of the interval  $[x^1, x^2] \subset X$ . In this case, the order shall be from the increasing to the decreasing part. Thus, it is concluded that for the fuzzy number  $A = \{R, \mu_A\}$ . As regards strictly quasi-convex relationship, the membership function is strictly



**Fig. 1.** Example (a) of an ordered fuzzy number and interpretation (b) and (c) referring to a convex fuzzy number

quasi convex, and, consequently, the support of the fuzzy number is treated as an interval (Fig. 1).

## 3 Classic Defuzzyfication Methods

The popularity of classic defuzzyfication methods which are used in the reduction process of the resulting membership function, results mainly from the domain of application in a given environment. Basically, there are two approaches among the available mechanisms: the first one includes the methods of maxima. These are solutions characterized by simplicity either as regards interpretation or implementation. The second group of widely used algorithms are so called center of gravity methods together with derivatives. These methods are derived from the geometry and are particularly important for solving problems in the field of physics or mechanics. Thus it can be stated that the new defuzzyfication methods should either be based on their simplicity or concern a generally known property taken from nature. Those two main approaches, in a sense, form a lodestar when developing the methods described below. It follows from the assumptions adopted for the purpose of this article that the proposed defuzzyfication methods are to be order sensitive. This means that on the basis of the theory of OFN numbers we will be able to describe physical phenomena over time, although the time will not be formally given. Similarly to time series fully reflecting the time, in case of OFN numbers we use only so called discrete (left, right) form of a trend. For example, there is: for positively ordered OFN numbers - growing trend, for negatively ordered OFN numbers - declining trend to the expected value.

### 3.1 Method 1 - The Triangular Expanding Method

The assumption to the Triangular Expanding method in the defuzzyfication process for ordered fuzzy numbers is that the method shall be order sensitive. The possibility to apply the concept of ordered fuzzy numbers allows to capture the trend in a given phenomenon. The order - as the approaching some status of a value extends the existing concept of conventional fuzzy numbers. The achieved expansion introduces an additional dimension into the control process. The target in many cases may be more important than the initial status. Referring to the defuzy fication process itself, where in the conventional approach we obtain a real (defuzzyfied) value from the resulting membership function, we underline order in the result for the ordered system using OFN numbers. The wording "in the result" is meant as the obtained defuzzyfication value, which shall additionally bear the trend index. Graphic interpretation of the proposed method is shown in Fig. 2, where for the ordered fuzzy number  $H = (f_H, g_H)$  the defuzzyfication is executed. The figure shown herein, intuitively reflects the character of the method in the further analysis. In a simplified case, when both functions in the OFN representation are affine, i.e. continuous, the direction of the order coming from the UP to DOWN arm defines the place where the extension is created. The triangle generated in this place from the DOWN part (as one of the triangle sides) extends the possible values of defuzzyfication. For the number  $H = (f_H, g_H)$ , where both functions are continuous and  $f_H, g_H : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ , we take the DOWN part of the OFN number expressed as  $g_H$ , hereinafter called the falling slope. The DOWN arm is selected due to the emphasis on the order as the trend to be achieved. The defuzzyfication process of the number proceeds as follows. Two points A = (0, q(0)) and B = (1, q(1)) are centers of circuits  $K_1(A,r)$  and  $K_2(B,r)$  respectively. The radius r is the same for  $K_1$  circle and for  $K_2$  circle. The radius r is a function  $g_H$ , previously named the DOWN part. The selection of this part is related to the order which approaches that arm. In the example shown in Fig. 2, two circles  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  intersect each other thus creating two intersection points. Points  $C_1$  and  $C_2$  are candidates for vertices C of the triangle, whose aim will be to extend the order. The selected vertex is the one located in the positive part of s axis. The so created common part of three planes limited by vertice ABC forms a triangle. Defuzzyfication occurs at the intersection of the straight lines  $l_1$  oraz  $l_2$ . The straight line  $l_1$  is created by points C and D = (0, f(0)) while straight line  $l_2$  is determined by points A = (0, g(0)) and E = (1, f(1)). The presented intuitive operation aspect of the Triangular Expanding defuzzyfier method is intended to outline the essence of



Fig. 2. Graphic interpretation of the Triangular Expanding method

that proposal. Analytical form of the defuzzy fier shall be discussed further in this article.

### 3.2 Analytical Formula of TR (Triangular Expanding) Method

The above considerations include formal description of the proposed method in the OFN number defuzzyfication process that comes down to determining the equations for the intersection of two circles and the intersection of two linear functions. Following those assumptions, for the circle  $K_1$  we obtain the Eq. (1) expressed with the formula:

$$K_1(A,r): \{(s,x): (s-0)^2 + (x-g(0))^2 = r^2\}$$
(1)

while the circle  $K_2$  is described in form of the Eq. (2)

$$K_2(B,r): \{(s,x): (s-1)^2 + (x-g(1))^2 = r^2\}$$
(2)

whereas  $x \in K_1 \cap K_2$ .

The determination of radius r which is equal for both circles  $K_1$  and  $K_2$ , results from the formula (3) presented below:

$$r = \left| \overrightarrow{AB} \right| = \sqrt{((g(0) - g(1))^2 + 1^2)}$$
 (3)

In the analyzed method, the radii of the circle  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  are identical, as they lie at the ends of the common straight line. The only assumption for those radii is that they must meet the following inequality:

$$0 < r < 2r \tag{4}$$

for which there are two points of intersection of the circles.

When considering the Eqs. (1) and (2), with the assumption that the radii of the two equations are the same, we receive the Eq. (5) of the following form:

$$(s-0)^{2} + (x-g(0))^{2} = (s-1)^{2} + (x-g(1))^{2}$$
(5)

On the basis of the above formula, x of the s function is determined, and as a result we obtain:

$$x(s) = -\frac{2s - g(1)^2 + g(0)^2 - 1}{2g(1) - 2g(0)}$$
(6)

by substituting the formula (6) to the Eq. (1) the following equation is obtained:

$$s^{2} + \left(\frac{g(1)^{2} - g(0)^{2} - 2s + 1}{2g(1) - 2g(0)} - g(0)\right)^{2} = r^{2}$$
(7)

The above square Eq. (7) is solved against s, with the assumption that  $\Delta > 0$ , and we obtain respectively:

$$s_{1} = -\frac{g(1) - g(0)}{2g(1)^{2} - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^{2} + 2} * \frac{\sqrt{Z_{1}}}{2g(1)^{2} - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^{2} + 2} - \frac{g(1)^{2} - 2g(0)g(1) + g(0)^{2} + 1}{2g(1)^{2} - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^{2} + 2}$$
(8)

the denominator is such that  $2g(1)^2 - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^2 + 2 \neq 0$ 

$$s_{2} = \frac{g(1) - g(0)}{2g(1)^{2} - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^{2} + 2} * \frac{\sqrt{Z_{2}}}{2g(1)^{2} - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^{2} + 2} - \frac{g(1)^{2} - 2g(0)g(1) + g(0)^{2} + 1}{2g(1)^{2} - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^{2} + 2}$$
(9)

the denominator is such that  $2g(1)^2 - 4g(0)g(1) + 2g(0))^2 + 2 \neq 0$  where:

$$Z_{1} = (g(1)^{2} - 8g(0)g(1) + 4g(0)^{2} + 4)r^{2} - g(1)^{4} + 4g(0)g(1)^{3} + (-6g(0)^{2} - 2)g(1)^{2} + (4g(0)^{3} + 4g(0))g(1) - g(0)^{4} - 2g(0)^{2} - 1$$
(10)

$$Z_{2} = (g(1)^{2} - 8g(0)g(1) + 4g(0)^{2} + 4)r^{2} - g(1)^{4} + 4g(0)g(1)^{3} + (-6g(0)^{2} - 2)g(1)^{2} + (4g(0)^{3} + 4g(0))g(1) - g(0)^{4} - 2g(0)^{2} - 1$$
(11)

The variables  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$  described by formulas (8, 9) specify  $x_1$  and  $x_2$ , respectively, then we obtain:

$$x_1 = -\frac{2s_1 - g(1)^2 + g(0)^2 - 1}{2g(1) - 2g(0)}$$
(12)

for  $2g(1) - 2g(0) \neq 0$ 

$$x_2 = -\frac{2s_2 - g(1)^2 + g(0)^2 - 1}{2g(1) - 2g(0)}$$
(13)

for  $2g(1) - 2g(0) \neq 0$ 

The calculated intersection points of the circuit  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$  as  $C_1(s_1, x_1)$ ,  $C_2(s_2, x_2)$ , make it possible to determine the point C, which is a vertex of the triangle expanding the OFN number. The vertex selection criterion has been determined as the following condition:

$$if \quad s_1 > 0 \land s_2 < 0 \quad then \quad C = C_1 \tag{14}$$

lub

$$if \quad s_1 < 0 \land s_2 > 0 \quad then \quad C = C_2 \tag{15}$$

For the OFN number shown in figure (2) the selected point of the expanding triangle shall be the point  $C_1$ , where according to the selection criterion, the condition (14) is met.

A further stage of the method consists in defining the equations of straight lines passing through the points, for the straight line  $l_1$  determined by the points  $C = (s_1, x_1)$  and  $D = (s_2, x_2)$  respectively. We get the equality:

$$s(x) = l_1(x) = \frac{s_1 x_2 - s_2 x_1 + (s_2 - s_1) x}{x_2 - x_1}$$
(16)

assuming that  $s_2 = 0$ ,  $x_2 = f(0)$ , the equation of a straight line  $l_1$  as:

$$s(x) = l_1(x) = \frac{s_1(x - f(0))}{x_1 - f(0)}$$
(17)

For straight line  $l_2$  passing through points  $A = (s_3, x_3)$  and  $E = (s_4, x_4)$  the equation of the straight line assumes the form:

$$s(x) = l_2(x) = \frac{s_3 x_4 - s_4 x_3 + (s_4 - s_3) x}{x_4 - x_3}$$
(18)

taking into consideration the characteristic values for the ordered OFN number, such that  $x_3 = g(0)$ ,  $x_4 = f(1)$  and  $s_3 = 0$  and  $s_4 = 1$  the Eq. (18) assumes the form:

$$s(x) = l_2(x) = \frac{x - g(0)}{f(1) - f(0)}$$
(19)

Considering the Eqs. (17) and (19) for straight lines  $l_1$  and  $l_2$ , the searched intersection point is expressed as:

$$\begin{cases} s(x) = l_1(x) = \frac{s_1(x - f(0))}{x_1 - f(0)} \\ s(x) = l_2(x) = \frac{x - g(0)}{f(1) - f(0)} \end{cases}$$
(20)

The solution of the set of Eq. (20) is the point  $W = (s_w, x_w)$ , of the following coordinates:

$$x_w = \frac{f(0)(f(1)s_1 - g(0)s_1 + g(0)) - g(0)x_1}{f(0) + f(1)s_1 - g(0)s_1 - x_1}$$
(21)

where:  $x_1$ ,  $s_1$  are the determined coordinates of the point C as per formulas (12) and (8), considering the vertex selection criterion (14).

Determining a real (defuzzyfied) value in the defuzzyfication process consists in calculation of the argument  $x_w$  as the Eq. (21).

### 3.3 Method 2 - Extended TR Method

In the extended Triangular Expanding method the second intersection point is taken into account. The point of intersection that was rejected, i.e. C2 with the point C1 applied in the original Triangular Expanding method will be used to build a straight line passing through those points. The straight line created using those two points together with the function g of the ordered fuzzy number shall determine the defuzzy fication value at the point of intersection of these straight lines. The defuzzy fication value will be mainly determined in the area of the function g, i.e. the DOWN part of the OFN number. Thanks to that property the method focuses solely to the goal underlined in the order of the OFN number. Explanation of the proposed solution is shown in Fig. 3, where the straight line *lc* intersecting the falling edge of the OFN number is presented. Point W indicates the defuzzy fication value in x axis. The analytical formula of the extended Triangular Expanding method is determined similarly to the original Triangular Expanding method. That concept includes similar phases related to the determination of the intersection points with the circles. The calculated intersection points of the circuits  $K_1$ ,  $K_2$  as  $C_1(s_1, x_1)$ ,  $C_2(s_2, x_2)$ ,



Fig. 3. Graphic interpretation of the extended Triangular Expanding method

make up two triangles extending the OFN number. A straight line  $l_c$  drawn through the designated points  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , is described as the function:

$$l_c(x) = \frac{s_1 x_2 - s_2 x_1 + (s_2 - s_1) x}{x_2 - x_1}$$
(22)

where:  $s_1$  and  $s_2$  and  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  are determined based on the following Eqs. (8, 9, 12, 13).

Together with the function g, of the formula:

$$g(x) = \frac{s_3 x_4 - s_4 x_3 + (s_4 - s_3) x}{x_4 - x_3}$$
(23)

where:  $s_3$  and  $s_4$  as well as  $x_3$  and  $x_4$  are values 0,1 of the function g and arguments g(0), g(1), respectively.

The intersection point of the functions (22, 23) is calculated by comparison of the above functions:

$$\begin{cases} l_c(x) = \frac{s_1 x_2 - s_2 x_1 + (s_2 - s_1) x}{x_2 - x_1} \\ g(x) = \frac{s_3 x_4 - s_4 x_3 + (s_4 - s_3) x}{x_4 - x_3} \end{cases}$$
(24)

The result is the point  $W = (s_w, x_w)$ , the value  $x_w$  of which defines the defuzzyfication:

$$x_w = \frac{((s_3 - s_1) x_2 + (s_2 - s_3) x_1) x_4 + ((s_1 - s_4) x_2 + (s_4 - s_2) x_1) x_3}{(s_2 - s_1) x_4 + (s_1 - s_2) x_3 + (s_3 - s_4) x_2 + (s_4 - s_3) x_1}$$
(25)

and

$$s_w = \frac{(s_2 - s_1) \ s_3 \ x_4 + (s_1 - s_2) \ s_4 \ x_3 + (s_1 \ s_3 - s_1 \ s_4) \ x_2 + (s_2 \ s_4 - s_2 \ s_3) \ x_1}{(s_2 - s_1) \ x_4 + (s_1 - s_2) \ x_3 + (s_3 - s_4) \ x_2 + (s_4 - s_3) \ x_1}$$
(26)

Taking into account the points of the OFN number, the formulas (25, 26) assume the following form:

$$x_w = \frac{((g(1) - g(0)) \ s_1 - g(0)) \ x_2 + ((g(0) - g(1)) \ s_2 + g(0)) \ x_1}{x_2 - x_1 + (g(0) - g(1)) \ s_2 + (g(1) - g(0)) \ s_1}$$
(27)

and

$$s_w = \frac{s_1 x_2 - s_2 x_1 - g(0) s_2 + g(0) s_1}{x_2 - x_1 + (g(0) - g(1)) s_2 + (g(1) - g(0)) s_1}$$
(28)

### 4 Comparison of Methods

The proposed defuzy fication method as the Triangular Expanding presented in the third chapter of this paper was intended to be sensitive to the order of the ordered fuzzy number present in the argument. It is going to be demonstrated further in the article. In this section, the proposed method will be compared with the methods FOM, LOM, GM and COG. The first two methods belong to the group of maxima methods. In the FOM (First Of Maxima) method, the defuzzyfication value is determined for the first element of the kernel, where the kernel means the section of the domain in which the membership function achieves the maximum value equal one. In the case when the defuzzyfication value is associated with the last element of the kernel, the LOM (Last Of Maxma) method is achieved. The Geometrical Mean (GM) method by D. Wilczyńska is described in detail in the article [49]. It is based on determination of the intersection of two lines located at the poles of the OFN number. The last method, which was selected for comparison, is the Center Of Gravity method. This method yields good results both in case of ordered fuzzy numbers and convex fuzzy numbers. The calculations for that method were carried out by means of the software

developed by L. Lewiński and M. Szymański. For the other methods, the defuzzyfication value was determined geometrically using the tool: GeoGebra - Dynamic Mathematics for Everyone. The following two numbers were used for the needs of the test: H = [2, 3, 4, 7] and Z = [7, 4, 3, 2]. Thire graphic interpretation is shown in Fig. 4, where: (a) H number and (b) the reversely ordered Z number. The presented numbers are characterized by the same shape but differ in the opposite order. Those numbers were subject to defuzzyfication using individual methods. The calculation results are presented in Table 1. For the GM and COG methods, the order does not affect the defuzzyfication value. In the case when the maxima method is used, either FOM or LOM, the defuzzyfication value depends on the order of the number, thus yielding extreme values of defuzzyfication in the kernel area. The results of the Triangular Expanding method indicate that the method is order sensitive. For the H number, the defuzzyfication value is 3.3 and



**Fig. 4.** Two OFN numbers, (a) H number and (b) the reversely ordered Z number

Ordered Fuzzy Number	Defuzzyfication method				
	TE	FOL	LOM	GM	COG
H = [2, 3, 4, 7]	3.3	3	4	3.67	4.11
Z = [7, 4, 3, 2]	3.67	4	3	3.67	4.11

 Table 1. Defuzzification measurements for two OFN numbers

for Z number it amounts to 3.67. It can also be noticed that for Z number, the TE method yields the same defuzzyfication as GM method for both numbers: H and Z. Thus it proves that TE method is order sensitive.

## 5 Conclusions

Ordered fuzzy numbers, as the mathematical method providing broad possibilities for the information describing and processing, has become a new solution in the construction of controller models used as a tool for inference or control. Main advantages of this approach include smooth application of real numbers algebra. The proposed defuzzyfication method as a Triangular Expanding for ordered fuzzy numbers, can be an alternative to existing solutions that do not take into account an order. It has been proved in this article that the method is order sensitive. The results presented clearly show the course of the defuzzyfication value change. Further research, the authors intends to take, will be related to determination of the efficiency and its comparison to widely used methods such as COA. In his article, the authors intended to use ordered fuzzy numbers to create the OFCL (Ordered Fuzzy Control Language) for the fuzzy controller. Although the specification of FCE (Fuzzy Control Language) is available for the conventional fuzzy logic, which is used by manufacturers of re-programmable controllers, the ability to compare the method with other ones and to disseminate the technology is a sufficient motivation to continue research in that scope.

# References

- Angryk, R.A., Czerniak, J.: Heuristic algorithm for interpretation of multi-valued attributes in similarity-based fuzzy relational databases. Int. J. Approx. Reason. 51(8), 895–911 (2010)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J., Dobrosielski, W.: Quality of services method as a DDoS protection tool. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pp. 225– 234. Springer (2015)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M.: QoS solution for network resource protection. In: Informatics 2013: Proceedings of the Twelfth International Conference on Informatics, pp. 73–76 (2013)
- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D.: NEW QoS CONCEPT for Protecting Network Resources, pp. 234–239. Springer International Publishing (2017)

- Apiecionek, L., Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Protection tool for distributed denial of services attack. In: Beyond Databases, Architectures and Structures, BDAS 2014, vol. 424, pp. 405–414 (2014)
- 6. Atanassov, K.T.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets. Springer, Heidelberg (1999)
- Chan Felix, T., Au, K., Chan, L., Lau, T.: Using genetic algorithms to solve qualityrelated bin packing problem. Rob. Comput.-Integr. Manufact. 23, 71–81 (2007)
- Czerniak, J., Ewald, D., Macko, M., Smigielski, G., Tyszczuk, K.: Approach to the monitoring of energy consumption in eco-grinder based on ABC optimization. In: Beyond Databases, Architectures And Structures, BDAS 2015, vol. 521, pp. 516–529 (2015)
- 9. Czerniak, J., Zarzycki, H.: Application of rough sets in the presumptive diagnosis of urinary system diseases. Artif. Intell. Secur. Comput. Syst. **752**, 41–51 (2003)
- Czerniak, J.: Evolutionary approach to data discretization for rough sets theory. Fund. Inform. 92(1–2), 43–61 (2009)
- Czerniak, J.M., Apiecionek, L., Zarzycki, H.: Application of ordered fuzzy numbers in a new OFNAnt algorithm based on ant colony optimization. In: Beyond Databases, Architectures and Structures, BDAS 2014, vol. 424, pp. 259–270 (2014)
- Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W., Zarzycki, H., Apiecionek, L.: A proposal of the new owLANT method for determining the distance between terms in ontology. In: Intelligent Systems 2014, Vol 2: Tools, Architectures, Systems, Applications, vol. 323, pp. 235–246 (2015)
- Czerniak, J.M., Dobrosielski, W.T., Apiecionek, L., Ewald, D., Paprzycki, M.: Practical Application of OFN Arithmetics in a Crisis Control Center Monitoring, pp. 51–64. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D.: A new MGlaber approach as an example of novel artificial Acari optimization, pp. 545–557. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Ewald, D., Śmigielski, G., Dobrosielski, W.T., Apiecionek, L.: Optimization of fuel consumption in firefighting water capsule flights of a helicopter, pp. 39–49. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H.: Artificial Acari optimization as a new strategy for global optimization of multimodal functions. J. Comput. Sci. (2017)
- Czerniak, J.M., Zarzycki, H., Ewald, D.: Aao as a new strategy in modeling and simulation of constructional problems optimization. Simul. Modell. Pract. Theory (2017). http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1569190X17300709
- Czerniak, J., Apiecionek, L., Zarzycki, H., Ewald, D.: Proposed CAEva simulation method for evacuation of people from a buildings on fire. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 401, pp. 315–326 (2016)
- Czerniak, J., Dobrosielski, W., Apiecionek, L.: Representation of a trend in OFN during fuzzy observance of the water level from the crisis control center. In: Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, vol. 5, pp. 443–447. IEEE Digital Library, ACSIS (2015)
- Czerniak, J., Macko, M., Ewald, D.: The CutMAG as a new hybrid method for multi-edge grinder design optimization. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 401, pp. 327–337 (2016)
- Czerniak, J., Smigielski, G., Ewald, D., Paprzycki, M.: New proposed implementation of ABC method to optimization of water capsule flight. In: Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, vol. 5, pp. 489–493. IEEE Digital Library, ACSIS (2015)
- De Finetti, B.: Sulle stratificazioni convesse. Annali di Matematica 30(1), 173–183 (1949)

- Drewniak, J.: Zbiory rozmyte i ich zastosowanie, chap. Liczby rozmyte, pp. 103– 129. Wydawnictwo Politechniki Śląskiej (Gliwice 2001)
- 24. Dyczkowski, K.: A less cumulative algorithm of mining linguistic browsing patterns in the world wide web (2007)
- Dyczkowski, K., Wygralak, M.: On triangular norm-based generalized cardinals and singular fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 133(2), 211–226 (2003)
- Ewald, D., Czerniak, J., Zarzycki, H.: Approach to solve a criteria problem of the ABC algorithm used to the WBDP multicriteria optimization. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, pp. 129–137. Springer (2015)
- Greenberg, H.J., Pierskalla, W.P.: A review of quasi-convex functions. Oper. Res. 19(7), 1553–1570 (1971)
- Kacprzyk, J., Zadrożny, S.: Linguistic database summaries and their protoforms: towards natural language based knowledge discovery tools. Inf. Sci. 173(4), 281– 304 (2005)
- Kosiński, W., Piechór, K., Prokopowicz, P., Tyburek, K.: On algorithmic approach to operations on fuzzy numbers. In: Methods of Artificial Intelligence in Mechanics and Mechanical Engineering, pp. 95–98 (2001)
- Kosiński, W., Prokopowicz, P., Ślezak, D.: On algebraic operations on fuzzy reals. In: Rutkowski, L., Kacprzyk, J. (eds.) Advances in Soft Computing, Zakopane, Poland, pp. 54–61 (2002)
- Kosiński, W., Prokopowicz, P., Ślęzak, D.: Fuzzy reals with algebraic operations: algorithmic approach. In: Intelligent Information Systems 2002, pp. 311–320. Springer (2002)
- Lukasiewicz, J.: Elements of Mathematical Logic, vol. 31. Macmillan, New York (1963)
- 33. Macko, M., Flizikowski, J.: The method of the selection of comminution design for non-brittle materials. In: AIChE Annual Meeting, Conference Proceedings (2010)
- Macko, M., Flizikowski, J., Szczepański, Z., Tyszczuk, K., Śmigielski, G., Mroziński, A., Czerniak, J., Tomporowski, A.: CAD/CAE applications in Mill's design and investigation, pp. 343–351. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2017)
- 35. Martos, B.: Nonlinear Programming Theory and Methods. North-Holland, Amsterdam (1975)
- Mikolajewska, E., Mikolajewski, D.: E-learning in the education of people with disabilities. Adv. Clin. Exp. Med. 20(1), 103–109 (2011)
- 37. Mikolajewska, E., Mikolajewski, D.: Exoskeletons in neurological diseases current and potential future applications. Adv. Clin. Exp. Med. **20**(2), 227–233 (2011)
- Mikolajewska, E., Mikolajewski, D.: Non-invasive EEG-based brain-computer interfaces in patients with disorders of consciousness. Mil. Med. Res. 1, 14 (2014)
- Mrozek, D., Socha, B., Kozielski, S., Małysiak-Mrozek, B.: An efficient and flexible scanning of databases of protein secondary structures. J. Intell. Inf. Syst. 46(1), 213–233 (2016)
- Piegat, A.: A new definition of the fuzzy set. J. Appl. Math. Comput. Sci. 15(1), 125–140 (2005)
- Piegat, A., Plucinski, M.: Fuzzy number addition with the application of horizontal membership functions. Sci. World J. 16 (2015). Article ID 367214. doi:10.1155/ 2015/367214
- Poli, R., Kennedy, J., Blackwell, T.: Particle swarm optimization. Swarm Intell. 1(1), 33–57 (2007)

- Prokopowicz, P.: Methods based on the ordered fuzzy numbers used in fuzzy control. In: Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop on Robot Motion and Control - RoMoCo 2005, pp. 349–354 (2005)
- 44. Prokopowicz, P.: Flexible and simple methods of calculations on fuzzy numbers with the ordered fuzzy numbers model. In: Rutkowski, L., Korytkowski, M., Scherer, R., Tadeusiewicz, R., Zadeh, L.A., Zurada, J.M. (eds.) Proceedings of ICAISC 2013, Part I. LNCS(LNAI), vol. 7894, pp. 365–375 (2013)
- Sitnik, L., Wrobel, R., Magdziak-Toklowicz, M., Kardasz, P.: Vehicle vibration in human health. J. KONES 20(4), 411–418 (2013)
- 46. Stachowiak, A., Dyczkowski, K.: A similarity measure with uncertainty for incompletely known fuzzy sets. In: Proceedings of the 2013 Joint IFSA World Congress and NAFIPS Annual Meeting (IFSA/NAFIPS), pp. 390–394 (2013)
- 47. Stachowiak, A., Dyczkowski, K., Wojtowicz, A., Zywica, P., Wygralak, M.: A bipolar view on medical diagnosis in OvaExpert system (2016)
- Szmidt, E., Kacprzyk, J.: Distances between intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 114, 505–518 (2000)
- 49. Wilczyńska-Sztyma, D.: Direction of research into methods of defuzzification for ordered fuzzy numbers
- 50. Zadeh, L.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-358 (1965)
- Zadeh, L.: Outline of new approach to the analysis of complex systems and decision process. IEEE Syst. Man Cybern. SMC 3, 28–44 (1973)
- Zolotová, I., Hošák, R.: Objects for visualization of process data in supervisory control. In: Aspects of Computational Intelligence: Theory and Applications, pp. 51–61. Springer, Heidelberg (2013)

# Construction of Intuitionistic Fuzzy Cognitive Maps for Target Marketing Strategy Decisions

Elif Dogu<sup>(III)</sup>, Tuncay Gurbuz, and Y. Esra Albayrak

Department of Industrial Engineering, Galatasaray University, Ciragan Cad. no:36, Ortakoy, Besiktas, Istanbul, Turkey {edogu, tgurbuz, ealbayrak}@gsu.edu.tr

**Abstract.** Shopping malls today, are the centers of social life. There exists an increasing demand of shopping malls. The market's profit margin is promising however from the investor's perspective, shopping malls require big investments and the risk level is high. For the success of a shopping mall, its target market needs to be chosen carefully in the beginning and its marketing mix needs to be in the same direction. There exist many factors influencing the target market strategy selection of a shopping mall; this process can be observed as an MCDM problem. The purpose of this study is to determine the interrelations between the criteria affecting a shopping mall's target market differentiation degree, to select a target marketing strategy while considering the hesitations of decision makers and to represent this complex decision making system with intuitionistic fuzzy cognitive maps. Numerical application is made for investment decision making process of a new shopping mall that will locate in Istanbul, Turkey.

Keywords: Shopping mall  $\cdot$  Target market strategy  $\cdot$  Intuitionistic fuzzy cognitive map  $\cdot$  MCDM

## 1 Introduction

Since consumption habits have increased worldwide, there is a growing interest in shopping malls. This interest in Turkey has also increased in proportion to the world. In Turkey, where the first shopping mall was opened in 1988, there are currently more than 400 active shopping malls. As the green areas gradually diminished, shopping malls became the center of social life. Especially in cities with parking problems, shopping malls with parking facilities have become common meeting points. By the early 1990s, a growing population and a strong economy encouraged a demand for better shopping facilities and a recognition that there was too much of an emphasis on the central area [1]. The first shopping mall in Turkey was founded in 1988 followed by an average of one per year between 1988–1997 [2]. By the end of 2016, there are around 100 shopping malls in İstanbul, followed by 35 in Ankara, 19 in İzmir and 16 in Antalya and overall 400 across country, visited by over a billion visitors per year. Due to the intense competition, there is an increasing pressure on shopping malls to clearly differentiate themselves more distinctively [3]. Therefore the target market of a shopping mall should be chosen carefully in the strategic marketing planning.

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_55

Strategic planning process starts with thorough internal and external analysis. Then, business-units strategies are formed accordingly. Once the strategies are formed, it needs to be implemented and constant surveillance and feedbacks are crucial in order to keep the strategies up to date and prevent them to become obsolete. This surveillance must be made with concrete performance measures. In this paper, we used Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets (IFS) Theory, which incorporates the hesitation of decision makers; combined with Fuzzy Cognitive Maps (FCM), which provides a representation and quantitative solution of the causal relationships among the decision criteria given by the decision makers.

Strategy prioritization in shopping malls is a multi-criteria decision making problem with many conflicting tangible/intangible and independent/dependent criteria. Scholars contributed to literature with MCDM approaches to shopping mall decisions. [4] used Fuzzy ANP method for target market strategy selection, [5] used Stepwise Weight Assessment Ratio Analysis (SWARA) and Weighted Aggregated Sum Product Assessment (WASPAS) for location selection, [6, 7] used ANP for retail tenant mix planning and location selection, respectively.

Many decision-making and problem-solving tasks are too complex to be understood quantitatively; however, people succeed by using knowledge that is imprecise rather than precise. Fuzzy set theory resembles human reasoning in its use of approximate information and uncertainty to generate decisions. It was specifically designed to mathematically represent uncertainty and vagueness and provide formalized tools for dealing with the imprecision intrinsic to many problems. By contrast, traditional computing demands precision down to each bit. Since knowledge can be expressed in a more natural by using fuzzy sets, many engineering and decision problems can be greatly simplified. Fuzzy set theory implements classes or groupings of data with boundaries that are not sharply defined (i.e., fuzzy). There are few studies on shopping mall using fuzzy logic [8–10]. As an extension of fuzzy sets, intuitionistic fuzzy sets provide the decision makers the flexibility of expressing their hesitations of the decision makers mathematically

After a thorough literature survey, one can see that, in such shopping mall case, IFCM and/or FCM have not been used as a decision tool and furthermore, although FCM has been used, albeit once, in marketing strategy selection [11] but IFCM has never been used. Therefore, the originality of our study comes from the novel approach to marketing strategy selection and a novel decision making application area.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows: In Sect. 2, target marketing strategy is described. In Sect. 3, IFCM method is explained in detail. In Sect. 4, numerical application is given with a case study and the paper is concluded in Sect. 5.

### 2 Target Marketing Strategy

Marketing strategy of an organization consists of determining a target market or target markets and afterwards determining a marketing mix (4P of product, price, place and promotion). The strategy has to come up with the right combination of target market(s) and marketing mix(es) to ensure competitive advantage on the rivals.

There are two main options in order to select the target market:

- Undifferentiated Strategy: This is also called mass marketing and refers to considering the market as one homogeneous group of customers whose requirements are somewhat same.
- Multi-segment Marketing: In this approach, the market is considered to be formed by clusters/segments of customers where each segment has its own requirements/ needs. Therefore, in this approach, each segment needs its own strategy.

Under multi-segment marketing, one can specifically focus on one or few segments in a whole. This is called Concentrated (Niche) Marketing. And if the focus is on specific individuals, then the concept is called Micromarketing.

Companies need to consider many factors when choosing a market-targeting strategy. Which strategy is best depends on the company's resources. When the firm's resources are limited, concentrated marketing makes the most sense. The best strategy also depends on the degree of product variability. Undifferentiated marketing is more suited for uniform products, such as grapefruit or steel. Products that can vary in design, such as cameras and cars, are more suited to differentiation or concentration. The product's life-cycle stage also must be considered. When a firm introduces a new product, it may be practical to launch one version only, and undifferentiated marketing or concentrated marketing may make the most sense. In the mature stage of the product life cycle, however, differentiated marketing often makes more sense [12].

For our application we adopted the model presented in [4].

Four main criteria of the decision model and their brief explanation including their sub-criteria are as follows:

- Brand Mix: Refers to the brands which will be included in the shopping mall. This will determine the mall's success from the perspective of sales, tenants etc. The brands included in a mall will form a perception of attractiveness in consumers' minds and this will affect the time consumed in that mall. The sub-criteria are: Product type, Profit, Brand Awareness, Brand Loyalty, Life Cycle, Market Share and Economy of Scale.
- Company: Refers to the owner and manager of the shopping mall in question. A successful shopping mall is a result of an effective management. A review of the retailing literature reveals six dominant attributes in shopping center's company concept: company resources, risk level, accessibility, capacity, price determinant, innovation and adaptation to technological developments [4].
- Market: Refers to the understanding of the market in general in order to form an appropriate strategy. Now with the technological advances and ease of use that come with it in online shopping, the fierce competition among the shopping malls is even fiercer. Mall market indicator was formed by the following factors: market structure, segment size, market growth, and number of competitors [4].
- Consumer: Marketing Strategy is built around an understanding of the consumer. A shopping mall will stand a chance to satisfy its customers once the consumers' needs and requirements are analyzed. Shopping mall consumer criteria were formed by the following factors: Heterogeneity of Consumer Shopping Behaviour, Ease of Consumer Profiling, Consumer Sensitivity to Point of Purchase Promotions, and Consumer Sensitivity to Prices [4].

## 3 Intuitionistic Fuzzy Cognitive Maps

#### 3.1 Fuzzy Sets and Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets

A conventional fuzzy set is a set containing elements that have varying degrees of membership in the set. This idea is in contrast with classical or crisp sets because members of a crisp set would not be members unless their membership is full, or complete, in that set (i.e., their membership is assigned a value of 1). Elements in a fuzzy set, because their membership need not be complete, can also be members of other fuzzy sets on the same universe [13]. If an element in the universe U, say x, is a member of fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  then this mapping is given by the membership function;  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) \in [0, 1]$ . The membership value is the belongingness of the element  $x \in U$  to the set  $\tilde{A}$ . Fuzzy set  $\tilde{A}$  has a form as shown in Eq. (1).

$$\tilde{A} = \left( \langle x, \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x) \rangle | x \in U \right) \tag{1}$$

Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets (IFSs), which are introduced by Atanassov in 1986 [14, 15], represent the generalization of conventional fuzzy sets. IFSs have an additional value which is the non-membership degree  $\eta_A(x) \in [0, 1]$ . It is the degree of "not being" in the set. For every  $x \in U$ ,  $0 \le \mu_A(x) \le 1$  and  $0 \le \eta_A(x) \le 1$ . Also,  $0 \le \mu_A(x) + \eta_A(x) \le 1$ . IFS A has a form as shown in Eq. (2).

$$\mathbf{A} = (\langle x, \mu_{\mathbf{A}}(x), \eta_{\mathbf{A}}(x) \rangle | x \in U) \tag{2}$$

In application, IFSs are abbreviated and represented as  $\mu_A(x), \eta_A(x)$ . If  $\mu_A(x) + \eta_A(x) = 1$ , then x is a fuzzy set. If  $\mu_A(x) + \eta_A(x) < 1$ , then x is an intuitionistic fuzzy set with the degree of hesitancy  $\pi_A(x) \in [0, 1]$ . For every  $x \in U$ ,

$$\mu_{A}(x) + \eta_{A}(x) + \pi_{A}(x) = 1 \tag{3}$$

The degree of hesitancy represents the lack of information and the hesitations of the decision makers in the problem.

#### 3.2 Fuzzy Cognitive Map

Cognitive Maps are a type of directed graph that offers a means to model interrelationships or causalities among concepts; there are various forms of cognitive maps, such as signed digraphs, weighted graphs, and functional graphs. The use of simple binary relationships (i.e., increase and decrease) is done in a conventional (crisp) cognitive map. Cognitive maps have a clear way to visually represent causal relationships, they expand the range of complexity that can be managed, they allow users to rapidly compare their mental models with reality, they make evaluations easier, and they promote new ways of thinking about the issue being evaluated [13]. Fuzzy Cognitive Map (FCM) is an extension of conventional cognitive map that includes various degrees of increase or decrease (small increase, large decrease, almost no decrease, etc.). FCMs include concept nodes and weighted arcs that are graphically showed as a signed weighted graph with feedback. Signed weighted arcs, connecting the concept nodes, display the causal relationship that exists among concepts [16]. Graphical representation of FCM is shown in Fig. 1. The weight value w represents the strength of relationship between two concepts.



Fig. 1. FCM representation

In conventional cognitive maps, the weight w can only have three values; -1, 0 and 1. In FCMs, w values can be fuzzy numbers and this gives an infinite number of choices to decision makers to speak their mind.

The value of each concept is calculated, computing the influence of other concepts to the specific concept, by applying the following calculation rule:

$$A_{i}^{(k+1)} = f\left(A_{i}^{k} + \sum_{j=1}^{N} A_{j}^{(k)} w_{ji}\right)$$
(4)

where  $A_i^{(k)}$  is the value of concept  $C_i$  at iteration step k,  $A_j^{(k+1)}$  is the value of the concept  $C_j$  at iteration k + 1,  $w_{ji}$  is the weight of the connection from  $C_j$  to  $C_i$  and f is a threshold function [16].

### 3.3 Intuitionistic Fuzzy Cognitive Maps

Intuitionistic Fuzzy Cognitive Map (IFCM) is introduced in 2009 [17] and applied in medical decision making. Then it has been developed and discussed [18–20] in recent years. Its applications proved its usefulness in medical decision making when the decision makers have hesitations. In marketing field, decision makers usually have hesitations because it is very expensive and time-consuming to gather the customer data. IFCM is a powerful tool to cope with hesitations.

IFCM has the same iteration-based system with FCM however its equation is slightly different:

$$A_i^{(k+1)} = f\left(A_i^k + \sum_{j=1}^N A_j^{(k)} w_{ji}^{\mu} - A_j^{(k)} w_{ji}^{\pi}\right)$$
(5)

In Eq. (5),  $w_{ji}^{\mu} \in [-1, 1]$  represents the influence weight and  $w_{ji}^{\pi} \in [-1, 1]$  represents the hesitancy weight. Hesitancy has a negative effect on the interrelations but the

weight factor  $(w_{ji}^{\mu} - w_{ji}^{\pi})$  may not always conserve the direction of the influence. Hence

the linguistic scale must be chosen carefully which all have  $\left|w_{ji}^{\mu}\right| > \left|w_{ji}^{\pi}\right|$ .

As a decision making tool, the steps of IFCM method is as follows:

Step 1: The key-factors of the system, namely the concepts, are defined by the experts (decision makers). Input concepts and output concepts are determined.

Step 2: The interactions between these concepts are first specified by the experts as "positive relation" or "negative relation" and then the strengths of these relations are determined by the experts using linguistic terms.

Step 3: According to a pre-defined scale, linguistic terms are signed to IFSs and all the weight values are obtained.

Step 4: Using Eq. (5), the final value of each concept is calculated.

### 4 Case Study: New Shopping Mall in Istanbul

Numerical application of IFCM method is the case study of a new shopping mall in Istanbul. The exact location and the capacity of the mall have been already decided however, investors and managers need to determine a target marketing strategy as soon as possible because all the brands that will serve in the mall, must be chosen considering this strategy. The investors of this mall are experienced in the market and the managers are specialized in shopping mall initialization and management. The mall will be installed in a region where high income segment (A++) is located. However in that region there exist other malls that people got used to. Therefore the competition will be challenging.

Decision makers of this application are one investor and two managers of the mall. They prepared the data with consensus hence no aggregation method is used. Numerical application steps are as follows:

Step 1: The concepts of IFCM are the criteria that have influence on target market differentiation degree. There exist 21 criteria which are given in Sect. 2:

C1: Product type, C2: Profit, C3: Brand Awareness, C4: Brand Loyalty, C5: Life Cycle, C6: Market Share, C7: The Economy of Scale, C8: Company Resources, C9: Risk Level, C10: Accessibility, C11: Capacity, C12: Price Determinant, C13: Innovation and Adaptation to Technological Developments, C14: Segment Size, C15: Number of Competitors, C16: Market Growth, C17: Market Structure, C18: Heterogeneity of Consumer, C19: Ease of Consumer Profiling, C20: Consumer Sensitivity to Point of Purchase Promotions, C21: Consumer Sensitivity to Prices.

These criteria are the input concepts of the model. There is only one output concept, C22: Target Market Differentiation Degree. Target marketing strategy alternatives are explained in Sect. 2. The scale of the output concept, that relates final values to the alternatives, is pre-defined according to expert decisions and marketing indicators as shown in Fig. 2. The thermal scale is used to represent the relations between output values and alternatives, since there are not strict boundaries and there exist intersections. For example, if the output value is calculated as 0.35, that means mass marketing or differentiated marketing can be used or a mixed strategy of these two can be employed.

626 E. Dogu et al.



Fig. 2. Scale of the output concept

Step 2: Directions and strengths of relations between concepts are determined by the experts using linguistic terms: "Positive-Negative" for directions and "Very Low-Low-Medium-High-Very High" for strengths. All the relations are listed in Table 2. The IFCM with the concepts and relations are shown in Fig. 3. In the graph, blue and red arrows represent positive and negative relations, respectively. Strengths of the relations are represented with the width of arrows; maximum width represents "Very High" (Table 1).



Fig. 3. The IFCM

Step 3: The scale, which assigns IFSs to linguistic terms, is chosen from the literature of multi-attribute group decision making with IFSs. The scale used in the numerical application by Li and Huang [21] is suitable for this study. The scale is given in Table 2 using the representation given in Eq. (2). This scale assumes that boundary

		-			
Relation	Direction	Strength	Relation	Direction	Strength
C1–C3	Positive	Medium	C1–C4	Positive	Medium
C2–C8	Positive	Very High	C2–C22	Positive	Very Low
C3–C2	Positive	High	C3–C5	Positive	Low
C3–C6	Positive	High	C3–C7	Positive	Low
C3–C22	Negative	Very Low	C4–C2	Positive	High
C4–C5	Positive	Medium	C4-C6	Positive	Low
C4–C7	Positive	Low	C4–C22	Positive	Very Low
C5–C7	Positive	Medium	C6–C2	Positive	Very High
C6C7	Positive	Medium	C6–C22	Positive	Low
C7–C22	Negative	Very Low	C8C1	Positive	Medium
C8-C13	Positive	High	C8–C22	Positive	High
С9–С2	Positive	High	C9-C12	Negative	Low
C9–C22	Negative	Medium	C10-C22	Negative	Low
C11–C22	Negative	Very Low	C12–C9	Negative	Medium
C12–C22	Positive	High	C13-C12	Positive	Medium
C14–C2	Negative	High	C14-C15	Positive	Medium
C14–C22	Positive	Medium	C15-C2	Negative	High
C15-C17	Positive	Low	C15–C22	Positive	Very Low
C16–C2	Positive	Medium	C16-C14	Positive	Low
C16–C22	Positive	Medium	C17-C15	Positive	Low
C17–C22	Positive	Medium	C18-C19	Negative	Medium
C18–C22	Negative	High	C19–C22	Positive	Medium
C20-C19	Positive	Medium	C20–C22	Negative	Very Low
C21-C19	Positive	Medium	C21-C19	Positive	Medium
C21–C22	Negative	Low			

Table 1. Relations between concepts

Table 2. The scale of linguistic terms and IFSs

Linguistic terms	IF sets
Very Low	<b>(</b> 0.05, 0.95 <b>)</b>
Low	<b>(</b> 0.25, 0.7 <b>)</b>
Medium	<b>(</b> 0.5, 0.4 <b>)</b>
High	<b>(</b> 0.7, 0.25 <b>)</b>
Very High	<b>(</b> 0.95, 0.05 <b>)</b>

values do not include hesitations; if a decision maker says "Very Low" instead of "Low" or "Very High" instead of "High", it means he/she is certain about this information, therefore the sum of membership and non-membership degrees equals to 1 as opposed to what appears for the other linguistic values for which a degree of hesitation exists.

Step 4: According to Eq. (5), iterations are coded in MATLAB. Initial values of concepts are taken as 1;  $A_i^0 = 1$ , for all i = 1, ..., 22. The sigmoid function is used as

C1	Product Type	0.8898
C2	Profit	0.9124
C3	Brand Awareness	0.7517
C4	Brand Loyalty	0.7517
C5	Life Cycle	0.7727
C6	Market Share	0.8098
C7	Eco. of Scale	0.8570
C8	Company Resources	0.8474
C9	Risk Level	0.5707
C10	Accessibility	0.6590
C11	Capacity	0.6590
C12	Price Determinant	0.7146
C13	Innovation	0.7931
C14	Segment Size	0.6959
C15	No of Competitors	0.7657
C16	Market Growth	0.6590
C17	Market Structure	0.7016
C18	Heterogeneity	0.6590
C19	Ease of Profiling	0.7298
C20	Sensit. to Promo's	0.6590
C21	Sensit. to Prices	0.6590
C22	Differentiation Degree	0.9048

Table 3. Final values of concepts

threshold function since the value of the output concept must be between 0 and 1. The values are converged in 8 iterations and the final values are given in Table 3.

The final value of the output concept "Target Market Differentiation Degree" is 0.9048. According to the scale given in Fig. 2, this value is in the intersection of two alternatives "Niche Marketing" and "Micromarketing". The IFCM model claims that the managers of this shopping mall should use niche marketing or micromarketing strategy, or a combination of them as the target marketing strategy of this new shopping mall.

### 5 Conclusions

Target market strategy selection of shopping malls plays a major role in their future success and maintainability. It is a one-time decision that involves great risks because of huge investments. In this study, we used IFCM method, which employs cognitive mapping to model the complex decision making system while considering hesitations of the decision makers using IFSs, in order to determine the best target marketing strategy of a new shopping mall. 21 input concepts and one output concept are implicated in the decision making model and the result is calculated as "Niche Marketing-Micromarketing". According to the experts, a mix strategy of niche marketing and

micromarketing is also the best target marketing strategy for this shopping mall. In addition, when the experts interpret the rest of the final values, some remarks emerged:

The final values of the input concepts can be interpreted as; the influence of the factor over the target marketing strategy being "Niche Marketing-Micromarketing". The greatest final value belongs to "Profit" criterion (0.9124) which is significant for these strategies. Amongst these criteria, "Profit" is the biggest motivation of launching a niche shopping mall because niche markets have the greatest profit margins.

"Product type" is the second with the value (0.8898) which is revealing because the type of the product is one of the essential factors while selecting its target marketing strategy. Type of the products that the shopping mall offers is mostly decisive for its target marketing strategy. If they sell mostly convenience products in that mall, the target marketing strategy cannot be niche.

"Risk Level" has the smallest final value which is also significant; "Niche Marketing-Micromarketing" strategy involves major risks. If these strategies are chosen, it shows the risk seeking behavior and it means that a high level of risk has been already envisaged. Hence the risk has a very minor effect on these strategies.

Other factors also have influences close to 1, therefore no concepts should be excluded from the model. The model is well-constructed.

In this target marketing strategy selection model, effects of the concepts varies according to industry's structure (service or production), periods of economic prosperity and depression, economic conjuncture of the country etc. As a future research, the model can be applied in different industries and the effect of economic changes can be observed.

Acknowledgements. This study is supported by Galatasaray University Research Fund, Project 17.402.005.

## References

- Davies, K.: The composition of Singaporean shopping centres. Int. Rev. Retail Distrib. Consum. Res. 22(3), 261–275 (2012)
- Tuncer, D., Alkibay, S., Hoşgör, Ş.: Turkish shopping centers and a research on the reasons for their attraction. In: International Congress Marketing Trends, Venice, 17–19 January 2008
- Sit, J., Merrilees, B., Birch, D.: Entertainment-seeking shopping centre patrons: the missing segments. Int. J. Retail Distrib. Manag. 31(2), 80–94 (2003)
- Oztaysi, B., Gurbuz, T., Albayrak, Y.E., Kahraman, C.: Target marketing strategy determination for shopping malls using fuzzy ANP. J. Multiple Valued Logic Soft Comput. 27, 595–623 (2016)
- Zolfani, S.H., Aghdaie, M.H., Derakhti, A., Zavadskas, E.K., Varzandeh, M.H.M.: Decision making on business issues with foresight perspective; an application of new hybrid MCDM model in shopping mall locating. Expert Syst. Appl. 40(17), 7111–7121 (2013)
- Burnaz, S., Topcu, Y.I.: A decision support on planning retail tenant mix in shopping malls. Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci. 24, 317–324 (2011)
- Cheng, E.W., Li, H., Yu, L.: The Analytic Network Process (ANP) approach to location selection: a shopping mall illustration. Constr. Innov. 5(2), 83–97 (2005)

- Mago, V.K., Frank, R., Reid, A., Dabbaghian, V.: The strongest does not attract all but it does attract the most–evaluating the criminal attractiveness of shopping malls using fuzzy logic. Expert Syst. 31(2), 121–135 (2014)
- 9. Vancheri, A., Giordano, P., Andrey, D.: Fuzzy logic based modeling of traffic flows induced by regional shopping malls. Adv. Complex Syst. **17**(03n04), 1450017 (2014)
- 10. Widyanto, M.R., Ferandi, F., Tangel, M.L.: A visitor counter system using fuzzy measure theory and boosting method. WSEAS Trans. Inf. Sci. Appl. 7(1), 46–55 (2010)
- Lee, K.C., Lee, H., Lee, N., Lim, J.: An agent-based fuzzy cognitive map approach to the strategic marketing planning for industrial firms. Ind. Mark. Manag. 42(4), 552–563 (2013). doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2013.03.007
- 12. Kotler, P., Keller, K.L.: Marketing Management, 14th edn. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River (2012)
- 13. Ross, T.J.: Fuzzy Logic with Engineering Applications, 2nd edn. Wiley, Hoboken (2004)
- 14. Atanassov, K.T.: Intuitionistic fuzzy-sets. Fuzzy Set Syst. 20(1), 87-96 (1986)
- 15. Atanassov, K.T.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets: theory and applications. In: Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 35. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg (1999)
- Büyükavcu, A., Albayrak, Y.E., Göker, N.: A fuzzy information-based approach for breast cancer risk factors assessment. Appl. Soft Comput. 38, 437–452 (2016)
- Papageorgiou, E.I., Iakovidis, D.K.: Towards the construction of intuitionistic fuzzy cognitive maps for medical decision making. In: 9th International Conference on Information Technology and Applications in Biomedicine, pp. 679–682 (2009)
- Iakovidis, D.K., Papageorgiou, E.: Intuitionistic fuzzy cognitive maps for medical decision making. IEEE Trans. Inf. Technol. Biomed. 15(1), 100–107 (2011)
- 19. Hadjistoykov, P., Atanassov, K.: Remark on intuitionistic fuzzy cognitive maps. Notes Intuit. Fuzzy Sets 19(1), 1–6 (2013)
- Papageorgiou, E.I., Iakovidis, D.K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy cognitive maps. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 21(2), 342–354 (2013)
- Li, D.F., Chen, G.H., Huang, Z.G.: Linear programming method for multiattribute group decision making using IF sets. Inf. Sci. 180(9), 1591–1609 (2010)

# Intercriteria Analysis of EU Competitiveness Using the Level Operator $N_{\gamma}$

Lyubka Doukovska<sup>1</sup>, Vassia Atanassova<sup>2(⊠)</sup>, Deyan Mavrov<sup>3</sup>, and Irina Radeva<sup>1</sup>

 <sup>1</sup> Intelligent Systems Department, IICT – Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Acad. G. Bonchev Str., bl. 2, 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria {doukovska, iradeva}@iit.bas.bg
 <sup>2</sup> Bioinformatics and Mathematical Modelling Department, IBPhBME – Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Acad. G. Bonchev Str., bl. 105, 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria vassia.atanassova@gmail.com
 <sup>3</sup> Intelligent Systems Laboratory, "Prof. Dr. Asen Zlatarov" University, 1 "Prof. Yakimov" Blvd., 8010 Burgas, Bulgaria dg@mavrov.eu

Abstract. A recent leg of research on a new level operator over intuitionistic fuzzy sets,  $N_{\gamma}$  inspired the development of a new approach to establishing the thresholds for evaluation of the results of application of the InterCriteria Analysis (ICA) over multiobject multicriteria problems. ICA is a novel method of detecting the levels of pairwise correlations within the set of criteria (termed here positive consonance, negative consonance and dissonance), which uses as input the dataset of measurements or evaluations of a set of objects against these criteria. The output of ICA, being a matrix of intuitionistic fuzzy pairs, gives all possible consonances and dissonances between the pairs of criteria, and it is a matter of either expert decision or algorithmic solution what thresholds of precision will be implemented to outline the top correlating pairs of criteria and yield certain domain-specific conclusions from the data. The present paper discusses practical aspects of selecting these top performing pairs of criteria with the use of the newly proposed intuitionistic fuzzy level operator  $N_{\gamma}$ . For illustrative purposes, we analyze the dataset of 28 EU member states' performance from the Global Competitiveness Report of the World Economic Forum for the vear 2016–2017. Further, we comment on the interval in which parameter  $\gamma$ reasonably varies, making use of the intuitionistic fuzzy interpretational triangle and the topological operators Interior and Closure.

**Keywords:** Intercriteria analysis  $\cdot$  Intuitionistic fuzzy sets  $\cdot$  Multiobject multicriteria decision making  $\cdot$  Competitiveness  $\cdot$  Intuitionistic fuzzy topological operators  $\cdot$  Closure  $\cdot$  Interior

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_56

### 1 Introduction

In [12], a new operator of level type was defined over intuitionistic fuzzy sets (IFSs), expanding the available theoretical knowledge and instrumentation for handing IFSs (see [1, 3, 5, 7]). The new operator  $N_{\gamma}$  elaborates the idea of the existing operator  $N_{\alpha,\beta}$ , which aims to produce a subset of an IFS, whose elements have their degrees of membership above a given level (threshold)  $\alpha$  and have their degrees of non-membership below a given level  $\beta$ . The formal notation of the operator producing the subset of A,  $N_{\alpha,\beta}(A)$ , is the following:

$$N_{\alpha,\beta}(A) = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x), \nu_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \& \mu_A(x) \ge a \& \nu_A(x) \le \beta \},\$$

where *A* is an IFS within a universe *E*, and  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in [0, 1]$ ,  $\alpha + \beta \leq 1$ , are fixed numbers [5]. The definition of the new level operator, as given in [12], is as follows.

**Definition:** Let us call an IFS *A v-positive*, if for each *A* we have  $(\forall x \in E)(v_A(x) > 0)$ . Let us define for each *v*-positive IFS *A* the operator

$$N_{\gamma}(A) = \left\{ \langle x, \mu_A(x), v_A(x) \rangle | x \in E \& rac{\mu_A(x)}{v_A(x)} \ge \gamma 
ight\},$$

where  $\gamma$  is an arbitrary non-negative real number.

Several basic properties of the new level operator  $N_{\gamma}$  were formulated and proved in [12], showing its application over the union and intersection of two IFSs, as well as the relations between  $N_{\gamma}$  and the modal operators *Necessity* and *Possibility*, and between  $N_{\gamma}$  and the topological operators *Interior* and *Closure*.

The so formulated new operator is graphically visualized onto the IF interpretational triangle as presented in the following Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Graphical visualization of the operator  $N\gamma$  onto the IF triangle

The new operator inspires a new leg of research related to the thresholds for evaluation of the results of application of the InterCriteria Analysis over multiobject multicriteria problems (see a detailed overview in [20]).

InterCriteria Analysis (ICA, originally proposed in [9]) is an IFS-based novel method for detecting the levels of pairwise correlations within the set of criteria, based on the measurements or evaluations of the set of objects against these criteria. The ultimate goal of the method is to detect data-supported hypotheses if some of the criteria exhibit high enough correlations with others, so that skipping them from the further decision making process would not affect the whole process. The motivation behind this method is that in certain domains the need has been defined to eliminate some of the criteria, when measurement against these comes at a higher cost, consumes more time or other resources, or is in any other way considered undesirable. Selecting these high enough correlations (termed in ICA as: positive consonance, negative consonance or dissonance) requires either an expert decision or an algorithm for the precise establishment of the thresholds, beyond which the top-correlating criteria are selected in order to yield certain problem-specific conclusions [9].

On the input, ICA requires a table of numerical values of the measuring of m objects against n criteria. It returns as output a matrix of intuitionistic fuzzy pairs (IFPs) with the relations between all the n(n - 1)/2 pairs of criteria. Since ICA is based on the concept of IFS and index matrices [8], its algorithm is constructed in such a way to handle the inherent uncertainty, as represented by the use of IFPs, which consist of a pair of numbers in the [0, 1]-interval, staying for the membership and the non-membership, whose sum is also a number in this interval, [10]. These n(n - 1)/2 intercriteria pairs, represented as IFPs, can be plotted as points onto the IF interpretational triangle, where the membership and non-membership parts stay respectively for the abscissa and ordinate (see [4, 5]).

### **2** Discussion of the Parameter $\gamma$

In the previous work [12] where the operator  $N_{\gamma}$  was defined for the first time, we formulated and proved the validity of several statements. At the subsequent step when we aim to apply the operator to a particular dataset, however, we face the question about the practical considerations of the range in which parameter  $\gamma$  changes, so that it cuts a nonempty set as a subset of the IFS. Obviously, if we are interested in the subset of the IFS, which is closer to the *Truth*, we should define  $\gamma$  as  $\gamma \in (1, \infty)$ , since  $\gamma = 1$  gives the angle bisector of the right angle of the IF interpretational triangle, and if we are interested in the subset closer to the *Falsity*, we should define  $\gamma$  as  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ .

More precisely, here we can benefit from our knowledge of the topological operators *Interior* and *Closure*, which are defined using the following formulas, and illustrated in Fig. 2. (see [2, 5–7]).

$$I(A) = \{ \langle x, \inf_{y \in E} \mu_A(y), \sup_{y \in E} v_A(y) \rangle | x \in E \}$$
$$C(A) = \{ \langle x, \sup_{y \in E} \mu_A(y), \inf_{y \in E} v_A(y) \rangle | x \in E \}$$

These two operators help finding the range, from which parameter  $\gamma$  shall reasonably be selected in a particular decision making case, i.e.:

$$\gamma \in \left[\frac{\inf_{y \in E} \mu_A(y)}{\sup_{y \in E} \nu_A(y)}; \frac{\sup_{y \in E} \mu_A(y)}{\inf_{y \in E} \nu_A(y)}\right]$$

For instance, in the illustrative example in Fig. 2, we have some IFS of elements, visually interpreted in the white points in the IF triangle. With the help of the operators *Interior* and *Closure*, expressed with the points with coordinates C(A) (0.40, 0.49) and I(A) (0.78, 0.14), parameter  $\gamma$  should be selected from the interval [0.82; 5.57]. For this particular case, if selected outside of this interval,  $\gamma$  will produce an empty subset of the IFS.



Fig. 2. An illustrative IFS, plotted onto the IF Triangle, with the indicated places of the topological operators *Interior* and *Closure*.

On a side note, the illustrative example in Fig. 2 shows that even finer correction of the boundaries of the range of parameter  $\gamma$  is possible, depending on the actual location of the elements of the set (e.g., see the elements, defining I(A)).

As it was noted in [12], the idea about the new operator  $N_{\gamma}$  has been inspired by the theory of the American psychologist John M. Gottman that marital relationships are likely to be stable if they exhibit the "magic ratio" of 5:1 of positive to negative interactions between the partners (see [21]). This idea is transferred here in the ratio  $\mu/\nu$  of the membership–to–non-memberships calculated for the elements of an IFS, which is another way to shortlist some of these elements, along with those already proposed in [11, 14, 16–18] (see also [20] for an overview).

### **3** Application of the Operator $N_{\gamma}$ Over Real Data

We approbate the use of the newly proposed level operator with the dataset of 28 European Union member states' performance from the Global Competitiveness Report (GCR) of the World Economic Forum for the year 2016–2017 [25], taking as a motivation the WEF's general address to policy makers to '*identify and strengthen the transformative forces that will drive future economic growth*' [24]. So far, there has been a long-term research of the application of various threshold of the ICA method with data from the GCRs over the years [13–17], which allows not only comparison of the same threshold techniques over the datasets. Another research of applying ICA too various EU enterprises was performed in [19].

The input data for the ICA are collected in the Table 1, populated with the data of the evaluations of the 28 EU Member States (in ICA: *objects*) against the 12 pillars of competitiveness (in ICA: *criteria*), being '1. Institutions'; '2. Infrastructure'; '3. Macroeconomic stability'; '4. Health and primary education'; '5. Higher education and training'; '6. Goods market efficiency'; '7. Labor market efficiency'; '8. Financial market sophistication'; '9. Technological readiness'; '10. Market size'; '11. Business sophistication'; '12. Innovation'. These evaluations are input in the form of an index matrix with dimensions  $28 \times 12$ . According to the adopted methodology of WEF, the set of possible scores for each of the 12 criteria comprises the numbers 1.0, 1.1, ..., 6.9, 7.0.

As an output of the software application implementing the algorithm of ICA [22, 23], we obtain two  $12 \times 12$  tables (Tables 2 and 3), giving respectively the membership and the non-membership parts of the IFPs forming the degrees of relation between each pair of criteria (intercriteria pairs). The two matrices are symmetrical according to their main diagonal, along which all the IFPs are all identical to the perfect *Truth* plotted in the interpretational triangle in (1, 0), since every criterion would perfectly correlate with itself.

Taking the results produced by the ICA, with the IF pairs distributed in two index matrices  $M^{\mu}$  and  $M^{\nu}$ , collected respectively in Tables 2 and 3, we plot them onto the IF
						c				-	-	
	1. Institutions	2. Infrastructure	3. Macroeconomic environment	<ol> <li>Health and primary</li> </ol>	5. Higher education	6. Goods market	7. Labor market	8. Financial market	<ol> <li>Technological readiness</li> </ol>	10. Market size	11. Business sophistication	12. Innovation
				education	and training	efficiency	efficiency	development			-	
AT	5.2	5.8	5.5	6.4	5.8	4.9	4.5	4.5	5.7	4.5	5.5	5
BE	5.2	5.5	4.8	6.7	6	5.2	4.5	4.7	6	4.7	5.4	5
BG	3.5	4	5.2	5.9	4.6	4.4	4.4	4.1	5.1	3.9	3.8	3.4
HR	3.6	4.6	4.4	5.8	4.7	4.1	3.9	3.6	4.7	3.5	3.8	3.1
CY	4	4.4	3.8	6.2	4.6	4.7	4.4	3.2	4.6	2.8	4	3.2
CZ	4.2	4.7	5.9	6.3	5.2	4.7	4.5	4.7	5.5	4.4	4.5	3.8
DK	5.5	5.6	5.9	6.4	5.9	5.1	5.1	4.8	6.1	4.2	5.4	5.1
EE	5.1	5	6.1	6.5	5.5	5.1	5	4.8	5.4	3	4.3	4.1
H	6.1	5.3	5.1	6.9	6.2	5.1	4.8	5.5	6	4.1	5.3	5.7
FR	4.9	6.1	4.7	6.4	5.5	4.7	4.4	4.6	5.9	5.7	5.2	4.9
DE	5.2	6.1	6	6.5	5.6	5	4.8	4.9	6.1	6	5.6	5.6
GR	3.8	4.8	2.9	6.1	4.9	4.2	3.8	2.5	5	4.2	3.9	3.3
ΗU	3.3	4.2	5.1	5.6	4.4	4.4	4.1	4	4.5	4.3	3.5	3.2
Щ	5.6	5.2	5.2	6.5	5.7	5.4	5.1	4	6.1	4.3	5.2	4.8
E	3.5	5.4	4.2	6.4	4.9	4.3	3.6	3.1	5	5.6	4.8	3.9
ΓΛ	4	4.4	5.6	6.2	5	4.5	4.6	4.2	5.2	3.2	4.1	3.4
LT	4.2	4.7	5.4	6.3	5.3	4.6	4.4	4.1	5.6	3.5	4.3	3.7
ΓΩ	5.8	5.7	6.2	6.2	4.8	5.5	5	5	6.4	3.2	5.2	4.9
ΤM	4.5	4.7	5.8	6.4	5	4.7	4.5	4.4	5.8	2.5	4.3	3.7
ľ	5.7	6.4	5.7	6.7	6.1	5.4	5.1	4.5	6.2	5.1	5.6	5.4
PL	4	4.3	5.1	6.2	5	4.6	4.1	4.2	4.8	5.1	4.1	3.4
PT	4.3	5.5	3.7	6.4	5	4.7	4.3	3.3	5.6	4.3	4.2	3.9
RO	3.6	3.6	5.5	5.5	4.4	4.2	4	3.7	4.7	4.5	3.6	3.1
SK	3.5	4.2	5.3	6	4.5	4.5	4	4.6	4.8	4	4.1	3.3
SI	4.1	4.8	4.9	6.5	5.4	4.6	4.1	3.2	5.2	3.3	4.2	3.9
ES	4.1	5.9	4.3	6.3	5.1	4.5	4.2	4	5.6	5.4	4.5	3.8
SE	5.9	5.6	6.3	6.4	5.6	5.3	4.9	5.2	6.3	4.6	5.6	5.5
GB	5.5	6	4.4	6.5	5.5	5.3	5.5	4.9	6.3	5.7	5.6	5

Table 1. Evaluations of the 28 EU Member States against the 12 WEF GCR indicators, 2016–2017 [24]

μ	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1	1.00	0.74	0.63	0.75	0.81	0.83	0.77	0.74	0.85	0.51	0.80	0.83
2	0.74	1.00	0.50	0.70	0.74	0.70	0.65	0.61	0.77	0.66	0.81	0.79
3	0.63	0.50	1.00	0.48	0.56	0.62	0.67	0.74	0.63	0.42	0.59	0.60
4	0.75	0.70	0.48	1.00	0.79	0.70	0.63	0.59	0.70	0.53	0.74	0.77
5	0.81	0.74	0.56	0.79	1.00	0.73	0.69	0.66	0.76	0.57	0.78	0.82
6	0.83	0.70	0.62	0.70	0.73	1.00	0.81	0.72	0.80	0.50	0.75	0.75
7	0.77	0.65	0.67	0.63	0.69	0.81	1.00	0.74	0.77	0.47	0.71	0.71
8	0.74	0.61	0.74	0.59	0.66	0.72	0.74	1.00	0.72	0.53	0.70	0.72
9	0.85	0.77	0.63	0.70	0.76	0.80	0.77	0.72	1.00	0.57	0.83	0.81
10	0.51	0.66	0.42	0.53	0.57	0.50	0.47	0.53	0.57	1.00	0.63	0.60
11	0.80	0.81	0.59	0.74	0.78	0.75	0.71	0.70	0.83	0.63	1.00	0.87
12	0.83	0.79	0.60	0.77	0.82	0.75	0.71	0.72	0.81	0.60	0.87	1.00

 Table 2. Membership parts of the intercriteria IFPs calculated from the input in Table 1.

Table 3. Non-membership parts of the intercriteria IFPs calculated from the input in Table 1.

v	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
1	0.00	0.21	0.32	0.13	0.13	0.08	0.14	0.20	0.09	0.43	0.12	0.12
2	0.21	0.00	0.46	0.19	0.20	0.22	0.28	0.34	0.17	0.29	0.12	0.15
3	0.32	0.46	0.00	0.39	0.39	0.30	0.26	0.21	0.32	0.54	0.34	0.35
4	0.13	0.19	0.39	0.00	0.08	0.14	0.21	0.28	0.17	0.35	0.12	0.10
5	0.13	0.20	0.39	0.08	0.00	0.18	0.22	0.28	0.18	0.38	0.15	0.11
6	0.08	0.22	0.30	0.14	0.18	0.00	0.09	0.19	0.11	0.42	0.15	0.15
7	0.14	0.28	0.26	0.21	0.22	0.09	0.00	0.19	0.15	0.45	0.19	0.20
8	0.20	0.34	0.21	0.28	0.28	0.19	0.19	0.00	0.21	0.42	0.23	0.22
9	0.09	0.17	0.32	0.17	0.18	0.11	0.15	0.21	0.00	0.38	0.10	0.13
10	0.43	0.29	0.54	0.35	0.38	0.42	0.45	0.42	0.38	0.00	0.30	0.34
11	0.12	0.12	0.34	0.12	0.15	0.15	0.19	0.23	0.10	0.30	0.00	0.07
12	0.12	0.15	0.35	0.10	0.11	0.15	0.20	0.22	0.13	0.34	0.07	0.00



Fig. 3. Intercriteria IFPs calculated from the input in Table 1, plotted on the intuitionistic fuzzy interpretational triangle.

interpretational triangle in Fig. 3. We further render this data in one more layout (Table 4), showing the intercriteria pairs, sorted by the calculated  $\mu/\nu$  ratio, which relates with the determination of the threshold parameter  $\gamma$ . In addition, we also give the distance to *Truth*. Each of the columns in Table 4 is conditionally formatted with a 3-color scale based on their values, where the minimum is the lowest value per column and the maximum is the highest value per column (justified by the different ranges in which these values belong to).

From Table 4 we notice the obvious similarity between the results as sorted by  $\mu/\nu$  ratio, and by distance to the *Truth*. We reason that this is a particular result from the form of this IFS. Let us compare which are the best correlating pairs of criteria, as seen from the point of view of membership, nonmembership,  $\mu/\nu$  ratio, and distance to the *Truth*, and let for example take in each case the top 20% and the bottom 20% of the pairs of criteria, as sorted in these four ways (e.g. in this case of 66 different pairs, the highest 14 and lowest 14 pairs). Table 5 gives these results when the intercriteria pairs are sorted by membership (descending); Table 6 – when the pairs are sorted by  $\mu/\nu$  ratio (descending); Table 8 – when the pairs are sorted by distance from *Truth* (ascending). Such detailed comparison of the ranking of the top correlating pairs of criteria has not been made so far in the research of intercriteria analysis, with any of the case studies, where ICA has been applied.

Ci	$C_j$	μ	v	μ/ν ratio	distance to T
11. Business sophistication	12. Innovation	0.868	0.069	12.615	0.149
1. Institutions	6. Goods market efficiency	0.828	0.077	10.793	0.188
4. Health and primary education	5. Higher education and training	0.791	0.082	9.645	0.225
1. Institutions	9. Technological readiness	0.847	0.093	9.143	0.179
6. Goods market efficiency	7. Labor market efficiency	0.812	0.093	8.771	0.209
4. Health and primary education	12. Innovation	0.772	0.095	8.111	0.247
9. Technological readiness	11. Business sophistication	0.825	0.103	8.000	0.203
5. Higher education and training	12. Innovation	0.820	0.111	7.381	0.211
1. Institutions	12. Innovation	0.825	0.116	7.091	0.210
6. Goods market efficiency	9. Technological readiness	0.799	0.114	7.023	0.231
2. Infrastructure	11. Business sophistication	0.807	0.124	6.489	0.230
1. Institutions	11. Business sophistication	0.796	0.124	6.404	0.239
1. Institutions	5. Higher education and training	0.810	0.127	6.375	0.229
9. Technological readiness	12. Innovation	0.807	0.127	6.354	0.231
4. Health and primary education	11. Business sophistication	0.735	0.122	6.043	0.291
1. Institutions	4. Health and primary education	0.746	0.132	5.640	0.286
1. Institutions	7. Labor market efficiency	0.772	0.143	5.407	0.269
5. Higher education and training	11. Business sophistication	0.780	0.146	5.364	0.263
2. Infrastructure	12. Innovation	0.791	0.151	5.246	0.258
7. Labor market efficiency	9. Technological readiness	0.767	0.151	5.088	0.277
6. Goods market efficiency	11. Business sophistication	0.751	0.148	5.071	0.289
6. Goods market efficiency	12. Innovation	0.751	0.148	5.071	0.289
4. Health and primary education	6. Goods market efficiency	0.704	0.143	4.926	0.329
2. Infrastructure	9. Technological readiness	0.770	0.175	4.409	0.289

**Table 4.** Intercriteria IFPs calculated from the input in Table 1, sorted by  $\mu/\nu$  ratio.

(continued)

Ci	Cj	μ	v	μ/ν ratio	distance
5. Higher education and training	9. Technological readiness	0 757	0 183	4.145	0.304
5. Higher education and training	6. Goods market efficiency	0.733	0.177	4.134	0.321
4. Health and primary education	9. Technological readiness	0.696	0.175	3.985	0.351
7. Labor market efficiency	8. Financial market development	0.735	0.190	3.861	0.326
6. Goods market efficiency	8. Financial market development	0.725	0.190	3.806	0.335
2. Infrastructure	4. Health and primary education	0.698	0.185	3.771	0.354
7. Labor market efficiency	11. Business sophistication	0.706	0.188	3.761	0.349
1. Institutions	8. Financial market development	0.743	0.198	3.747	0.324
2. Infrastructure	5. Higher education and training	0.738	0.204	3.623	0.332
1. Institutions	2. Infrastructure	0.743	0.209	3.557	0.331
7. Labor market efficiency	12. Innovation	0.706	0.204	3.468	0.357
3. Macroeconomic environment	8. Financial market development	0.738	0.214	3.444	0.338
8. Financial market development	9. Technological readiness	0.725	0.214	3.383	0.349
8. Financial market development	12. Innovation	0.717	0.220	3.265	0.358
2. Infrastructure	6. Goods market efficiency	0.698	0.222	3.143	0.375
5. Higher education and training	7. Labor market efficiency	0.693	0.222	3.119	0.379
4. Health and primary education	7. Labor market efficiency	0.635	0.206	3.077	0.419
8. Financial market development	11. Business sophistication	0.698	0.233	3.000	0.381
3. Macroeconomic environment	7. Labor market efficiency	0.672	0.259	2.592	0.418
5. Higher education and training	8. Financial market development	0.661	0.280	2.358	0.440
2. Infrastructure	10. Market size	0.664	0.288	2.303	0.443
2. Infrastructure	7. Labor market efficiency	0.646	0.280	2.302	0.452
10. Market size	11. Business sophistication	0.630	0.296	2.125	0.474
4. Health and primary education	8. Financial market development	0.593	0.280	2.113	0.495
3. Macroeconomic environment	6. Goods market efficiency	0.619	0.302	2.053	0.486
1. Institutions	3. Macroeconomic environment	0.627	0.320	1.959	0.492
3. Macroeconomic environment	9. Technological readiness	0.627	0.323	1.943	0.493
2. Infrastructure	8. Financial market development	0.608	0.339	1.797	0.518
10. Market size	12. Innovation	0.598	0.339	1.766	0.526
3. Macroeconomic environment	12. Innovation	0.595	0.347	1.718	0.533
3. Macroeconomic environment	11. Business sophistication	0.587	0.344	1.708	0.537
5. Higher education and training	10. Market size	0.571	0.376	1.521	0.570
4. Health and primary education	10. Market size	0.526	0.347	1.519	0.587
9. Technological readiness	10. Market size	0.569	0.376	1.514	0.572
3. Macroeconomic environment	5. Higher education and training	0.558	0.389	1.435	0.589
8. Financial market development	10. Market size	0.532	0.421	1.264	0.629
3. Macroeconomic environment	4. Health and primary education	0.481	0.392	1.230	0.650
1. Institutions	10. Market size	0.513	0.429	1.198	0.649
6. Goods market efficiency	10. Market size	0.497	0.418	1.190	0.654
2. Infrastructure	3. Macroeconomic environment	0.500	0.458	1.092	0.678
7. Labor market efficiency	10. Market size	0.468	0.452	1.035	0.698
3. Macroeconomic environment	10. Market size	0.423	0.540	0.784	0.790

Ci	$C_j$	μ
11. Business sophistication	12. Innovation	0.868
1. Institutions	9. Technological readiness	0.847
1. Institutions	6. Goods market efficiency	0.828
9. Technological readiness	11. Business sophistication	0.825
1. Institutions	12. Innovation	0.825
5. Higher education and training	12. Innovation	0.820
6. Goods market efficiency	7. Labor market efficiency	0.812
1. Institutions	5. Higher education and training	0.810
2. Infrastructure	11. Business sophistication	0.807
9. Technological readiness	12. Innovation	0.807
6. Goods market efficiency	9. Technological readiness	0.799
1. Institutions	11. Business sophistication	0.796
4. Health and primary education	5. Higher education and training	0.791
2. Infrastructure	12. Innovation	0.791
	I	
3. Macroeconomic environment	12. Innovation	0.595
4. Health and primary education	8. Financial market development	0.593
3. Macroeconomic environment	11. Business sophistication	0.587
5. Higher education and training	10. Market size	0.571
9. Technological readiness	10. Market size	0.569
3. Macroeconomic environment	5. Higher education and training	0.558
8. Financial market development	10. Market size	0.532
4. Health and primary education	10. Market size	0.526
1. Institutions	10. Market size	0.513
2. Infrastructure	3. Macroeconomic environment	0.500
6. Goods market efficiency	10. Market size	0.497
3. Macroeconomic environment	4. Health and primary education	0.481
7. Labor market efficiency	10. Market size	0.468
3. Macroeconomic environment	10. Market size	0.423

Table 5. Top 20% and Bottom 20% intercriteria IFPs from Table 4, sorted by membership (descending)

Ci	$C_j$	v
11. Business sophistication	12. Innovation	0.069
1. Institutions	6. Goods market efficiency	0.077
4. Health and primary education	5. Higher education and training	0.082
1. Institutions	9. Technological readiness	0.093
6. Goods market efficiency	7. Labor market efficiency	0.093
4. Health and primary education	12. Innovation	0.095
9. Technological readiness	11. Business sophistication	0.103
5. Higher education and training	12. Innovation	0.111
6. Goods market efficiency	9. Technological readiness	0.114
1. Institutions	12. Innovation	0.116
4. Health and primary education	11. Business sophistication	0.122
2. Infrastructure	11. Business sophistication	0.124
1. Institutions	11. Business sophistication	0.124
1. Institutions	5. Higher education and training	0.127
	1	
10. Market size	12. Innovation	0.339
3. Macroeconomic environment	11. Business sophistication	0.344
3. Macroeconomic environment	12. Innovation	0.347
4. Health and primary education	10. Market size	0.347
5. Higher education and training	10. Market size	0.376
9. Technological readiness	10. Market size	0.376
3. Macroeconomic environment	5. Higher education and training	0.389
3. Macroeconomic environment	4. Health and primary education	0.392
6. Goods market efficiency	10. Market size	0.418
8. Financial market development	10. Market size	0.421
1. Institutions	10. Market size	0.429
7. Labor market efficiency	10. Market size	0.452
2. Infrastructure	3. Macroeconomic environment	0.458
3. Macroeconomic environment	10. Market size	0.540

**Table 6.** Top 20% and Bottom 20% intercriteria IFPs from Table 4, sorted by non-membership(ascending)

Ci	$C_j$	$\mu/\nu$ ratio
11. Business sophistication	12. Innovation	12.615
1. Institutions	6. Goods market efficiency	10.793
4. Health and primary education	5. Higher education and training	9.645
1. Institutions	9. Technological readiness	9.143
6. Goods market efficiency	7. Labor market efficiency	8.771
4. Health and primary education	12. Innovation	8.111
9. Technological readiness	11. Business sophistication	8.000
5. Higher education and training	12. Innovation	7.381
1. Institutions	12. Innovation	7.091
6. Goods market efficiency	9. Technological readiness	7.023
2. Infrastructure	11. Business sophistication	6.489
1. Institutions	11. Business sophistication	6.404
1. Institutions	5. Higher education and training	6.375
9. Technological readiness	12. Innovation	6.354
	1	
10. Market size	12. Innovation	1.766
3. Macroeconomic environment	12. Innovation	1.718
3. Macroeconomic environment	11. Business sophistication	1.708
5. Higher education and training	10. Market size	1.521
4. Health and primary education	10. Market size	1.519
9. Technological readiness	10. Market size	1.514
3. Macroeconomic environment	5. Higher education and training	1.435
8. Financial market development	10. Market size	1.264
3. Macroeconomic environment	4. Health and primary education	1.230
1. Institutions	10. Market size	1.198
6. Goods market efficiency	10. Market size	1.190
2. Infrastructure	3. Macroeconomic environment	1.092
7. Labor market efficiency	10. Market size	1.035
3. Macroeconomic environment	10. Market size	0.784

**Table 7.** Top 20% and Bottom 20% intercriteria IFPs from Table 4, sorted by  $\mu/\nu$  ratio (descending)

C <sub>i</sub>	$C_j$	Distance to T
11. Business sophistication	12. Innovation	0.149
1. Institutions	9. Technological readiness	0.179
1. Institutions	6. Goods market efficiency	0.188
9. Technological readiness	11. Business sophistication	0.203
6. Goods market efficiency	7. Labor market efficiency	0.209
1. Institutions	12. Innovation	0.210
5. Higher education and training	12. Innovation	0.211
4. Health and primary education	5. Higher education and training	0.225
1. Institutions	5. Higher education and training	0.229
2. Infrastructure	11. Business sophistication	0.230
6. Goods market efficiency	9. Technological readiness	0.231
9. Technological readiness	12. Innovation	0.231
1. Institutions	11. Business sophistication	0.239
4. Health and primary education	12. Innovation	0.247
	1	
10. Market size	12. Innovation	0.526
3. Macroeconomic environment	12. Innovation	0.533
3. Macroeconomic environment	11. Business sophistication	0.537
5. Higher education and training	10. Market size	0.570
9. Technological readiness	10. Market size	0.572
4. Health and primary education	10. Market size	0.587
3. Macroeconomic environment	5. Higher education and training	0.589
8. Financial market development	10. Market size	0.629
1. Institutions	10. Market size	0.649
3. Macroeconomic environment	4. Health and primary education	0.650
6. Goods market efficiency	10. Market size	0.654
2. Infrastructure	3. Macroeconomic environment	0.678
7. Labor market efficiency	10. Market size	0.698
3. Macroeconomic environment	10. Market size	0.790

**Table 8.** Top 20% and Bottom 20% intercriteria IFPs from Table 4, sorted by distance to *Truth*(ascending)

### 4 Discussion and Conclusion

From the conducted analysis of the discussed case study, we observe that the following pairs of criteria exhibit similar high occurrence in the Top 20% (positive consonance) regardless of the approach of ranking them: with four occurrences of the pairs 11–12, 1–9, 1–6, 9–11, 1–12, 5–12, 1–5, 2–11, 6–9, 1–11, 4–5, with three occurrences of the pairs 9–12, 4–12 and one occurrence of the pairs 2–12, 4–11. The following pairs of criteria exhibit similar high occurrence in the Bottom 20% (negative consonance) regardless of the approach of ranking them: with four occurrences of the pairs 3–10, 7–10, 3–4, 6–10, 2–3, 1–10, 4–10, 8–10, 3–5, 9–10, 5–10, 3–11, 3–12, with three occurrences of the pairs 10–12, and one occurrence of the pair 4–8. Practically, with one exception, all of these intercriteria pairs contain either criterion 3 or criterion 10. These results outline the high relevance of institutions, goods market efficiency technological readiness, higher education and training, business sophistication and innovation on the competitiveness of EU Member States, and demonstrates the limited relation of the macroeconomic environment and market size on the EU competitiveness.

The findings in the case study are arguably the result of the location of the IFS onto the IF interpretational triangle and more specifically due to the low levels of uncertainty (proximity of the IFS to the hypotenuse of the IF interpretational triangle). We reason that in cases of IFSs having elements exhibiting higher levels of uncertainty, the different approaches of cutting a subset of the IFS and ranking them will demonstrate more substantial differences in the selection and ranking of the highest intercriteria correlations in ICA, as suggested in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Different scenarios to cut a subset of an IFS, plotted on the IF interpretational triangle.

We will specifically discuss on the operator  $N_{\gamma}$  over ICA case studies. The use and applicability of the operator would be more visible in cases where the IFS elements exhibit both high degrees of uncertainty and high membership-to-non-membership ratios of the elements. The use of thresholds  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  for the membership and non-membership, respectively, to outline the positive correlations, which was part of the original formulation of the ICA approach, tends to isolate such elements due to the higher degree uncertainty. In the same manner, these elements would remain undiscussed if the IFS elements are ranked with respect to their distance from the *Truth*. Even with higher degree of uncertainty, however, the high  $\mu/\nu$  ratio can prove to be indicative and helpful for the decision maker. Studying more cases can make this open question clearer and can contribute to the wider adoption and applicability of this newly proposed operator over IFSs. **Acknowledgements.** The authors are grateful for the support provided by the National Science Fund of Bulgaria under grant DFNI-I-02-5/2014.

# References

- 1. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. In: Proceedings of VII ITKR's Session, Sofia, Bulgarian (1983)
- Atanassov, K.: Modal and topological operators, defined over intuitionistic fuzzy sets. In: Youth Scientific Contributions, vol. 1, pp. 18–21. Academic Publ. House, Sofia (1985)
- 3. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 20(1), 87-96 (1986)
- 4. Atanassov, K.: Geometrical interpretations of the elements of the intuitionistic fuzzy objects. Preprint IM-MFAIS-1-89, Sofia (1989)
- 5. Atanassov, K.: Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets. Springer, Heidelberg (1999)
- Atanassov, K.: On four intuitionistic fuzzy topological operators. Mathw. Soft Comput. 8, 65–70 (2001)
- 7. Atanassov, K.: On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Theory. Springer, Berlin (2012)
- 8. Atanassov, K.: Index Matrices: Towards an Augmented Matrix Calculus. Springer, Cham (2014)
- Atanassov, K., Mavrov, D., Atanassova, V.: InterCriteria decision making. A new approach for multicriteria decision making, based on index matrices and intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Issues Intuition Fuzzy Sets Gen Nets 11, 1–8 (2014)
- Atanassov, K., Szmidt, E., Kacprzyk, J.: On intuitionistic fuzzy pairs. Notes Intuiton Fuzzy Sets 19(3), 1–13 (2013)
- 11. Atanassova, V.: Interpretation in the intuitionistic fuzzy triangle of the results, obtained by the InterCriteria Analysis. In: Proceedings of IFSA-EUSFLAT 2015, 30 June to 03 July 2015, Gijon, Spain, pp. 1369–1374. Atlantic Press (2015)
- 12. Atanassova, V. (2017). New modified level operator  $N_{\gamma}$  over intuitionistic fuzzy sets. In: Christiansen, H., Jaudoin, H., Chountas, P., Andreasen, T., Larsen, H.L. (eds.) Flexible Query Answering Systems—12th International Conference, FQAS 2017, London, UK, June 21–22, 2017. Proceedings. Lecture Notes in Computer Science 10333, pp. 209–214. Springer (2017)
- Atanassova, V., Doukovska L., Atanassov, K., Mavrov, D.: InterCriteria Decision making approach to EU member states competitiveness analysis. In: Proceedings of 4th International Symposium on Business Modeling and Software Design, 24–26 Jun 2014, Luxembourg, pp. 289–294 (2014)
- Atanassova, V., Doukovska, L., Mavrov, D., Atanassov, K.: InterCriteria Decision making approach to EU member states competitiveness analysis: temporal and threshold analysis. In: Angelov, P. et al., (eds.) Intelligent Systems' 2014, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 322, pp. 95–106 (2014)
- Atanassova, V., Doukovska, L., Karastoyanov, D., Capkovic, F.: InterCriteria Decision making approach to EU member states competitiveness analysis: trend analysis. In: Angelov, P., et al. (eds.) Intelligent Systems' 2014, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 322, pp. 107–115
- Atanassova, V., Mavrov, D., Doukovska, L., Atanassov, K.: Discussion on the threshold values in the InterCriteria Decision Making approach. Int. J. Notes Intuition. Fuzzy Sets 20 (2), 94–99 (2014)
- Atanassova, V., Vardeva, I.: Sum- and average-based approach to criteria shortlisting in the InterCriteria Analysis. Int. J. Notes Intuition. Fuzzy Sets 20(4), 41–46 (2014)

- Atanassova, V., Vardeva, L., Sotirova, E., Doukovska, L.: Traversing and ranking of elements of an intuitionistic fuzzy set in the intuitionistic fuzzy interpretation triangle. In: Atanassov K., et al. (eds.) Novel Developments in Uncertainty Representation and Processing. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol 401, pp. 161–174. Springer, Cham (2016)
- Doukovska, L., Atanassova, V., Shahpazov, G., Capkovic, F.: InterCriteria analysis applied to variuos EU enterprises. In: Proceedings of the Fifth International Symposium on Business Modeling and Software Design, Milan, Italy, pp. 284–291 (2015)
- 20. Doukovska, L., Atanassova, V., Sotirova, E., Vardeva, I., Radeva, I.: Defining consonance thresholds in InterCriteria analysis: overview (to appear)
- 21. Gottman, J.: Why Marriages Succeed or Fail: And How You can Make Yours Last. Simon and Schuster, New York (1995)
- 22. Mavrov, D.: Software for InterCriteria Analysis: implementation of the main algorithm. Notes Intuition. Fuzzy Sets **21**(2), 77–86 (2015)
- Mavrov, D., Radeva, I., Atanassov, K., Doukovska, L., Kalaykov, I.: InterCriteria Software design: graphic interpretation within the intuitionistic fuzzy triangle. In: Proceedings of the Fifth International Symposium on Business Modeling and Software Design, pp. 279–283 (2015)
- 24. World Economic Forum: The Global Competitiveness Report 2013–2014. https://www. weforum.org/reports/global-competitiveness-report-2013-2014
- 25. World Economic Forum: The Global Competitiveness Report 2016–2017. https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-competitiveness-report-2016-2017-1

# Some Remarks About Idempotent Uninorms on Complete Lattice

Paweł Drygaś<sup>(⊠)</sup>

Interdisciplinary Centre for Computational Modelling, University of Rzeszów, Pigonia 1, 35-310 Rzeszów, Poland paweldrs@ur.edu.pl

Abstract. In this paper we study the properties of idempotent uninorms on the lattice, that are one of the binary operations. It is shown that in any lattice idempotent uninorms need not be internal (with the extended definition of the term "internal"). But with additional assumptions, we get that the uninorm is locally internal. With this assumption, we present the theorem of Czogała and Drewniak for a complete lattice. Moreover, many properties of idempotent uninorm in this case is shown.

Keywords: Uninorms  $\cdot$  Aggregation operators  $\cdot$  Complete lattice  $\cdot$  Idempotent operations

#### 1 Introduction

Uninorms were introduced by Yager and Rybalov [19] as a generalization of triangular norms and triangular conorms [18, 20] with more applications, allowing the freedom for the neutral element e to be an arbitrary element from unit interval [0, 1], which is 1 for t-norms and 0 for t-conorms. Fodor et al. and De Baets [4, 5, 12] is among others that have studied the structure of these operators in considerable detail. If the neutral element is not 0 or 1, the construction of uninorm aggregation operators is an important work. These operators play an important role both in theoretical investigations and in practical applications such as the expert systems, neural networks, fuzzy logics, etc.

Martin, Mayor and Torrens [16] characterize idempotent uninorms on unit interval [0, 1] as improvement of a well-known theorem of Czogała and Drewniak [3] on idempotent, associative and increasing operations with a neutral element. Associative, monotonic, idempotent operations with a neutral element are special combinations of minimum and maximum and, consequently, locally internal. The classes  $U_{\min}$  and  $U_{\max}$  are well-known examples of idempotent uninorms, which are the smallest and largest idempotent uninorms with the neutral element e. The characterization of idempotent uninorms given in [4] are also locally internal.

De Baets et al. [5] characterize all idempotent uninorms defined on a finite ordinal scale, similarly as on the unit interval the characterization of idempotent uninorms [3,4,16]. They have proved that any idempotent uninorm is uniquely determined by a decreasing function from the set of scale elements not greater

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_57

than the neutral element to the set of scale elements not smaller than the neutral element. Some other studies related to uninorms can be found also in [7-11, 13, 17].

In this paper, after some preliminaries concerning locally internal operation on unit interval [0, 1] we present the properties of idempotent uninorms on the lattice. It is shown that in any lattice idempotent uninorms need not be internal (with the extended definition of the term "internal"). We remaind a sufficient condition for the lattice to any idempotent uninorm be internal. In addition, many properties of idempotent uninorm in this case is shown and at the end there is given a description of idempotent uninorms on such lattices.

## 2 Preliminaries

We recall here some definitions and results about binary operations on [0, 1] that are monotonic and satisfy the locally internal property, i.e. the value of such operation at any point (x, y) is always one of its arguments. Next we consider uninorms on bounded lattice and its basic properties.

**Definition 1 ([16]).** We say that a binary operation  $F : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  is locally internal if it satisfies the following condition:

$$F(x,y) \in \{x,y\}$$

for all  $x, y \in [0, 1]$ .

The following results shows the relationship between commutativity and associativity for locally internal, monotonic operations.

**Proposition 1 ([16]).** If a locally internal, monotonic operation is commutative, then it is associative.

**Proposition 2 ([3]).** Idempotent, associative, monotonic operation with neutral element is locally internal.

**Definition 2 ([2]).** A bounded lattice we denote by  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  where the top and bottom elements are written as 1 and 0, respectively. Moreover, for  $a, b \in L$ , if a and b are incomparable, we use the notation  $a \parallel b$ .

**Definition 3 ([2]).** Given a bounded lattice  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  and  $a, b \in L$ ,  $a \leq b$ , a subinterval [a, b] of L is defined as

$$[a,b] = \{x \in L \mid a \le x \le b\}.$$

Similarly, we define  $(a, b] = \{x \in L \mid a < x \le b\}, [a, b) = \{x \in L \mid a \le x < b\}$ and  $(a, b) = \{x \in L \mid a < x < b\}.$ 

Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice and  $e \in L$ . Let  $A(e) = [0, e] \times [e, 1] \cup [e, 1] \times [0, e]$  and  $I_e = \{x \in L \mid x \parallel e\}$ .

**Definition 4 ([14]).** Let  $(L, \leq 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice. Operation  $U: L^2 \to L$  is called a uninorm on L (shortly a uninorm, if L is fixed) if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to both variables and there exist an element  $e \in L$  such that U(x, e) = x, for all  $x \in L$ . The element e is called the neutral element of U.

We denote by  $\mathcal{U}(e)$  the set of all uninorms on L with the neutral element  $e \in L$ .

**Definition 5 ([14]).** Operation  $T: L^2 \to L$   $(S: L^2 \to L)$  is called a triangular norm (triangular conorm) if it is commutative, associative, increasing with respect to both variables and has a neutral element e = 1 (e = 0).

**Proposition 3 ([14]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and U a uninorm on L with the neutral element e. Then

 $\begin{array}{ll} (i) \ T = U | [0,e]^2 : [0,e]^2 \to [0,e] \ is \ a \ t\text{-norm} \ on \ [0,e]. \\ (ii) \ S = U | [e,1]^2 : [e,1]^2 \to [e,1] \ is \ a \ t\text{-conorm} \ on \ [e,1]. \end{array}$ 

**Proposition 4 ([14]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and U a uninorm on L with the neutral element e. The following properties hold:

 $\begin{array}{l} (i) \ x \wedge y \leq U(x,y) \leq x \lor y \ for \ all \ (x,y) \in A \ (e), \\ (ii) \ U(x,y) \leq x \ for \ (x,y) \in L \times [0,e], \\ (iii) \ U(x,y) \leq y \ for \ (x,y) \in [0,e] \times L, \\ (iv) \ x \leq U(x,y) \ for \ (x,y) \in L \times [e,1], \\ (v) \ y \leq U(x,y) \ for \ (x,y) \in [e,1] \times L. \end{array}$ 

# 3 Idempotent Uninorms

**Definition 6 ([6]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and U a uninorm on L with the neutral element e. U is called an idempotent uninorm if U(x, x) = x for all  $x \in L$ .

**Proposition 5 ([6]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and U an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element e. Then it holds: (i)  $U(x, y) = x \land y$  for all  $(x, y) \in [0, e]^2$ , (ii)  $U(x, y) = x \lor y$  for all  $(x, y) \in [e, 1]^2$ .

**Proposition 6 (cf. [7]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice,  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and U an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element e. Then it holds:

- (i)  $U(x,y) \in \{x,y\}$  or  $U(x,y) \in I_e$  for all  $(x,y) \in A(e)$ ,
- (ii)  $U(x,y) = x \wedge y \text{ or } U(x,y) \in I_e \text{ for all } x \in [0,e] \text{ and } y \in I_e$ ,
- (iii)  $U(x,y) = x \lor y \text{ or } U(x,y) \in I_e \text{ for all } x \in [e,1] \text{ and } y \in I_e$ ,
- (iv)  $U(x,y) = x \wedge y \text{ or } U(x,y) \in I_e \text{ for all } y \in [0,e] \text{ and } x \in I_e$ ,
- (v)  $U(x,y) = x \lor y$  or  $U(x,y) \in I_e$  for all  $y \in [e,1]$  and  $x \in I_e$ ,
- (vi)  $U(x,y) \in \{x \land y, x \lor y\}$  or  $U(x,y) \in I_e$  for all  $x \in I_e$  and  $y \in I_e$ .

**Proposition 7 (cf. [7]).** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a bounded lattice, U an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with e. Then,  $U(x, y) \in \{x \land y, x \lor y\}$  for all  $(x, y) \in L^2$ .

Directly from Proposition 5, we see that an idempotent uninorm can not be locally internal in the sense of the Definition 1. In accordance with the above proposition, we see that under the appropriate assumptions an idempotent uninorm is locally internal in the broader sense. A natural question arises: If there are some  $x \in L$  incomparable with e, it must always be the fact that  $U(x, y) \in \{x, y, x \land y, x \lor y\}$  for  $U \in \mathcal{U}(e)$ ? In the following example, we give a negative answer regarding the above hypothesis.

*Example 1.* Given a bounded lattice  $L = \{0, x, y, e, z, t, 1\}$  with order in the Fig. 1, define a mapping  $U : L^2 \to L$  by Table 1. Then U is an idempotent uninorm on L with a neutral element e and U(z, x) = t.

U	0	a	b	e	c	d	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
a	0	a	a	a	a	d	d
b	0	a	b	b	d	d	d
e	0	a	b	e	c	d	1
c	0	a	d	c	c	d	1
d	0	d	d	d	d	d	d
1	0	d	d	1	1	d	1

Table 1. The idempotent uninorm given in Example 1



Fig. 1. The lattice given in Example 1

**Proposition 8.** (cf. [7]). Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a lattice, U an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with e. For  $x, y, z \in L$  such that  $x, y \ge e, x \parallel y$  and  $z \le e$ , it may be possible only one of the following conditions:

(i) If U(x, z) = z, then U(y, z) = z,  $U(x \lor y, z) = z$  and  $U(x \land y, z) = z$ . (ii) If U(x, z) = x, then U(y, z) = y and  $U(x \lor y, z) = x \lor y$ .

Unfortunately, value of  $U(x \wedge y, z)$  is not always equal to  $x \wedge y$  while U(x, z) = x for  $x, y \ge e, x \parallel y$  and  $z \le e$ .

*Example 2.* Given a lattice  $L = \{0, a, e, b, c, d, 1\}$  with order given on Fig. 2, define a mapping  $U : L^2 \to L$  by Table 2. Then, U is an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element e. But  $U(c \land d, a) = a$  while U(c, a) = c for  $c, d \ge e$ ,  $c \parallel d$  and  $a \le e$ .

**Proposition 9.** (cf. [7]). Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a lattice, U an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with

U	0	a	e	b	c	d	1
0	0	0	0	0	c	d	1
a	0	a	a	a	c	d	1
e	0	a	e	b	c	d	1
b	0	a	b	b	c	d	1
c	c	c	c	c	c	1	1
d	d	d	d	d	1	d	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

 Table 2. The idempotent uninorm given in Example 2



Fig. 2. The lattice given in Example 2

e. For  $x, y, z \in L$ , such that  $x, y \leq e, x \parallel y$  and  $z \geq e$ , it may be possible only one of the following conditions:

(i) If U(x, z) = z, then U(y, z) = z, U(x ∨ y, z) = z and U(x ∧ y, z) = z.
(ii) If U(x, z) = x, then U(y, z) = y and U(x ∧ y, z) = x ∧ y.

## 4 Separating Function of Idempotent Uninorms on Some Types of Lattices

In this section we will consider the structure of uninorms under some assumptions, that L is a complete lattice,  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  and all elements are comparable with e.

**Definition 7.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a complete lattice, U be an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with e. Then the function  $g: L \to L$  defined by

$$g(x) = \begin{cases} \sup\{z \in L \mid U(x,z) = \min(x,z)\} \text{ if } x \le e,\\ \inf\{z \in L \mid U(x,z) = \max(x,z)\} \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(1)

is called a separating function of idempotent uninorm U.

**Lemma 1.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a complete lattice, U be an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with e. Then the function  $g: L \to L$  defined by (1) has the following properties:

(*i*) g(e) = e.

(ii) For all x < e, it holds that  $g(x) \ge e$  and  $U(x, y) = x \land y$  whenever y < g(x). (iii) For all x > e, it holds that  $g(x) \le e$  and  $U(x, y) = x \lor y$  whenever y > g(x).

*Proof.* Let  $x \in L$ , x < e. Then U(x, e) = x and consequently the set  $B_x = \{z \in L \mid U(x, z) = \min(x, z)\}$  is nonempty. Moreover, by Propositions 8 and 9 we obtain, that  $\sup B_x$  exist. Similarly we have for  $x \ge e$ . It means, that the function  $g: L \to L$  defined by (1) is well defined.

To prove (i) we have

$$g(e) = \sup\{z \in L \mid U(e, z) = \min(e, z)\} \\ = \sup\{z \in L \mid z = \min(e, z)\} \\ = \sup\{z \in L \mid z \le e\} = e$$

(ii) For all x < e, we have that  $U(x, e) = x = \min(x, e)$  and

$$g(x) = \sup\{z \in L \mid U(x, z) = \min(x, z)\} \ge e$$

Moreover, because of Proposition 5 (i) it is enough to consider the condition  $x < e \le y < g(x)$ . By monotonicity of U and definition of g, we obtain that  $U(x, y) = \min(x, y) = x$ . So,  $U(x, y) = x = x \land y$ .

(iii) It can be proved as (ii).

**Corollary 1.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a complete lattice, U be an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with e. Then the function  $g: L \to L$  defined by (1) separate the values min and max in A(e)

**Lemma 2.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a complete lattice, U be an idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  comparable with e and  $g: L \to L$  be defined by (1). Then

- (i) There does not exist  $y \in L$  such that  $y \parallel g(x)$  for all x < e.
- (ii) There does not exist  $y \in L$  such that  $y \parallel g(x)$  for all x > e.
  - *Proof.* (i) Suppose that there exists  $y \in L$  such that  $y \parallel g(x)$  for some x < e. By Proposition 7,  $U(x,y) \in \{x,y\}$ . If U(x,y) = x, then by Proposition 8,  $U(x, y \lor g(x)) = x$ . So, we obtain that

$$g(x) = \sup\{z \in L | U(x, z) = \min(x, z)\} \ge y \lor g(x) > g(x).$$

This is a contradiction. If U(x, y) = y, by Proposition 8, U(x, g(x)) = g(x). Taking  $t = y \land g(x)$  we have two possibilities:

(a) U(x,t) = t, then we have a contradiction with Lemma 1.

(b) U(x,t) = x, then for all z > t we have U(x,z) = z. So, t is is the supremum of the set  $\{z \in L | U(x,z) = \min(x,z)\}$  and t < g(x). This is contradiction.

(ii) It can be proved as (i).

**Theorem 1.** Let  $(L, \leq, 0, 1)$  be a complete lattice, U be an idempotent uninorm on L with neutral element  $e \in L \setminus \{0, 1\}$  such that all  $x \in L$  are comparable with e. Then there exists a decreasing function  $g: L \to L$  with g(e) = e such that

$$U(x,y) = \begin{cases} x \land y & \text{if } y < g(x) \\ x \lor y & \text{if } y > g(x) \\ x \text{ or } y \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2)

*Proof.* Consider the function  $g: L \to L$  defined by (1). By using Proposition 7 and Lemma 1, we obtain that U is given by (2). The monotonicity of U immediately implies that g is decreasing.

*Example 3.* Let  $L = \{0, a, b, c, d, h, e, x, y, z, u, v, w, 1\}$  ba a lattice with order given on Fig. 3 and a mapping  $U : L^2 \to L$  be given by Table 3. Then, U is an



Fig. 3. The lattice given in Example 3

Table 3	. The	idempotent	uninorm	given	in	Example	3
---------	-------	------------	---------	-------	----	---------	---

U	0	a	b	c	d	h	e	x	y	z	u	v	w	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
a	0	a	a	a	a	a	a	a	a	a	a	a	a	1
b	0	a	b	a	a	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	b	1
c	0	a	a	c	a	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	c	1
d	0	a	a	a	d	d	d	d	d	d	d	d	d	1
h	0	a	b	c	d	h	h	x	y	z	u	v	w	1
e	0	a	b	c	d	h	e	x	y	z	u	v	w	1
x	0	a	b	c	d	h	x	x	y	z	u	v	w	1
y	0	a	b	c	d	y	y	y	y	z	w	w	w	1
z	0	a	b	c	d	z	z	z	z	z	w	w	w	1
u	0	a	b	c	d	u	u	u	w	w	u	w	w	1
v	0	a	b	c	d	v	v	v	w	w	w	v	w	1
w	0	a	b	c	d	w	w	w	w	w	w	w	w	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1

idempotent uninorm on L with the neutral element e with a separating function given by

$$g(s) = \begin{cases} 1, s = 0\\ v, s \in \{a, b, c, d\}\\ x, s = h\\ e, s = e\\ h, x \in \{x, y, z, u, v, w\}\\ a, x = 1. \end{cases}$$

# 5 Conclusion

In this paper we studied the properties of idempotent uninorms on the lattice. It is shown that under additional assumption about the lattice idempotent uninorms need to be internal (with the extended definition of the term "internal"). In this case the representation of idempotent uninorm using the separating function is given. Unfortunately, in contrast to the finite lattice considered in [7], in this case we do not get uniqueness, i.e. for one function g we can get several uninorms (as in the case of characterization idempotent uninorms on a unit interval). Moreover, the full characterization of idempotent uninorms on the considered type of latices remains an open problem. In addition, it is an open problem to provide a condition equivalent for a complete lattice so that the idempotent uninorm on the considered lattice is locally internal.

# References

- Aşıcı, E., Karaçal, F.: On the T-partial order and properties. Inf. Sci. 267, 323–333 (2014)
- 2. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publishers, Providence (1967)
- Czogała, E., Drewniak, J.: Associative monotonic operations in fuzzy set theory. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 12, 249–269 (1984)
- 4. De Baets, B.: Idempotent uninorms. Eur. J. Oper. Res. 118, 631–642 (1999)
- De Baets, B., Fodor, J., Ruiz-Aguilera, D., Torrens, J.: Idempotent uninorms on finite ordinal scales. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 17(1), 1–14 (2009)
- Çaylı, G.D., Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: On a new class of uninorms on bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. 367–368, 221–231 (2016)
- Çaylı, G.D., Drygaś, P.: Characterization of idempotent uninorms on some class of bounded lattices. Inf. Sci. (submited)
- Deschrijver, G.: Uninorms which are neither conjunctive nor disjunctive in intervalvalued fuzzy set theory. Inf. Sci. 244, 48–59 (2013)
- Drewniak, J., Drygaś, P.: On a class of uninorms. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 10, 5–10 (2002)
- Drygaś, P.: On properties of uninorms with underlying t-norm and t-conorm given as ordinal sums. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 161, 149–157 (2010)

- Drygaś, P., Ruiz-Aguilera, D., Torrens, J.: A characterization of uninorms locally internal in A(e) with continuous underlying operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 287, 137– 153 (2016)
- Fodor, J., Yager, R.R., Rybalov, A.: Structure of uninorms. Int. J. Uncertainty Fuzziness Knowl. Based Syst. 5, 411–427 (1997)
- Hliněná, D., Kalina, M., Král, P.: A class of implications related to Yager's fimplications. Inf. Sci. 260, 171–184 (2014)
- Karaçal, F., Mesiar, R.: Uninorms on bounded lattices. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 261, 33–43 (2015)
- Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht (2000)
- Martin, J., Mayor, G., Torrens, J.: On locally internal monotonic operations. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 137, 27–42 (2003)
- Mesiarová-Zemánková, A.: Multi-polar t-conorms and uninorms. Inf. Sci. 301, 227– 240 (2015)
- 18. Schweizer, B., Sklar, A.: Statistical metric spaces. Pac. J. Math. 10, 313-334 (1960)
- Yager, R.R., Rybalov, A.: Uninorms aggregation operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 80, 111–120 (1996)
- Yager, R.R.: Aggregation operators and fuzzy systems modeling. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 67, 129–145 (1994)

# Ordinal Sum of Fuzzy Implications Fulfilling Left Ordering Property

Paweł Drygaś $^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Anna Król

Faculty of Mathematics and Natural Sciences, University of Rzeszów, Rzeszów, Poland {paweldrs,annakrol}@ur.edu.pl

**Abstract.** In the article new methods of constructing of ordinal sum of fuzzy implications are proposed. The concepts are based both on a construction of ordinal sums of overlap functions and residual implication of ordinal sum of triangular norms. Moreover, preservation of some properties of the ordinal sums of fuzzy implications are examined.

**Keywords:** Fuzzy connectives  $\cdot$  Fuzzy implication  $\cdot$  Ordinal sum  $\cdot$  Overlap functions  $\cdot$  Residual implication

### 1 Introduction

Fuzzy implications find applications in many fields such as approximate reasoning, decision support systems, and fuzzy control. For this reason new families of these connectives are the subject of investigation. One of the directions of such research is considering an ordinal sum of fuzzy implications on the pattern of the ordinal sum of t-norms. Some interesting results connected to representation of the residual implication corresponding to a fuzzy conjunction (for example continuous or at least left-continuous t-norm) given by an ordinal sum were obtained in [5, 13, 19]. In [21] Su et al. introduced an idea of ordinal sum of fuzzy implications similar to the construction of the ordinal sum of t-norms. In [2, 10, 11, 18]other constructions of ordinal sums of fuzzy implications were proposed.

In this paper, new ways of generating ordinal sums of fuzzy implications are proposed. The ideas are on the basis of a construction of ordinal sums of overlap functions and residual implication of ordinal sum of triangular norms. The proposed constructions generates a fuzzy implication without any additional assumptions on summands.

In Sect. 2 some basic information about fuzzy connectives, in particular triangular norms, overlap functions and fuzzy implications, including their ordinal sums are recalled. In Sect. 3 two new constructions of ordinal sums of fuzzy implications are presented and properties of these operations are examined.

## 2 Preliminaries

Here we recall the notions of a triangular norm, an overlap function, and a fuzzy implication including residual implication. Moreover, we recall and illustrate some of the constructions of ordinal sums of the fuzzy connectives.

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_58

#### 2.1 Triangular Norms

Firstly, we put definition of a triangular norm and one important class of t-norms with some examples of these operations.

**Definition 1 ([16]).** A triangular norm (a t-norm) is an increasing, commutative and associative operation  $T: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  with a neutral element 1.

 $\begin{array}{ll} Example \ 1 \ (cf. \ [14, \ p. \ 7], \ [16, \ p. \ 4]). \ \text{Here, we list well-known t-norms.} \\ T_M(x,y) = \min(x,y), & T_P(x,y) = xy, \\ T_L(x,y) = \max(x+y-1,0), & T_D(x,y) = \begin{cases} x, \ if \ y = 1 \\ y, \ if \ x = 1 \\ 0, \ otherwise \end{cases}, \\ T_{nM}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 0, & ifx+y \leq 1 \\ \min(x,y), \ otherwise \end{cases}. \end{array}$ 

Next, let us recall the generalized Ordinal Sum Theorem for triangular norms [15, Corollary 2].

**Theorem 1 (cf. [9,15,16]).** Let  $([a_k, b_k])_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a countable family of nonoverlapping, closed, proper subintervals of [0, 1], where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite or infinite index set. Let T be an operation in [0, 1] defined by

$$T(x,y) = \begin{cases} a_k + (b_k - a_k)T_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right), & \text{if } (x,y) \in (a_k, b_k]^2, \\ \min(x,y), & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(1)

where for each k the binary operation  $T_k: [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  is associative, commutative increasing such that  $T_k \leq \min$ , i.e.,  $T_k$  is a t-subnorm. Moreover, if  $b_k = a_l$  for some l, k and  $T_l$  is with a zero divisor, then  $T_k$  has the neutral element e = 1. We also assume that if  $b_k = 1$  for some k, then the operation  $T_k$ has the neutral element e = 1. Then the operation T is a t-norm.

**Definition 2.** T-norm T defined as in Theorem 1 in Eq. (1) is called an ordinal sum of  $(\langle [a_k, b_k], T_k \rangle)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  and each  $T_k$  is called a summand.

For the general structure of such ordinal sum of t-norms see Fig. 1. Please note that in all our figures we indicate summands for subdomains, having in mind that they need to be linearly transformed (as given precisely in related formulas), but because of space problems we use this abbreviated indication.

Ordinal sums of t-norms are important not only because in this way we can construct new t-norms but also because they are important in the characterization of continuous t-norms.

**Theorem 2.** For a function  $T: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  the following statements are equivalent:

- (i) T is a continuous t-norm.
- (ii) T is uniquely representable as an ordinal sum of continuous Archimedean t-norms.



Fig. 1. The structure of an ordinal sum of t-norms given by Eq. (1).

#### 2.2 Overlap Functions

The concept of overlap functions was introduced by Bustince et al. [4]. Some properties of these functions (e.g., migrativity, homogeneity, idempotency, convex combination, additive generators) were studied by Bedregal et al. [3,7].

**Definition 3.** A function  $O: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  is called an overlap function if it satisfies the following conditions:

(01) *O* is commutative, (02) O(x, y) = 0 if and only if xy = 0, (03) O(x, y) = 1 if and only if xy = 1, (04) *O* is non-decreasing, (05) *O* is continuous.

*Example 2.* As an example of an overlap function, we can take any positive continuous t-norm. Examples of overlap functions that are not t-norms are the following functions:

$$O_p(x, y) = x^p y^p$$
 with  $p > 0$  and  $p \neq 1$ .

**Definition 4 ([7]).** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a countable set of indexes,  $(O_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a family of overlap functions and  $(a_k, b_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a family of non-empty, pairwise disjoint open subintervals of [0, 1]. An ordinal sum of  $(O_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  is a binary function  $O: [0, 1]^2 \to [0, 1]$  defined by

$$O(x,y) = \begin{cases} a_k + (b_k - a_k)O_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right), & \text{if } (x,y) \in [a_k, b_k]^2, \\ \min(f_A(x), f_A(y)), & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(2)

where  $f_A \colon [0,1] \to [0,1]$  is given by

$$f_A(x) = \begin{cases} a_k + (b_k - a_k)O_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, 1\right), & \text{if } \exists_{k \in \mathcal{A}} \mid x \in [a_k, b_k], \\ x, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

**Theorem 3 (cf.** [7]). The ordinal sum of overlap functions given by (2) is an overlap function.

#### 2.3 Fuzzy Implications

Now, we focus on fuzzy implications.

**Definition 5 (cf. [1,14]).** A function  $I: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  is called a fuzzy implication if it satisfies the following conditions:

(I1) *I* is non-increasing with respect to the first variable,
(I2) *I* is non-decreasing with respect to the second variable,
(I3) *I*(0,0) = 1,
(I4) *I*(1,1) = 1,
(I5) *I*(1,0) = 0.

Directly from the definition we obtain as follows.

**Corollary 1.** Each fuzzy implication I is constant for x = 0 and for y = 1, *i.e.*, it satisfies the following properties, called left and right boundary condition, respectively: I(0, y) = 1, for all  $y \in [0, 1]$  and I(x, 1) = 1 for all  $x \in [0, 1]$ .

There are other properties the fuzzy implication may also have. Some of them are listed below.

**Definition 6 (cf.** [1,7,8]). We say that a fuzzy implication I fulfils:

• the (left) neutrality property (NP), if

$$I(1, y) = y, \quad y \in [0, 1],$$
 (NP)

• the identity principle (IP), if

$$I(x,x) = 1, \quad x \in [0,1],$$
 (IP)

• the ordering property (OP), if

$$I(x,y) = 1 \Leftrightarrow x \le y, \quad x,y \in [0,1], \tag{OP}$$

• the property (CB), if

$$I(x,y) \ge y, \quad x,y \in [0,1], \tag{CB}$$

• the left ordering property (LOP), if

$$x \le y \Rightarrow I(x,y) = 1, \quad x,y \in [0,1],$$
 (LOP)

• the right ordering property (ROP), if

$$I(x,y) = 1 \Rightarrow x \le y, \quad x,y \in [0,1],$$
(ROP)

• the strong boundary condition (SBC), if

$$x \neq 0 \Rightarrow I(x,0) = 0, \quad x, y \in [0,1],$$
 (SBC)

• the strong corner condition for 0 (SCC0), if

$$I(x,y) = 0 \Rightarrow x = 1 \land y = 0, \quad x,y \in [0,1],$$
(SCC0)

• the strong corner condition for 1 (SCC1), if

$$I(x,y) = 1 \Rightarrow x = 0 \lor y = 1, \quad x,y \in [0,1].$$
(SCC1)

Remark 1. Let us notice that the property (CB) is equivalent to the following one

$$I(1, y) \ge y, \ x, y \in [0, 1].$$
 (CB')

Moreover, if a fuzzy implication satisfies NP, then it satisfies (CB).

*Example 3* ([1, 17]). The following are well-known examples of fuzzy implications.

$$\begin{split} I_{\rm LK}(x,y) &= \min(1-x+y,1), \ I_{\rm GG}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq y \\ \frac{y}{x}, & \text{if } x > y \end{cases}, \\ I_{\rm GD}(x,y) &= \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq y \\ y, & \text{if } x > y \end{cases}, \quad I_{\rm RS}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq y \\ 0, & \text{if } x > y \end{cases}, \\ I_{\rm RC}(x,y) &= 1-x+xy, \qquad I_{\rm YG}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x, y = 0 \\ y^x, & \text{if else} \end{cases}, \\ I_{\rm DN}(x,y) &= \max(1-x,y), \qquad I_{\rm FD}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq y \\ \max(1-x,y), & \text{if } x > y \end{cases}, \\ I_{\rm WB}(x,y) &= \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq 1 \\ y, & \text{if } x = 1 \end{cases}, \quad I_{\rm DP}(x,y) = \begin{cases} y, & \text{if } x = 1 \\ 1-x, & \text{if } y = 0 \\ 1, & \text{if } x < 1, y > 0 \end{cases}. \end{split}$$

Now, let us recall an important class of fuzzy implications which are called residual implications.

**Definition 7.** A function  $I : [0,1]^2 \to [0,1]$  is called a residual implication (an *R*-implication) if there exists a t-norm T such that for all  $x, y \in [0,1]$ 

$$I(x,y) = I_T(x,y) = \sup\{t \in [0,1] : T(x,t) \le y\}.$$
(3)

*Example 4.* Table 1 shows R-implications obtained by formula (3) from basic t-norms presented in Example 1.

Now, let us recall the structure of residual implications (3) whose corresponding triangular norms are an ordinal sums of triangular norms.

t-norm ${\cal T}$	R-implication $I_T$					
$T_M$	$I_{GD}$					
$T_P$	$I_{GG}$					
$T_L$	$I_{LK}$					
$T_D$	$I_{WB}$					
$T_n M$	$I_{FD}$					

 Table 1. Basic R-implications.

**Theorem 4** ([1], p. 83, [19]). If T is a continuous triangular norm with an ordinal sum structure (see Theorem 2), then the corresponding R-implication  $I_T$  is given by the formula

$$I_{T}(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq y \\ a_{k} + (b_{k} - a_{k})I_{T_{k}} \left(\frac{x - a_{k}}{b_{k} - a_{k}}, \frac{y - a_{k}}{b_{k} - a_{k}}\right), & \text{if } x, y \in [a_{k}, b_{k}], x > y \\ y, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4)

### 3 Main Results

In this section we propose two methods of generating a new fuzzy implication from given ones based on ordinal sum of overlap functions and residual implication obtained from ordinal sum of t-norms, which take into account differences in monotonicity between overlap functions and fuzzy implications. Let start with the first method.



Fig. 2. The structure of ordinal sum of implications given by Eq. (5).

**Definition 8.** Let  $(I_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a family of fuzzy implications and  $(a_k, b_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a family of pairwise disjoint subintervals of [0,1] with  $a_k < b_k$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ ,

where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite or countably infinite index set. Let us define an operation  $I: [0,1]^2 \rightarrow [0,1]$  by the following formula:

$$I(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \leq y, \\ a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right), & \text{if } x, y \in [a_k, b_k], \ x > y \\ a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k\left(1, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right), & \text{if } x \in (b_k, 1], y \in [a_k, b_k], \\ y, & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases}$$
(5)

For the general structure of the above ordinal sum of fuzzy implications see Fig. 2 (the symbols  $I_i(b_i, y)$  and  $I_j(b_i, y)$  are a shortcut and should be understand as a linear combination of these values).

Our first new result is the following.

**Theorem 5.** The operation I given by (5) is a fuzzy implication.

*Proof.* Let  $x_1, x_2, y \in [0, 1]$  and  $x_1 < x_2$ . If  $y \in [a_k, b_k]$  for some  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ , then we consider the following cases:

- 1.  $x_1 \leq y$ , then  $I(x_1, y) = 1 \leq I(x_2, y)$ ;
- 2.  $x_1 \in [a_k, b_k], x_1 > y$  and

(a)  $x_2 \in [a_k, b_k]$ , then using the monotonicity of  $I_k$  we have

$$I(x_1, y) = a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(\frac{x_1 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  

$$\geq a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(\frac{x_2 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  

$$= I(x_2, y).$$

(b)  $x_2 > b_k$ , then again using the monotonicity of  $I_k$  we have

$$I(x_1, y) = a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(\frac{x_1 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  

$$\geq a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(\frac{b_k - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  

$$= a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(1, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  

$$= I(x_2, y).$$

3.  $x_1 > b_k$ , then using (5) we have  $I(x_1, y) = I(b_k, y) = I(x_2, y)$ .

If  $y \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ , then  $I(x_1, y) = y = I(x_2, y)$ . Thus, I satisfies (I1).

Next, let consider the condition (I2). Let  $x, y_1, y_2 \in [0, 1]$  and  $y_1 < y_2$ . If  $x \in [a_k, b_k]$  for some  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ , then we consider the following cases:

1.  $y_2 > x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) \le 1 = I(x, y_2)$ .

2.  $y_1, y_2 \in [a_k, b_k], y_2 < x$  then using the monotonicity of  $I_k$  we have

$$I(x, y_1) = a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y_1 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  
$$\leq a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y_2 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  
$$= I(x, y_2).$$

- 3.  $y_1 \in [a_i, b_i], y_2 \in [a_j, b_j], y_2 < x$  and  $b_i < a_j$  for some  $i, j \in \mathcal{A}$ , then  $I(x, y_1) \in [a_i, b_i], I(x, y_2) \in [a_j, b_j]$ , so  $I(x, y_1) \leq I(x, y_2)$ .
- 4.  $y_1 \in [a_i, b_i]$  for some  $i \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $y_2 \notin [a_j, b_j]$  for all  $j \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $y_2 < x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) \in [a_i, b_i]$ ,  $I(x, y_2) = y_2$ , so  $I(x, y_1) \leq b_i < y_2 = I(x, y_2)$ .
- 5.  $y_1 \notin [a_i, b_i]$  for all  $i \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $y_2 \in [a_j, b_j]$  for some  $j \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $y_2 < x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) = y_1, I(x, y_2) \in [a_j, b_j]$ , so  $I(x, y_1) = y_1 \leq a_j \leq I(x, y_2)$ .
- 6.  $y_1, y_2 \notin [a_i, b_i]$  for all  $i \in A$ ,  $y_2 < x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) = y_1 < y_2 = I(x, y_2)$ .

If  $x \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}, x \neq 0$  then we consider the following cases:

- 1.  $y_2 > x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) \le 1 = I(x, y_2)$ .
- 2.  $y_1, y_2 \in [a_k, b_k]$  and  $b_k < x$ , then using the monotonicity of  $I_k$  we have

$$I(x, y_1) = a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(1, \frac{y_1 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  
$$\leq a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k \left(1, \frac{y_2 - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right)$$
  
$$= I(x, y_2).$$

- 3.  $y_1 \in [a_i, b_i], y_2 \in [a_j, b_j], y_2 < x$  and  $b_i < a_j$  for some  $i, j \in \mathcal{A}$ , then  $I(x, y_1) \in [a_i, b_i], I(x, y_2) \in [a_j, b_j]$ , so  $I(x, y_1) \leq I(x, y_2)$ .
- 4.  $y_1 \in [a_i, b_i]$  for some  $i \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $y_2 \notin [a_j, b_j]$  for all  $j \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $y_2 < x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) \in [a_i, b_i]$ ,  $I(x, y_2) = y_2$ , so  $I(x, y_1) \leq b_i < y_2 = I(x, y_2)$ .
- 5.  $y_1 \notin [a_i, b_i]$  for all  $i \in \mathcal{A}$  and  $y_2 \in [a_j, b_j]$  for some  $j \in \mathcal{A}$ ,  $y_2 < x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) = y_1, I(x, y_2) \in [a_j, b_j]$ , so  $I(x, y_1) = y_1 \leq a_j \leq I(x, y_2)$ .
- 6.  $y_1, y_2 \notin [a_i, b_i]$  for all  $i \in A$ ,  $y_2 < x$ , then  $I(x, y_1) = y_1 < y_2 = I(x, y_2)$ .

Thus, I satisfies (I2).

Directly from (5) we have I(0,0) = 1 and I(1,1) = 1. If  $0 \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ , then I(1,0) = 0. If  $0 \in [a_k, b_k]$  for some  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  i.e.  $a_k = 0$ , then  $I(1,0) = b_k I_k(1,0) = 0$ . Therefore I fulfils (I3), (I4) and (I5).

Now, let us examine some properties of the operation I given by (5).

**Theorem 6.** Let I be given by (5).

- (i) I satisfies (NP) if and only if  $I_k$  satisfies (NP) for all  $k \in A$ .
- (ii) I satisfies (IP).
- (iii) I satisfies (LOP).

- (iv) I satisfies (ROP) if and only if one of following conditions holds
  (a) 1 ∉ [a<sub>k</sub>, b<sub>k</sub>] for all k ∈ A,
  - (b) there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $b_k = 1$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (ROP).
- (v) I satisfies (OP) if and only if one of following conditions holds (a)  $1 \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ ,
  - (b) there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $b_k = 1$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (OP).
- (vi) I satisfies (CB) if and only if  $I_k$  satisfies (CB) for all  $k \in A$ .
- (vii) I satisfies (SBC) if and only if one of following conditions holds (a)  $0 \notin [a_k, b_b]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ ,
  - (b) there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $a_k = 0$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (SBC).
- (viii) I satisfies (SCC0) if and only if there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $[a_k, b_k] = [0, 1]$ and  $I_k$  satisfies (SCC0).
  - (ix) I does not satisfy (SCC1).

*Proof.* Directly by (5) we obtain that I satisfies (IP) and (LOP).

(iv) Firstly, let us assume that I satisfies (ROP). If there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $b_k = 1$  then

$$I_k(x, y) = 1,$$
  
$$\frac{I((1 - a_k)x + a_k, (1 - a_k)y + a_k) - a_k}{1 - a_k} = 1,$$
  
$$I((1 - a_k)x + a_k, (1 - a_k)y + a_k) = 1.$$

Since I satisfies (ROP) we have

$$(1 - a_k)x + a_k \le (1 - a_k)y + a_k,$$
  

$$(1 - a_k)x \le (1 - a_k)y,$$
  

$$x < y.$$

This means that  $I_k$  satisfies (ROP).

Now, let us assume that x > y and consider two cases

- 1.  $1 \notin [a_k, b_b]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ . If  $y \in [a_k, b_k]$  for some  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ , then  $I(x, y) \in [a_k, b_k]$ and I(x, y) < 1. If  $y \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  then I(x, y) = y < 1.
- 2. there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $b_k = 1$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (ROP). If  $y \in [a_k, 1]$  then we have

$$I(x, y) = 1,$$
  
$$a_k + (1 - a_k)I_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{1 - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{1 - a_k}\right) = 1,$$
  
$$(1 - a_k)I_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{1 - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{1 - a_k}\right) = 1 - a_k,$$
  
$$I_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{1 - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{1 - a_k}\right) = 1,$$

Since  $I_k$  satisfies (ROP) we have

$$\frac{x - a_k}{1 - a_k} \le \frac{y - a_k}{1 - a_k}$$
$$x \le y.$$

a contradiction.

If  $y < a_k$  then the proof is similar as in 1.

(v) By joining (iii) and (iv) we get (OP). The rest of the properties are simple consequence of Eq. (5).

In this paper we propose yet another method of generating fuzzy implication by the use of an ordinal sum of fuzzy implications.

**Definition 9.** Let  $(I_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a family of fuzzy implications and  $(a_k, b_k)_{k \in \mathcal{A}}$  be a family of pairwise disjoint subintervals of [0, 1] with  $a_k < b_k$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ , where  $\mathcal{A}$  is a finite or countably infinite index set. Let us define an operation  $I: [0, 1]^2 \rightarrow [0, 1]$  by the following formula:

$$I(x,y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } x \ge y, \\ a_k + (b_k - a_k)I_k\left(\frac{x - a_k}{b_k - a_k}, \frac{y - a_k}{b_k - a_k}\right), & \text{if } x, y \in [a_k, b_k], \\ a_k, & \text{if } x \in (b_k, 1], y \in [a_k, b_k], \\ y, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(6)

For the general structure of the above ordinal sum of fuzzy implications see Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. The structure of ordinal sum of implications given by Eq. (6).

Similarly as in the previous method we obtain a fuzzy implication.

**Theorem 7.** The operation I given by (6) is a fuzzy implication.

Now, let us examine some properties of the operation I given by (6).

**Theorem 8.** Let I be given by (6).

- (i) I satisfies (NP) if and only if I has only one summand  $I_{k_0}$  which satisfies (NP) with underlying interval  $[a_{k_0}, 1]$ .
- (ii) I satisfies (IP).
- (iii) I satisfies (LOP).
- (iv) I satisfies (ROP) if and only if one of following conditions holds (a)  $1 \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ ,
  - (b) there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $b_k = 1$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (ROP).
- (v) I satisfies (OP) if and only if one of following conditions holds (a)  $1 \notin [a_k, b_k]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ ,
  - (b) there exists  $k \in A$  such that  $b_k = 1$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (OP).
- (vi) I does not satisfy (CB).
- (vii) I satisfies (SBC) if and only if one of following conditions holds (a)  $0 \notin [a_k, b_b]$  for all  $k \in \mathcal{A}$ ,
  - (b) there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $a_k = 0$  and  $I_k$  satisfies (SBC).
- (viii) I satisfies (SCC0) if and only if there exists  $k \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $[a_k, b_k] = [0, 1]$ and  $I_k$  satisfies (SCC0).
  - (ix) I does not satisfy (SCC1).

# 4 Conclusions

In the paper two new methods of constructing ordinal sums of fuzzy implications which lead to fuzzy implications are presented. Basic properties of thus obtained operation have been examined.

It seems useful to examine other properties of the component of introduced ordinal sums which can be preserved by the ordinal sums. It seems also necessary to compare the here obtained methods with other existing methods of constructing ordinal sum of fuzzy implications.

Acknowledgment. The work on this paper was partially supported by the Centre for Innovation and Transfer of Natural Sciences and Engineering Knowledge in Rzeszów, through Project Number RPPK.01.03.00-18-001/10.

# References

- 1. Jayaram, B.: Fuzzy Implications. Springer, Berlin (2008)
- Baczyński, M., Drygaś, P., Król, A, Mesiar, R.: New types of ordinal sum of fuzzy implications. In: Proceedings of FUZZ-IEEE 2017. IEEE (2017)
- Bedregal, B.C., Dimuro, G.P., Bustince, H., Barrenechea, E.: New results on overlap and grouping functions. Inf. Sci. 249, 148–170 (2013)
- Bustince, H., Fernandez, J., Mesiar, R., Montero, J., Orduna, R.: Overlap functions. Nonlinear Anal. 72(3–4), 1488–1499 (2010)

- De Baets, B., Mesiar, R.: Residual implicators of continuous t-norms. In: Zimmermann, H.J. (ed.) Proceedings of 4th European Congress on Intelligent Techniques and Soft Computing, vol. 1, pp. 27-31. ELITE, Aachen, 26 September 1996
- Dimuro, G.P., Bedregal, B.: Archimedean overlap functions: the ordinal sum and the cancellation, idempotency and limiting properties. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 252, 39–54 (2014)
- Dimuro, G.P., Bedregal, B., Santiago, R.H.N.: On (G, N)-implications derived from grouping functions. Inf. Sci. 279, 1–17 (2014)
- Dimuro, G.P., Bedregal, B.: On residual implications derived from overlap functions. Inf. Sci. 312, 78–88 (2015)
- Drewniak, J., Drygaś, P.: Ordered semigroups in constructions of uninorms and nullnorms. In: Grzegorzewski, P., et al. (eds.) Issues in Soft Computing Theory and Applications, pp. 147–158. EXIT, Warsaw (2005)
- Drygaś, P., Król, A: Various kinds of ordinal sums of fuzzy implications. In: Atanassov, K.T., et al. (eds.) Novel Developments in Uncertainty Representation and Processing. Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing, vol. 401, pp. 37–49. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2016)
- Drygaś, P., Król, A.: Generating fuzzy implications by ordinal sums. Tatra Mt. Math. Publ. 66, 39–50 (2016)
- Drygaś, P., Król, A: Two constructions of ordinal sums of fuzzy implications. In: Proceedings of the Fifteenth International Workshop on Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets and Generalized Nets, Warsaw, Poland, 12–14 October 2016
- Durante, F., Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Sempi, C.: Conjunctors and their residual implicators: characterizations and construction methods. Mediterr. J. Math. 4, 343–356 (2007)
- 14. Fodor, J., Roubens, M.: Fuzzy Preference Modelling and Multicriteria Decision Support. Kluwer, Dordrecht (1994)
- 15. Jenei, S.: A note on the ordinal sum theorem and its consequence for the construction of triangular norm. Fuzzy Sets Syst. **126**, 199–205 (2002)
- 16. Klement, E.P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular Norms. Kluwer, Dordrecht (2000)
- Król, A.: Generating of fuzzy implications. In: Montero, J., et al. (eds.) Proceedings of the 8th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, EUSFLAT 2013, pp. 758–763. Atlantis Press, Milano, 11–13 September 2013
- Massanet, S., Recasens, J., Torrens, J.: Fuzzy implication functions based on powers of continuous t-norms. Int. J. Approximate Reasoning 83, 265–279 (2017)
- Mesiar, R., Mesiarova, A.: Residual implications and left-continuous t-norms which are ordinal sums of semigroups. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 143, 47–57 (2004)
- Shi, Y., Van Gasse, B., Ruan, D., Kerre, E.: On dependencies and independencies of fuzzy implication axioms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 161, 1388–1405 (2010)
- 21. Su, Y., Xie, A., Liu, H.: On ordinal sum implications. Inf. Sci. 293, 251–262 (2015)

# Relativization of Fuzzy Quantifiers: Initial Investigations

Antonín Dvořák $^{(\boxtimes)}$  and Michal Holčapek

Institute for Research and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling, CE IT4Innovations, University of Ostrava, 30. dubna 22, 701 03 Ostrava, Czech Republic {antonin.dvorak,michal.holcapek}@osu.cz http://irafm.osu.cz

**Abstract.** We discuss so-called relativization of various classes of generalized quantifiers (bivalent, fuzzy, semi-fuzzy). We show that for fuzzy quantifiers, relativization cannot be defined in a satisfactory way. Hence we provide a generalization of fuzzy quantifiers consisting of use of a fuzzy set as a universe for quantification. Relativization of these fuzzy quantifiers fulfills intuitive requirements.

**Keywords:** Fuzzy quantifier  $\cdot$  Generalized quantifier  $\cdot$  Relativization  $\cdot$  Residuated lattice

## 1 Introduction

In this paper we study the important operation of *relativization* from the perspective of fuzzy quantifiers. In the most common case of quantifiers<sup>1</sup> with one argument (so-called type  $\langle 1 \rangle^2$ ), relativization of such (bivalent, i.e., twovalued) quantifier Q is a quantifier  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  with two arguments (type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ ).  $Q^{\text{rel}}$ behaves as Q, but on a universe provided by its first argument. Formally, for all  $A, B \subseteq M$ ,

$$Q_M^{\rm rel}(A,B) := Q_A(A \cap B),\tag{1}$$

(see Sect. 3.2).<sup>3</sup>

The importance of relativization follows from its ability to link related quantifiers of different types. It also permits to characterize an important class of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  quantifiers with semantic properties of extension and conservativity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In this paper, we will use the term *quantifier* instead of more common *generalized quantifier*. Our presentation of (generalized) quantifiers mainly follows a general approach of book [16], see also [10]. Important papers and books on *fuzzy quantifiers* include [3, 7, 8, 12-15, 17].

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  This notation originated in [11], where quantifiers are understood to be classes of relational structures of a certain type (representing a number of arguments and variable binding). It is widely used in the literature on generalized quantifiers [16].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>  $Q_M^{\text{rel}}(A, B)$  denotes the truth value of quantifier  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  defined on universe M for arguments A and B.

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_59

as relativizations of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  quantifiers. However, if we translate formula (1) directly into the language of fuzzy set theory (A and B are now fuzzy subsets of M), we run into problems, because there is a type mismatch in the expression on the right side of (1): in a position for the universe for Q, a classical set (such as M) is expected, not a fuzzy set A. It is possible to try to amend this by using, for example, the support of A in this place, but results are not satisfactory (see Sect. 4.2). We are even able to proof (Theorem 2) that it is not possible to define relativization of fuzzy quantifiers (in the sense of Definitions 7 and 8) in a satisfactory way.

Our solution lies in a generalization of the definition of fuzzy quantifiers. It turns out that when we define fuzzy quantifiers not on a crisp universal set, but on a fuzzy set (Definitions 12 and 13), things start to run smoothly and important theorems that hold for bivalent quantifiers start to hold for fuzzy quantifiers too.

These new fuzzy quantifiers (we call them C-fuzzy quantifiers)<sup>4</sup> possess interesting properties. In this paper, we, besides some examples showing how models of common quantifiers "for all", "some" etc., can be defined, concentrate only on their behaviour with respect to relativization.

### 2 Preliminaries

#### 2.1 Structures of Truth Values

The basic structure of truth values in this paper will be a *commutative bounded* integral residuated lattice  $\mathbf{L} = \langle L, \wedge, \vee, \rightarrow, \otimes, \bot, \top \rangle$  [6],<sup>5</sup> that is, an algebra with four binary operations and two constants such that  $\mathbf{L} = \langle L, \wedge, \vee, \bot, \top \rangle$  is a lattice, where  $\bot$  is the least element and  $\top$  is the greatest element of L,  $\mathbf{L} = \langle L, \otimes, \top \rangle$  is a commutative monoid (i.e.,  $\otimes$  is associative and commutative and the identity  $a \otimes \top = a$  holds for any  $a \in L$ ) and the adjointness property

$$a \otimes b \leq c$$
 if and only if  $a \leq b \rightarrow c$ 

is satisfied for all  $a, b, c \in L$ , where  $\leq$  denotes the corresponding lattice ordering. The operations  $\otimes$  and  $\rightarrow$  are usually called multiplication and residuum, respectively. Negation  $\neg$  is a defined operation:  $\neg a := a \rightarrow \bot$  for all  $a \in L$ .

Important special cases of residuated lattices are *IMTL-algebras*, *MV-algebras*, the standard *Lukasiewicz algebra* on [0, 1] and the *Boolean algebra* **2** on the two-element support  $2 := \{0, 1\}$ . Details on these algebras can be found, e.g., in [1, 2].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The C in their name refers to the most natural denotation for the fuzzy set acting as a universe of discourse, because letters A and B are usually reserved for arguments of the most common quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  and M is always used for a *crisp* universe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We will call this structure a residuated lattice for short.
#### 2.2 Sets and Fuzzy Sets

Let X be a set. Then  $2^X$  denotes the set of all mappings from X to  $\{0, 1\}$ . These mappings can be understood as *characteristic functions* of subsets of X. Therefore,  $2^X$  denotes also the set of all subsets of X.

Let M be a set and  $\mathbf{L}$  be a residuated lattice. A mapping  $A: M \to L$  is called a *fuzzy set* on M. A value A(m) is called the *membership degree* of m in the fuzzy set A. The set of all fuzzy sets on M is denoted by  $L^M$ . A support of a fuzzy set A is denoted by Supp(A) and defined as  $\text{Supp}(A) = \{m \in M \mid m > \bot\}$ .  $\emptyset_M$ denotes the empty fuzzy set on M, that is,  $\emptyset_M(m) = \bot$  for all  $m \in M$ . A fuzzy set A is a subset of fuzzy set B if for all  $m \in M$ ,  $A(m) \leq B(m)$ . The set of all subsets of a fuzzy set A is denoted by  $L^A$ . A fuzzy set A is called *crisp* if there is a subset  $Z \in M$  such that  $A = \mathbb{1}_Z$ , where  $\mathbb{1}_Z$  denotes the characteristic function of Z.

Let  $\{A_i \mid i \in I\}$  be a non-empty family of fuzzy sets on M. Then the union and intersection of  $A_i$  are defined as

$$\left(\bigcup_{i\in I} A_i\right)(m) := \bigvee_{i\in I} A_i(m) \quad \text{and} \quad \left(\bigcap_{i\in I} A_i\right)(m) := \bigwedge_{i\in I} A_i(m), \tag{2}$$

respectively, for any  $m \in M$ . Finally, an extension of the operations  $\otimes$  and  $\rightarrow$  on L to the operations on  $L^M$  is given by

$$(A \otimes B)(m) := A(m) \otimes B(m)$$
 and  $(A \to B)(m) := A(m) \to B(m),$  (3)

respectively, for any  $A, B \in L^M$  and  $m \in M$ .

Let  $f: M \to M'$  be a mapping. A mapping  $f^{\to}: L^M \to L^{M'}$  defined by  $f^{\to}(A)(m') := \bigvee_{m \in f^{-1}(m')} A(m)$  is called the *fuzzy extension* of the mapping f. Obviously, if f is a one-to-one mapping from M onto M', then  $f^{\to}(A)(f(m)) = A(m)$  for any  $m \in M$ .

#### 2.3 L-fuzzy Equivalence

In Sect. 5 we will need the following operations. Let M be a set and  $\mathbf{L}$  be a complete residuated lattice.

(i) The mapping  $\cong_M : L^M \times L^M \to L$  defined as

$$A \cong_M B := \bigwedge_{m \in M} (A(m) \leftrightarrow B(m)) \tag{4}$$

is called the **L**-fuzzy equivalence on M.

(ii) The mapping  $\stackrel{\sim}{\cong}_M : L^{\hat{M}} \times L^M \to L$  defined as

$$A \subseteq_M B := \bigwedge_{m \in M} (A(m) \to B(m)) \tag{5}$$

is called the **L**-fuzzy subsethood on M.

# 3 Bivalent Quantifiers

By *NL-quantifiers*, we in this paper understand natural language expressions such as "for all", "many", "several", etc. For our purposes it is not necessary to delineate the class of NL-quantifiers formally. In fact, we are interested in *mathematical models* of these natural language quantifiers. For the sake of comprehensibility, we in the following informal explanation consider NL-quantifiers with two arguments, such as "some" in sentence "Some people are clever."

### 3.1 Global and Local Quantifiers

Generally [16], a model of the NL-quantifier "some" takes the form of a functional (the so-called global quantifier) some that to any universe of discourse M assigns a local quantifier some<sub>M</sub>. This local quantifier is a mapping that to any two subsets A and B of M assigns a truth value some<sub>M</sub>(A, B). If we consider only (classical) sets A and B and the truth value of some<sub>M</sub>(A, B) can be either true or false only, we say that this some is a bivalent quantifier. If A and B are fuzzy sets and the truth value of some<sub>M</sub>(A, B) is taken from some many-valued structure of truth degrees, we say that this some<sup>6</sup> is a fuzzy quantifier.

**Definition 1 (Local bivalent quantifier).** Let M is a universe of discourse. A local bivalent quantifier  $Q_M$  of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  on M is a function from  $(2^M)^n \times 2^M$  to 2 that to any sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  and B from  $2^M$  assigns a truth value  $Q_M(A_1, \ldots, A_n, B)$  from 2.

**Definition 2 (Global bivalent quantifier).** A global bivalent quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  is a functional that to any universe M assigns a local bivalent quantifier  $Q_M: (2^M)^n \times 2^M \to 2$  of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$ .

Important examples of bivalent quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  are  $\forall$  and  $\exists$ . They are defined as  $\forall_M(B) := B = M$  and  $\exists_M(B) := B \neq \emptyset$ .<sup>7</sup> Important examples of bivalent quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  are all and some, defined as  $\mathsf{all}_M(A, B) := A \subseteq B$  and  $\mathsf{some}_M(A, B) := A \cap B \neq \emptyset$ .

There are many semantic properties that can be defined for bivalent quantifiers. Here we recall only three properties necessary for the statement of an important theorem in the next subsection. However, these properties are essential from the point of view of the adequacy of our models with respect to natural language semantics. For discussion on motivation of these properties, see [16] and also [4,5,9]. Briefly, isomorphism invariance (ISOM) holds for quantifiers invariant with respect to bijections between various universes of discourse. It means that these quantifiers are not sensitive to individual objects but to numbers of them (cardinalities of respective sets). Quantifiers with the property of extension

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It will be always clear from the context whether **some** denotes (global/local) bivalent quantifier, fuzzy quantifier or C-fuzzy quantifier (see Sect. 5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For example, the definition of  $\forall$  should be read as follows: If *B* is equal to *M*, then the truth value of  $\forall_M(B)$  is equal to 1, otherwise it is equal to 0.

(EXT) are invariant with respect to possible extensions of the universe of discourse. This is typical for models of NL-quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ , because their first argument (also called *restriction*) provides the universe of discourse for the given quantifier application. Hence, the extension of the underlying universe of discourse should not be relevant. The final semantic property is conservativity (CONS). The intuitive meaning of this property can be expressed as follows. If we want to know the truth value of a quantified statement "Q As are B" (e.g., "All streets are wet"), only those B that are also A are relevant. Specifically, if "all" is conservative, the sentence above is logically equivalent to S = "All streets are streets and are wet". Wet things that are not streets are irrelevant.

**Definition 3 (Isomorphism invariance).** We say that a bivalent quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  is isomorphism invariant if for any universe M and bijection  $f: M \to M'$  and all  $A_1, \ldots, A_n, B \in 2^M$  it holds that

$$Q_M(A_1, \ldots, A_n, B) = Q_{M'}(f(A_1), \ldots, f(A_n), f(B)),$$

where f(A) denotes the image of A under f. The set of all isomorphism-invariant bivalent quantifiers is denoted by ISOM.

**Definition 4 (Extension).** We say that a bivalent quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  satisfies the property of extension if for any M and M' such that  $M \subseteq M'$  it holds that, for any  $A_1, \ldots, A_n, B \in 2^M$ ,

$$Q_M(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B) = Q_{M'}(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B).$$

The set of all bivalent quantifiers satisfying the property of extension is denoted by EXT.

**Definition 5 (Conservativity).** Let  $n \ge 1$ . We say that a bivalent quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  is conservative if for any M and any  $A_1, \ldots, A_n, B, B' \in 2^M$  it holds that if  $A_1 \cap B = A_1 \cap B', \cdots, A_n \cap B = A_n \cap B'$ , then

$$Q_M(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B) = Q_M(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B').$$

The set of all conservative bivalent quantifiers is denoted by CONS. It can be shown that for the most common quantifiers of type  $\langle 1,1\rangle$ , a quantifier Q is conservative if and only if for any M and any  $A, B \in 2^M$ ,

$$Q_M(A,B) = Q_M(A,A \cap B).$$

### 3.2 Relativization of Bivalent Quantifiers

In this paper, we consider only the most common case of relativization of quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ .

**Definition 6** ([16]). Let Q be a global bivalent quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ . The relativization of Q is a global bivalent quantifier  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  defined as

$$(Q^{\mathrm{rel}})_M(A,B) := Q_A(A \cap B) \tag{6}$$

for all  $A, B \in 2^M$ .

The importance of relativization follows from its ability to link related quantifiers of different types. For example, it is intuitively clear that the bivalent quantifier  $\forall$  of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  is related to the bivalent quantifier all of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ . This relation is established by the fact that

$$\forall^{\mathrm{rel}} = \mathsf{all},$$

and, similarly,

$$\exists^{\mathrm{rel}} = \mathsf{some}.$$

Relativization is especially interesting from the point of view of modeling of NL-quantifiers. In [16], it is argued that *all* models of NL-quantifiers of the most common type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  should be conservative and satisfy the property of extension. The following theorem shows that there is one-to-one correspondence between bivalent quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  and bivalent quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ satisfying conservativity and extension. This correspondence is provided just by the relativization. Hence, any model of a NL-quantifier of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  can be established as the relativization of a bivalent quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ . Moreover, if a bivalent quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  is isomorphism invariant, the same holds for its relativization.

**Theorem 1** ([16]). Let Q be a bivalent quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  and P be a bivalent quantifier of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ . Then

- (a)  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  is EXT and CONS.
- (b) If P is EXT and CONS, then there exists a bivalent quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  such that  $Q^{\text{rel}} = P$ .
- (c)  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  is ISOM if and only if Q is ISOM.

# 4 Fuzzy Quantifiers

#### 4.1 Definitions

Straightforward generalization [9] of Definitions 1 and 2 consists of replacing classical sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  and B by fuzzy subsets of M and of using a residuated lattice **L** instead of the Boolean algebra **2**.

**Definition 7 (Local fuzzy quantifier).** Let M is a universe of discourse. A local fuzzy quantifier  $Q_M$  of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  on M is a function from  $(L^M)^n \times L^M$  to L that to any fuzzy sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  and B from  $L^M$  assigns a truth value  $Q_M(A_1, \ldots, A_n, B)$  from L.

**Definition 8 (Global fuzzy quantifier).** A global fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  is a functional that to any universe M assigns a local fuzzy quantifier  $Q_M: (L^M)^n \times L^M \to L$  of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$ . The set of all global fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  will be denoted by  $\text{QUANT}_{\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle}$ .

Important examples of fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  are, again,  $\forall$  and  $\exists$ . They are standardly defined as

$$\forall_M(B) := \bigwedge_{m \in M} B(m)$$

and

$$\exists_M(B) := \bigvee_{m \in M} B(m).$$

Important examples of fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1,1\rangle$  are all and some, defined as

$$\mathsf{all}_M(A,B) := \bigwedge_{m \in M} (A \to B)(m) \tag{7}$$

and

$$\mathsf{some}_M(A,B) := \bigvee_{m \in M} (A \cap B)(m). \tag{8}$$

In some situations, it is advantageous to consider fuzzy quantifiers that are sensitive only to supports of some of its arguments. In other words, they ignore vagueness in some of its arguments. We call such fuzzy quantifiers *semi-fuzzy* quantifiers [7]. The formal definition is as follows.

**Definition 9 (Semi-fuzzy quantifiers).** A fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  is semi-fuzzy in its i-th component, where  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n+1\}$ , if for an arbitrary universe M and  $A_1, \ldots, A_{n+1} \in L^M$  it holds that

$$Q_M(A_1,\ldots,A_i,\ldots,A_{n+1}) = Q_M(A_1,\ldots,\operatorname{Supp}(A_i),\ldots,A_{n+1}).$$

A fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  that is semi-fuzzy in each of its components is called semi-fuzzy quantifier of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$ .

As an example, consider the sentence "All pregnant women are happy". Because the predicate "to be a pregnant woman" is bivalent, it is not necessary to model the NL-quantifier "all" by "fully fuzzy" quantifier (7), but by semi-fuzzy in the first argument quantifier all<sup>sf</sup> defined as

$$\mathsf{all}_M^{\mathsf{sf}}(A,B) := \bigwedge_{m \in \mathrm{Supp}(A)} B(m).$$
(9)

Similarly,

$$\operatorname{some}_{M}^{\operatorname{sf}}(A,B) := \bigvee_{m \in \operatorname{Supp}(A)} B(m).$$
 (10)

It is easy to see that for any M and  $A, B \in L^M$  it holds that if A is crisp, then  $\mathsf{all}_M(A, B) = \mathsf{all}_M^{\mathsf{sf}}(A, B)$ .

#### 4.2 Relativization of Fuzzy Quantifiers

In [9], the second author of the present paper defined *relativization* and *weak* relativization of fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  defined according to Definitions 7 and 8.

**Definition 10.** Let Q is a fuzzy quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ . Then its relativization  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  or weak relativization  $Q^{\text{w-rel}}$  is the fuzzy quantifier of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  given by

$$Q_M^{\text{rel}}(A,B) := Q_{\text{Supp}(A)}(A \cap B) \tag{11}$$

or

$$Q_M^{\text{w-rel}}(A,B) := Q_{\text{Supp}(A)}(\text{Supp}(A) \cap B), \tag{12}$$

respectively, for an arbitrary crisp universe M and  $A, B \in L^M$ .

We see that these definitions are somewhat awkward, because they use the support of A instead of expected A itself on their right sides (compare with (6)). It is caused by the fact that the universe on which fuzzy quantifiers are defined is always *crisp*. Therefore, we are forced to use a crisp set there, and Supp(A) seems to be a natural choice. It is easy to see that for any fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ ,  $Q^{\text{w-rel}}$  is semi-fuzzy in its first component.

If we try to establish a similar correspondence between fuzzy quantifiers of types  $\langle 1 \rangle$  and  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  by means of relativization (11) or weak relativization (12) as for bivalent quantifiers in Sect. 3.2, we obtain the following results.

$$(\forall^{\mathrm{rel}})_M(A,B) = \bigwedge_{m \in \mathrm{Supp}(A)} (A \cap B)(m), \tag{13}$$

$$(\forall^{\text{w-rel}})_M(A,B) = \bigwedge_{m \in \text{Supp}(A)} (\text{Supp}(A) \cap B)(m) = \bigwedge_{m \in \text{Supp}(A)} (B)(m), \quad (14)$$

$$(\exists^{\mathrm{rel}})_M(A,B) = \bigvee_{m \in \mathrm{Supp}(A)} (A \cap B)(m), \tag{15}$$

$$(\exists^{\text{w-rel}})_M(A,B) = \bigvee_{m \in \text{Supp}(A)} (\text{Supp}(A) \cap B)(m) = \bigvee_{m \in \text{Supp}(A)} (B)(m).$$
(16)

We can see that  $\forall^{w\text{-rel}} = \mathsf{all}^{\mathsf{sf}}$  and  $\exists^{w\text{-rel}} = \mathsf{some}^{\mathsf{sf}}$ . Therefore, weak relativization links fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  to semi-fuzzy in the first component quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ . However, use of relativization (11) does not provide satisfactory results, because although it holds that  $\exists^{\text{rel}} = \mathsf{some}$ , it also holds that  $\forall^{\text{rel}} \neq \mathsf{all}$  (cf. (7)). Moreover, the fuzzy quantifier  $\forall^{\text{rel}}$  from (13) does not model the NL-quantifier "all" in any reasonable sense.

Now we formulate the theorem saying that it is not possible to define a relativization operation for fuzzy quantifiers in such a way that the relativization of  $\forall$  is all and, at the same time, the relativization of  $\exists$  is some. It means that the failure of the relativization (11) and the weak relativization (12) in this

respect is inevitable and cannot be avoided in the frame of fuzzy quantifiers from Definitions 7 and 8. For this purpose, we define an operation called *generalized relativization* in the following way.

**Definition 11 (Generalized relativization).** Let M be an arbitrary universe. Let  $X_M : L^M \times L^M \to 2^M$  be an operation that to any two fuzzy sets  $A, B \in L^M$  assigns a crisp subset of  $M.^8$  Let  $\varphi_M : L^M \times L^M \to L^M$  be an operation that to any two fuzzy sets  $A, B \in L^M$  assigns a fuzzy set on  $M.^9$  We say that grel : QUANT<sub>(1)</sub>  $\to$  QUANT<sub>(1,1)</sub>, defined as

$$(Q^{\text{grel}})_M(A,B) := Q_{X_M(A,B)}(\varphi_M(A,B))$$
(17)

for any  $Q \in \text{QUANT}_{\langle 1 \rangle}$ , any M and  $A, B \in L^M$ , is a generalized relativization from fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  to fuzzy quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ .

**Theorem 2.** Let **L** be a residuated lattice such there exists  $\alpha \in L$  for which  $\perp < \alpha < \top$ . Let grel be a generalized relativization (17). Then if  $\forall^{\text{grel}} = \mathsf{all}$ , then  $\exists^{\text{grel}} \neq \mathsf{some}$ , and if  $\exists^{\text{grel}} = \mathsf{some}$ , then  $\forall^{\text{grel}} \neq \mathsf{all}$ .

*Proof sketch.* Let M be an arbitrary non-empty universe. Let us define fuzzy sets  $A_0$  and  $B_0$  on M as follows:

$$A_0 = B_0 = \left\{ \alpha / m_0 \right\}$$

for  $m_0 \in M$  and  $\perp < \alpha < \top$ .

We can prove that, in order to secure that  $\exists_M^{\text{grel}}(A_0, B_0) = \text{some}_M(A_0, B_0)$ and, in the same time,  $\forall_M^{\text{grel}}(A_0, B_0) = \text{all}_M(A_0, B_0)$ , it would be necessary that  $\varphi_M(A_0, B_0)(m_0) = \alpha$  and  $\varphi_M(A_0, B_0)(m_0) = \top$ , which is impossible.  $\Box$ 

# 5 C-fuzzy Quantifiers

In the previous section, we saw that it is not possible to define a relativization of fuzzy quantifiers in a way that satisfies intuitive requirements. In this section, we outline a solution consisting in a generalization of a definition of fuzzy quantifiers.

**Definition 12 (Local** C-fuzzy quantifier). Let C be a fuzzy set (on some fixed non-empty universe M). A local C-fuzzy quantifier  $Q_C$  of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  on C is a function from  $(L^C)^n \times L^C$  to L that to any fuzzy sets  $A_1, \ldots, A_n$  and B from  $L^C$  assigns a truth value  $Q_C(A_1, \ldots, A_n, B)$ .

In the rest of this paper, we always assume that M is a non-empty (fixed) set.<sup>10</sup> In many cases, when no misunderstanding can occur, we omit in definitions, examples, etc., that C-fuzzy quantifiers are defined "on M".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> An example of  $X_M$ :  $X_M(A, B) := \text{Supp}(A)$  as in (11) and (12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Examples of  $\varphi_M$ :  $\varphi_M^1(A, B) := A \cap B$  as in (11) or  $\varphi_M^2(A, B) := \text{Supp}(A) \cap B$  as in (12).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> It has hardly any sense to consider the empty M here. Note that M has a similar rôle in our approach as a universal class V in the set theory – it permits to pick some (fuzzy) sets and work with them.

**Definition 13 (Global** C-fuzzy quantifier). A global C-fuzzy quantifier Qof type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  (on M) is a functional that assigns to any fuzzy set  $C \in L^M$  a local C-fuzzy quantifier  $Q_C: (L^C)^n \times L^C \to L$  of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$ .

If we write "C-fuzzy quantifier", we always understand the quantifier in question as a *global* one. If M is finite or countable, we call Q a finite or countable C-fuzzy quantifier, respectively.

*Example 1.* Let  $\cong_M$  be an **L**-fuzzy equivalence (4) (on M). A C-fuzzy quantifier  $\forall$  of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  assigns to any  $C \in L^M$  a local fuzzy quantifier  $\forall_C$  defined as

 $\forall_C(B) := C \cong_M B$ 

for any  $B \in L^C$ . It can be shown that

$$\forall_C(B) = \bigwedge_{m \in M} (C(m) \to B(m)).$$

If C is crisp, then

$$\forall_C(B) = \bigwedge_{m \in M} (C(m) \to B(m)) = \bigwedge_{m \in M} (\top \to B(m)) = \bigwedge_{m \in M} B(m),$$

that is, it coincides with the standard definition of the fuzzy quantifier  $\forall$ .

*Example 2.* Let  $\cong_M$  be a **L**-fuzzy equivalence (on M). A C-fuzzy quantifier  $\exists$  of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  assigns to any  $C \in L^M$  a local fuzzy quantifier  $\exists_C$  defined as

$$\exists_C(B) := (C \cap B) \not\cong_M \emptyset_M \tag{18}$$

for any  $B \in L^{C}$ .<sup>11</sup> It can be obtained that

$$\exists_C(B) = \neg \neg \bigvee_{m \in M} B(m).$$

If the negation in  $\mathbf{L}$  is involutive (for example, if  $\mathbf{L}$  is an IMTL-algebra, MV-algebra or Lukasiewicz algebra), then

$$\exists_C(B) = \bigvee_{m \in M} B(m), \tag{19}$$

that is, it coincides with the standard definition of the fuzzy quantifier  $\exists$ .

*Example 3.* Let  $\subseteq_M$  be a **L**-fuzzy subsethood (5) (on M). A C-fuzzy quantifier all of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  assigns to any  $C \in L^M$  a local fuzzy quantifier all<sub>C</sub> defined as

$$\mathsf{all}_C(A,B) := A \subseteq_M B$$

for any  $A, B \in L^C$ .

 $\overline{\stackrel{11}{1} A \not\cong_M B} \text{ denotes } \neg (A \cong_M B).$ 

Due to the definition of L-fuzzy subsethood (5), we can write<sup>12</sup>

$$\mathsf{all}_C(A,B) = A \subseteq_M B = \bigwedge_{m \in M} (A(m) \to B(m)).$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

Let  $\cong_M$  be a **L**-fuzzy equivalence (on M). A *C*-fuzzy quantifier some of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  assigns to any  $C \in L^M$  a local fuzzy quantifier some<sub>C</sub> defined as

$$\operatorname{some}_C(A,B) := (A \cap B) \not\cong_M \emptyset_M$$

for any  $A, B \in L^C$ . It can be shown that

$$\mathsf{some}_C(A,B) = \neg \neg \bigvee_{m \in M} (A(m) \land B(m)).$$

If the negation in  $\mathbf{L}$  is involutive, then

$$\mathsf{some}_C(A,B) = \bigvee_{m \in M} (A(m) \wedge B(m)).$$

### 6 Relativization of *C*-fuzzy Quantifiers

Now we define *relativization* for C-fuzzy quantifiers (cf. Definition 6).

**Definition 14 (Relativization of** *C*-fuzzy quantifiers). Let Q be a global *C*-fuzzy quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ . The relativization of Q is a global *C*-fuzzy quantifier  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  defined as

$$(Q^{\mathrm{rel}})_C(A,B) := Q_A(A \cap B) \tag{21}$$

for all  $A, B \in L^C$ .

Remark 1. Observe that relativization of C-fuzzy quantifiers is structurally identical with relativization of bivalent quantifiers (Definition 6). It means that the only difference between formulas (6) and (21) on the surface level is in the replacement of M on the left side of (6) by C on the left side of (21).

*Example 4.* Let  $\forall$  be the *C*-fuzzy quantifier (on *M*) from Example 1. Its relativization is the *C*-fuzzy quantifier  $\forall^{\text{rel}}$  of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ . It can be shown that

$$(\forall^{\mathrm{rel}})_C(A,B) = \forall_A(A \cap B) = \bigwedge_{m \in M} (A(m) \to B(m)) = \mathsf{all}_C(A,B).$$

Hence, we see that the relativization of  $\forall$  is indeed the C-fuzzy quantifier all from Example 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> We can see that the resulting expression for  $\mathsf{all}_C(A, B)$  does not depend on the fuzzy set C. It is a natural result considering the fact that the first argument of natural language quantifiers of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  serves as a new universe of discourse.

*Example 5.* Let  $\exists$  be the *C*-fuzzy quantifier (on *M*) from Example 2. Its relativization is the *C*-fuzzy quantifier  $\exists^{\text{rel}}$  of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ :

$$(\exists^{\mathrm{rel}})_C(A,B) = \exists_A(A \cap B) = \neg \neg \bigvee_{m \in M} (A(m) \wedge B(m)) = \mathsf{some}_C(A,B).$$

Hence, we see that the relativization of  $\exists$  is indeed the fuzzy quantifier some from Example 3, as expected.

Due to lack of space, we cannot elaborate more details and examples on relativization of C-fuzzy quantifiers in this paper. However, for stating the main theorem we need to define generalizations of semantic properties ISOM, EXT and CONS from Definitions 3–5.

**Definition 15 (Isomorphism invariance).** A global C-fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  (on M) is isomorphism invariant, if for all  $C \in L^M$  and all permutations  $f \in \text{Perm}(M)$  it holds that

$$Q_C(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B) = Q_{f^{\rightarrow}(C)}(f^{\rightarrow}(A_1),\ldots,f^{\rightarrow}(A_n),f^{\rightarrow}(B))$$

for all  $A_1, \ldots, A_n, B \in L^C$ . The class of all C-fuzzy quantifiers with this property is denoted by C-ISOM.

**Definition 16 (Property of extension).** A global C-fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$  (on M) has a property of extension, if for all  $C, D \in L^M$  such that  $C \subseteq D$  it holds that

$$Q_C(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B) = Q_D(A_1,\ldots,A_n,B)$$

for all  $A_1, \ldots, A_n, B \in L^C$ . The class of all C-fuzzy quantifiers with this property is denoted by C-EXT.

**Definition 17 (Conservativity).** A global C-fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ (on M) is conservative, if for all  $C \in L^M$  and all  $A, B, B' \in L^C$  it holds that if  $A \cap B = A \cap B'$ , then

$$Q_C(A,B) = Q_C(A,B').$$

The class of all C-fuzzy quantifiers with this property is denoted by C-CONS.

Then we can prove the final theorem analogous to Theorem 1.

**Theorem 3.** Let Q be a C-fuzzy quantifier of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  and P be a C-fuzzy quantifier of type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$ . Then

- (a) Q<sup>rel</sup> is C-EXT and C-CONS.
- (b) If P is C-EXT and C-CONS, then there exists a C-fuzzy quantifier Q of type  $\langle 1 \rangle$  such that  $Q^{\text{rel}} = P$ .
- (c)  $Q^{\text{rel}}$  is C-ISOM if and only if Q is C-ISOM.

*Proof.* We sketch the proof of the part (b) of the theorem.

(b) Let P be a C-fuzzy quantifier of type (1,1). Define a C-fuzzy quantifier Q of type (1) as

$$Q_C(B) = P_C(C, B) \tag{22}$$

for all  $B \in L^C$ . We show that if  $P \in C\text{-EXT} \cap C\text{-CONS}$ , then  $Q^{\text{rel}} = P$ . Indeed, for all  $A, B \in L^C$ ,

$$(Q^{\text{rel}})_C(A, B) = Q_A(A \cap B) = P_A(A, A \cap B) = P_A(A, B) = P_C(A, B),$$

where we use, in turn, the definition of relativization, the definition of Q (22), the conservativity and the property of extension of P.

# 7 Conclusion

In this paper we discussed an important operation of relativization of (generalized) quantifiers. We showed that it is not possible to define relativization of standardly defined fuzzy quantifiers in a satisfactory way. As a solution, we provide a new definition of fuzzy quantifiers (*C*-fuzzy quantifiers). Relativization of *C*-fuzzy quantifiers fulfills intuitive requirements. In future research, we will study further properties of *C*-fuzzy quantifiers, for example so-called *freezing* operation [16], which reduces type  $\langle 1, 1 \rangle$  quantifiers to type  $\langle 1 \rangle$ . We will also investigate semantic properties of these quantifiers, as well as various ways of defining negations and duals of them. Applications can be expected, e.g., in novel definitions of fuzzy relational compositions and data mining.

Acknowledgement. This work was supported by the project LQ1602 IT4Innovations excellence in science.

# References

- Bělohlávek, R.: Fuzzy Relational Systems: Foundations and Principles. Kluwer Academic Publishers, New York (2002)
- Cintula, P., Hájek, P., Noguera, C. (eds.): Handbook of Mathematical Fuzzy Logic, vol. I. College Publications, London (2011)
- Delgado, M., Ruiz, M.D., Sánchez, D., Vila, M.A.: Fuzzy quantification: a state of the art. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 242, 1–30 (2014)
- Dvořák, A., Holčapek, M.: Type (1, 1) fuzzy quantifiers determined by fuzzy measures on residuated lattices. Part II. Permutation and isomorphism invariances. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 242, 56–88 (2014)
- Dvořák, A., Holčapek, M.: Type (1, 1) fuzzy quantifiers determined by fuzzy measures on residuated lattices. Part III. Extension, conservativity and extensionality. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 271, 133–155 (2015)
- Galatos, N., Jipsen, P., Kowalski, T., Ono, H.: Residuated Lattices: An Algebraic Glimpse at Substructural Logics, Studies in Logic and Foundations of Mathematics, vol. 151. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2007)
- Glöckner, I.: Fuzzy Quantifiers: A Computational Theory. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2006)

- Hájek, P.: Many. In: Novák, V., Perrfilieva, I. (eds.) Discovering the World with Fuzzy Logic. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, vol. 57, pp. 302–309. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg (2000)
- 9. Holčapek, M.: Monadic **L**-fuzzy quantifiers of the type  $\langle 1^n, 1 \rangle$ . Fuzzy Sets Syst. **159**(14), 1811–1835 (2008)
- Keenan, E.L., Westerståhl, D.: Generalized quantifiers in linguistics and logic. In: van Benthem, J., ter Meulen, A. (eds.) Handbook of Logic and Language, 2nd edn, pp. 859–923. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2011)
- Lindström, P.: First-order predicate logic with generalized quantifiers. Theoria 32, 186–195 (1966)
- Liu, Y., Kerre, E.: An overview of fuzzy quantifiers. Part I: Interpretations. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 95(1), 1–21 (1998)
- Liu, Y., Kerre, E.: An overview of fuzzy quantifiers. Part II: Reasoning and applications. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 95(2), 135–146 (1998)
- Murinová, P., Novák, V.: A formal theory of generalized intermediate syllogisms. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 186, 47–80 (2012)
- Novák, V.: A formal theory of intermediate quantifiers. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 159(10), 1229–1246 (2008)
- Peters, S., Westerståhl, D.: Quantifiers in Language and Logic. Oxford University Press, New York (2006)
- Zadeh, L.: A computational approach to fuzzy quantifiers in natural languages. Comput. Math. Appl. 9, 149–184 (1983)

# Some Remarks About Crucial and Unsolved Problems on Atanassov's Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets

Piotr Dworniczak<sup>(⊠)</sup>

The Great Poland University of Social and Economics, Środa Wielkopolska, Poland p. dworniczak@wwsse.pl

**Abstract.** In the paper *Crucial and unsolved problems on Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets* D.-F. Li pointed out that some kind of definitions of operations over Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets (IFSs) are incorrect. In this paper the Li's reasoning is presented and commented.

Keywords: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets · Operations on IFSs

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 03E72

### 1 Introduction

Intuitionistic fuzzy sets (IFSs) were first introduced by Krassimir T. Atanassov in 1983. The latest development of the theory are collected in the monograph [2]. Despite fairly well-defined terms, there may be still some misunderstandings regarding the operations on the intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Such misunderstandings can be found in the paper *Crucial and unsolved problems on Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets*.

The citations of the original Li's paper will be denoted (except for mathematical symbols and formulas) by the Monotype corsiva font.

#### 2 Main Remarks

In the paper [6] - Crucial and unsolved problems on Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets - the Author, Deng-Feng Li, presents the doubts related to some operations on the intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Based on the Atanassov's paper [1], Li gives the definition of the sum A + B and the product  $A \cdot B$  in the form

$$A + B = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) + \mu_B(x) - \mu_A(x)\mu_B(x), \nu_A(x)\nu_B(x) \rangle : x \in X \},$$
(1)

$$A \cdot B = \{ \langle x, \mu_A(x) \mu_B(x), \nu_A(x) + \nu_B(x) - \nu_A(x) \nu_B(x) \rangle : x \in X \},$$
(2)

Li presented first the doubts related to operations on particular sets. The Li's examples (a-c) are given below (see: [6], p. 59).

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_60

(a) If  $B = \{ < x, 1, 0 > : x \in X \}$ , i.e., *B* is a fuzzy set, which means that every element *x* completely belongs to *B*, then according to Eq. (1), we have

$$A + B = \{ \langle x, 1, 0 \rangle : x \in X \} = B,$$

which also means that every element x completely belongs to A + B despite A is any Atanassov's IFS. Similarly, according to Eq. (2), we have

$$AB = A$$
,

which means that whether every element x belonging to AB completely depends on A despite B ensures that all elements x completely belong to B.

Li calls the above set *B* the fuzzy set. Formally, it is correct. However, the set *B* can be called a classical set, and, moreover B = X.

(b) If  $B = \{ \langle x, 0, 1 \rangle : x \in X \}$ , i.e., B is a fuzzy set, which means that every element x completely does not belong to B, then according to Eq. (1), we have

$$A+B=A,$$

which means that whether every element x belonging to A + B completely depends on A despite B ensures that all elements x completely do not belong to B. Similarly, according to Eq. (2), we have

$$AB = B$$
,

which means that every element x completely does not belong to AB despite A is any Atanassov's IFS.

Li calls the above set B the fuzzy set. Formally, it is correct. However, the set B is in fact the classical empty set.

(c) If  $B = \{ \langle x, 0, 0 \rangle : x \in X \}$ , which means that every element x cannot be completely determined whether it belongs to B or not, then according to Eq. (1), we have

$$A+B = \{ < x, \mu_A(x), 0 > : x \in X \},\$$

which means that the membership degree of the element x to A + B is the same as that of x to A whereas the non-membership degree of the element x to A + B is 0 despite A ensures that the non-membership degree of the element x to A is  $v_A(x)$ . Similarly, according to Eq. (2), we have

$$AB = \{ < x, 0, v_A(x) > : x \in X \},\$$

which means that the non-membership degree of the element *x* to A + B is the same as that of *x* to *A* whereas the membership degree of the element *x* to A + B is 0 despite *A* ensures that the membership degree of the element *x* to *A* is  $\mu_A(x)$ .

After the next numerical example (see: [6], p. 60), Li argues that the Eqs. (1) and (2) define the operations incompatible/inconsistent with the Zadeh's extension principle.

The example, given by Li, is as follows.

Let *A* and *B* be intuitionistic fuzzy sets on the universum  $X = \{3, 4, 5, 6, 7\}$ , which mean "approximately 5", where

$$A = \{ \langle 3, 0.7, 0.2 \rangle, \langle 4, 0.8, 0.1 \rangle, \langle 5, 1, 0 \rangle, \langle 6, 0.8, 0.1 \rangle \}$$
(3)

and

$$B = \{ <4, 0.7, 0.2 >, <5, 1, 0 >, <6, 0.9, 0.05 >, <7, 0.85, 0.1 > \},$$
(4)

respectively. Using Eqs. (1) and (2), we have

$$A + B = \{ <3, 0.7, 0 >, <4, 0.94, 0.02 >, <5, 1, 0 >, <6, 0.98, 0.005 >, <7, 0.85, 0 > \},$$
(5)

$$A \cdot B = \{ <3, 0, 0.2 >, <4, 0.56, 0.28 >, <5, 1, 0 >, <6, 0.72, 0.145 >, <7, 0, 0.1 > \}.$$
(6)

In a similar way to the extension principle of the fuzzy sets, we have

$$A + B = \{ <3, 0.7, 0.2 >, <7, 0.7, 0.2 >, <8, 0.7, 0.2 >, <9, 0.8, 0.1 > \\ <10, 1, 0 > <11, 0.9, 0.05 >, <12, 0.85, 0.1 >, <13, 0.8, 0.1 > \},$$
(7)

$$\begin{aligned} A \cdot B &= \{ <12, 0.7, 0.2 > , <15, 0.7, 0.2 > , <16, 0.7, 0.2 > , <18, 0.7, 0.2 > , \\ &< 20, 0.8, 0.1 > , <21, 0.7, 0.2 > , <24, 0.8, 0.1 > , <25, 1, 0 > , \\ &< 28, 0.8, 0.1 > , <30, 0.9, 0.05 > , <35, 0.85, 0.1 > , <36, 0.8, 0.1 > , \\ &< 42, 0.8, 0.1 > \}. \end{aligned}$$

which are remarkably different from Eqs. (5) and (6) since Eqs. (7) and (8) compute elements in A and B rather than membership and nonmembership degrees.

It is really easy to see that the results (5), (6) and (7), (8) are different. Li does not consider whether the use of the extension principle - known for classical fuzzy sets - is legitimate for the IFSs. He assumes it is so and, because the extension principle is, in this case, not fulfilled, hence the operations of the sum and the product are incorrect.

The above reasoning has been also presented by Li in the monograph [7] (pp. 33–35).

It is understandable that "approximately 5" added to "approximately 5" must be "approximately 10", and "approximately 5" multiplied by " approximately 5" must be "approximately 25". Here the argumentation of Li is convincing, and the Atanassov's mistake is evident.

However, in fact, it is Li who makes the mistake!

Namely, he does not correctly understand the signs + and  $\cdot$  (the sign  $\cdot$  is by Li, typically, omitted). These signs denote not the operations of sum and product in terms

of arithmetic of fuzzy numbers (or intuitionistic fuzzy numbers) but the sum and the product in the set-theoretically sense.

Here the mistake of Li is obvious and the rest of his reasoning is invalid.

This means, obviously, that the results in the examples (a), (b), and (c) are not surprising. By the way - similar results we obtain based on typical sum and product using the minimum and maximum operators.

It is possible that the use of the symbols + and  $\cdot$  by Atanassov, without direct comments, are not fortunate, but such a notation is very often used in the case of classically fuzzy sets also.

Quite weird is that D.-F. Li, otherwise known as creative researcher of intuitionistic fuzzy sets theory, failed to notice the use of sum and product based on other t- and s-norms, over the most popular norms: minimum and maximum.

In general, the union and intersection of the IFSs are defined based on the IF t-norm and IF s-norm. For IFSs these norms are considered explicitly first by Cornelis and Deschrijver [3], Cornelis, Deschrijver and Kerre [4] and Deschrijver and Kerre [5].

Cornelis, Deschrijver and Kerre, (see: [4], p. 1), defined the intuitionistic fuzzy t-norm (IF triangular norm) on the lattice *L* as any monotonous, commutative, associative mapping from  $L^2$  to *L* with the neutral element <1, 0> . The intuitionistic fuzzy s-norm (IF triangular co-norm) on the lattice *L* the Authors call any monotonous, commutative, associative mapping from  $L^2$  to *L* with the neutral element <0, 1> .

The Authors formulated also the theorem given below (the idea of the theorem; see: [3], p. 5, and, [5], p. 3).

#### 3 Theorem

Let  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  are t-norms, and  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  are s-norms.

The mappings  $\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{S}: L^2 \rightarrow L$  on the lattice  $L = \{ \langle a, b \rangle \in [0, 1]^2 : a + b \leq 1 \}$ , given in the form:

$$\mathcal{T}(\langle a, b \rangle, \langle c, d \rangle) = \langle T_1(a, c), S_1(b, d) \rangle,$$

and

$$S(\langle a, b \rangle, \langle c, d \rangle) = \langle S_2(a, c), T_2(b, d) \rangle,$$

fulfilling the conditions  $T_1(a, c) + S_1(b, d) \le 1$  and  $S_2(a, c) + T_2(b, d) \le 1$ , are the IF t-norm and IF s-norm, respectively.

The definition of the t-, s-norms and the lattice are widely known.

It is not difficult to see, in the cited formulas (1) and (2), the use of the probabilistic (product) t-norm

$$T(a,b) = a \cdot b,$$

and the s-norm

$$S(a,b) = a + b - a \cdot b,$$

to define the union and intersection of intuitionistic fuzzy sets.

Li is therefore wrong, when he wrote in the end of his paper the addition and multiplication operations of Atanassov's IFSs are incorrect.

# 4 Conclusion

In this paper we can see that, near 30 years after the first Atanassov's papers, there exist some misunderstandings related, for example, on the basic operations on IFSs. Those misunderstandings can be found not only in the papers of young adepts of science, but also in the papers written by prominent Authors cited by hundreds of scientists. It is worth noticing that despite of several years that passed by from the Li's papers [2012, 2014] being published, the misunderstanding described above were not commented on in the known literature.

# References

- 1. Atanassov, K.T.: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 20, 87-96 (1986)
- 2. Atanassov, K.T.: On Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Theory. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2012)
- Cornelis, C., Deschrijver, G.: The compositional rule of inference in an intuitionistic fuzzy logic setting (cited also as: The compositional rule of inference in an intuitionistic fuzzy logic framework). In: Striegnitz, K. (ed.) Proceedings of ESSLLI 2001, Student Session, pp. 83–94. Kluwer Academic Publishers (2001)
- Cornelis, C., Deschrijver, G., Kerre, E.E.: Classification of intuitionistic fuzzy implicators an algebraic approach. In: Proceedings of the FT&T 2002, 8th International Conference on Fuzzy Theory and Technology, 9–12 March 2002, Durham, North Carolina, USA, pp. 105– 108 (2002)
- Deschrijver, G., Kerre, E.E.: A generalisation of operators on intuitionistic fuzzy sets using triangular norms and conforms. Notes Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets 8(1), 19–27 (2002)
- Li, D.-F.: Crucial and unsolved problems on Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy sets. Adv. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 11(1), 57–64 (2012)
- Li, D.-F.: Decision and Game Theory in Management with Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2014)

# Estimating Fuzzy Life Time with a Fuzzy Reliability Function in the Appliance Sector

Nihal Erginel<sup>1(⊠)</sup>, Hande Saraçoğlu<sup>2</sup>, Gülay Yıldız<sup>2</sup>, and Sevil Şentürk<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Industrial Engineering Department, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey nerginel@anadolu.edu.tr <sup>2</sup> Institute of Science, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey handesaracoglu90@gmail.com, gulayildiz399@gmail.com <sup>3</sup> Statistic Department, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey sdeligoz@anadolu.edu.tr

**Abstract.** Reliability is defined as the length of time a component works without failing. The reliability function shows an estimate for the probable amount of time a component should work without experiencing failure. Fuzzy set theory is rather useful for evaluating ambiguity and vagueness that exists within reliability parameters. Fuzzy reliability can model more appropriately a components lifetime if the inputs on the system are fuzzy numbers. Also fuzzy parameters of function can be estimated as fuzzy numbers in a reliability analysis. In this study, the fuzzy lifetime of a component in a refrigerator with censored data is estimated via a fuzzy reliability function for modeling the uncertainty of the process.

# 1 Introduction

Although there is a consensus that the concept of reliability is an important feature of a product, there is no universally accepted definition of reliability. Some of the definitions used in the past for reliability are:

- "Reduction of things gone wrong" [1].
- "The capability of a product to meet customer expectations of product performance over time" [2].
- "The probability that a device, product, or system will not fail for a given period of time under specified operating conditions" [3].

Since there is always uncertainty about the future performance of a product, a product's future performance may vary randomly and the mathematical theory of probability may be used to characterize the uncertainty about the future performance of a product. When a product is purchased, the product is expected to work for a certain period of time. Generally, a manufacturer provides a guarantee that the product will not fail, and if it fails, the replacement guarantee is given to customer [4].

If there is a general definition of "reliability" in all these lights,

Reliability is the fulfillment of the desired function or task of a product or system during its lifetime under the conditions of life without any deterioration or malfunction.

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_61

<sup>©</sup> Springer International Publishing AG 2018

It is expected that this distribution will comply with the Weibull, exponential, lognormal distributions etc. because it is concerned with the time it takes for a product to fail and its reliability.

Weibull probability density function is so flexible that it will provide a good fit for a wide variety of data sets with three parameters in reliability engineering. In addition to being the most useful density function for reliability calculations, the Weibull analysis provides the information required for troubleshooting, classifying failure types, scheduling preventive maintenance and scheduling inspections [5].

It is sometimes difficult to record the data obtained as a result of the application of the Weibull analysis because of unexpected situations. Therefore, deficiencies can be observed in the data to be analyzed. This is called censoring for ignoring certain unknown data that can not be observed for any reason. In one study, it is impossible for various reasons to keep each dataset from the beginning to the end of the study, when the event of interest is the life of a dataset. In this case, the data is called censored [6]. In some cases, life testing of some products takes time and it is difficult to apply real-time monitoring on samples to check if the samples are failing. Under these conditions, periodic inspection is always carried out to obtain failure time data in the life test. When a failure is detected during the inspection, the time of the failure is recorded as an estimate. Therefore, the failure time can be at any time during the next inspection interval and can not be detected immediately when the failure occurs. For this reason, this time is not certain. Another uncertainty in this sense is that the failure time can not be determined precisely because the failure of the samples immediately after the completion of an inspection can not be detected until the next inspection, and because the time between the two inspections is long [7]. For all these reasons, fuzzy set theory studies for reliability analysis have been done.

Since the fault time can not be determined precisely during the periodic examinations, uncertainties arise. Xu, Li and Liu [7] proposed a statistical method for accelerated life testing (ALT) with fuzzy theoretic type 2 censored samples to remove this situation, and assumed that the life span of product followed the Weibull distribution. Katithummarugs et al. [8] proposed an estimation method. The aim of this method is to predict a reliability index of power distribution feeders in the central area of the Provincial Electricity Authority (PEA) of Thailand. Using the Weibull distribution, the time to failure data during 2002–2009 was analyzed over moving 4-year periods to determine the failure rates associated with protective devices. Fuzzy sets were introduced to describe uncertainty of failure rates using a fuzzy arithmetic operation. When the distribution of lifetimes is 2-parameter exponential, Balasooriya [9] provided a failure-censored reliability sampling-plan to save test time. Wu et al. [10] extended the Balasooriya sampling plan to the Weibull distribution and provided a limited failure-censored reliability sampling plan (LFCR) to do life testing when test facilities are scarce. In the paper edited by Cheng, a different approach of assessing the total failure time of censored data was investigated and a fuzzy estimator for the total failure time was discussed. Cheng [11] said that the system test with several identical components could be repeated a few times to evaluate the reliability of the system. The fuzzy estimator used in the study provided more information in total failure time than just a point estimate, or just a single confidence estimate. Jamkhaneh [12] indicated that it is difficult to determine the parameters of the probability distributions in many situations where the data contain uncertainties and imprecision. Therefore, it was assumed that these parameters are fuzzy in the article. At the same time, the lifetimes and repair times of components were assumed to have Weibull distribution with fuzzy parameters. Formulas of a fuzzy reliability function, fuzzy hazard function and their  $\alpha$ -cut set were presented. Finally, some numerical examples were presented to illustrate how to calculate the fuzzy reliability characteristics and their  $\alpha$ -cut set.

# 2 Conventional Reliability Theory

Reliability is the fulfillment of the desired function or task of a product or system during its lifetime under the conditions of life without any deterioration or malfunction. There is always uncertainty about the future performance of a product. Therefore, this performance is a random variable and the mathematical theory of probability can be used to characterize this uncertainty. Reliability Engineering is the engineering field that deals with the ability of the product or system to fulfill the desired function in its entirety. It aims to reduce the probability of fault by analyzing faults. It aims to improve the use of the products on this. The failure characteristics of products or systems are shown in Fig. 1. It is called a bath tub pattern, which has three distinct phases.



Fig. 1. Failure rate of products or systems [13].

**Phase A or the burning in period:** The major contributing factor to this failure is poor component quality. When the equipment is given initial trials, there might be many initial failures due to poor design, workmanship, assembly errors, etc. Damaged components and poor joints or connections also contribute to this failure. These are tested and replaced generally at the manufacturer's premises to improve their reliability.

**Phase B or the useful life period:** Here the failure rate is low, but may occur unexpectedly and at random intervals. They are known as random failures or normal failures. It is during this period, that all our available reliability analysis is based on. The major contributing factor is the stress to which the equipment or products are subjected

to and could be due to operating stresses, poor maintenance, operator abuse, and accidents.

**Phase C or the wear out period:** Beyond the useful period, the wear rate is the major contributing factor because of aging or wear of the components of the system, and could be due to weak design, poor lubrication, wear, fatigue failure, corrosion, and insulation breakdown [13].

The occurrence times of failures occurring at a certain time interval are frequently used as data in reliability analysis. Failure times are continuous random variables that can take any value in a real number interval. For a random variable T representing the data, while the probability density function is f(t), the cumulative distribution function F(t) is calculated as follows.

$$\mathbf{F}(\mathbf{t}) = \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{T} \le \mathbf{t}) = \int_0^t f(t)dt \tag{1}$$

In the reliability analysis, the failure of a product until time t is concerned. Thus F(t) is the probability of unit failure here. In this study, two cases "success" or "failure" in the reliability analysis is considered. Because the success and the failure are two mutually independent states of probability, the sum of these probabilities is always equal to 1. The reliability function R(t) is the probability that something will survive past a certain time (t). It is defined as follows.

$$F(t) + R(t) = 1, \text{then} R(t) = P(T > t) = 1 - F(t)$$
(2)

Hazard rate refers to the rate of death for an item of a given age, and is also known as the failure rate.

$$\mathbf{h}(\mathbf{t}) = \frac{\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{t})}{\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{t})} \tag{3}$$

#### 2.1 Weibull Analysis

The Weibull distribution with two parameters have usually been used to model failure times.

The goal is to find a cumulative distribution function that has a wide variety of failure rate shapes, with the constant  $h(t) = \lambda$  as just one possibility. Allowing any polynomial form of the type  $h(t) = at^b$  for a failure rate function achieves this objective. In order to derive F(t), it is easier to start with the cumulative hazard function H(t). Because  $h(t) = \frac{dH(t)}{dt}$ , setting

$$H(t) = (\lambda t)^{\beta} \tag{4}$$

results in

$$h(t) = \beta \lambda (\lambda t)^{\beta - 1}$$
(5)

This form gives us the exponential constant failure rate when  $\beta = 1$  and a polynomial failure rate for other values of  $\beta$ .

Now, we use the basic identity relating F(t) and H(t):

$$F(t) = 1 - e^{-H(t)} = 1 - e^{-(\lambda t)\beta}$$
(6)

We obtain the equation for the Weibull cumulative distribution function by making a substitution of  $\theta = 1/\lambda$  in the above equation and write

$$F(t) = 1 - e^{-(t/\theta)\beta}$$
(7)

The parameter  $\theta$  is a *scale parameter* that is often called the *characteristic life*. The parameter  $\beta$  is known as the *shape parameter*.  $\theta$  and  $\beta$  must be greater than zero, and the distribution is a life distribution defined only for positive times  $0 \le t < \infty$ .

The Weibull probability density function (PDF) f(t), failure rate h(t) are given by the following:

$$f(t) = \frac{\beta}{t} \left(\frac{t}{\theta}\right)^{\beta} e^{-(t/\theta)^{\beta}}$$

$$h(t) = \frac{\beta}{\theta} \left(\frac{t}{\theta}\right)^{\beta-1} = \frac{\beta}{t} \left(\frac{t}{\theta}\right)^{\beta}$$
(8)

For  $\beta > 1$ , the failure rate h(t) increases monotonically, with h(0) = 0 and h( $\infty$ ) =  $\infty$ . For  $\beta < 1$ , the failure rate h(t) decreases monotonically, with h(0) =  $\infty$  and h( $\infty$ ) = 0.

The reliability function R(t) is defined by R(t) = 1 - F(t) [14]. Thus,

$$\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{t}) = e^{-(t/\theta)^{p}} \tag{9}$$

#### 2.2 Maximum Likelihood Estimation Method

There are many methods for the parameter estimation of the Weibull distribution. One of the most common of these methods is the Maximum Likelihood Method. The likelihood function for the Weibull distribution is as follows.

$$\mathcal{L} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\beta}{\theta} \left(\frac{x}{\theta}\right)^{\beta-1} e^{-(x/\theta)^{\beta}}$$
(10)

For the unknown  $\theta$  and  $\beta$  parameters of the Weibull distribution, the estimators of the parameters  $\hat{\theta}$  and  $\hat{\beta}$  are calculated using the following equations. Firstly, to make easier mathematical operations, the log-likelihood function is obtained by taking the logarithm of the likelihood function to transform the multiplication expression into a sum [15].

694 N. Erginel et al.

$$\ln L = LL = n \ln(\beta) - n \ \beta \ln(\theta) + (\beta - 1) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \ln(x_i) - \frac{1}{\theta^{\beta}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta}$$
(11)

In order to obtain the  $\theta$  and  $\beta$  parameters, the first-order partial derivative is obtained according to the  $\theta$  and  $\beta$  parameters of the log-likelihood function and equalized to zero.

$$\frac{\partial LL}{\partial \theta} = -n + \frac{1}{\theta^{\beta}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta} = 0 \text{ then,}$$
  
$$\theta = \left(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta}\right)^{1/\beta}$$
(12)

If the logarithm of  $\theta$  is taken;

$$\ln \theta = \frac{1}{\beta} \ln \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta} - \frac{1}{\beta} \ln(n)$$
  
$$\frac{\partial LL}{\partial \beta} = \frac{n}{\beta} - n \ln(\theta) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \ln(x_i) - \frac{1}{\theta^{\beta}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta} \ln(x_i) + \frac{1}{\theta^{\beta}} \ln(\theta) \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta} = 0$$
  
$$\beta = \left[ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta} \ln(x_i)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i)^{\beta}} - \frac{1}{n} \ln(x_i) \right]^{-1}$$
(13)

### 3 Fuzzy Theory

A fuzzy number  $\tilde{x}$  is expressed by a characterizing function. This function is called membership function  $\mu(x)$  which means the degree of membership of element  $\tilde{x}$  of the universe X [7].

$$\tilde{x} \in \mathbf{X}, 
\mu_{\tilde{\mathbf{x}}}(x) \in [0, 1]$$
(14)

An  $\alpha$ -cut of  $\tilde{x}$ , written as  $\tilde{x}_{\alpha}$ , is described as below:

$$\widetilde{x}_{\alpha} = \{ x | \mu_{\widetilde{x}}(x) \ge \alpha \} 
0 \le \alpha \le 1$$
(15)

A fuzzy number  $\tilde{x}$  can be turned into a finite closed interval as below when the value of  $\alpha$  is settled.

$$\tilde{x}_{\alpha} \in \left[\tilde{x}_{\alpha}^{L}, \tilde{x}_{\alpha}^{U}\right] \tag{16}$$

### 4 Fuzzy Reliability

Jamkhaneh suggests a general procedure to construct the reliability characteristics and its  $\alpha$ -cut set in his paper, when the parameters are fuzzy. The parameter of the system is represented by a trapezoidal fuzzy number [12]. With the difference of Jamkhaneh's paper, in this study the parameter of the system is considered by a triangular fuzzy number.

#### 4.1 Fuzzy Weibull Distribution

The Cumulative Weibull distribution function with fuzzy scale parameter  $\tilde{\theta}$  and  $\alpha$  – cut can be defined the following equations [12].

$$\begin{split} F(x,\tilde{\theta}) &= \Big\{ F(x)[\alpha], \mu_{F(x)} | F(x)[\alpha] = F_{\min}(x) [\alpha], \ F_{\max}(x) [\alpha]], \mu_{F(x)} = \alpha \Big\}, \\ F_{\min}(x) [\alpha] &= \inf \Big\{ F(x,\theta) | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \Big\}, \\ F_{\max}(x)[\alpha] &= \sup \Big\{ F(x,\theta) | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \Big\}. \end{split}$$
(17)

When the fuzzy probability of event  $X \in [c, d]$ , the fuzzy probability of  $X \in (c \leq X \leq d)$ ,  $c \geq 0$  and its  $\alpha$ -cut intervals with crisp shape parameter  $\beta$  can be calculated the following equations:

$$\tilde{P}(\mathbf{c} \le \mathbf{X} \le \mathbf{d})[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] = \int_{c}^{d} \frac{\beta}{x} \left(\frac{x}{\theta}\right)^{\beta} e^{-(x/\theta)^{\beta}} \mathbf{d}x | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}] = \left[\mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{L}}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}], \mathbf{P}^{\mathrm{U}}[\boldsymbol{\alpha}]\right]$$
(18)

for all  $\alpha$ , where

$$P^{L}[\alpha] = \min\left\{\int_{c}^{d} \frac{\beta}{x} \left(\frac{x}{\theta}\right)^{\beta} e^{-(x/\theta)^{\beta}} dx | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha]\right\},$$

$$P^{U}[\alpha] = \max\left\{\int_{c}^{d} \frac{\beta}{x} \left(\frac{x}{\theta}\right)^{\beta} e^{-(x/\theta)^{\beta}} dx | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha]\right\},$$
(19)

#### 4.2 Fuzzy Reliability Function

Fuzzy reliability function ( $\tilde{R}(t)$ ) defines the fuzzy probability for the period of time that components do not break down time t. Let the random variable X represents component lifetime, and its fuzzy density function  $f(x, \tilde{\theta})$  and fuzzy cumulative distribution function  $\tilde{F}_x(t) = \tilde{P}(X \le t)$  where parameter,  $\tilde{\theta}$  is a fuzzy triangular number. The fuzzy reliability function at time *t* is defined as:

696 N. Erginel et al.

$$\tilde{R}(t) = \tilde{P}(X > t) = 1 - \tilde{F}_{x}(t) = \left\{ 1 - F_{max}(x) \left[\alpha\right], 1 - F_{min}(x) \left[\alpha\right], \mu_{F(x)} = \alpha \right\}, t > 0.$$
(20)

Because of X has fuzzy Weibull distribution, parameter  $\tilde{\theta}$  can be shown with a triangular fuzzy number as  $\tilde{\theta} = (a_1, a_2, a_3)$  such that a membership function  $\mu_{\tilde{\theta}}(x)$  in the following manner:

$$\mu_{\tilde{\theta}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x \le a_1 \\ \frac{x-a_1}{a_2-a_1}, & a_1 \le x \le a_2 \\ \frac{a_3-x}{a_3-a_2}, & a_2 \le x \le a_3 \\ 0, & x \le a_3 \end{cases}$$
(21)

The  $\alpha-cut$  value of  $\tilde{\theta}$  is calculated as follows:

$$\tilde{\theta}[\alpha] = [(a_2 - a_1)\alpha + a_1, -(a_3 - a_2)\alpha + a_3]$$
(22)

The fuzzy reliability function of a component is as follows:

$$\tilde{\mathsf{R}}(t)[\alpha] = \left\{ \int_{t}^{\infty} \frac{\beta}{x} \left( \frac{x}{\theta} \right)^{\beta} e^{-(x/\theta)^{\beta}} \mathrm{d}x \Big| \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \right\} = \left\{ e^{-(t/\theta)^{\beta}} \Big| \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \right\}.$$
(23)

Then the  $\alpha$  – cuts of fuzzy reliability function is as:

$$\tilde{\mathsf{R}}(t)[\alpha] = [e\{^{-(t/((a_2-a_1)\alpha + a_1))^{\beta}}\}, e\{^{-(t/(-(a_3-a_2)\alpha + a_3))^{\beta}}\}],$$
(24)

The triangular membership function of fuzzy reliability function  $(\tilde{R}(t_0) [\alpha])$  is given in the following equation.

$$\mu_{\tilde{\mathbf{R}}(t_{0})}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x < e^{-(t_{0}/a_{1})^{\beta}} \\ \frac{x - e^{-(t_{0}/a_{1})^{\beta}}}{e^{-(t_{0}/a_{2})^{\beta} - e^{-(t_{0}/a_{1})^{\beta}}}, & e^{-(t_{0}/a_{1})^{\beta}} \le x < e^{-(t_{0}/a_{2})^{\beta}} \\ \frac{e^{-(t_{0}/a_{3})^{\beta} - x}}{e^{-(t_{0}/a_{3})^{\beta} - e^{-(t_{0}/a_{2})^{\beta}}}, & e^{-(t_{0}/a_{2})^{\beta}} \le x \le e^{-(t_{0}/a_{3})^{\beta}} \\ 0, & x > e^{-(t_{0}/a_{3})^{\beta}} \end{cases}$$
(25)

Fuzzy mean time to failure (FMTTF) is presented following equation by using Buckley's definition [16].

$$\begin{split} M\tilde{T}TF[\alpha] &= \{\int_0^\infty x f(x) dx \left| \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \} = \{\int_0^\infty R(t) dt | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \} = [P^L[\alpha], P^U[\alpha]]. \\ P^L[\alpha] &= \min\{\int_0^\infty R(t) dt | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \}, \\ P^U[\alpha] &= \max\{\int_0^\infty R(t) dt | \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha] \}. \end{split}$$
(26)

$$\begin{split} \tilde{MTTF}\left[\alpha\right] &= \left\{\theta\Gamma\left(1+\beta^{-1}\right) \middle| \theta \in \tilde{\theta}[\alpha]\right\} \\ &= \left[\left((a_2-a_1)\alpha+a_1\right)\Gamma\left(1+\beta^{-1}\right), \left(-(a_3-a_2)\alpha+a_3\right)\Gamma\left(1+\beta^{-1}\right)\right] \end{split}$$
(27)

The triangular membership function of fuzzy mean time to failure is given as follows.

$$\mu_{M\tilde{T}TF}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x < a_1 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) \\ \frac{x - a_1 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1})}{(a_2 - a_1) \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1})}, & a_1 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) \le x < a_2 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) \\ \frac{a_3 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) - x}{(a_3 - a_2) \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1})}, & a_2 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) \le x < a_3 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) \\ 0, & x > a_3 \Gamma(1 + \beta^{-1}) \end{cases}$$
(28)

# **5** Application

In this study, a product reliability analysis study was carried out in a white goods operation in Turkey. It is sometimes difficult to record the data obtained as a result of the application of the Weibull analysis because of unexpected situations. Therefore, deficiencies can be observed in the data to be analyzed. In some cases, life testing of some products takes time and it is difficult to apply real-time monitoring on samples to check if samples are failing. Therefore, the failure time cannot be detected immediately when the failure occurs. For all these reasons, fuzzy set theory is used in this study.

Parameter values were obtained with the aid of the Minitab v.16 package program and the fuzzy scale parameter values is found like  $\tilde{\theta} = (3580, 3661, 3742)$ , the shape parameter value is found 5.87. Here the parameter values are in days.

The  $\alpha$  – cut of fuzzy scale parameter and fuzzy reliability function are given as follows. The  $\alpha$  – cut value is taken 0.35 in study.

$$\tilde{\theta}[\alpha] = [81\alpha + 3580, -81\alpha + 3742] = [3608.35, 3713.65]$$
<sup>(29)</sup>

$$\widetilde{\mathsf{R}}(\mathsf{t})[0.35] = [e\{^{-(t/(3608.35)^{5.87}}\}, e\{^{-(t/(3713.65)^{5.87}}\}]$$
(30)

According to these parameter values, the membership function of scale parameter,  $\mu_{\tilde{\theta}}(x)$  is given in the Eq. 31. Also, the  $\alpha$  – cut of fuzzy survival plot is shown in Fig. 2.

$$\mu_{\tilde{\theta}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x \le 3580\\ \frac{x-3580}{81}, & 3580 \le x \le 3661\\ \frac{3742-x}{81}, & 3661 \le x \le 3742\\ 0, & x \ge 3742 \end{cases}$$
(31)

When the shape parameter values takes 2, 4, 6 values, the changes in the survival plot are shown in Fig. 3. According to Fig. 3, the increasing value of shape parameter results the decreasing the life time.



**Fig. 2.** The  $\alpha$  – cut of fuzzy survival plot

Fuzzy mean time to failure is given as follows for  $\beta = 5.87$ 

$$M\tilde{T}TF[\alpha] = [36.08.35\,\Gamma(1+5.87^{-1}), 3713.65\,\Gamma(1+5.87^{-1})]$$
(32)

Here,  $\Gamma(1+5.87^{-1})$ .  $\approx 1$ , so;

$$M\tilde{T}TF[\alpha] = [3608.35, 3713.65]$$



**Fig. 3.** The  $\alpha$  – cut of fuzzy survival plot while  $\beta$  = 2, 4, 6

The membership function  $\mu_{M\tilde{T}TF}(x)$  of fuzzy mean time to faire is given as follows. The graphical representation is given in Fig. 4.

$$\mu_{M\bar{T}TF}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x < 3580 \\ \frac{x - 3580}{3742 - x}, & 3580 \le x < 3661 \\ \frac{3742 - x}{81}, & 3661 \le x \le 3742 \\ 0, & x > 3742 \end{cases}$$
(33)

Fig. 4. The membership function of  $M\tilde{T}TF$ 

### 6 Conclusion

Fuzzy reliability is based on the fuzzy sets concept and fuzzy probability theory. In this paper, the failure times of a product are determined using Weibull distribution with a fuzzy parameter. In real life, the failure can be observed at certain interval times and cannot be determined at an exact time. Therefore the time to failure includes uncertainty. For this reason, fuzzy set theory is used in this study. Also the Weibull scale parameter is considered as a fuzzy triangular number. The fuzzy life time of a component in a refrigerator with censored data is estimated via the fuzzy reliability function. According to the application results, failure times of all samples are deduced. It is examined how the result changes according to different values of the shape parameter.

#### References

- 1. Johnson, M., Nilsson, L.: The importance of reliability and customization from goods to services. Qual. Manag. J. **10**(1), 8–19 (2003)
- Stracener, J.T.: Mathematical basis of reliability. In: Cruse, T.A. (eds.) Reliability-Based Mechanical Design, pp. 91–122. Marcel Dekker, New York (1997)

- 3. Shishko, R.: NASA System Engineering Handbook. National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Washington D.C. (1995)
- 4. Kapur, K.C., Pecht, M.: Reliability Engineering. Wiley, New Jersey (2014)
- 5. Dodson, B.: Weibull Analysis. ASQ Quality Press, Milwaukee (1994)
- 6. Kleinbaum, D.G.: Survival Analysis a Self Learning Text. Springer, New York (1996)
- 7. Xu, H., Li, X., Liu, L.: Statistical analysis of accelerated life testing under Weibull distribution based on fuzzy theory. In: 2015 Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS). IEEE Press, Palm Harbor (2015)
- Katithummarugs, S., Apiwattananon, A., Labchareonwong, P., Sirisophonwattana, N., Prasapairin, T., Teera-achariyakul, N., Rerkpreedapong, D.: Reliability index prediction using fuzzy principle. In: Asia-Pacific Power and Energy Engineering Conference (APPEEC). IEEE Press (2010)
- Balasooriya, U.: Failure-censored reliability sampling plans for the exponential distribution. J. Stat. Comput. Simul. 52, 337–349 (1995)
- 10. Wu, J.W., Tsai, T.R., Ouyang, L.Y.: Limited failure-censored life test for the Weibull distribution. IEEE Trans. Reliab. **50–1**, 107 (2001)
- 11. Cheng, S.C.: Fuzzy estimator of the total failure time of censored data. In: Fuzzy Information Processing Society. IEEE Press, North American (2005)
- Jamkhaneh, E.B.: Analyzing system reliability using fuzzy weibull lifetime distribution. Int. J. Appl. Oper. Res. 4(1), 81–90 (2014)
- 13. Kıran, D.R.: Total Quality Management: Key Concepts and Case Studies. Butterworth-Heinemann, United Kingdom, United States (2016)
- 14. Tobias, P.A., Trindade, D.C.: Applied Reliability. CRC Press, Boca Raton, London, New York (2012)
- Almalı, M.N., Okut, H.: İki Parametreli Weibull Dağılımında Parametre Tahmin Yöntemlerinin Karşılaştırılmasına İlişkin Bir Simülasyon Çalışması. Anadolu Univ. J. Sci. Technol. 10(2), 455–465 (2009). (In Turkish)
- 16. Buckley, J.J.: Fuzzy Probability and Statistics. Springer, Heidelberg (2006)

# Monitoring Fraction Nonconforming in Process with Interval Type-2 Fuzzy Control Chart

Nihal Erginel<sup>1(\Box)</sup>, Sevil Şentürk<sup>2</sup>, and Gülay Yıldız<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Industrial Engineering Department, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey nerginel@anadolu.edu.tr
<sup>2</sup> Statistic Department, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey sdeligoz@anadolu.edu.tr
<sup>3</sup> Institute of Science, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey gulayildiz399@gmail.com

**Abstract.** Fuzzy set theory is particularly appropriate approach when data include imprecise. Type-2 fuzzy set theory captures ambiguity that associates the uncertainty of membership functions by incorporating footprints and models high level uncertainty. If the quality characteristic is a binary classification into conforming/non-conforming of product, this decision depends on human subjectivity that have ambiguity or vague. In this situation, monitoring the process with statistical control charts based on interval type-2 fuzzy sets, a special case of type-2 fuzzy sets, is more suitable due to the human imprecise judgments on quality characteristics. In this paper, interval type-2 fuzzy p-control chart is developed into the literature for the first time. Due to the interval type-2 fuzzy sets modelled more uncertainty for defining membership functions, in this paper interval type-2 fuzzy fraction nonconforming numbers used for handling more uncertainty in process. Real word application is implemented with developed fuzzy control chart.

Keywords: Fuzzy set theory  $\cdot$  Interval type-2 fuzzy sets  $\cdot$  Fraction nonconforming  $\cdot$  Fuzzy control charts

### 1 Introduction

Fuzzy sets theory is developed for modelling uncertainty on data. Type-1 fuzzy sets introduce vagueness by using membership function. In this situation the membership function degree is crisp and located [0, 1]. But type-2 fuzzy set consider membership function degree as fuzzy. So, it can be defined the membership function of membership function. If the upper membership function is equal to 1, it is called interval type-2 fuzzy sets can be modelled more effectively uncertainty than type-1 fuzzy sets.

Fuzzy set theory was introduced firstly by Zadeh [1] in literature. Zadeh (1965) gave the information about the reasons why fuzzy set theory is needed. Control charts

J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017,

Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7\_62

proposed by Montgomery [2] are used for monitoring and controlling the process. Fuzzy control charts are more suitable to monitor the process if data are fuzzy. Fuzzy variable and attribute control charts have been well documented in literature since 1990. But the latest articles are handled in this paper. Erginel [3] presented the fuzzy individual and moving range control charts with  $\alpha$ -cuts. Şentürk and Erginel [4] developed  $\alpha$ -cut fuzzy.  $\tilde{X} - R$  and  $\tilde{X} - S$  control charts together with  $\alpha$ -level fuzzy midrange transformation techniques. Şentürk [5] presented fuzzy regression control charts based on an  $\alpha$ -cut approximation. Kaya and Kahraman [6] are derived firstly fuzzy rule method for evaluating the fuzzy variable control charts in their paper. Gülbay et al. [7] proposed  $\alpha$ -cut control chart for attribute with triangular fuzzy numbers. Gülbay and Kahraman [8] presented fuzzy c-control chart using a without defuzzification. Şentürk et al. [9] showed a theoretical structure of fuzzy  $\tilde{u}$  control charts. Erginel [10] developed a fuzzy p control chart using decision rules.

# 2 Interval Type-2 Fuzzy Sets

The arithmetic operations on interval type-2 fuzzy sets are defined by Mendel et al. [11] and given in following definitions. This calculations are made by using trapezoidal fuzzy number and their upper and lower membership functions.

Definition 1. A type-2 fuzzy set  $\tilde{\tilde{A}}$  in the universe of discourse X can be represented by a type-2 membership function  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}$  shown as follow [11, 12];

$$\tilde{\tilde{A}} = \left\{ (x, u), \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x, u) | \forall x \in X, \forall u \in J_x \subseteq [0, 1], 0 \le \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x, u) \le 1 \right\}$$
(1)

where  $J_x$  denotes an interval in [0, 1]. The type-2 fuzzy set  $\tilde{\tilde{A}}$  also can be represented as follows:

$$\tilde{\tilde{A}} = \int_{x \in X} \int_{u \in J_x} \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x, u) / (x, u)$$
(2)

where  $J_x \subseteq [0, 1]$  and  $\int \int$  denotes the union over all admissible *x* and *u*. If all  $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x, u) = 1$ , then  $\tilde{\tilde{A}}$  is called an interval type-2 fuzzy set. An interval type-2 fuzzy set can be regarded as a special case of type-2 fuzzy set, shown as follows,

$$\tilde{\tilde{A}} = \int_{x \in X} \int_{u \in J_x} 1/(x, u)$$
(3)

where  $J_x \subseteq [0, 1]$ .

*Definition 2.* The upper membership function and the lower membership function of an interval type-2 fuzzy set are type-1 membership functions, respectively [11, 12];

A trapezoidal interval type-2 fuzzy set

$$\tilde{\tilde{A}}_{i} = \left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{U}, \tilde{A}_{i}^{L}\right) = \left( \begin{array}{c} \left(a_{i1}^{U}, a_{i2}^{U}, a_{i3}^{U}, a_{i4}^{U}; H_{1}\left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{U}\right), H_{2}\left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{U}\right)\right), \\ \left(a_{i1}^{L}, a_{i2}^{L}, a_{i3}^{L}, a_{i4}^{L}; H_{1}\left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{L}\right), H_{2}\left(\tilde{A}_{i}^{L}\right)\right) \end{array} \right)$$
(4)

where  $\tilde{A}_i^U$  and  $\tilde{A}_i^L$  are type-1 fuzzy numbers;  $a_{i1}^U, a_{i2}^U, a_{i3}^U, a_{i4}^L, a_{i1}^L, a_{i2}^L, a_{i3}^L, a_{i4}^L$  are the references points of the interval type-2 fuzzy  $\tilde{\tilde{A}}_i$ . While subscript j takes values 1 and 2 in the Eq. (4), the subscript i can take values from 1 to n.  $H_j(\tilde{A}_i^U)$  present the membership value of the element  $a_{i(j+1)}^U$  in the upper trapezoidal membership function  $\tilde{A}_i^U$ ,  $H_j(\tilde{A}_i^L)$  indicates the membership value of the element  $a_{i(j+1)}^U$  in the lower trapezoidal membership function  $\tilde{A}_i^L$  above equation and the membership functions take values in the interval [0, 1].

*Definition 3.* The addition operation between two trapezoidal interval type-2 fuzzy sets are defined as follows:

$$\tilde{\tilde{A}}_{1} \oplus \tilde{\tilde{A}}_{2} = (\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}, \tilde{A}_{1}^{L}) \oplus (\tilde{A}_{2}^{U}, \tilde{A}_{2}^{L}) \\
= \begin{pmatrix} a_{11}^{U} + a_{21}^{U}, a_{12}^{U} + a_{22}^{U}, a_{13}^{U} + a_{23}^{U}, a_{14}^{U} + a_{24}^{U}; \\
\min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}), H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U}))\min(H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U})), \\
a_{11}^{L} + a_{21}^{L}, a_{12}^{L} + a_{22}^{L}, a_{13}^{L} + a_{23}^{L}, a_{14}^{L} + a_{24}^{L}; \\
\min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}), H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{L})), \min(H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{L}))) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5)

*Definition 4.* The subtraction operation between the trapezoidal interval type-2 fuzzy sets are defined as follow:

$$\tilde{\tilde{A}}_{1} \ominus \tilde{\tilde{A}}_{2} = (\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}, \tilde{A}_{1}^{L}) \ominus (\tilde{A}_{2}^{U}, \tilde{A}_{2}^{L}) \\
= \begin{pmatrix}
a_{11}^{U} - a_{24}^{U}, a_{12}^{U} - a_{23}^{U}, a_{13}^{U} - a_{22}^{U}, a_{14}^{U} - a_{21}^{U}; \\
\min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}), H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U})), \min(H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U})), \\
a_{11}^{L} - a_{24}^{L}, a_{12}^{L} - a_{23}^{L}, a_{13}^{L} - a_{22}^{L}, a_{14}^{L} - a_{21}^{L}; \\
\min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}), H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{L})), \min(H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{L}))
\end{pmatrix}$$
(6)

### 3 Interval Type-2 Fuzzy p-Control Chart

The theoretical structure interval type-2 fuzzy p control chart for trapezoidal fuzzy numbers are developed and given in Table 1 and following equations.

**Table 1.** Interval type-2 fuzzy fraction nonconforming p

$$\begin{split} p \\ \tilde{\tilde{p}}_{1.} &= [(a_{11}^{U} \ a_{12}^{U} \ a_{13}^{U} \ a_{14}^{U} \ ; \ H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}) \ H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U})) \ , \\ & (a_{11}^{L} \ a_{12}^{L} \ a_{13}^{L} \ a_{14}^{L} \ ; \ H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}) \ H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}))] \\ \tilde{\tilde{p}}_{2.} &= [(a_{21}^{U} \ a_{22}^{U} \ a_{23}^{U} \ a_{24}^{U} \ ; \ H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U}) \ H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U})) \ , \\ & (a_{21}^{L} \ a_{22}^{L} \ a_{23}^{L} \ a_{24}^{L} \ ; \ H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{L}) \ H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{2}^{U}))] \\ & \vdots \\ \tilde{\tilde{p}}_{n.} &= [(a_{m1}^{U} \ a_{m2}^{U} \ a_{m3}^{U} \ a_{m4}^{U} \ ; \ H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{n}^{U}) \ H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{n}^{U})) \ , \\ & (a_{m1}^{L} \ a_{m2}^{L} \ a_{m3}^{L} \ a_{m4}^{L} \ ; \ H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{n}^{L}) \ H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{n}^{U}))] \end{split}$$

$$\bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{U}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i1}^{U}}{m}, \ \bar{p}_{a_{.2}^{U}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i2}^{U}}{m}, \ \bar{p}_{a_{.3}^{U}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i3}^{U}}{m}, \ \bar{p}_{a_{.4}^{U}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i4}^{U}}{m}$$
(7)

$$\bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{L}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i1}^{L}}{m}, \ \bar{p}_{a_{.2}^{L}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i2}^{L}}{m}, \ \bar{p}_{a_{.3}^{L}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i3}^{L}}{m}, \ \bar{p}_{a_{.4}^{L}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} a_{i4}^{L}}{m}$$
(8)

The fuzzy upper control limit can be calculated by following equations;

$$UCL_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}; \min\left(H_{1}\left(\bar{A}_{l}^{U}\right), H_{2}\left(\bar{A}_{l}^{U}\right)\right) \\ \bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{L}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}} + 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}; \min\left(H_{1}\left(\bar{A}_{l}^{L}\right), H_{2}\left(\bar{A}_{l}^{U}\right)\right) \end{bmatrix}$$
(9)

The fuzzy centre line and fuzzy lower control limit can be calculated by following equations;

$$CL_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{p}_{a_{\perp}^{U}}, \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}, \bar{p}_{a_{4}^{U}}; \min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U})), \\ \bar{p}_{a_{\perp}^{L}}, \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{L}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}}, \bar{p}_{a_{4}^{L}}; \min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L})) \end{bmatrix}$$
(10)

$$LCL_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{p}_{a_{1}^{U}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{4}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{4}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{2}^{U}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}; \min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U})) \\ \bar{p}_{a_{1}^{L}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}, \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{L}} - 3\sqrt{\frac{\bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\left(1 - \bar{p}_{a_{3}^{U}}\right)}{n}}; \min(H_{1}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}), H_{2}(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U})) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(11)$$

#### 3.1 Defuzzification Method for Interval Type-2 Fuzzy p-Control Chart

In the type-2 fuzzy sets studies, several defuzzification techniques are proposed for reduction process. Kahraman et al. [12]. are modified BNP method for trapezoidal type-2 fuzzy sets, given as follows:

$$DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{U} = \frac{\left(a_{i4}^{U} - a_{i1}^{U}\right) + \left(H_{2}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}\right)a_{i2}^{U} - a_{i1}^{U}\right) + \left(H_{1}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}\right)a_{i3}^{U} - a_{i1}^{U}\right)}{4} + a_{i1}^{U}$$
(12)

$$DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{L} = \frac{\left(a_{i4}^{L} - a_{i1}^{L}\right) + \left(H_{2}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}\right)a_{i2}^{L} - a_{i1}^{L}\right) + \left(H_{1}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}\right)a_{i3}^{L} - a_{i1}^{L}\right)}{4} + a_{i1}^{L} \quad (13)$$

$$DIT2_{Trap(i)} = \frac{DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{U} + DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{L}}{2} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
(14)

where  $H_1(\tilde{A}_1^U)$  and  $H_2(\tilde{A}_1^U)$  are the maximum membership degree values of upper membership function in type-2 fuzzy number;  $a_{i4}^U$  is the largest possible value of the upper membership function;  $a_{i1}^U$  is the least possible value of the upper membership function;  $a_{i2}^U$  and  $a_{i3}^U$  are the second and third parameters of the upper membership function. The same definitions valid for the lower membership function.

Modified BNP method for trapezoidal type-2 fuzzy sets are adopted to the interval type-2 fuzzy control charts for defuzzification as follows:

$$P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{U} = \frac{\left(\bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}} - \bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}}\right) + \left(H_{2}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}\right)\bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}} - \bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}}\right) + \left(H_{1}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{U}\right)\bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}} - \bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}}\right)}{4} + \bar{p}_{a_{\mathcal{A}}^{U}}$$
(15)

$$P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{L} = \frac{\left(\bar{p}_{a_{.4}^{L}} - \bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{L}}\right) + \left(H_{2}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}\right)\bar{p}_{a_{.2}^{L}} - \bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{L}}\right) + \left(H_{1}\left(\tilde{A}_{1}^{L}\right)\bar{p}_{a_{.3}^{L}} - \bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{L}}\right)}{4} + \bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{L}}$$
(16)

$$P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)} = \frac{P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{U} + P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)}^{L}}{2}; i = 1, 2, 3$$
(17)

where  $P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)}$  represents the deffuzification value of interval type-2 fuzzy fraction nonconforming.

### 4 Application

The interval type-2 fuzzy p-control chart application was made in company that produces in the ceramic sector in Eskisehir Industry Region in Turkey. The case of errors in ceramic tiles produced in this company is analysed using numbers of crack in different samples with the same sample size. The process is observed at 15 different times and the numbers of cracked samples are determined. Due to the operators made visual checking, there are ambiguity on data by operators' judgments. The number of nonconforming include vagueness, so these data expressed as interval type-2 fuzzy numbers.

Table 2. The interval type-2 trapezoidal fuzzy number of fractions of cracked samples

$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_i$ : The interval type-2 trapezoidal fuzzy number of fractions of cracked			
samples			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_1 = [(0.089, 0.111, 0.122, 0.133; 1, 1)(0.078, 0.1, 0.111, 0.122; 0.9, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_2 = [(0.078, 0.089, 0.1, 0.111; 1, 1) \ (0.056, 0.067, 0.078, 0.089; 0.6, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_3 = [(0.089, 0.1, 0.1, 0.122; 1, 1)  (0.078, 0.089, 0.1, 0.111; 0.7, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_4 = [(0.033, 0.056, 0.067, 0.078; 1, 1), (0.022, 0.033, 0.056, 0.067; 0.8, 0.6)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_5 = [(0.111, 0.133, 0.144, 0.156; 1, 1) (0.1, 0.111, 0.122, 0.133; 0.6, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_6 = [(0.033, 0.044, 0.056, 0.078; 1, 1) \ (0.022, 0.033, 0.044, 0.067; 0.7, 0.6)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_7 = [(0.1, 0.111, 0.111, 0.122; 1, 1) \ (0.089, 0.1, 0.1, 0.111; 0.9, 0.6)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_8 = [(0.067, 0.089, 0.1, 0.111; 1, 1) (0.056, 0.067, 0.078, 0.089; 0.7, 0.6)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_9 = [(0.156, 0.178, 0.189, 0.2; 1, 1) \ (0.144, 0.156, 0.167, 0.189; 0.9, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_{10} = [(0.078, 0.089, 0.089, 0.111; 1, 1) \ (0.067, 0.078, 0.078, 0.1; 0.8, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_{11} = [(0.122, 0.133, 0.144, 0.156; 1, 1)  (0.1, 0.122, 0.133, 0.144; 0.9, 0.7)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_{12} = [(0.033, 0.056, 0.067, 0.078; 1, 1)(0.022, 0.044, 0.056, 0.067; 0.8, 0.6)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_{13} = [(0.133, 0.144, 0.156, 0.167; 1, 1)(0.122, 0.133, 0.144, 0.156; 0.7, 0.5)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_{14} = [(0.044, 0.056, 0.056, 0.067; 1, 1) \ (0.033, 0.044, 0.044, 0.056; 0.9, 0.7)]$			
$\tilde{\tilde{p}}_{15} = [(0.022, 0.033, 0.033, 0.056; 1, 1) \ (0.011, 0.022, 0.033, 0.044; 0.9, 0.8)]$			

In addition, the trapezoidal interval type-2 fuzzy fractions of cracked units for each sample are given in Table 2. The interval type-2 fuzzy arithmetic means are given as follows:

$$\begin{split} \bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{U}} &= 0.079; \ \bar{p}_{a_{.2}^{U}} = 0.095; \ \bar{p}_{a_{.3}^{U}} = .0.102; \ \bar{p}_{a_{.4}^{U}} = 0.116 \\ \bar{p}_{a_{.1}^{L}} &= 0.067; \ \bar{p}_{a_{.2}^{L}} = .0.08; \ \bar{p}_{a_{.3}^{L}} = .0.089; \ \bar{p}_{a_{.4}^{L}} = 0.102 \end{split}$$

The fuzzy upper and lower limits and fuzzy centre line of interval type-2 fuzzy p-control chart are calculated according to the Eqs. (9-11) where fuzzy arithmetic operations given in Eqs. (5-7) are used.

$$U\widetilde{\widetilde{C}}L_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} (0.165, 0.187, 0.198, 0.218; 1, 1), \\ (0.146, 0.166, 0.180, 0.199; 0.6, 0.5) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$CL_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} (0.079, 0.095, 0.102, 0.116; 1, 1); \\ (0.067, 0.080, 0.090, 0.103; 0.6, 0.5) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$LCL_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} (-0.022, -0.001, 0.010, 0.031; 1, 1), \\ (-0.029, -0.010, 0.004, 0.024; 0.6, 0.5) \end{bmatrix}$$

After calculating the limits of interval type-2 fuzzy p-control chart, p-control limits are defuzzified by using proposed modified BNP method for fuzzy control charts. The operations of defuzzification for interval type-2 fuzzy control limits and centre line are performed according to the Eqs. (15–17). The results of these operations are given in Table 3.

$UCL_P_DIT2^U_{Trap(i)}$	$CL_P_DIT2^L_{Trap(i)}$	$UCL_P_DIT2_{Trap(i)}$
0.192	0.167	0.179
$CL_P_DIT2^U_{Trap(i)}$	$CL_P_DIT2^L_{Trap(i)}$	$CL_P_DIT2_{Trap(i)}$
0.098	0.081	0.090
$LCL_P_DIT2^U_{Trap(i)}$	$CL_P_DIT2^L_{Trap(i)}$	$LCL_P_DIT2_{Trap(i)}$
0.004	-0.009	-0,002 < 0

Table 3. Defuzzified values of fuzzy control limits and centre line

After the control limits of p-control charts are defuzzified, fraction of cracked samples is defuzzified by using modified BNP method. The obtained results are given in Table 4.
$P\_DIT2^U_{Trap(i)}$	$P\_DIT2^{L}_{Trap(i)}$	$P\_DIT2_{Trap(i)}$
0.114	0.099	0.107
0.094	0.069	0.082
0.103	0.091	0.097
0.058	0.042	0.050
0.136	0.113	0.125
0.053	0.039	0.046
0.111	0.099	0.105
0.092	0.069	0.081
0.181	0.162	0.171
0.092	0.079	0.085
0.139	0.123	0.131
0.058	0.043	0.051
0.150	0.136	0.143
0.056	0.043	0.049
0.036	0.027	0.031

Table 4. Defuzzified values of fraction nonconforming for each sample

Defuzzified p-control chart limit and defuzzified observations are analysed in Fig. 1. Regard to Fig. 1, the production process of ceramic tile is under control for cracking number.



Fig. 1. Interval type-2 fuzzy p control chart for crack numbers

# 5 Conclusion

Since the interval type-2 fuzzy numbers consider the membership function of membership functions, they can analyse ambiguity more sensitive than type-1 fuzzy numbers for reflecting human decision. Also, decision on cracking error of ceramic tile depends on human experience and subjective. Therefore, using the interval type-2 fuzzy numbers for monitoring and evaluation production process with a fuzzy control chart is more suitable than type-1 fuzzy numbers. In this study, interval type-2 fuzzy p-control chart is developed into the literature for the first time and application is presented. The main contribution of this paper is to give a structure of interval type-2 fuzzy p-control chart for modelling more vagueness that exists inherently collecting nonconforming data from process.

# References

- 1. Zadeh, L.A.: Fuzzy sets. Inf. Control 8, 338-353 (1965)
- Montgomery, D.C.: Introduction to Statistical Quality Control, p. 351. Wiley, New York (1991)
- 3. Erginel, N.: Fuzzy individual and moving range control charts with  $\alpha$ -cuts. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst. **19**, 373–383 (2008)
- Şentürk, S.: Fuzzy regression control chart based on α-cut approximation. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Syst. 3(1), 123–140 (2010)
- Kaya, İ., Kahraman, C.: Process capability analyses based on fuzzy measurement and fuzzy control charts. Expert Syst. Appl. 38, 3172–3184 (2011)
- Gülbay, M., Kahraman, C., Ruan, D.: α-cut fuzzy control charts for linguistic data. Int. J. Intell. Syst. 19, 1173–1196 (2004)
- Gülbay, M., Kahraman, C.: Development of fuzzy process control charts and fuzzy unnatural pattern analyses. Comput. Stat. Data Anal. 51, 434–451 (2006)
- Şentürk, S., Erginel, N., Kaya, İ., Kahraman, C.: Design of fuzzy ũ control chart. J. Multiple-Valued Log. Soft Comput. 17, 459–473 (2010)
- 10. Erginel, N.: Fuzzy rule based p-np control charts. J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst. 27, 159-171 (2014)
- Mendel, J.M., John, R.I., Liu, F.: Interval type-2 fuzzy logic systems made simple. IEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 14(6), 808–821 (2006)
- Kahraman, C., Oztayşi, B., Sarı, I.U., Turanoglu, E.: Fuzzy analytic hierarchy process with interval type-2 fuzzy sets. Knowl. Based Syst. 59, 48–57 (2014)

# **Author Index**

## A

Adánez, José Miguel, 1 Adlassnig, Klaus-Peter, 574 Aguzzoli, Stefano, 12 Alaba, Berhanu Assaye, 25 Albayrak, Y. Esra, 620 Al-Hadithi, Basil Mohammed, 1 Alonso, Sergio, 497 Amirfakhrian, M., 34 Andonov, Velin, 99 Apiecionek, Łukasz, 43 Aşıcı, Emel, 69, 78 Atanassov, Krassimir T., 85 Atanassov, Krassimir, 99 Atanassova, Vassia, 631

## B

Baldi, Paolo, 112 Bartková, Renáta, 125 Bartkowiak, Marcin, 136 Běhounek, Libor, 148 Bejines, Carlos, 159 Belyakov, Stanislav, 168 Benítez-Caballero, M. José, 177 Bentkowska, Urszula, 187 Bernabé-Moreno, Juan, 199 Bianchi, Matteo, 12 Blasco, María Francisca, 408 Bock, Christian, 211 Bodjanova, Slavka, 224 Boer, Arjen-Kars, 477 Boffa, Stefania, 235 Bozhenyuk, Alexander, 249, 261 Bronevich, Andrey G., 273 Bureva, Veselina, 286 Bustince, Humberto, 295, 585 Büyüközkan, Gülçin, 306, 318, 330

# С

Cabrerizo, Francisco Javier, 497 Calado, Pável, 419 Camargo, Heloisa A., 389 Cánovas, Jose, 342 Cao, Nhung, 354, 368 Caraveo, Camilo, 380 Cárdenas, Edward Hinojosa, 389 Cardin, Marta, 400 Carrasco, Ramón Alberto, 408 Carvalho, André, 419 Carvalho, Joao Paulo, 419 Castillo, Oscar, 380 Caylı, Gül Deniz, 431, 443 Ceballos, Blanca, 455 Cedolin, Michele, 466 Chasco, María Jesús, 159 Chen, Peipei, 477 Çoban, Veysel, 487 Cobo, Manuel Jesus, 497 Collan, Mikael, 509 Cornejo, M. Eugenia, 521 Couceiro, Miguel, 534 Čunderlíková, Katarína, 125 Czerniak, Jacek M., 43, 548, 605

# D

Daňková, Martina, 563 De Baets, Bernard, 585 de Bruin, Jeroen S., 574 De Miguel, Laura, 585 De Mol, Robin, 597 De Tré, Guy, 597 Derso, Derebew Nigussie, 25 Dobrosielski, Wojciech T., 605 Dobrosielski, Wojciech, 43 Dogu, Elif, 466, 620

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018 J. Kacprzyk et al. (eds.), *Advances in Fuzzy Logic and Technology 2017*, Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing 641, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-66830-7 Doukovska, Lyubka, 631 Drygaś, Paweł, 648, 658 Dubois, Didier, 534 Dvořák, Antonín, 148, 670 Dworniczak, Piotr, 684

#### Е

Elkano, Mikel, 295 Elorza, Jorge, 159 Erginel, Nihal, 689, 701 Esra Albayrak, Y., 466 Ewald, Dawid, 43, 548

#### F

Fariborzi Araghi, Mohammad Ali, 55 Fermüller, Christian G., 112 Fernandez, Javier, 295 Feyzioğlu, Orhan, 318 Filipowicz, Iwona, 548

#### G

Galar, Mikel, 295 García-Madariaga, Jesús, 408 Gerasimenko, Evgeniya, 249 Gerla, Brunella, 235 Göçer, Fethullah, 306, 318 Göker, Nazlı, 466 Güler, Merve, 330 Gurbuz, Tuncay, 620

#### H

Herrera-Viedma, Enrique, 199, 408, 497 Holčapek, Michal, 670

## J

Jiménez, Agustín, 1

#### K

Kalina, Martin, 224 Karaçal, Funda, 431 Kaymak, Uzay, 477 Kiyashko, Dmitry, 168 Knyazeva, Margarita, 261 Kolesárová, Anna, 295 Król, Anna, 658 Kupka, Jiří, 342

# L

Lamata, María T., 455 Lashchenkova, Anna, 168 Lobo, David, 521 Luukka, Pasi, 509

#### М

Matía, Fernando, 1 Mavrov, Deyan, 631 Medina, Jesús, 177, 521 Mesiar, Radko, 295 Mezei, József, 509 Montes, Susana, 159

# 0

Onar, Sezi Çevik, 487

# P

Pekala, Barbara, 187 Pelta, David A., 455 Pérez, Ignacio Javier, 497 Porcel, Carlos, 199 Prade, Henri, 534

#### R

Radeva, Irina, 631 Ramírez-Poussa, Eloísa, 177 Rappelsberger, Andrea, 574 Rico, Agnès, 534 Rozenberg, Igor, 249, 261 Rutkowska, Aleksandra, 136

#### S

Saraçoğlu, Hande, 689 Savelyeva, Marina, 168 Schuh, Christian, 574 Şentürk, Sevil, 689, 701 Sesma-Sara, Mikel, 295 Sotirov, Sotir, 286 Sotirova, Evdokia, 99 Spiridenkova, Natalia S., 273 Štěpnička, Martin, 354, 368 Szczepański, Janusz, 605

# Т

Tejeda-Lorente, Alvaro, 199

#### v

Valdez, Fevrier, 380 Valota, Diego, 12 van Loon, Saskia, 477

# W

Wilbik, Anna, 477

## Y

Yager, Ronald R., 455 Yeganehmanesh, S., 34 Yıldız, Gülay, 689, 701 Yovcheva, Plamena, 286

# Z

Zarei, Eisa, 55 Zarzycki, Hubert, 605